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PREFACE.

After nearly a y-iar from the be£>inning of the enterprise, with much
labor and expense, tV-e History of Pettis County is now ready lor the public.

Embracing the ear.y and more recent history of one of the most popu-
lous and wealthy t.ounties of Missouri, it is not be expected that a

work of this mag litude could be compiled and issued without the

expenditure of much time, labor and money. Most of the material com-

prising this volume was never before collected in any form; no pains or

outlay having been spared to make it worthy of so noble a County and

State, and it will ssuredly be a welcome guest in the intelligent families

of Pettis County, and although its value is material and immediate yet

posterity will more highly prize this book and rely upon it as the basis of

all subsequent history.

The task of the historians has been performed conscientiously, free

from partiality and prejudice, and with a view of recording such facts as

will be most valuable. To a great extent the history is what the people
have been pleased to make it. If the people had furnished less informa-

tion, there would have been less in the book, and if the information had

been of a different character, its pages would also have reflected that fact.

The style of composition has aimed at purity and precision, rather than

periods and highly wrought figures. In some cases the same fact may
appear more than once, and if a difference in detail is observed, it should

be remembered as bearing the authority of the one who furnished it.

The mechanical work shows skill and finish, comparing favorably with

the best in this and other States. The map, electrotype views, lithograph
and steel portraits, together with the typography, have all received that

artistic touch which renders the work highly satisfactory to the pub-

lishers, and no doubt will meet the hearty approval of all patrons who
are capable of judging.
The volume has greatly exceeded the limits originally intended. In

the prospectus it was promised that the book should contain from TOO

to 900 pages, but it has been found impossible to comprise the mate-

rial in less than 1,120 pages. The history of Sedalia has been written

and prepared complete in itself, expressly for this volume, chiefly from

the able pen of Mr. I. Mac D. Demuth, who has long lived amid the

scenes he describes, and to whom, with two other prominent, well-informed

citizens, the proof-sheets were all submitted for corrections.

The history of the different townships has been collected and compiled
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with great care and accuracy by those specially adapted to that laborious

task, and although it is not assumed to be in all cases absolutely free

from errors, it can be relied upon as substantially correct in facts, names
and dates.

The biographical department is an important feature, and remarkably
free from errors, when taking into consideration the numberless mistakes

and incorrect statements often given by the subject of the sketch. Until

comparatively of recent date only persons of national or world-wide

renown were thought worthy a biographical notice, while the humblest

walks furnish not a name for the pages of enduring history. These

sketches will be of value not only to the family and friends but also to the

community at large.

Many difficulties were encountered in the early part of the undertaking.
Not the least was the prejudice of the people against book and map
enterprises of every description, partly occasioned by the fault of people

themselves, and partly by the swarms of canvassers, seeking to inveigle

the citizens into some worthless project, and take away their money
without rendering any equivalent or fulfilling their promises. Thus it was

some stood aloof, remained inaccessible, not lending their aid and encour-

agement. The cost in time and money has been much greater than those

unaccustomed to such work are apt at first to realize, but the publishers,

perceiving the growing favor with which county histories are received

all over the country, confidently expect to meet with the anticipated
. amount of sales.

Among the many worthy advocates of progress and enterprises in

Pettis Count}', the publishers desire to express their grateful acklowledg-
ments to F. A. Sampson, Esq., for the chapter on Natural History and

correcting the proof-sheets of Sedalia history; to I. Mac D. Demuth for

much ot Sedalia's history; to Rev. Dr. John Montgomery for the his-

tory of the Presbyterian Church; to Rev. John Letts for the history of

the Baptist Church; to Rev. A. H. Stevens for the history of the Cum-
berland Presbyterian Church; to Elder J. H. Duncan for the history of

the Christian Church; to Rev. J. B. Fuller, Rev. G. A. Beattie, Rev. H.

R. Miller, Rev. R. A. Johns and others for church history; Mr. C. A.

Leach for the chapter on Courts and Bar, also the chapter on Pettis

Countv Live Stock; to Col. A. D. Jaynes, Col. Thomas F. Houston, Maj.
William Gentry, R. W. Gentry, Dr. J. W. Trader, O. A. Crandall, the

custodians of the county records, to the editors of the several newspa-

pers and to many others, by whose liberal support and material aid the

work has been carried foward to a successful completion, to all and singu-

lar much credit is due, and many thanks are tendered by
THE PUBLISHERS.

F. A. North, Manager.
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History of the State of Missouri.

PART I.— HISTORICAL AND POLITICAL.

INTRODUCTORY.

When a book is written, it is presumed that the writer had some object
in view and some end to achieve by his labor in collecting the material

and writing the book; and it is right that he should put himself on good
terms with his readers at the outset by making a brief, but frank and

honest statement of his object, plan and purpose in the book which he

offers to public patronage. The writer of this History of Missouri has

aimed to embody in a brief space the greatest amount of solid and reliable

information about things which directly hinge and center upon or within

the territory of this State—this international commonwealth, which holds

by right divine the royal prerogative of a destiny imperial and grand, if

she can acquire or develop human brain and muscle adequate to utilize

wisely, honorably and energetically her magnificent natural resources,

both of commercial position and of agricultural and mineral wealth. The
writer's desire and effort has been to present nothing which would not be

read with deep interest by every intelligent citizen of Missouri at the

present time; and also stand as a permanent body of information, at once

useful and reliable for future reference. Discussion of theories, problems
or doubtful matters has been avoided; solid facts have been diligently

sought after; and the narrative has been made to embody as many facts

and events as possible without falling into the dry-bones method of mere

statistical tables. In fact, the limit of space allotted him has compelled the

writer to condense, epitomize, shorten up— and therefore continually to

repress his desire to embellish the narrative with the graces of rhetoric

and the glow of an exuberant and fervid enthusiasm. This, however,
secures to the reader more facts within the same space.

In preparing this work more than a hundred volumes have been con-

sulted, to collate incidents and authenticate dates and facts, besides much
matter gathered from original sources and not before embraced in any

1
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represented a captive bound with thongs. Both figures showed the

peculiar contour of head and features which marks the mound-builder

race.

In December, 1868, some laborers engaged in grading Sixth street, in

East St. Louis, dug up a nest of unused flint hoes or shovels, and another

deposit of shells with string-holes worked in them, and another deposit of

boulders of flint and greenstone, ready to make more tools or weapons
from. These deposits were on high ground, and about half-way between

two ancient mounds.

In 1876 or 1877 some ancient mounds were discovered on the banks of

the Missouri river near Kansas City. They were in groups of three

and five together, at different points for five miles up and down the river.

Some were built entirely of earth, and some had a rude stone chamber or

vault inside, but covered with earth so that all looked alike outside. They
were of an irregular oval shape, from four to six feet high, and had

heavy growths of timber on top. Mr. W. H. R. Lykins, of Kansas

City, noticed a burr-oak tree five feet in diameter, growing on top of

one of them, and the decayed stump of a black walnut of about the same

size, on another. In describing the exploration of some of these mounds

Mr. Lykins gives some points that will be of interest to everyone. He

says :

" We did not notice an}^ very marked peculiarity as to these bones

except their great size and thickness, and the great prominence of the

supraciliarv ridges. The teeth were worn down to a smooth and even

surface. The next one we opened was a stone mound. On clearing oft

the top of this we came upon a stone wall inclosing an area about eight
feet square, with a narrow opening for a doorway or entrance on the

south side. The wall of this inclosure was about two feet thick; the

inside was as smooth and compactly built and the corners as correctly

squared as if constructed b^^ a practical workman. No mortar had been
used. At a depth of about two feet from the top of the wall we found a

layer of five skeletons lying with their feet toward the south." *

None of the other walls examined were so skilfully laid as this one.

The bones were crumbly, and only a few fragments were preserved by

coating them well with varnish as quickly as possible after they were

exposed to the air. One stone enclosure was found full of ashes, char-

coal and burnt human bones, and the stones and earth of which the

mound was composed all showed the effects of fire. Hence it is pre-

sumed that this was either a cremation furnace or else an altar for human
sacrifices— most probably the latter. Some fragments of pottery were

found in the vicinity.

L. C, Beck in 1823f reported some remains in the territory now con-

stituting Crawford county, Missouri, which he thought showed that there

* Smithsonian Report, 1877, p. 252.

f Gazetteer of Illinois and Missouri, published by L. C. Beck, in 1828-23.
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was in old time a town there, with streets, squares, and houses built with

Stone foundations and mud walls. He also mentions the ruins of an

ancient stone building described to him by Gen. Ashley, as situated on a

high cliff on the west side of the Gasconade river. And another one said to

be in Pike county, is thus described: "
It presents the dilapidated remains

of a building constructed of rough, unhewn stones, fifty-six feet long and

twenty-two broad, embracing several divisions and chambers. The
walls are from two to five feet high. Eighty rods eastward of this

structure is found a smaller one of similar construction. The narrow

apartments are said to be arched with stone, one course overlapping the

other, after the manner of the edifices of Central America."

I. Dille, Esq., of Newark, Ohio, reported that he had examined some
of these pre-historic town ruins, in the vicinit}' of Mine-la-Motte and

Fredericktown, in Madison county, Missouri. He speaks of them as

groups of small tumuli, and says: "I have concluded they are the

remains of mud houses. Thev are alwavs arranijed in straifjht lines,

with broad streets intervening- between them, crossinij each other at riijht

angles. The distance apart varies in different groups, but it is always
uniform m the same group.

'••' *
I have counted upwards of

two hundred of these mounds in a single group. Arrow heads of jasper
and agate, and axes of sienite and porphyry have been found in their

vicinity."
""

Mounds or other pre-historic structures have been found on Spencer's
creek in Ralls county; on Cedar creek in Boone county; on Crow's Fork

and other places in Callawav countv ; near Berger Station in Franklin

county; near Miami in Saline county; on Blackwater river in John-
son county; on Salt river in Pike countv; on Prairie Fork in Mont-

gomery county; near New Madrid; and in many other parts of the

State.

The class of ancient ruins, partly built of stone, said to exist in

Clay, Crawford, Pike and Gasconade counties, Missouri, are not found

further north, but are frequent enough further south, and are supposed
to indicate a transitional period in the development of architectural

knowledge and skill, from the grotesque earth-mounds of Wisconsin to

the well-finished adobe structures of New Mexico, and the grander stone

ruins of Yucatan. But, no matter what theory we adopt with regard to

these pre-historic relics, the present citizens of Missouri can rest assured

that a different race of human beino-s lived and flourished all over this

region of country, hundreds—yes, thousands of years ago, and that they
were markedly different in their modes of Hfe from our modern Indians.

* Many large and costly works have been published by scientists, devoted to the general

subject of Pre-Historic Man; but of cheap and popular works for the general reader, the

best are Foster's "Pre-Historic Races of the United States"; and Baldwin's "Ancient
America".
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And there are at least two discoveries known which show that these people
were here before the extinction of the mastodon, or great American

elephant. In the " Transactions of the St. Louis Academy of Sciences,"

1857, Dr. Kock reports that in the year 1839 he dug up in Gasconade

county [as that county then was] the bones of a mastodon, near the

Bourbeuse river. The skeleton of this gigantic creature was buried in

such a position as to show that it had got its hind legs down in a bog so

deeply that it could not climb out, although its fore feet were on dry
ground. The natives had attacked it with their flint arrows and spears,
most of which were found in a broken condition; but they had finally

managed to build a big fire so close to its head as to burn it to death, the

head-bones and tusks being found all burnt to coals. The account of

this discovery was first printed in the Philadel-phia Presbyterian^ Jan. 12,

1839, and copied into the "American Journal of Science "
the same year.

The authenticity of the incident has been disputed, on the assumed

ground that man did not exist as long ago as when the mastodon roamed
over these pre-historic plains; but science now has indisputable evidence

that man existed even in the Tertiary age of the geological scale, (see
note to chart in chapter on Geology) long before the glacial epoch; hence

that objection has no force at present.

Dr. Koch further reports that about a year after unearthing the Gas-

conade county monster, he again found in the bottom land of the Pom-
me-de-Terre river, in Benton county, a nearly complete skeleton of the

great extinct beast called Missotiritcm, with arrow-heads under it in such

a way as to show beyond question that they were made and used while

the animal was alive. This skeleton is now in the British Museum. *

Humanfootfrints have been found in the rocks at De Soto in JefTerson

county, also in Gasconade county, and at St. Louis. H. R. Schoolcraft,

in his book of travels in the Mississippi river country in 1821, said of

these footprints: "The impressions in the stone are, to all appearance,
those of a man standing in an erect posture, with the left foot a little

advanced, and the heels drawn in. The distance between the heels, by
accurate measurement, is 6|- inches and between the extremities of the

toes 13^ inches. The length of these tracks is 10J inches; across the

toes 4^ inches as spread out, and but 2|- at the heel."

Our eminent U. S. Senator, Thomas H. Benton, wrote a letter April

29th, 1822, in which he says: "The prints of the human feet which you
mention, I have seen hundreds of times. They were on the uncovered

limestone rock in front of the town of St. Louis. The prints were seen

when the countr}' was first settled, and had the same appearance then as

now. No tradition can tell anything about them. They look as old

as the rock. They have the same fine pohsh which the attrition of the

* See Foster's
" Pre-Historic Races of the United States," pp. 62-3-4-5-6.
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sand and water has made upon the rest of the rock which is exposed to

their action. I have examined them often with great attention. They
are not handsome, but exquisitely natural, both in the form and position.
* * A block 6 or 8 feet long and 3 or 4 feet wide, containing the

prints, was cut out by Mr. John Jones, in St. Louis, and sold to Mr.

Rappe, of New Harmony, Indiana."-

Prof. G. C. Broadhead, and some other writers, think these were not

natural impression of human feet, but sculptures made by hand. This

theory requires a belief that the pre-historic men of Missouri had tools

with which they could cut the most delicate lines in hard rocks; and that

they studied the human form in its finest details ot muscular action and

attitude, and had the art of sculpturing these things so as to look "
exqui-

sitely natural^'' as Col. Benton expresses it—thus rivaUing, if not exceUing
the most famous sculptors of ancient Greece; all of which is wholly incon-

sistent with the known facts. And besides this, there is no better geolog-
ical reason for doubting their genuineness as natural footprints, than there

is in the case of the famous bird and reptile tracks in the sandstones of

Connecticut, or those found by Prof. Mudge in Kansas, in 1873. There

is no valid reason, either of an sesthetic, historical, or scientific nature, for

pronouncing them anything but just what they show themselves to be—
fossil footprints of a man who stood in the mud barefooted; and in course

of time that mud became solid stone, preserving his footprints just as he

left their exact impression in the plastic material.

THE WHITE RACE IN MISSOURI.

SPANISH AND FRENCH DISCOVERERS.

In 1512 the Spanish adventurer Ponce de Leon discovered Florida; and

at this time and for some years after the old countries of Europe were filled

with the wildest and most extravagant stories about the inexhaustible mines

of gold, silver and precious stones that existed in the country north of the

Gulf of Mexico
;
also of great and populous cities containing fabulous wealth,

beyond what Pizarro and Cortes had found in Peru and Mexico. And

besides all this, the "fountain of perpetual youth," which all Europe had gone

crazy after, about this time, was supposed to be in that region. Indeed,

it can hardly be doubted that the Spaniards in Mexico had gathered from

the natives some inkling of the wonderful healing waters now known as

* See Smithsonian Report, 1879, pp. 357-58. Also " American Antiquities," by Josiah

Priest, 1833, pp. 1850-51-52.
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Hot Springs, Arkansas, and the brilliant quartz crystals found in that

region, as well as the glittering ores of Missiouri.

Ferdinand de Soto was a w^ealthy cavalier w^ho had won fame as a

leading commander in Pizarro's conquest of Peru; he imbibed deeply the

current imaginings about the undiscovered wonders of the new world,
and was eager to immortalize his name bv brinffinir to his king and coun-

try the glory of still more important conquests and discoveries; and he

especiall}^ desired to find the supposed
" fountain of perpetual youth."

Accordingly, in 1538 he received permission trom the king of Spain to

conquer Florida at his own cost— "Florida" then meaning all the

unknown country from the Gulf of Mexico to the Northern ocean. He
collected a band of more than six hundred vouncr bloods who were able

to equip themselves in all the gorgeous trappings and splendor of a Span-
ish cavalier dress parade, and w'ith this plumed and tinselled troupe, very
like the orand entj-ec riders of a modern circus, he landed in Tampa Bay,
Florida, in 1539. From here he boldh' struck out into the interior, wan-

dering about and pushing forward with dogged perseverance, in spite of

bogs and streams and blufls; in spite of tangling thickets and dense for-

ests; in spite of heats and rains: in spite of the determined hostilitv of

the natives—until in May, 1541, he discovered the Great River, a few
miles below where the city of Memphis now stands; and thus he made
his name memorable for all time. After some delay, to construct boats,

they crossed the river and pushed on northward as far as where the city of

New Madrid now stands
;
and this w^as the first time that the eyes of white

men looked upon any portion of the soil now comprised within the State

of Missouri.* But, so fruitless was this visit that no white man set foot

within our present State boundary again until one hundred and thirty-two

years .afterward, W'hen the French missionaries, Marquette and Joliet, .

came from the great lakes down the Wisconsin and Mississippi rivers, to

the mouth of the JNIissouri, in June, 1073. This was the first time white

men had beheld the waters of this great stream, and they named it Pcki-

ionoui, or "
Mudd}^ Water River ". It was known by this name until

about 1710 or 1712, when it becran to be called " the river of the Mis-

souris," referring to a tribe of Indians that dwelt at its mouth, chiefly on

the lands now comprised in St. Louis county. Marquette and Joliet went

on down the river as far south as the mouth of the Arkansas river, of course

making several camping stops on Missouri soil, and discovering the Ohio

river. From the Arkansas they returned northward the same way they

* De Soto and his army came into Mi&soHii trom the south, twice crossing the Ozark
mountains. He spent the ^Yinte^ of 1541-42 in Vernon countj-, in the extreme western

part of the State. Ruins of their winter camp structures and smelting operations are still

found there. They melted lead ore for silver, and the glittering, lustrous, yellow, zinc

blende or Smilhsonite for gold; but were deeply disgusted to find at last that they had
been handling only the basest metals.
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came down, and reached Green Bay, Wisconsin, again in September of

that year
— 1673.

The next visit of white men to this State was in 1682. In 1678 the

French had built a fort with a missionary station a.id trading post, near

where the city of Peoria, Ills., now stands. During the winter of 1681

-82, Robert de la Salle made preparations, first in Canada, and then at

this Illinois fort, to explore the Mississippi river to its mouth. He left the

fort with a company of twenty Frenchmen, eighteert Indian men and ten

squaws, in such boats and canoes as he could provide. They rowed down
the Illinois river and reached its mouth on the 6th of February; a few

days were spent here making observations, repairing boats, preparing

food, and establishing signals that they had been there and taken posses-

sion of the land in the name of their great king. By February 13th La SaUe

was ready to push on, and started with his little fleet to solve the great

mystery of a navigable waterway to the Gulf of Mexico. Of course this

expeditipn passed along the eastern border of Missouri, but no points are

mentioned to identify any landing which they may have made within our

State. Early in April La Salle accomplished the grand object of his ven-

ture by discovering the three principal mouths of the Mississippi; and on

the nearest firm dry land he could find from the mouth he set up a col-

umn bearing the cross and the royal arms of France, while the whole

company performed the military and religious rites of loyalty to their

king and country
— and La Salle himself, acting as chief master of cere-

monies, in a clear, loud voice proclaimed that he took possession of all

the country between the great gulf and the frozen ocean, "in the name of

the most high, mighty and victorious prince, Louis the Great, by the

grace of God king of France and Navarre, 1-ith of the name, this 9th day
of April, 1682." In honor of his sovereign he named the whole vast

region Louisiana— that is, Louis' land, and named the river itself St.

Louis. And thus it was that our State of Missouri first became a part

of historic Louisiana, and passed under the nominal ownership and

authority of France.

The next historic appearance of white men within our State \vas in

1705. The French settlers in this vast new country had kept themselves

entirely on the east side of the Mississippi river; but during this year

they sent an exploring party up the Missouri river in search of gold; it

prospected as far as the mouth of the Kansas river, where Kansas City
now stands, without finding anything valuable, and returned disheartened

and disgusted. On September 14, 1712, the king of France, Louis XIV,

gave to a wealthy French merchant named Anthony Crozat, a royal patent

of "
all the country drained by the waters emptying directh^ or indirectly

into the Mississippi, which is all included in the boundaries of Louisiana."

Crozat appointed his business partner, M. de la Motte, governor, and he

2
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arrived in 1713; Kaskaskia, Illinois, was then the provincial headquarters,
and source of supplies for Upper Louisiana, which was also sometimes
called Illinois; but New Orleans was the nominal seat of government for

the whole Louisiana territory. The old town of Mine-la-Motte, in Mad-
ison county, commemorates this first governor. Crozat expected to find

inexhaustible mines of gold and silver in this territory, and spent immense
sums of money in vain efforts to attain his object. Practical miners were
sent everywhere that the natives reported any glittering substance to exist.

The explorers found iron, zinc, copper, lead, mica, pyrites, quartz crystals,

etc., in great abundance, but no gold, silver or diamonds; and after five

years of disastrous failure and disappointment, in 1717, Crozat returned his

luckless charter to the king.

Next, in 1716 an adventurous Scotchman named John Law, got up a

grand scheme for making everybody rich without work, and induced the

French king and court and people to engage in it. This wild financial

venture is known in history as the "
Mississippi bubble," the " South Sea

bubble," etc. The charter of Louisiana and monopoly of all its trade was

given to a corporation, called the "
Company of the West," whose cap-

ital stock was to be 100,000,000 francs, with power to issue stock in small

shares, and estabhsh a bank, etc. Shares rose to twenty times their

original value, and the bank's notes, though essentiall}'- worthless, were

in circulation to the amount of more than $200,000,000. Law himself

sunk $500,000 in the scheme; but it bursted, as bodiless as a bag of wind;

while he, the originator and manager of it, had to escape from Paris for

his life, and died poor at Venice in 1729. In 1731 the charter of Louis-

iana was again returned to the crown. However, the excitement over

this great scheme for making fabulous wealth out of nothing, had

brought many adventurous Frenchmen into the territory as gold-hunters,

who failing in that, worked some of the lead mines, and sent their pro-
ducts back to Europe.

In 1720 or 1721, an enterprising Frenchman named Renault took

charge of a large lead mining enterprise. He brought M. La Motte,

who was a professional mineralogist, with about two hundred expert
miners and metallurgists, and five hundred negroes, to develop the mineral

wealth that actually did exist. He made his headquarters at Fort de Char-

tres, on the Illinois side, ten miles above St. Genevieve, and sent out explor-

ing and working parties to locate mining camps west of the Great River.

Mine-la-Motte, in Madison county, was one of the first of these loca-

tions; also Potosi and Old Mine in Washington county; and many
others. In 1765 a few families located at Potosi. Much of the mining
was surface work— hence, scattered and transitory; and their smelting

operations were merely to melt the ore in a wood fire and then clear away
the ashes and gather up the lumps of lead. This was carried to
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the river on pack-horses or on rude ox-carts, and thence shipped to New
Orleans by fleets of drifting keel-boats, which returned laden with for-

eign goods. Many of the immigrants of this period also engaged in

agriculture, especially in Illinois, so that there really began to be a settled

occupation of the country, as a final outcome of the greatest speculative
delusion known to history. Lippincott's Gazetteer of the World says:
" Fort Orleans, near where Jefferson City now stands, was built by the

French in 1719"; this was a temporary safeguard for John Law's crazy

gold-hunters, but did not make a permanent settlement. Kaskaskia, now
in Randolph count}', Ills., was settled by the French in 1673, and was
for about a century the metropolis of the vast territory sometimes called

"Upper Louisiana," sometimes "Illinois," and sometimes the "Northwestern

Territory." And in 1735 some emigrants from Kaskaskia, moved across

the Great River and made a settlement at what is now St. Genevieve,

Missouri, w^hich was the first permanent white settlement made and
maintained within the State; the previous adventurers in search of min-

eral wealth had located mining camps at several points, but had not

established any permanent town or trading post.

The next settlement that can be historically traced to its origin was
that of St. Louis. A Frenchman named Pierre Liguest Laclede,* who
hved in New Orleans in 1702, organized the "Louisiana Fur Company,"
under a charter from the director-general of the province of Louisiana;
this charter gave them the exclusive right to carry on the fur trade with

the Indians bordering on the Missouri river, and west of the Mississippi,
" as far north as the river St. Peter" (the same that is now called the Min-

nesota river, and empties into the Mississippi at Fort Snelling). Laclede

seems to have formed a definite plan and purpose to establish a permanent

trading post at some point in Upper Louisiana, for he made up a company
of professional trappers, hunters, mechanics, laborers, and boatmen, and

with a supply of goods suitable for the Indian trade, they left New
Orleans in August, 1763, bound for the mouth of the Missouri river.

The manner of navigating these boats against the current of the Missis-

sippi for a distance of 1,194 miles, was of the most rude, primitive and

laborious sort. Sometimes when the wind was favorable they could sail

a little; but the main dependence was by means of push-poles and tow-

ropes. The boats were long and narrow, with a plank projecting six or

eight inches on each side. The boat would of course keep near the shore;

a man at each side, near the bow of the boat, would set his pole on the

river bottom, then brace his shoulder against the top of the pole with

*
Campbell's Gazetteer of Missouri says this man's family name was Liguest; B.

Gratz Brown gives it in Johnson's Cyclopedia as Lingueste; but the man himself appears
to have written his name Laclede, of the firm of Laclede, Moxan & Co., who constituted

the historic "Louisiana Fur Company."
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all his might, and as the boat moved under him he would walk along
the narrow plank until he reached the stern, and the boat had thus been

propelled forward the distance of its length; then he would walk back
to the bow, dragging his pole along in the water, set it on the bottom
and push again as before. And thus it was that the rugged pioneers of

civilization in the new world for more that a hundred years navigated
the Mississippi, Ohio, Missouri, Illinois, Wisconsin, and some other rivers,

with what were in later years called keel-boats. But sometimes, for a

rest, or when the beach was favorable, a gang of men would go ashore

with a long rope attached to the boat, and thus tow it along against the

current, or they would tie the forward end to a tree or snag and let those

on the boat pull in the rope and thus draw the boat along
—meanwhile

those on shore going ahead with another rope, making another tie—and

so on; this was called "warping"; but when it was necessary to cross

the stream they had recourse to oars or paddles. It took Laclede three

months in this way to get from New Orleans up to St. Genevieve, or

Fort de Chartres, the militar}'- post on the east side a few miles further up
the river, where he arrived on the third of November. Here he left his

goods and part of his company, but taking a few picked men, he himself

pushed on to the mouth of the Missouri. He seems to have had a sort of

prophetic forecast that this was the right spot to locate the future trading

post for all that vast region of country which was drained by the two prin-

cipal great rivers of the new world. At the mouth of the Missouri he

found no site that suited him for a town, and he turned back down the

Mississippi, carefully exploring the west bank until he reached the high,
well protected and well drained location where the city of St. Louis now
stands. This was the nearest spot to the mouth of the Missouri which

at all met his idea, and he began at once to mark the place by chopping
notches in some of the principal trees. This was in December, 1763.

He then returned to the fort and pushed on his preparations for the new

settlement, saying enthusiastically to the officers of the fort that he had
*' found a situation where he was going to plant his colony; and the site

was so fine, and had so many advantages of position for trade with all

this region of country, thai it might in time become one of the finest cities

in America!'''

Early in February, 1764, a company of thirty men, in charge of

Auguste Chouteau, set out from Fort de Chartres and arrived at the

chosen spot on the 14th. The next day all hands went to work clearing

the ground and building a storehouse for the goods and tools, and cabins

for their own habitation. In April Laclede himself joined them and pro-

ceeded to lay out the village plat, select a site for his own residence, and

name the town Saint Louis, in honor of his supposed sovereign, Louis XV.
This very territory had been yielded up to Spain in 1762, but these loyal
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Frenchmen in naming their new town after the French king never

dreamed that they were then and for nearly two years had been Spanish

subjects, instead of French; the unwelcome news had reached New
Orleans in the same month, April, but did not arrive at St. Louis until late

in the year; and when it came the inhabitants were appropriately wroth

and indignant, for they hated Spain with a fighting hatred. However, the

change made very little practical difference to the town or its people. In

1763 all the French possessions on the east side of the Mississippi river,

and also Canada, had been ceded to England, but it was late in 1764

before the English authorities arrived to take possession of Kaskaskia, or

Fort de Chartres, and other military posts ;
and when they did come,

many of the French settlers moved over to St. Louis, giving it a consid-

erable start, both in population and business. The Indians, too, being

generally more friendly toward the French than the English, came over

to St. Louis to trade their peltries, instead of going to Kaskaskia, as they
had formerly done; and this fact gave the new town a powerful impulse.

From this time forward new settlements began to spring up within our

present boundaries. New Bourbon was settled in 1789. In 1762 a

hunter named Blanchette built a cabin where the city of St. Charles now

stands, and lived there many years; but just when the place began to be

a town or village does not appear to be known. However, in 1803, St.

Charles county was organized, and then comprised all the territory lying

north of the Missouri and west of the Mississippi; thus taking in all of

north Missouri, and the entire States of Iowa, Minnesota, Dakota, and on

west to the Pacific ocean. This was the largest single
"
county

" ever

known in the world, and St. Charles city was the county seat.

In 1781 the Delaware Indians had a considerable town where New
Madrid now stands; and that year Mr. Curre, a fur trader of St. Louis,

established a branch house here. In 1788 a colony from New Jersey
settled here, and laid out a plat for a large city, giving it the name of New
Madrid, in honor of the capital of Spain. But they never reahzed their

high hopes of building up a splendid city there.

Among the historic incidents of early settlement worthy of mention at

this point, is the case of Daniel Boone, whose hunter life in Kentucky
forms a staple part of American pioneer history. Boone came to this

territory in 1797, renounced his citizenship in the United States, and took

the oath of allegiance to the Spanish crown. Delassus was then the

Spanish governor; and he appointed Boone commander of a fort at

Femme Osage, now in the west part of St. Charles county. He roamed

and hunted over the central regions of Missouri the rest of his life, and it

was for a long period called the "Boone's Lick country," from some salt

licks or springs which he discovered and his sons worked, and which

were choice hunting grounds because deer and other animals came there
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to lick salt. Col. Boone died Sept. 26, 1820, in St. Charles county, but

was buried in Marthasville in Warren county, as was his wife also.

Their bones were subsequently removed to Frankfort, Kentucky.

THE AMERICAN PERIOD.

In 1801 the territory west of the Mississippi was ceded back to France

by Spain; in 1803 President Jefferson purchased from the French

Emperor Napoleon Bonaparte, the entire territory of Louisiana, for $15,-

000,000; the formal transfer was made at New Orleans, December 20,

1803. On the 26th of March, 1804, Congress passed an act dividing this

vast accession into two parts, the lower one being named the "Terri-

tory of Orleans," with its capital at New Orleans; the upper division

was called the "District of Louisiana," with its capital at .St. Louis.

This latter district comprised the present State of Arkansas and all from
that north to nearly the north line of Minnesota, and west Irom the Mis-

sissippi river to the Rocky Mountains. Don Carlos Dehault Delassus

had been the last Spanish governor at St. Louis, and no change was
made after its re-cession to France, until in March, 1804, when he delivered

the keys and the public documents of his governorship to Capt. Amos
Stoddard, of the United States army, who immediately raised the first

American flag that ever floated west of the Mississippi river, over the

government buildings at St. Louis. There it has floated proudly and

uninterruptedly ever since, and there it will float until St. Louis becomes
the central metropolis and seat of empire of the entire North American
continent.

It should be mentioned here that the war of the American Revolution

did not involve any military operations as far west as the Mississippi river;

hence the little French fur-trading village of St. Louis w^as not affected

by the clash of arms which was raging so desperately throuj^h all the

States east of the Ohio river. But the success of the colonies in this

unequal conflict gave them control of all south of the river St. Lawrence
and the great lakes, as far west as the Mississippi river; and when Napo-
leon had sold to the new republic the extensive French possessions west

of the Mississippi, he remarked that this accession of territory and con-

trol of both banks of the Mississippi river would forever strengthen the

power of the United States; and said he, with keen satisfaction, "I have

given England a maritime rival that will sooner or later humble her

pride."

On the 3d of March, 1805, Congress passed at act to organize the

Territory of Louisiana; and President Jefferson then appointed as territo-

rial governor. Gen. James Wilkinson; secretary, Frederick Bates
; judges,

Return J. Meigs and John B. Lucas. Thus civil matters went on,
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and business increased rapidly. When the United States took pos-

session of this district or territory it was reputed to contain nine thous-

and white inhabitants and about three thousand negroes. The first cen-

sus of St. Louis was taken in 1T99, and it then had 897 inhabitants.

This is presumed to have included the village of Carondelet also, which

was started as a rival town soon after the founding of St. Louis.

In June, 1812, Congress passed another act with regard to this new

country, and this time it was named the Territory of Missouri, instead of

Louisiana. The President was to appoint a governor; the people were

to elect representatives in the ratio of one for every five hundred white

male inhabitants; this legislative body or lower house, was to nominate

to the President eighteen of their own citizens, and from those he was to

select and commission nine to form, a senate or legislative council. The
house of representatives was to consist of thirteen members at first; they

were to hold their office two 3'ears, and must hold at least one legislative

session at Saint Louis each year. The territory was also authorized to

send one delegate to Congress.
In October, 1812, the first territorial election was held, and these peo-

ple experienced for the first time in their lives the American privilege of

choosing their own law-makers. There were four candidates for Con-

gress, and Edward Hempstead was elected. He served two years from

December 7th, 1812; then Rufus Easton served two years; then John
Scott two years; Mr. Easton was one of the four candidates at the first

election
;
and Mr. Scott was one of the members from St. Genevieve of

the first legislative council. The first body of representatives met at the

house of Joseph Robidoux, in St. Louis, on December 7th, and consisted

of the following members:

From St. Charles—John Pitman, -Robert Spencer.

St. Louis— T>2iv\di Musick, B. J. Farrar, Wm. C. Carr, Richard Caulk.

St. Genevieve— George Bullet, R. S. Thomas, Isaac McGready.

Cafe Girardeau— G. F. Ballinger, Spencer Byrd.
New Madrid—John Shrader, Samuel Phillips.

They were sworn into office by Judge Lucas. Wm. C. Carr of St.

Louis, was elected speaker. The principal business of this assembly was

to nominate the eighteen men from whom the President and U. S. Sen-

ate should select nine to constitute the legislative council; they made their

nominations and sent them on to Washington, but it was not known until

the next June who were selected. June 3d, 1813, the secretary and acting

governor, Frederick Bates, issued a proclamation declaring who had been

chosen by the President as the council of nine, and they were—
From St. Charles—James Flaugherty, Benj. Emmons.

St. Louis— Auguste Chouteau, Sr., Samuel Hammond.

St. Genevieve—John Scott, James Maxwell.
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Cape Girardeau—Wm. Neely, Joseph Cavener.

JVew Madrid— Joseph Hunter.

In July of this year the newly appointed governor, Wm. Clarke, took
his seat, and held it until Missouri became a State in 1S20.*

December, 1S13, the second session of the territorial lesislature was
convened in St. Louis, and continued until January 19, 1814. This year
the second territorial election occurred, and the new general assembly
met December 5, this being the third sitting of the territorial legisla-
ture. The fourth commenced in November, 1815, and continued until

about the last of January, 1816. And it was during this session that the

common law of England, and her general statutes passed prior to the

fourth year of James I, were adopted as the laws of Missouri, except
such changes as were necessary to phrase them for the United States

and its system of government, instead of England.

April 29, 1816, Congress again legislated for this territory, and pro-
vided that the legislative council or senate should be elected by the peo-

ple instead of being appointed by the President; that the legislature

should meet biennially instead of annually; and that the U. S. judges
should be required to hold regular terms of circuit court in each county.
The fifth legislative session (being the first under this act) met the first

week in December of this year, and continued until February 1, 1817.

Then there was no further legislation until the regular biennial session

which met about December first, 1818. But during 1817, Henry S.

Gayer, Esq., compiled a digest of all the laws, including those of French,

Spanish, English and American origin, which were still in force in this

territorv. This was a verv important work, in view of the fact that

there were land titles and instances of property inheritance deriving

their legal verity from these different sources; and it was now desirable

to get all titles and vestitures clearly set upon an American basis of law

and equity. The next or sixth session of the legislature continued

through December, 1818, and January, 1819; and the most important thing

done was applving to Congress for Missouri to be admitted as a State.

John Scott, of St. Genevieve county, was then the territorial delegate in

Congress, and presented the applicaUon. A bill was introduced to

authorize the people of Missouri to elect delegates to a convention w'hich

should frame a State constitution. The population of Missouri territory

at this time (or w-hen the first census was taken, in 1821,) consisted

of .o9,393 free white inhabitants and 11,25-4 slaves. A member of

Congress from New York, Mr. Talmadge, offered an amendment to the

proposed bill, providing that slavery should be excluded from the proposed
new State. This gave rise to hot and angry debate for nearly two

* Gov. Clarke died Sept. 31, 1838, at St. Louis.
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years, and is-liich at times seemed to threaten an immediate disst^atKm of

the Natioaal Uiii<n. But the strife was finalbr quieted by the adc^stioo in

Congress on March 6, 1620, <rf what is famous in bistmy as the "Mis-

sonri Compromise,'' by isrbich it w^as agreed that Missomi mi^it come

into the Union as a slave-holding State; bat that slavery should never be

established in anv State which might diereafiber be formed from lands

lying north of latitude 36 deg. 30 min. The eledioos were hdd for dele-

gates, the cc«istituti<Hial convention n- .^: _- :_:_-. accepted the terms

of admisaon pr^oibed by Congress, an r. _. I9di, 1S30, Mx^onri

took her place as one of the sovereigT. S-;.:ts ;: -':.- ^ donal Umoo.

MISSOURI AS A STATE.

July 19, 1820, ^Missouri laid off the vestments of territofial totdage and

put on the matronly robes of matore statdiood, as the coHStilulioDalcnnven-

tion was authorized to frame the oi^anic law and give it immediate £ocoe

^Htboat submitting it to a vote of the people, and this cot^titntion stood

in force \\-ithout any material change until the free Siite :
'

r-ration dL

1865 was adopted. The first general election unc r . r r r _ :; :
-

is

held in August, 1820, at which time Alexander McIn . . :
— ; _ : .

-

emor and J<^m Scott representative in Congrr?? Mt _-> : r_...i-

ture had been chosen at the same time, comprls : _ : _ ; i r. i

fortv three representatives; and this first gecr -. - —
: .: .- -: .-

convened in St. Louis in the latter part of S.^..:: z^r 7 t :-r ::£

thing of historic interest done by this assembly was i.z r t: :. .e

United States Soiate of Thomas H. Benton, who conti-uri . t- _. r.-

terruptedly untQ 1851, a period of thirty years, and was \:.-z. -'.-y.-zi -jz

1852 as representative in Congress : ::: . r S: 1 :_:? i _:..:: Tr.e

other senator elected at thistime was I .11 ]; : ;r : r .t f . r:

term," and was renelected in 1824.

EPITOMIZED SUMMABT 'J ZTZ^T? AXD DaTES.

Application made to Ccwigress for a state government March 16,

IfclS, and December IS, ISIS.—A bill to admit was defeated in Congress,
which was introduced February 15, 1S19.— Apphcation mace to Congress
for an <^naMing act, December 29, IS1&.— Enabling act

<^
known as the

Missouri Compromise) passed by Consrress March <?. 1S2C'.— First stare

constitntiao formed Juty 19, 182(«.— Rri:.-.i::r. .: iir.i: -; :-. -.l:-. ; --ti

Senate December 12, 1820 : zzz:-.ti :. -.':.z H:-5z 7r:.-_i.: 14. 1^_1.—
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Conditional resolution to admit approved March 2, 1821.— Condition

accepted by the legislature of Missouri and approved by governor, June

26, 1821.—By proclamation of the President, admitted as a state August
10, 1821.

The State capital was first at St. Louis; then at St. Charles about five

years; but on October 1st, 1826, it was moved to Jefferson City, and

has remained there ever smce.

COUNTIES AND POPULATION.

The first census of the State was taken in September, 1821, and showed

the population by counties as follows:

Boone county 3,692

Calloway 1,797

Cape Girardeau 7,852
Chariton 1,426
Cole 1,028

Cooper 3,483
Franklin 1,928
Gasconade 1,174
Howard 7,321

Jefterson 1,838
L,illard (afterward called La-

fayette) 1,340
Lincoln 1,674

Marion 1,907

Montgomery 2,032
New Madrid 2,444

Perry 1,599
Pike 2,677
Ralls 1,684

Ray 1,789
Saline 1,1T6
St. Charles 4,058
St. Genevieve 3,181
St. Louis 8,190

Washington 3,741

Wayne 1,614

The total was 70,647, of which mumber 11,254 were negro slaves.

The area of the State at this time comprised 62,182 square miles; but in

1837 the western boundary was extended by authority of Congress, to

include what was called the " Platte Purchase," an additional area of

3,168 square miles, which is now divided into the counties of Platte,

Buchanan, Andrew, Holt, Nodaway and Atchison. This territory was

an Indian reservation until 1836.

The last census was taken in June, 1880, when the state had an area of

65,350 square miles, divided into one hundred and fourteen counties, with

populations as follows:
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CENSUS REPORT OF THE STATE FOR THE YEAR 1880.

Counties. Total. Male. Female. Native. Foreign. White. Col'd.

Adair 15,190
Andrew 16,318
Atchison 14,565
Audrain 19,739

Barry 14,424
Barton 10,332
Bates 25,382

Benton; 12,398

Bollinger 11,132
Boone 25.424

Buchanan 49,824
Butler 6,011
Coldwell 13,654

Calloway 38,670
Camden 7,267

Cape Girardean 20,998
Carrroll 23,300
Carter 2,168
Cass 22,431
Cedar 10,747
Chariton 25,224
Christian 9,632
Clark 15,031

Clay 15,579

Clinton 16 073
Cole 15,519

Cooper 21.622

Crawford 10,763
Dade 12,557
Dallas 9,272
Daviess 19,174
DeKalb 13,343
Dent 10,647
Dousrlass 7,753
Dunklin 9,604
Franklin 26,536
Gasconade 11,153

Gentry 17,188
Greene 28,817

Grundy 15,201
Harrison 20,318

Henry 23,914

Hickory 7,388
Holt 15,510
Howard 18,428
Howell 8,814
Iron 8,183
Jackson 82,328

Jasper 32,021
Jeflerson 18.736
Johnson 28 177
Knox 13,047
Laclede 11,524

Lafayette 25,731
Lawrence 17,585
Lewis 15,925
Lincoln 17,443
Linn 20 016

Livingston 20,205
McDonald 7,816
Macon 26,223
Madison 8,860
Maries 7.304
Marion , 24,837

7,915
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CENSUS REPORT OF THE STATE FOR THE YEAR 1880.—Continued.

Male. Female. Native. Foreign.Connties. Total.

Mercer 14,674
Miller 9,807

Mississippi 9,270
Moniteau 14,349
Monroe 19,075

Montgomery 16,250

Morgan 10,134
New Madrid 7,694
Newton 18,948

Nodaway 29,560

Oregon 5,791

Osage 11,824
Ozark 5,618
Pemiscot 4,299

Perry 11,895
Pettis 27,285

Phelps 12,565
Pike 26,716
Platte 17,372
Polk 15,745
Pulaski 7,250
Putnam 13,556
Ralls 11,838

Randolph 22,751

Ray 20,193

Reynolds 5,722

Ripley 5,377
St. Charles 23,060
St. Clair 14,126
St. Francois 13.822

St. Genevieve 10,390
St. Louis 31,888
Saint Louis (City) 350,522
Saline 29,912

Schuyler 10,470
Scotland 12,507
Scott 8,587
Shannon 3,441

Shelby 14,024
Stoddard . . . . : 13,432
Stone 4,405
Sullivan 16,569

Taney 5,605
Texas 12,207
Vernon 19,370
Warren 10,806

Washington 12,895

Wayne 9,097
Webster 12,175
Worth 8,208

Wright 9,733

The classification footings of the census of 1880 show:

White. Cord.

7,510
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The following table shows the population of Missouri at each Federal
census from 1810 to 1880:

Tears. White.

1810 17,227
1820 55,988
1830 114,795
1840 323,888
1850 592,004
1860 1,063,489
1870 1,603,146
1880 2,023,568

Free
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State Revenue Fund .$3,024,084.39
State Interest Fund

'

2,429,040.71
State School Fund 335.55

Swamp Land Indemnity Fund 15,408.05
Insurance Department Fund 31,096.40
Executors' and Administrators' Fund 6,790.07
State School Moneys 241,080.00
State Seminary Mone}^s 3,660.00

Earnings Missouri Penitentiary 214,358.97
Militia Fund

, . 82.25

Total $5,965,936.39

The total balance of all moneys in the State treasury January 1, 1881,
was $517,517.21.

During the year 1879, the state paid a total of $6,458.00 as bounty on

wolf scalps; but in 1880 the amount was only $1,428.50,

WHO MISSOURI VOTED FOR.

PRESIDENTIAL VOTES OF MISSOURI FROM 1820 TO 1880.

Year.
Pregideutial Candidates
Voted for in Miseouri.

Political Parties.

1820 James Monroe Democratic
1824 John Q. Adams Coalition

Andrew Jackson Democratic

Henry Clay Democratic
1828 Andrew Jackson Democratic

John Q. Adams National Republican.
1832 Andrew Jackson* Democratic
1836 Martin Van Buren Democratic

W. H. Harrison Whig
Hugh L. White Independent

1840 W. H. Harrison Whig
Martin Van Buren Democratic

1844 Jas. K. Polk Democratic

Henry Clay Whig ...

1848 Zachary Taylor Whig
Lewis Cass Democratic

1852 Franklin Pierce Democratic
Winfield Scott Whig

1856 Jas. Buchanan Democratic
Millard Fillmore A^merican

1860 Abraham Lincoln Republican
J. C. Breckenridge State Rights Dem'cr't
John Bell Old Line Whig
Stephen A. Douglas . . .Union Democrat. . . .

1864 Abraham Lincoln Republican
Geo. B. McClellan Democratic

311
987

1,401

8,232

3,422

10,995

7,401
936

22,972

29,760

41,369
31,251
32,671

40,077
38,353
29,984
58,164
48,524
17,028

31,317
58,372

58,801
72,750

31,678

3

3

3

4
4

4
7

7

9

9
11

Vice-PreBident
Candidates.

D. D. Tompkins.
Nathan Sanford.
John C. Calhoun.
Andrew Jackson.
John C. Calhoun.
Richard Rush.
Martin Van Buren.
R. M. Johnson
Francis Granger.
John Tyler.
John Tyler.
R. M.Johnson.
Geo. M. Dallas.

Th. Frelinghuysen.
Millard Fillmore.
Wm. O. Butler.
Wm. R. King.
Wm. A. Graham.
J. C Breckenridge.
A. J. Donelson.
Hannibal Hamlin.
Joseph Lane.
Edward Everett.

H. V. Johnson.
.tVudrew Johnson.

George H. Pendleton.

• This year Gen. Jackson received 5.192 majority; bnt the popular vote of Missouri for this year does
not appear .n any of the statistical tables. The oilier presidential candidates this year were: Henry
Clay, National Republican; John Floyd, Independent; Wm. Wirt, Anti-Mason.
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PRESIDENTIAL VOTES OF MISSOURI FROM 1820 TO 1890.—Continued.

Tear.

1868

1873

Political Parties

1876

1880

Presidential Candidates
Voted for in Missouri.

Ulysses S. Grant Republican , 86,860
Horatio Seymour Democratic 65,628

Ulysses S Grant Republican 119,196
Horace Greeley Dem. and Liberal. . . .151,434
Chas. O'Conn/ r Democratic 2,429
Thos. A. Hendricks
B. Gratz Brown
David Davis , .

Rutherford B. Hayes . . . Republican 145,029
Samuel J. Tilden Democratic 203,077
Peter Cooper Greenbacker 3,498
G. C. Smith Prohibitionist 64

Scattering 97

James A. Garfield Republican 153,567
W. S, Hancock Democratic 208,609

James B. Weaver Greenback 35,135

11

6

8
1

15

13

Vice President
Candidates.

Schuyler Colfax.
F. P. Blair, Jr.

Henry Wilson,
B. Gratz Brown.
Geo. W. Julien.
John M. Palmer.
T. E. Bramlette.
Willis B. Machem.
William. A Wheeler.
Thomas A. Hendricks.
Samuel F. Carey.
G. T. Stewart.

Chester A Arthur.
W. H. English.
B.J. Chambers.

LIST OF GOVERNORS FROM 1820 TO 1880.

TEAR. NAME. REMARKS.

1820 AlexanderMcNair
1824 Frederick Bates died in oflBce.

1825 Abraham J. Williams vice Bates.

1826 John Miller

1828 John Miller

1832 Daniel Dunklin resigned; appointed Serv. Gen. U. S.

1836 Lilburn W. Boggs vice Dunklin.

1840 Thos. Reynolds died 1844.

1844 M. M, Marmaduke vice Reynolds.
1844 John C. Edwards
1848 Austin A. King
1852 Sterling Price

1856 Trusten Polk resigned.
1857 Hancock Jackson vice Polk.

1857 Robert M. Stewart " "
[State Convention.^

1860 C. F. Jackson ofBce declared vacant by Unionist

1861 Hamilton R. Gamble appointed governor by State Conven-

1864 Willard P. Hall vice Gamble. [tion; died in oflSce.

1864 Thos. Fletcher

1808 Joseph W. McClurg
1870 B. Gratz Brown
1872 Silas Woodson
1874 Charles H. Hardin
1876 John S. Phelps term now 4 years instead of 2.

1880 Thos. T. Crittenden

LIST OF UNITED STAES SENATORS PROM 1820 TO 1880.

Tear. Names.

1820 Thomas Hart Benton
1824 David Barton
1826 Thomas Hart Benton
1830 Alexander Buckner died in 1833

1832 Thomas Hart Benton
1833 Lewis Field Linn vice Buckner

Tear. Names.

1857 Trusten Polk
1861 Waldo Porter Johnson
1862 Robert Wilson
1863 B. Gratz Brown
1863 John B. Henderson
1867 Chas. D. Drake resigned 1870
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LIST OF UNITED STATES SENATORS FROM 1820 TO ISSO.—Continued.

Year. Names.

1836 Lewis Field Linn
1838 Thomas Hart Benton
1842 Lewis Field Linn died 1843

1843 David R. Atchison vice Linn
1844 David R. Atchison
1844 Thomas Hart Benton
1849 David R. Atchison
1651 Henry S. Geyer
1857 Jas. S. Green

Tear, Names.

1869 Carl Schurz
1870 Daniel F. Jewett vice Drake
1871 Francis P. Blair, Jr
1873 Lewis V. Bogy
1875 Francis M. Cockrell
1879 Daniel H. Armstrong
1880 James Shields vice Bogy
1881 George G. Vest

MEMBERS OF CONGRESS FROM 1820 TO 1881.

K

&

1820
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MEMBERS OF CONGRESS FROM 1820 TO 16S0.—Continued.

t i

1862 38

1864 89

5lft66 40

1867 40
1868 41

1870 42

1872 43

8
9
3
1

2
3
4
5
6
7

8
9
1

2
3
4
5
6
7

8
9

3
5
1

2
Ou
4
5

6
7
8

9

1

2
3
4
5

6
7
8
9

1

2
3

4
5
6

7

8
9

10
11

12
13

NAITES.

W. A. Hall
John S. Rollins

John G. Scolt, vice Noell . . .

John Hogan
Henry T. Blow
Thos. E. Noell
John R. Kelsoe

Joseph W. McClurg
Robert T. Van Horn
Benjamin F. Loan
John F. Benjamin
George W. Anderson
William A. Pile

C. A. Newcombe
Thomas E. Noell. deceased. .

J. J. Gravely
Jos. W. McClurg, resigned
Robert T. Van Horn
Benjamin F. Loan
John F. Benjamin
George W. Anderson
J. R. McCormack, vice Noell
John H. Stover,vice McClurg
Erastus Wells
G. A. Finkelnburg
J. R. McCormack
S. H. Boyd
Samuel S. Burdett
Robert T. Van Horn (

Joel F. Asper
John F. Benjamin
David P. Dyer
Erastus Wells
G. A. Finkelnburg

P4

o

1874 44

1876 45

1878 46

J. R. McCormack
H. E. Havens
Samuel S. Burdett
A. Comingo
Isaac C. Parker
James G. Blair
Andrew King
E. O. Stauard
Erastus Wells
W. H. Stone
Robert A. Hatcher
Richard P.Bland
Harrison E. Havens
Thomas F. Crittenden. . ,

Abram ComingO
Isaac C. Parker
Ira B. Hyde
John B. Clark, Jr
John M. GLover
A. H. Buckner

1879 46

1880 47

M NAMES.
P

1 Edward C. Kerr
2 Erastus Wells
3 William H. Stone
4 Robert A. Hatcher
5 Richard P. Bland
6 Charles H. Morgan
7 John F. Philips
8 Benjamin J. Franklin
9 David Rea

10 Rezin A. DeBolt
11 John B. Clark, Jr

12 John M. Glover
13 AylettH. Buckner
1 Anthony Ittner

2 Nathan Cole
3 Lyne S. Metcalfe

4 Robert H. Hatcher
5 Richard P. Bland
6 Charles H. Morgan
7 Thos. T. Crittenden

8 Benjamin J. Franklin
9 David Rea

10 Henry M. Pollard
11 John B. Clark, Jr
12 John M. Glover
13 Aylett H. Buckner
1 Martin L. Clardy
3 Erastus Wells
3 Richard G. Frost

4 Lowndes H. Davis
5 Richard P. Bland
6 James R. Waddill
7 Alfred M. Lay, died

7 John F. Philips, vice Lay.
8 Samuel L. Sawyer
9 Nicholas Ford
10 Gideon F. Rothwell
11 John B. Clark, Jr
12 Wm. H- Hatch
13 Aylett H Buckner
1 Martin L. Clardy
2 Thomas Allen
3 Richard G. Frost

4 Lowndes H. Davis
5 Richard P. Bland
6 Ira S. Ilazeltine

7 Theron M. Rice
8 Robert T. Van Horn
9 Nicholas Ford
10 J. II. Burroughs
11 John B. Clark, Jr
12 Wm. H. Hatch
13 Aylett H. Buckner

The election for members of the legislature and members of Congress

Dccnrs biennially on the Tuesday after the first Monday in November of

3
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the even numbered years
—as 1880, 1882, etc.; and the legislature meets

on the first Wednesday after January 1st, in the odd numbered years
—

as 1881, 1883, etc. The governor is elected every four years, at the same
time with the presidential election.

EDUCATIONAL INTERESTS.

THE PUBLIC SCHOOL SYSTEM.

The State of Missouri has made liberal provision for the support of

public schools, equal to any other state in the Union.* The main fea-

tures of our school system are well epitomized in a report made by the

state superintendent in 1879, as follows:

School Revenue—Is derived from invested state funds, bearing inter-

est at the rate of six per cent per annum, and one-fourth of the state reve-

nue collections, annually, equal to a tax of five cents on the $100 of valu-

ation; from the invested county funds at rates from 6 to 10 per centum

annually, secured by real estate mortgages; from the sixteenth section or

township fund invested and producing income in the same manner as the

county funds.

The state and township permanent funds arise principally from the sale

of lands donated by the general government. The income is used only
for teachers' wages, and is apportioned upon the number of children to

districts having maintained the minimum term of school.

The deficiency is supplied by local taxation, limited in amount, and con-

trolled in the first instance by boards of directors, and second, by the

tax-payers in annual meeting assembled.

State Boards.— State Board of Education consists of the super-
intendent of public schools, the governor, secretary of state, and attorney-

general. The duties, practically, are simply the investment and care of

the state permanent fund.

Board of Curators of the State University— Consists of nine

members, appointed by the governor, with the consent of the senate, tor

a term of six years, three being appointed every two years. They con-

trol and manage the university, agricultural college and school of mines

and metallurgy.

Boards of Regents— Of normal schools consist of six members

* The first free day school ever opened in Missouri was by the Church of the Messiah^
in St. Louis. This church was organized in 1834, by Rev. Wm. Q. Elliott, D. D., who was
the founder, and is now Chancellor of Washington University.
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to each school, appointed by the governor, with consent of the senate,

from the locality. The state superintendent of public schools is ex

oficio member of each board.

Boards of Control— Of other institutions vary in name and num-
ber of members. They are usually appointed by the governor.

Superintendent of Public Schools— Has general supervision of

the public schools; collects and tabulates the school statistics of the state;

apportions the state school funds to the counties; gives information to

school officers upon construction of school law; prepares and furnishes

blanks for use of school officers
; spends five days in each congressional dis-

trict of the state, yearly, consulting and advising teachers and other school

officers, and delivering lectures; is a member of the board of regents of

the normal schools, and president of state board of education; receives

reports from the county commissioners and state institutions of learn-

ing; makes annual reports to the governor and general assembly alter-

nately; and is the executive manager of the state school fund under the

direction of state board of education.

County School Commissioners— Elected at the annual school meet-

ings of the various school districts for the term of two years; compen-
sation varies according to population of county, from twenty to forty

dollars per annum and a fee, additional, of one and one-half dollars from

each teacher undergoing examination; examines teachers, grants and

revokes certificates; has final jurisdiction over appealed cases of changes
of district boundaries, appealed from the annual meetings; condenses

and reports to state superintendent of public schools the educational

statistics of the county, as received by him from the district boards of

directors; supplies the districts with copies of the law, and all blanks

needed; performs any and all duties required by the State Superintend-

ent, and in counties where the people have voted in favor of it, employs
his whole time in supervision and school work.

Miscellaneous.—To draw public money, districts must maintain at

least three months public school in each year, but the law requires and

provides that four months shall be taught. Any person between the

ages of six and twenty years may attend the public schools. In cities^

towns and villages, the boards are authorized to hold from five to ten

months term of school each year, and in the country districts the people

may vote an extension of term over four months. The rate of taxation

for school purposes, in addition to the distributed state, county and town-

ship, or sixteenth section funds, is limited to forty cents on the $100 valu-

ation, except that the people, at the annual school meeting, may vote an

increase not to exeed sixty-five cents on the $100, by a majority vote of

tax-payers. To raise funds by taxation for building purposes, requires
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that the increased rate be voted by two-thirds of the qualified voters

voting at the annual or special meeting.
Annual School Meeting— Meets at the district school house annu-

ally, and elects a director for a full term, and fills vacancies in the board;
determines the length of time in excess of four months, that the schools

shall be kept open, and orders the proper levies within the Hmitations to

be made therefor; votes a sum not exceeding $20 per annum for pur-
chase of books for district Hbrary ;

decides for or against proposed changes
of district boundary lines; directs the sale of property no longer required,
and determines the applications of proceeds; designates their choice for

county school commissioner every second year; directs the loan of

money to aid in erecting school houses; directs the levy of tax for the

erection of school houses; determines the location of the school house or

houses; by a two-thirds vote changes location of school house; receives

the reports of school district board as to financial condition, and itemized

receipts and disbursements for the year ending.
District Boards— Consist of three members in the country districts,

and six members in the city, town and village districts
; each elected for

a term of three years ; one, annually, in the country, and two in the city,

town and village districts; they elect one of their number president, and

appoint a clerk who may not be a member of the board, if it so chooses;

they are the executive officers of the school corporation, which each dis-

trict is, being created by law; they serve without compensation; have

custody of school property; execute the orders of the annual meeting;
take the school census; make and file the estimates for tax levies; con-

trol the disbursements of all school money; keep the district records;
visit the schools; employ teachers; provide for a four months term of

school without consulting the people; make rules for organization, gra-

ding and government of the schools, suspend or expel pupils; admit and

prescribe fees for non-resident pupils, and in general do all things neces-

sary to carry on the schools.

In city, town and village districts the board has power to establish

higher grades of schools, but are subject to the same tax restrictions.

Some cities have special charters giving other privileges than those

enumerated, but subject to the same tax restrictions, they being constitu-

tional provisions.

Educational Directory.— University of Missouri, located at Colum-

bia; number of students, 577; legislative appropriation for 1879 and 1880,

$39,000. State Agricultural College constitutes a department of the

University. Three State Normal Schools, located respectively at Kirks-

ville, Warrensburg and Cape Girardeau.* The appropriation to each of

* St. Louis supports its own normal school, for the preparation and training of its

teachers, the greater number of whom are graduates of this normal school.
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normal schools is $7,500 per annum. Deaf and Dumb Asylum, located

at Fulton; legislative appropriation for 1879 and 1880, $91,000. Blind

Asylum, located at St. Louis; legislative appropriation for 1879 and 1880,

$46,000. Lincoln Institute,* located at Jeflerson City; legislative appro-

priation, $10,000 for 1879 and 1880; devoted to training colored teachers

for colored public schools of the state. School of Mines and Metallurgy,
located at Rolla; legislative appropriation, $15,000 for 1879 and 1880;
constitutes a department of the state university. State teachers' associ-

ation, meets annually at places selected at each session, during the last

week in June.

Statistics of 1878.— School population, 688,248; school enrollment,

448,033; No. of ungraded school districts, 8,142; No. of graded school

districts, 279. No. of school houses, 8,092; estimated value of school

houses and sites, $8,321,399; average school year in months, 5; average
school year in months, in graded school districts, 9; total number of

teachers employed, 11,268; total wages of teachers, $2,320,430.20; aver-

age wages of teachers per month, males, $36.36, females, $28.09; aver-

age wages of teachers per month, in grades schools, estimated, males,

$87.81, females, $40.73.

Revenue.— From interest on state permanent fund, $174,030.15;
from one-fourth state revenue collections, $363,276.32; from county and

township permanent funds, $440,191.37; from district taxes, $2,446,-

910.71. Total, $3,424,408.55.

Permanent Funds.— State fund, $2,909,457.11;" county fund, $2,388,-

368.29; township or sixteenth section fund, $1,980,678.51. Total $7,278,-

046.80.

The state auditor's report for 1879 and 1880 furnishes the following
school items; and they make a very favorable showing for the public
school interests of Missouri:

1879. 1880.

Amount distributed to the counties 1502,795.18
'

$515,286.09
Maintenances of State University 19,500.00 19,500.00

Support of Lincoln Institute 5,000.00 5,000.00

Support School of Mines and Metallurgy 7,500.00 7,500.00
JSormal School, 1st district 7,500.00 7,500 00

2d "
7,500.00 7,500.00

" « South Missouri district 7,500,00 7,500.00
Distribution of school laws 308.58 436.50

Lincoln Institute was tirst projected by the 63d Regiment U. 8. Colored Infantry,
while on duty in Texas, in 1865, and was designed for the higher education of colored

people. In January, 1866, the state attached a state normal department to it, to provide
suitable teachers for the public schools for colored children. The school was opened
Sept. 17, 1876, but was not finally provided for by law as a state normal school until Feb.

14, 1870, since which time it has gone steadily forward and done a good work for the

negro population.
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MASSACUVSV.ITS AND MISSOVIU SCHOOL RATES.

Massaohuso:ts is taken almost universallv as the standard of measure-

ment for Oilier states. The s:a:e reports ot" >rassachusetts and Missouri,

for l>7i\ show that in the former there was applied to the educa-

tion of ever}- child of school a^e the sum of Slo.Tl— in the latter,

$4.37. Bu: i: nnis: be ren^cr/.bcred :ha: school a^'c in Massachusetts is

bc'.wcon :".vo :i:\d :ii;cen years; in Missouri between six and twentv; a

diiiere:-'.ce ot' four years in school.

T'ne report of the secretary of the Massachusetts board of education,

for 1S7P. states the "'per cen:ai;e of valuation appropriated for public

schools," as two and seventv-two one hundredths mills. In Missouri it

was over n\e nv.'.'.s. T'::.\: ':<. o%-ery tax-paying' Missourian paid nearly

twice as much tor the -.ri.r.r.'.cnance of public schools on the same amount

\^of valued of property as th.e tax-pa\er of Massachusetts.

DENOMINATIONAL SCHOOLS,

rtATE
.-»T,--.r.r, NA-VK OK lA'STITCTIOX. WHEJiE UHATKP. DIOiOULNATIOX.

ISTl Central Colleire Fayette M. E. Church South.
lSo'3 Chr:s:i.i:i College Canton Christian.

lS5i^ College Christian Brothers. St. Louis Roman Catholic.

18T3 Drurv Colleije Springfield Congregational.
1S6S Hannibal College Hannibal M. :^. Church South.
lSt>5 Lewis College Glasgow Methodist Episcopal.
ISTO Lincoln College Greenwood United Presbvterian.

1S53 McGee College College Mound.. .Cumb. Presbvterian.

1867 St. Joseph College St. Joe Roman Catholic.

1832 St. Lou:s University St. Louis Roman Catholic.

1844 St. Paul College Palmyra Protestant Episcopal.
1844 St. \'inceRt College Cape Girardeau. .Roman Catholic.

1857 Washington University. . .St. Louis Xon-Sectarian.
1853 Westminster College Fulton Presbyterian.
1853 Wm. Jewell College Liberty Baptist.
1869 Woodland College Independence .... Chrisrian.

1835 St. Charles Coflege St. Chades M. E. Church South.
1852 Central Colle^re Favette •• " "

1843 Arcadia College Arcadia « « «

THEOLOGICAL SCHOOL?.

1839 Concordia College St. Louis Evangelical Luth'ran
1844 St. Vincent College ....... Cape Girardeau . . Roman CathoLic.

Theological School of West-
minster College Fulton Presb}'terian.

1869 Vanderman School of The-

ology Liberty Baptist.

In addition to the above, the Baptists have: Stephens College, Columbia*
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Mt. Pleasant College, Huntsville; Baptist Female College, Lexington; La

Grrange College, La Grange; Baptist College, Louisiana
; Liberty Female

College, Liberty; St. Louis Seminary for Young Ladies, Jennings Sta-

tion; Fairvievv Female Seminary, Jackson; Booneville Seminary for

Young Ladies, Booneville; North Grand River College, Edinburg;

Ingleside Academy, Palmyra.
The Christian connection has Christian University, at Canton, in Lewis

county.
The Congregationalists have Thayer College, at Kidder, in Caldwell

county.
The German Evangelicals have Missouri College, in Warren county.
The Methodist Episcopals (North) have Johnson College at Macon

City.

The Presbyterians have Lindenwood Female College, at St. Charles.

A good feeUng prevails amongst these different schools. Each attends

to its own work in its own way, caring for the patronage of its own peo-

ple and the community at large, as a good neighbor of everv other

worker. A most liberal and impartial legislative policy is pursued, by
dealing with all alike before the law, whether in the maintenance of

vested rights or in the matter of taxation. By constitutional provision
all property actually used for school and religious purposes mav be

exempted from taxes, and the same constitution most explicitlv interdicts

all discrimination, and also all favor or partiality.

LAW SCHOOLS.

FOUNDED. NAME LOCATION.

1872 Law College of State University Columbia.
1867 Law Department of Washington University St. Louis.

MEDICAL SCHOOLS.

FOUNDED. NAME. LOCATION.

1869 Kansas City College of Physicians and Surgeons. .Kansas City.
1873 Medical College of State University Columbia.
1840 Missouri Medical College St. Louis.

1841 St. Louis Medical College
1858 Homeopathic Medical College of Missouri "

1865 Missouri Dental College
"

1864 St. Louis College of Pharmacy
"

SCIENTIFIC SCHOOLS.

1870 Agricultural and Mechanical College (State Uni-

versity) Columbia.
1871 Missouri School of Mines and Metallurgy (State

University) Rolla.

1857 Polytechnic Department of W^ashington University.St. Louis.
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m o o^ •

RELIGIOUS DENOMINATION S-1879-80. °£ Ss g^|

Catholic 216 264 200,000
Protestant Episcopal 65 50 25,000
Lutheran Independent Evangelical 25 20 1,000

"
English Evangelical 6 6 1,000

" German " 76 68 3,6;]3

Presbyterian, O. S. North 210 151 11,143
" South ]35 73 7,662

Cumberland 361 169 15,823
" United 10 12 70a
" Reformed 8 4 165

Congregational 71 47 3,747

Baptist 1,385 823 86,999
Christian, about 500 500 70,00a
Methodist Episcopal, South 559 648 53.382

North 359 420 42,888
African 58 59 4,954

African Methodist Episcopal, Zion
)

Colored " " Ubout 116 118 9,908

Methodist, Protestant and Free Methodist Episcopal Church )

Unitarian 5 5

Total 4,160 3,437 539,004

Note.—Church members of the Catholic and Protestant Episcopal Churches include all persons bap-
tized into the church. The others count only communicants in good standing.

PROTECTIONAL LAWS.

Our state legislature has made ample and discreet provision for the

protection of a home-place from sale on execution. The home and property

rights of married women, widows and orphans, are guaranteed by
statute as far as is practicable. A limit has also been fixed to the amount
of indebtedness which may be incurred by the people in voting bonds to

railroads, or other enterprises in which they may feel a friendly interest,

but in aiding which, too generally, so many western communities have

burdened themselves and their posterity with debts and taxation that are

grevious to be borne.

HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION.

The laws of Missouri reserve from execution, in the hands of every
head of a family living in the country, a homestead, consisting of one

hundred and
sixtj'- (160) acres of land, not exceeding $1,500 in value; to

ever}'^ head of a family, in cities of over 40,000 inhabitants, a homestead

consisting of not more than eighteen square rods of ground, and of a

valuation not exceeding $3,000; and in cities and towns of less than 40,-

000 inhabitants, a homestead, consisting of not more than thirty square
rods of ground, and of the value of not more than $1,500. Thus it is
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seen that a farmer's homestead in Missomn consists of one hundred and

sixty acres of land and the improvements thereon, not exceeding in value

$1,500; the homestead of the residents of the smaller towns is of the

same value; while that allowed to the inhabitants of St. Louis, St.

Joseph and Kansas City, where land is more valuable, and the cost of

living greater, is fixed at $3,000.

The homestead is in the nature of a lien or charge, in favor of the

wife and children, upon certain property of the husband, defined in

extent, and limited in value. A declaration of what this property is may
be recorded in the ofBce of the recorder of deeds, and notice is thus

imparted to all persons having dealings with the owner, that this particu-

lar property is not subject to execution, and that they ought not to give .

credit on the faith of it. The state, under this head, provides that: "Any
married woman may file her claim to the tract or lot of land occupied or

claimed by her and her husband, or by her, if abandoned by her husband,

as a homestead. Said claim shall set forth the tract or lot claimed, that

she is the wife of the person in whose name the said tract or lot appears
of record, and said claim shall be acknowledged by her before some

officer authorized to take proof or acknowledgment of instruments of

writing affecting real estate, and be filed in the recorder's office, and it

shall be the duty of the recorder to receive and record the same. After

the filing of such claims, duly acknowledged, the husband shall be de-

barred from, and incapable of selling, mortgaging and alienating the

homestead in any manner whatever, and such sale, mortgage or alienation

is hereby declared null and void; and the filing of any such claims as

aforesaid with the recorder shall impart notice to all persons of the con-

tents thereof, and all subsequent purchasers and mortagors shall be

deemed, in law and equity, to purchase with notice; provided, however,
that nothing herein contained shall be so construed as to prevent the hus-

band and wife from jointly conveying, mortgaging, alienating, and, in

any other manner, disposing of such homestead, or any part thereof."

Such a law, while securing the benefits of a homestead to the debtor,

works no injustice to the creditor. He sees that the debtor has certain

property recorded as his homestead. He never gives credit on the faith that

this property will be subject to his execution; but he looks simply to the

other property of the debtor, or to the state of his business and his char-

acter for honesty.
It may be added that the supreme court of this state has construed the

homestead laws liberally, with the view of carrying out the benevolent

purposes of the legislature. If the debtor is ignorant or timid, when the

sheriff comes with an execution to levy, and fails to claim his right of

homestead, his family are not, therefore, to be turned out of doors. The
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sheriff must summon appraisers and set the homestead apart, whether the

debtor claims it or not; and if he does not do this, his sale will pass no title

to the purchaser so far as the debtor's homestead is concerned. If the

debtor makes a conveyance of property embracing his family homestead,
for the purpose of hindering or defrauding his creditors, this does not

work a forfeiture of his homestead right; his wrongful act is not thus to

be appealed to in prejudice of his wife and children. If the cruelty of

the husband drives the wife from the homestead, this does not put an end
to her interest in the homestead. She may return and claim it after his

death, and his administrator must set it apart for her.

EXEMPTIONS OF PERSONAL PROPERTY.

Pursuing the same wise and benevolent policy, the statutes provide
that the following personal property shall be exempt from attachment and

execution when owned by the head of a family: "1. Ten head of choice

hogs, ten head of choice sheep, and the product thereof in wool, yarn or

cloth; two cows and calves, two plows, one axe, one hoe, and one set of

plow gears, and all the necessary farm implements for the use of one man.

3. Two work animals of the value of one hundred and fifty dollars. 3.

The spinning-wheel and cards, one loom and apparatus, necessary for

manufacturing cloth in a private family. 4. All the spun yarn, thread

and cloth manufactured for family use. 5. Any quantity of hemp, flax

and wool, not exceeding twenty-five pounds each. 6. All wearing apparel
of the family, four beds, with usual bedding, and such other household and

kitchen furniture, not exceeding the value of one hundred dollars, as may
be necessary for the family, agreeably to an inventory thereof, to be re-

turned, on oath, with the execution, by the officer whose duty it may be

to levy the same. T. The necessary tools and implements of trade of

any mechanic while carrying on his trade. 8. Any and all arms and

military equipments required by law to be kept. 9. All such provisions

as may be on hand for family use, not exceeding one hundred dollars in

value. 10. The bibles and other books used in a family, lettered grave-

stones, and One pew in a house of worship. 11. All lawyers, physicians,

ministers of the gospel and teachers, in the actual prosecution of their

calling, shall have the privilege of selecting such books as shall be neces-

sary to their profession, in the place of other property herein allowed, at

their option; and doctors of medicine, in lieu of other property exempt
from execution, may be allowed to select their medicines." In lieu of this

property, each head of a family may, at his election, select and hold

exempt from execution any other propert}'^, real, personal, or mixed, or

debts or wages not exceeding in value the amount of three hundred dol-

lars.

The legislature of the state has wisely considered that the debtor ought
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not to be permitted to plead poverty as against the claims of creditors

equally necessitous. It is accordingly provided that the foregoing

exemption cannot be claimed when the debt is for wages due to a house

servant or common laborer to the extent of $90, and when the action to

recover the same is brought witjiiiin six months after the last services were

rendered. Nor can the purchaser of goods make this law an instrument

of fraud by claiming goods which he has purchased on credit against an

execution for the purchase money.

RIGHTS OF MARRIED WOMEN.

State legislation is extremely careful of the rights of married women.
If a wife is unjustly abandoned by her husband, the circuit court will

sequester his property for the purpose of maintaining her and the children

of the marriage. If he abandons her, or from worthlessness or drunken-

ness fails to support her, the court will not only allow her to sell her own
real estate without his joining in the deed, but will require any person

holding money or property to which he may be entitled in her right, to

pay the money over to her. 1. Under such circumstances she is entitled

to the proceeds of her own earnings and those of her minor children. 2.

If her real estate is damaged for railroads, or other public works, the

damages accrue exclusively to her. 3. If her husband gets into the peni-

tentiary, she becomes to all intents and purposes a femme sole . 4. And if he,

by ill usage, compels her to live separate and apart from him, she may
claim the sole and exclusive enjoyment of her property as if she were un-

married. Rents, issues and profits of her real estate cannot be taken in

execution for his debts, except when contracted for family necessaries.

Moreover, by a very broad statute lately enacted, a wife may hold all her

personal property free from her husband's control and exempt from liabil-

ity for his debts. If he becomes incompetent to lead in the marital part-

nership, she may take the reins in her hands, engage in trade, accumulate

property, and no act of his will create a charge upon it. Finally, at his

death, the family homestead descends to her and the children, if any there

be, to be held by her for life; if there be any children, in common with

them; if not, by herself alone. She also takes dower in one-third of all

the real estate of which her husband may have been seized at any time

during marriage, in which she has not conveyed her right of dower,

diminished, however, by the homestead which is set apart to her. She

takes also a child's share of his personal estate; and, in addition to all

this, she is allowed to retain as her absolute property a large amount of

personalty.

TAXATION.

The constitution places it beyond the power of reckless or dishonest
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public agents to burden the people with excessive taxation. Taxes for

state purposes, exclusive of the taxes necessary to pay the bonded debt

of the state, cannot exceed twenty cents on the hundred dollars valuation;

and whenever the taxable property of the state shall amount to $900,000,-

000 the rate shall not exceed fifteen cents. The rate of taxation for

county, city, town and school purposes, is likewise strictly limited.

Counties, cities, towns, townships and school districts cannot become

indebted bej'ond the revenue provided for each year without a two-thirds

vote of all voters therein, nor, in any event, to an amount exceeding five

per cent on the value of the taxable property.

The statutes of limitation in Missouri provide that an open account can-

not be collected after it has run five years; a note is uncollectible if held for

ten 3'ears after due; and a judgment expires by limitation in ten years.

The standard legal rate of interest in this state is six per cent; but a

higher rate not exceeding ten per cent may be contracted for.

PUBLIC DEBT LIMITATION.

The state debt, according to the State Auditor's last report, [1878], is

$16,758,000. This mostly grew out of the various issues of bonds given
in aid of railroads, and bears interest at the rate of six per cent per annum.

To liquidate this debt the constitution provides for the annual levy of

taxes, now fixed by law at twenty cents on the $100 of the valuation.

With the sum thus raised the interest of the debt is first to be paid, and of

the remainder not less than $250,000 is to be set apart as a sinking fund

for the purchase and retirement of the bonds tliemselves. Hence, in a

few years, with the vast increase in the taxable wealth, which is sure to

come, the whole of the debt will be extinguished. There is an additional

state tax of twent}' cents on the $100 for current expenditures, a large

share of which is devoted to the support of the common schools. This

tax is ample for the purposes for which it is intended, and there is a con-

stitutional provision that it shall be reduced to fifteen cents on the $100 as

soon as the taxable property of the state shall aggregate a total valuation

of $900,000,000.

The state, and all its municipal subdivisions, whether counties, cities or

towns, are forbidden by the constitution to loan their credit to any corpora-

tion, so that there is no method by which the public indebtedness can be

increased in the usual way. Owing to the great zeal of the people to for-

ward public improvements of all kinds, a municipal indebtedness, aggre-

gating, according to the auditor's last report, $35,727,560.4.9, has been

contracted. Of this amount the debt of the city of St. Louis is shown to

constitute $22,712,000, leaving for the agricultural portion of the state and

the other cities, towns, townships and school districte only a Httle over

$13,000,000.
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The present organic law prevents any municipality from contracting

liabilities, in any one liscal year, beyond the amount of the levy made for

that year, and in no county can the rate of taxation for local purposes,

aside from the school tax, exceed fifty cents on the $100 valuation, unless

two-thirds of the voters shall assent to the levy of a larger sum. Neither

can the school tax in country districts exceed forty cents on the $100
without the consent of the ta'x-payers, to be obtained by a vote of the ma-

jority of the residents.

COMPARATIVE TAX RATE.

It will be interesting to note how the tax rate of our own state com-

pares with that of adjoining states.

The average tax lev}^ for all purposes in Missouri is about $1.30 on the

$100; adding to this 70 cents on the $100 for the payment of bonded

indebtedness where it exists, there is an average of $2 on the $100 as

the rate, and a certainty of its steady decrease. This is given as an average,

and while in a lew counties the tax rate is higher, in the majority it is

much lower.

By the report of the state auditor of Kansas, for the year ending June

30, 1878, the tax levy for state purposes is shown to be 55 cents on the

$100, and the average levy for local debts and expenses $3.82 on the $100,

making a total average tax of $4.37 on the $100. The taxable property
of Kansas in 1878 aggregated the sum of $138,698,810.98, and the local

indebtedness was reported by the state auditor at $13,473,197.51. In

Nebraska the tax levy for state purposes alone is 62^ cents on the $100,

exclusive of taxes to pay local debts and expenses.

In Iowa, the average rate of taxation for the year 1878 was $2.67 on the

$100. In Illinois the tax levy for 1877, the last given in the auditor's

report, was v$3.24 on the $100, and the local indebtedness of that state

was then the sum of $51,811,691.

Thus, it is clear that Missouri has a lower rate of taxation than any of

the neighboring states above mentioned; and, in addition to this, under

her wise constitutional provision, the rate of taxation must continually

decrease every year, until only a sufficient amount of taxes to liquidate

current expenses will be collected.

There are twenty counties that have no indebtedness whatever, and

forty more the debt of which is merely nominal
;

so that their burden of

taxation will be lighter than in any other portion of the United States.
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FEDERAL AFFAIRS IN THE STATE.

FEDERAL COURTS. '

The United States is divided into nine supreme court circuits, to each of

which one of the supreme court judges is assigned. Missouri is now in

the eighth circuit, which includes Arkansas, Iowa, Kansas, Minnesota,

Missouri, Nebraska and Colorado; and George W. McCrary, of Iowa,
who was secretary of war, in President Hayes' cabinet, is now the

judge of this circuit. Missouri is divided into an east and west United

States judicial district; and Samuel Treat, of St. Louis, is United States

judge of the east district, while Arnold Krekel, of Jefferson City, presides
over the west district.

FEDERAL REVENUE.

Missouri paid the following amounts of internal revenue to the United

States during the year ending June 30, 1880: On distilled spirits, $2,151,-

643.98; on tobacco, $2,391,989.93; on fermented liquors, $711,654.53; on

banking, $182,929.25; on other items, $1,360.27. Total, $5,448,344.83.

Illinois, Kentucky, New York and Ohio were the only states which paid
a larger sum of revenue on spirits; Illinois, New Jersey, New York,

Ohio, Pennsylvania and Virginia paid larger on tobacco; Illinois, New
York, Ohio, Pennsylvania and Wisconsin paid larger on fermented

liquors (chiefly lager beer); California, New York and Pennsylvania are

the only states which paid larger on banking transactions.

In 1878, Missouri paid $115,729.64 as penalties for violation of U.

S. internal revenue laws, which was the highest amount on this item paid

by any state—the next highest being Pennsylvania, which was "
caught

at it" to the amount of $27,867.20.

U. S. LANDS AND LAND OFFICES.

There are now three U. S. land offices in Missouri, to-wit: at Boon-

ville, Ironlon and Springfield. The report of the general land office for

1879 showed 41,836,931 acres of government land still open to home-

stead entry in Missouri.

LEGAL TENDER IN MISSOURI.

Gold coins of the United States (un mutilated), and the "
greenback"

paper currency are legal tender for the payment of any possible amount

of indebtedness. Silver coins are legal tender for any amount not exceed-

ing $10 at one payment—but the standard silver dollar is legal tender for
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any amount, unless the contract specially provides otherwise. The baser,

coins of nickel, copper and allo}^ (3 cent pieces), are legal tender for any
sum not exceeding 25 cents. The "trade dollar," and national bank
notes are 7iot legal tender; neither is any foreign coin, either of gold or

silver, nor the "
stamped bullion

"
gold pieces of California.

U. S. CUSTOM HOUSE.

St. Louis is a port of entry for foreign goods; and the imports received

here during the year 1880, amounted to (foreign value), $1,401,180; on
which the import duties paid was $537,257.83. A fine custom house

building is in process of erection, and will be completed in 1881.

MILITARY.

In the south part of St. Louis, on the river, there is a United States

arsenal, and six miles below the city, Jefferson Barracks are situated, a sta-

tion for a small part of the regular army. A few squares from the

arsenal there is a United States marine hospital.

MISSOURI'S DISTINGUISHED MEN.

Within our allotted space we can ov^y give a brief sketch of those citi-

zens of Missouri who have so pre-eminently distinguished themselves as

to have achieved a solid national, and in some cases a world-wide fame.

First among these is—
Daniel Boone. The adventures of this famous hunter and Indian

fighter have become a staple part of the world's perennial stock of daring

exploits and hair-breadth escapes. He was born in Bucks county, Penn-

sylvania, February 11, 1735; emigrated to North Carolina and there mar-

ried. In 1773 he emigrated with his own and five other families to Ken-

tucky, and founded the present town of Boonesborough. In 1795 he

removed to the Missouri river country^ and settled in St. Charles county,
about forty-five miles west of St. Louis, where he died in 1820, aged 85.

His remains, together with those of his wife, were many years after-

ward removed to Boonesborough, Kentucky, and a monument reared

over them.

Thomas H. Benton. Col. Benton was, in his lifetime, recognized as

one of the foremost statesmen of the nation, and the hearts of all good
Missourians kindle with pride at the mention of his name. He was a

specimen type of the best sort of Democrat; he always stood with Gen.
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Jackson and opposed the state-rights doctrines of John C. Calhoun; in

congress he opposed the repeal of the "Missouri Compromise ;" and during
Gen, Jackson's presidency Col. Benton was so vigorous a champion of

hard money, as against the old U. S. bank swindle, that he came to be

familiarly known all over the United States as "Old Bullion." Col. Benton

was born near Hillsborough, North Carolina, March 14, 1782; studied law

at Nashville, Tennessee, in 1810. In the war of 1812 he served as a Colonel

under Gen. Jackson; settled at St. Louis in 1815. In 1820 he was elected as

the first U. S. Senator from Missouri, and continued to be re-elected every
term for thirty j^ears; the longest period that any man in the nation has

fiUed a senatorial seat. In 1852-3 he served one term as member of con-

gress from the first district. In 1856 he was defeated in his candidacy for

governor by the state-rights party, to whose doctrines he was strongly

opposed, fi-om the time of the nullification acts of South Carolina in 1832,

up to the day of his death. In 1854 he published his great work, "Thirty
Years in the United States Senate," in two large volumes, and these are

held in high esteem as standard authority by politicians and statesmen of

every class. Col. Benton died April 10, 1858, mourned by the whole

nation as one of her worthiest sons.

James B. Eads, a citizen of St. Louis. His marvelous achievements as

a civil ensfineer have made his name familiar in all civilized countries on

the face of the earth; and his last great work, the jetties at the mouth of

the Mississippi river, has revolutionized the commerce of three continents.

Mr. Eads was born at Lawrenceburg, Indiana, May 28, 1820; emigrated
with his parents to Louisville, Kentucky, in 1829; and in 1833 settled at

St. Louis. In July, 1861, the government advertised for seven gun-boats

of about 600 tons burden, drawing not over six feet of water, plated with

iron 2^ inches thick, to steam nine miles an hour, and carry thirteen guns.*

Mr. Eads contracted to build those seven vessels in sixty-five days. At

this time the timber for them stood uncut in the forest; the iron for their

plating was still in the mines, and no machine yet in existence of capacity

to roll such enormous plates; and not a pound of iron or steel yet wrought
or cast for the construction of the twenty-one steam engines and thirty-

five boilers required to propel the fleet. But within twenty-four hours

from the signing of the contract at Washington, he had all the iron works,

foundries and machine shops of St. Louis, started on the work; and inside

of two weeks he had more than 4,000 men working in alternate gangs by

night and day, Sundays included, so that not an hour should be lost. The

boats were built at St. Louis, but the states of Kentucky, Tennessee, Illinois,

Indiana, Ohio, Minnesota and Missouri were all drawn upon for material,

while large works in Cincinnati and Pittsburg were also whirling every

*8ee Major Boynton's "History of the United States Navy."
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wheel to hasten forward the great undertaking, all being under the direc-

tion and control by telegraph or in person of this one man
;
and he filled

the contract. The world's history shows no parallel to the wonderful

mastery of resources and the tremendous vigor of executive and super-

visory talent which this achievement involved. He projected, planned
and built the magnificent railroad bridge across the Mississippi river at

St Louis, which ranks among the greatest works of its kind on this round

globe. He projected and built the jetties at the mouth of the Mississippi,

which enable the largest sea-going vessels to pass in and out freely, thus

making possible the barge system of shipping grain and other products

from St. Louis and Kansas City direct to foreign countries, and which

has within two years revolutionized the entire international commerce of

the Mississippi and Missouri valley states. He is now engaged in devel-

oping a ship railway across the Isthmus of Panama, which will take the

heaviest loaded ships into a dry-dock on wheels and trundle them from

ocean to ocean as easily and safely as they are now towed through the

ship canal at Suez.

Carl Schurz. Born near Cologne, Prussia, March 2, 1829; educated

-at the University of Bonn; took part in the revolutionary agitations of

Europe in 1848 and following years, involving Germany, Austria, Italy,

Hungary, etc.; and in which Kossuth in Hungary, and Garibaldi in Italy

were prominent leaders, whose names are familiar to and honored by all

Americans. Mr. Schurz came to the United States in 1852; settled as a

lawyer at Milwaukee, Wisconsin, in 1859; in 1861 was appointed minister

to Spain; resigned and came home, and in 1862-3-4, was a major-gen-

eral of volunteers in the Union army. In 1867 he settled at St. Louis as

editor of the Westliche Post; was United States senator from Mis-

souri from 1869 to 1875, and was secretary of the interior in President

Hayes' cabinet. Mr. Schurz has thus won the highest positions ever held

in the United States by any foreign-born citizen, and has reflected honor

upon Missouri, his adopted state, by his masterful ability as a public

speaker, and his strong, earnest, humanitarian efforts as an executive offi-

cer.

Prof. Charles V. Riley, was born in London, England, September

12, 1843; came to the United States in 1860. In 1868 established in St.

Louis, in company with Benjamin D. Walsh, a scientific journal called the

American Entomologist, and was the same year appointed state entomol-

ogist of Missouri
;
this position he filled to the great benefit and honor of

the state for eight years; then he was called to come up higher, and took

position as entomologist of the national department of agriculture at

Washington. Prof. Riley's valuable investigations and discoveries with

regard to the Colorado beetle (potato bug), the Rocky Mountain locust

4
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(grasshoppers), the cotton worm, and the phylloxera, or grape insect, have

placed his name in the foremost ranks in the world of science, and among
the greatest of benefactors to the agricultural and horticultural industries

of the world. This he achieved while serving Missouri as state entomol-

ogist, and through the publication by the state of his annual reports.

Hence, the name and good repute of our noble commonwealth is insepar-

ably associated with his honor and fame, which has reached the farthest

confines of every land where potatoes, cotton or grapes are cultivated.

MISSOURI IN THE CIVIL WAR.

Missouri was powerfully agitated by the controversy on- the slavery

question in 1818-19-20, which resulted in the "Missouri Compromise.'*
This was a compact, mainly carried through congress by the eloquence
and influence of the great senator, Henry Clay, of Kentucky, by which

it was agreed that Missouri should be admitted to the Union as a slave-

holding state
;
but that slavery should be forever excluded from any states

which might thereafter be formed out of new territory west of the western

boundary of Missouri, and north of the parallel of 36 degrees, 30 minutes

of north latitude. This line practically corresponds with the southern

boundary of Virginia, Kentucky, Missouri, Kansas, Colorado and Utah,

as they now stand.

In May, 1854, congress passed a bill organizing the territories of

Kansas a«d Nebraska, in which it was declared that the Missouri Com-

promise of 1820 did not apply to them. This was an indirect way of

repealing or rendering nugatory the bargain made between the northern

and the southern states in that compromise; and the floodgates of angry

debate, contention and strife were at once opened. This became the issue

upon which all elections turned. Instead of slavery being prohibited, as the

compromise of 1820 had declared it should be, it was thrown open for the

territorial legislature to decide whether it should be free or slave territory.

In view of this, there was a rush and race of settlers from the free states

and the slave states into Kansas, to see which party should get control of

the first territorial legislature; and in this movement Missouri, as a slave

state, took a prominent part. It was a border country conflict, and there

was illegality and violence on both sides, making a chapter in our state

history the details of which might profitably be dropped out and forgotten.

Suffice to say, the free state party carried the election; and this confiict

was a precursor of the great civil war.



HISTORY OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI. 51

In 1860 C. F. Jackson was elected governor of Missouri. Abrahami
Lincoln had been elected President of the United States at the sanie time.

Governor Jackson took his seat January 4, 1861; the question of secession

was then already in warm discussion in some of the southern states, and
Governor Jackson in his inaugural address maintained that " Missouri

must stand by the other slave-holding states, whatever course they may

pursue." The general assembly ordered an election to be held February
18th, for members of a state convention; the proposed object of this con-

vention was " to consider the then existing relations between the United

States, the people and government of the different states, and the govern-
ment and people of the state of Missouri; and to adopt such measures for

vindicating the sovereignty of the state and the protection of its institutions

as shall appear to them to be demanded." This convention met, first at

Jefferson City, and afterward at St. Louis, and had a decided majority of

Unionists—that is, of men opposed to secession; some because they
believed in the doctrine of " Federal Nationality," as against the doctrine

called "State Rights;" others because, like A. H. Stevens, of Georgia,,

they saw with a clear eye that secession must inevitably result in the

overthrow of slavery. And thus the Union men themselves were strongly
divided into northern and southern sympathizers. The convention sat at

St. Louis, without any important results, from March 9th to 22d, when it

adjourned, subject to the call of its committee on federal relations.

National events rushed on rapidl}^ to a crisis which would admit of no

temporizing. In April, Fort Sumter was fired upon; President Lincoln

called for 75,000 troops ;
and men must now take sides for or against the

national sovereignty of the lawfully constituted Federal authorities. Our

legislature was in session; its measures and discussions were almost

entirely of the "State Rights" type; and in a message to the legislature
on May 3, 1861, Governor Jackson said the President's call for troops "is

unconstitutional and illegal, tending toward a consolidated despotism.
* *

Our interest and sympathies are identical with those of the slave-holding

states, and necessarily unite our destiny with theirs." While these

influences were working in the central and western parts of the state, and

organizations of " state guards
" were being rapidly formed to resist the

federal authority, Gen. Nathaniel Lyon and Col. F. P. Blair were actively

enlisting men and organizing regiments in St. Louis and vicinity, to main-

tain the federal authority. The most intense alarm and consternation

prevailed throughout the state. Several minor conflicts occurred between

state militia or "guards" and Union troops, all hinging upon the question
of which power had the right of paramount sovereignty. The state

troops were mostly under command of General Sterling Price, subordinate

only to the governor of the state; while the federal troops were under
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command of General Lyon, by authority of the President of the United

States.^

Governor Jackson finally tried to make terms with Gen. Lyon, that no

federal troops should be stationed in or allowed to pass through the

state. This was refused; and the governor then immediately issued a

formal call, June 12, for 50,000 state militia. About April 20th, nearly
two months before this, the " state guards

" had seized the United States

arsenal at Liberty, in Clay county, and taken its stores and arms for

their own use. This was several weeks before the celebrated "Camp
Jackson

"
affair. The wager of battle was now fairly joined in Missouri

between different parties of her own citizens, although volunteers from

other states soon began to pour in. The following is a chronological list

of the more important actions and events:

April 12^ i86i.—Confederates opened fire on Fort Sumter, which was

yielded up and evacuated on the 14th.

April ij.
—President Lincoln's proclamation, calling for 75,000 volun-

teers to sustain the government, and calling a special session of congress.

SUCCEEDING EVENTS IN MISSOURI.f

April /p.— Gov. Jackson wrote to David Walker, President of the

Arkansas Convention, thus: "I have been from the beginning in favor of

decided and prompt action on the part of the southern states, but the

majority of the people of Missouri, up to the present time, have differed

with me. "

April 20.—The U. S. arsenal, at Liberty, in Clay county, was seized

and garrisoned by about a hundred "state guards," and the arms and

cannon were distributed to their friends throughout the county, with the

concurrence of the governor.;};

April 22.—Governor Jackson officially resented the president's call for

troops, and called an extra session of the legislature, to arm and equip
state troops. State militia ordered to go into encampment on May .3, for

one week.

*It is not the purpose of this history to give a detailed narrative of events of the war

lime; neither to discuss the right or the wrong of the views of either party in the conflict.

We only give a brief mention of some of the most important incidents and leading actors,

to show how and wherein the people of Missouri were themselves divided in opinion,
what motives moved them, and what events stand out as of chief historic celebrity.

Indeed, we would gladly skip this period of our state historyeutirely, if it were permissible
in such a work.

fThe events here given, in their chronological order, have been collated from more
than thirty diflerent volumes containing difi'erent items or parts of Missouri's war history.
The narratives, dates and statistics were found often conflicting; and we have endeavored
to use those only which seemed to be the best authenticated, or the most probable under
the circumstances—and to localize events as closely as possible by naming the towns,
streams, counties, etc., where they occurred.

|The governor had already (April 20th) seized the United States arsenal at Liberty, and
had distributed among his friends the arms it contained. ^^—Dra/per's History of the Civil

War, Vol. II, p. 228.
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April ^j, Night.
—

Capt. Lyon secretly removed the war stores in U.

S. arsenal at St. Louis, by steamboat, over to Alton, Illinois.

April 28.—Gov. Jackson wrote secretly to J. W. Tucker, Esq., of St.

Louis: "
I want a little time to arm the state, and I am assuming every

responsibility to do it with all possible dispatch.
* * * We should

keep our own counsels. * * *
Nothing should be said about the time

or the manner in which Missouri should go out. That she ought to go,

and will go at the proper time, I have no doubt. She ought to have

gone last winter, when she could have seized the public arms and public

property and defended herself.
" *

May J.
—

Legislature met. Governor Jackson denounced the presi-

dent's call for troops as ^'- itnconstitutional and
illegal.'''' Meanwnile Col.

F. P. Blair, Jr., member of congress from the 1st district, of St. Louis,

had enlisted one full regiment, and had four others in course of organiza-

tion, within ten days from the issue of the president's call.

May 10.—A body of "state guards," under command of Gen. D. M.

Frost, acting under Governor Jackson's authority, had established a camp
near St. Louis, called "Camp Jackson." Capt. Lyon, who had been

since February in charge of the U. S. arsenal at St. Louis, with a few

soldiers of the regular army (less than 500), discovered that the Camp
Jackson men were receiving arms and ammunition

b}'^
steamboats from

the south, in boxes marked " marble. "
Accordingly, on the morning of

May 10th, he with his regulars, and Col. Blair with his Missouri volun-

teers, surrounded, surprised and captured the camp, taking as prisoners

of war 639 privates and 50 officers. The arms captured consisted of 20

cannon, 1200 new rifles, several chests of muskets, and large quantities of

shot, shell, cartridges, etc.

May 12.—Gen. Wm. S. Harney took command of the Union forces in

Missouri. Meanwhile the legislature had passed an act making every
able-bodied man subject to military duty. All public revenues for 1860-61

(about ip3,000,000) were authorized to be used by the governor for military

purposes.

Alay 21.—Gen. Harney made a truce or compromise of peace with

Gen. Price, commander of the state troops.

June I.—The president repudiated Gen. Harne3''s truce with Price;

also removed him from his command and gave it to Gen. Lyon, who had

on May 17th been appointed a brigadier-general of volunteers.

'June /{..

—Governor Jackson issued a circular claiming the Harney-
Price compact to be still in force.

June II.—Gen. Price and Gov. Jackson sought a "peace conference"

with Gen. Lyon and Col. Blair. The governor stipulated as a vital con-

*See official address of the state convention, issued to the people July 31, 1861.
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dition of peace, that no Federal troops should be stationed in or pass

through Missouri. The proposition was rejected.

"June 12.—Gasconade railroad bridge burnt; also, Osage river bridge;
and telegraph lines cut that connected with St. Louis.

yune IJ.
—GovernorJackson issued a call for 50,000 state militia, to repel

federal invasion; referred to the president as " the military despotism which
has introduced itself at Washington;" and said to the people, "your first

allegiance is due to your own state." He appointed ex-Governor Ster-

ling Price as major general; and M. L. Clark, John B. Clark, Parsons,

Slack, Harris, Rains, McBride, Stein and
Jeft'. Thomson, as brigadier-

generals. The state militia were called to rendezvous at Boonville and

Lexington. The governor and other officers left Jefferson City for Boon-
ville this day,* while at the same time General Lyon was embarking with

1,500 men at St. Louis, to take and hold the state capital.

June /J.
—General Lyon arrived at Jefferson City.

yune i6.—Re-embarked his troops for Boonville.

yune ly.
—Battle of Boonville. Colonel Marmaduke defeated. State

troops retreated to Warsaw, with loss of fifty killed. Federal loss, two
killed.

yune /c?-/p.— Colonel O'Kane, with 350 state militia, surprised in the

night, a half-formed Union regiment at Cole Camp, in Benton county, under

Capt. Cook. Pollard's " Southern History
"
says, in this affair the Union-

ists lost 206 killed, a large number wounded, and over 100 taken prison-

ers, beside 3G2 muskets captured; O'Kane lost 15 killed and 20 wounded.

yuly J.
—Governor Jackson and General Price were at Montevallo, in

Vernon county, with (Pollard says) 3,600 state troops.

y«^ 5-d.— Battle of Carthage (or Dry Fork), in Jasper county; union

loss, 13 killed and 31 wounded; state troops, under Price and Jackson,
lost about 300 killed and wounded. Gen. Seigel, the union commander,
fell back sixty miles, to Springfield and joined Gen. Lyon.

yuly S.—A small fight occurred at Bird's Point, in Mississippi county.
Confederates lost 3 killed and !& wounded. Federal loss, if any, not reported.

ynly 22.—The state convention, which had adjourned subject to the

call of its committee on federal relations, re-convened at Jefferson City.

yiily 2^.
—

Maj. Gen. Fremont arrived at St. Louis, as commander of

the western department, which comprised Illinois, Kentucky, Missouri,

Kansas, and the territories westward.

yuly JO.
—State convention, by a vote of 56 to 25, declared the state

offices and seats in legislature vacant, by reason of their occupants being

engaged in treasonable and armed hostilities against the lawfully consti-

" *The capture of Camp Jackson and the flight of the chief executive from the capital,
was the occasion of a partial destruction of the Osage and Gasconade bridges [railroad], as
well as those over Gray's creek, west of Jefferson City."

—Annual report of state commis-
sioner of statistics, 1866, p. 255.



HISTORY OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI. 55

tuted federal authorities, and that all legislative and executive acts in pur
suance of such treason or armed hostility, pretended to be done in the

name and by authority of the state of Missouri, were mill and void.

They elected to fill the state office vacancies, H. R. Gamble, governor;
W. P. Hall, lieutenant governor; Mordecai Oliver, secretary of state;

and appointed the first Monday of November as a day of general election.

yuly ji.
—Lieut. Governor Reynolds, whose office had been declared

vacant by the state convention, issued a proclamation, dated at New Mad-

rid, July 31, in which he said: "I return to the state, to accompan}- in

my official capacity, one of the armies which the warrior statesman [Jef-

ferson Davis], whose genius now presides over the affairs of our half of

the Union, has prepared to advance against the common foe. * * *

You behold the most warlike population on the globe, the people of the

lower Mississippi valley, about to rush with their gleaming bowie-knives

and unerring rifles, to aid us in driving out the abolitionists and their Hes-

sion allies.
* * The road to peace and internal security is only

through union with the south. * "^

Rally to the stars and bars,

in union with the glorious ensign of the grizzly bear."*

August 2.—Battle of Dug Springs, in Lawrence count}'. General

McCulloch, of Arkansas, in command of Confederates, marching to

attack Springfield, was checked, and fell back to Sarcoxie; loss, 40 killed,

44 wounded. General Lyon fell back to Springfield; loss, 8 killed, 30

wounded.

August 5.
—Confederate troops under Col. Martin E. Green, attacked

Missouri state militia, under Col. Moore, at Athens, in Clark county, and

were defeated with a loss of 43 killed.

August 6.—Governor Jackson, being now at Carthage, and just hear-

ing of the action of the state convention, also issued a proclamation, de-

claring the union between Missouri and the other states totally dissolved,

and proclaiming the state of Missouri to be " a sovereign^ free and inde-

pendent refublic^''

August 70.— Battle of Wilson's Creek. Gen. Lyon, Federal, had

5,500 infantry, 400 cavalry, and IS cannon. Gen. McCulloch, Confeder-

ate, says that his "efiective force was 5,300 infantry, 15 pieces of artillery,

and 6,000 horsemen." (The Union officers imagined and reported more

than double this number against them; one said 23,000, and another

24,000.) The Confederates lost 421 killed, 1,317 wounded and 30 mis-

sing. The Federals reported 223 killed, 721 wounded and 292 missing,

and 5 cannon lost. Gen. Lyon was killed in this engagement.

August i/f.
—Federals evacuated Springfield and retreated to Rolla, but

*Early in March the confederate congress had adopted the "
stars and bars " as the flag

of their confederacy. The state seal of Missouri has two grizzly bears among its emblems.



66 HISTORY Oh THE STATE OF MISSOURI.

were not pursued. Earthwork fortifications were this day commenced
around St. Louis.

August ji.
—Gen. Fremont issued a general order proclaiming martial

law in Missouri; the property of all persons who had taken up arms

against the United States was declared to be confiscated, and '•'-their

slaves to he free men!''' (President Lincoln at once annulled this last

clause.)

Se-ptember ij.
—

Siege of Lexington commenced by Gen. Price. His

force has been variously estimated from 22,000 to 28,000, with 13 cannon.

Col. Mulligan, Federal, had 2,780 troops, with six brass cannon,
two howitzers, and forty rounds of ammunition. The same day, at

Boonville, the Confederates, led by Col. Brown, attacked the Federal gar-
rison in command of Col. Eppstein, and were repulsed with a loss of 12

killed and 30 wounded; Federal loss, 1 killed and 4 wounded.

September ly.
—Battle of Blue Mills Landing, or Missouri Bottom, in

Clay county. A body of Confederates, variously estimated at 600 to 1,000

men, were on their way to join Gen. Price, at Lexington; and being pur-
sued by a body of 700 Iowa and Missouri Unionist volunteers, they laid

in ambush, and were attacked. The Federals lost 16 killed and 80

wounded; the Confederates lost 10 killed and 60 wounded, repulsed their

assailants, and then crossed over to Blue Mills, in Jackson county, on the

south side of the Missouri, and marched on to Lexington.

September i8-ig.
—Main battle of Lexington.

September 20.—Col. Mulligan surrendered. Gen. Price honorably rec-

ognized the pluck and splendid heroism of his opponents, who were out

of both provisions and ammunition, and for two days had had no water

except the night dews which settled in their blankets and was wrung out

into camp dishes in the morning. He released the privates on parole, but

retained the officers as prisoners. Of the Federals there were 42 killed

and 108 wounded. Gen. Price reported 25 killed and 72 wounded, from

his regular muster rolls. But nearly half the men there with him were

not formally enrolled as soldiers, and the losses among them could never

be ascertained with any certainty, though known to be pretty large.

September 21.—A fight occurred at Papinsville, in Bates county, in

which, as reported, 17 Unionists were killed, and 40 Confederates killed

and 100 captured.

September 27.
—Gen. Fremont left St. Louis for Jefferson City, in pur-

suit of Price, with an army of 15,000 infantry, 5,000 cavalry, and 86

pieces of artillery; his chief officers were Generals Hunter, Pope, Siegel,

McKinstry and Asboth. But Price was too good a general to be caught
at a disadvantage ;

he however skillfully managed to lead the Federals on

wild goose chases after him all over southern Missouri.
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October ij.
—

Secretary of War Cameron, and Adj't. Gen. Thomas,
visited Fremont at Tipton.

On the same day the Federal garrison at Lebanon, in LaClede county,

was attacked unsuccessfully by Confederates, who lost 27 killed, 12

wounded, and 36 taken prisoners. Federal loss, 1 killed and several

wounded.
October 14..

—On this day Fremont's army reported thus:

1st division, Gen. Hunter, at Tipton 9,750 men
2d " Gen Pope, at Georgetown 9,220 men
3d " Gen. Siegel, at Sedalia 7,980 men
4th " Gen. Asboth, at Tipton 6,451 men
5th " Gen. McKinstr}^, at Syracuse 5,388 men

Total 38,789 men

They were all hunting for Gen. Price, to give him battle
;
he was not

yet ready for a pitched battle, but he worried the Federals a great deal by

decoying them into many a long and fruitless march.

About this time several small fights occurred in different parts of the

state, but of which few particulars can be obtained. The " American

Annual Cyclopedia," for 1861, gives the following statistics: Oct. 15,

Big River bridge, Federal loss, 1 killed, 7 wounded, 52 missing; Confed-

erate loss, 20 killed, 4 wounded. October 16, Bolivar Heights [in Polk

county]. Federal loss, 7 killed; Confederate loss, 150 killed. Oct. 17,

Pilot Knob, Federal loss, 1 killed, 10 wounded; Confederate loss, 36

killed. Oct. 19, Big Harrison Creek, Federal loss, 2 killed, 14 wounded;
Confederate loss, 14 killed, S missing. Oct. 23, West Liberty [in Putnam

county]. Federal loss, 2 wounded; Confederate loss, 15 killed, 30 wounded.*

October 16.—Recapture of Lexington by Major W^hite, releasing Union

prisoners, including two colonels of Mulligan's brigade.

October 21.—Battle of Fredericktown, in Madison county. Confeder-

ate Col. Jeff Thompson was defeated with loss of 200 killed, and made a

hasty retreat, leaving 60 of his dead behind him. Federal loss, 30 killed.

October 24.
—Battle of Springfield. Major Zagonyi, with 300 cavalry,

known as " Fremont's Body Guard,
" attacked an irregular force estima-

ted at 1,200 foot and 400 horsemen, and defeated them, losing 84 of his

men killed or wounded; 100 of his troops were Kentackians. The Con-

federate loss was known to be considerable, but could never be fully ascer-

tained; their dead were buried the next day, under a flag of truce.

October 2^.
—Gen. Siegel reached Springfield with his division. Fre-

mont was concentrating his army at Springfield, to fortify and hold it as

*Ia the greater number of battles in this state the Federals had the advantage of more

artillery than the Confederates, and men better skilled in its use; and this is why the

losses on the Confederate side so often seem out of proportion .
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the key to southwestern Missouri and northern Arkansas, where Price

and McCulloch were operating.
Hovember 2.—Fremont was removed from command and Gen. Hunter

placed in his stead.

IVovember 2.—A sharp fight occurred on Bee Creek, between Weston
and Platte City, in Platte county; the Confederate loss is given as 13 killed

and 30 missing; Federal loss not known.

November 7.
—Gen. Hunter evacuated Springfield and fell back to Rolla.

This same da}^ the battle of Belmont occurred; Federal loss, 84 killed,

388 wounded, and 285 taken prisoners. Pollard's "Southern History"

says the Confederate loss in this battle was 632. But the National Hand-
Book reports the Confederate losses as 261 killed, 427 wounded, and 278

missing.

November 18.—Gen. H. W. Halleck arrived at St. Louis and took com-

mand, in place of Gen. Hunter.

November 21.—Gen.Halleck issued an order that no fugitive slaves should

be permitted to enter the lines of any camp, nor of any forces on the march.

(President Lincoln had some time before this annulled Gen. Fremont's

order declaring certain slaves free.)

Novefnber 27.
— Gen. J. M. Schofield placed in command of Missouri

Federal troops.

November and Dece?nber.—During these months there occurred several

irregular conflicts of no great importance, but still deemed worthy of cas-

ual mention in Horace Greely's History of the War, because they served

to show how the Missouri people were divided among themselves, and

thereby suffered the more. The village of Warsaw was burned Nov. 19,

and Platte City, Dec. 16, by guerillas; a small fight occurred at Salem

Dec. 3, at Rogers' mill Dec. 7, and at or near Glasgow, Potosi, Lexing-

ton, Mount Zion, and Sturgeon, on Dec. 28th.

December j.
—Col. Freeman with a regiment of Confederate cavalry,

made a night attack on Federal troops under Col. Bowen, near Salem, in

Dent county, and was defeated, with a loss of 16 killed, 20 wounded and

10 prisoners. Federal loss, 3 killed, 8 wounded, 2 missing. Col. Free-

man had suffered a sore defeat near Springer's mill, in the east part of

the county, in August; but no further particulars could be obtained.

December 15.
—Gen. Pope captured 300 recruits and 70 wagons loaded

with supplies, going from Lexington to join Gen. Price, who was then at

Osceola with 8,000 men.

December 18.—Col. J. C. Davis, of Pope's army, surprised a Confeder-

ate camp at Milford, and captured 3 colonels, 17 captains, 1,300 soldiers,

1,000 stand of arms, 1,000 horses, besides all their tents, baggage and

supplies. Federal loss, 2 killed, 17 wounded.
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December 20.—By a concerted night attack, the Hannibal & St. Joe
railroad was broken, and bridges destroyed for about a hundred miles.*

OPERATIONS IN 1862.

March j.
—Price and McCulloch, at Boston Mountain, Arkansas, were

joined by Maj. Gen. Van Dorn, Confederate commander of the Trans-

Mississippi department, and by Gen. Pike, with a brigade of Indians from

the Indian Territory. This army now numbered about 20,000, all under

Gen. Van Dorn.

March y-8.
—Battle of Pea Ridge. Although Pea Ridge is really in

Arkansas (just over the line), the battle was fought by the Confederates

to regain a foothold in Missouri, and it properly belongs to the history of

Missouri military operations. The Federal forces under Gen. Curtis

engaged in this battle were 10,.500 men and 49 cannon. Gen. Van Dorn's

army is variously given by different southern authorities, all the way
from 10,000 to 30,0U0. The Federal loss was 203 killed, 972 wounded, 176

missing. Count Paris' history states that the Confederates "left more
than one thousand men in killed and wounded upon that long-contested
battle-field." The Confederate Generals McCulloch and Mcintosh were

mortally wounded in this battle, and Gen. Buckner was captured. The
Confederates lost 1,100 killed, 2,500 wounded, and 1,600 taken prisoners.

August (5.—Battle of Kirksville. Col. Porter, with 2,000 or 3,000 Con-

federates, mostly raw recruits who had been destroying bridges, was
attacked by Col. McNeil with 1,000 cavalry and 6 cannon. Battle lasted

four hours. Confederates retreated, with loss of 180 killed and 500

wounded, and some wagon loads of arms and other supplies. Federal

loss, 28 killed and 60 wounded.

August JO.—Federals attacked 1,200 Confederates under Col. Poindex-

ter while crossing the Chariton river. After a running fight of three or

four da3's. Col. Poindexter's troops were all killed, captured or dispersed,

and himself taken prisoner.

August II.—Col. Hughes captured the Federal garrison of 312 men of

the 7th Missouri cavalry, stationed at Independence.

August i§.
—Battle of Lone Jack, in Jackson county. Col. Coffey and

Col. Hughes, with 4,500 men, attacked the Federals under Major Foster,

wounding him, capturing his two cannon, and compelling him to retreat

to Lexington. The victorious Confederates were in turn pursued by

"*By order (>f Gen. Sterling Price, it [the North Missouri Railroad] was partially-

destroyed in June and July, 1801 ;
and on the 20th of December, 18G1, for a hundred miles,

every bridge and culvert was broken down, and a perfect wreck made of everything that

could be destroyed. In September and October, 1864, two trains of cars and seven depots
were burned, and several engines injured."

—Annval Report State Commissioner of Statis-

tics, 186Q; p. 258.
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Stronger bodies of the National troops, and rapidly retreated toward

Arkansas.

September 2/f..
—Gen. Curtis placed in command of all Union troops in

Missouri.

October i.—Battle of Newtonia, in Newton county. Gen. Salomon, of

Wisconsin, was defeated by Confederate cavalry. Losses not known.
Gen. Hindman was advancing from Arkansas with 1^,000 to 20,000 Con-

federates, poorly armed. Gen. Schofield came up with 10,000 troops to

attack him at Newtonia, but he retreated back into Arkansas, closely

pursued b}' the Federals.

December j.
—Battle of Prairie Grove, Ark. This, being just over the

line, was practically a Missouri battle; it was fought between the same

armies which had been so long contending for the mastery in this state.

Our own state Generals, Marmaduke, Parsons and Frost, were in com-

mand, under Gen. Hindman. The Federal commanders were Generals

Blunt and Herron. Federal loss, 495 killed, 600 wounded; the Confeder-

ates lost 1,500 in killed and wounded, and suffered a defeat.

EVENTS IN 1863.

January 8.—Battle of Springfield. General Brown with 1,200 Mis-

souri State militia, was attacked bv G^v\. Marmaduke with 1,870 Confed-

erate troops. The battle lasted eight hours. Federal loss, 14 killed, 145

wounded, 5 missing. Confederates lost, 41 killed and 160 wounded, 80

of the latter being left as prisoners.

'January ii.—Battle of Hartsville. Firmg commenced at 11 a. m., and

continued until 4:30 p. :m. Confederates under Generals Marmaduke and

Porter lost 300 killed and wounded, and 29 taken prisoners. Among the

killed were Gen. McDonald and Col. Porter, besides six other officers. The
Federals were under Col. Samuel Merrill, (afterward Governor of Iowa),
and lost 7 killed, 64 wounded and 7 missing. The Confederates retreated

back into Arkansas.

March 28.—Steamboat " Sam. Gaty
"

captured by Confederates at

Sibley's landing, near Independence.

April 26.—The Federal garrison at Cape Girardeau under Gen. Mc-
Neil was attacked by Gen. Marmaduke with 10,000 men, and a battle of

five hours ensued, in which the assailants lost 60 killed and over 300

wounded. The}^ retreated back into Arkansas, being pursued to the state

line by Missouri militia, and a few more were killed or captured.

May IJ.
—Gen. Schofield was placed in command in Missouri, succeed-

ing Gen. Curtis.

August ij.
—Col. Coftey, Confederate, attacked the 6th Missouri cav-

alry under Col. Catherwood, at Pineville, in McDonald county, and was
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repulsed, with loss of 200 killed, wounded and prisoners, besides his

wagons, munitions and cattle.

October IJ.
—Battle near Arrow Rock, Saline county. Confederates

reported 2,500 in number, under Cols. Shelby and Cofley, were attacked

by Missouri state militia under Gen. E. B. Brown, and defeated with a

loss of 300 in killed, wounded and prisoners, besides all their artillery and

baggage. Fight lasted five hours. Federal loss not known, though

reported as " also large."

EVENTS IN 1864.

yanuavy 28.—Gen. Rosecrans arrived at St. Louis and took command
of the Department of Missouri.

June
—.The Belgian Consul, who was state commander of the secret

order of "American Knights,
"
or " Sons of Liberty,

" was arrested, wuth

forty of the most prominent members, and held as hostages, because proof
had been discovered that they were plotting against the Federal authori-

ties.

September 26.— Gen. Price, witii lu,000 men, attacked the Federal gar-
rison at fronton (near Pilot Knob), in command of Gen. Thomas Ewinff,

jr., with 1,200 men. After a da^-'s hard fighting the Federals spiked their

fort guns and retreated in the night to RoUa, having lost 200 killed and

wounded. The Confederates lost 1,500.

October 7.—Battle or skirmish of Moreau creek, in Cole county, which

Gen. Price crossed, and formed his army in line of battle about four miles

long around Jefferson City. But finding the Federal garrison intrenched,

he marched on west without attacking them. (The Federals had 6,700

men there).

October 22.—Gen. Pleasanton's Federal cavalry defeated Col. Fagan at

Independence, capturing two cannon.

October 23.—Battle on the Big Blue creek, in Jackson count)-, lasting

from Y A. M., till 1 p. m. Confederates retreated southward.

October 2^.
—Battle on little Osage Creek in Vernon county. Gen.

Price was defeated, the Federals under Gen. Pleasonton capturing eight

cannon, and Generals Marmaduke and Cabell, besides five colonels and

1,000 men, with all equipments, supplies, etc. The fighting had been

almost continuous by some part of the troops, all along the march from

Independence to the Little Osage; and reports at this point give the Fed-

eral loss at 1,000 killed and wounded, and about 2,000 taken prisoners;

Confederate loss, 900 killed, 3,800 wounded and prisoners, and ten cannon

captured from them.

October 28.—Gen. Price again made a stand at Newtonia, in Newton

county, and had a sharp fight with the Federals under Gens. Blunt and Sa*-—

born, but was defeated and escaped into Arkansas. And this w"'*^
' '
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last encounter that can be called a "battle" within the bounds of our state.

The numbers engaged on either side, and their losses in this last fight are

not reported.

MEN AND MONEY FOR THE WAR

Under President Lincoln's first call, April 15, 1861, for 75,000 volun-

teers, Missouri furnished 10,501 men; and she furnished a total of 108,773
Federal or Union soldiers during the war. The total number of citizens

of Missouri who took up arms on the Confederate side cannot be ascer-

tained.

During the war the state issued its indebtedness called "Defense War-
rants" and "Union Military Bonds," for equipping and maintaining the

militia organizations of the state; the total amount was $7,876,575. All

of the defense warrants and one-half of the Union military bonds were
made receivable for state taxes; and a special fimd was created for the

redemption of the balance. The United States paid to the state of Mis-

souri a total of $6,440,323.95, to reimburse her for military expenses
incurred.

ST. LOUIS IN THE WAR-TIME.

Notwithstanding the strenuous competition of other cities, the superior

advantages of St. Louis for distribution, and a due regard for its own
interests, compelled the government to make St, Louis the western base

of supplies and transportation. During the war the transactions of the

government at this point were very large. Gen. Parsons, chief of trans-

portation in the Mississippi Valley, submits the following as an approxi-
mate summary of the operations in his department from 1860 to 1865:

AMOUNT OF TRANSPORTATION.

Cannons and caissons 800

Wagons , 13,000

Cattle 80,000

Horses and mules 250,000

Troops 1,000,000

Pounds of military stores 1,950,000,000

Gen. Parsons thinks that full one-half of all the transportation employed

by the government on the Mississippi and its tributaries was furnished b}-

St. Louis. From September, 1861, to December 31, 1865, Gen. Haines,

chief commissary of this department, expended at St. Louis for the pur-
chase of subsistence stores, $50,700,000. And Gen. Myers, chief quar-
^master of the department, disbursed for supplies, transportation, and

airy u,^i expenses, $180,000,000.
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HOSPITAL SERVICE.

As a part of the war history of Missouri, the military hospitals of St.

Louis claim at least a brief mention. After the battle of Wilson's Creek

it became apparent that the government provision for hospitals was

entirel}' inadequate to the emergency. A voluntary organization, called

the Western Sanitary Commission, was formed, consisting of James E.

Yeatman (now of the Merchant's National Bank), Rev. Wm. G. Eliot, D.

D., (now Chancellor of Washington Universit}'), George Partridge,

(recently Vice President of Trustees of State Blind Asylum), Carlos S.

Greeley and John B. Johnson. Their purpose was to receive and distrib-

ute hospital supplies furnished by the people, and in every practicable way
aid and co-operate with the military authorities in the care of the sick and

wounded. The first woman regularly mustered into the United States

service as a hospital nurse, in Missouri, was Mrs. F. R. H. Reid, M. D.,

from Wisconsin, (now resides at Des Moines, Iowa). She was the

woman coadjutor of U. S. Surgeon, Dr. Mills, in opening and starting the

first large volunteer hospital, which was known as the Chestnut street

hospital; and afterward she took the same part in the Fourth street hos-

pital; and also with Dr. Melchior in the Marine hospital; also in a tem-

porary post hospital at Sulphur Springs.
To give an idea of the largeness of the hospital work, we quote from a

circular printed at St. Louis, Nov. 22, 1861,* which says: "There are

ten military hospitals in St. Louis alone, with a maximum capacity for

3,500 patients. The number of patients varies every day, but on Wednes-

day, November 20th, they reported patients under treatment as follows:

House of Refuge hospital, [Sisters of Charity nurses] 475
Fifth and Chestnut streets hospital, 464
Good Samaritan hospital, [for measles,] . . 173

Fourth street hospital, 328

Jefferson barracks hospital 72

Arsenal hospital, . 16

Camp Benton hospital, 106

Pacific hospital, [depot for the hospital cars] 30

Duncan's Island hospital, [for small-pox: cases all convalescent,] .... 4

Convalescent barracks, [known as Camp Benton,] 800

Total, 2,468

"
(
This does not include the company, regiment and brigade hospitals,

of which there are several.) The average mortality has been about four

per cent. A hospital car, properly fitted up and manned, passes daily
over the railroad to the interior, to bring in the sick and wounded. The

arrangements for decent burial, registration of deaths, identification, etc..

* Prepared and published by H. A. Reid, Associate Member for Wisconsin of the U. S.

Sanitary Commission.
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are very complete. The body of an}^ soldier who ma}'- die in any of the

hospitals may be identified, and removed for other obsequies or bm-ial by
relatives or friends. There are no hospital chaplains; but nurses are in-

structed by the sanitary commission, that every patient who asks for it,

will be visited by a clergyman of his own choice, at any hour."

There were hospitals also at Jefiferson City, Rolla and Ironton at this

time. This circular contained a classified list, prepared by Mrs. Reid, of

over a hundred different articles needed for the care, comfort and welfare

of the soldiers in hospital, beyond what the general government could

furnish; the whole document was reprinted by state authority at Madison,

Wisconsin, and widely circulated. In a letter dated St. Louis, Jan. 14,

1862, Mr. Yeatman said: "Wisconsin has contributed most largely to-

wards supplying comforts for the sick in camps and hospitals in this

department, second to but one other state—Massachusetts. "

There was a prison hospital for sick Confederate prisoners, to whom
supplies were furnished from the stores of the sanitary commission, the

same as to the Union soldiers; and wounded Confederates were cared for

in the general hospitals the same as those of the Federal troops. The
writer hereof was an eye-witness to this fact; and is glad to record it as a

testimony of the true Christian spirit of the sanitary commission and the

magnanimity of the Federal authorities.

THE WAR-TIME STATE GOVERNMENT.

The civil authority of the state remained vested in the state conven-

tion from July, 1861, until July, 1863. This provisional body held the

following sessions:

1861—Jefferson City, February 28 to March 4.

St. Louis, March 6 to March 22.

Jefferson City, July 22 to July 31.

St. Louis, October 10 to October 18.

1862—Jefferson City, June 2 to June 14.

1863—Jefferson City, June 15 to July 1, when it adjourned sine die.

The course of affairs had now become so far settled and pacified that

civil proceedings were again possible, and the regular fall elections were

held this year, 1863. On the 13th of February, 1864, the general assem-

bly convened, and passed an act to authorize the election of sixty-six

members to a state convention, "to consider such amendments to the con-

stitution of the state as might by it be deemed necessary for the emanci-

pation of slaves;* to preserve in purity the elective franchise to loyal

citizens, and for the promotion of the public good."
This convention met in St. Louis, January 6, 1865; and on the 11th of

* President Lincoln's emancipation proclamation, January 1, 1863, only applied to slaves

within such states or parts of states as were then controlled by the Confederate power.
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the same month it passed, by a vote of sixty ayes to four noes, an ordi-

nance emancipating all slaves within the state, and providing that it

should take effect immediatel}'-. The convention also framed a new con-

stitution, in many respects quite different from the old one. The final

vote in convention on the new instrument stood thirt3'--eight for, to thirteen

against it. The convention adjourned April 10, sine die. In June the

people voted on the new constitution, and the vote stood 43,670 for, to

41,808 against it.

The following are some of the most notable new features embodied in

the organic law of the state, and will readily explain wh}'- there was such

a large vote against its adoption: It established an oath of loyalty to the

United States; and those who would not take the oath it excluded from

the right to vote or hold any civil office whatever, or act as a teacher in

any public school, or to solemnize marriage as a clergyman, or to practice

law in any of the courts. It limited the amount of land which any church

or religious society might hold to five acres of land in the country, or one

acre in town or city; provided for taxing church property; and declared

void any will bequeathing property to any clergyman, religious teacher

or religious society as such. There was a section designed to prevent

the state from giving public property, lands or bonds, to railroad compa-
nies. It provided that after January 1, 1876, no one could become a law-

ful voter who was not sufficiently educated to be able to read and write.

July 1, 1865, the governor, Thomas C. Fletcher, made proclamation

that the new constitution had been duly ratified by a lawful majority of

the people, and was thenceforth the organic law of the slate. A few

amendments have been since adopted; but in all important points it

remains the same to this day.
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PART IL—PHYSICAL AND INDUSTRIAL.

GEOLOGY AND MINERALS.

The geological history of Missouri commences at the very bottom of

the scale, or, in what may be termed the fire-crust period of geologic
time. (See chart on page 67). Dana's "Manual of Geology" is the

great standard work all over the United States on this subject. In his

chapter on Archasan Time he gives a map and brief sketch of our North
American continent as it existed at that remote period, which was,

according to a calculation made for the Royal Society of London in 1879,*
about 600,000,000 years ago. And as this is where Missouri first comes
to light, we quote Prof. Dana's account of the very meagre areas and

points of our continent which stood alone above the primeval ocean that

then enveloped the entire globe with its bubbling, seething, sputtering
wavelets—an enormous caldron of boiling, steaming silicious lye, rather

than water. Dana says:
" The principal of the areas is The Great Northern^ nucleal to the con-

tinent, lying mostly in British America, and having the shape of the letter

V, one arm reaching northeastward to Labrador, and the other north-
westward from Lake Superior to the Arctic. The region appears to
have been for the most part out of water ever since the Archaean era.f
To this area properly belong the Adirondack area, covering the larger
part of northern New York, and a Michigan area south of Lake Supe-
rior, each of which was probably an island in the continental sea before
the Silurian age began.

" Beside this nucleal area, there are border-mountain lines of Archaean
rocks: a long Affalachian line, including the Highland Ridge of Dutch-
ess county, New York, and New Jersey, and the Blue Ridge of Penn-

sylvania and Virginia; a long Rocky Mountain series, embracing the
Wind River mountains, the Laramie range and other summit ridges of

the Rocky Mountains. In addition, in the eastern border region, there is

an Atlantic coast range, consisting of areas in New Foundland, Nova
Scotia and eastern New England. In the western border region, a

Pacific coast range in Mexico; and several more or less isolated areas in

the Mississi-ppi basin, west of the Mississippi, as in Missouri, Arkansas^
Texas, and the Black Hills of Dakota."—JOana's Manual^ p. 150.

*See Popular Science ]\Ionthly, May, 1879, p. 137.

fThe "Archaean era," as used by Prof. Dana, in 1874, (the date of his latest revision)
included both the "Azoic Age," and "Age of Zooliths," as sliown on the chart, p. 67. Whoa
Prof. Dana wrote, it was still an open question whether the "eozoon" was of animal or
mineral origin ;

but the highest authorities are now agreed that it was animal
; and Prof.

Reid has, therefore, very properly given it a distinct place in his " Zoic Calendar."
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G£OL,OGICAL, CHARX;
Including the Rock Scale of Geological Periods and tlie "Zoic Calendar of Creation." Compiled

from the works of Agassiz, Lyell, Huxley, Hoeckel, Dana, LcConte, and other first rank authorities in

Science at the present time. By HiKiM A. Reid, Secretary State Academy of Sciences at Dos Moines,
Iowa. [Published by permission of the Author.]

Explanation.— The side line

a^ ilin "t'c shows what portions of

fico ogic -.1 time are comprehended
in til; terms "eozoic,"

"
paleo-

z )>c," etc. The first column
shows thi; periods or "Ages" of

geological time during which the

dili' rent successive types of ani-

mal life predominated, or were the

highest types then in existence.

And th jse two divisions form the

"Zoic Calendar of Creation."
The t'econd column shows the

great general groupings of rock
etratfi.in w hich are found the fossil

remains of th'i corresponding ani-

mal types named in the first col-

umn.' But, at tne "Age of Rep-
tiles" occurs a grand divergement,
for it was during this age that an-

imal life pushed out into its most
wonderful developments; and
there came into existence strange
and marvelous forms of swimming
reptiles, four-footed and two-fooi;-

ed walking reptiles, and two-foot-

ed and four-footed flying reptiles.
Here also the true birds began to

appear, though with reptilian pe-
culiarities; and likewise the mar-

supial animals, which are a tran-

sitional type, between reptiles

that produce their young by laying
egKS and the true mammals, that

bring forth their young well ma-
tured and then suckle them.
The third column shows the les-

ser groupings of rock beds as clas-

sified by our American geologists;
but many minor subdivisions and
local groups are omitted for want
of space. At the top of this col-

umn are shown the geological pe-
riods of first appearance ol races
Of man, so far as now authentica-
ted by competent scientific au-
thorities.*
The fourth column shows the

number of feet in thickness of the
different groups of rock layers as
indicated by the braces.
This Chart is the most compre-

hensive and thorough in its de-

tails, and yet the most systemati-
cally and graphically presented to
the eye, of anything in its line
that has ever yet been published.
Here is the whole story of geol-
ogy and the ascent of life con-
densed into the space of a few
inches, yet so plainly set forth as
to readily fix itself in the memory
like an outline map. Scientific
terras in newspapers and maga-
zines often catch tlie reader at a

disadvantage; but a reference to
this chart will at once show the
relative place or period in crea-
tional progress to which the best
author! zed geological terms apply.
It. reaches, "like a Jacob's ladder,
from the lowest inklings to the

highest ideals of life on the earth,
as taught by modern science and
the Christian Bible.

w

THIS CALENDAR IS TO BE READ FROM THE BOTTOM UPWARD.

AGE OF ANGELS.

See Psalms 8:5 Lulte 50:36
Mark }-2:i5 1 Cor.l5:44
Heb.i>:2to9 Rev.e2:8,9
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"The Miocene man of La Be.^iuce already kn»w the use of fire, and worked flint." — lb. p. 243. See aUo, Prof.
• Soe Applelons' lutcrnatlonal Scientific* "The existence of Pliocene man in Tuscany la, then, in my opinion,

Beries, Vol. XXVII, p. 151. "The Miocene man of La Be.^iuce already l , . • v c
WincheU'a "Pre-Adamites," pp. 426-7-8 .

" The human race in America is shown to be at lea,?t of as ancient a date as that of tho European
Pliocene."—Prof. J, D.Whitney. Similar views ar« held by Profs. Leidy, Marsh, Copt, Morse, Wyman, and other scientists of highest r«pnte.
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Thus, then, with the very first emergence of drj^ land out of the heav-

ily saturated and steaming mineral waters of the primeval ocean, we have

Pilot Knob, Shepherd Mountain, and a few smaller peaks in their vicin-

ity, forming an island in the vast expanse. The next nearest island was

a similar one at the Black Hills, in Dakota. There is no reason as yet
known fior believing that anv form of life, either animal or vegetable, had

yet appeared in our Missouri region. The ocean water was still too hot,

and still too powerfully surcharged with mineral salts, alkalis and acids

to admit of any living tissues being formed; and the atmosphere was in

like manner thickly loaded with deadliest acids in the form of vapors,
which would partially condense as they arose, and fall upon the iron-

headed islands to form a mineral crust, and then be broken and washed

back into the sea. But this process being kept up and incessantly

repeated for milHons of years (see Prof. Helmholtz's estimate at bottom

of the chart), both sea and air became gradually purified of its excess of

minerals and acids; and the water sufficiently cooled to admit of living

tissues being formed: and meanwhile the condensing and crust-forming
elements precipitated from the vapor-laden air or deposited directly from

the bulk waters of the shoreless sea, were busily forming the solid earth.

The different incrustations would each be a little different in their com-

ponent elements; and then being broken up and mixed together and

recombined, partly iti the form of rough fragments, partly in the form of

dust or sand ground into tins state by mechanical attrition, partly in the

form of fluidized or vaporized solutions, and partly in the form of molten

masses produced directly by the earth's internal fires, the process of com-

bining and recombining, with continual variation in the proportions, went

on through the long, dreary, sunless and lifeless Azoic Age.
But as soon as the great ocv^^an caldron got cooled down to about 200

degrees Fahrenheit, it was then possible for a very low form of vegetation
to exist; and although no fossil remains of the first existing forms of such

vegetation have yet been found, or at least not conclusively identified as

such, yet graphite or plumbago, the material from which our lead pencils

are made, is found in connection with the transition rocks between the

Azoic and the Zoolithian ages. Graphite is not a mineral at all, but is

pure vegetable carbon, and is supposed to be the remnant carbon of these

first and lowest forms of tough, leathery, flowerless sea-weeds. Some
small deposits of graphite are reported to have been found in connection

with the iron and metamorphic granites of our Pilot Knob island; and

that would indicate the first organic forms that came into existence within

the boundaries of what now we call the state of Missouri. Just think of

it! All North America, except a dozen widely scattered spots or islands^

was covered with an ocean that spread its seamy expanse all around

the globe ;
no sunlight could penetrate the thick, dense cloud of vapors
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that filled the enveloping atmosphere; according to our English author

before cited, this was 600,000,000 years ago, a period which the humau
mind cannot grasp; but the Almighty Maker of worlds had even then

commenced to make the state of Missouri and its living occupants.
The earliest known forms of animal life, a kind of coral-making rhizo-

pod (root-footed) called Eozoon Canadense, are not found in Missouri, but

are found abundantly in what are called the Laurentian rocks, in Canada

and elsewhere. (See chart). It is not to be supposed, however, that the

enormous period called the "
Age of Zooliths

"
passed, with forms of ani-

mal life existing in Canada, but none in our iron island region, unless we
assume that the mineral acidity of the waters coming in contact with this

island was so intense as to require all that vast period for its purification

sufficiently to permit the existence of the lowest and most structureless

forms of protoplasmic matter known to science. Prof. Swallow says, in

writing on the Physical Geography of Missouri,
" below the magnesian

limestone series we have a series of metamorphosed slates, which are

doubtless older than the known fossiliferous strata; whether they belong to

the Azoic, the Laurentian or Huronian, I am unable to say."

The labors of our different state geologists have not discovered any
fossil remains in Missouri lower down in the rock scale than what is called

the " Lower Silurian
"

formations, which form the first half of the

"
Age of Invertebrates

"
in the zoic-calendar portion of Prof Reid's chart.

The term " Invertebrates
"
includes all forms of animal life that do not

have a back-bone, such as polyps, mollusks, worms, insects, crustaceans,

infusoria, etc. By the time this age (Silurian) had commenced, our lone

island had been joined by large areas northward, southwestward, eastward

and northwestward, so that there began to be a continent; and several

hundred species of animals and plants have been found fossil in the rocks

of this period, but they are all marine species
—none yet inhabiting the

dry land. Our chart shows the Lower Silurian epoch sub-divided into

Cambrian, Canadian and Trenton formations; but there are other local

sub-divisions belonging to this period, the same as to all the other general

periods named on the chart. The animals of this period were polyps or

coral-makers; worms, mollusks, trilobites,asterias (star-fishes), all of strange

forms and now extinct. The trilobite, some species of which are found in

Missouri, was the first animal on the earth which had eyes, although

there were likewise a great many eyeless species of them; but the fact

that any of them had eyes during this age is considered by some scientists

to prove that the atmosphere had by this time become sufficiently rarefied

to let the sunlight penetrate clearly through it and strike the earth. On
the other hand, others hold that this did not occur until after the atmos-

phere had laid down its surcharge of carbonic acid and other gases, in the

forms of limestone from animal life and coalbeds from vegetable life; that
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is, there was nothing which we would now consider as clear sunshine

until the carboniferous period. At any rate, Prof. Dana says of the

X.ower Silurian, "there was no green herbage over the exposed hills;

and no sounds were in the air save those of lifeless nature,—the moving
waters, the tempest and the earthquake." Having thus given the reader

«ome idea of the beginnings of land and the beginnings of life in our old,

old state, space will not permit us to linger with details upon the remain-

ing geological periods. We have compiled the following table from vari-

ous writings of our able state geologist. Prof. G. C. Swallow, of the State

University:

ROCK FORMATIONS OF MISSOURI.

Igneous Rocks.—Granite, porphyry, syenite, greenstone, combined

-with those wonderful beds of iron and copper which are found in the

Pilot Knob region.

Azoic Rocks.—Silicious and other slates, containing no remains of

organic life, though apparently of sedimentary and not of igneous origin.

L.OWER Silurian— Feet thick.

Hudson river group (8 local subdivisions) 220

Trenton limestone 360

Black-river and birds- eye limestone 75

1st magnesian limestone 200

Saccharoidal (sugar-like) sandstone 125

2d magnesian limestone 230

2d sandstone 115

3d magnesian limestone 350

3d sandstone 60

4th magnesian limestone 300

Total thickness of Silurian rocks 2035

When the reader remembers that these were all formed successively

by the slow process of the settling of sediment in water, he will get some

idea of how it is that geology gives such astounding measurements of

time.

Upper Silurian— Feet thick.

Lower Helderberg formation 350

Niagara group 200

Cape Girardeau limestone 60

Total thickness 610
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Devonian—

{Chouteau

limestone 85
Vermicular sandstone and shales To

Lithographic limestone 125

Hamilton group 40

Onondaga limestone (extremely variable).

Oriskany sandstone (doubtful \

Carboniferous—
Coal measures, consisting of strata of sandstones, limestones,

shales, clays, marls, brown iron ores and coal 2,000

In this formation there are from eight to ten good workable veins of

coal; and the Missouri basin coal-bearing area is the largest in the world.

It comprises the following:

Square miles.

In Missouri 27,000

Nebraska 10,000

Kansas 12,000

Iowa 20,000

Illinois. 30,000

Total 99,000

The Sub-Carboniferous in Missouri is subdivided into:

Feet.

Upper Archimedes limestone 200

Ferruginous (irony) sandstone 195

Middle Archimedes limestone 50

St. Louis limestone 250

Oolitic limestone 25

Lower Archimedes limestone 350

Encrinital limestone 500

Total sub-carboniferous 1570

Cretaceous.—The Triassic and Jurassic formations have not been found

in this state; but Prof. Swallow has classed as probably belonging to the

Cretaceous epoch, six different formations which comprise a total thick-

ness of 158 feet. He says no fossils have been found to certainly identify

these beds, but their geological horizon and lithological characters deter-

mine their place in the scale.

Tertiary.—The beautiful variegated sands and clays and shales and

iron ores, which skirt the swamps of southeast Missouri along the bluffs

from Commerce to the Chalk Bluffs in Arkansas, belong to this system.

Quaternary.—In this Prof. Swallow includes what is separated under
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the name of "Recent" by Prof. Dana and others, as shown in the chart.

The Quaternary of Missouri is subdivided by Prof. Swallow into—
Alluvium 30 feet

Bottom Prairie 35 "

Bluff {Loess of other authors) 200 "

Drift (altered drift, boulder beds, boulder clay) 165 "

Total Quaternary formations. 420 "

That brings the succession of geological formations consecutively from

their beginning up to the present time; and now our own eyes behold

every day the processes of nature going on very much the same as they
have gone along through all the unthinkable lapse of time that has passed
since Pilot Knob first pushed its brazen brow up above the strange deso-

lation of waters when "darkness was upon the face of the deep." And
now our next consideration must be, the present aspects of the land sur-

face of our state, together with its streams, its woodlands and its wonder-

ful mineral wealth and resources.

MINERAL RESOURCES.

In the extent, variety, and practical value of her stores of mineral

wealth, Missouri is not excelled by any other state in the Union. In the

fall of 1880 the New York Economist published an article on Missouri,

in which it said:

"The state of Missouri is one of the most remarkable pieces of this earth's

surface. Surface indeed! Missouri goes far enough under the surface

to furnish mankind with one hundred million tons of coal a year for thir-

teen hundred years. Think of 20,887 square miles of coal beds— nearly
half the state—and some of the beds nearly fifteen feet thick. With

regard to iron, it is not necessary to penetrate the surface for that. They
have iron in Missouri by the mountain. Pilot Knob, 581 feet high, and

containing 360 acres, is a mass of iron; and Iron Mountain, about six

miles distant from it, is 228 feet high, covers 5U0 acres, and is estimated

in the last surveys, to contain 230,000,000 tons of ore, without counting
the inexhaustible supply that may reasonabl}'^ be supposed to exist below
the level. There is enough iron 13'ing about loose in Missouri for a

double track of railroad across the continent.
" The lead districts of Missouri include more than 6,000 square miles,

and at least five hundred points where it can be profitably worked. In

fifteen counties there is copper in rich abundance. There are large depos-
its of zinc in the state. There is gold, also, which does not yet attract

much attention, because of the dazzling stores of this precious metal farther

west. In short, within one hundred miles of St. Louis the following met-
als and minerals are found in quantities that will repay working: gold,

iron, lead, zinc, copper, tin, silver, platina, nickel, emery, coal, limestone,

granite, marble, pipe-clay, fire-clay, metallic paints, and salt."

It can hardly be said that gold, silver, tin, platina or emery have been
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found in faying quantity as yet, althoufrh they are known to exist in some
of our mining districts, in combinations with olher minerals. Our state

board of immigration has published many well prepared and judicious

papers on the various advantages and resources of our state, which care-

fully avoid making any extravagant or overdrawn statements. They
give the real facts as accurately as the}' could be ascertained up to 1879-

SO, and form the most reliable body of knowledge on many matters of

state interest, that is now accessible; and from this source we gather the

more essential points.

Coal.—The Missouri coal fields underlie an area of about 26,000

square miles. The southern outcrop of the coal measures has been traced

from the mouth of the Des Moines through the counties of Clark, Lewis,

Shelby, Monroe, Audrain, Boone, Cooper, Pettis, Henry, St. Clair, Bates,

Vernon and Barton, into the Indian Territory, and every county north-

west of this line is known to contain more or less coal. Outside of the

coal fields given above, coal rocks also exist in Ralls, Montgomery, War-

ren, St. Charles, Callaway and St. Louis counties, and local or outlying

deposits of bituminous and cannel coal are found in Moniteau, Cole, Mor-

gan, Crawford, Lincoln and Callaway counties.

The exposed coal in Missouri includes upper, middle and lower coal

measures. The upper coal measures contain about four feet of coal, in

two seams of about one foot each and other thin seams and streaks. The
area of their exposure is about 8,400 square miles.

The middle coal measures contain about seven feet of coal, including
two workable seams, twenty-one and twenty-four inches thick, respect-

ive!}', and one of one foot, which is worked under favorable circumstan-

ces, and six thin seams. The exposure of the middle measures covers an

area of over 2,000 square miles.

The lower measures cover an area of about 15,000 square miles, and

have five workable seams, varying in thickness from eighteen inches to

four and a half feet, and thin seams of six to eleven inches.

Iron.—It has been said by experts that Missouri has iron enough "to

run a hundred furnaces for a thousand years;" and the ores are of every

variety known to metallurgical science. Iron Mountain is the largest

body of specular iron and the purest mass of ore in the world. It was
forced up through the crust of the earth in a molten state during the

Azoic Age of geology. The different ores of the state are classed as red

hematite, red oxide, specular or glittering ore, brown hematite or limo-

nite, hydrous oxide, magnetic ore, and spathic or spar-like ore (carbonate
of iron). Many other names are used to indicate different combinations

of iron with other minerals. Some of the iron deposits, instead of coming

up in a fused mass from the bowels of the earth, as Pilot Knob, Shep-
5
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herd Mountain and Iron Mountain evidently did, were formed by the

steam that attended those fiery upheavals, carrying its load of gaseous
matter until it .condensed and settled down at different points, and gradu-

ally cooled or crystalized. This would occur sometimes in water and

sometimes in the air, thus producing the great variety of ferruginous or

irony compositions which we now find and utilize. And this mineral

steam method of depositing iron and other products from subterranean

gases must have occurred in Missouri at diflerent periods of geologic

time, and not all during the Azoic. The red ores are found in 21 coun-

ties; the brown hematite or limonite iron ores extend over 94 counties,

and in 31 of them it occurs in vast quantity.

Shepherd Mountain is 660 feet high. The ore, which is magnetic and

specular, contains a large percentage of pure iron. The hight of Pilot

Knob above the Mississippi river is 1,118 feet. Its base, 581 fc^t from the

summit, is 360 acres. The iron is known to extend 440 feet below the

surface. The upper section of 141 feet is judged to contain 14,000,000

tons of ore. The elevation of Iron Mountain is 228 feet, and the area of

its base 500 acres. The solid contents of the cone are 230,000,000 tons.

It is thought that every foot beneath the surface will yield 3,000,000 tons

of ore. At the depth of 180 feet, an artesian auger is still penetrating

solid ore. Dr. Litton thinks that these mountains contain enough iron

above the surface to afibrd for two hundred years an annual supply of

1,000,000 tons. The ore is almost exclusive!}' specular. It yields 56 per
cent, of pure iron. The iron is strong, tough and fibrous.

Profs. Schmidt and Pumpell3S in their very learned work on the iron

ores of Michigan and Missouri, have classified the iron-bearing region of

our state as follows:

Eastern Ore-Region.
—1. Ore district along the Mississippi river. 2.

Iron Mountain district. 3. Southeastern limonite district. 4. Franklin

county district. 5. Scotia district.

Central Ore-Region.
— 1. Steel ville district. 2. Ore-district on the up-

per Meramec and its tributaries. 3. Salem district. 4. Iron Ridge
district. 5. St. James district. 6. Rolla district. 7. Middle Gasconade

district. 8. Lower Gasconade district. 9. Callaway county district.

Western Ore-Region.
— 1. Lower Osage district. 2. Middle Osage

district. 3. Upper Osage district.

Southwestern Ore-Region.—1. White River district. 2. Ozark county
district.

The same authorities have classified the various kinds of iron ores

found in Missouri, thus:
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Strata of red hematite.
Disturbed or drifted deposits of red

hematite.

Deposits of limonite on limestone.
Disturbed or drifted deposits o£

limonite.

Deposits of specular ore in por-
phyry.

Deposits of specular ore in sand-
stone.

Disturbed deposits of specular ore.

Drifted deposits of specular ore.

Lead.—The annual lead product of Missouri is said now to exceed
that of any other state or country; and it is conceded that its lead deposits
are the richest in the world. The lead region all lies south of the Mis-

souri river; the mineral is found chiefly in the magnesian limestone rocks,
which are the great lead-bearing rocks of the world; but it is also found
in ferruginous clays, in slates, in gravel beds, and in cherty masses in

the clays.

Mr. R. O. Thompson, mining engineer, of St. Louis, has written a

sketch of the mode of origin of our lead and some other mineral deposits*
which is plain, concise, and a clear statement of the teachings of science

on this very interesting portion of Missouri's geological and mineralogical

history. We quote:
"The Azoic rocks in this region, when the great Silurian system began

to be formed, were so many islands, their he<ids only elevated above the

vast sedimentary sea. The beds upon which the limestones and sand-

stones were deposited consisted of the weatherings of the Azoic rocks,
which naturally sought the valle3^s and became a base for the sedimentary
rock. This boundless sea held in solution lime, magnesia, alumina, man-

ganese, lead, copper, cobalt, nickel, iron, and other mineral substances.

In this chemical condition gases were evolved and the work of formation

commenced. The two gases forming the great creative power, and aiding
solidification, were carbonic acid and sulphuretted hydrogen; the former

seeking its affinity in lime and forming limestone; the sulphur in the latter

naturally combining with the other metals, forming sulphates, or sulphur-
ets. The work of deposition and solidification being in harmony, it is

eas}^ to understand how those minerals exist in a disseminated condition

in these rocks. The slates that we find so rich in galena, presenting the

myriad forms of lingula, must also have been formed in the Silurian Age.
The distribution among the magnesian limestones of these decomposing
slates can be most easily accounted for. The decomposed feldspar pro-
duced by the weathering of the porphyry became in its change a silicate

of alumina, and the sulphur, combining with the lead, dissemin;ited the

same in the slate as readily as in the limestone."

The Missouri lead region has been divided or classified into five sub-

districts, as follows:

I. The Southeastern Lead District, embraces all or parts of Jefferson,

Washington, Franklin, Crawford, Iron, St. Francois, St. Genevieve,

Madison, Wayne, Reynolds, and Carter counties, with some mines in the

western portion of Cape Girardeau county. Mining has been longest

carried on in this district, and the aggregate of the production has been

very great, although the work has been chiefly surface mining. Mine-



76 HISTORY OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI.

La-Motte, in this district, was discovered in 1720, by Francis Renault and

M. LaMotte, and has been worked more or less ever since.

II. The Central Lead District^ comprises, as far as known, the coun-

ties of Cole, Cooper, Moniteau, Morgan, Miller, Benton, Maries, Camden*
and Osage. Much ot the mining done here, again, has been near the

surface, the lead first being found in clays, in caves, and in masses in clay
but a few inches below the surface. Shafts, however, sunl^ in the mag-
nesian limestone, find rich deposits in lodes and pockets.

III. The Southern Lead District^ comprises the counties of Pulaski,

La Clede, Texas, Wright, Webster, Douglas, Ozark, and Christian.

IV. The Western Lead District embraces Hickory, Dallas, Polk, St.

Clair, Cedar, and Dade counties. Some rich deposits have been found

in this district, especially in Hickory county.

V. The Southzuestern Lead District comprises Jasper, Newton, Law-

rence, Stone, Barry, and McDonald. Here ver}' extensive mining has

been done, more especially in the two counties first named, which have,

for the last few years, produced more than one-half of the pig-lead mined

in the state.

For several years past more than one-half the lead production .of the

United States has been from Missouri mines. Besides the numerous

smelting works supported by them, the manufacture of white lead, lead

pipe, sheet lead, etc., contributes materially to the industries and com-

merce of the state.

Copper.—Several varieties of copper ore exist in Missouri mines.

Deposits of copper have been discovered in Dent, Crawford, Benton,

Maries, Greene, Lawrence, Dade, Taney, Dallas, Phelps, Reynolds and

Wright counties. Some of the mines in Shannon county are now profit-

ably worked, and mines in Franklin county have yielded good results.

Zinc.— Sulphuret, carbonate and silicate of zinc are found in nearly all

the lead mines of southwestern Missouri; and zinc ores are also found in

most of the counties along the Ozark range. What the lead miners call

"
black-jack," and throw away, is sulphuret of zinc. Newton and Jasper

counties are rich in zinc ores; and Taney county has an extensive vein of

calamine, or carbonate of zinc.

Cobalt.—Valuable to produce the rich blue colors in glass and porce-

lain, and for other purposes in the arts, is found in considerable quantities
at Mine-La-Motte.

Manganese.—Used in glass manufacture and the arts; it is found in

St. Genevieve and other counties.

Nickel.—Found in workable quantities at Mine-La-Motte.
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BUILDING STONE.

Missouri abounds in solid, durable materials for buildings; she has

quarries of red and gray granites, and very fine limestones, sandstones

and marbles. In Crawford, Washington and Franklin counties there are

workable beds of "
onyx marble," a stalagmite formation found in caves,

and very rich and valuable for mantles, table-tops, vases, ornaments, etc.

This marble is not found anywhere else in the United States, and has

been imported from Algiers and Mexico, at great cost. As an illustration

of the high repute abroad, and substantial home value ot Missouri

products in the stone line, we give a case in point.

The new state capitol at Des Moines, Iowa, which will cost $3,000,000,

and is said to be the largest and finest public edifice in the United States

outside of Washington city, is built mostly of materials from Missouri,

except the rough masonry and brickwork. The Missouri stones and

their cost is as follows :

St. Genevieve buft' sandstone $ 147,289.83

Carroll county blue hmestone 139,238.54

Fourteen red granite columns, 18 feet, 4^ inches long, 2

ft. 3 in. diameter, turned and polished at St. Louis.. . . 8,144.50

Total paid b}- Iowa to Missouri on this one building. .$ 294,672.87

Other examples of Missouri building stone will be of interest. The

Archimedes limestone is used for the U. S. custom house in St. Louis.

The encrinital limestone is used for the State University building, and

court house at Columbia. The Trenton Hmestone is used in the court

house at St. Louis. A stratum called " cotton rock" in the magnesian
limestone formation, is used for the state house and court house at Jeffer-

son City. Encrinital marble is found in Marion county, and other varie-

ties occur in Cooper, Cape Girardeau, St. Louis, Iron and Ozark coun-

ties. In the bluffs on the Niangua, a marble crops out twenty feet thick,

which is a fine-grained, crystaline, silico-magnesian limestone, of a light

drab color, slightly tinged or clouded with peach blossom. Some of the

beautiful Ozark marbles have been used in ornamenting the national

capitol at Washington.

Lithographic limestone is found in Macon county.

EARTHS, CLAYS, OCHRES, ETC.

Kaolin, or decomposed feldspar, is a clay for making porcelain ware,

and is found in and shipped from southeastern Missouri. Fine pottery

clays are found in all the coal bearing region. North of the Missouri

river many beds of best fire-clay are found, which is extensively manufac-

tured at St. Louis into fire brick, gas retorts, metallurgists' crucibles, etc.
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Yellow and red ochres, ferruginous clays, and sulphate of baryta, all val-

uable in the mannfacture of mineral and fire-proof paints, are found in

great abundance all through the iron districts. Near St. Genevieve there

is a bank of saccharoidal sand which is twenty feet in height, and miles

in extent. The mass is inexhaustible. Two analyses give the following

results:

Silica 98.81 99.02

Lime 0.92 0.98

The sand is very friable, and nearly as white as snow. It is not oxy-
dized or discolored by heat, and the glass made from it is clear and

unstained. One firm in St. Louis has annually exported more than 3,500

tons of this sand to the glass manufactories of Wheeling, Steubenville

and Pittsburg.

GEOGRAPHY OF MISSOURI

LOCATION AND AREA.

The state of Missouri (with the exception of the Pan-Handle, in the

southeast corner, which extends 84 miles further south), Hes between the

parallels 36 degrees 30 minutes and 40 degrees 30 minutes north latitude,

and between longitudes 12 degrees 2 minutes, and IS degrees and 51 min-

utes west from Washington. Its southern boundary line, extended east-

ward, would pass along the southern boundaries of Tennessee and Vir-

ginia. The line of the northern boundary, extended in the same direction,

would pass north of the centers oE Illinois, Indiana and Ohio, and near the

centers of Pennsylvania and New Jersey. Extending these lines west-

ward, they would embrace the entire state of Kansas, and a considerable

portion of Nebraska on the north and of the Indian Territory south.

The length of the state north and south is 282 miles; iis extreme width

east and west, is 348 miles, and the average width, which is represented

by a line drawn due west from St. Louis, is 235 miles.

The area of the state is 65,350 square miles, or 41,824,000 acres. In

size it is the eighth state in the Union, and is larger than any state east

of or bordering upon the Mississippi, except Minnesota. It occupies
almost the exact center of that portion of the United States lying between

the Rocky Mountains and the Atlantic, and is midway between the

British possessions on the north and the Gulf of Mexico south.

The following list shows what other large cities of our own and

foreign countries lie on the same latitude with the largest cities in our
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State: The latitude of 38 to 39 degrees north, embraces Annapolis,

Maryland; Washington and Georgetown, D, C; Alexandria, Va.; Ports-

mouth, Ohio; Lexington, Frankfort and Louisville, Ky.; Madison, New
Albany and Evansville, Ind.; St. Louis and Jefferson City, Missouri;
Sacramento and Vallejo, California; Yarkand, China; Tabreez, Persia;

Smyrna, Turkey; Messina and Palermo, Sicily; Lisbon, Portugal.
The latitude of 39 to 40 embraces the cities of Philadelphia, Dover, Wil-

mington, Baltimore, York, Gettysburg, Columbus, Cincinnati, Indiana-

polis, Terre Haute, Springfield, Quincy, Hannibal, Kansas City, St.

Joseph, Leavenworth, Denver; Virginia City, Nevada; Marysville, Cali-

fornia; Tientsin, Pekin and Kashgar, in China; Bokhara in Turkestan;
Erzroom in Turkey; Valencia in Spain.
The meridian of 90 to 91 degrees west longitude, takes in Grand

Portage, Minnesota; Mineral Point, Wisconsin; also Dubuque, Davenport,
Rock Island, Galesburg, St. Louis, Memphis, Vicksburg and New
Orleans.

Missouri is half as large again as New York, and more than eight
times the size of Massachusetts. It would make a score of German prin-

cipalities. Larger than England and Wales, or Scotland and Ireland, it

is equal to one-third of the area of France. ,

SURFACE FEATURES.
'

As explained in the chapter on geology, there occurred away back

in the earliest geological ages, some subterranean force which pushed up

through the crust of the earth, a series of knobs and irregular ridges and

hills in a region extending from St. Genevieve, in a southwest direction,

to Shannon and Texas counties, taking in some portions of Madison, St.

Francois, Washington, Iron and Reynolds counties. After this, these

knobs and ridges were islands in the ocean, which covered the rest of

Missouri and adjoining states. On the bottom of this ocean the solid

strata of limestone, sandstone, and other rocks, v/ere formed. In course

of time the rest of the country was raised above the ocean, and the sur-

face presented a broad, undulating plateau, from which projected the hills

and ridges above named. The rains descended upon this plateau, and the

waters collected into branches, creeks and rivers, and flowed away to the

ocean, as now; and during the succeeding cycles, the channels and valleys

of the streams were worn into the rocks as they now appear. These

facts respecting the formation of our state, give some idea of its surface

features. It may be described as a broad, undulating table-land or

plateau, from which projects a series of hills and ridges extending from St.

Genevieve to the- southwest, and into which the branches, creeks and

rivers have worn their deep broad channels and valleys. In that portion

of the state north of the Missouri river, the northwest part is the highest,
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and there is a general descent to the south and east, as shown by the

course of the Missouri river and its north side tributaries. In the eastern

part of this region there is a high dividing ridge vi^hich separates the

small east-flowing tributaries of the Mississippi from those flowing south-

ward into the Missouri; the St. Louis, Kansas City and Northern railroad

follows this highland from Warren and Montgomery counties to Coats-

ville on the north line of the state, in Schuyler county; and railroad sur-

veys show that in a straight line across the state, the Missouri river at the

city of Weston, in Platte county, is 320 feet higher than the Mississippi at

Hannibal.

South of the Missouri the highest part is a main ridge extending from

Jasper county through Lawrence, Webster, Wright, Texas, Dent, Iron,

St. Francois and Perry counties, striking the Mississippi river at Grand

Tower. This ridge constitutes what is called the Ozark range, which

for three-fourths of its course across Missouri is not mountainous, or com-

posed of peaks, but is an elevated plateau of broad, level, arable land, and

divides the northward flowing tributaries of the Missouri from the waters

which flow southward into the lower Mississippi. It is a part of that

great chain of ridge elevations which begins with Long's Peak, about fifty

miles northwest of Denver, in Colorado; crosses the state of Kansas

between the Kansas and Arkansas rivers; crosses Missouri through the

counties above mentioned; passes into Illinois at Grand Tower and thence

into Kentucky opposite Golconda; and is finally merged into the Cumber-
land Mountains. This ridge probably formed the southern shore of that

vast inland sea into which the upper Missouri and Platte rivers emptied
their muddy waters for a whole geological age, and deposited over the

states of Iowa, Missouri, Kansas and Nebraska, their sediment from the

Cretaceous and Tertiary beds of the mountain regions in Dakota, Montana,

Wyoming, etc., and the "Bad Lands" of northwestern Nebraska. This

great sea or lake had its chiefs outlet at Grand Tower,* where for

thousands of years its waters plunged over the rocky limestone ledges
and flowed oft' to the Gulf of Mexico, which then extended nearly or quite

up to the mouth of the Ohio river at Cairo. But as it gradually wore

down the rocks of this southern high ridge barrier, of course the channel

through this narrow pass became gradually deeper and deeper, and as

gradually drained oft' the mighty lake, leaving four great states covered

chiefly with a kind of sediment which Prof. Swallow has termed " bluff

* Dr. Sliumard in his report on a geological section from St. Louis to Commerce,—p. 151,

says: "The Grand Tower rises from the bed of the Mississippi, an isolated mass of rock,
of a truncated-conical shape, crowned at the top with stunted cedars, and situated about

fifty yards from the Missouri shore. It is eighty-five feet high, and four hundred yards
in circumference at the base. During high water, the current rushes around its base with

great velocity.
* * About half a mile below the Tower, near the middle of the river, is

a huge mass of chert. * In the next two miles the Missouri shore is bounded by hills

from 75 to 200 feet in altitude." It is rocky and blufiy for six miles or more along here,
some of the elevations reaching 330 feet.

i
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deposit," though called by other writers loess. At Grand Tower, where
the Mississippi has worn for itself this narrow gorge or pass through the

rocks, the current rushes and roars and tumbles along at such a mill-flume

rate, that the passage b}- boats either up or down stream, is difficult and

dangerous.* And it was here that the river pirates had their stronghold
in the early days of keel-boat traffic between St. Louis and New Orleans.

They permitted no traders to pass this point without paying such tribute

as they chose to levy; and upon the least show of resistance, they would

rob, murder and plunder without remedy. If the human history of this

place could be written, it would be full of blood-curdling incidents, and

deeds of violence by rude and murderous men.

The following table of elevations above tide water in the Gulf of Mex-
ico will give a general idea of the heights reached by this southern

upland region:

Granby, Newton county, (farthest southwest) 1,030 feet.

Marshfield, in Webster county, 96 miles from the west line

of the state 1,462
"

Ohio City, opposite mouth of the Ohio river 272 "

New Madrid, 30 miles farther south 247 "

St. Louis directrix, (or register) 372 "

Base of Pilot Knob 909 "

Top of Pilot Knob 1,490
"

It will thus be seen that the top of Pilot Knob, at the eastern end of

our south border highlands, is only twenty-eight feet higher than Marsh-

field, near the western end.

RIVERS AND WATER COURSES.

The Mississippi river bounds the state on the east for a distance of more

than ,500 miles. The Missouri washes the western boundary of the state

from the northwest corner southwardly, some 2.50 miles, to the mouth of

the Kansas, whence it takes a course south of east, through the heart of

the state to its junction with the Mississippi, a distance of nearly 400

miles, presenting a river front from these two majestic streams of 1,550

miles. Besides these miiihtv streams, are manv smaller rivers, more or

less navigable for steamboats and barges. On the south, or the right

*A small work published at Davenport, Iowa, in 1856, describes this place as "a gorge
where the river has in some remote geological age burst through a limestone mountain

ridge, making a dangerous rocky pass, and washing the cliflF into strange, fantastic forms."

And a western poet nearly 30 years ago. thus described the spot:
" Here Nature sports with Art in rocky tovpers,

Quarried by tin; wave, or lilts in Doric state

Abraded pillars to the corniced cliff;

And through sharp angles, narrows, flume and gorge,
The wildered waters, plunging, roar and foam—

n Scylla and Charybdis of no mythic tale."
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bank of the Missouri, the Gasconade, Osage and La Mine are navigable;

on the Osage, steamboats make regular trips as high as Warsaw, and

barges and keel-boats may pass as high as the state Hne. On the left

bank of the Missouri, the Platte, Chariton and Grand rivers are naviga-
ble for keel-boats and barges; and small steamers have made a few trips

on their waters. The other important streams of the state are the Des

Moines, Salt, Meramec, St. Francis and White rivers, all of which on

rare occasions have been navigated by steamers. There are large num-

bers of smaller streams called rivers and creeks.

There are places in all our streams, except the Mississippi and Missouri,

where they might be dammed and made to drive the machinery of mills

and factories. Rock beds to support dams and make them permanent
are to be found in many localities on the Osage, Niangua, Pomme du

Terre, Sac, Spring river, Big river. Castor, Bourbeuse, Gasconade, St.

Francis, Current, White, Grand, La Mine, Meramec, etc. No country is

better supplied with bold springs of pure water. Many of them are

remarkable for their size and volume.

There is, on the whole, no state in the Union better supplied with an

abundance of wholesome, living water for stock and domestic uses; and

it abounds in springs, splendidly situated for dairy business, with water at

a uniform temperature below 60 degrees Fahrenheit. There are no

lakes in the state except a few small ones in the extreme southeastern

counties.

NOTABLE SPRINGS.

Mineral Springs occur in every part of the state. There are excellent

salt springs in Cooper, SaHne, Howard and adjoining counties. Sulphur

springs that have become known as places of summer resort, are: The
Chouteau springs in Cooper county ; Monagan springs in St. Clair county;
Elk springs in Pike county ;

Cheltenham springs in St. Louis county.
And Prof. Swallow says there are sulphur springs in half the counties of

the state. Sweet springs, on Blackwater creek, are what are called chaly-
beate waters, containing some of the salts of iron; and there are a few

others of this class. Petroleum or tar springs occur in Carroll, Ray,
Randolph, Cass, Lafayette, Bates, Vernon, and other counties, and fur-

nish a good lubricating oil in large quantities. In the south part of the

State there are numerous fresh water springs of such great flowage as to

be utilized for water power. One called Bryce's spring, on the Niangua
river, which runs through Dallas, Hickory and Camden counties, dischar-

ges 10,927,872 cubic feet of water per day, drives a large flouring mill,

and flows away a river 42 yards wide. This is the largest one, of these

big springs. The temperature of its water is steadily at 60 degrees Fahr-

enheit, and the flowage uniform throughout the year.
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SOILS AND THEIR PRODUCTS.

As late as 1830 the greater part of Missouri was still marked on com-

mon school geography maps as part of the great American desert; and in

1820, even onr own great statesman, Thomas H. Benton, had written:

"After you get 40 or 50 miles from the Mississippi, arid plains set in and

the country is uninhabitable except upon the borders of the rivers and

creeks." But our present knowledge of Missouri's climate, soils and prod-
ucts show how widely mistaken our wisest people were on this subject

in those early days.
Prof. Swallow, Dean, of the State Agricultural College at Columbia

(State University), has given the soils of the state a classification adapted
to the popular understanding, by u^ing names that everybody can read

and know what they mean, instead of technical scientific terms known

only to a few who have had a college education. And as this history is

designed for the masses of the people, and to a large extent tor the farm-

ers, we give a condensed statement of Prof. Swallow's classification.

Those known as hackbcrry lands are first in fertility and productiveness.

Upon these lands also grow elm, wild cherry, honey locust, hickory, white,

black, burr and chestnut oaks, black and white walnut, mulberry, linden,

ash, poplar, catalpa, sassafras and maple. The prairie soils of about the

same quality, if not identical, are known as crow foot lands, so called from

a species of weed found upon them, and these two soils generally join each

other where the timber and prairie lands meet. Both rest upon a bed of

fine silicious marls. They cover more than seven million acres of land.

On this soil white oaks have been found twenty-nine feet in circumference

and one hundred feet high; linden twenty-three feet in circumference and

quite as lofty; the burr oak and sycamore grow still larger. Prairie

grasses, on the crowfoot lands, grow very rank and tall, and by the old

settlers were said to entirely conceal herds of cattle from the view.

The elm lands, are scarcely inferior to the hackberry lands, and pos-

sess very nearly the same growth of other timber. The soil has about the

same properties, except that the sand is finer and the clay more abundant

The same quality of soil appears in the prairie known as the resin-weed

lands.

Next in order are hickory lands, with a growth of white and shellbark

hickor}^, black, scarlet and laurel oaks, sugar maple, persimmon and the

haw, red-bud and crab-apple trees of smaller growth. In some portions

of the state the tulip tree, beech and black gum grow on lands of the same

quality. Large areas of prairie in the northeast and the southwest have

soils of nearly the same quahty, called mulatto soils. There is also a soil

lying upon the red clays of southern Missouri similar to the above. These

hickory lands and those described as assimilating to them, are highly
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esteemed by the farmers for the culture of corn, wheat and other cereals.

They are admirably adapted to the cultivation of fruits, and their blue

grass pastures are equal to any in the state. Their area may be fairly

estimated at six millions of acres.

The magncsian limestone soils extend from Callaway county south to

the Arkansas line, and from JefTerson west to Polk county, an area of

about ten millions of acres. These soils are dark, warm, light and ver}''

productive. They produce black and white walnut, black gum, white

and wahoo elms, sugar maple, honey locust, mulberry, chestnut, post, lau-

rel, black, scarlet and Spanish oaks, persimmon, blue ash, and many trees

of smaller growth. They cover all the country underlaid by the magne-
sian limestone series, but are inconvenient for ordinary tillage when they

occupy the hillsides or narrow valleys. Among the most fertile soils in

the state, they produce fine crops of almost all the staples; and thrifty and

productive fruit trees and grape vines evince their extraordinary adapta-
tion and fitness to the culture of the grape and other fruits.

On the ridges, where the lighter materials of the soil have been washed

away, or were originally wanting, white oak lands are to be found, the

oaks accompanied by shellbark and black hickory, and trees and shrubs

of smaller growth. While the surface soil is not so rich as the hickory

lands, the sub-soil is quite as good, and the land ma}' be greatly improved

by turning the sub-soil to the surface. These produce superior wheat,

good corn, and a very fine quality of tobacco. On these lands fruits are

abundant and a sure crop. They embrace about ©ne and a half million

of acres.

Post oak lands have about the same growth as the white oak lands,

and produce good crops of the staples of the country, and yield the best

tobacco in the West. Fruits of all kinds excel on this soil. These lands

require deep culture.

The blackjack lands occupy the high flint ridges underlaid with horn-

stone and sandstone, and under these conditions are considered the poor-
est in the state, except for pastures and vineyards. The presence, how-

ever, of blackjack on other lands does not indicate thin or poor lands.

Pine lands are extensive, embracing about two millions of acres. The

pines (^-pinis mitis, yellow pine), grow to great size, and furnish immense

supplies of marketable lumber. They are accompanied by heavy growths
of oak, which takes the country as successor to the pine. The soil is

sandy and is adapted to small grains and grasses.

Bisecting the state by a line drawn from the city of Hannibal, on the

Mississippi river, to its southwest corner, the half lying to the north and

west of this line may be described as the prairie region of the state, with

the rare advantage that every county is bountifully suppHed with timber

and with rivers and smaller streams of water. That which lies east and
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south of the bisecting line is the timbered or forest section, in which are

found numerous prairies of greater or less extent.

The prairie lands are again divided into bottom and upland prairies.

The bottom prairies closely resemble in soil the river bottoms. In a cer-

tain sense, the formation is identical; each came from accretions, one from

the rivers and the other from the higher or upland prairies. The marl

formation is the foundation of both and in both it is deeply buried under

the modern alluvium.

The celebrated and eloquent orator, Henry Ward Beecher, paid the fol-

lowing brilHant tribute to our grand state:

"The breadth of land from the Red River country of the far North,

stretching to the Gulf of Mexico, including Minnesota, Wisconsin, Illinois,

Iowa, Missouri, Kansas and Texas is one of the most wonderful agricultural

spectacles of the globe! It is one of the few facts that are unthinkable!

In this ocean of land, and at nearly its centre, stands the iMPERrAL state
OF Missouri. Even a Kansas man admits that in natural qualifications it

leads all the rest, and is the crown and glory of the Union ! It has bound-
less treasures of coal, iron, lead and other minerals; lands richer there

cannot be, nor finer streams; its forests are more equally distributed all

over the state than in any other; its climate, wholesome and delightful,
blends the temperature of the northern lakes and the great southern gulf."

Horace Greely said: "Missouri possesses the resources and capacities
of a nation within the boundaries of a State."

WILD GAME.

Animals.—Missouri has been the feeding ground for vast herds of the

choicest of the large game animals up to the present generation. Old

hunters and trappers, still living, tell marvelous stories of their exploits

with the gun. As civilization and population advanced westward their

numbers decreased, yet Missouri is still furnishing a very large proportion

of the game for the markets of all the large cities of the United States.

Even London receives large shipments, every winter, from St. Louis.

From October 1st to February 1st, of every year, there is not an express

car arriving in St. Louis which does not bring large consignments of

game. The quantity is enormous, and far beyond the knowledge of

every one except those engaged in the trade, or whose duties bring them

in contact with the facts.

Elk, bufialo, antelope and bear formerly abounded in this state, but

are now nearly or quite driven entirely beyond our borders. Red deer

are still plentiful in some parts of the state. In fact, the Ozark Moun-

tains and the swamp lands of southeast Missouri constitute a great deer

park and game preserve, and will continue to do so until immigration

crowds out the game. It is a notorious fact, that venison sells as cheaply

as good beef in St. Louis markets, during the winter season.
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The rabbit, as it is popularly called here, is a species of hare, and is

about the average size of the domestic cat. They are so numerous in

Missouri as to be considered a pest; are found in ever}^ field and forest

in the state. Squirrels are very numerous, especially in the swampy and

hilly regions. The two principal varieties are the grey squirrel and the

red fox-squirrel. One of these varieties is to be found in every clump of

timbered land in the state.

Birds.—Wild turkeys, the finest game birds in the world, abound in the

same region. Prairie chickens, or pinnated grouse, are abundant in all

the prairie regions ot' the state, and are shipped from St. Louis to eastern

markets by hundreds of barrels during the fall months; but the game
•laws of the state strictly prohibit their being killed or trapped during the

breeding season. Quails, or Virginia partridge, or "Bob-Whites," are

found everywhere, so common that partridge pie, or "
quail on toast," is

no great rarity in thrifty farm houses.

Wild ducks, wild geese, snipe, plover and several species of the rail

frequent Missouri during their annual migrations north and south. Dur-

ing March, April ;ind May the migratory birds pass through Missouri,

going north to their nesting and brooding places, probably near the

Arctic circle. In October, November and December they return, on

their journey southward to spend the winter. There is no state in the

great Mississippi basin more frequented by these migratory game birds

than Missouri.

Fishes.—The early settlers found the rivers and lakes teeming with

many fine varieties of game and food fishes, and there is still a bountiful

supply. Black bass, perch, catfish, buflalo fish, suckers and pike consti-

tute the leading varieties of native fishes. Black bass of several varieties

inhabit every stream of considerable size in the state, and every lake con-

tains them. It is the best game fish in the state. The perch family is

represented by several dozen species; and perch of several kinds are

found in every bod}^ of water in the state, which does not actually dry up
in the summer time. The catfish of Missouri are not only numerous, but

famous the world over. There are at least a dozen species in the waters

of this state. The yellow catfish grows to great size, often reaching a

weight of 175 pounds; the black catfish, maximum weight about 45

pounds; blue or forked-tail catfish, reaching 150 pounds and upwards in

weight; the channel catfish, weighing from one to fifteen pounds, and the

yellow mud catfish, often weighing as high as 100 pounds. The sucker

family includes the buftalo fish, chub, sucker and red horse. The first of

these is highly prized, abundant, and grows to a maximum weight of 40

pounds. The last named is very abundant during certain seasons of the

year, and valuable; they weigh from 6 ounces to 8 pounds. Pike of sev-
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eral species are found throughout Missouri, and rank- with black bass as

game fish; they are found in the clearer and rapid streams.

The above lists constitute the leading fishes of the state, but by no means
all, as there are many minor species.

The state board of fish commissioners receives $3,000 annually from
the state, to defray expenses of propagating desirable kinds of food fishes,

that are not found native in the state. In 1878 Mr. Reid distributed 100,-
000 fry of the California salmon, in the state. In May and June, 1879,
the commission distributed 250,000 shad fry in the rivers of southeast,
south and southwest Missouri, and planted 5,000 young trout in the

springs and sources of the same rivers. Later they have planted 100,-

000 fry of the California salmon in the same sections of the state. In 1880
two or three hundred thousand fry of German carp were planted. All

the waters of JNIissouri are adapted to this fish, more especially the lakes

and sluggish streams. The carp can be as easily cultivated as pigs or

turkeys, and it is hoped that in a few years all the streams of the state

will be stocked with them.

THE CLIMATE.

For nearly forty years Dr. George Engelmann, of St. Louis, kept sys-
tematic records of the meteorology of St. Louis and vicinity; and by
compiling similar records kept during long or short periods, by other per-
sons in different parts of the state, he has been able to report pretty cor-

rectl}' the dates and weather-facts which go to furnish a comprehensive
estimate of the general nature of the climate, at each season of the vear,

in different parts of the state. The following facts of great practical
interest and value are gathered from the doctor's work :

Our winters, taken in the usual sense, from the first of December to

the last of February, have in the city an average temperature of 33.3

degrees, and may be estimated for the surrounding country at 32 degrees;
but they vary in different seasons between 25 degrees (winter of 1855-G

and 1872-3) and 40 degrees (winter 1844-5). Our summers (from June
1st to August 31st) have in the city a mean temperature of 76.8 degrees,
and are calculated to reach in the country 75 degrees, ranging between

the coolest summer, 71.5 degrees mean temperature (1835, 1839 and

1848), and the warmest of 80 degrees mean temperature, (1838, 1850 and

especially 1854).

The last frosts in spring occur between March 13th and May 2d, on

an average about April 5th, and the earliest autumnal frosts between

October 4th and November 26th, on an average about October 27th; the
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period between these two terms extends in different years from 184 to

252 days, on an average 205 days. In the southeast part of the state

these hmits of the freezing point will, of course, be much wider apart,

and in the northwest they are narrowed down considerably. Our spring

opens in March, though in some favored seasons vegetation breaks

through its wintry bounds already in the latter part of February, while

in a few very late springs it cannot be said to have fairly commenced
before the middle of April.

^•' * - We find the first in bloom is the

alder and the hazel; next—not rarely retarded by intervening cold spells
—

the soft or silver leaf maple; our common white elm blooms a fevv'' days
after this, between February 34th and April 15th, on an average, March
19th. During the next following days, roses, syringas, gooseberries and

many other bushes, and the weeping willows, show their young leaves.

About two weeks after, the elm—between March 18th and April 25th,

on an average about April 3d—the peach trees open their first blossoms,

and are, one week later, in full bloom. Plum and pear trees and sweet

cherries blossom about the same time, or a few days later, and then sour

cherries and the glory of our rich woods, the red buds, get in bloom.

Between March 21st and May 1st, (mean, April 14th) the early apple
trees begin to bloom, and between March 28th and May 10th, (mean,

April 20th) they may be said to be in full bloom.

The maturit}^ and harvest of winter wheat immediately succeeds the

catalpa bloom, between June 10th and July 1st, usually about June 20th.

The mean summer temperature varies but little throughout the state. In

the summer of 1873 the mean temperature in the southeast was found

only one-half degree higher than that of the northeast, and the difference

between St. Louis and the west was even less. Winter temperatures,

however, show a wide range. The mean temperature of the southeast-

ern part of the state is 2^ to 3 degrees higher than at St. Louis, and

^i degrees higher than in the northeastern angle, and the mean tem-

perature of Leavenworth, and the adjacent parts of Missouri, is fully 2

degrees less than that of the region about St. Louis.

In connection with our winter temperature it must be mentioned that

the Mississippi at St. Louis freezes over about once in four or five

years, partly, no doubt, in consequence of the heavy ice floating down

from the north; and it then remains closed for one or two, or even four

or six weeks, sometimes passable for the heaviest teams. Our river has

been known to close as early as the first week in December, and in

other years, to be open as late as the last week in February,while the run-

ning ice may impede or interrupt navigation between the end of Novem-

ber and the end of February, sometimes as low down as the southeast

corner of the state ;
the river is said, however, never to freeze over below

Cape Girardeau. The Missouri river is sometimes closed in the latter
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part of November, and has been known to remain firmly bridged over

into the first week of March.

The dimate of Missouri is, on the whole, a dry one, with strong evap-

oration, and an atmosphere but rarely overloaded with moisture.

Clear or nearly clear daj's

Partially clear and variable days
Days when the sun remains ooscured. . .

\Viater| Spring
30"

"

21

38
47
13

Summer I Autumn
40
48
4

40
39

Wlaole Yr.

143
173
49

Our summer rains mostly descend with great abundance, and in a com-

paratively short time, so that the average (13 inches) of summer rain falls

in 70 hours, distributed over twenty-four days, while the 7 inches of win-

ter rain (and snow) descend in 160 hours and on 22 days. The days on

which it rains vary between 68 and 115 in the year. On the average we
have 92 days in the year on which it rains. Our rains last from a frac-

tion of an hour to a few hours, and very rarely extend through the 24

hours.

Snow is rather scarce in our climate, and rarely continually covers the

ground for more than a few days or a week. In some years, it amounted,
when melted to 5^ inches; in others to only one-half inch; the aver-

age is about 2-^ inches.

The atmospherical pressure (indicated by the stage of the barometer) is

with us, in summer, more uniform and regular than on the Atlantic coast,

while in winter it fluctuates considerably, and often very rapidly. The

average barometrical pressure is highest in January, falls till May, and

gradually rises again until January; it is most variable from November to

March, and least so from June to August.

HEALTHFULNESS OF THE STATE.

Authentic reports to the Health Board of St. Louis is have shown that

the annual sickness rate of the city of St. Louis about seventeen and a half

days to each member of the population. Dr. Boardman, of Boston, has

ascertained the sickness rate of the city of Boston to be about twenty-
four days of annual sickness to each individual. The general correctness

of these conclusions are further substantiated by army statistics. Dr.

Playfair, of England, after careful inquiry, computed the ratio of one

death to twenty-eight cases of sickness in a mixed population.

The state of Massachusetts has for many years had a state board of

Health, by whom sanitary improvements have been dihgently and scien

tifically prosecuted, under state authority; and the annual death-rate has

thereby been somewhat reduced. In 1870 Massachusetts had a popula-

tion of 1,457,351 and there were during the same period 25,859 deaths

from aU causes. A mortahty equal to 1.77 per cent of the population. At
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the same time Missouri had a population of 1,721,295, and there were

during that year 27,982 deaths from all causes. A mortality rate equiva-
lent to 1.63 per cent, of the population. It thus appears, if the calculation

is made and the relative proportion between the populations and the death

rates of the two states maintained, that vital security is greater in Mis-

souri, as compared with Massachusetts, to an extent represented bv
the annual saving of 2,474 lives. But this is not all. The authorities on

vital statistics estimate that two persons are constantly sick for every one

that dies; and Dr. Jarvis shows, from the experience of health-assurance

companies in this country, that on an average each person loses from 19

to 20 days per year by sickness. Then we have this result: Two
persons sick to one death, equal 4,948, multiplied by 20, gives 98,960 days

per year less of sickness in Missouri than in Massachusetts, in proportion
to population. Then reckon the amount of care and anxiety and suffering
and the loss of time, and cost for nursing and medicines and doctor's bills—
and you will begin to get some idea of what these figures really mean, in

favor of our state, with its dry, salubrious climate, in comparison with

Massachusetts, the only other state for which the figures were at hand

to make the comparison.

AGRICULTURE.

The Missouri state board of agriculture was created a body corporate

by statute, in 1877, and it was provided that the governor, the state sup-

erintendent of schools, the president of the state university and the

dean of the state agricultural college, should be ex-officio members of

the board. The officers of the secretary and treasurer are required to be

at the agricultural college, at Columbia, in Boone county; and the annual

meetings are to be held there, on the first Wednesday of November in

each year. The presidents or duly authorized delegates of county

agricultural societies, are rightful members of the state board, "for delib-

eration and consultation as to the wants, prospects and condition of the

agricultural interests of the state, to receive the reports of district and

county societies, and to fill by elections all vacancies in the board."

The law further provides that,
"

It shall be the duty of all agricultural

and horticultural societies, organized and estabhshed in accordance with

the laws of this state, to make a full report of their transactions to the

Missouri state board of agriculture, at each annual meeting thereof."

The state board is required
" to make an annual report to the general

assembly of the state, embracing the proceedings of the board for the

past year, and an abstract of the reports and proceedings of the several

agricultural and horticultural societies, as well as a general view of the

condition of agriculture and horticulture throughout the state, accom-

panied by such recommendations, including especially such a system of
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public instruction upon those subjects as may be deemed interesting and
useful." Provision is then made for printing fourteen thousand copies

(two thousand in the German language), for distribution to all who will use
them.

OUR STAPLE CROPS.

First of all the crops grown in the state, in amount and value, is Indian
corn. There is not a county in the state in which it is not successfully
and profitably grown. The broad alluvial bottoms along our great rivers

yield immense crops of this valuable cereal, and our fertile prairies are

but little, if any, behind them in their yield.

Next in importance among the cereals is wheat., which grows and yields
well in every part of the state. Except in a few northern counties, spring
wheat is but httle grown, the main attention being bestowed upon the

winter varieties, which are especially a favorite crop upon the loess and

clay loams, and upon the oak uplands of the state. The well known fact

that the best flour to stand transportation and exposure in hot and humid

climates, is made from wheat grow^n toward the southern border of the

wheat zone, has made Missouri iiour a favorite for shipment to South

American markets. Flour made in Missouri, from Missouri wheat, won
the Medal of Merit 2i\. the World's Exposition, at Vienna, in 1873. The

average yield and the certainty of the wheat crop in Missouri, give the

state a high rank among the states producing this cereal.

Oats grow and yield well in the state, producing heavy straw, plump
and heavy grains; but the crop does not figure very largely in our

markets, being mainh' grown for home consumption.

Tobacco., of two or three varieties, growls well, and Missouri tobacco

enjoys a fine reputation for excellence. The state embraces some of the

best tobacco lands in the country. It is a staple in nearly every county in

the state, and some of the counties make it a leading crop. Missouri

ranks sixth in its production.

Cotton, except in small patches for home use, is raised only in the

southern counties of the state. Stoddard, Scott, New Madrid, Pemiscot,

Dunklin, Mississippi and Lawrence, all raise more or less for shipment,

and, in some of the counties named, it is an important crop.

Potatoes grow well, and on most of our soils yield large crops. They
are of fine quality generally.

Sweet Potatoes grow upon our sandy soils to great size and excellence,

and our farmers raise a great abundance for home use, and the city

markets are always well supplied.

Sorghum., and other varieties of the Chinese sugar cane, are exten-

sively grown, and many thousands of gallons of S3'rup are annually made

for home use. Recent improvements in manufacturing sugar from these
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syrups bid fair to increase the value and importance of this branch of

husbandry.
Broom Corn is extensively grown in Missouri, and the brush being

longer and finer than that grown in the eastern states, commands a much
better price in market.

Buckwheat^ Castor Beans, White Beans, Peas and Ho-ps, are all success-

fully grown and made profitable crops.

Garden Vegetables are produced in great profusion and variety, and

the more arid regions of western Kansas and New Mexico, and the

mining districts of Colorado, afford an ever-increasing market for these

and other agricultural products from our state. Watermelons, musk-

melons, etc., grow to great perfection, and are shipped in large quantities

from some portions of the state to cities farther north.

The U. S. forestry statistics of 1875, give Missouri 21,707,220 acres of

land in farms; 20,110,786 acres not in farms; of wood land in farms there

were 8,965,229 acres, and the total woodlands in the state was reported
as 19,623,619 acres.

There is a curious bit of agricultural history which illustrates the rapid

development of the western country, and at the same time shows, by
the inevitable logic of events already transpired, the magnificent position

of Missouri as the greatest wheat center on the globe. In 1849 the cen-

ter of the wheat product of the United States was the meridian of 81 °

west of Greenwich, passing north and south through the eastern border

counties of Ohio. In 1859 that line had moved westward a little more than

two degrees of longitude, and passed through the eastern border counties

of Indiana, the city of Fort Wayne being on the line. In 1869 the wheat

center had moved not quite two degrees further west, and was that year
a few miles west of Chicago and Milwaukee; and the center of our

National corn crop was on the saTie line at this time. In 1ST7 this line

had moved still further west, and was now represented by a line drawn

on a map of the United States from Marquette, on Lake Superior, down

through JanesviUe, Wisconsin, and through Mendota, LaSalle, Vandalia

and Cairo, in Illinois. The corn center will not move much if any further

west; but the wheat center, by reason of the rapid development of this

crop in Minnesota, Dakota, Nebraska and Kansas, is now, in 1881, as far

west as St. Louis; and it will not be likely to migrate further than Jefier-

son City at any time in the future, because there is no important wheat-

growing territory further west still unoccupied. The new settlements

westward must be chiefly by mining and manufacturing peoples, hence^

consumers rather than producers of the great cereal crops.

The conclusion of the whole matter, then, is that St. Louis is now, and

will for several decades continue to be, practically on the center line of

the aggregate product of wheat and corn in the United States, propor-
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tioned from east to west limits of the national domain. And this fact

assures Missom-i of pre-eminent commercial rank among the grand sister-

hood of states.

The following table shows the number of pounds weight which con-

stitute a lawful bushel in Missouri, of the different articles named, as

established in 1879:

No. lbs. No. lbs.

Articles. per bu. Articles. per bu.

Wheat 60 Orchard Grass 14
Corn, shelled 56 Buckwheat 52
Corn in ear 70 Onions 57
Corn Meal 50 Top Onion Sets 28

Rye 56 Peas, whole, dry 60
Oats 32 Split Peas 60

Barley 48 Dried Apples 24
Irish Potatoes 60 Dried Peaches 33
Sweet Potatoes 56 Malt 38

Beans, White 60 Salt 50
Castor Beans 46 Coal 80
Bran 20 Peanuts, dry Southern 22
Clover Seed 60 Cotton Seed 33

Timothy Seed 45 Parsnips 44

Hungarian Seed 48 Common Turnips ,
42

Hemp Seed 44 Carrots 50
Flaxseed 56 Rutabagas 50
Millet Seed 50 Green Peas, unshelled 56

Red-top Seed or Herd's Grass 14 Green Beans, unshelled 56

Osage Orange Seed 36 Green Apples 48

Sorghum Seed 42 Green Peaches 48

Kentucky Blue Grass Seed ... 14 Green Pears 48

The standard bushel for coke and charcoal is to contain 2,680 cubic

inches; apple barrels, length, 28|- inches; chines, f of an inch at ends;

diameter of head, 17J inches; inside diameter at the center of the barrel,

20-|- inches.

HORTICULTURE.

The state horticultural societ}' was organized in January, 1859, and

has kept up its annual meetings in spite of all difficulties. Each congres-
sional district of the state is classed as a separate horticultural district, and

is represented in the society by a vice-president, who is expected to keep
himself posted on the interests of this industry in his district, and make

report (or procure some one to do
it),

at the annual meeting. The officers

of this society for 1880, were: President, Hon. Norman J. Colman, St.

Louis; Vice Presidents: 1st congressional district, H. Michel, St. Louis;

2d, Dr. C. W. Spaulding, Cliff Cave; 3d, J. Rhodes, Bridgeton; 4th,

H. D. Wilson, Cape Girardeau; 5th, W. S. Jewett, Crystal City; 6th, M.



94 HISTORY OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI.

S. Roundtree, Springfield; 7th, E. Brown, Sedalia; 8th, Z. S. Ragan,

Independence; 9th, J. Madinger, St. Joseph; 10th, W. H. Miller, Chili-

cothe; 11th, G. Husmann, Columbia; 12th, J. Hawkins, Hannibal; 13th,

W. Stark, Louisiana.

Apples.—All the standard varieties of the temperate zone are raised

in their highest perfection in the state of Missouri; but in such a large
area of country as our state comprises, and with such a great variety of

soils, and other conditions, each different kind has its locality of best suc-

cess. It is therefore not possible to indicate what varieties are best for

the state
;
each district will have its favorites. At the national exhibit, in

1878, Missouri showed one hundred and forty plates of apples. Distin-

guished pomologists assert that ten counties in north Missouri can show

apples in as great variety and perfection as any ten other states in the

Union.

Perhaps no better proof can be given of the general excellence of

Missouri fruits than the fact that at the meeting of the American pomo-
logical society, in September, 1878, medals were awarded to Missouri for

the best displays of apples, pears and wines, and also one for the best

general display of fruits. These honors were gained in competition with

every state in the union, represented by their choicest fruits, and at an

exhibition held at Rochester, New York, which had long been regarded
as the very center of the fruit growing interests of the country. The
fruits exhibited on that occasion were from different parts of the state.

St. Joseph, Independence, Morrison, Columbia, Hermann, St. Louis count}'^,

Boone county, and other districts were represented, and shared the hon-

ors of our great victory.

The varieties that appear to have received most favor at the meeting
of our state agricultural society, in 1880, were Ben Davis, Winesap,

Jonathan, Dominie, Rawle's Janet, Milam, Northern Spy, Carthouse,

Newtown Pippin, Summer Pippin, Red June, Early Harvest, Red

Astrachan, Late Summer, Dutchess of Oldenburg, Early Ptnnock, St.

Lawrence, Maiden Blush, Rambo, Grimes' Golden, Limber Twig, Little

Romanite.

Peaches.—The southeastern portion of the state, along the line of the

Iron Mountain railroad, and the western portion, where the marly deposits

are so rich and extensive, are pre-eminently the peach districts, and in

these regions the peach seems almost indigenous, never failing to produce
abundant crops; and yet fruit-growers in these districts say that they are

never able to supply the demand, Nebraska, Kansas and Colorado taking

all from the western region, and St. Louis having to draw upon other states

for her supplies. Peaches may be relied upon as a profitable crop in all

that part of the state south of the Missouri river, and, indeed, are largely

grown much farther north, St. Joseph exporting large amounts.
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In some localities the trees have occasionally been winter-killed, when not

in suitable soil or not sheltered
; but, on the whole, Missouri may fairly be set

down as a peach-growing state. Mr. R. Lynn, of Rockport, in the

northwest part of the state, says he has raised three good paying crops
of peaches in seven years, the first crop being the third year from plant-

ing; his best crop was in 1878.

Pears.—Pears do well throughout the state, especially in the region
of Clay, Jackson and Cass counties. The trees attain a great size and

age
—a diameter of from twelve to fifteen inches is common; and there

are trees a short distance south of St. Louis over two hundred years old,

and still bearing full crops. The pear, although the most luscious fruit

grown in northern latitudes, is also one of the most difficult to raise suc-

cessfully
—hence it is a matter of reasonable pride and gratification that

this fruit has done so well in our state. At the national pomological

exhibition, of 1878, there were from this state: From the Missouri Val-

le}''
horticultural societ\^, Kansas City, twenty varieties of pears; from

Jacob Rhodes, Bridgeton, nine varieties; from J. Madinger, St. Joseph,
six varieties; from W. Stark, Louisiana, two varieties. Some of the

finest specimens at the exhibition were grown near St. Louis, on ii-'^cks of

the white thorn.

Grapes.—For several years the chief fruit-growing interest r- c: •<> e

seemed to center on the grape
— at least, it was more discussed ana advo-

cated in fashionable circles, than all the other fruits put together. The

anti-prohibition sentiment rallied around the grape-growing industry for

the manufacture of native wines, as the great panacea for all the ills and

horrors of intemperance. But aside from any matter of sentiment in the

case, it does seem as though we excel all other states of the Union in the

variety and richness of our grapes, both of native and cultivated varieties.

From Prof. Swallow's report on the country along the lines of the.

southwestern branch of the Missouri Pacific railroad, published in 1859,

we learn that seven different native grapes have been found in Missouri.

1. KzV/s Zai5;7/sc«, commonly called "fox grape." The Isabella, Catawba,

Schuylkill and Bland's seedling, are cultivated and popular varieties derived

from this wild grape. 2. Vitis Aestivalis^ or " summer grape." This

is found in all parts of the state. 3. Vitis Cordifolia; winter grape, or

"frost grape
"
as it is more commonly called. 4. Vitis Riparia^ or "river

grape," grows along streams and is quite large. 5. Vitis Vulpina; called

also Muscadine. It grows mostly in the south part of the state, and is a

large fine fruit. The cultivated grape called Scuppernong is derived from

this wild variety. 6. Vitis Bipintiata; found in Cape Girardeau and

Pemiscot counties. 7. Vitis Indivisa; found in central and western

counties.
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GRASSES.

There are few or no grasses that are peculiar to Missouri; and fortu-

nately SO, for there is no permanent advantage in being adapted to pecu-

liar crops any more than in being a peculiar people. The great blessings

of life are universal and widespread. It results that all the valuable

members of this great and beneficial family of plants are adapted to and

capable of being introduced and cultivated in this state. Flint, in his

standard work on grasses, says: "Whoever has blue grass has the basis

of all agricultural prosperity, and that man, if he have not the finest

horses, cattle and sheep, has no one to blame but himself. Others, in

other circumstances, may do well. He can hardly avoid doing well if he

will try."

Blue grass is indigenous in Missouri. When the timber is removed it

springs up spontaneously on the land, and, when the prairie is reclaimed,

it soon takes possession and supersedes all other grasses. This famous

grass is the foundation on which the mighty stock industry of Kentucky*
has been built, and has given a world-renowned reputation to its fine

blood horses, cattle and sheep. The combing-wool sheep and the fine

mutton breeds have obtained a national reputation for wool and mutton in

that state, and their usefulness has but begun. What blue grass has done

for Kentucky, it is now doing for Missouri. An acre of this grass is

worth an acre of corn.

Recent experience has proved that alfalfa or lucerne, that most fatten-

ing of all grasses, grows luxuriantly in this region, yielding each year
three or four good crops of hay.

THE "GRASSHOPPER" IN MISSOURI.

As early as 1867, our state board of agriculture reported destruction by

grasshoppers (the Rocky Mountain locust,) in the western part of the

state the previous fall; and also, that there had been visitations more or

less injurious in former years. But their greatest and most grievous

invasion occurred in the fall of 1874, when 33 counties of western Mis-

souri suffered from their ruthless ravages. Our state entomologist. Prof.

C. V. Riley, made such a thorough, diligent and masterful study of their

origin and habits,andthecauses, methods and consequences of their migra-

tions, that he became the standard authority on grasshoppers all over the

civilized world. In 1876 the government appointed a special commission

of entomologists to investigate the character and movements of these

pests, and report for the benefit of the whole infested region, which com-

prised the country west of St. Paul, Minnesota, Jefferson City, Missouri,

and Galveston, Texas, ranging from the Gulf of Mexico on the south, to

* "Kentucky blue grass," (so-called), is not native to that state : it is the same
as_

the En-

glish spear grass, the New England June grass, or meadow grass—or, in botanical lan-

guage, 'poa pratensia.
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Lake Winnipeg and Manitoba in the British possessions northward, and

as far west as the headquarters of the Columbia river. The most prom-
inent scientists on this commission were our own Prof. Riley, and Prof.

Samuel Aughey, of the state university of Nebraska.

The results of this United States commission were little if anything
more than a tedious elaboration of what Prof. Riley had presented in

three annual reports as state entomologist of Missouri. No new points

of any special importance were discovered concerning them. The devel-

opment of this subject, therefore, belongs to the history of what Missouri

has done for science, for agriculture and for the public weal. In his

seventh annual report to our state board of agriculture, 1S75, Prof. Riley

says :

"There is some difference of opinion as to the precise natural habitat and

breeding places of these insects, but the facts all indicate that it is by
nature a denizen of high altitudes, breeding in the valleys, parks and

plateaus of the Rocky Mountain region of Colorado, and especially of

Montana, Wyoming and British America. Prof. Cyrus Thomas, who
has had an excellent opportunity of studying it, through his connection

with Playden's geological survey of tlie territories, reports it as occurring
from Texas to British America, and from the Mississippi westward to the

Sierra Nevada range. But in all this vast extent of country, and espe-

cially in the more southern latitudes, there is ever}* reason to believe that

it breeds only on the higher mountain elevations, and where the atmos-

phere is very dry and attenuated, and the soil, seldom, if ever, gets soaked
with moisture. Prof. Thomas found it most numerous in all stages of

growth, along the higher valleys and canyons of Colorado, tracing it up
above the perennial snows, where the insects must have hatched, as it

was found in the adolescent staffe. In crossing the mountains in Col-

orado, it often gets chilled in passing snows, and thus perishes in

immense numbers, where bears delight to feast upon it. My own behef

is that the insect is at home in the higher altitudes of Utah, Idaho, Col-

orado, Wj^oming, Montana, northwest Dakota, and British x\merica. It

breeds in all this region, but particularly on the vast hot and dry plains
and plateaus of the last named territories, and on the plains west of the

mountains; its range being bounded, perhaps, on the east by that of the

buffalo grass.
" Mr. Wm. N. Byers, of Denver, Colorado, shows that they hatch in

immense quantities in the valleys of the three forks of the Missouri river

and along the Yellowstone, and how they move on from there, when

fledged, in a southeast direction, at about ten miles a day. The swarms
of 1867 were traced, as he states, from their hatching grounds in west

Dakota, and Montana, along the east flank of the P.ocky Mountains, in

the valleys and plains of the Black Hills, and between them and the main

Rock}^ Mountain range. It all this immense stretch of country, as is well

known, there are immense tracts of barren, almost desert land, while

other tracts for hundreds of miles bear only a scanty vegetation, the short

buffalo grass of the more fertile prairies giving way now to a more luxu-

riant vegetation along the water courses, now to the sage bush and a few
cacti. Another physical peculiarity is found in the fact that while the

7
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spring on these immense plains often opens as early, even away up into

British America, as it does with us in the latitude of St. Louis, yet the veg-
etation is often dried and actually burned out before the first of July, so

that not a green thing is to be found. Our Rocky Mountain locust,

therefore, hatching out in untold myriads in the hot sandy plains, five or

six thousand feet above the level of the sea, will often perish in immense
numbers if the scant vegetation of its native home dries up before it

acquires wings; but if the season is propitious, and the insect becomes

fledged before its food supplies is exhausted, the newly acquired wings
prove its salvation. It may also become periodically so prodigiously mul-

tiplied in its native breeding place, that, even in favorable seasons, every-

thing green is devoured by the time it becomes winged.
" In either case, prompted by that most exigent law of hunger

—
spurred

on for very life—it rises in immense clouds in the air to seek for fresh

pastures where it may stay its ravenous appetite. Borne along by pre-

vailing winds that sweep over these immense treeless plains from the north-

west, often at the rate of fifty or sixty miles an hour, the darkening locust

clouds are soon carried into the more moist and fertile country to the

southeast, where, with sharpened appetites, they fall upon the crops like

a plague and a blight.
" Many of the more feeble or of the more recently fledged perish, no

doubt, on he way, but the main army succeeds, with favorable wind,
in bridging over the parched country which offers no nourishment. The
hotter and dryer the season, and the greater the extent of the drouth, the

earlier will they be prompted to migrate, and the farther will they push
on to the east and south.

" The comparatively sudden change from the attenuated and dry atmos-

phere of five to eight thousand feet or more above the sea level, to the

more humid and dense atmosphere of one thousand feet below that level,

does not agree with them. The first generation hatched in this low coun-

try is unhealthy, and the few that attain maturity do not breed, but

become intestate and go to the dogs. At least such is the case in our own
state and the whole of the Mississippi valley proper. As we go west or

northwest and approach nearer and nearer the insect's native home, the

power to propagate itself and become localized, becomes, of course, greater
and greater, until at last we reach the country where it is found per-

petually. Thus in the western parts of Kansas and Nebraska the pro-

geny from the mountain swarms may multiply to the second or even third

generation, and wing their way in more local and feeble bevies to the

country east and south. Yet eventually they vanish from off the face of

the earth, unless fortunate enough to be carried back by favorable winds

to the high and dry country where they flourish.
" That they often instinctively seek to return to their native haunts is

proven by the fact that they are often seen fi3ang earl;f in the season in a

northwesterly direction. As a rule, however, the wind which saved the

first comers from starvation by bearing them away from their native

home, keeps them and their issue to the east and south, and thus, in the

end proves their destruction. For in the Mississippi valley they are

doomed, sooner or later. There is nothing more certain than that the

insect is not autochthonous in west Missouri, Kansas, Nebraska, Iowa,
or even Minnesota, and that when forced to migrate from its native home,
from the causes already mentioned, it no longer thrives in this country."
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February 23, 1877, our «tate legislature passed a law providing for

the payment of a bounty erf one dollar per bushel in March, fifty cents

per bushel in iVpril, and twenty-five cents per bushel in May, for grass-

hoppers; and five dollars per bushel for their eggs at anytime. Nebraska
did still better, by making every road supervisor in the state a grasshop-

per policeman, and giving him authority to call out every man from six-

teen to sixty years old, to spend two days killing young grasshoppers
from the time they begin to hatch in the spring.

All the grasshopper states now have some sort of protective laws; and
if another invasion occurs, by concerted and organized effort the amount
of damage suffered can be reduced to a small per cent as compared with

our last "
plague of the locusts."

PART III.—NAVIGATION AND COMMERCE.
NAVIGATION—ANCIENT AND MODERN.

It is not certainly known just what modes of navigation were used by
the prehistoric mound-builders, although we have some relics of their

time, or possibl}^ of a still earlier race, which are deemed to show that

they made wooden dug-outs or troughs, by burning them into a sort of

boat-like shape and condition. And it is supposed that, prior to this they
lashed together logs or fragments of drift-wood, and made rude rafts

upon which they could cross rivers or float down, but of course could

not return with them. Some remains have been found in northwestern

Iowa* which are supposed to prove that men used wooden dug-out boats

during the age when Missouri, Iowa, Kansas and Nebraska were the

bottom of a vast inland sea or lake, into which the Missouri and l^latte

rivers emptied their muddy waters and deposited what Prof. Swallow

calls the "bluff formation" over these states; and Prof. Whitney found

in California undisputable proof of man's existence there a whole geolog-
ical age prior to the period when the great fresh water Missouri sea

existed, (see note to chart, on page 67); hence the fact that raft and dug-
out navigation was in use among the islands and shallows of this immense

mud-lake or inland sea, seems not improbable.

However, the modern Indians, before the white man appeared in these

western wilds, had the art of making light and elegant canoes of birch

bark, and could manage them in the water with wonderful skill. They
made long journeys in them, both up and down stream; and when they

wanted to go from one stream to another these canoes were so light that

two men could carry one on their shoulders and march twenty or twenty-

five miles a day with it if necessary. But they were too light and frail

for the freighting service of the white man's commerce.

* Reported to the American Association for the Advancement of Science, at its St. Louis

meeting, in August, 1878, by W. J. McGee, geologist, of Farley, Iowa.
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The European explorers of this new world .utilized the Indian canoes

as far as practicable, often making considerable voyages in them; some-

times two were lashed together by means of coupling poles laid across

on top of them, thus making a boat with two hulls. This rig could not

be upset, and was easy to tow or paddle, besides making a sort of over-

deck on which to carry baggage. But the thin, frail material was too

easily punctured to be safe, and boats made of plank were ahvays in

demand. At first the boats were built in the " scow "
fashion, with full

width flat bottom and full width sled-runner bow. But they soon learned

that in order to make any headway going up stream they must adopt the

keel bottom and water-cutter prow style; and for more than a hundred

years the traffic of all our navigable western rivers w^as carried on mainly

by means of what were called keel-boats. The manner of propelling

them up stream we have described elsewhere.

THE LEWIS AND CLARKE EXPEDITION.

The Missouri river was first opened to commerce and geography by
Lewis and Clarke, who were commissioned by President Jefferson, in

1803, to explore it. Tiiey lelt St. Louis May 14, 1804. The outfit con-

sisted of twenty-six men; one keel-boat fifty-five feet long, drawing three

feet of water, and provided wdth one large square sail and twenty-two
oars. Also, two open boats, one of six, and one of seven oars. May 16th

they were at St. Charles ; on the 2.5th they reached LaCharrette, a small

village sixty-five miles above the mouth of the river, not far from where

Marthasville, in Warren county, is now located, and which was the last

white settlement up the river. June 1st they reached the mouth of the

Osage river, which was so called because the Osage tribe of Indians

dwelt along its course. June 26th, they reached the mouth of the Kansas

river, where Kansas City now flourishes in all her glory, and remained

here two days for rest and repairs. The Kansas tribe of Indians had two

villages in this vicinity. July 8th they were at the mouth of the Nodawa,
where now^ is the village of Amazonia, in Andrew county; and on the 11th

they landed at the mouth of the Nemaha river. On the 14th they passed
the mouth of the Nishnabotna river, and noted that it was only 300 yards
distant from the Missouri at a point twelve miles above its moiith.

This was their last point within the boundaries of the present state of

Missouri. St. Louis was then the territorial capital of the whole region

the}^ w^ere to explore through to the mouth of the Columbia river on the

Pacific coast. This was one of the great exploring adventures of the

world's history, and its narrative is full of romantic and thrilling interest,

but space forbids its presentation here. The party followed up the entire

length of the Missouri river, then down the Columbia to the Pacific

ocean, reaching that point November 14th, 1805. Here they wintered;

and on March 23d, 1806, they started on their return trip by the same
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route, arriving at St. Louis September 23d, at 12 o'clock—not a man
missing from the party that first started out; and the people of St. JLouis

gave them an enthusiastic ovation.

FIRST STEAMBOATS IN MISSOURI.

Steam came at last, and revolutionized the business of navigation and
commerce throughout the world. The first steamboat that ever lashed

the Missouri shore with its waves, or made our river hills and forests echo
back her pulsating pufis, was the " General Pike," fi-om Louisville, which
landed at St. Louis, August 2, l&lT. Such boats had passed a few times

up and down the whole length of the Ohio river, and between Louisville

and New Orleans, before this, so that the people of St. Louis had heard

about them from the keel-boat navigators. They were therefore over-

joyed when the first one landed at the foot of their main business street,

and thus placed them for the first time in steam communication with the

rest of the civilized world. The event was celebrated with the most

enthusiastic manifestations of delight by the ringing of bells, firing of

guns, floating of flags and streamers, building of bonfires, etc. The
second one, the "Constitution," arrived October 2; and from that onward
the arrival of steamboats became a very commonplace affair.

The first boat that ever entered the Missouri river was the "Independ-

ence," commanded by Captain Nelson. She left St. Louis May 15, 1819,

and on the 28th arrived at Franklin, a flourishing young city that stood

on the north bank of the Missouri river, opposite where Boonville is now
located. There was a U. S. land office at Franklin, and it was the

metropolis of the up-Missouri region, or as it was then called, the

"Boone's Lick Country."* When this first steamboat arrived the citi-

zens got up a grand reception and public dinner in honor of the captain
and crew. The boat proceeded up as far as the mouth of the Chariton

river, where there was then a small village called Chariton, but from that

point turned back, picking up freight for St. Louis and Louisville at the

settlements as she passed down. The town site of Old Franklin was

long ago all washed away, and the Missouri river now flows over the

very spot where then were going on all the industries of a busy, thriving,

populous young city.

The second steamboat to enter the Missouri river (and what is given in

most histories as the first) was in connection with Major S. H. Long's U.

S. explormg expedition, and occurred June 21, 1819, not quite a month

after the trip of the "
Independence." Major Long's fleet consisted of

four steamboats, the " Western Engineer,"
"
Expedition,"

" Thomas Jef-

ferson
" and " R. M. Johnson," together with nine keel-boats. The

"Jefferson," however, was wrecked and lost a few days after. The

*Daniel Boone had first explored this region and discovered some rich salt springs, and
two of his sons manufactured salt and shipped it from Franklin for several years.
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"Western Engineer" was a double stern wheel boat, and had projecting

from her bow a figure-head representing a huge open-jawed, red-mouthed,

forked-tongued serpent, and out of this hideous orifice the puffs of steam

escaped from the engines. The men on board had many a hearty laugh
from watching the Indians on shore. When the strange monster came
in sight, rolling out smoke and sparks from its chimney like a fiery mane,
and puffing great mouthfiils of steam from its wide open jaws, they
would look an instant, then yell, and run like deer to hide away firom

their terrible visitor. They thought it was the Spirit of Evil, the very
devil himself, coming to devour them. But their ideas and their actions

were not a whit more foolish than those of the sailors on the Hudson

river, who leaped from their vessels and swam ashore to hide, when Ful-

ton's first steamboat came puffing and glaring and smoking and splashing

toward them, hke a wheezy demon broke loose from the bottomless pit.

Major Long was engaged five years in exploring all the region between

the Mississippi river' and the Rocky Mountains which is drained by the

Missouri and its tributaries; and his steamboats were certainly the first

that ever passed up the Missouri to any great distance. Long's Peak, in

Colorado, 14,272 feet high, was named after him.

From this time forward the commerce and travel by steamboats to and

from St. Louis grew rapidly into enormous proportions, and small towns

sprung up in quick succession on every stream where a boat with paddle

wheels could make its way. For half a century steamboating was the

most economical and expeditious mode of commerce in vogue for inland

traffic; and Missouri, with her whole eastern boundary washed by the

" Father of Waters," and the equally large and navigable
"
Big Muddy

"

meandering entirely across her territory from east to west, and for nearly

two hundred miles along
• her northwestern border, became an imperial

center of the steamboating interest and industry.

About 1880 the art of constructing iron-railed traffic-ways, with steam-

propelled carriages upon them, began to be developed in our eastern

states. But it was not until 1855 that these new devices for quick transit

began to affect the steamboating interests of Missouri. (The first rail-

roads to St. Louis were opened in that year ;
the railroad history of the

state will be found in another place.) Then commenced the memorable

struggle of the western steamboat interests, with headquarters at St.

Louis, to prevent any railroad bridge from being built across the Missis-

sippi, Missouri or Ohio rivers. They held that such structures would

inevitably be an artificial obstruction to the free and safe navigation of

these great natural highways. But it was evident enough to clear-

thinking people that the steamboat business must decline if railroads

were permitted to cross the great rivers without the expense of breaking

bulk, and this was the "true inwardness" of the anti-railroad bridge
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combiriation. The issue was made against the first railroad bridge that

ever spanned the Mississippi, the one at Rock Island, Illinois. In a long
course of controversy and litigation the railroads came out ahead, and

steamboating gradually declined, both in the freight and passenger trafBc,

to less than half its former proportions.

However, the tables have been turned again; and now, in 1881,

THE BARGE SYSTEM

has suddenly leaped forth to break the threatening power of monopoly
which the great east and west railroad lines for a while enjoyed.
The first step in the historic progress of this grand revolution in the

commercial relations and connections of the entire Mississippi and Mis-

souri valley regions, was the successful construction of the jetties at the

mouth of the Mississippi river by Capt. James B. Eads, a worthy and

distinguished citizen of St. Louis. This great enterprise was undertaken

by Capt. Eads under an act of congress approved March 3d, 1875. It

required him to obtain a channel 20 feet deep and 200 feet wide at the

bottom, within thirty months from the passage of the act, upon which a

payment of $500,000 would be made; and upon obtaining channels of two
feet additional depth, with correspondingly increased widths at bottom,

until a depth of 30 feet and a width at bottom of 350 feet was secured,

payments of $500,000 were to be made, with additional payments for

maintenance ofchannel. The total cost to the government of a channel

30 feet deep by 350 feet wide would be $5,250,000. Capt. Eads was also

to receive $100,000 per year for twenty years, to keep the works in repair

and maintain the channel.

Before the jetty works were commenced, there existed an immense bar

of sand or silt, with a depth of only eight feet of water over it, between

the deep water of the Mississippi and the navigable water of the Gulf.

But at the close of the year there was a wide and ample channel of 23^

feet; and for the greater portion of the distance between the jetties, over

this same bar, there was a channel from 28 to 35 feet deep. The scheme

has been so entirely successful that it has attained a world-wide celebrity

and commercial importance, owing to the fact that the largest class of

sea-going vessels can now be towed in and out of the Mississippi river

without risk or difficulty; and it is this achievement by our honored fellow-

citizen which has made possible the success of the grain-barge system of

shipments from St. Louis direct to Europe, that is now revolutionizing the

entire trade and commerce of the major half of the United States. The

following facts will serve to show what has already been accomplished in

this direction.

The total shipments of grain by the barge lines from St. Louis to New
Orleans in the month of March 1881, was 2,348,093 bushels.

The St. Louis RepihUcan of April 2d, 1881, stated:
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" There were started from St. Louis yesterday about eighty trains of

grain to New Orleans, or what amounts to the same thing, three different

barge companies started tows down the river with 567,000 bushels of

grain. This amount would have filled about 1,200 railway cars, and
would have taken eighty trains of fifteen cars or sixty trains of twenty
cars each to transport. All this grain was put into fifteen barges, and a
matter of 2,600 tons of miscellaneous freight besides. All these three
tow-boats started down the river with a freight list that would have filled

between thirteen and fourteen hundred railway cars, and will be delivered
to New Orleans in from five to nine days.
"The exact statement of the cost of transportation of flour from St.

Louis via New Orleans to Liverpool and to Boston, per barrel, is ninety
cents freight and four cents drayage to boat at levee at St. Louis, or ninety-
four cents to Liverpool, while the freight per barrel to Boston by rail, in

car-loads of one hundred and twenty-five barrels, from East St. Louis, is

ninety-one cents, or from St. Louis (eight cents transfer across the bridge
added,) ninety-nine cents, or five cents less to Liverpool by river and
ocean, than by rail to Boston. This rate to Liverpool via New Orleans
was negotiated March 30 by the St. Louis, New Orleans and Foreign
Dispatch Company."

George H. Morgan, Esq., secretary of the St. Louis "Merchant's

Exchange," furnished the writer of this history with the following state-

ment of grain shipments by barge line from St. Louis to New Orleans:

1881. Wheat. Corn. Oats. Rye.

February 232,248 126,770 22,423
March 796,710 1,541,505 25,162

April 819,038 1,312,432 24,916

Total 1,847,996 2,980,707 50,078 22,423

Thus it will be seen that the tide has fairly turned; that St. Louis is now

practically a commercial seaport, and will, within the next twelve months,
become the greatest grain-shipping city on the American continent.

RAILROADS IN MISSOURI.
The earliest account of any movement in this state with regard to rail-

roads is to the effect that on the 20th of April, 1835, a railroad convention

was held in St. Louis, and resolutions were adopted in favor of building
two railroads—one from St. Louis to Fayette, in Howard county; and the

other one southward to Iron Mountain, Pilot Knob, etc."^ The reason for

projecting a railroad from St. Louis into the great iron region is obvious

enough; but why they should at that early day have thought of building
more than one hundred and fifty miles of railroad to reach a town that

was only twelve miles from Old Franklin, on the banks of the Missouri

river, is an unsolved mystery. It indicates, at least, that those "
early

*The first steam railroad in this country was the Baltimore and Susquehanna line, in

1830; though horse railroads had been used before, especially at coal mines and marble
quarries, and in two cases engines had been used on such roads.
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fathers" were not under the control of an}- narrow or shallow views con-

cerning the practical value of railroads, or the future grandeur of St.

Louis as the central point for all trans-Mississippi traffic. In this first

railroad convention ever held west of the Allegheny Mountains there

were sixty-four delegates in attendance, representing eleven counties; but

practically nothing ever came of their deliberations.

In ISiO a State Board of Internal Improvement was created, and it

made a survey for a railroad from St. Louis to the Iron Mountain, by the

wa}^ of Big River. February 7th, 1849, Col. Thomas H. Benton, sena-

tor from Missouri, introduced into the U. S. senate a bill to provide for

the location and construction of a central national road from the Pacific

ocean to the Mississippi river, to be an iron railway where practicable,

and the rest a wagon way. February 20th, same year, a public meeting
was held in St. Louis, which petitioned the legislature for a charter and

right-of-way for a railway across the state from St. Louis to the western

boundary; and on the 12th of March this charter was granted.
Next a meeting was held which called a national convention at St.

Lduis to consider the project of a national Pacific railway across the

continent. This convention was held October 15, 16, 17, 18, 1849. Fif-

teen states were represented; the grand project was warmly commended,
and a strong memorial sent to Congress asking the public authorities to

take some action in the matter.

Such was the beginning of definite moves toward a trans-continental

railroad.

The Missouri Pacific was the first railroad commenced and first finished

in the State. Incorporated March 12, 1849; authorized capital $10,000,-

000; opened to Cheltenham, March 23, 1852; amount of state aid,

$7,000,000; St. Louis county aid $700,000; land sold, 127,209 acres;

entire length from St. Louis to Kansas City, 382 miles; total cost, $14,-

382,208.

The successive stages of its construction were: Chartered, March 12,

1859; first ground broken, by Mayor Kennett of St. Louis, July 4, 1851;

road opened to Cheltenham, Dec. 23, 1852; to Kirkwood in May, and to

Franklin July 23, 1853; completed to Washington, February 11, 1855; to

Hermann, August 7, the same year;* and to Jefferson City, March 12, 1856;

completed to California in Moniteau county, May, 14, 1858; to Tipton,

July 26, same year; and to Syracuse, August, 1, 1859; opened to Otter-

*November 1, 1855, a large excursion train left St. Louis to celebrate the opening of the

railroad through to Medora station, about twenty miles beyond Hermann. It was a long
train filled with business men of ths city and their families, and the occasion was one ot

great festivity and rejoicing. But while the train was crossing the Gasconade river the

bridge gave way, and plunged cars, bridge and people in one mixed and horrible wreck
into the gulf of waters fifty feet down. The president and chief engineer of the road, and
30 prominent citizens of St. Louis were killed, while scores of others were more or less

injured. It was the first and the most terrible railroad accident that has ever occurred in

the state.
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ville, August 24, 1860; to Smithton, November 1, same year; and to

Sedaliain February 1861. Here it stopped during the first two years of

the war. But Pettis county voted $75,000 to aid it, and Jackson county

$200,000. Commenced running trains to Dresden, May 10, 1863; to

Warrensburg, July 3, 1864; in 1865 the road was opened to Holden, May
28

;
to Pleasant Hill, July 19; to Independence, September 19. Meanwhile

work had been going on from Kansas City westward, the two gangs of

workmen meeting at Independence; and on this 19th day of September,

1865, the last rail was laid and the last spike driven, which connected

Missouri's two principal cities with iron bands unbroken from east to west

line ofthe noble commonwealth. On the next day, the president of the road

Mr. Daniel R. Garrison, left Kansas City at 3 a. m., and arrived in St. Louis

at 5 p. M., thus making the first through trip over the completed line.

There is now not a county north of the Missouri river which has not

one or more railroads within its limits; and of the seventy counties south

of the Missouri, only 22 have no railroad reaching them. However, new
roads and branches are being built each year, so that within a few years

every county will be provided with good railroad facilities.

January 1, 1880, there were, in round numbers, 3,600 miles of railroad

in operation in the state, embraced in about fifty different main lines and

branches, allowned by thirty-five different corporations, and operated by

twenty-five different companies, as shown in the following table:

Atchison, Topeka and Sante Fe 22 Missouri Pacific 375

Burlington and Southwestern 64 Quincy, Missouri and Pacific 75

Cherry Valley 6 St. Joseph and Des Moines 45

Chicago and Alton 264 St. Louis, Hannibal and Keokuk 48

Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific 1693^ St. Louis, Iron Mount'n and Southr'n 380

Crystal City 4 St. Louis, Keokuk and Northwestern 1321^
Hannibal and St. Joseph 2913^ St. Louis, Salem and Little Rock 45
Kansas City and Eastern 43 St. Louis and San Francisco 3633^
Kansas City, Ft. Scott and Gulf 8 Springfield and Western Missouri . . 20
Kansas City, St. Joe and Council Biffs 198 Union Railway and Transit Company 1

Little River Valley and Arkansas. .. . 27 Wabash, St. Louis and Pacific 655

Missouri, Iowa and Nebraska 70 West End Narrow Guage 16

Missouri, Kansas and Texas 284
Total 3,607

POSTA.L AND TELEGRAPH FACILITIES.

There are within the state 15,208 miles of postal routes, of which

10,426 miles are by stage and horseback, 575 miles by steamboat, and

4,207 miles by railroad, the whole involving a cost for the year 1878-9 of

$768,904. There are 1,700 post towns—but four states in the union have

a greater number. These are all offices of registration, where letters and

parcels can be registered for transmission through the males to all

parts of this and foreign countries. In 200 of these post-offices, money-
orders may be purchased, payable at all similar offices in the United

States, and a portion of them issue orders drawn on Great Britain^ France,

Germany, Italy, Switzerland, etc.
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There are in the state 562 telegraph stations, whence messages can be

sent all over the telegraph world; 2,423 miles of line and 6,000 miles of

wire.
MANUFACTURING.

The following statistics of the capital employed in manufacturing indus-

tries, and the amount of production, is collated from careful estimates

made in 1876, the latest at hand, although it is well known that great
increase of these industries has been made since that date. These esti-

mates showed that the state then contained 14,245 manufacturing estab-

lishments, using 1,965 steam engines, representing 58,101 horse-power,
465 water wheels, equaling 7,972 horse-power, and employing 80,000

hands. The capital employed in manufacturing was about $100,000,-

000; the material used in 1876 amounted to about $140,000,000; the

wages paid were $40,000,000, and the products put upon the market

were over $250,000,000. Outside of St. Louis the leading manufacturing
counties of the state are Jackson, about $2,000,000 ; Buchanan, $7,000,-

000; St. Charles, $4,500,000; Marion, $3,500,000; Franklin, $3,000,000;

Greene, $1,500,000; Cape Girardeau, $1,500,000; Platte, Boone and

Lafayette, upwards of $1,000,000 each, followed by several counties

nearly reaching the last sum.

The products of the different lines of manufacturing interests are,

approximately, as follows:*

Flouring Mills $30,000,000 Furniture $5,000,000

Carpentering 20.000,000 Paints and painting 4,500,000

Meat Packing 20,000,000 Carriages and Wagons 4,500,000
Iron and Castings 15,000,000 Bricks 4,500,000
Tobacco 14,000.000 Marble, Stone-work and Masonry. 4,000,000

Clothing 11,000,000 Bakery Products 4,000,000

Liquors 10,000,000 Tin. Copper and Sheet Iron 4,000,000
Lumber 10,000,000 Sash, Doors and Blinds 3.250,000

Bags and Bagging 7,000,060 Cooperage 3,000,000

Saddlery 7,000,000 Blacksmithing 3,000,000
Oil 6,000,000 Bridge Building 2,500,000

Machinery , 6,000,000 Patent Medicines 2,500,000

Printing and Publishing 5,500,000 Soap and Candles 2,500,000
Molasses 5,000,000 Agricultural Implements 2,000,000
Boots and Shoes 5,000,000 Plumbing and Gas-fitting 2,000,000

Of the manufacturing in Missouri, more than three-fourths is done in

St. Louis, which produced, in 1879, about $275,000,000 of manufactured

articles. The city has, for some years past, ranked as the third in the

United States in the amount of her manufactures, leaving a wide gap
between her and Chicago and Boston, each of which cities manufactures

a little more than one-half as much in amount as St. Louis, and leaves a

doubt as to which of them is entitled to rank as the fourth manufactur-

ing city.

Flour.—In St. Louis there are twenty-four flouring mills, having a

daily productive capacity of 11,000 barrels. The total amount of flour

received and manufactured by the dealers and millers of St. Louis, in
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1879, was 4,154,757 barrels, of which over 3,000,000 were exported. They
also made 425,963 barrels of corn meal and 28,595 barrels of hominy and

grits. Of their exports, 619,103 barrels were sent to European nations

and to South America.

Cotton.—There are in the city two mills, which consume from 15,000

to 20,000 bales annually. To supply the manufactured cotton goods

annually sold in St. Louis will require mills of ten times the capacity of

those now in operation.

PRINCIPAL CITIES.

SL Louis is the commercial metropolis not only of the state of Missouri

but also of the Mississippi and Missouri valley regions of country; and

the history of Missouri is to a very large extent the history of St. Louis.

There is so much concerning this imperial city embodied in other parts of

this work that little need be added here.

St. Louis is situated upon the west bank of the Mississippi, at an altitude

of four hundred feet above the level of the sea. It is far above the highest
floods that ever swell the Father of Waters. Its latitude is 38 deg., 37

min., 28 sec, north, and its longitude 90 deg., ^15 min., 16 sec, west. It is

twenty miles below the mouth of the Missouri, and 200 above the conflu-

ence of the Ohio. It is 744 miles below the falls of St. Anthony, and

1194 miles above New Orleans. Its location very nearly bisects the

direct distance of 1,400 miles between Superior City and the Balize. It

is the geographical center of a valley which embraces 1,200,000 square
miles. In its course of 3,200 miles the Mississippi borders upon Missouri

470 miles. Of the 3,000 miles of the Missouri, 500 lie within the limits

of oui" own state, and St. Louis is mistress of more than 16,500 miles of

river navigation.
The Missouri Gazette^ the first newspaper, was establised in 1808, by

Joseph Charless, and subsequently merged in the present Missouri

Republican. The town was incorporated in 1809, and a board of trustees

elected to conduct the municipal government. In 1812 the territory of

Missouri was designated, and a legislative assembly authorized. The
Missouri Bank was incorporated in 1814. The first steamboat arrived at

the foot of Market street in the year 1815, followed soon
b}'-

others.

In 1819 the first steamer ascended the Missouri, and the first through
boat from New Orleans arrived, having occupied twenty-seven days in

the trip. In 1821 a city directory was issued. The facts stated in this

volume show that the town was then an important and thriving one. In

1825 Lafayette visited the city and received a grand public ovatfon. This

year the United States arsenal and Jefferson barracks were established.
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In 1827 there were hardly a dozen German families in St. Louis, where

now there are as many thousands of them. In 1830 the population was

6,654. In 1835 the first railroad convention was held. [See page 106.]

In 1837 the population was 16,187, and 184 steamboats were engaged in

the commerce of the city. The decade between 1840 and 1850 saw

increased advancement in all kinds of industry, and in architectural

growth. We find that in 1840 there were manufactured 19,075 barrels

of flour, 18,656 barrels of whisky, and 1,075 barrels of beef inspected,

and other branches of business had correspondingly increased. In 1846,

the now extensive Mercantile Library was founded. The close of the

decade, 1849, brought upon the city the double misfortune of fire and

pestilence. On May 19th, the principal business section was swept away
by a conflagration originating in a steamboat at the levee; and, during
the summer of the same year, the population was scourged by cholera.

In 1851, the.first railroad enterprise
—the building of the Missouri Pacific

—was inaugurated, and quickly followed by others. [See page 105.]

The decennial increase of population has been as follows:

Year. Pop. Year. Pop. Year. Pop.

1799 925 1830 5,862 1860 160,733
1810 1,400 1840 16,469 1870 310,864
1820 4,928 1850 74,439 1880 350,522

During 1880 St. Louis received 1,703,874 barrels of flour; manufactured

2,077,625 barrels; and shipped 3,292,803 barrels. Of this amount 975,970

barrels were shipped in sacks to England, Scotland, Ireland, Wales, Hol-

land, France, Belgium, Germany, Brazil, Cuba and Mexico. During the

same year St. Louis shipped 11,313,879 bushels of wheat; and of this

amount 5,913,272 bushels went to foreign countries via New Orleans,

while the rest went eastward by rail. The receipts of corn were 22,298,-

077 bushels; shipments, 17,571,322 bushels, of which 9,804,392 went by

barges to New Orleans for foreign ports, 3,157,684 to the south for con-

sumption, and 4 591,944 eastward by rail or Ohio river. The receipts of

cotton were 496,570 bales, and shipments 478,219 bales.

During the packing season of 1879-80, there were 927,793 hogs packed.
The shipments of coffee reached $5,000,000, and that of sugar $8,500,000.

The above principal items are gleaned from the commercial pantheon
of statistics published in January, 1881, by the Merchants' Exchange of

St. Louis.

Kansas City.
—In 1724 the Kansas tribe of Indians had their chief town

a few miles below the mouth of the Kansas river, and M. DeBourgmont,
the French commandant of this region, held a grand peace council with

different tribes gathered at this place for the purpose, on July 3d of that

year. 'T'his is the earliest historic record of white men in the vicinity of

where Kansas City now stands. In 1808 the U . S. government established



110 HISTORY OF THE STATE OF MISSOURI.

a fort and Indian agency here, calling it Fort Osage, which was not

abandoned until 1825, when the Indian title to a certain strip of country

here was extinguished. In 1821 Francis G. Chouteau established a trad-

ing post on the Missouri river about three miles below the site of Kansas

City, but a flood in the spring of 1826 swept away everything he had, and

he then settled six miles up the Kansas river.

The original town plat of Kansas City consisted of 40 acres, and was

laid out in 1839. In 1816 some additional ground was laid off, and a

public sale of lots netted $7,000, averaging $200 per lot.

The first charter was procured in the winter of 1852-.3, and in the

spring of 1853 was organized the first municipal government. The first

established newspaper made its appearance in 1854, with the title of the

" Kansas City Enterprise," now known as the " Kansas City Journal."

During the years 1855-6-7, the border troubles very visibly affected the

prosperity of the city, so that business in those years did not exceed, all

told, the sum of $2,000,000; but at the close of the struggle, in 1857, busi-

ness began to revive, and it was then stated, in the St. Louis "Intelligen-

cer," that she had the largest trade of any city of her size in the world.

This may be distinguished as the great steamboat era. It was estimated

that, in the year 1857, one hundred and twenty-five boats discharged at the

Kansas City levee over twentv-five million pounds of merchandise. In

May of this year, also, the steamboats were employed to carry the United

States mail, and in 1858 the first telegraph pole in Jackson county was

erected.

The first bank established in Kansas City was a branch of the Mechan-

ics' Bank, of St. Louis, organized May 1, 1859, and the second was a

branch of the Union Bank, organized in July of the same year. The first

jobbing dry goods house opened in Jul}-, 1857. The first city loan for

local improvement was made in 1855, amounting to $10,000, all taken at

home, and expended in improving and widening the levee; and, in 1858,

another loan of $100,000 for street improvements. Only in the matter of

railroads was Kansas City seriously affected by the panic of 1857; gov-
ernment moneys, immigration over the border, and the New Mexican

trade tiding her safely over the sea of financial excitement and prostra-

tion. She had also become, even as early as the year 1854, a noted mart

for the purchase and sale of live stock, the immense freighting across the

plains inviting trade in this direction, and in the annual reviews of the

papers it is said that, in 1857, the receipts for that year, in mules and cattle,

were estimated at $200,000, and also that, in 1858, about 20,000 head of

stock cattle were driven here from Texas and the Indian territor}-. In

1857 over six hundred freighting wagons left Kansas City with loads for

Santa Fe, New Mexico.

The principal railroads centering at Kansas City are, the Hannibal &
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St. Joseph railroad, the Kansas Pacific railroad, the Kansas City, Law-
rence & Southern railroad, the Kansas City, Fort Scott & Gulf railroad,

the Chicago & Alton railroad, the Atchison & Nebraska railroad, the

Kansas City, St. Joseph & Council Bluffs railroad, the Missouri Pacific

railway, the Missouri, Kansas & Texas railvvay, the Wabash, St. Louis

& Pacific railway, the Atchison, Topeka & Sante Fe railroad, the Kansas

City & Eastern railroad, (narrow gauge). The Atchison, Topeka &
Santa Fe railroad has extended its road to Albuquerque, New Mexico,
and to Guyamas, on the Pacific coast; to San Francisco, California, and

is building to the Cit}'^ of Mexico.

The elevator storage capacity in the city January 1, 1881, was 1,500,-

000 bushels. In 1879 about 1,600 new buildings were erected, costing

$1,500,000. The U. S. postoffice and custom house building cost $200,-
000. The union depot building cost $300,000. The Kansas City stock

yards rank as second only to those of Chicago in the extent and com-

pleteness of their faciHties for the cattle trade.

The population of Kansas City, by U. S. census in June, 1880, was
62,977 Taxable wealth, $13,378,950. Cost of new buildings erected

during the year 1880, $2,200,000^
SL yoseph. In 1803 Joseph Robidon, a French fur trader, located

here, and continued to occupy his place and trade with the Indians for r.3

years. Up to 1843 the place contained only two log cabins, and a small

flouring mill on Black Snake creek. In June, 1843, Mr. Robidoux
received his title from the government to 160 acres of land, and laid out

the city, which was called St. Joseph in his honor, and not, as is commonly
supposed, in honor of the Saint Joseph of the church calendar. January
1, 1846, the town had 600 inhabitants, having been incorporated as a vil-

lage February 26, 1845, with Joseph Robidoux as president of the board

of trustees. The first city charter was obtained February 22, 1851, but it

has been many times amended. The population was : In 1850, 3,460 ;
in 1860,

8,932; in 1870, 19,625; in 1880, 32,461.

St. Joseph is situated on the east bank of the Missouri, 545 miles from

its mouth, 2,000 miles from the great falls, nearly 1,300 miles below the

mouth of the Yellowstone, 310 miles from St. Louis by railroad, with

which it is connected by three different lines, and 565 miles from St. Louis

by river; but it is only 180 miles on an air line from the Mississippi river.

The latitude of St. Joseph is 39 degrees 47 minutes north, and the same

parallel passes through Indianapolis, and within less than four miles of

Denver, Colorado, Springfield, Illinois, and the famous Mason and Dixon's

line, separating Maryland and Pennsylvania, reaching the Atlantic coast

half way from Cape May to New York City, and the Pacific, two degrees

These statistics are gathered mostly from the able annual reports of W. H. Miller, Esq.,
who has been secretary of the Kansas City Board of Trade continuously since 1873.
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north of San Francisco, near Cape Mendicino. A straight Hne drawn on

the map from Augusta, the capital of Maine, to San Diego in California,

passes through Detroit, Chicago, and St. Joseph, and this last city is just
half way from end to end of this line

St. Joseph has an altitude of about 1,030 feet above the sea, which is

200 feet higher than St. Paul, 400 feet higher than Chicago, and nearly
600 feet higher than St. Louis. The city is romantically and beautifully

situated, the business portion lying in a huge basin on a great bend in the

Missouri river, while the residence part of the cit}^ clambers up the

mound-shaped hills, which rise on all sides like a vast amphitheater.
The wholesale and retail trade is figured above $40,000,000 annually,

while it is said that there are no fewer than eight commercial houses which
have a cash capital of $1,000,000 each. It is stated on reliable authority,
that there is handled at this point 1.5,000,000 bushels of corn, 5,000,000 of

wheat, 250,000 rye, and 500,000 barley, per annum. The stock yards cover

seven acres, and belong to a stock company. There are received at the

yards 120,000 to 150,000 hogs per annum, and 10,000 to 12,000 cattle.

The figures do not include direct shipments to several large packing
houses, which will increase the number of hogs to 300,000. There are

four packing houses in the city
—one having a capacity of 15,000 hogs

per day.
The railroad lines which connect St. Joseph with the rest of the busi-

ness world are the Hannibal & St. Joseph, the pioneer road of the state,

extending east across the entire state to Hannibal and Quincyon the Miss-

issippi river; the Wabash, St. Louis & Pacific, forming a direct line to St.

Louis; the St. Joseph & Western, extending across the great iron bridge,

through Kansas and Nebraska, to a junction at Grand Island with the

Union Pacific, of which it is really a part; the Missouri Pacific, another

connecting line with St. Louis; the Kansas City, St. Joseph & Council

Bluffs, extending souih to Kansas City and north to Omaha, with its

Nodaway Valley branch, extending through the Nodaway valley, and its

Chicago branch, making connection with the Chicago, Burlington &
Quincy; the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe; the St. Joseph & Des

Moines, now owned and operated by the Chicago, Burlington & Quincy;
the Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific, and the Atchison & Nebraska.



CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
AND ITS AMENDMENTS.

We^ ike people of the United States, in order toform a more -perfect union^
establish jttstice, insure domestic tranquillity , -provide for the common
defense, -prornote the general welfare, and secure the blessings of liberty
to ourselves and our posterity, do ordain and establish this Constitu-
tionfor the United States of America.

ARTICLE I.

Section 1. All legislative powers herein granted shall be vested in a

congress of the United States, which shall consist of a senate and house
of representatives.

Sec. 2. The house of representatives shall be composed of members
chosen every second year by the people of the several states, and the
electors in each state shall have the qualifications requisite for electors of
the most numerous branch of the state legislature.
No person shall be a representative who shall not have attained to the

age of twenty-five years, and been seven years a citizen of the United
States, and who shall not, when elected, be an inhabitant of that state in

which he shall be chosen. .

Representatives and direct taxes shall be apportioned among the sev-
eral states which may be included within this Union, according to their

respective numbers, which shall be determined by adding to the whole
number of free persons, including those bound to service for a term of

years, and excluding Indians not taxed, three-fifths of all other persons.
The actual enumeration shall be made within three years after the first

meeting of the congress of the United States, and within every subsequent
term of ten years, in such manner as they shall by law direct. The num-
ber of representatives shall not exceed one for every thirt}^ thousand, but
each state shall have at least one representative; and until such enumer-
ation shall be made the state of New Hampshire shall be entitled to choose

three, Massachusetts eight, Rhode Island and Providence Plantations one,
Connecticut five, New York six. New Jersey four, Pennsylvania eight,
Delaware one, Maryland six, Virginia ten. North CaroHna five, and

Georgia three.

When vacancies happen in the representation from any state, the exec-
utive authority thereof shall issue writs of election to fill such vacancies.

The house of representatives shall choose their speaker and other

ofiicers, and shall have the sole power of impeachment.
Sec. 3. The senate of the United States shall be composed of two

senators from each state, chosen by the legislature thereof for six years;
and each senator shall have one vote.

Immediately after they shall be assembled in consequence of the first

election, they "'..all be divided as equally as may be into three classes.

The seats 'I the senators of the first class shall be vacated at the expira-
tion of tiie second year, of the second class at the expiration of the fourth

year, and of the third class at the expiration of the sixth year, so that one-

third may be chosen every second year; and if vacancies happen by resig-
nation or otherwise, during the recess of the legislature of any state, the

executive thereof may make temporary appointments until the next

meeting of the legislature, which shall then fill such vacancies.

No person shall be a senator who shall not have attained to the age of

thirty years, and been nine years a citizen of the United States, and who
8
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shall not, when elected, be an inhabitant of that state for which he shall

be chosen.

The vice-president of the United States shall be president of the senate,
but shall have no vote unless they be equally divided.

The senate shall choose their other officers, and also a president -pro

tem^pore, in the absence of the vice-president, or when he shall exercise
the office of president of the United States.

The senate shall have the sole power to try all impeachments. When
sitting for that purpose they shall be on oath or affirmation. When the

president of the United States is tried, the chief-juslice shall preside.
And no person shall be convicted without the concurrence of two-thirds
of the members present.

Judgment, in cases of impeachment, shall not extend further than to

removal from office, and disqualification to hold and enjo}- any office of

honor, trust or profit under the United States; but the party convicted
shall nevertheless be liable and subject to indictment, trial, judgment, and

punishment according to law.

Sec. 4. The times, places, and manner of holding elections for senators

and representatives, shall be prescribed in each state by the legislature

thereof; but the congress may at an}' time by' law make or alter such

regulations, except as to the places of choosing senators.

The congress shall assemble at least once in every 3^ear,-and such meet-

ing shall be on the first Monday in December, unless they shall by law

appoint a different day.
Sec. 5. Each house shall be the judge of the ekction, returns, and

qualifications of its own members, and a majority of each shall constitute

a quorum to do business; but a smaller number may adjourn from daj;- to

day, and may be authorized to compel the attendance of absent members
in such manner and under such penalties as each house may provide.
Each house may determine the rules of its proceedings, punish its mem-

bers for disc>rderly behavior, and, with the concurrence of two-thirds,,

expel a member.
Each house shall keep a journal of its proceedings, and from time to

time publish the same, excepting such parts as may, in their judgment,
require secrecy; and the yeas and nays of the members of either house on

any question shall, at the desire of one-fifth of those present, be entered

on the journal.
Neither house, during the session of congress, shall, without the consent

of the other, adjourn for more than three days, nor to any other place
than that in which the two houses shall be sitting.

Sec. 6. The senators and representatives shall receive a compensation
for their services, to be ascertained by law, and paid out of the treasury
of the United States. They shall in all cases, except treason, felony, and
breach of the peace, be privileged from arrest during their attendance at

the session of their respective houses, and in going to and returning from
the same; and for any speech or debate in either house, they shall not be

questioned in any other place.
No senator or representative shall, during the time for which he was

elected, be appointed to any civil office under the authority of the United

States, which shall have been created, or the emoluments whereof shall

have been increased during such time; and no person holding any office

under the United States shall be a member of either house during his

continuance in office.
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Sec. 7. All bills for raising revenue shall originate in the house of

representatives; but the senate ma}^ propose or concur with amendments
as on other bills.

Every bill which shall have passed the house of representatives and
the senate shall, before it becomes a law, be presented to the president of

the United States; if he approve he shall sign it; but if not he shall

return it, with his objections, to that house in which it shall have origi-

nated, who shall enter the objections at large on their journal, and pro-
ceed to reconsider it. If, after such reconsideration, two-thirds of that

house shall agree to pass the bill, it shall be sent, together with the objec-
tions, to the other house, by which it shall likewise be reconsidered, and
if approved by two-thirds of that house, it shall become a law. But in all

such cases the votes of both houses shall be determined by yeas and nays,,
and the names of the persons voting for and against the bill shall be entered
on the journal of each house respectiveh^ If any bill shall not be returned

by the president within ten days (Sundays excepted), after it shall have
been presented to him, the same shall be a law in like manner as if he
had signed it, unless the congress, by their adjournment, pievents its

return, in which case it shall not be a law.

Every order, resolution, or vote to which the concurrence of the senate
and house of representatives may be necessary (except on a question of

adjournment), shall be presented to the president of the United States,
and before the same shall take effect shall be approved b}- him, or, being
disapproved by him, shall be re-passed by two-thirds of the senate and
house of representatives, according to the rules and limitations prescribed
in the case of a bill.

Sec. 8. The congress shall have power-
To lay and collect taxes, duties, imposts and excises, to pay the debts,

and provide for the common defense and general welfare of the United

States; but aH duties, imposts, and excises shall be uniform throughout
the United States;
To borrovV money on the credit of the United States

;

To regulate commerce with foreign nations, and among the several

states, and with the Indian tribes;
To establish a uniform rule of naturalization, and uniform laws on the

subject of bankruptcies throughout the United States;
To coin money, regulate the value thereof and of foreign coin, and fix

the standard of weights and measures;
To provide for the punishment of counterfeiting the securities and cur-

rent coin of the Uni*- .d States
;

'

To establish p'^^c offices and post roads;
To promote tne progress of sciences and useful arts, by securing, for

limited times, to authors and inventors, the exclusive right to their respec-
tive writings and discoveries;
To constitute tribunals inferior to the supreme court;
To define and punish piracies and felonies committed on the high seas;

and offenses against the law of nations
;

To declare war, grant letters of marque and reprisal and make rules

concerning captures on land and water;
To raise and support armies, but no appropriation of money to that use

shall be for a longer term than two years;
To provide and maintain a navy;
To make rules for government and regulation of the land and naval forces ;
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To provide for calling forth the militia to execute the laws of the Union,

suppress insurrections, and repel invasions;
To provide for organizing, arming and disciplining the militia, and for

governing such part of them as may be employed in the service of the

United States, reserving to the states respectively the appointment of the

officers, and the authority of training the militia according to the discipline

prescribed by congress;
To exercise legislation in all cases whatsoever over such district (not

exceeding ten miles square) as may by cession of particular states, and

the acceptance of congress, become the seat of the government of the

United States, and to exercise like authority over all places purchased by
the consent of the legislature of the state in which the same shall be, for

the erection of forts, magazines, arsenals, dock yards, and other needful

buildings; and
To make all laws which shall be necessary and proper for carrying

into execution the foregoing powers, and all other powers vested by this

constitution in the government of the United States, or in any department
or officer thereof.

Sec. 9. The migration or importation of such persons as any of the

states now existing shall think proper to admit, shall not be prohibited by
the congress prior to the year one thousand eight hundred and eight, but

a tax of duty may be irnposed on such importation, not exceeding ten

dollars for each person.
The privilege of the writ of habeas corpus shall not be suspended, unless

when in cases of rebellion or invasion the public safety may require it.

No bill of attainder or ex -postfacto law shall be passed.
No capitation or other direct tax shall be laid, unless in proportion to

the census or enumeration hereinbefore directed to be taken.

No tax or duty shall be laid on articles exported from any state.

No preference shall be given by any regulation of commerce or rev-

enue to the ports of one state over those of another; nor shall vessels

bound to or from one state be obliged to enter, clear, or pay duties in

another.

No money shall be drawn from the treasury, but in consequence of

appropriations made by law; and a regular statement and account of the

receipts and expenditures of all public money shall be published from

time to time.

No title of nobility shall be granted by the United States; and no per-

son holding any office of profit or trust under them, shall, without the

consent of the congress, accept of any present, emolument, office, or title

of any kind whatever, from any king, prince or foreign state.

Sec. 10. No state shall enter into any treaty, alliance, or confederation;

grant letters of marque and reprisal; coin money; emit bifis of credit;

make anything but gold and silver coin a tender in payment of debts;

pass any bill of attainder, ex fost facto law, or law impairing the obliga-

tion of contracts, or grant any title of nobility.
No state shall, without the consent of the congress, lay any imposts or

duties on imports or exports, except what may be absolutely necessary
for executing its inspection laws, and the net produce of all duties and

imposts laid by any state on imports or exports, shall be for the use of the

treasury of the United States; and all such laws shall be subject to the

revision and control of the congress.
No state shall, without the consent of congress, lay any duty on tonnage,
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keep troops or ships of war in time of peace, enter into any agreement
or compact with another state, or with a foreign power, or engage in

war, unless actually invaded, or in such imminent danger as will not admit
of delay.

ARTICLE II.

Section 1. The executive power shall be vested in a president of the

United States of America. He shall hold his office during the term of

four years, and, together with the vice-president chosen for the same term,
be elected as follows :

Each state shall appoint, in such manner as the legislature thereof may
direct, a number of electors, equal to the whole number of senators and

representatives to which the state may be entitled in the congress; but no
senator or representative, or person holding an office of trust or profit
under the United States shall be appointed an elector.

[*The electors shall meet in their respective states and vote by ballot

for two persons, of whom one at least shall not be an inhabitant of the

same state with themselves. And they shall make a list of all the persons
voted for, and of the number of votes for each; which list they shall sign,
and certify, and transmit, sealed, to the seat of government of the United

States, directed to the president of the senate. The president of the sen-

ate shall, in the presence of the senate and house of representatives, open
all the certificates, and the votes shall then be counted. The person hav-

ing the greatest number of votes shall be the president, if such number be

a majority of the whole number of electors appointed: and if there be

more than one who have such majority, and have an equal number of

votes, then the house of representatives shall immediately choose by bal-

lot, one of them for president ;
and if no person have a majority, then from

the five highest on the list the said house shall in like manner choose the

president. But, in choosing the president, the vote shall be taken by states,

the representation from each state having one vote; a quorum for this

purpose shall consist of a member, or members, from two-thirds of the

states, and a majority of all the states shall be necessary to a choice. In

every case, after the choice of the president, the person having the great-
est number of votes of the electors shall be the vice-president. But if

there should remain two or more who have equal votes, the senate shall

choose from them, by br Jot, the vice-president.]
The congress may rjtermine the time of choosing the electors, and the

day on which they
•" nail give their votes, which day shall be the same

throughout the Ur\ed States.

No person except a natural-born citizen, or a citizen of the United

States at the time of the adoption of this constitution, shall be eligible to

the office of president; neither shall any person be eligible to that office

who sha-11 not have attained the age of thirtj^-five years, and been fourteen

years a resident within the United States.

In case of the removal of the president from office, or of his death, res-

ignation, or inability to discharge the powers and duties of the said office,

the same shall devolve on the vice-president, and the congress may by law

provide for the case of removal, death, resignation, or inability, both of

the president and vice-president, declaring what officer shall then act as

*This clause between brackets has beea superseded and annulled by the twelfth amend-

ment.
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president, and such officer shall act accordingly, until the disability be

removed, or a president shall be elected.

The president sliall, at stated times, receive for his services a compen-
sation, which shall neither be increased nor diminished during the period
for which he shall have been elected, and he shall not receive during that

period any other emolument from the United States, or any of them.

Before he enters upon the execution of his office he shall take the fol-

lowing oath, or affirmation:

"I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will faithfully execute the office

•of president of tlie United States, and will, to the best of my ability, pre-

serve, protect, and defend the constitution of the United States."

Sec. 2. The president shall be commander-in-chief of the army and

navy of the United ^States, and of the militia of the several states, when
called into the actual service of the United States; he may require the

opinion, in writing, of the principal officer in each of the executive depart-

ments, upon any subject relating to the duties of their respective offices,

and he shall have power to grant reprieves and pardons for offenses against
the United States, except in cases of impeachment.
He shall have power, bv and with the advice and consent of the senate,

to make treaties, provided two-thirds of the senators present concur; and

he shall nominate,* and by and with the advice of the senate, shall appoint

embassadors, other public ministers and consuls, judges of the supreme
court, and all other officers of the United States whose appointments are

not herein otherwise provided for, and which shall be established by law;
but the congress may, by law, vest the appointment of such inferior officers

as they think proper in the president alone, in the courts of law, or in the

heads of departments.
The president shall have power to till up all vacancies that may happen

during the recess of the senate, by granting commissions which shall

expire at the end of their next session.

Sec. 3. He shall, from time to time, give to the congr'ess information

of the state of the union, and recommend to their consideration such

measures as he shall judge necessary and expedient; he may, on extraor-

dinary occasions, convene both houses, or either of them, and in case of

disagreement between them, with respect to the time of adjournment, he

may adjourn them to such time as he shall think proper; he shall receive

embassadors and other public ministers; he shall take care that the laws be

faithfully executed, and shall commission all the officers of the United States.

Sec. 4. The president, vice-president and all civil officers of the United

States, shall be removed from office on impeachment for, and conviction of,

treason, brilDery, or other high crimes and misdemeanors.

ARTICLE III.

Section 1. The judicial power of the United States shall be vested in

one supreme court, and in such inferior courts as the congress may from

time to time ordain and establish. The judges, both of the supreme and

inferior courts, shall hold their office during good behavior, and shall, at

stated times, receive for their services a compensation, which shall not be

diminished during their continuance in office.

Sec. 2. The judicial power shall extend to all cases, in law and equity,

arising under this constitution, the laws of the United States, and treaties

made, or which shall be made, under their authority; to all cases affecting
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embassadors, other public ministers and consuls; to all cases of admiralty

and maritime jurisdiction ;
to controversies to which the United States shall

be a party; to controversies between two or more states; between a state

and citizens of another state; between citizens of different states; between
citizens of the same state claiming lands under grants of different states;
and between a state or the citizens thereof, and foreign states, citizens or

subjects.
In all cases affecting embassadors, other public ministers, and consuls,

and those in which a state shall be a party, the supreme court shall have

original jurisdiction.
In all the other cases before mentioned, the supreme court shall have

appellate jurisdiction, both as to law and fact, with such exceptions and
under such regulations as the congress shall make.
The trial of all crimes, except in cases of impeachment, shall be by jury ;

and such trial shall be held in the state where the said crimes shall have
been committed; but when not committed within any state, the trial shall

be at such place or places as the congress may by law have directed.

Sec. 3. Treason against the United States shall consist only in levying
war against them, or in adhering to their enemies, giving them aid and
comfort. No person shall be convicted of treason unless on the testimony
of two witnesses to the same overt act, or on confession in open court.

The congress shall have power to declare the punishment of treason,

but no attamder of treason shall work corruption of blood, or forfeiture,

except during the life of the person attainted.

ARTICLE IV.

Section 1. Full faith and credit shall be given in each state to the

public acts, records, and judicial proceedings of every other state. And
the congress may, by general laws, prescribe the manner in which such

acts, records, and proceedings shall be proved, and the effect thereof

Sec. 2. The citizens of each state shall be entitled to all privileges and
immunities of citizens in the several states.

A person charged in any state with treason, felony, or other crime, who
shall flee from justice and be found in another state, shall, on demand of

the executive authority of th t state from which he fled, be delivered up, to

be removed to the state hav.ng jurisdiction of the crime.

No person held to servi*^ s or labor in one state, under the laws thereof,

escaping into another, s^ all, in consequence of any law or regulation

therein, be discharged from such service or labor, but shall be delivered

up on claim of the part}^ to whom such service or labor may be due.

Sec. 3. New states may be admitted by congress into this Union; but

no new state shall be formed or erected within the jurisdiction of any
other state; nor any state be formed by the junction of two or more

states, or parts of states, without the consent of the legislatures of the

states concerned, as well as of the congress.
The congress shall have power to dispose of and make all needful rules

and regulations respecting the territory or other property belonging to

the United States; and nothing in this constitution shall be so construed as

to prejudice any claims of the United States or of any particular state.

Sec. 4. The United States shall guarantee to every state in this union

a republican form of government, and shall protect each of them against

invasion, and on application of the legislature, or of the executive (when
the legislature can not be convened), against domestic violence.
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ARTICLE V.

The congress, whenever two-thirds of both houses shall deem it neces-

sary, shall propose amendments to this constitution, or, on the application
of the legislatures of two-thirds of the several states shall call a conven-
tion for proposing amendments, which, in either case shall be valid to all

intents and purposes as part of this constitution, when ratified by the leg-
islatures of three-fourths of the several states, or by conventions in three-

fourths thereof, as the one or the other mode of ratification may be pro-
posed by the congress. Provided, that no amendment which may be
made prior to the year one thousand eight hundred and eight shall in any
manner affect the first and fourth clauses in the ninth section of the first

article; and that no state, without its consent, shall be deprived of its equal
suffrage in the senate.

ARTICLE VI.

All debts contracted and engagements entered into before the adoption
of this constitution shall be as valid against the United States under this

constitution as under the confederation.

This constitution, and the laws of the United States which shall be
made in pursuance thereof, and all treaties made, or which shall be made,
under the authority of the United States, shall be the supreme law of the

land; and the judges in every state shall be bound thereby, anything in

the constitution or laws of any state to the contrary notwithstanding.
The senators and representatives before mentioned, and the members of

the several state legislatures, and all executive and judicial officers, both
of the United States and of the several states, shall be bound by oath or
affirmation to support this constitution; but no religious test shall ever be

required as a qualification to any office or public trust under the United
States.

ARTICLE VII.

The ratification of the conventions of nine states shall be sufficient for

the establishment of this constitution between the states so ratifying the

same.

Done in convention by tiie unanimous consent of tlie states pi-esent, the seventeenth day of

September, in the year of our Lord, one thousand seven hundred and eighty-seven, and
of the independence of the United States of America, the twelfth. In witness whereof we
have hereunto subscribed our names.

GEORGE WASHINGTON,
President, and Deputyfrom Virginia.

New Hampshire.
John Langdon,
Nicholas GrLMAN.

Massachusetts.
Nathaniel Gokham,
RuFDs King.

Connecticut.
Wm. Samoel Johnson,
RoQEK Sherman.

New York.
Alexander Hamilton.

New Jersey.
WiL. Livingston,
Wm. Patterson,
David Brearley,
Jona. Dayton.

Delaware.
George Reed,
John Dickinson,
Jacob Broom,
Gunning Bedford, Jr.,
Richard Bassett.

Maryland.
Ja^ies M'Henry,
Danl. Carroll,
Dan. op St. Thos. Jenifer.

Virginia.
John Blair,
Jambs Madison, Jr.

North Carolina.
Wm. Blount.
Hu. Williamson,
Richard Dobbs Spaight.

Pennsylvania.
B. Franklin,
RoBT. Morris,
Thos. Fitzsimons,
James Wilson,
Thos. Mifflin,
Geohge Clymer,
JaRED InGERSOLL,
Gouv. Morris.

South Carolina.
J. Rutledge,
Charles Pinckney,
Chas. Cotesworth Pinckney
Pierce Butler.

Georgia.
Wm. Few,
Abb. Baldwin.

WILLIAM JACKSON, Seareta/ry.
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Articles in Addition to and Amendatory of the Constitution

OF THE United States of America.

Proposed by Congress and Ratified bv the Legislatures of the several

States pursuant to theffth article of the original Constitution.

ARTICLE I.

Concrress shall make no law respecting an establishment of rehgion,or

prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech,
or of the press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to

petition the government for a redress of grievances.

ARTICLE II.

A well regulated militia being necessary to the security of a free state,

'the right of the people to keep and bear arms shall not be infringed.

ARTICLE III.

No soldier shall, in time of peace, be quartered in any house without
the consent of the owner, nor in time of war, but in a manner to be pre-
scribed by law.

ARTICLE IV.

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers,
and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be vio-

lated, and no warrants shall issue but upon probable cause, supported by
oath or affirmation, and particular!}' describing the place to be searched
and the persons or things to be seized.

ARTICLE V.

No person shall be held to answer for a capital or otherwise infamous

crime, unless on a pi ^sentment or indictment of a grand jury, except in

cases arising in the L nd or naval forces, or in the militia when in actual

service in time of war or public danger; nor shall any person be subject
for the same offense, to >e twice put in jeopardy of life or limb; nor shall

be compelled, in any criL^inal case, to be a witness against himself, nor be

deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor
shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation.

ARTICLE VI.

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy
and public trial, by an impartial jury of the state and district wherein the

crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously
ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the

accusation
;
to be confronted w ith the witnesses against him

;
to have com-

pulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor; and to have the assist-

ance of counsel for his defense.

ARTICLE VII.

In suits at common law, where tlie value in controversy shall exceed

twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact

tried by a jur}^ shall be otherwise re-examined in any court of the United

States than according to the rules of the common law.
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ARTICLE VIII.

Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor
cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.

ARTICLE IX.

The enumeration, in the constitution, of certain rights, shall not be con-
strued to deny or disparage others retained by the people.

ARTICLE X.

The powers not delegated to the United States by the constitution, nor

prohibited by it to the states, are reserved to the states respectively, or to

the people.
ARTICLE XI.

The judicial power of the United States shall not be construed to extend
to any suit in law or equity commenced or prosecuted against one of the
United States by citizens of another state, or by citizens or subjects of any
foreign state.

ARTICLE XII.

Sec 1. The electors shall meet in their respective states and vote by ballot

for president and vice-president, one of whom, at least, shall not be an inhab-
itant of the same state with themselves; they shall name in their ballots

the person to be voted for as president, and in distinct ballots the person
voted for as vice-president, and they shall make distinct lists of all persons
voted for as president, and of all persons voted for as vice-president, and
of the number of votes for each, which lists they shall sign and certify, and

transmit, sealed, to the seat of the government of the United States,
directed to the president of the senate. The president of the senate shall,
in presence of the senate and house of representatives, open all the certifi-

cates, and the votes shall then be counted. The person having the great-
est number of votes for president shall be the president, if such number
be a majority of the whole number of electors appointed; and if no person
have such majoritj', then from the persons having the highest numbers not

exceeding three on the list of those voted for as president, the house of

representatives shall choose immediately, b}'^ ballot, the president. But in

choosing the president, the votes shall be taken by states, the representa-
tives from each state having one vote; a quorum for this purpose shall con-
sist of a member or members from two-thirds of the states, and a majority
of all the states shall be necessary to a choice. And if the house of rep-
resentatives shall not choose a president whenever the right of choice

shall devolve upon them, before the fourth day of March next following,
then the vice-president shall act as president, as in the case of the death or

other constitutional disability of the president. The person having the

greatest number of votes as vice-president shall be the vice-president, if

such number be the majority of the whole number of electors appointed
and if no person have a majority, then from the two highest numbers on
the list the senate shall choose the vice-president; a quorum for that pur-
pose shall consist of two-thirds of the whole number of senators, and a

majority of the whole number shall be necessary to a choice. But no

person constitutionally ineligible to the office of president shall be eligible
to that of vice-president of the United States.
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ARTICLE XIII.

Section 1. Neither slavery nor involuntary servitude, except as a pun-
ishment for crime, whereof the party shall have been duly convicted,
shall exist within the United States, or any place subject to their juris-
diction.

Sec. 2. Congress shall have power to enforce this article by appropri-
ate legislation.

ARTICLE XIV.
Section 1.

_

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and

subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States, and of
the state wherein they reside. No state shall make or enforce any law
which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United
States; nor shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property,
without due process of law, nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction
the equal protection of the law.
Sec 2. Representatives shall be apportioned among the several states

according to their respective numbers, counting the whole number of per-
sons in each state, excluding Indians not taxed

;
but when the right to vote

at any election for the choice of electors for president and vice-president
of the United States, representatives in congress, the executive and judi-
cial officers of a state, or the members of the legislature thereof, is denied
to any of the male inhabitants of such state, being twenty-one years of

age and citizens of the United States, or in any way abridged except for

participation in rebellion or other crime, the basis of representation therein
shall be reduced in the proportion which the number of such male citizens

shall bear to the whole number of male citizens twenty-one years of age
in such state.

Sec 3. Nc person shall be a senator or representative in congress, or
elector of prf sident and vice-president, or hold any office, civil or military,
under the U lited States, or under any state, who, having previously taken
an oath as a member of congress, or as an officer of the United States, or
as a member of any state legislature, or as an executive or judicial officer

of any state to support the constitution of the United States, shall have

engaged in insurrection or rebellion against the same, or given aid or

comfort to the enemies thereof. But congress mav, by a vote of two-
thirds of each house, remove such disability.
Sec 4. The validity of the public debt of the United States author-

ized by law, including debts incurred for payment of pensions and boun-
ties for services in suppressing insurrection or rebellion, shall not be

questioned. But neither the United States nor any state shall assume or

pay any debt or obligation incurred in the aid of insurrection or rebellion

against the United States, or any claim for the loss or emancipation of

any slave
;
but all such debts, obligations and claims shall be held illegal

and void.

Sec 5. The congress shall have power to enforce, by appropriate
legislation, the provisions of this article.

ARTICLE XV.

Section 1. The right of citizens of the United States to vote shall

not be denied or abridged by the United States, or by any state, on
account of race, color, or previous condition of servitude.
Sec 2. The congress shall have power to enforce this article by appro-

priate legislation.



Constitution of the State of Missouri,
ADOPTED BY A VOTE OF THE PEOPLE, OCTOBER 30, 1875. WENT INTO OPERATION

NOVEMBER 30, 1875.

PREAMBLE.
We, the people of Missouri, with profound reverence for the Supreme

Ruler of the Universe, and grateful for his goodness, do, for the better

government of the state, establish this constitution.

ARTICLE I.—BOtTNBARIES.

Section 1. The boundaries of the state as heretofore established by-

law, are hereby ratified and confirmed. The state shall have concurrent

jurisdiction on the river Mississippi, and every other river bordering on the

state, so far as the said rivers shall form a common boundary to this state

and any other state or states; and the river Mississippi and the navigable
rivers and waters leading to the same, shall be common highways, and
forever free to the citizens of this state and of the United States, without

any tax, duty, import or toll therefor, imposed by this state.

ARTICLE II.—BILL OF RIGHTS.

In order to assert our rights, acknowledge our duties, and proclaim the

principles on which our government is founded, we declare:

Section 1. That all political power is vested in, and derived from the

people; that all government of right originates from the people, is founded

upon their will onlv, and is instituted solely for the good of the whole.

Sec 2. That the people of this state have the inherent, sole and e.xclu-

sive right to regulate the internal government and police thereof, and to

alter and abolish their constitution and form of government whenever

they may deem it necessary to their safety and happiness: Provided^
Such change be not repugnant to the constitution of the United States.

Sec. 3. That Missouri is a free and independent state, subject only to

the constitution of the United States; and as the preservation of the

states and the maintenance of their governments, are necessary to an
indestructible Union, and were intended to co-exist with it, the- legislature
is not authorized to adopt, njor will the people of this state ever assent to

any amendment or change of the constitution of the United States which

may in any wise impair the right of local self-government belonging to

the people of this state.

Sec. 4. That all constitutional government is intended to promote the

general welfare of the people ;
that all persons have a natural right to life,

liberty and the enjoyment of the gains of their own industry; that to give

security to these things is the principal office of government, and that

when government does not confer this security, it fails of its chief design.
Sec. 5. That all men have a natural and indefeasible right to worship

Almighty God according to the dictates of their own conscience; that no
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person can, on account of his religious opinions, be rendered ineligible to

anv office of trust or protit under this state, nor be disqualified from testi-

fying, or from serving as a juror; that no human authority can control or
interfere with the rights of conscience; that no person ought, by any law,
to be molested in his person or estate, on account of his religious persua-
sion or profession; but the libert}^ of conscience hereby secured, shall not

be so construed as to excuse acts of licentiousness, nor to justify practices
inconsistent with the good order, peace or safety of this state, or with the

rights of others.

Sec. G. That no person can be compelled to erect, support or attend

any place or system of worship, or to maintain or support any priest, min-

ister, preacher or teacher of any sect, church, creed or denomination of re-

ligion; but if any person shall voluntarily make a contract for any such

object, he shall be held to the performance of the same.

Sec. 7. That no money shall ever be taken from the public treasury,
directly or indirectly, in aid of an}- church, sect or denomination of religion,
or in aid of an}^ priest, preacher, minister or teacher thereof, as such; and
that no preference shall be given to, nor any discrimination made against
any church, sect or creed of religion, or any form of religious faith or wor-

ship.
Sec. 8. That no religious corporation can be established in this state,

except such as may be created under a general law for the purpose only
of holding the title to such real estate as may be prescribed by law for

church edifices, parsonages and cemeteries.

Sec. 9. Tl at all elections shall be free and open ;
and no power, civil

or militar}', s'lall at any time interfere to prevent the free exercise of the

right of suf age.
Sec. 10 The courts of justice shall be open to every person, and cer-

tain remeily afTorded for every injury to person, propert}^ or character,
and that right and justice should be administered without sale, denial or

delay.
Sec. 11. That the people shall be secure in their persons, papers,

homes and effects, from unreasonable searches and seizures; and no war-

rant to search any place, or seize any person or thing, shall issue without

describing the place to be searched, or the person or thing to be seized, as

nearly as may be; nor without probable cause, supported by oath or affir-

mation reduced to wa-iting.
Sec. 12. That no person shall, for felony, be proceeded against crimi-

nally otherwise than by indictment, except in cases arising in the land or

naval forces, or in the militia when in actual service in time of war or pub-
lic danger; in all other cases, offenses shall be prosecuted criminally by in-

dictment or information as concurrent remedies.

Sec. lo. That treason against the state can consist only in levying
war against it, or in adhering to its enemies, giving them aid and comfort;

that no person can be convicted of treason, unless on the testimon}^ of two

witnesses to the same overt act, or on his confession in open court; that

no person can be attainted of treason or felony by the general assembly;
that no conviction can work corruption of blood or forfeiture of estate;

that the estates of such persons as may destroy their own lives shall

descend or vest as in cases of natural death; and when any person shall

be killed by casualty, there shall be no forfeiture by reason thereof.

Sec. 14. That no law shall be passed impairing the freedom of speech;
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that every person shall be free to say, write or publish whatever he will

on any subject, being responsible for all abuse of that liberty; and that in

all suits and prosecutions for libel, the truth thereof may be given in evi-

dence, and the jury, under the direction of the court, shall determine the
law and the fact.

Sec. 15. That no ex ^ost facto law, nor law impairing the obligation
of contracts, or retrospective in its operation, or making any irrevocable

grant of special privileges or immunities, can be passed by the general
assembly.

Sec. 16. That imprisonment for debt shall not be allowed, except for

the nonpayment of fines and penalties imposed for violation of law.

Sec. 17. That the right of no citizen to keep and bear arms in defense

of his home, person and property, or in aid of the civil power, when thereto

legally summoned, shall be called in question; but nothing herein con-

tained is intended to justify the practice of wearing concealed weapons.
Sec. 18. That no person elected or appointed to any office or employ-

ment of trust or profit under the laws of this state, or any ordinance of

any municipality in this state, shall hold such office without personally

devoting his time to the performance of the duties to the same belonging.
Sec. 19. That no person who is now, or may hereafter become a col-

lector or receiver of public money, or assistant or deputy of such collector

or receiver, shall be eligible to any office of trust or profit in the state of

Missouri under the laws thereof, or of any municipality therein, until he
shall have accounted for and paid over all the public money for which he

may be accountable.

Sec. 20. That no private property can be taken for private use with or

without compensation, unless by the consent of the owner, except for pri-
vate ways of necessity, and except for drains and ditches across the lands

of others for agricultural and sanitary purposes, in such manner as may be

prescribed by law
;
and that whenever an attempt is made to take private

property for a use alleged to be public, the question whether the contem-

plated use be really public shall be a judicial question, and as such, judi-

cially determined, without regard to any legislative assertion that the use

is public.
Sec. 21. That private property shall not be taken or damaged for pub-

lic use without just compensation. Such compensation shall be ascer-

tained by a jury or board of commissioners of not less than three free-

holders, in such manner as may be prescribed by law; and until the same
shall be paid to the owner, or into court for the owner, the property shall

not be disturbed, or the proprietary rights of the owner therein divested.

The fee of land taken for railroad tracts without consent of the owner

thereof, shall remain in such owner, subject to the use for which it is

taken.

Sec. 22. In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to

appear and defend, in person, and by counsel; to demand the nature and
cause of the accusation; to meet the witnesses against him face to face; to

have process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his behalf, and a

speedy, public trial by an .impartial jury of the county.
Sec. 23. That no person shall be compelled to testify against himself

in a criminal cause, nor shall any person, after being once acquitted by a

jury, be again, for the same offense, put in jeopardy of life or liberty; but

if the jury to which the question of his guilt or innocence is submitted
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fail to render a verdict, the court before which the trial is had may, in its

discretion, discharge the jury and commit or bail the prisoner for trial at

the next term of court, or if the state of business will permit, at the same
term ;

and if judgment be arrested after a verdict of guilty on a defective

indictment, or if judgment on a verdict of guilty be reversed for error in

law, nothing herein contained shall prevent a new trial of the prisoner on
a proper indictment, or according to correct principles of law.

Sec. 24. That all persons shall be bailable by sufficient sureties, ex-

cept for capital offenses, when the proof is evident or the presumption great.
Sec. 25. That excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines

imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishment inflicted.

Sec. 26. That the privilege of the writ of habeas corpus shall never

be suspended.
Sec. 27. That the military shall always be in strict subordination to

the civil power; that no soldier shall, in time of peace, be quartered in any
house without the consent of the owner, nor in time of war, except in the

manner prescribed by law.

Sec. 28. The right of trial by jury, as heretofore enjoyed, shall remain

inviolate; but a jury for the trial of criminal or civil cases, in courts not of

record, may consist of less than twelve men, as may be prescribed by law.

Hereafter, a grand jury shall consist of twelve men, any nine of whom
concurring may ^.nd an indictment or a true bill.

Sec. 29. Th at the people have the right peaceably to assemble for

their common ^ood, and to apply to those invested with the powers of gov-
ernment for ' ^dress of grievances by petition or remonstrance.

Sec. 30. That no person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property
without due process of law.

Sec. 31. That there cannot be in this state either slavery or involun-

tary servitude, except as a punishment for crime, whereof the party shall

have been duly convicted.

Sec. 32. The enumeration in this constitution of certain rights shall

not be construed to deny, impair, or disparage others retained by the

people.
ARTICLE III.—THE DISTBIBDTION OP POWERS.

The powers of government shall be divided into three distinct depart-
ments—the legislative, executive, and judicial

—each of which shall be con-

fided to a separate magistracy and no person, or collection of persons,

charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of those

departments, shall exercise any power properly belonging to either of the

others, except in the instances in this constitution expressly directed or

permitted.
ARTICLE IV.—LEGISLATIVE DEPARTMENT.

Section 1. The legislative power, subject to the limitations herein

contained, shall be vested in a senate and house of representatives, to be

styled
" The General Assembly of the State of Missouri."

representation and apportionment.

Sec. 2. The house of representatives shall consist of members to be

chosen every second year by the qualified voters of the several counties,

and apportioned in the following manner: The ratio of representation shall

be ascertained at each apportioning session of the general assembly, by
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dividing the whole number gf inhabitants of the state, as ascertained by
the last decennial census of the United States, by the number two hun-
dred. Each county having one ratio, or less, shall be entitled to one rep-
resentative; each county having two and a half times said ratio, shall be
entitled to two representatives; each county having four times said ratio,

shall be entitled to three representatives; each county having six times

such ratio, shall be entitled to four representatives, and so on above that

number, giving one additional member for every two and a half additional

ratios.

Sec. 3. When any county shall be entitled to more than one repre-

sentative, the county court shall cause such county to be subdivided into

districts of compact and contiguous territory, corresponding in number to

the representatives to which such county is entitled, and in population as

nearly equal as may be, in each of which the qualitied voters shall elect

one representative, who shall be a resident of such district: Provided^
That when any county shall be entitled to more than ten representatives,
the circuit court shall cause such county to be subdivided into districts, so

as to give each district not less than two, nor more than four representa-
tives, who shall be residents of such district; the population of the districts to

be proportioned to the number of representatives to be elected therefrom.

Sec. 4. No persoi shall be a member of the house of representatives
who shall not have attained the age of twenty-four years, who shall not be
a male citizen of the United States, who shall not have been a qualified
voter of this state two years, and an inhabitant of the county or district

which he may be chosen to represent, one year next before the day of his

election, if such county or district shall have been so long established, but
if not, then of the county or district from which the same shall have been

taken, and who shall not have paid a state and county tax within one year
next preceding the election.

Sec. 5. The senate shall consist of thirty-four members, to be chosen

by the qualified voters of their respective districts for four years. For the

election of senators the state shall be divided into convenient districts, as

nearly equal in population as may be, the same to be ascertained by the

last decennial census taken by the United States.

Sec. 6. No person shall be a senator who shall not have attained the

age of thirty years, who shall not be a male citizen of the United States,

who shall not have been a qualified voter of this state three years, and an

inhabitant of the district which he may be chosen to represent one year
next before the day of his election, if such district shall have been so long
established; but if not, then of the district or districts from which the same
shall have been taken, and who shall not have paid a state and county tax

within one year next preceding the election. When any count}- shall be

entitled to rnore tlian one senator, the circuit court shall cause such county
to be subdivided into districts of compact and contiguous territory, and of

population as nearly equal as may be, corresponding in number with the

senators to which such county may be entitled; and in each of these one

senator, who shall be a resident of such district, shall be elected by the

qualified voters thereof.

Sec. 7. Senators and representatives shall be chosen according to the

rule of apportionment established in this constitution, until the next decen-

nial census by the United States shall have been taken and the result

thereof as to this state ascertained, when the apportionment shall be revised
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and adjusted on the basis of that census, and every ten 3'ears there-

after upon the basis of the United States census; or if such census be not

taken, or is delayed, then on the basis of a state census; such apportion-
ment to be made at the first session of the general assembl}' after each
such census: Provided^ That if at an}- time, or from any cause, the general

assembly shall fail or refuse to district the state for senators, as required
in this section, it shall be the duty of the governor, secretary of state, and

attorney-general, within thirty days after the adjournment of the general

assembly on which such duty devolved, to perform said duty, and to file in

the office of the secretary of state a full statement of the districts formed

by them, including the names of the counties embraced in each district,

and the numbers thereof; said statement to be signed by them, and

attested by the great seal of the state, and upon the proclamation of the

governor, the same shall be as binding and effectual as if done by the

general assembly.
Sec. 8. Until an apportionment of representatives can be made, in

accordance with the provisions of this article, the house of representa-
tives shall consist of orj hundred and forty-three members, which shall be

divided among the se- era! counties of the state, as follows: The county of

St. Louis shall have seventeen; the county of Jackson four; the county of

Buchanan three;
'

aq. counties of Franklin, Greene, Johnson, Lafayette,

Macon, Marion,
^
ike, and Saline, each two, and each of the other coun-

ties in the state, one.

Sec. 9. Senatorial and representative districts may be altered, from

time to time, as public convenience may require. When any senatorial

district shall be composed of two or more counties, they shall be contigu-

ous; such districts to be as compact as may be, and in the formation of

the same no county shall be divided.

Sec. 10. The first election of senators and representatives, under this

constitution, shall be held at the general election in the year one thousand

eight hundred and seventy-six, when the whole number of representa-

tives, and the senators from the districts having odd numbers, who shall

compose the first class, shall be chosen; and in one thousand eight hun-

dred and seventy-eight, the senators from the districts having even num-

bers, who shall compose the second class, and so on at each succeeding

general election, half the senators provided for by this constitution shall

be chosen.

Sec. 11. Until the state shall be divided into senatorial districts, in

accordance with the provisions of this article, said districts shall be con-

stituted and numbered as follows:

The First District shall be composed of the counties of Andrew, Holt,

Nodaway and Atchison.

Second District—The counties of Buchanan, DeKalb, Gentry and

Worth.
Thkd District—The counties of Clay, Clinton and Platte.

Fourth District -The counties of Caldwell, Ray, Daviess and Harrison.

Fifth District—The counties of Livingston, Grundy, Mercer and Carroll.

Sixth District—The counties of Linn, Sullivan, Putnam and Chariton.

Seventh District—The counties of Randolph, Howard and Monroe.-

Eighth District—The counties of Adair, Macon and Schuyler.
Ninth District—The counties of Audrain, Boone and Callaway.
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Tenth District—The counties of St. Charles and Warren.
Eleventh District—The counties of Pike, Lincoln and Montgomery.
Twelfth District—The counties of Lewis, Clark, Scotland and Knox.
Thirteenth District—The counties of Marion, Shelby and Ralls.

Fourteenth District—The counties of Bates, Cass and Henry.
Fifteenth District—The county of Jackson.
Sixteenth District—The counties of Vernon, Barton, Jasper, Newton

and McDonald.
Seventeenth District—The counties of Lafayette and Johnson.
Eighteenth District—The counties of Greene, Lawrence, Barry, Stone

and Christian.

Nineteenth District—The counties of Saline, Pettis and Benton.
Twentieth District—The counties of Polk, Hickory, Dallas, Dade,.

Cedar and St. Clair.

Twenty-first District—The counties of Laclede, Webster, Wright,
Texas, Douglas, Taney, Ozark and Howell.

Twenty-second District—The counties of Phelps, Miller, Maries, Cam-
den, Pulaski, Crawford and Dent.

Twenty-third District—The counties of Cape Girardeau, Mississippi,
New Madrid, Pemiscot, Dunklin, Stoddard and Scott.

Twenty-fourth District—The counties of Iron, Madison, Bollinger,.

Wayne, Butler, Reynolds, Carter, Ripley, Oregon and Shannon.

Twenty-fifth District—The counties of Franklin, Gasconade and Osage.
Twenty-sixth District—The counties of Washington, Jefferson, St.

Francois, Ste. Genevieve and Perry.
Twenty-eighth District—The counties of Cooper, Moniteau, Morgan

and Cole.

St. Louis county shall be divided into seven districts, numbered respec-

tively, as follows:

Twenty-seventh, Twenty-ninth, Thirtieth, Thirty-first, Thirty-second,

Thirty-third and Thirt3^-fourth.
Sec. 12. No senator or representative shall, during the term for which

he shall have been elected, be appointed to any office under this state, or

any municipality thereof; and no member of congress or person holding

any lucrative office under the United States, or this state, or any munici-

pality thereof, (militia offices, justices of the peace and notaries public

excepted,) shall be eligible to either house of the general assembly, or remain
a member thereof, after having accepted any such office or seat in either

house of congress.
Sec. 13. If any senator or representative remove his residence from

the district or county for which he was elected, his office shall thereby be
vacated.

Sec. 14. Writs of election to fill such vacancies as mav occur in either

house of the general assembly, shall be issued by the governor.
Sec. 15. Every senator and representative elect, before entering upon

the duties of his office, shall take and subscribe the following oath or affirm-

ation: "I do solemnly swear [or affirm] that I will support the constitution

of the United States and of the state of Missouri, and faithfully perform
the duties of my office, and that I will not knowingly receive, directly or

indirectly, any money or other valuable thing, for the performance or

non-performance of an}'^ act or duty pertaining to m}^ office, other than the

compensation allowed by law." The oath shall be administered in the
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halls of their respective houses, to the members thereof, by some judge of

the supreme court, or the circuit court, or the county court of Cole

county, or after the organization, b}- the presiding officer of either house,
and shall be filed in the office of the secretary of state. x\ny member of

either house refusing to take said oath or affirmation, shall be deemed to

have thereby vacated his office, and any member convicted of having vio-

lated his oath or affirmation, shall be deemed guilty of perjury, and be
forever thereafter disqualified from holding any office of trust or profit in

this state.

Sec. 16. The members of the general assembly shall severally receive

from the public treasury such compensation for their services as may,
from time to time, be provided by law, not to exceed five dollars per day
for the first seventy da3^s of each session, and after that not to exceed one
dollar per day for the remainder of the session, except the first session held

under this constitution, and during revising sessions, when they may re-

ceive five dollars per day for jne hundred and twenty days, and one dollar

per day for the remainder c'. such sessions. In addition to per diem, the

members shall be entitled
'

j receive traveling expenses or mileage, for any
regular and extra session not greater than now provided by law; but no

member shall be entitled to traveling expenses or mileage for any extra

session that may be called within one day after an adjournment of a regu-
lar session. Committees of either house, or joint committees of both

houses, appointed to examine the institutions of the state, other than those

at the seat of government, may receive their actual expenses, necessarily
incurred while in the performance of such duty; the items of such ex-

penses to be returned to the chairman of such committee, and by him cer-

tified to the state auditor, before the same, or any part thereof, can be

paid. Each member may receive at each regular session an additional sum
of thirty dollars, which shall be in full for all stationery used in his official

capacity, and all postage, and all other incidental expenses and perquisites;
and no allowance or emoluments, for any purpose whatever, shall be made

to, or received by the members, or any member of either house, or for their

use, out of the contingent fund or otherwise, except as herein expressly

provided; and no allowance or emolument, for any purpose whatever,
shall ever be paid to any officer, agent, servant or emplo3'e of either

house of the general assembly, or of any committee thereof, except such

per diem as may be provided for by law, not to exceed five dollars.
^

Sec. 17. Each house shall appoint its own officers; shall be sole judge
of the qualifications, election and returns of its own members; may deter-

mine the rules of its own proceedings, except as herein provided ; may
arrest and punish by fine not exceeding three hundred dollars, or imprison-
ment in a county jail not exceeding ten days, or both, any person, not a

member, who shall be guilty of disrespect to the house by any disorderly or

contemptuous behavior in its presence during its sessions; may punish its

members for disorderly conduct; and with the concurrence of two-thirds

of all members elect, may expel a member; but no member shall be ex-

pelled a second time for the same cause.

Sec. 18. A majority of the whole number ot members of each house

shall constitute a quorum to do business; but a smaller number may ad-

journ from day to day, and may compel the attendance of absent rnembers

in such manner and under such penalties as each house may provide.
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Sec. 19. The sessions of each house shall be held with open doors,

except in cases which may require secrecy.
Sec. 20. The general assembly elected in the year one thousand

eight hundred and seventy-six shall meet on the first Wednesday after the

first day of January, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-seven; and
thereafter the general assembly shall meet in regular session once only in

every two years; and such meeting shall be on the first Wednesday after

the first day of January next after the elections of the members thereof.

Sec 21. Every adjournment or recess taken by the general assembly
for more than three days, shall have the effect of and be an adjournment
sine die.

Sec. 22. Every adjournment or recess taken by the general assembly
for three days or less, shall be construed as not interrupting the session at

which they are had or taken, but as continuing the session for all the pur-

poses mentioned in section sixteen of this article.

Sec 23. Neither house shall, without the consent of the other, adjourn
for more than two days at any one time, nor to any other place than that

in which the two houses maybe sitting.

legislative proceedings.

Sec 24. The style of the laws of this state shall be :

" Be it enacted

by the General Assembly of the State of Missouri^ as follows .•"

Sec 25. No law shall be passed, except by bill, and no bill shall be so

amended in its passage through either house, as to change its original

purpose.
Sec 26. Bills may originate in either house, and may be amended or

rejected by the other; and every bill shall be read on three different days
in each house.

Sec 27. No bill shall be considered for final passage unless the same
has been reported upon by a committee and printed for the use of the

members.
Sec 28. No bill (except general appropriation bills, which may em-

brace the various subjects and accounts for and on account of which moneys
are appropriated, and except bills passed under the third subdivision of

section forty-four of this article) shall contain more than one subject, which
shall be clearly expressed in its title.

Sec 29. All amendments adopted by either house to a bill pendino-
and originating in the same, shall be incorporated with the bill bv engross-
ment, and the bill as thus engrossed, shall be printed for the iise of the
members before its final passage. The engrossing and printing shall be
under the supervision of a committee, whose report to the house shall set

forth, in writing, that they find the bill truly engrossed, and that the

printed copy furnished to the members is correct.

Sec 30. If a bill passed by either house be returned thereto, amended
by the other, the house to which the same is returned shall cause the
amendment or amendments so received to be printed under the same super-
vision as provided in the next preceding section, for the use of the mem-
bers before final action on such amendments.

Sec. 31. No bill shall become a law, unless on its final passage the
vote be taken by yeas and nays, the names of the members voting for and

against the same be entered on the journal, and a majority of the members
elected to each house be recorded thereon as voting in its favor.
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Sec. 32. No amendment to bills by one house shall be concurred in

by the other, except by a vote of a majority of the members elected thereto

taken by yeas and nays, and the names of those voting for and against
recorded upon the journal thereof; and reports of committees of confer-

ence shall be adopted in either house only by the vote of a majority of the
members elected thereto, taken by yeas and nays, and the names of those

voting recorded upon the journal.
Sec. 33. No act shall be revived or re-enacted by mere reference to

the title thereof, but the same shall be set forth at length, as if it were an

original act.

Sec. 34. No act shall be amended by providing that designated words
thereof be stricken out, or that designate d words be inserted, or that desig-
nated words be stricken out and othe.s inserted in lieu thereof; but the
words to be stricken out, or the wor ^s to be inserted, or the words to be
stricken out and those inserted in 1:' ju thereof, together with the act or
section amended, shall be set forth in full, as amended.
Sec 35. When a bill is put upon its final passage in either house, and,

failing to pass, a rnotion is made to reconsider the vote by which it was
defeated, the vote upon such motion to reconsider shall be immediately
taken, and the subject finally disposed of before the house proceeds to any
other business.

Sec. 36. No law passed by the general assembly, except the general
appropriation act, shall take effect or go into force until ninety days after

the adjournment of the session at which it was enacted, unless in case of

an emergency, (which emergency must be expressed in the preamble or in

the body of the act), the general assembly shall, by a vote of two-thirds
of all the members elected to each house, otherwise direct; said vote to be
taken by yeas and nays, and entered upon the journal.
Sec 37. No bill shall become a law until the same shall have been

signed by the presiding officer of each of the two houses, in open session;
and before such officer shall affix his signature to any bill, he shall suspend
all other business, declare that such bill will now be read, and that, if no

objections be made, he will sign the same, to the end that it may become a

law. The bill shall then be read at length, and if no objections be made,
he shall, in presence of the house, in open session, and before any other
business is entertained, affix his signature, which fact shall be noted on the

journal, and the bill immediately sent to the other house. When it reaches
the other house the presiding officer thereof shall immediately suspend all

other business, announce the reception of the bill, and the same proceedings
shall thereupon be observed, in every respect, as in the house in which it

was first signed. If in either house any member shall object that any sub-

stitution, omission, or insertion has occurred, so that the bill proposed to be

signed is not the same in substance and form as when considered and

passed by the house, or that any particular clause of this article of the
constitution has been violated in its passage, such objection shall be passed
upon by the house, and if sustained, the presiding officer shall withhold his

signature; but if such objection shall not be sustained, then any five mem-
bers may embody the same, over their signatures, in a written protest,
under oath, against the signing of the bill. Such protest, when offered in

the house, shall be noted upon the journal, and the original shall be an-

nexed to the bill to be considered by the governor in connection therewith.

Sec. 38. When the bill has been signed, as provided for in the preced-



134: CONSTITUTION OF MISSOURI.

inn- section, it shall be the duty of the secretary of the senate, if the bill

orTcrinated in the senate, and of the chief clerk of the house of representa-

tives, if the bill originated in the house, to present the same in person, on

the same day on which it was signed as aforesaid, to the governor,

and enter the fact upon the journal. Every bill presented to the governor,

and returned within ten days to the house in which the same originated,

with the approval of the governor, shall become a law, unless it be in vio-

lation of some provision of this constitution.

Skc. 39. Every bill presented as aforesaid, but returned without the

approval of the governor, and with his objections thereto, shall stand as

reconsidered in the house to which it is returned. The house shall cause

the objections of the governor to be entered at large upon the journal, and

proceed, at its convenience, to consider the question pending, which shall

be in this form: "Shall the bill pass, the objections of the governor thereto

notwithstanding?" The vote upon this question shall be taken by yeas
and nays, and the names entered upon the journal, and if two-thirds of all

the members elected to the house vote in the affirmative, the presiding

officer of that house shall certify that fact on the roll, attesting the same

by his signature, and send the bill, with the objections of the governor, to

the other house, in which like proceedings shall be had in relation thereto;

and if the bill receive a like majority of the votes of all the members elected

to that house, the vote being taken by yeas and nays, the presiding officer

thereof shall, in like manner, certify the fact upon the bill. The bill thus

certified shall be deposited in the office of the secretary of state, as an au-

thentic act, and shall become a law in the same manner and with like effect

as if it had received the approval of the governor.
Sec. 40. Whenever the governor shall fail to perform his duty, as pre-

scribed in section twelve, article V, of this constitution, in relation to any
bill presented to him for his approval, the general assembly ma}-, by joint

resolution, reciting the fact of such failure and the bill at length, direct the

secretary of state to enrol the same as an authentic act in the archives of

the state, and such enrollment shall have the same effect as an approval by
the governor: Provided, That such joint resolution shall not be submit-

ted to the governor for his approval.
Sec. 41 . Within five years after the adoption of this constitution all

the statute laws of a general nature, both civil and criminal, shall be re-

vised, digested, and promulgated in such manner as the general assembly
shall direct; and a like revision, digest, and promulgation shall be made
at the expiration of every subsequent period of ten years.

Sec. 42. Each house shall, from time to time., publish a journal of its

proceedings, and the yeas and nays on any question shall be taken and
entered on the journal at the motion of any two members. Whenever the

yeas and nays are demanded, the whole list of members shall be called,

and the names of the'absentees shall be noted and published in the journal.

LIMITATION ON LEGISLATIVE POWER.

Sec. 4o. All revenue collected and moneys received by the state from

any source whatsoever, shall go into the treasury, and the general assem-

bly shall have no power to divert the same, or to permit money to be drawn
from the treasury, except in pursuance of regular appropriations made by
law. All appropriations of money by the successive general assemblies
shall be made in the following order:
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First, For the payment of all interest upon the bonded debt of the

state that may become due during the term for which each general
assembly is elected.

Second, For the benefit of the sinking fund, which shall not be less an-

nually than two hundred and fifty thousand dollars.

Third, For free public school purposes.
Fourth, For the payment of the cost of assessing and collecting the

revenue.

Fifth, For the payment of the civil hst.

Sixth, For the support of the eleemosynary institutions of the state.

Seventh, For the pay of the general assembly, and such other purposes
not herein prohibited, as it may deem

rj xessary; but no general assembly
shall have power to make any approj riation of money for any purpose
whatsoever, until the respective sum^ necessary for the purposes in this

section specified have been set apart and appropriated, or to give pri-

ority in its action to a succeeding overi i preceding item as above enumer-
ated.

Sec. 44. The general assembly shall have no power to contract or to

authorize the contracting of any debt or liabiHty on behalf of the state, or

to issue bonds or other evidences of indebtedness thereof, except in the

following cases:

First, In renewal of existing bonds, when they cannot be paid at matu-

rity, out of the sinking fund or other resources.

Second, On the occurring of an unforeseen emergency, or casual defi-

ciency of the revenue when the temporary liability incurred, upon the rec-

ommendation of the governor first had, shall not exceed the sum of two
hundred and fifty thousand dollars for any one year, to be paid in not

more than two years from and after its creation.

Third, On the occurring of any unforeseen emergency or casual defi-

ciency of the revenue, when the temporary liability incurred or to be incur-

red shall exceed the sum of two hundred and fifty thousand dollars for

any one year, the general assembly ma}^ submit an act providing for the

loan, or lor the contracting of the liability, and containing a provision for

levying a tax sufficient to pay the interest and principal when they become
due, (the latter in not more than thirteen years from the date of its crea-

tion) to the qualified voters of the state, and when the act so submitted
shall have been ratified by a two-thirds majority, at an election held for

that purpose, due publication having been made of the provisions of the

act for at least three months before such election, the act thus ratified

shall be irrepealable until the debt thereby incurred shall be paid, princi-

pal and interest.

Sec. 45. The general assembl}'- shall have no power to give or to lend,
or to authorize the giving or lending of the credit of the state in aid of or

to any person, association or corporation, whether municipal or other, or to

pledge the credit of the state in any manner whatsoever, for the payment
of the liabilities, present or prospective, of any individual, association of

individuals, municipal or other corporation whatsoever.
Sec. 4(5. The general assembly shall have no power to make any

grant, or to authorize the making of any grant of public money or thing of

k^alue to any individual, association of individuals, municipal or other cor-

poration whatsoever: Provided, That this shall not be so construed as to

:)revent the grant of aid in a case of public calamity.
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Sec. 47. The general assembly shall have no power to authorize any

county, city, town or township, or other political corporation or subdiviision

of the state now existing, or that may be hereafter established, to lend its

credit, or to grant public money or thing of value in aid of, or to any indi-

vidual, association or corporation whatsoever, or to become a stockholder

in such corporation, association or company.
Sec. 48. The general assembly shall have no power to grant, or to

authorize anv count}'- or municipal authority to grant any extra compensa-
tion, fee or allowance to a public officer, agent, servant or contractor, after

service has been rendered or a contract has been entered into and per-

formed in whole or in part, nor pay nor authorize the payment of any claim

hereafter created against the state, or any county or municipahty of the

state under any agreement or contract made without express authority of

law; and all such unauthorized agreements or contracts shall be null and

void.

Sec. 49. The general assembly shall have no power hereafter to sub-

scribe or authorize the subscription of stock on behalf of the state, in any
corporation or association except for the purpose of securing loans hereto-

fore extended to certain railroad corporations by the state.

Sec. 50. The general assembly shall have no power to release or

alienate the lien held by the state upon any railroad, or in anywise change
the tenor or meaning, or pass any act explanatory thereof; but the same
shall be enforced in accordance with the original terms upon which it was

acquired.
Sec. 51. The general assembly shall have no power to release or ex-

tinguish, or authorize the releasing or extinguishing, in whole or in part,
the indebtedness, liability or obligation of any corporation or individual, to

this state, or to any county or other municipal corporation therein.

Sec. 52. The general assembly shall have no power to make any ap-

propriation of money, or to issue any bonds or other evidences of indebted-

ness for the payment, or on account, or in recognition of any claims audited,
or that may hereafter be audited by virtue of an act entitled

" An act to

audit and adjust the war debt of the state,
"
approved March 19, 1874, or any

act of a similar nature, until after the claims so audited shall have been

presented to and paid by the government of the United States to the state

of Missouri.

Sec. 53. The general assembly shall not pass any local or special law:

Authorizing the creation, extension or impairing of liens:

Regulating the affairs of counties, cities, townships, wards or school

districts:

Changing the names of persons or places:

Changing the venue in civil or criminal cases:

Authorizing the laying out, opening, altering or maintaining roads,

highways, streets or alleys:

Relating to ferries or bridges, or incorporating ferry or bridge compa-
nies, except for the erection of bridges crossing streams which form
boundaries between this and any other state:

Vacating roads, town plats, streets or alleys:

Relating to cemeteries, grave yards or public grounds not of the state:

Authorizing the adoption or legitimation of children:

Locating or changing county seats:

Incorporating cities, towns or villages, or changing their charters:
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For the opening and conducting of elections, or fixing or changing the

places of voting:

Granting divorces:

Erecting new townships, or changing township lines, or the lines of

school districts:

Creating offices, or prescribing the powers and duties of officers in

counties, cities, townships, election or school districts:

Changing the law of descent or succeision:

Regulating the practice or jurisdictid i of, or changing the rules of evi-

dence in any judicial proceeding or in

peace, sheritfs, commissioners, arbitratq s or other tribunals, or providing

uiry before courts, justices of the

)f debts, or the enforcing of judg-
al sales of real estate:

or changing methods for the collection

ments, or pi-escribing the effect of judic.

Regulating the fees or extending the powers and duties of aldermen,

justices of the peace, magistrates or constables:

Regulating the management of public schools, the building or repairing
of school houses, and the raising of mone}?^ for such purposes:

Fixing the rate of interest:

Affecting the estates of minors or persons under disability:

Remitting fines, penalties and forfeitures, or refunding moneys legally

paid into the treasury:

Exempting property from taxation:

Regulating labor, trade, mining or manufacturing:
Creating corporations, or amending, renewing, extending or explaining

the charter thereof:

Granting to any corporation, association or individual any special or
exclusive right, privilege or immunity, or to any corporation, association or

individual, the right to lay down a railroad track:

Declaring any named person of age:

Extending the time for the assessment or collection of taxes, or other-
wise relieving any assessor or collector of taxes from the due performance
of their official duties, or their securities from liability:

Giving effect to informal or invalid wills or deeds:

Summoning or empanneling grand or petit juries:
For limitation of civil actions:

Legalizing the unauthorized or invalid acts of any officer or agent of

the state, or of an}^ county or municipality thereof. In all other cases
where a general law can be made applicable, no local or special law shall

be enacted; and whether a general law could have been made applicable
in any case, is hereby declared a judicial question, and as such shall be ju-

dicially determined without regard to any legislative assertion on that

subject.
Nor shall the general assembly indirectly enact such special or local

law by the partial repeal of a general law; but laws repealing local or

special acts may be passed.
Sec. 5i. No local or special law shall be passed unless notice of the

intention to apply therefor shall have been published in the locality where
the matter or thing to be affected may be situated, which notice shall state

the substance of the contemplated law, and shall be published at least

thirty days prior to the introduction into the general assembly of such

bill, and in the manner to be provided by law. The evidence of such
notice having been published, shall be exhibited in the general assembly
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before such act shall be passed, and the notice shall be recited in the act

according to its tenor.

Sec. 55. The general assembly shall have no power, when convened
in extra session by the governor, to act upon subjects other than those

specially designated in the proclamation by which the session is called, or

recommended by special message to its consideration by the governor
after it shall have been convened.

Sec. 56. The general assembly shall have no power to remove the

seat of government of this state from the city of Jefferson.

ARTICLE V.—EXECUTIVE department.

Section 1. The executive department shall consist of a governor,
lieutenant governor, secretary of state, state auditor, state treasurer,

attorney general and superintendent of public schools, all ot' whom, except
the lieutenant governor, shall reside at the seat of government during
their term of office, and keep the public records, books and papers there,
and shall perform such duties as may be prescribed by law.

Sec. 2. The term of office of the governor, lieutenant governor, sec-

retary of state, state auditor, state treasurer, attorney general and super-
intendent of public schools, shall be four years from the second Monday
of January next after their election, and until their successors are elected

and qualified; and the governor and state treasurer shall be ineligible to

re-election as their own successors. At the general election to be held in

the year one thousand eight hundred and seventy-six, and every four

years thereafter, all of such officers, except the superintendent of public
schools, shall be elected, and the superintendent of public schools shall be
elected at the general election in the year one thousand eight hundred and

seventy-eight, and every four years thereafter.

Sec. 3. The returns of every election for the above named officers

shall be sealed up and transmitted by the returning officers to the secre-

tary of state, directed to the speaker of the house of representatives, who
shall immediately, after the organization of the house, and before proceed-
ing to other business, open and publish the same in the presence of a

majority of each house of the general assembly, who shall for that pur-

pose assemble in the hall of the house of representatives. The person
having the highest number of votes for either of said offices shall be
declared duly elected; but if two or more shall have an equal and the

highest number of votes, the general assembly shall, b}' joint vote, choose
one of such persons for said office.

Sec. 4. The supreme executive power shall be vested in a chief mag-
istrate, who shall be styled "the governor of the state of Missouri."

Sec. 5. The governor shall be at least thirty-five years old, a male,
and shall have been a citizen of the United States ten years, and a resi-

dent of this state seven years next before his election.

Sec. 6. The governor shall take care that the laws are distributed and

faithfully executed; and he shall be a conservator of the peace through-
out the state.

Sec. 7. The governor shall be commander-in-chief of the militia of

this state, except when they shall be called into the service of the United
States, and may call out the same to execute the laws, suppress insurrec-
tion and repel invasion; but he need not command in person unless
directed so to do by a resolution of the general assembly.
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Sec. 8. The governor shall have power to grant reprieves, commuta-
tions and pardons, after conviction, for all offenses, except treason and
cases of impeachment, upon such condition and with such restrictions and
limitations as he may think proper, subject to such regulations as may be

provided by law relative to the manner of applying for pardons. He shall,

at each session of the general assembly, communicate to that body each
case of reprieve, commutation or pardon granted, stating the name of the

convict, the crime of which he was convicted, the sentence and its date,
the date of the commutation, pardon or reprieve, and the reason for grant-

ing the same.
Sec. 9. The governor shall, from time to time, give to the general

assembly information relative to the state of the government, and shall

recommend to its consideration such measures as he shall deem necessary
and expedient. On extraordinary occasions he may convene the general
assembly by proclamation, wherein he shall state specifically each matter

concerning which the action of that body is deemed necessary.
Sec. 10. The governor shall, at the commencement of each session of

the general assembly, and at the close of his term of office, give informa-
tion by message, of the condition of the state, and shall recommend such
measures as he shall deem expedient. He shall account to the general
assembly, in such manner as may be prescribed by law, for all moneys
received and paid out by him from any funds subject to his order, with

vouchers; and at the commencement of each regular session, present esti-

mates of the amount of money required to be raised by taxation for all

purposes.
Sec 11. When any office shall become vacant, the governor, unless

otherwise provided by law, shall appoint a person to fill such vacancy,
who shall continue in office until a successor shall have been duly elected

or appointed and qualified according to law.

Sec 12. The governor shall consider all bills and joint resolutions,

which, having been passed by both houses of the general assembly, shall

be presented to him. He shall, within ten days after the same shall have
been presented to him, return to the bouse in which they respectively

originated, all such bills and joint resolutions, with his approval endorsed

thereon, or accompanied by his objections: Provided^ That if the general
assembly shall finally adjourn within ten days after such presentation,
the governor may, within thirty days thereafter, return such bills and res-

f'lutions to the office of the secretary of state, with his approval or reasons
for disapproval.
Sec 1-3. If any bill presented to the governor contain several items

of appropriation of money, he may object to one or more items while

approving other portions of the bill. In such case he shall append to the

bill, at the time of signing it, a statement of the items to which he objects,
and the appropriations so objected to shall not take effect. If the general
assembly be in session, he shall transmit to the house in which the bill

originated a copy of such statement, and the items objected to shall be

separately reconsidered. If it be not in session, then he shall transmit the

same within thirty days to the office of secretary of state, with his approval
or reasons for disapproval.
Sec 14. Every resolution to which the concurrence of the senate and

house of representatives may be necessary, except on questions of adjourn-
ment, of going into joint session, and of amending this constitution, shall
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be presented to the governor, and before the same shall take effect, shall

be proceeded upon in the same manner as in the case of a bill: Provided^
That no resolution shall have the effect to repeal, extend, alter or amend
anv law.

Sec. 15. The lieutenant governor shall possess the same qualifications
as the governor, and by \'irtue of his office shall be president of the senate.

In committee of the whole he may debate all questions; and when there

is an equal division he shall give the casting vote in the senate, and also in

joint vote of both houses.

Sec. 16. In case of death, conviction, or impeachment, failure to qual-

ifv, resignation, absence from the state, or other disability of the governor,
the DOwers, duties, and emoluments of the office for the residue of the

terrn, or until the disability shall be removed, shall devolve upon the lieu-

tenant governor.
Sec. 17. The senate shall choose a president ^ro tempore to preside in

cases of the absence or impeachment of the lieutenant-governor, or when
he shall hold the office of governor. If there be no lieutenant-governor,
or the lieutenant governor shall, for any of the causes specified in section

sixteen, of this article, become incapable of performing the duties of the

office, the president of the senate shall act as governor until the vacancy
is filled, or the disability removed ;

and if the president of the senate, for

any of the above named causes, shall become incapable of performing the

duties of governor, the same shall devolve upon the speaker of the house
of representatives, in the same manner, and with the same powers and

compensation as are prescribed in the case of the office devolving upon
the lieutenant-governor.

Sec. 18. The lieutenant-governor, or the president -pro tempore of the

senate, while presiding in the senate, shall receive the same compen-
sation as shall be allowed to the speaker of the house of representatives.

Sec. 19. No person shall be eligible to the office of secretary of state,
state auditor, state treasurer, attorney-general, or superintendent of public
schools, unless he be a male citizen of the United States, and at least

twenty-five years old, and shall have resided in this state at least five years
next before his election.

Sec. 20. The secretary of state shall be the custodian of the seal of

the state, and authenticate therewith all official acts of the governor, his

approval of laws excepted. The said seal shall be called the "Great Seal
of the State of Missouri," and the emblems and devices thereof, hereto-
fore prescribed by law, shall not be subject to change.

Sec. 21. The secretary of state shall keep a register of the official acts
of the governor, and when necessary, shall attest them, and lay copies of

the same, together with copies of all papers relative thereto, before either
house of the general assembly whenever required to do so.

Sec. 22. An account shall be kept by the officers of the executive

department of all moneys and choses in action disbursed, or otherwise dis-

posed of by them severally, from all sources, and for every service per-
formed; and a semi-annual report thereof shall be made to the governor
under oath. The governor may at any time require information, in writ-

ing, under oath, from the officers of the executive department, and all

officers and managers of state institutions, upon any subject relating to
the condition, management and expenses of their respective offices and
institutions; which information, when so required, shall be furnished by
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such officers and manac^ers, and any officer or manager who at any time

shall make a false report, shall be guilty of perjury and punished accord-

ingly-
SiEC. 23. The governor shall commission all officers not otherwise pro-

vided for by law. All commissions shall run in the name and by the

authority of the state of Missouri, be signed by the governor, sealed with

the great seal of the state of Missouri, and attested by the secretary of state.

Sec. 24. The officers named in this article shall receive for Iheir ser-

vices a salary to be established by law, which shall not be increased or

diminished during their official terms; and they shall not, after the expir-
ation of the terms of those in office at the adoption of this constitution,

receive to their own use any fees, costs, perquisites of office, or other com-

pensation. All fees that may hereafter be payable by law for any service

performed by anv officer provided for in this article shall be paid in

advance into the state treasury.
Sec. 25. Contested elections of governor and lieutenant-governor

shall be decided by a joint vote of both houses of the general assembly,
in such manner as may be provided by law

;
and contested elections of

secretary of state, state auditor, state treasurer, attorney-general, and su-

perintendent of public schools shall be decided before such tribunal, and

in such manner as may be provided by law.

ARTICLE VI.—JUDICIAL DEPARTMENT.

Section 1. The judicial power of the state, as to matters of in:--' r-nJ

equity, except as in this constitution otherwise provided, shall be v-:-.j^

in a supreme court, the St. Louis court of appeals, circuit courts, crim-

inal courts, probate courts, county courts, and municipal corporation courts.

Sec. 2. The supreme court, except in cases otherwise directed by this

constitution, shall have appellate jurisdiction only, which shall be co-ex-

tensive with the state, under the restrictions and limitations in this consti-

tution provided.
Sec. 3. The supreme court shall have a general superintending con-

trol over all inferior courts. It shall have power to issue writs of habeas

corpus, mandamus, quo warranto, certiorari, and other original remedial

writs, and to hear and determine the same.
Sec. 4. The judges of the supreme court shall hold office for the term

of ten years. The judge oldest in commission shall be chief justice of the

court; and, if there be more than one commission of the same date, the

court may select the chief justice from the judges holding the same.

Sec. 5. The supreme court shall consist of five judges, any three of

whom shall constitute a quorum; and said judges shall be conservators of

the peace throughout the state, and shall be elected by the qualified voters

thereof.

Sec. 6. The judges of the supreme court shall be citizens of the

United States, not less than thirty years old, and shall have been citizens

of this state for five years next preceding their election or appointment,
and shall be learned in the law.

Sec. T. The full terms of the judges of the supreme court shall com-
mence on the first day of Tanuarv next ensuin t their election, and those

elected to fill any vacancy shall also enter upon the discharge of their

dulics on the first day of January next ensuing such election. Those ap-

pointed shall enter upon the discharge of their duties as soon as qualified.
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Sec. S. The present judges of the supreme court shall remain in

office until the expiration of their respective terms of office. To fill their

places as their terms expire, one judge shall be elected at the general
election in eighteen hundred and seventy-six, and one every two years
thereafter.

Sec 9. The supreme court shall be held at the seat of government at

such times as may be prescribed by law^; and until otherwise directed by
law, the terms of said court shall commence on the third Tuesday in Octo-

ber and April of each year.
Sec. 10. The state shall provide a suitable court room at the seat of

government, in which the supreme court shall hold its sessions; also a

clerk's office, furnished offices for the judges, and the use of the state

library.
Sec. 11. If, in any cause pending in the supreme court, or the St.

Louis court of appeals, the judges sitting shall be equally divided in opin-

ion, no judgment shall be entered therein based on such division
;
but the

parties to the cause may agree upon some person, learned in the law, to

act as special judge in the cause, who shall therein sit with the court, and

give decision in the same manner and with the same effect as one of the

judges. If the parties cannot agree upon a special judge, the court shall

appoint one.

Sec. 12. There is hereby established in the city of St. Louis an appel-
late court, to be known as the " St. Louis court of appeals," the jurisdic-
tion of which shall be coextensive with the city of St. Louis and the coun-

ties of St. Louis, St. Charles, Lincoln and Warren. Said court shall have

power to issue writs of habeas corpus, quo warranto, mandamus, certiorari,

and other original remedial writs, and to hear and determine the same; and
shall have a superintending control over all inferior courts of record in said

counties. Appeals shall lie from the decisions of the St. Louis court of ap-

peal? to the supreme court, and writs of error may issue from the supreme
court to said court in the following cases only: In all cases where the

amount in dispute, exclusive of costs, exceeds the sum of two thousand five

hundred dollars; in cases involving the construction of the constitution of

the United States or of this state; in cases where the validity of a treaty or

statute of, or authorit}- exercised under the United States is drawn in ques-
tion

;
in cases involving the construction of the revenue laws of this state,

or the title to any office under this state; in cases involving title to real

estate; in cases w^here a county or other political subdivision of the state,
or an}' state officer is a party, and in all cases of felony.
Sec 13. The St. Louis court of appeals shall consist of three judges,

to be elected by the qualified voters of the city of St. Louis, and the coun-
ties of St. Louis, St. Charles, Lincoln and Warren, who shall hold their

offices for the period of twelve years. They shall be residents of the dis-

trict composed of said counties, shall possess the same qualifications as

judges of the supreme court, and each shall receive the same compensation
as is now, or may be, provided by law for the judges of the circuit court of

St. Louis county, and be paid from the same sources: Provided, That
each of said counties shall pay its proportional part of the same, according
to its taxable property.
Sec 14. The judges of said court shall be conservators of the peace

throughout said counties. Any two of said judges shall constitute a quo-
rum. There shall be two terms of said court to be held each year, on the
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first Monday of March and October, and the first teiTn of said court shall

be held on the first Monda}- in Januar^^, 1870.

Sec. 15. The opinions of said court shall be in writing, and shall be
filed in the cases in which they shall be respectively made, and become

parts of their record ; and all laws relating to the practice in the supreme
court shall appl}^ to this court, so far as the same may be applicable.

Sec. 16. At the first general election held in said city and counties

after the adoption of this constitution, three judges of said court shall be

elected, who shall determine by lot the duration of their several terms of

office, which shall be respectively four, eight and twelve years, and certify
the result to the secretary of state; and every four years thereafter one

judge of said court shall be elected to hold office for the term of twelve

years. The term of office of such judges shall begin on the first Monday
in January next ensuing their election. The judge having the oldest

license to practice law in this state, shall be the presiding judge of said

court.

Sec. 17. Upon the adoption of this constitution the governor shall

appoint three judges for said court, who shall hold their offices until the

first Monday of January, eighteen hundred and seventy-seven, and until

their successors shall be duly qualified.
Sec. 18. The clerk of the supreme court at St. Louis shall be the clerk

of the St. Louis court of appeals until the expiration of the term for which
he was appointed clerk of the supreme court, and until his successor shall

be duly qualified.
Sec. 19. All cases which may be pending in the supreme court at St.

Louis at the time of the adoption of this constitution, which by its terms
would come within the final appellate jurisdiction of the St. Louis court of

appeals, shall be certified and transferred to the St. Louis court of appeals,
to be heard and determined by said court.

Sec. 20. All cases coming to said court by appeal, or writ of error,
shall be triable at the expiration of fifteen days from the filing of the tran-

script in the office of the clerk of said court.

Sec. 21. Upon the adoption of this constitution, and after the close of

the next regular terms of the supreme court at St. Louis and St. Joseph, as

now established by law, the office of the clerk of the supreme court at St.

Louis and St. Joseph shall be vacated, and said clerks shall transmit to the

clerk of the supreme court at Jefierson City all the books, records, docu-

ments, transcripts and papers belonging to their respective offices, except
those required b}' section nineteen of this article, to be turned over to the

St. Louis court of appeals: and said records, documents, transcripts and

papers shall become part of the records, documents, transcripts and papers
of said supreme court at Jefferson Citv, and said court shall hear and
determine all the cases thus transferred as other cases.

Sec. 22. The circuit court shall have jurisdiction over all criminal

cases not otherwise provided for by law
; exclusive original jurisdiction in

all civil cases not otherwise provided for; and such concurrent jurisdiction

with, and appellate jurisdiction from inferior tribunals and justices of the

peace as is or ma}^ be provided b}^ law. It shall hold its terms at such

times and places in each county as may be by law directed; but at least

two terms shall be held every year in each county.
Sec 2o. The circuit court shall exercise a superintending control over

criminal courts, probate courts, county courts, municipal corporation
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courts, justices of the peace, and all inferior tribunals in each county in

their respective circuits.
, . ,

. • •

Sec. 24. The state, except as otherwise provided in this constitution,

shall be divided into convenient circuits of contiguous counties, in each of

which circuits one circuit judge shall be elected; and such circuits may be

chano-ed, enlarged, diminished or abolished, from time to time, as public

convenience may require; and whenever a circuit shall be abolished, the

office of the judge of such circuit shall cease.

Sec. 25. The judges of the circuit courts shall be elected by the quali-

fied voters of each circuit; shall hold their offices for the term of six years,

and shall reside in and be conservators of the peace within their respective

Circuits*

Sec. 26. No person shall be eligible to the office of judge of the cir-

cuit court who shall not have attained the age of thirty years, been a citi-

zen of the United States five years, a qualified voter of this state for three

years, and who shall not be a resident of the circuit in which he may be

elected or appointed.
Sec. 27. The circuit court of St. Louis county shall be composed of

five judges, and such additional number as the general assembly may,
from time to time, provide. Each of said judges shall sit separately for

the trial of causes and the transaction of business in special term. The

judges of said circuit court may sit in general term, for the purpose of

making rules of court, and for the transaction of such
^

other business as

may be provided by law, at such time as they may determine
;
but shall have

no power to review any order, decision or proceeding of the court in

special term. The St. Louis court of appeals shall have exclusive jurisdic-

tion of all appeals from, and writs of error to circuit courts of St. Charles,

Lincoln and Warren counties, and the circuit court of St. Louis county, in

special term, and all courts of record having criminal jurisdiction in said

counties.

Sec. 28. In any circuit composed of a single county, the general assem-

bly may, from time time, provide for one or more additional judges, as the

business shall require; each of whom shall separately try cases and per-
form all other duties imposed upon circuit judges.

Sec. 29. If there be a vacancy in the office of judge of any circuit, or

if the judge be sick, absent, or from any cause unable to hold any term, or

part of term of court, in any county in his circuit, such term, or part of

term of court, may be held by a judge of any other circuit; and at the re-

quest of the judge of any circuit, any term of court, or part of term in his

circuit, may be held by the judge of any other circuit, and in all such cases,

or in any case where the judge cannot preside, the general assembly shall

make such additional provision for holding court as may be found necessary.
Sec. 30. The election of judges of all courts of record shall be held as

is or may be provided by law, and in case of a tie or contested election be-

tween the candidates, the same shall be determined as prescribed by law.

Sec. 31. The general assembly shall have no power to establish crim-

inal courts, except in counties having a population exceeding fifty thousand.

Sec. 32. In case the office of judge of any court of record becomes va-

cant by death, resignation, removal, failure to qualify, or otherwise, such

vacancy shall be filled in the manner provided by law.

Sec. 33. The judges of the supreme, appellate and circuit courts,
and of all other courts of record receiving a salary, shall, at stated times,
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receive such compensation for their services as is or may he prescribed by
law; but it shall not be increased or diminished during the period for which

they were elected.

Sec. 34. The general assembly shall establish in every county a pro-
bate court, which shall be a court of record, and consist of one judge, who
shall be elected. Said court shall have jurisdiction over all matters per-
taining to probate business, to granting letters testamentary and of admin-
istration, the appointment of guardians and curators of minors and persons
of unsound mind, settHng the accounts of executors, administrators, cura-
tors and guardians, and the sale or leasing of lands by administrators,
curators and guardians; and, also, jurisdiction over all matters relating to

apprentices: Provided, That until the general assembly shall provide by
law for a uniform system of probate courts, the jurisdiction of probate
courts heretofore established shall remain as now provided by law.

.Sec. 85. Probate courts shall be uniform in their organization, juris-

diction, duties and practice, except that a separate clerk may be provided
for, or the judge may be required to act, ex-qfficio, as his own clerk.

Sec. 36. In each county there shall be a county court, which shall be
a court of record, and shall have jurisdiction to transact all county and
such other business as may be prescribed by law. The court shall consist
of one or more judges, not exceeding three, of whom the probate judge
may be one, as may be provided by law.

Sec. 37. In each county there shall be appointed, or elected, as many
justices of the peace as the public good may require, whose powers, duties
and duration in office shall be regiilated by law.

Sec. 38. All writs and process shall run, and all prosecutions shall be
conducted in the name of the " state of Missouri ;" all writs shall be
attested by the clerk of the court from which they shall be issued; and all

indictments shall conclude "against the peace and dignity of the state."

Sec. 39. The St. Louis court of appeals and supreme court shall

appoint their own clerks. The clerks of all other courts of record shall

be elective, for such terms and m such manner as may be directed by law
;

provided, that the term of office of no existing clerk of any court of record,
not abolished by this constitution, shall be affected by such law.

Sec. 40. In case there be a tie, or a contested election between can-
didates for clerk of any court of record, the same shall be determined
in such manner as may be directed by law.

Sec. 41. In case of the inability of any judge of a court of record to

discharge the duties of his office with efficiency, by reason of continued

sickness, or physical or mental infirmity, it shall be in the power of the

general assembly, two thirds of the members of each house concurring,
with the approval of the governor, to remove such judge from office; but
each house shall state on its respective journal the cause for which it shall

wish his removal, and give him notice thereof, and he shall have the right
to be heard in his defense, in such manner as the general assembly shall

bv law direct.

Sec. 42. All courts now existing in this state, not named or provided
for in this constitution, shall continue until the expiration of the terms of

office of the several judges; and as such terms expire, the business ofsaid
court shall vest in the court having jurisdiction thereof in the counties
where said courts now exist, and all the records and papers shall be trans-

ferred to the proper courts.
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Sec. 43. The supreme court of the state shall designate what opin-
ions delivered by the court, or the judge thereof, may be printed at the ex-

pense of the state; and the general assembly shall make no provision for

pavment by the state for the publication of any case decided by said court,
not so designated.

Sec. 44. All judicial decisions in this state shall be free for publica-
tion by any person.

ARTICLE VII.—IMPEACHMKNTS.

Section 1. The governor, lieutenant governor, secretary of state,

state auditor, state treasurer, attorney general, superintendent of pub-
lic schools, and judges of the supreme, circuit and criminal courts, and
of the St. Louis court of appeals, shall be liable to impeachment for high
crimes or misdemeanors, and for misconduct, habits of drunkenness, or op-
pression in office.

Sec. 2. The house of representatives shall have the sole power of

impeachment. All impeachments shall be tried by the senate, and, when

sitting for that purpose, the senators shall be sworn to do justice according
to law and evidence. When the governor of the state is on trial, the chief

justice of the supreme court shall preside. No person shall be convicted

without the concurrence of two-thirds of the senators present. But judg-
ment in such cases shall not extend any further than removal from office,

and disqualification to hold any office of honor, trust or profit under this

state. The party, whether convicted or acquitted, shall, nevertheless, be
liable to prosecution, trial, judgment an^ punishment according to law.

ARTICLE VIII.—SUFFRAGE AND ELECTIONS.

Section 1. The general election shall be held biennially on the Tues-

da}"- next following the first Monday in November. The first general elec-

tion under this constitution shall be held on that day, in the year one thou-
sand eight hundred and seventy-six; but the general assembly may, by
law, fix a different day, two-thirds of all the members of each house con-

sentinij thereto.

Sec 2. Every male citizen of the United States, and every male per-
son of foreign birth, who may have declared his intention to become a citi-

zen of the United States according to law, not less than one year nor more
than five j'ears before he offers to vote, who is over the age of twenty-one
years, possessing the following qualifications, shall be entitled to vote at

all elections by the people:
Firsts He shall have resided in the state one year immediately preceding-

the election at which he offers to vote.

Second^ He shall have resided in the county, city or town where he
shall offer to vote, at least sixtv daj^s immediately preceding the election.

Sec. ?>. All elections bv the people shall be by ballot; every ballot voted
shall be numbered in the order in which it shall be received, and the
number recorded by the election officers on the list of voters, opposite the
name of the voter who presents the ballot. The election officers shall be
sworn or affirmed not to disclose how an}' voter shall have voted, unless

required to do so as witnesses in a judicial proceeding: Provided, That in all

cases of contested elections the ballots cast may be counted, compared with
the list of voters, and examined under such safeguards and regulations as-

may be prescribed by law.
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Sec. 4. Voters shall, in all cases except treason, felony or breach of

the peace, be privileged from arrest during then* attendance at elections,

and in going to and returning therefrom.

Sec. 5. The general assembly shall provide, by law, for the registra-
tion of all voters in cities and counties having a population of more than

one hundred thousand inhabitants, and may provide for such registration in

cities having a population exceeding twenty-five thousand inhabitants and
not exceeding one hundred thousand, but not otherwise.

Sec. 6. All elections, by persons in a representative capacity, shall be
viva voce.

Sec. 7. For the purpose of voting, no person shall be deemed to have

gained a residence by reason of his presence, or lost it by reason of his ab

sence, while employed in the service, either civil or military, of this state,

or of the United States, nor while engaged in the navigation of the waters

of the state or of the United States, or of the high seas, nor while a student

of any institution of learning, nor while kept in a poor house or other asy-
lum at public expense, nor while confined in public prison.

Sec. 8. No person, while kept at any poor house, or other asylum, at

public expense, nor while confined in any public prison, shall be entitled to

vote at any election under the laws of this state.

Sec. 9. The trial and determination of contested elections of all public

officers, whether state, judicial, municipal, or local, except governor and
lieutenant governor, shall be by the courts of law, or by one or more of the

judges thereof. The general assembly shall, by general law, designate the

court or judge by whom the several classes of election contests shall be

tried, and regulate the manner of trial and all matters incident thereto
;
but

no such law, assigning jurisdiction or regulating its exercise, shall apply to

any contest arising out of any election held before said law shall take effect.

Sec. 10. The general assembly may enact laws excluding from the

right of voting all persons convicted of felony or other infamous crime, or

misdemeanors connected with the exercise of the right of suffrage.
Sec. 11. No officer, soldier or marine, in the regular army or navy of

the United States, shall be entitled to vote at an}^ election in this state.

Sec. 12. No person shall be elected or appointed to any office in this

state, civil or military, who is not a citizen of the United States, and who
shall not have resided in this state one year next preceding his election or

appointment.
ARTICLE IX.—COUNTIES, cities and towns.

Section 1. The several counties of this state, as they now exist, are

hereby recognized as legal subdivisions of the state.

Sec. 2. The general assembly shall have no power to remove the

count}' seat of any county, but the removal of county seats shall be pro-
vided for by general law; and no county seat shall be removed unless two-

thirds of the qualified voters of the county, voting on the proposition at a

general election, vote therefor; and no such proposition shall be sub-

mitted oftener than once in five years. All additions to a town, which
is a county seat, shall be included, considered and regarded as part of the

county seat.

Sec. 3. The general assembly shall have no power to establish any
new county with a territory of less than four hundred and ten square miles,

nor to reduce any county, now established, to a less area or less population
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than required for a ratio of representation existing at the time; but when
a new county is formed, having a population less than a ratio of represent-

ation, it shall be attached for representative purposes to the county from

which the greatest amount of territory is taken until such ratio shall be

obtained. No county shall be divided or have any portion stricken there-

from, without submitting the question to a vote of the people of the county,
nor unless a majorit}^ of all the qualified voters of the county or counties

thus aflected, voting on the question, shall vote therefor; nor shall any new

county be established, any line of which shall run within ten miles of the

then existing county seat of any county. In all cases of the estabhshment

of an)'- new county, the new county shall be held for and obliged to pay its

ratable proportion of all the liabilities then existing of the county or coun-

ties from which said new county shall be formed.

Sec. 4. No part of the territory of any county shall be stricken ofi'and

added to an adjoining county, without submitting the question to the qual-
ified voters of the counties immediately interested, nor unless a majority of

all the qualified voters of the counties thus affected, voting on the question,
shall vote therefor. When any part of a county is stricken off and attached

to another county, the part stricken off shall be holden for, and obliged to

pay its proportion of all the liabilities then existing of the county from

which it is taken.

Sec. 5. When any new county, formed from contiguous territor}'^ taken

from older counties, or when any county to which territory shall be added
taken from an adjoining county, shall fail to pay the proportion of indebt-

edness of such territory, to the county or counties from which it is taken,
then it may be lawful for any county from which such territory has been

taken, to levy and collect, by taxation, the due proportion of indebtedness

of such territory, in the same manner as if the territory had not been
stricken off.

Sec. 6. No county, township, cit)^ or other municipalit}^, shall here-

after become a subscriber to the capital stock of any railroad or other cor-

poration or association, or make appropriation or donation, or loan its credit

to, or in aid of any such corporation or association, or to or in aid of any
college or institution of learning, or other institution, whether created for

or to be controlled by the state or others. All authority heretofore con-
ferred for any of the purposes aforesaid by the general assembly, or by
the charter of any corporation, is hereby repealed: Provided, however

,

That nothing in this constitution contained shall affect the right of any
such municipality to make such subscription, where the same has been au-
thorized under existing laws by a vote of the people of such municipality
prior to its adoption, or to prevent the issue of renewal bonds or the use of

such other means as are or may be prescribed by law, for the liquidation or

payment of such subscription, or of any existing indebtedness.
Sec. 7. The general assembly shall provide, by general laws, for the

organization and classification of cities and towns. The number of such
classes shall not exceed four; and the power of each class shall be defined

by general laws, so that all such municipal corporations of the same class

shall possess the same powers and be subject to the same restrictions. The
general assembly shall also make provisions, by general law, whereby any
city, town or village, existing by virtue of any special or local law, may
elect to become subject to, and be governed by, the general laws relating
to such corporations.
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Sec. S. The general assembly may provide, by general law, for town-

ship organization, under which any county may organize whenever a ma-

jorit}' of the legal voters of such county, voting at any general election,

shall so determine
;
and whenever any county shall adopt township organ-

ization, so much of this constitution as provides for the management of

county affairs, and the assessment and collection of the revenue by county
officers, in conflict with such general law for township organization, may
be dispensed with, and the business of said county, and the local concerns

of the several townships therein, may be transacted in such manner as may
be prescribed b}''

law: Provided, That the justices, of the county court in

such case shall not exceed three in number.
Sec. 9. In any county which shall have adopted

"
Township Organiz-

ation," the question of continuing the same may be submitted to a vote of

the electors of such count}- at a general election, in the manner that shall

be provided by law; and if a majority of all the votes cast upon that

question shall be against township organization, it shall cease in said

county; and all laws in force in relation to counties not having township
organization shall immediately take effect and be in force in such county.

Sec. 10. There shall be elected by the qualified voters in each county,
at the time and places of electing representatives, a sheriff and coroner.

They shall serve for two years, and until their successors be duly elected

and qualified, unless sooner removed for malfeasance in office, and shall be

eligible only four years in any period of six. Before entering on the duties

of their office, they shall give security in the amount and in such manner
as shall be prescribed by law. Whenever a county shall be hereafter

established, the governor shall appoint a sheriff and a coroner therein, who
shall continue in office until the next succeeding general election, and until

their successors shall be duly elected and qualified.
Sec 11. Whenever a vacancy shall happen in the office of sheriff or

coroner, the same shall be filled by the county court. If such vacancy hap-
pen in the office of sheriff' more than nine months prior to the time of

holding a general election, such county court shall immediately order a

special election to fill the same, and the person by it appointed shall hold

office until the person chosen at such election shall be duly qualified;

otherwise, the person appointed by such county court shall hold office

until the person chosen at such general election shall be duly qualified.
If any vacancy happen in the office of coroner, the same shall be filled for

the remainder of the term by such county court. No person elected or

appointed to fill a vacancy in either of said offices shall thereby be ren-

dered inefigible for the next succeeding terru.

Sec. 12. The general assembly shall, by a law uniform in its opera-
tion, provide for and regulate the fees of all county officers, and for this

purpose may classify the counties by population.
Sec. 13. The fees of no executive or ministerial officer of any county

or municipality, exclusive of the salaries actually paid to his necessary
deputies, shall exceed the sum of ten thousand dollars for any one year.

Every such officer shall make return, quarterly, to the county court of all

fees by him received, and of the salaries by him actually paid to his depu-
ties or assistants, stating the same in detail, and verifying the same by his

affidavit; and for any statement or omission in such return, contrary to

truth, such officer shall be liable to the penalties of willful and corrupt

perjury.
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Sec. 14. Except as otherwise directed by this constitution, the general

assembly shall provide for the election or appointment of such other

county,

'

township and municipal officers, as public convenience may
require ;

and their terms of office and duties shall be prescribed by law
;

but no term of office shall exceed four years.
Sec. 15. In all counties having a city therein containing over one hun-

dred thousand inhabitants, the
cit}'-

and county government thereof may
be consolidated in such manner as may be provided by law.

Sec. 16. Any city having a population of more than one hundred

thousand inhabitants, may frame a charter for its own government, con-

sistent with and subject
to the constitution and laws of this state, by

causing a board of thirteen freeholders, who shall have been for at least

five years qualified voters thereof, to be elected by the qualified voters of

such city at any general or special election; which board shall, within

ninety days after such election, return to the chief magistrate of such city
a draft of such charter, signed by the members of such board or a majority
of them. Within thirty days thereafter, such proposed charter shall be

submitted to the qualified voters of such city, at a general or special elec-

tion, and if four-sevenths of such qualified voters voting thereat, shall rat-

ify the same, it shall, at the end of thirty da^^s thereafter, become the char-

ter of such city, and supersede an}'^ existing charter and amendments
thereof. A duplicate certificate shall be made, setting forth the charter

proposed and its ratification, which shall be signed by the chief magistrate
of such city, and authenticated by its corporate seal. One of such certifi-

cates shall be deposited in the office of the secretary of state, and the other,

after being recorded in the office of the recorder of deeds for the county
in which such city lies, shall be deposited among the archives of such city,

and all courts shall take judicial notice thereof. Such charter, so adopted,

may be amended by a proposal therefor, made by the law-making author-

ities of such cit}^ published for at least thirty days in three newspapers of

largest circulation in such cit}-, one of which shall be a newspaper printed
in the German language, and accepted by three-fifths of the qualified
voters of such city, voting at a general or special election, and not other-

wise; but such charter shall always be in harmony with and subject to the

constitution and laws of the state.

Sec 17. It shall be a feature of all such charters that they shall pro-
vide, among other things, for a raa3'or or chief magistrate, and two houses
of legislation, one of which at least shall be elected by general ticket; and
in submitting any such charter or amendment thereto to the qualified
voters of such city, any alternative section or article may be presented for

the choice of the voters, and may be voted on separately, and accepted or

rejected separately, without prejudice to other articles or sections of the
charter or any amendment thereto.

Sec. 18. In cities or counties having more than two hundred thousand

inhabitants, no person shall, at the same time, be a state officer and an
officer of any county, city or other municipahty; and no person shall, at

the same time, fill two municipal offices, either in the same or different

municipalities; but this section shall not apply to notaries public, justices
of the peace or officers of the militia.

Sec 19. The corporate authorities of any county, city, or other munic-

ipal subdivision of this state, having more than two hundred thousand in-

habitants, which has already exceeded the limit of indebtedness prescribed
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in section twelve of article X of this constitution, may, in anticipation of

the customary annual revenue thereof, appropriate, during any fiscal year,
toward the general governmental expenses thereof, a sum not exceeding
seven-eighths of the entire revenue applicable to general governmental
purposes (exclusive of the payment of the bonded debt of such county, cit}-

or municipality) that was actually raised by taxation alone during the pre-

ceding fiscal year; but until such excess of indebtedness cease, no further

bonded debt shall be incurred, except for the renewal of other bonds.

ST. LOUIS.

Sec. 20. The city of St. Louis may extend its limits so as to embrace
the parks now without its boundaries, and other convenient and contiguous
territory, and frame a charter for the government of the city thus enlarged,

upon the following conditions, that is to say: The council of the city and

county court of the county of St. Louis, shall, at the request of the mayor
of the city ofSt.Louis,meet in joint session and order an election, to be held

as provided for general elections, by the qualified voters of the city and

county, of a board of thirteen freeholders of such city or county, whose

duty shall be to propose a scheme for the enlargement and definition of the

boundaries of the city, the reorganization of the government of the county,
the adjustment of the relations between the city thus enlarged and the

residue of St. Louis county and the government of the city thus enlarged,

by a charter in harmony with and subject to the constitution and laws of

Missouri, which shall, among other things, provide for a chief executive
and two houses of legislation, one of which shall be elected by general
ticket, which scheme and charter shall be signed in duplicate by said board
or a majority of them, and one of them returned to the mayor of the city
and the other to the presiding justice of the county court within ninety

days after the election of such board. Within thirty days thereafter the

city council and county court shall submi*: such scheme to the qualified
voters of the whole county, and such charter to the qualified voters of the

city so enlarged, at an election to be held not less than twenty nor more
than thirty days after the order therefor; and if a majority of such qualified

voters, voting at such election, shall ratify such scheme and charter, then
such scheme shall become the organic law of the county and city, and such
charter the organic law of the city, and at the end of sixty days thereafter

shall take the place of and supersede the charter of St. Louis, and all

amendments thereof, and all special laws relating to St. Louis county in-

consistent with such scheme.
Sec. 21. A copy of such scheme and charter, with a certificate thereto

appended, signed by the mayor and authenticated by the seal of the city,
and also signed by the presiding justice of the county court and authenti-

cated by the seal of the county, setting forth the submission of such scheme
and charter to the qualified voters of such county and city and its ratifica-

tion, by them, shall be made in duplicate, one of which shall be deposited
in the office of the secretary of state, and the other, after being recorded in

the office of the recorder of deeds of St. Louis county, shall be deposited

among the archives of the city, and thereafter all courts shall take judicial
notice thereof.

Sec. 23. The charter so ratified may be amended at intervals of not
less than two years, by proposals therefor, submitted by the law-making
authorities of the city to the qualified voters thereof at a general or special
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election, held at least sixty days after the publication of such proposals,
and accepted by at least three-fifths of the qualified voters voting thereat.

Sec. 23. Such charter and amendments shall always be in harmony
with, and subject to the constitution and laws of Missouri, except only,

that provision may be made for the graduation of the rate of taxation for

city purposes in the portions of the city which are added thereto by the

proposed enlargement of its boundaries. In the adjustment of the rela-

tions between city and county, the city shall take upon itse.t Mie entire

park tax; and in consideration of the city becoming the propriccor of all

the county buildings and property within its enlarged Hmits, it shall as-

sume the whole of the existing county debt, and thereafter the city and

county of St. Louis shall be independent of each other. The city shall be

exempted from all county taxation. The judges of the county court shall

be elected by the qualified voters outside of the city. The city, as en-

larged, shall be entitled to the same representation in the general assem-

bly, collect the state revenue, and perform all other functions in relation to

the state in the same manner as if it were a county, as in this constitution

defined ;
and the residue of the county shall remain a legal county of the

state of Missouri, under the name of the county of St. Louis. Until the

next apportionment for senators and representatives in the general assem-

bly, the city shall have six senators and fifteen representatives, and the

county one senator and two representatives, the same being the number of

senators and representatives to which the county of St. Louis, as now or-

ganized, is entitled under sections eight and eleven, of article IV, of this

constitution.

Sec. 24. The county and city of St. Louis, as now existing, shall con-

tinue to constitute the eighth judicial circuit, and the jurisdiction of all

courts of record, except the county court, shall continue until otherwise

provided by law.

Sec. 25. Notwithstanding the provisions of this article, the general

assembly shall have the same power over the city and county of St. Louis
that it has over other cities and counties of this state.

ARTICLE X.—REVENUE AND TAXATION.

Section 1. The taxing power may be exercised by the general as-

sembly for state purposes, and by counties and other municipal corpora-
tions, under authority granted to them by the general assembly, for

county and other corpqrate purposes.
Sec. 2. The power to tax corporations and corporate property shall

not be surrendered or suspended by act of the general assembty.
Sec. 3. Taxes may be levied and collected for public purposes only.

They shall be uniform upon the same class of subjects within the territorial

limits of the authority levjdng the tax; and all taxes shall be levied and
collected by general laws.

Sec. 4. All property subject to taxation shall be taxed in proportion
to its value.

Sec. 5. All railroad corporations in this state, or doing business

therein, shall be subject to taxation for state, county, school, municipal and
other purposes, on the real and personal property owned or used by them,
and on their gross earnings, their net earnings, their franchises and their

capital stock.

Sec. 6. The property, real and personal, of the state, counties and
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Other municipal corporations, and cemeteries, shall be exempt from taxa-

tion. Lots in incorporated cities or towns, or within one mile of the limits

of any such city or town, to the extent of one acre, and lots one mile or

more distant from such cities or towns, to the extent of five acres, with the

buildings thereon, ma}^ be exempted from taxation, when the same are

used exclusively for religious worship, for schools, or for purposes purely

charitable; also, such property, real or personal, as may be used exclusively

for agricultural or horticultural societies: Provided, That such exemptions
shall be only by general law.

Sec. 7. All laws exempting property from taxation, other than the

property above enumerated, shall be void.

Sec. 8. The state tax on property, exclusive of the tax necessary to

pay the bonded debt of the state, shall not exceed twenty cents on the

hundred dollars valuation; and whenever the taxable property of the state

shall amount to nine hundred million dollars, the rate shall not exceed fif-

teen cents.

Sec. 9. No county, city, town, or other municipal corporation, nor the

inhabitants thereof, nor the property therein, shall be released or discharged
from their or its proportionate share of taxes to be levied lor state pur-

poses, nor shall commutation for such taxes be authorized in any form

whatsoever.
Sec. 10. The general assembly shall not impose taxes upon counties,

cities, towns or other municipal corporations; or upon the inhabitants or

property thereof, for county, city, town or other municipal purposes; but

may, by general laws, vest in the corporate authorities thereof, the power
to assess and collect taxes for such purposes.

Sec. 11. Taxes for county, city, town and school purposes, may be
levied on all subjects and objects of taxation; but the valuation of property
therefor shall not exceed the valuation of the same property in such town,

city or school district for state and county purposes. For county purposes
the annual rate on property, in counties having six million dollars or less,

shall not, in the aggregate, exceed fifty cents on the hundred dollars valua-

tion
;
in counties having six million dollars and under ten milHon dollars,

said rate shall not exceed forty cents on the hundred dollars valuation ; in

counties having ten million dollars and under thirty million dollars, said

rate shall not exceed fifty cents on the hundred dollars valuation
;
and in

counties having thirty million dollars or more, said rate shall not exceed

thirty-five cents on the hundred dollars valuation. For city and town pur-

poses the annual rate on property in cities and towns having thirty thou-

sand inhabitants or more, shall not, in the aggregate, exceed one hundred
cents on the hundred dollars valuation; in cities and towns having less

than thirty thousand and over ten thousand inhabitants, said rate shall

not exceed sixt}^ cents on the hundred dollars valuation; in cities and
towns having less than ten thousand and more than one thousand inhabi-

tants, said rate shall not exceed fifty cents on the hundred dollars valuation;
and in towns having one thousand inhabitants or less, said rate shall not

exceed twenty-five cents on the hundred valuation. For school purposes in

districts, the annual rate on property shall not exceed forty cents on the

hundred dollars valuation: Provided, The aforesaid atmual rates for school

purposes ma}^ be increased, in districts formed of cities and towns, to an

amount not to exceed one dollar on the hundred dollars valuation ;
and in

other districts to an amount not to exceed sixty-five cents on the hundred
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dollars valuation, on the condition that a majority of the voters who are

tax-payers, voting at an election held to decide the question, vote for said

increase. For the purpose of erecting public buildings in counties, cities

or school districts, the rates of taxation herein limited may be increased

when the rate of such increase and the purpose for which it is intended

shall have been submitted to a vote of the people, and two-thirds of the

qualified voters of such county, city, or school district, voting at such elec-

tion shall vote therefor. The rate herein allowed to each county shall be

ascertained by the amount of taxable property therein, according to the

last assessment for state and county purposes, and the rate allowed to each

city or town by the number of inhabitants, according to the last census

taken under the authorit}^ of the state, or of the United States; said re-

strictions, as to rates, shall apply to taxes of every kind and description,
whether general or special, except taxes to pay valid indebtedness now ex-

isting or bonds which may be issued in renewal of such indebtedness.

Sec. 12. No county, city, town, township, school district or other polit-
ical corporation or subdivision of the state, shall be allowed to become
indebted in any manner or for any purpose to an amount exceeding in an}'-

year the income and revenue provided for such year, without the assent of

two-thirds the voters thereof, voting at an election to be held for that

purpose; nor in cases requiring such assent shall any indebtedness be
allowed to be incurred to an amount including existing indebtedness, in

the aggregate, exceeding five per centum on the value of the taxable prop-
erty therein, to be ascertained by the assessment next before the last as-

sessment for state and county purposes, previous to the incurring of such
indebtedness: Provided^ That with such assent any county may be allowed
to become indebted to a larg^er amount for the erection of a court house or

jail: And provided further^ That any county, city, town, township, school
district or other political corporation, or subdivision of the state, incurring
any indebtedness, requiring the assent of the voters as aforesaid, shall, be-
fore or at the time of doing so, provide for the collection of an annual tax,
sufficient to pay the interest on such indebtedness as it falls due, and also

to constitute a sinking fund for payment of the principal thereof, within

twenty years from the time of contracting the same.
Sec. 13. Private property shall not be taken or sold for the payment

of the corporate debt of a municipal corporation.
Sec. 14. The tax authorized by the sixth section of the ordinance

adopted June sixth, one thousand eight hundred and sixty-five, is hereby
abolished, and hereafter there shall be levied and collected an annual tax
sufficient to pay the accruing interest upon the bonded debt of the state,
and to reduce the principal thereof each year by a sum not less than two
hundred and fifty thousand dollars; the proceeds of which tax shall be paid
into the state treasury, and appropriated and paid out for the purposes
expressed in the first and second subdivisions of section forty-three of arti-

cle IV of this constitution. The funds and resources now in the state in-

terest and state sinking funds shall be appropriated to the same purposes ;

and whenever said bonded debt is extinguished, or a sum sufficient there-
for has been raised, the tax provided for in this section shall cease to be
assessed.

Sec. 1.5. All moneys now, or at any time hereafter, in the state treas-

ury, belonging to the state, shall, immediately on receipt thereof, be

deposited by the treasurer to the credit of the state for the benefit of the
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funds to which they respectively belong, in such bank or banks as he may,
from time to time, with the approval of the governor and attorney gen-
eral, select; the said bank or banks giving security, satisfactory to the gov-
ernor and attorney general, for the safe keeping and payment of such

deposit, when demanded by the state treasurer on his checks; such bank
to pay a bonus for the use of such deposits not less than the bonus paid by
other banks for similar deposits; and the same, together with such interest

and profits as may accrue thereon, shall be disbursed by said treasurer for

the purposes of the state, according to law, upon warrants drawn by the

state auditor, and not otherwise.

Sec. 16. The treasurer shall keep a separate account of the funds, and
the number and amount of warrants received, and from whom; and shall

publish, in such manner as the governor may designate, quarterly state-

ments, showing the amount of state moneys, and where the same are kept
or deposited.

Sec. 17. The making of profit out of state, county, city, town or school

district money, or using the same for any purpose not authorized by law,

by any public officer, shall be deemed a felony, and shall be punished as

provided by law.

Sec. 18.' There shall be a state board of equalization, consisting of the

governor, state auditor, state treasurer, secretary of state and attorney

general. The duty of said board shall be to adjust and equalize the valu-

ation of real and personal property among the several counties in the state,

and it shall perform such other duties as are or may be prescribed by law.

Sec. 19. No moneys shall ever be paid out of the treasury of this

state, or any of the funds under its management, except in pursuance of

an appropriation by law
;
nor unless such payment be made, or a warrant

shall have issued therefor, within two years after the passage of such ap-

propriation act; and every such law, making a new appropriation, or con-

tinuing or reviving an appropriation, shall distinctly specify the sum appro-

priated, and the object to which it is to be applied ;
and it shall not be suffi-

cient to refer to any other law to fix such sum or object. A regular state-

ment and account of the receipts and expenditures of all public money
shall be pubHshed from time to time.

Sec. 20. The moneys arising from any loan, debt or liability, con-

tracted by the state, or any county, city, town, or other municipal corpora-
tion, shall be applied to the purposes for which they were obtained,' or to

the repayment of such debt or liability, and not otherwise.

Sec. 21. No corporation, company or association, other than those

formed for benevolent, religious, scientific, or educational purposes, shall be
created or organized under the laws of this state, unless the persons named
as corporators shall, at or before the filing of the articles of association or

incorporation, pay into the state treasury fifty dollars for the first fifty

thousand dollars or less of capital stock, and a further sum of five dollars

for every additional ten thousand dollars of its capital stock. And no such

corporation, company or association shall increase its capital stock without

first paying into the treasury five dollars for every ten thousand dollars of

increase: Provided^ That nothing contained in this section shall be con-

strued to prohibit the general assembly from levying a further tax on the

franchises of such corporation.
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AKTICLE XI.—EDUCATION.

Section 1. A general diffusion of knowledge and intelligence being
essential to the preservation of the rights and liberties of the people, the

o-eneral assembly shall establish and maintain free public schools for the

gratuitous instruction of all persons in this state between the ages of six

and twent}- years.
Sec. 2.

"^

The income of all the funds provided by the state for the sup-

port of free public schools, shall be paid annually to the several county
treasurers, to be disbursed according to law

;
but no school district, in

which a free public school has not been maintained at least three months

during the year for which the distribution is made, shall be entitled to

receive anv portion of such funds.

Sec. 3.

"

Separate free public schools shall be established for the educa-

tion of children of African descent.

Sec. 4. The supervision of instruction in the public schools shall be

vested in a " board of education," whose powers and duties shall be pre-
scribed by law. The superintendent of public schools shall be president
of the board. The governor, secretary of state and attorney-general shall

be ex-officio members, and with the superintendent, compose said board

of education.

Sec. 5. The general assembly shall, whenever the public school fund

will permit, and the actual necessity of the same may require, aid and
maintain the state university, now established, with its present depart-
ments. The government of the state university shall be vested in a board
of curators, to consist of nine members, to be appointed by the governor,
bv and with the advice and consent of the senate.

Sec 6. The proceeds of all lands that have been, or hereafter may be

granted by the United States to this state, and not otherwise appropriated

by this state or the United States; also, all moneys, stocks, bonds, lands

and other property now belonging to any state fund for purposes of educa-

tion; also, the net proceeds of all sales of lands, and other property and
effects that may accrue to the state by escheat, from unclaimed dividends
and distributive shares of the estates of deceased persons; also, any pro-
ceeds of the sales of the public lands which may have been or hereafter

may be paid over to this state, (if congress will consent to such appropria-
tion); also, all other grants, gifts or devises that have been, or hereafter

may be, made to this state, and not otherwise appropriated by the state or

the terms of the grant, gift or devise, shall be paid into the state treasury,
and securely invested and sacredly preserved as a public school fund; the
annual income of which fund, together v.ith so much of the ordinary reve-
nue of the state as may be by law set apart for that purpose, shall be faith-

fully appropriated for establishing and maintaining the free public schools
and the state university in this article provided for, and for no other uses
or purposes whatsoever.
Sec 7. In case the public school fund now provided and set apart by

law, for the support of free public schools, shall be insufficient to sustain a

free school at least four months in every year in each school district in this

state, the general assembly may provide "for such deficienc}- in accordance
with section eleven of the article on revenue and taxation

;
but in no case

shall there be set apart less than twenty-five per cent, of the state revenue
exclusive of the interest and sinking fund, to be applied annually to the

support of the public schools.
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Sec. 8. All moneys, stocks, bonds, lands and other property belonging
to a county school fund; also, the net proceeds from the sale of estrays:

also, the clear proceeds of all penalties and forfeitures, and of all fines

collected in the several counties for any breach of the penal or mili-

tary laws of the state, and all moneys which shall be paid by persons as

an equivalent for exemption from military duty, shall belong to and be

securely invested, and sacredly preserved in the several counties, as a

county public school fund; the income of which fund shall be faithfully

appropriated for establishing and maintaining free pubHc schools in the

several counties of this state.

Sec. 9. No part of the public school fund of the state shall ever be
invested in the stock or bonds, or other obligations of any other state, or

of any county, city, town or corporation; and the proceeds of the sales of

any lands or other property which now belong, or may hereafter belong,
to said school fund, shall be invested in the bonds of the state of Missouri,
or of the United States.

Sec. 10. All county school funds shall be loaned only upon unincum-
bered real estate security, of double the valve of the loan, with personal

security in addition thereto.

Sec 11. Neither the general assembly, nor any county, city, town,

township, school district or other municipal corporation, shall ever make
an appropriation, or pay from any public fund whatever anything in aid of

any religious creed, church or sectarian purpose; or to help to support or

sustain any private or public school, academy, seminary, college, univers-

ity or other institution of learning, controlled by any religious crted,
church or sectarian denomination whatever; nor shall any grant or

donation of personal property or real estate ever be made by the state, or

any county, city, town or other municipal corporation, for any religious

creed, church or sectarian purpose whatever.

ARTICLE XII.—CORPORATIONS.

Section 1. All existing charters, or grants of special or exclusive priv-

ileges, under which a bona fide organization shall not have taken place,
and business been commenced in good faith, at the adoption of this con-

stitution, shall thereafter have no validity.
Sec 2. No corporation, after the adoption of this constitution, shall be

created by special laws; nor shall any existing charter be extended,

changed or amended by special laws, except those for charitable, penal or

reformatory purposes, which are under the patronage and control of the

state.

Sec 3. The general assembly shall not remit the forfeiture of the

charter of any corporation now existing, or alter or amend such forfeited

charter, or pass any other general or special laws for the benefit of such

corporations.
Sec 4. The exercise of the power and right of eminent domain, shall

never be so construed or abridged as to prevent the taking, by the general

assembl}^, of the property and franchises of incorporated companies already

organized, or that may be hereafter organized, and subjecting them to the

public use, the same as that of individuals. The right of trial by jury
shall be held inviolate in all trials of claims for compensation, when in the

exercise of said right of eminent domain, any incorporated company shall

be interested either for or against the exercise of said right.
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Sec. 5. The exercise of the police power of the state shall never be

abridged, or so construed as to permit corporations to conduct their busi-

ness in such manner as to infringe the equal rights of individuals, or the

general well-being of the state.

Sec 6. In all elections for directors or managers of any incorporated

company, each shareholder shall have the right to cast as many votes in

the aggregate as shall equal the number of shares so held by him or her

in said company, multiplied by the number of directors or managers to be

elected at such election ;
and each shareholder may cast the whole number

of votes, either in person or by proxy for one candidate, or distribute such

votes among two or more candidates
;
and such directors or managers shall

not be elected in any other manner.

Sec 7. No corporation shall engage in business, other than that ex-

pressly authorized in its charter or the law under which it may have been

or hereafter may be organized, nor shall it hold any real estate for any
period longer than six years, except such as may be necessary and proper
for carrying on its legitimate business.

Sec "s. No corporation shall issue stock or bonds, except for money
paid, labor done or property actually received, and all fictitious increase of

stock or indebtedness shall be void. The stock and bonded indebtedness

of corporations shall not be increased, except in pursuance of general law,
nor without the consent of the persons holding the larger amount in value

of the stock first obtained at a meeting called for the purpose, first giving

sixty days public notice, as may be provided by law.

Sec d. Dues from private corporations shall be secured by such means
as may be prescribed by law, but in no case shall any stockholder be indi-

vidually liable in any amount over or above the amount of stock owned

by him or her.

Sec 10. No corporation shall issue preferred stock without the con-
sent of all the stockholders.

Sec 11. The term "corporation," as used in this article, shall be con-
strued to include all joint stock companies or associations having any pow-
ers or privileges not possessed by individuals or partnerships.

RAILROADS.

Sec 12. It shall not be lawful in this state for any railway company
to charge for freight or passengers a greater amount, for tht- transportation
of the same, for a less distance than the amount charged for an}- greater
distance, and suitable laws shall be passed by the general assembly to en-
force this provision; but excursion and commutation tickets maybe issued
at special rates.

Sec 13. Any railroad corporation or association, organized for the

purpose, shall have the right to construct and operate a railroad between

any points within this stale, and to connect at the state line with railroads
of other states. Every railroad company shall have the right, with its

road, to intersect, connect with, or cross any other railroad, and shall receive
and transport each the other's passengers, tonnage and cars, loaded or

empty, without delay or discrimination.

Sec 14.
_
Railways heretofore constructed, or that may hereafter be

constructed in this state are hereby declared public highw-ays, and railroad

companies common carriers. The general assembly shall pass laws tc

correct abuses and prevent unjust discrimination and extortion in the rates
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of freight and passenger tariffs on the different railroads in this state; and

shall, from time to time, pass laws establishing reasonable maximum rates

of charges for the transportation of passengers and freight on said railroads,
and enforce all such laws by adequate penalties.

Sec. 15. Every railroad or other corporation, organized or doing busi-

ness in this state under the laws or authority thereof, shall have and main-
tain a public office or place in this state for the transaction of its business,
where transfers of stock shall be made, and where shall be kept, for public

inspection, books in which shall be recorded the amount of capital stock

subscribed, the names of the owners of the stock, the amounts owned by
them respective!}', the amount of stock paid, and by whom, the transfer of

said stock, with the date of transfer, the amount of its assets and liabilities,

and the names and places of residence of its officers. The directors of

every railroad company shall hold one meeting annually in this state, pub-
lic notice of which shall be given thirty days previously, and shall report
annually, under oath, to the state auditor, or some officer designated by
law, all of their acts and doings, which report shall include such matters

relating to railroads as may be prescribed by law. The general assembly
shall pass laws enforcing, by suitable penalties, the provisions of this sec-

tion.

Sec. 16. The rolling stock and all other movable property belonging
to any railroad company or corporation in this state, shall be considered

personal property, and shall be liable to execution and sale in the same
manner as the personal property of individuals; and the general assembly
shall pass no law exempting any such property from execution and sale.

Sec. 17. No railroad or other corporation, or the lessees, purchasers or

managers of any railroad corporation, shall consolidate the stock, property
or franchises ot such corporation, with, or lease or purchase the works or

franchises of, or in any way control any railroad corporation owning or hav-

ing under its control a parallel or competing line; nor shall any officer of

such railroad corporation act as an officer of any other railroad corporation
owning or having the control of a parallel or competing line. The ques-
tion whether railroads are parallel or competing lines shall, when demanded,
be decided by a jury, as in other civil issues.

Sec. 18. If any railroad company organized under the laws of this

state shall consolidate, by sale or otherwise, with any railroad company
organized under the laws of any other state, or of the United States, the
same shall not thereby become a foreign corporation; but the courts of this

state shall retain jurisdiction in all matters which may arise, as if said con-
solidation had not taken place. In no case shall any consolidation take

place, except upon public notice of at least sixty days to all stockholders,
in such manner as may be provided by law.

Sec. 19. The general assembly shall pass no law for the benefit of a
railroad or other corporations, or any individual or association of individ-

uals, retrospective in its operation, or which imposes on the people of any
county or municipal subdivision of the state, a new liability in respecc to

transactions or considerations alread}^ past.
Sec 20. No law shall be passed by the general assembly granting the

right to construct and operate a street railroad within any city, town, vil-

lage, or on any public highway, without first acquiring the consent of the

local authorities having control of the street or highway proposed to be
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occupied by such street railroad; and the franchises so granted shall not

be transferred without similar assent first obtained.

Sec. 21. No railroad corporation in existence at the time of the adop-
tion of this constitution shall have the benefit of any future legislation,

except on condition of complete acceptance of all the provisions of this

constitution applicable to railroads.

Sec. 22. No president, director, officer, agent, or employe of any rail-

road companv shall be interested, directly, or indirectly, in furnishing ma-
terial or supplies to such company, or in the business of transportation as

a common carrier of freight or passengers over the works owned, leased,
controlled or worked by such company.

Sec. 23. No discrimination in charges or facilities in transportation
shall be made between transportation companies and individuals, or in

favor of either, by abatement, drawback or otherwise; and no railroad com-

pany, or any lessee, manager or employee thereof, shall make any prefer-
ence in furnishing cars or motive power.

Sec. 24. No railroad or other transportation company shall grant free

passes or tickets, or passes or tickets at a discount, to members of the gen-
eral assembly, or members of the board of equalization, or any state, or

county, or municipal officers; and the acceptance of such pass or ticket, by
a member of the general assembly, or any such officer, shall be a forfeiture

of his office.

BANKS.
I

Sec. 25. No state bank shall hereafter be created, nor shall the state

own or be liable for any stock in any corporation, or joint stock company,
or association for banking purposes, now created or hereafter to be cre-

ated.

Sec. 26. No act of the general assembly authorizing or creating cor-

porations or associations with banking powers (except banks of deposit
or discount,) nor amendments thereto, shall go into effect, or in any man-
ner be enforced, unless the same shall be submitted to a vote of the quali-
fied voters of the state, at the general election next succeeding the pass-

age of the same, and be approved by a majority of the votes cast at such
election.

Sec. 27. It shall be a crime, the nature and punishment of which shall

be prescribed by law, for any president, director, manager, cashier or other
officer of any banking institution, to assent to the reception of deposits, or

the creation of debts by such banking institution, after he shall have had

knowledge of the fact that it is insolvent, or in failing circumstances; and

any such officer, agent or manager, shall be individually responsible for

such deposits so received, and all such debts so created with his assent.

ARTICLE XIII.—MILITIA.

Section 1. All able-bodied male inhabitants of this state between the

ages of eighteen and forty-five years, who are citizens of the United States,
or have declared their intention of become such citizens, shall be liable to

military duty in the militia of this state: Provided^ That no person who is

religiously scrupulous of bearing arms, can be compelled to do so, but may
be compelled to pay an equivalent for military service, in such manner as

sh;ill be prescribed by law.

Sec. 2. The general assembly, in providing for the organization,
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equipment and discipline of the militia, shall conform, as nearly as practi-

cable, to the regulations for the government of the armies of the United

States.

Sec. 3. Each company and regiment shall elect its own company and

regimental officers; but if any company or regiment shall neglect to elect

such officers within the time prescribed by law, or by the order of the gov-
ernor, they may be appointed by the governor.

Sec. 4. Volunteer companies of infantry, cavalry and artillery, may
be formed in such manner and under such restrictions as may be provided

by law.

Sec. 5. The volunteer and militia forces shall in all cases, except trea-

son, felony and breach of the peace, be privileged from arrest during their

attendance at musters, parades and elections, and in going to and returning
from the same.

Sec. 6. The governor shall appoint the adjutant general, quarter-
master general and his other stafl' officers. He shall also, with the advice

and consent of the senate, appoint all major generals and brigadier generals.
Sec. 7. The general assembly shall provide for the safe keeping of

the public arms, military records, banners and relics of the state.

ARTICLE XIV.—MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.

Section 1. The general assembly of this state shall never interfere

with the primary disposal of the soil by the United States, nor with any
regulation which congress may find necessary for securing the title in such

5oil to bona -fide purchasers. No tax shall be imposed on lands the prop-

erty of the 'United States; nor shall lands belonging to persons residing
out of the limits of this state ever be' taxed at a higher rate than the lands

belonging to persons residing within the state.

Sec. 2. No person shall be prosecuted in any civil action or criminal

proceeding for or on account of any act by him done, performed or exe-

cuted between the first day of January, one thousand eight hundred and

sixty-one, and the twentieth day of August, one thousand eight hundred
and sixty-six, by virtue of military authority vested in him, or in pursu-
ance of orders from any person vested with such authority by the govern-
ment of the United States, or of this state, or of the late Confederate

states, or any of them, to do such act. And if any action or proceedings
shall have been, or shall hereafter be instituted against any person for the

doing of any such act, the defendant may plead this section in bar thereof.

Sec. 3. No person who shall hereafter fight a duel, or assist in the

same as a second, or send, accept, or knowingly carry a challenge therefor,

or agree to go out of this state to fight a duel, shall hold any office in this

state.

Sec. 4. No person holding an office of profit under the United States,

shall, during his continuance in such office, hold any office of profit under
this state.

Sec. 5. In the absence of any contrary provision, all officers now or

nereafter elected or appointed, subject to the right of resignation, shall

hold office during their official terms, and until their successors shall be

duly elected or appointed and qualified.
Sec. 6. All officers, both civil and military, under the authority of this

state, shall, before entering on the duties of their respective offices, take

and subscribe an oath;-<or affirmation, to support the constitution of the
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United States and of this state, and to demean themselves faithfully in

office.

Sec. 7. The general assembly shall, in addition to other penalties,

provide for the removal from office of county, city, town and township

officers, on conviction of willful, corrupt or fraudulent violation or neglect

of official duty.
Sec. S. The compensation or fees of no state, county or municipal

officer shall be increased during his term of office
;
nor shall the term of

any office be extended for a longer period than that for which such officer

was elected or appointed.
Sec. 9. The appointment of all officers not otherwise directed by this

constitution, shall be made in such manner as may be prescribed by law.

Sec. 10. The general assembly shall have no power to authorize lot-

teries or gift enterprises for any purpose, and shall pass laws to prohibit the

sale of lottery or gift enterprise tickets, or tickets in any scheme in the

nature of a lottery, in this state ;
and all acts or parts of acts heretofore

passed by the legislature of this state, authorizing a lottery or lotteries,

and all "^acts amendatory thereof, or supplemental thereto, are hereby
avoided.

Sec. 11. It shall be the duty of the grand jury in each county, at least

once a year, to investigate the official acts of all officers having charge of

public funds, and report the result of their investigations in writing to the

court.

Sec. 12. Senators and representatives shall, in all cases, except trea-

son, felony, or breach of the peace, be privileged from arrest during the

session of the general assembly, and for fifteen days next before the com-
mencement and after the termination of each session

;
and for any speech

or debate in either house the}^ shall not be questioned in any other place.

ARTICLE XV.—MODE OP AMENDING THE CONSTITUTION.

Section 1. This constitution may be amended and revised only in

pursuance of the provisions of this article.

Sec. 2. The general assembly may, at any time, propose such amend-
me-nts to this constitution as a majority of the members elected to each
house shall deem expedient; and the vote thereon shall betaken by yeas
and nays, and entered in full on the journals. The proposed amendments
shall be published with the laws of that session, and also shall be published
weekly in some newspaper, if such there be, within each county in the

state, for four consecutive weeks next preceding the general election then
next ensuing. The proposed amendments shall be submitted to a vote of

the people, each amendment separately, at the next general election there-

after, in such manner as the general assembly may provide. If a major-
ity of the qualified voters of the state, voting for and against any one of

said amendments, shall vote for such amendment, the same shall be deemed
and taken to have been ratified by the people, and shall be vahd and

binding, to all intents and purposes, as a part of this constitution.

Sec. 3. The general assembly may at any time authorize, by law a
vote of the people to be taken upon the question whether a convention
shall be held for the purpose of revising and amending the constitution of

this state; and if at such election a majority of the votes on the question
be in favor of a convention, the governor shall issue writs to the sherifls of

the different counties, ordering the election of delegates to such a conven-
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tion, on a day not less than three and within six months after that on which
the said question shall have been voted on. At such election each senato-

rial district shall elect two delegates for each senator to which it ma}^ then

be entitled in the general assembly, and every such delegate shall have
the qualifications of a state senator. The election shall be conducted in

conformity with the laws regulating the election of senators. The dele-

gates so elected shall meet at such time and place as may be provided bv

law, and organize themselves into a convention, and proceed to revise and
amend the constitution; and the constitution when so revised and amend-

ed, shall, on a day to be therein fixed, not less than sixty days or more than

six months after that on which it shall have been adopted by the conven-

tion, be submitted to a vote of the people for and against it, at an election

to be held for that purpose ; and, if a majority of all the votes given be in

favor of such constitution, it shall, at the end of thirty days after such elec-

tion became the constitution of this state. The result of such elec-

tion shall be made known by proclamation by the governor. The general

assembly shall have no power, otherwise than in this section specified, to

authorize a convention for revising and amending the constitution.

SCHEDULE.

That no inconvenience may arise frorn the alteration and amendments
in the constitution of this state, and to carry the same into complete effect,

it is hereby ordained and declared:

Section 1 . That all laws in force at the adoption of this constitution,
not inconsistent therewith, shall remain in full force until altered or re-

pealed by the general assembly; and, all rights, actions, prosecutions,
claims and contracts of the state, counties, individuals or bodies corporate
not inconsistent therewith, shall continue to be as valid as if this constitution

had not been adopted. The provisions of all laws which are inconsistent

with this constitution, shall cease upon its adoption, except that all laws
which are inconsistent with such provision of this constitution, as require

legislation to enforce them, shall remain in force until the first day of July,
one thousand eight hundred and seventy-seven, unless sooner amended or

repealed by the general assembly.
Sec. 2. That all recognizances, obligations and all other instruments,

entered into or executed before the adoption of this constitution, to this

state or to any subdivision thereof, or any municipality therein
;
and all

fines, taxes, penalties and forfeitures, due or owing to this state, or any
such subdivision or municipality; and all writs, prosecutions, actions and
causes of action, except as herein otherwise provided, shall continue and
remain unafiected by the adoption of this constitution. All indictments

which shall have been found or may hereafter be found, for any crime or

offense committed before this constitution takes effect, may be proceeded
upon as if no change had taken place, except as otherwise provided in

this constitution.

Sec. 3. All county and probate courts, as now constituted and organ-
ized, shall continue with their jurisdiction, until the general assembly
shall by law conform them in their organization to the requirements of this

constitution.

Sec. 4. All criminal courts organized and existing under the laws of

this state, and not specially provided for in thi^ constitution, shall continue

to exist until otherwise provided by law.

Sec. 5. All courts of common pleas existing and organized in cities
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and towns having a population exceeding three thousand five hundred in-

habitants, and such as by the law of their creation are presided over by a

judge of a circuit court, shall continue to exist and exercise their present

jurisdiction, until otherwise provided by law. All other courts of common

pleas shall cease to exist at the expiration of the present terms of office of

the several judges thereof.

Sec. 6. All persons now filling any office or appointment in this state,

shall continue in the exercise of the duties thereof, according to their re-

spective commissions or appointments, unless otherwise provided by law.

Sec. 7. Upon the adoption of this constitution, all appeals to, and

writs of error from the supreme court, shall be returnable to the supreme
court at the

cit}^
of Jefierson.

Sec. 8. Until the general assembly shall make provision for the pay-
ment of the state and railroad indebtedness of this state, in pursuance of

section fourteen of article ten of this constitution, there shall be levied

and collected an annual tax of one-fifth of one per centum on all real estate

and other property and effects subject to taxation, the proceeds of which
shall be applied to the payment of the interest on the bonded debt of this

state as it matures, and the surplus, if any, shall be paid into the sinking
fund and thereafter applied to the payment of such indebtedness, and to

no other purpose.
Sec. 9. This constitution shall be submitted to the people of this state

for adoption or rejection, at an election to be held for that purpose only, on

Saturday, the thirtieth day of October, one thousand eight hundred and
seventv-five. Every person entitled to vote under the constitution and
laws of this state shall be entitled to vote for the adoption or rejection of

this constitution. Said election shall be held, and said qualified electors

shall vote at the usual places of voting in the several counties of this state
;

and said election shall be conducted, and returns thereof made, according
to the laws now in force regulating general elections.

Sec. 10. The clerks of the several county courts in this state, shall, at

least five days before said election, cause to be delivered to the judges of

election in each election district or precinct, in their respective counties,
suitable blank poll books, forms of return and five times the number of

properly prepared printed ballots for said election, that there are voters in

said respective districts, the expense whereof shall be allowed and paid by
the several county courts, as other county expenditures are allowed and

paid.
Sec. 11. At said election the ballots shall be in the following form:

New constitution ticket, {erase the clause you do not favor^ New consti-

tution,
— Yes. New constitution,

— No, Each of said ticket sshall be
counted as a vote for or against this constitution, as the one clause or the
other may be canceled with ink or pencil by the voter, and returns thereof
shall be made accordingly. If both clauses of the ticket be erased, or if

neither be erased, the ticket shall not be counted.
Sec. 12. The returns of the whole vote cast for the adoption and

against the adoption of this constitution shall be made by the several

clerks, as now provided by law in case of the election of state officers, to

the secretary of state, within twenty days after the election
;
and the re-

turns of said votes shall, within ten days thereafter, be examined and
canvassed by the state auditor, state treasurer and secretary of state, or

any two of them, in the presence of the governor, and proclamation shall

be made by the governor forthwith of the result of the canvass.
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Sec. 13. If, upon such canvass, it shall appear that a majority of the
votes polled were in favor of the new constitiition, then this constitutiq'
shall, on and after the thirtieth day of November, one thousand eight,\in_
dred and seventy-five, be the supreme law of the state of Missouri ^nd the
present existing constitution shall thereupon cease in all itSpj-ovisions-
but if it shall appear that a majority of the votes poll^d^ygre against the
new constitution, then this constitution shall

J^'-j^-^ll ^^^j void and the
existing constitution shall continue in force. -

Sec. 14. The provisions of this
sche^-^ie required to be executed prior

to the adoption or rejection of
this^o„stj^^tjo„^ghall take efTect and be in

torce immediately.
bEc. lo. The general ^gggj^^i g^^^^^ gg ^^j^ g^^,]^ |^^^^g ^^ ^ ^^

necessary to carry this^l^^^-^^^-^^ into full effect.
C)EC. lb. 1 he

pr^gnt secretary of state, state auditor; attorney-general,and
supenntendent^f ^^-^^^^ schools, shall, during the remainder of their

terms or otnce, u^i^gg Q^hej-wise directed by law, receive the same com-
pensation and

I'^g ^g jg ^^^^ provided by law; and the present state treas-
urer shall,

l^^ing the remainder of the term of his office, continue to be
governed

bj ^^^^^^^^ l^^^y^ in the custody and disposition of the state
funds,

unle^^^ otherwise directed by law.
^

' •

Section twelve of [the] bill of rights shall not be so construed
as to

prev^j^^ arrests and preliminary examination in any criminal case.

in the ve^'^^^'^^°^^°°'
^^ *^^ capitol, in the city of Jefferson, on the second day of August,

Dendencp'' o^ °"^ Lord, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-five, and of the inde-

. of the United States the one hundredth.

^' WALDO P. JOHNSON, President, St. Clair county.
N. W. WATKINS, Vice President, Scott county.

^T T ^s, Washington, Cooper. Letcher, Wm. H., Saline.

AljEN, DeWitt C, Clay. Lay, Alfred M., Cole.

Bl^xander, A. M., Monroe. Mabrey, Pinckney, Ripley.

B(ACK, Francis IV!., Jackson. Massey, B. F
, Newton.

BrONE, Henry, DeKalb. Maxey, James Harvey, Howell,

B>ADFiELD, George W., Laclede. McAfee, Charles B., Greene.

B^ioADHEAD, James O., St. Louis. McKee, Archibald V., Lincoln.

(^rokmeyer, Henry C, St. Louis. McCabe, Edward, Marion.

rARLETON, George W ,
Pemiscot. McKillop, Malcomb, Atchison.

^hrisman, William, Jackson. Mortell, Nicholas A., St. Louis.

^ONWAY, Edmund V., St. Francois. Mudd, Henry Thomas, St. Louis.

Oottey, Lolis F., Knox. Nickerson, Edmund A., Johnson.

Crews, T. W. B., Franklin. Norton, Elijah Hise, Platte.

Crockett, Samuel R., Vernon. Pipkin, Philip, Jefferson.

Davis, Lowndey Henry, Cape Girardeau. Priest, William, Platte.

Dryden, Leonidas J., Warren Pulitzer, Joseph, St. Louis.

Dysart, Benjamin Robert, Macon. Ray, John, Barry.

Edwards, John F. T., Iron. Rider, J. H., Bollinger.

Edwards, James C, St. Louis. Ripey, J. R., Schuyler.

FiTZEN, Charles D., Gasconade. Roberts, James C, Buchanan.

,^;arris, James L., Ray. Ross, J. P., Morgan.

fjcyAN, Robert W. Webster. Ross, John W., Polk.

jg^i.NTT, Thomas Tasker, St. Louis. Rucker, John Fleming, Boone.

jjj^ttschalk, Louis, St. Louis. Shackelford, Thomas, Howard.

H^ii-E, John B., Carroll. Shanklin, John H., Grundy.
Harv^e^^ton, W., Sullivan. Shields, George H., St. Louis.

2oL-*^OND, Charles, Chariton. Spaunhorst, Henry J., St. Louis.

Hyei^™, Neil Cameron, Pike. Switzler, William F., Boone.

jQHjjLiDAY, J. A., Caldwell. Taylor, John H., Jasper.

jQjjjjg, John, Dent. Taylor, Amos Riley, St. Louis.

Lack^son, Horace B., Cole. Todd, Albert, St. Louis.

.Won, T. J., Nodoway. Wagner, L. J
,
Scotland.

|iAND,
Henry Clay, St. Charles. Wallace, Henry C, Lafayette.

Attbst* G. N. NOLAN, Secretary.
J. Boyle Adams, Assistant Secretary
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BIL\.S OF EXCHANGE.

A biU of exchange is a written uider from one person to another, direct-

ing the person to whom it is addressed \Z pav to a third person a certain

sum of money therein named. ,

The person making the bill is called the makef; The person to whom
• • V J • n Au J J ^u •'' whose favor the bill

it IS directed is called the drawee, and the person m ,y^'^'='

of exchange is made payable, is called the payee, anc-.^
^ P

acceepts a bill of exchange, is called the acceptor. \. . , i -^

A 1^11 r u u .• 0,1 .• ui -t negotiable, it

A bill of exchange may be negotiable or non-negotiable ;ir
»

mav be transferred either before or after acceptance. To maR- ^
"'er or must

ble it must be payable to the order ot the payee, or to the beai\ '

contain other equivalent or operative words of transfer. \i .

Bills of exchange containing no words of transfer, are non-neg^
*

„

The usual form of accepting bills of exchange, is by writing
" a# ^

across the bill, and signing the acceptor's name. \^ ,

After such acceptance the acceptor becomes liable for the paymtg'^

the bill upon its maturity. St.. -

No person within this state shall be charged as an acceptor of a bild

exchange unless his acceptance shall be in writing signed by himself, .

his lawful agent. . ^

If such acceptance be written on a paper other than the bill, it shall n^Q

bind the acceptor. Except in favor of a person to whom such acceptanc c,

shall have been shown, and who upon the faith thereof shall have receivec i'

the bill for a valuable consideration. ^3

An unconditional promise in writing to accept a bill before it is"

drawn, will be binding upon the acceptor in favor of any person wh(>n

upon the faith of such written promise shall have received the bill for ati-

valuable consideration. be

Every holder of a bill presenting the same for acceptance, may require-

that the acceptance be written on the bill, and a refusal to compl}'- wit^ ''c

such request, shall be deemed a refusal to accept, and the bill may be pr
tested for non-accentance. ^ \

Every person upon whom a bill of exchange ma}'- be drawn, an<it ,

whom the same shall be delivered for acceptance, who shall destroy
'^^^

,

bill or refuse within twenty-four hours after such delivery, or within s }' a

period as the holder may allow to return the bill accepted or
non-acc^^-j^t'^

to the holders, shall be deemed to have accepted the same. Vn r
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When any bill of exchanjre expressed to be for value received, drawn

or nesfotiated within this state, shall be duly presented for acceptance or

payment, and protested for non-acceptance or non-payment, there shall be

allowed and paid to the holders by the drawer and endorsers having due

notice of the dishonor of the bill, damages in the following cases: First,

if the bill shall have been drawn by any person, at any place within this

state, at the rate of four per centum on the principal sum specified in the

bill. Second, if the bill shall have been drawn on any person, at any

place out of this state, but within the United States or territories thereof,

at the rate of two per centum on the principal sum specified in the bill.

Third, if the bill shall have been drawn on any person, at any part or

place without the United States and their territories, at the rate of

twenty per centum on the principal sum specified in the bill.

If any bill of exchange expressed to be for value received, shall be

drawn on any person, at any place within this state, and accepted, and

payment shall not be duly made by the acceptor, there shall be allowed

and paid to the holder, by the acceptor, damages in the following cases:

First, if the bill be drawn by any person, at any place within this state,

at the rate of four per centum on the principal sum therein specified.

Second, if the bill be drawn by any person, at any place without this

state, but within the United States or territories, at the rate of ten per

centum on the principal sum therein specified.

The damages herein allowed shall be recovered only by the holder ot

a bill, who shall have purchased the bill or acquired some interest therein,

for valuable consideration. In cases of non-acceptance or non-payment
of a bill, drawn at any place within this state, on any person at a place

within the same, no damages shall be recovered, if payment of the prin-

cipal sum, with interest and charges of protest, be paid within twenty

days after demand, or notice of the dishonor of the bill.

If the contents of a bill be expressed in the money of account of the

United States, the "amount due and the damages therein, shall be ascer-

tained and determined without any reference to the rate of exchange

existing between this state and the place on which the bill shall have been

drawn, at the time of demand of payment or notice of the dishonor of the

bill.

If the contents of such bill be expressed in the money of account or

currency of any foreign country, then the amount due, exclusive of dam-

ages, shall be ascertained and determined by the rate of exchange, or the

value of such for-i^ign currency at the time of payment.

Every bill of ex "hange, draft or order drawn either within this state or

elsewhere upon any person residing within this state, payable on its face

at sight, or on demand, shall be deemed and considered to be due and

payable on the day it is presented, or demanded, any usage or custom
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here or elsewhere to the contrary notwithstanding, and if not so paid,

ma^^ be protested for non-payment.
If in any suit founded upon any negotiable promissory note or bill of

exchange, or in which such bill or note is produced, might be allowed in

the defense of any suit, it appear on the trial that such note or bill was

lost while it belonged to the party claiming the amount due thereon,

parol or other evidence of the contents thereof, ma}' be given on such

trial, and such party shall be entitled to recover the amount due thereon

as if such note or bill had been produced.
To entitle a part}'^ to such recovery, he or some responsible person for

him, shall execute a bond to the adverse part}^ in a penalty at least double

the amount of such note or bill, wif.h two sufficient securities, to be

approved by the court in which the trial shall be had, conditioned to

indemnify the adverse party against all claims b}' any other person on

account of such note or bill, and against all costs and expenses by reason

of such claim.

BILLS OF EXCHANGE AND PROMISSORY NOTES.

A promissory note is a written promise to pay a certain sum of money
at a future time, unconditional!}'.

The person to whom the money is payable is called the payee.
The maker is the one who promises to pay the money when the note

becomes due.

A note payable to bearer is negotiated or transferred bv mere delivery,
and the possession of the note is ^rimafacie proof of title-

A note payable to the order of a particular person is transferred or

negotiated by writing the name of the person upon the back of the note,

which is called an endorsement. The person making the endorsement

is called the endorser. The person for whose benefit it is made is called

the endorsee.

Every promissory note for the payment of money to the payee therein

named, or order or bearer, and expressed to be for value received, shall be

due and payable as therein expressed and shaU have the same effect and
be negotiable in like manner as inland bills of exchange.
The payee and endorsers of every such negotiable note payable to them

or order, and the holder of every such note payable to bearer may main-

tain actions for the sums of money therein mentioned, against the makers
and endorsers of them in like manner as in cases of inland bills of exchange,
and not otherwise.

Such negotiable promissory note made payable to the order of the

maker thereof, or to the order of a fictitious person shall, if negotiated by
the maker, have the same effect and be of the same validity as against the

maker, and all persons having knowledge of the facts, as if payable to
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bearer. Provided^ That negotiable note in the hands of the purchaser of

the same from the makers by way of discount or investment if protested
for non-pa\'ment at maturity, shall not be subjected to damages.
When the day of payment of an}'^ bond, bill of exchange, or promissory

note, shall according to its terms, be a Sunday, Christmas day, Thanks-

giving day (State or National), New Years day, or a Fourth of July, its

payment shall be deemed due and be demandable on such day next before

its day of payment, according to its terms, as shall not be one of the days
above specified.

A notarial protest is evidence of a demand and refusal to pay a bill of

exchange or negotiable promissory note, at the time and in the manner
stated in such protest.

FORM OF NEGOTIABLE NOTE.

$1,000. Kansas City, Mo., Aug. 1, 1869.

Thirty days after date, I promise to pay Richard Roe, or order,

One Thousand Dollars, value received, with interest after due at the rate

of ten per cent per annum. Louis Roy.

NON-NEGOTIABLE NOTE.

$100.00. Kansas City, Mo., Aug, 1, 1869.

Thirty days after date, I promise to pay Richard Roe,
One Hundred Dollars, value received, with interest from date, at the rate

of ten per cent per annum. Louis Roy.

INTEREST.
The legal rate of interest is six per cent.

Parties may agree in writing for the payment of interest not exceeding
ten per cent.

Money due upon judgments or order of court, shall draw interest from

the day of rendering the same. All such judgments and orders for money
upon contracts, bearing more than six per cent., shall bear the same inter-

est borne by such contracts. All other judgments and orders for money
shall draw six per cent.

If a greater rate of interest than ten per cent, is contracted for, and suit

brought upon the same, judgment will be entered for six per cent., and

the whole interest shall be set apart for, and become a part of the com-
mon school fund.

Parties may contract in writing for the payment of interest upon inter-

est; but interest shall not be compounded oftener than once a year.
Where a different rate is not expressed, interest upon interest shall be at

the same rate as interest on the principal debt.
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DESCENTS AND DISTRIBUTION OF PROPERTY.

Property in this state shall be distributed in the following course, sub-

ject
to the payment of debts and the widow's dower:

First. To the children or their descendants in equal parts.

Second. If there be no children or their descendants, then to the father,

mother, brothers and sisters, and their descendants, in equal parts.

Third. If there be no children, or their descendants, father, mother,

brother or sister, or their descendants, then to the husband or wife.

If there be no husband or wife, then to the grandfather, grandmother,
uncles and aunto, and their descendants, in equal parts.

Fotirth. If there be no children or their descendants, father, mother,

sister, brother or their descendants, husband or wife, grandfather, grand-

mother, uncles, aunts, nor their descendants, then to the great-grandfather,

great-grandmother, and their descendants, in equal parts, and so on in

other cases without end, passing to the nearest lineal ancestors and their

children, and their descendants, in equal parts.

Posthumous children, or descendants of the intestate, shall inherit in

like manner as if born in the lifetime of the intestate. This does not

apply to anyone other than the children or descendants of the intestate

unless they are in being and capable in law to take as heirs at the time of

the intestate's death.

If there be no children or their' descendants, father, mother, brother or

sister, nor their descendants, husband or wife, nor any paternal or mater-

nal kindred capable of inheriting, the whole shall go to the kindred of the

wife or husband of the intestate in the like course as if such wife or hus-

band had survived the intestate and then died entitled to the estate.

If any of the children receive any real or personal estate in the lifetime

of the intestate by way of advancement, shall choose to come into par-
tition \\'\\\\ the other heirs, such advancement shall be brought into

hatchpot with the estate descended.

Maintaining, educating, or giving money to a child under majority
without an}' view to a portion or settlement, shall not be deemed an

advancement.

Bastards shall inherit and be capable of transmitting inheritance on the

part of their mother, and such mother may inherit from her bastard

child or children in like manner as if they had been lawfully begotten of

her.

The issues of all marriages decreed null in law or dissolved by divorce

shall be leijitimate.

Persons of color shall inherit as above set forth, providing it shall

appear to the court that they are residents of this state, or if residents of

some other state, are free persons.

The children of all parents who were slaves, and who were living



ABSTRACT OF MISSOURI STATE LAWS. 171

together in good faith as man and wife at the time of the birth of such

children, shall be deemed to be the legitimate children of such parents.

All children of any one mother who was a slave at the time of her birth

shall be deemed lawful brothers and sisters for the purposes of this

chapter.
WILLS.

The term will, or last will and testament, means the disposition of one's

property, to take effect after death. No exact form of words is neces-

sary in order to make a will good at law.

Every person of twenty-one years of age and upward, of sound mind,

may, by last will, devise all his estate, real, personal and mixed, and all

interest therein, saving the widow her dower. Every person over the

age of eighteen years, of sound mind, may by last will, dispose of his

goods and chatties. Every will must be in writing, signed by the testator

or by some person by his direction, in his presence, and shall be attested

by two or more competent witnesses, subscribing their names to the will

in the presence of the testator.

No will in writing, except in cases hereinafter mentioned, nor any part

thereof, shall be revoked, except by a subsequent will in writing, or by

burning, canceling, tearing or -obliterating the same by the testator, or in

his presence, and by his consent and direction.

If, after making a will disposing of the whole estate of the testator,

such testator shall marry, and die, leaving issue by such marriage living

at the time of his death, or shall leave issue of such marriage born to

him after his death, such will shall be deemed revoked, unless provisions

shall have been made for such issue by some settlement, or unless such

issue shall be provided for in the will, and no evidence shall be received to

rebut the presumption of such revocation.

A will executed by an unmarried woman shall be deemed revoked by
her subsequent marriage.

If a person make his w^ill and die leaving children not provided for,

although born after making the will, he shall be deemed to die intestate,

and such children shall be entitled to such proportion as if he had died

intestate. All other heirs or legatees must refund their proportionate part.

The county court or clerk thereof in vacation subject to the confirma-

tion or rejection of the court, shall take the proof of the last will of the

testator.

GENERAL FORM OF WILL FOR REAL AND PERSONAL
PROPERTY.

I, Richard Johnson, of Carroll county, in the state of Missouri, being

of sound mind and memory, and of fuU age, do hereby make and publish

this, my last will and testament, hereby revoking all former wills by me

made.
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First. I direct the payment of all lawful claims against my estate, to

be made out of the proceeds of the sale of my personal property.

Second. I give, devise and bequeath to my eldest son, John B. Johnson,

the sum of five thousand dollars of bank stock, in the First National

Bank of Lexington, Missouri, and the farm owned by myself in the town-

ship of
,
in the county of Saline, consisting of 100 acres, with all

the houses, tenements and improvements thereunto belonging, to have

and to hold unto m}^ said son, his heirs and assigns forever.

Third. I give, devise, and bequeath to each of my daughters, Mary E.

Johnson and Clara B. Johnson, each five thousand dollars in bank stock,,

in the First National Bank, of Lexington, Missouri; and also, each one

quarter section of land owned by myself, situated in the township of
,

Ray county, Missouri.

Fourth. I give, devise and bequeath to my son, Frank R. Johnson, the

farm owned by myself, situated in Chariton county, Missouri, consisting

of six hundred and forty acres, together with all stock, houses, and

improvements, thereunto belonging.

Fifth. I give to my wife, EHzabeth Johnson, all my household furni-

ture, goods, chattels and personal property about my house, not hitherto

disposed of, including six thousand dollars of bank stock, in the First

National Bank of Lexington, Missouri, and the free and unrestricted use,

possession and benefit of the home farm, so long as she may live—said

farm being my present place of residence.

Sixth. I give and bequeath to my mother, Martha Johnson, the income

from rents of my store building, at No. 905 Pine street, St. Louis, Mis-

souri, during the term of her natural life, said building and land therewith

to revert to my sons and daughters, in equal proportions, upon the demise

of my said mother.

Seventh. It is also my will and desire that at the death of my wife, Eliz-

abeth Johnson, that the above mentioned homestead may revert to my
above named children, or to the lawful heirs of each.

Eighth. I appoint as my executors of this, my last will and testament,

my wife, Elizabeth Johnson, and my eldest son John B. Johnson.
In witness whereof, -I, Richard Johnson, to this, my last will and testa-

ment, have hereunto set my hand and seal, this fourth day of June,

eighteen hundred and seventy-five. Richard Johnson.

Signed and declared by Richard Richard Johnson, as and for his last

will and testament, in the presence of each other, have subscribed our
names hereuntp, as witnesses thereof.

Edward Davison, Scdalia, Missouri.

Frederick Jones, Marshall., Missouri,
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CODICIL.

Whereas, I, Richard Johnson, did, on the fourth day of June, one

thousand eight hundred and seventy-five, make m}'' last will and testa-

ment, I do now, by this writing add this codicil to my said will, to be

taken as part thereof.

Whereas, By the dispensation of Providence, my daughter, Clara B.

Johnson, has deceased, March the first, eighteen hundred and seventy-

six; and whereas,, a son has been born to me, which son is now christened

David S. Johnson, I give and bequeath unto him my gold watch, and all

right, interest and title in lands and bank stock, and chattels bequeathed
to my deceased daughter, Clara B., in the body of this will.

In witness whereof, I hereunto place my hand and seal, this tenth day
of March, eighteen hundred and seventy-seven. Richard Johnson.

Signed, sealed, published and declared to us, by the testator, Richard

Johnson, as and for a codicil, to be annexed to his will and testament; and

we, at his request and in his presence, and in the presence of each other

have subscribed our names as witnesses thereto, at the date hereof.

Peter Brown, Lexms^ton, Missouri.

Robert Burr, Richmond, Missouri.

TAXES.
For the support of the government of the state, the payment of the

public debt, and the advancement of the public interest, taxes shall be

levied on all property, real and personal, except as stated below:

No tax shall be assessed for or imposed by any city, county, or other

nmnicipal corporation, or for their use upon the following property: All

houses, necessary furniture and equipments thereof, used exclusively for

public worship, and the lot of ground on which the same may be erected.

All orphan or other asylums, for the relief of the sick or needy, with their

furniture and equipments, and the lands on which they are erected and

used therewith, so long as the same shall be held and used for that pur-

pose only ;
all universities, colleges, academies, schools, and all other sem-

inaries of learning, with the furniture and equipments, and land thereto,

belonging or used immediately therewith, and their endowment fund,

when not invested in real estate, so long as the same shall be employed
for that purpose only. Provided^ That the land hereby exempted from

taxation, belonging to any of the last named institutions, in any city or

town, shall not exceed two acres, and in the County, not exceed five acres.

And further provided. That such property, so exempted, shall not be

under rent to any person, corporation, or society, and shall not, in any

way or manner, be paying or yielding any rent or profit. Cemeteries

and graveyards set apart and used for that purpose only. All real estate

and other property belonging to any incorporated agricultural society, so
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long as the same shall be employed for the use of such society and none

other. All libraries and their furniture and equipments, belonging to any

hbrarv association or society. Nothing in this section shall be construed

as to exempt from municipal or local taxation any description of property,

when the same is held for the purpose of pecuniary profit or speculation.

Lots in incorporated cities or towns, or within one mile of the limits of

such city or town, to the extent of one acre, and lots, one mile distant

from such cities or towns, to the extent of five acres, with the buildings

thereon, when the same are used exclusively for religious worship, for

schools, or for purposes purely charitable, shall be exempt from taxation

for state, count}'-, or local purposes.

There shall be annually assessed and collected on the assessed value of

all the real estate and personal property subject by law to taxation in the

state one-fifth of one per centum for state revenue and one-fifth of one

per centum for the payment of all state indebtedness.

The assessor or his deputv or deputies shall, between the first days of

August and January, and after being furnished with the necessary books

and blanks by the county clerk, at the expense of the county, proceed to take

a list of the taxable personal property in his county, town, or district, and

assess the value thereof in the manner following, to-wit: He shall call at

the office, place of doing business, or residence of each person required

by this act to list property, and shall require such person to make a cor-

rect statement of all taxable property owned by such person, or under

the care, charge, or management of such person, except merchandise,

which may be required to pay a license tax, being in any county in this

state, in accordance with the provisions of this act, and the person listing

the property shall enter a true and correct statement of such property in

a printed or written blank prepared for that purpose, which statement,

after being filled out, shall be signed and sworn to, to the extent required

by this act, by the person listmg the property, and delivered to the

assessor, and such assessor's book shall be arranged and divided into two

parts: The "land list" and the "personal property list." If any tax-

payer shall fail or neglect to pay such collector his taxes at the time and

place required by such notices, then it shall be the dut}'- of the collector

after the first day of January then next, to collect and account for as

other taxes, an additional tax, as a penalty, of one per cent per month

upon all taxes collected b}^ him after the first day of January, as afore-

said, and in computing said additional tax or penalty a fractional part of

a month shall not be counted as a whole month. Collectors shall on the

day of their annual settlement with the county court, file with said court a

statement under oath of the amount so received, and from whom received,

and setde with the court therefor; -provided, however, that said interest

shall not be chargeable against persons who are absent from their homes
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and engaged in the militaiy service of this state, or of the United States,

or against any tax payer who shall pay his taxes to the collector at any
time before the first day of Januar}- in each year; -provided, that the

provisions of this section shall apply to the city of St. Louis so far as the

same relates to the addition of said interest which in said city shall be

collected and accounted for by the collector as other taxes, for which he

shall receive no compensation.

Every county collector shall on or before the fifteenth day of each

month pay to the state treasurer all taxes or licenses received by him

prior to the first day of the month.

The sheriff's deed executed to the purchaser of real estate under a sale

for delinquent taxes, which shall be acknowledged before the circuit court

of the county or city as in ordinary cases; shall convey a title in fee to

such purchaser of the real estate therein named, and shall be prima facie
evidence of title, and the matters and things therein stated are true.

COURTS OF RECORD—THEIR JURISDICTION.
SUPREME COURT.

At the general election in the year eighteen hundred and eighty, and

every two years thereafter, there shall be elected one judge of the

supreme court, who shall hold his office for a term of ten years from the

first day of January next after his election, and until his successor is duly
elected and qualified. The majority of the judges may order special

terms.

CIRCUIT COURTS.

At the general election in the year one thousand eight hundred and

eighty, and at the general election every sixth year thereafter, except as

otherwise provided by law, all the circuit judges shall be elected, and

shall enter upon their offices on the first Monday in January next ensuing.

Circuit courts in the respective counties in which they may be held shall

have power and jurisdiction as follows: First, as courts of law in all

criminal cases which shall not be otherwise provided for by law. Second,
exclusive original jurisdiction in all civil cases which shall not be cogniz-
able before the county courts, probate courts, and justices of the peace
and not otherwise provided by law. Third, concurrent original jurisdic-

tion with justices of the peace in all civil actions and proceedings for the

recovery of money, whether such action be founded upon contract or

trust or upon a bond or undertaking given in pursuance of law in any
civil action or proceeding, or for a penalty or forfeiture given by any
statute of this state when the sum demanded, exclusive of interest and

cost, shall exceed fifty dollars and does not exceed one hundred and fifty

dollars, and of all actions against any railroad company in this state to

recover damages for the killing or injuring of horses, mules, cattle or
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Other animals, without regard to the value of such animals or the amount

claimed for killing or injury, the same in all counties or cities having over

fifty thousand inhabitants; concurrent original jurisdiction with justices

of the peace of all actions and proceedings for the recovery of money,
whether such actions be founded upon contract or tort or upon a bond

or undertaking given in any civil action or proceeding, or for a penalty or

forfeiture given by any statute of this state when the sum demanded,

exclusive of interest and cost, shall exceed fifty dollars and not exceed

two hundred and fifty dollars, and of all actions against any railroad com-

pany in this state to recover damages for the killing or injuring horses,

mules, cattle or other animals, without regard to the value of such ani-

mals or the amount of damages claimed for killing or injuring the same.

Fourth, appellate jurisdiction from the judgments and orders of the coun-

ty court, probate court, and justices of the peace in all cases not expressly

prohibited by law, and shall possess the superintending control over them.

Fifth, the general control over executors, administrators, guardians, cura-

tors, minors, idiots, lunatics, and persons of unsound mind.

COUNTY COURT.

The county court shall be composed of three members, to be styled the

judges of the county court; and each county shall be districted by the

county court thereof into two districts of contiguous territory, as near

equal in population as practicable, without dividing municipal townships.

Judges of this court shall be elected for a term of two years. At the

general election of 1882, they shall be elected for four years. Four terms

of the county court shall be held in each county annually, at the place of

holding courts therein, commencing on the first Monday in February,
May, August, and November, and shall also have power to order special
terms. This court has control of county property, settling with county
treasurers, etc.

PROBATE COURTS.

A probate court which shall be a court of record and consist of one

judge is hereby established in the city of St. Louis and in every county in

this state.

Jurisdiction— ^2ix^ court shall have jurisdiction over all matters per-

taining to probate business, to granting letters testimentary and of adminis-

tration, the appointment of guardians and curators of minors and per-
sons of unsound mind, setUing the accounts of executors, administrators,
curators and guardians, and the sale or leasing of lands by administrators,
curators and guardians, and over all matters relating to apprentices, and
such judges shall have the power to solemnize marriages.

Judges of this court shall be elected in the year eighteen hundred and

seventy-eight, and every four years thereafter. Said judge shall be com-
missioned by the governor and shall hold his office for four years.
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ST. LOUIS COURT OF APPEALS.

The qualified voters of the counties of the city of St. Louis, the counties

of St. Louis, St. Charles, Lincoln and Warren, shall elect a judge of the

St. Louis court of appeals, who shall be a resident of district composed of

said counties, and who shall hold offices for a term of twelve years. The
St. Louis court of appeals shall consist of three judges, who shall possess
the same qualifications as judges of the supreme court. The court shall

have a marshal, janitor and reporter.

LIMITATIONS OF ACTIONS.

CRIMINAL PROCEDURE.

Offenses punishable with death or imprisonment in the penitentiary dur-

ing life, may be prosecuted at any time after the offense shall have been

committed.

For felonies other than above mentioned, within three years after the

commission of the offense.

For any offense other than felony or fine or forfeiture, within one year
after the commission of the offense.

Actions and suits upon statute for penalty or forfeiture given in whole

or part, to any person who will prosecute within one year after the com-

missions of the offense.

When penalty is given in whole or in part to the state, or county or

city or the treasurer of the same, suit must be brought within two years.

Actions upon any statute for any penalty or forfeiture given in whole or

in part to the party aggrieved within three years.

Actions against moneyed corporations, or against the directors or stock-

holders of the same, shall be brought within six years of the discovery.

LIMITATION OF PERSONAL ACTIONS.

Civil actions other than those for the recovery of real propery, must

be commenced within the periods here prescribed.

Actions upon any writing, whether sealed or unsealed, for the payment
of money or property, within ten years.

Actions brought on any covenant of warranty in deed, or conveyance of

land, within ten years.
Actions on any covenant of seizure contained in any such deed, within

ten years.

Actions upon contracts, obligations, or liabilities—express or implied,

except as above mentioned, and except upon judgments or decrees of a

court of record, within five years.
12
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Actions upon liability created by statute, other than penalty or forfeiture,

five years.

Actions for trespass on real estate, five years.

Actions for taking, detaining, or injuring any goods or chattels, includ-

ing actions for the recovery of specific personal property, or for any other

injury to the person or rights of another not arising on contract and not

otherwise enumerated, five years.

Actions for relief on the ground of fraud, five years.

Actions against a sheriff', coroner, or other public officer upon a liability

incurred by doing an act in his official capacity, or the omission of an

ofiicial duty, non-payment of money collected, etc., three years.

Actions upon a statute for a penalty or forfeiture where the action is

given to the party aggrieved, or to such party and the state, three years.

Actions for libel, slander, assault and battery, false imprisonment, or

criminal conversation, two years.

LIMITATIONS OF ACTIONS RELATING TO REAL PROPERTY.

Actions for the recovery of any lands, tenements, or hereditaments, or

for the recovery of the possession thereof, shall be commenced by any

person whether citizen, denizen, alien, resident or non-resident, unless

his ancestor, predecessor, grantor, or other person under whom he claims

was seized or possessed of the premises in question, within ten years

before the commencement of such actions, except in case of military bounty

lands, which must be brought within two years.

No entry upon any lands, tenements or hereditaments shall be valid as a

claim, unless the action be commenced thereon within one year after the

making of such entry, and within ten years from the time when the right

to make such entry accrued.

If any person entitled to bring an action as above stated, shall be under

twenty-one years of age, or imprisoned for less than life, or insane, or a

married woman, the time during such disability shall continue, shall not be

deemed any portion of the time limited for the commencetnent of such

action or the making of such entry after the time so limited, and may be

brought in three years after the disability is removed.

If any person having the right to bring such action or make such entry,

die during the disability mentioned, and no determination be had of the

right, title, or action to him accrued, his heirs or any one claiming under

him, may commence such action within three years.

JURIES.
SELECTION OF GRAND JURY.

A grand jury shall consist of twelve men, and, unless otherwise ordered,

as hereinafter provided, it shall be the duty of the sheriff* of each coimty
in the state to summon within the time prescribed by law a panel of
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grand jurors, consisting of twelve good and lawful men, selected from

the different townships of his county, as near as may be in proportion to

the number of male citizens in each, to be returned to each regular term

of the courts in his county having criminal jurisdiction.

Every juror, grand and petit, shall be a male citizen of the state,

resident in the county, sober and intelligent, of good reputation, over

twenty-one years of age, and otherwise qualified.

In all counties having a population less than twenty thousand inhabit-

ants, every juror, grand and petit, shall be a male citizen of the state,

resident in the county, sober and intelligent, of good reputation, over

twenty-one years of age, and otherwise qualified.

No exception to a juror on account of his citizenship, non-residence,

state, or age, or other legal disability, shall be allowed after the jury is

sworn.

No person being a member of any volunteer fire department duly

organized and ready for active service; no person employed in any paid
fire department, and no person exercising the functions of a clergyman,

practitioner of medicine, or atiorney-at-law, clerk or other officer of any

court, ferry-keeper, postmaster, overseer of roads, coroner, constable,

miller, professor or other teacher in any school or institution of learning,

judge of a court of record, or any person over the age ob sixty-five years
shall be compelled to serve on any jury.

No person shall be summoned to serve at more than one term of court,

either as grand or petit juror, within the period of one year in any court

of record. Each person summoned under this act shall receive one dollar

and fifty cents per day for every day he shall serve as such, and five cents

for every mile he may necessarily travel in going from his place of resi-

dence to the court house and returning to the same, to be paid out of the

county treasury.
All persons duly summoned as grand or petit jurors may be attached

for non-attendance, and fined by the court for contempt in any sum not

exceeding fifty dollars, in the discretion of the court.

In all suits which hereafter may be pending in any court of record in

this state the clerk shall, if a jury be sworn to try the same, tax up as

other costs against the unsuccessful party a jury fee of six dollars, which
shall be collected by the sheriff', and paid into the hands of the county

treasurer, who shall keep an account thereof, in a separate book to be

provided for that purpose, and the money so collected and paid in shall

constitute a jury fund.

Grand jurors shall not be compelled to serve on a petit jury during the

same term.

In all civil cases in courts of record, where a jury is demanded, there

shall be summoned and returned eighteen qualified jurors; but in appeal
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cases the number shall be the same as allowed by law in the courts from

which the appeals are taken, and the number of peremptory challenges in

addition.

In the trial of civil causes, each party shall be entitled to challenge per-

emptorily three jurors.

MARRIED WOMEN.
The homestead of every housekeeper or head of a family, consisting of

a dwelling-house and appurtenances, and the land used in connection there-

with, which shall be used by such housekeeper or head of a family as such

homestead, shall be exempt from attachment and execution. Such home-

stead in the country shall not include more than 160 acres of land or exceed

the total value of $1,500; and in cities having a population of 40,000 or

more such homestead shall not include more than eighteen square rods of

ground, or exceed the total value of three thousand dollars; and in cities

or incorporated towns and villages having a less population than 40,000,

such homestead shall not include more than thirty square rods of ground,

or exceed the total value of $1,500. After the filing by the wife of her

claim upon the homestead as such, the husband shall be debarred from

and incapable of selling, mortgaging or alienating the homestead in any
manner whatever.

A husband and wife may convev the real estate of the wife, and the

wife may relinquish her dower in the real estate of her husband, by their

joint deed, acknowledged and certified as herein provided, but no covenant

expressed or implied in such deed shall bind the wife or the heirs except

so far as may be necessary effectually to convey from her or her heirs all

her right, title and interest expressed to be conveyed therein.

A married woman may conve}^ her real estate or relinquish her dower

m the real estate of her husband by a power of attorney authorizing its

conveyance, executed and acknowledged by her jointly with her husband,

as deeds conveying real estate by them are required to be executed and

acknowledged.
If any married woman shall hold real estate in her own right, and her

husband, by criminal conduct toward her, or by ill usage, shall give such

married woman cause to live separate and apart from her husband, such

woman may by her next friend petition the circuit court, setting forth such

facts, and therein pray that such estate may be enjoA-^ed by her for her

sole use and benefit.

Any personal property, including rights in action, belonging to any
woman at her marriage, or which may have come to her during coverture

by gift, bequest or inheritance, or by purchase with her separate money
or means, or be due as the wages of her separate labor, or have grown
out of any violation of her personal rights, shall, together with all income,
increase and profits thereof, be and remain her separate property, and
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under her sole control, and shall not be liable to be taken by any process
of law for the debts of her husband.

EXEMPTIONS FROM EXECUTION.
Whenever the personal property of any homestead or head of a family

shall be attached or taken in execution, the debtor therein shall claim that

the same, or any part thereof, is the product of such homestead, the officer

taking the same shall cause appraisers to be appointed and sworn, as in

the case of the levy of execution on real estate, and such appraisers shall

decide upon such claim and settle the products of such homestead to such

debtor accordingly, and the proceedings therein shall be stated by such

officer in his return.

Any policy of insurance heretofore or hereafter made by an}'- insurance

company on the life of any person, expressed to be for the benefit of any
married woman, whether the same be effected by herself or by her hus-

band, or by any third person in her behalf, shall inure to her separate use

and benefit and that of her children, if any, independently of her husband

and of his creditors and representatives, and also independently of such

third person effecting the same in his behalf, his creditors and representa-
tives.

The following property only shall be exempt from attachment and exe-

cution when owned by any person other than the head of a family: Firsts

the wearing apparel of all persons. Second^ the necessary tools and

implements of trade of any mechanic while carrying on his trade.

The following property, when owned by the head of a famil}^ shall be

exempt from attachment and execution. Firsts ten head of choice hogs,
ten head of choice sheep, or the product thereof, in wool, yarn or cloth;

two cows and calves, two plows, one axe, one hoe and one set of plow

gears and all necessary farm implements for the use of one man. Second^

working animals of the value of one hundred and fifty dollars. Third,
the spinning wheel and cards, one loom and apparatus necessary for man-

ufacturing cloth in a private family. Fourth, all the spun yarn, thread

and cloth, manufactured for family use. Fifth, any quantity of hemp, flax

and wool not exceeding twenty-five pounds each. Sixth, aU wearing

apparel of the family, four beds with their usual bedding, and such other

household and kitchen furniture not exceeding the value of one hundred

dollars, as may be necessary for the family, agreeably to an inventory
thereof to be returned on oath, with the execution, by the officer whose

duty it may be to levy the same. Seventh, the necessary tools and imple-
ments of trade of any mechanic, while carrying on his trade. Eighth^
all arms and equipments required by law to be kept. JVinth, all such

provisions as may be found on hand for family use, not exceeding one

hundred dollars in value. Tenth, the bibles and other books used in a
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family, lettered grave stones, and oae pew in a house of worship.

Eleventh^ all lawyers, physicians and ministers of the gospel shall have

the privilege of selecting such books as may be necessary in their profes-

sion, in the place of other property herein allowed at their option ;
that

doctors of medicine in lieu of the property exempt from execution,

may be allowed to select their medicines. In all cases of the sale of per-

sonal property, the same shall be subject to execution against the pur-

chaser on a judgment for the purchase price thereof, and shall in no case

be exempt from such judgment and execution for the purchase price as

between the vendor, his assignee, heir or legal representative and pur-

chaser.
FENCES.

All fields and inclosures shall be inclosed by hedge, or with a fence

sufficiently close, composed of posts and rails, posts and palings, posts and

planks, posts and wires, palisades or rails alone, laid up in the manner com-

monly called a worm fence, or of turf with ditches on each side, or of

stone or brick.

All hedges shall be at least four feet high, and all fences composed of

posts and rails, posts and palings, posts and wire, posts and planks or pal-

isades shall be at least four and a half feet high; those composed of turf

shall be at least four feet high and with ditches on either side, at least

three feet wide at the top and three feet deep; and what is commonly
•called a worm fence shall be at least five feet high to the top of the rider,

or if not ridered shall be five feet to the top of the top rail or pole and

shall be locked with strong rails, poles or stakes; those composed of stone

or brick shall be at least four and a half feet hiGfh.

Wherever the fence of any owner of real estate now erected or con-

structed, serves to enlose the lands of another, or which shall become a

part of the fence enclosing the land of another, on demand made by the

person owning such fence, such other person shall pay the owner one-

half the value of so much thereof as serves to enclose his land; and upon
such payment shall own an undivided half of such fence.

Provided^ The person thus benefitted shall have the option to build

within eight months from date of such demand, a lawful fence half the

distance along the line covered by the above mentioned fence. The.
demand shall be made in writing and served on the party interested, his

agent or attorney, or left with some member of the family over fourteen

years of age, at his usual place of abode. If the party notified fails to

comply with the demand within the specified time, the party making the

demand may, at his option, proceed to enforce the collection of one-half

the value of such fence, or remove his fence without any other or further

-notice.

Every person owning a part of a division fence, shall keep the same in
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good repair, according to the requirements of the act, and upon neglect

or refusal to do so, shall be liable in double damages to the party injured

thereby.
If the parties interested shall fail to agree as to the value of one-half

of such fence, the owner of the fence may apply to a justice of the peace

of the township, who shall, without delay, issue an order to three disinter-

ested householders of the township, not of kin to either party, reciting the

complaint, and requiring them to view the fence, estimate the value

thereof, and make return under oath to the justice on the day named in

the order.

If the person thus assessed or charged with the value of one-half of

any fence, shall neglect or refuse to pay over to the owner of such fence

the amount so awarded, the same may be recovered before a justice of the

peace or other court of competent jurisdiction.

ROADS, HIGHWAYS AND BRIDGES.

The overseers of highways in each road district in each township, shaU

have care and superintendence of all highways and bridges therein, and

it shall be their duty to have all highways and bridges kept in good repair,

and to cause to be built all such bridges as public necessity may require,

said bridges to be built by contract, let to the lowest responsible bidder,

and to be paid for out of .any money in the overseer's hands, or in the

treasury for road or bridge purposes. But in no case shall the overseer

take such contract, either for himself or by his agent.

It shall be the duty of the overseer of highways to name all residents

of the district against whom a land or personal tax is assessed, giving

them two da^^s notice to work out the same upon the highways, and he

shall receive such tax in labor from every able bodied man, or his or her

substitute, at the rate of $1.50 per day, and in proportion for a less

amount, provided that any person may pay such tax in money. The

township board of directors shall have the power to assess upon all real

estate and personal property in their township made taxable by law for

state and county purposes, a sufficient tax to keep the roads and highways
of the various road districts in their township in good repair, which tax

shall be levied as follows: for ever}'- one mill tax upon the dollar levied

upon real and personal property, as valued on the assessor's roll of the

previous year, the township board of directors shall require one day's

work of each person subject to work on roads and highways, and no

more.

SUPPORT OF THE POOR.
Poor persons shall be relieved, maintained and supported by the county

of which they are inhabitants.

Aged, infirm, lame, blind, or sick persons who are unable to support
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themselves, and where there are no other persons required by law and

able to maintain them, shall be deemed poor persons.

No person shall be deemed an inhabitant within the meaning of this

chapter, who has not resided for the space of twelve months next preced-

ing the time of any order being made respecting such person in the county,

or who shall have removed from another county for the purpose of impos-

ing the burden or keeping such person on the county where he or she last

resided for the time aforesaid.

LANDLORDS AND TENANTS.

Every landlord shall have a lien on the crops grown on the demised

premises in any year for the rent that shall accrue for such year; and such

lien shall continue for eight months after such rent shall become due and

payable, and no longer. When the demised premises or any portion

thereof are used for the purpose of growing nursery stock, the lien shall

exist and continue in such stock until the same shall have been removed

from the premises and sold.

No tenant for a term, not exceeding two years, or at will, or by suffer-

ance, .shall assign or transfer his term, or interest, or any part thereof to

another, without the written assent of the landlord, or person holding

under him.

Either party may terminate a tenancy from year to year, by giving

notice in writing of his intention to terminate the same, of not less than

three months next before the end of the year.

A tenancy at will, or by sufferance, or for less than one year, may be

terminated by the person entitled to the possession, by giving one month's

notice, in writing to the person in possession, requiring him to remove.

All contracts or agreements for the leasing, renting, or occupation of stores,

shops, houses, tenements, or other buildings in cities, towns, or villages, not

made in writing, signed by the parties thereto, or their agents, shall be

held and taken to be tenancies from month to month; and all such tenan-

cies may be terminated by either party thereto, or his agent, giving to the

other party or his agent one month's notice in writing, of his intention to

terminate such tenancy.
No notice to quit shall be necessary from or to a tenant whose time is

to end at a certain time, or where by special agreement, notice is dis-

pensed with.

A landlord may recover a reasonable satisfaction for the use and occu-

pation of any lands or tenements, held by any person under an agreement
not made by deed.

Property exempt from execution shall be also exempt from attachment

for rent, except the crops grown on the demised premises on which the

rent claimed is due.
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If any tenant for life or years, shall commit waste during his estate or

term, of any thing belonging to the tenement so held, without special

license in writing, so to do, he shall be subject to a civil action for such

waste and shall lose the thing so wasted and pay treble the amount at

which the waste shall be assessed.

BILL OF SALE.
A bin of sale is a written agreement to another party for a considera-

tion to convey his right and interest in the personal property. The pur-
chaser must take actual possession of the property, or the bill of sale

must be acknowledged and recorded.

COMMON FORM OF BILL OF SALE.

Know all men by these presents, That I, David Franklin, of Lexington,
Missouri, of the first part, for and in consideration of three hundred dollars,

to me in hand paid by Albert Brown, of the same place, of the second

part, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, have sold, and by this

instrument do convey unto the said Brown, party of the second part, his

executors, administrators and assigns, my undivided half of forty acres of

corn now growing on the farm ofWilliam Mason, in the township ofJackson,

Lafayette county, Missouri; one pair of horses, twenty head of hogs, and six

cows belonging to me and in my possession at the farm aforesaid
;
to have and

to hold the same unto the party of the second part, his heirs, executors, and

assigns, forever. And I do for myself and legal representatives agree
with the said party of the second part, and his legal representatives, to

warrant and defend the sale of the aforementioned property and chattels,

.unto the said party of the second part, and his legal representatives,

against all and every person whatsoever.

In witness whereof, I have hereunto affixed my hand this first day of

June, one thousand eight hundred and seventy-six.

David Franklin.

BENEVOLENT, RELIGIOUS, AND EDUCATIONAL ASSOCI-
ATIONS.

Any lodge of Free Masons, or Odd Fellows, division of Sons of Tem-

perance or any other association organized for benevolent or charitable

purposes, or any library company, school, college, or other association,

organized for the promotion of literature, science, or art, or any gymnastic
or other association, organized for the purpose of promoting bodily or

mental health, and all societies, organized for the purpose of promoting
either of the objects above named, and for all similar purposes, by what-

ever name they may be known, consisting of not less than three persons,

may be constituted and declared a body politic and corporate, with aU the

privileges, and subject to all the liabilities and restrictions contained in this

act. Acts 1868, page 28.
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All associations incorporated under the provisions of the above law shall

file a copy of all amendments to their articles of association, certified as

such under their seal, with the clerk of the circuit court, within sixty days
after their passage.

Any number of persons, not less than three in number, may become an

incorporated church, religious society, or congregation, by complying
with the provisions of this chapter, except that it will be sufficient if the

petition be signed by all the persons making the application, and when so

incorporated, such persons and their associates and successors shall be

known by the corporate name specified in the certificate of incorporation,

and shall be entitled to all the privileges, and capable of exercising all the

powers conferred, or authorized to be conferred by the constitution of this

state upon such corporation. Acts 1871-2, P. 16, Sec. 1.

Any such corporation shall have power to raise money in any manner

agreed upon in the articles of association.

INTOXICATING LIQUORS.

A dramshop-keeper is a person permitted by law to sell intoxicating

liquors in any quantity not exceeding ten gallons.

No person shall directly or indirectly sell intoxicating liquors in any

quantity less than one gallon without taking out a license as a dramshop-

keeper.

Application for a license as a dramshop-keeper shall be made in writing
to the county court, and shall state where the dramshop is to be kept, and

if the court shall be of opinion that the appHcant is a person of good
character, the court may grant a license for six months.

An}'^ sale, gift or other disposition of intoxicating liquors made to any
minor without the permission or consent herein required, or to any hab-

itual drunkard, b}' any clerk, agent, or other person acting for any dram-

shop-keeper, druggist, merchant, or other person, shall be deemed and

taken to be as the act of such dramshop-keeper, druggist, merchant, or

other person.

Intoxicating liquors may be sold in an}^ quantity not less than a quart
at the place where made, but the maker or seller shall not permit or suffer

the same to be drank at the place of sale, nor at any place under the

control of either or both. Any person convicted of a violation of the

provisions of this section shall be fined a sum not less than $40 nor more
than $200. Provided, that nothing herein contained shall be so con-

strued as to affect the right of any person having a wine and beer house
license to sell wine and beer in any quantity not exceeding ten gallons at

any place.

Any dramshop-keeper, druggist, or merchant selling, giving away or

otherwise disposing of any intoxicating liquors to any habitual drunkard,
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after such dramshop-keeper, druggist, or merchant shall have been noti-

fied by the wife, father, mother, brother, sister, or guardian of such per-

son not to sell, give away or furnish to such person any intoxicating

liquors, shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction

thereof, shall be fined in any sum not less than $40 nor more than $200,

and upon conviction of any dramshop-keeper it shall work a forfeiture of

his license to keep a dramshop, and also debar him from again obtaining

a license for that purpose.

GENERAL WARRANTY DEED.
This Indenture^ made on the .... day of . . . . A. D. one thousand eight

hundred and . . . .
, by and between .... of ... . part .... of the first part, and

.... of the . . . . of . . . .
,
in the state of ... . part . . of the second part.

WITNESSETH, That the said part . . of the first part, in consideration of

the sum of .... ^^dollars, to ... . paid by the said part . . of the second

part, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, do . . by these pres-

ents, grant, bargain, and sell, convey, and confirm, unto the said part . . of

the second part, .... heirs and assigns, the following described lots, tracts,

or parcels of land, lying, being and situated in the. . . .of . . . .and state of

,
to-wit:

*

[Give description of property.]*

To have and to hold the premises aforesaid, with all and singular, the

rights, privileges, appurtenances, immunities, and improvements thereto

belonging, or in any wise appertaining unto the said part, .of the second

part, and unto .... heirs and assigns, forever; the said .... hereby cov-

enanting that.... will warrant and defend the title to the said premises
unto the said part . . of the second part and unto .... heirs and assigns

forever, against the lawful claims and demands of all persons whom-
soever.

In witness whereof, the said part . . of the first part ha . . hereunto set . .

hand . . and seal . . the day and year first above written.

Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of us.

[seal]

[seal]

state of missouri, )

.... of ... . [

' Be it remembered, that on this ....

day of .... A. D. 18 .... ,
before the undersigned, a within and for the

.... of ... . and state of ... . personally came .... who are personally known
to me to be the same persons whose names are subscribed to the fore-

going instrument of writing as parties thereto, and they acknowledged
the same to be their act and deed for the purposes therein mentioned.

And the said being by me first made acquainted with the contents of

said instrument, upon an examination separate and apart from .... hus-

band . . . . , acknowledged that .... executed the same, and relinquishes
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dower, in the real estate therein mentioned, freely and without fear,

compulsion or undue influence on the part of . . . .said husband. . . .
;
and

I certify that my term of office as a notar\- public w ill expire 18

In testimony whereof, I have hereunto set m}- hand and affixed my
official seal, at my office in this day and year first above written.

QUIT-CLAIM DEED.

This indenture, made on the .... day of . . . .
,
A. D. one thousand eight

hundred and , . . .
, by and between . . . .

,
of the county of ..... and state of

. . . .
, part of the first part, and . . . .

,
of the county of . . . .

,
and state of

, part of the second part,

Witnesseth, That the said part of the first part, in consideration of the

sum of luio dollars, to .... paid by the said part of the second part,

the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, do by these presents,

remise, release, and forever quit-claim unto the said part of the second

part, the following described lots, tracts, or parcels of land, lying, being
and situate in the county of . . . .

,
and state of . . . ., to wit: [Give descrip-

tion of property.]
*
[This deed of quit-claim being made in release of, and satisfaction for

a certain deed .... dated the . . day of .... ,
18 . .

;
recorded in the recor-

der's office, within and for the county of .... aforesaid, in deed book , .
,

at pages . . . .]

To have and to hold the same, with all the rights, immunities, privileges

and appurtenances thereto belonging, unto the said part of the second

part, and .... heirs and assigns, fOrever; so that neither the said part

of the first part nor .... heirs, nor an}^ other person or persons for ....

or in .... name or behalf, shall or will hereafter claim or demand any

right or title to the aforesaid premises, or any part thereof, but they and

every of them shall, by these presents, be excluded and forever barred.

In witness whereof. That said part of the first part ha hereunto set

hand and seal
,
the day and year first above written.

Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of us.

[seal,]

[seal]
[Acknowledgment same as in General Warranty Deed.]

MORTGAGE DEED.

Know all men by these presents, that, of the county of
,
in the

state of ... . for and in consideration of the sum of ... . dollars, to the said

in hand paid by.... of the county of.... in the state of ha..

* Omit this clause in case this deed is not made in release of some other instrument.
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granted, bargained and sold, and by these presents do . . grant, bargain
and sell, unto the said the following described situated in the

county of. . . .in the state of . . . .that is to say:

[Give descriptioa of property.]

To have and to hold the property and premises hereby conveyed, with

all the rights, privileges and appurtenances thereunto belonging, or in

anywise appertaining, unto said. . . .heirs and assigns forever; upon this

express condition, whereas, the said .... on the .... day of .... A. D. one

thousand eight hundx :d and .... made, executed and delivered to the said

certain .... described as follows, to-wit:

[Give description of notes, time of payment, etc.]

Now, if the said .... executor or administrator, shall pay the sum of

money specified in said .... and all the interest that may be due thereon,

according to the tenor and effect of said .... then this conveyance shall be

void, otherwise it shall remain in full force and virtue in law.

In witness whereof, , the said grantor and mortgagor ha . ,

hereunto subscribed .... name .... and affixed .... seal .... this .... day of

« • .} A.. xJ, In. . .

[SEAL.l

[se;.;..]

[Acknowledgment same as General Warranty Deed.]

CHATTEL MORTGAGE.
Know all men by these presents, That of the county of

, and

state of . . . . ,
in consideration of the sum of . . . . Foo dollars, to ... . paid by

.... of the county of . . . . and state of .... do sell and convey to said ....

the following goods and chattels, to-wit:

[Here describe goods.]

Warranted free of incumbrances, and against any adverse claims:

Upon condition. That. . . . pay to the said. . . .the sum of . . . .loo dollars,

and interest, agreeably to . . .* . note . . dated on the .... day of
,
18 . . ,

and made payable to the said .... as follows, to-wit : . . . . then this deed

shall be void, otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect.

The parties hereto agree That, until condition broken, said property

may remain in possession of ... . but after condition broken, the said ....

may at ... . pleasure take and remove the same, and may enter into any

building or premises of the said. . . .for that purpose.
Witness our hands and seals, this .... day of . . . A. D. 18 . .

Signed, sealed and delivered in

presence of us. [seal.]
. [seal.]

State of Missouri,

County of
''

Be it remembered, That on the. . . .day of A. D. 18. ., before the

undersigned, a . . . . within and for the county aforesaid, personally came
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who personally known to me to be the same person whose

name subscribed to the foregoing chattel mortgage as part

thereto, and acknowledged the same to be act and deed for the uses

and purposes therein mentioned.

In testimony whereof, I have hereunto subscribed my name and affixed

my seal, at my office in in said county, the day and year afore-

said. My term of office as notary public will expire on the ... day of

18. .

HOUSE LEASE.

This article of agreement witnesseth, That ha . . this day rented to

in the present condition thereof, the for the period of from

the da}^ 18. ., on the following terms and conditions, to-wit:

For the use and rent thereof, the said. ...hereby promise, .to pay said

or to order dollars, per for the whole time above stated,

and to pay the same at the of each ;
that will not

sub-let or allow any other tenant to come in with or under .... without

the written consent of said
;
that will repair all injuries or dam-

ages done to the premises by him or them during occupancy, or pay
lor the same; that all of property, whether subject to legal exemption
or not, shall be bound, and subject to the payment of rents and damages

thereof; that will take good care of the buildings and premises and

keep them free from filth, from danger of fire or any nuisance and from

all uses forbidden in any fire insurance policy issued thereon, .... and pro-

tect, defend and indemnify the said from all damages and charges
for such, that the houses and premises shall be kept clean, fairly treated

and left so; that in default of the payment of any. . . .installment of rent

for .... day . . after the same becomes due, .... will, at the request of the

said. . . .quit and render to. . . .the peaceable possession thereof; but, for

this cause, the obligation to pay shall not cease, and, finally at the end of

... .term. .. .will surrender to said .... heirs or assigns, the peaceable

possession of the said house and premises, with all the keys, bolts, latches

and repairs, if any, in as good condition as ... . received the same, the

usual wear and use and providential destruction or destruction by fire

excepted.
In witness whereof, the parties have set, .. .hand. .. .and seal. .. .to

.... cop . . hereof to be retained by ... .

Dated this .... day of .... 18 . .

[seal.]

MECHANICS' LIENS.

Every mechanic or other person who shall do or perform any work or

labor upon, or furnish an}^ materials, fixtures, engine, boiler or machinery
for any building, erection or improvements upon land, or for repairing the
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same under or by virtue of any contract with the owner or proprietor, or

his agent, trustee, contractor or sub-contractor, shall be entitled to a lien

upon such building, erection, or improvement, and upon the land belong-

ing to such owner or proprietor on which the same are situated. The

original contractor must within six months, and every journeyman and

day laborer within thirty days, and of every other person seeking to

obtain the benefit of the provisions of this chapter, within four months
after the indebtedness shall have accrued, file with the clerk of the cir-

cuit court of the proper county, a just and true account of the demand due
him or them, after all just credits have been given, which is to be a lien

upon such building or improvement, and a true description of the property
or so near as to identify the same upon which the lien is intended to apply,
with the name of the owner or contractor, or both, if known to be the

person filing the lien which shall in all cases be verified by the oath of

himself or some credible person for him.

Every person except the original contractor, who may wish to avail

himself of the benefits of the provisions of this chapter, shall give ten days
notice before filing of the lien as herein required, to the owner, owners, or

agent, or either of them, that he or they hold a claim against such build-

ing or improvements, setting forth the amount and from whom the same is

due.

All mechanics' lien holders shall stand on equal footing, without refer-

ence to date of filing, and upon sale of property they shall take pro rata

on the respective liens.

We onty attempt to give an outline of the law of mechanics' liens to aid

the general business man. Should any complicated questions arise, it is

best to consult an attorney in regard to the san>e.

MECHANIC'S LIEN.

Now, at this day, come .... and with a view to avail .... of the benefit

of the statute relating to mechanics' liens, file . . the account below set

forth for work and labor done, and materials furnished by .... under

contract with .... upon, to and for the buildings and improvements
described as follows, to-wit:

(Give description of buildings.)

and situated on the following described premises, to-wit:

(Give description of the property upon which the building is erected.)

said premise, buildings, and improvements, belonging to and being
owned by .... which said account, the same being hereby filed, in order

that it may constitute a lien upon the buildings, improvements, and prem-
ises above described, is as follows:

[Set the account out in full.]

State of Missouri, county of . . . .
, ss., being duly sworn, on his

oath says that the foregoing is a just and true account of the demand due
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.... for work and labor done, and materials furnished by .... upon, to

and for the buildings and improvements hereinbefore described, after all

just credits have been given; that said work and labor were done, and

said materials furnished upon, to and for said buildings and improvements

by .... at the instance and request of, and under contract with that

the foregoing description is a true description of the property upon, to and

for which said materials were furnished, and said work and labor done,

and to which this Hen is intended to apply, or so near as to identify the

same
;
that said demand accrued within months prior to the filing of

this lien, and that on the day of ....... 18. ., and at least ten days

prior to the filing of this lien .... gave notice to .... of his claim against
the amount thereof, from whom due, and of ... . intention to file a lien

therefor; that said .... as affiant is informed and believes, the owner. .

of the above described premises, and the buildings and improvements
thereon, which said premises, buildings, and improvements are intended

to be charged with this lien.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this day of
, 18 . .

BILL OF SALE OF GOODS.
Know all men by these presents, that .... of .... for and in considera-

tion of the sum of .... dollars to . . in hand paid by .... of the

receipt whereof . . do hereby acknowledge, by these presents do bargain
and sell unto the said .... all the goods, household stuff, implements and

furniture, and all other goods and chattels whatsoever mentioned in the

schedule hereunto annexed: To have and to hold all and singular the

said goods, household stuff, and furniture, and other premises above bar-

gained and sold or intended so to be, to the said .... and . . assigns for-

ever. And .... the said .... for ... . and . . heirs, all and singular, the

goods and chattels of whatever description, unto the said .... and . .

assigns against .... the said .... and against all and every other person
and persons whomsoever, shall and will warrant and forever defend

by these presents. Of all and singular which said goods, chattels,

and property, .... the said have put the said in full pos-
session by delivery to . ., the said one at the seaUng and delivery
of these presents, in the name of the whole premises hereby bargained
and sold, or mentioned, or intended so to be unto . .

, the said as

aforesaid.

In witness whereof, . . have hereunto set . . hand . . and affixed . . seal

this day A. D. 18 . .

Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of
[l. s.]

Note.—If the bill of sale is to be recorded in the county recorder's office, it must bo
acknowledged before some officer authorized lo take acknowledgment of deeds—other-
wise not.
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State of Missouri, )

County of f

Be it remembered, that on this .... day of . . . ., A. D. 18. ., before the

undersigned, a . . . . within and for the county of . , . . and state of Mis-

souri, personally came .... who . . personally known to me to be the

same person . . whose name . . subscribed to the foregoing instrument

of writing, as part., thereto, and acknowledged the same to be ..

voluntary act and deed for the purposes therein mentioned.

In testimony whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my
official seal, at my office in the day and year above written.

DEFINITION OF COMMERCIAL TERMS. .

$ means dollars, being a contraction of U. S., which was formerly

placed before any denomination of money, and meant, as it means now.
United States currency.

£ means pounds, English money.
@ stands for at or to-, lb for pounds, and bbl. for barrels', f) for -per

or by the. Thus, butter sells at 20@ 30c f S>, and flour at $8@12 f bbl.

"|o
for per cent., and

jj
for number.

May 1. Wheat sells at $1.20@$1.25, "seller June." Seller June
means that the person wiio sells the wheat has the privilege of delivering
it at any time during the month of June.

Selling short, is contracting to deliver a certain amount of grain or

stock, at a fixed price, within a certain length of time, when the seller has

not the stock on hand. It is for the interest of the person selling
" short"

to depress the market as much as possible, in order that he may buy and

fill his contract at a profit. Hence the " shorts" are called " bears."

Buying long, is to contract to purchase a certain amount of grain or

shares of stock at a fixed price, deliverable within a stipulated time,

expecting to make a profit b}^ the rise in prices. The "
longs" are termed

"
bulls," as it is for their interest to "

operate
"
so as to " toss

"
the prices

upward as much as possible.

ORDERS.
Orders should be worded simply, thus:

Mr. F. H. Coats: St. Louis, Sept. 15, 1876.

Please pay to H. Birdsall twenty-five dollars, and charge to

F. D. SiLVA.

RECEIPTS.

Receipts !-hould always state when received and what for, thus.

13
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$100. St. Louis, vSept. 15, 1876.

Reeived of J. W. Davis, one hundred dollars, for services

rendered in grading his lot in Sedalia, on account.

Thomas Brady.
If receipt is in full, it should be so stated.

BILLS OF PURCHASE.
W. N . Mason, Marshall, Missouri, Sept. 18, 1876.

Bought of A. A. Graham.

4 Bushels of Seed Wheat, at $1.50 $6 00

2 Seamless Sacks " 30 60

Received payment, $6 60
A. A. Graham.

ARTICLES OF AGREEMENT.
An agreement is where one party promises to another to do a certain

thing in a certain time for a stipulated sum. Good business men always
reduce an agreement to writing, which nearly always saves misunder-

standings and trouble. No particular form is necessary, but the facts must

be clearly and explicitly stated, and there must, to make it valid, be a

reasonable consideration.

GENERAL FORM OF AGREEMENT.

This agreement, made the second day of June, 1878, between John

Jones, of Marshall, county of Saline, state of Missouri, of the first part,

and Thomas Whitesides, of the same place, of the second part
—

WITNESSETH, That the said John Jones, in consideration of the agree-

ment of the part}' of the second part, hereinafter contained, contracts and

agrees to and with the said Thomas Whiteside, that he will deliver in good
and marketable condition, at the village of Slater, Missouri, during the month

of November, of this year, one hundred tons of prairie hay, in the fol-

lowing lots, and at the following specified times, namely: Twenty-five
tons by the seventh of November, twenty-five tons additional by the

fourteenth of the month, twenty-five tons more by the twenty-first, and

the entire one hundred tons to be all delivered bv the thirtieth of November.
And the said Thomas Whitsides, in consideration of the prompt fulfill-

ment of this contract, on the part of the party of the first part, contracts

to and agrees with the said John Jones, to pay for said hay five dollars per

ton, for each ton as soon as delivered.

In case of failure of agreement by either of the parlies hereto, it is

hereby stipulated and agreed that the party so failing shall pay to the

other, one hundred dollars, as fixed and settled damages.
In witness whereof, we have hereunto set our hands, the day and year

first above written. John Jones.
Thomas Whitesidb.



ABSTRACT OF MISSOURI STATE LAWS. 195-

AGREEMENT WITH CLERK FOR SERVICES.

This agreement, made the first day of May, one thousand eight hun-

dred and seventy-eight, between Reuben Stone, of Marshall, county of

Saline, State of Missouri, party of the first part, and George Barclay, of

Sedaha, county of Pettis, state of Missouri, party of the second part
—

WITNESSETH, That said George Barclay agrees faithfully and diligently

to work as clerk and salesman for the said Reuben Stone, for and during
the space of one year fi"om the date hereof, should both Hve such length of

time, without absenting himself from his occupation ; during which time he,

the said Barclay, in the store of said Stone, of Marshall, will carefully and

honestly attend, doing and performing all duties as clerk and salesman

aforesaid, in accordance and in all respects as directed and desired by the

said Stone.

In consideration of which services, so to be rendered by the said Bar-

clay, the said Stone agrees to pay to said Barclay the annual sum of one

thousand dollars, payable in twelve equal monthly payments, each upon
the last day of each month; provided that all dues for days of absence

from business by said Barclay, shall be deducted from the sum otherwise

by the agreement due and payable by the said Stone to the said Barclay.
Witness our hands: Reuben Stone.

George Barclay.



Practical Rules for Every Day Use.

How tofind the gain or loss fer cent. wJien the cost and sellingfrice are

given.
Rule.—Find the difference between the cost and selling price, which

will be the gain or loss.

Annex two ciphers to the gain or loss, and divide it by the cost price;

the result will be the gain or loss per cent.

How to change gold into currency.

Rule.—Multiply the given sum of gold by the price of gold.

How to chano^e currency into gold.

Divide the amount of currency by the price of gold.

How tofind each partner's share of the gain or loss in a copartnership

business.

Rule.—Divide the whole gain or loss by the entire stock, the quotient

will be the gain or loss per cent.

Multiply each partner's stock by this per cent., the result will be each

one's share of the gain or loss.

How to find gross and net weight and price of hogs.

A short and simple metJwdfor finding the net weighty or price of hogs^

when the gross weight or price is given^ and vice versa.

Note.—It is generally assumed that the gross weight of hogs diminished by 1-5 or 20

per cent, of itself gives the net weight, and the net weight increased by ^ or 25 per cent, of
itself equals the gross weight.

Tofind the net weight or gross -price.

Multiply the given number by .8 (tenths.)

Tofind the gross weight or net price.

Divide the given number by .8 (tenths.)

How tofind the capacity ofa granary, bin, or wagon-bed.
Rule.—Multiply (by short method) the number of cubic feet by 6308,

and point off one decimal place -the result will be the correct answer in

bushels and tenths of a bushel.

I^or only an approximate answer, multiply the cubic feet by 8, and point
off one decimal place.

How tofind the contents ofa corn-crib.

Rule.—Multiply the number of cubic feet by 54, short method, or

by 4^ ordinary method, and point off one decimal place
—the result will

be the answer in bushels.

Note—In estimating corn in the ear, quality and the time it has been cribbed must be
taken into consideration, since corn will shrink considerably during the winter and spring.
This rule generally holds good for corn measured at the time it is cribbed, provided it is

sound and clean.
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How tofind the contents of a cistern or tank.

Rule.—Multiply the square of the mean diameter by the depth (all in

feet) and this product by 5681 (short method), and point ofT one decimal

place
—the result will be the contents in barrels of 31-^ gallons.

How tofind the contents of a barrel or cask.

Rule.—Under the square of the mean diameter, write the length (all

in inches) in reversed order, so that its units will fall under the tens;

multiply by short method, and this product again by 430; point ofi one

decimal place, and the result will be the answer in wine gallons.

How to measure boards.

Rule.—Multiply the length (in feet) by the width (in inches) and divide

the product by 12—the result will be the contents in square feet.

How to tneasure scantlings^ joists., -planks., sills, etc.

Rule.—Multiply the width, the thickness, and the length together, (the

width and thickness in inches, and the length in feet), and divide the

product b}^ 12—the result will be square feet.

How to find the number of acres in a body of land.

Rule.—Multiply the length by the width (in rods) and divide the pro-

duct by 160 (carrying the division to 2 decimal places if there is a remain-

der); the result will be the answer in acres and hundredths.

When the opposite sides of a piece of land are of unequal length, add

them together an-d take one-half for the mean length or width.

How tofind the number of square yards in afioor or wall.

Rule.—Multiply the length by the width or height (in feet), and divide

the product by 9, the result will be square yards.

How tofind the number of bricks required in a building.

Rule.—Multiply the number of cubic feet by 22^.

The number of cubic feet is found by multiplying the length, height

and thickness (in feet) together.

Bricks are usually made 8 inches long, 4 inches wide, and two inches

thick
; hence, it requires 27 bricks to make a cubic foot without mortar,

but. it is generally assumed that the mortar fills 1-6 of the space.

How tofind the number of shingles required in a roof.

Rule.—Multiply the number of square feet in the roof by 8, if the

shingles are exposed ^\ inches, or by 7 1-5 if exposed 5 inches.

To find the number of square feet, multiply the length of the roof by
twice the length of the rafters.

To find the length of the rafters, at one-fourth pitch, multiply the

width of the building by .56 (hundredths); at one-third pitch by .6

(tenths); at two-fifths pitch, by .64 (hundredths); at one-half pitch,

by .71 (hundredths). This gives the length of the rafters from the apex
to the end of the wall, and whatever they ar« to project must be taken

into consideration.
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XoTE.—By ^ or 1^ pitch is meant that the apex or comb of the roof is to be
jt|^

or )^
the width of the building higher than the walls or base of the rafters.

How to reckon the cost of hay.

Rule.—Multiply the number of pounds by half the price per ton, and

remove the decimal point three places to the left.

Uotv to measure gram.
Rule.—Level the grain; ascertain the space it occupies in cubic

feet; multiply the number of cubic feet by 8, and point off one place to

the left.

Note.—Exactness requires the addition, to every three hundred bushels, of one extra

bushel.

The foregoing rule may be used for finding the number of gallons, by

multiplying the number of bushels by 8.

If the corn in the box is in the ear, divide the answer by 2 to find the

number of bushels of shelled corn, because it requires 2 bushels of ear

com to make 1 of shelled corn.

Rapid rules for measuring' land luithoiit instruments.

In measuring land, the first thing to ascertain is the contents of any

given plot in square yards; then, given the number of yards, find out the

number of rods and acres.

The most ancient and simplest measure of distance is a step. Now, an

ordinary-sized man can train himself to cover one yard at a stride, on the

average, with sufficient accuracy for ordinary purposes.
To make use of this means of measuring distances, it is essential to

walk in a straight line; to do this, fix the eye on two objects in a line

stright ahead, one comparatively near, the other remote; and, in walking-,

keep these objects constantly in line.

Farmers and others by adopting the following simple and ingenious con-

trivance., may always carry with them the scale to construct a correct yard
measure.

Take a foot rule, and commencing at the base of the little finger of the

left hand, mark the quarters of the foot on the outer borders of the left

arm, pricking in the marks with indelible ink.

Tofind how many rods in length will make an acre^ the width being

given.
Rule.—Divide 160 by the width, and the quotient will be the answer.

How tofind the number of acres in any plot of land, the number ofrods

being given.
Rule.— Divide the number of rods by 8, multiply the quotient by 5,

and remove the decimal point two places to the left.

The diameter being given., tofind the circumference.
Rule.—Multiply the diameter by 3 1-7.

How tofind the diameter when the circumference is gyven.
Rule.—Divide the circumference by 3 1-7.
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Tofind how many solid feet a round stick of timber of the same thwh^

ness throughout will contain when squared.

Rule.—Square half the diameter in inches, multiply by 2, multiply by
the length in feet, and divide the product by 144.

General rule for measuring timber^ to find the solid contents infeet.

Rule,—Multiply the depth in inches by the breadth in inches, and then

multiply by the length in feet, and divide by 144.

Tofind the number offeet of ti^nber in trees with the bark on.

Rule.—Multiply the square of one-fifth of the circumference in inches

by twice the length in feet, and divide by 144. Deduct 1.10 to 1.15

according to the thickness of the bark.

Howard's new rule for commuting interest.

Rule.—The reciprocal of the rate is the time for which the interest on

any sum of money will be shown by simply removing the decimal point
two places to the left

;
for ten times that time, remove the point one place

to the left; for 1-10 of the same time, remove the point three places to the

left.

Increase or diminish the results to suit the time given.
Note.—The reciprocal of the rate is found by inverting Whq rate

; thus 8 per cent per
month, inverted, becomes 3^ of a month, or ten days.

When the rate is expressed by one figure, always write it thus: 8-1,

three ones.

Rulefor converting English into American currency.

Multiply the pounds, with the shillings and pence stated in decimals, by
400 plus the premium in fourths, and divide the product by 90.

U. S. GOVERNMENT LAND MEASURE.
A township

—36 sections each a mile square.
A section—640 acres.

A quarter section, half a mile square
—160 acres.

An eight section, half a mile long, north and south, and a quarter of a
mile wide—80 acres.

A sixteenth section, a quarter of a mile square
—40 acres.

The sections are all numbered 1 to 36, commencing at the north-east

comer.

The sections are divided into quarters, which are named by the cardinal

points. The quarters are divided in the same way. The description of

a forty-acre lot wculd read: The south half of the west half of the

south-west quarter of section 1, in township 24, north of range 7 west,

or as the case might be; and sometimes will fall short, and sometimes

overrun the number of acres it is supposed to contain.
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SURVEYORS' MEASURE.
7 92-100 inches make 1 link.

26 links " 1 rod.

4 rods " 1 chain.

80 chains " 1 mile.

Note.—A chain is 100 links, equal to 4 rods or 66 feet.

Shoemakers formerly used a subdivision of the inch called a barleycorn;
three of which made an inch.

Horses are* measured directly over the fore feet, and the standard oi

measure is four inches—called a hand.

In biblical and other old measurements, the term span is sometimes

used, which is a length of nine inches.

The sacred cubit of the Jews was 24.024 inches in length.

The common cubit of the Jews was 21.704 inches in length.
A pace is equal to a yard or 36 inches.

A fathom is equal to 6 feet.

A league is three miles, but its length is variable, for it is strictly speaking
^ nautical term, and should be three eeo£fraphical miles, equal to 3.45 stat-

ute miles, but when used on land, three statute miles are said to be a'league.

In cloth measure an aune is equal to IJ yards, or 45 inches.

An Amsterdam ell is equal to 26.796 inches.

A Trieste ell is equal to 25.284 inches.

A Brabant ell is equal to 27.116 inches.

HOW TO KEEP ACCOUNTS.
Every farmer and mechanic, whether he does much or little business,

should keep a record of his transactions in a clear and systematic manner.

For the benefit of those who have not had the opportunity of acquiring a

primary knowledge of the principles of book-keeping, we here present a

simple form of keeping accounts which is easily comprehended, and well

adapted to record the business transactions of farmers, mechanics and

laborers.

1875. A. H. JACKSON. Dr. Cr.

Jan.
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CASSA MASON. Dr. Cr.

March
March
March
May
May
June
June
Juh-

Juh-

^ug.
Aug.
bept.

21
21

23
1

1

19
26
10

29
12
12
1

By 3 day's labor

To 2 shoats

To 18 bushels corn

By 1 months labor ,

To cash

By 8 days mowing
To 50 lbs. flour

To 27 lbs. meat

By 9 days harvesting

By 6 days labor

To cash
To cash to balance account

.at $1.25

.at 3.00

. at .45

at $1.50

.at$ .10

• at 2.00

,at 1.50

$ 6.00

8.10

10.00

*

2.75

2.70

20.00

18.20

$ 67.75 $67.75

$ 3.75

• • • •

25.00

• • • •

12.00

18.00

9.00

INTEREST TABLE.
A Simple Rule for Accdeatblt Coxpdtins Interest at Akt Gitbn P«k Cemt »ob Amt LBMeTB

OP Time.

Multiply the prtncepoi (amount of money at interest) by the f.ime reduced to days; then divide thl«

product by the qvotunt obtained by dividing 360 cthe number of days in the interest year) by the p#r
cent of interest, and the quotient thus obtained will be the required interest.

ILliU^TRATION. SolutiOTi.

Require tht- interest of $462.50 lor one month and eighteen days at 6 per cent. An $462.60
inieret-t mouth is 30 days ; one month and eighteen days equal 48 days. $462.50 .48

multiplied by .48 gives"$35S.0O00; 360 divided hy 6 (the per cent of interest) gives
60, and 222.0000 divided by 60 will give the exact interest, which is $3.70. If the
rate of iuteros't in the above example were_12 per cent, we would divide the $222.- 6(300 1

OOuO by 30 (because 360 divided by 12 gives 30); if 4 per cent, we would divide by 90;
if 8 per cent, by 4o, and in like raatiner for any other per cent.

370000
185000

CO 2222.0000
180

4ao
490

IS unite or things, 1 doses .

Vi dozen, 1 gross.
210 things, 1 score.

MISCELLANEOUS TABLE.
1

196 pounds, 1 barrel of flour.
200 pounds, 1 barrel of pork.

1
66 pounds, 1 firkis of butter.

24 sheets of paper. 1 quire.
SO quires of puper, 1 ream.
4 .. wide, 4 ft. high, ftod 8ft. long, 1 cord wood.
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NAMES OF THE STATES OF THE UNION, AND THEIR
SIGNIFICATIONS.

Virginia.—The oldest of the states, was so called in honor of Queen

Elizabeth, the "
Virgin Queen," in whose reign Sir Walter Raleigh made

his first attempt to colonize that region.

Florida.—Ponce de Leon landed on the coast of Florida on Easter

Sunday, and called the countr3' in commemoraticn of the day, which was

the Pasqua Florida of the Spaniards, or " Feast of Flowers."

Louisiana was called after Louis the Fourteenth, who at one time

owned that section of the country.
Alabama was so named b}" the Indians, and signifies

" Here we Rest."

Mississippi is likewise an Indian name, meaning
"
Long River."

Arkansas, from Kansas, the Indian word for "
smoky water."' Its pre-

fix was reall}' arc, the French word for "bow."

The Carolinas were original!}" one tract, and were called "
Carolana,"

after Charles the Ninth of France.
"*

6^tfor<f/(r/ owes its name to George the Second of England, who first

established a colonv there in 1732.

Tennessee is the Indian name for the " River of the Bend," i. e., the

Mississippi which forms its western boundary.

Kentucky \& the Indian name for "at the head of the river."

<9;42b means "beautiful;" T^zrw, "drowsy ones;" Afintiesota,
^^ cloudy

water," and Wisconsin,
"
wild-rushing channel."

Illinois is derived from the Indian word lllini, men, and the French

suffix ois, together signifying
" tribe of men."

Michigan was called by the name given the lake, fish-iveir, which was
to styled from its fancied resemblance to a fish trap.

ivfissouri is from the Indian word "
muddy," which more properly

applies to the river that flows through it.

Oregon owes its Indian name also to its principal river.

Cortez named California.
Massachusetts is the Indian for " the coimtry around the great hills."

Connecticut, from the Indian Quon-ch-ta-Cut, signifying
"
Long River."

Marvland, after Henrietta Maria, Queen of Charles the First, of Eng-
land.

New York was named by the Duke of York.

Pennsylvania means
" Penn's woods," and was so called after William

Penn, its original owner.

Delaware after Lord De la Ware.
New Jersey, so called in honor of Sir George Carteret, who was gov-

ernor of the island of Jersey, in the British channel.

Maine was called after the province of Maine, in France, in compliment
of Queen Henrietta of England, who owned that province.
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Vermont, from the French words vert mont^ signifying green mountain.

Nezv Hampshire, from Hampshire county, in England. It was formerly
Ciilled Laconia.

The little state of Rhode Island owes its name to the island of Rhodes,
in the Mediterranean, which domain it is said to greatly resemble.

Texas is the American word for the Mexican name by which all that

section of the country was called before it was ceded to the United States.

SUGGESTIONS TO THOSE PURCHASING BOOKS BY SUB-
SCRIPTION.

The business of -publishing books by subscription, having so often been

brought into disrepute by agents making representations and declarations

not authorized by the publis/ier, in order to prevent that as much as possi-

ble, and that there may be more general knowledge of the relation such

agents bear to their principal, and the law governing such cases, the fol-

lowing statement is made:
A subscription is in the nature of a contract of mutual promises, by

which the subscriber agrees io pay a certain sum for the work described;
the consideration is concurrent that the publisher shall publish the book

immed, and deliver the same, for which the subscriber is to pay the price
named. The nature and character of the work is described by the pros-

pectus and sample shown. These should be carefully examined before sub-

scribing, as they are the basis and consideration of the promise to pay, and
not the too often exaggerated statements of the agent, who is merely

e^nployed to solicit subscriptions, for which he usually paid a commission
for each subscriber, and has no authority to change or alter the conditions

upon which the subscriptions are authorized to be made by the publisher.
Should the agent assume to agree to make the subscription conditional, or

modify or change the agreement of the publisher, as set out by the pros-

pectus and sample, in order to bind the principle, the subscriber should see

that such condition or changes are stated over or in connection with his

signature, so that the publisher may have notice of the same.
All persons making contracts in reference to matters of this kind, or any

other business, should remember that the law as written is, that they can

not be altered, varied or rescinded verbally, but if done at all, must be done
in writing. It is therefore importa, i that all persons contemplating sub-

scribing should distinctly understand̂ that all talk before or after the sub-

scription is fnade is not admissible as evidence, and is no part of the contract.

Persons employed to solicit subscriptions are known to the trade as can-

vassers They are agents appointed to do a particular business in a pre-
scribed mode, and have no authority to do it in any other way to the

prejudice of their principal, nor can they bind their principal in any
other matter. They cajinot collect money, or agree that payment may be

made in anything else but money. They cannot extend the time of payment
beyond the time of delivery, nor bind their principal for the payment of

expenses incurred in their business.

// would save a great deal of trouble, and often serious loss, if persons,

before signing their names to any subscription book, or any written instru-

meni, would examijie carefully what it is; if they cannot read themselves,
call on some one disinterested who can-





History of Pettis County.

CHAPTER L—INTRODUCTION AND NAME.

Signification of History
—Kinds of History—Value as Instruction—Object of this Work—

Task of the Historian and His Fitness—How and by Whom Collected and Compiled—
Mistakes—Criticisms— Signification of a Name—How Pettis County got its Name—
Sketch of Hon. Spencer Pettis.

History, in its most general signification, is a narrative of events. It

includes a record not only of national events and affairs in the world at

large, but also an account of small districts, families, and of the lives and

acts of individuals. History is of two kinds—narrative and philosophical.
The former mere statement of facts as they occur, one after another;
while the latter also comprehends deductions from those facts, and the

relation of cause and effect. At first, history took the form of tradition,

which is oral opinions or memorials handed down from father to son, or

from ancestor to posterity, assuming the form of religious belief, much of

which was obscure and mythical.

Among the oldest examples of written history are sculptured inscrip-

tions and records of acts of rulers, especially their victories, and are found

on temples and pyramids of Egypt, Assyria, Greece, and Phoenicia. Herod-

otus, the father of history, was born about the close of the fifth century, B. C,
and his writings, so far as known, are the earliest that can be traced of his-

tory, aside from the collections of Moses. Thucydides was the second

great historian, but his writings approached more nearly the philosophical

style than the writings of Herodotus. The ancient historians of Greece

and Rome usually confined themselves to plain narrative, as Xenophon in

his Anadasis, Ccesar in his Commentaries, and Livy in his History of Ro7ne.

Tacitus showed his in portraying tyranny in its blackest colors. Eusebius

was the first great ecclesiastical historian.

Modern history has the tendency of critical rather than merely narra-

tive. Many of the histories written within the last half century are won-

derful monuments of critical research. In these days the historian is no

longer a mere reporter, he must be prepared to analyze character, and to

weigh events. He must seek his materials at the fountain head, must

compare the private with the public actions of the characters he portrays,

and present to his readers a picture of men and women which shall be

1
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accurate in minute detail, and yet embrace the remoter consequences of

their actions.

Annals are a chronicle divided into distinct years; biography, the his-

tory of the life and character of a particular person; memoirs, an account

of transactions in which the narrator bore a part; a romance, a fictitious

tale; and chronicle, the narration of events when time is considered the

chief feature. All these are closely related to and fall within the province

of history. The writer of history includes within his subjects more, and

a greater variety of, material than any other literary man, and history is a

more fruitful source of practical instruction than any other branch of liter-

ature. The pleasure and profit derived from careful perusal of the pages
of history is unlimited. Histories are multiplying as the popular demand

increases, for the chief object in making a book is its sale. All books,

except, perhaps, the Bible, are made with the prime object of profit.

Scientific works, works of fiction, histories, school books, books of poetry,

newspapers, and all other periodicals, are issued with the full expectation

of pecuniary profit to the publisher, and it is right that they should receive

reward, for, in the strife for wealth and power, men would otherwise neg-
lect the cultivation of the mind, and the production of hidden truths. No
man would publish a newspaper for the sole purpose of conferring a ben-

efit on his fellow; no man would publish a history for the sole object of

glory, or through a philanthropic act, desiring to confer a blessing upon
those into whose hands it chanced to fall. Literature, like all other occu-

pations, must be suitably rewarded. It is not at all probable that the pub-
lishers of this work would have undertaken such a great task unless they

rightfully expected suitable remuneration.

The history of Pettis county will be found to contain all, and far more
than the publishers have promised or their friends expected. Mistakes

and inaccuracies will occur. No history, nor any other book, not even

the Bible, the best of all books, has yet been written without them.

Books of the character of this history have been known in older States

for several years. County, township, city, neighborhood, and even family
histories have been compiled in most of the eastern States, including

Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, Iowa, Wisconsin, Minnesota, California, and many
western districts. The history of one of these counties combine the good
qualities of many histories in one book, besides furnishing a personal
sketch of rare worth and gratification. A short history of the State,

which also relates to many national aftairs, then a detailed history of the

county under many difterent heads, in such a manner that if the reader

will make it a careful study he will be greatly pleased and profited.
The historian should be a man of broad and generous views, free from

prejudice. Such is a stranger who goes into a county to place in order its

history. True, he meets with many obstacles which would not present
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themselves to one who has long resided among the scenes he desires to

narrate; but the advantages possessed by the stranger are far greater

than those possessed by the resident. The stranger has no friends to

reward, and no enemies to punish. He enters upon his task free to select

from the best and most reliable sources, those items of history which will

interest the greatest number, without having his mind pre-occupied with

a special subject or particular class of citizens.

Just as in an important trial at law, he who enters the jury box least

prejudiced by former knowledge of the case, makes the best juror; so

the intelligent stranger can most impartially decide what is acceptable

history, and what is not. The corps of historians who furnished this

record of such facts as they have been able to obtain by diligent work,
did so with no other motive than performing their task well; and fulfilling

their promise to their patrons. That persons will harshly criticise this

work, and that too, when the greatest array of facts testify to the correct-

ness of the book, is conceded; but the value of a record like this will only
be appreciated in future years, when a greater portion of its pages would

have been lost or forgotten, had not a laudable enterprise rescued them

from oblivion. To attempt a criticism on another is thought, by some, to

show wisdom and culture; to such the following lines of Pope appro-

priately apply:

"Some have at first for wits, then poets, passed ;

Turn'd critics next, and proved plain fools at last."

NAME.

Clustering around the name of an object are associate thoughts as

immortal as the name itself. If, as has been said,
" there is nothing in a

name," then history is vain; for often a single name contains much history.

The name Washington signifies to the mind more than any three syllables

uttered by American freemen. A name is not merely a single sound or

combination of sounds. It has perpetual existence. The person or thing

may die or ^vanish away and be forgotten, but the name will live forever.

Even the ideal picture of Homer, the greatest of poets, will fade from

earth, but his name will not leave the pages of history till time shall be no

more. So much importance is attached to the name of an object, that it

becomes the first thing claiming attention, Immediately after the creation

God brought every living thing unto Adam to see what he would call

them. Nothing exists apart from its name, but the name exists perpetu-

ally without the object. In this world there is very little unalloyed truth,

but in the expression,
" there is everythino in a name," we have a state-

ment much nearer universal truth, than in the expression
" there is nothing

in a n*ame."

For ages the names of heroes have been given to places and things.
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During the short history of America, its great men have been honored in

the name of nmnberless counties, townships, cities, towns, municipalities

and post-offices. The great name of Washington is met everywhere, from

the capital oi the Nation, down to the smallest hamlet of a rural district.

Franklin, Jackson, Lincoln, Grant and many other names applied to places

are found in every section, and in every State of our Union. It may be

asked why, if there be so much in a name, we do not give the most impor-
tant name to the most important object. The reason of this is that some

names are so much above any terrestrial object that they are never used

n that connection. The appellations of Diety are too sacred to be given

to mercenary individuals and perishable objects of the world. God holds

no man guiltless who takes his name in vain. So exalted is the name of

Christ that it is written, "at the name of Jesus, every knee shall bow, of

things in heaven, and things in earth, and things under the earth."

In our State of Missouri, we have counties bearing the immortal names

of Benton, Boone, Clay, Douglas, Franklin, Green, Harrison, Henry,

Jackson, Johnson, Lafayette, Lincoln, Madison, Pettis, Washington,

Webster, and many others. It has become a favorite custom to

have a county and other smaller political divisions of territory

known by the name of some individual, but a State or Nation is not thus

named. Many names are given by accident. Some places take the name
of a river, mountain or original tribe. Our language has become enriched

by the new names which have crept into it, and by the modification of

old ones.

Hon. Spencer Pettis.—We herewith give a brief biographical sketch

of the eminent man whose name this county bears. He was born in the

State of Virginia in the year 1802, receiving an academical education,

subsequent!}- studied law, commencing the practice of his profession at

Fayette, Howard county, Missouri.. At an early age he displayed great

abilit}'', and soon rose to the very best estimation of the people of his

adopted State. At the age of twenty-seven years he appeared in the

zenith of his political glory before the people, as a candidate to Congress.
Prior to this date (1828), Missouri had sent but two representatives to

Congress, Hon. John Scott, elected in 1820, serving six years, and Hon.
Edward Bates, elected in 1826, serving two years. In this campaign
there were three candidates for Congress: Edward Bates, a Whig, and
Wm. Carr Lane and Spencer Pettis, Democrats, the latter of whom so

equally divided the strength of the party that the election of Hon. Edward
Bates was inevitable if both continued in the race. Finally, the question
as to which of the two should retire was submitted to Col. Benton. He,
without hesitation, decided that Lane should withdraw and Pettis con-
tinue before the people. This fact was made known by sending and

posting hand-bills throughout the State, for at that time there were no
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lines of telegraph and but few newspapers. The result of this election was

that Pettis was elected by a handsome majority. Hon. Spencer Pettis

was a warm friend of Col. Thomas H. Benton and an outspoken Demo-

crat, who had earnestly entered the contest against United States banks,

in harmony with Gen. Jackson. He served in the Twenty-first Congress
from December 7th, 1829, to March 3d, 1831.

During the administrations of Andrew Jackson (1820-1829), who was

really the people's choice for president in 1824, when the house of repre-

sentatives gave the office to John Q. Adams, the war against the United

States National Bank by the military hero, whose great talents, inflexible

honesty and iron will were unassailable, created considerable excitement

throughout Missouri, and all over the Union. In 1830 politics was

warmly discussed in Missouri. At that time Missouri contained but one

congressional district, and the Hon. Spencer Pettis, a shrewd, talented

young lawyer of St. Louis, was a candidate for re-election to congress.

He was a supporter of Jackson's admmistration, and caustic and severe

in his opposition to the national bank. No doubt the Hon. Spencer Pettis

had become the most popular politicians in the State. At his last election

he had a large majority over the Hon. David Barton, who had lately

retired from the United State Senate, and had been brought forward by
his friends for the lower house of congress. During the political canvass

many personal controversies appeared in the public prints, some of which
had a melancholy termination. It appears that Mr. Pettis had a personal

quarrel with Maj. Thomas Biddle, then paymaster in the United States

army, and a brother of Nicholas Riddle, then president of the United States

bank. Another brother of his was Commodore Biddle, of the navy.

Through the influence of the Hon. Thomas H. Benton, Mr. Pettis was

prevented from going into a duel with Mr. Biddle until after the election,

which was then the first Monday in August. After the election a chal-

lenge passed from Mr. Pettis to Mr. Biddle, which was accepted, and

the parties met on the sand bar, opposite the city of St. Louis, August
27th, (Friday), 1831. It is said by old settlers that the river was lined by
people on both sides to witness the tragedy. On account of Mr. Biddle's

near-sightedness, the distance measured was five feet, so that when they

presented their pistols they overlapped. The firing was simultaneous.

Both were mortally wounded, and when notified of "this fact by the sur-

geons, hke Hamlet and Laertes, they mutually forgave one another.

Mr. Pettis died the next morning, and was buried on the following Sun-

day, the day on which Mr. Biddle expired. Thus ended the career of

one of the most prominent young men of Missouri. The following

appears in the archives at Washington: "Spencer Pettis, St. Louis Co.,

Mo., elected August, 1828, for two years. Re-elected 1830. Killed in a

duel with Biddle, August, 1831. Term of service, three years.
"
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So dear was this young hero and champion of the people's rights in

the memory of those who associated in forming this county out of Cooper
and Saline counties, on January 26th, 1833, that the name of Pettis was

bestowed upon it. Messrs. Joseph S. Anderson, of Cooper county, John

Stapp, of Lafayette county, and John S. Rucher, of Howard county,

were commissioners in 1834, to locate the county seat of Pettis. Accord-

ingly they met at St. Helena, commonly known by the soubriquet of Pin

Hook, or Wasson's Mill, in the following March, and in 1837, Gen. David

Thompson, father of Mr. Mentor Thompson, now of Sedalia, assisted

in "
laying out

"
Georgetown, naming it for Georgetown, Ky., his old

home.

Soon after the duel between Pettis and Biddle was fought, the name

Bloody Island was applied to the ground upon which the fatal tragedy
took place.

The name of Pettis is supposed to have formerly been spelled Pettus.

Sir John Pettus, an English writer, was born in Suffolk, England. He
became deputy governor of the royal mines, and published "The History,

Laws, and Places of the Chief Mines in England and Wales," in the year
1670. He died about A. D. 1690.

CHAPTER II.—EARLY SETTLEMENT AND PIONEERS.

Introduction—Habits and Characteristics of Pioneers—First Houses—Bedsteads—Manner
of Cooking—Hominy Blocks—Early Mills—Farming—Hospitality and Traits of Early
Settlers—Pin Hook Settlement—Flat Creek--Georgetown—*Early Manner ot Farming—Incidents—Names of Settlers.

The early settlers, where are they ?

They are falling one by one :

A few more years may pass away,
And leave but few or none.

Since the period when the early settlements were made within the limits

of what is now called Pettis county. Time, the great monarch of all things

perishable, has made various changes. The ranks of families have been

thinned and the surface of the earth materially changed. The slow and

unobserved "old man with his sickle" has visited every dwelling, thrust-

ing in his wiry blade regardless of nationality, home, or honor, so now
numbers of the old pioneers sleep beneath the soil they once tilled. The
writer is touched with the reverting thought of remembering many of

the plain and hospitable men of the west, whose unsullied hearts and inter-

minable energy of purpose, gave to this country its birthright, and its

wholesome outlook in the dark days of hardships, who now rest from

their labors. As long as the sands of time unceasingly roll, ma}^ the his-



HISTORY OF PETTIS COUNTY. 211

torian's pen incessantly recount the matchless worth of these pioneers,
who cleared the way for the following generations.

After spending considerable time in gathering materials, from records

and old settlers, we find it impossible in these pages to give a full detail of

the early settlements and pioneers of Pettis county. Every nation does

not possess an authentic account of its origin, and many communities of com-

paratively recent date, from whence their origin may be traced. The old

Latins said, "/7?r5«« et haec olini mefmnisse Javabit^'''' which, means that

perhaps it will be pleasant hereafter to remember these things. Never-

theless, to be interested in such things is characteristic of the human race,

and it comes particularly within the province of the historian to deal with

the first causes. If at times these facts be lost, as is often the case when

drawing from traditions, and the chronicler invades the realm of the ideal

world and paints the missing picture, it should be accepted as pertment to

the theme. The patriotic Roman was not content till he had famed the
" First Settlers," although the story of their lineage was not so tasteful to

the cultured patricians.

One of the advantages of a new country, and the one usually least

appreciated, is to be able to go to the beginning. Through this avenue
the historian can trace results to their causes, and grasp the facts which
have contributed to bring about events and mould characters. When we
observe that a county has attained a certain position in contrast with other

counties, we cast about for the reasons of the present conditions, by going
to its early settlements and surroundings. In this way the changes
which have produced the great enterprises of to-day may be accurately
recorded.

In the history of Pettis county we may trace, in some instances, the

early settlers to their old homes in the older States, and in the countries

of the Old World, from whence they came. We may follow the course

of the Buckeye, Sucker, Hoosier, Knickerbocker, Green-Mountain, and

Nutmeg boys in striking contrast with the Corncrackers, Tuckyhoes,
Tarheels, Whelps, and Texas Rangers, as we arrange the annals of the

pioneers for compilation. For more than a century the provincialisms of

the different sections of the Union have been marked by a deep contrast.

The sturdy sons of New England
"
guess it is rearing and education,"

while the Dixie boys
" reckon it is raising and family caste."

In this county and the west generally, the people have been, little by
Httle, losing the tinge of their sectional bias, so that at this period it is dif-

ficult to tell the difference. East, west, north, and south have been

blended into harmony of feeling and purpose. The prejudices that once

prompted different localities to become antagonistic have passed away.
The customs, dress, language, diet, and sundry things peculiarly western

are now quite different from those of the pioneers of Pettis county.
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Often the adventurer came to the west to "
grow up" with the country,

trusting only to his strong arm and willing heart to work his way on in

the world. It was in this way many a penniless, ambitious young man
secured a home in this county for his loving wife, and a good maintenance

for his children. Here, fifty years ago, the pioneer hunter chased the

deer, elk, and bear, where now are broad and well cultivated fields. It

was by industry and economy that the pioneers left their children pleas-

ant homes in many instances.

Here we may see the path worn by the Missourian in his experience in

a land which, to him, was a country far more preferable than that southern

and eastern soil where he made his former home. We may see here the

growth which came with knowledge, and the progress which grew upon
him with advancement, and how his better nature was developed. The

vanishing pride of Kentucky, or the vain-glory of other sections, brought
here in an early day, have been modified since the advent of new measures

in the crucible of democracy, forever eliminating servitude from the solu-

tion, and establishing freedom and education in its stead. Others have

been animated with the impulse to move on, after making themselves a

part of the community, left for the west where civilization had not gone,
some becoming wealthy returned to Pettis county, while many remained

in their new homes.

In this county there were but few of the distinctive New England men
and women or Yankees, a class of people with abundant nerve and brain

force which have poured into western and southern states since the war

by thousands, swelling the population and wealth of those regions in ex-

cess of any previous flow of emigration. This class brought with them a

proclivity, inherent, submissive and courteous, which has tended to smooth

the angles of western society and deaden the execrable feeling that had

so long drawn the lines of sectional division. The agile New Englander
will soon be a perfect Missourian and his offspring will tell the story of

the adventure and feel ever thankful that they have a cheerful home in the

favored spot of the west. In Pettis county may be found many an indus-

trious, economical German, besides other nationalities—all of whom have

contributed to modify types of men already living here.

Those who have noted the career of the brave, strong men in subduing
the wilds, overcoming the obstacles and withstanding the hardships of this

county in early times, can but admit that the first settlers were worthy
sons of illustrious sires.

During the decade which comprehends the period prior to 1820, the

history of this section was made up of the earliest stage of pioneer life.

About all that we can gather from this time is drawn from tradition. In

those days the people took but little care to preserve history; they were

too busily engaged in making it. Historically speaking, those were the



HISTORY OF PETTIS COUNTY. 213

most important years in the growth of this section. It was then the

corner-stone of all the county's history and prosperity was laid. How-

ever, this period was not remarkable for its stirring events, if we leave

out the admission of the State into the Union. It was, morover, a time of

self-reliance, brave persevering toil, mingled with privations patiently

endured through faith in the good time coming. Invariably, the first set-

tlers were quite poor, mutually facing the same dangers and standing upon
the same footing.

All the experience of the early pioneers of this county goes far to con-

firm the theory that, after all, happiness is pretty evenly balanced in the

world. They had their privations and hardships, but they had, also, their

own peculiar joys , If they were poor, they were free from the burden of

pride and vanity, unless inherent in their nature, being exempt from the

anxiety and care that always attend the possession of wealth. Other peo-

ple's eyes cost them nothing. If they had few neighbors they were gen-

erally on good terms. Envy and jealousy had never crept in. A com-

mon interest and mutual sympathy bound them together with the closest

ties. They were a little world to themselves, and the good feeling that

prevailed was all the stronger, because they were so far removed from the

dense populated cities of the east.

A fine hospitable feeling existed among the pioneers, arising partially

from their social state of welfare. There were no castes, no aristocracy,

except an aristocracy of kind hearts and benevolence. They were bound

together with a bond of sympathy begotten by the consciousness of com-

mon hardships.
In the early times, neighbors did not wait for an invitation or request

to help one another. Whenever a settler's cabin was burned or blown

down, no sooner was the fact known than the neighbors turned out to

assist the unfortunate man in rebuilding his house. In this work they
came with as little hesitation and as much alacrity as if they were all

members of the same family, bound together by the ties of consanguinity.

What was one man's interest was the interest of the whole community.
It must be remembered that this feeling among the pioneers was, by no

means, peculiar to Pettis county, although it was strongly illustrated here.

It prevailed among all the old settlements of Missouri. The very nature

of circumstances taught the settlers the necessity of dwelhng together in

this spirit. It was their only protection. They had come, many of them^
far away from the well established leign of law, and settled in a new

country, where the civil authority was yet feeble, and unable to aflbrd

protection and redress grievances. Here in Pettis county, some of the

old settlers lived quite a while before there was a single officer of the

law in the county. Each man's protection was in the good will and

friendship of those about him, and the one thing that any person might
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well dread, was the ill-will of the community; for it was more terrible

than the law. The law has its squabbles and delays, but there is no

squabbling or delaying at the court of public sentiment. It was no com-

mon thing in early times for hardened men, who had no fear of jails, to

stand greatly in awe of the indignant community. Such were some of

the characteristics of the first settlers of Pettis county; nevertheless, they
were generally peaceable, quiet law-abiding citizens, and for several years

these pioneers had but few law-suits, and cared very little for anything

except domestic affairs. They had no time to waste in neighborhood

quarrels. Their charitable hand was ever open to welcome the stranger
who had cast his lot with them, to share mutually what was in reserve.

The first buildings of the county were not just like the log cabins that

were afterwards erected. The latter was regarded as buildings of nota-

bility, requiring some help and considerable labor and expense for those

times. The first dwellings were a cross between pole cabins and Indian

bark huts. Many of the pioneers thus began life in the west, but soon

after this house-raising called numbers of the settlers together to assist

each other in erecting substantial log houses. A few pioneers yet live,,

who remember the happiest time of life as that when they lived in one of

those plain but comfortable log houses.

In the pioneer's house a window with sash and glass was a rarity, and

an evidence of wealth and aristocracy which but few could afford. The
windows were more often made by cutting out a log or taking out a few

chinks. The doors were fastened with old-fashioned wooden latches, and

swung on wooden hinges. These houses were tenements suited to the

times. For friend, for neighbor or traveler the latch-string ahvays hung
on the outside of the door. The pioneers were hospitable, entertaining

visitors, even strangers without any charge.
It is quite noticeable with what affection and attachment the old settlers

speak of their log cabins. It may be doubted whether palaces ever shel-

tered happier hearts than those who lived in rudely constructed log houses.

The following is a brief descriptiou of the pioneer's dwelling:
These cabins were of round logs and poles, notched together at the

corners, ribbed with poles, and covered with boards split from a tree. A
puncheon floor was laid down, a hole cut in the end of the building
where a stick and mud chimney was built. In some houses a window was
made by cutting out a hole in the side or end, which had no glass or trans-

parency save the light of heaven. The cracks were stopped or chinked

with blocks of wood and mud. The one-legged bedstead—now a piece
of furniture of the past

—was made by cutting a stick the proper length,

boring holes in the logs of the cabin one and one-half inches in diameter,
at right angles, and the same-sized hole corresponding for the triangular

part which was fastened in the floor or ground, poles made the bed rails,
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and from pole to pole hickory bark was often interwoven or clapboard
were laid across, and upon this structure a straw or shuck mattress was

laid, and sometime a feather tick was placed still over this. The house-

hold and kitchen furniture were all in the same little room. The conven-

ience of the cooking stove was not thought of then, but instead, the food

was prepared by the faithful housewife in pots, kettles, ovens, and skillets,

on and about the big open fire place and frequently around the pedal ex-

tremities of the husband, one of the so called " lords of creation," and legal

sovereigns of the househould while he was indulging in his nicotine and

poisonous luxuries of a cob pipe, and now and then chewing and squirting
the juice of the " natural leaf," discoursing the issues of an election, or con-

templating the probable results of a proposed hunting excursion. Often

the very earliest settlers baked their bread on a board before the fire and

called it "Johnnie cake."

Those log cabins were not so bad after all. The people of to-day, famil-

iar with cooking stoves and culinary u-tensils, would not be at home were

they compelled to prepare a meal with no other conveniences than such

as were found in the pioneer's log cabin. In very many instances rude

fire places were constructed of mud and sticks, sometimes rough stones

were laid for a hearth, jambs and back, the mud and stones to keep the

sticks from catching fire, and the sticks to keep the mud from falling

down.

These fire places served for heating and cooking purposes, and also,

ventilation. Around the cheerful blaze of these early fires the meals were

prepared, and before the fireside the board was spread and the edibles

relished with a piquancy that the envoy of Spain might envy. These

viands, it must be remember were not such as would tempt the epicure,
but such as afibrded the most wholesome nourishment for a class ofpeople
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who were driven to exposure and hardships by their lot. Among them

there were but few dyspeptics.

Before there were mills of easy access, and even in some instances af-

terwards, hominy blocks were used. These now exist only in the memory
of the oldest settlers. But few of the present generation know any thing

of hominy blocks. We give a brief discription: A tree of suitable size

from eighteen to twenty inches was selected in the forest and felled

to the ground. If a cross cut saw was convenient the tree was butted, /.

e., the kerf or rough part taken off, so that it would stand steady when

ready for use. If there were no saws in the neighborhood strong arms

and sharp axes were ready to do the work. When the block was smooth

at both ends the work of cutting out a hole commenced. This was done

with an ax. When the cavity was sufficiently large a fire was kindled in

and carefully guarded till the rough edges were burned out. When com-

pleted the block resembled a druggist's mortar. A pestle was made of a

suitable piece of wood for the purpose of beating the corn. Sometimes

one hominy block accommodated an entire neigliborhood and was the

means of staying the hunger for many months.

Sometimes in cases of rare necessity when the snow was too deep to

travel or swollen streams intervened between the settler's home and the

mill, a grist mill was extemporized from a coffee mill, whereby sufficient

corn was ground to furnish meal for the family. At other times a grater

was made by pricking holes in an old piece of tin, and after the corn was

softened somewhat by boiling in the ear, meal was grated. Numerous

instances of this kind might be given to show how families and even whole

neighborhoods subsisted in this way for days and even weeks. A long

period of this kind occurred during the great snow of 1829.

But few streams of the county had suitable mill sites. In a very early

day a grist mill, water power, was erected on Muddy by James Wasson
and called Pin Hook. A few horse mills were run in the older settle-

ments.

The early settlements were confined to the wooded skirts of the little

streams. Flat Creek and Muddy are the principal streams on which they
first settled. In those days these streams furnished plenty of water to

turn the mills in order to supply the demand for corn cake. Considera-

ble fish were found in these streams then.

It is supposed by the old settlers that since civilization came westward

and utilized the soils and drained the bottom lands, that there is not so

much rain as formerly. It is said by reliable old settlers, that for days
and weeks, many of the creeks could not be forded. At that time there

were no roads, bridges, ferry boats, and but few canoes, making travel

very difficult in bad weather. Then even the 'smallest streams were ofi;en

dangerous, making it no small undertaking to travel where so many
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treacherous streams had to be crossed. Then scarcely a week passed with-

out some rain, and the streams were often swollen beyond the capacity of

their banks, and would swim a horse where now we see luxuriant and

fertile corn fields.

Many of the first settlers went to Boonville for their milHng, which

was the only place where merchandise was carried on for several years.

At that time all the present State of Missouri west and north of the

Osage river, and the old settled counties north of the Missouri river, was

for many years, known as the " Boone's Lick country." The old settlers

knew it by no other name. It received its name from a place called

Boone's Lick, in what is now Howard county, situated about eight miles

northwest of New Franklin, near the Missouri river. This place was

visited by Daniel Boone at a very early date, finding several large salt

springs where deer and other game resorted; he made this a favorite

hunting ground. Here in 1807, Nathan and Daniel M. Boone, sons of

the frontiersman, Daniel Boone, manufactured salt at Boone's Lick, and

shipped it down the river to St. Louis. Several adventurers came to this

section as hunters, but no one attempted to settle here until 1808, when

Col. Benj. Cooper determined to make his home in this favored spot, but

the territorial governor, Merriwether Lewis issued an order directing all

frontier settlers to return since he could not afford them protection in case

of an Indian war. In spite of all obstacles this section was not destined to

be left forever under the reign of wild beasts and savage Indians. In

those days all the territory including Saline, Cooper, and Pettis counties

presented advantages for those seeking homes in rich land and healthful

cHmate. Here the soil promised, with little labor, the most abundant

harvests. The forests were filled with every variety of game, and streams

with all kinds of fish.

During the war of 1812, the Indians took sides with the British against

the United States, committing many depredations. After this war the

Sac Indians were driven ofT, but often made hunting visits and were

friendly towards the settlers.

When the first settlers came to this county wild game of all kinds was

abundant, and so tame as not to be frightened by the approach of the

white man. This game furnished the sturdy pioneers all their meat, and

in fact, with all the provisions that they used, except their bread. At the

advent of the white man, large numbers of deer,- turkey, bear, elk, and

other wild animals were very plentiful, and to use the expression of an

old settler,
"
they were as plentiful as domestic stock in our pastures, and

could be killed just as easy." The settlers spent most of their time in

hunting and fishing, as it was of little use to plant crops to be destroyed

by the wild animals.

The wild animals killed for food were not the only ones which filled
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the forests. Such terrible and blood-thirsty wild beast as the bear and

the panther could be seen very often lying in wait tor an unwary traveler

who ventured near their lairs. Capt. W. K. Ramey, when a mere strip-

ling, out with his gun and dog, discovered three bears snugly covered

with grass and weeds, early in the month of March, ere bruin had arose

from his hibernation to take in the spring days. At first the Captain
could not perceive what the pile of old grass meant, but by thrusting in

his hand he found the bears which allowed him to put his hands on them

to see if they were alive. After finding life in them he fired at the largest

one, which fell to the ground after a few brief struggles. This brought
the others, a yearling and a cub, out in the contest, the dog kept them at

bay till a second shot brought the yearling to the ground, and then the

cub tried to make his escape by taking to the wood, but he was pursued
and treed, and a third shot from the Captain's gun brought him down.

This was the Captain's initiation in bear fighting. Billy O'Brien killed

an elk near the present village of Dresden, said to have been the largest

ever killed in the county. When the head was severed from the body
and stood upon the points of the horns, Mr. O'Brien rode under with his

gun on his shoulder without stooping. This head and set of horns

remained on the prairie for several years and more than one horseman

has rode under the prongs. This is vouched for by Capt. W. K. Ramey,
who was present when this enormous elk was slain, and killed four elk

that day himself. Mr. O'Brien died in this county, and in 1850 his family

moved to California.

In 1818 Nimrod Jenkins and a few others settled near the Lamina

river, in the northeastern part of the county, which then formed a part of

Cooper county. Solomon Reed came from Crab Orchard, Ky., and set-

tled in 1821 in what is now known as Pettis county. He was a genuine

pioneer, all of his life having been spent on the outskirts of civilization.

He was liberal in his dealings with the Indians, and always on familiar

and friendly terms with them, and among them he bore the soubriquet of
*'
Pumpkin," owing to the fact that they could always get from him a

supply of that vegetable, of which they seemed to be very fond. One

year later Jesse Swope, Silas Jenkins, and Sylvester Hall located on Black-

water. Mr. Hall is now living a few miles north of Knobnoster, John-
son county, Mo. Soon after this settlement came Reuben E. Gentry,
Thomas Osborne, Wm. O'Bannon, James Wasson, James Ramey and

others, and settled on Muddy creek. A German settlement was made
on Lake creek in 1831.

A settlement was made on a spot near old Georgetown. Settlements

were made on Muddy, and Flat creek. George Heard, Esq., built the

first house in Georgetown, during the fall of 1835. He was the first

teacher of the countv.
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Some of the first settlers were Thomas Wasson, John Dickerson, Judge

Jas. Ramey, Capt. W. K. Ramey, Nathan A. Newbill, Jesse Swope,
Hiram Swope, Abijah Hughes, Leonard Bouldin, Edward Speddin,Wm.
C. Harrison, Henry C. Hall, Richard O'Bannon, Absalom McVey,
Reuben E. Gentry, M. Emery, C. and W. Woods, Reece Hughes, J. M.

Wooldridge, Andrew Forbes, Samuel Forbes, Maj. Wm. Gentry, Aaron

Jenkins, Amos Fristo, Gen. Geo. R. Smith, John Montgomery, Mentor

and Milton Thomson, Norah S. Rigg, Jesse Douglass, Aldea A. Glass-

cock, Albion Robinson and many others some of which will appear
elsewhere.

History is but the unrolled scroll of prophecy, setting forth and recount-

ing not only what is, but giving us gleams of that which is soon to follow.

The early settlers who bore the brunt through all the dark and trying
times of the development of this county shall never lose claims to.

valor and noble deeds of charity. Whenever we read of the heroic

and daring conduct of the hardy pioneer in procuring bread for loved

ones, we can but reflect that his heart was more valiant than the soldiers

who followed either a Napoleon or a Hannibal.

An interesting comparison might be drawn between the conveniences

which now tend to make the life of the farmer comparatively an easy one,

compared with the farming of those days. A brief description of the

accommodations possessed by the first tillers of the soil will not be amiss.

The children of such illustrious sires should draw their own comparisons,
which should forever silence the voice of complaint, often heard among
grumbling farmers.

The farming utensils of the early settlers were the bull-tongue colter,

single shovel, and wooden mold-board plows. Then if a man owned a

wooden board plow he was quite an aristocrat. With these simple imple-

ments the plowman opened up his patches. These rude plows did good
service and are awarded the honor of first stirring the soil of Pettis county.
A few old settlers have lived to see the rough and crooked paths of

pioneer life change to that of ease and comfort, with grand-children

around, enjoying a thousand fold of the luxuries which have resulted from

former arduous toils. The iron-nerved pioneers stood bravely by their

condition, through storm and calm, ever thinking of the good time com-

ing—
"When the forest should like a vision,

And over the hillside and plain

The orchard would spring in beauty,

And the fields of golden grain.
"

The simple fare of the inhabitants was alike conducive to health and

economy. When boarding houses were first established, ten cents was

the bill for a meal. If the table was supplied with corn bread the boarders
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were satisfied. Flour was very scarce, and an unknown commodity to

many families. But few of the young people of to-day know any thing
about making the delicious and digestible corn cake, the pride of our

grandmother's days.

One of the peculiarities of pioneer life was a strange loneliness, which

at first was a solitude of oppression to the young wife who had her happy
home in the States. Months would pass often without seeing a face, out-

side of the family circle. The isolation of those days has wrought such

reticence upon some families, that generations cannot efface. The children

of some families grew up quite rude. The girls of a few families were

bashful and timid and in their homes perfect prudes. The hoiden was
unknown. However, the better classes brought up their chidren with

great vigilance, training them in home etiquette, domestic economy, and

•love for religion.

When the rights of the pioneers were threatened or invaded their

timidity, or bashful nature vanished like a mist in a summer's sun, and their
" muscles of iron and hearts of ftint" were ready for any emergency. The

hospitality of this people was unbounded. During the campmeeting
seasons neighbors, for miles around, would gladly entertain those from a

distance.

Rough and rude though the surroundings may have been, these people
were none the less honest, sincere, hospitable and kind in their relations.

It is true, as a rule, and of universal application, that there is a greater

degree of real humanity among the pioneers of any country than when the

country becomes older and richer. Here exists a high regard for the

sexes, and moral courage was one of the noble qualities of the women,
whose chastity was never questioned. If there was an absence of refine-

ment, that absence was more than compensated b}^ generous hearts and
truthful lives. In fine the early settlers were themselves,—men and

women,—bold, courageous, industrious, enterprising and energetic, abound-

ing with an eternal hate for cowards and shame of every kind, and above

all, falsehood and deception, cultivating a straightfoward line of policy and

integrity, which seldom permits them to be imposed upon, or lead a life of

treachery themselves.
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CHAPTER III.—NATURAL HISTORY.

BY F. A. SAMPSON.

The Natural History of the County, including its Geological Formations
;

its Paleontol-

ogy ;
its Conchology ;

its Botany, etc., etc., with Partial Lists of Distribution of Species.

The general natural history of the county will necessarily be very

incompletely written at this time. There are not yet within its limits spe-

cialists in all departments, and very little has been done here with this sub-

ject by non-residents. Only partial lists can be made of the distribution

of species, and to make a list of those which probably occur would

be worse than useless. The facts that I shall state are to some extent

from publications already made, but principally from personal observation

and investigation. The question of establishing a Society of Natural His-

tory for Central Missouri has been canvassed to some extent, and a gen-
tleman of our city has expressed an intention of making a donation equiv-
alent to some $3,000, if others would join with him in such amounts as

would assure the permanency of the movement. Should this be done,

more of our young folks would take an interest in and devote themselves,

for a time at least, to some specialty, and one fact after another would be

recorded, till at last the natural history of our county might be written

with reasonable fullness. Central Missouri has so much that is not yet

known, that a society which would encourage its members to patiently

work, would be the means of creating interest and spreading knowledge
of many things which are around us, but unnoticed or not understood.

The amount of knowledge possessed by the people is too nearly like that

of a man I met in an adjoining county, and of whom I asked if fossils,

which I knew were abundant in the neighborhood, were near by. He
answered that he thought they were, and then noticing a butterfly net I

had in my had, he inquired if I caught them with the net. Meeting me a

few hours after, his wife had the curiosity to stop me to learn what a fos-

sil really was.

In order to make a proper report of the geology of the county, personal
visits to its different parts would be necessary, and these cannot at present
be made. Of several of the formations I cannot speak with confidence;

this is especially so of those which do not outcrop close to Sedalia.

The fossils of the Chouteau limestone are not so well known as of other

formations, and many new species from it will yet be described. There is

opportunity for much work and study with these. The same is true of

other subjects embraced in this paper, as will be seen from the incomplete-
ness of the subjects as now presented.

2
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GEOLOGY AND PALEONTOLOGY.

Within 'che limits of the county are found formations, extending from

the Lower Silurian to the most recent.

^latej'nai-y.
—Of the Quaternary period, as described by Prof. Swallow

in his Geology of Missouri, there is in the county no Bottom Prairie; and

while the Bluti'is most abundant along the rivers, capping all the bluffs of

the Missouri from Ft. Union to its mouth, and those of the Mississippi

from Dubuque to the mouth of the Ohio, it also forms the upper stratum

beneath the soil of all the high lands, both timber and prairie, of all the

counties north of the Osage and Missouri.

The Drift is immediately under the Bluft', and is of but small thickness in

the county. A few granite boulders belonging to this formation occur in

the north part of the county, which is on the extreme southern line of the

drift formation, and about 400 miles from the nearest point from which the

granite boulders could have been obtained. The alluvium is found all

over the county, and in it have been found

MASTODON REMAINS.

During the fall of 1879, Mr. R. A. Blair, of Sedalia, obtained from the

Mosby farm, seven miles southeast from Sedalia, the remains of several

mastodons. This animal is by the geologist considered modern, but the

time when it became extinct is uncertain, though the probability is that it

was before the present or historical period. Dr. Koch claimed to have

found evidence that man was contemporary with it, but Prof. Dana shows

that this evidence is altogether untrustworthy. The Sedalia remains

were found in a spring marsh, within five feet of the surface. No shells

were thrown out in the excavation
; ^corns and hickory nuts were close to

the bones, but may have been there only a few years. The same is true

of two or three Indian stone implements, one of which Mr. Blair thinks

was lying under a part of the mastodon bones. This cannot, however, be

used as an argument that they were deposited there before the mastodons

came to that place to drink, and were mired down and unable to get out

again. Until forty years ago the place around this spring was a marsh,
and any small, heavy substance dropped there would soon sink to the bot-

tom. In this case many wagon loads of rock were piled around a gum
tree to make solid ground about the spring, and the pressure of these

rocks would tend to force other stones under them still lower. While I

would not say that these remains were not of animals contemporary with

man, there certainly was no evidence found that they were so.

Conant, in his "
Foot-Prints of Vanished Races," gives a fanciful picture

of man in the age of the mammoth and great bear, but if he had sufficient

data of man in Europe from which to make it, he at least did not have
similar proofs of man and the mastodon in America.
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Mastodon remains have been found in all parts of the world except
Africa. In 1801, a skeleton almost complete was dug up in Orange

county, New York; that in the Cambridge museum was obtained in New
Jersey; that in the Boston museum, known as the Warren mastodon, at

Newberg, New York, in a situation similar to the one at Sedalia; that in

the New York State Museum at Cohoes, New York, and that in the

Peabody Museum of Yale College in Orange county, New York.

In Indiana thirty specimens have been found, always in marshes or

other miry places, and more or less decayed. About 1840 Dr. Kock

procured a large collection of bones from the banks of the Missouri

river, and from these Prof. Owen constructed a nearly complete skeleton,

which is now set up in the British museum. Specimens have been found

at three places in this county, though at two ot these only a single tooth

at each. At the Mosby place there were some half dozen individuals,

and Mr. Blair's collection of bones and especially of teeth is large and fine,

including all sizes. They probably belonged to Mostodon giganteus,

Cuvier, the most common of all the species.

Carbonj'ferous
— Coal Measmes.—The southern and eastern boundary

of the Lower Coal Measures as given by Prof. Broadhead, enters the

State in Barton county, runs thence through Vernon and St. Clair counties

to eight miles south of Clinton in Henry county, thence northeast to the

Henry county line, thence northwardly through Pettis county on a line

which has not been exactly laid down, but it probably includes the western

fourth of the county. Half way between Dresden and Lamonte are the

Newport and Westlake coal banks, the two shafts being close together
and leading to the same bed. The coal is about fifteen feet below the

foot of the hill on which the Newport shaft is sunk, and is nearly two and

one-half feet in thickness. The following is the result of analyses made

by direction of the State Geologist:

Newport's. Westlake's

Water 3.95 4.47

Volatile 33.10 39.19

Fixed Carbon 46.26 51.73

Ash 16.69 4.61

Color of ash Red Gray
Specific gravity 1.347 1.319

Sulphur 4.406 2.67

In the northwest part of the county, two shafts have been sunk to coal,

which varies from eighteen inches to three feet in thickness. It is but

little above the Sub-carboniferous and fifty feet below the surface. It is

stated that Chcetetes mtlleporaceus, Chonetes mesoloba^ Prodticius splcn-

dens^ and S-pirifer Uneatus, have been found associated in no stratum

except a hydraulic limestone belonging to the Lower Coal Series, so that
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these may be a sure guide in exploring this part of the coal measures.

The first of these fossils has always been considered characteristic of and

confined to the Coal Measures, but specimens that have been identified

as belonging to it have been found at Sedalia associated with Chouteau

fossils, and whether it belongs in that formation, or whether the Coal

Measures were eroded from that part of the country where it is found, I

am not satisfied. Wer2 it not that the specimens here are always small

and apparently somewhat worn I would incline strongly to the former.

In various parts of the State there are remarkable deposits of coal

whose true position is not well understood. Sometimes the cannel and

bituminous are found in the same bed. The coal is often of great thick-

ness, and is found in ravines and cavities of denudation in rocks of difierent

ages older than the coal measures. In the northeast part of the county
a bed of coal nearly thirty feet in thickness occurs and is probably in a

ravine in the Burlington limestone, or perhaps the same as one west of

Sedalia, which is in the Chouteau.

Chester Grouf.
—What was formerly known in our geology as Fer-

ruginous Sandstone is now determined to be a part of the Chester group.
It occurs immediately under the coal measures and outcrops along its

eastern Hmit. It is destitute of fossils, and in this county is a coarse, whit-

ish sandstone. It is the upper formation of the Sub-carboniferous.

Burlington Grotij).
—With the exception of the above, the only epoch

of the Sub-carboniferous that we have in the county, is the Burlington or

Encrinital.

Prof. Swallow in his report states that the Archimedes limestone, or

as it is now generally known, the Keokuk, occurs in the county, thc)ugh I

have never found it. The Burlington outcrops in various places in the

north half of the county, but it is nowhere of great thickness. Some
beds are made up almost entirely of plates and joints of crinoideans, and

while the bodies of crinoids are not as plenty as at Burlington, Iowa, fine

specimens are sometimes found, including a number of new species. The
most of the beds are so solid that specimens can be obtained from them

only when they happen to be but partly imbedded on the surface; yet
several years collecting by the writer and Mr. R. A. Blair have given to

each collection many fine and valuable crinoids, that of the writer having

fifty species from the limestone, and forty species from the chert beds.

In the two quarries next to the city on the north, limestone of this formation

is found of irregular thickness, and not covering the entire surface. In

each of these quarries it rests immediately upon the Chouteau, and no

where exceeds four feet in thickness.

At Georgetown the same bed crops out; also at the railroad cuts

beyond Georgetown and beyond the bridge across the Muddy, at which

latter place this formation is not more than fifteen feet thick.
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Prof. Broadhead made the following section on the Little Muddy north

of Dresden:

No. 1.—10 feet cherty slope.

No. 2.—29 feet mostly coarse gray, shelly crinoidal limestone.

No. 3.—9 feet thick, beds of gray limestone, inclining to buff.

No. 4.—8 feet Chouteau limestone.

And the following in the railroad cut close to Georgetown:
No. 1.—Soil.

No. 2.—Chert, mostly irregularly arranged, and much of it tumbled in

with red clay.

No. 3.—8 feet yellowish shaly sandstone, with chert concretions.

No. 4.—4 feet gray limestone, with many crinoid stems, and interstratified

with red clay.

No. 5.—3 feet rough concretionary chert bed with buff shaly partings; is

interstratified with brown limestone, which contains chert concretions.

No. 6.—Coarse crystalline bluish-gray limestone with Za-phrentis centralisy

Orthis szuallovi\ O. mitchellmi, O. tnitchellini var burlingtonensis^

Spiri/er grtmesi, etc.

In the cut north of the railroad bridge on the Muddy, the strata are

much broken, there being on the same level beds of heavy spar or

sulphate of barytes, gray limestone, green clay, red clay with chert,

tumbled limestone and heavy bedded limestone with chert. Crinoids are

abundant. Hadrophylluni glans, and other corals also occur. A few

rods north of this the Chouteau limestone appears in the bed of the rail-

road track.

Over the Burlington limestone are chert beds which have not been

observed in place. The large variety of crinoids and of other fossils

agreeing with those found in the limestone, prove to what formation they

belong. The fossils in the chert are hard to get out in perfect specimens.

They are generally casts, and sometimes show internal structure, as for

instance the spires of the sfirifer and the structural parts of crinoids.

There is a larger variety of fossils in the chert than in the limestone beds.

Chouteau Group.
—This group was originally called Chemung by Prof.

Swallow, and Prof. Hall gave it the same name in the Iowa reports; since

that it has been called the Kinderhook group by others. It is better

developed in Missouri than in any other State, and as it is not certain that

it is equivalent of the New York Chemung, Prof . Broadhead proposes
to retain the name of one of its divisions, that of Chouteau, for the group
itself. He gives the following as its divisions:

No. 1.—Chouteau limestone 100 feet.

No. 2. —Vermicular sandstones and shales 75 feet.

No. 3.—Lithographic limestone 55 feet.

Prof. Swallow considered these as a part of the Devonian, but they are
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generally thought to be a part of the Sub-carboniferous. In the Chouteau

limestone there are many fossils which are nowhere else found in the

Sub-carboniferous, but the genera if not the species to which they belong

are common in the Devonian. About two miles from the county line in

Cooper county, Atryfa reticularis^ a Pentamariis and various corals and

sponges like Devonian species occur, and while I have not seen the local-

ity, Mr. Thomas R. Godby assures me that it is without doubt the Chou-

teau limestone, and that the Vermicular sandstone is under it. Dr. White

in the Hayden Annual Report for 1878, in describing a number of the

Sedalia corals from this formation says:

"Corals have hitherto been frequently met with in the Burlington,
Keokuk, and Saint Louis divisions of the Sub-carboniferous series of the

Mississippi Valley, but with the exception of Lithostrotion mamillare.^
which is in some places plentiful, and found only in the Saint Louis

division, they have been confined mainly to the Zaphrentidge. In the upper
and lower members of the Sub-carboniferous series, however, namely in

the Kinderhook and Chester divisions, Actinoid corals of any kind have
hitherto been rarely found. The discovery, therefore, of four new forms
in the Kinderhook division is a matter of much interest. This interest is

also increased by the fact that they are all of types which are unusual in at

least American Carboniferous strata; and although there is no a friori
reason why the presence of these types might not be expected in Carbon-
iferous strata, according to our present knowledge such a group of corals

is not without a certain Devonian facies. It is also an interesting fact that

these corals occupy a very narrow horizon^ at the top of the Kinderhook

division, just beneath the Burlington limestone, and that in all the

remainder of the Kinderhook division corals are rare, if not altogether
absent. This coral horizon seems to be a well-marked one; and from
the fact that the corals which have been found in that division in Iowa
and Illinois occupy an exactly similar horizon with that referred to in

Missouri, it will probably prove to be one of considerable geographical
extent. Up to this time the following ten species of corals have been
found in that horizon in Missouri, Iowa and Illinois: Zaphrentis calceola^
and Z. acuta. White & Whitefield; Z. elliptica. White; Chonophylhwi
sedaliense n. s.; Syringopora harveyiy White; Favosites {Michilinea?)
divergenSy White & Whitefield; Michilinea placentay n. s.; M. expansay n. s.;

Lepidopora typtty Winchell;and Lithostrotion microstyluniy n. s,"

In addition to the above there are at least half as many more species,
and to finally decide the question, further investigation is required.

Prof. Broadhead in one of the Geological Reports of Missouri, gives a

section on the Muddy as follows:

No. 1—15 feet slope from hill-top.

No. 2—16 feet cherty slope.

No. 3—52 feet of dull drab limestone with concretions of chert and com-

pact quartz, with a bed of bluish-drab subcrystalline limestone near

the upper part, in which occur a few fossils.
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No. 4—32 feet of dove and drab colored limestone, with some veins and

concretions of calcite.

No. 5—3 feet Cooper marble.

He thinks that there are in this 84 feet of undoubted Chouteau lime-

stone, and that the 15 feef of cherty slope may also be added to this, mak-

ing 99 feet in all. In the quarries north of the city the rock becomes on

exposure of a drab color, and the top layer is in places so soft that it

crumbles. This same layer is found in the bed of the stream running

through J. R. Barrett's fields adjoining the city, and from it I have

g^Xh&vQd Zaphrentis calceola^ Michelinia expansa^Af. placenta, Chon&phyl-
lum sedaliense, and other corals yet unnamed. At the same place I got

the only entire trilobite I have seen from the county. It was a Proetus.

In other beds of the Chouteau are Penlremites roemeri, Produdus mur-

chisonianus, S-pirifer peculiaris, S. tnarionensis, Rhynchonella tnissoiiriensis^

R. cooperensis, Avicula circuius, and probably a score more species,

part of which have not been identified, and a part are new.

In the Anderson quarry in the northwest part of Sedalia, I took the

following section :

No. 1.—2-| feet of soil and hard pan.

No. 2.—5 feet mostly of red clay filled with chert.

No. 3.—4i feet of Burlington limestone, in four layers separated by styli-

litic joints, in places the joint almost or totally disappearing, and

becoming as firm as a single bed. The upper layer is not as contin-

uous as the others, and is more or less crumbly on its surface. It is

only from this surface that fossils in good condition can be obtained.

This formation is called Jire rock by the quarrymen. It contains a

large number of species of crinoids; also Spirifer griniesi, S.forhesi,

Orthis michilini, O. swallovi, Euomphalus latus, Pentreniites melo, P.

sampsoni, Zaphrentis calceola, Z. elliptica, a fish tooth, &c.

No. 4r.
—2| feet of yellowish rock locally called "bastard cotton rock." It

hardens on exposure and is the top layer of the Chouteau limestone.

At other places it contains a variety of fossils, but here few except

Zaphrentis calceola and Chotiophylitem sedaliense.

No. 5.—2 feet blue shale which on exposure is soon reduced to clay. It

contains iron pyrites with a fucoid and Michilinia exfansa.

No. 6.—2 feet of blue limestone containing disseminated calcite.

No. 7.—4 feet of similar rock with many nodules of chert and concretions

of calcite more or less crystalized.

No. 8.—Gray flint, which has been drilled into 18 inches, but whose

thickness is not known.

Like the Burlington this has its chert beds which have been observed

in place only in two localities, a quarry on the Georgetown road and

another one close to it. In places the chert of these two formations are
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mingled, and in others they are separate. Chert beds are also found in

the Lower Siluiran in the county.

Prof. Meek states that on Heath's Creek outcrops of fifty to seventy

feet of Chouteau are seen, surmounted by from twenty to fifty feet of

Burlington limestone. In his geology of Saline county he gives the

Chouteau as a part of the Sub-carboniferous, and in his geology of Morgan

county he gives it as a part of the Devonian, showing that he was some-

what undecided as to where he should place it.

Cooper Marble.—The exact position of this rock has not been deter-

mined, as no fossils have been found in it. Our State Reports make it a

part of the Devonian, but Prof. Meek thought that it might prove to

belong lower down. In the section on the Muddy, that we have given,

there are seen fo be a few feet of this formation, and Broadhead found the

same west of Sedalia. There are no fossils seen in it.

Lower Silurian.—A large portion of the State south of the Missouri

river belongs to the Lower Silurian, and is made up principally of the

seven formations which Prof. Swallow considered as equivalent to the

Calciferous sand -rock of New York. These beds contain very few fos-

sils, and a part of them can scarcely be identified, except by knowing their

relative position to other strata.

The First Magnesian limestone is a "
gray or buff, crystalline, cherty

silico-magnesian limestone, filled with small irregular masses of soft white»

or greenish yellow silicious substance, which rapidly decomposes when

exposed, and leaves the rock full of irregular cavities, and covered with

rough projecting points."

Prof. Meek observed it in Morgan county, a few miles from the line,

but it is thought that it is not found in this county.
The Saccharoidal sandstone is the next formation below. It is usually

a white friable sandstone, made up of globular concretions and angular

fragments of limpid quartz. Sometimes it is a mass of slightly coherent

particles of silex which very much resembles loaf sugar. It occurs in the

county, but I have not the thickness of this or any ot the other formations

of this system.
The Second Magnesian limestone underlies the above, and is exposed at

many places through the southern portion of the county. It consists of

light grayish and flesh-colored concretionary layers, with beds of sand-

stone and "cotton rock." In the adjoining county of Morgan it attains a

thickness of 175 feet.

The "cotton rock" of this formation is very soft when first taken from

the quarry, and can be easily wrought. It is more durable than its

appearance would indicate, as it hardens on exposure. The Capitol at

Jefferson City, and Smith's Hall of our city, are built of this rock. This

limestone is probably the lowest formation that outcrops in the county.
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In the "
Geology from Sedalia to Kansas City," by Prof. Broadhead,

the following summary is given:

1. Sandstone, twenty feet.

2. Cherts and clays, thirt}'' feet.

Z. Burlington limestone, fifty feet.

4. Chouteau limestone, ninety-nine feet.

5. Cooper marble, fourteen feet.

6. First Magnesian limestone, thirty-four feet.

Total: 247 feet of rocks below the coal measures.

It will be seen that this gives the First Magnesian Hmestone, but it was

probably an oversight, and if not there should at least two formations

lower than it be given, if it embraces the whole county.

It is evident from the preceding statements that there is much yet to be.

learned about both the geology and the paleontology of the county, facts

which are not simply those of minor detail, but of great importance. The

re-establishment of the office of State Geologist might help in this matter,

and it is to be hoped that our legislature will soon make this an accom-

plished fact, and appropriate sufficient funds to allow the reports that may
be made to be an honor to the state.

ECONOMICAL GEOLOGY.

Building Stone.—The quarries north of Sedalia have furnished founda-

tion stone principally, the best quality being from the Burlington beds.

During the past summer large blocks of these were obtained for building

the piers of the bridge across Flat Creek, and for the Water Works dam.

The Magnesian limestone, which was in the piers of the old bridge,

cracked and became worthless on exposure to the weather. The most of

the Chouteau beds produce a rock which breaks with a conchoidal sur-

face, and is difficult to get in good shape. There are, however, uniform

layers of very hard limestone six miles east of Sedalia, on Fred Leuke's

farm, from which the magnificient curbing and sidewalk flagging used in

Sedalia are obtained. The curb-stones are from six to fourteen feet in

length, while a thinner bed in the same quarry supplies rock of proper

thickness for sidewalks, and slabs are taken out three to six by ten feet,

so that no city can show finer curbing and sidewalks than SedaHa can.

Lime.—In the neighborhood of Georgetown are several lime kilns, in

which BurHngton Hmestone is made into excellent Hme.

Clay.—On and near Little Muddy, north of Dresden, and two and one-

half mile southwest of Dresden, are beds of clay, mostly ohve or white,

sometimes tinged with red. They are fifteen to twenty feet thick, and

several establishments, at Dresden, Lamonte, and Calhoun, are engaged
in manufacturing pottery from them. In the northwest part of the county,

below the coal measures, and above the Burlington, is chert, intermingled
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with potter's clay, and at the Railroad Hospital, in Sedalia, simiHar beds

were passed through in digging a well; in these, the clay had the appear-
ance of being decayed chert.

Coal.—This has already been noticed. Efforts are now being made to

find the extent of the field in the northeast part of the county, which has

been found in places thirty feet thick.

Lead.—Lead has been found in Missouri in the different formations

from the Coal Measures to the Third Magnesian limestone. It occurs in

various parts of the county, but has not yet been obtained in paying quan-
tities. Some five miles south of Sedalia considerable prospecting was done

in the Magnesian limestone, in three places. At one there was a vein six

inches across, ten feet from the surface, but on reaching a bed of cotton

rock at that depth the vein gave out. A few rods from this a shaft was

sunk, starting from near the lop of a rocky bluft, and a depth of fifty feet

was reached before rock was struck. It seemed to be a chimne}', but it

proved to be a barren one. A short distance from this another shaft was

sunk, upon a hill side, and large quantities of barytes taken out, but no

ead. In Ritchie's addition to Sedalia there are deposits which are in the

chert and dirt beds of the Burlington, and considerable mineral has been

taken out in sinking wells and cisterns. In the southeast part of the county
lead is found in many places, but it is not at present mined at any of

them.

Zinc.—The black jack of the miners occurs in the county, but so far as

yet discovered only in small quantities. Mr. D. W. Bouldin sunk a shaft

on Spring Fork, from which was taken a moderate quantity, including
some very fine zinc crystals.

Barytes.
—The Narrow Gauge R. R. passes close by the place before

mentioned, where sulphate of barytes occurs, and it might there be had in

paying quantities. South of Smithton, in prospecting for lead, some very
fine crystals of barytes, having a broad band of white on their edges, were

lound, and at a point east of the water works, under similar circum-

stances, the flat variety of crystal, having only a coating of white on the

edge, was obtained, they being, in some cases, as much as four inches

across. This latter form is rare, and the finest I have ever seen from any
locality.

Emery.—A few years ago a company did some work in shipping

emery from a bank in this county. It was at the time claimed to be of a

superior quality, but for some reason there has been no work done for

some years.

Alarble.—In the north part of the county, on the Lamine river, there

crops out from two to four feet of fine grained, drab, magnesian lime-

stone, containing many disseminated particles of calcite. This rock admits
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of a fine polish, but would not look well after out-door exposure. It

belongs above the First Magnesian limestone.

ARCHAEOLOGY.

The archaeology of Europe differs very materially from that of ours.

There they have evidences of the earlier existence of man than what we
have and the progress of the people through the stone age, the iron age^
the bronze age and up to a development higher than was attained by any
of the peoples who inhabited within the limits of the United States can be

traced. The early people of this country perhaps had not the time to pass

through these different stages, or for some reason not now fully under-

stood the people of a higher development were swept away by those of a

lower. The former we, for want of a better term, call Mound Builders,
and some of the mounds left by them are wonderful monuments of the

industry if not skill of that people. Their remains "indicate that the

ancient population was numerous and wide spread, as shown from the

number and magnitude of their works, and the extensive range of their

occurrance; that it was essentially homo geneous incustoms, habits, religion
and government, as appears from the great uniformity which the works

display, not only in respect to position and form, but in all minor particu-

lars; and that the features common to all the remains identify them as

appertaining t® a single grand system, owing its origin to a family of

men, moving in the same general direction, acting under common impulses
and influenced by similar causes."

Their mounds indicate a large and warlike population, and to sustain it

agricultural pursuits must have been extensively followed and our prairies

may in the long past have been dotted over with fields of corn. The
State contains some of the most celebrated mound remains of this people,
and the implements and utensils taken from them have gone to enrich

many an eastern collection. No mounds of this people are in this county
so that its archaeology is not as interesting as that of many others.

One locality, four miles from Sedalia, furnishes many specimens of stone

implements which are supposed to belong to the mound builder period,
and it is doubtless the site of a mound builder town or encampment. While
this people may not have been resident in the county long enough to build

mounds, or their circumstances and the causes for building them may not

have operated for this here, yet they were doubtless resident within

the limits of the county for a time at least.

From the locality mentioned I have obtained some hundreds of speci-

mens, including chipped and ground implements. The chert specimens
are generally large rude implements of a variety of forms some of which
are not common elsewhere. Some of the spear shaped ones are finely

made. There are no arrow shapes and but one or two barbed implements.
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The axes are from two inches in length to very finely shaped ones of six

pounds weight. The abundance of the specimens may be seen from the

fact that the ground has been hunted over every time it has been plowed
for five or six years and yet on a late trip made when there had been no

rain after it had been plowed, I gathered seventy-five specimens in one

hour's time, and in the same time after a rain I picked up ninety speci-

mens.

In other parts of the county the ordinary Indian type implements are

met with.

LAND AND FRESH WATER SHELLS.

The distribution and comparative abundance of land shells is controlled

by the character of the soil and surface, the presence or absence of shade

and moisture, and other causes. North of and near the Ohio river they
are in great numbers, butthis is not so in this county. A few species are

in comparative abundance in certain places, but as compared with the

locality named nearly all of them are rare. The fact that we have a rather

large number of species is evidence that there is something which is oper-

ating here, that is not opposed to shell life and still is not con-

ducive to its multiplication in individual numbers. The most of our

species are common in the northern United States, though some species

are of a southern character; for instance, the Btih'muhcs dealbatus is

found, though in a limited area, a few miles from Sedalia, the most

northern point, perhaps, to which it extends.

The following list is made up from the results of the writer's collecting
in the county, and while nearly complete is not entirely so:

1. Hyalina arborca. Say, common.
2. Hyalina viridula^ Mice, common.
3. Hyalina minuscula^ Binn.

4. Hyalina ligera. Say.
5. Hyalina fiilva^ Dr.

6. Helicodisciis litieata. Say.
7. Macrocyclis concava. Say, rare.

8. Patula solitaria. Say. These are about one-half the size of the

same species as found in Indiana.

9. P. alternata, Say. This is also smaller than the Indiana specimens,
but there is not so much difference as in the last species.

10. Strohila labyrinthica. Say, not plenty.
11. Stenotrema hirsuta. Say, common.
12. S. leaii, Ward, plenty. This fine little shell has generally been

given as a variety of S. monodon.

13. Triodopsis injlecta^ Say, common.
14. Mcsodon albolabrts, Say, common. A large, light-colored, some-

what flattened variety, similar to that found at Eureka Springs, Ark.
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15. M, elevata, Say, plenty. But little smaller than Indiana specimens.
16. M. tkyroidcs, Say, plenty.

17. M. claiisa, Say, not common.
18. Bulimidus dealbatus. Say, not common.
19. Pupafallax, Say, common.
20. P. arniifera, Say, common.
21. P. contracta^ Say, plenty.

22. P.

23. Vertigo
24. Sticcmea ovalis, Gould, rare.

25. S. Itneata, W. G. Binn, very rare.

26. Tebennophortis carolinensis^ Bose.

27. Carychiiim exgtmin, rare.

Of Fresh Water Shells the species are not numerous, but the individ-

uals are. The following have been collected:

28. Lymncea columella^ Say. I found this shell with Planorhis

ti'ivolvis^Physa gyrina dindSphce7-ium fartiuneiuni^m the fountain in Mr.

O. A. Crandall's yard in Sedalia, they having hatched from eggs which

came from Flat creek throught the pipes of the water works or a distance

of two or three miles.

29. L. hutmlis. Say. Two quite distinct forms, one nearly twice the

size of the other, the smaller being the stronger and more solid shell. Each
was found in but one locality.

30. Physa gyrina. Say. This species varies greatly in the different

streams. I found some very fine specimens on Spring Fork, with eroded

apex, which have been identified by all collectors to whom they have

been submitted, as P. hildrethiana^ though the same persons identified

the younger and smaller specimens as gyrina.
31. P. heterostrophe, Say, common.
32. Planorhis bicarinatus, Say, common.
33. P. trivolvis. Say, verv common.
34. P. a minute species not identified.

35. Aticylus tardus. Say, not plenty.

36. Melantho decisa. Say, plenty.

37. Amnicola porata. Say, plenty.

38. Sphcerium sulcatum. Low, plenty.

39. S. partumeiuin. Say, plenty.

40. Pisidium variabilc. Prime, plenty.

41. P. (undetermined) rare.

Not having a reliable list of the UnionidcE I will not include them here.

REPTILIA.

The only branch of Reptilia that has been locally studied is that of
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Testudinata. The following list will show a large number of species and

varieties, several of which have not heretofore been published as inhabit-

ing this state:

1. Cisttido clausa, (Gm) Box Turtle. This is common. The three

toed variety triungnis is generally found in the timber and is of more

uniform color than typical specimens. It is also plenty.

2. C. ornata, Ag, plenty. A single specimen of the variety frtuvgni's

of this species was taken here. Prof. Beard of the Smithsonian Institute,

obtained two from Southern Illinois. I have heard of no others with the

above exception.

3. C/irysemys pi'c^a, Ag., The Pictured Turtle. The species as

found here differs very much from the eastern specimens, and is more

nearly like the variety oregonensis. Some of the specimens are very
beautiful in their marking. They are abundant. It has not been pub-
lished as occurring so far west.

4. Malacoclemmys geographic!is,Qo^Q, Map Turtle.

5. M. lesueiin\ plenty.

6. Pseudemys troostii., (Holbr), scarce.

7. Pseiideinys elegans, (Wid), The Elegant Terapin, not uncommon.
8. Pseudemys concinna, plenty.

9. Aromochelys odoratus. Gray, The Musk Turtle or Stink Pot.

This has been considered an eastern turtle, occurring as far west as

Indiana, but it is very common here.

10. Chelydra serfentina^ Schw, common snapping turtle. As in

other parts of the country east of the Rocky mountains, it is here plenty.
11. Asfidonectes spinifer, Ag., common soft-shell turtle.

12. A. ferox^ a Southern soft-shell, but found here.

This gives a total of more than one-forth of the species found in the

United States.

Of the lizards the Opheosaurus ventralis^ the Glass or Joint snake,
occurs here. The popular belief that this "snake" can fall to pieces, and

afterwards that the parts will come together is, of course, an error. The
tail is, as in the case of all hzards, easily broken oft, and after being
broken a new tail will grow out, but not so perfect as the first one.

Scorpions have their habitation as far north as this, and while one or

two cases have been reported of finding tarantulas here, I think they were
not native.

ORNITHOLOGY.
' No list of the birds found here has ever been made out, and there are

but few notes that I can give of interest. Among the birds which breed

here are the turkey buzzard and the great blue heron, there being a colony
of the latter south of Smithton. Not unfequently birds from the coast are

shot here, they being driven by storm, perhaps, or other cause, inland.
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In a small collection of eggs belonging to the writer is a set of albino

blue bird eggs. About five days after they were taken from the nest the

bird commenced laying another set, which were of the ordinary blue

color.

A flock of geese, belonging to ex-Marshal Kelly, of Sedalia, presents an

interesting feature of malformations. In 1873 a gander had one of its

wings so injured that it hung horizontally at right angles to the body, in

the same manner as is not unfrequently seen in other flocks, as a result of

injuries received. In 1874, one of the 3'Oung of the flock presented a

wing similarly affected; the following year its oflspring showed the same

features, and this has been continued to the present time. As many as

two-thirds of the flock have at one time presented this peculiarity, some in

both wings. Believing that it was a case of " the inheritance of effects of

injuries," Mr. R. A. Blair published an account of it, and sent a copy to

Mr. Charles Darwin, and received from him the following letter:

Dear Sir :—I am much obliged to you for kindly informing me of the

case of the goose. It seems to be a remarkable case of inheritance of

effects of injury, and as such cases are very rare, it would be quite worth
while to have the facts carefully examined. If you could obtain a wing,
and would send it to me, I should be much obhged. The wing mfght be
cut off at the joint with the body, and dried with feathers on, before a hot

fire. To make the case of more value, it would be very advisable to

ascertain whether the goose had any offspring before the injury, and if so,
whether they were normal, and not malformed in any way.

Dear sir, yours faithfully,
Charles Darw^in.

Mr. Blair then sent a wing of one of the geese, and received the follow-

ing answer:

Dear Sir :—You will think that I have been very neglectful in not hav-

ing sooner thanked you for the wing of the goose, the photograph, and

your last interesting letter; but I thought it best to wait until receiving
Prof. Flower's report, and you will see b\' the enclosed the cause of his

delay. If you are willing to take the trouble to get your interesting case

thoroughly investigated, it will be necessary to procure from the owner
the wings of half a dozen birds, some of them quite young"; and, if possi-
ble, the old one which had his wing broken. They ought to be sent in

spirits, and they had better be addressed to Prof. Flower, Royal College
of Surgeons, Lincoln's Inn Fields, London, and I had better be informed
when they are dispatched. Should you be inclined to take so much trou-

ble, I hope you will allow me to say"that I should be very glad to pay for

the geese, and for the several other contingent expenses. Your first letter

and Prof. Flower's had better be returned to me hereafter. There is one
other point which ought, if possible, to be ascertained, viz: when the old

gander had his wing broken, was it wounded so that blood was dis-

charged? If wounded, did the wound suppurate? Did the wing heal

quickly ox slowly? These are important points in relation to the inherit-
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ance of mutilations. Pray accept my best thanks for your kindness, and
I remain, Dear Sir, Yours faithfully,

Charles Darwin.

A number of wings were then sent to Dr. Flower, who made a report to

Mr. Darwin, in which he says:

"The bones, muscles, and ligaments seem quite normal, except for this

twisting on their axis, which exactly corresponds, as I mentioned before,
to taU^es or club foot in man. The wings of the very little goslings being
dried and very small could not be examined with any good result, but the

most curious and unsatisfactory part of the whole thing is that the wing
of the old gander, the supposedy^rs et origo of all the the mischief, is per-

fectly normal, and presents no trace of ever having been injured in any
way discoverable after the closest examination. It has certainly never
been broken or dislocated, though, of course, we cannot be sure whether
it may not have had a partial twist from which it has now recovered."

With this letter and with the full and detailed report of Dr. Flower's

assistant, Mr. Darwin wrote as follows:

Dear Sir :—Professor Flower has suffered from a long illness, and this

has caused much delay in the examination of the wings of the geese. But
I received yesterday his report and letter which I inclose, as you may like

to see them. I fear that there is no connection between the deformity
and the injury. The owner when he saw several goslings thus deformed,
a not uncommon form of quasi inheritance, remembered the accident,
and naturally attributed the deformity to this cause. It has been proba-
bly a case of "post hoc" and not "propter hoc". I grieve that you should

have expended so much time, trouble and great kindness in vain. As for

myself I am well accustomed in my experimental work to get definite

results but once in three or four times, and thus alone can science prosper.
With my renewed thanks, I remain Dear Sir, yours faithfully,

Charles Darwin.

While the thorough investigation this case received, showed it was not

what at first supposed, it is still an interesting one, especially in view of

Mr. Darwin's connection with it. On the other hand it does not seem to

carry out the theory of Darwin that "only those variations which are in

some way profitable will be preserved or naturally selected," as this pecul-

iarity is one which is a positive disadvantage, and while those thus affected

are not the "fittest," they still "survive."

entomology.

The late Mr. Hayhurst made extensive collections in Coleoptera
and Lepidoptera, but after his death his collection was taken from the

county and is probably now scattered. The writer has a few hundred

species of coUeoptera taken around Sedalia, and this is now the only

approach to a collection in the county.
But few insects have either regular or occasional migratory habits, but

in different countries there have been frequent occurrances of swarms of

3
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butterflies. So far as they have been traced in this country they have

proven to be of the genus Daaiis archi^fus or the Archippus butterfly.

In the latter part of September, 1878, a swarm of many thousands of them

settled down in the yard of Col. A. D.Jaynes in Sedalia, and remained for

some days almost covering the trees upon which they rested.

For some years our State had the office of Entomologist, and Prof. C.

V. Rile}' published nine annual reports, which have much of interest to

farmers and to entomologists. The state honored itself in producing a

series of reports more extensive than any other, and the general govern-
ment has supplemented its work by issuing a full index of the set.

BOTANY.

More of our residents have made a study of this branch than of any
other, as the subject has been taught in our public schools. Complete lists

have not, however, been made out, and I will give onl}- that of the trees

and shrubs:

Prunus serotina^ wild black cherry.
Pirns coronoria^ crabapple.
Virhurmim -priinifoliiim^ black haw.

Cratcegjis coccmea^ hawthorn.

Asimina triloba^ papaw.

Diospyros virginiana, persimmon.
Prunus americana^ red plum.
Ruhis cajiadensis, blackberiy,
Ribes

,
currant.

Sambucus canadensis, elderberry.
Mortis rubra, mulberry.
Rubus occidentalism raspberry.
Anielanchier canadensis, service berrv.

Vitis cestivalis, summer grape.
Vttis cordifolia, frost grape. ^

Coryhes aniericana, hazel.

Carya alba, .common hickory.

Carya sulcata, thick shell hickory.

Carya -porcina, pignut hickory.

Juglans nigra, blackwalnut.

'Juglans cinerea, butternut.

^lercus alba, white oak.

^lercus -prinus, chestnut oak.

^lercus rtibria, red oak.

^lercus stellata, post oak.

^lercus tinctorta, black oak.

^lercus palusiris, pin oak.
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^lerctis hcterofhylla, Bartram's oak.

Aesithis orJabra, buckeye.

Gymnocladus canadensis, coffee tree.

Celtis occidentoh's, hackberry.

Sassafras officinale, sassafras.

I^/uis ty^hina, sumac.

ZantJwxyluni clava-iiercidia, prickly ash.

Cornnsjlorida, dog wood.

Ace?' saccharinum, sugar tree.

Ace?' dasycarpuin, white maple.
J^raximis a^nericana, white ash.

Popnhis monilifera. cottonwood.

JVegimdo aceroides, box elder.

Ehnus ame7'icana, elm.

JShmis/idva, slippery elm.

Cari>imis caroliniana, ironwood.

Tilia amcricana, bass wood.

Ghdiischia triacanthos, honey locust.

Plataniis occidentalis, sycamore .

Salix nigra, willow.

Rosa setigera, prairie rose.

Cercis canadensis, red bud.

Syniphoricar-pus vulgaris, coral berry.
Not having sufficient data on other subjects I will not attempt to notice

them, but hope that it will not be long till our growing and enterprising

city will have man}^ who will devote themselves to local investigations, and

1 am glad to know that the number of such persons is constantly

increasing.
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CHAPTER IV.—ORGANIZATION.

Date of Organization
—Treastise on County and Other Corporations

—The Act Making
Pettis County—Its BouLclaries—Named for Hon. Spencer Pettis—The Second Act—
Name of Commissioners to Locate County Seat—The Law making St. Helena" the

County Seat—The First Land Entry—First Deed Recorded—First Mortgage—Statutes

of 1835 Defining County Boundaries—Area of County—Present Boundaries—The
County Half a Century Old—Organization of Town of Georgetown—Organization of

Schools—County Buildings
—Township Organization—Description and Names of

Townships.

Pettis county was organized on the 26th da}- of January, 1833, by sev-

erances effected from the counties of Saline and Cooper.
Before proceeding to give the details of this organization, and formally

presenting to the reader the actors who carried into effect the will of the

people, it will be well to consider the county system and its operations in

general. No person, till he has investigated the subject, is aware of the

unity which pervades the plan or the principles of law and government in-

volved. Pettis county is no exception to the rule, and what applies to

county organization throughout the world, is pertinent more or less to one

whose history we trace on these pages. Just as a student of law can bet-

ter understand the statutes and codes of the youthful states of the Ameri-

can Union, by a careful study of the ancient common law of England and

civil law of Rome, so he can with greater pleasure and profit, follow the

practical workings of county affairs, having first obtained a clear idea of

what such an organization has been and is still considered to be.

Counties are qiiasi corporations. The Latin word quasi signifies as if^

or almost. A county then is almost a corporation, or has certain features

of a corporation. A corporation in the full acceptation of the term, is a

body formed and authorized bylaw to act as a single person, and endowed
with perpetual succession, as an expressl}- chartered city government, a

bank or railroad company. Counties,townships, parishes, school districts,

and some other political divisions of a county, are ranked as quasi corpora-
tions.

In Great Britain and most of her colonies, a countv is a subdivision of

territory corresponding to a province of Prussia, or a department of France.

In the American Union, except Louisiana, which is divided into parishes,
counties are divisions next in size and importance to states. This division,

in England, is synonymous with the shire^ but not so in Ireland; this di-

vision is said to have originated in England, under the reign of the ancient

Saxon kings, though popularly attributed to Alfred the Great. England
and Wales contain fifty-two counties, Scodand thirt3^-three, and Ireland

thirty-two. The principal officers of a county in England are a lord lieu-

tenant, a keeper of the rolls, a sheriff, a coroner, a receiver of general
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taxes, justices of the peace, an under sheriff, and a clerk of the peace. The
lord lieutenant has command of the militia of the county, the keeper of the

rolls, or ciistos retiilortim^ is custodian of the archives. The other officers

perform such duties as are naturall}- indicated in their titles. The United

States for local government and other porposes are divided into counties,

townships, school-districts, and municipal corporations. In all the counties

in the several states and territories, including the parishes of Louisiana,
there are officers who superintend the financial affairs, a court of inferior

jurisdiction, and, at stated times, the circuit court, or supreme court. As
the state is subordinate to, and a part of the federal government, so the

county is a part of the state, but possessing only such rights as are dele-

gated to it by the statutory enactments.

The people in each local division have entire control over the subjects

in which they onl}'- are interested
;
and the whole works together like an

extensive system of machinery, wheel fitted to wheel. There is very little

opportunity for the exercise of arbitrary power, from the lowest to the

highest. Executive power may be changed by election or impeachment,
if the officers are recreant to duty, or do not give satisfaction, and there

are constitutional provisions for making improvements if the people think

they should be made. Thus our country is secured against serious and

protracted discontents for which there is no remedial law as in some coun-

tries, where the internal disturbances interrupt progress, and destroy the

resources of the nation. The value of any office, from that of a school

director to county judge, governor, or president, is determined by the re-

lation it bears to the public welfare; and when, in the opinion of the peo-

ple, it ceases to be useful, there are means of laying it aside according to

law. This is true democracy.
The powers and rights of counties go no further than defined by statute,

though it is provided that each is a body corporate with capacity to sue

and be sued, to purchase and hold land within its own limits, and for the

use of its inhabitants, subject to the power of the general assembly over

the same, to make such contracts, and purchase and hold real estate and

personal property, and to make such orders and regulations for the dis-

position of such property as maybe deemed conducive to the best interests

of the people.

When the general assembly deemed it necessary, or to the interest of

the people to organize a new county, the first was to pass an act defining
the boundaries and assigning a name to the new^ political division.

The citizens living in the portions of Saline and Cooper counties, from

which Pettis county was formed, were set off^ by the following act:

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of the State of Missouri, asfollows :

All that portion of territory, lying and being south of Saline county
proper, in the State of Misseuri, and which has heretofore been attached
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to Saline county for all civil and military purposes, and also a part of the

territory now composing^ the counties of Cooper and Saline, included

within the following boundaries, to-wit: Beginning on the range line

dividing ranges twenty-three and twenty-four, (the line now dividing
Saline and Lafa3^ette counties), at the northwest corner of section nine-

teen, in township forty-eight; thence running due east with said section

line, to the range line between ranges nineteen and twenty; thence due
south with said range line, to the middle of the main channel of the river

Osage; thence up said river Osage, in the middle of the main channel

thereof, to the southeast corner of Lafayette county; thence due north,
with the range line dividing Saline and Lafayette counties to the begin-
ning, be, and the same is hereby declared a separate and distinct county,
to be known and called by the name of Pettis county.
The courts to be holden in said county, shall be held at the house of

James Ramev, until the tribunal transacting county busmess for said

county shall fix a temporary seat of justice for said county; and the

county courts to be holden in said county, shall be held on the third Mon-
days in February, May, August and November.

It shall be the duty of the governor, so soon as it shall be convenient
after the passage of this act, to appoint judges of the county court for the

said county, who shall hold their offices until the next general election in

eighteen hundred and thirty-four, and until their successors be duly elected

and qualified.
All taxes now due the counties of Saline and Cooper, by citizens resid-

ing in the county of Pettis, shall be collected and paid to said counties of

Saline and Cooper, in all respects, as if this act had not passed.
This act shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage.

January 26, 1833.

At this time the name of Hon. Spencer Pettis, who served the people
as a member of congress when Missouri was but one congressional dis-

trict, was fresh in the memory of the friends of this new county, hence its

name.

After the county was organized, the seat of justice was temporarily

kept at St. Helena, which commonly bore the name of Pin Hook, till

1837.

The following is an act in regard to the southern boundary of Pettis

county, and selecting commissioners to locate the seat of justice:

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of the State of Missouri, as fol-
lows:

The following shall be, and is hereby established as the permanent
southern boundary of Pettis county: Beginning on the range line dividing
ranges twenty-three and twenty-four, the line now dividing Lafayette and
Pettis counties, at the southwest corner of township forty-four; thence
due east with said township line to the eastern boundarv of Pettis county.

Joseph S. Anderson, of Cooper count}^, John Stapp, of Lafa3'ette county,
and John S. Rucker, of Howard county, be and they are hereby appointed,
commissioners to select and locate a site for the permanent seat of justice
within and for the county of Pettis: provided., hoivcvcr, the said commis-
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sioners shall select and locate said site within three and a half miles of the

geographical center of the said county of Pettis.

The said commissioners shall meet at St. Helena, in the said county of

Pettis, on the first Monday of March next, for the purpose of carrying mto
effect the provisions of the second section of this act; and before entering

upon the duties hereby required, shall severally take an oath, as is

required by the third section of an act, entitled an act to provide for

organizing counties hereafter established, approved January 14th, 1825;
and the said commissioners, circuit and county courts, shall perform all

the duties, and be governed in all cases by the provisions of the above

recited act; and in case vacancies should occur, by death, resignation or

otherwise, of said commissioners, the vacancy shall be filled agreeably to

the provisions of the said act.

The temporary seat of justice for Pettis county shall remain at St.

Helena, until the permanent seat of justice is located, and a house provided
suitable to hold court. December j, iSj^.

Owing to the fact that the county records containing the buisness trans-

actions of the county courts for the first few years of the county's history

having been destroyed or carried away, the historian must seek the most

reliable source outside of the missing books.

Daniel Klein made the first government entry in the county, July 16,

1823. The first deed was put on record June 14th, 1833, from Middleton

Anderson to Andrew Anderson. The first mortgage is dated July 9,

1834, and was made by E. B. Rathburn to George Gill. Qualified

office seekers were hard to find here in the organization of the county.

In the statutes of Missouri, approved February 20, 1835, defining

county boundaries, the following appears:

Pettis: beginning at the southwest corner of Saline county; thence east

to the range fine between nineteen and twenty; thence south to the line

between townships forty-three and forty-four; thence north to the begin-

ning.

Since then the boundary lines have been changed. Its greatest width

is twenty-four miles, and its greatest length twenty-nine miles, containing

672 square miles, or an area of 430,080 acre. Since the boundaries w^ere

originally fixed, there has been an addition of twenty-four sections from

townships 4 and 3, in ranges 22 and 23. This is on the southern end of

the county. Now the county begins in the northwest corner of section 19,

township 48, range 23, and extends east on township line to the northeast

corner of section 24, township 48, range 20, thence south on the range

line to the southeast corner of section 36, township 44, range 20, thence

west on the township line to the southwest corner of section 31, township

44, range 21, thence south on range line to the southeast corner of section

12, township 43, range 22, thence west on township line to the southwest

corner of section 7, township 43, range 23, thence north to the place of

beginrting.

As will be noted elsewhere elaborately, this county has passed through



2M HISTORY OF PETTIS COUNTY.

many changes. However, it has been fortunate enough to retain its good

reputation and hold itself faithful for every emergency during the half a

century through which it passed. The turmoils of internecine war did

not blast this corporation, neither was it reluctant to duty, for during that

struggle, those who could, assisted in holding together the common ties

and interests of a county that citizens mutually hold sacred in self-defence

and the protection of home and property. The fruits of this they now

enjoy.

Blackwater.

Heath's Creek.

Elk Fork.

Mt. Sterling No. 1.

Mt. Sterling No. 2,

Washington No. 1.

Washington No. 2.

Bowling
Green.

Flat Creek No. ] . Flat Creek
No. 2,

THIS MAP INDICATES THE VOTING PRECINCTS IN 1860.

The town of Georgetown was incorporated by an act of the General

Assembly of Missouri, January 4:th, 1860. The first board of councilmen

was organized with the following appointed members: John H. Griffin,

Wilkins Watson, Thomas E. Staples, John Hancock, Elias Bixby, B. F.

Hughes, and James H. Brown, who were to hold their office till their suc-

cessors were elected and qualified.
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This town continued to grow from the time it was laid off as the county-

seat in 1837, up to the breaking out of the war in 1861. Three chartered

seminaries existed here with good success at different times. The county
seat was changed to Sedalia in 1865, and since that time Sedalia has con-

tinued to be the seat of justice of Pettis county. St. Helena remained the

county seat until 1837, when Georgetown succeeded to the honor, and

continued so till Sedalia took it away. Clifton Wood was the first mer-

chant of Georgetown, and has been identified with Pettis county much of

his time since.

The first school district was organized November 6th, 1838, by the

following order of court:

There shall be established in congressional township No. forty-six of

range twenty-one in Pettis county, a board of trustees, whose duty it shall

be to superintend all schools which are or may be established in said con-

gressional township, according to law. For the present there shall be
established in said township one school district, which shall be known by
the name and style of Washington School District No. one. William I.

Westerfield, Oswald Kidd and Willis P. Ellis, are appointed by this court
a board of trustees of said Washington School District No. one, and such
other districts as may hereafter be established by law, to continue in

office until the legal termination of their appointments.
At this date public schools were initiated, and the seeds of popular

education planted.

The following is an order of court under date May 6th, 1839, organiz-

ing a township for school purposes:

Congressional township forty-five of range twenty-three is incoiporated
by the name and style of Christian School District. Thomas Brooks,
Jesse Pemberton, and George W. Glass, having each contributed one
dollar for school purposes in said school district, are appointed trustees of

said district.

This county has always given marked attention to her educational

interests. Prior to the organization of school districts, schools were

taught in families as private institutions. From the organization of the first

school of the county, others have followed until the present condition of the

cause of education in Pettis county is indeed very good. This speaks

well for the people and their county officers. Much depends on selecting
men qualified to organize and successfully care for schools.

As will be seen from the following quotations from the Circuit Court

records, there was but little business at first:

Pettis Circuit Court, 5^"(y Term, 1^33-, State of Missouri, to wit :

At a circuit court begun and held at Pettis court house within and for

the county of Pettis, on the second Wednesday of July, it being the 8th

day of said month, in the year of Our Lord one thousand eight hundred

thirty-three :

Were present
—the Hon. John F. Ryland, Judge of said court; Aaron

Jenkins, Sheriff', and A^os Fisher, Clerk.
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The sheriff returned the venire issued to the present term, with a panel
of jurors summoned, to wit:

Anthony Fisher, Isaac Hedrick, John O'Baunon, Middleton Anderson,

Henry Anderson, Athel Wolf, Samuel Read, Oliver L. Q. Brown,
Manan Duran, Levi Oolneal, Hugh M. Doneghe, Daniel Lynn, George
Kelly, John Brown, Jolly S. Parish, Carvin Carpenter, Clinton Young,
Alfred Brock, Henry Small. James Scott, Thomas Martin.

The grand jury having received their charge from the court retired, and
soon returned, having nothing to present, were discharged. James H.
Birch and Henderson Young, two licensed attorneys, were enrolled as

such by the clerk.

The following appears on the record of this day's business:

William H. Head, )

vs. V Appeal from justice court.

Jame Williams. )

Dismissed at the request of the parties.

The following is the verbathn at literatim of the record of this session

of circuit court in the year 1833:

At a circuit court begun and held at Ramey & Wason's Mill, the

temporary seat of justice within and for the county of Pettis, in the State

of Missouri, on the second Monday in November, being the eleventh day
of said month, was present the Honorable John F. Ryland, judge of

said court.

The sheriff returned into court the following named persons as sum-
moned by him as a venire for a grand jury, whereupon Reuben E. Gentry
was sworn as foreman, and the following persons as members of said

grand jury: Meshac Willis, Adam Scott, Andrew S. Bryant, Abraham
McCormack, William Mosely, Samuel Miller, David McFarlam, George
Gibson, William Glass, William Ragan, Michael Bird, John Birch,
Oswald Kidd, Allen Tate, William M. Johnson, Jonathan Tussy, Zadoc
Powell, and Jacob Hall, who, after receiving their charge from the court,
retired to consider their presentments.

John Tramell, ) Appellant.
vs. \ On appeal.

Thomas Chew.
) Appellee.

The plaintiff and appellant, John Tramell, moved the court for leave to

enter a non-suit in this cause, which is granted him, and thereupon the

plaintiff is called, etc., and judgment against him for costs of suit in both
courts.

The grand jury return into court, and presented the following bill of

indictment, viz.:

'

(
Indictment: Assault with intent to kill. A

Thomas Chew.
(

true bill.

And having no further business, were discharged by the court.

Ordered by the court, that a capias issue against Thomas Chew, on the
indictment aforesaid.

Ordered, that court adjourn until court in course.

•John F. Ryland.
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When the county was organized there was but little use for a multiplic-

ity of clerical officers. For man}^ years the sheriff performed the office

of sheriff and collector. The county clerk was clerk of both the county
and circuit courts, and ex officio county recorder.

Other county officers, whose salaries were meager, were employed and

paid -per diem.

In many instances the courts were almost nominal. At that early day
men felt more interest in the welfare of their neighbors and prosperity of

the county than they did in disintegrating lawsuits. When there is some-

thing worthy to be done citizens have no time to waste in petty quarrels.
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Up to the year 1844 there were but five municipal voting^ precincts,

which were as follows:

Elk Fork, with place of voting at the house of M. G. Pemberton.

Blackwater, with place of voting at the house of Samuel Fisher.

Flat Creek, with place of voting at Higgins & McCormack's mill.

Bowling Green, with place of voting at the house of James Lacy.
Mt . Sterling, with place of voting at Georgetown.
The general elections were held, prior to 1869, on the first Monday in

August. For the year 1838 we here append the names of the judges of

election for the five townships then organized:
Elk Fork.—Byrd Hawkins, Francis Talbert, and Thomas P. E. Rees.

Blackwater—John Fisher, Jr., Montiville Huff", and Isaiah Prigmore.
Flat Creek—David B. Hume, Giles L. Williams, and Pemberton

Cason.

Bowling Green —George Small, James Marlen, and Larkin Erwin.

Mt. Sterling
—Richard Byrd, Elijah Taylor, and William McCormack.

In those days the polls were kept open one, two and three days, giving

plenty of time for every man to vote.

Soon, following 1844, the larger voting precincts were divided, and

where two precincts bore the same name they we known as " No. one"

and "No. two." Washington and Heath's Creek townships were soon

added to the list of voting places, so by 1850 there were fourteen voting

precincts in the county. Lake Creek was added after 1859. Sedalia was

organized about 1866 as a voting precinct, and now the county has six-

teen municipal townships, and sev'enteen voting precincts.

Quite soon after the county was organized steps were taken to erect

suitable county buildings, at the county seat—Georgetown. Prior to this

date (1837), the business of the county was dispatched in an old frame

building at Pin Hook.

The following law was enacted, January 29, 1835, by the general

assembly:
There shall be erected in each county, at the established seat of jus-

tice thereof, a good and sufficient court-house and jail.
As soon as the court-house and jail shall be erected, and the circum-

stances of the county will permit, there shall also be erected one or more
fire-proof buildings, at some convenient place or places, near the court-

house, in which shall be kept the offices of the recorder and the clerks of

the several courts of such county.

Accordingly, Gen. Geo. R. Smith, the founder of Sedalia, and James
Ramey, men who were always alive to the county's interests, took the

contract for building a brick court-house. They completed this building,
a fine edifice for those da3'S, at a cost of $4,000, and here justice was dis-

pensed until 1862, when the business of the county was transacted in

Sedalia.
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The following order appears on record at the county clerk's office under

date of February 6, 1873:

Whereas, The legislature of Missouri did, at the adjourned session of

the 26th General Assembly, 1872, pass a law, which law was approved
March 18, 1872, allowing counties in said State to adopt township
organization, and further providing for the county courts to divide the

counties so adopting said township organization into townships. And,
whereas, the county of Pettis did, on the 5th day of November, 1872, by
a majority vote, adopt township organization.

It is therefore ordered by the court, that Pettis county be divided into

townships, as follows, said townships to be known by numbers:

Township No. /, (Heath's Creek).
—To include all that portion of town-

ship 48, range 20, that belongs to Pettis county, and all of township 47,

range 20, and bound as follows: Commencing at the northeast corner of

Pettis county, and running thence west, on county line, to the northwest
corner of section 19, township 48, range 20; running thence south, on

range line, to the southwest corner of section 31, township 47, range 20;

running thence east, on the township line, to the southeast corner of sec-

tion 36, township 47, range 20
;
thence north on county line to the place

of beginning.

Township No. ^, (Longwood).
—To include all that portion of township

48, range 21, that belongs to Pettis county, and all of township 47, range
21, bound as follows: Commencing at the northeast corner of section 24,

township 48, range 21, running thence west on count}'- line to the north-

west corner of section 19, township 48, range 21; running thence south on

the range line to the southwest corner of section 31, township 47, range
21; running thence east on township line to the southeast corner of section

36, township 47, range 21; running thence north on range line to place

beginning.

Township No. J, (Houstonia).
—To include all that portion of township

48, range 22, that iDelongs to Pettis county, and all of township 47, range
22, bound as follows: Commencing at the northeast corner of section 24,

township 48, range 22, running thence west on county line to the north-

west corner of section 19, township 48, range 22; running thence south on

the range line to the southwest corner of section 31, township 47, range
22; running thence east on the township Hne to the southeast corner of

section 36, township 47, range 22; running thence north on range line to

the place of beginning.

Township No. ^, (Blackwater).
—To include all that portion of town-

ship 48, range 23, that belongs to Pettis county, and all of township 47,

range 23, bound as follows: Commencing at the northeast corner of sec-

tion 24, township 48, range 23; running thence west on the county line to

the northwest corner of Pettis county, running thence south on the county
line to the southwest corner of section 31, township 47, range 23; running
thence east on the township line to the southeast corner of section 36,

township 47, range 23; running thence north on range line to place of

beginning.

Tozvnship No. 5, (Lamont).
—To include all of township 46, range 23,

bound as follows: Commencing at northeast corner of said township 46,

range 23; running thence west on township line to the northwest corner of

same township and range, running thence south on county line to the south-
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west corner of same township, running thence east on the township line,

to the southeast corner of same township; thence north on range line to

the place of beginning.

Tozvnshif No. 6, (Dresden).
—To include all of township 46, range 22,

bound as follows: Commencing at the northeast corner of said township
46, range 22, running thence west on township line to the northwest corner

of same township; thence running south on range line to the southwest

corner of same township; running thence east bn the township line to the

southeast corner of same township; running thence north on range line to

the place of beginning.

Totu}ishif IVo. y, {C^d^iv).
—To include all of township 46, range 21,

except the six sections on the south side of said township, bound as fol-

lows: Commencing at the northeast corner of said township 46, range 21;

running thence west on township line to the northwest corner of said town-

ship; running thence south on the range line to the southwest corner of

section 80, same township; running thence east on the section line to the

southeast corner of section 25, same township; running thence north on
the range line to the place of beginning.

Township jVo. S, (Bowling Green).
—To include all of congressional

township 46, range 20, bound as follows: Commencing at the northeast

corner of said township 46, range 20; running thence west on the town-

ship line to the northwest corner of same township; running thence south

on the range line to the southw^est corner of same township; running
thence east on the township line to the southeast corner of same township;
running thence north on the range line to the place of beginning.

Townshif No. q, (Smithton).
—To include all of congressional township

45, range 20, bound as follows: Commencing at the northeast corner of

said township 45, range 20; running thence west on the township line to

the southwest corner of same township; running thence south on the range
line to the southwest corner of same township; running thence east on the

township line to the southeast corner of same township; running thence
north on the range line to the place of beginning.

Tozunship JVo. lo, (Sedalia).
—To include congressional township 45,

range 21, except that portion lying south of Flat creek; also, to include

six sections o?l of the south side of township 46, range 21, bound as fol-

lows: Commencing at the northeast corner of section 36, township 46,

range 21; running thence west on the section line to the north-west cor-

ner of section 31, same township; running thence south on the range line

to the south-west corner of section 19, township 45, range 21; running
thence east on section line to the south-east corner of section 19, township
45, range 21, Flat Creek then being the south line of said township;
from said south-east corner of section 19, township 45, range 21, running
east to the range line, near the south-east corner of section 13, township
45, range 21, thence north on range line to the place of beginning.

Township JVo. //, (F'rairie).
—To include all of congressional township

45, range 22, bound as follows: Commencing at the northeast corner of

said township 45, range 22; running thence west on the township line to

the northwest corner of same township and range, running thence south
on the range line to the southwest corner of same township; running
thence east on the township line to the southeast corner of same town-

ship; running thence north on the range line to the place of beginning.
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Tozvnship No. 12, (Elk Fork).
—To include all of congressional town-

ship 45, range 23, bound as follows: Commencing at the north-east cor-

ner of said township 45, range 2;); running thence west on the township
line to the northwest corner of same township; thence south on the

county line to the southwest corner of same township; running thence

east on the township line to the southeast corner of same township; run-

ning thence north on the range line to the place of beginning.

Tozvnshi-p No. ij, (Green Ridge).
—To include all of congressional

township 44, range 23, and all of that portion of township 43, range 23,
that belongs to Pettis count}^ bound as follows: Commencing at the

northeast corner of township 44, range 23, running thence west on the

township line to the northwest corner of same township; running thence
south on the county line to the southw^est corner of Pettis county; thence

running east on the county line to the southeast corner of section 12,

township 43, range 23; thence north on the range line to the place of

beginning.

Tozviishif No. /^, (Washington).
— To include all of congressional

township 44, range 22, and all of that portion of township 43, range 22,
that belongs to Pettis county, bound as follows: Commencing at the

northeast corner of township 44, range 22, running thence west on the

township line to the northwest corner of same township; running thence
south on the range line to the southwest corner of section 7, township
43, range 22; running thence east on the county line to the southeast cor-

ner of section 2, same township and range; thence north on the range line

to place of beginning.

Toxunship No. /j, (Flat Creek).
—To include all of congressional town-

ship 44, range 21, and all that portion of township 45, range 21, lying south
of Flat Creek, bound as follows: Commencing at the range line near the

southeast corner of section 13, township 45, range 21, running thence
west with Flat Creek to the southeast corner of section 19, township 45,

range 21; thence west on the section line to the southwest corner of same
section (19); running thence south on the range line to the southwest
corner of section 31, township 44, range 21; running thence east on county
line to the southeast corner of section 36, township 44, range 21; running
thence north on the range line to the place of beginning.

Toxunshif No. i6, (Lake Creek.)—To include all of congressional

township 44, range 2(», bound as follows: Commencing at the northeast
corner of said tow^nship 44, range 20, running thence west on the town-

ship line to the northwest corner of same township; running thence south
on the range line to the southwest corner of same township; running
thence east on the county line to the southeast corner of Pettis county;
running thence north on the county line to the place of beginning.
These municipal townships continue as here stated, except a voting

precinct formed from portions of townships Nos. 2 and 3, forming the

precinct of Hughsville.
As will be found further on, this county did not retain the township

system law very long. However, nothing was of any importance urged

against the organization. Under that law the people were more directly

their own rulers. Much of their business was at home. In States where
the township organization has existed for years, schools and general pros-

perity is there most observed.
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The following order of court made April 9, 1873, the law which allowed

the county to be divided into judicial districts:

Whereas, the General Assembly of the State of Missouri did pass
an act (which act was approved March 24, 1873),entitled an act "To more

fully provide for the ori^anization of counties into municipal townships,
and to further provide for the local government thereof, and repealing all

former acts relating thereto." And, whereas, article 17 of said act pro-
vides that the county court of each county having adopted the township
organization law of this State, at their first meeting after the passage of

this act, shall proceed to district their respective counties into four compact
districts for judicial purposes. It is, therefore, ordered by the court, that

Pettis county be divided into four (4) districts, as follows: Townships Nos.

1, 2, 3 and 4 shall constitute district No. 1, or Heath's Creek district;

townships Nos. 5, 6, 11, 12, 13 and 14 shall constitute District No. 2, or

Washmgton District; townships Nos. 8, 9, 15 and 16 shall constitute Dis-

trict No. 3, or Bowling Green District; townships Nos. 7 and 10 shall

constitute District No. 4, or Mt. Sterhng District.

The election following the adoption and districting of the county, five

county judges were elected, one from each district and one from the

county at large.

This new organization of the county was an experiment, which proved
to be of little avail. Only a few years of its trial were sufficient to con-

vince the people that the old land-marks of their fathers' were preferable.

Men think and act often as their fathers have acted.

At present the county has three judges. Maj. Wm. Gentry is president

of the county court.
*

This system is generally adopted over Missouri now, and is generally

approved.
Under date of July 17, 1877, after the township system was repealed,

the county court made the following order:

Ordered by the court, that the municipal townships in Pettis county,
remain as they now exist, also that the road districts that have been estab-

lished by the township boards, remain as so established, and that,

Towmship No. 1, be named and known as Heath's Creek township;
that township No. 2, be named and known as Longwood tow^nship; that

township No. 3, be named and known as Houstonia township; that

township No. 4, be named and known as Blackwater township; that

township No. 5, be named and known as Lament township; that town-

ship No. 6, be named and known as Dresden township; that township
No. 7, be named and known as Cedar township; that township No. 8,

be named and known as Bowling Green township; that township No. 9,

be named and known as Smithton township; that township No. 10, be
named and known as Sedalia township; that township No. 11, be named
and known as Prairie township; that township No. 12, be named and
known as Elk Fork township; that township No. 13, be named and known
as Green Ridge township; that township No. 14, be named and known
as Washington township; that township No. 15, be named and known as

4
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Flat Creek township; that township No. 16, be named and known as

Lake Creek township.

Justices of the peace and constables were appointed for each township.

James Wasson, James Ramey, Reuben E. Gentry and George Heard,
were among the pioneer justices.

The names and events which most naturally belong to this chapter have

been given and we proceed to the consideration of other themes, fervently

hoping that future generations may maintain the honor due the memory
of their fathers.

CHAPTER v.—POLITICAL HISTORY.

Political History—Whigs and Democrats—Definitions of Parties, Law and its Functions—
Know-Nothing Party—Parties in 1860—Missouri Prefers to Remain Loyal

—Test Oath

of 1865—Democrats in Power in 1872—Names of Pioneer Whigs and Democrats—
Bell and Everett Party Successful in 1860—Incidents of the Late War—Election Re-

turns of 1880—Official Directory.

When Pettis county became a member of the commonwealth of Mis-

souri in 1833, there were two active, distinctlv defined political parties,

known as whigs and democrats.

A brief sketch of these rival parties is pertinent here. The name whig
is of Scotch derivation. It is thought by some to come from the word

whey, a drink which the Scottish Covenanters used, or from whiggam, a

term in Scotland used in driving horses, and zvhiggimore, one who drives

horses, contracted to zvhig. In 1848, a party of Scotch marched to Edin-

burgh to oppose the king and the duke of Hamilton, and therefore the

name whig was applied to the opponents of the king. Some writers claim

that the word zuhig originated from the initial letters of "we hofe in

God,'''' as a motto of the club from which the whig party took its rise.

The whig party of England originated in the seventeenth century, dur-

ing the reign of Charles I, or II, when great contests existed respecting
the royal prerogatives and the rights of the people. Those who supported
the king in his high claims were called tories, and the advocates of popular

rights were called whigs.

During the American Revolution (1775-1783), the whiQ^s were the

friends and supporters of the war ensuing, opposed to the toriessLnd royal-
ists.

The whigs as a political party in the United States originated from

fragments of the old federalist party in about 1829, as opposed to the demo-
crats. Their first success was the election to the presidency of Gen. Wm.
H. Harrison, This party, generally speaking, favored tariff, gradual

emancipation of negro slavery, and a strong central government. In brief,

they were the federalists in principle. In 1853 this party ceased to be
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known, and soon a new party, composed principally of abolitionists

known as the republican party, which sprang into existence as by magic,
and elected Hon. Abraham Lincoln into 1860 to the presidency, and they
have held the reins of government in the United States ever since. At times

the name radicalhdiS been appropriatel}'^ given to this party on account of

its original and extreme progressive measures. In fine, this party is the

terminus of the old federalist party as opposed to Jefferson, having really
borne three names.

Democrats were first known as a political party in the United States in

1829, when Gen. Andrew Jackson was elected by them to the presidency,
and they have continued as a distinct political party ever since. This party
was organized out of the disintegrations of the old Republican party that

made Thomas Jefferson President in 1800; and although Jefferson's ideas

of government transaction were the germs of the Democratic party, yet it

did not receive its present name till the time of Jackson. Patrick Henry,
the revolutionary patriot and Virginia statesman, had no doubt much to

do in sowing the seeds from which the Democratic party has grown.
The principles of this party have always been to give as much liberty to

the people as possible, making the people the sovereign power of the

nation. The word is of Greek derivation, and signifies the whole people
rule. Its principles are further enunciated as opposed to high taritT, pro-
tection of state rights, and the protection of citizens in their property. Its

principles have been advocated in the United States ever since the days of

Henry and Jefferson in opposition to the Federalists, Whigs and Republi-
cans. Virtually, the Democrats held the power in this government for

about sixty years, and although Republicans have had almost complete
control e-ver since, the year 1860, the Democrats have never given up their

principles, nor have they ceased to strive for victories.

Political parties are divisions of the people differing as to how the gov-
ernment shall be administered. A party, then, in its strictest sense, is any
number of persons confederated, by a similarity of objects and opinions,
in opposition to others.

Soon after the death of the Whig party the Know-nothing party sprang
into existence. This was sometimes called the American party on account

of its principles being opposed to foreigners having anything to do in the

making and administrating of the laws of the Union. In 1855, this party
was thoroughly organized in Missouri.

We intend, in these few pages devoted to the political history of Pettis

county, to present some of the more prominent features of the administra-

tion of oflicers placed in authority, by the suffrages of the people, together
with the operations of law regulating elections, and the support of candi-

dates by the different political parties.

Law is a rule of action. Law, in a political sense, however, signifies a
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rule of human action. In a particular state,
"

it is a rule prescribed by the

supreme power in the state, commanding what is right, and forbidding

what is wrong.
" The constitution of a state is the fundamental law, and

is delineated by the hand of the people.

The ballot signifies the ball, or ticket, by which persons vote at an elec-

tion. To ballot signifies voting by ballot, i. e., by ballot or ticket. Form-

erl}^ voting was altogether viva voce, /. e., by the voice,
—the elector

designating by name the person voted for. This continued to be the cus-

tom in Pettis county till 1860; now, elections are generally made by ballot

The name of the person voted for is written or printed on a white ticket,

and deposited in a box.

While all government is professedly for the good of the people, it is,

nevertheless, a fact that nearly all the governments ever established have

been in the interests of an individual or class. Our fathers, in establish-

ing this government, admitted the superior rights of no man or class. It

was carefully arranged to exclude all titles of nobility, and, with a single

exception, placed all men on the same level. This one exception, negro

slavery, was swept away during the tempest of civil war, which broke

out in 1861, and closed in the spring of 1865.

At the introduction of the Know-nothing party in 1855, it unsettled both

the old parties, receiving most of its strength from the Whigs. This party
increased rapidly, till in 1856, Hon. Thomas P. Akers, of Lexington,

Lafayette county, was elected on that ticket, to congress, from this dis-

trict. Hon. Thomas P. Akers was a very eloquent speaker, and, though
too young to enter the house of representatives when elected, he became

twenty-five, and was granted a seat when congress met. After returning
from congress he entered the practice of law, and during the cjvil war
was secretary of the gold board in Wall street. He was the inventor of

the safety valve for steam engines, and died at the close of the Tilden and

Hayes campaign in the fall of 1876—supposed to have over-exercised his

vocal organs in the state campaign of Indiana in behalf of the Democrats.

In 1860 party lines were completely broken up. The two national Dem-
ocratic tickets in the field were the Douglas and Breckenridge parties.

The Constitution-Union party nominated Bell and Everett for president
and vice-president. The Republicans put in nomination Abraham Lin-

coln. Consequently the Democratic party was divided; however, the

Douglas Democrats carried the da}^ in Pettis county, with the Bell and

Everett next. Hon. Abraham Lincoln received only two votes in the

county.

When the war asserted itself, in 1861, all former party affiliations were

severed. Many men who were staunch Democrats, with ultra pro-slavery

principles, became open and avowed Union men; while others, who had

been born and brought up in the north, and looked upon suspiciously.



HISTORY OF PETTIS COUNTY. 257

immediately espoused the cause of secession. The old part}^ affiliations

had nothing, whatever, to do in determining which side a man would take-

Soon after the beginning of the war the Republican party began to grow;
and from those two despised electors of 1860, numbers increased, and by
1862 the county was Republican, and continued to hold the power till

1870.

In 1861, March 4th, Gov. Stewart's successor, C. F. Jackson, was

inaugurated. Gov. Jackson, a secessionist, favored a State convention,

composed of delegates from all parts of the State, to decide the position

of Missouri. The most noted resolution passed by that convention,

which was in March, insisted that Missouri should remain a mem-
ber of the Union, declaring that secession was a dangerous political

heresy. This, then known as the Sixteenth district, sent John F. Phillips,

Samuel L. Sawyer, and Vincent Marmaduke as delegates to the State

convention to decide whether Missouri should withdraw from the Union.

Gen. Sterling Price, who then was regarded as a Union man, was chosen

president, and Samuel A. Lowe, of Pettis county, secretary of the conven-

tion.

The revised constitution of Missouri, which went into operation July 4,

1865, prohibited all disloyal citizens from the elective franchise. The
"Test Oath," or "Iron-Clad Oath," as it was more properly called, was

required of every one who had anything to do with public affairs.

Under the operations of this oath, ministers, lawyers, teachers, and all

office-holders and electors were required to take the test oath prior to

exercising the functions of their offices. To enforce this oath, as applied
to voters, a registration law was enacted, creating the office of registrar?

by which every person who intended to vote at an election was required
to write his name and subscribe to the oath. It can be easily seen how
this unlimited power could be abused by the army of registering officers,

and in many instances men of unquestionable honesty and integrity, pos-

sessing all the rights of citizenship, were precluded from exercising the

right to vote, in order to gratify the whim or caprice of some narrow-

minded partisan.

After the liberal Republicans carried the State and county, in the fall of

1870, all restrictions were removed. Many of the disfranchised rebels

joined the Democrats, and in 1872 this party took possession of the State

and county again, after a lapse of about twelve years.
At all the early elections, prior to the war, voting was done vive voce,

on the first Monday of August. Mr. Mentor Thomson, an esteemed

pioneer of the county, states that in the early years of the county's history
men went to the polls to stay all day, eat ginger bread, drink hard cider,

etc., and have a jolly time. In some places the polls were kept open two
or three days, in order to allow every voter a chance to exercise the elec-
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tive franchise. Amone^ the old-line Whigs we find the names of Geo. R.

Smith, Dr. Joe Fox, Jolin M. Sneed, Reuben E. Gentry, Richard Gentry,
Andrew Forbes, Marcus Calmes, Maj. J. S. Hopkins, Dr. James R.

Hughes, Col. T. H. Houston, V. Chilton, Geo. Anderson, Col. Crawford*

W. H. Powell, and Capt. Samuel Montgomery.

Among the Democrats were: Judge James Ramey, Geo. Heard,

Judge Thos. Watson, Reece Hughes, Dr. Geo. W. Rothwell, Ebenezer

MaGoffin, Hon. John R. Born, Dr. Thos. E. Staples.

In 1860, the Bell and Everett party carried the county by a handsome

majority. Col. Jno. F. Phillips was one of the presidential electors of this

party. Hon. F. E. Cravens was elected county representative for this

year.

Capt. Sam'l Montgomery raised the first company of Union soldiers of

the county, and Dr. Joe Fox the first secession company, in 1861.

Col. Jno. F. Phillips, the county's most valorous soldier and statesman,

organized his regiment, 7th Missouri cavahy, in 1861. Col. Phillips was

always found at his post of duty during the civil strife; returning to his

county, his own congressional district, through the Democratic party, gave
him the highest honors the sovereignty of the people could bestow upon
him.

Dr. E, MaGoffin is said to have shot the first Union soldier of the

county. This was in 1861.

Col. Jeft'. Thompson, of the Confederate army, marched into Sedalia in

1864, planted his guns near the cemetery, and fired over the city. At the

alarm, Col. John D. Crawford, who, with a squad of militia, was sta-

tioned in Sedalia, fled to Flat Creek, where it is said that they took

refuge. Gen. Jeff'. Thompson entered the town and after pillaging and

supplying his soldiers with goods and provisions, he captured what horses

he could and left the city. His most dastardly act was taking from a

lady's possession a handsome sword, a souvenir presented to Col. John F.

Phillips by his own regiment, and not returning the same as was due mil-

itary courtesy.

Many are the thrilling scenes and trials borne by those who tried to

stay at home during the rebellion. The bad acts do not belong to one

side only. In both armies were bad, designing men. Often hves were

taken for mere trifles, and others tortured or imprisoned. Thos. Hughes
is mentioned as being taken away from home for his southern proclivities

and imprisoned at Alton till his health failed, after which they set him free,

but being too feeble he never reached home.
In some localities houses were burnt and whole families of women

and children thrown out in the cold, unwelcome world, penniless, without

fi-iends or a morsel of bread. Miss Puss Whitley, a brave and noble

minded girl, is said to have been often equal to the emergency when the
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desperadoes were in her neighborhood. She could use fire arms as well

as her tongue. She replied to them, when they attempted to burn her

home and drive her from the county: "Burn it, if you dare, I'll stretch a

tent over the ashes," then giving them a volley of hot lead.

OFFICIAL RETURNS—PETTIS COUNTY ELECTION. 1880.

CANDIDATES.
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In all the following elections from 1872, the Democrats have been suc-

cessful, with a few exceptions, when the Greenbackers and Republicans
coalesced. The ex-rebels hav^e <^enerally gone with the Democrats. The
Democratic majority is now about 400. A good feeling exists between

the political parties.

The following is the record of the first marriage of the county:

State of Missouri, ]

County of Cooper, f

I hereby certify that on the 26th day of March, 1838, I solemnized the

right of matrimony between William P. Burney, of Cooper county, and
Sallie Ann Barnes, of Pettis county. Given under mv hand this 5th day
of May, 1833. James" L. Wear, P. G.

The second marriage contract record is as follows:

This is to certify that on the twenty-eight day of March, in the year of
our Lord, eighteen hundred and thirty-three, Nathaniel Newbill and Sarah

Swope, of the County of Pettis, and State of Missouri, were lawfull joined
in the bonds of matrimony by me. Elijah Taylor, J. P.

In 1866 P. G. Stafford was elected State Representative.
In 1870 Allen O'Bannon was elected State Representative.

OFFICIAL directory.

In giving the official directory of Pettis county we find no little trouble

in arranging the names and dates, from the fact that no record of the elec-

tions have been preserved. It has been extremely difficult to determine

when some of the county officers commenced the functions of their offices.

The records have been carefully consulted, and with the aid of those

remembering, a few of whom held the offices to which their names have

been attached, the roster can be relied upon as substanially correct.

Every clerk of the county court should be required, by law, to keep an

election book and official directory, which would greatly aid in the trans-

action of business, and which would grow more and more valuable in

years to come. It should be remembered in consulting this directory that

the dates indicate the beginning and close of the term of office. It also

shows the election of some who did not serve.

SHERIFFS.

Aaron Jenkins, appointed 1833—1834

Wm. R. Kemp, elected 1834—1836
Wm. R. Kemp, re-elected 1836—1838
Willis P. Ellis, elected 1838—1838
M. G. Pemberton, elected 1838—1840
M. G. Pemberton, re-elected 1840—1840
Willis P. Ellis, appointed 1840—1842
Wm. R. Kemp, elected 1842—1843
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Wm. R. Kemp, appointed 1843—1814

Wm. H. Killebrew, elected 1844—1846

Wm. H. Killebrew, re-elected 1846—1848

James Kemp, elected 1848—1850

James Kemp, re-elected 1850—1852

Wm. H. Killebrew, elected 1852. .1854

Wm. H. Killebrew, re-elected 1854-1855

Finis E. Cravens, appointed 1855—1856

Finis E. Cravens, elected 1856—1858

Wesley McClure, elected 1858—1860

Wesley McClure, re-elected 1860—1862

H.J. McCormack, elected 1862—1863

John Hubbard, appointed . 1863—1864

Wm. H. Porter, elected 1864—1866

Wm. H. Porter, re-elected 1866—1868

Wm. P. Paff, elected 1868—1870

Wm. P. Paft; re-elected 1870—1872

H. J. McCormack, elected 1872—1874

L.S. Murray, elected 1874—1876

L. S. Murray, re-elected 1876—1878

L. S. Murray, elected 1878—1880

Moses S. Conner, elected 1880—1882

COLLECTORS.

This office was connected with the Sheriff till in 1877.

J. A. C. Brown, elected 1878—1880

R. H. Moses, elected 1880—1882

1872—Vote for Congressmen: 1,735 votes for Hon. S. S. Burdett; 2,060

for Col. T. T. Crittenden. The same year John P. Strather was elected

State Senator and John T. Heard Representative.

1874.—Votes for Governor stood: C. H. Hardin, 1,736; Wm. Gentry,

1,998. Votes for Cono-ressmen stood: John F. PhiHps, 2,060; James H.

Lay, 1,632.

1876.—Votes for President: Samuel J. Tilden, 2,832; R. B. Hayes,

2,100; Peter Cooper, 3. For Governor: John S.Phelps, 2,778; G. A.

Finkelnburg, 2,129. State Senator elected, J. S. Parsons; Representative,

Dr. J. P. Thatcher. Criminal Circuit Judge elected, W. H. H. Hill.

CLERKS OF COUNTY COURT.

Amos Fristoe, appointed 1833—1835

Amos Fristoe, elected 1835—1841

Amos Fristoe, re-elected 1841—1847

Albion Robertson, elected 1847—1853

Rob't R. Spedden, elected 1853—1857
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Sam'l A. Lowe, appointed 1857—1859

Sam'l A. Lowe, elected 1859—1865

Thomas E. Bassett, appointed 1865—1867
S. A. Yankee, elected 1867—1870

R. H. Moses, elected 1870—1874
R. H. Moses, re-elected 1874—1878

Henry Y. Field, elected 1878—1882

SURVEYORS.

Jesse Joplin, appointed 1835—1836

Mentor Thomson, elected 1836—1838
Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1838—1840
Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1840—1842
Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1842—1846

Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1846—1-848

Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1848-1850
Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1850—1852

Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1852—1854

Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1854—1856

Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1856—1858

Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1858—1860

Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1860—1862
Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1862—1864

Mentor Thomson, re-elected 1864—1866
Wm. J. Pace, appointed 1866—1867
Wm. J. Pace, elected 1867—1868
W. H. Hewitt, elected 1868—1870
W. H. Hewitt, re-elected 1870—1872
Thomas Monroe, elected 1872—1874

Thomas Monroe, re-elected 1874—1876

Thomas Monroe, re-elected 1876-1880
Thomas Monroe, re-elected 1880—1882

PUBLIC ADMINISTRATORS.

Solomon J. Lowe, appointed 1847—1850

John M. Glasscock, appointed 1850—1851

George Heard, appointed 1851^—1855

George Heard, appointed 1855—1856

George Heard, appointed 1855—1858

Wm. C. Ford, elected 1858—1861
Thos. J. Montgomery, appointed but refused to qualify 1861—1861

Chan. P. Townsley, appointed 1862—1863
O. P. Hatton, appointed 1853—1865
O. P. Hatton, appointed 1865—1866
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John G. Riley, elected but refused to qualify 1866—1S67

S. S. Vinton, appointed 1867—1868

Jas. S. Porter, elected 1868—1869

D. H. Petefish, appointed 1869—1871

J. F. Tobias, appointed 1871—1872

John Elliott, elected 1872—187i

John Elliott, re-elected 1874—1876

John R. Clapton, elected 1876—1880

John R. Clapton, re-elected 1880—1882

SCHOOL COMMISSIONERS AND SUPERINTENDENTS.

Aldea A. Glasscock, appointed 1853—1855

Aldea A. Glasscock, appointed 1855—1857

Aldea A. Glasscock, appointed 1857—1860

Wm. C. Westlake, elected ••••... 1860—1861

The office abolished and county clerk acted 1861—1865

H. P. Thomson, appointed 1865—1868

A. J. hampson, elected 1868—1870

A. A. Neal, elected 1870—1872

W. C. Westlake, elected 1872—1875

Wm. F. Hansberger, elected com 1875—1877

Joseph Kingsley, elected 1877—1879

Gen.J. B. Van Petten, elected 1879—1881

R. M. Scotten, elected 1881—1883

COUNTY COURT JUDGES.

James Ramey, appointed 1833—1838

Elijah Taylor, appointed 1833—1838

Wm. A. Miller, appointed 1833—1838

Wm. A. Miller, elected 1838—1842

Thomas Wasson, elected 1838—1842

James Brown, elected 1838—1842

Thomas Wasson, re-elected 1842—1847

William Scott, elected 1842—1847

Henry M. Rubey, elected 1842—1847

William Scott, re-elected .1847—1850

Thomas Wasson, re-elected 1847—1850

John S. Brown, elected, 1847—1850

Henry Rains, appointed 1850—1851

James T. Walker, elected 1850—1851

A. M. Forbes, elected 1850—1853

John S. Brown, elected 1851—1853

Samuel Dudley, appointed 1851—1854

Mentor Thompson, appointed 1851—1854
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Hampton P. Gray, appointed 1853—1854

Wm . Scott, appointed 1854—1854

A. M. Forbes, elected 1854—1856

A. M. Coft'ee, elected 1854—1856

Wm. Gentry, appointed 1855—1856

H. P. Gray, elected 1856—1858

Wm. Gentry, elected 1856—1865

Thomas Ferguson, elected 1856—1864

Jacob Yankee, elected 1860—1866

Wm. D. Erwin, appointed 1864—1866

J. W. Beeman, appointed .1864—1866

A. M. Wright, appointed 1866—1870

J. W. Beeman, appointed 1866—1770

E, W. Washburn, appointed 1866—1870
Allen O'Bannon, appointed 1868—1870

Thos. W. Phillips, elected 1868-1872
A. M. Wright, elected 1870—1872
Charles Richardson, elected 1872—1873

John M. Sneed, elected 1873—1875
A. B. Codding, elected 1873—1875
O. M. Harris, elected 1873—1875
D. H. O'Rear, elected 1873—1875
WilHam Boeker, elected 1873—1875
V. T. Chilton (vice Sneed, resigned), appointed 1873—1875

John G. Sloan (vice Codding, deceased), appointed 1873—1875

E. Canady (vice Harris, resigned), appointed 1873— 1875

J. Q. Tannehill, elected 1873—1875
W. C. Gibson, elected 1873—1875
W. C. Gibson, re-elected 1875—1878
W. C. Gibson, re-elected 1878-1880

John Baker, elected 1878—1880

J. Q. Tannehill, elected 1878—1880

CORONERS.

Ambrose K. Boggs, elected 1838—1842
Samuel C. Potts, elected 1842—1844
Oswald Kidd, elected 1844—1848
Oswald Kidd, re-elected 1848—1850

Jas. G. Bridges, elected 1850—18.54

Robert Dickson, elected 1856—1858

Jas. G. Bridges, elected 1858—1860
Wm. T. Roberts, elected 1860—1862

Jas. A. Blakemore, elected, (resigned) 1862—1862
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M. P. Edwards, appointed 1862—1S65
Wm. P. Jackson, appointed 1865—1867

Thomas Lacy, appointed 1867—1867

John Shanafelt, appointed 1867—1868

W. A. Mayfield, elected 1868—1870

John H. Kehn, elected 1870—1872

Cyrus Goodrich, elected 1872—1874
W. H. Evans, elected 1874—1876
W. H. Evans, re-elected 1876—1878

J. B. Jones, elected 1878—1880
Willis P. King, elected 1880—1882

CLERKS OF CIRCUIT COURT.

Amos Fristoe, appointed 1833—1835
Amos Fristoe, elected 1835—1841
Amos Fristoe, re-elected 1841—1853

Robert Stedden, elected 1853—1858
Samuel A. Low^e, appointed 1858—1859^

Samuel A. Lowe, elected 1859—1865

John W. Christian, elected 1865—1866
Florence Crandall, appointed 1866—1868
Bacon Montgomery, appointed 1868—1870

E. P. Kent, elected 1870—1873

Henry Lamm (vice Kent, resigned), appointed 1873—1874

J. C. Wood, elected 1874—1880
Benton Ingram 1880—1882,

JUDGES OF COMMON PLEAS COURT.

With probate jurisdiction: established, 1867; abolished, 1873.

R. G. Dunham, appointed 1867—1870

John S. Cochran, elected 1870—1874
W. H. H. Hill, elected 1874—1874

COUNTY ATTORNEYS.

George Heard, appointed 1863—1865

Manetho Hilton, appointed 1865—1865
O. C. Sabin, appointed 1865—1866
Chan. P. Townsley, appointed 1866—1867

Jno. S. Cochran, appointed 1867—1868
B. G. Wilkerson, appointed 1868—1869
B. G. Wilkerson, appointed 1869—1870
B. G. Wilkerson, appointed 1870—1871
B. G. Wilkerson, appointed 1871—1872
Frank Houston, elected 1872—1874
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Frank Houston, re-elected 1874—1876

Geo. P. B. Jackson, elected 1876—187^

Geo. P. B. Jackson, re-elected 1878—1880

G. C. Heard, re-elected 1880—1882

JUDGES PROBATE COURT.

(Established 1873.) The probate judge is ej-q^ctc clerk of his court.

W. H. H. Hill, elected 1873—1874

W. H. H. Hill, re-elected—resigned 1874—1875

H. P. Townsley, elected 1875—1876

John A. Lacy, elected 1876—1882

CLERKS OF COMMON PLEAS COURT.

Bacon Montgomery, appointed 1867—1870

E. P. Kent, elected 1870—1872

RECORDERS.

(Prior to the electioo of 1866, circuit court clerks performed the duties of recorders.

Florence Crandall, elected 1866—1870

J. D. Crawford, elected 1870-1874

J. D. Crawford, re-elected 1874—1878
Samuel W. Richer, elected 1878—1882

John W. Conner, (vice-Richey, deceased, 1 year) 1882—1882

TREASURERS.

(OflSce established 1846.)

Solomon J. Lowe, appointed 1847—1818

Reece Hughes, elected 1848—1856
Reece Hughes, re-elected 1856—1858

Reece Hughes, re-elected 1858—1860

Reece Hughes, re-elected 1860—1862

H;ram Thornton, elected 1862—1864
Hiram Thornton, re-elected 1864—1866

J. G. Beck, elected 1866—1868

J. G. Beck, re-elected 1868—1870

Henry Suess, elected 1870—1872

Adam Ittel, elected 1872—1874
Adam Ittel, re-elected 1874—1876

J. C. Thompson, elected 1876—1878
R. T. Gentry, elected 1878—1880
R. T. Gentry, re-elected 1880—1882

ASSESSORS.

Alexander M. Christian, elected 1844—1848

Albert G. Branham, elected 1848—1852
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Albert G. Branham, re-elected 1852—1854
E. C. Bouldin, elected 1854—1856
O. P. Hatton, elected 1856—1858

John Dejarnatt, appointed 1858—1858

James McCormack, appointed 1858—1858

James Whitfield, appointed 1858—1859
T. W. Gresham, appointed 1858—1858

Richard Gentry, appointed (refused to serve) 1859—1858

Clifton Wood, appointed, (refused to serve) 1859—1859

E. MaGoffin, appointed, (refused to serve) 1859—1859

S. B. Hoss, appointed, (refused to serve) 1859—1859

Joseph B. May, appointed 1859—1860
T. W. Gresham, appointed 1859—1860

John S. Brown, appointed 1859—1860

T. W. Gresham, elected 1860—1862

John W. May 1859—1860
E. C. Bouldin, appointed 1863—1864

John W. Simpson, appointed 1863—1865

Wm. D. Ewin, appointed 1864—1865
William Dixon, appointed, (failed to qualify) 1865—1865

John Hubbard, appointed 1865—1866

C. C. Crawford, appointed 1865—1866

C. C. Crawford, elected 1866—1868
C. C. Crawford, re-elected 1868—1870
A. P. Morey, elected 1870—1872
W. E. Middleton, elected 1872—1873

(Office abolished 1873. Reestablished 1877.)

W. E. Middleton, elected 1878—1880

Walker, elected 1880—1882

CHAPTER VI.—FINANCES.

Introductif)n—First Records—Habits of First County Officers—Tiie Missing Records—The

Assessors from 1838-1844 and their Salaries—An Exhibit of County Revenue of 1837—
Licenses of 1850—Treasurer's Report of 1850—State School Fund—Rate of Taxation of

1854—Railroad Bonds—Assessment of 1881 and 1882.

The financial history of any county bears a direct relation to its wealth

and resources, and gives a correct view of its prosperity. In the earlier

days of the history of Pettis county there was but little trouble with

county finances. The county had no bonds or debts and the citizens'

annual taxes were comparatively a small sum to what are now imposed

upon the inhabitants. Then but few books were required to keep the
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financial records of the county. The financial work of the county for the

first few years after its organization in 1833 covered so little ground that

it took but little effort to keep the books in proper shape.

In the first years of the county's existence, assessors were appointed by
the county court and paid per diem for their services. One man could

easily take hold of this work and perform it well in about one mouth.

The greatest difficulty was riding horseback over the wide prairies from

one residence to the other. In the same .way the county collector was

appointed and required to call upon all tax-payers of the county at their

residence in order to collect the assessments.

In those days but few sought office for the mere salary, since the

remuneration was by no means adequate to the toils required. Then
honest men alone were put in office, to w^ork more for the interests of the

people than for themselves. It was reserved for a later and another gen-
eration to seek office for its spoils, and Pettis county has shared the com-

mon fate of many of her sister counties in this respect. However, there is,

perhaps, no county in the state of Missouri, which has preserved its

records in better chirography.
In former years, political contests, while excited so far as regards state

and national issues, had nothing common with local elections. Personal

vituperation and insidious attacks by politicians upon character were not

then so prevalent as now. Now politics is carried from the highest to the

most menial offices of the land. Then persons were sought to fill offices.

The civil war in this county did not make men dishonest, but only

developed what was in the men. The men who have used the public,

funds for private ends have been forever silenced when they apply to the

majesty of the people for their suffrages.

During the early history of the county, revenues were light. However,
the rate of taxation was very little, if any, less than at present. For the

first few years of the county's existence the expenses ranged from three

hundred to one thousand dollars -per anmcm. The books were not kept
in a very systematic manner, and it is difficult now, even as it must have

been then, to be able to determine accurately the condition of the county
finances. In those days the people w^ere honest enough to do much of

their work orall}'. They managed to keep the machinery of the county
in motion and contract no large debts.

In this treatise it is our object to give a brief, clear and concise report
of the financial operations of the countv, before and after the civil war,
that the reader may have an insight into some of the more salient features

of the Pettis county finances. To many of the older settlers these reports
will appear homelike, while to the immigrant they will be interesting

because of their novelty.

By turning the leaves of the financial records, the historian finds that
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the county during the first twenty years of its existence had but little

need of revenue except for the erection of public buildings, and the pay
of its officers. At a glance the observer will perceive that for more than

a score of years prior to the civil war, the county affairs were economi-

cally managed, and the taxes, not every year light, were considerable less

than at present, and the valuation of all kinds of property was many
times smaller than now.

The county court records are missing from Jan. 26, 1833, to Nov. 6,

1837, about four years. Those who remember, say these records were

kept in a small book quite well worn when last noticed.

The first session of county court as nov/ appears on record, bears date

Nov. 6, 1837, with Jesse Pemberton, president of the court, Thomas

Jopling and James McCormick, associate justices, Wm. R. Kemp, sheriff',

and Amos Fristoe, clerk.

In 1839, the assessor, Willis P. Ellis, assessed the county in twenty-
nine days, receiving for his services two dollars fer diem, making a salary

of fifty-eight dollars.

In 1840, John R Phillips, assessor, was allowed for assessing county
for state purposes, thirty-four dollars, and the same amount for county

purposes, amounting to sixty-four dollars, making a salary augmented by
six dollars over the previous year.

In 1841, Nathaniel A. Newbill, assessor, assessed the county in thirty-

five days, receiving for his services one dollar ^^r diem from the state and

the same wages from the county, amounting to seventy dollars.

In 1842, Alexander M. Christian, assessor, assessed the county in forty

days, receiving eighty dollars for his services.

In 1843, Nathaniel A. Newbill, assessor, assessed the county in forty-

six days, at two dollars ^er diem, amounting to ninety-two dollars for the

entire work.

In 1844, Nathaniel A. Newbill, assessor, assessed the county in forty

days, for which he was paid the sum of eighty dollars.

The revenue of the county was quite small until the prairie farms

began to be opened, which was about 1850. Since then work of the

county assessors has been greatly increased, so that at present the office

is elective, and requires an active, intelligent assessor, and several deputies
to perform the labor within the limited time assigned him by the law.

His salary now amounts to about S600, very fair pay since it does not

require more than about one-third of the year to attend to his legal official

duties. At present Mr. J. W. Walker is the efficient county assessor, a

gentleman who attends well to his office.

In 1850, James Kemp, sheriff', collected the following licenses for the

county :

5
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Merchants' license $63.91
Peddlers' license - ] 0.00

Phj'sicians' license 12.50

Lawyers' license 2.50

Total amount $88.91

In 1837, Albion Robertson, count}- treasurer, showed that on the 17th

day of August, 1836, there was in his hands the following:

In bonds $1,537.03^
Interest on same 334.60

Cash on hand : 95.00

Cash subsequently received 522.25

Total amount on hand $2,188,881
Paid Thos. Wasson, bridge commissioner 200.00

Balance on hand $2,288.88^

For the year 1837, the amount of county revenue collected was:

For county contingent expenses $150.68
For county public buildings 588.86

Total amount $739.54

Wm. R. Kemp, collector, presented to the county court the amount of

insolvents and dehnquents for the year 1837, as follows:

For state purposes $6.40
For county purposes 9.60

Total $16.00

In 1837, the amount of revenue collected, less the expenses, was $365.87.

The following shows the financial standing of the county in 1850:

(Reece Hughes, the treasurer of the county of Pettis; June 30, 1850; in account with Pettis

county :

REVENUE.

Dr., To amount received from James Kemp, collector $1,005.00

Dr., To balance as per report, June, 1849 23.23

Dr., To amount received state military fund 176.98

Total $1,206.13

CREDIT.

By amount per warrants $850.15

By amount paid witness fees 85.00

Balance due Pettis county $ 260.98



HISTORY OF PETTIS COUNTY. 271

ROAD AND CANAL FUND.

Dr., To amount received per warrants $ 161.50

LAND DISTRIBUTION FUND.

Dr., To am't rec'd from state treasurer since last settlement. $ 626.95

Dr., To am't rec'd from state treasurer since last settlement. 599.50

Total $1,226.45

CREDIT.

By am't expense to get money Irom Jefferson City, twice,

deduct ." $ 10.00

By amount loaned on security $1,216.45

STATE SCHOOL FUND.

Dr., To am't rec'd, distribution, in 1849 $ 497.25

Dr., To am't rec'd, distribution, in 1850 250.72

Total $ 747.97

Cr., By am't paid organized townships $ 459.75

Balance to credit of schools $ 288.22

TOWNSHIP SCHOOL MONEY

remains in the hands of the borrower, as the previous year.

The county school funds, consisting of fines and penalties.. $ 5.00

Road and canal fund 2.00

R. HUGHES, COUNTY TREASURER.

The following is James Kemp's settlement as sheriff of Pettis county, in

1851, lor licenses due the state of Missouri:

Physicians' license $ 2.50

Dramshop license 15.00

Merchants' license 2.07

Attorne3'S at law license 2.50

Total amount ." $22.07

In an early day the county officers were required to give bonds for

faithful duties, as at present, and they were generally faithful to their

pledge.
For the year 1854 the county tax was fixed at one-sixth of one fej- cent.,

and the railrood tax one-half -per cent., and the poll tax was twenty-jive

cents, for county purposes. In this year A. G. Branham, assessor,

received $155 for his services as county assessor.

The following year, 1855, one-ffth per cent, was levied on the property
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set forth in the assessor's book for county purposes, the poll tax, iwenty-

iive cents on each poll assessed, and one -per cent, was levied for railroad

purposes. For this year, E. C. Bouldin, county assessor, received for his

services $221.30.

In the year 1857, the sum of $530 fell due Pettis county, from the sale

of 500,000 acres of land donated by congress. Reece Hughes was

appointed by the court to receive the same.

For the year 1856, only $180 revenue was received from Hcenses.

Since that dav the county revenue has swelled to hundreds of dollars.

In 1858, Reece Hughes, county treasurer, showed, in an exhibit, that

$13,896.97 had been collected for railroad purposes,

November 1, 1853, A. A. Grasscock was appointed, for two years,

county school commissioner, and required to give a bond of $1,500.

In 1870 the assessed value of real estate of the county was $5,328,556;

personal property, $949,352; true valuation of personal and real estate

propertv, $5,000,000; taxation not national, $77,263; bonds issued, $35,-

000; other debts for 1870, $15,000.

In 1873, during the panic, very many persons became bankrupt, and

property of all kinds decreased in value, in many instances more \\\-ax\ fifty

pej' cent. Mortgaged farms were sold, and numbers of families who lived

in opulence only a few years previous were now homeless, and to make
the picture still darker, no avenue of business was open for them to make
a Hvelihood.

It was not till the year ls52 that the project of locating a railroad

through Pettis county was much agitated. Among the leading men in

this scheme we mention Gen. Geo. R. Smith, Maj. Wm. Gentry, Reece

Hughes and George Heard. In the year 1853 the county court ap-

pointed Gen. G. R. Smith agent, to subscribe for shares of the Pacific

Railroad Company. Accordingly, he subscribed for seventeen hundred

shares, of one hundred dollars each, amounting to the magnanimous sum
of $170,000.00. Of the bonds issued subsequently, $100,000.00 was pay-
able twenty years after date at the rate of six per cent, per annum. The

$70,000.00 was to be paid at any time when the road was located. Gen.

Geo. R. Smith had authority from the Pettis county court to act as a di-

rector in all business pertaining to the interests of Pettis county.
In 1855 the county borrowed of C. & W. Wood, George Heard, W. H.

Powell and David Thomson, sufficient money to pay the amount of

assessments due the Missouri Pacific Railroad Company.
The Pacific railroad bonds have been all paid by the county. The

bonds vi^ere subscribed in good faith and the people expected to realize

something from the investment, but owing to a change of hands and gen-
eral unfairness on the part of tlie bondholders, they realized nothing.

At present the outstanding bonds of Pettis county do not amount to more
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than $25,000, and the people should congratulate themselves in so wisely

throwing off the burden of debt so recklessly imposed and saddled upon
them during the few years following the close of the civil war. The
enormous taxes and general dishonest management of the county finances

from 1S65 to 1873, brought about a retrenchment in salaries and a great

change in the political management of the county.
The following shows the assessment list of personal property for the

year 1881, as given in the abstract by the county assessor, W. E.

Middleton:

Number of horses, 8,455, valued at $ 357,589.

Number of jacks and jennets, 64, valued at 3,990.

Number of mules, 2,604, valued at 92,383.

Number of neat cattle, 28,442, valued at 399,441.

Number of sheep, 28,984, valued at 36,905.

Number of hogs, 31,156, valued at 65,622.

Money, notes, bonds and other credits, 447,544.

All other personal property, 574,299.

Total valuation, ^1,876,544.

Total banks' valuation 226,246.

Total Building and Loan Associations—valuation, 104,978.

Total amount, $2,208,000.

The abstract of real estate for the year 1881, as given on the assessor's

book, is as follows:

Total valuation of farming lands, , $3,232,035.

Total valuation of town lots, 1,572,739.

Total amount, $4,804,774.

Grand total of all property, $7,012,774.

By 1876 the count}- began to improve from the downward tendencies

thrown upon it by the dull times of 1873-1875. The value of all property
has been increasing gradually to what it is now.

An estimate of the valuation of the personal propert}^ as given by J. W.
Walker, county assessor for the year 1882:

Number of horses, 8,871, valued at. . . . .• $ 325,505.

Number of jacks and jennets, 55, valued at 3,670.

Number of mules, 2,658, valued at 130,570.

Number of neat cattle, 29,040, valued at 466,705.

Number of sheep, 36,675, valued at 57,457.

Number of hogs, 27,293, valued at 64,293.

Money, notes, bonds and other credits, 525,296.
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Amount received by corporate companies, 372,270.

All other personal property , 516,676.

Total amount, $2,462,644.

The assessor returned a list of 2,637 dogs (perhaps one-third the number

in the county) property which is a nuisance to the county. The value of

sheep and other property destroyed by fostering and breeding the canine

species is far in excess of all the damages assessed and collected from the

owners of dogs.

Estimated value of real estate for 1882:

Farm lands $3,496,625.

Alphabetical lists, 118,475.

Town lots, 1,626,225.

Railroad lands and lots, 78,985.

Total, $5,320,310.

Grand total, $7,782,954.

The pay of county officers is at present as follows: County treasurer's

salary is $1,500, and one-half of one -per cent, of all school funds that pass

through his hands. The county prosecuting attorney receives about $750

per annum., and fees. The county clerk is not allowed to retain upwards
of $1,500, after this term, and his deputy is allowed $750 ^^tr anniini. The

probate judge and county recorder are paid out of fees of the office. The
collector deducts a certain per cent, of his collections for his salary. The

county school commissioner collects $1.50 from each applicant for a cer-

tificate to teach, and receives from the county court about $50 for making
his annual report to the state superintendent of public schools of Missouri.

The circuit clerk, county surveyor, and constables are paid out of fees of

the office. The sheriff' is allowed pay for actual work. The representa-
tive receives $5.00 per diem for seventy days session, after which only

$1.00 per diem. The office of recorder is perhaps, at present, the most

lucrative in the county. The three county judges receive $3.00 ^^r die7n.,

and mileage for actual service.

The citizens of the coimty suffered considerable from legalized plunder

during the interval that the dominant political party kept them from the

polls. So great was the pressure in this and many other counties of the

state, from 1865 to 1872, under the management of the county system, that

the township system was hailed with joy. When the new officers were

elected that year (1873), they made it part of their duty to investigate the

proceedings of the old courts, especial!}- all of its financial transactions, in

order to verify the people's wrongs. Here was a general overhauling and

upturning of the conduct of the past office-holders. The township system
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performed its mission of wiping out frauds and introducing reform and

retrenchment in officers' salaries, and in 1877, the people went back to the

old plan of county organization. The township system did not by any
means prove a iailure or inoperative, but on the contrary, was the greatest

preservative of the people's rights.

Notwithstanding the cry of retrenchment and reform, the levies on

property of all kinds appear to be growing astonishingly high as the

county becomes better developed. Without taxation we cannot have good

public improvements. The people of Pettis county are learning that

money, properly and judiciously appropriated for public purposes, is not

thrown away, but tends in many ways to bring back to them its value

increased many fold.

The levies for the year 1882 are comparatively Hght, when we take into

consideration the great wealth of Pettis county, her superb natural

resources, all estimated to be upwards of $12,000,000. For this year the

levy for state and county purposes is $1.05 on the hundred. The school

levies in the several districts vary from twenty cents to $1.00 on the hun-

dred, and average about forty-five cents on the hundred.

Mr. R. H. Moses, present efficient county collector, collected $150,000

revenue for 1881. This offiee has already become one of immense busi-

ness.

The county poor farm, situated in Flat Creek township, and consists

of fifty acres of land, of about the worth its name gives it. Paupers are

kept here at an expense of $1.35 per week to the count}^

CHAPTER VII.-COURTS AND BAR OF PETTIS COUNTY.

Law—Its Origin and Authority—The Seat of Justice for Pettis County—Early Courts—

Tlieir Authority and Jurisdiction—History of Pettis County Court—History of the Cir-

cuit Court—History of the Criminal Court—History of the Court of Common Pleas

and Probate—List of Circuit Judges from First—Roll of Attorneys since Organization

of County—Present Resident Attorney's Roll—List of Foreign Attorneys-Personal

Mention.

Law.—When " the earth was without form and void, and darkness

was upon the face of the deep, and God said let there be light,"
—that

mandate was the first assertion of Supreme authority, and its execution the

effect of supernatural power exercised in bringing order out of chaos, and

establishing natural laws for the government of the material universe. It

was the supernatural operation of physical force upon material things
—

the creation of a new order of natural tendencies, and in its relation to mat-

ter, the beginning of law on earth. The decree of the Almighty that man

should have dominion over every living thing, delegated judicial powers
and functions to the human race, and the punishment of Adam and Eve
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for disobedience was the exercise of judicial authority by the Creator, and

established a precedent for the guidance of mankind in the enforcement of

law.

The sages and patriarchs of early ages were the law-givers and judges
for their people, but they depended largely upon divine inspiration and

guidance in matters of great moment; and upon their representations of

the will of the Supreme Being, as revealed to them for the government of

mankind, human laws were based, moulded and fashioned. Since Moses

delivered the law engraven on tablets of stone to the children of Israel,

the Ten Commandments have never been improved upon; and to-day the

laws of all civilized nations contain their essence—forbidding what is there

prohibited, and permitting onh^ what is there allowed for man to do.

From analogy, therefore, we may reason, that the just laws of all civilized

nations are of Divine origin
—that their vindication and enforcement is by

Divine authority, and that the judicial tribunal which is uncorrupted by

bribery or uninfluenced by prejudice or passion, as far as human wisdom

can go, represents the will and authority of the Divine Being.
The reign of law, order, peace and prosperity, or violence, bloodshed,

anarch}^ and ruin, are the lessons of history respecting the existence and

enforcement, or the entire absence of Just laws in nations of past ages,

leaving upon every reflecting mind the unpleasant impression, that man is

by nature a rebel and an outlaw, and without the refining influences of

civilization is the most vicious and depraved of all creatures. Civilization

is the fruit of just laws honestly and intelligently administered, and the

moral and intellectual standard of nations and communites may be correct-

ly determined by an investigation of the character of their laws and the

degree of impartiahty and faithfulness with which they are executed.

It is a matter of history, that from time immemorial, lawyers have been

the law-makers of the world, and the sole instruments of legal administra-

tion; and again, reasoning from analogy, the fact is clearly and conclu-

sively established, that the intelligence, culture refinement and moral worth

of every community, are faithfully represented by its courts and bar.

No country in the world possesses a better legal code than the United

States. The legitimate oflspring of the popular will, founded upon prece-

dents and forms of English law antedating the reign of Alfred, and

crowned by the eternal principles of right and equal and exact justice,

they are equal to every emergency, and meet every requirement. There

can be no wrong that they are powerless to right
—so far as human power

can go in that direction, and no grievance that they cannot redress within

the bounds of reason and justice.

To day, whatever may be said to the contrary, Missouri is the peer of

an}' of her sister states in the completeness and wisdom of her laws, and in
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this connection whatever may be said of Missouri appHes with equal force

and appropriateness to Pettis county.
Early Courts.—Owing to the incompleteness of the early records, it is

not possible to give as complete a history of the courts of Pettis county as

we had contemplated, but we have succeeded at the cost of much labor

and money, in obtaining very satisfactory information from old settlers,

and can therefore give such facts as are of primary importance to the legal

fraternity, and of especial interest to the general reader.

The early courts were of the most primitive character, and judicial

procedure in accordance with the simplest forms, unburdened by the com-

plex technicalities of the present day. The proceedings in court trials

partook largely of the character of courts-martial, being arbitrary and

strictl}^ in accordance with both letter and spirit of the law. Jury trials

were conducted according to the simplest forms—the jury, as a matter of

fact, acting merely as a board of arbitration. The court dockets were

not cumbered with long lists of causes, based upon theoretical law points,

for the judges promptly declined to consider causes not strictly within the

bounds of equity. The result was that the business of the courts was

dispatched with rapidity and promptness, and conclusions reached by the

shortest and simplest methods.

The Seat of Justice.—By act of the legislature of Missouri, January
26th, 1833, Pettis county was organized, comprising all the territory

within the present eastern, northern and western boundaries, and extend-

ing south to the middle of the Osage river. The house of James Ramey
at St. Helena, now known as Pin Hook Mills, situated eight miles north

and one mile east of Sedalia, was designated as the place where the courts

should be held, until the tribunal transacting business for the county
should establish a temporary seat of justice.

*

•

The act also created a county court, designated the times of its meeting,
and empowered the governor to appoint temporary judges.

By act of the legislature, December 3d, 1834, the temporary seat of

justice for Pettis county was continued at St. Helena, until the permanent
seat of justice should be selected and established, and Joseph S. Anderson
of Cooper count}^, John Stapp of Lafayette county and John Rucker of

Howard county, appointed commissioners to select a site for permanent
seat of justice.

By authorit}^ of the act above mentioned, the business of the county was
transacted at St. Helena, until 1837, when by act of the legislature George-
town, three miles north of Sedalia, was selected as the permanent seat of

justice for Pettis county, and a large substantial brick building was erected

for the accommodation of the courts and county officials. The frame

work of the building consisted of massive beams of hewn timber framed

together with great care and skill and firmly anchored in the walls.
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Forty-three 3^ears that grand old building stood there,
—

breasting the

storms—unshaken; and the children, who played within the shadow of its

walls had become mothers and fathers, with gray hair and time-furrowed

faces. Forty-three years
—

nearly half a century
—and the men who had laid

its foundation and reared its walls, who had framed its massive timbers

and fashioned such parts into a symmetrical whole, were bowed with age,

or had passed into another life. A generation had been born and had

passed away, and a wilderness had been transformed into a country teem-

ing with human life and energy, and then the walls of that historic temple
ofjustice, that through all these years had looked down upon scenes of

festivity and gloom, of joy and woe, of peace and war; that had echoed

to the tread of armed men and the eloquence of orators pleading for

justice were dismantled and leveled by ruthless hands, and carried away
to Sedalia, to be used in the construction of a stable.

"To what base uses must we all return
•S* •P T* V

Imperial Czar dead and turned to clay,

Might stop a hole to keep the wind away;
O, that the earth which held the world in awe

Should patch a wall to expell the winter flaw."

Georgetown remained the permanent seat of justice for Pettis county
from 1837 to 1865, when by act of the state legislature it was removed

to Sedalia, its present location.

The County Court,—The act of the legislature of Missouri, January

26, 1833, which provided for the organization of Pettis county, and the

establishment of a temporary seat of justice, also created the county court,

and empowered the governor to appoint judges therefor, to serve until

the general election in the county, which was ordered to be held in 1834.

As before mentioned, the place selected temporarily for the transaction of

the business of the county, was St. Helena, and times for holding the

county courts, the third Mondays in February, May, August and Novem-
ber.

In compliance with the above act, the governor appointed James Ramey,
Elijah Taylor, and Wm. A. Miller judges of the county court, and the

first session was held on the third Monday in February following.

Roster of the County Court.—From its organization to the pres-
ent time (1882), including the abov^e named, and the years of service, the

following changes have occurred in the ;perso?inel oi the court:

In 1833 three judges were appointed, viz:

James Ramey, appointed 1833, served until 1838.

Elijah Ta3dor, appointed 1833, served until 1838.

Wm. A. Miller, appointed 1833, served until 1838.

Wm. A. Miller, elected 1838, served until 1842.
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Thomas Wasson, elected 1838, sers^ed until 1842.

James Brown, elected 1838, served until 1842.

Thomas Wasson, elected 184:2, served until 1847.

Wm. Scott, elected 1842, served until 1847.

Henry M. Ruby, elected 1842, served until 1847.

Wm. Scott, elected 1847, served until 1850.

Thomas Wasson, elected 1847, served until 1850.

John S. Brown, elected 1847, served until 1850.

Henry Rains, appointed 1850, served until 1851.

James Walker, elected 1850, served until 1851.

A. M. Forbes, elected 1850, served until 1853.

John S. Brown, elected 1851, served until 1853.

Samuel Dudley, appointed 1851, served until 1854.

Mentor Thomson, appointed 1851, served until 1854.

Hampton P. Gray, elected 1853, served uutil 1854.

Wm. Scott, elected 1853, served until 1854.

A. M. Forbes, elected 1854, served until 1856.

A. M. Cofley, elected 1854, served until 1856.

Wm. Gentry, appointed 1855, served until 1856.

H. C. Gray, elected 1856, served until 1858.

Wm. Gentry, elected 1856, served until 1865.

Thomas Ferguson, elected 1856, served until 1864.

Jacob Yankee, elected 1860, served until 1866.

W. D. Erwin, appointed 1864, served until 1866.

J. W. Beeman, appointed 1864, served until 1866.

A. M. Wright, appointed 1866, served until 1870.

J. W. Beeman, appointed 1866, served until 1870.

E. W. Washburn, appointed 1866, served until 1870.

Allen O. Bannon, appointed 1868, served until 1870.

Thomas W. Phillips, elected 1868, served until 1872.

A. M. Wright, elected 1870, served until 1872.

Charles Richardson, appointed 1872, served until 1873.

*
John M. Sneed, appointed 1873, served until 1875.

f A. H. Codding, appointed 1873, served until 1875.
* O. M. Harris, appointed 1873, served until 1875.

D. H. O'Rear, appointed 1873, served until 1875.

William Boeker, appointed 1873, served until 1875.

V. T. Chilton, appointed 1873, served until 1875

John G. Sloan, appointed 1873, served until 1875.

E. Canadv, appointed 1873, served until 1875.

J. Tannahill, elected 1873, served until 1875.

*Kesigned.

fDeceased.
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fW. C. Gibson, elected 1873, served until 1880.

John Baker, elected 1878, served until 1880.

J. Q. Tannahill, elected 1873, served until 1875.

•J. Q. Tannahill, elected 1878, served until 1880.

John Baker, elected 1878, served until 1880.

The present judges are: Wm. Gentry president, J. W. Purdue, and John

Baker; H. Y. Field, clerk. Times of meeting, first Monday in each month,
The present count}^ officers are: B. H. Ingram, clerk of circuit and

criminal courts; H. Y. Field, county clerk; M. S. Conner, sherift'; R. H.

Moses, collector; J. W. Conner, recorder; G. C. Heard, prosecuting attor-

ney; R. T. Gentry, treasurer; J. W, Walker, assessor; Dr. W. P. Kingj

coroner; John A. Lacey, judge of probate.

Circuit Court.—By act of the legislature of Missouri, February 9th,

1833, Pettis county was placed in the Fifth judicial circuit, consisting of

the counties of Carroll, Clay, Clinton, Ray, Jackson, Layfette and Saline,

but by act of March, 17th, 1835, the legislature created the Sixth judicial

circuit, consisting of the counties of Benton, Barry, Green, Polk, Rives and

Morgan, to which Pettis was also assigned.

The several terms of the circuit court held in Pettis county from its

organization to the present time (1882) were as follows:

First term: St. Helena, July 8th, 1838. John F. Ryland, judge; Aaron

Jenkins, sheriff'; Amos Fristoe, clerk.

List of grand jurors: Henrv Anderson, foreman; Anthony Fisher,

John O'Banon, Middleton Anderson, Athel Woolf, O. L. Q. Brown,
Marion Duran, Levi Odneals, Hugh M. Donehe, Daniel Lynn, George
Kelly, John Brown, Corvin Carpenter, Clinton Young, Alfred Brock,

Henry Small, James Scott, Peter Fisher, Henry Rains, Hiram Scott and

Thomas Martin.

The record state that no bills were found by the grand jury, and the only
business transacted by the court was the case of Wm. Pleald vs. James
Williams, appealed from justice's court. Entr}': "Dismissed at the request
of the parties." The remainder of the business transacted b}^ the court,

consisted merely of the enrollment of James H. Birch and Hon. Henderson

Young (afterwards iudge of that court), as members of the Pettis county
bar. Length of term, one day.
The second term, November 11th, 1833, and third term, March 10th,

1834, were held at St. Helena. Ryland, judge; Jenkins, sheriff, and Fris-

toe, clerk. Lasting one day each, and no important business transacted.

The fourth term, July, 1834, and fifth term, November 10th, 1834, were

held at the same place as above mentioned, lasting two days each. Ryland

judge; Wm. R. Kemp, sheriff'; Fristoe, clerk.

Sixth term, held at St. Helena. Ryland, judge; Kemp, sheriff'; Fristoe,

clerk. Term, one day, March, 1835.
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Seventh term, held at St. Helena, September 17th, 1836. Hon. Charles

H. Allen, judge; Wm. R. Kemp, sheriff; Amos Fristoe, clerk. Term,
two days.

Eighth term, held at St. Helena. Allen, judge; Kemp, sheriff; Fristoe,

clerk. Term, six days.
Ninth term, held at St. Helena, September 15th, 1836. Allen, judge;

Kemp, sheriff; Fristoe, clerk. Term, one day.
Tenth term, held at St. Helena, March, 1837. Hon. John F. Ryland

presented his commission as judge of the Sixth judicial circuit, and Henry
Childs presented his commission as circuit attorney for same. Kemp,
sheriff; Fristoe, clerk. Term, one day.

Eleventh term, held at St. Helena, July, 1837. Ryland, judge; Kemp,
sheriff; Fristoe, clerk. Term, two days.
Twelfth term, held at St. Helena, November 20th, 1837. Ryland,

judge; Kemp, sheriff; Fristoe, clerk.

Thirteenth term, held at Georgetown, March 19th, 1838. Ryland,

judge; Kemp, sheriff; Fristoe, clerk.

Fourteenth term: July 16th, 1838. Ryland, judge; Willis P. ElHs,

sheriff; Amos Fristoe, clerk. Wm. B, Almond presented his commission

as prosecuting attorney of the Sixth circuit, signed by Lillburn W. Boggs,
governor.

Fifteenth term: November 19th, 1838. Ryland, judge; Mason G.

Pemberton, sheriff'; Amos Fristoe, clerk.

Sixteenth term: March 16th, 1839. Ryland, judge; Pemberton, sheriff';

Fristoe, clerk.

Seventeenth term: July 19th, 1839. Ryland, judge; Pemberton, sheriff;

Fristoe, clerk.

Eighteenth term: November 28th, 1839. Officers, same as preceding
term.

Nineteenth term: March 26th, 1810. Officers, same as"; preceding
term.

Twentieth term: July 30th, 1840. Officers, same as preceding court.

Twenty-first term: November 26th, 181:0. Officers, same as preced-

ing court.

Twenty-second term: March 2oth, 1841. R3dand, judge; Pemberton,

sheriff; Fristoe, clerk; H. Young, prosecuting attorney.

Twenty-third term: November 25th, 1841. Officers, same as preced-

ing term.

Twenty-fourth term: March 31st, 1842. Officers, same as preceding
term.

Twenty-fifth term: July 25th, 1842. Ryland, judge; W. P. Ellis, sheriff;

Fristoe, clerk.
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Twenth-sixth term: December 1st, 1842. Ryland, judge; Wm. R.

Kemp, sheriff; Fristoe, clerk

Twenty-seventh term: July 10th, 1843. Foster P. Wrioht, judge;

Kemp, sheriff; Fristoe, clerk.

Twenty-eighth term: December 11th, 1843. Wright, judge; Kemp,
sheriff; Fristoe, clerk.

Twenty-ninth term: April 8th, 1844. Officers, same as preceding
term.

Thirtieth term: October 7th, 1844. Wright, judge; Wm. H. Kille-

brew, sheriff; Fristoe, clerk.

Thirty-first term: April 7th, 1845. Wright, judge; Killebrew, sheriff;

Fristoe, clerk.

Thirty-second term: April 26th, 1846. John F. Ryland, judge; Kille-

brew, sheriff; Fristoe, clerk.

Thirty-third term: December 7th, 1847. Officers, same as preceding
term.

Thirty-fourth term: April 24th, 1848. Ryland, judge; James Kemp,
sheriff^; Fristoe, clerk.

Thirty-fifth term: October 23d, 1848. Officers, same as preceding
term.

Thirty-sixth term: April 28th, 1849. Hon. Henderson Young, judge;

James Kemp, sheriff; Fristoe, clerk.

Thirty-seventh term: July 23d, 1849. Officers, same as preceding
term.

Thirty-eighth term: October 22d, 1849. Officers, same as preceding
term.

Thirty-ninth term: October 21st, 1850. Young, judge; James Kemp,
sheriff'; Fristoe, clerk.

Fortieth term: April 21st, 1851. Officers, same as preceding term.

Forty-first term: October 27th, 1851. Officers same as preceding term.

Forty-second term: April 27th, 1852. Young, judge; Wm. H. Kille-

brew, sherift; Fristoe, clerk.

Forty-third term: November 1st, 1852. Officers same as preceding
term.

Forty-fourth term: May 2d, 1853. Young, judge; Killebrew, sheriff;

Robert R. Stedden, clerk.

Forty-fifth term; October 31st, 1853. Officers same as preceding term.

Forty-sixth term: May 1st, 1854. Officers same as preceding term.

Forty-seventh term: October 30th, 1854. W. F. Wood, judge; Kille-

brew, sherifi'; Stedden, clerk.

Forty-eighth term: May 1st, 1855, Wood, judge; Finis E. Cravens,

sheriff; Robert R. Stedden, clerk.
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Forty-ninth term, October 29th, 1855. Officers same as preceding

term.

Special term : July 22d, 1856: Officers same as preceding term.

The record states that Sheriff Cravens, having reported to Judge
Wood that the county jail was inadequate for the safe keeping of the

large number of criminals confined there, the special term of court was

called in order to bring thtm to trial.

Fiftieth term: October 27th, 1856.

Russell Hicks presented his commission, by appointment, as judge of

the Sixth judicial circuit, signed by Gov. Sterling Price, vice-Wood, re-

signed. The other officers of the court the same as the preceding term.

Fifty-first term: April 27th, 1857. Hicks, judge; Cravens, sheriff;

Stedden, clerk.

Special term: July 20th, 1857. Officers same as preceding term.

Fifty-second term: November 2d, 1857. Hon. Russell Hicks pres-

ents his commission from Gov. H. Jackson, as judge of the Sixth judicial

circuit, by virtue of election. Officers same as preceding court.

November term, 1859. R. G. Smart presents his commission as judge
of the Sixth judicial circuit, signed by Caleb Jackson, governor, and dated

October 30th, 1859.

November term, 1860. Court adjourned to court, in course. After-

wards the following entries appear:

"Pettis circuit court, Monday, April 9th, 1861. His honor. Judge Ps.obt.

T. Smart, not appearing, court stands adjourned until to-morrow

morning."
"Tuesday, April 30th, 1861. His honor, Robt. G. Smart, not appear-

ing, court stands adjourned until to-morrow morning."

"Wednesda}^ May 1st, 1861. His honor, Robt. G. Smart, not appear-

ing, the court, by law, stands adjourned until court in course."

Cases filed in vacation: February 9th, 1861; October 26th, 1861; Jan-

uary 2d, 1862; January 30th, 1862.

April term, 1862: Hon. John S. Tutt, presiding.

Ordered by the court that all members of the bar, jurors and officers of

the court be required to take the oath as prescribed by the state

convention.

Court adjourned to court in course.

November term, 1863: Hon. John S. Tutt, presiding. Court adjourned

November 7th, to court in course. Term, 7 days.

May term, 1864: Hon. John S. Tutt, judge. Adjourned, May 7th, to

court in course. Term, 7 days.

May term, 1865: Judge, Jno. S. Tutt. Term, one day. Court ad-

journed to June 12, 1865.
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June 12, 1865: Judge, Jno. S. Tutt. Court adjourned, June loth, to

court in course.

October 30, 1865: Judge, Jno. S. Tutt, presiding. Court adjourned to

court in course.

January 25, 1869: Hon. Chas. P. Townsley, presiding; Maj. Wm.
Warner, circuit attorney; Bacon Montgomery, clerk; Wm. P. PaiT, sheriff.

Adjourned to court in course.

May term, 1874: Hon. Wm. T. Wood, presents his commission as

judge of the Sixth judicial circuit.

January term, 1881: J. P. Strother presents his commission as judge
of the 6th judicial circuit. Elected to serve from January 1, 1881, to Janu-

ary 1, 1887.

Explanatory.—From the 52d term, November 2, 3857, Hon. Russell

Hicks, presiding. We have not given in detail the various sittings of

court; the proceedings being uninteresting and of no practical value. We
have furnished only an outline of the judicial terms, passing over the or-

dinary court proceedings and mentioning merely the most important
events.

Resolutions of the Bar on the Death of Judge R. Hicks.—Now
at this day comes the committee appointed by the meeting of the bar in

regard to the death of the late Honorable Judge Russell Hicks, and pre-
sent the following resolutions adopted by said meeting; and it is ordered

by the court to be spread upon the records of this court, which is as fol-

lows:

Whereas, Judge Russell Hicks has, since the last adjournment of this

court, been called from his earthly labors, and whereas the deceased had
for a great number of years prior and up to the time of his death occupied
an honorable and exalted position, both at the bar and on the bench of this

judicial circuit; and recognizing in his life, his practice of law, his wise
and impartial administration of justice, while on the bench, an example
worthy of emulation in the younger members of the profession, and

willing as we are to pa}- that tribute of respect, which is due to his great
ability and long and honorable career, therefore, be it

Resolved., by the members of the bar of Pettis county, that in the death
of Judge Hicks the bar of the sixth judicial circuit and of the whole state

of Missouri, have been deprived of a wise counselor, an able and success-

ful practitioner and a man of great genius, and extraordinary mental en-

dowments, and that we owe and all join in heartily acknowledging that

whatever eccentricities of character he may have possessed, he was in the

practice of his profession a man of pre-eminent ability, and of untiring ener-

gy—a lawyer, who, in all the branches of his profession, studied and prac-
ticed the law as the most perfect science; was indefatigable in his labors,

zealous in the cause of his clients, and successful in the highest degree in

his practice.

Resolved., that a copy of these resolutious be presented to the Circuit
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Court of Pettis county, and the court requested to spread the same upon
the records of the court.

/ t at t
( JNO. Montgomery, Jr.,

Committee^ \ O. A. Crandall,
{ L. L. Bridges.

Resolution on the Death of R. P. Garrett.—Now, on this day,
comes N. F. Short, appointed at the meeting of the bar, to present the

resolutions of condolence to the widow and relatives of R. P. Garrett,

deceased, and presents the same to the court.

Thereupon it is ordered by this court that the same be spread upon the

records, which is done as follows:

Whereas, Providence, whose ways are past finding out, has removed
from our number and association our esteemed friend and professional
brother, Richard P. Garrett, in the springtime of a young life and pro-
fessional career, therefore

Resolved., That we deplore his death as the loss of a rising member of

the profession, as a kind and generous friend; a christian gentleman in all

the walks of life, and as a husband and father, whose loss to his inconso-

late wife and child, that cannot be estimated.

Resolved., That we tender to the family of the deceased our sincere

sympathy and condolence, and commend them to the keeping of Him
who doeth all things well, and who tempereth the wind to the shorn
lamb.

Resolved., That the judges of the several courts of record in this county,
be requested to order a copy of these resolutions spread upon the records
of their respective courts.

Resolved., That a copy of these resolutions be presented to the bereaved
widow and parents of the deceased.

Resolved., That a copy of these resolutions be published in the several

city and St. Louis papers.

B. G. WiLKERSON,
W. Y. Pemberton.

Circuit Judges.
—The following is a complete roster of judges who

have presided over Pettis Circuit Court, since the organization in 1833:

Ryland, Jno. F.; July 8th, 1833, to Sepi. 17th, 1835.

Allen, Chas. H.; Sept. 17th, 1835, to March, 1837.

Ryland, Jon. F.; March 1837, to July 10th, 1843.

Wright, Foster P.; July 10,1843, to April 20th, 1845.

Ryland, Jno. F.; April 20th, 1846, to April 23rd, 1849.

Young, Henderson; April 23rd, 1849, to Oct. 30th, 1854.

Wood, Jno. F.; Oct. 30th, 1854, to Oct. 27th, 1856.

Hicks, Russell; Oct. 27th, 1856, to Nov., 1859.

Smart, Robert G.; Nov. 1859.

Tutt, Jno. S.; April 28th, 1862,to Jan. 25th, 1869.

Townsley, Chas. P.; Jan. 25th, 1869, to May 4th, 1874.

Wood, Wm. F.; May 4th, 1874, to Jan. 1st, 1881.

Strother, J. P.; Jan. 1st, 1881, to Jan. 1st, 1887.
6
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Courts of Common Pleas and Probate.—By act of the legislature

of Missouri, March 13th, 1867, the court of common pleas for Pettis

county was established, and R. G. Durham appointed judge of that court

by Gov. Thomas C Fletcher in April following. Judge Durham was an

active, intelligent official, and served very creditably to January 2d, 1869,

and was succeeded b}'- John S. Cochran, who was elected for four years.

By an act of the legislature, March r2th, 1870, the court of common

pleas was invested with original jurisdiction as court of probate, and the

county clerk was made ex-officio clerk of probate.

In 1873, Judge Cochran was succeeded by W. H. H. Hill, but by act of

the legislature, March 8th, 1873, the common plea jurisdiction of the

court was abolished, leaving only probate jurisdiction, and the judge was
made clerk of his own court; all other business was transferred to the

circuit court.

As judge of probate. Judge Hill was succeeded by H. P. Townsley,
who was succeeded, January 1st, 1877, by John A. Lacy, for the term of

four years, under the following circumstances:

In 1876, by authority of a special act of the legislature, certain counties

(including Pettis) elected judges of probate for four instead of two years,

resulting in a change of the time of election of probate judges in those

counties to the middle of the term in all other counties. In order, there-

fore, to establish uniformity in length of term and time of holding elections

for probate judges in all the counties of the state, the legislature, in con-

formity with the new constitution of the state, passed an act making the

tenure of probate judges in Pettis and the other counties in which elections

were held in 1876, as aforesaid,Vz^(9 yearsfo7' one term, beginning January

1st, 1881, and four 3^ears thereafter.

Under the provisions of this act therefore, the election of probate

judge in Pettis county took place, and Judge John A. Lacy was re-elected

to serve from January 1st, 1881, to January 1st, 1883.

The Criminal Court.—The territory within the jurisdiction of the

criminal court comprises Pettis and the other counties composing the

Sixth judicial circuit, and also Johnson county. It was established by act

of the legislature, March 18th, 1875, and in January, LS75, W. H. H. Hill,

of Sedalia, was appointed judge thereof, and under that appointment
served until January, 1877. By election in 1876, Judge Hill was made
his own successor for a term of four years, but died in September, 1880.

Judge Hill was a very competent official and a useful and valued citizen.

He was young, talented and cultured, a faitful student of science, learned

in the law, an indefatigable worker in his profession, of excellent moral

character, and charitable and generous to a fault. His disease was soften-

ing of the brain, occasioned by excessive mental labor, and during the last

months of his illness he was almost entirely helpless. His misfortune was
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deeply regretted by all who knew him, and his sad and untimely death

was mourned by the entire community.

Judge Hill was succeeded as judge of the criminal court, by John E.

Ryland, of Lexington, who was appointed by Gov. Phelps for the unex-

pired term. During his incumbency by appointment, Judge Ryland be-

came very popular with both bar and people, by reason of his pre-eminent

executive ability, his uniform kindness, courtesy, dignified bearing and

just rulings, and by election in 1880 was made his own successor for the

term, beginning January 1, 1881, and ending January 1, 1885.

ATTORNEYS—ENROLLMENT SINCE ORGANIZATION OF THE COUNTY.

Andrews, E. A., enrolled May, 1877. »

Almon, W. B., enrolled March, 1838.

Barrett, A. M., enrolled May, 1853.

Bassett, T. E., enrolled November, 1865.

Bissett, W. F., enrolled July, 1869.

Beatty, J. H., enrolled October, 1870.

Bell, C. H., enrolled January, 1876.

Birch, Jas. H., enrolled July, ]833.

Birch, Thos. C, enrolled March, 1831.

Boyd, Saml., enrolled May, 1860.

Bottsford, Jas. A., enrolled August, 1866.

Bothwell, J. H., enrolled July, 1871.

Bowen, J. T., enrolled January, 1881.

Burk, Edmund, enrolled November, 1858.

Burdett, S. S., enrolled January, 1874.

Bradford,' Lee, enrolled January, 1873.

Bridges, L. L., enrolled January, 1870.

Brown, Jas. H., December, 1872.

Bryant, John, enrolled April, 181:4.

Bryant, J. M., enrolled April, 1814.

Blackford, Jason, enrolled October, 1870.

Carter, Jas. E., enrolled x^ugust, 1866.

Condu, L. D., enrolled February, 1866.

Cochran, Jno. S., enrolled May, 1865.

Cochran, S. H., enrolled May, 1874.

Current, W. H., enrolled September, 1873.

Crandall, O. A., enrolled May, 1865.

Crews, T. W., enrolled April, 1855.

Chilton, Chas., enrolled December, 1842.

Clutter, J. J. W., enrolled April, 1862.

Davis, Tilton, enrolled January, 1861.

Davis, Wm., enrolled April, 1845.
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Davis, Sam'l, enrolled September, 1874.

Dengle, Wm. B., enrolled April, 1848.

Debold, H. M., enrolled May, 1864.

Duber, Adolph, enrolled May, 1873.

Doan, Fletcher M., enrolled May, 1874.

Draffin, J. W., enrolled November, 1853.

Early, T. C, enrolled May, 1877.

English, Jas. L,., enrolled November, 1873.

Ewing, H. C, enrolled January, 1866.

Felix, Jas. D., enrolled May, 1875.

Fisher, Allen D., enrolled September, 1873.-

Finklinburg, Geo. A., enrolled July, 1869.

Fields, Wm. H., enrolled January, 1856.

Fields, Curtis H., enrolled November, 1858.

Firebaugh, Jas. J., enrolled May, 1865.

Ford, Wm. C, enrolled November, 1859,

Foster, W. F., enrolled May, 1876.

Freeman, S. W., enrolled April, 1852.

Fyke, M. A., enrolled January, 1877.

Gauss, Robt., enrolled May, 1874.

Garrett, R. P., enrolled January, 1869.

Gordon, C. M., enrolled August, 1866.

Gray, A., enrolled May, 1873.

Griffin, C. R., enrolled September, 1873.

Glasscock, Jno. M., enrolled April, 1857.

Glasscock, A. A., enrolled March, 1840.

Hall, Wm. A., enrolled April, 1844.

Harrison, C. J., enrolled May, 1874.

Hallowell, Jno. W., enrolled November, 1859.

Hardin, E. R., enrolled November, 1853.

Hardin, C. A., enrolled April, 1858.

Hawley, Chas., enrolled, February, 1867.

Heard, Geo., enrolled September, 1835.

Heard, Jno., enrolled September, 1835.

Heard, Jno. T., enrolled April, 1862.

Heard, G. C, enrolled April, 1871.

Hereford, T. H., enrolled April, 1845.

Henning, Jno. R., enrolled April, 1857.

Hilton, M., enrolled April, 1865.

Houston, F., enrolled July, 1869.

Hutchison, J. L., enrolled November, 1859.

Hutchison, S. H., enrolled April, 1804.

Johnson, W. P., enrolled March, 1867.
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Johnson, J. H., enrolled July, 1871.

Jones, Geo. T., enrolled May, 1878.

Jones, J. L., enrolled May, 1875.

Kidd, Chris. G., enrolled October, 1860.

King, E. L., enrolled July, 1869.

King, Austin, enrolled January, 1870.

Kirby, T. J., enrolled May, 1876.

Land, G. O., enrolled September, 1880.

Lacy, Graham G., enrolled January, 1882.

Lacy, John A., enrolled 1872.

Ladue, Josh,, enrolled July, 1868.

Lamm, Henry, enrolled January, 1872.

Lee, Bradford D., enrolled January, 1873.

Leet, D. M., enrolled March 1867.

Leland, Jno. D., enrolled-November, 1857.

Leighton, Geo. E., enrolled June, 1865.

Levens, H, C, enrolled January, 1882.

Leftwitch, W. M., enrolled April, 1852.

Letcher, Wm. H., enrolled April, 1851.

Lowe, S. A., enrolled May, 1865.

Marvin, A. C, enrolled July, 1843.

Marvin, E. R., enrolled September, 1873.

Majors, Benj., enrolled July, 1843.

Mathews, Stanley, enrolled September, 1876.

Means, Mark, enrolled March, 1843.

Mithers, Henry M., enrolled January, 1879.

Miller, Jno. G., enrolled March, 1838.

Moore, J. W., enrolled June, 1867.

Musser, R. H., enrolled February, 1872.

Muir, Wm. D., enrolled April, 1848.

McComas, H. C, enrolled September, 1873.

McClung, Chas., enrolled May, 1876.

McFeaters, W. S., enrolled January, 1868.

McGirk, Andrew, enrolled March, 1834.

McNutt, Dewitt, enrolled July, 1837.

Napton, Chas. M., enrolled January, 1878.

Obannon, M. W., enrolled April, 1845.

Outwait, J. H., enrolled February, 1868.

Owens, Sam. H., enrolled April, 1866.

Parker, Thos. G., enrolled September, 1874.

Palmer, J. R., enrolled April, 1848.

Patterson, Wm., enrolled July, 1838.

Pierce, J. H., enrolled September, 1874.
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Pierce, Jno. M., enrolled November, 1860.

Pigg, Jno. A., enrolled April, 1848.

Pickett, A. J., enrolled May, 1876.

Pickrell, W. A., enrolled January, 1873.

Powell, Jno. T., enrolled April, 1848.
,

Phillips, Jno. F., enrolled April, 1862.

Quarrels, C. B., enrolled July, 1837.

Ramsey, Lewis, enrolled December, 1843.

Randall, Wm. H. T., enrolled January, 1872.

Ready, Geo. W., enrolled Jul}', 1869.

Ready, Jno. A., enrolled July, 1869.

Redford, W. M., enrolled May, 3 873.

Ruse, Dee, enrolled May, 1865.

Ruse, Richard, enrolled November, 1837.

Robinson, Wm. H., enrolled April, 1848.

Robinson, B. F., enrolled April, 1851.

Richardson, B. R., enrolled January, 1880.

Ryland, Jno. E., enrolled June, 1865.

Sampson. A. J., enrolled May, 1865.

Sampson, F. A., enrolled May, 1858.

Sangree; P. H., enrolled February, 1869.

Scantling, W. H., enrolled September, 1879.

Sinnett, H. C, enrolled October, 1866.

Smith, Geo. R., enrolled March, 1873.

Smith, Irwin B., enrolled September, 1866.

Smith, E. J., enrolled May, 1874.

Smith, J. A., enrolled January, 1870.

Smith, J. S., enrolled January, 1866.

Smith, O. S., enrolled January, 1877.

Smith, David S., enrolled May, 1865.

Sneed, R. C, enrolled January, 1876.

Snoddy, W. W. S., enrolled May, 1865.

Shields, D. P., enrolled Januarv, 1868.

Staftbrd, P. G., enrolled January, 1872.

Steele, R. W., enrolled Januarv, 1872.

Stevens, J. L., enrolled April, 1848.

Steward, Robt., enrolled December, 1843.

Stover, Jno. M., enrolled November, 1865.

Talbot, G. A., enrolled May, 1860.

Terbert, J. W., enrolled May, 1865.

Tompkins, Benj., enrolled January, 1843.

Townsley, C. P., enrolled October, 1860.

Tutt, J. A. S., enrolled April, 1845.



HISTORY OF PETTIS COUNTY. 291

Tuttle, Wilber, enrolled October, 1874,

Thornton, Chas. A., enrolled April, 1848.

Troxell, J. R., enrolled May, 1854.

VanLeaton, M., enrolled September, 1874.

Vest, Geo. G., enrolled November, 1853.

Vose, S. A., enrolled July, 1867.

Wade, W. P., enrolled May, 1871.

Wallace, H. C, enrolled April, 1848.

Wallace, H. H., enrolled October, 1870.

Walker, Wm. M., enrolled October, 1870.

Walker, P. B., enrolled November, 1858.

Walkins, Norman, enrolled January, 1880.

Ward, Abraham, enrolled October, 1848.

Wear, D. W., enrolled April, 1862.

Welsh, Aikman, enrolled November, 1857.

Wilkerson, B. G., enrolled February, 1867.

Williams, E. A., enrolled September, 1872.

Winston, Jas., enrolled July, 1873.

Wright, Foster P., enrolled October, 1851.

Wood, L. T., enrolled January, 1868.

Yearaan, M., enrolled April, 1862.

Young, H., enrolled December, 1845.

Young, Henderson, enrolled July, 1833.

PRESENT RESIDENT ATTORNEYS' ROLL.

Burnett, G. W., Montgomery, John,

Bell, C. H., Phillips, Jno. F.,

Bothwell, J. H., Phillips, Emmet,

Bridges, L. L., Sangree, P. H.,

Crandall, O. A., Sampson, F. A.,

Current, W. H., Scott, A. C,

Durham, R. G., Shaw, V. E.,

Fast, W. A., Shirk, W. S.,

Fisher, A. D., Sinnet, H. C,

Heard, G. C, Sloan, J. G.,

Houston, F., Sloan, Wm. A.,

Hoy, Thos. P., .
Smith, E. J.,

Jackson, G. P. B.,
'^

Sneed, R. C,

Jackson, C. L., Snoddy, W. W.,

Lamin, Henry, Steele, W. D.,

Lucy, J. A., Trumbull, L. M.,

Leet, D. M., Vest, Geo. G.,

Levens, H. C, Vest, Geo. P.,
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Longan, Geo. F., Wikerson, B. G.,

McClung, C. M., Yeater, C. E.

McLean, Jas. S.

STATE BAR ASSOCIATION.

The following are members residing in Sedalia:

Ezra J. Smith, Jno. F. Phillips,

W. S. Shirk, Geo. P. B. Jackson.
The State Bar Association was organized Dec. 29th, 1880.

ROLL OF FOREIGN ATTORNEYS.

A. W. Anthony, Versailles, Missouri.

E. A. Andrews, St. Louis, Missouri.

R. O. Boggers, Harrisonville, Missouri.

Ed. Buskee, California, Missouri.

Isaac W. Boulware, Fulton, Missouri.

D. C. Hunter, Nevada, Missouri.

G. L. Hayes, Brownsville, Missouri.

Thos. Holmes, Cambridge, Missouri.

S. G. Kelley, Knobnoster, Missouri.

G. C. Land, Warrensburg, Missouri.

Jno. F. Merr3'man, St. Louis, Missouri.

B. R. Richardson, ,
Missouri.

R. H. Stephens, St. Louis, Missouri.

F. P. Sebree, Marshall, Missouri.

T. A. Spurlock, ,
Missouri.

H. M. Withers, Kansas City, Missouri.

T. O. Williams, Windsor, Missouri.

W. W. Williams, Boonville, Missouri.

Jno. Osgrove,
M. K. Chapman,

PERSONAL MENTION.

F. A. Sampson.—Admitted to practice in the courts of Pettis county
and state, on examination in 1868; held the office of United States Com-
missioner from 1869 to 1873; commissioned by Gov. Silas B. Wordson as

representative from Missouri to the World's Exposition at Vienna in 1873;

graduated wdth the degree of A. B. in 1865, at the college of the city of

New York; in 1868 received the degree of A. M., and graduated at the

law school of the University of New York in 1868, delivering the class

valedictory.

A.J. Sampson.—Graduate of the Mount Union College, Ohio, class of

1862; admitted to practice in the courts of Pettis county and state in May,
1865; served as city attorney, city registrar, county school commissioner,
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and attorney for the board of education for the 7th congressional district

of Missouri. Afterwards served as attorney general of the state of Colo-

rado, from 1876 to 1878.

John A. Lacy.—Admitted to practice in the courts of Pettis county
and the state in 1872, on license from the supreme court of Virginia;

has held the office of probate judge from January, 1877, six years.

Geo. p. B. Jackson.
—On presentation of his license from the supreme

court of Louisiana, was admitted to practice in the courts of the state in

1871; in 1876 was elected to the office of prosecuting attorney for Pettis

county for a term of two years, and in 1878 re-elected and served with

marked ability and faithfulness.

Henry Lamm.—In January, 1872, he was admitted to practice in

Pettis county and state courts, and served as circuit clerk of Pettis county
in 1873 and 1874. Graduated in the Law Universit}^ of Michigan, class

of 1869; is associated in practice with P. H. Sangree.

Ezra J. Smith.—Admitted to the bar at Osceola, Mo., in 1866, where

he continued in the practice of law for eight years; was enrolled in the

Pettis county bar in 1874, and removed to Sedalia the same year; was a

member of the law firm of Burdette & Smith, of Osceola, from July, 1868,

to June, 1874, and was subsequently associated in practice at SedaHa with

W. S. Shirk; has an extensive practice in the federal and supreme courts,

and in the counties of St. Clair, Cedar, Vernon, Polk, Hickory, Benton,

Henry and Bates.

W. S. Shirk.—Graduated at the Mount Carroll Seminary, in Illinois;

graduate of the law school, Albany, New York, class 1865; admitted to

practice in the supreme court, at Chicago, in 1865, and engaged in the prac-

tice of law at Warsaw, Benton county, Missouri, from 1865 to 1879; was

circuit attorney from 1866 to 1874, and judge from 1874 to 1877 of the 7th

judicial circuit of Missouri; was enrolled as a member of the Pettis county

bar in 1867, and removed to Sedalia in 1879.

P. H. Sangree.—Graduate of the Dickinson Seminarv, Williamsport,

Pennsylvania, and admitted to the bar at Huntingdon, Penns3dvania, in

1867; enrolled in the Pettis count}^ bar in 1869, and served with marked

ability as attorney for the city of Sedalia in 1875, 1876, 1878, and re-

elected in 1882.

John Montgomery, Jr.
—Admitted to the Pettis county bar at the

May term in 1868; deputy circuit clerk in 1862, under S. A. Lowe; assist-

ant general attorney of the Missouri, Kansas & Texas Railway, for Mis-

souri, from January, 1873, to June, 1881; engaged in cases of W. J.

Tucker vs. J. G. Gest, and Poeppers zs. M., K. & T. Railway, which he

carried to the supreme court. Both leading cases in the Missouri Reports.
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Mr. Montgomery is one of the leading railway attorneys in the state, and

has one of the largest and best libraries in the city.

John G. Sloan.—Was admitted to practice in the courts of Missouri

at Sedalia in 1862, on license from the supreme court of Illinois; served as

city justice of Sedalia from 1872 to 1876, and county judge from 1876

to 1878.

H. C. Sinnett.—Graduated at Granville Acadamy, Ohio, and the Deni-

son University in Licking county, Ohio, and also graduated at the Cincin-

nati Law School, class 1861; was admitted to the bar of Pettis county,

January, 1866; is a lawyer of ability and has a general practice.

B. G. WiLKERSoN.—A graduate of Miami University, Oxford, Ohio,
class 1860; was admitted to practice in the courts of Ohio at Columbus,
March term of the supreme court, 1862; was enrolled in the Pettis county
bar at the February term of the circuit court, 1867; appointed attorney for

the city of Sedalia in 1869 and served to 1870; was again appointed city

attorney in 1874, and was appointed county attorney in 1868 and served

in that capacity for five years.

G. C. Heard.—Attended Lebanon Law School, Lebanon, Tennessee;
admitted to the bar in 1871; elected attorney for the city of Sedalia in 1877

and served to 1878, and in 1880 elected county attorney for a term of two

years.

W. H, Current.—A graduate of Munice Academy, Delaware county,

Indiana, of the class of 1862, and state institute, at Indianapolis, class of

1866; he was admitted to the bar of Pettis county in 1872.

George F. Longan.—A graduate of the State University at Columbia,

finishing his course of study there in 1878
;
he studied law and was admitted

to the bar of Pettis county in 1880; in 1881 he served the city of Sedalia

as city attorney.

O. A. Crandall.—Is one of the representative self-made men in the

profession; he received his education in the common schools of the coun-

try; read law under Col. S. J. K. Handy, of Cincinnati, Ohio, for a time,

and finished reading as he could purchase the books necessary; he was
admitted to the bar on examination, by Judge J. A. S. Tutt, of the circuit

court of Pettis county, in May, 1864; in 1870, was admitted to practice in
'

the United States district court on examination by Judge Arnold Krekel,

and shortly afterwards admitted to practice in the United States circuit

court by Judge John F. Dillon.

Robert C. Sneed.—A native of Kentucky, is a graduate of West-

minister College, at Fulton, Calloway county, Missouri, class of 1872; he

read law with Senator George G. Vest, and was admitted to the bar in

Pettis county in 1873, and is enjoying a growing practice.
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Victor E. Shaw.—Ts a native of Pettis county, Missouri; was educated

at Willamette University, at Salem, Oregon, where he graduated in 1878;
in the fall of that year he went to Ann Arbor Law School, Michigan,
where he graduated in 1880, and was admitted to practice in the supreme
court of the state in March, 1880; in Ma}' of the same 3'ear, he was enrolled

as a member of the Pettis county bar.

G. W. Barmett.—Is a native Kentuckian, who came to Missouri in

1856, and was educated at Kirksville Normal School; graduated with the

class of 1870; studied law with Judge Andrew Allison, of Kirksville; was
admitted to the bar at Kirksville on examination by Judge V. Wilson, in

April, 1872; commenced practicing law, April 23, the same year, at Union-

ville, Putnam count}^, Mo., and continued until January 1st, 1881; he was
for six years prosecuting attorney of Putnam count}'; in 1881 he came to

Sedalia and has since followed his profession here.

Clifford L. Jackson.—Was born November 25, 1857; was educated

principally in the schools of Sedalia, and under private instruction; studied

law with his brother, Geo. P. B. Jackson, and was admitted to the bar in

September, 18S0.

supreme court of MISSOURI.

Times of convening, third Tuesdays in April and October. Justices:

Thomas A. Sherwood, Warwick Hough, John E. Henry, Ehiah H.

Morton, Robert D. Ra}-. Court meets at Jefferson City.

Criminal court, Sixth judicial district, and Johnson county: John E.

Ryland, judge. Terms of court, first Mondays in April and November.

Circuit court. Sixth judicial district: John P. Strottler, judge. Terms
commence first Mondays in January, May and September. The follow-

ing rules were adopted governing the court, and as far as practicable, are

adhered to in the criminal court:

I. On first call of a case, if both parties announce ready, it will be

tried; otherwise, at the request of either party, it will be passed. On
second call either party may have the case put at the foot of that day's

docket. On third call, every case must be either disposed of for the term,

or, in the discretion of the court, put at the foot of the entire docket.

II. The roll of attorneys will be called each morning (unless for spec-
ial reason dispensed with) during the first six days of term, for the filing

of papers and making undisputed and proper entries. After the first day
the "Motion and Demurrer Docket" will be called immediately after this

roll-call, for the argument and disposition of motions and demurrers.

III. Attorneys must know that process has been properly served in

time, and have amount ascertained, before asking judgment on undefended

actions of bonds, bills, notes and accounts; otherwise the attorney's name
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will be passed. Judgments in partition and decrees in ex farte equity cases

must be ready for the clerk when judgment or decree is rendered.

IV. Except on the last two days of the term, or other case of emer-

gency, motions or demurrers will not be heard without consent of both

parties, on the day of filing; and any attorney filing a motion or demurrer

shall enter the same in the "Motion and Demurrer Docket," giving the

style and number of the case, the date of filing, and character of the paper

filed, and the names of the attorneys on both sides; and such entry shall

be deemed notice to the opposite party or attorneys. Motions to suppress

depositions are included in this rule; and no objection to any deposition or

part thereof, except to competency or relevancy, will be heard after the

jury is sworn in the cause, or the trial entered upon before the court.

V. The clerk shall make out the docket in the following order, as

near as may be:

1st. Jury cases. 2nd. Uncontested law and equity with contested

equity cases. 3d. Return cases not triable, noting on judge's docket

whether properly served in time.

No more trial cases shall be docketed for any day than may reasonably
be expected to be tried on such day.
To enable the clerk to comply with this rule, attorneys are urged to

notify the clerk in advance to which class their cases belong.
VI. In all trial cases, the issues of law upon the pleadings must be dis-

posed of, and issues of fact completed, before the case is finally called for

trial; but a reply which is only a traverse of the answer, may then, in the

sound discretion of the court, be filed, or otherwise, as may be just.

VII. All issues of fact, including the reply, must be completed at the

answering term, unless, for cause, or by consent, further time be allowed.

Sections 3220 and 3533 of the Revised Statutes will be enforced unless

both parties consent otherwise.

VIII. Issues on pleas in abatement, in attachment suits, are triable at

the return term, unless continued for cause; also issues on garnishment on

execution when process shall have been served fifteen days before term;
and in other cases of garnishment the issues shall be made up at the re-

turn term, where process has been served a like time before term, and

may be tried at said term, unless continued for cause, or to await judgment
in the principal case. But judgment will not be rendered at such term

against any garnishee not served fifteen days before term, except upon

undisputed answer admitting money due or property belonging to de-

fendant.

IX. Interpleas may be filed at or before the return term, and not after,

except by leave of court on terms; but no interpleas shall be filed within

four days of the time set for trial of the principal case, whether that be of

issues on plea in abatement, on the merits, or of issues on garnishment on
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execution; and notice of interplea must be given plaintiff and defendant, or

their attorney, at least four days before day set for such trial.

X. When an answer or reply shall be filed in vacation, pursuant to

leave, and notice thereof given to the opposite party or his attorney, such

part}' or attorney shall reply, demur to, or move to strike out, in response

to the pleading so filed, at least ten days before the succeeding term, giving

notice thereof. A failure to give notice contemplated in this rule, or to

file papers as required by it, may subject the offending party to the costs

of delay or continuance, or furnish ground for striking out such paper, as

may be just.

XI. Each instruction intended for a jury must be written with ink, on

a separate piece of paper, and numbered: and, as far as practicable, be-

fore the evidence is closed. On the finding of a verdict or rendition of a

judgment when finding is by the court, all instructions given, and such of

those refused as the party may desire, shall be collected and filed by the

clerk with the papers in the case. But no instruction not incorporated in

a Bill of Exceptions shall remain on- file after the expiration of the time

for fifing such bill; and in cases where no bill is filed no instructions shall

be preserved by the clerk.

XII. All depositions received in a cause shall be opened and filed, and

endorsed by the clerk with the date of their receipt, and attached to the

papers in the cause, and a minute of the receipt and filing, and name of

witness testifying, entered upon the record.

XIII. Members of the bar will stand when speaking to the court or

jury.

Attorneys are forbidden to repeat the statements of any witness while

examining a witness; and personal controversies between attorneys during

a trial, and comments on testimony in the hearing of the jury, before argu-

ment, are also forbidden. Willful violations of this rule will be punished

as for contempt.
XIV. Agreements and stipulations of parties or attorneys must be in

writing, or assented to in open court, or the}^ will be disregarded.

XV. The sherifi' is required to report to the clerk, on the second

Monda}' before each term, all garnishments served fifteen days before

such term, for entry upon the proper docket: and the sheriff' shall return

and deliver to the clerk, all writs and process, including executions, within

two days after execution of same; and the clerk shall file such process,

with the sheriff's return thereto, with the papers in the cause as required

by law; and shall promptly' enter all executions so returned in the Execu-

tion Docket, with an abstract of the same and of the return of the sheriff;

and this docket will be called as provided by law (section 1103) before the

end of the term.

Adopted February, 1S81.
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United States Courts in Missouri.—Circuit Court, Western Dis-

trict.—Judges: Samuel F. Miller, John F. Dillon and Arnold Krekel.

Meets on third Mondays in April and November, at Jefferson City.

District Court, Western District.—Judge, Arnold Krekel. Court meets

-on lirst Mondays in March and September, at Jtfterson Cit}-, and third

Mondays in Ma}' and October, in Kansas City.

CHAPTER VIII.—RELIGIOUS HISTORY.

"Religion is the chief concern

Of mortals here below;

May we ils great imparlance learn,

Its sovereign virtue know.

The Baptists of Pettis County— Historical Sketches of the Presbyterian Church in Pettis

County—The M E. Church Sauth—The Christian Church or Church of Christ—The

Cumberland Presbysterian Church.

THE BAPTISTS OF PETTIS COUNTY.

In the organization and government of their churclies, the Baptists

difler somewhat from all other religious denominations, and quite

materially from most of thetn. Each church being a purely voluntary
association organized upon what is believed to be a scriptural basis, for the

mutual benefit of its membership, and for the prosecution of the work of

evangelization, the government js congregational, all the members enjoy-

ing equal rights and privileges, and no human authority is recognized as

superior to that of the local church.

The officers recognized, as of divine appointment, are pastors and

deacons. These, while expected to exercise the functions of their respective

offices, are in common with all the other members, subject to the

authority of the church.

To secure united and harmonious action in mission work, and to

promote the general interests of the cause, associations of the church

are formed; but no legislative, or judicial powers are assumed by such

organizations; and only as advisor}^ bodies can they take cognizance of

any of the officers of the individual church. Thus is each church a

republic by itself, subject only to the supreme authorit}' of Christ, its

recognized Head and Lawgiver.
This independence of the churches, and absence of any centralized

power might seem to be an impediment to concerted action, and aggres-
sive work; but the history of the denomination shows it possessed of so

much esfj'it de corj)s, that greater coherence and harmony is manifest

than in other bodies with a more mechanical organization; and, perhaps,
no religious denomination is so little affected by political, or social muta-
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tions, or so readily recovers from the effect of disturbing elements of what-

ever natm^e.

The devotion of Baptists to the doctrines and practices of the denomi-

nation, and the conviction that these doctrines and practices are sustained

and required by the scriptures, not only secures "unity of spirit" among
the membership, but stimulates and sustains that characteristic zeal for

their propogation, which has alwa3'S kept the denomination in the front

rank of the pioneers in missionary enterprise.

True to their history elsewheie, the Baptists were among the first to

enter the State of Missouri—then a part of the territory of Louisiana. In

fact, excepting the Catholics, the first sermon preached west of the Missis-

sippi river was preached by a Baptist, and the first church organized was

a Baptist church.

From "Duncan's History of the Baptists of Missouri," we make the

following extracts:

The first permanent Baptist church organization in Missouri was the

Bethel, in 1806, in Cape Girardeau county, in 1807. The first association

was called Bethel, formed in 1816, in southeast Missouri; the second was
the Missouri, now called St. Louis, in 1817, and the third, the Mt
Pleasant, in 1818.

John Clark, a Baptist in sentiment, was the first, other than Catholic,
to preach west of the great river. He came over to St. Louis county in

1798. Thomas Johnson, a preacher of Georgia, came and preached in

1799; neither of them settled then. Thomas P. Musick was the first resi-

dent Baptist minister in Missouri, in 1804.

These small beginnings here, in 1881 grew into 1,445 churches, 920

ministers, and 89,915 members, and give about $30,000 a year to the sup-

port of missions. They, also, have eleven educational institutions in the

state—one for young men, three for young ladies, and seven for both sexes.

The first Baptist church, and as far as could be ascertained by the

writer, the first church of any denomination organized in Pettis county,

was the Muddy Fork church, situated three or four miles northeast of

Georgetown. It was organized by Elders Jacob Chim and William Jen-

nings, and among the constituent members were: James Anderson, John

O'Bannon, Solomon Reed, Thomas Wasson, and Adam Scott; the date

of its constitution could not be ascertained definitely, but was certainly

prior to the year 1834.

In the year 1837 or 1838 the Walnut Branch church was organized,

about ten miles west of Sedalia, with twelve or fourteen members; its first

pastor being Rev. Martelles Embree.

These churches belonged to what is known as the "Old School" or "Anti-

Mission" Baptists, a division of the denomination that separated fi-om the

main body about about the years 1827 and 1828. In doctrine they are

distinguished from the missionary Baptists by what the latter esteem ultra

views of a limited atonement, and of unconditional election, and reproba-
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tion. In theory and practice, they are opposed to all missionary enterprises,

to Sabbath schools, to an educated ministry, and to stipulated salaries.

While they do not advocate intemperence they claim the same right to

manufacture, sell and use ardent spirits that is accorded to any other

enterprise; and so far as the use is concerned, they "show their faith by
their works."

Only one church of this order, the Walnut Branch, now exists in the

county. The principal preachers in the county have been: Jacob Chism,
Wm. Jennings,

— Wolfe, Martelles Embree, and James Teague.
The first Missionary Baptist church, established in the county, was the

Providence church, situated about three miles southwest of Clifton, or-

ganized April 4, 1842, by Elders A. P. Williams, and J. G. Berkley; the

second was Flat Creek, five miles south of Sraithton, organized Septem-
ber 23, 1846, by Elders J. G. Berkley, and Elias George; the next in or-

der of date, was Bethlehem, seven miles south of Sedalia, June 7, 1851, by
Elder G. W. Sands, and Deacon J. E. Crawford. Following this was

South Fork, in Blackwater township, September, 1855, by Elder G. W.
Sands. At intervals of varying length others have been established, until

there are now in the county seventeen Missionary Baptist churches, with

twelve resident ministers.

The pioneer preachers of the county were, generally, men of sterling

worth, and untiring energy. Some of them were men of considerable

culture, and "mighty in the scriptures." As a class they seem to have

been eminently adapted to the then existing conditions of society. Among
the early settlers were men of strong common sense, and the very condi-

tion of things made them intensely practical in thought and in action.

To influence such minds, and to mold character under such circum-

stances, men were needed, who from the pulpit, and in their associations

with the people, would preach a practical gospel. A people having to do

with the stern realities of frontier life had little time or disposition to in-

terest themselves in the metaphysical speculations of the schools; but in-

stinctively yearned for a religion that impressed them with a sense of its

reality, and that would with its well defined doctrines, and infallible prom-
ises, guide and comfort them in the actualities of this life, while assuring
them of a more perfect life in the world to come.

Among those prominent in pioneer work, may be mentioned, Jesse G.

Berkley, Thornton Rucker, George W. Sands, Elias George, and W. P.

C. Caldwell. Later, came Isaiah Spurgin, Wm. Ferguson, Jonathan Gott,

E. H. Burchfield, and B. T. Thomas. Of the former, all have passed

away, except Elias George. He was a native of Wales, and came to Mis-

souri from Ohio, where he had long been engaged in successful labor, as

an earnest preacher of the gospel. Coming to Missouri he settled in Mor-
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gan county, was pastor of several churches in that county, and labored

extensively and with success in Cooper and Pettis.

He was a man of good native talent, and a very vigorous speaker
—of

a very sanguine temperament, he was very enthusiastic in his devotion to

what he believed to be the right, and as impatient in disappointment. In

the agitation that preceded and led to the civil war, his decided convic-

tions on the questions at issue caused him to encounter such opposition as

led him to feel that he could be more useful where the people were more

generally in sympathy with his views, and he returned to Ohio. After

the war he came again to this state, settling in north Missouri, and is still,

at a very advanced age, preaching the gospel he has loved so long.

J. G. Berkley and Thornton Rucker, neither of them residents of the

county, were missionaries of the Blue River Association, and did effective

service in gathering together the scattering Baptists of the several com-

munities, and sowing the seeds of future harvests.

W. P. C. Caldwell lived in Johnson county, but labored extensively in

Pettis. He was, perhaps, the ablest of the contemporary preachers. A
man of fine personal presence, of liberal culture for the times, with a

strong voice, and great force of character, while perhaps unduly disposed
to be dogmatic, his influence was potent, not only in the conversion of men
to a practical belief in the gospel, but in building up and indoctrinating the

churches. As fellow-laborers, he and Elder George were for several

years intimately associated; and in their personal peculiarities there ap-

peared to be that happy conjunction of characteristics which made them,
as "fellow helpers to the truth," very effective workers in their joint ser-

vices. Both were men of strong convictions, and while happily they had

come to occup}^ separate fields of labor before the crisis came in our civil

strife that rent and distracted communities and even churches, these two

yoke-fellows were very far removed from each other in sentiment.

While Elder George espoused the cause of the Union with all the ardor of

his impulsive Welsh nature, Elder Caldwell gave himself, soul and body,
to the Confederacy.

It can but be a matter of profound satisfaction to the personal friends of

both parties, and to all lovers of the cause they both had served so faith-

fully, that the intimate association of these two stalwarts had been inter-

rupted by circumstances before the unhappy point of diflerence was

reached, and that, having lived and labored together in the strongest
bonds of personal and christian fellowship, they were not fated to meet,

when, under the intense excitement of the times, the political sentiments

so tenaciously grasped by their strong natures could but have interposed
a fatal barrier to their former cordial relations.

It may be as well to state here, that in relation to the causes and conduct

7
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of the war, the Baptists of the county, and of the state, in common with

other denominations, were radically divided; and while, in the state, the

preponderance of sentiment was in sympathy with the south, in the county
the Union feeling was very strong, if not in the ascendency. And not

only was there this opposition in feeling, but members of the same denom-

ination, and sometimes of the same church, as soldiers in the opposing

armies, were arrayed in deadly conflict; but with the close of the war

came a disposition to reassert the principles of the "gospel of peace," and

to restore previously existing fraternal relations.

It is, perhaps, true, that in no denomination was the division more

clearly marked, or the advocacy of the cause more determined, than in

the ranks of the Baptists; and certainly in no other has the return to

peaceable relations been more rapid, or more complete. In the solution of

the vexed problem of "reconstruction," as it met the statesmen and philan-

thropists of our own country, at the close of the war, with its multitudi-

nous applications, and environed with its complicated difficulties, the Bap-
tists of Missouri may be said to have taken the initiative.

While our legislators were wrestling with the problem, and before they
had even succeeded in determining the status of the states once in rebel-

lion,
—while other bodies, civil and religious, were in the confusion of dis-

turbed relations, and vainly seeking a readjustment of rights and privi-

leges, the Baptists of Missouri quietly reconstructed themselves by ignor-

ing all distinctions created by the war, and coming together upon a basis

of a common brotherhood—a consummation made comparatively easy by
their simple form of church policy

—which left no vexed questions of

official status, or rights in church property, to be settled; but which, while

guaranteeing equal rights to all, recognizes the independence of the

churches in the administration of their own affairs; and, calling no man

master, relies, at last, upon what is found to be the stronghold of union:

The love of Christ constraining to a willing devotion to His cause those

who recognize in Him their Only Head and Law Giver.

In the general associations and the district associations of the state, the

missionary and educational work of the Baptists is unified; and in nearly,

if not quite, every church of the state, are to be found representatives of

the opposing sides in the late conflict; but while extremists on both sides

may have sought to hinder the reconciliation, and perpetuate the acri-

mony of the past, with the great body of the Baptists of Missouri there is

a very evident desire to " follow after the things that make for peace,"

and while deploring the fact that political disturbances, leading to aliena-

tion and bitterness of feeling, should have furnished the occasion, they,

nevertheless, point with commendable pride to that part of their history

which gives them position, in the far front, of all reconstructionary organ-

izations, whether civil or religious; and exhibits the power of the religion
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of Christ to overcome, in the heart of a truly converted church member,
the lower passions of our humanity, that ma}^ have gained, for a time,

the ascendency.
Of the preachers before named, as second in the succession of pioneers,

Isaiah Spurcrin and Jonathan Gott, after many years of arduous service,

have gone to their reward.

Elder Spurgin was a native of North Carolina; came to Missouri in

1843, and uniting with the Virginia Grove Church in Lafayette county
served it as pastor for several years. This church was of the " Anti-

mission," or "
Hardshell," but while Elder Spurgin had been, and still

was, connected with that denomination he does not seem to have been in

full accord with them in all of their doctrines and practices, and about the

year 1853 he withdrew from them and united with the Missionary Baptist

Church of South Fork. Here he retained his membership until his

death in 1877, and most of the time was their recognized pastor.

Father Spurgin had not enjoyed the advantages of a liberal educa-

tion, but was noted for his knowledge of the Scriptures. While his read-

ing was by no means confined to the Bible, he for many years had made
it a rule to read it through consecutively once a year. Whether or not it

was a remaining vestige of his Hardshell training, he never required a

compensation for his own services, but did not hesitate to teach the duty
of pastoral support, and was especially importune in urging his people to

the support of missionary work, and was himself a liberal contributor.

Jonathan Gott was born in Kentucky, but began and ended his ministry
in Missouri. During most of his ministerial life he lived on a farm near

Hazel Hill, in Lafayette county, and labored in that and adjoining coun-

ties; a large part of his work being done in Pettis. He was a "self-made

man," but so assiduously had he improved his opportunities, that no one

listening to him preach would have thought that his speech, so fluent,

sometimes really elegant, and almost always correct, was governed by no

theoretical knowledge of the laws of language. His views of Scripture

teaching were quite comprehensive, and his own well-defined ideas were

always so clearly expressed that no one experienced an}' difficulty m
understanding him, and while sometimes quite earnest and demonstrative

in manner, his preaching was never a simple succession of sounds with-

out sense or meaning. To a well-balanced, if not peculiarly strong mind,

were added those qualities of heart that won the confidence and afiection

of all who knew him well, and whatever might be their estimate of him

in other respects, all would unite in pronouncing him "a good man."

As missionary and pastor, as a friend and brother, he will long be kindly

remembered in the Baptist churches and households of Pettis county.
Wm. Ferguson and B. T. Thomas are still residents of the county.

The former, a native of North Carolina, came to this county in 1843.
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Being now in advanced age and delicate health he has retired from

pastoral work, but still loves to preach when duty demands and health

permits.
B. T. Thomas, by birth a Virginian, has for many years lived on a farm

in the south part of the county, and has served as pastor many of the

churches of this and adjoining counties. In some respects his advantages
have been superior to those of most of his fellow workers, he being a

graduate of Georgetown College, Kentucky.
E. H. Burchfield was born in Tennessee, but first joined the chureh

and began to preach in this State. He has never been a resident of this

county, but living near Brownsville, just outside the county limits, a large

part of his labor has been performed within the county. As missionarv

and pastor he has probably traversed it more extensively than any other

one preacher, Hving or dead. As principal, or assistant, he has been

instrumental in organizing many of the churches, and has probably

baptised more members into their fellowship than any other one man.

The early preachers were ably assisted in their labors by prominent

laymen, some of whom still live, and attest their continued devotion to

their cherished principles by word and deed. Among these may be

named, J. E. Crawford, of Bethlehem; M. W. Barnard, of OHve Branch;
brethren Lorelace, and Bohannon, of Providence; Graham and Calvert,

ol Hickory-Point, and McCardy and Whitworth, of County Line.

Among the departed,
"
who, being dead yet speak," were: Agee, of

Dresden; Thomas, of Lamine, and Williams and Petts, of Wake Forest.

While the gospel of Christ is the same in all ages, and its cordial recep-
tion is attended with like results among all people, the manner of its proc-

lamation, and methods made use of to insure its- success, are often quite
varied. The worship of our predecessors, as they were gathered in the

country school house, a private residence, or under a brush arbor, may
have been no more or less spiritual than is the worship of a more fash-

ionably dressed congregation, assembled in a costly edifice, but, at least

in externals, a change is quite apparent, and, it is to be feared, not in all

respects for the better. The primitive simplicity, the unaffected cordialit}-,

and unstinted hospitality, which, as social elements, were such prominent
features of their religious assemblies, are scarcely compensated for in the

refinements and elegancies of modern custom. If, in the absence of the
" culture

"
of the present, there was sometimes manifest a " zeal that was

not according to knowledge," the exuberance of spirits, even the noisy
demonstrations sometimes attendant, may have been no less fruitful of

good than is superior knowledge with no zeal. Some of the earlier

preachers may have been " rude of speech," but there was at least a

rugged simplicity, a transparent candor, that impressed their hearers with

the true selfhood of the men; and while their acquaintance with books
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may have been limited, their deficiency in the learning of the schools was
often more than compensated for by their profound knowledge of human
nature. One thing at least may be said to have been characteristic of these

early workers. They knew their hearers and adapted themselves to their

surroundings. They preached the gospel to those who needed it, and as

they needed it. .

There was so much of the positive in the every day experiences of

those earl}^ settlers that nothing but a positive gospel, proclaimed in posi-

tive manner, would avail to reach and influence them.

The introduction of the logic of scepticism into the pulpit, the substitu-

tion of the gilded negations of infidelity for the incisive doctrines, and

authoritative declarations of revelation, belonging to a more cultivated (?)

age.
In associational work, the Baptist churches of Pettis county have never

been in organic unity. The first churches formed united with the Saline

association, a few later ones joined the Blue-river and Tebo associations.

After the civil war the Sedalia association was organized, and a majority
of the churches of the county became members of it. Recently an effort

has been made to unite all the churches of the count}' in one body, to be

called the Pettis County Association, but, from various causes the move-

ment has not proved a success.

As, however, those district associations are purely voluntary organiza-

tions, with which the individual churches may or may not identify them-

selves, this lack of organic unity among the churches does not effect the

unity of their faith and practice; but in all essential features, the Baptists

of this county are in accord with each other, in harmon}^ with the great

body of the denomination in the state, and in the nation, having
" one

Lord, one faith, and one baptism;" and while sometimes oppressed by

opposition from without, and sometimes annoyed by erratic brethren within,

the denomination, now possessed of a world-wide extension, seeks, as ever,

to maintain " the unity of the spirit in the bonds of peace."
It is with feelings of many obligations due the author of the foregoing

history of "Baptists in Pettis county," that the publishers hereof insert

the following facts relative to his own connection with the blessed cause

of Christ here:

Rev. John Letts was born in Knox county, Ohio, June 11, 1833. He
united with the church when about twentv-two years of age, and a few

years later was ordained to the ministry as pastor of the same church;

and continued to serve it in that capacity until the spring of 1868, when,

having accepted a call to the pastorate of the 1st Baptist Church of Sedalia,

he removed to this city, where he has since resided. After the close of

his pastorate in Sedalia, he spent several years in laboring as an evangel-

ist, and while he has since that time had the pastoral care of several dif-
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ferent churches, he has continued to devote a portion of his time to inde-

pendent missionary work, a species of labor in which he especially delights,

and in which he has enjoyed his largest measure of success. Being pos-
sessed of considerable property he has never been wholly dependent upon
the churches for a support, but has ever been- accustomed to bestowing
labor where it has seemed to be most needed, without being governed by
the consideration of pecuniar}' reward; and in many places of destitution,

and with feeble churches, many of his most earnest and successful efforts

have been put forth. The position of Sedalia as a railroad center gives
him ready access to almost every part of the state, and most of his work
has been in the towns along the lines of the several railroads, and in some

country churches adjacent thereto. The rapid growth of Sedalia and

advance in the value of property has been greatly to his profit, as he owns
a considerable bod}' of land within the city limits, some of which has

already been brought into market for building purposes, and he anticipates

the time in the near future when he shall be still more favorably situated

for the prosecution of his chosen work. He has written a pamphlet of

acknowledged merit, entitled '• Universal Redemption," which was issued

in 1881. His residence is in the southeast portion of the city, where his

intelligent and refined family live in the beauty of love and peace.

HISTORIC SKETCH OF THE PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

From some cause or other Presbyterianism seems not as well adapted
for pioneer work as some other forms of christian organization. Perhaps
this results, among other causes, from the fact that Presbyterians insist

on a thoroughly educated and well furnished clergy, and therefore cannot

command a plentiful supply of preachers as occasion requires from the

work-bench, the farm and the counter. Hence we usually find in most

new countries the field preoccupied by other denominations when Pres-

byterians enter on the work. So far as I have been enabled to discover

the first effective work done to build up Presbyterianism in Pettis county
was by Rev. James Gallaher, who visited the county and held a series of

meetings in Georgetown, the then county seat. These meetings were

attended with good results, and a church, consisting of twelve members,
and connected with the New School General Assembly, was organized in

1843. Quite a number were deeply interested and were expected at no

distant day to unite with and strengthen the little church, but soon after

the meeting closed, the other denominations entered in and appropriated
the fruits of Mr. Gallaher's labors. It seems that this minister lived in the

northeastern portion of the state, and at such a distance that he was able

to pay only one monthly visit to Georgetown, and then was so hurried

that he could hold only a single service. I can find no records of this

church, and have been able to learn ihe names of only ten of the mem-
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bers, viz: John Brown, Joseph Brown, Martha Brown, Mary Brown,

(these were from Kentucky); Mrs. Hoss, Samuel Hoss, her son and

her daughter, afterwards Mrs. Parks, (these were from Tennessee);
William Raney, Margret Raney, his wife, and Sarah M. Raney, daughter,
afterwards Mrs. Rector, (these were from North Carolina).

These efforts of Mr. Gallaher seem to have been followed up with no

systematic work, for I can hear of no preaching after this except an occa-

sional sermon by Rev. David Wear, and Rev. Christopher Bradshaw,
the one a resident of Cooper count}', and the other of Henry county, and

these services were held for the most part in private houses, and gener-

ally at Mrs. Hoss's, the church having no house of worship. This little

church was enabled to accomplish little permanent good, and four of its

members having afterwards joined in an organization in the northern

part of the county, the church gradually became extinct. The only
members now living are: Mr. Samuel Hoss, now of California; Mrs. Parks,

of Jackson county, Mo.; Mrs. Martha Brown, of Saline county, Mo.;
Miss Mary Brown, now Mrs. Rufus Finle}', and Mrs. Sarah Rector, the

three latter being now members of the First Church of Pettis.

The first minister of our church who settled in Pettis county, was Rev.

John Howe, one of Kentucky's pioneer preachers, who removed from

Greenburg, Green county, Ky., and located in the northeastern part of

Pettis county, in 1850, Father Howe seems to have removed to Missouri,

not with any expectation of doing much effective work as a gospel min-

ister, for he was, at the time of his settlement here, more than threescore

and ten years of age, but he desired to spend the remnant of his days

with a dearly cherished daughter, whose husband had, with his family

removed to this state. Mr. Howe was a good deal beyond and above

ordinary preachers, and although aged and recorded on the assembly's

minutes of 1852 as "informed," he did much efficient labor for his Master's

cause in this county, as many who were privileged to hear him preach

testified in after years. Father Howe died in 1857, and the first sermon

I preached on my arrival here was the funeral of that eminent servant of

God, whom I had known well, and had greatly admired and reverenced

before his removal from Kentucky. The mortal remains of that precious

old servant of God lie buried in a small and obscure cemetery on the

north side of, and quite near the old Boonville and Indiana trail, and about

two miles west from Lamine river. He sleeps just as quietly, and his

redeemed spirit reigns and rejoices just as blissfully in the presence of

his adored Lord, as though earth's best marble marked the place of his

interment, and men's loftiest pens chanted his praise.

About the 3^ear 1855 a movement began to be made to locate a number

of families from Kentucky, the larger portion of them in the north part

of Pettis county. They began arriving here, some of them in that year,



308 HISTORY OF PETTIS COUNTY,

and continued conjing for about three years, or until 1858. These fami-

lies will be at once recognized as among the best in the country. The
names of those only containing some Presbyterian members are given,

though quite a number of other families having in them no Presbyterians,

constituted a part of these new settlers. From Louisville, Jefferson

county, came William Field, Esq., John Moore, M. D., his son-in-law, Mr.

Rochester, and Mr, George Lower. From Danville, Boyle county, came

Col. Jariies S. Hopkins, Mr. John R. Ford, Mr. Benjamin Bridges, Capt.

John Sneeds, Hon. John F. Phillips, and Hon. George Vest. From Gar-

rard county, came Mr. Lucretius Baker, and Mr. Quinsey Yantis. From

Springfield, Washington county, came James S. Hughes, M. D., and

Thomas Q. Montgomery, M. D., and from Harrodsburg came N. D.

Woods, Esq. On the third Sabbath in June, 1856, and by order of the

Presbytery of Missouri, Rev. H. M. Painter, then supplying the church

in Boonville, organized "The First Church of Pettis." The church con-

sisted of sixteen members; four of these came from the organization at

Georgetown, the twelve others were Mr. John Motz and wife and ten

from the families above named.- This organization took place at Priest's

Chapel, a Methodist Church on Heath's creek in Pettis county. The

church obtained permission to hold service in this chapel for two Sundays
in the month till they could have time to build a house of worship for

themselves. On the first and second pages of the records of "The First

Church of Pettis," I find this minute: "In October, 1856, the session

opened a correspondence with Rev. John Montgomery, then pastor of the

Presbyterian Church in Harrodsburg, Mercer county, Ky., which event-

uated in his becoming stated supply "to this church," and "he entered on

his labors the fourth Sabbath in October, 1857." As all my time was

engaged for this church, and as yet they had no house of their own, "it

was arranged that Bro. Montgomery preach for the present in the Metho-

dist Church on the first and fourth Sabbaths in each month, and that he

spend the remainder of his time as he can best arrange for the good of

the cause of religion till we can get a house of worship erected." This

arrangement enabled me to do a good deal of evangelistic work through-

out the county. Meantime the work of building a house was vigorously

prosecuted. In eighteen months the house was so far finished as to be

occupied with comfort. Henceforth the congregation held services in

their own house. Thus, in less than two years, they had erected and

paid for a substantial brick church some 60x40 feet and costing from

$4,000 to $5,000. One Sunday in the month was set apart for preaching

to those members living in Georgetown and vicinity, though for the most

part all the people with great regularity attended services at both points;

although they were some ten miles apart and the congregations were

uniformly large. From this period till the civil war the growth of this
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church will be indicated with sufficient clearness by the reports to the

Presbytery from time to time. In the spring of 1859 this church, organ-
ized in 1856 with sixteen members, reported to Lafayette Presbytery 64

members, and they had that year contributed to missions $40, to educa-

tion $25, to church extension $25, to presbyterial fund $5, and to congre-

gational fund $665. In April, 1860, the church is reported as numbering

seventy-seven members and as contributing $1,133 for congregational

purposes. The report for 1861 shows a membership of eighty-seven and

$4,020 for congregational purposes.
This brings the account of this church up to the commencement of the

war, after which there was no further report to Presbytery nor an}- further

meeting of Presbytery to report to. For the next two 3^ears we find only
a half dozen meetings of session recorded, when the following note occurs

in the session book in my own hand- writing: "x\fter this (April 1863),

the church members being much scattered by the war, and it being out of

the power of the pastor to get a meeting of session (there being within

distance to hold intercourse no elders), there was no fuither meeting of

session during the war." In 1864, March 19th, six persons were received

with a session of the pastor and one elder, and in 1865 one member was

received into the church, and the record stands thus: "September 22d,

1865, Mattie Thornton was received into the church and baptized, no

member of the session present but the pastor; nor was there at this time a

single elder in the church." During that dark period very little was

accomplished in church matters. Men seemed almost to have forgotten

that they had souls. The land was full of soldiers, and the conduct of

many under cover of military operations, created a reign of terror and

kept the whole community in a state of confusion and alarm, so that few'

attended public worship; in fact, the churches were for the most part

deserted, and a great many of them, especially in the country, were closed

and the ministers were scattered here and there as they could find safety

and employment. The First church of Pettis, though still maintaining the

preaching of the word, has never recovered from the effects of the war.

To add to the depressing circumstances that surrounded the eongregation
their church building became a mass of ruins during the summer of 1877,

and the debris was sold for what it would bring, that they might have at

least some means to help them, when able, to build another house. From
that time, however, they have had no church building, and have had to

worship where they can get permission to do so. It was during these dai'k

days of war that Rev. Joshua Barbee removed from Kentucky and settled

in this county. Mr. Barbee preached statedly, at points west of Sedalia,

and in Sedalia as occasions presented themselves. Before the arrival of

Brother Barbee I had begun to preach occasional!}- in Sedalia, and as I

still belieye, (though I understand it has been denied), preached the first
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sermon ever delivered in that city. However this may be, it certainly
was the first Presbyterian discourse ever spoken to the people of that

town, and I walked from Georgetown, with Captain Cumings, now of

Kansas City, to preach it, having preached at 11a.m. at thatplace. From
this time onward Brother Barbee and I preached at Sedalia from time to

time as we could find opportunity, till 1864, when I went to Fulton for

twelve months. On my return I found that Brother Barbee had not only
continued to preach in Sedalia, but had also secured a house of worship,
which he had purchased in Syracuse and having removed to Sedalia, I

found him enlarging and otherwise refitting it. This was the first church

building ever erected in Sedalia, and is the house on Lamine and Second,
now occupied by the Old School Presbyterian congregation.

I wrote to Mr. Barbee to furnish me with the facts touching his minis-

terial labors, and especially as to all the facts connected with the erection

of the old church building, when he purchased it, who aided him in the

purchase, etc., etc. In answer a letter was received, which is so charac-

teristic, so full, so clear, and withal, so excellent that I must give it to my
readers just as Brother Barbee wrote it, and I take this liberty without so

much as asking his consent:

March 25th, 1882.

Dear Brother: Your postal was received a day or two ago, and I take

pleasure in complying with your request. To your first inquiry, I came to

Pettis county on the 7th of September, 1862, and remained there for three

years.
2d. The points to which I preached were Dresden, Smithton,

Sedalia, Georgetown and Hansbrough's school house. One Sunday in

each month during the entire time was given to Dresden. I preached at

Smithton two and one-half years; at Hansbrough's school house two years;
at Georgetown, or near there, two years; at Sedalia IS months.

3d. While preaching at Sedalia I purchased the house in which our

people now worship, from a C. P. Prestyterian elder, who lived near

Syracuse, for the sum of i^300. The circumstances were these: A man
in Sedalia claimed to own the house and proposed to sell it to us for $400.
He went with us to Syracuse to see the house. After I had seen the

house and concluded to take it, I called to see and learned from him that

the house belonged to a gentleman in the countr}-. I determined to see

him and walked two miles and a-half, and found then he was two miles

and a half from home chopping wood. I learned also this man who
claimed the house, from Sedalia, had just been there to buy it, and had

gone to the timber to hunt the owner. I started again for the real owner
and found him before the pretended owner in Sedalia bought the house.

On our return to the house we found the man from Sedalia, who had lost

his wa}^ and looking quite mean, with but very little to say. I had the

privilege of preaching him a private sermon on honesty and christian

fairness on our trip back to Sedalia that evening. The house when we
bought it was 36x4.5 in size. After moving it to Sedalia we made it fif-

teen feet longer. The principal parties who aided in the purchase and



HISTORY OF PETTIS COUNTY. 311

building were John Sneed, John Brown, now of Fulton, Brother Myres
and some other gentlemen whose names I have forgotten, and myself

gave $100 each. I think perhaps Mr. Kyle gave $100. A number of

others gave small sums and all the above gave more afterwards.

The Board of Church extension gave us $300. All this was done in

1864-5.
•Ith. During my ministry in Smithton we built a Union Church, of

which one-fourth was deeded to our denomination. We never had an

organization there though we had enough members for an organization.

PresbyterV never met during my stay in Pettis county, and I was not an

ordained minister and of course had no right to receive members into the

church. There were those who wished at times to unite with our church,
some of whom united with the First Church,Pettis, though being fifteen

miles from it, and were received by yourself.
I remember no other facts of much importance. Will be glad to answer

any other questions. Yours fraternally,

Joshua Barbee.

Some other inquiries might have been addressed to Brother Barbee,

but the time allowed for the writing of this paper was about gone. It

may be added here that Brother Barbee removed from Pettis to Saline

county, is at present pastor of the churches of Mount Olive and Pisgah,

and is doing a good work in a very important and large field of labor.

In 1865, I organized the First Presbyterian Church of Sedalia, and
•

preached for it till I was laid aside for nearly two years, from preaching,

by a severe injury. In 1870, I organized the Old School Presbyterian

Church of Sedalia, and preached for it two years, the greater part of the

time riding, as I had before done, to preach to the First Church, from my
home fifteen miles north of Sedalia, to do this work. As these churches

will give their own individual history, I need pursue this branch of the

general subject no farther. Soon after coming to Missouri I began

preaching in Longwood, when I could do so. The circumstances under

which my first sermon there was preached, I shall never forget. Imagine
a rude saw mill with a collection of forty or fifty saw logs, on and over

which were crowded a pretty large collection of men, women and chil-

dren, and before them all, under the broad canopy of heaven, a rather

small, -^nd. quite insignificant freacher, doing all he can to fix the attention

of the assembled crowd, and impress on their minds the solemn reality

and momentous importance of the great truths of God's word, and you
will .have some faint notion of that first Sunday at Longwood. Feeble

and far between as these occasional services were, thank God they were

not wholly in vain; for on Saturday, September 25th, 1869, a "committee

consisting of John Montgomery and Joshua Barbee" met the people at

Longwood and organized a church there of nineteen members. To this

church I preached, as I was able, until 1876, when it had increased to

sixty-seven members, and all these except six had been received on pro-
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fession of their faith in Christ, and out of them only one had been sus-

pended for unchristian conduct. This church has been supplied since

that time b}' Rev. J. V. Worshem and Rev. W. G. F. Wallace, and is at

present supplied, as is also the First Church of Pettis, and the church

at Lamonte, by Rev. B. T. Lacy, D. D. About the year 1867, 1 organ-
ized the church at Lamonte, supplied at present by Rev. B. T. Lacy, as

stated above, and to whom I must refer you for the history of that church,
as also for the present condition and prospects of the other portions of his

field in Pettis county. John Montgomery.

The M. E. Church (South).
—As the history of other churches will

be given, it is considered unnecessary to say anything about the labors,

privations, self-denial, religious zeal, and heaven attesting consecration to

duties of the christian religion and the promulgation of gospel truth. The
name Methodist is synonymous with all that is noble in Christianity, all

that is attainable in christian life, all that is pure and refining in the

character of man, all that appropriates the promises of God, and by
faith enjoys the realities of a living faith, a cheering, and compre-
hensive love, that "

hopeth all things, that endureth all things, that

is long-suft'ering and kind." Hence, wherever you find a genuine

Methodist, you find an humble follower of the meek and lowly Savior.

Their abiding faith in the promises of God is the incentive to action, .

and hence the arduous labors, the heroic self-denial, and the almost

unparalleled success of the pioneer Methodist of America. In vindica-

tion of the above eulogistic remarks, we propose to give a brief history
•of the M. E. Church South in Pettis county. As is well known this history

begins with the action of the General Conference of ISi-i, and as abler

pens have been consecrated to this work, nothing of the kind will be at-

tempted here.

The history of the M. E. Church South then properly begins with this

•date.

184-1.—The first quarterly conference of the Georgetown circuit, the

Boonville district, was held at the residence of the late Rev. W. B. Left-

wick, on the 26th day of December, 1844, the Rev. Jesse Green, presid-

ing elder, James L. Porter, pastor. The following official members com-

posed this first official meeting, and completed the organization of the

Georgetown circuit, viz: James L. Porter, pastor; W. B. Leftwich, L.

E.; B. C. Howard, L. P.; Samuel M. Ayres, L. P.; Francis Martin, ex-

horter; Henry Rains, class leader; John Rucker, C. L.; Thomas Kemp,
C. L.; Jesse Green, president, and L. M. Ayres, secretary.

To illustrate the abundant labors of the pioneer Methodist ministers, we

give the following list of appointments for monthly preaching on the

Georgetown circuit, viz: Priest's Chapel, (the first church house
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erected by the M. E. Church in the present limits of Pettis,) of Smiley's

school house, 3rd Joplin's, -ith Leftwich's, 5th Edward's, 6th Wells; 7th

Covey's, 8th Warrensburg, 9th Rucker's, 10th Craghead's. The mem-

bership at this time numbered about 200. The church paid this year for

ministerial support, $130; for Sabbath schools, ijJS.OO; for missions, $8.00.

1845.—^Jesse Green continues P. E., and J. L. Porter, pastor, or preacher
in charge of the circuit. During this year a financial plan was matured and

adopted by the Missouri conference, and consequently the finances of the

church improved during this year.

1846.—The record for 1846 has by some unknown cause been omitted.

1847.—J. R. Bennett, P.E., Rev. Jesse Green, having passed from labor

to rest, leaving a brilliant record as a minister, and a christian.

The names of R. F. Lee and J. N. Pollard appear on the record of

this year as local preachers.
A building committee was appointed to superintend the erection of a

church house for the use and benefit of the M. E. Church South. W. H.

Anderson, Thomas Pace and Z. T. Davis were appointed said com-

mittee.

The name of R. F. Colburn appears in the latter part of this year as

pastor.

During this year the Rev. W. B. Leftwich presented to the church a house

of worship built upon his own ground and at his own expense, known as

Northfield, for which the church expressed due gratitude. Two Sabbath

schools are reported in successful operation. One at Smiley's school

house, the other at Priest's Chapel.
1848.—J. R. Bennet, P. E., W. T. Cardwell, pastor. During this year

the church house known as Priest's Chapel became so dilapidated by age,

that it was pronounced untenable, and a committee appointed to superin-

tend the erection of a new house. They were: Wm. Turley, Wm. Kemp,
G. S. Priest. The pastor, W. T. Cardwell, like the star of empire, went

westward and located in Oregon. The church paid this year for min-

isterial support $350.

1849.—D. S. Capell, P. E., J. C. Derrick, pastor. Soon after entering

upon his work. Brother Derrick, being attracted or influenced by the

rumors of gold in California, left the work and went in search of gold, and

his subsequent history is unknown to us.

John Atherton succeeded to the pastorate. The church having been

blessed of the Lord, and enjoying a season of prosperity, the number of

monthly appointments for monthly preaching was now increased to six-

teen.

1850.—J. A. Henning, P. E., and John McCluncy, P. C. The names

of W. B. Leftwich, J. N. Pollard, B. I. Porter, G. S. Priest, J. M. Gray,
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S. G. Pettis, H. Y. Elbert, appear as official members at the first quarterly

conference. These were all pillars in the church.

1851.—James Mitchell, P. E., J. C. Thompson, P. C. During the year
of gold excitement, the church was financially poor, but seems to have

been rich toward God, and to have sustained with christian heroism all the

institutions of the church. Bro. J. C. Thompson was feeble in health,

remained on the circuit a few months, unable for service, when he retired,

and his place was filled by the Rev. T. J. McLaughlin. A new church

edifice was this year erected, and known as Priest's Chapel. To the labor

and financial aid of Bro. Priest the church was indebted for the erection of

this house, who will long be held in grateful esteem by his brethren for his

devotion to his God and the church.

1852.—J. Mitchell, P. E., J. N. W. Springer, preacher in charge. This

was a year of much prosperity to the church, and the followers of the

Lord Jesus wera much encouraged.
The church contributed $400 to ministerial support. During this year

W. M. Leftwich was licensed to preach the gospel; was subsequently
admitted to the itinerancy, and is now the celebrated Dr. Leftwich of

Nashville, Tennessee, and a member of the general conference now, May
15, 1882, in session. From this time forward the church continued in

great prosperity until the civil war interrupted its relations, and for a time

seriously hindered its progress.
In the ferment of political excitement they never, in a single instance,

stooped from the lofty theme of salvation to defile the glorious her-

alds of the Cross of Christ by the introduction of those politico-religious

harangues which characterized so many of the pulpits of the land; but

Christ and Him crucified was the theme of the ministers of the M. E.

Church South, and future historians will bear testimon}^ to the zeal and

faithfulness of the ministers who never stooped from the sacred dignity of

their calling to gratify the prejudices of party or personal interest.

In 1858 a spacious church edifice was erected in what was and is known
as the Porter neighborhood. The edifice was of brick, sixty by forty

feet. The cost of the construction, $5,000. Those who contributed largely
to this enterprize, were B. I. Porter, B. C. Porter, Rev. J. N. Pollard,

Rev. E. K. Porter, Henry Hunter, and W. H. Powell, who was not a

member of the church, but to whose liberality the church owes many
obligations. This edifice recently became so dilapidated as to necessitate

a new house, and through the zeal and enterprise of the Rev. John Conk-

wright, one of the faithful veterans of the church, the old house was

pulled down, and a smaller, but neat and substantial building was recentl}'

erected in its stead.

In 1862 the relations of the church were seriously interrupted by the

civil war. Our people were denominated rebels, and suft'ered man^^ indig-
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nites from those who esteemed themselves as political enemies. During
this critical period the ministers continued faithful to their calling, and

still continued to break the bread of life to their flocks as opportunity

afforded. Finally they were prohibited by the Drake constitution from

preaching the Gospel of the Son of God without first subscribing to what

was denominated the iron-clad oath of the Drake constitution. This they

could not do, but continued to proclaim the word of life and salvation

without the formalit}' of a text. Of those who thus continued faithful the

Revs. John Conkwright and Josiah McCary were prosecuted as viola-

tors of the law, but the decision of the court, declaring this constitutional

clause in conflict with the organic law of the nation, put a quietus to tliese

persecutions, and great was the joy of the church.

Among those who preached the gospel here during these troublous

times may be mentioned the names of Josiah Godbey, who is indeed a pil-

lar in the church; John Conkwright, E. K. Porter, S. S. Colburn, W. C.

Godbey, etc.

After the close of the war the church was reorganized, and renewed

their vows of consecration to the God who had so mercifully chastised

and preserved them, and entered as it were anew upon the duties of the

christian life, fully convinced of the futility of all temporal things, and fully

persuaded that "all things work together for good to them that love God."

The first minister sent to this circuit by ecclesiastical authority after the

war was the Rev. John D. Wood, a young man who was converted in

the great revival that accomplished such glorious results among the sol-

diers of the Confederate arm}/. At this time Sedalia, having grown up

by the force of circumstances, and also having become the most impor-

tant point in this part of the state, the name of the circuit was changed
to that of Sedalia, and to the list of those before enumerated, that faith-

fully upheld the banner of the cross here, may be added the name of W.
R. Anderson, a faithful christian minister, the father of the faithful, who

long since entered into rest,
" but who, though dead, still speaketh."

"Blessed are the dead who who die in the Lord." From this nucleus, so little

auspicious at its resurrection, the church has been gloriously blessed of

the Lord, and to-day it is a host on the Lord's side in Pettis county.

Instead of the one church edifice in the limits of Pettis county, they now

have church houses dedicated to the worship of the God whom they love

as follows, viz: Salem, Wharton's Chapel, an interest at Longwood,
house at Hughesville, at Houstonia, at Blackwater Chapel, at Lamonte, at

Eldorado; also, at New Bethel, on upper Flat Creek, an interest in Union

house in Smithton, a house in course of construction on Flat Creek, in the

Pin Oak neighborhood, and a magnificent edifice in the city of Sedalia, be-

sides several local societies, which worship by courtesy in school houses,

and in the houses of other denominations, such as Dresden, Hopewell,
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etc. Thus it is seen that the Lord has owned and blessed the labors of the

Southern Methodist Church, and that through their influence, strengthened

bv divine grace, the church still bears aloft the banner of the cross, and

the mighty host that thus marches on in the pilgrimage of life, under the

blood-stained banner of King Em.manuel, still labor in hope of the resur-

rection of the just.

This brief epitome is not at all too dignified as a history of the church

in Pettis county, but a reminiscence given to the publishers by request,

that the world may know that the Lord has such a people here, and that

they, like Moses of old, still labor in the vineyard of the Master, having

respect to the recompense of the reward.

THE CHRISTIAN CHURCH,

or Church of Christ, belongs to a religious body which came into exis-

tence about the first of the present century. It had its origin in a desire

to unite all religious persons of the various denominations into one body
or organization, having the Bible as its only guide in religious matters;

wearing only such names as those by which the-New Testament desig-

nates the church of Christ; submitting as tests to baptism and church

fellowship simply a public declaration of faith in Jesus as the Christ, the

Son of God. The leaders of this movement, to restore simple apostolic

faith and practice, believed that division among the disciples of Christ

was wrong, and that human names and creeds, and confessions of faith

and rules of discipHne, tended to promote divisions and to destroy the

peace and prosperity of the cause. They also believed the union of all

disciples of Christ upon the word of God was practicable. Their work

was twofold: while striving to unite all of God's people, they sought to

restore the Bible to its proper place, and to be guided in all things by it

alone.- Nor has the eftbrt been unsuccessful; the body now numbers

more than half a million. Two of the greatest men of the present century

have been notably identified with it, namely: Alexander Campbell and

James A. Garfield. Its present membership has been received largely

from the Baptist, Methodist, Presbyterian, and other denominations.

The Church of Christ in Pettis county was first started in Georgetown
about 1836, which was then the county seat. The first meetings were

held in 'the court house, where an organization was soon effected. Several

very successful meetings were held there by Dr. W. H. Hopson, and also

by Allen Wright and others. Besides these preachers, Moses Faris, John

Dejarnett, Geo. W. Langan, Jacob Creath, ,
and Elder Donan, were

among the more prominent preachers who labored to start the church in

the county.
At an early day Elder J. W. McGarvey held a debate at Georgetown

with a prominent Universalist, which well nigh destroyed that doctrine in
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the county. The next congregation organized after the one at George-
town was Old Union, on Heath's creek, which soon became a strong and

influential church. The house in which it worshipped still stands, but is

dilapidated and deserted of its worshippers, who still
" have a name to

live but are dead;" internal dissension having destroyed their peace and

prosperity.
The next congregation organized in the county was about six miles

west of where Sedalia now stands, in Hampton P. Gray's neighborhood.

It, too, has ceased to exist, but many of its members have united with the

congregations which have since been organized. Prominent among the

families which were connected with the church in the county in the early

days of its establishment, were those of Gen.G. R. Smith, Mentor Tomson,
Geo. Heard, A. McVey, Mrs. Clifton Wood, Abner Clopton, Amos Fris-

toe, John S. Jones, Chas. A. Jones, Ben. R. Majors and Mrs. J. W.

Gentry. The church now has congregations in the county at the follow-

ing points: Sedalia, Smithton, Hughesville, Houstonia, Dresden, Lamonte,

Greenridge ; also, one near the last, called Eldorado, and the remnant of

one called Old Union, on Heath's creek, and also another weak remnant

called Liberty, south of Sedalia about six miles. These congregations

have an aggregate membership of seven hundred and fifty. They own

seven and a half houses of worship; most oi them meet every Lord's day
for Sunday school and worship. The following preachers are now labor-

ing in the county: J. H. Duncan, at Sedalia; Geo. Plattenburg, at Dres-

den and Houstonia; W. P. Dorsey, at Smithton; S. K. Hallam, at Green-

ridge, and Elder Mathews, at Eldorado. R. W. Gentry, who resides

near Sedalia, is also a prominent preacher of this church.

The churches of the county are engaged in co-operative missionary

work in the county, under the direction of a county board, of which J. H.

Duncan, is chairman, and J. N. Dalby is secretary, and W. W. Herold is

treasurer. The church at Green Ridge has been established through the

co-operation of the other churches in the county, and the next annual

meeting will be held there in August.

CUMBERLAND PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

The Cumberland Presbyterian Church is indigenous to this soil. Her

ministers were among the first to cioss the Father of Waters and

cause the wilderness and the solitary place to be glad for them, and the

desert to rejoice and blossom as the rose.

One of the three men, Rev. Finis Ewing, who organized the Cumber-

land Presbyterian Church in Dickson county, Tennessee, February 4,

1810, moved to Missouri in a very early day and settled in an adjoining

county. Subsequently to this he operated very largely in Pettis count}^

8
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That our readers may clearly understand what this church is we give
some of her leading theological positions and some points wherein she

differs from other Presbyterians.
Her theology is commonly known as medhim theology

—is so called

because it occupies a medium ground between Calvinism and Armenian-

ism, as the following brief summary will show:

1. Election—Calvinism teaches that election is unconditional. Armen-
ianism that there is no election. Medium theology that election is condi-

tional.

2. Salvation—Calvinism teaches that salvation is unconditional to sin-

ners, but certain to Christians. Armenianism that it is conditional to sin-

ners, but uncertain to Christians. Medium theology that it is conditional

to sinners, but certain to Christians.

3. Date of Election—Calvinism teaches that election was before man
was created. Armenianism that it is not prior to death, if then. Medium

theology at the moment of regeneration.

4. Extent of the Atonement. Calvinism teaches that the atonement is

for the elect only. Armenianism that it is for all, but certain to none.

Medium theology that it is for all and certain to the regenerated.
5. Perseverance of the Saints—Calvinism teaches that it depends

principall}^ upon the immutability of the decree of unconditional election.

Armenianism that it depends principally upon good works. Medium

theology that it depends upon the love of God, the merits of Christ, the

abiding of the Spirit and the covenant of grace. These are some of the

leading differences between the Cumberland Presbyterian Church and

other Presbyterians. The data is not at hand from which to compile a full

and complete history in the earliest settling of the county.

Many of the emigrants to this county were from Kentucky and Ten-

nessee, and when the}' came to their new homes they left behind them

strong petitions for preachers of their own faith. These petitions were

not unheeded, but in due time a number of God-fearing men came to this

new empire to plant the standard of the Cross under the auspices of the

Cumberland Presbyterian Church.

Rev. Green P. Rice came to St. Louis in 1817 and preached in the

then small French village. His course was westward. Revs. R. D.

Morrow and Robert Sloan were also among the first ministers who oper-
ated in Pettis county.

In 1827 and 1828 Rev. J. T. A. Henderson, now residing in Sedalia,

preached at the house of Reuben Gentry, the father of the older members
of that family.

The present Cumberland Presbyterian churches of Pettis county are

the following: The First Church of the City of Sedalia, of which Rev.

A. H. Stephens is pastor; Prairie Chapel, four miles north of Dresden,
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Rev. G. W. Mathis, pastor; Greenridge, Rev. Caleb Weedin, pastor;

Stony Point, near Smithton; Heath's Creek, Rev. James Martin, pastor.

This church has been aggressive from the first, and is well qualified to

occupy a territory made up of a cosmopolitan element like this.

She stands a unit on the subject of politics, and has always been so.

At no time during the war did political prejudice wound her ecclesiastical

bod3^ Her churches are found fi-om Pennsylvania to Texas and ft-om the

Atlantic to the Pacific. Her medium ground on the subject of theology

places her in a favorable position to command the approbation of the

unprejudiced mind.

Her corner stone lies in the doctrine of the Bible that Christ died for

all men, and that the regenerated \^\\\JinaIly be saved.

The zeal that characterized the fathers has been transmitted to the sons,

and thus the work continues.

She was among the first to join hands with her sister denominations

and go into the highways and hedges and the lanes and streets and com-

pel them to come in. Among the first to come into this new country and
" mash down the weeds and pull up the stumps." One of the immediate

works that the church has under way now^ is raising an endowment of

$100,000 for a college to be situated somewhere in Central Missouri.

Sedalia seems the natural location for such an institution of learning, and

should she arouse to a proper appreciation of her opportunities her pros-

pects for securing the location are most flattering in every way.

CHAPTER IX.—EDUCATIONAL HISTORY.

Introduction—Early Schools in Pettis County—Metliods of Different Ages—Interest in

Schools—The State School Fund—First Teachers—Georgetown Schools—School

Commissioners—Law of 1665-1875—Reform Period 1875-1882—Superintendency—
Teachers' Institutes—Normal School—History of Institutes and Proceedings

—County
School Officers from 1868-1882—The Future Outlook of Pettis County.

Bacon said, "Histories make men wise; poets, witty; the mathematics,

subtile; natural philosophy, deep; morals, grave; logic and rhetoric, able to

contend." Education in its most comprehensive sense, includes the devel-

opment of the physical, mental and moral faculties of the individual.

Hosea Ballou has said, "Education commences at the mother's knee, and

every word spoken within the hearsay of little children, tends towards the

formation of character."

The people of Pettis county should feel proud of their progress in edu-

cation. The pride they have taken in the cause of common schools, from

the time they were taught in log cabins, in 1833, to the present day of

handsome school buildings and other educational advantages, has been on
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the increase. The progress of education here is only a minature produc-

tion of what has actually taken place among civilized nations. Of recent

years new modes of mental culture have placed within the reach of the

teacher, new and better materials which have aided him in securing bet-

ter results.

The primary object of educating children is not that they may escape

labor thereby, but that they may labor more intelligently. Children

should be taught that employmeni leads to happinness; indolence to

misery; and that all trades and professions, whereby an honest livelihood

is maintained, are honorable. Right living is the end to be achieved, and

it is the workers that do the most good in the world. The man who con-

stantly and intelligently thinks is above temptation. The women who

honorably labor in the diflferent trades are to be preferred and honored

above those who sit with folded hands. It is education that makes duty

more apparent, lessens toil, and sweetens life. It is by true education

that the moral responsibilities of the human family are better understood.

The more education the better the Christian.

Methods are now pursued in the school room. The child's capacity

is better understood now than in pioneer days. The rod is laid aside.

Children no longer are forced under the lash or gag to order or erudition.

Fretful and cruel teachers will soon give place for those who love chil-

dren, and again will mankind draw nearer to God through the influence

of the law of love. In this age due attention is paid to h\'giene of the

school room. Houses are better ventilated than formerly. Since the

introduction of the "automatic" school desks there" need be no more disa-

greeable seating in our school houses. The inventor of this new desk

will have a reward in the numbers of healthy men and women, who in*

this generation, as children, are comfortably seated in many of our best

schools.

New and better studies have been added to the course of study in our

common schools within the last decade. Now the child is taught to

apply what he learns, directing his course of study in the line of his men-

tal activity, cultivating the good, and restraining the evil propensities.

The time was, not far back, when only a limited knowledge of reading,

writing and arithmetic were taught in the common schools. The highest

aim of the youth of the common schools in the pioneer days of Pettis

county, was to write a fair hand, spell orally, and solve mathematical puz-

zles. This age is moving in a better educational sphere. The change

came gradually. It was a long struggle of ignorance against education,

in which the latter is crowned the victor. But few teachers cling to the

old theory. Little by little they are growing away from the old system.

A few teachers, those who do not improve, are yet votaries at the shrine

of their idols.
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"Too weak the sacred shrine to guard,"

they must soon yield to the new education and enter the conflict against

error and for a better intellectual life.

In this struggle for better methods, opinions covered with honors have

been marched off the stage of human action and supplanted by facts and

principles, which haVe cost years of toil to discover, and more years to

establish. To the close student and observer this theory is onl}' new in

its application of our schools. It is the normal or natural method. This

is the theory of education that antedates all others. The ancients taught

by objects, when but few of the most wealthy tnen of that day could afford

books. In fact, text-book theory is a new thing to the world. The first

teachers of the world taught orally; they were independent of text-books.

To this excellent method has been added the written method. Then it

was principally by the observation of objects that pupils received instruc-

tion. Bv placing the object before the pupils the teacher could easily

reach their mind by his lectures. In this age blackboards, spelling tablets,

slates, charts, and other school apparatus is in general use in our best

schools. In schools of to-day, it is from the printed page through the eya

a mental picture is formed, which children draw upon paper or boards

from the ends of their fingers. Well qualified teachers do not think of tak-

ing a text-book to their recitations—imitating the ancient normal methods.

In order to meet the demand for better quahfied teachers, normal training

schools have been established in this and other states. The teachers'

institute is also an outgrowth of the demand for better quahfied teachers.

Now true education is found to be the drawing and developing of that

which the child already possesses, instead of the old crowding theory of

pioneer days The educated teacher of this age has complete living in

view as the end to be attained in this life and a happy eternity in the

unseen world.

In a county there is probably no question which so directly interests the

people as that of teachers—of teachers of known and tried ability. In the

early settlement of Pettis county almost anyone could teach. That time,

with all of its rude school appliances, has rolled away. The claims of

to-day can no longer be met by appliances of even a decade ago, for

experience is beginning to show that teaching, like every other depart-

ment of human thought and activity, must change with the onward move-

ments of society, or fall in the rear of civilization and become an obstacle

to improvement. The educational problem of to-day is to obtain useful

knowledge
—to secure the practical part of education before the orna-

mental, and that in the shortest time. An intellectual Ufe of the highest

culture is what is called for in a free countr}^ like ours. An intelligent

man is better quahfied for any of the duties of life than an uneducated

person. This is an admitted fact. In truth, a free nation's safety is
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wrapped in the intelligence of its people. Only an educated people can

long sustain a free republic; therefore it is the duty of the state to educate,

that her free institutions may stand through all ages as sacred and endeared

institutions of the people.

As education made strides westward, the wild man, the savage ruffian,

their common weapons, the scalping knife of the Indian, and the bowie-

knife and pistols of the ruffians, gave way to the peaceful influence of cul-

ture and refinement.

Education sweetens and hedges in the family circle, and drives away
frivolity and gossip from a community, protecting the members from the

inroads of vice and immorality. It is the strong bulwark of education

that binds this nation of upwards of 50,000,000 of people together for

advancement that she may shine, in the near future, the brightest star in

the constellation of governments. Rapid strides have been made in educa-

tion within the last half century. However, the field of improvement is yet

boundless, and the work of education must still go on and make perhaps

greater changes than those from the time when,—
"The sacred seer with scientific truth,

In Grecian temples taught the attentive youth,
With ceaseless change, how restless atoms pass
From life to life, a transmigrating mass,"

to that of to-day, when men's thoughts are directed to the investigation of

what they see around them.

Missouri is one of the leading states of the American Union in the cause

of popular education. No state has taken deeper interest in the educa-

tion of her youth than the State of Missouri. The constitutions of 1820,

1865 and 1875, all make this subject one of the first importance, and guard
the public school funds with zealous care, while the constitution of no

state contains more liberal provisions for popular education than the con-

stitution of Missouri, adopted in 1875. Not a sentiment inimical to schools

can be found in any of her statute books for more than threescore years
of her existence. No political party has been in the ascendency in all her

history which has arrayed itself against free schools, and her governors,
from 1821: to the present time (1882), have been earnest advocates of a

broad and liberal school system. In 1839 she established a general school

law, and in 1853 she dedicated one-fourth of her revenue annually to the

maintenance of free schools. Her people have taxed themselves as freely

as the people of any state, and much more liberally than the people of a

majority of the states. The State of Missouri levies a tax of five cents on

the $100.00, and permits a local tax of forty cents without a vote of the

people, or sixty-five cents in the country districts and $1.00 in cities and

towns by a majority vote of the tax payers voting. Missouri has more

school houses to her population than Massachusetts. The amount she
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expends annually for public education is nearly double the rate on the

assessed valuation of that expended by the latter state on her valuation
;

while the public school funds of Missouri exceed those of Massachusetts

$5,405,127.09. It must be remembered that Massachusetts is classed as

one of the leading states in all reforms, being the only one of the original

thirteen that did not tolerate negro slavery.

The following, as taken from the 31st annual report of the state super-

intendent of public schools of Missouri, shows the amount of the perma-
nent productive public school funds of the state:

State school funds, $3,031,887.74; township school funds, ^1^1,950,732.89;

county school funds, $3,968,185.08; total amount school funds, $8,950,-

805.71, being ahead of any state in the Union. State fund to be increased

by
" net proceeds of all sales of lands and other property and et^ects that

may accrue to the state by escheat from unclaimed dividends and distri-

butive shares of the estates of deceased persons," etc.; township funds,

by sales of school lands, county funds, by net proceeds of sales of estrays;

clear proceeds of penalties and forfeitures and fines collected for breaches

of penal and military laws; also moneys paid for exemption from military

duty. "State fund," in the above, includes university fund, except value of

agricultural college lands; unsold school lands not estimated,

Pettis county has taken a deep interest in education. The very first

teachers of this county were men of abilit}-. George Heard, Esq., taught

the first school in the count}-, and Mr. Milton Thompson was the next

teacher. The first schools were taught in log cabins and such other rude

structures as those times could aftbrd. The poet has said:

"God sends his teachers unto every age,

To every clime and every race of men,
With revQ\iii\on& fitted to their growth,
And shape of mind, nor gives the realm of truth,

Into the selfish rule of one sole race."

The cause of education is coeval with the county's settlement, and con-

tinuous with its growth and development. The duty to educate was a

germ planted in the hearts of the pioneer settlers, and was so nurtured and

fostered, that it grew from its embryonic state, at first orphan-like, with-

out any house of its own, to what we see around us in the form of more

than one hundred and twenty buildings where children receive learning.

The early education of Pettis county was very limited indeed. At first a

few private schools were started in the settlements by subscription, which

grew, as the demand for schools increased to what we see around us

to-day in magnificent costly public school buildings with well paid and

skilled teachers. The pioneer teacher lived upon a meager salary and

taught his school in a log cabin, without windows, except the chink
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holes. In such rude school houses many of the parents and grand-par-
ents of the present generation took their first lessons of school life.

In the year 1833, (January 26th) the governor was authorized by the

senate and house of representatives to appoint three suitable persons
to form a system of common school instruction, as nearly uniform as pos-

sible, throughout the state, and to report at the next meeting of the leg-

islature. The reader is reminded that this is the date of the organization
of Pettis county. She certainly came in under a happy star. Only a few

other sections of Missouri had at this time breathed the spirit of public

schools. It is true that St. Louis had organized a board of trustees

according to an act of the territorial legislature, which was approved

January 30, 1816, but was not incorporated by law under the title of "St.

Louis Pubhc Schools," till Februarv 13, 1833.

As will be noticed elsewhere, the office of school trustees and school

commissioners was filled by appointments from the county court. Some
of the first school officers of Pettis count}^ took deep interest in the wel-

fare of the public schools.

At a session of the county court, November 7, 1853, A. A. Glasscock,

Esq., was appointed commissioner of common schools and required to

give a bond of $1,500, with good security, for the faithful performance of

the duties of his office. Mr. Samuel A. Lowe was commissioner of the

school lands at an early day in the history of common schools of Pettis

county.
The first school districts contained a whole congressional township, and

it was common for boys and girls to walk three or more miles through
the woods or wild grasses, in the pioneer days of this county. Washing-
ton district (November 6, 1838), was the first organized school district of

the county. W. I. Westerfield, Oswald Kidd and Willis P. Ellis were

the trustees. The following year (1839) Christian district was organized,
and Thomas Brooks, Jesse Pemberton, and Geo. W. Glass were the

trustees. These school districts are more elaborately noticed under the

head of organization.
In 1841 an academy was established, under the statute, at Georgetown,

which was quite successful. In 1847 Campbell College was incorporated
in the same town, and this was followed by establishing, in 1860, George-
town Female School by Anthony Haynes, now of Boonville. Good
schools were maintained here for several years.

Prof. A. N. Neal established the Georgetown Academy for both sexes

in 1865, and continued at its head till 1870, when he was elected county

superintendent. This was one of the best private schools in Pettis county.

About 150 students were in attendance. Many of our prominent young
citizens and business men were students under Prof Neal.

October 3, 1865, Thos. E. Bassett, clerk of the county court, was ap-
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pointed county school commissioner, and was continued in office till, under

the new constitution, a count}* superintendent was elected.

From 1865 to 1875 may be counted a decade of unprecedented prosperi-

ty for popular education and public schools in Pettis county. At the close

of this decade began an era of retrenchment, cutting down salaries and

discontinuing the office of not a few officials of that period. With reform

in view men are liable to go on extremes. With all the good the new
school law of 1865 had done for the people, there were instances in which
it was administered by knaves and men whose hearts were guilty of em-
bezzlement of the school moneys from the children of the county. The
strikers for reform at the session of the General Assembly of Missouri, m
1874, destroyed the office of county superintendent of public schools, sub-

stituting a nominal office, filled ver}^ often by incompetent men*, styled

county school commissioners. This was not aimed as a blow against the

schools; however, much injury has been the result of this experience of so-

called reform.

Strictly speaking of the efficient work of the county superintendency

during the years 1866-1874, which was what the times demanded to

arouse a deeper interest in the cause of education, it had its enemies

as well as its friends. The schools in the country and a few towns, have
not done so well in porportion as under a superintendent. School

boards and teachers are embarrassed and lukewarm without some one to

lead. In fact the great army of teachers and schools officers of any county
should have a captain, whose business it is to look after the drill of those

under him. It is now well recognized that a system of public schools

needs some responsible head to direct its course. This is found in the

highest school officer—the county superintendent of public schools—
a name dear to every lover of education. The very nature of his task

and the duties of his office imply that he is a man of large experience in

the school room. It is an office indispensable to the successful operations
of the free school system. Experience has taught that the people of the

west should select school officers for their fitness, regardless of political

ties or church relations. Here prejudice has often run high, even to the

over-shadowing of an office-seeker's qualities. To insure efficiency in the

office, men of sterling worth, tried in school room methods and able to

direct, should be elected, the choice being unanimous, and made with a

view to the highest good of the patrons of the schools, and future welfare

of the children. Indeed, the candidate should be a scholar, a christian of

the hightest type, who loves the free schools and the children's interests

as he loves himself.

This county can boast of but few professional teachers. Many teach as

a stepping to some other more lucrative avocation. One thing may be

said for Pettis countv, which shoxv's tlie interest of her teachers over her
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sister county, Johnson, which lies under the shadow of a normal school,

and that is she has never tailed in sustaining county institutes. This coun-

ty has good, live, whole-souled workers in the institute. In the teacher's

profession, like many others, Pettis county offers a place for those who
are competent with honor and usefulness. The public schools of Sedalia

are the very best. The course is thorough, fitting boys and girls for prac-

tical life. This county denounces pretenders in teaching, and those who

complain and are not alive to the grand opportunities of the school room

and their profession.

The county court of Pettis county, September 5, 1870, made efforts to

secure the state normal school, then soon to be established. At a special

session the 8th of the following month, the county court thought perhaps

they might secure the location of the school if they would give the $50,-

000.00 instead of $75,000.00, which they proposed at the last session, and

on the 7th of November, the court confirmed and approved this measure.

At this time, E. W. Washburn was president of the county court.

Accordingly, an election was held the 29th of this month, authorizing the

county court to issue $50,000.00 bonds, which resulted in a vote of 914

for and 318 against, carried by more than two-thirds in favor of the prop-
osition.- On the 6th of December following. Gen. Geo. R. Smith was

appointed for the county on normal schools, and allowed $500.00 for law-

yer's fees in case he needed it. Through fraud, men of Warrensburg,

Johnson county, secured the state normal school for the second normal

district of Missouri. However, before Pettis county would give it up, a

lawsuit ensued and the matter was taken to the supreme court of the state,

and on January 2, 1872, Pettis county court ordered the suit withdrawn,

and on the 8th of the following month Gen. Smith was relieved of duties

as agent for the county on normal schools.

Herewith is appended a brief sketch of the institutes from their

incipiency, with proceedings and names of members, to the year 1882:

In response to a call by A. J. Sampson for the organization of a teach-

ers' institute, a number of teachers and citizens met at the court house at

11 o'clock A. M., May 13, 1869.

The meeting was called to order by County Superintendent A. J.

Sampson. After prayer by Rev. E. T. Brown, the following officers

were elected, to-wit: A.J. Sampson, as chairman; B. F. Curnett, secre-

tary; Mrs. M. J. Tucker, treasurer; and A. J. Sampson, G. W. Ready
and T. J. Barton, executive committee. Held two days' session.

RESOLUTIONS ADOPTED.

Whereas, Our legislature has made it the duty of all public school

teachers to become members of the teachers' institute in order the bet-

ter to fit themselves to meet the responsibilities of instruction of the youth;
and,
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Whereas, Teachers' institutes in other states have proved potent
means in elevating the standard of education, be it,

Resolved, That the county superintendent of public schools, be

requested to notify all teachers of public schools in the county that attend-

ance at the next semi-annual session of the institute will be requested, and
that a failure to comply without a reasonable excuse will forfeit their cer-

tificate.

Resolved, That we regard the "Journal of Education," published by
J. B. Merwin, 70S Chestnut street, St. Louis, Mo., as a powerful auxiliary
in the promotion of the educational interests of the west, and in order that

its sphere of usefulness be extended, we earnestly recommend that all

teachers, school directors and other friends of education become subscrib-

ers.

Resolved, That the thanks of the institute are tendered Maj. Merwin,
editor of the "Journal of Education," for his valuable and efficient services

during the institute.

Resolved, That the thanks of the institute are tendered the pastor of

the Congregational Church for the use of the house for lectures.

Resolved, That the thanks of the institute are tendered the board of

education of Sedalia, for the use of the school buildings during the insti-

tute.

Resolved, That a vote of thanks be tendered Capt. A. J. Sampson,
county superintendent of public schools, for his successful efforts in organ-

izing and conducting this institute, and for the able and instructive address

be requested for publication in the Sedalia papers and the "Journal of

Education."

Resolved, That the proceedings of this institute be published in the

Sedalia papers, and the "Journal of Education."

The following are the names of the members enrolled, to-wit :

Geo. W. Ready, W. S. Deardoff, B. F. Curnett, Wm. M. Barnhill, Jas.

M. Caster, Joseph Kingsley, Geo. O. Brown, G. M. Colbert, M. V. B.

Shattuck, A. J. Sampson, J. C. McCoy, T. J. Barton, J. M. Bigley,

Edward Brown, Robert Reese, Wm. Hoffman, John Malone, William E.

Strong, W. W. Snoddy, L. L. Bridges, J. M. Siglin, W. B. O'Bannon,

Geo. W. Campbell, MUton Parish, Eva Griffon, S. J. Joplin, Mrs. W. J.

Tucker, P. E. Sampson, E. Davidson, O. L. Ball, Mary A. Kidd, Mrs. L.

Harrison, Mrs. M. A. Amies, Clara Kells, Julia Kells, J. B. Merwin,

J. B. Brooks, M. Cotton, A. A. Neal, C. R. Griffon, J. R. Haviland,

M. A. Nicholes, J. C. Grimes, T. M. Walker, T.J. Love, J. M. Bell, S. S.

Evans, Geo. Rice, Henry Lamm, Sue Thompson, Miss S. J. Maltby,
M. E. Grossbeck, Sallie Young,Thos. J. Gill, J. M. Duvall, J. M. Carter,

M. C. Crawford, Mary Simons, Wm, Hansberger, Fannie Bard, Fannie

C. Rothbon, Olivia J. Branham, Mary Ramey, Mrs. C. G. Delamater,

Etta A. Phillips, O. G. Cooper, Prof. G. Beard, Miss O. Borrick, J. D.

Brown, Alpheus Moore, Jas. Vangasken, Ewing Summers, J. S. Snead,

S. M. Jackson, Mary A. Smith, Mary S. Thomas, N. E. Wilier, Martha
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Woods, E. M. x\mery, Wm. Cunninjrham, Chas. H. Hewit, Maud
Zimmerman and John Osborne.

Institutes met as follows: Nov. 6, 1869, and continued four days; May
3,1870, three days; Nov. 9, 1870, three days; May 9, 1871, four days;
Oct. 24, 1871, four days; Nov. 14, 1872, two days; Nov. 5, 1873, four

days; Oct. 22, 1877, three days; Aug. 28, 1878, three days; Aug. 29,

1879, three days; Aug. 24, 1880, three days; Dec. 29, 1881, tw^o days.

SCHOOL COMMISSIONERS AND SUPERINTENDENTS.

A. J. Sampson, elected superintendent in 1808; A. A. Neal, elected

superintendent in 1870; Prof. Westlake, elected superintendent in 1872;

W. F. Hansberger, elected commissioner in 1875; Joseph Kingsley,
elected commissioner in 1877; J. B. Van Petten, elected commissioner in

1879; R. M. Scotten, elected commissioner in 1S81.

SCHOOL commissioner's REPORT TO STATE SUPERINTENDENT FOR 1880

AND 1881:

Number of white children between six and twenty years of age: Male,

4,012; female, 3,960. Total, 7,972.

Number colored children between six and twenty years of age: Male,

414; female, 478. Total, 892.

Number of white scholars attending school during year: Male, 2,995;

female, 2,817. Total, 5,812.

Number of colored scholars attending school during year: Male, 241;

female, 294. Total, 535.

Total number days' attendance of all scholars, 578,414.

Average number days' attendance of each scholar, 77.

Number days school taught: Summer, 2,915; winter, 9,725. Total,

12,640.

Average number scholars attending each day: Summer, 1,117; win-

ter, 3,767. Total, 4,B84.

Number of teachers employed in the county during year: Male, 80;

female, 83. Total, 163.

Average salaries of teachers per month: Male, $36.90; female, $36.70.

General average, $36.80.

Number of school houses in the county, 116.

Number of buildings rented for school purposes, 4.

Number of white schools in operation in the count}^, 100.

Number of colored schools in operation m the county, 20.

Value of school property in county, $ 84,006.00.

Assessed valuation of county, 6,438,181.00.

Amount at beginning school year, 22,634.49.

Amount rec'd ior tuition and other sources 627.50.

Amount rec'd of public fund, (state, county and tp., .... 10,041.74.
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Amount realized from taxation 42,600.67.

Amount paid for teachers' wages 33,226.20.

Amount paid for fuel 1,959.23.

Amount paid for rents and repairs 9,618.93.

Amount paid for incidentals and apparatus 6,253.65.

Amount paid for erecting school houses and purchas-

ing sites 1,463.55.

Amount paid in defraying past indebtedness 2,253.05.

Amount paid as salaries of district clerks 337.00.

Amount of unexpended school funds at close of year. . . 20,840.65.

For the year 1880, Pettis county enumerated white children, between

six and twenty years of age; male, 3,944, female, 3,813, total 7,757; of the

colored children for the same year, male, 423, female, 456, total, 879,

making a grand total of 8,636 school children of the county. For the

beginning of the year (April, 1880), the county had the following funds:

Cash on hands, 1^22,559.76; received from State, $5,892.56; county, $1,-

601.43; township, $2,223.54; district tax, $33,526.58; other sources, $3,-

297.26; total receipts, $(59,101.23; total expenditures, $46,416.40; amount

on hand at close of year $22,684.83. For that year (1880) the total

attendance of all the pupils amounted to 802,920 days, and each pupil

averaged eighty da3^s, four school months. This great degree of non-

attendance on the part of pupils in the public schools, indicates a lack of

interest by the patrons of the schools. Out of the 8,636 children of school

age, 6,692 were enrolled in the schools, leaving 1,944 out of the public

schools. Perhaps one-third of this number attend private schools, leav-

ing 1,276 children without instruction. During that year (1880) there

were 136 teachers emplo3'ed at an average salary of $40 per month. The

average salaries were: for the males, $45 per month, and the females, $35

per month. The cost of tuition per day of each pupil was six cents, and

the rate levied in the count}' to support the schools was sixty-five cents on

the $100. The value of public school property for 1880 amounted to

$115,000.
Besides the public schools of the county, Sedalia has two academies, a

telegraph institute, and a commercial school, which are extensively noticed

under the head of Sedalia schools.

The duties of the clerk of each district are to keep a correct record of

the meetings, to contract with teachers, file teachers' certificates, compel
teachers to make a complete report of their term of school, giving the

time, wages, number scholars, ages, and attendance, with such other

statistics as the board mav require. The commissioner is elected in the

spring at the same time as the directors (first Tuesday in April) of the

•odd years. He issues teachers' certificates of two classes. The " second
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class
" embraces orthography, reading, penmanship, arithmetic, English

grammar, modern geography. United States history, and civil govern-

ment, good for a term of one year. A certificate of the "
first-class

"

includes all the above with the addition of the natural sciences and physi-

olog}^, and may be issued for a terin of two years. The commissioner

does but little in a public capacity except examine teachers and grant cer-

tificates, for which he receives $1.50 for each applicant, and $40.00 for

making an annual statistical report to the state superintendent.

The future prospects of education in Pettis have a very encouraging
outlook. The county already ranks among the foremost of the state in

educational matters. Better teachers are coming to the front, and at no

very distant day Pettis county will have better school facilities.

CHAPTER X.—THE MEDICAL PROFESSION.

The following pages of this chapter contain a sketch of physicians who,

having practiced some time in Pettis county, have since deceased; also a

short professional sketch of the present resident physicians, from whom
the facts could be obtained. Dr. John W. Trader, of Sedalia, kindly

arrancred the facts he could collect in relation to those who have died.

A letter was sent to each physician in Pettis county requesting facts about

his professional career, and those who responded are noticed herein.

In making this necrological report of the physicians of Pettis county,

we have been compelled to rely mainly upon the information furnished by
old settlers, and especially upon that furnished by Major Wm. Gentry,

who has been familliar, and personally acquainted, with all these families.

These reports are necessarily brief, as nothing is attempted beyond an

effort to preserve the history of those persons who, in many instances, are

important factors in the first settlement of our county.

Dr. Christian E. Bidstrap, a native of Denmark, settled near George-

town, Pettis county, Mo., in the year 1833, on the fiirm known as the

Craven's place; practiced medicine some six or eight years; died near

Clifton, at his brother's. The doctor was never married, andh as no rela-

tives in the county at present.

Dr. Moses A. Ferris was a surgeon in the volunteer forces from

Kentucky in the war of 1812; removed from Georgetown, Ky., and set-

tled in Pettis county near, Longwood, in the year 1833 or 1834, on what

was then known as the Baker farm. The doctor was a representative

man; in addition to practicing medicine, he preached to the early settlers,

and married the 3'oung folks; he being what was then known as a

Reformed preacher. The first blooded cattle brought to Pettis county
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were imported by Dr. Ferris. The doctor practiced medicine some ten or

twelve years in this vicinity, and died suddenly, while out hunting, by
what was supposed to have been apoplexy; none of the family, except
the widow of the eldest son, residing at Longwood, are residents of the

county.

Dr. William J. Westfield settled in Georgetown in the yesiv 1834

or '35, from Kentucky. The doctor was what is generally known by the

early settlers as a " root and yarb doctor." The doctor cultivated his own
medical plants, and had quite a garden of herbs from which he supplied
his armomentorium as occasion required. He left no family in the county,
and no positive evidence of when and where he died.

Dr. Wilkins Watkins was born in Virginia in the year 1809, and set-

tled in Georgetown, Missouri, in the year 1838. The doctor represented this

county in the legislature in the year 1S45 or '46, and was register of lands

at one time, at Clinton, Missouri. He moved to Salem, Oregon, in 1863, and

returned and settled in Sedaha, Missouri, in 1867, where he died December 6,

1872. He leaves a wife and daughter who are now living in Sedalia, and

two grand children, residing at Ft. Scott, Kansas.

Dr. Thomas Evans was born in Washington City, D. C, October

27,1805; educated at "Columbia College," D. C, graduating in both

literary and medical departments. Came to Missouri in 1832, and moved to

Pettis county in 1840, and located on the eastern border of the county on a

farm which he improved himself, where he lived and practiced medicine

until he sold his farm and located in the town of Smithton in the year

1872, where he resided until his death, which occurred on the 10th of

September, 1874. The remains are buried at the Smithton cemetery.
Dr. Evans was no ordinary man. Deeply imbued with the greatness of

his calling, he never, by word or deed, lowered the standard of his profes-

sion. His reputation extended over Cooper, Saline, Pettis, Morgan and

Benton counties, and for thirty odd years he served this people with a

fidelity that will not soon be forgotten. The doctor never held a public

office. He leaves three sons resident of this county, two of whom, Drs.

E. C. and W. H. Evans, are leading physicians of Sedalia, Mo.

Dr. Edward Spedden settled in Georgetown in the year of 1841 or

'42; was born and raised on the eastern shore of Maryland. Died in

Georgetown about the year 1856. Dr. Spedden was an eminent physi-

cian, and of more than ordinary acquirements; was charitable to the poor,

and modest and retired in his deportment. The doctor was twice married;

had six children by his first, and one son by his last wife. None of the

family live in Pettis county at present.

Dr. Moss came to Georgetown, from one of the New England
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States, about the j-ear 1840 or '42. He was what is generally known by
"
Thompsonian." He first settled near where Longwood now is; was

married to a Miss McGill, of Heath's Creek, and moved from Pettis

county in the year 1856 or '57, and died somewhere in the Indian Territory

during the year of 1879.

Dr. J.
K. McKabe settled in Georgetown in the year 1846, from

Pittsylvania county, Va. Married a Miss McBride, of North Missouri,

in 1850, where he died in the year 1851. Nothing further is known of

the family.

Dr. WiLLiAiM TuRLEY was born in Cooper county, and settled in Pettis

county, near Thornleigh, in 1854 or '55. Dr. Turley raised a company
and was mustered into the Seventh Cavalry M. S. M., Col. J. F. Philips

commanding, in the year 1862. The doctor accidentally shot himself fatally,

while dismounting, soon after. Quite a large family of children remain,

some still residents of the county.

Drs. Thornton & Lowry settled in Georgetown at an early day,
about 1844 or '45. They practiced medicine together, but left in 1854,

and both soon after died. Nothing further is known of their history.

Dr. Benjamin Franklin Hughes was born in Cooper count}-. Mo.,

near Pilot Grove, Nov. 20, 1830; graduated at the Mo. Med. College,

(McDowel's) in the year 1855, at which time he came to Pettis county,
and settled in Georgetown, engaging in the practice of his profession. At

the breaking out of the late civil war he was commissioned surgeon in

the Federal Army, which post he filled until elected as a delegate from

this district to the convention to form what is known as the Drake Con-

stitution of Missouri. The doctor, after the close of the war, resumed the

practice of his profession in Sedalia, Mo., where he died August 26, 1879,

and is buried in the Georgetown cemetery. Two brothers, three sisters,

and five children survive him and are residents of the county.

Dr. Thomas Johnson Montgomery, born in Danville, Boyle county

Kentuck}', August 9, 1812. Moved to Pettis county in the year 1858, and

settled near Longwood, Missouri. Afterward moved to Georgetown. In

1864 he was oppointed surgeon of the Seventh Cavalry M. S. M., and in

1865 assumed the duties of medical director, central district of Mis-

souri, until the close of the war. The same year he settled in Sedalia,

and resumed the practice of his profession. The doctor was twice mar-

ried. Three sons and three daughters survive him, and are residents of

the county. His widow also resides in Sedalia. Dr. Montgomery was

an extraordinary man. Endowed with a fine mind by nature, he had, by

industry and an indomitable will, overcome all obstacles and towered as a

9
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Nestor amono- the members of his profession; was f^ranted an ad eiindcni

from the Starlino; Medical College in 1S55, and a life honor was conferred

upon him by the St. Louis Medical College in 185S. He tilled many-

places of honor and trust among men. He died in Sedalia, Missouri,

May 17, 1877, and was buried in the Sedalia cemetery, with church and

Masonic honors.

Dr. William A. Mayfield moved Irom Kentucky, and settled in

Sedalia, Missouri, in the year J 806, where he li\ed and practiced his pro-
fession up to the time of his death. The doctor was eminent in his pro-

fession, and during the war served on the medical statl' of the United

States army, and had charge of United States hospitals at various places

in Kentuckv. The doctor was twice married, leaving a widow and one

son. His widow resides in St. Louis, and the son, by his first wife, is a

soldier in the United States army stationed out west. The doctor died at

his brother-in-law's in Henry county, Missouri, and was buried in the

Sedalia cemeterv in the spring of 1882.

PERSONAL MENTION.

Name, where born, where studied medicine, when came to Pettis

county, etc, of all the present resident phj^sicians from whom data could

be obtained.

Willis P. King, born December 21st, 1839, in Mason county, Mis-

souri, graduated at St. Louis Medical College in the spring of 1866, and

at Bellevue Hospital Medical College, New York, 1871. Came to Pettis

county, 1859, was president of Pettis County Medical Association in 1876,

and now occupies the chair of diseases of women in medical department
in the State University, and also the same position in the Universit}' of

Kansas City. He was president of the State Medical Associaton for the

year 1881, was public administrator of Vernon countv from 1868 to 1872,

and coroner of Pettis count}- from 1880 to 1882.

Thomas Sollis was born in England, June 23d, 1839, graduated at

Clevelend Medical College in 1869, practiced medicine in Illinois for

eleven 3-ears. Came to Pettis county in 1879.

John W. Trader was born in Xenia, Ohio, March 6th, 1837. Began
the studv of medicine with Dr. Alex. S. Hughes of Lindley, Grundy
countv, this State; graduated at the Missouri Medical College in 1859, was

commissioned assistant surgeon in 1862 by Governor Gamble, and mustered

in the 1st Cavalry, 1st Battalion M. S. M. In 1863 he was promoted sur-

geon of the same regiment. In 1864 he was made, by special order, sur-

geon of the 1st brigade of General Pleasanton's cavalry corps. In April,

1865, he was mustered out of the volunteer service and immediately took

service in the U. S. medical corps as a surgeon and did dut}' at Jefferson
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Barracks and New Orleans. In May, 18f3.5, he resigned his commission

and commenced practicinfr his profession in Lexington, Missouri, where he

continued until l8f>G, when he came to Sedalia. In 1807 he was appointed

by the Governor as honorary commissioner from Missouri to the Paris

Expositic>n, where he spent some time utihzing the superior advantages
offered him for the further pursuit of his professional studies. Was presi-

dent of the State Medical Association -in 1876-77. In 1877 appointed a

delegate to the American Medical Association, which met at Chicago. In

the same year he was appointed surgeon for the M. K. & T. railroad,

which position he filled for three years. In 1878 he was appointed as a

member of the examining board of the medical department of the State

University, which position he still holds. At present he is also president
of the Pettis County American Bible Society. Dr. Trader has written

several essays on different branches of his profession, which have been

published; among them, "Diabetes Melitus,
" "

Bronchotomy and its after

treatment," "Criminal Abortion," etc.

E. C. Evans is a native of Washington, D. C, born October 29th, 1828.

His father located in Pettis county in 1832; he graduated at the St. Louis

Medical College in the spring of 18.54; located first at Otterville and made
a specialty of diseases of the eye; he took a course of lectures at Jefferson

Medical College, at Philadelphia, in 1857-58, on this special topic, and

received the ad ciindiim degree; he also graduated in 1865, at the Oph-
thalmic College, New York; he moved to Sedalia in 1873. In 18>>0 he

was elected mayor of Sedalia.

Thos. B. Memminger was born in Charleston, South Carolina, in 1837,

graduated at Charleston Medical College in 1859; studied surgery in Bell-

vue Hospital, New York, spent tw^o years in Europe; in 1861 he was

appointed by Jefferson Davis as surgeon in the Confederate army and

served in that capacity until the close of the war; practiced in Charleston,

South Carolina, Kansas City and St. Louis, Missouri; in 1881 he located in

Sedalia, where he is now practicing.

W. H. Evans was born in Cooper county, Missouri, in 1840. Studied

medicine with his father, who was also a physician. Attended St. Louis

Medical College and Bellevue Hospital Medical College, graduating
from the latter place in 1867. During the war Dr. Evans was assistant

surgeon in state militia, serving until its close. In 1873 he began prac-

ticing with his brother, (E. C.,) in Sedalia, and has since resided here.

He has been coroner of Pettis county several terms.

Ira T. Bronson was born in Watertown, New York, in 1840, and

was educated at Newbury, Vermont, and the University of that State,

where he received his medical education, studying also at Burlington and
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Dartmouth College, at Hanover, New Hampshire, graduating from the

latter place in ISOO. He began practicing at Newbur}^, Vermont, where

he remained until 1ST3. Coming to Sedalia that year, and has since been

in practice and engaged in the drug business.

R. Wilson Carr is a native of Maryland, born in 1S31. He was
educated at St. John's College, at AnnapoHs, Md., but graduated at Dick-

erson College, at Carlisle, Indiana, in ISIO. He immediately began the

study of medicine, graduating from the medical department of the Uni-

versit}'" of Maryland in 1852. He then went to California and practiced
his profession until 1857, when he returned to Baltimore city, and con-

tinued there until 1861. In that year he was appointed surgeon-general
of Maryland, by Gov. T. Hicks. He served as volunteer surgeon at An-
tietam and Gettysburg. In 1868. he was appointed chief coroner of Bal-

timore city. The doctor came to Sedalia, in 1ST7, and has since been

located here.

William F. Boyer was born in Forsythe county. North Carolina, in

1840. Came to Crawford county, Missouri, in 1855, and began the study
of medicine in 1860, and graduated trom the Eclectic Medical Institute of

Cincinnati, Ohio, in 1864. Came to Sedalia in 1864, as contract surgeon
in the United States Army, and has been in active practice here since.

RoscoE L. Hale is a native of Vermont, born in Bransdon, in 1830.

He was educated at the schools of Morris, Illinois, where his father moved
at an earh' day, and at Oberlin College, Oberlin, Ohio. He graduated
from Rush Medical College, Chicago, in 1853, and began practicing in

Morris, Illinois, and continued until 18 72. In that vear he came to Se-

dalia, purchasing an interest in the drug store of J. H. Mertz, where he

now is in business, having retired from active practice.

Asa H. Heaton is a native of Indianapolis, Indiana, and was educated

in the schools of that
cit}'. In 1876 he began the study of medicine, at-

tending lectures at Chicago, Cincinnati and Indianapolis, graduating from

the latter place in 1881. In the latter part of the same year he came to

Sedalia, where he is in practice.

D. T. Abell is a native of Brookheld county, Pennsvlvania. Was
educated at Susquehanna Collegiate Institute, and received his medical

education at Homoeopathy Medical College, Philadelphia, graduating in

1860, commenced his practice in x\thens,Penns3'lvania, going from thence

to Darlington, Wisconsin, where he was appointed examining surgeon
for pensions, a position he now holds in Sedalia.

Jacob B. Jones, born May 23, 1841, in North Carolina. Graduated at

St. Louis Medical College, in 1868, and the same vear came toAhis citv,

engaging in the practice of his profession. . Was president of Pettis County
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Medical Association about 1872, vice-president State Medical Association

in 1874; county coroner in 1878, and for the past ten years county ph}^-

sician.

J. A. C. Brown, born in North Carolina, March 21, 1834. Graduated

at the Universit}^ of North Carolina, in the class of 1857, and at Jefferson

Medical College, Philadelphia. Came to Pettis count}-, in 1865. Dr.

Brown has been president of Pettis County Medical Association from

1870 to 1880.

Walter C. Overstreet, Jr., born in Monmouth, Illinois, February

17, 1827. Graduated at Missouri Medical College in 1878, and Bellevue

Hospital Medical College, New York, in 1882. Came to Pettis county
with parents in 1864.

J. M. Overstreet, born in Kentucky, Februar}^ 4, 1830. Graduated

at the University of Louisville in 1854. Practiced in Monmouth, 111., from

1854 to 1860. Located permanentl}' at Smithton, Pettis county, in 1860,

and came to Sedalia in 1879.

W. C. Overstreet, Smithton, born October 16, 1824, in Kentucky.
Graduated at Transylvania Medical College, Lexington, Kentucky. Came
to Pettis county in 1847, the next spring went to Knox county. 111., where

he remained until 1864, since which time he has been located at Smith-

ton, Pettis county. Mo.

William Brockschmidt is a native of Langelage-Antes Wittlage,

Province of Hanover, Europe, born in 1827; graduated from Gottinggen
Medical College in 1848. In 1852 came to America, located in New
Orleans, practiced there for a short time, after which he came to St.

Louis, where he practiced two years, going from there to JetTerson

City, where he practiced some time. In 1862 he came to Sedalia and has

since been in active practice here.

Logan Clark was born September 30, 1820, in Christian county, Ky.
Came with his parents to Missouri in 1824. He studied medicine in Lex-

ington, Kentucky, in 1844-45, after which he practiced for fifteen years.

At one time he represented Johnson county in the state legislature. He
came to Sedalia in 1861 and entered the Federal service as surgeon of the

27th Missiouri, serving one year. In 1877, Dr. Clark was elected mayor
of the city of Sedalia.

William O. Dunlap, born in Pennsylvania June 7, 1845; graduated at

Monmouth College in 1870, at St. Louis Medical College in 1875, and

then graduated at the Bellevue Hospital Medical College. He came to

Sedalia in March, 1880.

John Hausan was born in Bavaria in 1821, where he was partially
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educated, finishing in St. Louis. He has been a resident of this State

forty-five years, most of the time in St. Charles county. He came to

Pettis county in 1S7T and to Sedaha in 1881.

Robert Tevis Miller was born in Richmond, Kentucky, November

30, 1831; was educated at the State University of Missouri; graduated at

St. Louis Medical College in the spring of 1860, and attended lectures in

the same college in 1863. Commenced practice at Tipton, and came to

Sedalia and opened a drug store March 1, 1861. He is the first physician
that located in Sedalia, and is now a member of the firm of Bard &
Miller.

J. P. Thatcher, Sedalia township, was born in Jacksborough, Tenn.,,

in 1830; moved to Missouri in an early day; when the Mexican war broke

out he enlisted as a private in the Third Regiment Kentucky Volunteers^

infantr}^, but was promoted to lieutenant, and afterwards to the command
of the company. He graduated at Jeft'erson Medical College, Philadel-

phia, Penn.; settled in Pettis county in 1854. In 1874 he was elected to

the legislature of Missouri as the democratic candidate by a large

majority. July 8, 1880, at his residence three miles south of Sedalia, his

long and useful life terminated, and he died universally respected by all

who knew him.

Andrew V. Small is a native of the Province of Lorraine, France,

where he was reared and educated. He studied medicine in the Univer-

sity of Paris, where he graduated in 1839. He entered the French army
as surgeon, spending part of his time in Africa; came to America in 1848,

locating at New Orleans where he remained until 1853, coming to Jeffer-

son City in that year. From Jefierson City he moved to Springfield in

1858. At the beginning of the war he entered the Confederate army and

was appointed chief surgeon of General McBride's division. In 1863 he

was appointed medical inspector of General Bragg's command at Cor-

inth, Miss., and was assigned the presidency of the examining board of

district of Texas with headquarters at San Antonio, where he remained

until the close of the war. He then went to Lexington, Mo., and remained

until 1878, when he came to Sedalia, where he has since practiced. His

son, Edwin N. Small, a graduate of Bellevue Medical College, N. Y., is

associated with him.

John P. Walker, Lamonte, is a native of Granville Co., North Caro-

lina, born February 11, 1840. He graduated at the St. Louis Medical

College in 1873. Practiced in Johnson county for a time, and settled in

Lamonte in 1879, where he now resides.

Samuel Conway, Lamonte, is a native of St. Louis county, Missouri,

born in 1843. Graduated at St. Louis Medical College in 1867, and the

same year he settled in Pettis county, where he fias since resided.
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Benjamin E. Van Burkleo, Beaman, was born in St. Charles county,

Missouri, February 23, 1847. Attended the schools of his own county,
and commenced the study of medicine with Dr. J. P. Mcllhany, and

graduated from the St. Louis Medical College. He located at Beaman,
this count}^ in 1873, where he still practices his profession. He is a

member of the Pettis County Medical Society.

Hugh C. Spears, Longwood, Mo., is a native of Fayette county,

Kentucky, born February l-l, 1828. He is a graduate of Transylvania

University, of Lexington, Ky., receiving his degree March 1, 1850. Prac-

ticed medicine in Mercer county, Ky., Cass county, Mo., Lawrence

county, Tenn., and came to Pettis county in 1868.

Wellington V Walker, of Longwood, was born at Pleasant House,
Owen county, Kentucky, December 9, 1854. He graduated at the med-

ical university at Louisville, Ky., in February, 1880. Was elected by

competitive examination one of the resident physicians and surgeons in

Louisville Citv Hospital, where he served one year. He located in

Sedalia, Pettis county. Mo., in April, 1881, and in a short time was elected

medical examiner of Equity Lodge, No. 16, A. O. U. W., of Sedalia.

Located in Longwood, Pettis county, in May, 1882.

J. C. CuLP, of Ionia City, is a native of West Virginia. In 1866 he

moved to Missouri. Received his literary education at State Normal

School, at Kirksville, and his medical education at Missouri Medical Col-

lege, St. Louis, Mo., College of Physicians and Surgeons, Keokuk,

Iowa, and College of Physicans and Surgeons, Joplin, Mo. He settled in

Ionia, Pettis county, in March, 1882.

T. P. McCluney, of Dresden, is a native of West Virginia, born in

Brook Co., January 25, 1836. In 1843 he came with his parents to Mis-

souri, settling in Johnson Co. Dr. McCluney received his medical educa-

tion at St. Louis Medical College, graduating in 1860 .He then settled

in Pettis county, where he still resides. During the war he was assistant

surgeon in the U, S. army, and was stationed at Jefferson Barracks,

Jefferson City, and St. Louis. He has held the office of secretary, vice-

president and president of the Petds County Medical Association.

G. H. Scott, is a native of Scodand, born November 16, 1829. In

1831, his parents moved to America, and located in Newburyport, Mass.

In 1843, they came to Bloomington, 111., where Dr. Scott was educated

in the Wesleyan University, He read medicine with E. K. Crothers, of

Bloomington, and attended lectures at Jefferson Medical College, Phila-

delphia, where he graduated in 1857. Began practicing the same year at

Peoria, 111., but moved to Kewanee, that state, in 1859, and remained until

1867, when he went from there to Oswego, N. Y., and remained until
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1872. In ISTtt, he came to Sedalia, where he has since been engaged
in practice.

W. H. Flesher, Greenridge, Pettis county, Mo., is a native of Vir-

ginia; born in Jackson county, that state, in 1829; his literary education

was obtained in the schools of his native county, and his medical at Louis-

ville Medical College, where he graduated in 1850; in 1854 and 1855 he

attended lectures at the Cincinnati Eclectic Medical College, receiving the

benefit of lectures from the celebrated Dr. John King; he practiced
medicine for several years in Virginia and Ohio; at the breaking out of

the war he enlisted in the United States arm}- as assistant surgeon of the

11th Virginia Volunteer Infantry. His connection with this, however,
was brief, as he was detached for recruiting services and was rapidly

promoted from the rank of first lieutenant to captain, and in a short time to

major; he was with Gen. Avery's command at first and afterwards with

Generals Custer and Sheridan. At the close of the war he went to Olney ,

Ills., where he practiced thirteen years; in 1878 he came to Sedalia and

located, and April 10, 1879, he moved to Greenridge, where he has

built up an extensive practice.

C. W. Leboa, Greenridge, Pettis county, Mo., was born at Brazil,

Clay county, Indiana, in 1853; he was educated in the schools of that

place and Tipton, Monticello county, Ind.; he studied medicine with his

father, Dr. I. S. Leboa, a graduate of the old Cincinnati Medical College,
and afterwards attended the Missouri Medical College, at St. Louis, in

1874, 1875 and 1876, graduating the last named year; he also attended a

course of lectures at St. Louis in 1880; began practice at Cole Camp,
Linn county, this State, in 1876, and moved to Greenridge in August,
1877.

W. D. Snoddy, Lamonte, Pettis county. Mo., is a Virginian, born

March 20, 1822, came to Missouri in 1839; he commenced the study of

medicine in Franklin county, this state; he took his first course of lectures

at the Medical College of Tennessee, and his second at the Eclectic Medi-

cal College of Cincinnati, and graduated in the spring of 1850; he then

located in Georgetown, this county, and practiced his profession until 1856,

when he moved to his present farm near Lamonte, wliere he has since

resided, and kept up his practice.

A. P. Snoddy, Lamonte, was born in Franklin county, Mo., March

24, 1847; he commenced the study of medicine in 1868, entering the

Eclectic Medical Institute, of Cincinnati, from which place he graduated
in 1870; in August of that 3^ear he began the practice of his profession in

Lamonte, where he has since resided.

David F. Brow^n, Dresden, is a native of North Carolina, born in
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Davidson county, October 22, 1845; he attended medical lectures at St.

Louis, graduatinoj in 1873, and commenced the practice of his profession

at Dresden, where he is now engaged, having built up a large practice.

John M. Elliott, Dresden, was born September 25, 1830, in Wash-

ington county, Pennsylvania; received his education at the schools of his

native county, and from private teachers. He commenced the study of

medicine before the war, but Vv'hen that broke out he enlisted and served

through over three years, when his health failing, he returned home
and resumed his studies with Dr. D. W. Braden, of Waynesburg, Pa.; he

attended lectures at Cleveland Medical College, Cleveland, Ohio; in 1866

he began practicing his profession in Marshall county. West V^irginia,

continuing there for six years, when he returned to his native county and

continued his practice until September, ISSl, when he came to Missouri,

purchased a farm adjoinmg Dresden, where he now resides.
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CHAPTER XL—x\GRICULTURE AND AGRICULTURAL
SOCIETIES.

Early Steps
—Small Fields— Implemeni.s Used—Kinds of Soils—Most Profitable Crops—

First Crops—Prairie and Timber—Present Size of Farms and Value of Lands—Pres-

ent Modes of Farming— First Agricultural Societies and Men Promoting them—The
Benefits of Societies—Sedalia Exposition Association.

"Give fojls their g'>ld, and knaves their power;
Let fortune's bubbles rise and fall

;

Wlio sows a field or trains a flower,-

Or plants a tree, is more than all."

Agriculture, in its restricted meaning, is the cultivation of a field; from

the Latin word ager, a field, and ailtura, cultivation
;
and implies the art

of cultivating the ground for the purpose of obtaining vegetable produc-
tions. In the more general sense, as we shall use it in this article, it

includes the whole business of the farmer, comprehending, in addition to

the raising of corn, wheat and other crops, the proper management of

stock.

Farming is the most independent of the avocations. The "lords of the

soil," as farmers are often termed, hold in their hands the destiny of

nations. All are common sufferers when farming interests suffer, and no

country may expect to flourish when she neglects her agricultural inter-

ests. When the farmer rises above the common daily drudgery, so long

practiced by the ignoiant tillers of the soil, then there will be intelligent,

thinking, paying labor on the farm, which will add much to the farmer's

happiness, and grace the proudest and most independent avocation man
can follow.

Agriculture is the great interest of both the county and the state. It is

the foundation upon which all other enterprises are dependent. It is the

fundainental element that produces the happiness, prosperity and wealth

of a country. Upon its success rests the welfare of the nation. There-

fore, its great importance to all, whether engaged in holding the plow,
the scales of justice, or any other avocation. Agronomy furnishes the

support of all others, and when in a prosperous condition, shares its bless-

ings with them all—-the laborer has work, the printer better support, the

professionals better patronage, the mechanics more employment, the

merchant sells more goods, the manufacturer a better market, railroads

more freight, and commerce greater tonnage. In this manner the products
of the soil are distributed liberally to others.

It is from thd rural haunts that the majority of our most able men and

women come to the stage of action to perform an important part in the

public affairs ot our nation. A Webster and a Clay were am.ong farmers^

sons. A Martha Washington and Elizabeth Cady Stanton were blessed
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as farmers' daus^hters. These names, with half a million others, more or

less worthy, coming from the agricultural districts, should stimulate the

sons and daughters of farmers to stick to the farm and possess the

land.

The women of this country have done much to make farm-homts

attractive, creating a taste for the culture of fruits, flowers and orna-

mental grounds. The state took steps in the right direction when she

opened the doors of her university, agricultural and horticultural schools

to her sons and daughters alike. The state will be more than paid for

this noble work in her future statesmen and citizens.

Pettis county possesses many advantages for the development of her

natural resources. The value of land has gradually advanced until now
it is more than thirty-fold its original price. The abundance of water

and good drainage enhanced the value of land along the streams in the

estimation of the early settlers. If the New Englander, or the man of the

older states, was aware of the productive properties of Pettis county

lands, he undoubtedly would leave his narrow acres of sterile soil, diligent

toil and close habits, and come to this county where he would find broader

fields and more generous soil. One glance over these fertile prairies, and

the enjoyment of wholesome air and good society, would convince the

man most deeply wedded to the sterile, unproductive soil of the older

states. These beautiful, rich, rolling prairies, nature's own pastures,

dotted with springs and checked with perpetual rivulets, exposing soils

half a fathom deep, can be made, by a small outlay, a perfect garden,

producing a bountiful supply of all sorts of fruits, besides the immense

yields of corn, wheat, and other cereals.

In this thesis we give a comprehensive view of agronomy from its early

steps to the present time. Once having lived on the farm the writer has

found but little difficulty in presenting the early modes of farming and the

implements used.

In 1818, when the first settlers set foot on this soil, they found a vast

wilderness of grasses on the prairies, and in the woodlands thick clusters

of all sorts of vines and underbrush. Annually the mighty flames of fire

would sweep over the prairies, leaving behind them a blackened plain;

nor did the rushing fires stop with the fertile glades, but often caught from

tree top to tree top, wrapping miles of timber in one vast conflagration.

On account of these forest fires, the timber was kept closel}' confined to

the creeks, lakes and places where the fire fiend had no sway. No
record can tell when these prairies received the first fire, for hundreds of

years no doubt have elapsed since.

A class of human beings tilled the soil to some extent long before the

white man came to the west. The implements of the early tillers of the

soil are occasionally found in some parts of this, as well as in many parts
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of the state, often imbedded in the soil over which trees of many centuries

have grown. The only implements left are those of stone. These are

supposed to have been fastened to a piece of wood and used as a sort of

hoe. The wooden implements of a later day used among some tribes of

the American Indians, were forked sticks, sharpened by stone axes. No
animals were domesticated and utilized in cultivating the patches of the

aborigines. The squaws were the operators, and acted the double part

of team and driver. The agricultural habits of the Indians have been

gradually superseded by those of his pale-faced brethren, so that now

the most savage tribes are laying aside the tomahawk and bow for

improved agricultural implements.
When the early pioneers came to Pettis county, they settled along the

small streams for the double purpose of building log cabins, making rails,

improving a farm, which was most practical and congenial to their taste,

since many of them had come from timbered states. With them it was

impossible to break the turf of the prairie land with the plows of that age.

Nothing more was contemplated the first few years, than fencing a few

acres, raising some corn and spending the balance of the time in hunting.

Indeed this was enough, for the land must be grubbed, planted and culti-

vated, and the only implements in use were the bull-tongue and colter plows
and the grubbing hoe. The plows were drawn by oxen, steady, slow,

and sure. Each succeeding year more land was opened up, and so by the

time a farmer owned twenty-five acres of cultivated land, he had more

than he could manage. In those days but few employed help, except in

making rails. Some of the best and most influential old citizens of to-day

can rehearse the manner in which they made rails. However, railsplit-

ting was an avocation in which large numbers of hardy young men of

poor parentage often engaged, and were paid on the average one dollar

and their board for a hundred rails. From this business some have

grown up wealthy. In early days there was no need of fenced pastures,

except to confine an animal for special use, and stock of all kinds ran

loose on the prairies at all seasons of the year. During farming season

the plow animals were looked up every morning and driven from the

prairies of high grass, and the pioneer farmer often commenced his work,

wet to the waist from the dewy grass.

The first agricultural implements used here were the bull-tongue, colter,

wooden mold-board and the single shovel plows. A rudely constructed

wooden harrow and the top of a tree for a brush, were used to level and

pulverize the ground. These implements, with the addition of the hoe,

continued to be the pioneer's only reliance for farming utensils the first

few years. A brief description of some of these implements will not be

amiss. The bull-tongue plow, so named on account of its strength, hav-

ing a steel share shaped somewhat like a bull's tongue, is the outgrowth
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of the most ancient plows. The share of this plow is twelve to twenty
inches in length, three to six in width, about an inch in thickness, and tap-

ering to the apex, being well adapted to the service of tearing up huge
roots and stirring the ground among stumps. This is bolted to an upright

piece, mortised and braced in a beam. A strong iron clevis is fastened at

the end of the beam by a pin, attaching a heavy chain, passing between

the two oxen and fastened in the ring and staple of the ox-yoke. The
handles were made of tough wood, fastened to the beam and braced by
cross-bars. The wooden mold-board plow is better imagined than

described. The present turning plows are improvements on the old cary
and wooden mold-board plows. The share of this plow was steel. The
farmer of to-day can imagine the inconvenience of tilling the soil with this

plow, stopping every few minutes to use a paddle to clear the dirt from

the wooden mold-board. The old single shovel plow was constructed

somewhat on the plan of the bull-tongue and colter plows, which was

kept in use longer on account of its adaptability to stir the soil where the

ground was cleared of roots and stumps, checking the ground for plant-

ing, and wherever light plowing was demanded.

The share of the shovel ranged from six to eight inches in breadth and

was about the same in length with the addition of the point. This plow
was usually drawn by a single horse or an ox. The work was slow, and

many farmers, in order to prevent their teams from nipping too much of

the growing grain, kept muzzles made of splints and bark on the plow-
animals.

The first crops were principally corn. Oats, wheat, hemp, flax and

rye were raised. The tame grasses were not cultivated. The wild grass
was considered good for all stock and hundreds of tons of prairie hay
were annually mown

b}''
hand and stacked for the winter feed. At an

early day spring and fall wheat were both tried. The smut and the

accumulation of chintz bugs on spring wheat early convinced the farmers

of this section that it was an unprofitable crop. Fall wheat, although not

extensively raised, has generally done well.

With the early farmers, corn was the staple product, and became the

staff of life for man and beast, and the failure of the corn crop brought
almost a famine. On corn, the hardy settlers depended for Johnny cake,

hominy, hasty pudding, and succotash. Corn was the principal feed for

horses, swine, cattle, and sheep. In the early autumn, just as soon as the

ears had sufficiently ripened, the farmer with his wife and family entered

the corn field, and stripped the blades from the ear down, after which

they were cured, bound into bundles, and stacked as provender for winter

use. The tops of the stalks were cut above the ear, bound into bundles

and shocked for the cattle. After the era of savinof corn fodder in this

way, it became a prevailing custom to cut the corn from the ground, and
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put it into shocks sixteen hills square. For this work a corn-cutter was

paid from seven to ten cents a shock. This custom prevails now in some

localities.

The soils of Pettis county are divided into three distinct classes, com-

monly known as limestone soil, sandy soil, and mulatto clay. The prairie

land differs from the wood land mostly in its productions. The greater

portion of the prairie lands of the county have a rich, black alluvial,

strong in sediment of lime, very friable, easily handled, and form a soil of

eighteen to thirty inches in thickness. About five-sixths of the land of

the county is prairie. The timber soils along the bluffs and hillsides are

principally light and underlaid with fine deposits ot" limestone, varying in

color, depth and consistency, while the soils of the bottoms and valleys

are composed of dark alluvial deposits of a very productive nature. The
bottoms of the timber land are very valuable when once in cultivation.

They are practically inexhaustible, and, like the black alluvial of the

upland prairies, yield large crops ot corn, wheat, grasses, vegetables,

and in fact produce anything that grows in this latitude. The more con

sistent oak, hickory and sassafras upland soils are generally of a reddish

or grayish hue, rich in lime, magnesia, humus, and other fine productive

elements, and are among the best tobacco and fruit soils of the state. The

lighter and thinner jack oak soils, which cover but a minimum of the

woodlands, are of little value except pasturage, yielding annually a fine

undergrowth of tall succulent wild grasses, well suited for sheep and goats.

The sub-soils of the prairies, as well as the better white oak and hickory

soils, are very largely made of silicious clays and marls, deep and very

rich, and wherever thrown up to the influence of the sun and air,

readily disintegrate to the softness of ashes, and produce a good

growth of vegetation. These lands are absolutely imperishable. With

such valuable constitutents as silica, lime, magnesia carbonate, lime phos-

phate, alumina, and other organic matter, a basis of agricultural wealth is

formed for the deep and more thorough cultivators of the soil in the future,

in comparison with w^hich the farmer's artificial fertilizers are hardly

worthy of mention. Thfise surface and sub-soils give together the widest

known range of production in American agronom3^
The size of farms varv according to the wealth and ability to carry on

the farm. It is the opinion of many of the best farmers of this age that

about one-half of the agricultural lands are poorly cultivated, on account

of many farmers having charge of more land than they are able to man-

age. Pettis county has a few farms containing upwards of 600 acres, and

very many 500 acres; however, the average farms are about 300 acres in

area. Corn and grasses appear to be the most profitable growth of the

farm. Major Wm. Gentry and Capt. Sam'l Shanks are among the large
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successful pioneer farmers who have always taken a deep interest in the

agricultural interests of their county.

Modern farming is pleasant in contrast with the drudgery of the pioneer

farming of half a century ago. Man}'- are the new inventions of farming

machinery since then. The marker was a step ahead of laying off one

furrow at a time. The double shovel has superseded the single shovel.

Instead of the wooden mold-board we have polished turning plows. From
the wooden harrow came the iron harrow, and now we have the revolv-

ng steel harrows. The first prairie plow was a heavy, clumsy imple-

ment, requiring four to six yoke of oxen to draw it; now in its place the

riding plow with three horses does the work. Corn is cultivated by
riding plows. The wheat is harvested bv a reaper run by steam, instead

of the old sickle in hand. Wheat is threshed by steam. In addition to all

this, steam and horse-power threshers, reapers, mowers, corn-crushers,

stalk-cutters, self-bmders, seed-drills, gang-plows, sulky-rakes, patent
harrows and cultivators, rollers, corn-droppers, clover-hullers, and riding

plows are used extensively in this county. Prior to the war of 1861, but

few farmers kept hired hands; since then honest, skilled farm hands are in

demand and get good wages, varying from ten to twenty dollars and

board per month; without board, fifteen to thirty dollars per month. It

s found that the better they are educated in economy and cultivated in

mind the better it is for the farmer. A rude, ignorant, profane, and

wasteful hand on the farm is worse that no hand. The intelligent farmer

who expects to keep his family in the path of moral rectitude will shun

the society of the profane hand and keep him from his premises.

Agricultural societies are organizations often chartered by the state for

the dissemination of knowledge among the agricultural classes and the

promotion and encouragement of better methods and appliances. A brief

historical sketch of agricultural societies would hardly be out of place

here,and doubtless will be read with pleasure and profit by many.
It is generally believed that Elkana Watson, the author of a work en-

titled,
" The History of Agricultural Societies," is the originator and

founder of these institutions in America, dating the commencement as far

back as 1816, about a year after the ratification by the United States of

the treaty of Ghent, which ended the war of 1812. The first agricultural

society was the "
Albany County Society," of New York, which dates back

over a period of about sixty-seven years. The history of all fairs are

about the same as far as object and general exhibition, but as the times

change the manner of presentations change. One thing is noticeable in

this age, and that is, the elements that contributed to successful fairs in

former times fail to produce like results to-day. Good fairs are unmis-

takable evidences of prosperity; however, some fine agricultural sections

have done quite well without any organization. When the farmers of any
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county are thoroughly organized in their business, it is a standing adver-

tisement of thrift and enterprise. The man must be a poor and spiritless

person that can pass through the fair grounds, past the stalls filled with

stock, which has taken generations of scientific selection to produce, with-

out being animated with a desire to profit from what he sees. If a man

cannot be an exhibitor, he can be a spectator and get ideas. One good
idea will pay all expenses of coming to the fair, and but few ideas until

you are largely in debt to the fair society for knowledge. The sociality

and the mutual feeling of farmers and stock-raisers is of some worth to

the citizens of the county.
In 1857 an agricultural and mechanical association was organized. The

fair association was an immense success, participated in by many of the

county and surrounding counties. Col. Thos. F. Houston was president,

and Hon. Jno. F. Phillips, secretary, and Maj. VVm. Gentry, marshal.

John Born was fiddler, who it is said never missed a fair for seventy years.

The old fair grounds were in Maj. Wm. Gentry's pasture. The following

year (1858,) Col. Jno. F. Phillips, then a young attorney, made the agri-

cultural speech. Among those who took a deep interest in county fairs,

we mention the names of John Sneed, Col. Joe. Higgins, Sam'l Brown,
Sam'l and Hawk Scott, George Anderson, C. E. Bouldin, and many
others of the county.
The first annual exposition of the Sedalia Industrial and Art Exposition

Association, was opened September 7, 1880, and continued five days.

This association was permanently organized and incorporated under the

laws of the state with a large paid up capital, and now has no debts. The

object of this association is to make the exposition an exponent of the in-

dustrial and agricultural interests of Missouri, and to promote the de-

velopment of the fine and useful arts in Pettis and surrounding counties.

The fair and exposition grounds consist of fifty acres of beautiful land,

lying within the city limits of Sedalia. During the year 1880 the grounds
were converted into a beautiful park, and leased to Sicher Brothers. The

grounds have a one and one-half miles race in full view of the spectators'

stand, where upwards of 5000 people can be seated. The grounds con-

tain a floral and textile hall, machinery hall, stables, pens, well supplied

with every needed convenience. A beautiful artificial lake supplies the

grounds with water by pumps and wind-mills. Telephone wires extend^

from the fair grounds to all parts of the city, and six to ten miles in the

rural districts to some of the leading stock raisers. Although the methods

of conducting fairs have somewhat changed since the ante-heUiim days,

nevertheless, good order and success have crowned the expositions of late

years.

Albert Parker was president and J. H. Bothwell secretary of the first

10
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Sedalia Exposition for ISSO and also for 1881. The second exposition

(1881) was opened September 20, and continued live days with a large
attendance and good success.

At the second annual fair held in the count}'- about 1858, the following

persons competed for premiums on corn:

Andrew Haggard exhibited 102 bushels raised on one acre; Maj. Wm.
Gentr_v 116 bushels raised on one acre, and Geo. S. Priest 135 bushels

and one peck raised on one acre. These figures of the magnificent

production of corn by the early settlers are vouched for by some of the

best men of the county who were present at the fair, one of whom took a

part in the competition.

First Fair.—The following is an order of court as presented by Col.

Thomas F. Houston, one of the leading farmers of the county, and pres-

ent representative in the state legislature, March 2, 1857:

Thomas F. Houston presented of himself and fifty others, free holders

of Pettis county, expressive of their desire to be incorporated for the pur-

pose of promoting improvements in agriculture, manufactures, and the

raising of stock. And the court being satisfied that the said petitioners
are freeholders of the state. It is therefore ordered and declared that the

said petitioners be incorporated as a body politic and corporate by the

name and style of the " Pettis County Agricultural and Mechanical Asso-

ciation," which is ordered to be certified.

This was the beginning of agricultural societies. In 1872 the "Grange"
was organized, and by 1875 the order was quite strong in the county.

CHAPTER XII.—HOPv-TICUETURE.

Introduction—Adaptability of Ditferent Kinds of Fruits to Pettis County— Maj. Gentry's

Orchard—Names of Horticulturalists—The Nursery of Phil. Pfeitier and J. C.

Thompson—The Advancement of Gardening.

"The blossoms and leaves in plenty

From the apple tree fall each day ;

The merry breezes approach them,

And with them merrily play."

Horticidtura is a Latin word which means garden culture. Hortus, a

garden, and ailtura, culture. The subject virtually includes the cultiva-

.tion of everything that is hortensial. The early settlers paid but little

attention to this subject of agronomy. The few old apple orchards in the

county tell the tale. Many of the trees of the old orchards are seedlings;

nevertheless, some produce rich, juicy apples, equally as palatable as

grafted fruit. The deer and other wild animals destroyed many of the

young orchards of the pioneers.

The State Horticultural Society was organized in January, 1859, and

has kept up its annual meetings in spite of all difficulties. Each con-
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gressional district of the state is classed as a separate horticultural dis-

trict, and is represented in the society by a vice-president, who is expected
to keep himself posted on the interests of this industry in his district, and

make a report at the annual meeting.
Pettis county is one of the best fruit growing counties of Central

Missouri. Every variety of fruit does well here that grows in this latitude.

Apples, pears, peaches, grapes and berries do well in all parts of the

county. Fruit growing took an impetus in 1865, and since that date hun-

dreds of orchards and vineyards have been planted over the county. The
conditions of the soil, altitude and climate make this one of the best fields

for the culture of fruits in Missouri. At present there are too many half

cultivated orchards in the county. Some years in the past thousands of

half cultivated fruit trees have been seen in autumns bent to the ground
or broken with the burden of as fine fruit as ever grew between the

Atlantic and Snowy Range. Many hundreds of bushels of luscious

peaches have been fed to swine for want of a market. Pear, cherry, and

plum trees yield generously of as delicious fruitage as that of any

country. Here along the streams are acres of* the loess hills, whose soil is

almost identical with the slopes of the Rhine and other European streams,
the texture, flavor and color of whose fruits are world famous.

Almost every little farm of the county has a few orchard trees; many
of these orchards bear sufficient fruit for home use of the families. From
an orchard of eight acres Maj. Wm. Gentry sold one year $1,030 worth

of apples to one man, besides using considerable for other purposes and

furnishing his neighbors all they wanted. Mr. J. W. Dickerson, John S.

Woods, Dr. G. W. Rothwell are cultivating good orchards. W. K. Tay-
lor, florist, is cultivating a green house at Georgetown.

Fine, thrifty, fruitful apple, peach, pear, cherry and plum orchards, and

equally fruitful vineyards, greet the visitor in all parts of the county. The
smaller fruits of the garden respond to ordinary culture with the most

generous crops, and the local markets are well stocked with the choicest

fruits of every class, in their season, at reasonable prices. The vineyard
of Phil. Pfeifier, of Sedalia, planted by Prof. Geo. Hussman, recently of

the State University, but now of the state of California, is, for the variety
and superior quality of its fruits, one of the most complete and valuable

in the State. No region in the West produces finer grapes than this; the

texture, flavor and size of this fruit rivaling the finest grown in the islands

of Lake Erie.

In April, ISTO, the enterprising citizens of Sedalia and Pettis county

signed a call for a meeting, at Smith's Hall, to consider the feasibility

and propriety of organizing an agricultural and mechanical association.

The meeting was well attended by many of the farmers and stock raisers,

as well as many of the citizens of Sedalia, and after several speeches by
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the leading men a subscription of $10,000 to $15,000 stock was taken on

the spot, and the next month the following officers were elected, viz: W.
P. Paff, of Sedalia; C. W. C. Walker, of Mt. Sterling; H. J. McCormack,
of Flat Creek; Col. Frank W, Hickox, of Elk Fork; John C. Shy, of

Washington; Col. Thos. F. Houston, of Blackwater; Maj. Wra. Gentry,

of Mt. Sterling No. 2; George Anderson and J. B. McClure of the county
at large. The association was organized by electing Col. Thos. F. Hous-

ton, president; Col. F. W. Hickox, vice-president; Col. T. A. Switzler,

secretary, and Cyrus Newkirk, Esq., treasurer. Fifty acres of choice

land was purchased by the association in the western part of Sedalia and

an amphitheater erected the first year capable of seating 10,000 people,

one-eighth of a mile in circumference; also, a splendid floral and fine art

hall 50x160 feet, besides many other improvements. The association paid

upwards of $7,000 the first year, $8,000 the second, and ^12,000 the

third year. Maj. Wm. Gentry was elected president of the association in

1872.

Prof. George Hussman started the "Sedalia Nursery" in 1872, and

stocked it with very choice varieties of all the fruits and shrubbery that

were suited to this climate. In 1878, Philip Pfeiffer took charge of this

excellent nursery, and in connection with J. C. Thompson, proprietor, has

made it one of the best nurseries in central Missouri, shipping stock to all

parts of the United States and territories. In the spring of 1882, Mr.

Pfeiffer sold 267 orders by the first of April.

The office and packing rooms of this nursery are on 12th and Moniteau

streets, and the nursey grounds are about four miles east of Sedalia.

This nursery contains the following stocks:

Apples.—Red Astracan, Red June, Early Harvest, Early Straw-

berry, Summer Queen, Sweet June, Totosky, Maiden Blush, Duchess

of Oldenburg, Rambo, Haas or Fall Queen, Fameuse or Snow Apple,
American Golden Russet, Barley Sweet, Baldwin, Ben Davis (New
York Pippin), Fallowater, (Pulpehoken), Fulton, Grime's Golden, Jona-

than, Huntsman's Favorite, Newton Pippin, Northern Spy, Penankee,

Janeton, Red Bietgheimer, Rome Beauty, Willow Twig, Winesap, Yel-

low Belleflower, Limbertwig, Eansingburg, Lawyer, Wallbridge, and

Wealthy.
. Crab Apples.—Hawes' Virginia, Hyslop, large Red Siberian Crib,

Transcendent, Yellow Siberian, ^nd other choice varieties.

Pears, dwarfs and standards kept in this nursery. The cultivation of

this fine fruit is rapidly extending, as its value is more appreciated. The

range of varieties is such that, like apples, they can be had in good edible

condition from August until spring. The melting, juicy texture, the re-

fined flavor and the delicate aroma of the pear, give it rank above all

other fruits except the grape. But the pear, like most things highly de-
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sirable and valuable, cannot be had without attention, labor and skill.

The relative prices of the apple and pear being about as one to ten,

show at the same time the superiority of the latter, and the greater skill

to required to bring it to perfection. This exxellent fruit does well in

many portion of Pettis county, both summer and winter pears.

The nursery also contains a full assortment of all varieties suited to this

climate, of cherries, plums, peaches, nectarines, apricots, quinces, currants,

raspberries, blackberries, strawberries, and Russian mulberries. The
Russian mulberry is a new fruit in this country, very ornamental and re-

markable for its hardihood. It stands the cold thirty degrees below zero,

and produces fruit like the blackberry. It is very early and grows fast,

making a line shade and timber tree. The leaves can be fed to the silk

worm, and it stands shearing to form a beautiful hedge.
The ornamental department of this nursery contains every variety of

decidious trees that flourish in Pettis county and Central Missouri. The

many beautiful groves of the handsome farms of the county contain

maple, ash and linden in abundance.
"
If thou lookest on the lime-leaf,

Thou a hearts' form will discover;

Therefore are the lindens ever

Chosen seats of each fond lover.
"

Heine.

The bulbs and bulbous plants kept here are a very rare collection.

The green house is kept stocked with very choice plants and flowers.

He who has a soul for flowers has one of the higest integral parts of

the Deity.
Rev. H. W. Beecher, in his discussion on flowers, has said:

"Flowers have an expression of countenance as much as men and ani-

mals. Some seem to smile; some have a sad expression; some are

pensive and diffident; others again are plain, honest and upright, like the

broad-faced sunflower and hollyhock."
Those who cultivate flowers beautify home, and thereby elevate and

refine their social position for a higher, nobler and purer life. Bishop Cox
has well said:

"Flowers are words

Which even a babe may understand."

Phil. Pfeifter has on hand a fine collection of verbenas, geraniums,

dahlias, heliotropes, lantanas, gladiolus, tuberoses, and every sort of plant

found in a green house.

A small nursery is conducted at Lamonte, by Mr. George Shepherd.
This nursery has kept a general stock of fruit trees and has had a fair

patronage. For many years a small nursery was cultivated at Smithton.

Richard Rowe purchased the fruit trees cultivated by E. R. Young,
south of Sedalia.
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Edward Brown, east of the city of Sedalia, cultivates an excellent fruit

garden. He is a practical horticulturist, furnishincr the city with consid-

erable of its finest marketable fruits.

Many other gardeners have engaged in horticulture on a limited scale,

and their business will be noticed under the special head of their

township.

Of late years special attention has been given to the cultivation of ele-

gant vineyards, in many parts of the county, which have proved to be a

source of considerable worth to the horticulturist, paying him back many
times the worth of his outlay. In the early settlement of the county, but

few of the pioneers thought about cultivating vineyards, shrubbery and

small fruit. The tomato, strawberry, and other small fruits, had not

received any attention worthy of notice, prior to 1860. The old settlers

cultivated a vegetable garden, consisting of turnips, cabbages, potatoes,

onions, melons and pumpkins. Beans and peas received some attention,

but few cultivated them for the market.

As schools sprung up over the county, and the people became better

qualified to appreciate a higher state of horticulture, men began to pay
attention to ornamental trees, fruits of all kinds, and house plants, so that

at the present day there are but few homes in city, village or country, but

what have paid some attention to beautifying and rendering home pleas-

ant and attractive by sweetening the surroundings with the brightest and

rarest plants and flowers that can be commanded. Children, in their

purest and holiest lives, adore plants and flowers. What gathering flow-

ers in a wood is to children, men and women should never fail to culti-

vate the taste so imparted by nature.

"I never cast a flower away,
The gift of one who cared for me,
A little flower—a faded flower,

But it was done reluctantly."—Mrs. Southhy.
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CHAPTER XIIL—PETTIS COUNTY—LIVE STOCK.

Early History of Stock Raisino; ia Pettis County—Pioneer Etnigraats and Aboriginal
Inhabitants—The Peculiar Habits, Methods, and Personal Characteristics of the Span-
ish and French Half-breed Herders of " Ye Oklen Time"—The Origin and History
of the Missouri " Scrub "—Some of the Men Engaged in Stock-raising and Elaborate

Descriptions of Their Farm and Stock—The Xatural Advantages Afibrded by Pettis

County for the Propagation, Development and Growth of Animal Life.

Emigrants to Central and Western Missouri, as early as 1818, found the

country inhabited chiefly by Indians and half-breed Spanish and French.

The latter had cattle of Spanish breed, tall, lithe, sinewy, with horns of

immense size and length. They were as swift of foot as the native deer

and antelope, but their flesh had the flavor of wild game—was tough, of

a dark color, and as an article of food, by no means desirable; their value

consisting chiefly in their hides, horns and tallow.

These half-breeds and Indians had also manj^ horses,—queer looking,

unshapen animals, vicious, ill-natured, clothed with long, wool}^ hair, low

in stature, strong of limb, and capable of great endurance. The Indians

were in part permanent inhabitants of the country, and had plantations

and villages, but the half-breeds had no fixed habitations, and moved from

place to place, selecting camping grounds where the conditions were the

most favorable for the care of their stock and easy subsistance. From

May to October they roamed the country watered by the Osage and

Missouri rivers, but with the first frost they began moving slowly south-

ward, arriving at the beginning of winter in that delightful region now
known as the Indian Territory and southeastern Kansas. There grass
and water were abundant, and thither deer, buffalo, and other game
flocked from the bleak barren plains of the northwest, rendering that

region a veritable paradise, and capable of sustaining a dense population
in ease and comfort. There they remained during the winter, enjo3'ing,

as only barbarians can, the simple luxuries of that semi-tropical clime,

but with the advent of spring they followed the birds, buffalo, and deer

north and eastward, reaching their summer camping grounds while the

grass was young and tender and the air was laden with the perfume of

flowers.

This peculiar people instinctively retained the customs of civilization,

and the refinement of the land of their fathers, and in a magnified form,

the treachery and ferocity of their Indian kinsman. Speaking numerous

Indian dialects, and the languages of Spain and France, possessing the

intelligence, courage and audacity of their European ancestors, they
became valued counselors and leaders of their. Indian allies, fiercely

opposed the advancing tide of civilization, and in many desperate and

bloody encounters with the brave and hardy pioneers, they became com-
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manders of the Indian forces and led them to battle with intelligence and

heroism rarely equalled in the world's history.

It is a matter of history that the pastoral people of this country, the

American pioneers inhabiting the wild regions of the far west, have ever

been unfriendly to emigration, because, in proportion as the country be-

comes settled, the grazing area is diminished, and as it is merely human to

be selfish, ii is scarcely in order for those not similarly interested to criticise

their motives or methods.

The early emigrants brought with them many horses and cattle of good
breeds, but those in time became mixed with the native, producing the

much despised and caricatured " western scrub." The beautiful rolling

prairies, with a large number of differtent varieies of grasses, watered by
numerous streams, bordered by as fine timber as ever grew under the sun,

the altitude, pure air, dry soil, and mild climate of central Missouri, pre-

sented an array of advantages for stock-raising vastly superior to those

of the older and colder states, and in this profitable husbandry the early

settlers engaged most exclusively. They raised immense herds of cattle,

nearly all
"
scrubs," and the quality remained nearly the same up to 1830,

when stock men began to improve their herds by importations of thor-

oughbred bulls and stallions. During the thirty years followiug, the im-

provement was gradual and permanent, and the quality of the vast herds

of central and western Missouri had reached a degree of excellence truly

marvelous. During the war Missouri was almost entirely stripped of

stock by the two opposing armies, and the few that remained were par-

ticularly worthless, and soon disappeared. When peace was restored the

farmers imported high-grade stock from the eastern states, Canada, and

Europe, and the importations have continued upon a large scale, until the

stock interests of Missouri have assumed vast proportions, and will com-

pare very favorably, both as to quality and numbers, with many of the old

stock-producing regions of the eastern and middle states.

The warm and fertile soil of Pettis county, which yields such bountiful

returns to the intelligent and industrious tiller, is not less generous to the

experienced and prudent stockman. Probably, no county in the state

offers superior advantages in soil, climate, and the various conditions

essential to successful stock raising, and that these conditions have been

appreciated and utilized by nearly every farmer in the county, is

evinced by the facts gleaned from the last report of the county assessor,

giving the total number and value of live stock in Pettis county, as

follows:

Horses, 8,871, valued at $ 325,505.

Mules, 2,658, valued at 130,570.

Asses and jennets, 55, valued at 3,670.

Cattle, 29,040, valued at 466,805.
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Sheep, 36,675, valued at 57,457.

Hogs, 21,293, valued at 64,395.

Dogs, 2,637, valued at 2,637.

Total number, 107,229. $1 ,048,139.

This is indeed a splendid exhibit—more in numbers and value than

reported for either of the states of Delaware, West Virginia or Oregon,
and yet, when the superior quality and condition of the stock produced

here, is taken fairly into consideration, the value and importance of stock

husbandr}^ in Pettis county becomes something marvelous.

Visitors from the famous stock producing districts of the eastern states

and Canada, are totally unprepared for the revelation w^hich the high
character of the industry in Pettis county affords, and the first inquiry,

invariably, is, what has become of the scrub stock of which at home we
have heard so much that we have learned to regard it as indigenous to the

soil, and a natural product of the peculiar climate, a degeneration from the

higher grades, by reason of unskillful management in breeding, insuffi-

cient and improper food and over work when \'oung. Of course, then

follows a detailed history of the origin of the "scrub," ending with the

information that he w^as annihilated by the war, and has become a thing
of history. The}' marvel at the high standard to which stock breeding
has been carried in Pettis county, but when told that many of our stock-

men were trained in the best methods of stock raising in New York,

Pennsylvania, Kentucky, Virginia, Ohio, Indiana and Illinois, from whence

they emigrated to Missouri, the mystery is satisfactorily explained.
Here may be found extensive herds of Short Horn, Alderney and other

high bred cattle of the finest types; Berkshire and Poland China swine

of the best EngHsh and American species; Merino, Cotswold and Downs

sheep of the purest blood and highest breeding and fleece producing

qualities; Hambletonian, Membrino, Norman, Denmark, Drennon, Lex-

ington, Morgan, and other fine breeds of horses. And so on through all

the departments of stock raising
—

only the best animals of the finest

species are kept or bred from.

Many car loads of steers from two to three years old, weighing 1,200 to

1,800 pounds, have been shipped from Pettis county to Europe, during
the past few years, and many car loads of swine, weighing from 300 to

500 pounds, are shipped to market every winter.

The annual shipments to market, of live stock from Sedalia, Lamonte,

Dresden, Greenridge, Smithton, Houstonia, and other points in Pettis

county of minor importance, consisting of fat cattle, sheep, swine, horses

.and mules, aggregate 1,600 car loads, valued at $1,630,000, and a careful

estimate from a rehable source fixes the net profits to the producers at

from thirty to seventy per cent, on the money invested. This is certainly
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a most favorable showing, and ought to be conclusive evidence that

nothing pays better than stock raising.

In this latitude the mildness of the climate affords a long season for

grazing, the entire year, with the exception of about ninety days of mod-

erately cold weather, which, together with the cheapness of lands and

feed, and the excellent transportation facilities, constitute advantages

vastly superior to states in a colder clime, where feed is scarce and

expensive, and more shelter and labor required to carry stock through the

long, bleak winters. In Pettis county nearly every farmer raises stock

for market, and many of the wealthier, who do not make stock raising a

specialty, buy from adjoining counties and fatten for market, turning off

from eight to fifteen car loads every spring, and many of more limited

means ship from two to five car loads, which contribute largely to increase

the aggregate exports of fine stock to vast proportions.

Added to the warm, fertile soil and mild climate, is the inestimable

advantage of a dry atmosphere, which contributes in no small degree to

render sheep husbandry one of the most profitable industries of this

region. The surface of the country is high, dry, and gently undulating,

afibrding excellent natural drainage, and there is scarcely a quarter section

of land in the county on which a lake cannot be formed from the rainfall

by the construction of a simple and inexpensive dam of earth, thus

affording an abundant supply of pure and wholesome water.

In Sedalia and vicinity water can be obtained in inexhaustible quantity,

of the purest and most excellent quality, at an average depth of thirty

feet. In the northern, northwestern and eastern portions of the county
the well drillers seldom need to go more than eighty feet to obtain an

abundant supply, although in the southwestern portion there are several

wells in the neighborhood of one hundred and five feet deep, and splendid

flowing wells obtained by means of wind mill pumps.
It will be obser'v^ed that while Pettis county has but few natural flowing

springs or running streams, nature has in other ways afforded facilities

for securing an abundant supply of pure water, which added to the

splendid grasses produced spontaneously upon the open prairies, and

everywhere untouched by the plow of the tiller, shows this to be a most

admirable region for stock raising in all departments, as well as for dairy

and for general agricultural purposes.
Blue grass is indigenous to the soil of Pettis county. Everywhere it

ffourishes in rank profusion
—on the prairies, in the fields and in the wood

lands, conquering everything, crowding out the coarse weeds and less

succulent herbage and furnishing to the farmer and stockman a free and

exhaustless source of wealth.

Clover also springs from the soil spontaneously—a companion of the

blue grass
—and flourishes everywhere. While orchard grass, timothy,.
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and other meadow grasses, with but little preparation of the soil or culti-

vation, take root easily and quickly and grow with great rapidity and

luxuriance, 3'ielding a bountiful harvest of hay, equal in every respect to

the best produced in any region on this continent.

Major Wm. Gentry is probably tlie most extensive stock raiser in Pettis

county, and during the many years he has devoted exclusively to this

branch of husbandry upon a large scale, he has achieved wonderful suc-

cess. At present his landed estate comprises six thousand acres of choice

land, well watered and timbered and in a remarkably high state of culti-

vation. His home farm "
Oakdale," containing twenty-two hundred

acres, is located two miles northwest of Sedalia, and in full view of the

city. It is a magnificent prairie and timber tract, well watered by
numerous flowing springs, by Brushy Creek and by several fine artificial

lakes. The residence is handsome and commodious, and the approaches

arranged in excellent taste and with a view to convenience and economy
of space. The lawns and shrubbery surrounding the residence are

arranged, well cultivated, and kept in excellent order, and the entire place

presents the appearance of refinement, comfort and affluence, suggesting
to the visitor the application of that beautiful and pathetic song, "Home,.
Sweet Home."

Only about four hundred acres of this magnificent farm are devoted to

the cultivation of grain, the balance being seeded down to blue grass

pasture, and to clover and timothy meadow. Major Gentry's herd of

breeding cattle consists of between thirty and forty thoroughbred Short-

horns of the most popular families, and two fine bulls of about 2,300 }t)S.

weight. He has also fifteen fine brood mares and a thoroughbred Nor-
man stallion of excellent form and qualities, ninety horse and mule colts,

sixt}^ work horses, six hundred pure bred Merino, Cotswold and Downs

sheep, and one hundred high grade cattle. His annual sales of live stock

average thirty horses and mules, three hundred to four hundred steers,

six hundred swine, and six hundred sheep. He also has on his farm

"Locust Grove," "Denmark Chief" and "Denmark Jr.," the very highest

grade of that class of saddle horses. They are both premium stallions,

having taken premiums at St. Louis, Cincinnati and at various other large
fairs in 1874. Denmark Jr. is a young stallion of great promise, and is

one of the fastest racking horses in the state.

Another splendid farm owned by Major Gentry and sons is "Locust

Grove," consisting of 1,400 acres and situated eight miles northwest

of Sedalia. It has many pleasant surroundings, is in a fine state of culti-

vation, and is regarded as one of the most valuable tracts in that vicinity.

J. B. Gentry, son of Major Gentry, occupies the farm, and keeps there

two hundred steers, one hundred and fifty stock cattle and three hundred

swine. •
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Major Gentry is a native of Missouri, has resided in Pettis county fifty-

eight years, is an intelligent, progressive business man, and intimately

associated with many important public enterprises.

Nine miles east of Sedalia is the valuable farm of V. T. Chilton, con-

sisting of six hundred and fifty acres, supplied with an abundance of water,

and improved in a very complete and substantial manner. One hundred

and sixty acres are reserved for plow land, and the balance is seeded down
to timothy and clover meadow, and blue grass pasture. Judge Chilton

keeps six hundred to seven hundred Merino, Cotswold and Downs sheep,

twenty-five to thirt}^ high grade breeding cows, and ships annually sixty

to one hundred fat steers, and one hundred and seventy-five to two hun-

dred swine.

Three miles northeast of Sedalia lies
" Greenwood," the home farm of

AVilliam M. Gentry, consisting of nearly seventeen hundred acres of beau-

tiful prairie land, well watered and improved. An elegant residence and

numerous farm buildings of a very substantial character, fine orchard,

shade trees, beautiful lawns and pastures, and other valuable and pleasant

surroundings, contribute to render this one of the most desirable farms in

that locality. Mr. Gentry is an extensive planter and stock-raiser; plants

annually about three hundred acres in corn, from which he gets an aver-

age of sixt}^ bushels per acre. He has one hundred and forty acres in

timothy and clover meadow, twelve hundred acres in blue grass pasture,

and keeps constantly about three hundred stock and beef cattle, fifty

thoroughbred Short-horns, and two fine bulls; one thosand high-bred
Merino and Downs sheep, from which he gets annually several thousand

pounds of wool. Besides a number of choice brood mares, from which

he raises superb carriage and saddle horses, he fattens yearly from one

liundred to two hundred steers, about two hundred swine, and three hun-

dred sheep for market.

On Cedar Creek, two miles northeast of Sedalia, and in full view of

the city, is
" Cedar Vale," a magnificent farm of sixteen hundred acres,

situated mostly on a prairie of deep rich soil and gently undulating sur-

face. Cedar Creek and numerous flowing springs and artificial lakes

furnish an abundance of water, and renders this one of the best stock

farms in the county. An elegant residence which cost $11,000, is sur-

rounded by fine shade trees, and well-kept lawns, and at convenient dis-

tance in rear are numerous substantial farm buildings, surrounded by fine

blue grass pastures. This was the home R. J. Gentry, recently deceased,

who was one of the most enterprising and successful stock raisers in Pet-

tis countv. Four hundred acres of this farm are devoted to the cultiva-

tion of grain, and twelve hundred acres to timothy and clover meadow
and blue grasss pasture. On this magnificent tract Mr. Gentr}^ kept a

herd of one hundred thoroughbred "Short-horns, and two hundred stock
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cattle, and fattened annually sixty to one hundred steers, and two hun-

dred high bred Berkshire swine. He also keeps five hundred Merino and

Downs sheep, a number of fine brood mares and horses, and sold annually
from twenty-five to fifty mules.

Directly east of Sedalia two miles, is
"
Sunnyside," a valuable farm

owned by John M. Sneed, comprising seven hundred acres of prairie

land of rich, warm soil, in a high state of cultivation. It is furnished with

a substantial residence, and farm buildings, is well watered, and is divided

into fields of convenient size for cultivation and stock-raisinor. One hun-

dred and fifty acres are devoted to grain culture, and the balance, five

hundred and fifty acres, to blue grass pasture and to timothy and clover

meadow. Mr. Sneed grazes one hundred and fifty to two hundred stock

cattle, two hundred Southdown sheep; keeps fine thoroughbred horses,

and sells annually three to five car loads of fat steers, and two to five car

loads of swine.

In the vicinity of "
Sunnyside

"
is the farm of M. O. Green, consisting

of sixteen hundred acres, surrounded by a splendid hedge of Osage
Orange. A creek and numerous springs and ponds furnish an inexhaus-

tible supply of pure water. The residence and other improvements are

good and substantial; the soil is moist and fertile, and for all purposes the

farm is regarded as among the best in that part of the county. Six hun-

dred acres are devoted to the cultivation of grain; two hundred acres to

blue grass pasture, and eight hundred acres to meadow. Mr. Green

keeps three hundred to four hundred steers, four hundred to five hun-

dred swine, forty to eighty mules, and sixty to eighty cows for breeding

purposes.
Twelve miles northeast of Sedalia, in an exceedingly fertile and attrac-

tive district, lies the splendid farm of H. S. Scott, one of the most thor-

ough and enterprising stockmen in Pettis county. The tract comprises
four hundred acres of excellent land, well watered and improved, and

possessing superior natural advantages for successful stock raising. Mr.
Scott has a fine herd of twenty thoroughbred Dutchess and Maries cattle^

two hundred Cotswold sheep and one hundred Poland China swine,
besides several fine brood mares and horses.

The farm of J. W. Cole, five miles southwest of Sedalia, is very favor-

ably situated for all purposes, and is in an excellent state of cultivation.

The soil is deep, warm and of marvelous fertility, yielding bountiful

returns for the labor of cultivation, and springs and ponds furnish an

abundant supply of pure and wholesome water. The farm of eight hun-

dred and eight}^ acres is surrounded and divided into convenient fields by
a thrifty hedge of Osage orange, and the buildings and other improve-
ments are substantial and well kept. Mr. Cole makes a specialty of thor-

oughbred stock and has a fine herd of forty high bred Short-horns, led
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"by a bull of excellent form and qualities. He keeps also eighty to one

hundred breeding cows of especial merit, one hundred to one hundred

and fifty pure bred Cotswold sheep, and fifty to one hundred high grade
swine.

In the extreme northwestern portion of Pettis county, twenty miles from

Sedalia, is "Avandale," the magnificent home farm of Thomas B. Price.

It consists of eio-ht hundred acres of wonderful fertility, situated in the

midst of an exceedingly prosperous agricultural district, and surrounded

by well cultivated farms. It is adorned by a residence, which in archi-

tectural design and completeness and elegance of finish, is far superior to

any farm residence in the count3^ The farm buildings are also of excel-

lent design, very substantial and complete, and the surroundings of wood-

land and lawn, of fields and pastures, of meadows and highways are

equally convenient, pleasant and attractive. The farm is divided into

fields of forty and eighty acres each, by eight miles of well cultivated

hedge fence; numerous flowing springs, creeks and artificial lakes furnish

an exhaustless supply of pure water the entire year, and belts of timber

here and there aftbrd grateful shelter to stock from the scorching sun of

midsummer. One hundred and eight}' acres are reserved for plow land,

and six hundred and twenty acres are laid in meadow and blue glass pas-

ture. Mr. Price keeps continually thirty to forty Short-horn cattle of the

most popular families for breeding purposes; fattens one hundred and

forty to one hundred and sixty steers, and two hundred and fifty to three

hundred swine annually, and keeps on hand three hundred young mules,

fourteen thoroughbred brood mares and a fine stallion, and raises superb

carriage and saddle horses.

Fulton H. Bradford's fine farm "Glenwood," joins "Avondale," and is

a marvel of neatness and thrift. It comprises about five hundred acres,

-divided into fields of convenient size, and is well fenced and cultivated.

Two hundred acres are devoted to the cultivation of grain, and the

remainder to meadow and blue grass pasture. Water, pure and abund-

ant, is furnished by streams, springs and ponds, and the place possesses

many other natural advantages which render it valuable in the highest

degree for stock raising. The residence, which is a model of architec-

tural beauty, and the barn and other farm buildings are neat, substantial,

and convenient. Mr. Bradford keeps his farm well stocked with good
breeds of cattle, sheep and swine.

Joining "Avondale," on the west, is "Prairie Home," the model farm

of Capt. Samuel Shanks, consisting of six hundred and twenty acres,

which, like the others last mentioned, possesses many natural advan-

tages for stock raising. There are two hundred and eighty acres in

plow land, one hundred of the remainder in meadow and blue grass

pasture, all w^ell fenced and conveniently divided into fields, and a fine two-
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Story brick residence and outbuildings, (a view of which appears else-

where in this volume), and general surroundings in perfect keeping.

Capt. Shanks has a herd of twenty five high-bred Short-horn cattle, a

number of hiirh-bred Denmark brood mares, one of which is Denmark

Maid, a noted mare—she having taken fifty-seven premiums, always

taking the premium at every fair where she was exhibited, and feeds two

hundred steers, six hundred swine and from three to five hundred mutton

sheep.
Two miles southwest of Capt. Shank's farm is the beautiful farm of

John G. Senior, comprising 420 acres of the finest land in the county. On
this farm he annually feeds a choice lot of stock cattle and hogs.

*' Pleasant Grove," a beautiful farm of fourteen hundred acres and a

fine residence, (a view of which appears in this volume) is owned by J.

C. Higgins, and is situated four miles west of Houstonia. Six hundred

and fifty acres are planted in grain, and seven hundred and fifty acres

seeded down to clover and timothy meadow, and blue grass pasture. The

place is kept in excellent order, is well arranged for convenience and

economy in the care of stock, and even to the casual observer has the

appearance of thrift and good management. Mr. Higgins is a thorough
stock man, and personally superintends his business in all its details. He
fattens for market annually one hundred and

fift}^
to two hundred steers,

and three hundred to four hundred swine; keeps two hundred Cotswold

and Downs sheep, raises Denmark and Ned Forrest horses, and buys and

sells one thousand mules a year.

Mrs. Wm. C. Gibson, wife of the late Judge Gibson of the Pettis

County Court, owns " Gibson's Glen," a superb prairie farm of twenty-
three hundred acres, thoroughly cultivated and well watered. The resi-

dence is a handsome building, surrounded by beautiful lawns, shade and

ornamental trees and shrubbery, and is a model of neatness and elegance.

The farm is divided into fields by good fences, eleven hundred acres

being reserved for cultivation, and twelve hundred acres in pasture and

meadow. On this farm Judge Gibson kept continually six hundred to

eight hundred steers, one thousand swine, and four hundred mutton sheep,

which were fattened and shipped to market, yielding large annual

profits.

S. T. Lupe's valuable farm, "Fairview," two and one-half miles east of

Lamonte, in the western portion of the county, consists of seven hundred

and fifty acres, enclosed and divided into forty and seventy acre lots by a

splendid hedge fence. A handsome residence, surrounded by beautiful

lawns and shade trees, a view of which appears elsewhere in this volume,

large and convenient barns for stock and the storage of grain, and an

abundance of pure water render this farm
'

especially desirable. Miscel-

laneous farm products are cultivated upon one hundred and sixty acres,



36i HISTORY OF PETTIS COUNTY.

and a timoth}^ meadow of eighty acres yields abundant harvests of hay of

the best quality, while a well watered pasture laid in blue grass comprises
the remainder of the farm. Mr. Lupe keeps fifty fine breeding cows, a

large number of pure Berkshire swine, five hundred Merino, Cotswold

and Shropshire Downs sheep, and fattens for market annually, fifty steers

and one hundred swine.

A splendid farm of sixteen hundred acres, two and one-half miles south

of Sedalia, is owned by Curd Petty. It is divided into pasture, meadow
and plow land in proper proportions for stock raising upon a large scale,

and is under good fence and otherwise well improved. Mr. Petty grazes
and fattens for market annually two hundred to three hundred steers, keeps
from ten to twenty excellent breeding cows, two hundred to three hun-

dred head of mutton sheep, a large number of swine, several fine brood

mares, and gives considerable attention to the raising of horses and

mules.

Daniel Wadleigh has a well cultivated farm two and one-half miles south-

west of Greenridge, in the extreme southwestern portion of the county.
He makes a specialty of raising thoroughbred Morgan horses, and has on

hand continually from twelve to twenty of all ages. His other stock, con-

sisting of stock cattle, breeding cows, sheep and swine, are all well bred

and represent many thousand dollars in value.

Adjoining Dan'l Wadleigh's on the south is the fine stock farm of Berne

and Nathan Reed. Situated on a gently rolling prairie of fertile soil, well

cultivated and improved, it possesses many of the conditions essential to

successful stock raising. The owners are young enterprising stock men,

graze and fatten for market several car loads of cattle annually, besides a

large number of swine. They also keep mules and horses of good quality,

and are doing a profitable business in miscellaneous farming.

Squire James Brown has a large and beautiful farm, in a high state of

cultivation, and well watered by creeks and living wells—substantial resi-

dence and farm buildings, excellent hedge and rail fences, fine orchard,

meadow and pastures. He keeps a number of high grade breeding cows

and a large number of cattle of mixed breeds, feeds two to three hundred

head of stock of all kinds, and is a very successful stock man.

Washington Stark has a beautiful prairie farm two and one-half miles

south of Reeds' and one mile south of Browns'. It is divided into fields

of convenient size, well fenced and improved, and presents a very tidy

and thrifty appearance. Mr. Stark has a number of breeding cows of

Short-horn and Alderney, half and quarter breed, led by a fine Short-

horn thoroughbred bull. Keeps a large number of horses and mules of

good quality, and sells annually several thousand dollars worth of surplus

stock and grain.

Professor J. H. Knapp has a handsome prairie farm of six hundred and
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forty acres, two and one-half miles west of Greenridge. The soil is very

productive, vielding bountiful crops of grain and hay, is well improved
and kept in excellent condition. Prof. Knapp grazes from one hundred

to tw^o hundred head of stock, and is doing a profitable business in stock

raising.

Chas. Wadleigh owns a small, but well improved farm three miles

south of Greenridge. He makes a specialty of thoroughbred Morgan
horses, of which he has two fine stallions, several brood mares and colts;

keeps a number of high grade breeding cows and a herd of stock cattle,

followed by over one hundred swine.

Geo. E. Hollenbeck has a new, but well arranged farm, one mile north of

Greenridge, and makes a specialty of miscellaneous stock raising, and

buys, fattens and sells large numbers of cattle.

John Kendrick, four miles north of Greenridge, has a large and well

arranged farm, adorned by a costly and commodious residence, and ample
barns and other farm buildings in good repair. The place is fenced by a

well kept hedge of Osage orange, and is supplied with water by ponds
and wells. Mr. Kendrick keeps from ten to thirty breeding cows of good

quality, one hundred to two hundred cattle of mixed breeds, a large flock

of well bred sheep, one hundred to two hundred swine of high grade, and

a number of brood mares, young horses and mules.

Judge Wes. Perdue, dx miles north, and John R. Gray, eight miles

west of Greenridge, are large farmers and stock dealers and grazers, and

keep thoroughbred horses, cattle, sheep and swine, but the precise num-

ber cannot be stated for want of definite information respecting their

herds.

John Bennett, eighteen miles south of Sedalia, has a valuable farm,

which has been in cultivation many 3^ears, and is well improved, and kept
in excellent order. It is situated on Flat Creek, has extensive meadows
and blue grass pastures, and supplied with an abundance of pure water.

Mr. Bennett keeps from thirty to forty high grade breeding cows, a large
flock of sheep of good quality, several valuable Short-horns, twenty to

thirty 3'oung horses, mules and brood mares, and grazes and fattens for

market annuall}^ one hundred to two hundred steers, fifty to one hundred

mutton sheep and one hundred swine.
" Crawford Lawn," the home of G. W. Crawford, situated three miles

east of Hughesville,is one of the most valuable small farms in Pettis county.
It contains one hundred and sixt}^ acres, is well watered and surrounded

and divided into fields of pasture meadow and plow land by a well culti-

vated hedge fence. Mr. Crawford is doing a prosperous business at

mixed farming, and sells annually a large amount of surplus stock and

grain.

11
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The farm of Gregg Bros., eleven miles northwest of Sedalia, contains

six hundred and fort}' acres, of which two hundred and fifty eight acres are

devoted to pastures and meadows, and the balance to the cultivation of

grain. The owners, G. W. & O. G. Gregg, manage the farm in person,
and sell annually three hundred fat steers, three hundred swine and two

hundred mutton sheep.

J. S. Hughes'
" Pleasant Retreat," a beautiful, well cultivated and very

productive farm of three hundred and sixty acres, is situated on Brushey
creek twelve miles northwest of Sedalia. One hundred and sixty acres

are reserved for plow land, and the balance is devoted to blue grass pas-

tures, meadows and orchards. He keeps twenty-five to thirty choice

breeding cows, seventy-five to one-hundred Southdown sheep, fifty to one

hundred cattle, and one hundred to two hundred swine.

A fine farm of seven hundred and sixty acres, six miles southwest of

Sedalia, is owned b}' George & D. E. Davis. Three hundred and twentv

acres are used for the cultivation of grain, and four hundred and forty

acres are laid in meadows of timothy and clover and blue grass pasture.

Water is supplied by springs, wells and ponds, and the value of the prop-

erty is enhanced by a large and well constructed residence and number of

convenient and commodious farm buildings. The owners keep a splendid
herd of Short-horns, six high grade brood mares, and thirteen mules and

horses. They also fatten and ship to market annually about one hundred

fifty swine and two hundred and twenty-five to two hundred and fifty fat

steers.

The most noted breeder of pure Berkshire swine in the state is N. H.

Gentry, whose splendid farm of six hundred acres lies six miles northeast

of Sedalia. This farm is noted for its fertile soil, beautiful location and

the convenience and completeness of its arrangement. The entire 600

acres are laid in blue grass, and the sun never shone on finer pastures.

Water, pure and abundant, is supplied by living streams and a steam

pump, and the apphances and buildings connected with the breeding and

raising of stock, cost a large sum. Mr. Gentry has a splendid herd

of twent^'-five Short-horns, led by a bull of superb form and qualities; two

hundred and fifty Merino and Southdowns from imported stock, and sells

annually over three hundred pigs at fancy prices.

Two miles east of Hughesville, in a flourshing agricultural district, is

the excellent stock farm of Wm. Lowry. It consists of one thousand

acres, all under substantial fence, and divided into convenient fields. One-

half is seeded down to blue grass pasture and timothy meadow, and the

balance is reserved for the cultivation of miscellaneous crops. The

buildings are of the most substantial character, coscing over $7,000, and

water is obtained by means of bored wells with wind pump attachment.

Mr. Lowry has a number of fine horses, brood mares and breeding cows.
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two hundred sheep, mostly improved grades, two hundred Poland-China

and Berkshire hogs, and a large number of miscellaneous stock of mixed

fcreeds.

M. H. Seibert owns a handsome, well cultivated farm three miles west

of Sedalia. It contains six hundred and eight}' acres, properl}- sub-divided

for convenience in the management of stock, is exceedingly fertile and is

in the midst of a very flourishing agricultural district. Three hundred

and twenty acres are laid in blue grass pasture and timothy meadow%
and the balance is in plow land, orchard, etc. Mr. Seibert has a herd of

thirty registered cattle—Dutchess and Maries—a number of breeding-

cows of mixed breeds but high grade, twenty-five Berkshire hogs of the

best species, one hundred fine sheep, Merino, Southdown and Cotswold,

and gets as high price for his wool as any sheep breeder in the state.

He keeps also one hundred and fifty to two hundred stock cattle of

good breeds, and fattens and ships to market annually one hundred head

of choice steers.

SHEEP HUSBANDRY.

Among other industries for which Pettis county is becoming noted
^

Sheep Husbandry is fast assuming perhaps the most prominent place.

As early as 18U0, Richard Gentry, the father of R. W. Gentry, presi-

dent of the Missouri Wool Growers Association, began pa3'ing special

attention to sheep. On his large farm of over 6,000 acres, lying north-

east of Sedalia, he kept a flock of Merinos, varying in number from 2,.500

to 5,000, and in quaHty unsurpassed by any flock in the state. This flock

was a mixture of Spanish, French and Saxon blood.

Mr. Gentry was known throughout the state as the great sheep man

of his day, and strangers often came long distances to see his farm and

sheep. Mr. Gentry was at his death the wealthiest man in the county;
iind he always claimed to have made most of his money in handling sheep.

He handled Merinos exclusively, and his wool, on account of its qualit}-

and condition, always brought the best market price. His clip one year

during the war brought him $12,000.00.

A flock of 800 sheep, descended from the flock Mr. Gentry left at his

death, are now the propertv of R. W, Gentry, above mentioned, who
lives on the old home place. In addition to these, Mr. Gentry has 200

sheep imported from Vermont, than which there are none better in the

state.

Mr. Gentry is president of the State Wool Growers Association, secre-

tary of the Pettis county Association, a member and secretary of the

Missouri State Board of Agriculture, and a young and thoroughly pro-

gressive man.

He has a farm of 1,100 acres highly improved, lying northeast of
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Sedalia, on which he proposes to keep a flock of 2,000 registered Ver-

mont sheep. He has now four large barns, and is making improvements

every year. His residence is connected with Sedalia by telephone, and

all letters and telegrams are promptly received. Mr. Gentry was the

first president of the State Wool Growers Association, and is now presi-

dent for the third time. He is ambitious to make Missouri the sheep
state of the Union, and Pettis the sheep county of the state. He is not at

all selfish, but is doing all he can to induce others to ^embark in the busi-

ness; and he is weekly answering letters from other states from parties

desiring to move to Missouri, to embark in the sheep husbandry. Parties

in Pettis having farms for sale or rent would do well to keep Mr.

Gentry informed of the fact.

Pettis county has by no means reached its full development in the mat-

ter of sheep husbandry. It has but fairl}^ made a beginning. Over

3,000 blooded sheep were shipped out of the country last year, and the

number is annuallv increasing. Mr. Gentry is shipping bucks in large

numbers to Texas. Mr. John S. Woods and the Deweese Bro's are also

shipping Merino bucks and ewes to various points in large numbers.

Messrs. Wm. M. Gentry and N. H. Gentry, who have hitherto been

raising various kinds of blooded stock, the latter especially Berkshire

hogs, have concluded to give special attention to sheep. They propose
to keep Merinos; and have already very choice flocks. The}' are half

brothers of R. W. Gentry, and the three, living on adjacent farms, hope
to control a large trade.

Sedalia is the place at which are held the annual conventions and shear-

ings of the State Association, and the meetings of the County Association;

so that Pettis county, on this account as well as on account of its railroad

facilities, may be regarded as the sheep centre of the state. The County
Association is composed at present of the following named gentlemen:
Wm. Baker, Greenridge; John S. Banks, Sedalia; Fenton Barnett,

Dresden; E. C. Bouldin, Georgetown; Dr. J. L. Cartwrigh+, Longvvood;
V. T. Chilton, Smithton; J. W. Cole, Sedalia; Oliver Elmore, Longwood;
Major Wm. Gentry, Sedalia; Wm. M. Gentry, Sedalia; N. H. Gentry,

Sedalia; R. W. Gentry, Sedalia; Joshua Gentry, Dresden; F. C. Hayman,

Longwood; T. S. Hopkins, Georgetown; J. B. Hopkins, Dresden; C. C.

Jackson, Hughesville; J. M. Jackson, Hughesville; Henry Jones, Long-

wood; S. T. Lupe, Lamonte; James McCampbell, Greenridge; Wm.
McDaniel, Houstonia; H. L. Quisenberg, Sedalia; H. B. Scott, Sedalia;

J. E. Scott, Houstonia; J. M. Sneed, Sedalia; B. P. Smith, Smithton; John

Thomas, Dresden; Hebrew Tivis, Houstonia; David Thompson, Sedalia;

J. W. Walker, Sedalia; J. S. Woods, Sedalia.

There are quite a number of sheep men in the county besides the above,

whose names no doubt will soon be enrolled. This association has thous-
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ands of sheep, and clip annually over 100,000 pounds of wool. The officers

are J. M. Sneed, president; R. W. Gentry, secretary; John S. Woods
treasurer.

Most of these jrentlemen sell their wool to local dealers, some ship to

St. Louis; while the most enterprising^ ship directly east to commission

houses, thus doing awa}- with all profits of middlemen except one, thus

realizing- a good round price. Mr. R. W. Gentry shipped this year to

Walter Brown & Co., No. 9S Federal Street, Boston, and realized for his

clip of 7,000 pounds, 27 cents, per pound over and above all expenses.
Conclusion.—The foregoing by no means comprises the entire number

of persons engaged in stock raising in Pettis county. Every where may
be found magnificent farms, stocked with thoroughbred animels of the

finest species, or of mixed breeds of excellent qualities. Every farmer

raises stock for sale in proportion as his means and the facilities of farm

afibrds. Every farmer boy is being trained in the best methods of stock

husbandry by careful experienced fathers, and granger mothers are

instructing their daughters in the art of butter making, poultry raising,

and the various domestic duties so essential to successulf husbandry. The
various conditions essential to the propogation of animal life, and its

growth and development to the highest possible standard and of excellence

exist, effecting alike both brute and human, and nowhere under the sun

can be found finer types of the human race than those " to the manor

born, "and reared in the pure air, the healthful clime, and upon the fertile

soil of matchless Pettis county.

CHAPTER XIV.—RAILROAD HISTORY.

Introduction.—First Enterprises in tliis Direction.—Slietch of tlie Inventor of tlie Locomo-
tive.—Some of tlie First Railroads.—Building of tlie Pacific Railroad.—Prominent
men in Railroad Enterprises ot the County.—The Missouri, Kansas and Texas Railroad.
—Narrow Gauge.—Lexington Branch.

In this age of great, unprecedented progress and advancement in all

that pertains to the elevation and enlightenment of mankind, nothing in all

the domains of science and art has been more effective in bringing about

these results than the invention of railroads. The imagination of men,
stimulated by the most gorgeous scenes of beauty and grandeur, could

never have conceived the marvelous and unparalleled changes that have

been wrought in this country by the introduction of railroads. Men liv-

ing in the present generation can distinctly remember when the iron-

horse first breathed from his nostrils, the dark, wavy columns of smoke
that hailed his appearance in the world. Nothing in all the realms of truth

or fiction has ever before surpassed the rapid strides the world has made,
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in ever}^ department of literature, in every field of art, and in all the rami-

fications of science, since the vcar 1830, when steam locomotion, for the

first time in the history of the world, was made a veritable fact. It need

not be claimed that this degree of advancement is due alone to the great

advantages brought on by railroads, but it may be shown that they have

contributed to these results more than any other factor; nay perhaps, more
than all the other factors that make up the civilization, refinement, and

prosperity of the present day. All nations have become neighbors The

wealthy merchant in New York can spend his summer vacations with his

relatives or friends on the distant shores of the Pacific, surrounded by all

the beauties and delicacies of a tropical clime. The northern citizen may
spend the day with his southern neighbor, and return to his home in the

same length of time. All civilized nations are brought into close connec-

tions with one another in the various relations of business and pleasure.
Time is almost annihilated, and space made as naught, by the grand and

mighty railroad and the attendant luminary, or satellite, the telegraph.
Within the last few years the telephone has added new and cheaper means

of communication of thought, especially in cities. By these rapid means

of inter-communication and exchange of products, all the learning, discov-

eries and inventions of the world are brought together, as one vast motive

power to lift up the world and make it what it is. It has been by the

united effort of mankind, brought on by our grand systems of railroads

and telegraphs, that such an impetus has been given to every department
of human activity, destined, perhaps, to continue to elevate and ennoble

the human race for coming ages, until they shall have risen to a height

so grand, so loft}^,
and so transcendant in all its aspects, as would cast in

the dark shades of barbarism, the boasted civilization of to-day.

As early as 1602 railways are mentioned in histor}^ and are thus described :

The manner of the carriage is by laying rails of timber from the colliery

to the river, exactly straight and parallel; and bulky carts are made with

four rollers fitting those rails, whereby the carriage is so easy that one

horse will draw down four or five caldron of coals, and is an immense

benefit to the coal merchants. The first iron railway was laid down near

Sheffield, England, by John Curr in 1776, but was destroyed by the col-

liers. In 1786 considerable railwa}^ was laid at Colebrook Dale, England;

however, the railway system was not sanctioned until 1801. Up to this

time the cars were drawn by horses. In 1802, a patent was applied for

and granted by the government for high pressure locomotive engines to

Trevethick and Vivian. In 1813, Wm. Hedley built the first travelling

engine or substitute for animal power. It was not till George Stephenson
in lSl-1, constructed his locomotive that speed amounted to much, and that

was only six miles per hour, but by 1829 the speed was accelerated to
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twent3^-five and thirt3--five miles per hour, and by 1830 received attention

in the United States of America.

It may be truly said that George Stephenson, an ingenious engineer,
who invented the steam engine, was one of the greatest benefactors of the

human race. His experiments covered several years, beginning with

1814.

The following is a brief sketch of this great benefactor: George Step-
henson was born at Wylam, in Northumberland, England, June 9, 1781.

His father was a fireman of a colliery, and was unable to give his children

an education at school. At the age of fourteen, George became an as-

sistant fireman in the colliery. He learned to read and write at a night
school. Having been promoted to the office of brakesman, he married

Fanny Henderson about 1802. He exercised his mechanical skill in

mending clocks, studied mechanics, and acquired a practical and the-

oretical knowledge of steam engines. In 1812 he became chief engineer
of Killingworth Colliery. His first locomotive engine was completed in

July, 1811, and drew eight loaded cars four miles an hour. He madj an-

other, with important improvements, and applied the steam blast pipe, in

1815, and soon after that date improved the construction of the railway.
In 1822 he was employed to construct a railway from Stockton to Dar-

lington, which was opened in 182.5, and was the first railway made for

public use. About 1821, Mr. Stephenson and Edward Pease, of Dar-

lington, established a manufactory of locomotives at New Castle. He was
chief engineer of the Liverpool and Manchester Railway, finished in 1803,

not without opposition from land owners and others. A prize of £500,

equal to $2,131.30, was offered by .the directors of this railwa}- for the best

locomotive, which was awarded to the "
Rocket," made by George Ste-

phenson and his son Robert, in 1830. This engine is said to have run at

the rate of thirty miles per hour, to the great amazement of the people.
He was subsequently employed as engineer of the Grand Junction Rail-

way, of that which connects London with Birmingham and other places.

He spent his latter years in the superintendence of his extensive coal

mines, and in August, 1848, he passed from the stage of action, having

spent nearly threescore years of active life.

The first railroad in the United States, built in 1826, was used in carry-

ing granite from the quarry at Quincy, Mass.; the first locomotive was im-

ported in 1829. The following year, a locomotive, the first successful one

ever constructed in this country, was produced at Baltimore, and was used

for the transportation of passengers on what is now the Baltimore and Ohio

Railroad. The same year, the Mohawk and Hudson Railroad was be-

gun between Albany and Schenectady, and in 1832 a load was drawn over

it at the rate of thirty miles an hour. From this time railroads multiplied

rapidly; and when the revulsion of 1837 occurred, more miles of railroad
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were in operation in tlie United States than in any other country. Since

then the improvements have been quite rapid, and the simple engine and

plain carriage originally used do not look much like the powerful locomo-

tives and costly cushioned and elegantly furnished cars of the present day.
The Pacitic Railroad was the first important railroad projected in the

county. The question of its location began to agitate the people as early
as 1850. There was a fierce struggle, involving much animosity and bit-

terness, carried on in the state legislature, as to whether the road should

be located on its present route, called the inland route, or along the river

counties. Prominent among the men who contributed much to bring the

road through Pettis county is Gen. Geo. R. Smith.

At the beginning of the war, 1801, the Pacific Railroad was completed
to Sedaha, and at once the town became a nucleus around which all the

country for a radius of more than fifty miles came to do business. Many
came to the terminus of the road for the purpose of work and protection

from the rebels. For about three 3-ears the road was not pushed farther

west. In 1865, after the close of the war, work was resumed.

March 2, 1857, the court made the following order:

It is ordered, that the president of this court sign the bonds of Pettis

for $100,000, heretofore ordered to be issued to the Pacific Railroad com-

pany; and the agent of the county is hereby authorized to make a sup-

plemental contract with said company, requiring that no interest shall be

charged on said bonds whilst they remain unsold. It is further ordered
that the clerk of this court attest said bonds and sign the coupons attached
thereto.

Upon the same day Gen. George R. Smith was appointed by the county
court to cast the vote of the county of Pettis for directors of the Pacific

Railroad company at the ensuing election. At this time A. M. Forbes

was president of the court, a man of considerable enterprise and ability.

The following order appears on the county court record for March 6,

1855:

Ordered, that the collector of Pettis county pay over to C. & W. Wood,
George Heard, William H. Powell and David Thomson, the amount bor-

rowed of them by the county to pay a call on the county made by the

Pacific Railroad Company, with interest, as soon as he shall collect suffi-

cient of railroad tax for that purpose.

On the tenth of this month Gen. George R. Smith was authorized by
the county court to cast his vote in the next election for directors of the

Pacific Railroad. On July 8d, 18(55, it was ordered by the court " that a

tax of one percent be levied on all property set forth, in the assessor's book

for railroad purposes for the present 3'ear." Taxation continued to be

quite heavy until the Pacific bonds were paid, and then a cessation of

prosperity intervened for several 3'ears, and with the exception of the panic

of 1873, the county has continued in prosperity.
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One of the most noted railroad men who has given time and influence

in building up Sedalia and Pettis county, benefltting and adding thousands

of dollars in value to real estate of Central Missouri is Mr. Cyrus New-

kirk, who, by foresight, cast his lot with the interests of the people of

Pettis county in I860. Here he at once inaugurated a project whereby
the Tebo and Neosho Railroad could be completed, extending from Seda-

lia to Fort Scott. Nine vears previous a charter was granted, but the

board of directors were not organized, and it was the principal object of

taking hold of this railroad and pushing it through that induced Mr. New-
kirk to come west. When the board of directors was organized, Co!. A.

C. Marvin was president, and Cyrus Newkirk treasurer. Active work

commenced in 1866, and the charter being a very liberal one, allowing the

road to extend into and through every county of the state; and the county

courts could by subscriptions encourage, grant, and issue bonds for the

construction of the road. Mr. Newkirk continued to work for this project

with alacrity until its completion. He succeeded in negotiating in

behalf of Pettis county with the Land Grant Railway and Trust Com-

pany of New York, whereby the people could have a highwa}^ opened up
for them which amounted in dollars and cents to far more than all the bonds

voted. This road is now the Missouri, Kansas and Texas, and extends north

from Sedalia to Hannibal, and south to Denison, Texas, and is now a part

of the Jay Gould combination. Col. A. D. Ja3^nes, Major Wm. Gentry,

J. R. Barrett, Reece Hughes, and others of the county had done consid-

erable for this enterprise. Gen. George R. Smith was the agent to dis-

pose of the bonds of the Tebo and Neosho Railroad for Pettis count}^,

and may be regarded as one of the leading public men of Pettis count}-

who never lost an opportunity to assist in building it up.

The Narrow Gauge Railroad, extending from Sedalia to Warsaw, in

Benton county, was accomplished by Cyrus Newkirk, the prime factor in

the movement, working about two years most valiantly before its organiza-

tion; he was also treasurer of this compan}-; Maj. Win. Gentry, presi-

dent; D. H. Smith, vice-president; and Col. Jno. D. Crawford, secretary.

Late surveys of this road extend to Springfield and Pierce City, Mo.

The object that Mr. Newkirk had in view when he was so tenaciously

working for this road was to checkmate the Osage Valley and Southern

Kansas Railroad, and take charge of the old road-bed in Benton count}-,

which was pledged to the company that would make the first road

to that county. The bonds of this company were held by St. Louis

parties, issued by the company^ whose headquarters were in Sedalia.

The road is now in the Jay Gould combination.

Chief among the leaders in constructing the Lexington branch of the

Missouri Pacific are the names of Maj. Wm. Gentry, Reece Hughes,
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Col. T. F. Houston, Judge Gibson, Col. Joe Higgins, Capt. Samuel

Shanks, with many others on the line of the road.

The city of Sedalia gave to the Pacific Railroad company twenty acres

of land and $40,000 in bonds to permanently locate the machine shops
near the city. At present all the roads that center in Pettis county belong
to the Jay Gould combination.

A project is now being warmly agitated by Cyrus Newkirk, D. H.

Smith and others, whose object is to project a railway line through
Sedalia as a competitive line. The survey of the road has now been

made and no doubt the project will not fail to be of vast moment to the

people of Pettis county.
The subject of railroads was strongly urged upon the people till 1860.

In March, 1857, the court has—
It is ordered, that A. M. Barret be and is hereby appointed agent of the

court to grant certificates of stock to persons paving railroad tax under
the various subscriptions of stock by Pettis countv to the capital stock of

the Pacific Railroad company for the amount so paid.

The Missouri Pacific Railroad enters the countv from the east on the

line of the counties of Morgan and Cooper, passing through Smithton

township, the villages of Smithton and Farmers City, thence northwest

to Sedalia, continuing in a northwesterly direction to Dresden, in Dresden

township, thence to Lamonte, in Lamonte township, thence west through

Johnson county.
The Missouri, Kansas and Texas Railroad extends from Sedalia in a

southwesterlv direction, passing through a portion of Prairie, Washington
and Greenridge townships, extending through the towns of Windsor, Lewis'

Station, Clinton, LaDue and Montrose of Henry county. From Sedalia

this road extends northeasterly to Beaman, in Bowling Green township,
thence to Boonville.

The Narrow Gaugre extends south from Sedalia through Flat Creek

township, thence to Warsaw, in Benton county.
A proposed route extends from Marshall, Saline county, through Seda-

lia, thence somewhere south.

In reality the Missouri Pacific Railroad was completed to Sedalia in

January, 1S61, where it remained the terminus till in the fall of 1863; but

there was little vim or energy spent in building the road except as the

government gave it aid till the close of the war.

Soon after the completion of the Pacific Railroad to Sedalia, might be

seen almost every day long trains of cars, heavily laden with lumber,

business houses, residences and shops of all kinds, transported from towns

and villages along the line of the road from the east as far as Otterville,

eighteen miles distant.
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CHAPTER XV.-MARTIAL HISTORY.

Introduction—The Strife in Pettis County —The SufTerings of Wives and Mothers—The
First Companies Raised—Men engaged in Raising the Forces—Col. Jno. F. Philips
—

Capt. Jno. M. Sneed and his Roll of Privates—The Progress of the War—Home
Guards—Table of 7th Cavalry M. S. >r. and 40th E. M. S. M.—The Sedalia Post.

"True patriots all
;
for be it understood,

We left our country for our country's good."—Geo. Barrington.

Years must elapse before a written sketch of an}' internecine war can

be rightly appreciated. The struggle between the Federal government
of the United States and the Southern Confederacy was a long and bitter

conflict, in which neighbors and, in many instances, brothers met as com-

mon foes upon the battle held.

The historian has labored earnestly to gather facts of .interest pertain-

ing to the conflict between the north and south, collecting from the

most reliable sources, winnowing the chafl^ from the materials collected,

and pruning down the partisan spirit, making an impartial record of the

darkest davs that our country has ever witnessed.' Some excellent

histories of the Great Rebellion have been written. However, there are

but few which have not borne the tinge of political afliliations. All fact is

truth, but all truth is not fact. It is the province of the historian to keep
facts before his readers. In presenting facts for the generations yet to

come, dignity and honesty should be alike preserved.
In this great conflict the European stood amazed that a nation which

had sprung into existence almost bv magic within three-quarters of a

century could be divided and furnish the immense armies marshaled

mainly from the plow and work-shop into the held, the great battles,

splendid generalship, dashing feats of arms, masterly strategy, brilliant

tactics, bravery of soldiers, grand charges and terrible battle-fields, vast

resources, the sanitary system, and the strong resolutions and firm endur-

ance of the people, challenging the admiration of the world in their braver}-

and military skill. Indeed, throughout the history of modern times there

are no eftbrts more amazing, no sacrifices more unbounded, no achieve-

ments more brilliant on record, than those of the armies of the north and

south. In this fratricidal war brave men went forth to battle, in whose veins

proudly coursed kindred blood, whose pioneer fathers had stood in defense

of the American flag in the war of 1812, and in the revolution that gave
birth to this republic.

The war is now over, and throughout the broad expanse of our country
we find many people, animated by the noblest sentiments, impartial in

their oflering to the memory of the dead. They strew flowers alike upon
the graves of the blue and the gray. In our broad land, from every
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neii^hborhood the hand of affectionate relatives of both Confederate and

Federal soldiers think of the blue and the gray as they sleep:
" Under the sod and the dew,

Waiting the judgment day;
Love and tears for the Blue,

Tears and love for the Gray."

The civil war in Pettis count}^ was four years of that particular strife,

in which many citizens of the county arrayed themselves in the ranks of

the contending armies; and very many of them died of disease and

wounds, or were slain upon the field of battle, whilst others at the close

of the struggle found homes in other states. This was a period of sore

distress and calamity to the people of Pettis county. The wails of widows
and orphans were heard for the loss of husbands, fathers and brothers.

Tlie population of the county was more than decimated by the casualties

of the war, valuable personal property and even life itself became unsafe.

Bands of marauders from the cesspools of both contending armies often

dashed upon the peaceable citizens, and after doing what mischief they

could, skedaddled from the county before an armed force could take them.

In this way man}" acts of lawlessness were perpetrated.

During the days when the dark cloud of war hung over the county

man}' citizens sought refuge in other sections of the state and in other

states. Homes were abandoned, farms ceased to be cultivated, and lands

depreciated in value. Debts were reduced to judgment and execution,

and real-estate sacrificed under the hainmer. Families were driven,

almost penniless, from their homes, and in brief, the whole county seemed

to be involved in utter ruin. The most sanguine mind could scarcely have

hoped to witness within the following decade a restoration of the county
to its former wealth, population and prosperity; and yet, notwithstanding
the ravages of war, at the return of peace in the spring of 1865, many of

the people who survived this dreadful civil strife and carnage came back

to their homes and devoted themselves again to their loved vocations with

renewed energy.
In 1861, when the civil war assumed a belligerent form in Pettis county

there was no neutral ground. The zealous advocates of secession espoused
the cause of the Southern Confederacy and inarched away with the first

opportunity to join in the ranks of battle. Many of the most valiant and

trustworthy citizens of the county, frantic like, rushed into this cause,

which, with many of their lives, rights and property, was lost. On the

other hand the friends of the Union enlisted in the militia and regular Fed-

eral service as the country called thein forth. The struggle was so bitter

and unpleasant to the citizens who desired to remain at home that by the

summer of 1863 there was not one out of ten of the population of 1860.

In many instances old men were shot down while holding the plow, who
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in every respect, especially on account of their age, felt safe in stayino- at

home and cultivating^ the farm that their children mig^ht have bread.

However, these men had their sentiments, and a right to proclaim them,
and thus they became martyrs for this sentiment. In this dark time that

tried men's souls every man had his friends and enemies, and often the latter

outnumbered the former. The enemies that were accustomed to plunder
murder and rnake raids into neighborhoods of law-abiding citizens were
once neihgbors, and their taking different sides aroused a striking enmity
which frequently had a fatal termination. At times so few men
were allowed to stay at home that women and children were obliged to

plant and cultivate the fields or starve. Cases of families whose standing
was high and living in luxury, the daughters, whose hands were unskilled

to toil and hardships, went into the fields, drove the ox teams (for no

horses could be kept), cultivated the soil, harvested the grain, and per-
formed the drudgeries common to the most menial farm laborer. Such was
the pluck and chivalry of the Pettis county girls in many instances, whose
noble virtues, brave and self-reliance, have ever kept them in their proper

sphere. The noble mothers and daughters of this county deserve great

praise for their patient endurance of fatigue and hardships during those

black days of fearful guerrilla warfare within the limits of their own

neighborhoods.
At the outbreak of the war Captain Samuel Montgomery organized the

first compan}' of soldiers in defense of the Union. Dr. Joe. M. Fox raised

the first Confederate company. These companies were organized in the

spring of 1S61, when the country was all aflame and panting for war.

The rebels had taken Ft. Sumter, and the South was jubilant of the vic-

tory and the constant cry was "on to Washington." Hundreds of the citizens,

whose affiliations and sympathies were with the secessionists, drifted

to the scene of conflict and carnag*^, many of whom never returned. The
first two 3'ears the secessionists had things about their own way, after

which the "tables were turned," and the Federals from every direction

swept over the county, scouting for bushwhackers, taking possession of

the towns. They partially held them till the surrender of Gen. Lee, at

Appomattox court house, April 9th, 1865.

Captain D. M. Williams and
JVlaj. J. C. Woods raised forces for the

Confederates. E. D. Williams, a worthy citizen, was shot in trying to

escape from the Federals and join Gen. Price. U. F. Short, now a prom-
inent lawyer of Sedalia, was a soldier in the Confederate service,also Col. T.

P. Hoy, Rob't C. Wood and John Burris. Wm. H. Field was among the

slain on the Southern side. Dr. T. E. Staples was quite active in recruit-

ing and equipping forces for the Confederates in this and Saline counties.

Among the Union officers that scouted in the county and had head-

quarters in Sedalia, we mention Col. R. R. Spedden, Lieut. J. H. Brown,
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Maj. Gentry, Captains Jno. M. Sneed, W. K. Ramey, Geo. Lawes, Dr.

J. P. Thatcher, Sam'l Brown and. W. W. Cross, The soldiers in the M.
i5. M. were clothed, fed and paid by the state. Besides the regular militia,

bands were organized and known as Home Guards, for the protection of

their homes. In some instances those who enlisted were no better than

those for whom they were prepared to confront in battle. Col. Jno. F.

Phillips organized the Tth M. M., which was not to go ouj; of the state

unless in defense of the state against invading enemies. These soldiers

were paid and equipped the same as regular soldiers of the Federal army.

Company
"
C," 40th E. M. M., had the following officers: Adjutant, Chas.

P. Townsley; Maj., Wm. Gentry: Lieut. Col., J. H. Brown; Col., R. R.

Spedden; Capt., Jno, D. Crawford; 1st Lieut, C. C. Crawford; 2rid

Lieut., Jno. F. Yankee.

These men were well chosen and well fitted for the positions they held.

The}' held the Sedalia post through the dark days of raiding, bushwhack-

ing rage. On the 1-ith day of October, ISBl, when the rebels had cut the

telegraph wires and burned the railroad bridges between St. Louis and

5edalia, thus cutting off all communication, a small squad of militia

w^ere left in Sedalia, almost defenseless, when Gen. Jeff. Thompson, with

about 1500 half starved soldiers, marched into Sedalia with three pieces

of artillery, at once capturing the city, and after killing a few men, he com-

menced plundering. He overran the town, ransacked the stores, and

took all the goods his force could carry. The few militia, to save

their lives, were compelled to make a ha.sty retreat in the direction of

Flat Creek. Since no reinforcements could be had, Jeff. Thompson
quietly left the cit}^ unmolested.

The following is the list of names of Company
"
D," 40 Reg. E. M. M. :

Captain, Jno. M. Sneed; 1st Lieut,, R. M. Funk; Quartermaster, H. R.

Dobyns; 2d Lieut., jno. G. Reisler; Sergeants, George Neely, Silas D.

Helton; Corporals, David A, Bagby, Harvey Folkenth, Robert M. Funk,
Green S, Cockrell, Washington Stark, Thornton Farris. The following
names embrace the privates: Alexander Anderson, William Anderson,
Newton T. Burge, William A. Burge, William Baker, James W. Brown,
Thomas B, Champen, John Cole, Daniel Donnohue, Leonidas Derby,
William Degarnett, Henrv C, Donnohue, Jefferson Degarnett, Barton W.
Degarnett, Ainstead Henderson, Thos, J. Johnson, Daniel Johnson, Willis

P, King, Anderville Lambert, George Lansur, Lewis F. Metcalf, Thos,

F. Melvin, William J, iMoler, Thos. F. Parisett, Simon E. Pollard, Micheal

Ramsour, John Shobe, John C. Shy, Job Stevens, David Thomas, William

Thomas, Reuben Thomas, Mason Brown, D. T. Williams, William

Williams.

The earliest organization of troops in this county to suppress the rebel-

lion was made under the call of the president for 75,000 men, which
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was issued April 15, 1861. It was April, May, and June of this year, under

the most adverse circumstances, that these companies were organized.
As the summer of 1862 advanced, the rebels throui>-hout the state,

elated by the temporary success of their friends, became bolder, and cluntj

with desperation to the idea that there was yet some prospect of re-estab-

ing by force of arms their friend, Governor Jackson, and his state gov-
ernment. To accomplish this, a thorough system of organization was

commenced, which was set on foot and was rapidly being formed by men
who had returned from the rebel service through the Union lines; men of

influence and respectability in the different localities where they had form-

erly resided. About the first of September a general uprising of the

secessionists took place in this and other parts of the state. Thev relied

on the strong faith they had in their leaders.

As an example of the zeal and fervor the southern sympathizers yet
had in their leaders, we give one which will suffice: Col. Coftey, with

five hundred men from the rebel armv, came into the state from the south-

west in the month of July, avoiding the Union posts, and, no sooner had

he reached the central part of the state than, in the short space of ten

days, his numbers were increased to nearly 6,000, and it was only with

great loss on the part of Union soldiers that he was finally beaten and

driven back beyond the lines of tht Union army.
Under the existing circumstances of that time the state was compelled

to enforce a more and more rigid discipline. Bands of bushwhackers and

guerrillas were forming in vigilant and daring companies, independent of

any army regulations for the purpose of retaliation upon those whom they
laid the blame of their misfortunes. In these cliques w^ere aged men and

bo3'S, whose blood was hot and desperate for marauding. No doubt

many were wronged, and both parties engaged in this fratricidal conflict.

Men forgot themselves, their country, and their interest, and rushed hotly

upon a supposed foe, having dispatched his life, they burned his house,

and soon were meditating and concocting other diabolical schemes. Both

parties raised the black flag. Especially was this true in the guerrilla bands

of militia and bushwhackers. By the middle of the summer of 1862 the

rebel guerrillas had made inroads all over the state, and the adjutant

general, for the protection of the loyal citizens, made an urgent order

which was published by General Schofield, requiring an immediate orga-
nization of all the militia of the state for the purpose of exterminating
the guerrillas that infested Central Missouri. Every able-bodied man

capable of carrying arms, and subject to military duty, was ordered to

repair, without delay, to the nearest military post, and report for dut}-, to

the commanding officer. Every man was required to lake with him what

arms he could procure and a good horse. The order gave them the priv-

ilege of taking whatever property they could utilize, such as arms, ammu-
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nition, and horses, not in possession of lo3-al families, to be used in public
defense' in crippling the rebellion. This daring act on the part of the

Federal authorities embittered the southern sympathizers and made the

bushwhackers more furious. Man}^ of the disbanded militia who had
returned peaceably to their rural homes were shot down while at the plow,
and on the other hand the mihtia show^ed no mercy to the southerner,
whether in arms or peaceably at home. This was the most horrid and

terror-sticken 3'ear of the war. Life was a bubble cast upon the sea of

time, with but little more its defense. The military posts were often the

cess-pools of crime and disgrace to patriotic pride. Hatred and envy
rose high, and honest}^ and purity of purpose was rarely found.

Pettis county was at that time in the Fifth Military District; Captain
A. C. Marvin was provost marshal of this district; A. S. O'Bannon,
commissioner, and Bernard Bruns, surgeon. Under the general order of

the War Department Col. Jno. F. Philips organized the Seventh Infantr}^,

U. S. Volunteers, and was one of the most reputable regiments of the

state, with headquarters part of the time in Sedalia, 978 strong. The
First Missouri State Militia Batter}^, with seventy-four strong, was sta-

tioned in Sedalia during 1863.

The "Pettis County Home Guards" was a mounted, independent

company, organized b}^ authority of General Lyon, June, 1861, and per-
formed duty in Pettis and adjoining counties until the following August,
when the same was disbanded. The officers were: Captain, Jno. P.

Thatcher; First Lieut., Jac. Yankee; Second Lieut., Jas. M. Bohon. The

aggregate strength of the company was ninety-tw^o.

June 23, 1862, the 6th Cavalry M. S. M., commanded by Col. E. C.

Catherwood, was ordered by Brig. Gen. Schofield to move immediately
to Sedalia. The regiment consisted of ten companies, moving from

Liberty via Richmond and Lexington. The regiment arrived at SedaHa,

June 15, 1862, and at once reported to Gen. Patten that the companies
were ready for duty. Two companies, G and H, remained at Cam-
eron to dispose ot military stores, and did not reach Sedalia till June
21st. Here the regiment was stationed during the summer of 1862, per-

forming police and post duty, escorts, scouts, thus effectually protecting
a section of country, with an area of 6,000 square miles. A detachment

of companies A, B and E left Sedalia, August 12th, under Assis't

Surg. J. W. F. Clawges, Serg. Maj. W. D. Hubbard, Stew. E. T. Dun-

ham, and chief bugler Jno. S. Dugan, marching to Lone Jack via Lex-

ington, and participated in the severe action there August 16, 1862.

The headquarters of this regiment were changed from Sedalia to War-

rensburg, August 30, 1862, and again from Warrensburg to SedaHa, Sep-
tember 14, 1862, remaining at the latter place until the 28th day of Octo-
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ber, Vv'hen the entire regiment, except companies
" D " and "

E," sta-

tioned at Calhoun, was ordered to Harrisonville.

An account of the 7th Missouri Cavah-y of state militia, under Col.

Philips, who has long been identified with the interests of Pettis county,

will be of interest to his many friends who stood bravely by him in the

camp:
Headquarters, 7th Cavalry, M. S. M.,

Sedalia, Mo., Dec. 21, 1863.

Col. John B. Gray, Adj. Gen. Missouri:
Sir: In reply to your communication of the 18th inst., (just received,)

I have the honor to report that my reg'iment was recruited in Central Mis-

souri, in the winter of 1861 and 1862, under the most adverse circum-

stances. The whole countr}^ was filled with rebel armies and guerrilla

bands, and recruiting was carried on at the point of the bayonet, literally

having to fight into the recruits and to bring them to the recruiting stations

at Sedalia and Warrensburg, under strong escort. In Johnson county we
had two fierce engagemets with Gordon's and Quantrell's bands, in which

Maj. Foster and Capt. Foster, of the regiment, were severely wounded,
and Lieut. Jewell killed. On the 1st day of May, 1862, the regimental
organization was perfected, as announced in genera] order. No. 15, series

1862, from headquarters, A. G. O., State of Missouri, and was then sta-

tioned at Georgetown, Missouri.

Companies A, D and E were, during the months of July and August,
1862, stationed at Boonville, Missouri, under command of Lieut. Col. T. T.

Crittenden, and participated in the remarkable and somewhat romantic
and adventurous pursuit of the rebel forces under Col. Poindexter in North
Missouri. Compan}^ D, under Capt. Turley, especially distinguished
itself in the engagement at Compton's Ferry, where at a single volley it

killed some thirty rebels, crossing Grand river in a ferry boat, and at

Switzler's Mills with distinguished valor.

The headquarters of the regiment were at Syracuse, Missouri, from 1st

of June to 15th of August, 1862. On the 16th' day of August, 1862, Maj.
Foster fought 2,500 rebels at Lone Jack, with 800 Union soldiers. A
part of this regiment participated, losing one-third of the force engaged^
and behaving with a desperate valor almost unparalleled in small engage-
ments. Here Maj. Foster fell, having been most seriousU- wounded. Our
entire force marched immediately under my command, with 1,500 others,
to the relief of Lexington, returning to Sedalia on the 19th of August,
having marched 125 miles. From Sedalia, on the night of the 20th of

August, we marched under Gen. Totten to the relief of Springfield, Mis-

souri; we marched day and night, via Osceola, reaching Springfield on the

27th of August; distance marched, one hundred and thirty-five miles.

We remained at Camp Schofield, near Springfield, till night of 21st Sep-
tember, when the regiment marched thirty-five miles to Crane Creek, to

watch movements of enemy at Cassville, and check his apprehended ad-

vance on Springfield; while there we had several skirmishes with the

enemy.
On the 13th of October marched from Crane Creek, arriving at Cass-

ville on the 11th. Here we joined the Army of the Frontier, the regiment
12
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being in the 2d brigade, (Col. Philips, commanding,) 3d division, (Gen . Her-

ron, commanding.) The regiment was in all the heavy marches and priva-
tions of the Army of the Frontier, and was highly complimented for its

good behavior in the battle of McGuires, between Fayetteville and Hunts-

ville, Arkansas, on the 28th of October. From Cross Hollows, Arkansas,
the regiment, on the 3d of November, 1862, marched via Elk Horn Tavern
to Newtonia, where it remained, having almost daily skirmish actions

with Livingston's guerrillas, until December 11th, when it marched for

Elk Horn Tavern, where it arrived on the 13th of December.
On January 8, 1863, Capt. Houts, Company A, marched with 100 men,

in the night, to Berryville, forty-five miles, surprised a camp of guerrillas,

killing ten men and losing none. At 11 o'clock, p. m., on the 11th of

January, 1863, the regiment marched to the relief of Springfield, then
infestad by rebels under Marmaduke, reaching Springfield on the night
of the 12th, having marched eight}^ miles. From there it marched in pur-
suit of rebels towards Hartsville, in mid winter, weather intensely cold,
without tenis or transportation. Returned to Springfield on the 18th of

January, having marched lOO miles.

On the 20th of January, regiment moved to Greenfield, Missouri, where
its headquarters remained until 28th of May; one battalion, under Maj.
Suess, being encamped at Linden, Christian county, one at Carthage,
under Lieut. Col. Crittenden. On 13th of Februai-}-, five companies of

3d Missouri state militia were consolidated with the regiment, making it

a twelve company regiment. During February, March, April and May,
the regiment had a number of heavy engagements with guerrillas, killing
a large number.
On the 1st of June, headquarters of regiment were changed to Newtonia,

where 1st and 3d battalions joined. During June and July this command
killed, in several engagements, seventy guerrillas. In June had heavy
encounter with guerrilla chief, Maj. Livingston. On the 28th of July,
entire command marched toward "Cow Skin Prairie to break up rebel

camp under Cofiey; failed to find him, returned to camp; distance

marched, 100 miles.

On the 1st of August, 1863, the regiment was transferred from south-

west district to central district, Missouri, where it remains to this writing.
In August and September it had several engagements in Lafayette, John-
son and Morgan counties, with bushwhackers, having killed thirty or

more in all. From the 6th of October to the 18th of October, the regi-
ment was in pursuit day and night of rebel forces under Gen. Shelby,
and skirmished and fought with his rear guard for four days, until general

engagement with him at Marshall, Missouri, on 13th of October, in

which the regiment largely participated, driving the enemy from the

ground, scattering and dispersing him in much confusion. And on the

14th, this regiment captured his train and ambulances, and three wagon
loads of ammunition. Since which raid the regiment has been distributed

at various stations in Central Missouri. It is ditficult to compute the

aggregate distance traveled by the regiment, much of its marching hav-

ing been done in detachments. Proximately, I will fix the distance at five

thousand miles.

I am. Colonel, with much respect, your obedient servant,

John F. Philips,
Colonel yth Cavalry^ Missouri State Militia.
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SEVENTH CAVALRY, MISSOURI STATE MILITA.

DATE. NAME. RANK.
TO RANK
FROM.

ACCOUNTED FOR. DATE.

May 1, 18G2

July 12, 1862
Dec. 16, 1862
Mar. 27, 1863
Dec. 24, 1862
Oct. 14, 1862
Nov. 5, 1862
Mav 17. 1862
June 18, 1863
Mar. 4, 1862

May 14, 1862
Nov. 14, 1862

April 25. -63

May 15, 1862

Mar. 13, 1862

April 10, '63

Mar. 13, 1862

May 5, 1862

April 10, '63

Mar. 13, "63

April 10, '63

April 25, '62

Jan. 16. 1863

April 25, '62

July 16, 1862
Jan. 16, 1863

April 26, '62

Feb. I'J, 1863
Dec 17,1863
April 26, '62

July 16, 1862
Dec 22, 1862
Feb. 19, 1863

April 26, '62

Dec. 26, 1862
Mar. 23, 1863
Dec. 17, 1863

April 13, '62

May 29, 1862

April 13, '62

May 29, 1862

July 26, 1862

April 13, '62

May 29, 186?

July 26, 1862

April 10, '62

John F. Philips. .

Thos. T. Crittenden

Emery S Foster . .

J. B.Rowland
Henry Suess
Thomas W. Hoats.

Joseph W. Pennock
Samuel K. Hall. . .

John II. Moore. . . .

Charles C.Tibbetts
T.J. Montgomery.
Charles C. Tibbetts

Fayette Clapp. . . .

James L. Edwards
.Mills T. Chastain.
Robert A. Foster. .

COMPANY "A."

Thomas W. Houts.

Josejjh Peak
John M . Jewell. . .

Joseph Peak
Allen H. Christian
Allen H. Ciiristian

George P. Chiles. .

COMPANY " B."

R. L. Ferguson. . .

Henry Suess
Sam'i H. McGuire
Geo. W. McGuire.
Sam'l H. McGuire
Ambrose Daly

COMPANY •' C."

W. W. Miller
Hiram C. J. Fewell
Wm. P. Baker....
John Coalter

Heury T. Dodson.
NatlianielJ Bailey
Francis Pharis. . . .

H. A. Waltermire.
Francis Pharis. . . .

Wm. P. liaker...
James L. Couch. . .

COMPANY " D."

Jesse J. Turley. . .

James M. Turley. .

James M. Turley. .

George A. White. .

Freder'k W. Becker

George A. White. .

James Ramey . . . .

George N. Heaton.
Alex'der McGoffie.

Col . . .

Lt Col

Major.

Adjt..
Q. M.
Comy
Surgn

As. Sn

Chap .

Capt .

1st Lt,

(I

2dLt.

Capt .

IstLt.

2d Lt.

Capt .

1st Lt,
Li

U

ii

2d Lt.

Capt .

lst?Lt.

a

2d Lt.

May 1, 1862.

July 12, 1862
Dec. 16, 1862
Feb. 16, 1863
Dec. 24,1862
Oct. 1, 1862
Nov. 5, 1862
Mav 1, 1862
June 18, 1863
Mar. 4, 1862

April 14, '62

Nov. 14, '62

April 25, '62

May 15, 1862

Resigned .

Died at Bloomfield, Mo

Pro'd to Surg. 6th Cav.

Resigned

Jan. 11,1862

April 4, 1863
Jan. 11, 1862

April 7, 1862

April 4, 1863
Jan. 11,1862
April 4, 1862

Mar. 24, 1862

Jan. 6, 1863
Mar. 24, 1862

July 12, 1863
Jan. 6, 1863

April 8,

Feb. 7,

Dec . 14,

April 8,

July 12,

Dec. 15,

Feb. 7,

April 5,

Dec 15,

Mar. 16,

Dec. 13,

April 2,

May 23,

April 2,

May 23.

July 19,

April 2,

May 23,

July 19,

April 4,

1862
1863
1863
1862
1862'

1862
1863
1862
1862
1863
1863

1862
1862
1862
1862
1862
1862
1862
1862
1863

Promoted to Major. . .

Dd . of wds . reed in ac .

Promoted to Captain .

Promoted to 1st Lieut.

Promoted to Major. .

Resigned
Promoted to 1st Lieut.

Mustered

Resigned.

Resigned
Resigned
Died ....

out.

Died
Promoted to 1st Lieut.

Promoted to Captain.

Died

Promoteil to Captain.
Resigned

Sept. 24, '62

Promoted to 1st Lieut.

Resigned

May 19, '63

Sept. 24, '62

Feb. 16, '63

Mar. 27, '62

April 4, '63

April 4, ,'63

Dec. 16, '62

July 3, 1862

Jan. 6, 1863

Dec.
Oct.

July
Nov
Dec.

Nov,
Feb.
Dec.

31, '62

22, 1863

3, 1862
, 18, 1862

25, 1862

9, 1862

7, 1863

14, '63

May IS, 1862

May
June

23, 1862

30, '62

22, 1862

8, 1862

7, 1863

Au'^-. 19, '63

May
July
Jan.
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SEVENTH CAVALRY, MISSOURI STATE MILITIA.— CONTINUED.

DATE . NAME . RANK.
TO RANK
FROM .

ACCOUNTED FOR. DATE.

April 2fi, '62

Nov. 18. '62

April 26, '62

July 26, '62

Nov. 18, '62

April 26, '62

July 26, '62

Sept. 21, '63

April 25, '62

April 25, '62

April 25, '62

Jan . 12, 1862

April 26, '62

Sept. 2, 1863

April 26, '62

Feb 19, '63

April 26, '62

May 16, '63

April 23, '62

June 22, '63

April 23, '62

Aug. 8, 1862
it

Nov. 3, 1862

April 23, '62

Dec. 2, 1862

April 23, '62

April 29, '63

April 23, '62

Mar. 23, '63

May 14, '62

April 23, '62

May 2, 1862

COMPANY "E."

Owen D. Havely. .

Abraham Darst. .

John B. Rowland.
Abraham Darst...
James H.Crawford
Benj. B. Edwards
.James S. Carelton.
T. H. B. Mitchell.

COMPANY "F."

Benj. H. Wilson.
Rush J. Learning.
John S. Crane

Capt
Ik

1st Lt

u

2d Lt

COMPANY " G."

Melville U. Foster.
Richard M. Box . . .

U'm. L. Christian

Sandy Lowe
David V.Marr....

COMPANY " H "

Elias Slocum
Richard M. Box. . .

John Atkisson
Gustavus Westheff

Joseph W. Penuock

George W. Houts..

COMPANY "
I."

Squire Ballew
Geo. T. Prichard.

George W. Calvin.

George T. Hamlin.

COMPANY " K."

Wm. B. Ballew...
Elii^ha Horn
William D. Wilson

COMPANY " L:

Murline C. Henslee
William Argo. . . .

Aaron Mcintosh . . .

COMPANY "M."

James McMurtry...
O. B. Queen
Charles Holtzinger
O. B. Queen
Reuben T. Berry.
A. A. McElhany..
Saml K. Hall 1st L
A. C. Marvin "

Capt
1st Lt
2d Lt

Capt .

1st Lt
u

2d Lt

Capt .

1st Lt

2d Lt,

Capt
1st Lt

2d Lt.

Capt
1st Lt
2dLt

Capt
1st Lt
2d Lt

Capt .

1st Lt

2d Lt.
B. Ajt

April 12,1862
Nov. 8, 1862
Mar. 16, 1862

July 19, 1862
Nov. 8, 1862

April 12,1862

July 15, 1862

Sept. 1, 1863

April 17,1862

April 31,1862
it

Dec. 23, 1863

April 21,1862
Oct. 9, 1862

April 21,1862

Aug. 24, 1862
Feb. 3, 1862
Feb. 7, 1863

April 3,1862

May 9, 1863

April 4, 1862

June 14, 1863

April 4, 1862

July 28, 1862

Aug 13,1862

April 5, 1862
Nov. 27, 1862

April 12,1862

April 18,1863
Mar. 18, 1862
Mar. 16, 1863

May 1, 1863

April 12,1862

May 1, 1862

Died

Promoted to Major. . .

Promoted to Captain .

Resigned

Promd. to Capt. Co. H

Resigned

Resigned

Resigned

Promoted to Adjutant

Resigned

Resigned

Resigned
Promoted to Captain

Mustered out

Oct. 5, 1863

July 12, 1863
Nov. 8, 1862

June 24, 1862
Jan 7, 1863

Aug. 24, 1863

Sept. 23, 1862

June 2,1863

Nov. 18, 1862

Dec. 24, 1862

May 30, 1863

April 10, '63

Mar. 3, 1863

April 18, '63

Oct. 1, 1862

July 29, 1863
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40th regiment enrolled MISSOURI MILITIA,

DATE OP
COMMISSION.

NAME. RANK TO RANK
FROM. ACCOUNTED FOR. DATE.

Sept. 25, 'G2

(I

((

Nov. 28, '62

Dec. 13, 1862

Sept. 6, 1862

(Sept. 6, 1862

Mrch 14, '63

Sept. 6, 1862

Sept. 6, 1862

Feb. 3, 1863

Sept. 6, 186^

Nov. 25, 18G2
Oct. 14, 1862

Sept. 6, 1862

Sept. 6, 1862

Sept. 6, 1862

R. RSpedden....
•James H Brown. .

William Gentry. . .

C. P. Townsley . . .

John Hancock . . .

Hilory R. Dotjyns.
WilkinsWatkius. .

COMPANY "A."

Milton D. Berry. ..

Wm. F. McGuire..
Alex. A. Porter

COMPANY "B."

William KRamey
.James A. Ramey. .

J . M. Van Reagan .

William Kellerm'n

COMPANY "C."

John D. Crawford.
C. C. Crawford...
John F. Yankee. . .

COMPANY "D."

John M. Sneed
James B. Roberts. .

Robert Funk
John Ct. Reisler. . .

COMPANY "E."

R. R. Spedden....
William H. Cross.
John W. Christian
Wm. J. Satterwhite

COMPANY "F."

John P. Thatcher . .

P. A. Thatcher . . .

Benj. F. Yankee. .

COMPANY "G."

S. D. Foulke
C. Bondnrant
W.H. P. Thompson

COMPANY "H."

Theodore Bloess.. .

C. F. Fisher
Fred. J. Kissel

Col...
Lt Col

Major
Adj't.

Q. M.

Surarn

Capt.
1st Lt,

2d Lt.

Capt.
1st Lt
2dLt

Capt .

1st Lt
2d Lt

Capt
1st Lt

2dLt

Capt .

Ik

1st Lt
2d Lt

Capt.
1st Lt
2dLl

Capt.
1st Lt
2d Lt

Capt.
1st Lt
2dLt

Sept. 10, '62

Aug. 8, 1862
Dec. 6, 1862
Dec. 8, 1862

Auar. 28, '62

Aug. 28, '62
U

Feb. 28, 1863

Aug. 18, '62

July 28, 1862

Dec. 1, 1862

July 28. 1862

Aus: 17, 1862

Sepl. 27, '62

Aug. 17, '62

Aug. 28, '62

Aug. 18, '62

July 29, 1862

Resigned.

Resigned.

Died.

Resigned

Resigned

Promoted to Colonel
DisTiissed

Resigned

<1

Aug. 20, 1863

Dec. 5, 1862

Mrch 21, '63

Nov. 11, 1862

Dec. 37,1862

Sept. 10, '62

Mrch 20, '63

Feb. 1, 1863
Feb. 28, 1863
Feb. 28, 1863
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40th regiment enrolled MISSOURI MILITIA—CONTINUED.

DATE OF
COMMISSION .

NAME. RANK TO RANK
FROM ACCOUNTED FOR DATE.

Dec. 23, 1862
Feb. 25, 1863
Nov. 17,1863
Dec. 23,1862
Deb. 25,1862
Feb. 23, 1862

Aug. 15, '62

COMPANY -1."

.J. B. Hopkins,. . .

Samuel H. Brown
-T. B. Hopkins. . .

Samuel H. Brown
Nath. G. Brown. .

Nath. G. Brown. .

COilPANY "K."

William L. Houts
John W. Brockman
William J. Pace. .

Capt.

1st Lt
U

U

2dLt

Capt .

1st Lt
2d Lt

Nov.
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Cavalry, 15; 4th Cavalry, 1; 6th Cavalry, 76; 7th Cavalry, 25; 10th

Cavalry, 2; 11th Cavalry, 15; Engineers of the West, 1. Total, 206.

1st Infantry, M. S. M., 2; 6th Cavalry, M. S. M., 2; 7th Cavalry, M.
S. M., 623. Total, 627.

It was by the prompt and early organization of her citizens into militia

bands that Pettis county was saved to the Union, and escaped much of

the sad experience which fell to the lot of many counties of the state.

The officers of the -Ith Regiment, E. M. M., will be found elsewhere.

This regiment was stationed at Warrensburg, during the winter of 1862-

63, Col. Spedden commanding the post. The field of operation was, for

the most part, confined to Central Missouri. In the fall of 1863 a portion

of the force was detailed to serve in what was called provisional regi-

ments. John D. Crawford, captain of company C, took command of com-

pany K, 5th Provisional Regiment, and was stationed at Clinton, Henry

county. Manv of the soldiers enlisted in the 45th Missouri Volunteer

Infantry. Some went to the artillery, while others entered the cavalry

service.

June 13, 1864, John D. Crawford was commissioned as colonel of the

40th Regiment, and on the 23d day of September following, was ordered

by Maj. Gen. Rosecrans to report the efTective strength of his command
to headquarters, holding himself in readiness, together with his command,
for immediate active service. September 26th, three days later, he was

ordered to report his command to Brig. Gen. E. B. Brown, for duty. At

this time, besides Col. Crawford, there were only three commissioned

officers in the regiment and about two hundred men subject to military

duty.
Gen. Sterling Price, of the Confederate forces, had entered the south-

eastern part of the state, and all of the available forces of the govern-
ment west of the Mississippi river were concentrating in that direction.

The post at Sedalia had been abandoned. Col. Crawford took command
of the post at Sedalia, and organized the citizens of that place and sur-

rounding outposts for duty. There were many citizens who refused to

enter the service or do any military duty, at that time, principally owing
to the fact that guns and ammunition could not be had of such quality

and quantity, as to effectually arm the command. They relied chiefly

upon themselveir for equippage. Earthworks were thrown up tempora-
rilv about town. The citizens enrolled and elected their officers and a

strict discipline was enforced as the circumstances demanded.

About the 11th of October the army of Gen. Price crossed the Missouri

Pacific railroad west of Jefterson City, where they cut the telegraph

wires and burned the bridge at Otterville. Other bridges were burned.

The garrison at Sedalia was ordered by Brig. Gen. Brown to immedi-

ately abandon the post. Scouts were out constantly, and the mounted
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portion of the garrison were frequentl}^ engaged with squads of the

enemy's forces.

On the 14th of October, 1864, Brig. Gen. John B. Sanborn, U. S. cav-

ah-y forces, commanding, passed through Pettis from east to northwest

at noon, at Georgetown, three miles north of Sedalia. His sick and dis-

abled were reported to the post, and the march continued to Lexington.

On the following day, October 15th, the small garrison at Sedalia was

attacked by a portion of Price's army, estimated at 2,000, and three

pieces of artillery, under General JetF. Thompson. The artillery of

the Confedrates was planted north of town, and the cavalry advanced

from east to w^est. . After a short engagement, the rebels took possession

of the town. During the fight the Union forces lost three killed, and

about forty taken prisoners. The rebels reported five killed and thirteen

wounded. At this time the U. S. infantry forces were on the march

from Jefferson City to Tipton, in the rear of Price. The cavalry were

mostly in advance, and forty miles northwest of Sedalia, in Lafayette

count3\ Several merchants lost heavily in goods; but few horses, and

but little ammunition was captured. It was not long till the town was

again occupied by Union soldiers.

Virtually, the war in Missouri closed with the departure of Gen. Price,

in the fall of 1864, and after this date the 40th regiment was released

from active service.

The following concise account of the capture of Sedalia, by Gen. Jeff.

Thompson, was written by Miss Emma Crandall, of Sedalia Public

School:

THE CAPTCJRE of SEDALIA.

In the fall of 1864, General Sterling Price, at the head of 30,000 Con-

federates, invaded Missouri. The Federal troops stationed in Central Mis-

souri, not being sufficiently strong to contend against so large an army,
were withdrawn from the western part of the state, and concentrated at

Jefferson City; thus leaving the inhabitants of all the country west of Jef-

ferson to the mercies of the roving band of guerrillas, who constituted the

advance guard of Price's army.

Sedalia, at that time being a small, but important place, on account of

its beino- the western terminus of the Missouri Pacific R. R., was made

the object of attack by the Confederate forces. The citizens, for the pur-

pose of defending the place against the depredations of the enemy, organ-

ized a force of about six hundred men, which were placed under com-

mand of Col. J. D. Crawford. Prominent among the officers were Capt.

F. L. Parker, Lieut. Frank McCabe, Lieut. B. B. L^^on, and Capt. Wash-
burn.

Among the high privates who are now residing in Sedalia, were Louis
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Kumm, Elias Laupheimer, J. G. Tesch, John Hall, B. H. Ingram^ W. E.

Bard and O. A. Crandall, and many others whose names I am unable to

learn.

These men having no artillery and being poorly armed, determined to

defend the town to the very last. To enable them to better defend them-

selves, they dug a trench and threw up an embankment around the place.

In what was then the eastern part of the city, where Goodwin's Hvery
stable now stands, they built a dirt fort, in the center of which was raised

a flag staff, with a Union flag on it. This fort was placed in command of

Capt. Parker, while other companies were stationed in diflerent parts of

the town. For two weeks this brave band defended- Sedalia against all

attacks of the enemy, although peremptorily ordered (b}' Gen. Brown,

district commander,) to give up the post, and it was not until they were

attacked by overwhelming forces and heavy artillery, that the place was

taken. On the afternoon of October 15, lS6i, a detachment of Price's

army of about two thousand men, with three pieces of artillery, under

command of Gen. Jeft'. Thompson, attacked the place. His artillery was

planted where the cemetery now is, and his main army drawn up in line

of battle along that ridge. Parker's company of the Union forces, under

command of Lieut. Frank McCabe, was stationed near the Catholic church.

The balance of the infantry was west of that, while the mounted men,

under the immediate command of Col. Crawford, were drawn up in line

south of the earthworks, and a portion of them went out and met the

enemy and found out his full strength. The first attack was made by
about one hundred Confederates, who dashed into the town, supposing it

would be very easily taken. But they were immediately repulsed by'

Lieut. McCabe's command, with the loss of five of the Confederates.

They, finding the place bravely defended, then opened their artillery, and

kept up a steady fire of shot and shell for more than an hour. Col.

Crawford after the capture of several squads of his command and having
no artillery, and his men being poorly armed, found he could not contend

against so large a force and reluctantly withdrew his forces, and retreated

with the main body of his men to a division of the Union army, which was

passing, under command of Gen. Sanborn, then in "pursuit of Price. As
soon as Crawford with the mounted men retreated, the remainder of

the army surrendered to Gen. Thompson. The Confederates then took

possession of the place, and took two hundred prisoners. They remained

in town about four hours. About sundown they paroled all the prisoners

and left Sedalia to join Price's main army.
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^ CHAPTER XVL—NEWSPAPERS.

latroduction.—Gattenberg, the First Printer— JSketcli of the Early Printing— First

Papers of the United States—First Paper of Missouri—The First Paper of Pettis

County—Pettis County Independent, of 185^—Quotations from the Independent and

Jourmd, Bazoo and Democrat—Other papers of the County.

Here shall the press the people's right maintain,

Unawed by influence and unbribed by gain;
Here. patriot Truth''her glorious precepts draw,

Pledged to religion, liberty and law.

Story.

The newspaper world is a sphere of improvement. Wherever Htera-

ture is circulated tHrough the press of a country freely we are sure to find

intelligence. The needs of the intellect are various and the newspapers
of the country supply those needs. The circulation of wholesome litera-

ture has much to do in elevatinp- the thoucyhts of the human race. Intel-

lectual living is constantly seeking higher and purer truth. It is not eru-

dition that makes the successful editor or the intellectual man, but vigor-
ous and beautiful thinking. Many of our purest and brightest newspaper
writers never entered college or handled an English grammar. Einerson

has well said:

If you would learn to write 'lis in the street you must learn it.

Now-a-da3's whoever is able to read is richer in the aids to culture than

Plato was in his age. The humblest scribbler of the reportorial corps has

easier access to sound learning than either Solomon or Aristotle. It is

b}' coming in contact with the various objects of the world that the rough
corners of the ruder natures of the man are worn oti, polishing him for

his profession. The independent life of the journalist is one of constant

progress and labor for the welfare of his readers, and very rarely has he

been pecuniarily blessed. Most of the mental and pen pictures drawn by
newspaper writers spring from the unwasting fullness of nature. Every-

thing that is best and most original in the writings of an editor is invari-

ably either an account of what he has seen is his own independent inimita-

ble way, or else a criticism of the accurate or defective sight of others in

the many walks of life.

In the earlv history of the world people mingled and talked together,

and disseminated the news from morn till night, each one a kind of news-

paper. Then the people assembled in gardens, in halls, and on the banks

of streams and discussed the various topics that this age would have in

the columns of the diiily press.

If the history of the achievements of the printing press were swept from

the annals of the world, leaving men to their oral communications, the

brightest splendors of learning and science would forever be lost and

buried in the succeeding eras.
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Step by step the fire of ambition had been kindling in the minds of the

people for the " Art Preservative," till in 1626, when printing in colors

was invented, and three 3.'ears subseqviently the first newspaper was

issued. Prior to this date many literary productions had been made by
the st\dus on the papNrus. In 1247 the first concordance of the Bible was

ma^e by hand and pen. The invention of printing is due to Guttenberg,

who, in llrlrO, was assisted in improving it b}' Schocfer and Faust. In

141:4 he commenced the publication of the earljest edition of the Bible, and

finished it in 1460. John Guttenberg, the inventor of movable types in

printing, who was, for a long time, partner of the famous Faust, of the

city of Mentz, in Germany, was born about 1400. In 1450 he entered into

partnership with John Faust, a citizen of Mentz, in conjunction with whom
he printed a vocabulary, called a "

Catholicon," by means of letters cut

on blocks of wood. Types of copper and tin were soon after substituted

for wood; and with these a Latin Bible was printed, with great difficulty

and expense. In 1455, owing to some disagreement in pecuniar}' matters,

Guttenberg and Faust separated, after having had a lavvsuit. The
former being unable to pay the sum awarded to Faust by the judge, was

obliged to give up to him his printing materials and his invention. Sub-

sequently, Guttenberg practiced his art in Mentz, and was appointed by
the archbishop elector of that city and one of the nobles of his court, and

obtained other preferments. He died in 146S, when about 6S years of

age. A bronze monument, by Thorwaldsen, was erected to his memory
in 1837. Faust, the associate of Guttenberg, the inventor of printing, was

a very wealthy citizen of Mentz, and by some writers, on account of his

affluence, is supposed to have shared in the invention of printing. By the

means of his wealth and the assistance of his son-in-law, Peter Schrefler,,

great improvements were made during the time of his life. He died in

Paris about 1463, whither he had gone to sell some Latin Bibles from his

press. Long before printing was invented by Guttenberg, paper was

made from the papyrus, a kind of reed growing in many parts of the

world, especially in Egypt, but it was not till in 1302 that paper was made

from linen.

The first newspaper of the United States was issued Sept. 25, 161)0, at

Boston, Mass., and met with considerable opposition even by the legisla-

ture of that colony in respect to infringing upon the religious principles

of those law-makers. In August, 1721, James Franklin, brother of Ben-

jamin Franklin, established the New England Courant. The clergy and

th^ office holders opposed the paper on account of its criticisms made

upon their conduct, and in 1722, James Franklin was forbidden to print

the Courant or any other paper unless it first be examined and supervised

b}^ the secretary of the colony. In spite of all the opposition set forth by
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the New England colonies, by 1776 papers were published in every town

of that section as well as in the southern colonies.

In 1808 The Missouri Gazette was estabhshed, and the same year the

name was changed to Louisiana Gazette, a.nd in 1818, the original name
was resumed, which was discarded in 1822 for that of Missouri Repub-
lican, which name it retained a comparatively short time, when " St.

Louis" was substituted for "
Missouri," and now it is one of the most care-

fully edited and influential newspapers of the United States. Col. Geo.

Knapp has been connected with this paper for more than half a century.
The first newspaper published in Pettis county was established by Gen.

Bacon Montgomery in November, 1857, and was successfully edited by
him till in 1861, when he cast his lot on the side of the Union, and entered

the army under Gen. Nathaniel Lyon. In those days of chivalry a newspa-

per man had to be ready to fight with both hand and pen. Then men did

not allow editors to use their names under any suspicious circumstances.

Editors, too, were not to be imposed upon, and quite frequently pugilistic

combats took place in the editor's sanctum.

The Pettis County Independent was published at Georgetown by
Bacon Montgomery, and edited by R. H. Montgomery, eveiy Tuesday
morning. A copy of Vol. I., No. 9, bearing date of April 20, 1858, is

now in the possession of Mr. Jno. D. Russell, of the Sedalia Democrat,
and also a copy of TJie Georgetown 'Journal, bearing date of May 20,

1861, Vol. I, No. 48, with motto: ''•Born, reared and educated in the

Union, tue shall die in the Union, or die in a struggle to -preserve itP The

y<9z^rw«/ was published by J. H. Middleton and B. Montgomery; both

being printers they set up their editorials as they were made, and hence no

pencils or editors' tables graced their sanctum.

We m ike a few quotations from the Independent of April 20, 1858:

New System of Voting,—The following act, passed by the late leg-

islature, is of considerable importance, and we ask the attention of voters

to the same.

An act to change the manner of voting in the counties of Harrison,

Mercer, Gentry, Scott, Holt, Jasper, Barton, Pettis, Johnson, Stoddard,

Polk, Moniteau, Taney, Stone, Newton, Andrew, Laclede, Webster, Green

and Dade.

§1. Voting by ballot.

§2. Duty of constable.

§3. Further duty of constable.

§4. Duty of clerk.

§5. Duty of clerks of ejections

§6. Duty of judges of elections.

§7. Elections for one day.
On the Death of Nellie, we quote four stanzas by Lovie K.—
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Each living heart will have its shrine.

Some object fond in nature,

To love in life, in death lepine,
When cold in every feature .

Then chide me not that I lament,
The loss of faithful "Nellie;"—

Hard is the heart that asks no vent,

If grief like this befell ye.

Poor "Nellie'' was uo summer friend.

To gratitude uo stranger;
But would alike my step attend,

In pleasure, grief or danger.

In summer's sunshine 'mong the flowers

Adown the smiling meadow,
How pleased we spent the laughing hours.
Poor "Nell" to me a shadow.

In the paper the following announcements appear: Wesley McClure
for sheriff; Reese Hughes for county treasurer; Clay Thompson for

sheriff; David W. Thompson for sheriff'; Philip Zilheart for sheriff'; A. G.

Glasscock for school commissioner; Henry iVIcCormack for sheriff"; Sam-
uel B. Hass for sheriff.

The following letters appear:
Pettis County, Mo., April 16, 1858.

Mr. Editor:—As it seems to be the desire of a number of gentlemen
of this county, whose wishes I do not feel at liberty to disregard, that I

should become a candidate to represent Pettis county in the general
assembly of the state of Missouri, you are hereby authorized to announce

my name as a candidate for said office at the August election, subject, of

course, to any future arrangements of my friends. Respectfully,
F. E. Cravens.

The Georgetow)i yotirnal of May 20, 1861, contains the following
items:

The last number of the Warrenshiirg Missourian contains the vale-

dictory of Mr. James D. Eads, its late editor. Mr. E. has rendered great
service to the Union party of Johnson, and for that reason we deeply
regret parting with him. Major N. B. Holden succeeds him; though
whether a change in tlie political course of the paper is contemplated
we are not apprised. The Major is one of the greatest wire-workers of the

State. It contains also the following: Warrenshiiro Comf>any.
—Last

evening a company of militia from Warrensburg, under the command of

Captain Ruth, an experienced and popular officer, camped near our burg.
The word halt had scarcely been uttered when the hospitaHty of our
town was extended to them by Messrs. Bixby and Morrison, by an
invitation to partake of that wholesome beverage, mint julip, which had
been prepared for them before their advent into the city. They were

cordially received by men of their own sentiments.

The commotion in the world has called them out, and they have girded
their loins, and are preparing to share in the contest, and, may say to share
in the defeat and destruction that awaits them.
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We can but regret that they
—among them our friends, early compan-

ions and associates—should so I^ni/Aessly imperil their lives as to enlist in

such an unhallowed cause as secession, and against such fearful odds. But
be it said to their praise, they are better equipped and prepared for battle

and of better behavior than an}" company that has yet passed us. " Proud

Johnson," though wise in her own conceit, we think "has sent her ducks
to a poor market."

The effect of this article warmed the blood of the southern sympathiz-
ers. This time, not to drink mint julip, but demolished the printing office

of General Montgomerv. They made a charge upon the press room, but

General Montgomer}^ had it too well barricaded for their immediate

entrance. While the v were attempting to take charge of the printing mate-

rial the general sent his "devil" out through a back way to give the alarm

and call to his assistance the friends of the Union. Soon his friends caused

the molesters to disperse. However, it was not long after this till the

paper was suspended, and the countv soon fell into the hands of the

secessionists, and the paper became an exponent of Confederate principles.

T/ie Seda^a Moniino- Signal was established bv Gen. Bacon Mont-

gomery, about the 1st of December, 1873, a folio, 13x20; the mechanical

execution of the paper was excellent. In politics it was republican; not

suiting the political sentiments of Mr. Montgomery, he sold out to Wm.
H. Mugford. The paper was short-lived.

The Pacific Enterprise was started in Sedalia, b}" W. P. Baker, during
the year 1863. The paper became defunct in 1804, and the materials

were subsequentlv moved to Warrensburg. The Sedalia Advertiser

made its debut in the latter part of this year by the Lingle Brothers. It

was the first democratic paper issued in the city of Sedalia; in iVpril of the

following year the office was sold to Magann and Stafford. The Sedalia

Times was first issued in Sedalia during March, 1865, by P. G. Stafford

and James G. Magann. It was republican in politics.

Hawes & Montgomery subsequentl}- took charge of this paper in^about

1868. The politics of the Times not being in harmony with the senti-

ments of Gen. Montgomerv, he retired from the paper February 25, 1869,

and the foliowmg paragraph is from his valedictoiy:

In withdrawing from the Times, I return thanks to my many friends

for their patronage and co-operation, and bid them an adieu, knowing that

my successor is well worthy of their support.

Perry Hawes then became sole proprietor, who subsequently sold out

to A. J. and F. A. Sampson. They sold to Rev. Cephas A. Leach, who

being an inexperienced newspaper man, failed, and the paper passed into

other hands and was finally consolidated with the Eagle, in the spring of

1882, under the title of Eagle- Times.

The Bazoo was first issued on Monda}^, September 20, 1869, and was

in size 11x14 inches, about half the present size. The salutatory is
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headed, "Goodwin Blows his Horn." Each page contained four columns.

This paper has continued with the same proprietorship through all its

various changes, until J. West Goodwin, the publisher, has one of the

widest ranges of journalism of anv publisher known to the west. In 1866

Lingle & Bro. began the publication of the Independent Press, a twenty-

eight column paper, democratic in politics. The office and materials were

destroyed by lire on the night of November 6, 1S68.

The Boonville Eagle was established in 1865, by Milo Blair, as an

exponent of radicalism and the support of republican principles, where it

continued to be published till in 1878, when it was moved to Sedalia, and

named Sedalia Eaole\ here it continued to be published as one of the

sound papers of its party, stirring its enemies with the sure, patriotic, and

pungent missiles, that Mr. Blair was able and sure to thrown from his

editorial quiver. In the spring of 1882, when Mr. Blair was appointed

postmaster at Sedalia, the Eagle was consolidated with the Times, and

known as Eagle-Times, published by the "Missouri Printing Company,"
with the following directors: Milo Blair, Jno. G. Sloan, G. F. Kimball,

C. D. Wassell, W. A. Sloan. This paper issues a weekly and a daily

edition of a circulation of about tw^o thousand.

The leading democratic paper of Pettis countv and Central Missouri, is

the Sedalia Democrat, established in January, 1868, by the " Democrat

Company." The first editor w^as A. Y. Hull, a fine writer, and one of

the best campaign organizers of that time. After leaving the Democrat

he started a paper in Colorado, but subsequently sold out, and is now
reiired to private life at Pueblo, Colorado. Mr. Jno. D. Russell was

foreman of the office till 1869. His fine business qualifications soon won

for him the place he was destined to fill—that of business manager of the

company, which position he now holds. In 1871, the Sedalia Daily
Democrat was issued with about six hundred subscribers, and such has

been the popularity of the paper at home and abroad, that it now^ has a

circulation of about two thousand. This paper issues a Sunday and

w^eekly edition, size, 30x48 inches. The dailv is 26x40 inches. In 1877,

Maj. Jno. N. Edwards, a leading writer and severe critic, was called to take

charge as editor of this paper, and has held the position ever since, making
himself widelv known throughout the state as a sound expounder of

democractic principles, and a close-cutting logical writer. It may be well

said of the Major, that he never takes up the pen without freely discussing

or dissecting the whole argument presented by his antagonists. He
writes for something. His terse, concise language, always stabs to the

heart an enemy, and brings relief and joy to a friend. He is a kind,

sociable gentleman, trustworthy, and a safe and faithful political writer

in his party.

Several other papers have existed only a brief period in the county.
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They will be specially noted under the heads of their respective localities.

The Adviser, established b}^ Cotton Bros, in 1869, was a real estate paper.
T/ie Great Western Real Estate Guide was started by J. M. Byler, in

February, 1869, and continued about one year. The Sedalia Republi-
can made its first issue October 12, 1870. It was a liberal republican

organ and suspended at the end of the campaign. The Real Estate

Guide was issued in January, 1871, and in 1872 its name was changed
to Maganii's Opinion. We find the following in an issue of the Demo-

crat, published in 1869:

Sedalia has two weekly and two monthly newspapers, which, though
not the ablest of the state, are very far fi-om being the weakest, and they
stand as valiant sentinels of the public interest, and send out ten or twelve
thousand papers monthly, into every state and territory of the United

States, all of which have some good for Sedalia, Pettis county and Central

Missouri; and thus influence and determine emigration to this section.

It is safe to presume that 30,000 persons read the Sedalia papers every
month, and our people are better of their being scattered among
them.

T/ie College Journal, a neat monthly quarto, is published by the

busmess college and has a fair circulation.

The Independent was a daily started April 1, 1882, but was short

lived.

Perhaps, in all business avocations, there is no better avenue of the

present day reaching the hearts of the people, than through the press.

Men may dislike editors and condemn their course, nevertheless read their

papers. No man in Pettis Co. is superior to Gen. Bacdn Montgomery as a

journalist. He was educated in a printing oflice, fought in the printing

office, and is always at home in the printing office. For five years he

was on the editorial staff' of the Sedalia Bazoo; since that time he has

been connected with the Sedalia Democrat, and continues with the same
as one of its most facile and vigorous writers.

^^^%
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THE

HISTORY OF SEDALIA.

CHAPTER L—INTRODUCTION.

A Picture of Sedalia as it is To-day—Her People, her Business and her Surroundings—The

Location of the City and its Connection with Others—Why, How, When and by Whom
the City was Founded—The Three Periods into which its History is Divided—What

the Site of the Town was Twenty Years Ago—Who Lived in it—When the First Plat

of the Town was filed—Why it was put in its Present Location, and not on the Site ot

Georgetown.

"Facts are stubborn things, and seeing is believing." When a stranger

arrives at the depot in Sedalia, in 18S2, and for the first time, what solid

fact does he see? He sees a great fact, a fact which requires no logic or

argument to convince him that it is, because he sees it with the eye of his

mind and with his natural eyes. And what is still stranger, this great

fact is comparatively a new one; and what is the stubborn fact that he

sees ?

A splendid city covering an area of two miles square, of beautiful, roll-

ing prairie land; and containing fifteen thousand inhabitants, and all the

adjuncts of a first class modern civilization.

Sedalia stands to-day the recognized head and head-center of Central

Missouri, a region forming a circle of country one hundred miles in diam-

eter, in the fifth State in the Union. Sedalia is a railroad, business, finan-

cial, political and intellectual center.

This is a proud eminence to occupy, and to hold it justly by its own
intrinsic merits, is a proud pre-eminence. The commercial traveler from

the great metropolis in the more enHghtened and longer settled east; the

capitaHst seeking new and good fields for investment; the newspaper

man, the railroad official, the advertising agent, the heads of institutions

of learning and great manufacturing and jobbing establishments, the well

informed men in this and surrounding States, each and all of these know
that SedaHa is a central city, ahead of or above all other towns within one

hundred miles of her, in the general intelligence and business energy of

her people, in the possession of material wealth—-such as fine, broad,

paved streets, substantial two and three story brick business houses and

dwellings, churches, schools, convents, daily newspapers, hospital, rail-

roads, telegraph wires, telephones, gas works, water works, fire depart-
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merit, hotels, parks, and the numberless other elements included under

the term "Modern improvements." Sedalia has made her mark upon the

world's record already, and she has made a mark so plain that the thou-

sands can see it.

The city is a business center because it is a railroad center, having
railroads in all directions except due north, where one is surveyed. It is

a political center because it contains three dailies, the only daily news-

papers of strength and prominence in Central Missouri. In addition it has

in the past ten 3'ears furnished a United States Senator, a Congressman,
a candidate for Governor and a candidate for Lieutenant Governor.

These and the newspapers have been the guides and moulders of public.

opinion in politics.

It is an intellectual center, because the active hves of its people, the

presence of daily newspapers, the sharpness of competition in business,

the growing condition of the town, produce an attrition which keeps men
alive to all the present, and develops the intellect by pushing men to

intellectual effort.

It is a financial center because it contains the most wealth in banks, in

wholesale houses, in railroad machine shops, and in private manufactories.

Real estate is worth more in Sedalia to-day, and brings in a better

interest than in any city within one hundred miles of it, in any
direction

; capital invested in any branch of business brings in quicker,
surer and larger profits; the population is steadily on the increase and the

work of building up and enlarging the town with more buildings, streets,

public buildings, manufactories and educational institutions is still going on

with unabated vigor. The growth of the city up to the year 1870, has

been the growth of a frontier town. Much energy was misdirected and

misspent, plans were laid in haste, and hastil}^ carried out; but now the

work of causing the town to grow is different; people are wiser, they
mature their plans more slowly; the3'-see the mistakes of the past, and are

prepared to avoid them, and all that is now done, in the way of street,

sewer, water pipe, and similar improvements, in buildings and the forma-

tion of public organizations, is done carefully, solidly, and with intelligence

and liberality.

Not only is the city strong and progressive, but the portion of the country
within twenty miles of it, in all directions, has been imbued with the same

strength and the same progressive spirit. Thriving villages which con-

tribute directly to its business and augment its prosperity, are estabhshed

all around it. Six and twelve miles to the west, Dresden and Lamonte,
two thriving towns, the latter incorporated; to the north are Hughesville

and Houstonia. Greenridge, now an incorporated town, is only twelve

miles southwest. Beaman is seven miles northeast, and Smithton, an incor-
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porated town, with all the essentials of a town, is located eight miles

east. Cole Camp is about twenty miles due south. All these towns are

located on the lines of railroad mentioned heretofore in connection with

Sedalia, and she draws vitality from them just as the radiating roots of

a tree draw strength, sustenance and moisture from the earth all around

it. The farming country around the city is unsurpassed in the State for

the fertility of the soil, the variety and value of its products, and is now culti-

vated with much care, highly improved, covered with the best and largest

farm houses, inhabited by an intelligent, moral and law-abiding people, and

filled with the best qualities of live stock of all kinds. In addition to all

this, coal, one of the great essentials for carrying on the business of the

world to-day, is brought to the city by all the railroads that center in it,

and with the exception of that brought from the Indian Territory, it is dug
from the earth of Central Missouri, in localities from twelve to fifty miles

from the city.

Since the Christian era at least it has been necessary for the historian,

in writing the histories of cities, to rely for his information upon the

floating fables and legends current among the people, or upon the musty
records to be found in the libraries of old convents, churches, govern-

ment archives and such receptacles; and upon documents, for the most

part written in languages known only to the learned. But here is a city,

Sedalia, which already has a significant history, and a population as large

as that of some of the famed cities of the Greek or Roman empires, and

its history could be written, if suthcient time were given to the work,

from information furnished by hundreds of persons still living, who have

seen the town from the day of its foundation up to the present time.

Though but sixteen or eighteen years have passed since the city assumed

the real character of a town, the years have been full of events and the

foundation, progress and -present size and prosperity of the city consti-

tute one of the marvels of modern civilization.

If the historian lays aside all disposition to exaggerate or elaborate he

still finds enough simple, solid facts regarding its growth, cognizant to

hundreds still in the prime of life, to excite his admiration and wonder;

and facts to instruct the people of the present day and to encourage them

to labor for the permanency of repubHcan institutions, the support of

education and the practice of industry, justice, and morality.

Sedalia is now a city so well-known abroad and at home, so well estab-

lished in character, growing so surel}' and swiftly, having now all the

conditions and concomitants which guarantee that she will be a city of

30,000 people within the next ten years, that those who write in praise of

the city can no longer be justly charged with exaggeration or misrepre-

sentation.
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It must be distinctly borne in mind that it is not the purpose of this

article to give a full, elaborate and detailed account of the birth, growth
and present condition of the place, hke the minute biography of a noted

individual. The historian has but a limited time to devote to it, and must

give only a comprehensive view or outline of its history, telling what it

was before the war, during the war, and subsequent to the war
; giving

the dates only of the most important events, accounts of significant facts;

and episodes and narratives to show the character of the people and the

conditions of society, together with such general and comparative facts,

figures and statistical information, as will show the immense amounts of

money and labor spent in permanent improvements from time to time
;
the

increase in population and business
;
the birth and growth of the railroad

S3^stem of which Sedalia is the center; a statement of the amount and

character of our manufactories, and give the list of names of early set-

tlers; also an account of the origin of a number of important public and

private enterprises, and the founding of churches, schools and societies.

There is always a reason or a cause for the foundation of cities, and

often both a reason and a cause. In the case of Sedalia there was a reason

and a cause for its foundation, and for its location, on its present site, three

miles south of Georgetown, the former county seat of Pettis County.

George R. Smith, the founder of Sedalia, and the man who cherished

and aided the infant town until it was strong; enouirh to fig-ht for itself,

was a man of fine natural intellect and a magnificent foresight. This ena-

bled him to tower above his fellows and see objects away oft' in the horizon

beyond their power of sight. He saw the great tide of civilization rolling

westward. The railroad was coming from the Mississippi River. The
railroad carries civilization with it. He saw civilization as typified by the

railroad, creeping up along the Missouri River towards Central Missouri.

He wanted to divert it from the Missouri River and bring it through Cen-

tral Missouri. He said to the people of this section, in the years that he

saw the railroad coming: "Open your eyes and see the friend that is

coming to aid you; hold out your hands and welcome it, give of your means

to quicken its movements towards you." He worked and argued and

pleaded with the people of Georgetown to strive for the prize, and have

the road pass throvigh their town. They could not see it coming; they
could not see the advantages to be derived if it did come; they closed

their ears and their eyes and sat still. He told them at one of the last

railroad meetings held in the old Court House at Georgetown, that he

would live to see the day when the bats and the owls would make their

home in the Court House, while a flourishing town would be growing
at tiieir suburbs. His farm constituted the present site of Sedalia. He
laid out a town upon it. He went to work to help himself, and left the

people of Georgetown in their blindness and stupor; he labored to have
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the railroad run through the center of his own farm and his own town,
and he got it there, and the very results followed, that for years he had seen

would follow, and must follow according to the laws which govern modern
civilization.

"To boil it all down; to give it in a nut shell," because one man was
wise and energetic and a dozen others were weak and idle, a beautiful city

of 15,000 people grew upon a flower decked prairie in twenty years, while

a town which had been founded for twenty-three years and had been

flourishing tor eighteen years, sank into insignificance and ruin right at its

side. In this connection it may be of interest to mention the fact that

General Smith's prophecy concerning the " bats and the owls making
their homes in the Court House at Georgetown," he lived to see literally

fulfilled, for about one year before his death, after the building had been

abandoned for years, it was almost alive with bats, owls and whippoorwills
from the dense and silent forests in the near vicinity.

The reader has been shown what Sedalia is to-day, after a life of twenty-
one years. The cause and the reason of its foundation and of its founda-

tion in its present location, have been briefly presented. To complete the

picture it is. necessary to tell where and how it is located.

Sedalia is the county seat of Pettis County, almost the central county of

Missouri, which is the fifth State in the Union, in population, wealth and

progress. The county has an area of 672 square miles, and contains 446,-

289 acres.

The county was first settled in 1822, and it now contains 35,000 inhab-

itants.

The Missouri Pacific Railroad, main fine, runs through it from east

to west. This main line runs a distance of about 300 miles, between

St. Louis and the Mississippi River on the east, and Kansas City and the

Missouri River, on the west; Sedalia to Kansas City, 9Q miles; Sedalia to

St. Louis, 189.

The Kansas & Texas Division of the Gould combination, formerly the

Missouri, Kansas and Texas Railroad, runs through it from northeast to

southwest, from Hannibal, Missouri, on the Mississippi River, to Denison,
in Northern Texas, a distance of 576 miles. From Sedalia to Hannibal

the distance is 143 miles; from Sedalia to Denison, 433 miles. The Lex-

ington Branch of the Missouri Pacific Railroad runs fi-om the southeast

to the northwest, from Sedalia to Lexington, Mo., on the Missouri

River, a distance of fifty-two miles. The Sedalia, Warsaw and Southern

Division (narrow gauge railway) of the Missouri Pacific Railroad runs

due south fi-om Sedalia to Warsaw, Mo., on the Osage River, a distance

of about forty-five miles.

The site of the city is a high, rolling prairie, and the area covered by it

at present is about two miles square. The water runs from it in all direc-
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dons. Three miles north is the Big Muddy stream, and an expanse of

woodland; two miles and a half south is Flat Creek, and a similar area of

woodland. To the west two miles and a half is Brushy Creek, and a nar-

row area of woodland. The natural drainage of the town is excellent; the

general surface of the ground occupied by it is so level that no fill or

excavation is required in the grading of streets, beyond the height or

depth of from two to seven feet.

The history of Sedalia must be divided, in accordance with the actual

facts and the logic of events, into three separate periods. The first is the

period from the date of the first laying out of Sedalia, the original town,

November 30, 1857, to the erection of the first buildings. The second is

from this date to the close of the war, in 186.5; and the third is from the

close of the war, when the town really began to grow up with rapidity

and solidity, to the present time, July 1, 1882. The first period might

very properly be divided into two sub-periods
—from 1857, when the

formal plat of the town was filed, until January 17, 1861, when the Mis-

souri Pacific Railroad ran the first passenger train into Sedalia. In justice

and reality the date of the founding ot the town ought to be fixed as

January, 1861,when the Missouri Pacific Railroad arrived at the place and

fixed the destiny of the town beyond peradventure. The second period

of the first division would be from 1861 to the close of the war.

During the first sub-period the town existed only on paper. Nov. 30,

1857, Gen. George R. Smith filed for record the plat of a town called Sed-

ville. The town was given the name of Sedville, in honor of Gen. Smith's

youngest daughter, Sarah E. Smith, still living, whose pet or nick-name

was "Sed.," an inexplicable corruption of Sarah or Sallie. The plat of

Sedville included about 160 acres of prairie land lying north of the present

line of the Missouri Pacific Railroad, between Georgetown and the present

city of Sedalia. From Nov. 30, 1857, to Oct. 16, 1860, the town existed

still only on paper. The only houses within or very near the present

citv limits of Sedalia, were those of Wm. Rutledge, located somewhere

near the stream that runs through the northern suburbs; the farm resi-

dence of Gen. Smith, then situated near what is now the corner of Seventh

street and Washington avenue, and the farm residence of Col. D. W.
Bouldin, between the present city and Georgetown. It must be borne in

mind that Georgetown was at that time a flourishing town of 1,500 inhab-

itants and the county seat of Pettis County. Ira E. Barnes, then a resi-

dent of Georgetown, in those years when he visited the family of Gen.

Smith, used to gather strawberries with the daughters of Gen. Smith,

both of whom are now living, amidst the prairie grass and flowers, where

now stand the stateliest buildings. Mr. W. P. Jackson, another old set-

tler, still a hale, active and vigorous man, sa3's that the prairie was alive

with game, and that all up and down Pearl River there were large pools
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filled with splendid fish. There was an unusually large pool, or pond, on

the square now occupied by the Cit}^ Hall, and that it extended clear

across the line of the present Second street, between Osage and Kentucky.
Some of the walnut trees which are now growing on the place of C. M.

A. Chaney, corner of Lafayette and Sixth streets, have grown from wal-

nuts planted by the hands of the late Mrs. George R. Smith. The only

other important fact, having a direct bearing upon the history of

the city, is the fact that for several years previous to the lay-

ing out of Sedalia, and after its location. Gen. Smith had been laboring

strenuously to make the people of Georgetown and Pettis County, and in

fact all Central Missouri, see the advantages of having the line of the road

located in this section. The detached account of his labors together with

a history of the Pacific Railroad will be found in the biographical sketch

of Gen. Geo. R. Smith.

CHAPTER II.—FROM 1860 TO 1865.

Sedalia Prior to and Daring the War from 1860 to 1865—Wliea Sedalia was laid out and

by Whom—The First Lots Sold—The First Houses Built—The First Hotel—The

Arrival of the Missouri Pacific Railroad in January, 1861—Its Significance
—The War

Makes it the Terminus of the Line—A Picture of Sedalia as it was in May, 1861—The

War-The First Union Troops Raised—The First Bloodshed in the County—The

Names of Sedalia Soldiers—Interesting Local Sights and Scenes—Biography of Gen.

Geo. R. Smith, and History of the Pacific Railroad—A full Description of the Capture

of Sedalia by Gen. Jefl". Thompson—Anecdotes and Tragedies.

On October 16, 1860, Gen. Geo. R. Smith and Col. David W. Bouldin

filed the plat of a town which they called Sedalia. This town plat

included all of the original town plat of Sedville, and in addition, a large

section of land extending from the present line of the Missouri Pacific

Railroad as far south as the present Third street. The name Sedalia was

probably chosen because the original "Sed" could be united to the more

euphonious termination "alia", like Van-dalia, Cent-ralia, et cetera. Lots

were sold in the original Sedville in 1858, the first to Eward Powell, and

the deed recorded Sept. 4, 1858. On March 2, 1859, next year. Dr. W.
L. Felix sold to Col. D. W. Bouldin an undivided one-fourth interest in a

large tract of land north of the present line of the Missouri Pacific Rail-

road, which included the original plat of Sedville. It was in October,

1860, that there was the- first public sale of lots in Sedalia, and this was

really the beginning of the town. A large number of lots were sold, most

of them, except those on Main street, north of the railroad line. It was

soon after this sale of lots began, that the first buildings were erected and

the town became such in reality. The town plat of Sedalia was surveyed

by Mr. Mentor Thomson, w^ho is still living in the city, and is president
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of the Sedalia Savings Bank. He was assisted by Richard Hulland, now
dead.

In 1860, John Hodges had a small store and countr}^ postofRce at the

point where the old well is, north of the Garrison House. The first house

built after this was erected in the fall of 1860, by Jacob Skinner, at a

point one block west of Ohio street, and about one block north of the

Missouri Pacific Railroad. It is still standing at this time, June 30, 1882.

The third house was erected by Richard Hulland, not far from it. Mr.
B. H. OfTutt, still hving, kept the first hotel, which was located just north

of the present Garrison House, and owned by General Smith. The next

hotel was also located near the present site of the Garrison House,
and kept by a Mr. Maiden. It was called the Sedalia House. It was
burned in 1866. About three months after the erection of the first few
houses the Missouri Pacific Railroad line reached the place, and the first

passenger train arrived about January 17, 1861.

This is one of the great epochs in the history of the city. A railroad

meant ever3^thing; it meant immediate development and growth; it united

the beautiful, unbroken prairie land with New York City and the Atlan-

tic Ocean. It made it a part of the railroad country of the Union. During
the temporary stoppage of the railroad at Tipton, forty-five miles east, at

Syracuse, twenty-five miles east, and at Otterville, eighteen miles east, large
business houses had been established temporarily, because, wherever the

railroad stopped, there, for the time being, was the great depot and head-

quarters, outside of Boonville, on the Missouri, from which the great

southwest, then without a foot of railroad, received its supplies; and

where the great Overland Stage Line had its eastern headquarters in

Missouri. The writer can remember when, in 1860, the then thriving
railroad termini, first Tipton, then Syracuse, then Otterville, and Smith-

ton, were crowded with wagons of every description, and with goods in

immense quantity, brought there by the railroad, and taken thence by
wagon trains to the west and southwest. As soon as the railroad left

each of these towns the big houses and the great trade, the hum and

excitement of business left them, and rolled on, Hke a tide, with the thun-

der of the iron horse, to the next terminus. When the railroad reached

Sedalia, those who lived in this vicinity, and still live here, can remember
that there w^as a genuine rush for Sedalia, like that made for some rich

miningr district in the far west. The name of the town was attractive in

sound, and novel as well, in a region filled with towns with old, staid, prac-

tical, every day names. The novelty and euphony of the name seemed

to be significant of a new era in Central Missouri, and it has proven so.

The large stores and establishments at Otterville and Syracuse were

moved to Sedalia, not only the stocks, but in many cases the buildings or

portions of them, or the timber. Houses and portions of them were
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brought from Georgetown on wagons, and just as soon as a man could get

anything to protect goods, that would pass muster for a house, he began
business. In 1861, just before the railroad got to Sedalia, the supplies for

the Southwest Expedition were brought by rail to Smithton, and that was
about the last time that it had, what would be called in the expressive

slang of the present day,
" a business boom." As soon as the railroad

reached Sedalia it became at once the depot of the Overland Stage Line

and the headquarters for supplies, as the other towns where the line had

paused for a time had been. Here, in a few weeks after the railroad

had reached the point, the trains of wagons loaded. Just when the excite-

ment and rush was at its height, war was declared. In one respect this

was a misfortune to them
;
in another, it was an immense advantage. It

delayed the active and vigorous work of building the town for the four

years that the war continued. On the other hand it held at the place the

terminus of the railroad for nearly three years. Men had time to estab-

lish a trade; the citizens of the vicinity had time to realize the immense

ad^'antages to be derived from a railroad; the thousands upon thousands

of Federal troops which were stationed here for weeks and months had

among them shrewd and observant men who saw the beauties and the

richness, and the brilliant possibilities of the country. Many of them
remained here long enough to get clear, distinct, and lasting impressions,
and if they did not return here themselves, when war's harsh voice was

hushed, and gentle peace was singing lullabies, their descriptions of the

land, and the town, and the people, induced others to return or made a

picture for the man seeking a home and a business to think over. It is

not necessary to poetize over this matter, though there is room for it;

but the most practical, hardheaded business man can see in a moment that

this is a fact. Instances could be cited of at least half a dozen property
owners of the present day who first saw Sedalia during the war. One
man who did, now has over ^10,000 of property in the city. This is an

important fact in the history of Sedalia, and it is one that people have only
now begun to recognize.
To clearly understand what Sedalia was just after the railroad arrived

here, it will be necessary to draw a rough picture of the place. For the

correctness of the picture the historian relies somewhat upon his own

memory as to the appearance of the spot, when first viewed in the spring
of 1862, but chiefly upon the still, clear and vigorous memories of a dozen

or more of the very first settlers and actual business men of 1861. Out-

side of the three or four houses mentioned heretofore, the town was con-

fined to the two blocks between Ohio and Kentucky street, the store

buildings all being on the present Main street. Between the date of Jan.

1, 1861, and May 1, 1861, quite a number of buildings went up, and many
of them were in process of erection at the same time. On March 9,
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1861, the store of C. F. Lohman & Co. opened its doors for business, on

the northwest corner of Main and Kentucky streets. Jacob Nussberger
and Henry Vitt were in charge of the house. Ben B. Lyon, Sr., and his

son, Ben B. Lyon, Jr., were clerks in the house. Jno. L. Hall was for

three months a member of the firm and in the house a short time. When
the house was opened the prairie grass around the store was high enough
to reach to a man's feet when on horseback. The sum of $999 was paid

for that lot then. Five doors west of them, and on the spot now occupied

by H. H. Dix's marble store, was a small frame storeroom occupied by

John A. Reed. Just east of C. F. Lehman's building was a small store-

room run by Wm. Gundlefinger, now cashier of a St. Louis bank. Still

further east of these two buildings, on the corner of Osage and Main,

was the large store and commission house of Cloney, Crawford & Co.

This house and storeroom covered three lots. Thos. W. Cloney, now
cashier of the Sedalia Savings Bank, was an active member of the firm.

"Uncle" Tom Millett, still a vigorous old man and a resident of the city,

was the porter of the establishment. Just north of the last mentioned

house was the Missouri Pacific Railroad depot.

The next house east was on the northeast corner of Osage and Main,

on the spot where now stands the Sedalia Savings Bank, a small store

run by David Phillips. About three doors east, where Jos. K. Yeater &
Co.'s store now is, was a small store room, a grocery owned by |Wm.
Nichols and Mr. J. R. Barrett, who is still a wealthy resident of this city.

Chas. Lesher also had a small frame shant}^ on the square, in which he

had a photograph or art gal!er3\ Next to him, on the same spot now

occupied b}^ Bard & Miller, was the drug store of William E. Bard. On
the northwest corner of Ohio and Main streets was a large grocery house

run b}' Dr. Logan Clark. Just across the street from it, on the northeast

corner of Ohio and Main, was the general commission house of W. G.

Wear & Son. On the south side of Main between Ohio and Kentucky
were the following business houses:

Southeast corner of Osage and Main, David Hancock's store; west

corner of Osage and Main, Roderick Gallic and Samuel Ford's butcher

shop ;
three or four doors west of the corner, James G. Tesch, groceries

and liquors; five or six doors west of Tesch, was the store of William

and Theo. Bloess; next, Bixby & Houx's store, tinware and hardware;

one door west, on the nresent site of Rod Gallie's grocery store, was the

large dry goods and grocery store of William Beck. These were the

principal houses on Main street, and constituted the business portion of

the town. Capt. F. L. Parker, who died recently at Parsons, Kan., had

a livery stable on the north side of what is now the Garrison House

Park. Northwest of him were the stables of the Ov^erland Stage Line,

and near him a small hotel. During the year Richard HuUand and a
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number of other parties put up small box houses on the rising ground near

the corner of Lamine and St. Louis streets. There was an old log house

o cupied b}^ negroes, on the present site of Gauss' lumber yard. On the

corner where stands the city hall there was a dense growth of willows on

the banks of Pearl River and in a swampy spot. The deer came up
there to drink just before the railroad arrived in the town. There may
have been a few railroad shanties, stables and outhouses. There was not

a business house south of Main street, east of the corner of Ohio or west

of the one on the corner of Kentucky. This was all that then constituted

the town where now stands the " Queen of the Prairies," the model city

of Central Missouri, with a population in her limits and suburbs of 1.5,000 ;

real and personal propert}- in the county, valued by the assessment of

1882, at $7,782,954, but worth really one-third more or $10,-377,272.

But the war had advanced with such intenseness and rapidity that after

the first three months all improvements stopped; and, as an old resident of

that town sa3^s,
" not a nail was driven after the 1st of May, 1861."

When the railroad first came business was very active here; the trade

from the southwest, which had hitherto been held by Boonville, had

begun to come to Sedalia, and for a brief period of three months or three

months and a half, the streets presented a scene of unusual activity, and the

amount of goods handled was very large.

It was then " the Bullwhacker," the individual who drove the six yoke
of oxen attached to an enormous vvagon for the transportation of goods
to the southwest, was in his full glory; the broad-rimmed, slouched hat

was the popular head covering, bread and bacon the favorite diet, and

whisky and New Orleans molasses mixed, the only drink that men of

mettle would touch. A revolver in those days was as sure to be found on

a man's person as a lead pencil and a memorandum book are now-a-days.

Among the very first residents of the city, and the first business men, were

William E. Bard, Maj. William Beck, Wm. and Theodore Bloess, Jacob

Nussberger, Henry Vitt, Ben. B. Lyon, Sr., Ben B. Lyon, Jr., Roderick

Gallie, Dr. Logan Clark, Jno. L. Hall, Thomas W. Cloney, Enos Cor-

dell, Jno. R. Barrett, Gabriel Vogler, Wm. B. Riley, James G. Tesch,
Robt. G. Barnhart, Thomas Millett, Tim Finnerty, Uncle Rafe Quinlean.

and R. T. Miller. All the above, but Theo. Bloess, who is a resident of

St. Louis, and Ben. B. Lyon, Sr., who is dead, are still alive, and residents

of the city.

In 1862, Abraham Meyer came here. Adam Ittel came in 1863. Elias

Laupheimer came before '63. Louis Kumm was in business in '63. O.

A. Crandall was here in '63, one of the earliest lawyers.
Dr. R. T. Miller had an interest in the drug store of W. E. Bard, from

1861 to date. Quite a number of men who were residents in '62-3,

have moved away or are dead.
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At the close of the year 1861 the town did not contain, all told, from the

best information that can be gained three hundred bona fide- residents?

and not over twenty-five families, all of which resided north of the Mis-

souri Pacific Railroad, with the exception of two or three. There were,
in all, only about twenty or twenty-five business houses. There were no

churches or schools within the city limits.

It was during the latter part of the summer of 1861, after the arrival of

troops, that a huge cattle corral, or yard, was built on the ground just

south of the alley in the rear of Smith's hall. It covered about five

acres.

Pearl River was then a prairie stream. There was d lofty, thick hedge
fence running along Massachusetts street, and another along the present
Third street. A man could have stood at the present site of the Garrison

House and struck with a stone nine-tenths of the houses in the town.

Now that a pencil picture has been given of the town, brief mention

must be made of some events which transpired then, incident to the war,
and directly or indirectly a part of the historv of Sedalia. The feeling

of bitterness between the Unionists and Secessionists of this county was
at that time very intense. It is only war that can produce such a change
of feeling in a short time. People who had been friends for years, after

the lapse of six weeks referred to each other as " damned Yankees," and

"infernal rebels." War took progress by the throat and choked her into

silence. The history of the city cannot be disconnected from that of the

county, because Sedalia soon became the real center of the county and the

great place of resort.

It was made a military post early in 1861. It must be remembered that

there is very little written or printed data that can easily be procured, upon
which to base the history of events and persons of this first year of the

city's life. The historian is compelled to rely on the memories of living

persons, and their memories are not all alike and some times do not agree.
These discrepancies in memory fortunately do not afiect any very essential

facts.

It was during the months of April, May and June, 1861, that the first

military companies, then properly denominated as "home guards," were

organized. The first company was raised in Georgetown bv Capt.
Samuel Montgomery and the first one in Sedalia

b}'^ Capt. F. L. Parker.

Dr. J. M. Fox organized the first Confederate company.
After the two first Union Home Guard companies were organized,

Capt. Montgomery, who was the father of General Bacon Montgomery, a

resident of this city, and Capt. Parker went to Boonville and got their

arms. Capt. D. M. Williams and Maj. J. C. Wood, late circuit clerk, also

raised companies for the Confederate side.

There is some difference of opinion as to what regular Union troops first
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entered Sedalia. In ISGl Gen. Nathaniel Lyon, just before, and on his

way to, the battle of Wilson Creek, passed throucrh the city and camped
one night on Flat Creek. This was in the latter part of June or the first

part of July and after the first battle of Boonville.

The next troops which came into the city and went to Lexington were

the famous "Mulligan's Brigade."
In the fall of ISOl, Gen. Franz Siegel and a large force were present in

the city. Mr. Jacob Nussberger, who knew Gen. Siegel in Germany,
met the latter at Jefferson City, and was induced to come with him and

act as a guide and give pcnnts about the town and the county and people,

which were of great value to an officer in a new country and surrounded

on all sides by enemies. After Col. Mulligan's men had gone to Lexing-

ton, the next troops which appeared were the First Illinois Cavalry, Col.

Marsjjall in command. During the presence of this regiment in Sedalia

and Georgetown, and during one of their scouting, foraging expeditions,

occurred the first blood shed in the county and in the near vicinity of

Sedalia.

Mr. Elijah Magoflin was a wealthy farmer who resided about one

mile west of the present town of Hughesville. He was a famous hunter,

a dead shot, but withal a very quiet man and possessed of the most

determined courage. He was known as a pronounced southern man.

In August, 1861, a squad of Marshall's cavalry was in Georgetown.

Magoffin was in town the same day. It was noised around the town that

the soldiers were going to arrest Magoffin. He was in a drug store and

four or five soldiers on horse-back came toward it. Magoffin, it seems,

thought they were coming for him. He appeared at tlie front of the

store with a double barrelled shot-gun. As the soldiers approached, he

rested* his gun over a horse-rack in front of it and fired upon the squad.

One trooper tumbled from his horse dead. A second he wounded

mortally. Magoffin was afterwards captured in the old Kidd hotel. His

own fate, four years afterwards, was no less tragic, and it may be a note

of interest to'mention it here: He was with Shelby's command in a small

town in Arkansas, just before the close of the war. He had gone

through many short fights, imprisonment in Alton military prison, from

which he, his son, B. Magoffin, now a resident of this county, his son

Elijah, a resident of Saline county, and M ajor J. C. Wood, now a resident

of Sedalia, had escaped, together with many other of the vicissitudes of w^ar.

Two men, one a friend of Magoffin, got into a fight in a bar-room in the

town where the Confederates were then stationed. Magoffin interfered

to prevent blood-shed. One of the men made a lunge at Magoftln with

a huge bowie knife, split Magoffin's heart in two, and killed him instantly.

Magoffin's son, Elijah, followed his father's slayer for six hundred miles,
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caught the man in Texas, captured him and hung him with his own
hands.

During the interval between the arrival of large forces of Federal

troops in Sedalia, and the first brief days of prosperity, many stocks of

goods were removed back towards St, Louis, and many persons left the

town. These were trul}^ trying times for the infant city.

This is about the only incident that occurred sufficiently near Sedalia,

during the 3^ear 1S61, to warrant its mention in the city's history.

During the winter of 1861, the town contained a large force of Federal

troops. During the year Major Wm. Gentry, Captains John M. Sneed,

Wm. K. Ramey, George Lower, John D. Crawford, John G. Rissler,

Wm. I. Pace and W. W. Cross, all still residing in this city or vicinity,

were in the field, either as "Home Guards" or militia. The late Dr. J. P.

Thatcher was also in the home service, in the city and county. •

The first regular regiment of Missouri State troops, called the Missouri

State Militia, was organized in the early fall of 1861 in this city and

vicinity, by Col. John F. Philips. It must be remembered that the home

guards and militia companies which did the first service in and around

Sedalia, were only home companies, and enlisted for only three months.

They did good service and many of the men and officers afterwards went

into the regular state or volunteer service. Capt. Thatcher's "Pettis

County Home Guards" did service until August, 1862. During the fall

and winter of 1861-2, Col. Philips completed the organization of his regi-

ment of 978 men, the first and best regiment. This was May 1, 1862,

when the regimental organization was completed. Col. T. T. Crittenden,

now Governor of Missouri, was lieutenant colonel. Emory S. Foster,

who after the war fought a duel with Maj. John N. Edwards, now. editor

of the Sedalia Daily Democrat, was a major in the regiment. A part of

this regiment fought Quantrell, at Lone Jack, Johnson County. Colonel

Crittenden was stationed at Boonville in July and August, 1862. The

headquarters of the regiment were at Syracuse, Mo., until August 16,

1862. The regiment was also at the battle of Lexington and with Gen.

Totten's division went to the relief of Springfield, in August, 1862. - In

fact, the regiment did service throughout all Central and Southwest

Missouri for over two years. A. C. Marvin, in later years a most promi-
nent and influential citizen of this city, was quartermaster of the regi-

ment. Major Henry Suess, for many years subsequent to the war an

influential citizen, and mayor of Sedaha in 1867, was another officer in

the same regiment, the best raised in the district. Dr. Thomas J. Mont-

gomery, in 1871 mayor of Sedalia, and one of the most respected, learned

and successful physicians of Sedalia, father of John Montgomery, Jr., a

prominent attorney, and James Montgomery, was the surgeon of the

regiment.
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The Fortieth Regiment of Enrolled Missouri Militia also contained a

number of men who were then, or have since the war become identified

with Sedalia and Pettis Count}-. William Gentry was major, H. R.

Dobyns, quartermaster; Jno. D. Crawford, a captain, afterwards colonel;

Jno. M. Sneed, a captain; Wm. I. Satterwhite, a lieutenant; Ben. B.

L,yon, a lieutenant; Wm. Beck, a captain. All these men are still resi-

dents of this city or vicinity. Captain Theodore Bloess resides in St.

Louis; Capt. John P. Thatcher is dead; Capt. Wm. K. Ramey resides

seven miles north of town, and recentl}' celebrated his golden wedding.
These are the officers who commanded the home soldiers, and defended

the city at various times during the war. In the year 1862 Capt. A. C.

Marvin was provost marshal of Sedalia. He was subsequently one of

her most useful citizens.

In 1862 Col. Catherwood's Regiment of state troops was located in

the city. General Totten was in command of the post. There was also

an Indiana regiment camped on what is now the City Hall Square. An
enormous cattle yard or corral covered the ground from the alley in

the rear of the present Smith's Opera House, between Osage and Ohio

streets, extending south almost to Pearl River.

Christopher Demuth, for many years a resident of this city, a gentle-

man who was thoroughly familiar with all the country, had the contract

for furnishing cattle to the troops in this city and vicinity at that time. It

was a very risky matter to be driving stock through the country at that

time, and it was often a very difficult matter to get cattle to Sedalia. At
one time, when there was a very large force here, and an extra force

came in, they got out of meat. The contractor had a large drove of

cattle down at Syracuse, but the Lamine river was verv high, and the

entire bottom east of Otterville flooded with water, from one to fifteen

feet deep. An order came to Mr. Demuth to bring his drove to Sedalia

at all hazards, as the troops must have meat without delay. The drove

was started, and when it reached the Lamine bottom the water had sub-

sided somewhat, but the trip of half a mile across the bottom was still a

perilous one. About one hundred yards from the last bluft' was a small

branch, not over thirty feet wide, but about fifteen feet deep. It looked

unsuspicious, and on the west side of it was a broad expanse of dry land.

The one hundred and fifty cattle were forced into it by shouts and whips
and pistol shots, and after a fierce struggle all got out but one or two,

which were drowned. Each driver chose a favorable spot and swam his

horse across. On arriving at the main stream it was found to be about

one hundred yards wide, running pretty swiftly, but clear of drift wood.

The drove was forced into this and some of the cattle were carried a

quarter of a mile before they could land. Three smaller branches had to

14
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be crossed in the same manner. Every driver in the gang was soaked to

the neck, and the soldiers were gathered upon the bluffs, at the fort, near

the railroad bridge, encouraging the drovers by shouts and the waving of

flags, while struggling through the dangerous bottom with its pools and

streams and ditches. About half-past two o'clock in the afternoon, after

a struggle of nearly four hours, the drove was gotten into a bunch on a

large dry spot, in front of a bridge that crossed a stream, which was about

one hundred yards from the Otterville bluff. This was the last stream to

cross. The troops had erected a huge log bridge over it. The floor of

the bridge was about thirty-five feet from the bottom of the stream. The
back-water w^as over the bridge, and there was deep water all around for

from fifty to one hundred yards. A son of the contractor rode an Indian

pony that could sw^im like a duck. By means of a hoop-pole he felt his

way on to the bridge, which had no guards, so as to act as guide and

leader to the cattle. About a dozen cattle followed. The horseman and

cattle were crowded prett}^ close together. One of the steers struck the

horse in the f^ank with his horns. The horse gave a spring forward, and

being within two feet of the edge of the bridge, horse and rider plunged
into the water thirty feet deep, and about seventy-five yards from the near-

est land. Of course horse and rider went down beneath the surface, but

in a moment arose again, and while the soldiers on the hill set up a yell

that awakened the echoes for a mile around, the gallant pony struck for

the shore. The cattle jumped oft' the bridge or plunged directly into the

stream just like a flock of sheep, and soon the temporary lake was dotted

all over with them. Others followed the road that led oft' the bridge and

got through with a little swimming. The drivers watched the cattle and

got across the intervening water with little trouble or danger. An hour

after, when all the straggling steers were gathered in the lane east of

Otterville, and the dripping drivers covered with mud, assembled to hold a

council of war, and determine the missing, the drove and the drivers were as

woeful a looking crowd as one would care to gaze upon. When the drove

arrived on Ohio street, in Sedalia, about ten o'clock the next day, the news

of the adventurous crossing of the Lamine bottom had reached the sol-

diers, and as the cattle and drivers filed into the big corral, back of the

site of Smith's Hall, they were greeted with such shouts of welcome as

only the boys in blue know how to give when they are very hungry.
In the early part of 1S62 there was another scene in the city which

will long be remembered, by at least one prominent citizen of the city. It

is one among the many thousand incidents that show what a terrible

thing war is, and what the exact condition of the section then was. On
the ground where the City Hall Square now is, was camped an Indiana

regiment, in the early summer of 1862. Bushwhackers were prowling in

the woods and prairies all around Sedalia. A squad from this regiment
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was sent south to reconnoiter and forage in the vicinity of Warsaw. Dur-

ing this reconnoissance a young soldier of the party, who was a little

bolder and more careless than the rest, straggled off from his party, and

the first he knew a half dozen bushwhackers caught him near Warsaw.

The}^ took him to their camp in the woods and the fellow was very much

afraid they would hang him as a spy. During the first night he managed
to escape, and lay concealed until he was nearl}- starved.

Mr. John L. Hall and a friend were coming from Polk County in a two

horse wagon. Early one morning they were very much surprised to see

a Federal soldier peeping at them from the brush, as they passed along

the road, south of Warsaw. The}- stopped and were as much surprised

to see the soldier in that section as he was to be there. After a parley he

came out into the road and told his stor^^ He begged Mr. Hall to take

him with him to Sedalia, as he was without arms, horse, money or knowl-

edge ot the country. As it was known to Hall and friend, that the band of

rebel bushwhackers were still in the immediate vicinity of Warsaw, it

was as much as his own life and that of his friend was worth to be found

riding along the big road with a soldier in the Union uniform sitting by
his side. He determined to take the risk. As they approached Warsaw,
Mr. Hall learned from a farmer that Capt. Thurston, a man six feet seven

inches tall, called "
Long Thurston," and his gang were in Warsaw.

Here was a dilemma. They must pass through Warsaw. Mr. H. knew
"
Long Thurston," and he knew him so well that it only increased his fears

for the young trooper. He had about a dozen dry hides on his wagon.
The young soldier was made to crawl into the bottom of the wagon bod}^

between two boxes; the hides were then carefully spread out over him,

and he was not only effectually concealed, but the load was so arranged
as not to excite suspicion. On arriving in town Mr. Hall met Thurston

in front of the store where they stopped to get a lunch. Mr. Hall's friend,

who sat.on the seat, facing the bushwhacker, was a desperate man, fleeing

from his home, because he had killed some of the friends of this ver3MTian,

who did not know him by sight. He had a revolver concealed in his

sleeve and would have killed Thurston had he made a wrong move. Mr. H .

and Thurston had a little chat and he appeared as unconcerned as possible,

but was filled with fear and trembling while Thurston stood so near the

wagon that he could almost hear the man breathing. Fortunately they

got away without any mishap. When in a secluded spot, far from the

town, the 3''Oung trooper was relieved from his imprisonment. When the

three men reached Sedalia, the}' went to the camp of the young soldier's

regiment. He was welcomed back as one from the dead. He told the

story of his capture and escapes, and how Mr. Hall and friend had aided

him. When he had finished, the shouts and huzzas of the regiment rent

the air, and the grateful troopers nearly shook the life out of Mr. Hall to
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show their appreciation of his kindness in a time of peril. ]Mr. H. was
wild to get to Jefferson City, and it was next to impossible to get a pass-
The young trooper went with Mr. H. to the Commander, told him his

story, and the pass was at once furnished. Years after the war Mr. H.
received a letter from the soldier, who escaped death after a long service,

saying that he should never forget that he had saved his life.

It was about this time, on June 5, 1862, that Col. Thos. Field, father

of Henr}^ Y. Field, present county clerk, and of Dr. Thomas Field, the

well-known physician, was taken from . his farm residence, sixteen miles

due north of this city, and shot to death by order of Lieutenant Nash, an

officer of one of the militia regiments.
It was during the summer of 1862, that Central Missouri and Sedalia

were in the most desperate and dangerous condition. There was a fort

on the hill, down at the Lamine bridge, near Otterville. Three men, old

man Ellis, his son, and his son-in-law, went to the fort one day to enroll

as southern sympathizers, but non-combatants. As they were leaving
the fort and got into the brush they received a volley from concealed foes.

Ellis was killed; his son dangerously, and his son-in-law badly, wounded.
This was done by private enemies who had followed them. This is

merely mentioned as a sample of a hundred such deeds done by both

sides. A Union officer who now resides in this town took a well known
rebel farmer and threatened to tie him to a wagon wheel and have him

bayoneted if he did not stop his remonstrances when the troops were

foraging on his farm. Life was not worth much then. The trouble was,
in this city and county, that people were hotter than in other sections,

because so equally divided as to numbers.

This was the period when the State authorities and Gen. Schofield

called on everv able bodied man in Central Missouri, to take his own gun
and horse, or if he had none, enroll himself at some post and then go out

and get a gun and horse from some man known to be a secessionist. On
the other hand the irregular rebel force had been carrying out this same

polic}^ for months before in the vicinity of Sedalia and in this and adjoin-

ing counties.

There is one incident indirectly connected with the history of Sedalia,

and the momentous 5"ear of 1861, that deserves mention. George G. Vest,

now United States Senator from Missouri, is recognized not only as one of

the most brilliant and powerful orators in the Senate to-day, but one whose

wonderful gifts and great fund of acquired information make him the peer

to-da}^ of some of the greatest public speakers who have graced the Sen-

ate of the United States in the past. For many years he has been a resi-

dent of Sedalia and was identified with her history since 1866. In

1861, he made a speech at Goodwin's store, in Cooper County. The writer

heard it, but was too young to judge of its merits. It must have been a
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magnificent effort, for it set the people crazy: it made the slumbering
flames burst forth and enwrapped that portion of the country in a perfect

conflagration of enthiisiasm. Only those who heard it can understand its

power.
In referring to the events of 1S62, it is necessary here to correct a

very serious misstatement which has been repeatedly and continually pub-
lished in various notices of SedaHa, regarding the date of the removal of

the county seat from Georgetown to Sedalia. It has been stated, and it

seems to be generally understood among persons that Sedalia

was made the county seat in 1S62. The records of the circuit court show
that the first term of that court was not held in Sedalia until June 12,

1865, The act of the Legislature authorizing the removal of the countv

seat from Georgetown to Sedalia was not even passed until the loth day
of February, 1864. The reports of the Supreme Court decisions of the

State of Missouri show that Georgetown w^as still the count}- seat, Ma}-
4, 1864. The act authorizing the removal especially stated that there

must be a suitable place provided for the holding of courts before Sedalia

could be considered the county seat. By the records of the circuit court

it is learned that on Aug. 15, 1864, it was ordered that the books, records,

papers, etc., of the circuit court, should be moved temporarily to St.

Louis. The records were never taken to St. Louis, but in August 1864,
the count}' court, on the advice of O. A. Crandall and Geo. Heard, the

only lawyers in Sedalia, ordered all the records of the county court

removed to Sedalia, and thereafter held court at that place. Price's raid

prevented the county court being held that fall and the next term in June,

1865, was held there. June 12, 1865, is the next entry on the book, when a

term of court was held in Sedalia, and it was then in reality the county seat.

The court house was a frame building, located on the corner of the allev

and Ohio street, west side, between Second and Main. The judge was
Hon. John A. S. Tutt, of Lexington; the clerk was John W. Christian;
the sheriff' w^as Wm. H. Porter.

Jno. E. Ryland, now judge of the criminal court, was prosecuting attor-

ney. Sam. A. Lowe filed a suit against the clerk for possession of the

office. The cases docketed show the conditions of society then. Over

sixty persons were indicted for selling liquor without licenses; for gam-
bling, and for gambling on Sunday. The names of several prominent
citizens of the present day appear as pleading guilty to the last two

charges. There was one case where a man was charged "with assisting

in enticing away slaves." This was an old case. At the next term, in

Oct., 1865, John R. Staley, for many years a prominent citizen, stands

indicted for treason.

This subject is mentioned in connection with the history of the year

1862, and in the beginning, in order that the wrong impression prevalent
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concerning the date of the removal of the county seat may be corrected,

and that the correction of the mistakes made hitherto may be made the

more emphatic. It seems that in 1862 the records were removed here for

safety, and a term of court held, but it was not legal.

Now that an outline picture of the material part of the city, as it was
in 1861 and the early part of 1862, has been given, and the meagre
events, outside of the war history

—which of itself would make a volume
—have been described, it is in order to give a pen picture of the man
who founded the town and was directly instrumental in producing the

results which exist to-day.

"Ideas rule the world;" "the mind is the fountain of all human action.'^

A city may be compared to a tree or plant. The wind or the waves may
carry a seed to a distant island and it may lodge in the soil and grow to

a tree; or a band of shipwrecked mariners may be cast, by the same

means, upon an unknown shore and there lay the foundations of a city.

But the city of Sedalia is no work of chance; it is the result of an idea;

it is the outgrowth of a man's thought, the offspring of his mind. Gen.

George R. Smith conceived the idea of building the town of Sedalia in

nearly its present location. Like a careful husbandman he selected a

good piece of soil in a favorable location, where there was sunshine and

wind and water; he planted the germ; it grew, and he nourished and pro-

tected it as he thought of the time when he would sit beneath its grateful

shade and eat of its fruit. Any one who is a judge and an observer of

men knows that oftentimes the mind and character of a man seem to be

in exactly the right kind of a body. If an intelligent stranger had been

allowed to walk around the city five years ago and observe our citizens he

would, in a few days, have pointed his finger at Gen. Smith and said:

" He looks like a man who would found and build a city." He had a large

bod}^, a large heart and a large brain. He had a splendid physique, was
well built, had a manh', dignified and commanding carriage and a manner

that indicated the leader. His large, well-shaped Roman nose was an

index of character. In early manhood and middle age he was a man of

restless and untiring energy, inured to all the hardships of life in a new

country; a man whose mind held him constantly above circumstances,

and one whose strength of mind and body was constantly developed and

augmented by his mental and physical labors. He was the best type of

the founder of frontier towns. The native ruggedness of his mind was
smoothed and toned down by education; and the brusqueness and freedom

of manner, fostered by frontier life, was made more gentle, conventional

and refined by his constant contact with the leading men of the State.

" The originality, vigor and decision of his character made it impossible

for him to occupy the position of a follower" in politics, in business or in

social life. He was too aggressive, blunt and self-respectful to be popu-
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lar, as modern politicians are, all smiles, concessions and purity until they
have _^otten what they want; then proud, grasping and arrogant. Gen.
Smith was a man who would do what he asked others to do; he was not

a politician ;
if he believed a theory he believed it with all his soul and did

not hold opinions for the sake of what he could make out of them.

One who was familiar with the hfe of Gen. Smith says: "He was
born in Powhattan County, Virginia^ in 1S04. His father, Rev. George
Smith, was a Baptist minister of a powerful and cultivated intellect and
the most practical virtues, qualities which he transmitted to his descend-

ants, and which have exercised a remarkable influence upon a remark-
able career. On the stern simplicity of his nature was imprinted those

twin elements indispensable in the formation of great characters, heroism

and truth.

" While the subject of this sketch was still an infant, his father removed
to Franklin County, Kentucky, where he died in 1820. He left his son a

priceless heritage, the example of a useful, upright life and a stainless

name. At that time educational advantages were quite limited even in

Kentucky; but young Smith enjoyed the very best mental and moral'

advantages that were at hand. While yet a youth, he became a pupil of

Elder Barton W. Stone, of Georgetown, Ky., at that time one of the most

eminent educators of the State, and under his able guidance made remark-

able progress in his studies. Upon arriving at manhood he was compelled
to enter at once upon the more active and practical duties of life, and

shortly after reaching the age of twenty-one years he moved to Scott

County, Ky., and was appointed deputy sheritT of his county. It was a

responsible position for one so young, but he performed his duties faith-

fully and with inteUigence and vigor. It was the beginning of his busi-

ness career and he rose steadily. Close attention to whatever he had in

hand, the strictest integrity and the most indomitable perseverance marked
him as a man to whom belonged a future. In 1827 he married Mileta

Ann Thomson, the accomplished daughter of General David Thomson,
and sister of Col. Malius Thomson of Mexican war fame. This srentle

lady died a long time before her husband, in 1861, 'but the memory of

her virtues survive in many a treasured recollection.' Shortly after the

marriage, in the latter part of 1833, Gen. Thomson moved to Pettis

County, Missouri, and young Smith and his wife came to Missouri with

him. While in Kentucky Smith had studied law and cultivated his mind
in other ways, and he began the practice of his profession in this district.

Then the county was sparsely settled; there was little litigation in conse-

quence, and he was compelled to abandon the business simply because

there was no work to do. He had too much energy and enthusiasm, too

much active ambition, even then, to be satisfied with the duties of a small

practice and a slender income. He gave it up and began the active pur-
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suits of a trader, and from 184S to 1852 he engaged extensively in govern-
ment Ireighting and the transportation of goods overland, from Fort

Leavenworth, now a city of 20,000 inhabitants, to Santa Fe, New
Mexico, which was then in the outermost bounds of western civilization.

The vast region which is now traversed by a net work of railroads, and

dotted thickly with towns, was then an almost trackless wilderness.

Indians and buffaloes were more numerous then than farmers are now,
and the life he led was more like that of scout or soldier, than like that of

a modern business man. There are numerous thrilling incidents and

adventures connected with this period of his life, but the recollection of

them is buried in the grave.
Previous to this, however, he had gained such prominence in Central

Missouri, that in 1843, nearly forty years ago, he was appointed receiver

of the Government Land Office, at Springfield, Mo., at the time when

John Tyler was President. He was, from the time he came to

Missouri, an Old Line Whig. But the true-blue Democracy then had

the ascendency, and he had no possible chance to show his talents and his

executive and legislative abilities by getting into high official position

where he could have displayed them. So far as political preferment and

prominence is concerned, fate was against him at that time, or he might
have gone to the United States Senate, where his abilities, his unflinching

courage and integrity would have placed him in the same rank with such

men as Conkling and Sumner, of a later period. From 1843 to 1852 he

was engaged in private business. But a greater honor than even the

founding and building of Sedalia belongs to Gen. Smith. It is owing to

his foresight, energy and stubborn perseverance, more than to that of

any other man, that tlie Missouri Pacific Railroad left the line of the

Missouri River and struck off through Central Missouri. He was the man
who was most directly influential in bringing the light of modern civiliza-

tion into the very heart of Central Missouri, at least twenty years sooner

than it would have come otherwise. He is among those who lent a help-

ing hand to the Goddess of Civilization, after she had stepped across the

dividing line of the continent, the Father of Waters-the Mississippi River.

In 1849 the Legislature of Missouri granted the charter to the Pacific

Railroad. This was the first railroad west of the Mississippi River. It

was a great epoch in the history of America, as well as in the history of

the West, of Missouri, and of George R. Smith. He saw a vision as

bright and grand as that which Thomas H. Benton saw when he pro-

nounced those memorable and prophetic words: "There is the East;

there is India." A great man is like a fine oil painting
—the gazer must

get a good ways off from it to see and recognize its beauties. The peo-

ple of the present day can look back thirty years and see the figure
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of George R. Smith. From his actions then^ and the results nozu^ we
know that he thcns,d.\v and knew what /5 now.

To the aiding of the Pacific Railroad he lent all the wealth of his wis-

dom, his influence, his time, and his determination. He became the lead-

ing spirit in the effort to locate the line on what was known as

the Inland Route, in contradistinction from that along the Missouri

River. He was elected one of the board of directors of the company.
Day and night he labored to bring about the location of the line, almost as

it is to-day. He rode all over the district, holding public meetings, which
he addressed; he saw hundreds of farmers and extensive land owners, per-

sonally; he argued with men of prominence, who had influence and could

influence others. It was almost as hard a task as that of the missionary
who goes among the cannibals of the South Sea Islands to show them the

beauties of holiness and teach them the religion of Christ. The people
were wrapped in the mental indolence and blindness born of a pastoral

life, and the intellect and energ3^-benumbing influences of slaver}'. Every-

body laughed at him; their range of vision was bound bv the county
lines; they thought he was as much in advance of the age of common
sense as GalHleo; the people were like the crowd oi savants who sat around

the table with Christopher Columbus and waited for him to show them
how to make an itgg stand on its small end. And he finalty succeeded in

doing it. No one can understand the labor done by him; how much

patience he exercised, how much of the vitality of his soul and body he

expended in the fostering and explanation of the scheme, but the states-

man and the reformer who has gone through a similar experience. Any
man of ordinary intelligence can learn to make the separate parts of a

reaper, a sewing machine, a locomotive, but it requires a man of genius
to conceive the principle and father the grand idea. Thus it was with

Geo. R. Smith.
"
He, through long days of labor, and nights devoid of ease, still heard

in his soul the sound of wonderful melodies." He heard the sonof of the

reaper as it glides over flower decked meadows; the trumpet notes of the

locomotive as it whirls amidst the land, laughing with a golden harvest;

the boom of the trip-hammer beneath clouds of smoke that overhang the

foundries; the rumble of the press as it rolls forth its light and truth, on

the winged white messengers; he heard all these, combined in one grand

melody, the Song of Modern Progress.
In January, 1852, Gen. vSmith called a meeting of the citizens of Pettis

County to consider the matter of subscribing to the stock of the railroad.

A proposition to vote $10,000 in the county was defeated. Gen. Smith was
called on to make a speech. The best description that can be given of

his speech, is to say that after he had delivered it, the same assembly car-

ried a resolution to subscribe $100,000 to the stock of the road. He can-
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vassed the count}', and in August, 1852, the question was submitted to the

people and carried. The other counties along the Inland Route raised

$300,000. In December, 1852, the Legislature passed an act selecting the

Inland Route, provided the counties along the line would subscribe $400,-
000 more. It must be subscribed before December, 1853. In March,

1853, Gen. Smith, by previous arrangement, met thirty delegates from the

counties along the line at Georgetown. A committee of two from each

county was chosen, and these formed a grand committee, which arranged
the assessment of the counties, towns and individuals in them, to the amount
of $400,000. This proposition was submitted to the people of each county
at the fall election. It was defeated in every county except Pettis, which

voted to subscribe $70,000. The people in the other counties who were

opposed to the railroad scheme turned all their wrath on Gen. Smith.

Some rash and prejudiced persons said that Smith was bent on ruining the

county; that he ought to be burned at the stake for his reckless plans, and

that they would carry wood six miles on their shoulders to pile on to the

flames. Like that other blind rabble who stoned St. Stephen, their ig^nor-

ance made them savage. Right here Gen. Smith showed the metal of

which he was made; he showed heroism; he showed his hard practical

sense, which is the next thing to genius.

He went to work and worked all over this district to induce the people
to reconsider the very thing they had voted down. He set the other mem-
bers of the first railroad convention at work in their respective districts.

He worked three months to change the views of the people. The news-

papers in the district who favored the river route denounced and slan-

dered him. He let them talk while he put all his strength into work.

That fall the question was again submitted to the.people and the county
courts. In November, Gen. Smith called the railroad convention to meet

again at Georgetown to see what the result was. The committee

appointed to examine the amount subscribed, reported that $412,000 was

the sum!

Here was triumph and victory; here was one stalwart man against

thousands, one giant against a thousand pigmies, and he not only con-

quered them, but made them rich and happy in spite of themselves.

This made the building ot the Pacific Railroad through Central Missouri

a fixed fact. All honor to him, the leader, and the brave and faithful men
who followed their leader through the thick of the fight to a blessed

victory. In 1854 Gen. Smith was elected Representative to the Legislature

At this session a bill was introduced to lend the credit of the State to the

various railroads of the State to the amount ot $7,000,000; the share of the

Pacific Railroad was fixed at $3,000,<J00. The fight to force the bill

through was almost as hard as that among the people to get the second

$400,000 subscription. The same man, Geo. R. Smith, was there to
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Stand forth as its champion. The bill was passed by a close vote. The
Governor vetoed it, but it was finally passed over his veto.

In 1855 the slavery and anti-slavery question in Kansas w^s agitating
the people. This was the beginning of that period when the Kansas

opponents of slavery were known as "Jayhawkers,
" and the Missouri pro-

slavery men, who often engaged in the pleasant past-time ot shooting
settlers on the border, were known as "Border Ruffians." Gen.

Smith was a Virginian by birth, a Kentuckian by education, socially and

morally, a Missourian in his manhood. But the mind and character

of the man were supreme over all circumstances of birth, breeding and

education. He was a slave owner, but an abolitionist. There were many
such men; there were Jackson and Jeti^erson Democrats, who did not

believe in the social, physical or mental equaHty of the slave, who believed

slavery was a curse to the master and a wronp- to the slave.

J. M. OFFIELD S BLOCK, SEDALIA, MO.

When Gen. Smith got back to Pettis Count}' in 1855, at the close of the

session of the Legislature, he found the influential men banded together

working with might and main to form a band of men to go over the

Kansas border, "colonize" the State (temporarily) and aid the pro-slaver}'

men to make Kansas a slave State by voting at the election.

The leading men of the county called on the General and told what

the public sentiment was. They tried their strongest arguments to induce

him to fall in with the prevailing public sentiment, and to permit expe-

diency to rule him instead of principle. It was plausibly represented to

him that if he opposed this base scheme it would kill his chances for

Congress, a position it was then proposed to give him by the sutirages of

the people. But it is under just such circumstances as these that a man
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shows the superiority of his nature, of his intellect, couragje and manhood,
to that of inferior men.

He would have thrust his good right hand into a fiery furnace before

he would have aided such a scheme. He said to his advisers: "I am a

representative of the people; they have a right to know my purposes and

m}^ opinions on all subjects that effect them. They shall hear them." A
meeting was called to take action on this matter. In the Legislature Gen.

Frank P. Blair had already attacked Gen. Smith for his position on the

Kansas question. Gen. Smith had answered. Both the attack and

answer were printed and had been freely circulated in Pettis Count3^ On
the day of the meeting in Pettis County, Gen. Smith was attacked by one

of the speakers, who took for his text the speech Gen. S.. had made in

answer to Blair. He did not hesitate to answer. He acted like a man
who would rather have his own self-respect than win the esteem of others

by hypocrisy and cowardice. He made a speech, replete with sarcasm,

denunciation, and a clearness of logic that convinced men, though the}^

did not have the manhood to acknowledge it.

A biographer relates the following concerning the subject of this

sketch:

Shortly after making this speech the General was visiting a neighbor-

ing town, and was invited to spend the evening with an old personal and

political friend. After tea his friend invited him to go out with him and

attend the meeting of a newly organized secret society, which he thought
would meet with the General's approval. The gentleman was the leader

of his party in the district, and a man of character and intelligence.

When Gen. Smith and a number of gentlemen had been ushered into the

room where the secret meeting was held, the party w^ere requested to

join the society. It was a cabal of pro-slavery men. A Bible was pro-

duced, and as a preliminary, Gen. Smith was asked to solemnly swear

that he would keep inviolable the secrets of the society, and do all in his

power to make Kansas a slave State. It was evidently a cunningly

arranged plan to get him face to face with the organization, and see its

influence, on the supposition that he would not have the moral and phys-
ical courage to "back out," when he was brought face to face with the

question. "But he was a man you could ahvays count on," to use the

forcible and perspicuous vernacular of the present day. He told the

assemblage, that no power on earth would make him take that oath.

They attempted to argue the matter with him, but he told them with

dignity and indignation that he was not a fit subject for initiation, and

bowing to them with a determined manner and stately courtes}', he with-

drew. When he said "yes," he meant it; wdien he said "no," he could

thunder it forth without hesitation.

This position, clung to so tenaciously, gave the coup de grace to his
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candidacy as Representative to Congress. He stood in front of the tide

of public sentiment, and its angry waves rolled against him, but he stood

erect and unbending like a light house on the rock. He was like Henry
Clay,

" he would rather be right than be President." The next year, in

1856, he bought 1,145 acres of land south of Georgtown, the very land

upon which Sedaha now stands. He paid $13 an acre for it. That was
an enormous price at that time, for improved farms have sold in Pettis

County in the last five years for that price per acre. But he knew what
he was about. When he talked then of laying out a town on an

unbroken prairie, the fat-witted people of that era, with a few honorable

exceptions, thought that he had capped the climax of his lunacy, which

began in his advocacy of the inland route for the Pacific Railroad, and

ended in his getting a pubhc subscription to the bonds in Central Missouri,.

of $S00,00u! He paid about as much attention to the croaking of

noodles, the braying of asses, and the fluttering of the wasps and gad flies,

as a rhinoceros does to a mosquito.
In 1858 he was put up as the Whig candidate for Congress, but he was

nominated without definite plans for a campaign and only three weeks
before the time of the election. He was too honest, blunt and smart to be

immensely popular, but in spite of all these facts his Democratic opponent,
who was in accord with the popular sentiment, beat him by only a small

majority.
In 1861, when the war broke out, as might have been expected from

his previous record. Gen. Smith was a stalwart, as positively and bitterly

opposed to secession, as he had always been to slavery. Governor Gam-
ble appointed him Adjutant General of the State, and it was thus he

gained his title of "General," though practically he had been a "general,"
that is

" a leader," for years. He aided in the organization of the first

troops and then resigned. He was appointed Paymaster-General of

Missouri, and held the position for a short time, but owing to the fact that

he did not agree with the policy of the Governor, resigned this position

also, and returned to his home in Sedalia.

In 1863, when the straight Republican State Convention was held

Gen. Smith was elected vice president. He made a speech on the occa-

sion which was regarded by those on the opposite side as one full of bit-

terness and vindictiveness. It may have been, but its tone can be explained
from the fact that he had lived and labored for years among a people
whom he regarded as engaged in an efibrt to destroy that which he held

most dear and most sacred—the Union of States. He also presented a

motion, which was passed, that one Union man from' every county in the

State be selected to form a delegation to wait upon President Lincoln and

urge him to adopt a more stringent policy towards the South. The
same resolution was passed in the Kansas Convention, and the result was
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that a delegation of one hundred Union men from the two States went to

Washington, D. C, and presented this view to the President.

He has been condemned for the harshness of his views and feelings,

but it must be borne in mind that at that time the land w^as aflame with civil

war; he was derided and threatened by the ver}- people among whom he

had dwelt for years, and man}' a time his life was in peril from his, and

the enemies of his cause.

In 1864 he was one of the presidential electors on the Lincoln ticket.

In the Republican Convention of 1864, he was one of the prominent
men for Governor, when Gen. Thos. C. Fletcher carried oft" the nomina-

tion. In this year he was also chosen to represent this county in the

State Senate, and was elected president -pro teni of the Senate. In 1865 he

resigned for personal reasons. Immediately after his resignation, and

without any solicitation on his part, he was appoined by President Johnson
United States Assessor of the fourth and fifth districts of Missouri. He
was bitterly opposed to the policy of the President, and shortly after his

appointment, so expressed himself. Of course, under such circumstances,

there was a change made in the office, and Gen. Smith retired.

In 1870, when the State was divided as to the course which should be

pursued towards those who were disfranchised, because of their engage-
ment in the rebellion, he was again a candidate on the Liberal Republi-
can ticket. But as on a previous occasion, he was put up hastily

—
only

two weeks before election, and had no time or fitting opportunitv to con-

duct a canvass, and was defeated by Hon. S. S. Burdett.

This was his last appearance as a candidate for office. For the next

ten years he devoted himself almost exclusively to the management of his

large eistate in Sedalia and Pettis County. He was sixty-six years old,

but his mind was as clear, active and vigorous as it was when he was

forty-five, and his bodily strength seemed unimpaired, as he gave his per-
sonal attention to all the details of his business, rode and walked round

the city, traveled on the cars, and was just as busy and as much inter-

ested in the afl:airs of life as he ever was up to within one month of his

death, in June, 1879. He was from early manhood a member of the

Christian Church. It was observed by those who knew him best that in

the last five years of his life he seemed to become mellowed and softened

in many respects. He was more fatherly and condescending to young
men, his manners had more of that grave and genial courtes}'- than one

would expect from a man of his appearance, age and station. He
became less vehement in feeling on political questions and never, during
his long life, was he regarded with more kindliness of feeling, more

deep respect and sincere and affectionate admiration, than during the last

two or three years just previous to his demise. He was taken sick in the

latter part of June, and was ill for about three weeks with an abcess of
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the bowels. He died on the afternoon of Julv 11, 1879, and was at the

time of his death in his sevent3'--fifth year. It was eminently proper that

his funeral should be the most imposing one ever witnessed in the
cit}-.

It was attended by all the city officials and ex-officials then living, and by
a large concourse of citizens.

Gen. Smith left two daughters, Mrs. M. E. Smith and Mrs. S. E. Cotton.

He leaves an estate worth a half million dollars, to which these two

ladies are the sole heirs. His daughters have recently placed a magnifi-
cent shaft over his last resting place, but the best monument in honor of

his memory is the one he erected himself, during his Hfe time, the Queen

City of the Prairies—Sedalia.

Now that a fitting tribute has been paid to the founder of the
cit}',

and

the man who opened up Central Missouri, the histor}' of the city will be

resumed at the beginning of the year 1862.

In 1862, Capt. A. C. Marvin was provost marshal. The First Missouri

State Battery and several home guard companies were also here. In

June, 1862, Col. Catherwood's regiment of militia were stationed here

also, and remained all summer. In August, a detachment from this regi-

ment went to Lone Jack, in Jackson County, and engaged in one of the

most desperate small battles of the war. The late Capt. S. W. Ritchey,

Count}^ Recorder, was seriously wounded, taking a dashing part in this

fight. In 1862, Col. Philips took a portion of his regiment, the 7th

Cavalry, which was recruited partly in this city and Georgetown, to

the relief of Lexington, Mo. Gen. G. R. Smith was adjutant-general
then.

For a full list of the Sedalia soldiers, and an account of their services

in the county, outside the city, the reader is referred to Chapter XV,
on "Martial History," published in the History of Pettis county. During
the entire year 1862, there was a considerable force in Sedalia, doing
service in the vicinity, cutting oft' supplies and recruits from the* rebel

army, and breaking up the bands of bushwhackers that organized every
now and then. Being the terminus of the railroad it was an important

post and a headquarters for supplies. Some few people by chance or

force of circumstances, "stuck" to the town, and eventually became a part
of its permanent population.

Life in the city during the next year, 1868, was very much like that of

the previous year; a few houses were built, or the old ones improved,
and a few more inhabitants added to the town. In this 3'ear W. P.

Baker made an efibrt to run a newspaper, but it lasted onl}^ for a short

time.

In 1863, there was an enormous frame warehouse on the north

side of Main street, between Ohio and Lamine streets. It contained

$20,000 worth of government supplies. Capt. Ed. Ward, who was after-
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wards a citizen of this city, and committed suicide on the fair grounds,
was the commissary clerk. The building was overrun with rats, and

was surrounded with thick prairie grass. Where the water fell from the

eaves there was a long ditch devoid of grass. Between this ditch and

the building there was a strip of very thick prairie grass, about eighteen
inches wide. It was a regular fire trap, and ran the whole length of the

building on the east side. The porter of the building had two large rat

traps, in each of which were three large, living rats. He took the trap

out on the prairie grass, about fifty feet from the building. It was just

dusk. He then called Capt. Ward and the writer out. Previously, the

porter had poured about a gallon of coal oil over the rats in the traps.

He dropped a match into each of the traps, set the rats aflame, and let

them loose. Two of them, like great balls of fire, struck out on the

open prairie, and soon had it aflame. The other four made straight for

the narrow strip of grass, which grew right next to, and against the store-

room. They ran up and down the strip about one minute until each

found an opening and disappeared
—a ball of flame—beneath the house.

In two minutes there was a solid sheet of flame the full length of the

building, about 175 feet, and the light upright strips and boards were

burning. There was no water near. It looked for a moment as if this

cruel joke of the porter must result in the destruction of the building
and the $20,000 worth, of stores. It was a moment of intense excitement.

The three persons present rushed into the building and seized a pile of

army blankets. B}" the most desperate eflbrt and rapid work these were

cast upon the burning grass and the flames extinguished. The boards

were on fire in half a dozen places, and they were extinguished in a simi-

lar manner. The building was away out in the suburbs, so that it might
be away from the camp fires and no one else was near at that time. The

open prairie grass was easily extinguished.
Almost everything in the building was light and inflammable, and if the

fire had once got a start, thirty minutes would have found it a heap of

feathery ashes. The porter told the commander of the fort, or quarter-

master, a beautiful and talented lie about the origin of the flames, and

was so deeply penitent and so badly frightened that the other two wit-

nesses of the incident never betrayed him.

It was during the year 1863, that Gen. Joe O. Shelby and his dashing
raiders made their raid through this section, and passed near Sedalia, but

fortunately did not enter it. A number of the parties who were with

Shelby at that time, are now residents of this city and quiet citizens.

Maj. J. C. Wood, late circuit 'clerk, had command of a squad of sixty men,
and he burned the Lamine bridge, at Otterville, eighteen miles east of

Sedalia. He passed near the suburbs of the town, but had no intention of

stopping here to engage the militia.
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In considering the events of 1864, it is proper here to mention a curious,

and at the same time an interesting fact with regard to the history of

Sedalia from the time it was laid out, until February 15, 1864, when it

received its charter as a city. There was no such thing as civil govern-

ment, no corporate body in Sedalia from the breaking out of the war, early

in 1861, until the granting of the charter in 1864, and the installation of

the first officers in the same year. From the early part of 1861 to the

latter part of 1864, the State of Missouri was under martial law; Pettis

County was a part of a militia district, and during the war, until 1864,

Sedalia was a military post, and the head official was the commander of

the post. There was no mayor, no council, no city ordinances, no court

or other legislative or executive body outside of the military power.
As soon as Sedalia was really founded it became evident at once that it

must ultimately become the county seat, instead of Georgetown. The

question of the removal of the county seat was agitated and talked about,

but the war came on and all such questions were swallowed up in the

excitement and turmoil attendant upon it. No definite action was taken in

the matter until 1864, when by an act of the Legislature, passed February

15th, the county seat was removed to SedaHa. The actual removal did

not take place until a year later. The act says:

Sec. 1. The seat of justice of the county of Pettis is hereby removed
from Georgetown, the present county seat, to the town of Sedalia, on the

Pacific Railroad.

Sec. 2. The commissioners hereafter appointed shall, immediately
after the taking effect of this act, proceed to select a site for the location of

the county buildings, and shall obtain by purchase, gift or donation, the

conveyance to the county of Pettis in fee simple, such tracts of land and
.town lots as they may deem best for the interest of the county, and such

purchase, grant, gift or donation, when approved by the county court,

shall be binding upon all parties concerned, and said commissioners shall

regulate their own time of meeting.
Sec. 3. The pubHc records and moveable property shall be removed

to the new county seat as soon as practicable, after the passage of this act,

and all courts hereafter to be held for said county shall be held at the new

county seat; frovkicd., hoit'cver, that the county court shall not be

required to hold their sessions at the new county seat until suitable

buildings are perfected for their reception.

After various other provisions to provide for the payment of money

expended for lots, and the appointment of three commissioners to select

a site for county buildings, comes the ninth section which says:

Sec. 9. Joseph C. Higgins, J. J. Monahan and John M. Sneed are

hereb}^ appointed commissioners to locate the site of the county buildings
under the provisions of this act; provided, however, that the citizens of

Sedalia and vicinity shall furnish the means for the erection of a court

house, and the tax payers of Pettis County shall not be taxed for the pur-

15
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pose of paying for the building- of said court house, nor shall the commis-
sioners herein appointed enter upon the discharge of the duties imposed
until a sufficient amount of mone}' has been raised for the completion of

said court house.

Some time in the fall of 1864 or the spring of 1865 the commissioners

before mentioned had erected a large frame court house, which was near

Ohio street and the alley between Second and Main streets. Here the

first terms of the circuit court were held in the spring and summer of

1865. The character of some of the proceedings then had have been

mentioned elsewhere in this chapter together with the names of the offi-

cers of the court.

In view of the fact that the town was to be made the county seat awak-
ened the citizens to the importance of having a city charter. In the early

part of December, 1863, the party of citizens, who are mentioned hereafter

as the first officers and aldermen, met in the parlor of the old Sedalia

House, north of the railroad, and discussed the matter of drafting a char-

ter. Theodore Moses, brother of R. H. Moses, at present county collec-

tor, was chosen to act as secretary. The members present discussed each

point, and then one of them dictated to Moses and he wrote the matter

down, section by section. At the time of the third meeting there was

small-pox in the town, and there had been ten deaths. James G. Tesch,
who was a member of the meeting, came in on this occasion looking very

pale, and said he had been unwell for several da3's. He sat down close to

the stove. While the members were busy discussing the points of the

charter. Major William Beck looked up suddenly and saw that Tesch's

face was as red as a boiled lobster, whereas, a few mements before it had

been as white as a sheet. Beck said to him: "Tesch, what in the name
of God is the matter with your face?" Before he could answer. General

Smith arose from his chair, strode up to Tesch, took a good look at his

face, and then burst out in stentorian tones, and in his usually decisive

and boisterous manner, said: "By the eternal, the man has got the small-

pox!" He did have the small-pox. Four soldiers were called; Tesch

was rolled up in army blankets, a stretcher was brought, and the soldiers

carried him to his home. He was confined to his bed for some time with

a pretty severe case of the disease. After this interruption the meeting
went on v\ath its work. When the work was completed it was presented

to the Legislature, which met in January, 1864. Upon this draft was pre-

pared the present charter of the city of Sedalia. The bill granting it

was passed February 15, 1864. By the provisions of the charter the citi-

zens who had prepared the original draft were appointed the first officers

and aldermen. Their names, and the positions they held areas follows:

George R. Smith, ma3'or; James G. Tesch, marshal; C. P. Townsley,

assessor; aldermen, Frank L. Parker, William Beck, Ira C. Pierce, R.
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Waltenspeil, Richard Hulland, Eli Laupheimer, Francis McCabe. The
latter was the commander of a company durin*^ Jeff. Thompson's raid on

Sedalia. Of these, Smith, Parker, Waltenspeil, Hulland and McCabe are

now dead.

These constituted the officers, a mayor, marshal, assessor, and seven

aldermen.

The charter provided for the appointment of a registrar by the mayor.
This set of officers held their position until the first Monday in April,

1864, when the first city election was held. At this election the following
officers were elected: James G. Tesch, mayor, and the old board of

aldermen mentioned above.

The first meeting of the city council under the charter was held in a

little frame building near the present site of the German House, East

Main street.

The earliest records of the council meetings seem to have been destroyed,
and the writer was unable to find them.

The charter which was then granted to Sedalia gave prett}' full powers.
Section twelve gives in a compact form the powers granted the mayor
and board of aldermen, and is as follows: "The mayor and board of

aldermen shall have power by ordinance to levy and collect taxes upon
real and personal property within the city, such taxes as shall from time

to time be necessary for the purposes of the corporation, on all persons
and property made taxable by the laws for state purposes, and shall have

power by ordinance to make regulations to prevent the introduction of

contagious diseases
;
to make regulations to secure the general health of

the inhabitants; to prevent and remove nuisances; to establish night
watches and patrols; erect lamps in the street and light the same; to pro-
vide for licensing, taxing and regulating auctioneers, retailers, ordinaries and

taverns, billiard tables, hackney coaches, wagons, carts, dra3's, pawn-
brokers, venders of lottery tickets, money changers, hawkers and peddlers,

theatrical and other shows of amusement; to restrain and prohibit tippling

houses, gaming and gaming houses, bawd}^ houses and other disorderly

houses
;
to establish and repair bridges ;

to establish and regulate markets
;

to open and keep in repair streets, avenues, lanes, alleys, drains and sew-

ers, and keep the same clean; to provide the city with water, to provide
for safe keeping standard weights and measures; for the regulation of

weights and measures to be used in said city; to regulate the cleaning of

chimneys and fix the fees thereof; to provide for the prevention and

extinguishment of fires; to regulate the size of brick to be made and used

within the city; to provide for the inspection of lumber and other building

materials to be sold and used therein; to regulate and order partition and

parapet walls, hearth boxes, and partition fences; to regulate the inspec-

tion of butter, lard, wool and the weight and quantity of bread, the stor-
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age of gunpowder, tar, pitch, rosin, hemp, cotton and other combustible

materials; to erect pumps in the streets for the convenience of the inhabi-

tants; to regulate the election of city officers and fix their compensation,
and from time to time to pass such ordinances to carry into effect the

objects of this act and the powers hereby granted, as the good of the

inhabitants may require; and to impose the appropriate fines and forfeit-

ures for the breach of any ordinance, and provide for the collection

thereof; provided that no tax shall be laid upon the wearing apparel, or

necessary tools and implements of any person carrying on a trade, nor

shall the same be subject to distress or sale for tax."

This clause is of interest because it gives "in a nut shell" the powers

granted to the city; and it gives an insight into the social condition of the

city by showing what things were wanted and not wanted, under the law

at that time.

Numerous amendments have been made to the charter, which will also

show the progress of the city and the increase of its demands. The

mayor first appointed the city registrar, and afterwards the city attorney.

Now all officers are elected. There is now no necessity for regulating

sellers of lottery tickets, for that traffic is forbidden by State law. A board

of health is now established to look after the health of the citizens, and

contagious diseases. There is now an ordinance for the taxing and kill-

ing of dogs, and for restraining hogs and cattle from running at large;

to protect birds and bird's nests; to kill pigeons; to erect poor, work and

pest houses; to prohibit the carrying of concealed weapons; to regulate

the price and quality of gas; to borrow money and issue bonds; to pre-

scribe fire Hmits; for the keepmg of a record of births and deaths; to

restrain and regulate hotel runners; to prevent the encroachment of signs

on sidewalks; to prevent' any amusement that ma}^ annoy people on the

highways or frighten animals; to provide for the paving, altering and

opening of streets, etc., etc. These very amendments to the city charter

show the history of the town indirectly, because the provisions of the

original charter were suitable for a young village; and the amendments

are such as are required by the demands of an established city.

Just after the city had become a corporation, and the first set of elected

officers and aldermen had gotten the city government to working well,

the town was invaded by a regular and large force of veteran Confeder-

ates.

The election came oft' in April, 1864, and the town was captured in

October following.
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CHAPTER III.—CAPTURE OF SEDALIA.

This history of the assault upon and capture of the city is one of the

most interesting and important incidents of the war, not only in Sedalia,

but in Missouri, because it was made at a most unexpected time and when
the war was almost over; and because there are many of the present

residents of Sedalia who witnessed the event and still recollect it as the

most thrilling episode in their whole lives.

Gen. Sterling Price, with a large and well organized force, had begun
his fimous march through Missouri, and had reached the central part of

the State.

On September 23, about twenty days before the attack on this city,

Col. John D. Crawford, a tried and trusted Union soldier, who had been

born and raised in the near vicinity of Sedalia, and had done good ser-

vice for his count}' and countr}^ from the very beginning of the war,

received a formal order from Gen. Rosecrans, the then commander of the

department in which Sedalia was located, to organize a force to defend

Sedalia. It was supposed that the approach of Price's army would

embolden all the straggling bands of bushwhackers and other irregulars,

to commit new deeds of violence and plunder, and as all the regular

forces had been withdrawn from the town and the post abandoned, it was

in great danger from such predatory bands as might swoop down upon
it. Col. Crawford went to work at once, assisted by a few other men
who had seen service, and reliable and courageous Union citizens of the

town, and organized a small force, composed of veteran militiamen and

Union citizens, and a few men of southern sympathies who w^ere willing

or forced to unite wdth them in the defense of their town, homes and

property. Forces were organized not only in Sedalia, but in Clinton,

Warrensburg and other surrounding towns, and the officers in command
at these other points reported daily, or as often as possible, to Col. Craw-

ford.

On October 14, Gen. Sanborn and a force of Federal cavalry passed

through Georgetown on their way west. The general met Col. Craw-

ford and commended his promptness and efficiency in organizing his

forces, and successful defense of the town and country. Sometime

between October 10 and October 13 the wires between Jefferson City and

Sedalia were cut, and news reached Sedalia that the Otterville railroad

bridge would be burned, thus cutting Sedalia off from all communication

with headquarters and from all aid. This was a desperate condition to be

left in. About the same time a telegram was received from Gen. Brown,
District Commander at Jefferson Cit}^, ordering Col. Crawford to take his

horses and arms and leave Sedalia to its own fate, as he would be com-
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pletely at the mercy of the enemy. A council was held and the word
went out, "We will stay till driven out."

The morning after this news was received Col. Crawford took a force

of twenty-five picked men on a flat car with an engine and went to Otter-

ville, eighteen miles east of Sedalia, to reconnoiter. When he arrived

there he found the bridge burning and the dense forest and rough country
around it filled with Confederates. After the burningr of the bridge he

returned to Sedalia and urged his miscellaneous force to be especially

watchful and discreet. The next day he took a small force of his cavalry
and went to Otterville to make a second reconnoiter. Near the mill and

blacksmith shop in the eastern suburbs, to which the enemy were driven,

he came upon a squad of Confederates, and each part}^ fired a volley. One
Confederate fell from his horse wounded through the shoulders, and the

others fled. As the Union militiamen approached the fallen Confederate,

one of them, a very reckless and cruel man, fired his gun at the fallen

soldier. His commander ordered him to desist and told him " not to

shoot at a dead man, but to save his shots for the living as he would

probably find more of them ere long, than he would be pleased to see."

On hearing an officer speak, the wounded Confederate, who was only

pretending to be dead to save himself from further injury, raised upon his

elbow and begged Col. Crawford not to let his men kill him, as he was no

bushwhacker but a regular Confederate soldier. A number of militia-

men were directed to pick up the wounded man, and he was carried to the

residence of Dr. Sanders, one of the oldest physicians in the sectoin, where

his wounds were dressed, and he received every proper attention. The
Federal force drove the Confederates out of town, but met with no further

adventures. The}' returned to Sedalia the same night. Light earthworks

had been thrown up all around the town. The next day, October 15, a

woman came over from the " Pin Hook Mills" neighborhood, a Mrs.

Cummings, and informed Col. Crawford that there was a large Confed-

erate force on their way across the country to attack Sedalia. Reports
of this character had been so frequent since the appearance of Price's

force in Central Missouri, that little attention was paid to it at first.

However, a squad was sent out to reconnoiter, and soon

returned with a couple of rebel stragglers, which they captured in the

woods about four miles due north of town. There was now no doubt

about a rebel force being near the town. All the available forces in

Sedalia, about 250 or 300 men, were ordered to go into the trenches or

saddles.

The different companies and squads were at this time under the imme-

diate command of Capt. Donnohue, Capt. Frank McCabe, Capt. F. L.

Parker, Capt. Wm. Bloess, Lieut. Ben Lyon and Lieut. Dick Bard. They
and their forces had been scouting through the country, digging trenches
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at various points around the town, laying on their arms at night in the

open air, and, in fact, enduring all the hardships and rigors of soldier life.

Chan. P. Townsley was adjutant, and Lieut. B. F. Yankee was with his

company.
The strongest earthwork was on the site of A. L. Goodwm's livery

stable, on East Main street. Ben Lyon and Adam Ittel were in com-
mand here. Near town there was a company of cavalry belonging to

some regiment with Gen Sanborn, and just out of town was a squad of

men from Hickory County, who were witliout arms, and had come to

Sedalia to get them. They all left at once when the attack began. The

headquarters of the Union force were in the basement of the old Sedalia

House, near the present site of the Garrison House. The small miscella-

neous force got under arms at once and went to their various posts around

town. Lieut. Lyon was at the old Bouldin House, northwest of town,

getting his dinner, when he heard the first firing. There was a tall flag-

staff in front of the headquarters, from which the Union flag was flying.

Capt. Donnohue had been sent out north of town with a small cavalry
force. This squad met the Confederate advance guard in the vicinity of

the present city cemetery, and exchanged several volleys. Then, seeing

the}' were overwhelmingly outnumbered, returned to town. The rebel

force was large and furnished with several field pieces, and it would have

been folly to have attempted to fight them without artillery. About the

same time a telegraph operator from Otterville or Syracuse came to

town and delivered a dispatch to Col. Crawford from Gen. A. J.

Smith, who was in command of the Federal infantry force somewhere
down on the line of the railroad, where the telegraph lines had been

repaired. The message said in substance: "Hold the town if you can,

until I arrive with my troops; but if the rebel force is too large, leave the

place and save your men, arms and horses."

By this time the Confederates had planted their three pieces of artillery

near the cemetery, and were firing shot and shell at two points in the

town; two columns of Confederate cavalry were approaching the town,
one from the west and another from the east, and very soon skirmishing

began at different points and the capture of the whole force became
imminent.

It was not long before several squads of the citizen soldiers were cap-
tured or had surrendered. The Union forces fell back south of the rail-

road. Col. Crawford rode down town to his headquarters, just north of

the present site of the Garrison House, to get some valuables from his

office. He had his large overcoat buttoned up over his uniform. At

Capt. F. L. Parker's livery stable, near the headquarters, he found Capt.
Parker disputing and talking with five or six Confederate soldiers. Craw-
ford rode up to Parker and said:



HISTORY OF SEDALIA. 437

"What are you doing here?"

These men seemed to be stragglers who had recently joined the Con-

federates; they did not seem to be well acquainted with the members of

their own forces, and evidently mistook Crawford for a Confederate

officer. They walked away on his approach, at any rate, and left him to

talk to Parker. The latter had been captured by the Confederates and

deprived of his horse and all his arms. While Parker and Crawford
were talking Bill Baker, orderly for Crawford, came up. He was riding
a small pony and had also lost his arms and cavalry horse. Baker told

Crawford he w^ould be ca[)tured if he remained there long. Crawford
told him to keep quiet. Parker was urged to mount a horse that was in

the livery stable, and all three men rode slowly west on North Main as

far as to Kentucky street. Col. C. told Baker and Parker "to stay with him,

keep their lips closed, and he would take them safely out of the town."

Just as the party got to the Kentucky street railroad crossing they saw a

squad of Confederates coming from the west. Some of them passed east

on Main street, and some entered stores. A cavalier galloped up towards

them and leveled his gun at them. Baker's pony got close up to the Con-
federate before he could stop his horse, and as he was unarmed, of

course the man did not fear him. The Confederate turned his rfun

towards Crawford and said: "Are you a Confederate or a Federal?"

Crawford drew his big holster revolver, and as he got it leveled on the

trooper said: "I am a Federal, give up that gun!" Before the Confeder-

ate could fire. Baker, who was by his side, took hold of his gun, and had
the man at his mercy. The fellow was made to give up his gun and his

revolvers, and charged to make no noise. Then the four men, Crawford,
Parker, Baker and the prisoner rode slowly south on Kentucky street

until they reached about the localit}^ of Seventh street. Here was assem-

bled the calvary force under Adjutant Chan. P. Townsley, who were

beginning to dispute their w^ay with the Confederate calvary from the

west, and as the Federals passed out the Confederates closed around and
took complete possession of the town. As the forces were scattered

throughout the town that day, and as different persons were in different

parts of the town, and at different times in the day, their personal experi-
ences were all different, and each witnessed something that probably
another did not. The narratives of different parties who were in the town,

combined, give a very graphic picture of the sights, scenes, escapes and

dangers of the day.
When he first heard the cannon booming, Lieut. Ben. Lyon mounted his

horse and rode to the fort on East Main street at once. When he got there

all his men were gone. He went in to look round when a ball from a Con-
federate field piece took the top oft' the fort, and a number of carbine balls

struck a pile of timber near it. He saw it was too warm to stay there by him-
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self, and got out and galloped off, having no one to aid him had he felt dis-

posed to make a stand. Just after Capt. Donnohue's scouting party came
back from the vicinity of the cemetery, and about the time the militia force

began their retreat southward, the Confederates sent a company out to

approach the town from the east and from the west.

It was at that time two hundred or two hundred and fifty Confederate cav-

alry, under the command of Gen. Thompson's orderly sergeant, made a

charge across the prairie in the northeast part of town, that the most of

the fighting was done. It was a short fight, but ended disastrously to the

Confederates. The scene of the actual fighting was near the corner of

what is now Jefferson street and Washington avenue, and about seventy-

five yards due north of the deep cut of the Missouri Pacific Railroad.

From the fort on East Main street, a line of ditches and earthworks, w^ith

a tier of railroad ties on top of them, extended in a semi-circle northward,
and then northwest, and enclosed all the ground now occupied by the

Catholic Church, and ran clear around to the present Moniteau street and

stopped about a square north of Main street. These earthworks had a

ditch in front of them, were about six feet above the level of the prairie,

and had two tiers of railroad ties on top of them, with an opening between

the first and second tiers to fire through; some where near the present site

of John B. Gallie's lumber yard, where the German compan}- of home

guards were stationed.

After the news came that the Confederates were approaching the town, a

number of scouting parties from Sedalia were riding around in the broad

open prairie north of the town. At the same time W. P. Jackson and a

gang of negroes were digging more earthworks, between the first line

of earthworks mentioned and the present cemetery northeast of the city.

When the Confederate gunners had planted their guns near the cemetery,
all the straggling parties hastened into town because cannon balls began
to

fl}' fast. Just before the main body of the forces left the town a small

party of men, not exceeding twenty in number, put their horses in Cap-
tain Parker's livery stable and went to the earthworks, near the corner

of Jefierson street and Washington avenue. Every one was very much
excited at this time, and it is difficult to give a connected, full and accurate

account of what happened. The account of what happened in and around

the little fort near Jefferson street and Washington avenue, is of the most

importance, the best authenticated and of most interest, for it was at

this point that the sharpest fighting took place.
The story told by all who were in and around this spot agrees in all

important particulars. Tlie little companv which made a stand here was

composed of cool, recklessly brave men. They seemed to have thought
of nothing else than to make a stand and fight. They forgot that their
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resistance to a force of which they knew nothing, might result in every
one of them getting shot or bayoneted.
Frank McCabe was in the breastwork. He was one of the first

aldermen in the city, and a perfect dare-devil. He was armed with a small,

long-range and deadly rifle. Charles Lyon was barely twenty years old
;

he had a shot gun, loaded with slugs, and some revolvers. William P.

Jackson had a splendid carbine, two revolvers and a big horse pistol.

Robert G. Barnhart was either in the breastwork or near it. He was an

old hunter and trapper, a good shot, and a man who would stand fire.

The last three men are still residents of this city, and remember the inci-

dents of the fight with perfect distinctness. Frank Wear, now a resident

of Clinton, Mo., was there. George C. Taylor, one of the boldest and most

courageous of men, a brother of Mr. Charles G. Taylor, of this city, was
in and out of the breastwork. While the fight was still going on, Taylor
went out of the breastwork, saw a Confederate straggler trying to rob an

old man named Chambers or Chalmers, near the present site of George
Scheer's new wagon shop, and shot the soldier ofi his horse. Theo. Shel-

ton, son-in-law of Major Gentry, now a wealthy St Louis merchant, then

a mere boy, was there with Jacob Nussberger, and Fred Heep, who
afterwards committed suicide. There were others in and out and around,
but no one can remember their names. About seventy-five yards north-

west of this breastwork, near the present site of the Catholic Church, or

just east of it, was the first school house in the city, built before the town

was laid out. While this little band above mentioned were behind this

breastwork, the six pound balls were flying at the flag-staft'on East Main

street, and over their heads, at the staft' near the Sedalia House, which

was in a direct line with them. Bob Barnhart had nailed the flag to the

staft' of the East Main street fort, and the only way to get it down was to

chop down the pole. This was done afterwards, or else it was shot down.

After Dick Bard and his company had gone out near the cemetery, and

come back with a squad of Confederate cavalry after them, another squad of

Confederate cavalry ranged around in the valley north of town, and came

upon the German company under the command of Theo. Bloess, near Moni-

teau street, and a long distance west of the breastworks and the old

school house, near Jefierson street. When the Rebel cavalry ran on to

the German company and their breastworks the latter fired on them at

long range. This Rebel band, from fift}-
to seventy-five, retreated east-

ward, and protected themselves by getting on the east side of the old

school house before mentioned. This band was now not more than sev-

enty-five yards from McCabe and his men, and between the school house

and the breastworks. They did not know that there was any one in

the breastworks. Frank McCabe said: "By God, boys, hold your fire

until they get up close; I've got a long-range gun ; let me fire first and then
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all of you pepper them." They poured a volley into the Confederates and

were so close that the Union soldiers could see the cavalrymen who were

hit, wince, though none fell off" their horses. The Confederate cavalry
scattered and galloped off until they could see who and what the}' were

fighting. In a few moments another squad came galloping up in front of

the breastworks, and before they knew they were in range, they got a

terrible volley from behind the breastworks, that is believed to have

wounded quite a number, as several were seen to reel in their saddles,

though none fell. Some of them ran over to the battery on the hill, and

the gunner began to aim at the breastworks. While firinir at this breast-

work, a piece of shell went into the house of a man named Mack, and

killed one of his children. Captain F. L. Parker's house, and that of W.
P. Jackson were in a line with this breastwork and the one on East

Main street.

They saw two women just south of them and of the railroad deep cut,

with a sheet on a pole. They, the women, were in full view of the bat-

tery over by the cemetery, and were evidently waiving the cloth as a

flag of truce to get the firing stopped.
The men in the breastwork had their blood up and wanted to fight,

and suggested, in their excitement, that the women holding the flag be shot

down. McCabe and Jackson told them to hold on. Jackson went out,

crossed the railroad, and found his wife holding the flag of truce, which

she and Mrs. F. L. Parker had fixed up when they saw the East Main
street fort deserted and the six pound balls coming into their yards.

Jackson took the flag, rolled it up, told the ladies to go back home, and

was about to recross the railroad cut and go to the breastwork, when a

squad of rebel cavalry, with Col. Elliott at their head, dashed out from

behind the east Main Street Fort, surrounded him and took him prisoner.

The next incident of the fight was the most interesting of all. Some one

went down to the depot and told the officer there that there were "a lot

of dare devil fools
"

up in a breastwork, meaning McCabe and his men,
who had not surrendered. It is supposed that Gen. Thompson's orderly

sergeant, Helm, a splendid fellow, who was a brave soldier, and a valuable

man, was ordered to ride up to the fort and call on McCabe and his men
to surrender; at any rate, in a few moments the men behind the breast-

works saw this sergeant riding towards them, and the old school house.

Behind him were a few other men, at a distance.

He rode up near the fort and called out for them to surrender. Some
one yelled back: " You go to hell." Then the gleaming ends of the

weapons began to appear between the top line of ties. He saw he was

going to be fired on, threw himself from his horse and began to make for

the protection of the old school house. Frank McCabe drew a bead on

him with a rifle and sent a ball clear through him, just beneath the arm
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pit. Several others fired also. There was another trooper near him. It

can not be told exactly who killed his horse. At any rate a ball was sent

sidewise through the horse's head, and he had both his eyes shot out.

The animal fell over on the trooper and pinioned him to the earth. It

was all open prairie in front of and around the breastwork. The killing

of the orderly sergeant, and the fall of the horse and the trooper, were

plainly visible to the men at the battery over near the cemetery. The
man lying beneath his horse was able to signal, and a trooper from the

battery came to his relief. This was as good as certain death. The
soldier galloped up, jumped off his horse, gave a few vigorous pulls at

his comrade and got him out from under the animal. Before he could

rise from his stooping position the men behind the breastworks riddled

him with balls, and he fell dead. The man whom he had rescued fled

on the wings of the wind and escaped, though a volley was tired after

him.

By this time the two companies of Confederate cavalry which had gone
to the east and the west of the town, had come in from the south, and

those who had come directly from the main force, near the cemetery, had

united at the depot, or were scattered throughout the town. The little

band at the earthworks, where the sergeant was killed, now, for the first

.time, learned the superior numbers that they were fightmg against. They
scattered and every man took care of himself. None of them left town

because they knew that they could not be distinguished from the other

soldiers. Scouts were sent out through the town commanding every
citizen and soldier to assemble at the depot, or take the consequence.

The possible consequences of staying away or of trying to get out of town

were not known, nor were they pleasant to contemplate. Therefore, all

assembled at the depot and gave up their arms.

By three o'clock in the afternoon the Confederates had full possession

of the towm. One of the first things they wanted to do was to burn the

old Virginia House, afterwards the Marvin House, which was located on

the present site of C. C. Clay's marble yard, at the north end of Ohio

street. Fortunately among the troopers w^ere some Central Missourians.

The hotel was then kept by Capt. Henry. He had several handsome and

spirited daughters who knew personally a number of these men. The

house was actually set on fire, but at the earnest solicitation of the young

women, the soldiers they knew extinguished the flames and influenced

their comrades not to set the flames going again. Some of the Union

men who saw^ Thompson's men, say that many of them were as brave

and cool soldiers as they ever saw. On the northeast corner of Main and

Kentucky there was a storeroom filled with government stores. These

were all cleaned out or destroyed. Then the troopers scattered out among
the business houses and pillaged to their hearts content. They took
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whatever they wanted. Among those who suffered were Rod. GaUie,

James Parks, Cloney, Crawford & Co., and a number of others whose
names are not remembered. There were not man}' stores here then.

Whenever they came across any arms that the}- could not use they
mashed them over the corners of the houses, the horse-racks and the

counters.

W. B. Riley and a man named Rudolf, who now resides in AVindsor,

Mo., were among the last to leave the city. Upon the present site of the

corner of Fourth and Kentucky streets they came in range of a squad of

raiders who fired at them at long range as they were making for Flat

Creek. Several of the troopers followed them a long distance, but as they
had the best horses and no arms they kept out of range of the minnie

balls that were sent after them.

Some few stores were riot touched. It is quite evident, but no one knows

exactly the details, that some one then in or around Sedalia had sufficient

influence among the men and with the Confederate general to save the

property of men on both sides.

All the afternoon the rebels were in the city. Late in the afternoon

Gen. Thompson himself came over from Georgetown. He was a tall,

slim, melancholy looking man, who wore a broad-brimmed gray hat and

looked like a ver}- devout Quaker who had turned soldier. His soldiers

had, up to this time, pillaged to their heart's content. This was war and

this is customary-, but Gen. Thompson either was, or pretended to be, very

angry about it. He commanded it to stop at once. He rode up and down
Main street, where all the business houses were. David Phillips had a

store on the north side of Main, near Osage, on the present site of the

Sedalia Savings Bank. Gen. Thompson saw a trooper, who was riding
a mule, take a lot of articles, which, in the excitement caused by

" the

cannon's opening roar," had been left out in front of the store. Among the

goods w^as a bolt of muslin, which had become unwrapped. About fifteen

feet of it was dragging on the ground as the fellow rode down the street.

The rebel general happened to see the man. He called on him to halt.

The fellow tried hard to get away. Just as he was about to turn the cor-

ner of Main and Kentucky, Gen. Thompson drew his big revolver and

fired on the man. The bullet went through the fleshy part of the fellow's

leg and killed the mule dead in its tracks. The man extricated himself

from the dead animal, left his plunder and limped off as fast as his wound
would permit.

It was impossible to learn the exact number who were killed. In the

miscellaneous skirmishes about town the rebels lost five killed and thirteen

were wounded.

There is another incident connected wath this raid which has a special
local interest, because a number of parties who now live in Sedalia, were
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the actors in the scenes; and because it shows that the Union force was
in no way fitted to cope with veteran wild riders and raiders like Jeft'.

ThomDSon's men.

About three or four days before Thompson's soldiers came into Seda-

lia, Serg^eant Steve S. Homans, late deputy sheriff, who was orderly in the

company of Captain Bacon Montgomery, was at home, in Sedalia and

Georgetown, on furlough. He carried some dispatches from Georgetown
to Syracuse to Col. John F. Philips. As he was returning from S3-racuse
to Sedalia he was stopped by the Union pickets who were then stationed

at McVey-s branch, about one mile east of Sedalia. He knew that the

country was full of scouting parties from the force of Gen. Price. He told

the men that they ought to be very watchful, as they might be shot or

captured any minute b}' scouting parties from Price's armv, which he

knew to be under the command of old Pettis County men, who knew every

farm, lane and public road in the county. It was not long before the men
who did picket duty east and southeast of Sedalia had cause to remember
his warning.

Maj. Jas. C. Wood, who was raised in this section and knew the whole

county, was scouting around in Pettis Count}-, in advance of Thompson,
and he had a band of as bold, experienced, hardy and reliable men as

ever drew a sabre or cocked a revolver. They were just the men for a

raid. Two or three nights before Jeff. Thompson appeared in Sedalia,

Maj. Wood and his sixty picked men reached the eastern suburbs. He
stationed all his men on the open prairie, about a half mile west of Abso-

lom McVey's farm house. He and ten men rode towards Sedalia until

they saw the three pickets at McVey's branch. Five men were left with

the horses. Maj. Wood and the other five crawled with the utmost

caution, on their hands and knees, through the tall prairie grass, until they
had completely surrounded the three men. These men had just been

put on duty at dusk, and it was the corporal's guard, coming to change
sentinels, that put Wood on to the knowledge of the location of the m^n.

Maj. Wood and his five men la}- still until the relief was gone. Suddenly

they arose to their feet, leveled their weapons on the men, and so com-

pletely surprised them that resistance was useless and they surrendered.

Maj. Wood, being familiar with the countr}^ had been sent out by Gen.

Thompson, who was then near Marshall, Mo., to burn the Olterville

bridge and for the express purpose of finding out the condition of Sedalia

and the force necessary to take it. The capture of this picket guard was

a big point in his favor. The three men were taken back to the spot

where the main body was bivouacked. Here they w^ere given one or two

good drinks of whisk}- to console them for their unfortunate capture, and

they were treated with the frankness and freedom peculiar to soldiers in

time of actual war. By a little judicious management the men were
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made to talk freely. Maj. Wood learned that there was another picket

guard in the hollow, just south of the present location of the Missouri,

Kansas and Texas car shops. This was where the public road struck

off for Versailles. Maj. Wood at once got his ten trusty men together
and road off into the darkness. It was not over a mile and a half or two

miles to the spot. As they approached the place the}^ saw a twinkling

light in the distance. It seemed not larger than a fire fly. When they
had gotten within a safe distance of the guard they dismounted as before.

Five men were left with the eleven horses, and the other six crept softly

through the grass in the direction of the small light. When the creeping

troopers were almost within shooting distance of the unsuspecting pickets

they heard the clear notes of a violin, pouring forth on the still air

of the boundless prairie, the notes of an old and popular tune.

Finally the Confederate raiders got near enough to the small

fire to see the men around it. It was a picture for

Rembrandt. On an old nail keg sat a militiaman, faintl}^ revealed by
the small fire that burned at his feet. x\cross his knees lay his musket,

while in his hands he held a violin, from which he was drawing rude but

genuine music. The second guard had laid his musket down on the

grass and was dancing a solo or jig with all his might. The third

picket stood leaning on his gun, not suspecting any danger, and watched

the other two. Their horses were tethered near. Suddenly six dark

forms sprang from the grass, the startled troopers saw the gleam of six

weapons, all leveled at them, and they heard a stern command from the

darkness: "
Drop your arms and hold up your hands or you are dead

men!" They knew very well what that meant and surrendered very dis-

creetly. These three men were also taken to the main party. These

were outside pickets
—the picket guards were thick between there and the

garrison. This party of men were also skillfully managed and a good
deal of valuable information gathered from them. This was about 11

o'clock at night. By half past twelve o'clock that night Maj. Wood was
in Georgetown, his old home, and had all the information about Sedalia

he wanted. Here he went to the old hotel kept by Mr. and Mrs. Griffin,

where he had for several years boarded. Mrs. G. gave him somethmg to

eat and a quart bottle of good old Bourbon whisky, which was more

esteemed by the crowd of fasting and thirsty raiders than any feast they
could furnish. The party got some fresh horses here and left before day-

light in the morning. They then struck out for Thompson's command
and met him at Jonesboro, a small cross-roads village in Saline Caunty..

From that point they guided him to Sedalia.

An officer, who was one of Thompson's staff, tells a very amusing inci-

dent of the attack on Sedalia. He was with the advance squad which

first dashed into the town. At the corner of Main and Osage the Con-
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federate officer saw a Union man, mounted upon a splendid horse, just

turning that corner as he came round the corner of Ohio and Main. He

put spurs to his own fagged and foot-sore horse, determined, if possi-

ble, to halt the trooper and make an "exchange" of horses. When
the Confederate officer got on Osage St. the Union man was flying over

the prairie grass fifty yards ahead of him. He called on him to halt, but

the militiaman went faster. The Confederate officer had a long range

shooting iron and sent two or three shots in most unpleasantly close prox-

imity to the back of the flying trooper. Finally the latter drew rein,

threw his musket on the ground and came to a halt. When the Con-

federate cavalryman rode to him he was surprised to see the pallid face of

Dr. Swope, now of Lamonte, Pettis county, a man along side of whom
he had lived for twenty-five years and an old and esteemed friend. When
the Confederate cavalryman recognized his friend he said: "

Hello, Dock!

go on, I don't want to kill you and I will not take your horse, but why
in hell didn't you stop when I called on you to halt?" The answer came
back: " That's all right, but I'd like to know how in the devil a man was

going to stop while you was popping at him every jump with a big long

range revolver." They parted pleasantly and each went his way. Hun-
dreds of episodes of a similar character could be narrated*

One six pound ball from the rebel field piece went clear through the

roof of one of the houses in the extreme northern part of the town. As

every man began to look out for himself as soon as the Confederate cav-

alry dashed into the town, there is a great variety of stories as to what

happened in the city at that time. Each man and each party of men had

their individual experiences. The action of the home soldiers in this

fight has been commented on in sarcastic terms. They did well under

the circumstances, and it would have been simple folly and madness for

two hundred and fifty citizens and militia, without cannon,; or suitable

fortifications, to attempt to cope with at least 1,000, some say 1,500, vet-

eran troops, on a prairie. The citizens, up to the mornmg of the raid, had
no more idea that the organized force would visit the city than they had
that they would receive a visit from a cohort of angels. Adam Ittel,

EHas Bixb}^ and W. E. Bard went to the earthwork on east Main street,

which they had left at 12:00 o'clock to get dinner. When they went
inside the little earthwork it was deserted. They took their muskets and
hid them in a hay stack near and then went down to the hotel. Captain

Henry, proprietor, where Jefi'. Thompson had his temporary headquarters.
The Confederates loaded a number of their wagons from the large store

house of Cloney, Crawford & Co., which was then located on the north-

west corner of Main and Osage streets . The commander kindly left a

receipt with the proprietors for the goods, and it is probably very valuable

16
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to-day
—as an autograph

—but cannot be considered' strictly
"
negotiable

paper."
The stragglers from the Confederate force did a little private business

for themselves, when they got from under the eyes of their officers. If

they captured a militiaman or a citizen on some quiet corner, and all the

corners were pretty quiet then, and the militiaman or citizen had any
article of apparel on that the Confederate raider fancied, or anything
about his person that the raider wanted, he made him take it off or hand

it out. Some men lost their boots, some their money and quite a number
their coats and hats.

This dash on Sedalia and the railroad, at that late date, was one of the

boldest and most successful raids of the war.. Had the Confederates

desired to do so they could have burned the town and destroyed a mile of

railroad track before they left. The force remained in town until about

9 o'clock that night and then left to rejoin the main force under General

Sterling Price.

Before leaving this subject it will be of interest to note a few stray inci-

dents of the attack on the town.

Nine or ten of the negroes who were assisting in digging fresh trenches

for breastworks were shot by the Confederates, ^and all of them but one

were shot in the head and apparently at very close quarters. One, an

old humped-back negro, was shot in the back, apparently when running.
Mr. Beatty, an old farmer who lived north of the present town of Hughes-
ville, happened to be in town that da}-. He was not under arms, but

when the attack began, he started to run towards Georgetown, and was

shot and killed by a Confederate cavalryman under the supposition that

he was an escaping militiaman.

In the evening, after the excitement of the day had quieted down, the

body of Gen. Thompson's dead sergeant and that of the soldier who was

killed near him, were brought down to the old Marvin House and laid out

on Frank McCabe's billiard table. Early in the evening, before the citi-

zens and soldiers were assembled at the depot, where Gen. Thompson
made them a speech, a small Irishman, a Confederate soldier, made his

appearance at the Marvin House. He was just drunk enough to be very

quarrelsome and dangerous. He had his coat pockets full of greenbacks
and had four big revolvers in his belt; he swaggered around the bar-room

and boasted. This enraged Frank McCabe, Geo. C. Taylor and Charles

Lyon. Frank proposed that one of them should throw his arms

around the fellow's neck; that the second should get hold of his hands;
and the third should take his revolvers awa}- from him. They then pro-

posed to knife him or knock him senseless with the butt of one of the revol-

vers and throw him in a cellar, at the rear of the house, which was full of

water. There were few people around the hotel at the time, and but for
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the fact that the fellow left before they got a good chance, this desperate
scheme would have been carried out. He had exasperated the three men
to such an extent that they were read}' to do any thing.

Wm. P. Jackson was standing on the platform of the Marvin House

at the time the citizens and soldiers began to assemble before the com-

mander-in-chief. He wore an unusually handsome pair of new boots,

which had cost him eighteen dollars.

A Confederate cavalryman of about his own size and build saw the

handsome boots and yearned to possess them. He said to Jackson:
" My

friend, that is a mighty fine pair of boots you are wearing, could not you
and 1 scare up a trade; pull them off and let me try them on."

Jackson gazed reluctantly at his handsome boots, drew a long sigh of

resignation, and then drew oft'the boots. The Confederate flung away a

pair of old, red, untanned leather brogans, and pulled on the handsome

top boots. They fitted him as if they bad been made for him. He said to

Jackson:
"
Well, I reckon we'll call it a trade; I'll give you big odds;

here's two pairs of shoes for your one pair of boots;" and he threw at

Jackson's feet two pair of red plow shoes or brogans, worth about seventy-
five cents a pair.

Just before the Confederate force left in the evening, the water tank of

the railroad was set on fire and consumed. A number of huts and

shanties belonging to negroes, on the present site of Lincolnville, were

also burned. An attempt was also made to fire the depot, but the young
ladies of Capt. Henry's family, who kept the Marvin House, prevented it.

In the evening all the citizens and soldiers who had been captured, or had

surrendered, were assembled at the depot and ranged in a long line up
and down the long platform. Gen. Thompson made them a speech, and •

called on the soldiers to step out of the ranks and be paroled. Each one

was sworn, and then discharged. Among the things he said was,
" that

there were some very good fighters among them, and he called on all who
wanted to join him to do so, and go with his force."

Lieut. Frank McCabe stepped out, and thanked the general for his

compliments to the Union soldiers; he said he was the lieutenant of a squad
which had done a little fighting, and he hoped that none of his men would

join the Confederate force.

Gen. Thompson also said, that he was very sorry for the loss of his

gallant orderl}- sergeant, and that he would rather have lost a hundred

men than that one. He told the men to stay in the houses after he and his

force left the city, as he had some bad men in his command, on whom he

could not always have an eye; and he could not be responsible for what

the}' might do after the regular force had left the city behind them. He
told them that they had full liberty to kill any man or men whom they
found committing depredations in the town after he had departed.
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At this point Geo. C. Ta^dor spoke up and said: "
General, I'd like to

know how you expect us to kill anybody, or protect ourselves, when your
men have all our arms, and have broken up all that they coyld not carry

off. Do you expect us to fight with clubs ?"

The general seemed pleased with his boldness, and responded:
"
Yes,

kill them with clubs, or anything else you can la}' your hands en."

That portion of the night which elapsed from the time that the Con-

federate force took its departure toward Georgetown, until the advance

of the Union cavalry appeared in the town about midnight, coming
from the east, was a period of intense anxiety for those who were in the

city. The citizens and soldiers did not know, but that the reckless men

in Gen. Thompson's command might loiter in the rear, and under the

cover of darkness burn the town and slay whomsoever they chose.

People crawled into their cellars and under their houses, as they had

during the cannonade. They thought they would be safer where they

could not be found so readily.

About midnight. Gen, A, J, Smith, in command of about 2,500 Federal

cavalry, made his appearance in the town , The feet of nearly all his

horses were muffled in rags to prevent the sound of their tramp from

being so loud. He had hoped to comie on to Thompson unawares, and

either flank him or engage him until the other forces came up.

The people of the city, when they knew it was a Union force, were as

happy a lot as was ever seen. It was the first time they had breathed

freely from the time they heard the first cannon boom.

Maj. James C. Wood, a resident of this
cit}-,

and one of the most daring

and efficient soldiers in Price's army, burned the Otterville bridge twice,

and he it was who guided Gen. Thompson's forces to Sedalia on this

occasion. He and some of the men who fought him that day are now

excellent friends, and often recall the events of the day when the}' meet in

a social way.
Mr, Rod Gallie still has in his cellar one of the shells fired into the city

that day, which struck the ground without exploding.

There are a number of interesting stories connected, directly and indi-

rectly, with the history of Sedalia during the war that cannot be properly

classified as to dates, and all of them are therefore placed together at the

conclusion of the war history. These stories and facts, all of them, con-

tain more or less of the tragic element. Upon reading the accounts of

bloody and desperate deeds committed nearly twenty years ago, the

reader will doubtless learn, for the first time, of the dangers and trials

through which the people of Sedalia and Central Missouri passed during

the war. It will also doubtless surprise many to learn that a number of

men who are now seen daily on the streets, quiet, practical business men,
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were durin(^ the war active solclieis or men who, as citizens, went through

many a scene of trial and danger.
In addition to one or two incidents which have ah'eady been mentioned,

the storv of (he assault upon the house of Mr. Mentor Thompson, now
President of the SedaUa Savings Bank, and one of the oldest and most

respected citizens of the county, will best illustrate the terrible condition of

the country during the war. Mr. Thompson resided on his farm two miles

northwest of the town in May, iSG3. He was a man well advanced in

years then, and known throughout the county as a quiet, peaceable man,

possessed of large intluence and considerable wealth. He took no active

part in the war.

Those who had personal intercourse with the Confederate and the

militia soldiers during the war know froTi some sad personal experiences

that there were a few low-bred, brutal, unprincipled ruffians, who went

into the army on both sides and made the gra}^ or blue uniform a disguise

to cover the thief, the coward and the murderer. Men who were common
farm hands, hostlers and jack-of-all-trades went into a suit of soldier

clothes and blossomed into cold blooded murderers and systematic thieves

and robbers. In Central Missouri honors were even between the blue

and gray. The desperadoes among the militia were most given to theft

and plunder; the bad men among the Confederate bushwhackers

delighted most in savage and unprovoked murder. The masses of the

honest soldiers on either side should not be made to bear the blame, and

there were just as brave, faithful, honest, intelligent soldiers in the

Missouri Home Guards, Paw Paw militia and enrolled and regular volun-

teers as there were in any part of the Union army. Col. Hall's regiment

was stationed at Sedalia in May, 1863. There were a few bad men among
them, as the sequel will show.

At midnight, in the above month, Mrs. Mentor Thompson was aroused

from her slumbers b\' the sound of loud knocking at the back door of the

house. She did not at once awaken her husband, for in those dark days

it was much safer for a woman to answer such midnight calls than it was

for a man, who mio-ht have been greeted with a revolver or musket shot

as soon as he became visible. She went to the back door without a light

and inquired who was there. A couple of gruff, strange voices answered:
" God d—n you, strike a light and open this door, or we will break it in,

kill every one in the house and burn it down afterwards." At this terri-

ble answer she went in and awakened her husband and then went up
stairs to a back window to see who and how man}^ the men seeking

admittance were. When she put her head out of the window, in the

clear light, she saw a man standing beneath the window. The moment

she raised the window she saw the man raise a revolver and point it at

her with the stern command: "D-n you, put down that window or I'll
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blow the top of 3'Our head off." She put it down in haste, as she heard

the sound of trampling feet on the front steps. She ran to a window in

the front of the house, in the second story, to call to a man named Rhodes,

from Bates county, who was sleeping in an office near the front of the

house, about one hundred.paces distant. As she raised the window and

cried out to Rhodes, she saw three or four dark forms gathered near the

front porch, and one standing beneath Rhodes' window. When Rhodes
•

put his head out of the office window, the ruffian beneath it said: "If you
don't take your head in I'll put a ball through it." He took in his head.

Mrs. Thompson was again ordered to go away from the window
b}''

threats of having her brains blown out, and by the sight of three or four

revolvers leveled at her. She rushed down stairs to the front room, on

the left hand side of the hall, where her husband, Mr. T., had $1,500 in

cash in the house. As his wife passed the front door there came a sound

of kicking and pounding on the door as with a big bludgeon. Mr. T.

had, at this noise, got out of bed and put his pantaloons on. Mrs. T. had

barely time to get into her husband's room, slam and bolt the door

behind her, when the door gave way with a crash beneath the blows of

SIX ruffians, who stood on the front porch. When they got into the hall

they yelled at the occupants of the room to open the door if they valued

their lives. Mr. T. had just time to get to a corner of the room where

there stood a small shot gun loaded with shot. The gun had been loaded

a month before, and had been left there by one of the civil engineers on

the Missouri Pacific Railroad, who had boarded with Mr. T., who was

himself a surveyor and civil engineer. Mr. T. seized the gun and got it

to his shoulder, just as the second door was broken open. The opening

of the door revealed two soldiers in the hall, and one with his face all

daubed up with dirt and lard, as a disguise, standing just outside of the

front door. Mrs. T. stood in the doorway and wildly appealed to the

men to do them no harm, and tried to block the door against their

entrance. The cowardly scoundrel outside stuck his disguised face just

inside the front door, and cried out to his companions, three times:

"D—n that woman, make her get out of the way! Shoot her, d—n her;

kill her!"

Mr. Thompson was fighting for his wife and his fireside and his life,

alone at midnight, against six armed men.

As the soldier at the door cried out the last time, "kill her", Mr. Thomp-
son took hasty aim at him, poking his gun right over his wife's shoulder.

He fired; there was a loud report, a flash of fire, a cloud of smoke, and

the next moment the man at the door lay on the porch, with the whole

top of his head blown oft', and a big revolver held in his death grasp.

The load of shot struck him just above the center of the forehead.

Before the smoke had cleared away the two men in the hall sprang out
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of the front door, and as one of them turned to fire, Mr. Thompson sent

the second load of shot into his body, just about the top of the hip. The
man ran and staggered about one hundred yards, fell into the fence corner,

and was dead in a few moments.

Mr. Thompson knew there were four more men outside in the dusk.

He had no more ammunition and expected the others would return to

avenge the death of their comrades, and murder both himself and his

wife. He knew there was ammunition in the little office occupied by
Rhodes.

. He started to walk towards it rapidly. As Mr. T. approached it the

soldier who had been guarding Rhodes, advanced on him with his

revolver raised and called on him to halt.

Before he could stop the soldier fired on him, at close quarters, and sent

a ball through the flesh}^ part of the arm, next to the shoulder. Mr. T.

saw there was but one way to save himself; he rushed on the soldier and

grappled with him. The soldier was a young man. Mr. Thompson
was old but large and still strong, and fighting for his li£e. He struck

at the soldier with his fist; knocked oft' his hat; confused him by the blow;

got a firm grip on the fellow's hair; and then began to fight for the pos-

session of the revolver. In the meantime the other three men had fled.

After a short struggle the soldier broke from Mr. T.'s grasp, but before

the fellow could get his revolver leveled on him, Mr. T. seized his gun
made a desperate stroke at his opponent, and the latter turned and ran.

Mr. T., whose blood was up by this time, followed the fellow to keep him

from turning on him. The soldier seemed bent on shooting if possible,

but he was so closely pressed by Mr. T. who was striking at him every
time he got near enough, with his clubbed gun, that he found no oppor-

tunity to do so. Mr. T. got out of breath from his exertions and weak
from the pain of the wound in his arm, and the soldier managed to out-

run him and made his escape.

Mr. Thompson, not knowing what might happen fiirther, went back to

the house to his wife, had his wound bound up, and then sent word to

Col. Hall, at SedaHa, to come out and take him into custody if he wanted

him.

By ten o'clock the next morning Col- Hall and Captain Rice, the com-

mander of one of the companies in the regiment, and many soldiers came

out. They found the soldier on the porch with the top of his skull blown

oft'. In his hand he grasped a revolver. Capt. Rice bent over the soldier

and on a close examination found that the man had smeared his face with

grease and then rubbed the dust of black loam over it, making him look

like a negro. In spite of this he recognized the dead man as a member
of his own compan}', and the revolver in his cold grasp as one that had

been stolen from him. The other man was found dead in the fence cor-
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ner with a horrible hole in his side and hip, made by the contents of the

shot gun fired by Mr. T.

Mr. Thompson told the officer his story which was corroborated by
that of his wife. Col. Hall said he would not put him under arrest as he

had served the infernal scoundrels just right, and it was a great pity he

had not killed more of them. The other four men who participated in

this midnight assault were not discovered. It seems from the circum-

stances that these men must have known that Mr. T. had $1,500 in the

house and they were bent on getting it at whatever cost.

Mr. Thompson to-day carries on his arm the marks of the ball which

went through his arm and was evidently aimed for his breast, and it is not

probable that the recollection of the terrible encounter of that midnight

long ago, will ever fade from his memor}-.
A few days later a coroner's jury investigated the case, as it was

deemed best to observe all the outward forms of justice, as much as was

possible under the circumstances. Among those who were on the jury
were James Blackmore, coroner, Maj. Wm. Beck, Maj. Wm. Gentry,
two of the most prominent and intelligent citizens of the county, Dr.

Logan Clark and H. R. Dobyns, another old and respected citizen.

The substance of the verdict returned by the jury was: That Mr.

Thompson was fully justified in doing what he did.

On March 4, 1864, occurred a terrible fire, the first great conflagration
in Sedalia. Previous to this, the old District School House, which had

been built sometime in 1856, and was the oldest building in the town, was
consumed by fire. In 1861, a boarding house or hotel kept by C. Brock-

schmidt, a brother of Wm. Brockschmidt, of this city had been burned,

causing a loss of $3,000. But the burning of the Missouri Hotel, on the

date first mentioned, was an event which resulted not onl}^ in a loss of

$40,000, but in the loss of no less than eight human lives.

The Missouri House was a large square, two-story frame hotel, located

on the southwest corner of Main and Osage streets. The proprietor was

J. Mills. Mr. Grissom, the U. S. Assessor, was a guest of the house on

the night of the fire. He was a man of convivial habits, and the fire is

supposed to have originated in his room. First, the stairway burned,

cutting ofl" all means of exit from the building. In an incredibly short

time, the whole building, with its inmates and contents, was an uncontroll-

able mass of seething flames. Grissom, the U. S. Assessor, was burned

to death. Mrs. Mills and two children, and three strangers, of whom
nothing ever was known or learned, suffered horrible deaths. In one

of the buildings adjoining a negro man was burned to a crisp. A regi-

ment of soldiers was camped out on Muddy Creek, and when the

•extent of the fire was known, their gallant commander ordered* them to

come to town and aid in the extinguishment of the flames. Hundreds
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of them came and did gallant service. John Hancock's dwelling house,
a good two-story frame dwelling, was on the south side of the block,

about the middle between Osage and Kentucky streets. The soldiers lit-

erally covered this house with blankets, and then saturated the blankets

with water and saved the building. Ben B. Lyon, Jr., did brave and

judicious service on this occasion, and was directly instrumental in saving
the large wholesale store of Taylor & Co. Maj. Wm. Beck was also on

hand to aid and direct the efforts to stay the flames. A number of other

residents of the town, then and now, remember this terrible and tragic
scene. Everything from Osage to Kentucky street was burned, except
Hancock's house. Fourteen buildings and their contents were destroyed.
The total pecuniary loss was over $40,000. Not a man had a cent of

insurance but two. Maj. Beck received a check for $2,000 from the

Franklin Insurance Company, of St. Louis. He saved most of his goods.
WilHam and Theo. Bloess received $5,000 from the United States Insur-

ance Company, of St. Louis, without any investigation of the matter.

There was nothing to investigate. This was a terrible visitation, but the

people of that time had become so much accustomed to the horrors of

war; the witnessing of deeds of bloodshed and death, that they did not

regard it so seriously as the people of the present day would.

There was no fire department in those days—not even an organized
bucket brigade

—and the only water that could be procured was that

which came from cisterns and wells.

It was in the early part of 1863, that the people of SedaHa began active

work to procure the removal of the county seat from Georgetown to

Sedalia. One of the first things necessary to do was to raise money to

build a court house. A very novel method was resorted to in order to

procure the first installment of funds. The citizens got up a grand Fourth

of July celebration in 1863.

An immense arbor was built upon the present site of Broadway, and

was made of the green boughs of trees. Over one hundred wagons
were employed in hauling the boughs to build this paviUion or arbor.

There was a large force of soldiers in the town and they assisted the citi-

zens in making the arrangements for the affair. There were two military

bands in attendance to furnish music. An extra excursion train ran from

Jefferson City to Sedalia for the accommodation of visitors. The Gov-

ernor of the State and manv other State officials attended and delivered

appropriate addresses. The Httle prairie village on that auspicious occa-

sion contained over three thousand people. A magnificent feast of sub-

stantial was served and all the provisions were furnished by the people

of the county and city. There were eighteen stands for the sale of beer

on the grounds, but ever3-thing passed off' pleasantly and in peace.

This celebration was gotten up under the management of a "citizen's
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committee" composed of Wm. E. Bard, Maj. Wm. Beck, Ben B. Lyon
and Richard HuUand. Tlie celebration oi the Fourth of July in the year

1863, when the country was filled with guerrillas, and no one knew when
the terrible contest would end, was a most novel and curious sight. The
committee were the best known business men and citizens of the town.

They undertook to pay all expenses. They went to the commander of

the post and told him their plan,
— in time of war to celebrate the

anniversary of the declaration of independence, make every i^merican

citizen pay fifty cents to witness the ceremonies on the occasion, and then

to take the money thus made and use it to build a court house in Sedalia,
a structure which was the very embodiment of the idea of peace.
The grounds were surrounded by a single rope and located on Broad-

way. A cordon of soldiers fully armed were placed on guard at regular
intervals along the rope. The amount realized was $800. This was put
into the hands of some county officers. The committee feared the money
would not be properly cared for from the then peculiar condition of

affairs. Mr. Bard invested it, at his suggestion, and with the consent of

the committee, in 5-20 U. S. bonds, and it thus remained until it was

necessary to use it.

In 1864, Col. Nugent's Kansas regiment arrived in the city and pitched
their tents on the rising ground just west of town. Some kind of an

arrangement was made between the officers of the regiment and some
citizens to give a concert at the camp grounds. About one hundred

waggish citizens banded themselves together and went out to the camp as

the "concert troupe of trained birds and beasts." Every man repre-
sented some domestic animal or fowl. They formed in line and gave their

overture. The bull bellowed; the donkey brayed; the horse neighed; the

calf bawled; the pig grunted and squealed; the peacock shrieked; the

goose united with its melody; the guinea hen clattered; the hen cackled;
the rooster crowed; the cat mewed; the dogs bayed and howled, the

turkeys gobbled; the ducks quacked; and so on through the whole list.

It was done with such vigor and skill, and produced such a tremendous

and grotesque symphony that it produced a perfect furor of merriment.

Before closing the necessarily brief outline of the events of 3864, a few

important and significant facts will be mentioned. It was in August, 1864,

previous to the raid of Gen. Jeff Thompson, that the first permanent news-

paper was estabhshed in Sedalia. It was called the Scdalia Advertiser.

Messrs. Geo. and Ben. Lingle, still well known journalists of this section,

assisted by younger brothers, under the firm name of Lingle Brothers,

established this paper. They were all practical printers. The paper was

published weekly and owing to the then still unsettled condition of the

-country and the town, the undertaking was a difficult and hazardous

one, and these pioneers of the Sedalia press worked under very great diffi-
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culties, and the publication and issue of the journal were often times very

irregular. And yet, the publication of this, the first newspaper, had an

arousing influence on the people of the town, for it awakened thoughts of

peace and hopes that the time was drawing near when the ballot w^ould

take the place of the bullet and bayonet, and life w^ould no longer be full

of fear and misery, but made tolerable by confidence and happiness. The

paper struggled on until the spring of 1865, when it was bought out by
Stafford & Magann, the former still a respected citizen of the

cit}-.

On Januar}^ 25, 1864, Sedalia Lodge 236, of Masons, was opened in

Sedalia, under dispensation. It was regularly constituted in June, 1864.

In the summer of 1864, the Christian Church was reorganized by the Rev.

G. W. Longan. It w^as first organized in 1861. On the 15th day of

February, 1864, Sedalia was granted a charter, and it was at the session

of the same legislature that the bill was passed authorizing the removal

of the county seat, from Georgetown to Sedalia. It did not become the

count}' seat until nearh' a year later, in fact and law.

In the latter part of 1863 a bloody fight occurred in the city between

members of the Twenty-Sixth Indiana Regiment and a number of artillery-

men belonging to the First Missouri Artillery. It resulted in the killing of

three privates of the Indiana regiment and in the w'ounding of several others.

Col. Wheatly was then the commander of the post, and but for his cool and

determined course there might have been a terrible slaughter. The Indi-

ana regiment was camped in the hollow in the northwest suburbs of the

town. The First Missouri Artillery was camped in the southeast suburbs

nearly a mile off". Four or five members of the artillery got into a fisticuff

among themselves on the corner of Ohio and Second, w^here the First

National Bank is now located. While they were fighting a squad of the

Indiana men stood near watching the contest. At this moment Capt.

Flannagan of the artillery rode up. He watched the fight a moment and

then began to curse his men and ask them if they could not find an}' one

else to fight but their own comrades. The Indiana men who stood near

enjoying the scene and urging on the combatants, caught his eye and it

enraged him. He told his men the}' had better turn their attention to the

Indiana men. The tw^o squads began to chatf each other, and before

many minutes a dozen men were fighting like tigers. While the men
were all mixed up in the struggle, a huge Indianian, over six feet in height,

seized a big knot of cordwood and hurled it among the fighters. The
Indiana men had no arms but the artillery men had their revolvers.

When the billet of wood was throw^n among them, they drew their

revolvers, and in a few moments did bloody work. They fired several

volleys into the Indiana squad. Three men fell to the prairie sod dead,

and several went off' bleeding from wounds. The fight then stopped, and

the parties engaged in it scattered and went to their respective camps.
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Captain Flannagan ordered his lieutenant to bring out the battery of six

pieces of artillery. In a few moments came the rumble of wheels, the rat-

tling of trace chains and the tramp of many horses, and the six field pieces
were wheeled into position on the rising ground about Lafayette street

and Third. The town was wild with excitement. Officers were gallop-

ing hither and thither, and citizens pale and terrified were gathered in

squads on the streets preparing to flee from the town. The Indiana regi-
ment got under arms, came to the town on the double quick, with fixed

bayonets, and by the order of Col. Wheat ley were stationed in squads in

the protection of the houses all around the artillery. A regiment of cav-

alry was camped on the Muddy over near Georgetown. An orderly was
sent post haste for this regiment, and in a half an hour the entire com-
mand came thundering over the prairie from Georgetown, and completed
the circle of troops around the battery. While the two bodies were

standing awaiting some hostile movement, it was a period of the most

intense anxiety. One shot or one hasty command would have produced
a bloody fight, for the men on both sides were roused to fury, and ready
for any desperate deed. But the artillerymen were outnumbered and

surrounded, and the subordinate officers, including the lieutenant, disen-

clined to let the men fight. Col. Wheatly sent word to them that if they
did not go b ick quietly to their camp in half an hour that he would open
fire on them with his mfantry, order the cavalry to charge the battery,
and that he would not stop until every man in the battery was shot,

sabred or bayoneted. Reluctantly and sullenly the guns were coupled

up and slowly dragged back to camp and peace restored. This was the

most exciting event of the war history in Sedalia, except the attack on the

town by the Confederates in October, 1864.

On October 1, 1804, just two weeks before Jeft'. Thompson's raid, the

Sedalia Advertiser^ with an enterprise that was most commendable,
and a foresight that would do justice to the keenest and most foreseeing,

newspaper man of the present "fast" days in journalism, published a

price list of staple articles. For this paper, the only one in existence, so

far as the writer could learn, we are indebted to Mr. William E. Bard,
one of the settlers and business men of 1861. The following is the price list

of October 1, 1864: Cofi'ee per sack, $55@$57; sugar per barrel $25(5;

$28; salt per barrel or sack $5.50 (aj $5.75; washed wool $1.00 per pound;
uncleansed wool 45@ 50 cents per pound ; hams, sides and shoulders of bacon

17@18 cents per pound; corn, $1.00 per bushel; wheat $1.25(a.$1.50 per
bushel. Lumber: joist, from $15(0^ $50 per thousand cubic feet; scantling

from $40@$47 per thousand; flooring from $60@$70 per thousand;

siding $42.50 per thousand; shingles from $6.50@ $7 per thousand; laths

$10 per thousand. This was the common wholesale rate, (it
is supposed,)

furnished by Cloney, Crawford & Co. These were decidedly "war rates"
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and such rates as would make the dealers and purchasers open their e3^es,

or swear according to his temperament or habits.

CHAPTER IV.—SEDALIA AFTER THE WAR.

The Effect of the War on the Town—A Picture of the Town as it was on New Year's Day,

1865—The New Men and Business Houses which were Added to the Town during the

War—How the Wholesale Trade of Sedalia Began—The Grand Awakening in 1865-6

—The Newspaper of that Day—The First Brick Building Erected—The First

Churches, Societies and Schools—First Public Hall, Street Greiding, etc.

From the time of Gen. Thompson's raid, for a period of about six

months, from October 1864, to April 1865, Sedalia was on a stand-still.

But with the actual close of the war the town began a new life; the

incubus of the war was removed from the shoulders of the young city, and

she straitened herself for a fresh struggle. During the war the town had

been constantly a military post, filled with soldiers and under their influ-

ence. During each year, from the date of the arrival of the railroad, a few

business men came to the town and started business in answer to the

inexorable laws of supply and demand, and these few additions each year
had at the beginning of 1865, increased the population to about 1,000 people,

or double what it had been when the railroad first arrived. Among the

new business men who came to the city and established themselves in

Sedalia during the war, exclusive of those already mentioned as the very
first business men of 1861, are the following: Louis Kumm established

a small gunsmith, ammunition and jewelry store, on the north side of

Main street, on about the present site of P. S. Little's furniture store;

Abram Mej-er in 1862, established a large saddlery house, on the south

side of Main, near the corner of Ohio street; Taylor & Co., wholesale

dry goods; Louis Beck, a brother of Maj. William Beck
; Jefferson Cor-

penning; Goodwin, a wagon maker; Mrs. Rauck, the only milliner in the

city, who was noted for having a lovely daughter, young ladies being
scarce in those days; John Stillwell, William Bockschmidt, Anderson and

Tucker, Bixby and Houx, (had a store here in 1861, but did not come in

person to the city until 1862.) In 1862 Geo. L. Faulhaber, late mayor,
ran to Sedalia on the Pacific Railroad a messenger for the United States

express company. He took charge of the office in 1863 and continued

in charge until 1865. He was awa}^ for three years, then returned and

became agent again, and is in charge of the office to-day. He is one of

pioneers of the town and has had a beneficial influence upon it.

As soon as peace was declared and established in 1865, the people in

Central Missouri and Sedalia began to turn the energies which had been

expended in fighting to business enterprises. Those whose fortunes had

been broken by the war wanted to recover them or restore them
;
those
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in the east who wanted to seek new fields and fortunes, began at once to

do it. Many soldiers who had been here during the war had made the

possibilties of the town known to their friends elsewhere.

It is impossible to describe the eagerness and enthusiasm with which

every one in and around Sedalia began to work. They worked with

feverish haste and energy; every one seemed to rejoice at the return of

peace, ever}^ one who had been in the country had a taste of genuine war
which would satisfy them for a life time. Half a dozen men who are alive

to-day predicted in 1863 that Sedalia would be what she is to-day. "It

is bound to be a live, big town; I am going right there, stick my stake and

stay till it sprouts or I wither," was a common expression among men of

keen foresight in 1865.

The big southwest trade, which began with the town, started afresh in

1863, and continued to increase until 1865, now began to increase with a

tenfold rapidity. This was augmented by the local trade. Men of

energy from all the old towns around Sedalia, charmed by her youthful

beaut}-, vivacity and "business go-aheaditiveness" came to the town and

went into business. The farmers throughout the county began the work
of repair; and as the slaves were no longer such, they began to look with

eyes of favor on the sulky plow, the reaper and mower, the steam thresher,

the wheat drill, the corn planter and the riding hay rake and the hand-

some, substantial steel axle and thimble skein wagon. It was simpl}'-

astounding the demand there wao in the spring and summer of 1865-6

for such articles. The intelligent class of former slave-holding farmers,

"knowing a good thing when they saw it," bought and used these articles.

The northern and eastern people who came to the town, had all been

brought up to hard work; to habits of economy and self support; they
were full of the vim, hard practical commercial instinct; they were full of

push, and, the influence of the people and the town of Sedalia was soon

visible to every one but those who would not see, throughout Central

Missouri.

Sedalia was the missionary of a New Business Gospel, the representa-
tive of the New Era after the death of slavery, and it is only just now
that the State has begun to recognize that fact. During the war Sedalia

was like one of those hardy ground vines which had a large stone lying
on top of it. It was full of latent vitality and the earth around the roots

was full of richness, but the crushing weight upon it prevented it from

growing, and though it could creep a little into the few openings around

it, it merely lived until some kind power removed the weight from it.

Then freedom, sunshine, air and its inherent vitality made it grow with

an almost magical swiftness. At the end of the war Sedalia was "still a

village of "box houses." There were not a dozen buildings in the town

that could have justly been called substantial.
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When the first wild fury of war swept over the country the entire busi-

ness of the town became stagnant, goods were removed back to Jefferson

City and houses abandoned. This stagnation lasted from May, 1861,

through the winter of 1S61, and on until the middle of the summer of

1862. In the fall of 1862 the Union troops began to get a good foothold

in the State, and Sedalia began to be an important military post. Then

troops were stationed in the town and in the vicinity, and the country
about it was somewhat tranquilized by the presence of the Union military

power. Early in 1863 there were a number of large wholesale and retail

houses in the town. Among them were the old houses of Cloney, Craw-
ford & Co., Taylor & Co., Bixby & Houx, Wm. Beck, Theo. BIcess, and

the stage companies.
All the supplies which were needed by the people in the wide area of

country
—then without railroads, south and southwest of Sedalia, were

purchased in Sedalia. Wagon trains drawn by oxen, mules and horses,

came not only from all south and southwest Missouri, but from south

eastern Kansas, from Arkansas, from the Indian Territory and even from

Texas. It was even then that the wholesale trade of Sedalia, which now
amounts to nearly $3,000,000 and is represented by thirty commercial

travelers, began.
The people of the Indian Territory used to bring great droves of Indian

ponies and cattle here. Enormous quantities of hides, pelts and furs were

also brought here, even in 1863, and exchanged for goods or shipped to

the east. All the prairie around Sedalia was dotted with the camp fires

and wagons of the frieghters. Down on Flat Creek, near the fords and

large pools of water, there were camps all the time except in mid

winter. The main street of the town was from day to day filled with cov-

ered wagons loading with goods. All this business was done by a very
few houses, who took "big chances" against the dangers of the war, and

doubtless reaped large profits. To show what business was done by the

few houses it is necessary to state that in the year 1863 the house of

Cloney, Crawford & Co., the largest and the pioneer business firm of the

city, sold $270,000 worth of goods. The local trade of the town was

light in proportion because so much of the population were under arms.

At the end of the year 1864 the place was still temporary, and one big
fire might have swept it away. There were no mills, no manufactories,

no schools, no churches and but one railroad. On January 1, 1865, two

and a half squares in length on the north and the south sides of Main

streets had the business houses scattered on them. There were a lot of

frame cottages, the principal residences of the town, up on each side of

Jeflerson and St. Louis streets, east of Ohio. The hotels and stables were

over north of the present site of the Garrison House Park. There were

17
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buildings scattered around the central business squares of the town, but

not many. There are not twenty houses in Sedalia to-day, July 1,

1882, that were standing on January 1, 1865. Everything above the

ground to-day has been put there in the past seventeen years. The
entire town, outside of a few scattered lailroad shanties and negro cabins

in Lincolnville, lay inside of the square bound by Moniteau street on the

west, Massachusetts street on the east, Jefferson street on the north, and

Second street on the south. Let the reader who is familiar enough with

the present city pause, and for a moment cast his eyes over these bound-

aries; let him follow the few squares east, west, north and south and see

what a small area it is, compared with the area of over 3,000 acres now
covered by Sedalia. Then let the eye run up and down each side of Ohio,

Main, Second and Third streets and see the solid rows of one, two and

three story brick business houses, and then let him remember that in 1865

it was open prairie. Then look at East Sedalia, South Sedalia, Sicher's Park

and Lincolnville. Pearl River, between Second and Third, was a little branch

with the grass growing on its banks. Where stands the stately OfReld

block was a low, swampy spot. The big cattle corral mentioned in an

earlier part of this history, still covered a part of the area south of the

buildings on Main, between Ohio and Osage. There was not a brick

house in the town, not a foot of stone sidewalk or street, not a foot of

plate glass. This is the picture of Sedalia in the opening of the year
1865. Those who have seen the town from its christening, know that its

growth has been natural and healthy. Like a vigorous child, which has

reached a noble manhood, Sedalia crept before it walked and walked

before it was able to run.

The first newspaper started in Sedalia was the Sedalia Advertiser. This

paper was started by Geo. R. & Ben Lingle about July, 1864, and was

edited by Dr. Logan Clark and O. A. Crandall during the campaign. It

was Democratic in politics and supported Gen. McClellan for president

during the campaign of 1864. It continued under the control of the

Lingles until the spring of 1865, when they sold out to Stafford «& Magann,
who continued it under the name of the Sedalia Times, and it now com-

prises part of the Eagle- Times. Dr. Logan Clark died July 23, 1882.

The first Democratic convention held in the county after the breaking out

of the civil war, was held at the court house in Georgetown, in June, 1864.

The only persons present were Hon. A. M. Forbes, Capt. John M. Sneed,
Dr. J. P. Thatcher, J. C. Higgins, E. C. Bouldin, O. A. Crandall, and E.

O. Cheatham. The small attendance was caused by threats of the Militia

officers that, if the Democrats attempted to hold a meeting, it would be

broken up, and only the above named had the courage to attend. There

was no disturbance, however, and delegates were chosen to a State conven-

tion, soon after to be held in St. Louis.
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In the spring of 1S65, Messrs. P. G. Staftbrd and James G. Magann
took charge of " The Sedalia Advertiser^'' and changed its name to the

Sedalia Weekly Times, which name it retained until the middle of March,

1882, when the 7)V;/es and the Sgci?«//«^«7o7^ were consolidated. The office

was then located on the south side of West Main street, between Ken-

tucky and Osage.
The second newspaper, Democratic in politics, was established in the

spring of 1866. It was founded by the same parties who had started the

Times, the Lingle Brothers. The paper was called the Inde-pendent Press.

Dr Logan Clark, still a resident of the city, was the editor-in-chief. It

was published about nine months, when the office was destroyed by fire

November 7, 1866, and from that time the publication of the paper ceased,

and no further eflbrt was ever made to revive it.

Mr. F. A. Sampson of this city who has gathered together a mass of old

newspapers, statistics and data, which are of inestimable value, and prove
him to be a true student, a man of profound foresight and the keenest lit-

erary judgment, has a few numbers of the first issues of the Sedalia

Weekly Times of June, 1865. These are the only printed records of

Sedalia of so early a date now known to be in existence.

From these papers it is learned that, in addition to those already men-

tioned as business men of 1861-64 there were the following persons in

business in June, 1865, in Sedalia: Lawyers—Col. Jno. F. Philips, Judge
Foster P. Wright, Geo. Heard, M. Hikon, O. A. Crandall, Chan. P.

Townsley; Dr. J. S. Brackett, dentist; T. W. Moses, collector of soldiers'

claims; Hart & Bob. Barnhart, carpenters; Parker House, kept by Hun-

gerford & Wilson; A. Moses, grocer; J. T. Brown, grocer; Henry Suess,

saddlery; Hughes & Ellis, dry goods; J. G. Beck, druggist; E. Davis,

livery stable; Elias Laupheimer & Wm. Bloess, dry goods and groceries;

F. L. Parker, livery stable; V^ickers & Landes, dry goods and groceries;

Taylor & Co., E. Bixby & Co., firm, Elias Bixby & Jno. W. Houx, Chris-

tina Landmann, fancy groceries, wines, beer and cigars; Mrs. Faulhaber

& Sister, fashionable milliners. The advertisements of all the persons and

firms named appear in the issue of the Weekly Times of June 16, 1865,

and, it may therefore be presumed that they were the principal business

institutions of the town, where there is now a, wholesale trade alone of

nearly $3,000,000.

Mr. P. G. Stafford was the editor and manager of the Times, at that

period. Mr. Jas. G. Magann, a practical printer, a fair editor and repor-

torial writer, had not vet come from Washington, Missouri, although he

owned an interest in the Times. The leading editorial of that date shows

the condition of the town and country. It says:
" Until the present week we have never felt at libert}- to say that the

war was over in Missouri. Two years ago man}- well meaning people in
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Missouri congratulated themselves that the war was over. * * * *

But Price came back last fall, and found, though not as many as he

expected, many persons treasonable and foolish enough to follow him. *
* * There is now no reason why persons of treasonable proclivities
should flock to this state to carry on the war, either with force of arms or
to fight for political ascendency.

"- * * The war is over in Missouri
and our noble State, freed from the incubus of slavery, and the threatened

danger of Confederate rule, will start forward with giant strides in the

path of honor and prosperity."

In June, 1865, the circuit court was in session. Judge Tutt, now ol

Lexington, presided. Jno. E. Ryland, now judge of the criminal court,

was prosecuting attorney. The attorneys present were Manetho Hilton

and Jno. F. Philips, O. A. Crandall, of Sedalia, and Messrs. Douglass,

Bryant, J. H. Dralien and Jos. L. Stephens, of Boonville, and E. Burke, of

California, Mo., Geo. E. Leighton, of St. Louis, was also present.
There was a contest as to who was clerk of the court. The Times of

June 16, 1865, refering to this matter says: '-The new clerk, removed
and not removed." "

Capt. Putnam, commanding this post (it was still a

military post, it seems,) received an order yesterdav morning from Gen.

Harding, to undo what he had done under orders of Gov. Fletcher, that

is, put Lowe in, and Christian and Bassett out of office. Christian and

Bassett were accordingl}^ notified. Court being in session. Mr. Lowe
(S. A.) was called, but did not appear. The court adjourned for an hour,
and then proceeded with Mr. Christian as clerk." This was the second

term of court held in Sedalia.

During the week of June 16th, eighty letters were left uncalled for, as

advertised in the Times. Wm. H. Allison had a school here, in this year
and month, called the " Sedalia Institute." J. M. Byler was one of the

teachers. An advertisement calling for "
Proposals to Build a Court

House in Sedalia," appears in the same issue.

The proceedings of the city council are published in the same paper.
At the meeting, June 6, 1865, a warrant was ordered issued for the sum of

$122
" for hauling manure off of Osage street." Another warrant for

$122.81 was ordered issued "to pay for rent and supplies furnished to the

small pox pest house, during 1864." A petition praying for the opening
of Lamine street, was received and read. J. L. Vickers was president of

the council, and T. W. Moses, register.

From the issue of the Times of June 23, 1865, it is learned that the first

public hall was completed that summer. It was built by John W. Harding
on the south side of Main street, between Osage and Kentucky. It was

seventy-eight feet deep, twenty-two feet wide, and had two stories and a

basement. This building was occupied by the Bazoo newspaper in 1869.

The basement was used as a restaurant. The second or street floor was

used as a billiard and bar room, and the upper room as a public amuse-
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ment hall. A grand ball was held in this hall, on July 4, 1865. Thos. E.

Bassett, late county and circuit clerk, publishes
" a card," a column and a

half in length in this issue, containing various affidavits to clear him of the

charge of "having made Confederate speeches in 1861."

An editorial announces that the "
city fathers have given notice that

bids will be received for the building of certain culverts, and for the

grading of West Main street." This was in all probability the first propo-
sition to grade the streets of Sedalia, as a half column is devoted to the

subject. The paper contains also the call of Henry Suess,
" Colonel of

the Pettis County Missouri Militia," ordering that all persons subject to

militar}' duty appear at Sadalia, June 26, 1865, and at various other places
in the county, to be organized into companies of militia,

" in accordance

with the ordinance passed by the State Convention." It also contains the

announcement of the marriage of Col. John D. Crawford to Miss Annie

Parberry.
In accordance with the above call of Maj. Suess, on June 26, 1865, two

companies of militia were organized with the following officers: E. Davis

and Chan. P. Townsley, captains; W. H. Porter, John W. Houx, W. P.

Jackson and Jacob Nussberger, lieutenants. The regular troops had long
before been withdrawn, and these companies were organized to be ready
in case of any emergency which might arise.

The first flouring mill—and it was the first institution in the shape of

a manufactory
—w^as built in Sedalia, in June, 1865. It was completed in

the fall. Wm. and Theodore Hoberecht built it. It is still in active opera-

tion, and is now known as the Capital Mills, Jno. F. Antes, proprietor.

Maj. Bacon Montgomery of the famous Sixth Missouri Cavalry, was in

this summer promoted to the rank of Heutenant colonel. He is the well

known city editor of the Sedalia Daily Democrat. He fought for his

country during the war, as boldly as he now writes for his readers. A. J.

and I. W. Johnson, a new firm of carpenters, came to the city that year.
Kebrman and Gabriel Vogler received a new stock of furniture. Chas.

Hartenback then owned and conducted the Eagle Hotel on Main street.

On the 4th of July there was a grand Sunday school picnic at Wool-

ridge's Grove, a mile north of town. Dr. Tobias was the leader of an

amateur band of singers. The delinquent tax list fills four columns of

fine type in the paper for June.
In the summer and fall of 1865 the first brick buildings w^ere erected in

Sedalia, and the material to build them was brought from Washington,

Mo., on the cars.

Messrs. Stafford & Magann erected the first, a one-story brick, on the

southeast corner of Second and Ohio streets, for their newspaper office.

That point was then in the business suburbs of the town. The building
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is Still standing, and is now occupied by Aug. T. Fleischmann as a drug
store.

Col. John F. Philips' residence.was the next built. At about the same

time James G. Tesch and his brother erected two two-story brick store-

rooms, on the north side of Main street, between Osage and Kentucky.
These were the first two-story brick buildings built in the town, and are

the same nov; standing west of Parmerlee Brothers. Quite a number of

frame houses were put up that year also, but no record of them could be

procured. These three were the only brick buildings put up in that

season.

Work was begun upon the first church building in the town the same

year. The Independent Presbyterian Church erected the edifice on the

corner of Lamine and Second streets, which is still standing. When it was

partly completed an ice-cream and strawberry festival was held in it

and this was the first church sociable.

The first two real estate offices were opened; James M. Byler and

Dr. Clarke managed one and Cotton Brothers & Reese the other.

The first two additions to the city were made this year. Smith & Mar-

tin's First Addition, extending from Third street south to the alley south

of Fifth street; from Washington street on the east to Missouri avenue on

the west, containing sixteen blocks, was laid off June 23, 1865.

C. D. Lesher and Louis Kumm's Addition, on the west of town, was

laid oft' Dec. 12, 1865.

The rush of immigration had begun and the town was filled by persons

seeking a business location or a farm. The land offices emphatically and

literally "did a land office business
"

in those days. Jas. M. Byler was

one of the most active men in selling land and making trades. In the

year 1865, the Parker House, containing thirty-four small rooms, took in,

in the hotel, billiard hall and bar-room, the sum of $18,000.

THE YEAR 1866.

An outline history of the city during the year 1866 will now be given.

During the latter part of 1865 and the early part of 1866 a great many
men came here, who had a marked influence upon the destiny of the

town, and contributed greatly to its development and advancement. Many
of these gentlemen are still citizens of the city, to which they came when it

was a village, and the mere mention of their names is sufficient to suggest
their history, at least to the majority of the oldest residents of the city.

Among the new citizens, who were here in the spring of 1866 and

actively engaged in business, are the following: W. W. S. Snoddy,
Lucius L. Bridges, Jas. S. Botsford, late U. S. District Attorney, Henry
C. Sinnet, J. M. Glasscock, C. C. Bassett, Arch. J. Sampson, late Attor-

ney-General of Colorado; John S. Cochrane, P. C. Hughes, lawyers;
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Drs. A. Y. Hall, J. H. McGirk, A. Condee, Thos. J. Montgomery (a sur-

geon in Sedalia during the war); John W. Trader; Carman & P. G.

Stafford, real estate agents; John Walde, book store; John R. Stewart and

John F. Jenkins, extensive wholesale hardware and agricultural imple-

ments; H. C. Smith & Bro., hardware; Vogler & Nussberger, hardware

& furniture; J. R. Veeters, drug store, Volney and Frank Mason, drug-

gists; Stale}^ Vinton & Co., A. P. Morey, of Shields, Milliken & Morey,

dry goods; Chas. C. Taylor, jeweler and watchmaker; E. Lungstras &
Co., Wm. Latour; Christopher Demuth, W. B. Adams, firm of Demuth
& Adams, brickmakers; R. H. Moses, bricklayer and architect; John

Stryker, builder and bricklayer; Cyrus Newkirk and Col. A. D.

Jaynes, the founders of the first bank, the First National Bank
;

Col.

Richard Ritter, James M. Mills, Clifton Wood, J. G. White, lumber

dealer, Jamison & Gates, wagon manufacturers; W. S. Baker, John J.

Yeater, grocers; John F. Antes, Jos. E. Hillis, cooper shop; S. H. Beiler

& Co., grocers; W. C. & J. J. Weiler, livery stable; C. E. Smith, clothing;

J. H. Mertz, druggist; S. L. Highleyman, deputy circuit clerk; John S.

Landes, clerk; John D. Crawford (born and raised in the county and

identified with the town from its very start, though a resident of the

county); Jas. P. Leake, John Burkhardt, B. G. Wilkerson, a prominent

lawyer, and nephew of Gen. George R. Smith, founder of the town.

The summer of 1866 was the beginning of "the great building era,"

and an important event was the establishment of the first brick yard by
Demuth & Adams, who made the material from which were built many
of the principal houses of the town, which are standing to-day. Mr.

Demuth had furnished the troops at the post during the war with beef,

from early in 1862, and having done business in the place recognized the

necessity for having brick ready when the demand for them came. The
first kiln was ready in June. This firm made the brick for the Stewart &
Jenkins building on Main street, now occupied by W. S. Mackey; for all

the buildings on the north side of Main, between Osage and Kentucky
streets, but three; for over half those on the north side of Main, between

Osage and Ohio; for Chas. Lesher's building on the south side of East

Main, now occupied by Keifer's saloon; for Louis Kumm's residence in

East Sedalia; for the Bazoo office on Ohio street; for the Old Red Store

on West Main; for the Ohio street M. E. Church; for the brick formerly

on the corner now occupied by D. H. Sm'th; all of which were erected

in 1866. The}^ also furnished the brick for the residences of Col. A. D.

Jaynes, Cyrus Newkirk and M. M. Pritchard, on Broadway, which were

built later, and for the entire Ilgen House block, and the Christian Church.

D. T. Hartshorn finally bought Mr. Adams' interest in the 3'ard. The
firm continued to furnish the brick for nearly all the brick houses which

were contracted up to 1871. The present Bazoo office was built by
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R. H. Moses, for a Mr. Tiffin, of Ohio, and was the first three-story
brick building put up in the city. T. W. Cloney, on Main street, put up
two brick buildings: the Methodist Church on Ohio street was built; also

the brick residence of Elias Bixby, on the southwest corner of Third

street and Washington avenue.

In the spring of this year the Indefendeni Press, a Democratic weekly
newspaper, was started by the Lingle Bros., with Dr. Logan Clark as

editor.

On the present site of the Garrison House was erected the McKissock

House, a spacious, handsome and substantial frame hotel, depot and eating
house. Cyrus Newkirk and Col. A. D. Jaynes founded the first National

Bank, with a capital of $100,000. The bank was opened in a small frame

building on the west side of Ohio, just north of the site of the present

building. The first Baptist Church was completed early in the spring,
with the Rev. E. T. Brown, the founder of East Sedalia, as pastor. The
first church concerts for the benefit of the Episcopal and the Baptist
Churches were given in June and July.

• On May 28, 1866, the first greatest political meeting held in the county
since the war was held in Sedalia. The scene of the meeting was the

present Court House Square, which was then an open prairie covered

with a luxuriant growth of grass, and in the extreme southern suburbs of

the city. This was the meeting of the Conservative or Democratic

element. It was addressed by Gen. Frank P. Blair, Col. Thos. L,. Price,

and Col. Thos. T. Crittenden. This was the beginning of the Congres-
sional campaign in the Fifth Missouri District. Gen. Blair was opposed
to harsh measures against the late Confederates, to the Drake Co stitution,

and to Thos. C. Fletcher and the State Administration. On this occasion

Col. Crittenden is reported as saying:
"

I am for justice, freedom and

equality, and the white man all the time."

The bitterness of feeling engendered b}^ the war was still so intense

that there was danger at any moment of the soldiers who had fought on

one side or the other coming into conflict when meeting on such occasions

as this. There was a large crowd present on this occasion. Gen. Blair,

who was a brave Union soldier, was now in political harmony with the

men against whom he had recently fought, and denouncing those who had

been his comrades in arms. The question as to whether he was right or

wrong has nothing to do with this mere statement of facts. Maj. Bacon

Montgomery, the first editor in the county, and a brave Union soldier, was
there. Capt.Jim Turley, an old comrade of Montgomery, an old resident

of Pettis Count}', and an old Federal soldier, a man of the most reckless

courage and determined character, was there also. During Gen. Blair's

speech he made some statement, regarding the past, that Maj. Mont-

gomery considered either utterly untrue, or intentionally one-sided.
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Montf^omery arose in the crowd and interrupted Gen. Blair, questioned

the correctness of the statement made by him, and asked him to answer

several questions bearing on the subj-ect. It seems that Gen. Blair did

not recognize who the speaker was. In the heat of public speech he

hurled some bitter and scathing sarcasm at those who interrupted, in

which he referred insultingly to " home soldiers and militiamen." Turley
and Montgomery were in the volunteer service and had splendid army
records. There was a stir and a murmur; an ominous movement of men

feeling around for their revolvers, a press in one or two directious of men

trying to get close to their leaders, and every one expected a bloody con-

flict was on hand. Fortunately some cool-headed man whispered into

Gen. Blair's ear that he had made a grave mistake, and he made a frank

explanation and apology. This settled the matter.

The Times, a straight, partisan Republican paper, says of the meeting:
" All the Rebels in Pettis County were present at the Frank Blair

meeting last Monday, just as we predicted." The editors of the respec-

tive party newspapers still spoke of each other as " damned Yankees "

and " infernal Rebels." These facts are mentioned as the essential

element, if history is truth.

On July 23d, the great Republican meeting was held, as an offset to the

other meeting of the opposite element. This gathering was held in the

Woolridge grove and court house square. A huge fiag-pole had been

erected on court house square, and from it floated the flag of the United

States. The Union and Radical element complamed because there was

no such flag visible at the Democratic meeting.

This was the Congressional Convention of the Fifth District. Governor

Fletcher and nearly all the State officers were present. Gen. Geo. R.

Smith was chairman of the convention. Col. Jas. L. McClurg was

nominated as a candidate for Congress. The Radical papers represent

that there were 10,000 people present. The other side represent that

the number was considerably less. Col. Baker, of Boonville, Attorney-
General Wingate, and Col. Stover, were the principal speakers. The
whole multitude took dinner on the grounds, at Woolridge's grove.

At night there was a meeting around the flag-staff, on the court house

square. While the meeting was in progress some one on the outside of

the ground fired at the flag. The town was only a small one as 3^et, and

the roughest and the most violent element were still in the ascendency.
In speaking of this aftair, in which a man named Wick Woods was shot,

the paper says: "We have been unable to learn the exact origin of the

aftray on last Monday night, (July 23d). In the evening Fred Meyers
was yelling for Andy Johnson, and continued to do so unnoticed. Later

in the evening Wick Woods and some of his associates had high words

with Radicals, in which, we learn, yells for Andy Johnson and Jefl". Davis,
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and curses upon the same individuals were interspersed. Still later, a party
of disorderly, drunken, and disloyal persons marched up Ohio street and

fired on the flag floating over the Square, where the multitude was assem-

bled listening to the orators of the evening. The whistling of the bullets

was heard by many of the crowd, and some of the Radicals started out

to see the meaning of the shooting. The party firing was met on Ohio

street, near White's lumber yard (where White's hall now stands), and

there the two parties exchanged shots to the number of twenty-one, result-

ing in the shooting of Woods.
" The ball, we learn, entered a little below the left shoulder, in front, and

was cut out by the surgeon a little below the right shoulder behind. We
learn that one of the notorious Beckley's of St. Clair County was on the

street armed before dark, and with the party shooting at the flag at

night."
This evidence is from a strictly partisan source, but there is no doubt about

the essential facts. Woods was a reckless, drunken man, with a band of simi-

lar friends, and it is not probable that the best element in the community
countenanced such proceedings, though the}' could not prevent them,

except by a more heroic effort than they were inclined to put forth.

Young Beckley afterward called on the editor and testified that he was

with the crowd; that no one fired on the flag, and that no one on his side

was armed but Wick Woods. This is also partisan testimony, but does

not alter the essential fact: that there was a shooting aflray that night, and

that it grew out of the still unsettled war feeling, and that Sedalia was

still far from the state of enlightenment and stability which it has now
reached.

These two meetincrs and the incidents connected with them are men-

tioned at some length, because they were indices of the condition of the

town and the people.

The County Medical Society was this year in active operation. It had

been started in Georgetown, was revived in 1865, and was now an active

body. This year an ordinance was passed and Ohio street was graded
and macadamized between Ohio and Kentucky. The first work of the

kind done.

In the summer there was a meeting of the Tebo & Neosho R. R. Co.,

subsequently the Missouri, Kansas & Texas Railway Company, to con-

sider the matter of raising further subscription in Sedalia to build the

line of road from Sedalia to Fort Scott, Kan. There had been much

agitation of the subject previous to this meeting which was held July 7,

1866. At this meeting were present Gen. Geo. R. Smith, Col. Jno. F.

Philips, Maj. William Beck, Col. A. D. Jaynes, (afterwards treasurer of

the M., K. & T. R. R. Co.) Chan. P. Townsley, Jas. G. Tesch, W. A.

Reese and H. R. Dobyns. It was reported that $70,000 had already
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been subscribed by Sedalia; $10,000 was subscribed at this meeting and it

was one of the most enthusiastic meetinors held for this purpose. Before

the meeting adjourned a proposition to contribute $125,000 in all to aid

in the building was passed amidst much enthusiasm. The people of that

day were sharp and active. At another meeting held in Sedalia, July 16,

1866, there were present: Thos. L. Wilson, president; Jno. F. Philips,

vice-president; Clifton Wood, treasurer; W. Weaver, secretary; R. Allen,

W. L. Aver3% Jas. G. Tesch and Chas. I. Robards, directors. Col.

Philips moved that there be a call made for five per cent, of the amount

of stock subscribed. On the next day, July 17, 1866, committees were

appointed to solicit subscriptions in all the counties along the proposed
line. Jas. G. Tesch was appointed for Pettis County. Col. Philips pre-

sented the following resolution which was passed:

Resolved, That the call for five per cent, on stock subscribed is predi-
cated upon the express understanding that this road shall connect with
the Pacific Railroad at Sedalia, Mo., and terminate at Fort Scott, Kan.

This was framed as an intelligent lawyer would word it, and decided

the question as to Sedalia. The detailed history of this railroad is given
elsewhere in the history.

In the winter of 1866 the Christian Church was completed.
In the latter part of December, 1866, the Ohio street M. E. Church

was completed. R. H. Moses was the builder, assisted by Mr. Hubbard.

On Christmas Eve, 1866, the ladies of this church gave a fine entertain-

ment for the building fund of the church. In the corner stone of this

church, in a sealed jar, are copies of the two papers then published in the

city; the list of names of all those who contributed to build the church;

the history of the organization of the congregation and other interesting

data. The building was not ready for occupancy until sometime later.

Col. John F. Philips was Mayor of the city during this year. He was

one of the candidates for Congress, aided by the Union element, but was

defeated for the nomination.

The Congregational Church was almost completed in December,

1866; at that time it was away out in the suburbs and there was only one

house on the west side of Ohio street, from the Ilgenfritz block to the

church.

Sedalia Lodge, No. 236, A. F. & A. M., was in active working order

in this year, G. R. Kull, W. M.

The I. O. G. T. had an organization, of which P. G. Stafford was the

chief offfcer.

Neapolis Lodge, No. 153, I. O. G. T., was organized and in active

working order, Dr. Thomas T. Montgomery, N. G.

Gen. Bacon Montgomery was Supervisor of Registration of voters.
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The Sedalia Brewery, F. Zelleken proprietor, had been started in 1865,

and was making excellent beer.

In August, 1866, a Fair Association was formed: Maj. William Gentry
was elected President; Cols. Jno. F. Philips, A. D. Jaynes and Capt. F.

L. Parker, Vice Presidents; Dr. J. F. Tobias, Secretary, and O. Harris,

Treasurer. The place chosen for holding the fair was near the "
Big

Spring,
" on the same spot where they are now. On the farm ot Clif-

ton Woods, grounds of a temporary character were prepared and a

fair was held in the following September. This was the first fair that

was held in the county after the war. When the last one was held at

Georgetown the site of Sedalia was open prarie land.

In November, the county officers were elected and all of them were

Radicals. The talk and conduct of citizens previous to the election had

been extreemly reckless and bitter. The registration law was in force and

ex-Confederates could not vote. P. G. Stafford, editor of the Times, was

elected Representative to the Legislature; W. H. Porter, Sheriff; Bacon

Montgomery for Circuit Clerk; S. A. Yankee, County Clerk; Florence

Crandall, Recorder of Deeds; J. G. Beck, Treasurer; C. C. Crawford,

Assessor; William I. Pace, Surveyor; John S. Cochrane, W.P.Jack-
son, Supervisor of Registration. This was another new era in the county
and city. After the election, previous to w^hich the people had been kept
in a perfect turmoil and passion by the savage partisanism of their respec-

tive newspapers, the public mind became quiet and thought onl}' of business.

Then it was that two of the journalistic gladiators laid ofi' their armour

and quit the pencil battle. Dr. Logan Clark retired from the position of

editor of the Independent Press, and Mr. Stafford, having been elected as

Radical Representative to the State Legislature, sold his interest in the

Times to Jas. G. Magann, who became sole editor and proprietor.

In the summer of ''(5Q the Sedalia Lyceum held meetings. This was the

first organization of a literary character in the city, and it was one of the

first evidences of a desire for intellectual culture among the people. The
business duties of life in a new town and the absorbing subject of politics

in this transition period after the war, occupied the minds of the people.

But this was an indication that the inhabitants had begun to

weary of the old and bitter thoughts and feelings of the past, and yearned
for something else. Dr. John W. Trader and Dr. Thomas J. Montgomery
were the most active workers in awakening and keeping
alive an interest in this organization. All the professional men in the city,

at different times, attended the meetings and took part in the debates.

Another important event in the social life of the city was the organiza-

tion of the "Sedalia Dramatic Society," and the first performance given by
it, Monday night, Nov. 19, 1866, in the upper room of the present Bazoo

office, which had been but a short time completed. The members of the
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company were all amateurs. Mr. William Latour organized, trained and

managed the company, and the organization is still in existence under the

name of the "Thespeans," and under the management of the original

founder and leading actor, Mr. Latour. The other members of the com-

pany were Laura Hall, now Mrs. L. L. Highleyman, Laura Dake,

Josephine Lyon, L. L. Bridges, W. W. S. Snoddy, George Townsley, H.

P. Townsley, E. H. Reinish, L. A. White, Charles Dake and William F.

White.

On the opening night the play of "
Temptation

" was given, and this

was the first dramatic or theatrical entertainment ever given in Sedalia.

Persons who saw this company, seventeen years ago, say that its per-

formances were full of spirit, and that the orignal members have never

been surpassed by any who have belonged to the body since. Col. W. W.
S. Snoddy delivered the opening address on this occasion, and it was a

fine eftbrt.

Four more additions were made to the city in 1866, as follows:

Cotton Brothers' First Addition, April, 1866,

Lyons' Addition, April 20, 1866.

Cotton Brothers' Second Addition was laid off" in July, 1866.

Heard's Addition, in East Sedalia, was laid oft' Aug. 1, 1866.

These additions were not only laid oft', but there was an active and

steadily increasing demand for the lots. One year before an acre of land

could have been bought for just about the price that the choice lots now
sold for, that is $100.

It was in the early part of this year that the money-order department
was established in the Sedalia postofiice. This is one of the best evidences

of the rapid advance the town had begun to make, and of the increase of

all kinds of business.

THE YEARS 186Y-1868-1869.

Within the past twenty-five years the newspaper has become the most

perfect mirror of the times and the place in which it is published. The

newspaper photographs, as it were, not only the acts but the thoughts and

feelings of the people; and the file of a weekly or daily newspaper is like

a consecutive line of pictures, a panoramic view of the people and the

place, week by week, or day by day.

A glance at the files of the Sedalia newspapers for the year 1867 reveals

two very plain facts, at least to the practiced eye and mind of the jour-

nalist.

In the first place people were evidently occupied with work. The bit-

ter partisan spirit shown by the Radical and the Democratic papers has

almost disappeared, and it only crops out occasionally. They talk about

buildings and railroads, churches, schools, street improvements, fairs, the
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Stream of immicrration which is flowing into the State and town. Thev
both talk "business." Passion and prejudice, though not dead, have gone
to sleep.

During the year 1867 there was an immense amount of building done

for a town of the size. The partial list of buildings given elsewhere will

show this. The first public shool was completed; the second great rail-

road project was actually started towards completion ;
the first successful

effort to awaken the pride and dormant energies of the farmers of the

county was made by holding a good agricultural fair, and the law-loving
and law-abiding element in the community, driven beyond the limits of the

written law, wrote the death warrant of lawlessness in letters of blood.

This is the summing up of the history of that year.

The year 1867 was made memorable between Jan. 1 and May 1, by
two terrible tragedies. One of them was the killintj of Andv Forbes bv

William P. Jackson, the City Marshal; and the other was the hanging in

March of Joe Woods, by a mob. Both of these events were significant.

They decided that the town thereafter should be ruled by the spirit of

law, and by law-abiding citizens, and the^'^ gave the death blow to the

spirit of lawlessness and ruffianism which was dominant for the years pre-
vious in the newly established towns in Missouri, and, in fact in all the

west where railroads were built. The story of the most important of

these tragic transactions will be first told, though it occurred several months

later than the other.

Joe Woods belonged to one of the oldest and most respectable families

of the county, but while still a young man he began a course of drinking
and dissipation, such as is sure to develop the worst passions and impulses
of human nature. He was a man of violent temper, strong passions and

desperate resolution. He was a man of powerful build; thick and heavy
set, and possessed of almost gigantic strength. During the wild and

demoralizing times of the war he became associated with a number of

men, boon companions, who were as reckless as himself. He was quiet
and inoffensive when sober, but when under the influence of drink, and

on one of his frequent and periodical sprees, he seemed changed into a

perfect devil incarnate. He and his gang were the terror of the town;
and they had been engaged in many desperate brawls. When any of

them were on a spree it was as much as a man's life was worth to come
in contact with them, unless he was well armed and read}^ to fight, with

or without cause, or submit to any indignity they might be inclined to heap

upon him. Some time in March, about the 27th, Woods got on one of

his regular sprees, and drank until he was perfectly frenzied, and all the

evil in his nature aroused. He went into the saloon of Joseph Gimer, a

quiet, good natured German, which was located on the south side of Main

street, about the middle of the block. He knocked the bar-keeper down.
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and struck two strangers who were in the room. He then went into the

grocery store of Rod. Gallie, which was next door. Gimer was not in

the saloon at the time, but in a few moments chanced to come along, when
he met Woods at the door of the grocery. He and Woods spoke, and

Gimer said, in a conciliatory manner, that as he and Woods had always
been on friendly terms, the latter ought not to go into his saloon and cre-

ate disturbances. Gimer then walked east on Main street, towards his

saloon. When he had got a few step from Woods the latter drew his

revolver and deliberately shot Gimer in the back. Gimer staggered into

the door of his saloon, fell on his face, and was stone dead in a few min-

utes. This deed was witnessed by a number of reliable men who are still

living in this city.

After the shooting Woods went to the Leet Hotel, corner of Main and

Moniteau, now the Lindell Hotel, and said he w^ould kill any man who

attempted to arrest him. Capt. Jim Turley, Policeman Moses, and others

went to the hotel. Woods was in an up stairs room. A man named
Cantrell went up with a gun in his hand, and captured him. Woods was
first taken to the sheriff's office. He sent for Capt. L. L. Bridges, and

told him that he had $1,000 that he would give him if he would defend

him on his trial.

Woods was then taken to "The Cooler," which was then located about

where the rear of D. I. Holcomb's china store now is, on the alley back

of Main street. Six men were placed to guard him. "The Cooler" was
a two-story building built of heavy logs, with "chinking" between them.

It was a very strong building and was used during and after the war as

a guard house, and city prison. It derived its name "The Cooler" from

the fact that the cool prairie winds swept freely between the logs, and

cooled ofTthe angry passions of any one who was so unfortunate as to be

placed in it.

Maj. A. P. Morey was then the deputy sheriff in charge, and Woods
was left in his care. A warrant had not yet been sworn out for Wood's
commitment. In the meantime a coroner's jury had been summoned and

was holding its session in Gimer 's saloon. By this time it was half past

eight o'clock. The night was dark and tempestuous, and the mud

throughout the town ankle deep.

John Walde, the constable of the township, came to the cooler with a

formal warrant for the custody of Woods, and presented it. Woods was
turned over to him and Maj. Morey left the jail. Exactly what happened
after that was never known except to the actors, and never inquired into

by the community. The following statements seemed to be pretty well

understood as correct:

A body of men, not exceeding twelve, and all armed to the teeth, went

about twelve o'clock to the cooler. They got in some how in the dark-
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ness and silence. Woods was overpowered and his hands tied. There

were evidences about the place that there had been a deadly struggle and

a hard fight before he was overcome. It is believed that he was knocked

senseless with revolver butts before he was overcome. One supposition

is that a rope was put around his neck, tied to the axle of a buggy, and

that he was dragged to the scene of his execution, the arch of the gate-

way over Wm. Bloess' lumber yard, northwest of the present Garrison

House. At any rate,. his dead body, bruised and scratched, and without

a stitch of clothing on it, was found the next morning hanging from the

arched gateway of the lumber yard. It froze hard that night, and in the

frozen mud could be traced the footsteps of the midnight avengers, and

a broad streak which looked as if the body of a man had been dragged

through the soft mud the night previous. Some one who first saw the

naked body in the morning had pinned a sheet around it.

The coroner's jury decided that he came to his death by the hands of

parties unknown.

It is probable that Wood's executioners could have been discovered had

the matter been investigated closely, but the work of the mob, or Judge

Lynch, was regarded as a deed of justice. Many people seemed to think

that it was one of those cases where the safety of the people was the

highest law. Confidential friends will now hint to each other the names

of the men who hanged Woods for the murder of Gimer, but there is no

evidence now extant that would warrant the publication of the names of

the suspected parties.

After this, the first and the last session of the court of Judge L3mch,
the town was more quiet; there were fewer deeds of violence; less dispo-

sition to carry or draw deadly weapons; and, though .mob law is the most

dancrerous thins: that can exist in a free countrv, this act seemed to have

a decided and unmistakably beneficial influence upon the whole commu-

nity.

The story of the other affair will be found narrated below, and both are

given as evidences of the conditions of society at that time.

Andy Forbes was killed earlier in the season. Men who knew him

from boyhood considered him a dangerous and desperate man, especially

when drinking. He was still a young and not a large man, and had been

in Col. J no. F. Philips' regiment. He came to town one day with a lot of

his comrades and got on " a big drunk." He and his companions declared

"that they had come to town for the express purpose of raising hell," and

they immediately proceeded to do it in the most approved style known to

the desperados of that time. Forbes passed Marshal Jackson on the

street in the morning and told him that he, Forbes, was going to do as he

pleased and that he was not going to be arrested by anybody, especially

18
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by any member of the Jackson family. He and his comrades had several

fights during the day, while the city marshal was out in the country.

They finally went to the livery stable of Capt. F. L. Parker, north of the

present Garrison I^ouse, drove every one out of the place and did as they

pleased. Forbes' clothes were torn, and he and several of his friends,

who had been fighting among themselves, were smeared with blood. It

was now about half past three o'clock in the afternoon and the gang had
been "running things" the whole day. W. P. Jackson, the city marshal,
came in from the countr}^ accompanied by a man named Davis. He
rode past the stable and was told what had been going on. When
Forbes saw him as he came to the door of the stable he said to Jackson:
"If you get oft' that horse I'll kill you." Jackson got oft' his horse.

Forbes started to come towards him with a knife in his hand. Jackson
had no arms, and must either flee or fight. At this critical moment Davis

stepped up and handed Jackson a revolver. Forbes still continued to

advance on Jackson. When he w^as within a few steps of the officer the

latter leveled his revolver at him and shot him in the body three times,

killing him almost instantly. With this same revolver S. S. Homans, a

deputy sherift', afterwards shot a man who was resisting arrest and

advancing on him with an upUfted ax. A coroner's jury was summoned
and thev rendered a verdict that Forbes was killed while resisting an

officer and that Jackson had acLed in self defense. These are about the

facts of the v ise, but there was a division of public sentiment, a minority
of the community thinking that Forbes ought not to have been killed.

The preliminary steps for the establishment of the public school system
were taken in 1866. In March of that year, the Legislature passed an

act authorizing incorporated towns and chartered cities, to become

separate school districts. A number of prominent citizens of Sedalia,

headed by Maj. William Beck, began in the spring of 1866, to agitate this

matter. These citizens worked among the people until the cit}' council

passed a special ordinance ordering an election to be held on Aug. 29,

1866, when the question as to whether the public school system should be

adopted in Sedalia, was submitted to a vote of the people. The proposi-

tion was favored by a large vote. In September following, the first

board of education was elected. It consisted of the following gentlemen:
Wm. Beck, Florence Crandall, A. Ensell, Dr. Thos. J. Montgomery, E.

W. Washburn, and Wm. Bloess.

On September 19th, the officers of the board were elected, as follows:

President, E. W. Washburn; Treasurer, Wm. Beck; Secretar}', F. Cran-

dall. Nothing further was done in a formal manner until March 19, 1867.

On this date the board met, and it was decided to issue $25,000 worth of

city bonds, the proceeds of which were to be used in the erection of public

school buildings. At a subsequent meeting the sum was increased to
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$30,000, the bonds lo bear ten per cent interest. These bonds were easily

disposed of at eighty-seven and one-half cents on the dollar.

The entire half square on the south side of Broadway, west of Kentucky
street, now occupied by the Broadway School, was purchased for the sum
of $2,250.

Efforts were now made to secure the best plans for a building. The
board finaih' concluded to erect it themselves. A.Ensell and Wm. Bloess,

not agreeing with the plans of the majority of the board, resigned. Mai.

A. C. Marvin and Col. Richard Ritter, were elected to fill their places.

The erection of the large two story Broadway building was begun in the

fall, and by Feb. 10, 1867, it was ready for occupancy. It cost about

$24,000. This was the magnificent beginning of one of the finest systems
of public schools in the State, outside of St. Louis. In 1869, the Franklin

School building was erected at a cost of $10,000. In 1873, the Washington
School, a frame, was built at a cost of $5,000. Richard Ritter and F.

Crandall, were the building committee.

On Jan. 1, 1867, J. M. Byler, real estate agent-, and Colton Bros, and

Reese, began the publication of a large real estate monthly newspaper,
filled with facts, figures and arguments, to induce immigration to Missouri.

It was called the Sedalia Advertiser. Durino- the last six months of the

year it was edited and managed by Byler alone, and published at the

Times office.

On Monday, Feb. 8, 1867, one of the landmarks of Sedalia, disappeared

in a cloud of flame. It has been repeatedly published that the old Sedalia

House was burned in the fall of 1866. It was not burned until the above

date in 1867. It was the oldest hotel building in the tov^^n, and had passed

unharmed through all the dangers and vicissitudes of war. At the time

it was burned it was occupied by a lot of tenants and families, and was

not used as a hotel. The occupants barely escaped with their hves.

In the early part of this year, Perry Hawes, of Xenia, O., came to the

city and bought a half interest in the Times. He had been raised in a

newspaper office, was a practical editor, a man of fine mind and education,

and he made a great improvement in the paper. He was subsequently

appointed postmaster, and held the office eight years. This was one of

the great building years. Seventy-five buildings were in course of erection

and repairs, and additions were being place on others.

It was during this year that the First National Bank erected the build-

ing now occupied by them. Though the first brick building in the town

it to-day has no superior in the city for strength and slability. Messrs.

Jaynes and Newkirk watched its construction continually and never let a

weak piece of material go into it. It cost about $30,000.

Broadway was laid out and the first tree planted on it this 3'ear.
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The Il^enfritz Opera House was built on Ohio street. It was subse-

quently burned.

In 1867 Bacon Montgomery was Brigadier General of Militia and in

command of the Second Missouri District. He had been stationed at Lex-

ington with a considerable force in the early part of the year. Lafayette

County was the last to settle down to peace. During the last year of the

war, Gen. Montgomery had killed a young desperado in Lexington,
named Arch Clemens. In February the forces were withdrawn. A
short time after Gen. Montgomery was arrested for the killing of Clem.ens,

taken to Jefferson City and subsequently released. Here the matter was

dropped.

Although Sedalia was a most thriving and progressive town at this

time, the social manners and customs were still of the " free and easy"

character, which is inseparable from life in the far west. An incident

which occurred in July of this year, will best illustrate this fact, and it

wall probably be remembered by every man who was at the time a resi-

dent of the city, as long as he lives. A popular saloon in the city was at

that time located about the spot now occupied by Rod Gallie's grocery
store. Three prominent city officers, a United State officer and two well

known lawyers, met in a back room at this saloon on the morning of

July 3d, 1867, to perfect arrangements for the celebration of the Fourth of

July. When they had settled their formal business they called for "sherry

cobblers," as the temperature was torrid. They continued to call for the

same seductive combination until all were in a joyous and mischievous

humor. One of the party, a man of gigantic stature, and a prominent

lawyer, wore a long linen duster, the tails of which hung in flowing drap-

ery over each side of the seat of his chair. Another member of the party

got behind him, caught the sweepmg tails of the coat in either hand
; gave

a mighty jerk and split the garment clear up the back. The lawyer

arose, caught hold of his antagonist and after a hard struggle
—both being

men of splendid strength
—succeeded in tearing his friends coat into shreds

and tatters. By this time all had joined in the sport. The}^ locked the

doors of the room they were in, and w^ent at the work of retaliation with

a vengence. They pulled and tugged at each other for a half an hour,

racing around the room and over-turning chairs and tables, amidst shouts

of laughter, until there was not a man in the room that had a piece of

clothing on him big enough to cover a three weeks old baby! B}?- this

time every man was covered only with perspiration and they desisted

from their fun. The proprietor was sent for and requested to go to C. E.

Smith's, clothing store, which was near by, and have a new suit of cloth-

ing sent down for each of the party. Smith knew the stature of each one

in the party and in a few minutes sent down a large dry goods box full

of clothing, on a dray. Each man was soon arrayed in a new suit, but
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the big lawyer could not find a shirt large enough to cover his manly
form, and he had to content himself with a big standing collar and a bril-

liant cravat as a subtitute for this very necessary under garment.
It is quite probable that if the gentlemen who now occupy such promi-

nent official and social positions as those then did, were to now engage in

such a rollicing frolic, the press would assault them and articles of

impeachment would be filed. It was considered a gigantic joke in those

days.
The following is a list of minor events of the year: J. West Goodwin

printed a Gazetterand Directory of the Union Pacific Railroad, containing

descriptions of railroads, towns, &c.

On the first Sunday in March the basement room of the Ohio street

M. E. Church was formally dedicated.

Maj. A. C. Marvin, Provost Marshal of Sedalia during the war, and

after the war, proprietor of the Marvin House, a man of recognized ability,

identified with all the important projects of the city, and a man in whose

probity and intelligence the entire community had confidence, was elected

president of the Tebo & Neosho R. R. Co., and actually started the work
of construction.

Col. A. D. Jaynes and Gen. Geo. R. Smith,'at a great railroad meeting
held in July, were appointed a committee to visit Chicago in the interest

of this railroad scheme.

In February there was a meeting to organize a Fire Company. They
then had some kind of a hand engine and ladders. On Feb. 23, the Fire

Company and Hook and Ladder Company had a parade.
The McKissock House, under the management of Jas. O. Ives, was

completed early in the Summer. Late in the Summer the grading and

macadamizing of Ohio street was completed to Fifth street.

Very nearly $50,000 was put into church buildings during the year.

Among the prominent business men whose names appear in the paper
are those of W. S. Mackey, L. N. Guild, Peter Brandt, W. A. Winzen-

burg, W. W. Cecil, Jno. Burkhart, F. L. Robbins, Jno. Kullmer, G. L.

Lagden, Wm. Inch, E. Lamy.
On the 26th of April the Odd Fellows of the city had a grand celebra-

tion and a royal feast at the McKissock House.

Among the additional new brick buildings put up in the summer were

those of Elias Laupheimer; Major Beck, corner Main and Osage; Louis

Kumm, Main street; Clifton Wood, Hall & Beiler, several on the burned

district mentioned hereafter, and the Broadway school building.

This year the people and the newspapers began to call for a Court

House, a City Hall, a jail, additional sewerage, more side walks and the

grading and macadamizing of Osage and Kentucky streets. The City
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Council took up the question of building a City Hall, Market House, «S:c;

and the additional question, whether the city should take $30,000 in bonds

of the Tebo & Neosho Railroad. Late in the summer a special election to

submit these two questions to a vote of the people was ordered. Both

questions were carried by the following vote. Whole numler of votes

cast on the R. R. bond question, 235; for, 212; against, 23. For issuing

bonds to erect City Hall, &c.: total vote cast, 211; for, 182; against, 29.

The Publishers' Convention of the Fifth Congressional District met in

the city during the summer,and this was probably the first meeting of news-

paper editors and publishers ever held in Central Missouri, the first ever'

held in Sedalia and the first held in Central Missouri since the beginning

of the war. There were representatives present fi-om the papers of Kan-

sas City, Independence, Holden, Pleasant Hill, California, Warrensburg,

Boonville, Marshall, Clinton, Jefferson City,Warsaw, Osceola, and Lexing-

ton; much important business was done and uniform rates for legal and

other advertising agreed upon. There was a special meeting of the same

body again in October.

June loth the following officers of the Fair Association were elected:

Wm. Gentry, president; Jno. F. Philips, Thos. F. Houston, F. L. Parker,

vice-presidents; Col. A. D. Jaynes, treasurer; Dr. Tobias, secretary; the

officers above, Jno. M. Sneed, Wm. Patf and others, directors. On Sept.

30th a very good fair was held and a large list of premiums offered.

W. A. O'Brian, of Troy, N. Y., visited the city and proposed to build a

Gas Works if a joint stock compan}^ was formed. He did not succeed

then in accomplishing his object, but from that on the question was agi-

tated until works were put up.

The first base ball club was organized, and among its members were

Maj. A. P. Morey, Ben. Lyon, E. H. Renish, and John Scheer.

C. P. Anderson of the Central Missourian^ at California, Mo., threat-

ened to bring a lible suit for $10,000 against the Sheldon Times. Col.

Richard Retter was appointed Count}^ Road Commissioner, S. S. Vinton,

Public Administrator.

Jas. M. Swan, a railroad man, was killed at the depot while coupling

cars. This was the first man killed there that the records show. He was

a Mason. Wm. B. Wallace, a prominent Odd Fellow, died this summer.

About the eighth of August burglars broke into C. G. Taylor's jewelry

store, blew the door of the safe open, and got away with over $5,000 in

jewelry and money. It was in this summer that a Gypsy woman swindled

Mr. Reeves, of Georgetown, out of $6,000 in cash. She represented to

him that she could tell him where there was a gold mine on his farm if he

would get $6,000 to hold while she made her incantations. Reeves bor-

rowed $1,000 from his brothers, mortgaged his farm to Reece Hughes
for $5,000, and got the cash. The woman tied the money in a package
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for him to hold in his hand. She substituted a similar package for him to

hold and carried off the one with the money in it. This is the largest

swindling operation ever known in Central Missouri.

In September a special election was held to decide whether $60,000 in

bonds should be issued to build a court house and county jail. The propo-

sition was carried.

On the tjight of Nov. 6, 1867, occurred the most destructive fire that

had thus far befallen the city. The loss was estimated at the time at

$90,000. In this fire, all the buildings on the north side of Main street,

from the middle of the block, westward to Osage street, and the hand-

some and spacious McKissock House, which was also the depot, were

consumed, with a great portion of their contents. The fire originated in

the grocery store of C. P. Chiids. The people had nothing but a hand

fire engine, and cisterns to draw water from. There was a brisk breeze;

most of the buildings were frame, and in a very few moments the half-

block was beyc^nd the power of salvation. The following buildings were

burned: C. P. Chiids, grocer, stock, loss, $3,500; Geo. Sugden, house,

loss, $2,500; Grossbeck & Phillips, dry goods, stock, loss, $18,000; insur-

ance, $15,000; E. Lamy, brick building, loss, $5,000; insurance, $2,000;

Strauss & Guttman, on stock, $10,000; covered by insurance; Lohman's

brick block damaged $800 ;
Marvin House, furniture, $200 ;

Chas. Lyon,
billiard hall and saloon,loss, $2,200, insurance, $1,200; L. Kumm, damage
to house, $600; Weiller Bros., livery stable, damage, $300; insured;

Chas. Yost, saloon and stock, total loss, $3,000, insurance, $1,300;

Winzenburg & Co., tobacconists, stock, $3,000, insurance, $1,500;

Bellas' building totally destroyed, insured; Jno. Montgomery, Jr., Asst.

U. S. Collector; Maj. Richard Penny, U. S. Inspector, all books and

papers lost; other buildings, loss, $3,500; McKissock House, $15,000;

Kleiner & Co., liquors, loss, $1,000; Stewart & Jenkins, loss, $1,500;

Independeni Press^ office, loss, $3,000, insurance, $2,000; Silver Cornet

Band instruments, $500; Merchants Union Express Office, $5,000; Jas.

O. Ives, furniture in McKissock House, $6,000, insured.

The original fire was on Main street, and swept southward for a time, long

enough for the flames to damage houses on the south side of the street.

The second period of the fire was when it swept north, and the flames

were communicated to the McKissock House. This building was new,
built of strong, fresh pine lumber, and those who saw it when it was com-

pletel}' enveloped in flames, say that it made the most magnificent con-

flagration ever witnessed in Sedalia. The list of losses and insurance are

given to show the character of the buildings in the city at that time, the

amounts of stock carried, and the proportion of insurance. This great

fire brought about a great change. After that a steam fire engine was

procured, and all the large business houses erected were built of brick.



484 HISTORY OF SEDALIA.

In a month after this fire there were over one hundred men at work on

the grounds, engaged in the preliminary work of erecting brick blocks.

The people were too full of energy and ambition in those days to waste

time in idle repining. .

For two or three years the people had been talked to about the build-

ing of the railroad from Sedalia to Fort Scott. Many preliminary meet-

ings had been held. Maj. A. C. Marvin, Gen. George R. Smith, Col. A.

D. Ja3'nes, Cyrus Newkirk, Col. Jno. F. Philips and other prominent
citizens had worked actively for the cause. In 1867, when Maj. Marvin

was elected president of the Tebo and Neosho Railroad Company, the

principal advocates of the scheme, the subscribers to the stock, and the

people at. large, felt satisfied that now something would be done that was

tangible. In July, 1867, the following amounts had actually been sub-

scribed for the road: Bourbon County, Kansas, $150,000; Henry County,

Mo., $150,000; Sedalia, $50,000; private subscriptions, $60,000; Ft. Scott,

Kas., $50,000; Clinton, Mo., $25,000. Total $615,000. On July 15, T.

W. Wilson, former president of the road with a force of men, was in the

suburbs of the city awaiting the formal "breaking of the ground," which

had been fixed for Sept. IS, 1867. On this date there was a splendid
demonstration in honor of that very important occasion. Gen. Blair of

Kansas, Col. Philips and others of the leading workers in the good cause,

made speeches which did much to encourage the people to aid the work
in future.

In December this year, several miles were graded out from Sedalia.

Six miles were graded near Clinton, and a considerable distance graded
from Ft. Scott, Kansas. The historv of this and other r;... roads is

treated under a separate head.

During this year the Masons, the oldest secret organization in the city,

moved into their new hall, in the second story of the First National Bank

building, which had been completed.
The following additions were made to the area of the city during this

year :

Lesher Brothers' addition was laid off" March 7, 1867.

McVey Brothers' addition was laid oft' March 26, 1867.

Woods' addition was laid oft' July 2, 1867.

Meyers' addition was laid oft' Sept. 7, 1867.

In all these additions, lots were sold and a few houses erected, but the

great bulk of buildings were still confined to the central portion of the

town.

Now that Sedalia had the actual work of building a railroad to Fort

Scott, Kansas, in progress, and enough money subscribed to pay all the

present demands for work, the people began to think of another railroad

project. When they had one thing well under way they seized on some
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new project; In 1858, a charter had been granted to the Lexington and

St. Louis Raib-oad Company, now commonly called the Lexington

Branch Railroad, to build a line of road from the Pacific main line to Lex-

ington on the Missouri River. When this company received its charter,

it was supposed that the Missouri Pacific main line would run through

Georgetown. Before the war, work was begun on this line, near Smith _

town, and it was graded almost to Georgetown. The war
stor.^p^^'\he

work. In the fall of 1867, the question of starting this li'^r.^'lrom Sedalia

was broached, and in the following spring the
co^^^p^ny was re-organ-

ized.
_

-''""

Shortly after the destruction -^^^T the Independent Press, the Demo-

cratic newspaper, by the ^::it of the sixth of November, a company was

organized to establish ^ 'a new paper called the Democratic Press. The

paper did not makaj its appearance, however, iintil the following January,

1868. The leaalers in this move were. Col. A. C. Marvin, John P.

Thatcher, 0-. A. Crandall, E. C. Bouldin, and Dr. A. Y. Hull, and J. M.

Sneed.
'

Durin g the year 1868, the city made rapid strides forward in material

prosperity,
and the year is rendered memorable by a number of impor-

tant eiv^ents, which have had a decided influence upon the ultimate success

of the town, though they are devoid of the tragic element, and the liter-

ary interest which attaches to the events of the year previous. Peace

and law were established, except in strong localities. The great influx of

n>en from other States, professional and business men and farmers, was

2>X. its full tide. Two of the real estate firms of that period claimed that

during the latter part of 1867, and the early part of 1868, that they sold

$100,000 worth of city and county property.

The wholesale trade, which was now augmented by the local demands

of new settlers and the necessity of restoring everything lost in the war,

was immense. This trade had rapidly increased ever since 1863, and it

never ceased until the M. K. & T. (Tebo and Neosho) Railroad was com-

pleted and in actual operation, read}^ to furnish all the southwest with

supplies. The records of the court show that up to 1868, 1409 warrantee

and quit claim deeds were recorded. The papers of that date, and they

were very probably correct, state that Staley, Vinton & Co., wholesale

dry goods, etc., did a business of $400,000; that Stewart & Jenkins,

wholesale hardware, agricultural implements and house furnishing goods,

did a business of $400,000 per annum, and it is stated that the oldest firm

of the town, Cloney, Crawford & Co., general dealers and commission

merchants, did a business of $400,000.

On January 3, the first issue of the Democratic Press made its appear-

ance. It was run by a joint stock company, in which the Lingles, the
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former proprietors of ihe Independent and the Sedalia Advertiser^ were

interested. Dr. A Y. Hull was editor and business manager.
The other important events of the year, summed up, are as follows: On

January 27 the second great fire—exclusive of the burning of the Missouri

Hotel in 1861 and the Sedalia House, 1867, occurred, and it destroyed

.^.50,000 worth of property and the half block of frame buildmgs on the

north cfi^de of Main street, from the centre of the block eastward to Ohio

street. The i?.'-st fire had destroyed the west half of- the block. The
Sedalia Savings Bamk, with a capital of $.50,000, was organized. The
Sedalia Gas Light Compu\nv was organized and the building of the

works begun. The Broadway school' was opened and had an attendance

of 500 pupils during the year. The beautiful' J-[genfritz Opera House, on

Ohio street, was completed and opened, Dec. 21, by^ Geo, D. ChapHn, the

actor; the Ives House was constructed as it now stuTnds, (the Garrison

House;) the building of Smith's Hall on Main street .was begun and

almost completed; a row of brick buildings was erected on -the "burned

district," previously mentioned, and numerous others in vario us promi-
nent business localities; the people of the city and county voterf, to sub-

scribe $100,000 more to the building of the T. & N. Railroad, and; to aid

in the building of the Lexington & St. Louis Railroad; the population of

the town was increased nearly 40 per cent and at the end of the year? was
about 6,000; an important city election was held under a peculiar ctim-

bination of men and parties, and the entire Radical ticket elected; tihe

city purchased a new steam fire engine and organized a regular an'd

efficient fire department. The Lexington & St. Louis Railroad Company
was reorganized, propositions made and accepted which made Sedalia the';

southern terminus of the road, and the actual work of building it was

begun. A history in detail ot each of these leading events, together with

a mention of minor matters, will now be given.

The great fire of January 27, originated in the dry goods store of L. S.

Florsheim; John B. Gallie, the city marshal, discovered it when it was in

full progress, broke open the front door and permitted Mr. Florsheim to

escape, which he did in his night clothing, and with barely time to save his

life. The buildings were all of frame, and even the aid of two good fire

engines, which the cit}^ did not have, could not have saved them. The

buildings and stocks burned were those of CHfton Wood, Elias Laup-

heimer, L. S. Florsheim, J. Nussberger & Co., Jno. W. Liebe, W. E. Bard,

D. Levy & Bros., J. Wolf & Bros. The loss on the buildings was $10,000,

on stocks about $b3,000, and the total loss above insurance was about

$42,000. This was a calamity of sufficient magnitude to daunt any but

determined and hopeful men.

The Sedalia Savings Bank was started in February, by Mr. Mentor

Thomson, Elisha Brown, formerly of Boonville, as the principal stock-
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holders, with a paid up capital of $50,000. Adam Ittel was the teller, and

one of the early settlers of the city.

The following buildings were either started or completed this season:

Smith's Hall, those on the burnt district, two south of the present Bazoo

office, Lesher's building on East Main, and at least twelve others, ot which

record could not be found; all were two-story bricks. That year Henry
Suess sold a house and lot on the southeast corner for $8,000. This will

show the immense increase in the values of real estate since the close of

the war.

E. D. Winslow, who afterwards gained a world-wide reputation as the

most collossal and unscrupulous swindler of the decade, was at that time

a prominent business man of the city doing a large trade,
"
Wearing the

livery of Heaven to serve the devil in." "At pious feasts he knelt among
the saints, and with his wicked hands touched holy things." His fine

intelligence, business acumen and success made him popular, respected, and

gained him the confidence of a free-hearted community. His evil record

was not made until later.

On Jan. 11, 1868, the county court ordered a special election, the date of

which was finally fixed at May 12, for the purpose of submitting to a vote

of the people the question of subscribing $100,000 to the T. & N. and the

St. L. & Lex. R. R. schemes.

A Young Men's Christian Association was formed in the summer.

The I. O. G. T. took possession of a large hall on West Main street, for

their regular place of meeting.
On March 5, Gen. Bacon Montgomery announced in the Times that he

had purchased Mr. Magann's interest in that paper, and he became at once

one of the editors. A city election was approaching and there seemed to

be only one difference between the two parties, and only one plank to the

platform of either. It was the old question of Union man and Con-

federate. These matters are referred to only as a part of the true history
of the town. There was bound to be more or less intensity of feeling.

The Democratic paper talks of "
Northerners, Yankees, Satraps,

Nigger-lovers, Miscegenationists, Radical thieves, Fletcher's war dogs,"
and similar characters. The Radical paper terms its opponents,

"
Rebels,

Traitors, Southern mud-sills, Secessionists, Copperheads." At the

election in April, Gen. Mortgomery and Maj. Henry Suess, bolh of whom
were Union soldiers, were the candidates for mayor. The straight

Republicans supported Montgomery. Maj. Suess was on the "Fusion

ticket," and it was supported by Conservative-Union men and ex-soldiers

and Democrats, like Dr. Thos. J. Montgomery, ?»Iaj. h. C. Marvin, and

Dr. A. Y. Hull. x\fter a sharp contest, Montgomery was elected by a

majorit}'- of seventeen.

One of the aldermen of that year, a Mr. Jamison, emplo3^ed a very novel
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method of "
cleaning out

" one of the dens of infamy, which even then

began to infest the town. The officials of the present day may learn from

the somewhat arbitrary and yet very effectual means employed by Mr.

Jamison to "
suppress vice

" and cleanse the city of the stains of immor-

ality, just what idea the city officers had of their own powers and

authority. The people of the present day may also learn from the action

of this municipal law-maker how extremely prompt and practical the

councilmen were in those days in performing what they conceived to be

their duty to their fellow citizens. This den ot infamy was a small frame

house. The occupants and their associates had been guilty of the most

outrageous disorder.

Mr. J. came down town one evening about eleven o'clock and quietly

ordered out the splendid new $6,000 steam fire engine and the hose cart,

with a thousand feet of hose. The fire department followed their leader.

He stationed the engine near a large well, had the long line of hose run

out, and the conspirators at the nozzle approached the house in silence and

darkness. In a few moments more the sounds of revelry within were

literally drowned beneath a magnificent flood of water poured into the

house by the full force of the new engine. The house was cleaned out.

Someone who escaped, cut the new hose in two places. Mr. J. got "a

good dose of newspaper," and had to pay for the repair of the hose, and

thus it was that a great moral reformer had cold water thrown upon his

enthusiasm because he threw cold water on immorality.

On Dec. 1, 1868, a list of only the principal business houses, which were

erected that year, was prepared. It is as follows, and is the first
" build-

ing review ":

Burkhart & Son, two-story brick, cost $4,500; John F. Antes, two-

story brick, cost v$8,000; Morrison, Kimbrough & Co., one two-story

brick, $2.5,000; Lohman & Co., two two-story bricks, $30,000; Julius

Conrath, two-story brick, $15,000. All the following are two-story brick

buildings: A. W. Winzenburg, $10,000; Charles Yost, $10,000; George
Sugden, $7,000; E. Lamy, $8,000; Clifton Wood, $9,000; John J. Yeater,

$15,000; I. Nussberger & Co., $20,000; Lieb & Houx, $10,000; W. E.

Bard, $10,000; J. Wolf & Bro., $8,000; D. Levy & Bro., $8,000; George
R. Smith (Smith's Opera House), $40,000; J. Landmann, $10,000; H.

Lesher, $10,000; Randall & Ilgenfritz (Opera House), $25,000; O. A.

Crandall, $7,000; W. W. Cecil, frame, $4,500.

Total expended for brick business houses alone, $286,000.

Two hundred private dwelHngs at an average of $500 each, :^100,000.

Amount spent on the improvement of the streets, &c., $78,000.

Expended in erecting gas works, $30,000.

Grand total for 1868, $494,000.

It is fair to estimate that there were many miscellaneous improvements
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which are not mentioned, but would have been had the town been sub-

jected to a personal canvass, as it now is, each year, by the SedaKa Demo-
crat. This would brin^ the figures up to at least $500,000.
On Nov. 28, the President of the Lexington and St. Louis Railroad,

J. Lewis, met a number of the citizens of Sedalia. There were present:
A. J. Sampson, Secretary; Gen.'G. R. Smith, Col. Jaynes, C. Newkirk,
Col. J. D. Crawford, Col. Marvin, Maj. Gentry, J. M. Sneed, Capt. Wm.
Paff, D. H. Smith, Henry Suess, and a large number of other prominent
men. Col. Lewis informed the meeting that Lafayette County was ready
to issue $500,000 in bonds to aid in building the road as far as George-
town, and that Sedalia would have to build the short piece between Seda-

lia and Georgetown. A' resolution was carried declaring that Sedalia

would do this. Committees were then appointed to canvass each town-

ship, to get all the citizens together in December and perfect plans to raise

the money. At a later meeting in December it was determined to submit

to a vote of the people the three propositions that Sedalia and Pettis

County should subscribe $25,000 additional to complete the T. & N. road,

to the Henry County line, to subscribe $50,000 to build the Lexington &
St. Louis Road to Muddy Creek, and $75,000 to build the N. E.

extension of the T. &. N. to the Cooper County line.

Among minor events may be mentioned the following: Porter & Tesch

opened a planing mill, the Leroy House was opened, S. S. Homans, a

policeman, shot out the eye of a Malay, whom he was arresting, and while

the man was attempting to kill him with an ax; Robt. Blythe hanged
himself to tree near the brewery; C. F. Lohman & Co. shipped in June
and July 516,000 pounds of lead from the city; Thomas Spotswood, of

Calhoun, Mo., killed John H. Jones, of Ohio, by striking the latter in the

back of the head with a stone while he was going home at night from

a circus; John W. Patterson murdered J. G. Clark, just south of Sedalia,

with a hatchet, robbed him of $400, was arrested in SedaHa, escaped
before his trial and was not caught and hanged until 1881, at Clinton,

Mo.; Hoberecht & Bro. enlarged their mill; Gen. Grant dined at the Ives

House in July; the first great torch light procession came oft' on the nom-

ination of Burdett & Stover to Congress; the Sedalia Turner Society was

organized and an exhibition held, at which F. Kneckhous won first prize;

William Korkhammer second, John Hennings third and Frank Sampson
fourth; the third annual convention of the Pettis County Sunday Schools

was held.

During the latter part of the year there was intense excitment and

activity over the Presidential election. The papers conducted the cam-

paign with considerable personality. The Democratic Press published

many violent charges against Gen. Bacon Montgomery regarding his

stern and positive measures in suppressing lawlessness in Lafayette
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County, and the Times answered with scathing sarcasms upon the per-
sonal character, political record, and educational and literary attainments of

Dr. A. Y. Hull. The first political cartoons were published during this

campaign in the Times, and the blocks from which they were printed are

still in some one of the newspaper offices of the city. One represents

Andrew Johnson "overwhelmed by a sea of troubles;" another repre-

sents Gen. F. P. Blair as "on a bender;" a third shows Dr. A. Y. Hull

"climbing a greased pole backward which is 1805 feet high," a feat he

promised to perform if Grant was elected.

During the year there was much talk of a Ku Klux Klan in the county,
and it was claim :?d that several outrages were committed on the persons
and property of Union men b}^ the members of it. In December, Maj.
A. P. Morey, Deputy Sheriff, arrested near Longwood John H. Bridge-
ford and his brother on a charge of sending threatening letters to Union

men. One of the members of the alleged gang turned against his com-

rades and declared that some of the Klan had formed a plan to throw a

passenger train off the track west of Sedalia, and then to rob the

train.

In this year J. West Goodwin founded the daily Bazoo, and begun its

publication. On Jan. 11, 1868, Gen. Smith laid o?i the addition now
called Lincolnville or Negrotown, in the northern suburbs. It now con-

tains, probably, 300 negroes.

THE YEAR 1869.

In the year 1869 the city was well established, well knov/n throughout
the entire State, and progressing with rapidity and solidit3\

In January the postoffice was moved to the west side of Ohio street,

between Second and Third.

In this year the gas works were completed and the city lighted

by gas.

In February, the County Court orded the issue of $110,000 in county

bonds, for the aid of the St. Louis & Lexington Railroad.

The grandest event of the 3'ear was the beginning of work on the

extension of the Tebo & Neosho Railroad; later the M. K. & T. Rail-

road from Sedalia to Hannibal, or rather to Boonville, which was the

first division built. On March 10, 1869, a large force began work.

This action was authorized by the action of the County Court, which

on March 3, 1869, ordered the issue of $200,000 in county bonds to built

the line through Pettis Count}'. Work progressed on the road very

favorably during the summer. In the following October it was taken

charge of by the New York Trust and Loan Co., and the name changed
to the Missouri, Kansas & Texas Railroad. On Ma}- 11, 1869, the grand
ceremonies attending the "breaking of ground" for the St. Louis & Lex-
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ington Railroad were held. There was a crowd of notables present, a

multitude of people and immense rejoicing. The city now had two new
railroads in process of construction.

In March the St. Louis Conference of the M. E. Church was held in

the city. This was the first religious meeting of such magnitude and
character held here.

On June 3, 1369, Smith's Opera House was opened. This was the

second opera house opened in the city.

On Saturday, July 25, 1869, the work of changing the guage of the

Missouri Pacific Railroad began, and was completed in sixteen hours.

The people and the papers during the summer of 1869 began to agitate
the proposition to built a INIarket House and City Hall.

The Congregational Association of Missouri met in the city this year,
and already the city was recognized as a location so accessible and so

near the center of the State that important bodies chose it for their place
of meeting.

During the year there was a large amount of building done. A num-
ber of brick store-rooms were completed on Main street; there were a

large number of old business houses then on Main street, and Ohio street

had begun to rival it. Business houses on Ohio street were located

south of Pearl River.

The year was especially remarkable for the large amounts of real

estate which was disposed of in the city and surrounding country. Two
large monthly real estate papers were published. The Western Real

Estate Register^ b}' Jas. M. Byler and Wm. H. H. Hill, afterwards Crimi-

nal Judge. These papers were scattered throughout the length and

breadth of the land, makinfy known the chief o-reat iact that in 1870 it

would be one of the great railroad centers. In addition to the individual

real estate firms, the Missouri Land Company was chartered and organ-
ized with a capital of $100,000. Albert Parker, recently Postmaster of

this city, was General Superintendent, and vast tracts of land on the

M., K. & T. R. R. both north and south of Sedalia, were disposed of.

In the early part of March, 1869, was planted the germ from which the

beautiful portion of the city designated as East Sedalia, has grown. Rev.

E. T. Brown laid oflf his first addition to the city arid began the active

work of building it up.
A more extended notice of East Sedalia and of Lincolnville will be

found in the chapter on "Citv Government" and "Municipal Matters."

THE LAST DECADE.

The history of the city has now been traced from its foundation to the

year 1870. Many minute details have been given in regard to the events

of the first ten years, because there were not so many, and because they
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are reall}^ of the most importance and interest to those who will devote

most time in perusing this histor3^ The remaining twelve years of the

city's history must be treated in a more general manner, as it is beyond
the scope of this work to give any more than a general mention of the

leading events and the most important epochs. It would require a volume

of large size to contain even a condensed account of all the matters

which were of mterest in their day, but no longer of interest to the

reader of the present.

The various chapters in this book on business enterprises, the city gov-

ernment, the social development, public enterprises, benevolent and. mis-

cellaneous societies, the railroads, churches and schools, contain most of

the important details of the city's history for the past twelve years
—that

is from 1870 to 1882.

The histories of the Lexington & St. Louis, the Tebo & Neosho, and

M., K. & T. Railroads, their building and completion, till up the years

of 1870-1-2-3.

On March 3, 1871, the matter of building water works in the city came

up before the Library Association, which was then the substitute for a

Board of Trade. On Oct. 2,- 1871, the city ordinance was passed author-

izing the issue of $100,000 in city bonds for their construction, and on

Oct. 11, 1871, the contract for digging ditches for the mains was given to

Russell & Chaney.
The machinery was received in August, 1872, and in September, 1872,

the first test of the machinery was made. On Jan. 1, 1873, the works

were in full operation, and three miles of main pipe and five miles of street

pipe were furnishing the water supply to the city. In 1870, in the spring,

two great fires occurred, one on the east side of Ohio and the other on the

south side of Main, east of Ohio.

The first Presbyterian Church was built the same year; also the palatial

residences of Gen. Geo. R. Smith, Col. A. D. Ja3mes, Cyrus Newkirk and

Albert Parker, on Broadway. The Southern M. E. Church on Third

and Massachusetts, and fifteen brick store rooms on Main and Ohio were

erected.

The people were agitated over the question of locating the State Normal

School in the city.

July 23, 1871, the first excursion train ran to Clinton, over the M., K.

& T. Railroad.

The Fair Association purchased the ground now known as Sicher's

Park, gave a fair and distributed $7,000 in premiums.
The Missouri Pacific freight depot was moved to its present location,

and the Transfer Co. organized.

In 1871 the Daily Democrat was first issued as a daily, January 17;

19
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five buildings were consumed by fire on Main, between Osage and Ken-

tucky; the Library Association was organized, and the Franklin School

built. The Ilgen House and first M., K. & T. shops were erected.

In 1872 the erection of the Missouri Pacific Round House and shops

began, and the Lex. &. St. L. R. R. was about completed, and the Union

Depot built.

In 1873 small pox raged in the city, and there were sixty cases, but only

eight deaths; the first excursion train was run on the northeast extension

of the M., K. & T.
;
the first building association was organized, and the

city had a population of over seven thousand.

In 1874 the Court House was moved to White's Hall
;
the Farmer's

Mill was started; the city limits were extended so as to include East

Sedalia; Rev. E. T. Brown built the East Sedalia Baptist Church; the

Catholic Church was erected
;
October 23, the corner stone of the City

Hall w^as laid, and the building completed before the end of the 3'ear.

In 1874-.5 there was a large amount of building done, and in 1875 the

Street R. R. Co. was organized, but no work done.

The darkest days in the history of Sedalia were during the year 1877.

In constructing the water works and making other improvements it had

incurred a bonded indebtedness of $265,000 at ten per cent interest, making
a total annual interest of $2(3,500. To enable the city to meet this heavy
demand, property had been assessed ver}- high, and in man}- instances

more than its actual value. The charter limited the levy of taxes to $2.00
on ever}^ $100. The new State Constitution which took effect in 1875,

prohibited cities assessing property at a higher valuation than it was
assessed for State and Count}- purposes. By this provision the total

valuation of all the property in the city was reduced to a little less than

$1,400,000, on which a levy of two per cent would not, (even if all were

collected), produce more money than was neeessary to pay the interest on

this large debt, and leave nothing for ordinary expenses. Of course default

was made in the payment of interest. Dr. Clark was mayor, and Dr. T.

T. Major, chairman of the committee on ways and means, and they were

doing everything possible to protect the credit of the city. There was no

disposition to repudiate, but it was simply a matter of inability to pay, and

all leakages were stopped and expenses reduced, but to no purpose.
Interest was accumulating every day, and the bondholders becoming clam-

orous. The citizens were equally as much distressed over the condition

of the finances as the officers. Many consultations were had over it. In

this crisis Mr. O. A. Crandall came forward and volunteered his services

to go east where the principal part of the bonds were held, and meet the

creditors and make some arrangement for saving the credit of the city.

His offer was gladly accepted, and he started on his mission. He met the

creditors at Boston, explained the situation, and soon arranged with them
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to refund the whole debt for twenty years, at five per cent interest, thus

reducing the annual interest to less than $14,000. The city accepted the

compromise thus made and proceeded at once to carry it into execution,
and in less than two years all the bonds were refunded, and all the accu-

mulated interest and fioatincr debt paid, and the finances of the city placed
in good condition.

From the year 1877, to Jan. 1, 1882, the city has gone ahead so rapidly
that it would require a chapter to tell of even the most important events,
but all of them are known to the people.

In 1879 the w^ork of buildingf the Narrow Gauge R. R. to Warsaw
began; in 1880 the new water works reservoir was built and the city

spent $500,000 in general improvements; the new Superintendent's and

Dispatcher's office of the Missouri Pacific was built, and large additions

made to the shops and the number of workmen.
In 1881 the city expended $615,000 in general improvements; the new

dam and reservoir of the water works was begun; the new brick shops
of the Pacific R. R.; the general Railroad Hospital was established here;

the new Missouri Pacific yards built, and the site for the Union Depot
chosen.
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In May, 1S82, the new water works dam was completed, and the first

four months of the year i|)75,000 of new buildings erected.

CHAPTER v.—THE CITY GOVERNMENT.

The Town a Military Post and Governed by Military Law until March, 1864—Who
Drafted the City Charter—When it was Granted—The First Officers—The Full List of

Officers up to 1883—Digest of the Charter and Amendments made—Political Parties

having Control—Special and Peculiar Laws—Changes made in Offices—Terms of

Office—The Police and Fire Departments—The City Buildings, City Statistics, &c.

The only legal existence that Sedalia had in 1860 consisted in the fact

that a plat of the town had been filed with the County Recorder. So far

as any civil government was concerned it was still only a part of Mount

Sterling township.
In 1861, when the war broke out, Missouri came under martial law;

Sedalia was a part of a military district; became duly a military post and

was governed by military power and law. It had no civil gov^ernment
and was not an incorporated town.

During the winter of 1863, when the town contained about 800 inhabi-

tants, including refugees, Gen. George R. Smith, Maj. Wm. Beck, F. L.

Parker, Ira C. Pierce, R. Waltenspeil, Richard HuUand, Elias Laup-
heimer, Frank McCabe, and James G. Tesch formed themselves into a

citizens committee. They assembled in the parlor of the old Sedalia

House, with T. W. Moses as their secretary, and drew up the outlines of

a cHarter. When completed it was sent to the Legislature with a petition

to grant Sedalia a city charter, containing the substance of the draught
sent with the petition. Very few changes were made in the original copy,
and on Feb. 15, 186i, the Legislature passed a bill granting Sedalia a city

charter.
,

By this charter the first city officers were appointed, Geo. R. Smith,

Mayor, and seven of the above named parties Aldermen. Jas. G. Tesch

was appointed Marshal by the Mayor. This was the first civil govern-

ment, and it was still tacitly aided by the military power. The above

officers continued in power until the first election under the charter. This

came ofT in April, 1864. James G. Tesch was elected Mayor, and the

seven aldermen above mentioned as appointed such by the charter, were

elected by the people to fill the offices for the first term. T. W. Moses

was appointed Register, and Chan. P. Townsley Assessor.

For the nature of the charter granted the city, its provisions and powers,
and the various changes that have been made in it since it was first

granted, the reader is referred to the opening chapter on city history,

where the subject is fully treated. Under the original charter the Register,
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Assessor and Marshal were appointed by the Mayor. These and all

other city officers are now elected b}^ the people.
The following is a full list of the city officers who have served from those

first appointed by the charter, up to July 1, 18S2:

ISGi.—Mayors, George R. Smith, Jas. G. Tesch; Aldermen, F. L.

Parker, Wm. Beck, Ira C. Pierce, R. Waltenspeii, Richard HuUand,
Elias Laupheimer, Frank McCabe; Marshal, Jas. G. Tesch; Assessor

Chan. P. Townsley.
1865.—Mayor, E. W. Washburn, (resigned). F. L. Parker, elected to

fill vacancy; Aldermen, J. L. Vickars.Jno. Harding, Louis Kumm, John
Houx, B, H. Ingram, Abram Meyer, James G. Tesch; Marshal and

Collector, William P. Jackson, (resigned), James M. Mills, elected to fill

vacancy.
1866.—Mayor, John F. Philips; Aldermen, Henry Suess, Wm. Beck,

T. W. Moses, Rod Gallic, John L. Hall, P. G. Stafford, Thos. J. Mont-

gomery; Marshal and Collector, John B. Gallic; Attorney, Lucius L.

Bridges: Register, Wm. Wallace, (resigned), A. J. Sampson, elected to

fill vacancy.
1867.—Mayor, Henry Suess; Aldermen, J. J. Weiler, (resigned), Jas.

G. Tesch, Jas. Jamison, Richard Hulland, W. F. Boyer, Sam S. Vinton,
Roderick Gallic, Asa C. Marvin, elected to fill vacancy, E. R. Stevens,

elected to fill vacancy; Marshal and Collector, John B. Gallic; A. J.

Sampson, removed; Register, A. H. Thompson; Assessor, John Walde;
Treasurer, William E. Bard.

1868.—Mayor, Gen. Bacon Montgomery; Aldermen, W. C. Weiler,
F. Krieckhaus, C. C. Godman, F. Crandall, (resigned), Wm. Bloess, R.
H. Moses, J. D. McGrath, (died), W. F. Boyer, elected to fill vacancy, G.

A. Sturges; Marshal and Collector, Wm. P. Jackson; Attorney, W. W.
S. Snoddy; Register, A. H. Thompson; Assessor, Ira C. Pierce; Treas-

urer, Chan. P. Townsley.
1869.—Mayor, Albert Parker; Aldermen, Thos. J. Montgomery, Henry

Armbrecht, Peter Latsch, G. A. Sturges, Abram Meyer, R. H. Moses,
Wm. Beck; Marshal, Wm. P.Jackson, (resigned), P. S. Zcllhart, elected

to fill vacancy; Attorney, B. G. Wilkerson; Register, Geo. W. Cum-

mings; Assessor, H. N. Knapp; Collector, E. P. Kent; Treasurer, Jno.
W. Siebe.

1870.—Mayor, Wm. P.Jackson; Aldermen, C. C. Godman, (resigned),

F. Krieckhaus, Theodore Hoberecht, B. F. Dean, Val. Humburg, Jno.

Beckley, Henry Boyer, John D. Brown, elected to fill vacancy; Marshal,
W. C. Weiler; Attorney, Jas. S. Botsford; Register, J. F.Tobias; Asses-

sor, H. N. Knapp; Collector, E. P. Kent; Treasurer, Jno. W. Siebe.

1871.—Mayor, Thos. J. Montgomery; Aldermen, B. H. Ingram, Jno.

L. Hall, Elias Bixby, Chas. G. Taylor, H. Boyer, Wesley Kipp, F.
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Krieckhaus, Theodore Hoberecht; Attorney, Wm. H. H. Hill; Marshal,

J. H. Gest; Register, A. H. Thompson; Treasurer, E. Lamy; Collector,

I. D. Goodson; Assessor, M. M. Lampton.
1872.—Mayor, Geo. W. Cummings; Aldermen, Henry Vitt, Joseph

Tice, Jno. W. Siebe, Wesley Kipp, B. H. Ingram, Jno. L. Hall, Elias

Bixby, Chas. G. Taylor; Attorney, Wm. H. H. Hill; Marshal, Wm. Inch;

Register, Thomas Monroe; Treasurer, M. Henoch; Collector, I. D. Good-

son; Assessor, Thos. N. Rogers.
1873.—Mayor, Dr. R. T. Miller; Aldermen, Jno. F. Antes, M. M.

Pritchard,J. W. Mills, E. W. Bixby, Henry Vitt, Joseph Tice, John. W.
Siebe, Wesley Kipp; Attorney, W. L. Felix; Marshal, Jno. B. Gallie;

Register, J. H. Gest; Treasurer, M. Henoch; Collector, John S. Eingle;

Assessor, Jno. B. Gallie.

1874.—Mayor, Wm. H. H. Hill; Aldermen, Geo. R. Smith, Theodore

Hoberecht, Peter Latsch, A. P. Morey, Jno. F. Antes, M. M. Pritchard,

J. W. Mills, E. W. Bixby; Attorney, Wm. L. Felix (removed); B. G.

Wilkerson, elected to fill vacancy; Marshal, Jno. B. Gallie; Register, J.

H. Gest; Collector, W.J. Manker; Treasurer, Gabriel Vogler; Assessor,

Jno. B. Gallie.

1875.—Mayor, Norman Maltby; x\ldermen, Geo.R. Smith, Theo. Hober-

echt, Peter Latsch, A. P. Morey, G. B. Simonds, Henr}- Suess, Patrick

McEnroe, John Newton; Attorney, P. H. Sangree; Marshal, David T.

Hartshorn; Register, Geo. W. Cummings; Treasurer, Gabriel Vogler;

Collector, W.J. Manker; Assessor, H. N. Knapp.
1876.—Mayor, David Blocher; Aldermen, G. B. Simonds, Henry

Suess, Patrick McEnroe, John Newton, W. F. Ilgenfritz, E. T. Brown, T.

T. Major, Wm. Hill; Attorney, P. H. Sangree; Marshal, John Shanafelt;

Register, Geo. W. Cummings; Treasurer, Gabriel Volger; Collector, W.

J. Manker; Assessor, H. N. Knapp.
1877.^—Mayor, Logan Clark; Aldermen, W.F. Ilgenfritz, E. T.Brown,

T. T. Major, Wm. Hill, P. McEnroe, W. R. Thomas, L. B. Rhodes, E.

Lamy, M. O'Reilly, J. F. Antes, M. C. White ;last three elected to fill vacan-

cies; Attorney, Geo. C. Heard; Marshal, Philip Kelly; Register, Geo. W.
Cummings; Treasurer, Jno. W. Burress; Collector, W. J. Manker;

Assessor, E. H. James.
1878.—Mayor, George L.. Faulhaber; Aldermen

j
E. Lamy, M.

O'Reilly, Jno. F. Antes, E. T. Brown, M. C. White, A. H. Holland, Julius

Kolbohn, WilHam Latour, Morris Harter; Attorne}^ P. H. Sangree;

Marshal, Alfred Smith
; Register, JuHus Courath

; Treasurer, Jno. W.
Burress; Collector, W.J. Manker (removed); J. H. Looney (appointed);

Assessor, Wm. Weiler (resigned); E. H.James (appointed).

1879.—Mayor, Geo. L. Faulhaber; Aldermen, A. H. Holland, Julius

Kolbohn, Morris Harter, Jno, F. Antes, E. T. Brown, Wm. Hill, J. B.
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Rickman, elected to fill vacancy; Frank Newton (same), Louis Kumm
(same), B. D. Dean, Rod. Gallic; Attorney, Wm. L. Felix; Marshal,
Alfred Smith; Register, Julius Conrath; Treasurer, Jno. W. Burress;

Collector, Edward Hurley: Assessor, E. H.James.
1880.- Mayor, E. C. Evans; Aldermen, Wm. Hill, B. D. Dean, Rod

Gallic, J. B. Rickman, Louis Kumm, Frank Newton, P. H. Mead, A. S.

Fernald; Attorney, Wm. L. Felix; Marshal, Alfred Smith; Register, R.
M. Fraker; Treasurer, Jno. W. Burress; Collector, Frank Landmann;
x^ssessor, E. H. James.

1881.—Mayor, Frank Craycroft; Aldermen, J. B. Rickman, Louis

Kumm, Frank Newton, P. H. Mead, A. S. Fernald (resigned), Dennis

Golden (elected to fill vacancy), Owen Harrison, D. I. Holcomb, E. W.
Sinclair; Attorney, Lucius L. Bridges (resigned); Geo. F. Logan (elected

to fill vacancy); Marshal, Robert J. Shy; Register, R. M. Fraker; Treas-

urer, W. W. Herold; Collector, Frank Landmann; Assessor, S. W.
Maddox.

1882.—Mayor, Charles E. Messerly; Aldermen, J. B. Rickman, D. I.

Holcomb, E. W. Sinclair, Jno. S. Landes, Will D. Ilgenfritz, J. S. Bosser-

man, W. R. Thomas, Owen Harrison; Attorney, P. H.Sangree; Marshal,
Robt. J. Shy; Register, R. M. Fraker; Treasurer, C. W. Brown; Col-

lector, F. Landmann.

For the first three years of her municipal existence there were onl}^ two

political parties, the "
straight-out

" Radical and Democratic.

By the provisions of the Drake State Constitution, all men who had

been actively engaged in the. rebellion, or such as could not take what was

commonly called " the iron-clad oath of loyalty," were disfranchised.

This placed the city government for the first six years in the hands of

Radicals.

In 1868, when Bacon Montgomery ran for Mayor, with Henry Suess

for his opponent, there was a little change.

]\lany Union men and Union soldiers, who were originally Democrats,
whose bitter war feelings had died down, united with the ultra Demo-

crats, were opposed to the complete and continued disfranchisement ot

those who had been engaged in the rebellion, and formed a "Fusion"

party.

The strict Radicals continued to hold the power until 1871-2, when the

fight began over the repeal of the " Disfranchisement Clause." During
these years there was some "

fusion," but the only real division between

the two parties was the Drake Constitution. Washburn, Parker, Philips,

Suess and Montgomery were all Union soldiers, and the first four mayors
after Gen. Smith. Jackson and A. Parker, the next two mayors, were

Union men and ex-soldiers. T. J. Montgomery, the mayor in 1871, was a

Union man and soldier, but an original Democrat. The subordinate
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offices were pretty evenly divided between Union-Democrats and Repub-
licans up to 1872.

For the tirst four years the register was simply the clerk of the council

and up to about 1872 the ma3'or was also the police magistrate.

In 1865 the office of marshal and collector was one office, and the

holder of it was appointed by the mayor with the concurrence of the

council.

In 1867 the office of city treasurer was created.

In 1870 the office of city collector became separate from that of mar-

shal.

In 1873 all the city offices became elective and the register became the

police magistrate as well as the clerk of the council.

From the year 1872 up to the present time the cit}^ has been pretty

evenly divided between Democrats and Republicans, both in the city

council and in the other city offices. During the past four or five years,

or since the origin of the Greenback-Labor party, an occasional alder-

man has been elected on that ticket. Once in a while there has been a

short-lived "Liberal" or "
Independent" movement; and on one or two

occasions the Prohibitionists, without ever nominating a ticket, have made
convulsive efforts to elect some special candidate.

Every year the parties are becoming more evenly divided, and at the

present time the voters are chiefly Republicans and Democrats.

One of the best means of understanding the general nature of a city

government outside of the bod\- of laws themselves, is the character of

some of the special laws on specific subiects.

An ordinance on the books of the city forbids the opening of saloons

on Sunday. When a man desires to get a license to run a saloon, among
other things which he has to do is to have his petition to the county court

signed by a majority of all the property holders, residents and those doing
business in the said block.

Another important point regarding the nature of a city government,
and one that shows at once the character of a town, the extent of its

business, the means by which it raises its revenues, and the portion of

revenue paid by certain classes, outside of the regular personal and real

estate tax, are the laws concerning special licenses.

There can be no better means of giving the reader a clear idea of the

whole subject of special license provisions than by the following digest

of facts and figures. The statement below is from the city books and

has been prepared with much care. It shows what branches of business

pay a special license, how many there are of each, how much each pa}^,

and the sum total:
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MUNICIPAL STATISTICS—1881.

Total number of merchant's licenses issued 168

Revenue from same per annum $ 1,814.20

Revenue per annum from merchant's advalorem tax $ 3,987.06

Number of hotels 8

Amount of licenses $ 369.00

Number of livery stables 7

Amount of license $ 1 20.00

Number licensed wagons, drays and carriages 43

Yearly revenue from same $ 258.00

Number licensed boarding houses 24

Annual revenue from same
if»

240.00

Number of dram shops with city license 32

Annual revenue from same $ 3,840.00

Licensed billiard tables 25

Revenue from same $ 250.00

Number of wood and coal vards 6

Amount of revenue from same $ 120.00

Number of butchers 10

Revenue from same , $ 200.00

Number of licensed boot-blacks 13

Revenue from same $ 73.00

Revenue from shows and peddlers in 1881 Jp 431.50

Total city revenue from merchants and special licenses

in 1881 $11,732.76

ITEMIZED STATEMENT OF SAME FOR 1880.

Dramshops $ 3,383.35

Wagons and dra3'S 252.00

Livery and feed stables 100.00

Hotels and runners 327.30

Boarding houses 200.00

Butcher shops 120.00

Wood and coal yards 120.00

Pawnbrokers 50.00

Shows and exhibitions 367.00

Peddlers and hawkers 117.90

Billiard and pool tables 150.00

Merchant's special license 1,854.80

Merchant's advalorem license 3,451.84

Total $10,304.39
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All the officers of the city are elected to hold office for one year. The
Mayor nominates the candidates for the position of Water Commissioner,

City Fire Engineer, City Weigher, members of the Board of Health, and
members of the police force. These nominees must be confirmed by a

majority of the votes of the board of aldermen.

The police force at present, consists of one detective, seven white

officers and one colored officer, and they are under the command of the

city marshal. The force for 1882 is as follows: Robt. J. Shy, Marshal;
Alfred Smith, Special Officer and Detective; Philip Kelly, Joel A. Gossage
Chas. Wentzelman, Matthew Meyers, Chas. Barnett, Jas. Gossage
George Pfeif^er, and G. W. Hogan, colored.

The salaries of those who serve the city are as follows: Mayor, $500

per annum; Collector, $900; Recorder, $1,200; Marshal, $800; Water

Commissioner, i|J300: Assessor, $300; Attorney, $600; Treasurer, $300;
Alderman, $200; Policeman, $55 per month; City Engineer, $25.
The City Hall is a spacious building situated on the City Square, on the

southwest corner of Second and Osage. The main building is of brick,

two stories high, sixty-eight feet long, tl>irty-five feet wide; has lofty

ceilings and large windows. It was erected in the year 1877, and cost

about $15,000. This building contains the council rooms, the offices of

city officers, the caliboose, the police headquarters, the steam fire engine
room. In the rear of the main building is the market house. It is seventy-
five feet long, thirty-five feet wide, and contains room for ten butcher's

stalls.

THE FIRE DEPARTMENT.

The fire company contains ten men who are paid $150 per annum.
The chief, $200. It is under command of chief, who has full control*

The department has a tine steam tire engine, which cost about $7,000; a

set of patent extension ladders which can be made to reach to the top of

the highest house in the city, and a fine two-horse hose wagon and one
thousand and five hundred feet of the best hose. The department has

four horses, which cost $200 each. A driver is employed to care for the

horses, and the engine is in charge of a competent engineer.
The Water Commissioner is appointed by the Mayor, with the con-

currence of the city council. He collects the water rates and has a general

supervision of the works under the direction of the committee on water

works.

The Water Works Engineer is also nominated by the Ma3^or, and

must be confirmed by the council. He has full charge of the machinery
at the water works, and is under the supervision of the water works com-
mittee.
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EAST SEDALIA.

Perhaps there is no part of the city more deserving of special mention

than East Sedalia. In it are situated the Missouri Pacific and K. & T.

Raih-oad shops and car factories, the railroad hospital and freight depots,
Brunkhorst's large saw mill and hard wood lumber yard, D. C. Paullin's

lumber yard, and a number of stores and meat markets. It has two

churches and two public schools, and about 3,000 inhabitants, mostly rail-

road men. It is situated on high and beautiful prairie land, and is one of

the healthiest and most pleasant parts of the city.

Its growth first began in 1866, on the property of Parson E. T. Brown,
of imperishable memory. Mr. Brown was assigned to Missouri by the

association, and came to Sedalia in 1865, soon after the close of the war,
for the purpose of building up and establishing the interests of the Baptist
Church. Being a man of means, he purchased the forty acres upon
which the main portion of East Sedalia now stands, making of it a farm.

An earnest and philanthropic man by nature, and an active minister of

twenty-five years' experience, he was not long in discovering that a most

promising and much-neglected field for successful labor was to be found

among the brave and hardy western railroad men, if some means could

be found by which to collect and centralize them in some permanent loca-

tion, and that Sedalia was a town likely to offer the most favorable point,

for such a purpose, in the State. The idea, once conceived, with him

became an immediate and pressing duty, and with all the earnest and

unostentatious zeal which was the most striking characteristic of his

nature, he entered upon its fulfillment. For this purpose he subdivided

his property into lots, and induced railroad men to purchase by selling

upon the most favorable terms, and advancing money in many instances

to build them residences.

In this manner he consumed all his available means, over $15,000,

before realizing one dollar, and found himself reduced to the same straits

as the humblest of his patrons. However, the object had been attained,

the location was established, and nothing remained to be done but the

building of a church. But whence were the means to be obtained? For-

tunately for Mr. Brown, he was possessed of a wife as noble, as generous,
and as self-sacrificing as himself, who had effectively seconded his efforts

thus far, and who now displayed that superior tact in an emergency so

peculiar to her sex. Though raised in ease and affluence, labor bore for

her no horrors, and with womanly devotion she called to her aid its magic

power. Opening her fine residence as a boarding house, she soon aided

her husband in obtaining sufficient means to erect the Baptist Church, at

a cost of about $3,000, and Mr. Brown assumed its pastorate in 1875,

which he continued with wonderful success for three years, without any
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compensation whatever. His sudden death is a matter of too recent date

not to be familiar to all. Stricken down in the midst of his usefulness,

but not until his dream had become an accomplished fact, he left to his

wife and son Bryson, the little that remained to be done, the settlement of

his estate and sales of the remaining propert}', which at present consists

of some forty lots, in various parts of the corporation, which their circum-

stances make them willing and anxious to dispose of.

During the present year the Union Depot of the various lines centering,
and likely to center, in Sedalia will be built in East Sedalia. Also the

large new machine and car shops of the Pacific combination.

CHAPTER VI.—PUBLIC ENTERPRISES.

The Gas Works—Water Works—Street Railway—Telephone Exchange—Sicher's Park—
Opera House—City Cemetery—R. R. General Hospital—Library Association and
Free Reading Room—Working Woman's Home—Wool Grower's Association.

THE GAS WORKS.

The Sedalia Gas Works is the most important enterprise in the city

after the machine shops and the water works. In 1867 the people began
to talk of the need of gas in Sedalia. After the usual amount of prelim-

inary agitation, in the summer of 186S the Missouri Gas Works Building

Co., of St. Louis, was granted the ris'ht to construct and operate gas
works in Sedalia for the period of thirty years.

The first works were erected on their present site, and were completed
so that the city was first lighted by gas Jan. 23, 186S. The gas was made

chiefly of kerosene for the first three years and a half.

In 1872 there was a general reorganization and a new board of

directors chosen by the stockholders. By this time a large amount of the

stock was controlled by Sedalia parties. John F. Antes was chosen Pres-

ident of the new board, and James C. Thompson, Secretary. It was deter-

mined to make gas out of coal. The necessary changes were made in the

machinery and new stock issued to the amount of $28,000.

The works continued under the second management until about 1879.

By this time the town had increased beyond their capacity.
In 1879 the works were sold to Louis C. Nelson, of St. Louis, and

associates in Sedalia, who afterwards bought it. The Sedalia owners

were J. C. Thompson and John Montgomery, Jr. The new management
began an almost complete rebuilding of the works piece by piece. In

1880-81, a complete new set of retorts and a handsome fire proof building
was erected, a new brick coal house, a new reservoir, a brick office, the

3'ard was graded and a new brick and stone wall put around it. e

works are now an ornament to the city and fully up to all demands. In

1881-82 the new gasometer was completed.
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To show the increase and the amount of business, the following state-

ment in figures is given:

GAS company's statement.

Total cubic feet of gas made and consumed in 18S0 3,900,000.

Total cubic feet made and consumed in 1881 5,700,000.

Value of gas consumed in 1880 $ 1.3,000.

Same in 1881 , :p 19,000.

Length of mains laid in 1880, about 4 miles.

The same in 1881 6^
"

Amount of new mains laid in 1881 2f
"

Capacity of old gasometer in cubic feet in 1880 8,000,

The new gasometer in 1881 35,000.

Original value of works $ 27,000.

Present value $ 75,000.

Amount expended in 1880-81 on new buildings, furnaces,

mains, etc $ 48,500.

These works are as well equipped and managed as any in the United

States.

The officers: John Montgomery, Jr., Pres.; James C. Thompson, Sec.

and Treas,; James Montgomery, Supt,

THE WATER WORKS,

On March 3, 1871, the following resolution was brought up before the

Library Association:

Resolved^ That a committee of five, of which the President of the

Board shall be Chairman, be appointed to confer with the City Council
in regard to the most feasible plan of supplying the City of Sedalia

with water.

The following gentlemen were appointed on the committee: Geo, G.

Vest, Col. R. S. Stevens, Abram Meyer and James O, Ives. These gen-
tlemen presented the matter to the City Council in such a favorable light

that the plan at once secured the approval of the Council. Mayor Thos.

J. Montgomery, B. H. Ingram, C, G. Taylor and Wesley Kipp were

appointed a committee to confer with the Library Committee.

The result of these conferences was that on May 12, 1871, a delega-
tion of the most prominent citizens, accompanied by Mr. Keep, the Chief

Engineer of the Holly Water Works Co., of Lockport, N. Y., visited

Flat Creek, three miles south of town to examine its facihties for furnish-

ing water.

The examination was so satisfactory that a special committee consisting

of Col. Stevens, J, O. Ives, C, M, Walker, A, Y, Hull and D. H, Smith

were appointed to submit a report to the Council and Library Associa-

tion.
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The report was made and was eminently satisfactory.

Col. A. D. Jaynes was then appointed to visit the principal cities which
had the Holly Water Works system, and to report on its practical work-

ings. During the smnmer Col. Jaynes performed this duty with rare

judgment and promptness. His report was so favorable that the City
Council at once expressed a desire to confer with the heads of the

company.
On Sept. 15, 1871, Holly and Keef, representing the Holly System,

appeared before the City Council and explained their whole S3^stem and

the probable cost of erecting suitable works for Sedalia.

A proposition to subscribe $100,000 to build the works was submitted

to a vote of the people. It was carried, and on Oct. 2, 1871, an ordinance

authorizing the issue of $100,000 in city bonds was passed. Oct. 11,

1871, the contract for digging trenches for the mains was let to Wm.
Russell and C. M. A. Chaney. Twenty acres of land on Flat Creek was

purchased by the city for the site of the works. All necessary contracts

were made and the work pushed with rapidit}'. In August, 1872,

the water works machinery was received. In September, 1872, they
were up and ready to be tested. The works were put to a very severe

trial. About the middle of September there was a grand demonstration

in honor of the completion of the works. By Jan. 1, 1873, there were

thi^ee miles of main pipe and five miles of street pipe furnishing water to

the city. From that time on, foot after foot has been laid, month by month,
and year after year, until now the water mains extend from Sicher's Park
on the west to the Missouri Pacific Round-house on the east, a distance

of nearly two miles, and for a mile through the city from north to south.

In 1880 a reserv^e reservoir was erected at the foot of Ohio street near

Seventeenth, with a capacity of 200,000 gallons. It cost $5,000.
In the fall of 1881 the work of constructing a dam of solid masonry

across Flat Creek to make a larger reservoir of water was begun. The
dam was completed and tested on May 27, 1882. The closing of the

sluice gates of the dam caused the bed of the stream to fill with water of

an average depth of six feet to a point nearly two miles above the dam.
The dam will cost when fully completed about $10,000. The city now has

a. certain supply of water large enough for a place of 50,000 inhabitants.

THE STREET RAILWAY.

In 1876 a charter was granted to the Street Railvva\' Company. This

charter, owing to the inactivity of those to whom it was granted, expired
in 1881.

In 1881 the right of wa}- over all the streets and a new charter was

granted to a new company. It now consisted of Joseph D. Sicher, Frank
E. Sicher, A. D. Jaynes and R. T. Gentry. This company showed by
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their actions that they meant to build a road. In the fall of 1881 the first

section of the road was completed, being built on Third street westward

to Sicher's Park, a distance of three-quarters of a mile. The first regular

passenger traffic was done over it during fair week in the early part of

September, 1881. By the 1st day of March, 1882, the other section of

the road from Ohio street eastward to Engineer street was completed
and cars running. The whole length of the road on Third street is about

two miles. The road is equipped with cars of the very best make and

the latest and most approved construction. Two fine additions to the

city, on the east and the west ends, are now growing up because of its

construction and completion. Thus far the company have already

expended about $20,000 upon the construction and equipment of the road.

The officers of the road under whose administration it v/as built were:

J. D. Sicher, President; F. E. Sicher, Secretary; C. W. Brown, Treas-

urer; C. Newkirk, C. H. Gauss and A. D.Jaynes, Directors. The road is

now in constant operation and it is only a matter of time as to its exten-

sion in other directions.

THE TELEPHONE COMPANY.

In the summer of 1880, T. B. Anderson secured the right to establish

a telephone exchange in Sedalia. In August, 1880, the first telephone
was put into operation. In an incredibly short time a sufficient number of

persons agreed to take instruments to warrant the proprietor and man-

ager in erecting wires and poles throughout the city. A very few words

will tell how popular and useful the telephone became in less than eighteen
months time. In the 3-ear 1881 the Sedalia Telephone Company put up
wires throughout the entire city, some of them extending into the extreme

suburbs. They have 225 instruments, which belong to the general com-

pany. Outside of these, they have expended in the city $6,000.

A telephone wire runs to the water works, another runs to the farm of

R. W. Gentry, both places* three miles from the city; all the railroad

offices and shops, banks, hotels, etc., have their telephones. The terrible sleet

storm of 1882 destroyed or injured almost every wire in the city. When
the work of repairing them was completed, at a great expense, about

$2,000, Mr. Anderson, the manager, received an offer trom the Missouri

Telephone Company. On the 15th day of May, 1882, he sold his fran-

chise to the above company, and the Telephone Exchange, of Sedalia,

is now run by the above company.

sicher's park.

This is one of the finest public or private enterprises in the city. It

contains fift\' acres of beautiful prairie land, a half mile west of Ohio

street, and is reached by the street railway. The grounds belonged to
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the Fair Association until 1880, when they were purchased by Messrs

Joseph D. and Frank E. Sicher, for the sum of $10,000. When the

ground was purchased, the improvements on it consisted of a board fence

around the outside, a mile track around the amphitheatre, and one or two

rough board buildings. In the past two years $30,000 has been expended
in improving and beautifying it, and it has been transformed. First a

splendid hotel has been erected in the center of the park. It contains

the most spacious hall in all Central Missouri, and this is used for a din-

ing room and an amusement hall. The Sedalia fair is also held on these

grounds. Therefore all buildings necessary for such purposes have been

constructed. There is a splendid mile track and a half mile track. The

grand stand will seat 5,000 people. Five hundred people can be seated

at dinner, at one time, in the dining room of the hotel. The floral hall,

the agricultural implement and machinery pavilion, the farm products
hall are all spacious and handsome buildings, erected for the express pur-

pose of public exhibitions. There are numerous refreshment stands,

band pagoda, directors' and secretar^-'s buildings; in short, all the conven-

iences to be expected in a first class park or fair grounds. The grounds
contain also a beautiful lake of five acres, with an island containing one

acre; several wind mills pump water from deep bored wells. There are

two enormous ice houses on the banks of the lake. Besides the wells

and wind mills, the grounds have a main pipe leading from the city

through which an additional supply of water is received from the city

water works. The grounds have been filled with shade trees, and around

the hotel laid off" in flowerbeds and covered with arbors and ornamental

shrubbery. There are 250 sheep pens, 150 covered stalls, and 120 open
stalls for cattle. The park hotel is lighted by gas; has hot and cold water,

and all other modern improvements; a fine restaurant, and is now the

popular resort. During all seasons of the year, there are public and pri-

vate parties there; balls, school exhibitions, concerts, roller skating, base

ball games, races, military parades, and similar amusements. This is the

only institution of the kind in Central Missouri, and it is becoming more
beautiful and more popular every day. It shows at once the metropolitan
character which the city has begun to assume.

In 1881, Cricket Still, of Kansas, and Nellie Archer, of Greenridge,
Pettis County, Mo., rode three twenty mile races at the park. These

were the most remarkable contests ever witnessed in the city. All three

were won by Miss Archer. Ten thousand people witnessed the first

race.

smith's opera house.

Was built in 1867-8, by Gen. George R. Smith. It is 141 feet long,

sixty feet wide, and has a seating capacity of 400 on the main floor, and

20
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a gallery runnincr around the entire auditoriu, which will accommodate 400

more. The stage is twenty-five feet deep, and thirty-five feet wide. There
are four private boxes which will each accommodate six persons. Beneath

the stage are large dressing rooms for ladies and gentlemen. The hall

has a front and a back entrance, and is on the second floor of the buildincr.

On the second floor, in front of each side of the entrance stairway is a

spacious office. On the ground floor are two store rooms, each thirty-five

foot front, and 141 feet deep. The entire building is lighted by gas, aud

has windows in the rear and on both sides of the building. The ceilings

are beutifuUy frescoed and the drop curtain is one of the finest pieces of

painting in Central Missouri. The building cost originally $25,000, and

in 1881, improvements and changes were made upon it, which cost

it)2,500. The Opera House is the property of Mrs. Cotton and Mrs.

Smith, daughters, of Gen. Smith.

THE FREE READING ROOM.

This institution is now located in White's building, on Ohio street. It

is the out-growth of the old hbrary association, which was organized in

the middle of March, 1871, by Dr. Shattuck, Col. Jaynes, S. L. Highley-
man. Chas. G. Taylor, Jno. Montgomery, Jr., Prof. G. W. Ready, Judge

Jno. S. Cochrane, and other. This old association languished in a short

time, after having done an immense amount of good, and started the most

important of all city projects, the building of the water works. After

lying inactive for about five years the association was re-organized in 1679

by twenty-five ladies, and continued by them until 1880. In 1880 thirty-

eight prominent citizens of the city made a written agreement to give a

certain fixed annual subscription. This made it solid.

In 1880 there were three hundred volumes in the library, besides many
periodicals and newspapers.

In 1881 there were six hundred volumes, an increase of three hundred,

and a large addition likewise to periodicals and newspapers.

Expenses in 1880 $ 305

in 1881 $ 300

Visitors and readers in 1 880 350

Visitors and readers in 1881 470

Decrease in expense $ 5

Increase of readers and visitors 190

The readers are increasing as the value and size of the library augments
This will grow to something larger. Thanks to the liberality of a few

public spirited citizens who are intelligent enough to know what a power-
ful means for good such an institution is, and to the untiring, unselfish, and

unflagging labor of a few earnest and influential women, it is a fixed fact,

prosperous and growing.
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The ladies who have taken the most active part in the support and man-

agement of the institution are Mrs. John G. Allen, Mrs. J. H. Mertz, Mrs.

F. A. Sampson, Mrs. L. A. Ross, Mrs. C. Demuth, Mrs. M. E. Smith,

and Mrs. Joseph G. W.hite.

CHAPTER VII.—COMMERCIAL AND BUSINESS ENTER-
PRISES.

History of the Railroads and the Machine Shops—Statistical Facts as to Number of

Employes and Amount of Money Expended—The Postoffice-History and Business—
Banks—Hotels—County Buildings— Flourin,^ and Other Mills—Elevators—Manu-

factories—Telegraph OfBce—Brewery—Building Associations—Insurance Offices-

Lumber and Coal Yards—Histories of all Above Institutions, together with Valuable

Figures Concerning the Value of Buildings and the Amount of Business Done,

and Reliable Digest of Figures Concerning Specific Lines of Business.

From the time that Sedalia was founded nature and circumstances seem

to have united to confer favors upon her. In the first place the founder of

the city was a wise, hard-headed, far-seeing man. He chose -a garden

spot in almost the centre of a great continent as the site of his town; then

the war came on, and hundreds of men from north and south, east and west,

saw the spot and learned that it would be a good place "to cast in their

lot;" then, when the war was over, the new people of energy and intelli-

gence flocked in to help those who were already here
;
then the people

built railroads, and all these advantages combined have made SedaHa a

great business center within fifteen j-ears.

The city had four hundred inhabitants and twenty business houses six

months after the arrival of the railroad.

As early as 1863 tlie wholesale trade of the few houses furnished sup-

plies to the south and southwest, amounting to half a million dollars.

In 1865 the population of the town had increased to one thousand, and

the business of the town had increased four fold; the town contained two

newspapers, one hotel, that alone did a business of nearl}^ $-18,000 per

annum, and at least four times as many business houses as in 1S61.

In 1866 there was at least $250,000 expended on new buildings; there

was an increase of five hundred in population. Our first National Bank

with a capital of $100,000 was estabHshed; churches were built; additions

were made to the city, and the town was recognized as the business center

of Central Missouri.

From the close of the war until the present time, the town has rapidly

advanced in all respects. To-day the city has a population of fifteen

thousand, personal and real property assessed at $2,681,310, but in reality

worth at commercial estimates six or seven million dollars; eighteen

Church buildings, and nineteen congregations; school property, public and
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private, worth $100,000; three thousand and six hundred and sixty-seven
school children. Now, in the year 1882, the city is growing with as great

rapidity and with as much solidity as it ever has since its founding.

Nothing is more convincing to the practical people of the present day
then facts and figures. A digest of facts and figures will be given before

entering upon a detailed account of the business institutions.

The following table of figures was prepared by the writer of this history
under the direction of the "citizens committee,"—Col. A. D. Jaynes, J.

R. Barrett and O. A. Crandall—which was chosen to visit Washinsfton
and lay before a committee of Congress Sedalia's claims for an appro-

priation to build a postoffice edifice.

STATISTICS OF THE CITY OF SEDALIA, MO.

Prepared in May, 1882, by the proper authorities, and showing the

extent of her various business interests, population, value of assessable

property, etc.

SEDALIA POST OFFICE.

{Co7npUedfrom Official Statements.)

Gross receipts of office from the sale of stamps, postal cards, wraps,
etc., and from money orders issued: 1878, $80,628; 1879, $95,628; $1880:

$108,805.

Increase in above items of gross receipts from Jan. 1, 1878, to Jan. 1,

1881, $22,786.

Total amounts of money handled in office, by sale of stamps, postal

cards, envelopes, wraps, foreign and domestic money orders, etc., etc.,

1878, $152,862; 1879, $175,825; 1880, 196,377; 1881, $192,904.74.

Increase in amounts handled from Jan. 1, 1878, to Jan. 1, 1881, $44,515.

Increase from Jan. 1, 1878, to Jan. 1, 1882, $40,042.74.

Total number of pieces of mail originating in the Sedalia office based

on the official count made—seven days in Dec, 1880, $1,329,000.

Excess over 1880, very large.

Total number of registered letters handled: 1878, 11,281; 1879, 13,752;

1880, 17,030.

Increase in number from Jan. 1, 1878, to Jan. 1, 1881, 5,759.

Net proceeds to the Post Office Department from the Sedalia office,

in 1880, $13,907.

Increase in money order business in first quarter of 1882, over first quar-
ter in 1881, $964.91.

BUILDINGS, ADDITIONS, IMPROVEMENTS.

( The data for the following statements were gathered by an expert., who

made a careful personal canvass of the entire city and stibject.)

Money spent by citizens of Sedalia for the erection of new buildings,
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additions, repairs, and general improvements, including the money sub-

scribed to build the Sedalia, Warsaw & Southern Railroad in 18S0,

$500,000.

For buildings, additions and general improvements alone, including

improvements by R. R. Co. in 1881, $615,000.
For same from Jan. 1, 1882, to May 1, 1882, $80,000.
Grand total for two years and four months, $1,195,000.

RAILROADS.

{Copied from official Jigures furnished by Heads of Departinents in

Sedalia.)

Total value of railroad property in Sedalia, including real estate, Mis-

souri Pacific Railroad shops, K. & T. Division shops. General Hospital,

Superintendent's and Dispatcher's offices. Union Stock Yards and miscel-

laneous buildings, $250,000.

Number of men employed in Sedalia by Railroad Companies: 1880,

362; 1881, 562; increase, 200.

ITEMIZED STATEMENT OF VALUE OF VARIOUS RAILROAD PROPERTY.

New brick shops in course of erection, $20,000; Missouri Pacific Shops
and machinerv, $75,000; K. «& T. Division Shops and machinery, $50,000;
General Superintendent's Office, $20,000; General Hospital, $30,000;
other buildings, $15,000. Total, $210,000.

APPROXIMATION.

Cash receipts for freight received at this station in 1881, $240,000; cash

receipts for freight shipped from city in 1881, $140,000. Total receipts in

Sedalia for freights, 1881, $380,000.

GRAND AGGREGATE, 1881.

Total amount spent for material in all departments, $230,000; total

expended for labor in Sedalia, in all departments, 1881, $496,000; Amount

spent for new buildings, yards, etc
, 1881, $40,000. Grand total for 1881,

$766,000.

Tickets sold at Sedalia Depot in 1880, $83,717.45; in 1881, $111,126.10.

Increase in sale of tickets in one year, $27,408.65.

BANKS.

Cash capital, $300,100; cash deposits, as per statements made Jan. 1,

1882, $834,545.37.
BUILDING ASSOCIATIONS.

In 1882, assessed value of capital, $182,554.
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MUNICIPAL STATISTICS.

{From Official Reports of City Officers.)

Population in 1882, according to the number of school children listed by
the agent of the School Board, 15,584; number of school children, 3,667;

expended on grading, etc., of streets and alleys in 1881, $35,079.95; on

new water mains, $5,700; by Sewer Companies, $4,000; for new Water

Works Dam, $10,000; assessed value of real and personal property in

1881, $2,373,124; same in 1882, $2,681,310; increase in assessed value of

real and personal property in one year, $308,186; Paid in to City Treas-

urer for special licenses alone, 1881, $10,304.39.

CITY AND COUNTY ASSESSMENTS AND COMMERCIAL VALUE.

{From Official Statements^

Assessed value of real and personal property in the County in 1881,

it)7,139,774; assessed value of real and personal property in the County in

1882, $8,102,011; increase in 1882, $962,230; assessed value of real and

personal property in City in 1881, $2,681,310; increase in one year, $308,-

186.

Commercial values of personal and real property in this City and

County are double the assessed values.

Commercial value City property in 1882, $5,362,620; commercial value

of same in County in 1882, $16,204,022.

MISCELLANEOUS.

{Compiled Jroin Data gathered by an Expert by a careful Personal

Canvass.)

Wholesale trade of Sedalia in 1881, $2,500,000; hve stock shipped from

Sedalia by local and county dealers, $2,000,000; trade of mills and grain,

$372,000; retail grocery trade, $500,000; hides, wool and furs, $130,000;

saloon business, $200,000; Expenditures by the Street Railway Company,

$15,000; Expended by the Sedalia Gas Light Company, for new build-

ings, apparatus, reservoirs, mains, furnaces, etc., in 1880-81, $48,000; by
Sicher Bros., on the Driving Park, Park Hotel, etc., $25,000.

The sources from which the above figures were gathered are reliable.

They have also been compiled by an expert and reliable party. To the

best of my knowledge and belief they are correct and fair estimates.

C. E. MESSERLY, Mayor of Sedalia, Mo.

THE RAILROADS.

Sedalia has been greatly assisted in her growth and prosperity by her

railroads. She does not depend on them altogether, for there is enough
in the country itself to make the place prosperous, still it is now a great rail-

road center. The enormous machine shops, which employ such a large
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force and consume so much material, are the largest institutions in the

city. The railroads, therefore, first deserve attention.

From Sedalia to St. Louis by the Missouri Pacific Railroad the distance

is 189 miles; from Sedalia to Kansas City, ninety-one miles; from Sedalia

to Lexington and the Missouri, fifty-two miles; from Sedalia to Hannibal

and the Mississippi River, 143 miles; from Sedalia to Chicago, 366 miles;

from Sedalia to Denison, Texas, 433 miles.

LEXINGTON & ST. LOUIS RAILROAD.

In 1858 a corporation, known as the Lexington & St. Lonis Railroad

Company, secured a charter from the State to build a road from Lexing-
ton, Lafayette County, to a point on the Pacific Railroad, at or near

Georgetown, then the county seat of Pettis. When the cliarter was

granted, it was the general belief that Georgetown would be on the line

of the Pacific Road, but when the road was located where it runs, leaving

Georgetown three miles to the north, it was determined to run the L. &
St. L. R. R. through Georgetown to intersect the Pacific Railroad at

Farmers City, six miles east of where Sedalia now stands. Considerable

work was done upon this route in 1859-60, and Farmers City bid fair to

be what Sedalia is now. Then the war came on and the work was

abandoned. When the war closed Sedalia had become the prominent
town of Pettis County, being the base of supplies (after the completion of

the Pacific Road in 1861) for armies operating in western and southwest

Missouri.

In 1867 the old Lexington & St. Louis Railroad Company was reorgan-

ized, and after a long and bitter contest, Sedalia was fixed upon as the

point of intersection on the Pacific Railroad, and in June of 1869 the

matter was finally settled and a complete organization effected. The

unexpended bonds of Lafayette County issued to the old corporation

were transferred to the new, and a liberal fund subscribed by the county
court. On the 6th of March Pettis County also voted for an ample sub-

scription to build the roadbed through Pettis County to the Lafa3'ette

County line. April 11 ground was broken in SedaHa and a grand demon-

stration made, and a large force put to work and good progress made
before the winter of 1869 set in. Sedalia at once made rapid strides

towards greatness. The certainty of becoming a railroad center induced

hundreds to locate here, and improvements increased on every side.

Money was plentiful and merchants and mechanics were doing a lucrative

business. The road was finished and opened to the public m 1871, and it

is reckoned as the best paying road for its length in the west. It runs

from Sedalia to Lexington, a distance of fifty-five miles, over some of the

richest and most beautiful prairie country in Missouri. The products of

Lafayette, Saline and the northwest portion of Pettis find an outlet to
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market over this road. It was operated by the Missouri Pacific Railroad

Company, with two trains per day running each way, from a short time

after it was completed. It was subsequently sold to the Missouri Pacific

Railroad, when the Pacific was under the control of Commodore
Garrison. When Gould bought the Missouri Pacific it became a part of

that system, and is now known as the Lexington branch of the Missouri

Pacific. Hughesville and Houstonia, two villages in Pettis County and

on the line of the road, have grown up and became permanently estab-

lished since the building of the road.

THE M., K. & T. RAILWAY.

By an act of the Legislature of Missouri, passed March 20, 1860, a

charter was granted the Tebo & Neosho Railroad Company. The pro-

jectors of this road hoped to build a road from Neosho, Newton County,
then a prominent point in the southwest, to run in a northeasterly direc-

tion, and intersect the Missouri Pacific at a point somewhere near the

"high points of the Tebo," which it was then thought would be the line of

the rivcT- route of the^ Pacific. The war came on, and during the excite-

ment and turmoil this project was almost forgotten.

When the war closed a new class of people flowed in and filled up the

country; people alive to all important enterprises. The town of Neosho

had been ruined by the ravages of war, and was no longer a place of

importance. A number, of parties resurrected the old charter, and went

to work to have it so changed and amended as to authorize the building of

a road through about the same section of country, but with difierent

points of terminus.

The Legislature in March, 1866, so amended the charter as to author-

ize the Tebo & Neosho Railway Company to build a line from Fort

Scott, Kansas, to run northeast, and cut the Missouri Pacific at a point

west of the Lamine River, which is eighteen miles east of the present city

of Sedalia, and Muddy Creek, which is due north and east of Sedalia.

The exact point of intersection was not designated because the managers

thought they could get a large subscripton from Sadalia, if they ran the

line through the city. Col. Thomas L. Wilson was the leader of this

scheme, and made a horse-back survey of the proposed line. After a

great deal of preliminary figuring, promises, threats and plans, the citizens

of Sedalia voted to subscribe $50,000 to the stock in the year 1866. Col.

Wilson, the first president, did not seem to have the necessary confidence

of the people, and the city refused to turn over the $50,000 until they
knew what would be done with it.

In 1866, in the month of May, Col. Asa C. Marvin of Sedalia was

elected president of the company. He had been an old and respected

citizen of Henry County, Mo., was in the Union arm}' of this section during
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the war, was provost marshal of SedaHa, and was known to be a man of

business tact and energy and the strictest probity. This fact awakened

the confidenceof the people all along the proposed hne, and the people of

Sedelia knew Col. Marvin so well that they at once tm-ned over to him

the $50,000 in bonds. Work was actuall}'- begun on the road in June,

1867, at Fort Scott, Kan. In September, 1867,
"
ground was broken "

at Sedalia, with formal ceremonies and amidst much rejoicing. A small

force of men was kept constantly at work in Pettis and Henry Counties,

Mo., until more money could be procured from the other counties. The

president made a report in September, 1868, telling what had been accom-

plished since the start, and this report was most encouraging to all.

In July, 1867, the following amounts had been subscribed for the road:

Bourbon County, Kan., $150,000; Henry County, Mo., $150,000; Seda-

lia, $50,000; private subscriptions, $60,000; Fort Scott, Kan., $50,000;

Clinton, Mo., $25,000. Total amount, $615,000. All this sum was

expended in grading the road-bed, and as yet no provision had b,een made

to purchase iron and rolling stock.

Pettis County now subscribed $75,000 for the building of the N. E.

extension to Boonville.

It now became necessary to do something for the extension of the road

northeast from Sedalia to intersect the then North Missouri Railroad at

or near Moberly, Mo. It was almost as easy to get a county to issue

bonds in those days as it was for a spendthrift to give his note. The counties

along the proposed Northeastern Extension all subscribed with prompt

liberality and gave their county bounds to the road. In 1868, work was

commenced on this extension.

Over one hundred miles of road-bed had been completed at tha begin-

ning of 1869. But still no provision had been made for buying the iron

and rolling stock. The people began to think that they would be called

on for more money or bonds, as the only way out of the dilemma. Some

predicted that a train would never run over what was built. The faint-

hearted and short-sighted croaked and grumbled. But so much energy,

time and money had been spent that there was 100 miles of splendid road-

bed through a rich country and that was too valuable to be abandoned.

The managers knew that. Eastern capitaUsts knew that likewise.

In October, 1869, The Union Trust & Loan Company of New York

entered into a contract to complete the road, iron and stock and operate

it. The name of the road was at the same time changed to the Missouri,

Kansas & Texas Railway. This name it held for ten years, until 1881,

when it was bought by Jay Gould and is now called the Kansas &
Texas Division of the Missouri Pacific Railway.

This company had a grander scheme in view than the mere completion

of the road, between Moberly, on the north, and Fort Scott on the south.
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as shown by their subsequent acts. They laid their plans to run it north to

Hannibal and the Mississippi River, there to connect with the great north-

west system of railroads that run to Chicago and the great lakes. The
next move was to get the right of way through the Indian Territory.

They got it by an energy and sagacity that showed they were masters of

the situation.

The next thing they had to do was to build the road to the Gulf of Mexico,

through Texas. This made the only grand diagonal line of road through
the west central part of the United States from the great lakes to the

gulf, and left Sedalia the centre of this grand trunk line.

The company had millions of money and the ablest men to manage it.

And as soon as they took hold of it the line was alive with men to com-

plete it. Col. Marvin had done wonders with the means at his command,
and deserves much honor for it, posthumous though it be.

On the 23d da}- of July, 1S70, the first excursion train out of Sedalia

ran over- the M., K. & T. Line to Clinton, Mo., forty-five miles south-

w^est.

On the 12th of December, 1870, the remaining 165 miles, to Fort Scott,

Kas., was completed, and cars ran between Sedaha and Fort Scott. There

never was, in the annals of railroad building, more rapid or excellent

work done than was done on the south end of the line.

In 1871 the passenger and freight traffic, over this line, had grown to

such an extent that it was necessary to erect a union depot, near Engineer

street, even before the extension from Sedalia to Hannibal had been put
in full operation. This depot was burned in 1877, and was not rebuilt.

The construction of the northern end of the same road, from Sedalia to

Hannibal, was also pushed with a most remarkable energy and rapidity.

The road-bed on this division was readv for the ties and iron on March

13, 1872, and on that date the first were laid. In a little over one year the

greater portion of the track was laid. On May 4, 1873, the first excur-

sion train, on the northern extension, ran from Sedalia to the Lamine

River, a distance of twenty miles. The large bridge over this river fell

in just before its completion, and the time expended in its reconstruction

delayed the running of regular through trains for some time.

In April, 1873, the southern extension was completed to Denison,

Texas.

Some time in November, 1873, the first through trains over the M., K.

& T. ran from Sedalia to Hannibal and from Sedalia to Denison.

In the latter part of 1873 the company estabhshed their general offices

in Sedalia. The general office is now the Missouri Pacific Railroad Hos-

pital, and is one of the handsomest, largest and best built edifices in the

city. It is located in the eastern part of the city. From the time of their

establishment until the M., K. & T. Railroad was purchased by Mr. Jay
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Gould, the offices remained here and gave employment to a very large
clerical force. All the officers in active service, from the fjeneral manacfer
down to the lowest, resided in this city, and it always presented a most

pleasing scene of activity and life.

The following gentlemen were the general managers of the road while

its headquarters were in SedaHa: Col. R. S. Stevens, Maj. A. B. Garner,
William Bond and A. Mitchell. James D. Brown, for many years the

General Passenger Agent, succeeded in making the road known through-
out the entire Union, by his ingenious devices in advertising and his skill

and judgment in the preparation of advertising matter. It is only the

plain truth to say that the M., K. & T. was one of the best advertised

railroads in the world.

Col. A. D. Jaynes, the Cashier of the First National Bank, was for a

number of years the Treasurer of the road.

From the time the first trains passed over this line, until the present,
the passenger and freight traffic has been very large, and has increased to

immense proportions. For the five years previous to 1880 almost every
train contained large numbers of emigrants on their way to Kansas and

Texas to settle upon the cheap lands. Sedalia and the M., K. & T. Rail-

way were inseparably connected, and became as well known throughout
the country as St. Louis and Chicago. It was also known that Sedaha
had really originated the road.

In the spring of 1870 the present K. & T. Division Railroad shops
were established here. There was a small beginning and only a few men

employed, but they grew day by day, and building by building. In 1871,
the first substantial buildings, outside of the original temporary ones,

were erected. In 1872, the Union Depot was built in East Sedalia. The

shops grew gradually until 1873, when more additions were made and

they continued to increase their dimensions until 1875. In this 3'^ear there

were two hundred men employed in the shops, about seventy-five in the

general offices, and about one hundred train men, who made their head-

quarters in Sedalia. The monthly pay roll in Sedalia amounted to

$25,000; the value of the company's property was estimated at $150,000;
it was estimated that seven million pounds of freight were received by it

at Sedalia, and nearly 25,000 tickets were sold at the station.

An article written in 1876 upon the condition of the railroads in that

year, says:

There are employed by this company in various departments 203 men
who are stationed at Sedalia. These men are paid monthly about

$16,000. In addition to this there are 100 train men, conductors, engineers,
brakemen, &c., who spend a greater portion of their time here and pay
out in the city about $6,000 monthly.

It will appear from these figures that this company pay out in this city

annually about $250,000.
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In tlie (general offices sixty men are emploved, and the monthly pay roll

is $7,000; in the locomotiye and machine departments there are forty-

seyen men, the sum paid them monthly being about $2,000; in the car

department, sixty-fiye men, and pay them $4,000 per month: miscellaneous

employes 31. pay $3,000. During the year ending March 31, 1S75, there
\yas for\yarded by this company 20,599,839 pounds of freight.
There were receiyed at this station during the same period (35,472,568

pounds of freight. The total number of passengers leaying SedaUa dur-

ing this period \yas 23,383."

In 1881, the Missouri Pacific R. R. Co., which also owns the M., K. &
T., had the following in Sedalia:

New brick shops in course of erection, $20,000; Missouri Pacific shops
and machinery, $75,<M"iO: K. & T. Diyision, $50,000; General Superin-
tendent's office, $20,000; General Hospital, $30,000; other buildings,
$15,000. Total, $210,000.

Total yalue of railroad property in Sedalia, including real estate, Mis-

souri Pacific Railroad shops, K. & T. Diyision shops, General Hospital,

Superintendent's and Dispatcher's office, Union Stock. Yards and miscel-

laneous buildings, $250,000.
Total number of men emplo3-ed in 1880 in Sedaha, 362. In 1881 the

total number, 562. Increase in one year, 200. About the same number
are employed in 1882.

Approximate amount of cash receipts for freight receiyed at this sta-

tion in 1881, $2-40,000; cash receipts for freight shipped from cit}' in 1881,

$140,000. Total receipts in Sedalia for freights in 1881, $380,000.

GRAND AGGREGATE, 1881.

Total amount spent for material in all departments, $230,000; total

expended for labor in Sedalia, in all departments, 1881, $496,000; amount

spent for new buildings, yards, etc., 1881, $40,000; grand total for 1881,

$766,000.

Tickets sold at Sedalia depot in 1880, $83,717.45; in 1881, $111,126.10;
increase in sale of tickets in one year, $27,408.65.

The Sedalia shops are the only ones on the line of the Missouri Pacific

proper, between Kansas City and St. Louis, and the only ones on the

hne of the K. & T. Diyision between Parsons, Kas., on the south, and

Hannibal, Mo., on the north.

THE MISSOURI PACIFIC SHOPS.

The figures aboye, in the last few paragraphs, are the combined esti-

mates regarding the Missouri Pacific and the K. & T. Diyision shops.
The Missouri Pacific shops were not established in the city until the lat-

ter part of 1872 and completed in 1873. The town had no Board of

Trade at that time, but a free library had been estabhshed in the cit}-

seyeral years preyious, and the Board of Directors of this body had

been in the habit of discussing all subjects of public importance. This
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bodv of Directors went to work and organized a Board of Trade. A
number of our most prominent citizens of the present day became mem-
bers of it. Members of the Board learned that there was a possibility of

getting a portion of the Missouri Pacific shops located at Sedalia. They
agitated the question among the people; found out what propositions

would be accepted by the railroad company; laid the matter before the

City Council and then influenced the latter body to enter into negotiations

with the railroad authorities. The Council finally ordered the issue of

$10,000 worth of city bonds to aid in building the shops, money was

raised by subscription among the citizens, twenty acres of beautiful land

purchased in the northeastern suburbs of the city, and these bonds and

this land given to the railroad company, on the condition that all the shops
on the line of the road between St. Louis and Kansas City should be

removed to Sedalia and remain there permanently. Of the bonds $30,000

was delivered at once. In the fall of 1872 the work of building the huge
Round House began, and during the year 1873 this and the large frame

shops were completed. In 1882 the work of building the new brick shops

began, and when the foundation was completed in March the remaining

SlO,000 in
cit}- bonds was turned over to the company. These shops,

building and machinery are now worth from $7.5,00" to 5100,000. In

order to show what a large amount of work is done in the Missouri Pacific

shops alone, exclusive of that done in the K. & T. Division Department,
and the immense increase in thair capacity- since they were started in 1873,

the following statistical information, furnished by the proper officers, is

appended:
No. of men employed Jan. 1st, 1850, 276; Xo. of men employed Jan. 1st,

1S>1, 354: increase, 78,

Xo. of engines running Jan. 1st, 1S81, 76; Xo. of engines running Jan.

1st, 1880, 63; increase, 13.

X'o. of locomotives repaired or rebuilt, not including repairs in the Round

House, in 1881, 40; Xo. of same in l'-'?0, 36; increase, 4.

Labor expenses for the month December, 1^81, $20,029.1u; same for

the month December, 1880, $14,120.80; increase in one month of year

15^1, $6,170.30.

Expended for material in December, 1881, i^5,370.22; December, 1880,

$.3,312.93; increase in one month of year 1881, $2,057.29.

Total amount paid out for material December, 18^1, $25,961.32; in

December, 1880, $17,133.73; total increase, $8,227.59.

Aggregate expenditures, 1881, $243,493.20; aggregate expenditures,

1880, $169,449.60; aggregate increase, l'?81, $74,043.6U.

At the present time, July, 1882, the company is engaged in erecting a

splendid new brick building for shops, which will cost when completed,

$20,000.
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These two sets of shops now make as fine freight, passenger and sleep-

ing cars as are made in the best and oldest car manufactories in the United

States. Everything but the casting of the car wheels is done in Sedalia.

Locomotives are built complete and all the work of constructing them is

done in this cit}^, except the work of casting the huge driving wheels and

the casting of steel driving shafts, cylinder heads and a few minor articles

which require special skill and machinery.

THE MISSOURI PACIFIC RAILROAD

and its history, is inseparably connected with the life and labors of Gen.

George R. Smith, the founder of Sedalia, and the chief promoter of the

consummation of the project. For a complete and detailed account of

the inception, progress and completion of this great line of railway the

reader, is referred to the early chapters of this histor3',and the biographical

sketch of General Smith.

SEDALIA, WARSAW AND SOUTHERN R. R.

This is a narrow gauge road, and was built recently. It was chiefly

the work of Sedalia. In 1869 the Osage Valley and Southern Kansas R.

R. Co. built a piece of road bed from Warsaw to Cole Camp. It was

intended that this road should intersect the Missouri Pacific Railroad at

Tipton, Mo. The scheme fell through and the company forfeited its

charter. In 1879 the citizens of Sedalia began to agitate the proposition

to build a narrow gauge road from Sedalia to Warsaw, Mo., a distance of

forty-five miles due south of Sedalia. Benton Countv agreed to give the

old road bed it had graded from Warsaw^ to Sedalia. In September 1879,

the Sedalia, Warsaw and Southern R. R. Co. was organized in Sedalia

with the followang officers: Wm. Gentry, President; Gen. Geo. R. Smith

Vice President; James H. Lay, Secretary, and Cyrus Newkirk, Trea-

surer. The new constitution of the State forbids counties issuing bonds

beyond a certain limit. As neither Pettis nor Benton County could issue

an}?- more bonds, it was necessary to build the road with money raised by

subscriptions of the people. During the year 1880 the citizens of Sedalia

subscribed about $55,000. About $10,000 of this was collected.

In November, 1879, work was commenced on the road. It was com-'

pleted and ready for the cars in 1881. The first regular freight and

passenger trains ran over it during the summer of 1881.

The road is now taxed to its utmost capacity, and has opened up a

splendid region of country to be tributary to the city. Cyrus Newkirk
was the chief worker for this railroad.

THE POST OFFICE.

This is* perhaps the oldest public institution in Sedalia, and its propor-
tions have increased with those of the city. It was established just before
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W. J. BAGBY, GROCERY STORE, SEDALIA, MO.

the arrival of the raih-oad at this point, in the latter part of the year 1860.

The office was in a lone barn-like house, north of the railroad track, and

in those days commanded a view of the roihnjr prairie, with here and

there a farm house dottincr the broad expanse. The first postmaster
was A. T. Hodge, who remained but a few months, as early in 1861 he

gave up his commission, and joined the Confederates. W. H. Cottrell

succeeded hipi; he was also, express and stage agent, adding the duties of

postmaster without any inconvenience. Ira Pierce of Oswego, Kan., was
his assistant, and together thev did a paying business in the grocer}' line

along with the express matter, the stage agenc}', and postoffice. Mr.

Cottrell leaving in 1862. Dr. Logan Clark, who was an old citizen of the

^district,
was appointed, with Miss Mary Kidd as ;;ssistant, and in March,

of the same year, the postoffice was removed to the south side of the rail-

road to a frame house very near the site of the present Smith's Opera
House. Then in October it was aigain moved to a small room west of the

present Pacific boarding house. On the 15th of October, 186-1:, the Con-

federate General Jeff'. Thompson made a descent upon SedaHa, and the

postoffice shared in the general wreck, his soldiers making a thorough
search of the house, and but few letters or valuables of anv kind were leit

at their departure. In lS6i Dr. Clark resigned in favor of O. T. Crandall,
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now of Santa Barbara, Cal., who took possession in January, 1865, and held

it until 1867. The office was located in a brick house near the corner of

Main and Lamine streets, where it remained until the fall of 1868, when
another removal was made to the building, corner of the alley on Ohio

street, now occupied by the co-operative store. June 1, 1869, [,Perry

Hawes was appointed postmaster, and took possession. Harry C.

Demuth, now captain of the Sedalia rifles, and a member of the book firm

of Easton & Demuth, entered the office at this time and remained con-

tinually until 1882, where he had been chief clerk, and practically manager
of the office for seven years. He resigned voluntarily after a service of

nearly thirteen years. He had charge of the books and accounts from the

time the income of the office amounted to a few thousand dollars a year

up to the time that the gross income amounted to nearly $200,000 per
annum.

In 1872 the building occupied by the office, on the corner of Pearl River

and Ohio street, was consumed by fire. It was then removed to the

ground floor of the building almost opposite, beneath the Bazoo news-

paper office. It remained in that building until 1877, when Mr. Hawes,
second term expired and Albert Parker was appointed postmaster.

Shortly after his appointment the office was removed to a building espe-

cially prepared for the purpose, on the south side of Second street

between Ohio and Lamine. This is its location in 1882. Under Mr.

Albert Parker's administration there were very marked improvements
made in the interior arrangements of the office that contributed much to

the public convenience. The clerical force was increased; a large number

of new call and lock boxes were added; a general delivery window

exclusively for ladies was added; and a fire-proof vault for the storage of

valuable suppHcs built. Mr. Parker also appealed to the Postoffice

Department for the establishment of lamp-post letter boxes, and made
such reliable and convincing representations that in the fall of 1881

twenty-five letter boxes were placed throughout the city. They have

proved a great convenience. The arrangements, building and manage-
ment of the post-office were all in harmony for the first time.

The Money Order Department was not established in the Sedalia office

until the spring of 1866. From that time on the business increased •

immensely.
Milo Blair was the next postmaster appointed, and took formal posses-

sion of the office on Feb. 20, 1882.

In 1864 the office paid the postmaster, by commissions, about $600. In

1869 it was made a salaried office, with a fixed salar^^ of $2,400. In a

year more it was increased to $2,600, and still later, with the rapid increase

of business, to $2,800 per annum. In 1875 the salary was raised to$3,200»
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In 1879 it was cut down to $2,600 with an allowance in 1SS2 of $2,000 for

clenk hire.

From the time that Mr. Havves took charge of the office the increase

in business has been steady and large. The following comparative state-

ment will give a fair idea of the amount of business done.

. COMPARATIVE STATEMENT.

1878. 1879. 1880.

From sale of stamps, etc $14,853.93 $10,095.62 $17,096.89
Amount box rents 1,712.25 1,884.25 2,001.15

Unpaid postage collected 57.18 93.54 . 112.65

From sale of waste paper 2.71 6.57 9.04

Total receipts $16,626.07 $18,079.98 $19,219.73

Amount Money Orders issued $69,392.35 77,566.69 89,585.61

Amount Money Orders paid 65,843.86 80,178.72 87,572.23

Number Registered Letters handled. 11,281 13,752 17,040

Gross receipts of office trom the sale of stamps, postal cards, wraps,

etc., and from monev orders issued: 1878, $86,628.00; 1879, $95,646.00

1880, 108,805.00. Increase in above items of gross receipts from Jan. 1,

1878, to Jan. 1, 1881, $22,786. Total amounts of money handled in office

by sale of stamps, postal cards, envelopes, wraps and foreign and domestic

money orders paid and issued, 1878, $152,862.00; 1879, $175,825.00; 1880,

$196,377.00; 1881, 192,904.74. Increase in amounts handled from Jan. 1,

1878, to Jan. 1, 1881, $44,515. Increase from Jan. 1, 1878, to Jan. 1, 1882,

$40,042.74.

A bill is now before Congress asking for an appropriation of $50,000

for the erection of a postoffice building in Sedalia, and in view of the

present magnitude of the business done and its steady increase as shown

by official reports the petition is a just one, and it is quite probable that

there will soon be a postoffice building erected commensurate with the

size of the town and the business done. The office has been conducted

with such honesty and intelligence by its first three postmasters, Crandall,

Hawes and Parker, that the Department has not lost one dollar.

BANKS.

The city now has four regular banks, with a cash paid up capital of

$300,100. The deposits on Jan. 1, 1882, were, according to official state-

ments, $834,545.37.

FIRST NATIONAL BANK.

This is the first and oldest banking institution in the city. It has a

capital of $100,000 now, and started with the same amount. It was

organized in March, 1866, by Cyrus Newkirk and Col. A. D. Jaynes.
21
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The former was president until January, 1874, when he was appointed
cashier. Col. Ja3'nes had been cashier from the start. In 1869, James C.

Thompson became assistant cashier, and is still in the bank. Col. Jaynes
was in 1871: appointed treasurer of the M., K. & T. R. R. Subsequently
he resigned the position of cashier and Mr. Thompson was advanced to

the position. Mr. Newkirk again became president.

The bank was opened in a small frame building a few doors north of

its present location, and remained there until the latter part of 1868. In

1867, the fine building now occupied by the bank was begun, and was

completed in 1868. It cost then nearly $30,000. This handsome build-

ing has an iron front, plate glass, is heated with registers, furnished with

telephones, and has a triple safe with the latest improved patent Yale

Time Locks.

The officers and directors are among the wealthiest and most solid citi-

zens of the count}-. President, Cyrus Newkirk; Cashier, Jas. C. Thomp-
son; Teller, F. H. Guenther; Directors: Wm. Gentry, largest land

owner in the county, stock dealer and farmer; J. R. Barrett, large land

owner, dairy and stock man; E. A. Phillips, tie contractor and capitalist;

Wm. Lovvrv, large land owner and farmer; Jos. C. Higgins, extensive

land owner, farmer and stock dealer, and the officers of the bank.

The following condensed statement will show the extent of its busi-

ness: Notes discounted in 1881, $302,275; deposits in 1881, $310,004;

resources, $555,604. It has a surplus of $70,000 besides its capital.

. SEDALIA SAVINGS BANK.

This is the second banking institution founded in the city. It was

established in Februar}-, 1868, by Mentor Thomson, an old resident of

the county, and Elisha Brown, formerly of Boonville, Mo., and Jackson-

ville, 111. Mr. Thomson was elected president and is still in the same

position. Mr. Brown was the first cashier, and Mr. Adam Ittel, now

cashier of the Citizen's National Bank, was the first teller. Mr. Brown

died in 1872, and Mr. Thos. W. Cloney, for years a member of the first,

oldest and largest wholesale house in the city, Cloney, Crawford & Co.,

became cashier. The position is still held by him. In 1872, Richard T.

Gentry became the assistant cashier, Mr. Ittel retiring to enter another

bank.

Mr. Gentry was in 1878 elected County Treasurer, a position he has

filled with honor. The bank has a magnificent safe of the finest and cost-

liest make, and a fine two-story brick building.

The directors are: John L. Hall, Phil. E. Chappell, John F. PhiHps,

Wm. M. Gentry, John G. Rissler, V. T. Chilton, John M. Sneed, James
M. Warren, M. H. Seibert, and the officers.
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Capital stock paid up, $50,100; current deposits, $150,000; surplus
fund on hand, $21,200; Time deposits, $16,169; resources, $2-15,851.

CITIZENS NATIONAL BANK.

The third bank established was the above. The preliminary steps were
taken in December, 1S72. A large number of leading business men,
farmers and stock dealers were found ready to take stock in the new
bank. When all the introductory work had been completed, a meeting
was held of those who had subscribed for stock and they elected a Board of

Directors. Clifton Wood, the first merchant in Pettis County, an old

resident—a man of means and business abilit}- and possessed of the confi-

dence of the county and cit}-
—^was elected the first president. Adam

Ittel was elected cashier, and still holds the same position.

Mr. Wood died Dec. 9, 1ST7, when John J. Yeater was elected Presi-

dent, and holds the same position still. Chas. W. Bullen has been teller of

the institution almost since its foundation. B. F. Richardson has been

the confidential book-keeper for a number of years. The bank occupies
a handsome two-story brick edifice on the southeast corner of Main and

Ohio streets, and has a splendid vault and fine safes, secured by the best

Yale Time Locks.

This bank has a capital of $100,000. In 1881 the bank had nearly 700

depositors; an increase of nearly 100 over 1880.

Average current deposits subject to check, 1880 $250,000
Same in 1881 300,000

Increase, 1881, about , , 50,000

Notes and drafts discounted in 1880 175,000
Same in 1881 200,000
Increase in 1881 25,000

THE MISSOURI TRUST COMPANY.

This institution is one of Sedalia's best enterprises. It was organized
for the purpose of doing a general business as a Trust Companv, and

takes charge of" estates, endowment and trust funds, and invests the same
in safe and paying securities. The scheme originated with its founder, O.

A. Crandall, and its success has surpassed his most sanguine expectations.
It was organized on July 3, 1880, with a paid up capital of only $10,000,
and placed under the control of the following officers, viz.: O. A. Cran-

dall, Pres't; A. P. Morey, V^ice Pres't; and P. G. Stafford, Sec'y- At
the end of its first year its capital was increased to $2<),0U0, and the capi-

tal will again be increased at the annual meeting in July to $50,000. Since

its organization it has received for investment over $400,000, all of which

has been loaned to farmers at an average of seven per cent interest per

annum, on from three to five years time. The officers are the same as
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when first organized. The Board of Directors consists of O. A. Crandall,

A. P. Morey, W. H. Powell, W. T. Hutchinson, Jos. C. Higgins, Frank

C. Playman, and T. T. Clifford.

PETTIS COUNTY BANK.

This institution started in 1875, and was at first called the Pettis Loan
& Savings Bank. O. A. Crandall was the first President, and held that

position until July, 1880, when he severed his connection with it and organ-
ized the Missouri Trust company. It was reorganized and incorporated
under the Revised Statutes, July 1, 1880, as a regular banking institution,

with Curtis Field, President; R. T. Miller, Vice President; C. M. A.

Chaney, Cashier, and C. ,R. Field, Assistant Cashier. The Board of

Directors are: Curtis Field, R. T. Miller, C. M. A. Chaney, Dr. Logan
Clark, Henry C. Sinnet, Ed. Hurley and W. S. Baker, The}^ have just

completed a new and elegant bank building on Ohio street, between

Fourth and Fifth streets, into which they moved May 10,1882. The bank
has a paid up capital of $50,000. The building is fitted up in the most

elegant style, with all the latest improvements and appliances calculated

to facilitate and expedite business, or to add to the convenience or comfort

of patrons. Safes of the best quality and manufacture, entirely fire and

burglar proof, are built up in solid vaults of masonry. The building is

worth $8,000. In 1882 Mr. Chaney retired, and G. R. Field became
Cashier.

Capital stock $50,000
Resources 72,000

Deposits 48,000

BUILDING AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS.

There are now five Building and Loan Associations in the city. Up
to the first of January, 1882, there were six, but on that date the oldest

wound up its affairs after an existence of eight years.

Every one of them has done a splendid work, and they have been success-

ful in accomplishing their objects even beyond the most sanguine expec-
tations of their originators. The following figures will give an idea of

the sums they handle and the amounts loaned to stockholders for the erec-

tion of homes.

THE PEOPLES

was organized nearly six years ago. During the past year received $10,-

054.23, and disbursed $18,313.59. J. R. Webber, President; and A. P.

Morey, Secretary; original capital stock, $250,000,

THE MERCHANTS AND MECHANICS,

organized eight years in July. By their annual statement, published
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for Jan. 1, 1882, was given the following figures: Capital stock, $41,800;

originally $200,000.

RESOURCES.

Stockholders' account $22,666 52

Bills receivable account 36,628 00

Expense account 1,912 84

Suspense account 2,831 74

Bonus account 9,158 70

Profit and loss account 885 82

Cash on hand 6 23

Total $74,109 85

Matt Zener, Secretary.

THE SEDALIA ASSOCIATION.

Eight years and eight months ago, the " SedaUa "
commenced, as the

pioneer of building and loan association in this city. Those who held

their stock until it had received $200, the par value on each share. They
had paid in $103.66 per share. The average time this money has been

on interest is four years and four months. This makes about twent}' per

cent simple interest on the.investment for those who left their mone}' in

the Association. The original capital stock was $150,000.

THE FOURTH ASSOCIATION

was organized in Jan., 1878, with a capital stock of $200,000, composed
of $200 each. There has been a steady demand for all the money up to

Jan. 1, 1882; 120 shares were cancelled; each share ip200. 273 shares

stand redeemed by loans. This is equal to $54,600. J. H. Mertz, Presi-

dent; John G. Sloane, Secretary. The stock is at a premium.

SIXTH ASSOCIATION.

This one was organized in June, 1881, and is now seven months old,

with a capital stock of $250,000. R. H. Moses, President; John G.

Sloane, Secretary.

HOTELS.—THE GARRISON HOUSE.

SedaHa has houses of public entertainment in perfect keeping with all

her other public and private enterprises. The Garrison House, formerly

called the Ives House, in honor of its first manager, was completed in

1868, and occupies the site of the old McKissock House. It is owned by
the Missouri Pacific Railroad Company, and is also the present Union

Depot. It is a first-class establishment, finely furnished and complete in

all respects. The building is now worth $28,000. It contains fifty-five
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rooms, exclusive of dining room, office, bar, kitchen, servants' room, &c.

The house contains hot and cold water, bath-rooms, water-closets, electric

annunciator, gas, fire escapes, reservoir, and pipes for extinguishing fires

and all other modern conveniences. It does a business of about $75,000

per annum in round numbers. George T. Brown and Charles A. Pratt

were proprietors from 1873 up to ISSl, when Mr. Pratt retired, leaving

Mr. Brown as sole manager.»

sicher's hotel.

This splendid brick structure is located on the corner of Ohio and Third

streets, in the business heart of the city. It is 120 feet deep, forty feet

wide and three stories high. Its value is about $25,000. The first half

of the hotel was built about 1870, and in 1878 an addition as large as the

original building was erected. It is solid from top to bottom. It contains

thirty-five rooms, bath-rooms and water on each floor, gas throughout; is

heated by furnaces and registers; has electric bells and annunciators, tele-

phone communication, fire escapes in each room, beautifully decorated

dining room, fine sample rooms and office. For the accommodation of

guests there are thirty-five rooms furnished with as much comfort and ele-

gance as those of the best private mansions.

The proprietors, Joseph D. and Frank E. Sicher, are also the proprie-

tors of Sicher's Park and the Park Hotel. This institution equals in all

respects any hotel of the same size anywhere.

THE JAY GOULD HOTEL.

This hotel is of brick, three stories high, 120 feet long and thirty feet

wide, and contains about forty rooms. It is located on the corner of Main

and Lamine streets, and the property is owned by Mrs. Sarah Smith and

Mrs. M. E. Cotton, daughters of the late Gen. George R. Smith. It was

originally two stories high and was erected in 1870. In 1881 an addi-

tional story was put upon it. It is worth about $18,000. The rooms are

large, comfortable, well lighted and airy. The dining room is spacious,

and the office large and comfortable. It is supplied with gas and water.

A. L. Devereaux is the present manager.

THE LINDELL HOTEL

is a frame building, containing about twenty-five rooms. It was built in

1867 by WilHam B. Riley. It was first run by Judge I^. M. Leet, and

was known as Leet's Hotel. It has been managed by a number of parties

in the past ten years. The property is worth about $7000,.

THE LEROY HOUSE

is a frame hotel, containing about twenty-five rooms, located on the corner

of Ohio and Sixth streets. It was built in 1867, and is worth about

$5,000.
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THE UNION HOTEL,

in East Sedalia, owned by Mrs. Mathews, is a large, well built frame

hotel. It contains about twenty-five rooms, is well furnished and does a

fine business. The property is worth about $9,000.

kaiser's restaurant hotel

is located on Second street, in a large brick building, and does a large

business. It contains twenty rooms in connection with a very large res-

taurant.

In addition to the above are the Pacific House, the Atlantic House, the

City Hotel, all neat and comfortable houses, and a large number of board-

ing houses in all parts of the town.

manufactories.

The city already has several prosperous manufacturing establishments

which are enlarging the scope of their work every year; adding to their

facilities and increasing the number of their workmen. The past five

years has shown a large increase in their business, because people have

become convinced that they can get certain things at home, that they

have hitherto bought abroad, which are of as good quality and at the

same price.

In the month of December, 18S1, a careful, personal canvass was made

among the proprietors and managers of all the manufacturing establish-

ments in the city, and from them were gathered the following table of

figures. This tabulated statement represents a week of labor on the mat-

ter, and tells a very important story in a very small space. The character

of the establishment is not mentioned except in the heading:
•

Machine Shops, Agricultural Implement Makers, Boiler Shops,

Foundry, Mills, Gas Works, Mineral Waters, Doors, Mouldings, etc.,

Wagons and Buggies, Marble Works, Brick Works, Brewery.
No. 1880. 1881. No. 1880. 1881.

1 $175,000 $200,000 U $ 22,000 $ 25,000

2 15,000 30,000 15 25,000 30,000

3 26,000 30,000 16 10,000 10,000

4, March 1 3,000 17 5,000 5,000

5, June 1 7,000 18 5,000

6 7,000 9,000 19 5,000 6,000

7 7,00^^ 12,000 20 3,000

8 8,000 8,< (00 21 45,000 65,000

9 50,000 75,000 22 10,000 11,450

10 20,000 25,000 23 15,000 20,000

11 19,000 23,000 24 13,000 19,000

12 21,000
'

23,600

13 3,000 Total $498,000 $629,050

Increase 1881 $156,050
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These are the figures for all the establishments outside the great rail-

road machine shops.

THE SEDALIA FOUNDRY AND MACHINE SHOPS.

This is the oldest establishment of the kind in the city except the

Capital Mills. It was started in 1867, and ready for work in 1868. James
G. Tesch founded and conducted it for several years. In 1873 the business

was reorganized and a joint stock company formed called the Sedalia

Foundry and Machine Company. During the year 1874 O. A. Crandall

was president of the company. It ran under this name until 1878, when it

was again reorganized and called the Smith Manufacturing Company.
Gen. Geo. R. Smith was President; A. P. Morev, Secretary; and H. B.

Fletcher, Manager. In 1881 a new set of men bought out the works and

they are now run by Geo. M. Babcock and a stock company. The

foundry building, machine shops and other buildings occupy an area of

ground, 120 feet deep by ISO long. The machine shop is 100x35. The

capacity of the foundry is five tons of iron and 1,000, pounds of brass per

day. The offices and pattern and general supply and stock room is a

fire-proof brick building, 22x80 feet. The property is worth about $20,-

000 and now does an annual business of from $30,000 to $50,000 per year.

T'he number of men employed is from 20 to 1:5, according to the season of

the year. The company- rebuilds and repairs engines, mill machinery and

agricultural machinery, makes all sorts of castings and manufactures

sorghum cane mills.

BARLEY BROS. & CO.'s AGRICULTURAL IMPLEMENT MANUFACTORY AND
MACHINE SHOPS

were established in 1867, by Samuel Barley, and his son T. K. Barley.
The shops are now run by J. H. and Thos. K. Barle}-. The yards and

buildings of this firm, located on West Main, west of Moniteau street, cover

an area of about one-fourth of a block. From fifteen to twenty men are

employed in all. Engines and mill machinery are repaired and rebuilt,

and all sorts of repairs on agricultural machinery done. The works make
a specialty of the manufacture of harrows and sulky plows of their own

patent, and do a large business in this line. This manufactor}-, with its

machinery and buildings, is worth about $20,000, and does an annual busi-

ness of about $30,000.

THE NOVELTY WORKS

were established in 1875, by M. S., E. and G. Barrett, three brothers,

under the firm name of Barrett Bros. The shop was first built in East

Sedalia. In 1880 it was moved from Summit street to Second street, near

Mill street. The establishment does all sorts of wood work, makes

mouldings of every variety, doors, sashes, blinds, &c., and does all kinds
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of sawing and planing. These shops also manufacture "The King" feed

cutting box, and are now making over five hundred each season. The

building is a substantial two-story frame, with a complete set of machinery
for each kind of work. From ten to fifteen men are at work, and the

business is increasing each day. The building and machinery are worth

about $15,000. The annual business is about $15,000 to $20,000.

MILLS.—THE FARMERS MILLS.

This is the largestinstitutionof the kind in the city. Its proprietors are S.

Zimmerman and Morris Harter. The mill was built by other parties, but

did not amount to much until it came into the hands of its present owners

and managers, who have made it all over and doubled its original size.

There is little of the old mill left. In 1880 about $10,000 was expended on

it. In 1881 a new three-story brick elevator, the best building in the

D. I. HOLCOMB, CHINA STORE, SEDALIA, MO.

town, was erected next to it at a cost of about $10,000. The mill has

five run of burrs, two sets of rolls, middlings purifiers, in short the finest,

best and latest improvecl mill machinery known in the United States. In

the enfrine room is the finest engine in Central Missouri, a sixty horse

power, put in in the spring of 1882.

This mill during the year 1881 did a business of $200,000. That tells

the whole story.
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ZIMiMERMAN AND HARTER S ELEVATOR.

This belongs to the same firm, and is connected to the frame mill by a

movable bridge. This building is of brick and is built as solidly as skilled

workmen could make it. It is two stories high with a full basement.

Length, ninety feet, breadth, forty-five feet, height, sixty-two feet. It cost

in the neighborhood of $10,000 . It will hold twenty thousand bushels of

grain, and one thousand barrels of flour. A tram way leads from the

elevator to the Missouri Pacific Railroad track. Grain can be thrown

into a small car from the cars on the track, and run directly into the

elevator.

The whole value of the mill elevator, and machinery is about $30,000.

kipper's mill

is owned by Messrs. J. C. Kipper and Wallace. It is two and a half

stories high, built of stone and brick, and is one of the most solid buildings
in the city. It began operations in ISSl. It has four run of burrs, and all

the latest improved machinery. Its capacity is seventy-five barrels per

da}-. Its value in round numbers is $17,000. The owners now have in

course of erection a large brick elevator adjoining it.

B. s. rembaugh's mill.

This is a frame flouring mill, located on the west end of Main street. It

was built and began operations in the winter of 1881. It has three run

of burrs, two sets of rolls, and all other pieces of machinery of the latest '

patents and best quality. The mill can grind five hundred bushels of

grain daily. The steam sheller can shell four thousand bushels of corn

per day. The mill possesses ever}- requisite for making the finest quality
of flour, and already does a large business, and is taxed to its utmost capa-

city. The building and machinery are worth about $9,000.

m'nEESE's ELEVATOR

is the first one erected in the city, as an experiment. It is a small frame

building, not intended for the storage of much grain, but furnished with

the machinery necessary to transfer grain from the wagon to the cars. It

can elevate and load about five thousand bushels of grain a day. In 1880,
the first year it ran, it handled over seventy-five thousand bushels of wheat.

It is owned by W. A. McNeese.

THE BREWERY

is owned and run by Messrs. John Helm and Jno. W. Siebe, and it is

owing to their energy, intelligence and enterprise, that it has reached its

present dimensions. The establishment is now worth, at the least, $50,000^
The brewery was started in the spring of 1866, on a small scale by Messrs.

Zeilliger & Heller. In 1867 the latter became sole proprietor, and erected



HISTORY OF SEDALIA. 535

the first brick building, three stories high and sixty by twenty-two feet.

The cellar and malt house were enlarged. Until 1S73 the brewery did a

fine business, when Mr. Frische became a partner. That year the malt

house burned. The loss embarrassed Frische & Heller, and in 1873 they
sold out to F. Schill and John Helm. In 1876 Schill sold his interest to

Jno. W. Siebe. At the time the present firm took hold of it the brewery
had a capacity of twenty-five barrels per day. From 1873, on to the

present time, the proprietors have added brick buildings, new cellars,

new ice houses, almost every year.

The main building is 50x55 feet, two stories high. The mash tub has a

ca3acity of 120 barrels. The brewing kettle has a capacity of eighty-five

barrels. The establishment now covers over an acre of ground, has

cellars that will hold 500 barrels of beer, and over them are ice houses

which will hold 1,000 tons of ice. From top to bottom of the establish-

ment is the best machinery known in this line of business and the estab-

ishment is an excellent one in all respects. The annual business done by
the Sedalia Brewery ranges from $45,000 to $65,000 per annum. Fred.

Helm has a large bottling establishment in connection with the brewery
and sends off large quantities of the beer put up in neat and convenient

shape.
CITY MILLS.

This flouring mill is located on the corner of Lafayette and Third

streets, and is owned by Chas. Neeson. It began operations in 1877, and

has increased its capacity year by year. The mill has three sets of burrs

and all the modern mill machinery. It has a capacity of grinding from

250 to 300 bushels of grain in a day. The property is worth about

$7,000.

THE CAPITAL MILLS

is the oldest in the city, having been established in 1867 by Messrs.

William and Theodore Hoberecht. The building is of brick and frame

and is the largest in the city. In 1881 $7,000 was expended by its new

proprietor, John F. Antes, an additional story to the building, and a

complete new lot of machinery for the interior. Every late invention in

mining machinery has been placed in it, and it is now as perfect in all

respects as a mill can be. The mill now has a capacity to grind 130

bushels per day or 39,000 barrels per annum. The value of the property

is about $25,000.

BRUNKHORST's saw MILL

was established in this city in the winter of 1881, and began operations

early in the spring of 1882. This mill makes a specialty of sawing hard

lumber native to Missouri, such as black walnut, wild cherry, maple, oak,

sycamore, linn and cedar. The property is worth about $7,000. Not
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only ordinary lumber is produced, but timber is cut into shapes and sizes

suitable for such establishments as manufacture furniture, mouldings, etc.,

etc. The mill has a capacity to saw 8,000 feet of lumber' per day and

now has all the work it can possibly do.

WOOD AND COAL YARDS.

There are four regular institutions of this kind and a few which deal in

fuel in the winter onl}'. The following is an estimate of the business

done by them:

NO. . 1880. 1881.

1 $ 6,000. $ 8,.500.

2 10,000. 10,000.

3 22,350. 26,000.

4 1,600. 2,000.

5 25,000. 25,000.

Total $ 61,950. $71,500.

INTERNAL REVENUE.

A deputy collector of the United States Internal Revenue is stationed

at Sedalia—Mr. Harvey R. "Wheeler. No figures of the amount of rev-

enue collected in previous years could be procured. The brewery gets a

large amount of beer stamps outside of the city and these are not included

in the estimate. The proprietors of the brew^ery say that they pur-
chased in 1881 about $1,000 worth of beer stamps. The following figures

for ISSl were furnished from the collector's books:

Special taxes $ 2,619.

Beer stamps 3,000.

Cigar stamps 3,200.

Total $ 8,819.

BRICK MAKERS.

There are two regular brick vards in the city which do a large business

and are compelled each season to bring in brick from surrounding towns

to supply the demand.

W, E. LASHMET,

in 1880 made and put into houses 580,000 brick, the estimated value of

which in the walls was $4,850. In 1881 he made 1,000,000 brick, a por-

tion of which were laid in walls by his workmen. The estimated value

is $11,1:60. The increase over 1880 is considerable, but could not be

exactly estimated.
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JOHN POHL.

In 1881 made 1,800,000 brick, and the average price for which they
sold was $6.50 per thousand. He employed twenty-two men at an

average price per month of $35, and five teams at an average of $3 per

day. He consumed during the season 450 cords of wood at an average

price of $1:.50 per cord, or a total of $2,0*25.

The total number of brick used annually is estimated at 3,500,000.

THE MISSOURI PACIFIC STOCK YARDS

are located in East Sedalia, and cover an area of about five acres. They
have suitable buildings for offices, stables and granaries. All the yards
are furnished with an abundant supply of water fi-om the cit}' water

works. They will accommodate about 1,500 head of cattle and there is

sufficient land adjoining them, owned by the railroad company, to enlarge
them at any time that it is necessary. Mr. John R. Skinner is the pres-

ent manager.

GENERAL BUISNESS.

Nothing is more suggestive to the thoughtful mind than statistics, the

actual array of tangible facts about any subject set forth in figures.

The business history of Sedalia can be understood by those who live

after this generation is dead and gone and by those who have never seen

Sedalia by simply examining the figures relating to her business. The
writer has devoted a great deal of time and labor in the accumulation of

the tbllowing tables of figures. They were procured by a personal can-

vass and interviews with merchant afi:er merchant, firm after firm, from

the beo-inningr.to the end. The reader will at once see what branches of

business were represented by wholesale houses in the year 1881 and 1882»

and the amount of business done in each branch, by an examination of the

table:

Boots and shoes, hats and caps, books and stationery, dry goods and

notions, hardware, stoves and tinware, glass and queensware, agricultural

implements, wines and liquors, rags and scrap iron, hides, wool and furs,

grain, proprietary medicines.

No. 1880. 1881. No. 1880. 1881.

1 $ 1 00,000 $ 125,000 14 $ 75,000 $ 100,000

2 175,000 200,000 J 5 90,000 110,000

3 100,000 100,000 16 46,000 56,000

4 95,000 85,000 IT 35,000 40,000

5 70,000 85,000 18 100,000 125,000

6 100,000 125,000 19 152,o00 190,000

7 130,000 140,000 20 100,000 125,000
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8 56,000 72,680 21 50,000 70,000

9 23,000 25,000 22 25,000 30,000

10 17,500 23,250

11 5,000 Total $1,81:0,250 $2,270,930

12 100,000 125,000 Increase in 1881 $436,680
13 200,000 220,000

This does not include eight retail firms which do an aggregate of $25,-

000 worth of wholesale trade annually. This would make the total trade

for twent3'-three wholesale and eight retail firms amount in 1881 to

$2,301,930,

The above gives a general idea of the wholesale trade. The amount

done by each separate branch can be seen from the following table; also

the increase on the diminution of trade.

Separate branches of wholesale and retail trade:

MANUFACTORIES. . GAME, FRUIT, FISH, ETC.

In 1881 $ 629,050 In 1881 $ 25,000

In 1880 498,000 In 1880 21,000

Increase 1881 $ 13 1,050 Increase in 1881 $ 4,000

RETAIL DRY GOODS. BUTCHERS.

In 1881 $ 307,000 In 1881 $ 135,000
In 1880 282,000 In 1880 100,000

Increase in l.sSl $ 25,000 Incre:ise in 1881 $ 35,000

SALOONS. UPHOLSTERERS.

In 1881.... $ 200,000 In 1881 $ 20,000
In 1880 180,000 In 1880 $ 15,000

Increase in 1881 $ 20,000 Increase in 1881 $ 5,000

HOTELS, RESTAURANTS, BOARDING
HOUSES. RETAIL HARDWARE, STOVES, ETC.

In 1881 $ 225,000 In 1881 $ 120,000
In 1880 175,000 In 1880 110,000

Increase in 18^1 $ 50,000 Increase in 1881 $ 10,000

STOCK TRADE. FURNITURE.

In 1881 $ 2,000,000 In 1881 $ 58,000

In 1880 about 1,500,000 In 1880 53,000

Increase in 1881 S 500,000 Increase in 1881 $ 5,000
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RETAIL GROCERIES. MUSIC AND INSTRUMENT DEALERS.

In 1881 ? 500,000 In l^^l $ 70,000

In 1880 425,000 I" 1^^^' -^1/-"^"^'

Increase in 1881 $ 75,0hij
Increase m 1881 S 19,000

LUMBER TRADE. SEWING MACHINES.

In 18S1 $ 2.oO,00<»
In lS-1 S 50,000

In 1880 2.50,000
I" 1^80 50,000

SADDLER V.
TAILORS AND CLOTHIERS.

In 1881 $22.5,000

In 1880 200,000

In 1881 S .37,000

In 1880 30.000

T • 1 " 1 e rj- AAA Increase in 1881 S 7,' "JO
Increase in l!>^l it> 2o,000

HATS, CAPS, BOOTS AND SHOES.
DRUGGISTS.

In 1881 S 103,000
In 18S1 :? 1'4,.'M, ^^ ^„^^, ^,,^-, .^.^.^

In 1880 86,800 [

Increase in 1881 S 17,ij'J«i

GLASS AND QUEENSWARE.

Increase in 1881 S 3,000

JEWELERS AND WATuH MAKERS.

In !>>!;-] S 31,'juu
In 1881 S 150,000 j^ -j_o^^ 9.3.OO0

In 1880 150,000 '.

Increase in ISSl 5 S,00t>

BAKERS.

In 1880 33,900 In ISSl about S 12,000

LH'ERY STABLES.

In 1881 $ 40,700

^HLLINERS AND FANCY GOODS.
Increase in 18S1 5> 6,800

^^ i,,i ^^out $20,000
CIGARS AND TOBACCO. DOLLAR STORES AND FANCY GOODS.

In 1881 S 42,000 j^ ^§81 about S 15,000
In 1880 38,000 BRICK MAKERS.

Increase in 1881 $ 4,i)i_'U In 18^1 $ 50,000

Siunniary—Wholesale trade in 1881 $ 2,337,000

Miscellaneous wholesale trade not included in previous fi;(uresS 50,Oi:t0

Total S 2,387,000

In 1880 S 2,009,000

Increase in 1881 S 378,0o0

Estimate from the actual figures given under the head of

"Wholesale Trade" in 1881 S 2,276,000

In 1-80 1,840,2.50

Increase in 1881 ^ 435, < 5o
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CHAPTER VIII—CHURCHES.

The First Baptist Church—The First Congregational Church—The First Presbyterian

Church—The Old School Presbyterian Church—The Cumberland Presbyterian

Church—The Ohio Street Methodist Episcopal Church—The East Sedalia Baptist

Church-T-The Montgomery Street Methodist Episcopal Church — The Christian

Church—The M. E. Church, South—The Episcopal Church—The German Evan-

gelical Church—The St. Vincent Catholic Church.

THE FIRST BAPTIST CHURCHj SEDALIA, MO.

During the Civil War the American Baptist Home Mission Society of

New York was steadily engaged in watching over and developing Bap-
tist interests in Missouri wherever it was possible. Of course the possi-

bility of successful work in a thriving, vigorous young town like Sedalia

could not fail to attract its attention. Rev. E. T. Brown was appointed
the Society's Missionary to this district. The individual history of the

First Baptist Church begins upon Oct. 20, 1865, when, at the call of Rev.

Mr. Brown, a meeting was held in the house of worship of the O. S.

Presbyterian Church, on the corner of Second and Lamine streets. Rev.

E. T. Hiscox, D. D., of New York' City, a scholarly and aflable Christian

gentleman, well known in the denomination and acting at that time as Gen-

eral Superintendent of the Home Mission Society's work in the West,

delivered a sermon on the words,
" Ye are the light of the world." Matt.

5:14. At the close of the sermon nineteen persons came forward and,

having given evidence of good standing in the Baptist Churches of their

former hornes, proceeded to organize as a church by unanimous assent

to the i\rticles of Faith as published in J. Newton Brown's Encyclopaedia

of Religious Knowledge, and by hearty and devout acceptance of the

Covenant. The new organization was then formally recognized as the

First Baptist Church of Sedaha, Mo., and the Rev, Dr. Hiscox, in behalf

of the Council of Recognition and of the Baptist denomination, extended

to the Church the right hand of fellowship.

The followincr are the' names of those who entered as constituent mem-

bers: John Q. Bridges, Mrs. Martha Bridges, George Galliher, Mrs.

Melinda Galliher, Rachel A. Bridges, Melinda J. Jennings, Mrs. Sabina

Boyer, Barbara A. Kean, Ehzabeth Tapman, John McKennan, Sarah

J. Hansford, James M. Patterson, Mrs. Sallie Patterson, John Hubbard,

Jennie Hubbard, J. A. Mitchell, ]Miles W. Barnard, Mrs. Elizabeth Barn-

ard, Rev. E. T. Brov^'n. Of these original members only three still remain

with the church.

The new church elected Rev. E. T. Brown Pastor, and John Hubbard

Church Clerk, before adjournment on the day of organization.

The first necessity was, of course, a home, and the members set them-

selves vigorously to work to provide a house of worship. On Nov. 3,
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1865, John L. Hall, John Hubbard and J. A. Mitchell were appointed

trustees, and instructed to borrow $1,000 from the American Baptist
Home Mission Society, to aid in the erection of a meeting house. On

January 4, 1866, two of the trustees having resigned, a new board was

appointed, consisting of John L. Hall, E. T. Brown and Geo. Galliher,

who were also authorized to act as the building committee of the church.

Two lots were obtained on the corner of Fourth and Lamine streets — one

lot being a present from Gen. Geo. R. Smith. The loan had been secured

from the Home Mission Society, materials were rapidly put upon the

ground
—and in May, 1866, the house was completed at a cost to the

church of $5,500. The dedication services took place May 13, 1866, Rev.

A. C. Osborn, D. D,, of St. Louis, preaching the sermon upon the occa-

sion. The same day a sister McClellan was welcomed to the new home

by the ordinance of baptism, and upon next Lord's day sister Mar}- Neet

was baptized into the fellowship of the rejoicing church, which was glad
to see in these successive baptisms an omen of happ}'' years of fruitful

labor in the Lord's vineyard. And in spiritual things these expectations
have been largely realized. But in temporal affairs the members were

doomed to some dioappointments. At the dedication the church was

supposed to be clear of all encumbrance, but an unexpected collapse of

subscription lists left the young organization under the galling bondage of

heavy indebtedness, and it was not until Jan., 1882, that ihe church by a

resolute effort finally freed itself from all claims upon its property.
The property is admirably located, facing the northeast corner of the

Public Square. The tide of business may ultimately set sostrongl}' in that

direction that the church will be compelled to seek a refuge from the clat-

ter of traffic farther up town, as some other churches have already done.

For some years to come, however, the members expect to cling to the old

house, with its sacred memories of bridal and burial, prayer and praise.

It is a plain, old-fashioned frame meeting house, fifty by thirty-six feet, hori-

zontal dimensions, and twenty-four feet from the floor to the highest point

in the ceihng. When fully seated, the auditorium will accommodate three

hundred persons. In the summer of 1874 the building was greatly

improved by the addition of two rooms, in the rear of the auditorium, for

pastor's study and Sunday school purposes, though the improvement in

point of convenience was counterbalanced by the addition of about $300
to the already heavy debt which the congregation of 1881 had to pay.

In the fall of 1876 a further improvement was effected by the erection of a

pipe organ worth $1,200, an instrument of sweet tone, which, under skill-

ful hands, contributed no little to the pleasure of those who love the musical

features' of Divine worship. During the spring of 1882 the house under-

went a thorough renovation. Roofing, painting and papering have made

22
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the old house a
sufficiently pleasant looking place of worship until the

demands of the growing town shall necessitate a new and more elaborate
edifice.

As we have already stated, the first pastor of the church was Rev. E
T. Brown, who served from Oct. 20, 1865, to June 15, 1867, when his res-
ignation was accepted by the church. As his record is mentioned else-
where in this volume, it is unnecessary to speak particularly of his work at
an important and critical period of the church's history. Of the pastorswho have served the church, he is, as yet, the only one who has passed
from the field of earthly labor. Some time elapsed^before the pulpit was
again filled. A call was extended to Rev. J. B. Fuller, which he was
compelled to decline, on the ground of the reluctance of his existing charcre
to accept his resignation. But on June .5, 1868, the church, governed by
the clear indications of Providence, as it devoutly believed, called to the
vacant pastorate Rev. John Letts, of Ohio, a man of singular strength and
sweetness of character. His term of service was a short one, for in June,
1869, against the strongly expressed wish of the members, he insisted upon'
the acceptance of his resignation. Though since that time he has had the
care of other churches continually, he has retained his residence in Seda-
ha, where, for his powers and virtues of mind and heart, sound judg-ment,
genial kindness and Christian charity, he is respected by all and held in
most affectionate esteem by those who know him best. For more than a

year there was that most disastrous of churchly conditions, a pastoral
interregnum. Calls were extended in succession to Rev. C. W. Whiting,
of Boonville, R.ev. C. C. Chaplain, of Virginia, Rev. J. B. Fuller and
Rev. Elihu Gunn, of Iowa, and Rev. Green Clay Smith, of Kentucky, men
of ability and experience. But none of them, by some singular fatality,
could accept the charge. Failure after failure had sorely discouraged the
church when light dawned upon the confusion of the scattered congrega-
tion. On March 1, 1871, Rev. Robert H. Harris, a genial, active, elo-

quent preacher, well known to every church of Central Missouri, accepted
the long vacant post. His administration was profitable to the church,
though of no long continuance. In April, 1873, he was succeeded by
Rev. Judson Carey Davidson, of Virginia, a young man of brilliant prom"^-
ise and poetic imagination. His pastorate was the longest in the church's

history, cotinuing six years and a half. He was universally hked, and
especially popular among the younger people, but being very"^ impressible
he became almost too readily discouraged when affairs were not progress-
ing as he wished. On four different years his resignation had come JDefore
the church, before it was finally accepted, Oct. 5, 1879, when the connec-
tion of pastor and people was dissolved. Another considerable, interval
followed to dishearten the church and scatter the congregation, before the

present pastor, Rev. J. B. Fuller, took charge, March 20, 1880. Under
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Mr. Fuller's care the church has gone forward very quietly, increasing in

numbers, but best of all, taking in hand to clear oft' old debts and improve
its property. Gas has replaced the old kerosene lamps, inside and outside

the house has been repainted and beautified, making a neat and comforta-

ble home. In meeting these heavy financial demands the church has

resorted to none of the popular but doubtfully moral ways of raising

money so common in modern times. Rich and poor have joined heart

and hand to pay as their ability allowed. The pastor is proud of his peo-

ple and delights to tell how they have paid their expenses upon the old-

fashioned scriptural plan. The church, at present numbering 151 mem-

bers, seems to be in a condition of harmonious, healthful activity
—

doing

a solid work in an unostentatious fashion, looking for the praise of God

rather than of man.

The clerks who have served the church from the beginning are John

Hubbard, George Galliher, E. W. Bixby, John Stryker, J. H. Barley, W.
A. McNees, Charles E. Gunn, William H. H. Hill, William N. Graham

and Albert F. Whipple, who is now on duty.

The church had been in existence a year before any deacons were

elected, a most unusual circumstance. But on Oct. 13, 1866, James P.

Leake and George Galliher were elected to that office. On Aug. 30,

18Yl, David Hills and D. A. Waterman w^ere added to the board. Sept.

27, 1876, the board of deacons was re-organized by the election of James
P. Leake, John Stryker, W. A. McNees and J. H. Barley, who continue

to officiate.

The present board of trustees is composed of J. P. Leake, J. Stryker,

John L. Hall and W. A. McNees.

J. P. Leake, the present excellent treasurer, has served in that capacity

during the greater part of the church's existence.

Owing to the non-existence of the early records of the Sunday School,

it is impossible to say just when or by whom that usual adjunct of a church

was organized. It is known to have been in existence very soon after the

church began its work—but from the memories of those engaged we can

glean but Httle concerning its development and usefulness. From the

church records we learn that the following named have filled the office of

superintendent: Rev. E. T. Brown, J. P. Leake, John Stryker, D. A.

Waterman, Rev. J. C. Davidson, Wm. H. H. Hill, Robert Zener, James

Peabody, Ira C. Hubbell, C. M. Jacobs, R. H. Allison. The present

officers are Col. J. D. Crawford, Superintendent; Rev. J. B. Fuller,

Assistant Superintendent; A. W. Hawks, Secretary and Treasurer; Miss

Mary Leaming, Organist. Teachers—Mrs. E. Lamy, Miss Kate Bis-

comb, John Stryker, Albert F. Whipple, Prof. LeRoy Birchfield, Mrs.

Josephine P. Hatch, Mrs. Carrie Tomlinson, Mrs. M. E. Donahoe, Mrs.

Julia Sinnett, Mrs. L. A. Tucker, Mrs. W. A. McNees, and Prof. F. A.
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North with the following class: Mamie Leaminj^, Dovie Barley, Mamie

Neet, Mattie Letts, Flora Hatch, Susie Hawks, Florence Tucker, Flor-

ence Lamy, Sarah Walker and Minnie White. The school has an

enrolled membership of 145, and meets every Sunday at 9:30 a. m. This

school, though not large as to numbers, is doing a good work and its

future is a promising one.

THE FIRST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

Probably no church that has attained to such a position of influence,

started from smaller beginnings than the First Congregational Church of

Sedalia. Only one member of a Congregational Church lived in Sedalia

when it was proposed to organize the society and build a church. Rev.

E. B. Turner, the Home Missionary agent, seeing the prospect for an

important town here, came twice in the summer of 1S65 to confer with J.

H. Mertz, the only Congregationalist in Sedalia, and was advised that a

minister should be sent into this field. Accordingly Rev. J. M. Bowers

came and at once began active operations to organize a church. The
church was organized, April 12, 1866, with the following original mem-
bers: Rev. J. M. Bowers, J. H. Mertz, Aaron Brown, Mrs. Aseneth C.

Brown, Thomas Tracy, Mrs. Sophia Tracy, H. L. Maynard, Mrs. Sylvia

Maynard, Mrs. E. R. Newcomb. The call for a council to aid in 'the

organization of this church was made, March 10, 1866, and articles of

faith were adopted at that meeting. The following named ministers and

delegates responded to the call and aided in the organization: Rev. T.

M. Post, D. D., St. Louis, also Mr. S. B. Kellogg and Mr. C. M. Saxton;
Rev. L. Bartlett, Kansas City; Rev. E. B.Turner, Rev. M. H. Smith,

Warrensburg; Rev. L. Newcomb, Syracuse, and Rev. L.Jones.
Rev. J. M. Bowers was ordained the first pastor of the church on the

evening of April 12, 1866, at which the services were conducted by the

following named persons: L. Jones, reading hymn; L. Bartlett, reading

scriptures; M. H. Smith, opening prayer; Dr. T. M. Post, ordination ser-

mon; E. B. Turner, ordaining pra3'er; L. Newcomb, hand of fellowship;

L. Bartlett, charge to pastor; L.Jones, charge to church; J. M. Bowers,
the benediction.

Mr. Bowers presided over this church till his resignation, which occurred

Nov. 1, 1869. During his pastorate the church was placed on a firm

basis, the house of worship was erected, the bell was purchased and the.

most important revival in its history was experienced. The revival meet-

ings were led by Rev. John Montieth, of St. Louis, in the spring of 1868,

and were undoubtedly the most powerful ever held in the city; man}' of

the prominent members of this and other churches professed conversion at

these meetings. Rev. Bowers was a young man just from Oberlin

Theological Seminary, and his ministrations and labors here were crowned
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with great success. He was untiring in his duties both in heart and hand.

He is now at Chandlerville, 111.

The house of worship was 'built and dedicated in the spring of 1867,
and its whole cost, including the lot on which it stands, was $8,000. It may
be interesting to state in this connection that when this church was built,

if the entire wealth of its members had been estimated in one sum, it

would have fallen far below^ the cost of the church. At the present time

the membership includes a fair share of the financial standing and business

enterprise of the city. The church is sixty-two by forty feet, twenty-six
feet ceiling and sixty feet tower, and will seat three hundred and fifty

persons. The bell, the first in the city, made by Jones, of Tro}-, N. Y.,

weighs one thousand and one hundred pounds, and cost $600. A good
cabinet organ, pulpit, carpets and upholstery are among the conveniences

for worshipers here. Material aid in building the church was obtained

through the etibrts of the pastor and his friends, at Mansfield, Ohio. The
Mansfield Church gave $1,300, the St. Louis Churches gave between $500
and $1,000, the Congregational Union gave about $1,000, the American
Home Missionary Society mostly supporting the pastor for about two

years, and aid was obtained from other friends in the east. Of those who
constituted the first membership, nearly all have moved awa}'. J. H.

Mertz, one of the leading members from its organization to the present

time, is one of the promment druggists of the city. Aaron Brown came
to Sedalia for the purpose of engaging in the hard^vare business, but soon

commenced preaching, and in 1867 organized the Congregational
Churches at Pleasant Hill and Greenwood. He subsequently removed
to Indiana and, then to Ohio, where he now resides. Thomas Tracy,
another of the original members, and its first deacon, now lives at Windsor,

Mo., where he recently celebrated his golden wedding. Mr. H. L. Mav-
nard kept a liver}^ for sometime, and about five j-ears ago removed to

Wisconsin. Mrs. E. R. Newcomb remained with the church only one

year, when she removed to Nebraska, where her husband was preaching.
Rev. W. B. Seaver w-as the second pastor, and commenced his labors,

March 23, 1870, resigning, July, 1872. During his pastorate about $2,000

was expended in improvements of the church, for gas, frescoing, carpeting,

painting, &c.

The pastorate of Rev. J. M. Van Wagner, which commenced in

October, 1872, inaugurated a new epoch in the histor}'^ of the church.

His personal characteristics, original style of preaching, social manners and

general intercourse with the world, from the very beginning attracted the

attention of the people and filled his church with earnest hearers. He
served the church four years, and resigned to accept a unanimous call

from the Congregational Church of Paris, Texas. There were seasons

of revival meetings each winter, but during the winter of 1872-3 the largest
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of his pastorate occurred. During these four years one hundred and one

members were added, fitty-tvvo by profession and forty-nine by letter, and

the strength and influence of the church was much improved. The fol-

lowincr was sent to the General Association of the State in the fall of 1873:
" Sedalia has been the recipient ol marked favor from the Lord of the

harvest. The membership of the church has been more than doubled, the

gain being chiefly by conversions." His influence over the masses was

very great and salutary. One day during the summer of 1ST7, when the

great railroad strike was at its height in this city, Mr. Van Wagner was

called upon by the officials to address the large and turbulent mob. His

impromptu remarks were well received b}^ the excited crowd, and it was

said that they had more influence in restraining the strikers from violence

than all other influences combined. At one time during his ministry here

he was invited and accepted a request to supply the pulpit of Rev. Henry
Ward Beecher, while the latter was away on a, vacation.

Rev. Charles L. Mitchell, a graduate of rale College and Andover

Theological Seminary, commenced his pastorate with this church,Jan. 1st,

1877, and resigned in Ma}^ 1879. During his pastorate a parsonage cost-

ing $1,000 was built "in close proximity to the church on the west.

Rev. Allen J. Van Wagner, son of J. M. Van Wagner, commenced his

labors here, Nov. 23, 1879, and still continues a most acceptable pastor.

In January, 1881, he was invited to be installed as permanent pastor, and

accordingly was installed the February following. Rev. Dr. Goodell

preached the sermon and acted as moderator of the council. Rev. Robert

West, now of Shawmut Church, Boston, gave the charge to the pastor.

Rev. Henry Hopkins, of Kansas City, gave the charge to the people, and

Rev. S. G. Bailey gave the right hand of fellowship to the pastor.

The church is in good condition, both spiritually and financially. The

following was reported in October, 1881, to the General Association of

the State, which met at Springfield, Mo. "Sedalia has enjoyed a marked

degree of prosperity. A much needed revival followed the week of

prayer; souls were quickened and many born into the kindom of peace.

The clerk writes: 'The church is in the best financial condition in its his-

tory; more money raised than ever before; audiences ver}^ large; prayer-

meetings well attended; harmony and brotherly love prevail. The out-

look is most encouraging.'
" The present officers of the church are: J.

H. Mertz, G. L. Shepard, B. F. Dean, Geo. H. Sanford, Deacons; G. H.

Scott, H. L. Berry, J. G. Sloane,J. R. Webber, E.W.Sinclair, Trustees;

A. E. Whitney, Clerk; E. W. Sinclair, Treasurer:

The quartette choir is composed of excellent singers: J. B. Wilcox,

tenor, chorister; Morris Barrett, basso; Mable VanCamp, soprano; Mrs. J.

B. Wilcox, alto; Prof. A. A. Giffbrd, organist.

The Sunday School, with an average attendance of one hundred, is in a
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flourishing condition. Superintendent, H. L. Berry; Assistant Superin-

tendent, Geo. H. Sandford; Secretary and Librarian, Charles West;
Teachers: Rev. A.J. VanWagner, Geo. H. Sandford, Mrs. A. E. Whit-

ney, Dr. Geo Shepard, Mrs. H. L. Berry, Mrs. A. C. Ainsworth, J. H.

Mertz, Mrs. J. B. Wilcox, Miss Minnie Fenwick, Mrs. Roll, Mrs. Evans,

Miss Mary Goodell and Miss Sylvia Sheldon.

THE FIRST PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

Soon after the beginning of the war, in 1861, Rev. John Montgomery,
D. D., walked from Georgetown to Sedalia and preached one of the first

sermons ever delivered in the town, in a small wooden house that had

been brought up on the Mo. Pacific R. R., then being constructed. The

audience consisted of a few citizens and quite a number of U. S. officers

and soldiers.

Dr. Montgomery continued to preach occasionally in Sedalia as did

also Rev. Mr. Barbee. The latter induced the friends to buy a house that

had been used as a church in Syracuse, and remove it to Sedalia. This

building was moved and rebuilt in the spring of 1865. This was the first

house of worship erected in the town, and is the same now occupied by
the O. S. Presbyterian Church, on the corner of Second and Lamine

streets. The population of the place was then about 1,000. It was built

for a Presbyterian Church, but for several years was occupied by the dif-

ferent denominations. The First Presbyterian Church was not formally

organized till Aug. 11, 1865. This was effected in a school room situated

north of the Mo. P. R. K., back of the present Garrison House, Dr.

Montgomery presiding.

The following persons were enrolled as members: Dr. Thos. J. Mont-

gomery, John S. Brown, J.J. Monahan, Abram Meyer, Julius Huffman,

Mrs. R. Monahan, Mrs. Adaline Meyer, Jos. P. Landes, Mrs. Sarah E.

Staley, John F. Philips, P. G. Stafford and Wm. B. Wallace.

The following were elected elders: Abram Meyer, W. B. Wallace

and J. S. Brown.

Dr. Montgomery continued to preach for .the church till Feb. 25, 1868,

when, on account of bodily injuries received, he resigned as stated supply.

In Sept., 1866, a call was placed in his hands, but he was never installed

as pastor.

When Dr. M. resigned, he recommended the church to engage as sup-

ply Rev. C. H. Dunlap, who had previousl}^ assisted him in a protracted

meeting. Mr. Dunlap was employed and began his labors, April 5, 1868,

and closed them, March 3, 1872. The church up to this time had no

connection with any Presbytery. At a church meeting held, Feb. 4, 1870,

the elders were advised to send a representative to Osage Presbytery of

the General Assembly, when forty-one members asked for tiieir letters
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and organized what has since been known as the O. S. Presbyterian

Church. At this time the Church numbered about 120 members. A
division of the property was made according to the membership. The

out-going members agreed to keep the church property and pay those

who remained in the organization about $2,500.

Sept. 30, 1872, a call was made for Rev. j. H. Miller, and he was installed

the first pastor of the church, Oct. 20, 1872. Rev. Timothy Hill, D. D.,

of Kansas City, presided; Rev. C. H. Foot, D. D., of St. Louis, preached

the sermon; Rev. D. C. Milner, of Kansas City, charged the pastor; and

Rev. R. Irwin, D. D., of St. Louis, charged the people. April 12, 1876,

this relation was dissolved by the Presbytery at Osage.
Rev. H. M. Shockley was called as pastor, Dec. 1, 1876, and served the

church till June, 1880. He was succeeded by Rev. George A. Beattie,

who began his labors the first of July, and was installed pastor, Sept. 29,

1880. Rev. Chas. H. Fuller, of Warrensburg, preached the sermon;

Rev. R. H.Jackson, of Appleton City, presided and charged the pastor;

and Rev. J. S. Page, of Centerview, charged the people.

At this date, Jan., 1882, all who have ministered to the church are still

living. Dr. Montgomery resides on his farm near Longwood in Pettis

County; Rev. C. H. Dunlap is the pastor of the Presbyterian Church at

Newcastle, Pa.; Rev. J. H. Miller is supply to the pulpit of the Second

Presbyterian Church in Kansas City, and also in charge of a mission in

the same city; Rev. H. M. Shockley has charge of the Presbyterian

Church at Hutchinson, Kan.; Rev. G. A. Beattie is the present pastor.

There has been an annual average addition to the church of twenty-

one; on examination fourteen, and by letter seven. There have been sev-

eral marked revivals.

On Feb. 23, 1867, there were thirty-two additions, of these tvvent}--

three on profession. In the winter of 1868 there was another revival.

Again, in 1869, when twent\'-three were added, thirteen on profession. In

the winter of 1881 the church was much quickened, and on the follow-

ing communion twenty-three were publicly received, fourteen on exami-

nation. The church has recently been much revived and quite a number

have been added, with " more to follow." Since 1876 the membership
has more than doubled. Whole number added to the church is 3-17, on

examination ] 21, and by letter 226. There have been added under the

different ministers as follows:

Dr. Montgomery, Aug. 11, 1865, to Feb. 25, 186S, examination 37,

letter 63, total 100; C. H. Dunlap, April 5, ISiiS, to March 3, 1872, exam-

ination 21, letter 59, total S3; J. H. Miller, Oct. 20,. 1872, to April 12,

1876, examination 11, letter 30, total ii; H. H. Shockley, Dec. 1, 1876, to

June, 1880, examination 23, letter 4o, total CA)\ G. A. Beattie, July 11, 1880,
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to date, examination 26, letter 28, total 54. The present membership
is 156.

It was estimated in 1875 that the church up to that time had contributed

for all purposes about $12,000. Since then $10,755 has been contributed,

making an aggregate of more than $20,000. The first building as it

stood at Syracuse cost $350, but its removal and addition of twenty feet

made the total cost about $3,000. One of the two lots of the first site

was donated by Gen. George R. Smith, and the other was purchased
from him for $200. The present site, 120x170 feet, cost $1,500. The

present edifice was built in 1870 at a cost of about $1,000, the board of

church erection contributing ^1,000. While it was being constructed the

congregation by invitation worshiped with the M. E. Church, on Ohio

street. It was dedicated, Oct. 23, 1870. Rev. R. Irwin, D. D., of St.

Louis, preached the sermon.

The parsonage was built in 1877 at a cost of $900; other improvements
were made costing about $250. The recent improvements, painting the

church, furnace, carpet, frescoing, and seats cost over $1,000. The bell

was the gift of Mr. and Mrs. Jos. G. White.

The following is the list of elders: John. S. Brown, installed, August
11, 1867; Wm. B. Wallace, installed, August 11, 1865, died July 26, 1869;
G. W. Cummings, installed, April, 1866; T.J. Montgomery, installed, April,

1867; A. McCormick, installed, August 14, 1867; Noah H. Tindall,

installed, March 23, 1870; T. A. Switzler, installed, Sept. 29, 1872; G. W.
Ready, installed, Sept. 29, 1872; Jos. G. White, installed, Feb. 28, 1875;
Geo. Snedaker, installed, Feb. 28, 1875; R. P. Garrett, installed, Feb. 28,

1875; B. H. Croft, installed, Jan. 1, 1882; S. P. Johns, installed, Jan. 1,

1882.

The present ofiicers are as follows: Rev. G. A. Beattie, Pastor; Geo.

Si/iedaker, George W. Cummings, Geo. W. Ready, Jos. G. White, B. H.

Croft, S. P.Johns, Elders. Trustees: B. H. Croft, H. H. Fleming, M.

E. Burger.
Sabbath School: W. D. Fellows, Superintendent; Geo. A. Beattie,

Assistant Superintendent; H. H. Fleming, Secretary; Abram Meyer,

Treasurer; T. B. Anderson, Librarian; Chas. Roll and S.H.Moore,
Assistant Librarians. Teachers: Sue Gardner, Florence Atherton, Miss

Emma Fellows, P. G. Stafford, Mrs. Van Brunt, Jos. G. White, Geo.

Snedaker, M. E. Bui-ger, Louisa Emerson, Loy Barrett, Mrs. J. G. White,

S. P. Johns, Geo. F. Smith, Mrs. G. A. Beattie, Mary Gardner, Mrs. Geo.

Snedaker, Mrs. Dora Swartz, Alice Parker, Mrs. Emma Sprague, Nellie

Mitchell, Geo. W. Ready, J. S. McLean.

Young People's Society: H. H. Fleming, President; Miss Libbie

Snedaker, Vice President; Miss Frankie Miller, Secretary; Geo. R.

McKean, Treasurer.
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The following is the annual report to the Presbytery of Osage, from

April, 1881, to April, 1882:

Added on examination, 9; added on certificate, 6; dismissed by certifi-

cate, 1; died, 3; present membership, 161; baptized adults, 2; baptized

infants, 1; Sunda}- School membership, 308.

Funds contributed.—Home missions, $65.00; foreign, $62.00; education,

$18.00; publication, $11.00; church erection, $16.00; ministerial relief,

$16.00; freedmen, $13.00; sustentation, $19.00; general assembly, $15.00;

congregational, $2,830.20; miscellaneous, $25.00; total, ^3,075.20; ladies

contributed, $131.00; collections in Sunday school, $250.23; woman's

missionary society, $50,00; repairs on church, $1,228.00; young people's

society, :^37.50.

The church begins the ecclesiastical year free from debt.

THE OLD SCHOOL PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

The first minute in the record book is as follows:

Sunday morning, the 30th of January, 1870, Rev. C. H. Dunlap,
stated supply of First Presbyterian Church of Sedalia, Missouri,
announced that there would be a meeting of the members of the church
on February 3d, at 2 o'clock p. m., to take into consideration the future

interests of the church.

The meeting was held; the future interests of the church were taken

into consideration, and the result was that forty-four votes against twenty
decided to connect the First Presbyterian Church of Sedalia with the

Northern Assembly.
The record of February 18, 1870, is as follows:

At 'a meeting held in the Baptist Church this day, for the purpose of

organizing an Old School Presbyterian Church in Sedalia, Missouri, the

Rev. Jno. Montgomery, D. D., took the chair, as moderator.
,

On motion of T. J. Montgomery, Wm. Groesbeck was elected secre-

tary.
The moderator then announced that he held in his hand a list of mem-

bers dismissed at their own request from the First Presbyterian Church,
for the purpose of organizing another church; and that if there were
others who desired to unite with this organization an opportunity would
then be given.

The organization was effected.;, others gave in their adherence, and

from that date to this, Sedalia has had, besides the Cumberland, two Pres-

byterian Churches in its midst.

At the above named meeting, Wm. Groesbeck, Dr. T. J. Montgomery
and Col. Philips were elected elders. The former of these removed

several years ago to the Church at Independence, where he is still active.

Dr. Montgomery serves in the Church Triumphant. Col, Philips, we are

sorry to say, will soon leave for Kansas Cit}/.
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The following named persons constitute the original membership,

enrolled, February 18, 1870:

William Groesbeck, Harriet Groesbeck, Mary E. Groesbeck, Annie

Groesbeck, Mrs. Marv .Philips, Mrs. Marv A. Barrett, J. F. Jenkins,
Adam Ittel, Mrs. Ellen"' M. Ittel, J. R. Stewart, Mrs. Mary H. Stewart,
Miss Mary E. Shannon, Mrs. Mary Sneed, J. A. Wallace, Mrs. Minnie

Wallace, N. S. Henry, Miss M. C. Bush, Mrs. S. E. Stalev, Miss Anna

J. Leet, Mrs. S. M. Cronks, John F. Philips, Mrs. Fleecie Philips, Louis

Kumm, Mrs. Rosalie Kumm, Mrs. Madora Willis, M. M. Lampton, Mrs.

E. M. Lampton, Miss Augusta Lampton, A. B. Barrett, W. H. Allison,

Dr. W. C. West, Mrs. W. C. West, Mrs. Stella Wood, Mrs. A. J. Mont-

gomery, Dr. T. J. Montgomery, Miss Mollie Smith, Miss Cammie Mont-

gomery, Mrs. Emma Arnold, Geo. R. Keill, Mrs. A. E. Keill. All the

foregoing were b}^ letter from the First Presbyterian Church of this city.

Mrs. Geo. G. Vest and Mrs. Mary Hogue were received by letter from

Danville, Kentucky, and Platte City, Mo., respectively.

The first pastor who served this church was the Rev. John Montgom-

ery, D. D., one of the pioneer preachers of this county. He has aided in

the organization of many churches in the vicinity, having preached the

first discourses dehveredin this city, and was a prime mover in the organi-

zation of the First Presbyterian Church here.

Dr. Montgomery was pastor about two years, when he resigned and

Rev. J. E. Wheeler was installed pastor in the tall of 1872. His pastorate

was successful, and, with regret, the church received his resignation on

May 30, 1875.

Rev. W. J. Lapsley was called for indefinite supph', preaching his first

sermon on Sept. 26, 1875, and continued about a year.

Rev. W. G. F. Wallace succeeded, and, as stated supply, filled the

pulpit till Dec. 2, 1876, when he was called to the pastorate and remained

pastor until Oct. 6, 1878. He was then transferred by the Lafayette

presbytery to the evangelistic work in that presbytery. From this time

until August 6, 1879, the pulpit was supplied by Rev. Dr. J. L. Yantis, of

Brownsville.

Rev. P. D. Stephenson, of Trenton, Tenn., was then called and served

the church faithfully until May the 8th, 1881. Rev. A. W. Nesbit has

been with the church since April 8th of this year, (1882).

The church has, undoubtedly, been hindered in its work by these fre-

quent changes. No minister can begin to work effectively much under a

year, and to have had no pastorate for over three years cannot be other-

wise than detrimental. But in each case the matter has seemed to have

been ordered as a necessity.

Dr. Montgomery resigned, owing to the increasing infirmities of age.

Brother Wheeler left only when the providence of God seemed to point

the way to Independence. Rev. W. G. F. Wallace was appointed by the
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presbytery to shoulder its evangelistic work, and Brother Stephenson's
labor here was ended.

And yet, notwithstanding this very serious hinderance, the results have

been fair. During the twelve years of their existence they have :

First, kept up the regular preaching of the word of God in their midst.

Second, they have witnessed the addition of about one hundred and six

to their original membership.

Third, contributed on an average about $1,000 to the Lord's cause.

Fourth, paid otl a considerable amount of indebtedness (about $1,800)

contracted in the very beginning of their church life.

And fifthly, sustained a life comparatively free from the necessities of

discipline in the midst of many temptations.

The first and last of these specifications may not seem to amount to

much. Really, however, had they done them fully they would have done

their work. They really amount to everything. "To hold forth the

word of life
" and "

keep ourselves unspotted from the world "
is what

God has put us here for, and beyond this it is not ours to go.

Results the world demands, but results are God's, and could we but say
that we had fully

" sown " and "
watered," we might well rest content.

On May 28, 1882, this church held commemorative exercises including

the reading of a brief church history. And as the organization expect

soon to erect a new house of worship on Broadway, many tender senti-

ments with reference to the memories that cluster around the old church

building were expressed.

On this occasion Col. John F. Philips, one of the old and prominent

members, gave the following interesting reminiscences:

I have recently read the history of Presbyterianism in Pettis County,
and I find that my own life is almost contemporaneous with it. In the

year 1856 I was living at Georgetown, and was the only Presbyterian
there; there were perhaps not a dozen in the county. Rev. James Laps-
ley was living near Knobnoster and preaching in that neighborhood. I

was instrumental in securing him to preach at Georgetown, occasionally.
We had no church, and the services were held in the basement of a brick

building, w^hich is still standing.

My duties were manv. 1 was elder, deacon and sexton. I opened the

church, rang the bell, built the fires, swept out the house, lit the lamps,
went round the village to drum up an audience and took up the collection.

I shall never forget my longing for co-laborers in the work of planting

Presbyterianism in this county and preaching of the gospel to the people.
Nor shall I ever forget the joy which was mine when that Kentucky
delegation, headed by that noble man. Dr. Montgomer}-, and formed of

kindred spirits, came to us. It was as the coming of the relief at

Lucknow.
Dr. Montgomery at once set about his w'ork, and organized a church at

Priest's Chapel, twelve miles north of Georgetown, and I and my wife

attended services there every Sunday, unless the severity of the weather
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prevented. He then came to us at Georc:retown, and there remained

until the dark clouds of war rolled black ac^ainst the sky. I shall always
hold in fondest remembrance the life and work of this ^rand man among
us.

Dr. Montgomery needs no eulog}^ from me, but I cannot refrain from

<nving voice to the admiration I have for him as a scholar, an orator and a

noble christian gentleman. Lo3-al to his Master, ever zealous in His

service, strong in convictions of duty, and with the tender affections of a

woman, this man of God won respect and love from all who knew him.

Thank God, he still Hves on earth.

I cannot but recall the faces and names of the original members of the

little band which w^orshiped God in this humble temple in the beauty of

holiness—their lives devout, earnest, sober-minded. The members lived

in the fear of the Lord, and took delight in His service. Some of them
are living yet among us; others of the number are out yonder, in God's

acre, sleeping in their silent homes. They are "beneath the low green
tent, whose curtain never outward swings."

"

No one, not a participant in the stirring scenes just after the close of the

war, can appreciate the conditions which encompassed us in those days.
When the fury of that internecine struggle burst upon the land, and the

bugle call to arms was heard on ever)^ hand, this little band of christians

drew close together, and were bound to each other as by hooks of steel.

This was not only the First Presbyterian Church of the cit}^ it was the

church.
What crowds flocked to its doors and listened in transport to the story

of the Cross, as it fell in magnetic eloquence from the Hps of the grand
men w^ho stood before them as God's messengers.

I want to refer only in a historical way to the division which has been

spoken of by Mr. Heard. The Synod of Missouri wanted to stand aloof

from the quarrels and strifes which were disturbing other portions of the

church. I wanted it, and my voice was ever raised for peace and union. I

wanted this Synod to be the golden link which would bind the warring
factions together in peace and harmony, but I was disappointed. The
strife came upon us and there was a division. I care not to dwell upon
the past.
We have struggled forward from a weak beginning until to-day there

is much to encourage us. I look with mingled feelings of sadness and

pleasure at these old walls, and take part in these exercises. Sad, because

this old church-home, where I have had so many seasons of rich spiritual

blessings, is soon to be forsaken. Pleasure at the thought that such pros-

perity and gifts have been bestowed upon us as to enable us to erect a more

befitting temple. We are on the eve of giving up this old house, and it is

fitting that we recall the past.
Great deeds have been wrought here, great men have spoken here.

There are grand and stately temples of worship in this State, but I ques-

tion if in any of them loftier eloquence has ever been heard than has

charmed and thrilled and stirred the crowds which have gathered within

these walls.

Here we have heard Dr. Montgomory, superb and grand; here have

preached Lacy and Brooks and Nicolls and others of golden tongues

and silver speech; and that prodigy, Bishop Marvin, of the Methodist
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Church; the tall sons of Ahab, thet)ld men eloquent, and the young men
burning with zeal and devotion.

These are precious memories to me, and made more precious because I,

too, am about to leave this old church and you. But I shall not forget you
and trust you will not forget me. It will be with a feehng of sadness when
I return here and find the old church gone; but I will be in part com-

pensated to find you in your new and beautiful temple.
You have much to encourajje vou. Be slrono; in the Lord. There are

the very elements of strength in this congregation. There are harmony
and zeal. Keep them both. You have a pastor of learning, piet}^ and

consecration, with strong practical sense, Hold up his hands, support
him and cheer him, and the little cloud, now no larger than a man's hand,
will grow and overspread you, by God's grace, until from out of it shall

drop rich showers of blessings. May that time soon hasten.

FIRST CUMBERLAND PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

This church was first organized by Rev. R. S. Reed, about the 3'ear

1869. The congregation languished for several years. In 1875 Rev.

J. W. Riggins held a protracted meeting in Georgetown, which resulted

in a great awakening and the resuscitation of the old organization and its

removal to the town of Georgetown. The work of reorganization was

accomplished by Revs. H. R. Smith and David Hogan; Elders Dr. H. E.

Depp, W. M, Ritchey, Milton Hume; Deacons Clarke Bouldin, J. H.

Kuykindall and Samuel Sprecher. The congregation under the new
administration seemed to prosper for a few years and then the period of

depression came again.
It is certainly a happv fact that this church believes in the final perse-

verance of the saints. The years went by until the society was again

reorganized under the present pastor. Its career has been upward, and

doubtless much good has been accomplished.
In June, 1881, Rev. A. H. Stephens, who graduated the same 3^ear from

the Theological School of Cumberland University, Lebanon, Tenn., was
called to the pastorate of this church, it then being a mission under the

care of New Lebanon Presbytery. The church was re-organized, July

17th, when Capt. S. W. Ritchey and Dr. J. P. Gray w^ere elected additional

elders, and Messrs. L. M. Trumbull and J. E. and W. H. Ritchey were
elected deacons.

At this time there were about twenty-five members from the old organi-
zation. The following statement from the Sedalia Democrafs annual

review, January, 1882, will show the increase:

"Rev. A. H. Stephens, the first pastor, has a church building and lot

worth $:1:,000. The amount of money collected for church purposes from

June 15th, 1881, to Jan. 1st, 1882, was $500. Mr. Stephens commenced
his work last June, and the progress of the congregation has been very

rapid and substantial. For zeal, brotherly love, and devotion to the cause
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of evangelical religion, it is unsurpassed. The prospects are most flatter-

ing in ever}' way. The number of regular members is 87. The average
attendance at services is 150. The number of Sunday School scholars is

70, and of teachers, 8."

The Sunday School was organized, Jan. 1, 1881. Dr. J. P. Gray was

elected Superintendent, and Mr. L. M. Trumbull Assistant Superintendent.
Under their management the school grew rapidly in interest and accom-

plished much good. The officers elected, Januarv, 1882, were, Dr. J. P.

Gray, Superintendent; J. E. Ritchey, Asst. Superintendent; Willie

Sprecher, Librarian; Miss Anna Devlin, Organist and Treasurer.

The ladies organized an Aid Society in the summer of 1881, with the

following officers: Mrs. D. J. Temple, President; Mrs. A. H.Stephens,
Vice-President; Miss Ollie Depp, Secretary; Miss Carrie Sprecher,
Treasurer.

This societ}^ has done much good work in the way of visiting the sick,

the distressed, the destitute and strangers. It also raised considerable

funds for church improvement. In September, 1881, an Auxiliary Society
of the Woman's Board of Foreign Missions was formed with Mrs. A. H.

Stephens, President; Mrs. E. B. Barnes, Vice-President; Mrs. L. M.

Trumbull, Secretary, and Mrs. D. J. Temple, Treasurer. This society
has grown rapidl}^ in numbers and influence and has contributed quite a

handsome sum to the general fund of the Board.

In the latter part of 1881, Miss Mary Flaven, a very earnest worker in

this church, formed the little children into a missionar}^ band called "Little

Helpers." This is acknowledged to be one of the best conducted and

most thoroughly organized societies in the church.

This church house was dedicated, October 24, 1881. Rev. W. H.

Black, pastor of the Lucas Avenue Church, St. Louis, preached the ser-

mon and Rev. P. G. Rea, of Slater, presided.

The first Sunday School Institute of New Lebanon Presbytery was

organized in this house, October 25.

The. L-adies Missionary Societies of the Presbytery held their first con-

vention here, April 2, 1882.

The internal work of the church is well organized and all of its powers
are being rapidly developed. This church is well established and its

progress is rapid and substantial. Its policy to avoid debt has been faith-

fully adhered to from the first, and this one fact gives it a most excellent

standing in business circles.

The cardinal point before the congregation shall ever be the salvation

of men and the upbuilding of the Christian, remembering the promise of

the Master,
"
Lo, I am with you alway, even unto the end of the world."
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THE OHIO STREET METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The partial organization of a Methodist Episcopal Church was effected

in Sedalia, in July, 1864, by Rev. C. E. Carpenter, now deceased. It was
then a part of the Sedalia Circuit, the bounds of which reached from Cal-

ifornia, Mo., to Warrensburg, and from the Missouri River to Osceola,

within which bounds there are now over thirty stationed or circuit

preachers of this denomination. Rev. Mr. Carpenter began preaching in

this extensive circuit in 1860, and remained until the following year; not

having any appointment, however, in SedaHa, his nearest preaching place

being about eighteen miles south of the present city. After his departure
in 1861, there was an interval of some months in which there was no

preaching in the circuit. Rev. C. E. Carpenter died at Fairfield, Iowa., in

May, 1867, at twenty-nine years of age.
In 1862 Rev. Stanford Ing, now stationed at Aullville, Mo., preached in

a school-house in or near Sedalia, but the house having been occupied as

a hospital for sick and wounded soldiers, the preaching was necessarily

discontinued. In lS6i Rev. ?>lr. Carpenter returned, at which time the

partial organization above referred to was effected.

In November, 1865, Rev. George McKee, formerly of the Pittsburgh

Conference, effected a permanent organization in Sedalia, with a member-

ship of seven, viz: Elizabeth HuUand, Dr. J. F. Tobias, Jas. N. Johnson,
A. McAlpine, Eliza McAlpine, Sarah A. Russell and Rachel McKee, the

wife of the pastor. Two of the original seven still remain members of

the church in Sedalia, viz: Elizabeth Hulland and Rachel McKee.
Under the direction of Rev. Mr. McKee the present church edifice was

commenced, the corner stone being laid in 1865. The building was

enclosed and the lecture-room was dedicated by Bishop E. R. Ames in

March, 186 7.

Rev, George McKee served the church faithfully during three years,

after which, on account of ill-health, he was granted a superannuated rela-

tion to the conference, in which relation he continued until his death,

which occurred at Little Rock, Ark., April 2, 1872. He was forty-one

years of age at the time of his death, and had been in the ministry sixteen

years.

Rev. J. W. Bushong, now of Cincinnati, succeeded Rev. Mr. McKee
in the pastorate charge of the Sedalia Church in 1867. During the first

year of his pastorate, the main audience room was finished, and was dedi-

cated in June, 1868, by Rev. Dr. Bowman, now one of the bishops of the

Methodist Episcopal Church.

The church, located on the corner of Ohio and Fourth stseets, is a sub-

stantial brick building 45x65 feet, two stories high, with an audience room

above and lecture and class rooms below. These, however, have been
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converted into business rooms, the upper story only being used for church

purposes. A neat and commodious parsonage adjoins the church build-

ing-

By a wise location in the beginning this society has come into the

possession of a property that is increasing in value every year, so that

there will be no difiiculty in disposing of it whenever it is desirable to do

so with a view to building elsewhere.

The society now numbers 238 members. There is connected with it

a flourishing Sunday School having an average attendance of 175. For

several years Mr. C. G. Taylor was superintendent, under whose able

direction the school enjoyed continued prosperity. He was succeeded by
Mr. Geo. C. McLaughlin, and he by Dr. Ira T. Bronson, who is still in

charge. The following named ministers have sustained the relation of

pastor to the Ohio Street Methodist Episcopal Church in Sedalia. Rev.

Geo. McKee, whose work and death have been already mentioned. Rev.

J. W. Bushong, who subsequently was stationed in St. Louis and Spring-

field, and was afterwards transferred to the Cincinnati Conference and

stationed at Trinity Church, where he now is. Rev. L. M. Vernon, D.

D., now superintendent of the Methodist Episcopal Mission in Italy and

stationed in Rome; Rev. J. J. Bentl}^, at present a presiding elder in the

Missouri Conference; Rev. J. N. Pierce, pastor of the Methodist Episcopal
Church in Clinton, Mo., and formerly presiding elder of the Sedalia Dis-

trict; Rev. G. W. Derment, afterwards presiding elder of the Springfield

District, which was his last regular appointment in the ministry; he was

granted a superannuated relation in 1879, and died in the same year at

Paoli, Indiana, at the age of forty-one years. He was succeeded in the

pastorate of the Ohio Street Church b}' Rev. W. H. Stephens, who has

since been transferred to one of the Penn. conferences; Rev. W. K. Mar-

shall, D. D., succeeded Rev. Mr. Stephens, and was subsequently stationed

at Central Church in St. Louis, and from that charge was transferred to St.

Paul, Minn., where he still remains. His successor was Rev. H. R.

Miller, who remained in charge of the church about a year and a half,

when he was transferred to San Antonio, Texas. He has returned from

Texas and is again a resident of Sedalia, having charge at present of the

Montgomery Street Church. Rev. A. H. Heinlein succeeded Mr. Miller,

and he in his turn was followed by the present incumbent, Rev. H. G.

Jackson, D. D., who came to Sedalia from the pastorate of the Grand
Avenue Church in Kansas City, having previously spent some ten years
in the superintendency of the missions of his church in Buenos Ayres,
South America.

The above facts with regard to the various pastors of the Ohio Street

Church are given not only because of their bearing on the history of the

23
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charge, but also as an interesting illustration of the vicissitudes to which
the lives of the ministers of the M. E. Church are subjected.
The present Trustees of the church are C. G. Taylor, President; F. A.

Sampson, Secretary; Geo. E. Dugan, J. W. Mills, E. J. Smith, J. C.

McLaughlin and Mat. Zenor.

The church is at present in a flourishing condition, and bids fair to con-

tinue its career of usefulness in the years to come.

The Sedalia Democrat of April 9, 1882, speaking of the present pastor
has the following: "Rev. H. G.Jackson, D. D., the new pastor of the

Ohio Street M. E. Church, is a native of Indiana. He graduated at

Asbury University, Greencastle, of which Bishop Bowman was president,
in 1862. Immediately after graduating he was elected Principal of Stock-

well Collegiate Institute, an institution under the supervision of the North-

west Indiana Conference of the M. E. Church. While here engaged
Bishop Clark and Bishop Janes selected him as a missionary to South

America, and he was assigned to Buenos Ayres. .
In this field a special

fitness for the service was so rapidly developed that after one year he was

appointed Superintendent of the Missions of the M. E. Church in South

Am.erica. Ten years of active service were given to this work. During
this period Asbury Universit}^ conferred upon him the degree of Doctor

of Divinity. During his stay in South America a most terrible scourge
of yellow fever swept away 25,000 people of the city of Buenos Ayres
where Dr. Jackson resided. In testimony of his untiring faithfulness

among all classes during the great affliction the citizens afterward pre-

sented him with $1,000 in gold. Upon the rumor that the Dr. was
carried away in the fierceness of the scourge the notice of his death was

published, as in a former instance, in a large portion of the church papers.
i\fter his return from mission fields he was appointed pastor of Grand

Avenue Church in Kansas City where he has just closed a successful pas-

torate of three years. During the first and second 3'ears the church was

relieved of a debt of $9,000. During the third year Dr. Jackson's con-

gregation assisted in building new churches for weak and struggling

charges in Kansas City to the extent of $5,500. Dr. Jackson leaves his

former charge entirely free from debt and in a most promising condition.

He leaves the largest Sunday School west of the Mississippi River. Dur-

ing the recent session of the St. Louis Conference in the city of St. Louis

a special eftbrt was made to appoint Dr. Jackson to the Central M. E.

Church of that city, but through the persistent eflbrt of those friendly to

Sedalia, he was, in harmony with his own preference, assigned to duty in

this city."

THE EAST SEDALIA BAPTIST CHURCH.

This church was organized under the direction of Rev. E. T. Brown, at

3 P. M., Friday, March 19, 1875, and according to the best authorities
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the following persons constituted its first members: Rev. E. T. Brown,
Mrs. E. T. Brown, Elder J. B. Hopps, Mrs. J. B. Hopps, Miss M. Hopps,
S. H. Olmsted and wife, J. L. Thomas, sister Em.ma Hubbard, sister L.

Pickard, sister Retta Titus.

S. H, Olmsted was the first church clerk, and Rev. E. T. Brown the

first pastor.

THE EAST SEDALIA BAPTIST CHURCH.

Elder Geo. Balcom, an Evangelist, held meetings in East Sedalia,

immediately after the organization of the church, at which about seventy-
five persons were converted, and received into membership.

It is an interesting fact that Elders Geo. Balcom and E. T. Brown died

in the same year; the former, Dec. 20, 1879, and the latter, June 9, 1S79.

They were associated in their labors for Christ here, and then soon joined
one another in their reward in the better world.
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April IT, 1875, the little church called Elder Brown to its pastorate, and

with the exception of one year, in which Rev. John Letts was pastor, Elder

Brown continued to minister to the churcli till three months before his

death. Elder Brown, whose biographical sketch appears in another portion
of this volume, was a zealous worker in the Baptist cause, was the prime
mover in the establishment and building of the Baptist Church in East

Sedalia. He built the church at a cost of $3,000, with his individual means,

except about $200 in work and lumber contributed by other parties.

Rev. S. D. Fulton was the second pastor, commencing his labors, March

15, 1879.

Rev. J. M. Plannett, a young man of marked ability and flattering

prospects, now occupies the pulpit, having accepted the call of the church

in the summer of 1881. He is a diligent worker and an able expounder
of the word. .

The church edifice, neat and convenient, is situtated on the corner of

Fifth and Summit streets. It is provided with baptistr}^, bell, organ,
infant class room, and other conveniences. A memorial tablet is hand-

somely set in the wall on the left side of the pulpit with this inscription :

SACRED TO THE MEMORY OF

REV. E. T. BROWN,
Born, November 22, 1818.

Suddenly called to his rest, June 9, 1879.

In grateful recognition of the efficient labors of this worker of God in various fields, but

especially in this place, as the founder of the church, the denor of its first house of worship,
and until his death its friend and supporter ;

this tribute is inscribed by East Sedalia Baptist

Church .

The church now numbers one hundred communicants, and though

young is considered one of the most prosperous and promising churches

in the growing city. James Bryson is present Church Clerk; Rev. J. M.

Plannett, Supt. of the Sunday School: and Mrs. Plannett, Sec'y of the

Sunday School.

THE MONTGOMERY STREET METHODIST EPISCOPAL, CHURCH,

situated on the northeast corner of Fourth and Montgomery streets, in

the city of Sedalia. The Church Society was organized in the private
house of the first pastor, Rev. Frank Oechsli, situated on the corner of

Fourth and Summit streets, on Wednesday evening of May 21, 1877.

The following named persons united with the church at this time, and

constituted its original membership, viz: David D. Wright, Benjamin F.

Abbott, Cornelia Mathews, Rosa Demeal, Sarah E. Oechsli, William B.

Hukill, Emily Gleason, and Laura B. Hukill. The society thus organ-
ized at once set about securing a place for meetings. In the absence of
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any other place to worship in, the pastor announced preachinc^ in his own
house, and accordingly here was preached the first sermon by the first

pastor from the text, Lukexviii, 27, "The things which are impossible with

men are possible with God." The next public service was held in Mur-

ray's carpenter shop, on Engineer Street. Next, the hall over the engine

house, on the northwest corner of Fourth and Montgomery streets, was

rented, and the society moved their worship into it, and organized their

first Sunday School, known as the East Sedalia Sunday School of the

Methodist Episcopal Church, on the 24:th day of June, 1877, with Dr
Ira T. Bronson for Superintendent.

Here, with man}^ discouragements and some prosperity, this young
societ}^ struggled on till the session of the St. Louis Annual Conference,

held in Kansas City, March 20, 1878. The lot upon which the church now
stands was purchased by Rev. J. K. Tuttle for $315, and ^500 was secured

for the erection of a church building before the above conference met.

Rev. Frank Oechsli was appointed by the above conference to this

church, which had been included and was continued in the Sedalia Cir-

cuit, with Rev. R. H. Hanson, as assistant preacher.
At the first quarterly meeting, held in East Sedalia about the 10th of

April, 1878, a board of trustees was appointed for the Montgomery Street

Methodist Episcopal Church, consisting of Dr. Ira T. Bronson, Benjamin
F. Abbott, Charles Gordon, Albert E. McClure and William Irwiu. Of
this number a building committee was appointed by the Quarterly Con-

ference, composed of Dr. Bronson, President, B. F. Abbott, Secretary,
and A. E. McClure, Treasurer. The trustees met, April 15th, and adopted

plans and specifications for a frame church, which was to be in size thirty

by fifty feet, and excavation for the foundation began, April 25, 1878;
and the carpenter work was commenced. May 22, following, in charge of

B. F. Abbott. About this time the society gave up the hall and moved

iijto a tent erected on the rear of the church lot, and worshiped here till

the church building was inclosed.

The work of building proceeded rapidly, so that it was inclosed, and

suitable for service, though in an unfinished condition. Accordingly the

societv transferred from the tent to the church building, and the Rev. S.

Alexander preached the first sermon here the first Sunday in July, 1878.

During this year, up to March, 1879, the Sunday School, under the faith-

ful superintendency of Dr. I. T. Bronson, grew rapidly till the average
attendance was above 135. Revival meetings for five or six weeks were

had, which resulted in a great spiritual improvement in the membership,
and nineteen persons were converted, eighteen of whom united with the

church, making now a membership of fifty persons, including the proba-
tioners. A ladies' aid society was formed, which greatly aided the church,

financially, socially and religiously.
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One thousand dollars was raised by the pastor and paid on the building
and lots. The building was completed all but the pews and the belfry,

leaving an indebtedness of $200 on the lots. Thus a year of prosperity,
both financially, spiritually and numerically, ended.

The St. Louis Annual Conference met in Springfield, Mo., March,
1879, at which session

,
Rev. A. P. Salaway was appointed pastor. He

makes the following minute in the church record:

Preached my first sermon, April 5th; found the Church in an
unfinished condition; completed the house, and it was dedicated by Rev.

J. N. Pierce, Presiding Elder of SedaHa District, Nov. 2.3, 1879. A suf-

ficient amount was subscribed on the day of dedication to pay the debt,
but as is almost always the case some failed to pay. However, $25, or

perhaps a little more, will pay all, exxept what is due the Church Exten-
sion Society, which is $150, pa3^able in three years from Jan. 1, 1880, at

six per cent, interest, to be paid semi-annually in advance.

The total number of full members who have had a m.embership in this

church since its organization is 160. Of these, six have died, three with-

drawn from the church, seventy-three have removed, and seventy-eight
remain connected with the church.

The total number of persons who have joined this church, on probation,
is 103. Of these, forty-three have been received into the church, twenty
have removed, two have joined other churches, two have died, sixteen

have been discontinued, and twenty have been continued on probation.
The total cost of this church building and lots has been $1,555 00

Repairs and improvements since 187 65

Total amount paid by this church for the support of the min-

istry is about , 1,333 00

Incidental expenses of the church . . 500 00

Benevolences of the church 180 OQl

Support of Sunday Schools 500 00

The above figures, save those of the cost of the church, are not exactly
but approximately correct.

The following pastors have been appointed and served this church for

the terms indicated: Rev. Frank Oechsh, 1877; Revs. F. OechsH and R.
H. Hanson, 1878; Rev. A. P. Salaway, 1879; Rev. S . Alexander, 1880-

1881; Rev. H. R. Miller is the present pastor.

The present condition of the church is most encouraging, and the con-

gregation may well consider itself fortunate in securing the services of

such an experienced pastor as they now have. The congregations are

good and improving, and the finances of the church are such that no

embarrassment could be brought upon them, and the Sunday School is

flourishing. The church has been a station on a circuit, but at present
a distinct pastoral charge and will soon be self-supporting.



HISTORY OF SEDALIA. 565

The Sunday School meets every Sabbath, with an average attendance

of ninety, Rev. H. R. Miller, Superintendent, and J. W. Wyman, Secre-

tary.

The follovvinc^ persons constitute the present official board of the church:

Rev. H. R. Miller, pastor; Rev. H. Hammond and Rev. A. Parker, local

preachers; W. C. Gold, B. F. Abbot, J. F. Starr, Wm. W. Hendrix, J. W.

Wyman, trustees; B. F. Abbot, E. Gleason, C. Mathews, W. C. Gold,

stewards.

% THE CHRISTIAN CHURCH.

This church is located on the corner of Massachusetts and 6th streets.

It was org-anized by Elder George W. Longan, the third Lord's day in

May, 1861. Gen. G. R. Smith and daughters, J. W. Martin, Mr. and Mrs.

Logan Clark, Mr. and Mrs. H. R. Dobyns, Mr. and Mrs. Jno. A. Read
were among the charter members. Elder George W. Longan, then a citi-

zen of Benton County, preached the first sermon ever delivered in Sedalia,

and organized the first congregation. He preached in the store house

built by A. T. Hodge, adjoining the old " Sedalia House " on the west,

the last Sundav in April, 1861, and on the third Lord's day in May, fol-

lowing, organized the first congregation.
A house of worship was not built till 1866, when the present brick

structure was erected under the superintendence of John Dejarnett, Henry
Cotton, Dr. Logan Clark and G. R. Smith. Henry Cotton was the treas-

urer. By some mismanagement, a debt was incurred in the building of

the house, which hung over the congregation, and at times gave it serious

trouble, and even threatened the loss of the house till the spring of 1880

when it was under the pastorate of J. H. Duncan paid ofi'; being at the time

of its liquidation fourteen bundled dollars.

The original building was remodeled and repaired by Elder S. K. Hal-

lam, at a cost of four or five hundred dollars, and since the debt was paid
ofT it has been still further improved by the addition of an infant class

room, a preacher's study, etc., at a cost of about eight hundred dollars.

The property is now worth at least seven thousand dollars.

The following preachers have been employed as pastors: Elder T. M.

Gaines, now dead; O. M. Spencer, now located at Rich Hill, Missouri; J.

W. Mountjoy, now at Paris, Missouri; G. W. Surber, now at Monroe

City, Missouri; S. K. Hallam, now living on a farm near Windsor or

Greenridge; N. M. Ragland, now at Clinton, Mo.; and J. H. Duncan, the

present pastor of the church. Elder J. W. Mountjoy was only employed a

short time, but he infused new life into the church, and it has been grad-

ually improving ever since till the church now numbers over two hundred

and fifty members. Since Elder J. H. Duncan was called, in January,

1880, there has been only one month in which he has not reported addi-
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tions. The attendance also is constantly 'increasin|T and the congregation

mainly peaceful and harmonious. T. J. Porter, W. W. Herold, and W.
L. Felix constitute the present board of Elders. They hold regular

monthly meetings at which the pastor is present. J. N. Dalby, J. H.

I^ooney, G. W. Barnett, A. Farnham, and Mentor Thomson are the

deacons of the church, who hold a joint business meeting with the elders

and preacher the first Sunday in every month. The Sunday School has

an average attendance of one hundred and fifty, with W. L. Felix as

superintendent and Miss Maud Gent as secretary. One oLthe most inter-

esting features of the Sunda}' School is the infant class of J. N . Dalby, which

has a room to itself, with a hundred red chairs for the little ones. The

weekly teachers' meeting.is well attended and full of interest. The prayer

meeting is one of the best meetings of this church, and has an average
attendance of seventy-five members. Mr. PheHx died May 3, 18 82.

The church organized in Cotton's addition at the beginning of 1882 a

Mission Sunday School, which has an attendance of seventy-five persons*

W. H. Stotts is Superintendent, and John R. Clopton is Assistant.

The ladies of the church have a flourishing Christian Aid Society, which

meets every week, and does much to assist in the work of pushing for-

ward the enterprises of the church. The young ladies also have a Mis-

sionary Society, and the children are organized into a Children's Heathen

Mission Society.

The congregation is at present preparing to build a handsome parson-

age, which will no doubt be completed this year. The church has lost

the last few years by death some of its most useful members, among them

was Gen. G. R. Smith, who died in the fall of 1879, Mrs. Wm. Bard, and

Mrs. R. T. Miller, in 1880, W. L. Felix in 1882.

The congregation entertained in 1873 the State Convention of the

Christian Church in a royal manner, and since then the State Sunday
School Convention of the Christian Church, and will entertain in July, 1882,

"The Missouri Christian Lectureship." The church is alive to both home
and foreign missionary work, and is contributing liberally to each. It

has in its membership some of the best and most influential citizens of

Sedalia and Pettis County.

THE M. E. CHURCH, SOUTH.

The services under the auspices of this denomination in Sedalia until

1871 were under the Sedalia circuit, hence the historv of this church as

a distinct pastoral charge, begins on the aforesaid date. During that

year, (1871) under the direction of Rev. Preston Philips, a former resident

of this city, the church building on the corner of Third and Massachu-

setts streets was completed at a cost of about $3,500. In August of the

same year it was dedicated by the late Bishop Marvin, and the first quar-
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terly conference convened, Nov. 20, 1871, with Rev. Dr. W. M. Protts-

man, president, and C. H. Riggs, pastor. J. R. Bennett, C. C. Woods,
Milton Adkisson, M. M. Pugh and C. L. D. Elevens respectively have

officiated as presiding elder. Among the first members of this charge
occur the names of J. S. Lingle, Preston Philips and wife, A. G. Hudson
and wife, Mrs. D. D. Fear, James Dickerson, George L. Bell, Henry
Franklin and wife. Meetings were first held in a private room on the

second floor of a Main street store, and it is here that probably the church

was organized. The names of the pastors are respectively^, C. H. Briggs,
Rev. W. Stephens, A. Bailey, Thomas Wallace, J. F. Hogan, E. G.

Frazier, R. H. Shaffer, R. A. Halloway and J. C. Shackleford, the pres-

ent pastor.

The present membership is about seventy-five, and the following per-

sons are the acting stewards: J. S. Lingle, William Scott, O. M. Harris

and E. W. Mcllhaney. The Sunday School has an average attendance of

about forty, with G. M. Baker, superintendent.

THE CALVARY PARISH,

of the Protestant Episcopal Church, of Sedalia, Mo., was organized in

the 3^ear 1867 by Rev. Thomas Green. The records and data necessary
for an authentic and complete early history of this church, as in the case

of many others, are unattainable. Among the earl}^ and prominent mem-
bers of this congregation occur the names of A. H. Thompson, J. C.

Thompson, A. C. Orrich, moved away, Norman Maltby, deceased, Mrs.

S. S. Vinton, moved away, O. A. Crandall, Mrs. A. H. Thompson, died,

July 31, 1879, Mrs. A. C. Orrick, moved away, Mrs. C. A. Myer, deceased,

Mrs. R. E. Harris, Mrs. E. M. Anderson, deceased, John M. Shook, Mrs.

Norman Maltby, Miss Lucy Maltb}-, moved awa}^, Seth Stoughton and

wife, moved awa}?-, Mrs. Speddin, deceased, E. W. Brown, deceased,

Mrs. E. W. Brown, deceased, Mrs. L. L. Bridges, deceased, R. D. Coles,

moved away, Mrs. Mary Demuth, Mrs. Lottie Hutchinson, L. B. Jackson
and wife, moved away, Willard Parker, moved away, Edward James,

deceased, Mrs. E. James, moved away.
The first services under the auspices of this church were held in a

school house which stood just north of the present site of the Garrison

House. After this the church, not yet having a permanent place, meet-

ings were held in the court house, and in other places as they could find

conveniences. Rev. F. R. Holeman, of Boonville, came, and regular

monthly services were held, for about two years, during which the

"Chapel" was built on the corner of Massachusetts and Fourth streets.

Through the efibrts of the ladies of the parish, three lots were purchased

here, and after the Chapel was erected it became the regular place "of

worship till the building and lots were sold to M. E. Wann, in the spring
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of 1882. The deed of the three lots was given by George R. Smith,

Sarah E. Smith and Martha E. Martin, to the "trustees of the Protestant

Episcopal Church, of Sedalia, Mo.," viz: To Samuel S. Vinton, A. H.

Thompson and O. A. Crandall, and bears date of August 17, 1867, the

consideration being $700. The property was lots ten, eleven and twelve,

of block number eight, in the Sarah E. Smith and Martha E. Martin addi-

tion to Sedalia. The first building, which was originally intended for a

private parish school, cost about $1,300, but subsequent additions and

improvements increased this sum to over $2,000. In 1869 Mr. Holeman

was assisted in conducting the services by I. Mac D. Demuth, who was

then a student for the ministry. And during the summer of 1879, Mr.

Demuth, having a license as Lay Reader, conducted the church service

by himself.

In reference to the purchase of the first lots and building, Mr. A. H.

Thompson, who was the first to make an effort towards an organization,

gives the following:

Most of the credit of raising the money to puchase the lots and build

the Chapel is due to the untiring efforts of Mrs. Vinton, Mrs. Myers and

Mrs. Thompson, who were the first and most earnest workers in this

behalf, and also in raising sufficient salary to pay Rev. F. R. Holeman for

regular services once a month. These services were held first in an old

school house and afterwards in a building, used at the time for a court

house. Mr. Holeman was rector of Christ Church, Boonville, when the

engagement with him was made for monthly services, and it was during his

administration that the Chapel was built and the first regular organiza-
tion of the church had.

Among the names of rectors who have served this parish are: Rev.

Thos. J. Taylor, Rev. Dr. S. C. Thrall, Rev. Abiel Leonard, Rev. J.

Wood Dunn, Rev. Wilham D. Sartwell and Rev. A. T. Sharpe, the pres-

ent rector. Mr. Sharpe commenced his labors as rector of this parish,,

Dec. 1st, 1881, and has zealously performed his ministerial duties.

This religious organization now owns an ample building lot on the north-

east corner of Broadway and Ohio streets, where they intend erecting a

substantial and commodious church. Considerable money has already

been subscribed to the contemplated house of worship, and at no very dis-

tant day another beautiful stone structure will contribute to Sedalia's

attractiveness. The private residence purchased with the lot, and stand-

ing on the east part thereof, is used as the rectory, in which the present

rector and family reside. As a place of regular worship the parish now

use the hall in the Kruse & Fredrick block, on the southeast corner of

Ohio and Seventh streets.

.The present officers who manage the temporal concerns of this church

are: J. C. Thompson, Senior Warden; A. P. More}', Junior Warden; W.
H. Thorpe, Secretary of the vestry, and Charles W. Bullen, Treasurer.
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There are two builds workincr in unison with the church, both in success-

ful operation, the ladies' parish guild, and the St. Agnes guild.

A prosperous Sabbath School of about eighty members meets every
Lord's day at 9:30 with Rev. A. T. Sharpe, the Rector, as Superintendent;
Homer E. Byler, Assistant Superintendent; and the following teachers:

Miss M. Josie Keating, Miss Hattie Marvin, Miss Bettie Rosse, Miss

Mamie Demuth, Miss Ida Sharpe, Mrs. Richard Woods, Mr. J. C.

Thompson and Rev. A. T. Sharpe.

THE GERMAN EVANGELICAL CHURCH.

In the population of Sedalia, the German element is quite extensively

represented. As the city developed from the humble dimensions of the

town, each year augmented the number of immigrant^ who had turned

their backs upon the old home beyond the sea and sought a new and bet-

ter one in the new world, the land of promise and plent}^ of which so

many tidings had been sent across the ocean. They prospered well, and

as house after house went up on the fair spot where Sedalia had been

founded, and one piece of sod after the other was broken for new founda-

tions and walls, German perseverance, German diligence and German
muscle were not despised, but eagerly called upon to lend a helping hand

in converting the rolling prairie land into a blooming city.

Early in the existence of Sedalia the church tower was seen to rise

among the new roofs, and while the prairie grass was yet waving in the

summer breeze the church bell called upon the people to follow the nar-

row pathway which wound itself up to the church door, from which

echoed hymns of praise and thanksgiving to the merciful Father above.

Sedalia grew and prospered beyond even the most sanguine expecta-
tions. The homesteads increased in number, and one by one the mem-
bers of the different denominations who felt in their hearts a silent longing
for their old familiar church in which they had been baptized, where they
had sung and bowed their heads in prayer, and to which they had bidden

farewell when they went west to seek new homes and new fortunes,

banded themselves together and erected their house of worship. But as

yet there was no German church. Preachers of rationalistic tendencies,

who endeavored to organize a congregation representing their own weak,
stale and profitless views and doctrines, met with no success, as they

deserved, and finally abandoned the field. Then the Methodist Episcopal.

Church sent her missionaries here and succeeded, with hard and faithful

work, in establishing a congregation. By far the greater part of Sedalia's

German population belonged to the Evangelical Church, the union of the

two factions of the church of the Reformation—Lutheran and Reformed
—and their desire to worship in the church and in the manner of their

ancestors was but natural. Finally the work was begun. When the child
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was born it was weak and puny and almost justified the fears, expressed
on ali hands, that it would not live to reach an age of usefulness. But it

did live, nevertheless. The many .diseases of infancy and childhood were,

by the grace of God, successfully overcome and a strong and sturdy man-

hood in time attained.

In 1875 the Rev. Charles Kratl:t, a member of the German Evangelical

Synod of North America, at that time the German English Synod of the

West, who was stationed and had charge of a congregation at Warrens-

burg, Mo., visited Sedalia and commenced the work of gathering a

sufficient number of people to constitute a congregation. He was an inde-

fatigable and persistent worker and would not withdraw his hand from

the task once commenced. The work was a difficult one and of only

slows almost imperceptible progress. The field which had lain barren for

so many years and had, under the labors of insincere and careless work-

men, borne no fruit at all, was now overrun by a luxurious growth of rank

indifterentism. But little by little the work progressed and in due time a

number of believers had been gathered and organized as the German

Evangelical Immanuel Church of Sedalia. In a spirit of true Christian

charity and brotherly love, the First Presbyterian and later the Old School

Presbyterian Churches came to the rescue and kindly allowed the young

congregation to hold their services in their respective houses of worship.
Rev. Krafft occupied the pulpit every alternate Sunda}-.

The need of a building of their own became more and more pressing
as the congregation grew and more regular services were required. Per-

haps twenty families had joined the new church, and after mature and

prayerful deliberation the erection of a suitable edifice w^as determined

upon. A lot on the southwest corner of Main street and Washington
Avenue was purchased, and in lS76the corner stone was laid with impres-
sive ceremonies. In due time the house was finished and dedicated to the

sacred uses to which it was henceforth to be put. It was only a modest

little church 60x20, containing besides the audience-room of 40x20, four

rooms in the rear to serve as a temporary parsonage which was, as may
be inferred from the given dimensions, not extraordinarily spacious.

Rev. Kraftt was now unanimously chosen pastor, and in the same year
removed from Warrensburg to Sedalia and entered upon the duties of his

new field. For four vears he continued in this work, and under his care-

ful, zealous and conscientious ministration his charge became stronger and

well organized. In July, 1880, he severed his connections wdth the church.

At the time mentioned he was chosen missionary preacher in Kansas by
the Synod and accepted the position. With sincere regret his church

bade him farewell and Godspeed.
Rev. Aug. Pistor, a young graduate just from the Theological Semi-

nary, was sent to temporarily occupy the vacant pulpit until a successor
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to Rev. Kraftt should be chosen. This was done in October, when Rev.

R. A, Johns, of St. Louis, was unanimously elected. He accepted the

call and immediately took charge of the pastorate. Quietly and unostenta-

tiously the work went on without an}^ of the often more than doubtful

expedients to which churches only too frequently resort—yet it went on.

A new organ was bought, gas fixtures introduced and coal oil done away
with, the property (fences, etc.) was improved and other changes for the

better made.

In the spring of 1882 it became apparent that the church was too small

to accommodate the rapidly growing congregation. An alteration of the

former was, therefore, determined upon. At a cost of, perhaps, $500 the

walls and partitions in the rear were removed and the audience room

accordingly enlarged, pulpit and platform remodeled, an entrance hall

added to the front and a spacious study for the pastor built in the rear.

All these changes were completed, and the re-dedication of the church

took place on Sunda}^ May 14, which was a day of gladness and rejoic-

ing. The church property may at the present writing be valued at about

$4,000. The congregation numbers forty families (not members, but

families.) In the Sunday School about 200 children are enrolled. A
Women's Aid Society was organized in 1881, which is steadily growing
in numbers as well as in usefulness. A Widows' and Orphans' Aid Asso-

ciation is also in good working order. The future is bright with great

promise, and the blessed success of the past justifies the hope that, as the

years roll on, the Prairie Queen prospers and grows, and with it her

German population, the German Evangelical Church of Sedalia will con-

tinue to thrive in the Master's work and become more and more acceptable

to God and useful to His people.

ST. VINCENT CATHOLIC CHURCH.

Occasionally, as early as the building of the Missouri Pacific Railroad,.

Father Walsh, of Jefferson City, came to Sedalia and held services in the

section house near the present site of the Missouri Pacific shops. Also

Father Mueller, of Jeflerson City, and Father Hiller, of Boonville, visited

this place and held services earlv in the city's history. In 1865 Father

Calmer, of Tipton, took regular charge of the small congregation here

and held services at Mr. P. R. Myers' residence. He was succeeded by
Fathers Quinlan and Murry. In 1866 Father Swift took charge, and

next year built the pastoral residence in the rear of the old church. The
first church building was 24x60 ft., an addition to which was made during
Father Swift's administration, also a new school house was commenced
on a lot purchased from Gen. Smith just east of the church. Services

were for a time held m White's Hall, until the school house was covered

in.
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The Sedalia Catholic Benevolent Society contributed $500 towards the

building, and had a hall finished in the second story, where the members
hold their monthly meetings. Aboutthe same time work was commenced
on the new brick church, and by the united efforts of the priest and peo-

ple the new edifice, 18x96 feet, and thirty feet high, was so far finished

that in the spring of 1875 services were held in it, and the congregation

greatly increased. Many have been the trials through which this people,

comparatively poor, had to pass. The needed funds to continue were

generously furnished
b}'^

Mr. John Scullin's loaning Father Graham, on his

own personal responsibility, means to furnish it. The old pastoral resi-

dence being sold out for previous debts the pastor had to vacate, and live

for several months in the school hall, until June, 1875, when a small resi-

dence was built in the rear of the church.

One of McShane's bells from Baltimore was purchased for the church

at a cost of nearly $500, including the frame-work. In 1877 the Sisters

of St. Joseph took charge of the schools. At the residence of the Sisters

on the corner of Washington avenue and Fourth street there is a select

school and convent which is well conducted and patronized. The church

has a large membership, with Father J. T. D. Murphy as pastor.

SEVENTH DAY ADVENTISTS.

In 1881 the Seventh Day Adveniists built a church on Moulton and

Ninth streets, which cost $1,500. The congregation contains about forty

persons, and they have preachers and lecturers from abroad, and local

lecturers.

CHx\PTER IX.—EDUCATIONAL.

The Public Schools—Sedalia Seminary—Sedalia Business College
—The Press—The

Bazoo—The Eagle-Times—The Sedalia Journal—The Democrat.

"A little learning is a dangerous thing;
Drink deep, or taste not, the Pierian spring;

For shallow draughts intoxicate the brain,

And drinking deeply sobers us again."
—Pope.

Common schools are the glory and pride of free America. Colleges
and universities develop and stimulate the occasional master mind; but

the common schools educate and train the nation's multitudes, fitting them

for citizenship. The eminent J. P. Wickersham says: "The dearest

interest of a nation is the education of its children." Among the citizens

of Sedalia there is a healthy and growing sentiment in favor of public
schools. That old conservative element which retards and embarrasses

the onward progress of modern thought has no preceptible following
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here. The people are content with nothing less than the best advantages
that good appliances and superior instructors will afford. When in 1880

it was proposed to expend $10,000 for more ample accommodations, six-

teen hundred votes were cast in its favor, and only forty-nine opposed it.

Again, in April, 1882, a proposition to levy a five-mill tax for the erec-

tion of two new brick school buildings was carried with only twenty votes

in opposition to the measure.

The people of Sedalia have reason to feel proud of their well organized
schools and efficient teachers. The members of the Board of Education

are men well qualified for their responsible trust, both as regards their

knowledge of their duties, and their active interest manifested.

The first schools taught in Sedalia were private enterprises, supported

by subscription and tuition assessments. The first school was "kept" in

the first store room, situated on the present site of John Gallie's lumber

yard. The store was owned by T. M. Hodge, and the school was taught

by E. W. Washburn and his daughter, now wife of J. D. Claycomb, of

Longwood township. This was during the war, and only a few pupils

attended. Judge Washburn was a good teacher. Miss Laura Moses was

the next teacher. She afterwards married Judge Chan. P. Townsley.

Next, W. H. Allison built a frame school house, a little north from the

Missouri Pacific general offices in East Sedalia. The building which he

erected was two stories, and cost about $2,000. It was originally intended

for a female seminary, and doubtless had the site been selected near the

center of town, the project would have succeeded. Although a good
scholar and fine teacher the enterprise failed and the building was sold.

This school was the most important up to the fall of 1866, when the

common school system was adopted. The school interests and conveni-

ences of Sedalia at first did not grow apace with the business; the families

of several men doing business here lived in Georgetown where fair school

advantages were offered. The present generation know nothing of the

disadvantages to which the first residents of the city were subjected in

school matters. The history of the common schools of Sedalia properly

begins in the fall of 1866, and we shall give only a succinct sketch of their

organization and workings from that time to the present, (July 1882,),

At an election of the qualified voters of the city, held the 15th day of

September, 1866, in pursuance of an act of the General Assembly author-

ing any city, town or village to organize for school purposes, the follow-

ing Board of Education was elected: Wm, Beck and F. Crandall, for a

term of three years; A. Ensel and Thos. J. Montgomery, for a term of

two years ;
E. W, Washburn and William Bloess, for a term of one year.

At a meeting of the members of the Board, held Sept, 19th, 1866, for the

purpose of organization, E, W. Washburn was elected President; F.

Crandall, Secretary, and Wm. Beck, Treasurer.



574 HISTORY OF SEDALIA.

An enumeration of the children in the cit}- between the ages of five and

twenty-one being authorized by the Board, the number reported October^

1866, was as follows: Whites—Males, 262; Females, 283. Total, 545.

Colored—Males, 108; Females, 113. Total, 221. Total number of

children in the district of school age, 766.

Taking the present limits of school age, the above number would

approximate 670, which, compared with the last enumeration, 3,664, gives
a fair exhibit of the growth of the city during the past sixteen years, and

also somewhat of the difficulties which the different Boards have encount-

ered from year to year, in providing adequate means for the accommoda-
tion of the rapidly increasing number of pupils.

Initiatory steps were taken in the early part of 1867 to erect two suitable

school buildings; one north and the other south of the Pacific railroad, and

to this end the ground on which the Broadway school building v;as after-

wards erected, was purchased; city bonds to the amount of $30,000 were

issued; a committee was delegated to visit St. Louis and Chicago to

obtain the best plans and specifications for school buildings, and other

active preparations were entered upon by the school board to provide
school facilities at as early a date as possible. July 5th, 1867, A. Ensel

and William Bloess resigned, whereupon Richard Ritter and A. C. Marvin

were appointed to fill the lespective vacancies.

At a meeting of the Board held August 12th, 1867, Prof. G. O. Brown^
of Ohio, was elected Superintendent of the Sedalia Public Schools for a

term ot six months, commencing on the first day of January, 1868, at a

salary of $140 per month, to which position he was again elected for the

year 1868-69, at a salary of $1,500. He, in connection with Prof. G. W.

Ready, then principal of the High School, succeeded in organizing the

schools in such a manner as to render them at once popular with the

citizens; efficient in their management as to the gradation and progress
of the pupils, and the whole system was placed upon a permanent and sure

basis. Surrounded by serious obstacles at the outset,they, by their

energy and their adaptation for the work, assisted by an efficient School

Board, succeeded in placing the Sedalia Schools in the front rank of city

graded schools.

The Broadway school buildidg was erected during the year, 1867, in

accordance with plans submitted to the Board by the committee appointed
for that purpose.
The first school was organized Feb. 10th, 1868, in the Broadway build-

ing, with the following corps of teachers: Grammar grades. Misses Pea-

body and Griffin, at a salary of $60 per month; Intermediate grades, Mrs.

Brown and Miss Tindall, at a salary of $50 per month, each; Primary

grades, Misses Adamson and Groesbeck, at a salary of $40 per month,

each; Prof. G. W. Ready, principal of the High School, at a salary of
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$85 per month. At a subsequent meeting the salaries of the Primary
teachers were increased to $50 per month, and Miss Jennie Bard employed
as an assistant, at a salary of $40 per month. Mr. Miller was employed
to teach the colored school, north of the railroad, in the building prepared
for that purpose.
At a meeting of the Board held May 30, 'iSQS, it was unanimously

agreed to issue bonds to the amount of ten thousand dollars, for the pur-

pose of erecting a new building north of the railroad for the further

accommodation of the pupils residing in that portion of the city.

St. cloud stock FARM— R. W. GEXTRY, SEDALIA, MO.

For the school year 1868-69, all the teachers employed the previous

year were re-elected, and Misses Kidd and Joplin added to the number.

At the school election, held Sept. 12, 1868, Dr. J. F. Tobias and J. P.

Leake, were chosen members of the Board, and upon a re-organization,
E. W. Washburn was again chosen president, F. Crandall, secretary, and

Wm. Beck, treasurer. E. W. Washburn resigned his position as a mem-
ber of the Board Jan. 30, 1869, and on February 4th, Dr. Thos. J. Mont-

gomer}^ was chosen to fill the vavancy. A re-organization being neces-

sary, F. Crandall was elected president, Wm. Beck, secretar}^, and J. P.

Leake, treasurer.

On May 29, 1868, Prof. G. W. Ready was elected Superintendent of

24
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the Schools, a position he continued to till for nine consecutive years,
which alone is sufficient evidence of his ability as an educator, and of his

worth as a citizen.

During the year 1870, the two-story brick building north of the Pacific

Railroad, now known as the Franklin School, was erected and occupied,
with W. O. Dunlap, principal, and Misses Kidd, Maddox and Wad-

leigh, assistants.

Owing to the want of funds, the school term for the year 1871-72 was
shortened to thirty weeks, which, with the exception of one year, con-

tinued to be the case until the year 1876-77, when it became necessary to

make the term onlv^ twenty-four weeks. During the following year the

same length of term again was held. This was found to interfere very

materially with the grading and progress of the schools. Private classes

were formed after the close of the public schools, which unavoidably gave
rise to fi*esh difficulties at the opening of the schools the following year.

Circumstances be3'ond the control of the School Board and Superintend-

ent, unfortunately, rendered this course imperative.
On May 29, 1873, a proposition was submitted to the qualified voters

of the city, to issue bonds to the amount of $12,000, for the purpose of

erectinjj a two-storv brick buildingr in East Sedalia, on the block situated

on East Broadway, which had been previously purchased for that pur-

pose. The proposition failing to receive the required number of votes to

secure its adoption, the Board proceeded to erect a two room frame build-

ing, which was completed and used as a school the same year. This

school, known as Washington School, was under the care of Miss Mary
Green as principal, and Miss Minnie Chappelear as assistant.

In August, 1874, Prof. E. R. Booth was elected principal of the High
School, and at the close of the term, the following pupils having com-

pleted the regular course of study, were awarded diplomas:

Misses Maud Gent, Ellen Hackett, Georgia Jackson, Dora Lamy and

Bettie Rogers.
This was the first class that graduated from the High School, and the

only one previous to the class of '81. Four of the members were elected

teachers in the schools of this city for the following year, and three still

continue to hold the positions to which they were then chosen. They
have faithfully and successfully discharged the duties pertaining to their

respective positions, reflecting credit ahke upon themselves and the school

from which they graduated.
At a meeting of the School Board, held August 8, 1876, it was deter-

mined to suspend the High School department in consequence of the lim-

ited funds at the disposal of the Board. For the same reason the Ger-

man department was also abolished.

As a result of this action of the Board the High School department
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was eliminated during the two subsequent years, and only partially

restored for two years more.

In consequence of changes made in the school law of the State, vacan-

cies were created in all the positions held by the diflerent members of the

Board, April, 1S7S, and at the regular election held at that time, the fol-

lowing gentlemen were chosen to fill the vacancies thus created: David

Blocher, A. H. Conkwright, John A. Lacy, Henry Lamm, J. H. Mertz

and E. L. Phipps.
It was but natural that changes should be expected upon the election

of an entirely new Board of Directors. The patrons of the schools were
desirous of an extension of the school session, and increased school

facilities. The board set themselves assiduously to work a t carry out the

wishes of the people. The school term was lengthened to thirty-six

weeks, and two additional rooms secured for East Sedalia and one for

Lincoln School. To accomplish these, and at the same time meet past

indebtedness, it was found necessary to reduce the salaries ot the teachers

from that paid in former years at least twenty per centum, and also to ask

for an additional tax levy. This was generously responded to by the citi-

zens, at a special election held for that purpose. To curtail the expenses
still further, it was deemed best to abolish the office of superintendent,

and to make the principal of Broadway School the chief executive officer.

Before the opening of the schools, however, it was deemed impractitable,

by a majority of the committee on rules and regulations, to dispense

entirely with supervisory work, and to a certain extent the same duties

that are usually discharged by a superintendent, were delegated by them

to the chief principal. An assistant was employed for Broadway Schoc^l,

so that the chief principal was left without the care of a room, and his

time could be partly devoted to the general management of the schools.

This plan is still pursued, and in accordance with a resolution of the board,

one-half of his time is devoted to teaching, the other half to supervision.

NAMES OF GRADUATES—SEDALIA HIGH SCHOOL.

1875. Maud Gent, Georgia Jackson, Ellen Hackett, Dora Lamy, Bet-

tie Rogers.
1881. Winnie Armes, Mamie Demuth, Annie Devlin, Orlena Heinline,

Stella Heinline, Mamie Hogue, Fannie Owens, Sallie Porter, Addie Reed,

Lucy Reynolds, May Slaughter, Allen Sturgis, Lizzie Wagenlander,
Merritt Yeater.

1882. Nellie Branen, Mamie Cully, AUie Chapman, Hatiie Gold, Syl-
via Sheldon, Kittie Shively, Madge Sturgis, Lewis Waller.

The following is a list of the members of the respective school boards,

with date of official term:
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1866-67. E. W. Washburn, Pres.; F. Crandall, Sec; Wm. Beck,
Treas.; Wm. Bloess, A. Ensel, Dr. Thos. J. Montg-omery.

1867-68. E. W. Washburn, Pres.; Richard Ritter, Sec; Wm. Beck,

Treas.; A. C. Marvin, Dr. Thos. J. Montgomery, F. Crandall.

1868-69. E. W. Washburn, Pres.; F. Crandall, Sec; Wm. Beck,
Treas.; J. F. Tobias, J. P. Leake, T. J. Montgomery.

1869-70. F. Crandall, Pres.; Wm. Beck, Sec; J. P. Leake, Treas.;

T.J. Montgomery, Richard Ritter, J. F. Tobias.

1870-71. J. F." Tobias, Pres.; Wm. Beck, Sec; J. P. Leake, Treas.;
Richard Ritter, Henr}^ Suess, D. H. Smith.

1871-72. J. F. Tobias, Pres.; Wm. Beck, Sec; D. H. Smith, Treas.;

Henry Suess, Abram Meyer, J. D. Brown.

1872-73. Henry Suess, Pres.; H. B. Fletcher, Sec; D. H. Smith,

Treas.; J. D. Brown, A. Meyers.
1873-71. Henry Suess, Pres.; H. B. Fletcher, Sec; D. H. Smith,

Treas.; A. Me3'er, J. D. Brown, E. Lamy.
1874-7.5. Henry Suess, Pres.; L. B. Jackson, Sec.

;
D. H. Smith,

Treas.; C. M. A. Chaney, John Stryker, E. Lamy.
1875-76. Henry Suess, Pres.; H. B. Fletcher, Sec; D. H. Smith,

Treas.; C. M. A. Chane\-, John Stryker, B. H. Ingram.
1876-78. B. H. Ingram, Pres.; L. B. Jackson, Sec; D. H. Smith,

Treas.
;
C. M. A. Chaney, John Striker, Elias Bixby.

1878-79. David Blocher, Pres.; Henry Lamm, Sec; E. L. Phipps,

Treas.; A. H. Conk wright, John A. Lacy, J. H. Mertz.

1879-80. David Blocher, Pres.; Henry Lamm, Sec; E. L. Phipps,

Treas.; A. H. Conkwright, John A. Lacy, J. H. Mertz.

1880-81. David Blocher, Pres.; Henry Lamm, Sec; E. L. Phipps,

Treas.; A. H. Conkwright, J. A. Lacy, J. H. Mertz.

1881-82. David Blocher, President; Henry Lamm, Secretary; J. H.

Mertz, Treasurer; Dr. A. H. Conkwright, C. H. Gauss, Judge Charles

Richardson.

1882-83. G. L. Faulhaber, President; Dr. A. H. Conkwright, Secre-

tary; C. H. Gauss, Treasurer; Charles Richardson, J. H. Mertz, J.N.
Dalby.
The dimensions, cost, location, etc., of the four school buildings together

with a complete list of teachers is given herewith.

Broadway School.—This school is located on Broadway, between

Kentucky and Moniteau streets, and was established in the year 1867. It

was first proposed to erect a three-story brick building, containing twelve

rooms, but the cost was found to exceed the estimates, as made by the

architect and the building committee, and the plans were changed to a

two-story brick building, containing seven school rooms, one recitation

room, a library room, and superintendent's office. During the summer of
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1880, an additional story was added to the building, so that it now contains

twelve school rooms, a library room and superintendent's office. The size

of the rooms on the first and second stories is 29A^ by 33^-, and on the

third floor, 2-i by 28A^. Each room is provided with a cloak room 5 by
20, and a teacher's closet, where maps and other appliances can be stored.

Ventilating flues are attached to all the rooms. Tiie entire cost of the

building and grounds has been about fort}' thousand dollars.

186T-68. Prof. G. O. Brown, Superintendent, $140; Prof. G. W.

Ready, Principal High School, $8.5; Miss Peabody, $60; Miss Griffin,

$60; Mrs. Brown, $.50; Miss Tindall, $.50; Miss Adamson, $50; Miss

Groesbeeck, $50; Miss Bard, $40.

STORY'S CENTRAL, OPPOSITE THE SQUARE SEDALIA, MO.

1868-69. Prof. G. O. Brown, Superintendent, $1 50 ;
Prof. G. W. Ready,

Principal High School, $110; Miss Tindall, $65; Miss Griffin, $60; Miss

Groesbeck, $50; Miss Adamson, $50; Miss Sue JopHng, $50; Mrs.

Brown, $50,

1869-70. Prof. G. W. Ready, Superintendent, $125.00; Miss Lucy J.
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Maltby, High School, $70; Mrs. W.J. Tucker, $60; Misses Jopling, Colton

Kidd, Griffin and Groesbeck, $50 each; Miss Ollie Barrick, $40.

1870-71. Prof. G. W. Ready, Superintendent, $150; Miss Lucy J.

Maltby, High School, $80; Mrs. W.J. Tucker, $60; Misses S. J. Jopling,

Mary A. Green, Emma Davidson, Mary E. Groesbeck, Abbie C. Burge
and Sallie Young, $50 each.

1871-72. Prof. G. W. Ready, Superintendent, $150; Miss Lucy J.

Maltby, High School, $80; resigned and Miss Dickinson elected to

vacanc}'; Mrs. W.J. Tucker, Mrs. Sallie Allen, Misses Mary Green,

Mary Simmons, Sue Green, Anna E. Potter and Phebe J. Botsford,

$50 each.

1871-73. Prof. G. W. Ready, Principal, $150; Miss S. M. Brooks,

High School, Misses Julia Chappelear, Sue J. Jopling, Sue Green,

Minnie Chappelear, Lavinia Parker, Francis Tindall and Nancy O. Tyler,

$50 each. Albert Wettendorf, Teacher in German, $75.

1873-74. Prof. G. W. Ready, Superintendent, $150; W. S. Dorsey,

Principal High School, Miss Julia Chappelear, Principal, $65; Misses

Maggie Fletcher, Sue Green, Nellie Mitchell, Mary Kidd, Sue Kernoodle

and Emma Chappelear, $50 each. Mrs. Marie Kleuber, Teacher of Ger-

man, $60.

1874-75. Prof. G. W. Ready, Superintendent, $150; Prof. E. R.

Booth, High School, Miss Julia Chappelear, Principal, $70; resigned
and Miss Clara V. Van Fleet elected to vacancy; Miss Maggie Fletcher,

Lizzie Puckett, Sue Kernoodle, Mary Kidd, Sue Green and Emma
Chappelear, $50 each. Mrs Marie Kleuber, Teacher of German, $60.

1875-76. Prof. G. W. Ready, Superintendent, $150; Prof. E. R.

Booth, High School, $100; T. W. Emerson, Principal, $70; Misses Mag-
gie Fletcher, Sue Kernoodle, Georgia Jackson, Sue Green, Mary Kidd,

Maud Gent and Ellen Hackett, $50 each per month, with the exception of

the last two who received $40 each. Mrs. Marie Kleuber, Teacher of

German, $60.

1878-79. Prof. D. R. Cullv, Superintendent, $120; Mrs. M. V. Neet,

Misses Sue Green, Mary A. Purdy, Alice Chappelear, Mary J. Owens,
Bettie Rogers, Olive Suess, Mrs. J. B. Wilcox, Mrs. Rice, $40 each.

1879-80. Prof. D. R. Cully, Superintendent, $120; Mrs. M. V. Neet,

Misses Sue Green, Sue Kernoodle, Lizzie Buchanan, resigned, and place

filled by Miss Amelia Kendall, Mary J. Owens, Maud Gent, Olive Suess

and Mrs. J. B. Wilcox, $40 each.

1880-81. Prof. D. R. Cully, Superintendent, $133.33^; H .T. Williams,

High School, $50; Mrs. M. V. Neet, High School and Eighth Grade,

$45; Miss Sue Green, $45; Misses Emma Elliott, Virginia Batterton,

Olive Suess, Amelia Kendall, Maud Gent and Mrs. Mary. O. Hansber-
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ger, $40 each; Mrs J. B. Wilcox, $45: Miss Ella Elbert, $35; Miss Emma
Sharpe, $30; Miss Hattie Lewis, Teacher of Music.

1881-S2. Prof. D. R. Cully, Supt.: Prof. H. T. Williams and Mrs. M.
V. Neet, High School; Miss Sue Green, Mrs. M. O. Hansberger, resigned

in December, and Miss Victoria G. Conkling, elected to fill vacancy; Miss

Adelia Caldwell, Miss Olive Suess, Miss Lillie Bruner, resigned in April,

and Miss Mary E. Flaven elected to fill vacancy; Miss Virginia Batterton,

Miss Maud Gent, Miss Nannie Rogers, Miss Frankie Miller, Mrs. J. B.

Wilcox.

RESIDENCE OF JOHN MONTGOMERY, .Jr., SEDALIA, MO.

Franklin School.—This school is conducted in a two-story brick

building, situated on the northwest corner of Moniteau and Cooper streets.

This building was erected in the year 1870, and cost, with grounds, etc.,

about twelve thousand dollars. It contains four school rooms, each pro-
vided with ample cloak rooms for the use of the pupils, and teachers*

private rooms. The building is situated on elevated ground, affording

excellent drainage and ventilation. The grade of this school extends to

the A class, of the seventh year, after which the pupils are transferred to

Broadway School.

1868-69. Miss Kidd, $50; Miss Jennie Bard, $50.
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1869-70. Misses Sallie Youn^ and Emma Davidson, $50 each.

1870-71. W. O.Dunlap, Principal, $50; Misses Mary Kidd, Mary B.

Maddox and Helen M. Wadleigh, $50 each.

1871-72. Wm. Barnhill, Principal, $60; Misses Mary Kidd, Kate C.

Steele and Lizzie Puckett, $5o each.

1872-73. Mrs. W.J. Tucker, Principal, $60; Misses Moore, Emma
Chappelear, Lizzie Puckett and Kate Steele, $50 each.

1873-74. Mrs. W.J. Tucker, Principal, $70; Misses Lizzie Puckett,

Kate C. Steele and Emih' Tucker, $50 each.

1874-75. Mrs. W.J. Tucker, Principal, $60; Miss Ollie Suess, $40;
Misses Nellie Mitchell and Emily Tucker, $50 each.

1875-76. Mrs. W. J. Tucker, Principal, $70; Misses Olive Suess,

Bettie Rogers and Emily Tucker, $50 each.

1876-77. T. C. Early, Principal; Misses Olive Suess, Bettie Rogers
and Maud Gent, $50 each.

1877-78. Principal, $60; Misses Olive Suess, Bettie

Rogers and Maud Gent, $50 each.

1878-70. Mrs. T. J. Speer, Principal, $60; Misses Alice Burdsal, Sue

Myers, Maud Gent, $40 each. Miss Nellie Branham, $40, elected to fill

vacancy occasioned by resignation of Miss Myers.
1879-80. John P. Gass, Principal, $65; Misses Alice Burdsal, Mary A.

Purdy, $40 each; Miss Jessie Ainsworth, $30.

1880-8L Prof. C. B. Reynolds, Principal, $60; Misses Alice Burdsal,

Jessie Ainsworth, $35; Kate McClellan, $30.

1881-82. G. B. Lamm, Principal; Misses Jessie Ainsworth, Katie

McClellan and Lillie Gibson.

Washington School.—This school is located on East Broadway, in a

two-stoi\y wooden building, containing four large, pleasant rooms. It

was opened in the year 1873, as a primary school, with two teachers. In

1878 two rooms were rented near the building, and the grades extended

to the sixth year. Two }'ears later, two additional rooms were added to

the building, putting it in its present shape. The school grounds are

large and veiy pleasantly situated. It is now contemplated to have the

grades extended to the eighth vear, after which the pupils will be trans-

ferred to the Broadway School.

1873-74. Miss Mary A. Green, Principal, $60; Miss Minnie Chap-

pelear, $50.

1874-75. Miss Mary A. Green, Principal, $70; Miss Minnie Chap-
palear, $50.

1875-76. Miss Emih' Tucker, Principal, succeeded in January, 1876,

by MissSue Kernoodle, $6o; Miss MinnicChappelear, $5i'.

1876-77. Miss Sue Kernoodle, Principal, $6i); Miss Alice Chappelear,
$50.
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18YT-7S. Miss Sue Kernoodle, Principal, $60; Miss Mattie Swisher,

$50.

1878-79. Miss Sue Kernoodle, Principal, $50: Mrs. N. W. Bruner,

$40; Misses Mary A. Kidd and Georgia Jackson, $40 each.

1879-80. A. S. Caldwell, Principal, $50; Misses G-^orgia Jackson,

Mary West and Virginia Patterton, elected to the place of Miss Kendall,

transferred to Broadway, $40.

1880-81. A. S. Caldwell, Principal, $60; Misses Georgia Jackson,
Adelia Caldwell, Mary West, $40 each.

1881-82. B. F. Hickman Principal, Misses Georgia Jackson, Hattie

Leach, Lizzie Wagenlaender, Alice Chappelear, Mary A. Kidd.

Lincoln School (Colored.)
—This school was instituted in the year

1868, and was first opened in a frame building, located on the present site

of Franklin School. In the year 1S70, the building was moved two blocks

further north, and one east, to its present location. In 1879, two

rooms were added to the building, so that the school is now furnished

with tour rooms, with ample seating capacit}- for 260 pupils. The grades
of this school are parallel with those in the White school.

1867-68. Mr. Miller, $50.00.

1868-69. Mr. Carter, $50.00. Mrs. Tucker elected February 28, 1869

to fill the vacancy occasioned by the resignation of Miss Tindall, and Miss

Maggie Cotton to take the place of Miss Adamson, resigned.

1869-70. J. M. Carter, $50.
1870-71. J. M. Carter, Principal, $50; Wm. Barnhill, $40.00.

1871-72. Prof. D. W. Bowles, Principal $60; Mrs. D. W. Bowles,

$50.; Miss Maertz, teacher of German.

1872-73. Prof. D. W. Bowles Principal, $60; David N. Savage, $50.

1873-74. Prof. D.W. Bowles; Principal, $60; Miss Sibby White $50.

1874-75. Prof, D. W.Bowles, Principal, $60; Miss Sibby White, $50.

1875-76. Prof. D. W.Bowles, Principal, $60; M. M.Richardson, $50.
1876-77. Prof. D. W. Bowles, Principal, $60; M. M. Richardson, $50.

1877-78. Prof. D. W. Bowles, Principal, $60; L. A. Gordon, $50.

1878-79. Prof. D. W. Bowles, Principal, $50; L. A. Gordon, :p40; J.

H. Simms, $30.

1879-80. Prof. D. W. Bowles, Principal $50; J. H. Simms, $10; Wm.
Smith, Miss Annie White.

1880-81. Prof. D. W. Bowles, $55; J. H. Simms, $40; Wm. Smith,

Henry Hanlev, $25 each.

1881-82. Prof. D. W. Bowles, Principal, resigned in March, and J. H.

Simms elected to fill the vacancy. Miss Ida Drake, E. R. Scott, Henry
Henley.



584 HISTORY OF SEDALIA.

COMPARATIVE VIEW FROM 1867 TO 1881.

1»

3
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Total number days attendance by all such children 247,500

Average number of days attendance by each child 112

Number days school was taught 180

Average number of pupils attending each day 1,375

Number of teachers employed, male 7, female 20; total 27

Salaries of teachers per month $1,127.00

Average pay of teachers per month 43.50

Average cost tuition per day on average daily attendance ... 4 cents.

Rate per cent, levied for all purposes 7 mills.

Rate per cent, levied for payment of teachers 4 mills.

Average daily attendance in white school 1,182

Average per cent, of attendance 92.

Average daily attendance in colored school 193

Average per cent, of attendance 86.

Number of sittings in white school 1,360

Number of sittings in colored school 260

Total number of sittings 1,620

Total tardiness, white, 2,372; colored, 1,683 3,955

Number of suspensions 29^

Number expulsions

Number cases truancy , 112

Number school buildings 5

Number school rooms ., 26

Number teachers, including chief principal 27

THE SEDALIA SEMINARY.

This institution was established in Sedalia, Sept. 5, 1876, by Prof. J. B.

Van Petten. In 1877, it was united with the Missouri Central Normal
School and Collegiate Institute, which had been established in Sedalia at

the same time, by Prof. E. R. Booth. The two schools thus united were

called the Sedalia Collegiate Institute, and was conducted under the

associate principalship of Professors Van Petten and Booth. When the

institution had prospered nearly three years, its buildings, library and

apparatus were destroyed by fire. But other accommodations were at

once provided and the school, without the interruption of a single day, or

the loss of one scholar, continued its session to the end of the school year
of 1878-9, Prof. Booth then retiring.

Prof. Van Petten consolidated the Collegiate Institute with the Queen

City Seminary, which had been in successful operation one year, under

Prof. G. W. Read}', corner Fifth and Lafayette streets, centrally located

with fine grounds and buildings.

The schools thus united took the original name of the Sedalia Semi-

nary and since that time, for three years, the institution has been under the

management of Professors Van Petten and Readv.
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The Seminary has six departments of education, viz: Primary, Pre-

paratory, Collegiate, Normal, Commercial and Music. The primary and

preparatory departments constitute a well graded school in which pupils

prepare for the higher departments. The collegiate department has a four-

year course of study, equal to those of the best seminaries and female

colleges. The course of study in the normal department is similar to

that of the State Normal Schools. The commercial course is a full com-

mercial college course. The department of music has a five-year grad-

uatory course.

The seminary has prospered for six years, and has good prospects for

3'ears to come. The number belonging has averaged two hundred.

During the six years of its existence in the Collegiate, Normal, Commer-
cial and Music departments, one hundred and thirty-five have graduated.
The following was the faculty for the year ending June 1, 1882:

J. B. Van Petten, A. M., G. W. Ready, A. M., Co-Principals;
G. W. Ready, Professor of Mathematics and Natural Science; J. B. Van

Petlen, Professor of Languages and Metaphysics; Mrs. J. B. Van Pelten,

French and English Literature; A. L. Burchfield, Professor of Commercial

Department; Miss Annie M. Allen, Music Department; Miss Minnie Fen-

wick, German.

During the next year Prof. G. W. Ready will have exclusive control

and management of this institution
;
Prof. Van Petten having retired from

the same. A good strong faculty will be provided for the seminary.
The successful management of the Sedalia public schools by Prof. Ready,
for a period of ten years, together with his excellent school called the

Queen City Seminary, and afterwards his connection with the Sedalia

Seminary as co-principal, all indicate fairly the success of this institution

in the future as in the past. The school year is divided into three terms

of thirteen weeks each. The only vacation is during holiday week

except summer vacation. Fall term begins September 4, 1882.

As we go to press we learn that the Sedalia Seminary has suspended
in favor of the Sedalia Universit}^, in which Prof. Ready has been appointed
to the chair of Greek and Latin.

SEDALIA UNIVERSITY.

On the 13th day of May, a number of prominent citizens of Sedalia

met together at the First Presbvterian Church to discuss the feasibilit}^ of

establishing a first class institution of learning. This meeting was fol-

lowed by others, but without any definite results. At this juncture, Rev.

G. A. Beattie and Prof. G. W. Ready conceived the idea of forming a

joint stock company to purchase the Barrett Hotel property and fifty-four

acres of land adjoining thereto, —twenty acres with the buildings to be

set apart for University purposes, said University to be under the auspices
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of the Presbyterian Church of the U. S. A. Their etibrts in this direc-

tion were most successful. The stock was subscribed and the organization

perfected.

Trustees of the Land Company: L. N. Brown, W. P. Cousley, J. R.

Barrett, A. S. Fernald, Wm. Beck, A. Meyer, J. W. Truxel, B. G. Wil-

kerson and D. David, Sedalia, Mo,

Trustees of the University: Rev. S.J. Niccoll, D. D., and Charles I.

Greely, Esq., St. Louis, Rev. A. Walker, Tipton; Gov. T. T. Crittenden*

Jetierson City; Rev. C. H. Fueller, Warrensburg; Rev. T. D. Wallace,

Hannibal; Rev. J. G. Faekler, Clinton; Capt. S. W. Smith, Warsaw;
Cyrus Newkirk, B. H. Ingram, Col. A. D. Jaynes, Dr. J. A. C. Brown,
D. H. Smith, J. G. White, John Montgomery, Jr., Rev. G. A. Beattie^
Col. J. D. Crawford, Prof. G. W. Ready, J. M, Clute, J. H. Mertz, Dr. j!

W. Trader and Dr. H. W. Woods, of Sedalia.

The scholastic year is divided into three sessions of thirteen weeks

each. The fall term opens Sept. 6. Departments: Primary, Prepara-

tory, Collegiate, Normal, Commercial and Musical, with a full faculty of

able and experienced teachers.

SEDALIA BUSINESS COLLEGE AND INSTITUTE OF PENMANSHIP.

Business of all kinds must have system, and colleges and schools for

special training are demanded and supported by the general public of the

present age.

No education is complete without a thorough knowledge of business

system. In order to do things properly, men must know how.

To be familiar with the customs and manner of doing business gener-

ally in use among business men, is certainly a very valuable accomplish-
ment for any young man or woman commencing a battle with the -world.

There are thousands who are thoroughly acquainted with the neces-

sary details of a business life, and use the knowledge with effect as a

lever to aid them in whatever they may undertake in life, and individuals

who are without this knowledge are continually striving against great
odds when they enter life's arena to compete against those who do pos-
sess it.

The Sedalia Business College was established in the early part of 1881^

and the wise selection of its teachers and its superior management have

already given it a wide reputation. Students are entered here from

many of the western States to reap the advantages afforded in the way of

a sound practical business training.

The owners and principals of this college, Messrs. Moore and Fraker^

are both practical and expert accountants, having been for several years,,

prior to the establishment of the college, engaged in actual work in book

keeping, and have long been known throughout Central Missouri as men
of unquestioned ability in their profession.
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The College is located on Second street, in S;ii ilia, in large, commodious,

well ventilated rooms, with a seating capacity of three hundred.

The following is but a brief description of the course of study at this

prosperous institution.

Department of Penmanship.—-In this department is taught plain and

ornamental penmanship, pen drawing, flourishing, &c.

Department of Accounts.—Book keeping is thoroughly taught in

this department, and the student enjoys the advantage of personal instruc-

tion continually.

Department of Mathematics.—In this department special attention

is given to business arithmetic, and all kinds of commercial calculations.

SEDALIA BUSINESS COLLEGE, SEDALIA, MO.

Banking Department.—Here the student becomes familiar with the

National banking system, and also that of private banks.

Ladies' Department.—All the studies that are taught in the other

department are enjo3'ed in this.

There is delivered each day a lecture of one hour, to all the students,

by Prof. W. H. Moore, on accounts and various other subjects. This

course of lectures alone is wortli more than the cost of attending the

College, as it embraces information on all kinds of book-keeping and

banking, manufacturing, joint stock companies, notes and bills, railways,

agents and contracts, stocks and bonds, and many other subjects.

It is now generally believed that this institution is in master hands, and
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conducted upon such sound business principles, that the character of its

graduates will no doubt reflect to the credit of its founders and present

proprietors.

When practical men who have had years of experience, either in the

science of accounts, or in any other walk in business life, take any business

in hand, their success is almost assured.

This CoUeg'e publishes monthly, three thousand copies of the College

'Journal^ a four column folio, devoted to the interests of the institution,

and which are mailed free all over the land.

THE PRESS.

The press of Sedalia has done a great work in aiding the progress of

the city and the energy, intelligence, enthusiasm and hard work of the

managers, editors and reporters, have done as much as the wealth and

intelligence and personal influence of citizens in the mercantile and profes-
sional walks of life.

The Sedalia Eagle-Times issued its first publication as a dail}- and

weekly newspaper in the month of February, 1882, as a consolidation of

the Sedalia Eagle and the Sedalia Times, both old and well established

Republican newspapers. The Times was established in Sedalia in the

year 1865, by James Magann and P. G. Staflbrd. It afterwards passed

through several hands, and finally, in the month of July, 1881, was pur-
chased by John G. and William A. Sloane, who conducted the paper under

the firm name and style of Sloane Bros, until the consolidation. On the

7th day of November, 1881, the first number of the Sedalia Daily Times

was issued.

The Sedalia Eagle was founded by Milo Blair, at Boonville, Mo., in

the year 1865, and was conducted by him at that place until the summer
of 1878, when he removed the paper to Sedalia, and continued its publi-

cation here until said consolidation. In addition to the regular weekly
issue the Sunday Morning Eagle was published by the same office.

The Bazoo printing establishment was opened for business on the first

day of May, 1868, by J. West Goodwin, in a wooden building on the

north side of Main street, between Ohio and Lamine streets. It consisted

of one small press that could only print a sheet seven by nine inches, and

a few cases of type. It was run as a job office until June 1, 1869, when
the weekly ^a^ot?, a six column paper, was issued. The first number of

the dailv Bazoo,\}a^ first daily paper in the city, was issued Sept. 20, 1869,

as an evening paper. On March 23, 1873, the first number of the Sunday

morning Bazoo was issued.

The Bazoo now occupies a three-story building, at 209 Ohio street, and

runs by steam three cylinder presses and three job presses, employing
about thirty-five persons in all departments, including book-binding, job
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rooms, newspaper and stationery store. It has a large and growing cir-

culation, not alone confined to Sedalia, but is read largely in small places

from fifty to one hundred miles in all directions.
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The Sedalia Democrat was .established in 1868 and is one of the

best edited and managed daily papers in Missouri, Maj. John N.Edwards

editor, and John D. Russell manager. A History of the Democrat is

given on page 305 of the history of Pettis County.
The Eagle-Times^ as now organized, is published by the Missouri

Printing Company, a corporation with the following officers: President

and Manager, J no. G. Sloane: Vice President, G. F. Kimball; Secretary
and Treasurer, Wm. A. Sloane. Its editors are Milo Blair and Jno. G.

Sloane. It is the only Republican newspaper published in Pettis County,
and is fearless in the expression of its principles. It has an extensive

weekly circulation throughout Pettis and adjoining counties, and is con-

sidered one of the leading Republican papers of the State.

Sedalia journal.
—h. not to be overlooked fact in the histor}- of the

city and count}^, is the establishment of a German weekly paper, which

made its appearance in the year 1877, and which has since that time,

through the liberal patronage of Germans as well as Americans, steadily

grown, and just now entered upon its sixth volume. The Sedalia

yournal was founded, May 25, 1877, by Fred. L. Wensel, of Hermann,
Mo. Mr. B. Rauck took possession of the paper the following year, but

sold it on the 1st day of April, 1881, to Messrs. August and Charles

Schneider, who, as practical printers and excellent business men, succeeded

in bringing the paper up to its present standard and prominence. It can be

truthfully maintained, that the Sedaha yournal now ranks among the best

weekly newspapers of the State, in regard to circulation, editorial ability, as

well as advertising patronage. In politics the Journal is Republican,
and keeps pace with the progress of the times, and through the influence

25
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of this paper our Germans owe many a victory. April 1, 1882, Mr. Chas.

Schneider sold his interest to Mr. Chas. Botz, of St. Louis, and the new

firm, under the name of Schneider & Botz, will strive to make the

yournal the best weekly paper in the State, and, encouraged by its past

success, to keep pace with the growth and wants of the general public.

CHAPTER X.—SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT.

Social, Benevolent and Secret Organizations.—Commercial, Military and Miscellaneous

Organizations.
—Masons, Odd Fellows, A. O. U. W , Military Companies, Social and

Dramatic and National Clubs, I. O. G. T., Church Societies, Libraries, &c., &c.

Probably no city of its size in the State has more secret and benevolent

societies than Sedalia. Not only are the oldest organizations, like the

Masons and Odd Fellows, represented, but the strongest and most popu-
lar orders or associations which have sprung into existence and become

powerful means for good, in the past tifty years, are equally well rep-

resented.

From the best information that can be gained, every one of the bodies

in this city is in a flourishing condition, with the exception of one or two,

which have not yet been founded long enough to grow so strong that they
can combat and overcome all circumstances.

There are many widows and orphans in this city to-day who are living

in quiet comfort—the mother with means to assist and educate her chil-

dren, the children with homes where they can remain until they have

gained a common school training, or learned a business or trade, whereby

they can support themselves—who have got their means from the treas-

ury of the secret and benevolent societies. The scrupulous care with

which the insurance and relief features of the societies have been con-

ducted in this city, has attracted the attention of many non-society men.

Below will be found a complete list of benevolent, secret, social, national,

militarv and miscellaneous organizations in the city. Each one has

received such mention as the scope and chapter will permit of, and the

length and minuteness of historical details have been governed by the

age, character, strength and usefulness of the body or order.

FREE MASONS—SEDALIA LODGE, NO. 236.

This is the oldest order and lodge in the city. In 1863, a number of

Masons, headed by Geo. W. Keill and Dr. Thomas J. Montgomery, took

the initiatory steps to organize a lodge. A number of them had been

members of Relief Lodge, No. 105, of Georgetown, which was opened

Aug. 29, 1848, and was the first lodge in the county; but they had become

indifferent and inactive and were not intimately known to each other.

After a careful canvass of the town enough names of Masons were
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obtained to warrant them in sending to the Grand Master a petition for

a Dispensation.
The Dispensation was granted on Jan. 25, 1864. Sedalia Lodge, No.

236 U. D. was opened by P. G. M., S. H. Saunders, as proxy for the

Grand Master. Among those present at the first meeting were w^. H.

Saunders, P. G. M; George C. Yost, George Keill, O. A. Cran-

dall, Dr. Thomas J. Montgomery, Logan Clark, A. A. Neal,

John Hancock, C. W. C. Walker, James Blakemore, Robert G.

Barnhart, Clifton Wood, Theo. Bloess, W. H. Lightfoot, of Sedalia,

and a number of others, visiting brethren. The following were

the officers while the lodge worked under Dispensation: G. C.

Yost, W. M; Geo. R. Keill, S. W; O. A. Crandall, J. W; W. H. Light-

foot, Treasurer; Logan Clark, Secretary; T.J. Montgomery, S. D; A.

A. Neal, J. D; John Hancock, Tyler. The charter members were the

above officers together with C. W. C. Walker, Jno. F. Philips, R. G.

Barnhart, James Blakemore, B. F. Hughes, J. S. Hopkins, some of whom
had been members of the first lodge at Georgetown. Feb. 18th, 1864,

David Postlewait was initiated. Next Elias Laupheimer, N. Greenfield,

W. E. Bard and John Hubbard were initiated.

The lodge was regularly constituted by S. H. Owens of California,

Mo., June 28th, 1864.

For the first two years and a half the lodge held their meetings in a

frame building on Main street. In November, 1867, the splendid First

National Bank building was completed, and the spacious second floor of

this building was chosen as a lodge room and handsomely fitted up.

Owing to the great McKissock House fire which occurred November 6th,

the public demonstrations in honor of opening the new lodge room were

omitted. November Tth, the hall was quietly dedicated.

In 1873, the lodge invested $600 of its surplus fund in Sedalia city bonds,

which fact will show its financial condition. The hall is still in the bank

building. Since the institution of the lodge up to 1876, it had a total

membership of 200. The_following is a list of Worshipful Masters, up to

1882: Geo. C. Yost, 1864-65; Geo. W. Keill, 1865-67; B. H. Ingram,

1868-70; A. D. Jaynes, 1869; John B. Gallie, 1871; O. A. Crandall, 1872;

Chas G. Taylor, 1873; Henry Suess, 1874; Geo. L. Faulhaber, 1875-79;

J. D. Crawford, 1880; L. O. Ellis, 1881; F. A. Sampson, 1882.

On Jan. 15th, 1868, Granite Lodge, No. 272, was formed out of the

surplus members of the lodge.

In 1881 the membership of this lodge (Sedalia) was 107.

GRANITE LODGE, NO. 272.

In October, 1867, it was found that the membership of the Sedalia

Lodge had grown so large that the accumulating business could not be
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disposed of and that the cause and purposes of Masonry would be

advanced by the formation of a new lod^e out of the surplus of members

in the old. October, 1867, a preliminary meetins^ of members was held.

L. S. Florsheim was Chairman and H. C. Sinnett, Secretary, The name
" Granite

" was agreed on by the meeting. A petition for a dispensation

was granted by the Grand Lodge, and on Jan. 15th, 1868, John F. Philips

opened the lodge, U. D. The following were the officers: Joseph M.

Fox, W. M; D. H. Smith, S. W; C. L. Martin, J. W; A. D. Jaynes, Sec-

retary; J. C. Lindsay, Treasurer; Geo. W. Ready, S. D.;B. G. Wilkerson,

J. D; Peter Latsch, Tyler. This lodge held its first meeting under a

charter on Nov. 30th, 1868.

The lodge has increased in membership, prosperity and usefulness until

now it has almost as many members as the mother lodge. The Worship-
ful Masters of this lodge from its establishment are: Joseph M. Fox,

1868; D. H. Smith, 1869-70; Geo. W. Ready, 1871-74-76; J. C. Thomp-
son, 1872-77; B. G. Wilkerson, 1873; M. L. Jacobs, 1875.

Both the lodges contain some of the most prominent and intiuential citi-

zens and business men in the town. The new lodge room on Ohio street

is furnished with great beauty and richness, and it is one as fine as

there is in the State outside of the great cities like St. Louis.

Sedalia R. A. Chapter, No. 18, organized October 27, 1867. Present

membership, 60. A. P. Morey, H. P.; G. L. Faulhaber, S.

Saint Omer Commandery, No. 11, Knights Templar, organized Janu-

ary 12, 1869. Present membership, 32. E. C, G. W. Ready; Recorder,

G. J. Lesure.

In February, 1868, Sedalia Council, No. 5, (white) was opened. Fern Leaf

Chapter, Order of the Eastern Star, was organized at the residence of B.

G. Simonds, July 3, 1875. B. G. Simonds was elected W. P. The other

officers elected were: Mrs. M. M. Andrus, W. M.; R. V. C. Simonds,

A. M.; L. B. Jackson, Treasurer; Isaac Wright, Secretary'; Sarah

Simonds, Conductress; C. A. Smith, Assistant.

COLORED A. F. & A. M.

Hawkins Lodge, No. 44, organized June 29, 1873. Present member-

ship, 71. W. M., C. Bledsoe; Secretary, D. S. Webster.

Centennial Lodge, No. 59, organized August 9, 1876. Present member-

ship, 48. W. M., J. W. Wheeler; Secretary, T. L. Campbell.

ODD FELLOWS.

Neapolis Lodge, No. 153, organized May 26, 1871. Present member-

ship, 83. N. G., Thos. C. Newton; Secretary, Chas. Roll.

The first lodge of this order was established in Georgetown in 1858.

The records of all its proceedings were destroyed by fire, hence there is

no data for its history. Neapolis Lodge, No. 153, is the first and oldest



HISTORY OF SEDALIA. 595

lodge in the cit}-.
It was oro-anized b}- Elias Bixby, Jas. G. Tesch, S. A.

Lowe, Ambrose J. Courtney, F. L. Parker, Thomas J. Montgomer}'^ and

Francis McCabe. Tlie hall was in a room on Main street, south side*

west of Osage. Here it was regularly installed by Grand Secretary C.

C. Archer, August 23, 1865. Elias Bixby was the first Noble Grand

In 1871, the lodge room and its contents were twice entirely destroyed by
tire, and twice injured by fire. This lodge should be called the Phoenix

Lodge, as it has risen so often from the ashes. In 1861>, when the lodge
had a very large membership, a large amount of valuable miscellaneous

property, costly regalia and paraphernalia, they moved into the second

story of a two-story brick, on the northwest corner of Main and Kentucky*
On January 2, 1871, the building was destroyed by fire. Every thing

was reduced to ashes; there was not one cent of insurance on the lodge

property, and the accumulation of six years was dust. This was enough
to fill with gloom the most hopeiul. The lodge members went to work

with a will.. A new hall was opened in the two-story brick Staley build-

ing, northeast corner of Main and Ohio, April 2, 1871. Some frame build-

ings were burned on the opposite side of the street, and during the fire

the lodge propert}^ was damaged b}- water and flames. The lodge had just

repaired this damage, was running smoothly and feeling secure when, on

April 14, 1871, the building was destroyed by fire and the lodge room

with it. Every thing was totally destroyed. Fortunately the secretary
had a pohcy of $1,000 insurance this time. Aug. 25, 1871, just after the

lodge had moved into the third story of the present Bazoo building on

Ohio street, a fire broke out in the block, and the property of the lodge
was much injured by its hasty removal. This ended the fire record of

the lodge.
In 1876 the order had so increased that, like the Masons, the lodge

was found to be too large for the successful transaction of business. It

was determined to form a new lodge from the surplus of members in the

old. .

Sedalia Lodge, No. 354, organized May 47, 1876. Present member-

ship, 35. N. G., James Allison; Secretar}-, W. J. Courtney. Was insti-

tuted on June 17, 1876, by Dr. Thomas J. Montgomery and Dr. Jno. W.
Trader; Judge Wm. H. H. Hill, Wm. Bray, R. T. Garrett, Chas. Meyers,
P. E. Fenseley, Miller Bullard and Adam Ittel, as charter members. Dr-

Jno. W. Trader was the first Noble Grand.

Sedalia Encampment, No. 33, organized May 19, 1871. Present mem-

bership, 33. C. P., J.C.Allison; Scribe, R.J. Eggleston. There are

two other divisions of this order organized in the city, the Sedalia

Uniformed Patriarchs, and the Daughters of Rebecca.

The new Odd Fellows Hall, on Ohio and Third streets, is very large,

furnished handsomely, and in all its appointments is almost perfect.
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ANCIENT ORDER OF UNITED WORKMEN.

Amity Lodge, No. 69, organized August 1-i, 1878. Present member-

ship, 75.

Equity Lodge, No. 26, organized Sept. 12, 1877. Present membership,
85. M. W., P.E. Connor; Secretary, C. W. Turner. Equity Lodge was
the first organized. The charter members who formed it were P. E.

Connor, J. B. Hall, Daniel Grow, Patrick McEnroe, O. A. Senger, H. N.

Smith, Chas. Keegan, G. S. Landers, J. S. Bosserman, S. A. Wright, Ira

T. Bronson, Wm. Shidy, A. J. Leece, Wm. H. H. Stephens, M. W.
Miller, Jas. G. Farley. The society increased in numbers so rapidly that

in one year it was necessary to organize a new Lodge from the surplus
of members in the old.

These lodges now have a spacious and beautiful hall on the southwest

corner of Ohio and Seventh streets, and the order is popular, well man-

aged and growing.

KNIGHTS OF PYTHIAS.

Sedalia Lodge, No. 27, organized Nov. 14, 1872. Present membership,
90. C. C, C. E. Hancock; K. of R. and S., W. A. Kerr. The following
were some of the charter members: A. B. Codding, Isaac Wright, Robt-

Walker, Wm. Campbell, J. A. Clark, J. A. Townsend, J. H. Miller, J.

McNealy, W. H. Parris, D. A. Clark, G. A. Gallic, S. A. McLaughHn.
The Lodge surrendered its charter in 1877, and reorganized. Among
the well known charter members were Rev. W. G. F. Wallace, Jno. A.

Lacy, Dr. W. P. King, Dr. W. H. Evans, Dr. D. T. Abell, Clay Arnold,
Geo. C. Heard, Wm. L. Felix, E. L. Phipps, J. Blocker, Dr. L. O. Ellis,

David Hurst and S. I. Thurber.

Queen City Lodge, No. 52, organized Oct. 17, 1873. Present member-

ship, 125. C. C, H. H. Allen; K. of R. and S., Geo. Ferrell.

Endowment Section, No. 263, organized Jan. 23, 1879. Present mem-

bership, 70. President, C. Ed. Hancock; Secretary and Treasurer, Dr.

R. W. Carr.

Fleur de Lis Division, No. 7, Uniform Rank, organized Oct. 17,1881.
Present membership, 36. Sir K. C, W. P. Cousley; Sir K. of R. and S.,

S. S. Sherman.

The Uniformed Ranks have regalia and uniforms of great beauty and of

fine quality, and the division is considered the handsomest body in the

secret societies of the cit3\

DEUTSCHE ORDERN DER HARUGARI.

Western Lodge, No. 189, organized Aug. 30, 1869. Present member-

ship, 65. O. B., Chas. Yost; Recording Secretary, C. O. Klueber. The

original founders of this useful German order in Sedalia were Jno. W.
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Siebe, Adam Hess, Tony Leece, Fred. Wetteroth, Aug. Jacobs, Philip

Werner, Dr. J. G. Beck. This order is solid and prosperous, with a good

surplus fund on hand.

INDEPENDENT ORDER OF BENAI BERITH.

Queen City Lodge, No. 258, organized March 19,1876. Present mem-

bership, 45. S. N. Lewis, President; M. L. Jacobs, Secretary. This is

a Jewish benevolent order, and by its members throughout the United

States, the Jewish Orphan Asylum at Cleveland, O., is maintained. The

original organizers of the lodge in this city were Elias Laupheimer, M,

Henoch, M. L, Jacobs, D. G. Levy, I. Wolf, E. Wolf and Henry Laup-
heimer.

women's CHRISTIAN TEMPERANCE UNION.

Organized Jan. 4, 1878. Present membership, 38. President, Mrs. J.

G. Allen; Secretary, Mrs. L. A. Ross.

UNION VETERAN ASSOCIATION.

Organized Sept. 15, 1880. Present membership, 125. President,

Richard Ritter; Secretary, H. B. Fletcher.

GOOD templars' DRAMATIC CLUB.

Organized Feb. 12, 1880. Present membership, 34. Manager, R. G.

Hastie; Secretary, Louis Goodrich.

SEDALIA B. B. CLUB.

Organized Sept. 1, 1881. Present membership, 12. Captain, J. R.

Lemist; Secretary, Wm. Moore.

MUTUAL ORDER OF PROTECTION.

This order was established in this cit}^
this season. It has grown with

unprecedented rapidity here, because of its fine system, and it continues

to grow and is meeting with public favor. Lamine Lodge, No. 27, organ-
ized March 13, 1881. Number of members, 27. At the last meeting,

January 10, the following officers were elected: Chas. Koock, President;

Henry Bauer, Vice-President; Frank Landmann, Secretary; Chas. O.

Kleuber, Treasurer; Dr. J. B.Jones, Chaplain and Medical Examiner; F.

Bizetsky, Guide; Rob. Laystrom, Guard; J. Schoell, Sentinel. B. Rauck

first introduced this order to the attention of the people and solicited the

members.

THE SEDALIA SPORTING CLUB.

This club was organized on July 22, 1875. Its first officers were C. T.

McElvaney, President; T. T. Major, Vice-President; T. J. Cummings,

Secretary; W.J. Maltb}^ Treasurer. Among its charter members were

A. B. Dempsey, Dr. J. W. Trader, John Kullmer, O. A. Crandall, F.
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Houston and S. C. Gold. Present membership, 35. Present officers, O.

A. Crandall, President; John Newton, Vice-President; Arthur Maltby,

Secretary ;
Dr. Ed Small, Treasurer. It contains some of the best marks-

men in the State. It took an active part in procuring the passage of the

game laws, and by its vigilance has done much for the protection of game
and the propagation of fish. The membership becoming too large the

Sedalia Gun Club was organized. B}- the joint efforts of both clubs the

State Sportsmen Association was induced to hold its annual meeting here

in June, 1882.

SEDALIA GUN CLUB.

In September, 1880, the members of the Sedalia Sporting Club becom-

ing too numerous a number of its members withdrew and organized the

Sedalia Gun Club, with Dr. J. W. Trader, President; Frank Houston,

Secretary, and John Montgomery, Jr., Treasurer. The organization and

officers have remained the same to the present time. The members
besides the officers named are: E. H. Smith, C. H. Gauss, J. C. Par-

meriee, S. C. Gold, A. P. Morey, J. D. Sneed, J. C. Barber, Dr. E. C.

Evans and Louis Kumm. The recent tournament of the State Sports-

men Association was held in Sedalia under the auspices of this club June

13-17, 1882. Its members have ever worked harmoniously with the other-

club for the preservation of game and prosecution of yiolators of law, and

their united action has been highly satisfactory. The members are men
of high standing in the city.

(tErmania club.

Organized April 16, 1876. Present membership, 50. President, Chas.

Yost; Secretary, R. Springe.
This is one of the oldest social organizations in the city. On April 23,

1876, the first officers were elected as follows: President, Henr}- Suess;

Vice President, Carl Wile; Secretar}', A. Seligman; Treasurer, C.

H3'e. Louis Deutsch, C. O. Kleuber, M. Koock, B. Rauck, E. H.

Renisch and others were active workers to establish the club. During
the first year and a half of its existence the club had large and elegantly
furnished rooms, with a stage for dramatic performances. The club gave

plavs in which the members participated during two seasons, and has

given fine balls, picnics and other social entertainments.

YOUNG men's social CLUB.

Organized Nov. 30, 1881. Present membership, 11. President, Ed.

Fernald ; Secretary, Tim Co^'.griffi

THESPIAN DRAMATIC ASSOCIATION.

Organized September, 1867. Present membership, 22. Business

manager, Ira Hinsdale; Secretary, T. H. Lewis.
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Wm. Latour founded this organization, has been its life and soul, besides

acting as stage manager, dramatic instructor and leading actor. The

early history is given elsewhere. Mr. and Mrs. Latour are the oldest

members of the company, which is still in existence, strong and popular.

INDEPENDENT ORDER OF GOOD TEMPLARS.

In the early part of 1864 a Good Templars' Association was formed.

This seems to have been the first lodge of this kind. Mr. P. G. Stafford,

E. W. Washburn and T. W. Moses were the first three W. T.'s of which

mention can be found. This society probably led to the organization of all

those now in existence, which are as follows:

Sedalia Lodge, No. 656, organized March 14, 1874. Present member-

ship, 126. W. C. T., R. M. Fraker; Recording Secretary, John N.

Corey. •

Lincoln Lodge, No. 37 (colored), organized Nov. 4, 1881. Present

membership, 112. W. C. T., Robert Smith; Recording Secretary,

Carter.

Sedalia Degree Temple, No. 9, organized Oct, 22, 1881.. Present

membership, 32. D. T., R. G. Hastie; District Secretary, Louis E.

Goodrich.

Sunset Temple, Juvenile Templars, organized Nov. 27, 1881. Present

membership, 41. W. C. T., Louis E. Goodrich; Recording Secretary,
Kate Tritt.

ROYAL TEMPLE OF T.

Queen City Council, No. !), organized July 1, 1880. Present member-

ship, 30. S. C, A. D. Fisher; Recording Secretary, James O'Brien.

SEDALIA CATHOLIC BENEVOLENT SOCIETY.

This society was organized. Sept. 3, 1871, and well conducted since.

The first officers were: Father Swift, President; M. O'Reilley, Vice

President; J. H. Vitt, Treasurer; John B. Kelley, Secretary; L. P. Julien,

Recording Secretar3\ The present officers are : James Glass, President
;

John W. Murphy, Vice President; T. D. Quinn, Treasurer; Patrick

Shehan, Recording Secretary; Edward G. Cassidy, Financial Secretary.

CATHOLIC KNIGHTS OF AMERICA.

Among the members of this society are: Rev. F. W. Graham, Rev.

P. Morrisey, James Glass, Thomas D. Quinn, E. G. Cassidy, Dr. J. J.

Piper, William H. Curran, M. P. Condon, Michael Hugh, James Sullivan,

Patrick Cosgrifl', Tim. Cosgriff, Michael McGinley. The present officers

are: Edward Hurley, President; T. D. Quinn, Recording Secretary;
Wiliam Curran, Financial Secretary; James Glass, Treasurer.
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IRISH LAND LEAGUE.

Organized January, 18SU. Present membership, 125. President, Ed.

Hm-ley; Secretary, P. Shehan. This society, composed of Irishmen and

Irish-Americans, has not been long in existence, but has done a noble work.

Thos. D. Quinn was the first man to suggest and labor for its formation.

He soon awakened the interest of his fellow countrymen in the city and

received an enthusiastic support. The first officers elected were as fol-

lows: President, Thos. D. Quinn; Vice-President, Jno. McGinley; Secre-

tary, Timothy Cosgriff'; Treasurer, P. Shehan. The earliest members

were: James Glass, J. W. Murphy, Ed. Hurley, Thos. Moffett and Patrick

McEnroe. On Jan. 25th, 18S0, a Relief Association to aid the suffering

of the Irish people during the famine was organized by the leading mem-

bers of the society, aided by many Americans in sympathy with them.

Since the organization of these two bodies they have collected and sent to

their brethren in Ireland the large sum of $7,O(»0.

SCANDINAVIAN SOCIETY.

Organized Dec. -Ith, 1880. Present membership, -13. President, Louis

Wetzell; Secretary, A. Hanson. The first officers of this sociaty were:

Ben. Johnson, Ordforari. J.C.Johnson, Secretary; P. Alquist, Kassor; B.

P. Bengtson, Ombudsman. The members present at the first meeting

were: Peter Frank, Fred. Siegerahl, S. Lind, J. C. Johnson, S. P. Thom-

son, A. Hanson, Chas. Carlson, — Vickenburg.

SEDALIA HEBREW UNION.

Organized Oct. 11th, 1868. Present membership, 30. President, M.

Henoch; Secretary, E. Wolf.

KNIGHTS AND LADIES OF HONOR.

Temple Lodge, No. 269, organized August, 1880. Present member-

ship, 17. Dictator, Jno. S. Landes; F. S., Flora Cockrell.

SEDALIA ORCHESTRA.

Organized January, 1870. Present membership, ten. Leader, Prof.

L. E. Friemel; business manager, Tony Leece. Mr. Leece was the

founder of the band and has been its leader. The first members were

the leaders, F. Wetteroth, H. Van Hall, Al. Pinney, James Cook; others

were added after the first organization.

SEDALIA SILVER CORNET BAND.

Organized in 1874. Present membership, 16. Leader, L. E. Friemel;

business manager, Henry Otten. E. Fentem, in 1867, organized the first

brass band in Sedalia, and it was an excellent one. The above band is

the offspring of the old one.



HISTORY OF SEDALIA. 601

ORDER OF RAILWAY CONDUCTORS.

Queen City Division, No. 60; organized Jan. 1, 1879. Present mem-

bership, 20. C. C, J. M. Patterson, Secretary; A. G. Brown.

EMMET GUARDS.

Organized Dec. 21,- 1875. Some of the original founders were Ed-

ward Hurley, Thos. D. Quinn, Thos. Moffett, P. McEnroe, P. Shehan,

James Kelley. Present membership, 75. Officers: T. Coeguff, Pres.;

T. D. Quinn, Vice-Pres.; Ed. Hurley, Treasurer.

K. OF H.

Prairie Lodge, No. 1998; organized Jan. 27, 1880; present member-

ship, fifty-tive. Dictator, O. P. Houck; Reporter, D. A. Rice. Among
the charter members who started this lodge and order in the city were

John S. Landes, Chas. Allen, Wm. L. Felix, Cord Kruse, Dr. Thomas

Sollis, Dr. R. Wilson Carr, W. B. Brown, E. M. Hogue, John B. Rick-

man, S. A. Wright, John Todd and J. D. Monsees.

BROTHERHOOD OF LOCOMOTIVE ENGINEERS.

Sedalia Division, No. 178; organized 1874; present membership, 40.

Chief Engineer, Chas. McNab; Secretary, J. L. Parish.

THE SEDALIA RIFLES.

The first military company organized in the city after the war, under

the State law, was the Sedalia Rifles. The company was raised and

organized by Harry C. Demuth, for eleven years deputy postmaster. The

company is and was composed of the best young business men of Sedalia.

The company was mustered into service on Oct. 28, 1879, with over fifty

men. On Oct. 9, 1879, Harry C. Demuth received his commission from

Governor Phelps as Captain of the company. Wm. Latour was com-
missioned First Lieutenant, and John D. Russell, a veteran soldier, and

business manager of the Daily Democrat^ Second Lieutenant. They are

armed with the latest improved breech-loading muskets, have a fatigue
uniform and a magnificent full dress uniform, a beautiful silk banner pre-
sented b}^ the ladies of Sedalia, and fine equipments. The company
still has its original members and officers.

The non-commissioned officers are as follows: First Sergeant, Omer
Green; Second Serg't, C. E. Messerly; Third Serg't, J. A, Lamy; Fourth

Serg't, A. S. Caldwell; Corporals, T. H. Kehoe, Wm. D. Steele, H. W.
Meuschke, F. Hardcastle; Color Sergeant, R. C. Sneed.

THE QUEEN CITY GUARDS.

This was the second company organized after the war. The company
was raised by Chas. Fredericks, for a long time foreman of the Bazoo ]oh
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Office, and later the stationery clerk of the M., K. & T. R. R. The
officers and men were mustered in in August, 1880, with about forty,

rank and file. Chas. Fredericks was elected Captain, James Ramsey,
First Lieutenant, and C. Ed. Hancock, Second Lieutenant. These gen-
tlemen were duly commissioned by the Governor. They wear a hand-

some black and gra}^ uniform. They are armed like the other company.
In 1881 Capt. Fredericks was called from the city, and E. E. Codding

was elected and commissioned Captain. He was compelled to resign on

account of business duties, and in the spring of 1882 D. I. Holcomb was
elected Captain.
Both companies have a fine set of drums and fifes, presented them by

the munificence of Col. A. D. Jaynes.

MISSOURI COMMERCIAL TRAVELERS' ASSOCIATON.

Organized March 4, 1880. Present membership 100, President, J.

W. Kennedy; Secretary and Treasurer, Geo. Ferrell. The first organi-
zation of commercial travelers in Sedalia, of which there are now over

thirty, was a local organization, formed b}- and composed exclusively of

Sedalia representatives of Sedalia wholesale houses. It was called the

Sedalia Commercial Travelers' Association. The members who were
instrumental in the formation of this first societ}^ were F. E. Hoffman,

Henry Allen, S. S. Sherman, J. W. Kennedy, Geo. Ferrell, Jno. L. Hall,

R. W. Wiley, J. W. Murphy, D. I. Holcomb, L. A. Ross, Seymour Lip-

sis, Chas. Decklemeyer, Dan Hurlburt, Louis Schrader, Thos. Dugan.
When it had gained strength, popularity, and efficiency on its own merits,

the society w^as merged into the State organization, and became a branch

of the Missouri Commercial Travelers' Association. In 1881 Henry W.
Allen was sent as a delegate from this society to the meeting of the

National Association.

CHAPTER XL—THE PRESENT AND THE FUTURE.

What Sedalia Has Done—What She Has—What She Expects to Do—And What She
Will Have.

What Sedalia has done the previous chapters of this History will show.

And her achievements are unsurpassed in the history of modern civiliza-

tion in the west. Her last deeds are her best, for in the past two 3'ears

and a half the city has built forty-five miles of railroad; successfully
started a Street Railway, constructed a Water Works Reservoir at a cost

of $10,000; gained the location of the General Railroad Hospital, and

the Car Accountant's Office of the Missouri Pacific Railroad; has

•expended nearly two million dollars in general impro\ements and new
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buildintjjs; and has Macadamized nearly two miles of streets. A bill is

now before Congress asking for an appropriation of $50,000 for the

erection of a Postoffice building; a project is on hand for the construction

of thirty-five miles of railroad to connect the city with the Chicago and

Alton Railroad, which will produce a competition in freight and passenger
rates with the Missouri Pacific line; hundreds of buildings are in course of

construction, and with the present prospects ofbountiful crops the general
business of the city will be greater than ever before in her history.

What the city now has and what it has done in the past year is a sutfi-

cient evidence of its present condition and capacities.

Let the thoughtful reader and the clear headed business man consider

first what the city has in general:

Sedalia has more business houses doing trade in their own store-rooms

and upon their own unencumbered, unborrowed capital, than any other

city of the same size in the State.

Sedalia has to-day a less number of untenanted buildings than any other

city in the State of the same size.

Sedalia is already a railroad center, and by the legislation of the late

Constitutional Convention, she is likely to continue so, without a rival:

Because hereafter no county can issue bonds to railroads for more than

live per cent, of the value of her taxable property, which amounts to this:

that railroads will only be aided by private subscription, consequently
there will be few or no more roads built, and there will be no more rail-

road centers.

The charter of the Pacific Railroad, which passes through Sedalia,

provides that no machine shops of the company can be located anywhere
else in the State than along the line of their road. Now the property on

which the vast machine shops, round houses, coal chutes, etc., of the

Pacific Road are now situated in St. Louis, is becoming. of such enormous

value, that the company has for several years past been seriously agitating
the removal of these enormous works to Sedalia.

Taking into account the unencumbered real estate, the small public debt

of the city and county, the unborrowed capital invested in business, the

moderate taxation, and this county has more real wealth than any other in

Central Misouri.

Sedalia has not yet reached the highest point of prosperity, but is rapidly

moving towards it, because new people are coming in every day, new
farmers and mechanics, and more capital is being put into business houses

and manufacturing interests, new banks are being started and additional

newspapers founded.

Now let those who are interested in the city as property holders and

business men, and those who are seeking new homes, new fields for busi-
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ness and new scenes of happiness, consider what the city has actually done

in the past year of 1881.

Sedalia aspires to be the Capital of the State. She asks the honor, not

as a beggar, but as one that demands her just rights. Her geographical

position, her enterprise, wealth, beauty of location and accessibility by
railroad, are all just and adcnowledged facts in favor of this city, and the

citizens seem inclined to continue to present their claims for the removal

of the Capital until the question is submitted by a vote to the people of

the State.

After the capital removal scheme, the next great purpose of the city is

to enlarge and increase the manufacturing business, and make Sedalia a

source of supplies for all the countr}^ within her business territor}-. The

building of a railroad north to connect with the C. & A. R. R., is a pro-

ject to be carried out in the near future. The erection of a great institu-

tion of learning comes next in importance.
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Biographical Sketches.

All men cannot be great; each has his sphere, and the success of his life

is to be measured by the manner in which he fills it. But men may be

both true and good, may be morally great, for in true living there are no

degrees of greatness
—there is no respect to persons. It is not intended

in the following pages to include all the several, and separate acts of a

man's life, important or otherwise. The design is to give the merest out-

line, for a complete review of the life and character of the person

named, would be both unwarranted and without general value. The
names which follow, for the most part, are those of men who have been

or are now closely identified with the interests of the county and their

respective townships. The sketches of many of the early settlers are

found elsewhere in this volume; but to have given a sketch of every man
in Pettis Count}- would have been utterly impossible. It any have been

omitted, who should have been represented, it was more the tault of them-

selves or their friends than the publishers of this work. For the most

part these have contributed to the enterprise which the publishers have

been able to furnish the people. Great care has been taken to give the

facts in these sketches as they were given to the historian, and if an occa-

sional error is found, it is largely due to the incorrect statement of the one

who dictated the sketch.

DR. D. T. ABELL.

Was a native of Brookfield County, Pa. His parental ancestors were

natives of Massachusetts. His father, Daniel H., died in 1877, at the age
of eighty-two years. His mother is still living and has attained the

eightieth 3'ear of her age. Young Abell was educated at the Susque-
hanna Collegiate Institute, and took his medical course at Homoe-

opathic Medical College, Philadelphia, graduating in 1860. Dr. Abell, as

an able and competent practitioner of medicine, is too well known in

Pettis County to need special comment here. Commencing his practice

in Athens, Pa., from thence he moved to Darlington, Wis., where he was

appointed examining surgeon for pension applicants, a position which he

now holds in Sedalia. He has an extensive practice, both in the city and

country
—one of the largest in the County or even Central Missouri. Dr.

Abell is a member of the Knights of Pythias of Sedalia.

26
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LOUIS G. ADDOR.
Dealer in watches, clocks, jewelry, etc. Was born in Switzerland, in

St. Croix. His father, Victor Samuel Addor, died in the old country in

1872. His mother, Marie Nanette Jaccard, died in the old countr\' in

18T8. Louis G. was taught the watchmaking business in his boyhood,

serving six year as apprentice in the old country. In ISfU he went to

South America and entered a wholesale watch and jewelry house. Here

he remained untir 1865, when he came to this country, locating in St.

Louis, and working,in the large house of D. O. Jaccard & Co. Here he

remained until 1868, when he went back to South America on account of

his health. He remained until June, 1871, when he went to Europe
and visited his old home and friends. He returned in the fall of the same

year to the United States, and traveled in the South, looking for a loca-

tion. During the winter of 1871-72 he located at Brownsville, Mo., where

he engaged in business. He remained in Brownsville until the spring of

1873, when he came to Sedalia, and opened the large jewelry store which

he now occupies. Mr. Addor is a thorough workman, making a specialty

of repairing fine watches, of which he has a large assortment, also clocks,

jewelrv, and evervthing in that line. He is a member of the Knights of

Pythias, of which, for several years, he has been treasurer.

CHARLES W. ALLEN.

Manager of the Wheeler & Wilson Sewing Machine Co., Sedalia. Mr.

Allen was born in London, England, in 184.5. His father, Charles W.

Allen, and his mother, Isabel nee Thompson, came with their family to

America in 1817. Charles was reared and educated in Illinois and Iowa.

In 1862 he entered the Federal army, in Co. H, Sixty-eighth 111. Regt.,

serving three months. In 1866 he came to Atchison, Kan., and the year

following to Rockport, Mo., where he engaged in the sewing machine

business, in connection with the Wheeler & Wilson Co. He remained in

Northwestern Missouri with this Company until 1880, when he took charge

oi their business at St. Joseph, Mo., where he continued until 1882, when he

came to Sedalia, where he keeps a full stock of these most excellent

machines. Mr. Allen was married in 1866 to Miss Eutha A. Burke, of

Pike Co., 111. They have six children. Mr. Allen and his wife are mem-

bers of the M. E. Church. He is also a member of the Masonic Fra-

ternity.

THOMAS B. ANDERSON.

Formerly proprietor Sedalia Telephone Exchange. Was born in

1848, in Lawrence Co., Mo. His father, S. M. Anderson, was a native of

Pennsylvania, who is now a resident of Sedalia, and sevent3^-four years of

age. His mother, Emily, nee Owen, was a native of \^irginia, still living.
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Thomas B. was educated in Sedalia. Learned the jeweler's business, and
in 1873 opened a jewelry store in the city; afterwards went to Spring-

field, Mo., where he was in the same business two years, returning to

Sedalia in 1878. In 1879 he obtained a charter for the Bell Telephone,
and in December of the same year opened the first Telephone Exchange in

Sedalia. This enterprise soon demanded all his time. He sold out his

store, and has since devoted all his time to the telephone lines of which he

is proprietor and manager. He was married in 1874 to Miss M. V. Tay-

lor, a daughter of C. G. Taylor, the pioneer jeweler of SedaUa. They
have three children, Rosa E., Mabel N. and Charles B. Mr. and Mrs.

Anderson are members of the First Presbyterian Church.

JOHN F. ANTES.

Proprietor of the Capital Mills. Mr. Antes was born in 1830, in

Penns3'lvania. His father, Henry Antes, was a native of the same State.

His mother, Catharina M. wee Forester, is a relative of Secretary Forester

of Ireland. After growing to manhood, John F. engaged in the

commission business, until iS-li), when he went to Boston and was

employed in a railroad office until 1853, when he went to Chicago, and

was engaged in book-keeping until 1854, when he went to St. Louis, and

began railroading, which he continued at various places until 1869, when
he gave his whole attention to the Gas Works of Sedalia. In 1880, he

sold out the Gas Works, and in 1881 bought the mill where he is now

engaged in making flour. Mr. Antes is a live business man and has taken

no small part in the upbuilding of Sedalia. He was married in 1863 to

Lucy Dempsey, of Otterville. They have four childern, Catharina, John
H., Marcius S. and Florence H. Mr. Antes has twice served as a member
of the City Council of Sedalia, one year as chairman of the same.

J, H. ARMSTP.ONG.

Ticket Agent at the Fifth Street office of the M., K. & T. He is the

son of H. J. Armstrong, a native of Kentucky, but who moved to Missouri

in 1862, settling at Lexington, where he was engaged in the agricultural

implement business in connection with a complete stock of hardware.

The father disposing of his business at Lexington moved to Kansas Cit}^
in the year 1878, accepting a position with the Moline Plow Company.
The subject of this sketch was born in Fleming Count}', Ky., Sept. 9th,

1855. He received his education partlv in the schools of his native State,

completing the same in the schools at Lexington, Mo. Mr. Armstrong in

starting out in life accepted a position in his father's store at Lexington.
After quitting the hardware business, he engaged in farming. The life of

a farmer was not the business he wished to follow, and after he disposed
of his buisness he moved to Sedalia and accepted a position as car-clerk in
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the M., K. & T. office, which position he still holds with that of ticket agent
at the Fifth Street office of said road. Mr. Armstrong is a young man
of considerable business ability, courteous in demeanor, and deservedly

popular with his employers.

WILLIAM J. BAGBY.

Dealer in grocries, provisions, etc. Mr. Bagby was born in 1854, in

Buckingham County, Virginia. His father, James M. Bagby, and his

mother were both natives of Virginia. William J. Bagby early engaged
in the grocery business as a clerk and traveling salesman and was con-

stantly in the business until 1878, when he opened a store in Sedalia. In

December, 1881, he removed to the new brick block on Osage street near

the corner of Second street, where he has one of the largest and most

beautiful rooms in the city, a cut of which appears on page 52^. Mr.

Bagby is a most excellent business man, and stands in the front rank of

Sedalia's business men. He is a member of the K. P. He was married

in 1880 to Carrie A. Barley, of Sedalia.

JOHN C. BARBER.

The social and genial superintendent of the car department of the M., K. &
T. He is the son of Lonson Barber, a native of New York, who lived

in St. Lawrence County, of that State, until his death, which occurred in

the year 1854. The subject of this sketch was born in St. Lawrence

County, N. Y., Dec. 12, 1845, and is the fifth child in a family of nine

children. He received his education in the schools of his native State

and Wisconsin. After completing his education he went to Whitewater,

Wis., to learn the machinist's trade. He worked at his trade until the

breaking out of the late war, when he enlisted in the United States service

under Col. Maloney in the Thirteenth Wisconsin Infantry, serving in said

service for four years and three months. He was with his regiment in

the raid through Missouri and Kansas after the noted guerrillas Quantreil,

Anderson and others. His regiment was afterwards ordered to the

defense of Corinth, Columbus and Pea Ridue. Afterwards he was with

his regiment at the second battle of Ft. Donelson, Hopkinsville, Clarks-

ville and Nashville. x'Vbout this time he was promoted to Maj. Gen.

Rousseau's staff, which position he held for two 3'ears. He was through
all of the battles in the Department of the Tennessee, which w^as com-

manded by Gen. Rousseau, of which might be mentioned the battles of

Pulaski, Athens, Florence, Stevenson, Ala., and Lookout Mountain. He
also participated in the battles of Dalton, Snake Gap, Resaca and

others. After peace had been declared he returned to his home in Wis-

consin, and engaged at his trade in the Chicago & Northwestern Rail-

road shops at Fon du Lac. He remained in the service of said company
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seven years. In the fall of 1871 he moved to Kansas, and accepted the

position of foreman in the Kansas Pacific shops, remaining two and one-

half years. Then he moved to St. Paul, Minn., and accepted a position

in the St. Paul Pacific car shops. In the winter of 1874 Mr. Barber

moved to Sedaha, and accepted the position of foreman of mechanics and

machinerv, in which position he remained for one and one-half years,

when he was promoted to superintendent of car department of the M.,
K. & T. Railroad, which position he still holds. He was married, March,

1872, to Miss Fannie Craig, a native of Wisconsin. From this union

there are three children, viz: Annie C, Franklin L. and Lee W.

CHARLES E. BARNETT.
The youngest person ever appointed to an official position in the city

of Sedalia is the subject of this sketch. Charles E. Barnett is the son of

R. W. Barnett, a native of Virginia, but who moved to Missouri in the

spring of 18B1 and settled at Sedalia, in which city he lives at the present
time. The subject of this sketch was born in Fayette County, 111., Aug.
8, 1860, and is the oldest child in a family of seven children. He received

his primary education in the schools of this city. In the winter of 1871,

he being eleven years old, engaged with J. West Goodwin, of the Bazoo,
to learn the printing trade. He remained in the office of the Bazoo until

the spring of 1882, excepting the summers of 1879 and 1880, when he

took a trip through Colorado, Kansas, Nebraska and Iowa. When Mr.

Barnett entered the Bazoo office he went in as an errand boy. He filled

all the positions from errand boy up to city editor. He resigned his posi-
tion with the Bazoo and accepted the editorship of the Indefendcnt, a

campaign paper, through the influence of which paper, it is claimed, that

most of the present city officers owe their election. After the election the

paper suspended, and Mr. Barnett accepted an appointment from the

present administration as city poHceman, which position he holds at the

present time. Mr. Barnett is a young man of intelligence, courteous and

pleasant, and will make the city an excellent officer.

GEORGE W. BARNETT.

Attorney at law. Mr. Barnett was born in 18.50, in Kentucky. His

father-, Amos Barnett, and his mother Elizabeth, nee Bramock, were natives

of Kentucky, who located in Macon County, Mo., in 1856. George, the sub-

ject of this sketch, was educated at Kirksville State Normal School, grad-

uating in 1870. After teaching one year, he began the study of law.

Being admitted to the bar in 1872, he began practice at Unionville, Mis-

souri, where he remained until 1881, when he moved to Sedalia. While

in Unionville he held the office of Superintendent of schools; also was

prosecuting attorney six years. He was also mayor of the city. Since
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coming to Sedalia, Mr. Barnett was associated with W. L. Felix, until

the latter's death in May, 1881. He was married in June, IST-l, to Miss

Jennie Christy. They have three children: Robert A., Irene L., and Carl

H. Mr. Barnett and his wife are members of the Christian Church.

J. R. BARRETT.
One of Sedalia's most influential citizens is the subject of this sketch, J.

R. Barrett. lie has been identified with Sedalia almost since the cit}^ had

its birth, and certainly no man has done more in his way to advance the

material interests of the Queen City than he. Mr. Barrett is of English
descent. His father, J. F. Barrett, was a native of Massachusetts, but at

an early day moved to the State of New York, living in Washington

County, of that State, until his death
;
he dying at the advanced age of

eighty-eight. J. R. Barrett, the son, was the youngest child in a family of

ten children, and was born in Washington County, N. Y., Feb. 26, 1834.

He received his education principally in the schools of his native county.
In the fall of 1850 Mr. Barrett, then being a youth of sixteen years, emi-

grated to North Carolina, remainiug about seven years, when he moved
to Missouri, settling in St. Louis in the spring of 1857; here he remained

until the year 1866, when he moved to Pettis County, locating at Sedalia,

where he has since resided. Mr. Barrett was married, September, 1864,

to Miss Ada Barnett, a daughter of Judge Richards Barnett, of Vicksburg,

Mississippi. From this union there were four children, three of whom
are yet living, viz: Richards B., Jonathan F. and Annie B. Mrs. Bar-

rett dying, November, 1870, he was again married in November, 1877,

to Mrs. T. N. McClaughry, a daughter of Stephen T. Neil, of Lafayette

County, Mo. Mr. Barrett is a man of great business ability and was for

many years connected with railroad interests. He was one of the orig-

inal directors of the Tebo & Neosho Railroad Company, also a director

in the M., K. & T. R. R., and one of the prime movers in the construc-

tion of the Narrow Gauge Railroad, south to the coal fields. Mr. Barrett

is also largely connected with the banking interests of this city. He has

been for years a stockholder, and a director in the First National Bank
of Sedalia. For the last few years Mr. Barrett has given his attention

more particularly to the management of his extensive farm just west of

the city. This is one of the finest estates in Pettis County, containing
700 acres, 300 of which lie within the city limits. This magnificent
homestead lies at the western terminus of Broadway, and is approached

by a wide avenue, on either side of which are two rows of shade trees.

The residence is a fine large frame, surrounded with a beautiful lawn,

shaded with maple and other trees. The gardens are beautiful and

spacious, laid off in the most tasteful manner, provided with a number of

hydrants and other conveniences. Mr. Barrett's farm is principally in



HISTORY OF SEDALIA. 611

blue ^rass pastures, upon which he grazes about 150 head of milch cows.

He is enc^aged extensively in the dairy business, employing about fifteen

men, who are engaged in caring for the stock and other work connected

with the business. His dairy consists of all the latest improvements for

the business. The barn is large and commodious, being divided into stalls,

and will accommodate 140 head of cows. Mr. Barrett is one of the prime
movers to get the capital removed to the Queen City, and he has made
the State the generous offer of 100 acres of his beautiful lands adjoining
the city, for the Capitol and other State buildings. A view of his resi-

dence appears on page 447.

WILLIAM BARRETT.

He was born in 1818 in Hinsdale, N. H. His father, Elisha Barrett,

was a native of Vermont, and died about the year 1824. His mother,

Betsy, nee Tower, was born in Hinsdale, N. H., and died in 1876. The sub-

ject of this sketch lived a considerable time in New York State, but in

1866 came to Missouri, where he has since resided. He was married

to Miss Amanda Chapel, of Barrington, Mass. They have five children

living, George W., Edward H., Maurice S., Carrie and Freddie L. Mr.

Barrett has spent all his life as a machinist. Considerable attention has

been given to his invention, the King Feed Cutter. Of the many good

qualities claimed by its inventor the following is a brief synopsis: There
is nothing about the machine that is liable to get out of order, and should

it need repairing it could be done by a country blacksmith. It has not

been the study of the inventor to see how much machinery could be made
to work together to cut feed, but rather to dispense with all complication
and make a machine in the simplest form. And having accomplished that

object he feels warranted in making the offer of $10,000 for the right of

the United States for a feed-cutter that can be constructed with less mate-

rial and for less expense, and that will cut more hay, straw or corn fodder

with less power applied, without any infringement upon his patent of

Feb. 8, 1881.

EDWARD H. BARRETT.

Of the firm of Barrett Bros., Novelty Works. He was born in 1850,

in Berkshire County, Mass. He came with his father, William Barrett,

to Sedalia in 1873. He was married to Miss Clara Tompkins, of Amboy,
111., Nov. 1, 1877. Mrs. Barrett is a daughter of Stephen N. Tompkins.

They have two c)iildren, Lottie and Walter. He and his worth}- wife are

members of the East Sedalia Baptist Church. He is also a member of

the Knights of Pythias.
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MAURICE S. BARRETT.
Of the firm of Barrett Bros., Novelty Mills. The subject of this sketch

was born in Rensellasr County, N. Y., in 1852. His father, William

Barrett, is a native of New Hampshire, who came to Sedalia in 1873, also

Maurice S, and his brothers Edward H. and George W. coming with

their father. In 1879 they built the Novelty Works on the corner of

Second and Miller streets, where they have been engaged in manufac-

turing doors, sash, blinds, and doing a general planing-mill business.

The}' are also engaged in the manufacture of the King Feed Cutter,

patented by their father in 1857, more particular mention of which is

given in connection with the sketch of William Barrett. Thev make a

specialty of the manufacture of this cutter, having established agencies in

various parts of the State. Maurice S. is a member of the Congregational
Church, where his superior talent for singing is manifested in the fine

quartette choir of that organization.

MAJ. WILLIAM BECK.

Mr. Beck was born in the year 1827, near Hamburg, Germany. His

father, William Beck, was in the government service, and in 1872 died at

the advanced age of eighty-five. Maj. Beck's mother, whose maiden name
was Zinnius, is still living in Germanv, having attained the age of eighty-
two. He received a collegiate, education after which he went aboard a shio

and made several trips both to North and South America. At the age of

eighteen he received a position in the Custom House in Germany and

remained there till the breaking out of the Revolution of 1848, when he

joined the army against Denmark with Sleswick and Holstein. He was
soon promoted to Lieutenancy, serving till 1851, when the armv was dis-

banded by the forces of Austria and Prussia. Then he held again for a

short time a position in the Custom House, which was terminated by the

Danish occupancy of Holstein. In 1852,. when the Australian gold excite-

ment was at its highest, young Beck, who had been reared in affluence

and luxury, held government positions, been an officer in the army, and

associated only with the higher classes, resolved to make his own fortune

in the world, and started as an emio^rant to that distant land, arrivinfr in

Austraha with scarcely a dollar in his pocket. He here saw many ups
and down of fortune. His first day's work in Melbourne was wheelbar-

rowing furniture, for which he received $5.0(»: and for the first week, at

the same wages per day, he engaged in whatever he could find to do that

furnished honest employment, such as moving goods, sweeping chimneys,

cleaning stores, &c., &c. He then went up among the Ballart mines

where he worked for three months without much success. Joining an

Irish party they made a large sum of monev in deep mining, but a flood

came which caused them to lose nearlv all thev had made. Soon after.
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Mr. Beck struck another "lead," but engaging too extensively and

employing labor at too high wages, it proved a financial disaster. He also

speculated in mining shares, but usually he found himself on the "
wrong

side." No reverses were sufficient to quench his indomitable spirit, and

when he left Australia for England in 1855, he had accumulated a hand-

some sum of gold. He then spent some time in traveling on the Conti-

nent of Europe, but being dissatisfied without regular employment, he

came to the United States for the purpose of entering new fields of

enterprise. He visited New York, Chicago and other large cities; finally

falling in with old comrades who had served with him in the army he

engaged in the lumber business and merchandising in Morgan County,
this State. This was in 1S56. In 185S Mr. Beck came to Pettis County,
and settled in Priceville, about eight miles east of the site now occupied by
Sedalia. At that time very little of the prairie land of this county was
settled. In 1860 the houses comprising Priceville, about fifteen in num-

ber, were removed on wheels two miles to the present site of Smithton.

He was married in 1860 to Miss Rebecca Bohon, daughter of Walter

Bohon, a native of Kentucky, though for many years a resident of this

county, now at the advanced age of ninety-two years, the oldest man in

Pettis County. At the breaking out of the war in 1861 Mr. Beck joined
the Union forces, taking command of the volunteer home guards raised

in Benton and Pettis counties. At the expiration of the three months ser-

vice he resigned and again engaged in business at Smithton, but the rav-

ages of armed bands of marauders made it necessary to remove to Sedalia,

which at that time was headquarters for Central Missouri. Here he

engaged in merchandising, which he has followed with great success ever

since. Maj. Beck is one of the oldest merchants in the cit3^ having come
here when wild deer in large numbers could be seen on the very land

where the populous city now stands. He has met reverses and successes,

proving with his undaunted energy what a 3'oung man ma}' accomplish.
In 1861: his store was destroyed by fire, and in 1876 the same element

destroyed his residence. In 1866 the clouds of war having passed awav^
men of enterprise and wealth established business here, greatly enhancing
real estate, and Major Beck shared in the profits arising from his judicious

purchases. In 1875 Mr. Beck was made a pensioner of his native govern-
ment for military service in the Revolution of 1848. In 1876 he received

into partnership Chas. E. Messerl}', an enterprising young man who had
for some time been a salesman in the same house; and since that date

they have carried on a general merchandising business with flattering

success. Their large and well stocked business house is situated on the

corner of Osage and Second streets. Major Beck's family consists of

three children living, one son and two daughters, Lewis, aged eighteen,

Ella, aged fifteen, and Cora, aged eleven. Three of their children have
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died. Among the worthiest and most influential citizens of Sedalia Major
Beck has stood prominently identified. From the very organization of

the city government he was a member of the City Council and has served

in that capacity four terms since. He has been a member of the Board of

Education a greater portion of the time since the present system was

adopted in this State, having served uninterruptedly from 1868 to 1872.

His energy, coupled with uniform honesty and fair dealing, has won for

him the confidence and esteem of a wide circle of friends and acquaintances
who have known him in. his long residence here.

SAMUEL H. BEILER.

Of Hall & Beiler, wholesale grocers. Was born in Alton, Madison Co.,

111., in 1839. His father, Jno. G., was a native of Baden, Germany, who
died in Alton, Ills., in 18.53. His mother, whose maiden name was Eliza

Hutton, was a native of Ohio, and is now living in Alton, where Samuel

H., the subject of this sketch, was reared and educated. Here he was

taught the drygoods business, and when he had attained manhood he

engaged with his brother in the mercantile business. In 1862 young Bei-

ler went to Oregon, still retaining his interest in the store, and remained

until the fall of 1866. In the meantime his brother, in 1865, moved the

store to Sedalia, and in 1866 Samuel H. came to Sedalia, and in company
with his brother continued the establishment until 1868, when Jno. G.

withdrew, and Mr. Hall, his present partner, took his place. After Mr
Hall became a partner in the firm the retail trade was suspended. Of

the business of this house we speak in another part of this work. Mr.

Beiler is a member of the Masonic Lodge. He was married in the fall

of 1874 to Virginia Teasdale, of St. Louis, daughter of J. H. Teasdale,

of the commission house of J. H. Teasdale & Co., St. Louis. They have

one child, Mabel.

GEORGE BELLAS.

Of Bellas & Thornton, grocers. Mr. Bellas was born in Howard Co.,

Mo., in 1826. His father, George Bellas, was a native of Pennsylvania,
who settled in Howard Co., Mo., in 1816. His mother, Nancy, w^:^ Fitzger-

ald, was a native of Kentucky. The subject of this sketch was reared and

educated in St. Louis. In 1849 he went to California, where he spent two

years in mining. After his return he opened a store ten miles from St.

Louis, where he sold goods about five 3"ears, after which he farmed about

five years. In the spring of 1862 he came to Pettis Co. and farmed a few

years, after which he came to Sedalia and dealt in stoves and tinware for

a time, but returned to the farm and remained until 1881, when he came

again to Sedaha, and erected a handsome brick store on Ohio and Seventh

streets, where he is now conducting his business. He is the owner of
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much valuable property in Sedalia; is one of the original stockholders

in the Citizens National Bank. Mr. Bellas was married in 1854, to Vir-

ginia Booth. They have six children living, Sarah E., Nelson T., Francis

L., Albert G., George J., Oliver E. One deceased.

HARDY L. BERRY.
Is the son of Charles G. Berry, a native of Kentucky, but who moved

to Indiana, at an early day, and resides at the present time at Mitchell, Ind.

The subject of this sketch was born in Bloomington, Monroe Co., Ind.,

Feb. 3, 1850, and is the sixth child in a family of eleven children. He
received his education in the schools of his native county. After com-

pleting his education he engaged in the printing business in Mitchell, Ind.,

his father being editor of the paper. In the fall of 1873, Mr. Berry moved
to Missouri, and settled at Sedalia, and accepted a position in the office of

the Missouri Pacific, as assistant ticket agent. He was promoted, March,
1878, to ticket agent. He was married, Oct. 12, 1880, to Miss Olive M.

Norton, a native of Ohio, Mr. Berry is a 3'oung man of exceptional
character. He is one of the rising young men of Sedalia, has an enviable

record with his railroad company, and is possessed of unusual ability, but

is so quiet and unobtrusive that only his intimate friends can estimate his

worth. He is a member of the Congregational Church, and Superin-
tendent of the Sabbath School.

ELIAS BIXBY.

Of Bixby & Houx, hardware merchants. Mr. Bixb}?^ was born in 1825

'in Knox County, Ohio. His father, x\aron Bixby, was a native of New
York, who settled in Ohio during the war of 1812. His mother, Nancy,
nee Wilson, was a native of Pennsylvania. Elias, the subject of this

sketch, was brought up in the tinning business, and in 18-17 came to St.

Louis, where he worked until 1851, then he went to Boonville, Mo., and

engaged in business. They afterward opened a house in Georgetown,
Pettis County, Mo., and in 1862 closed their business at Boonville, and

moved their entire stock to Sedalia, and after the war built the first brick

house in Sedalia. Mr. Bixby has been associated with his present

partner, John W. Houx, for over twenty-six years. They are among the

oldest and most prosperous business men of Sedalia. Mr. Bixby was
married in 1849 to Sarah C. Parvey. They have three children, Medora

J., Lewis H. and Lizzie S., who died when six years of age. His wife

died in 1856. He was again married in 1858 to Ellen T. Duncan. She

died, Oct. 26, 1876. Mr. Bixby has been a verv prominent and active

member of the I. O. O. F. for many years, and helped to start the first

lodge here.
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ERNEST R. BLAIR.

Of the firm of Blair Bros., clothing merchants. Mr. Blair was born in

1845, in Ohio. His father, Reuben A., was a native of Vermont. His

mother, Mary B., 7iec Miller, was a native of Ohio. Ernest Blair and his

brother Reuben, his present partner, went to the army as Sutlers, in

1862. Remaining- with the army until the close of the war, when they
went into merchandising at Alexandria, La. In 1866 thev came to

Sedalia, and engaged in tobacco business until 1868, they went into

the clothing and gent's furnishing goods trade, which they have ever

since continued. Mr. Blair was married in 1869 to Miss Girard, of

Louisiana. They have four children, Ernest R., Ethel, Ben and Irene.

MILO BLAIR.

Postmaster, Sedalia, Mo. Born at Blair's Bay, on Lake George, Wash-

ington County, N. Y., in 1827, the son of Jonathan Blair. He emigrated
with the family to Michigan in 1812, and received an academic education

at the Grand Rapids Academy, Grand Rapids, Mich. He entered the

office of the Grand Rapids Eagle as an apprentice to the printing busi-

ness on the 24th of June, 1815, and graduated from the office in 1849;

was engaged at the printing business in that State up to 1865, when he

removed to Boonville, Mo., where he started the Boonville Eagle, which

he published at that place until July, 1878, when he moved the paper to

Sedalia, where he continued its publication under the Sedalia Eagle until

February, 1882, when the paper was consolidated with the Sedalia Times,

under the name of the Sedalia Eagle-Times. Mr. Blair was Mayor of

the city of Boonville five years and three months; was a delegate to the

Republican National Convention which met at Cincinnati in 1876, and

chairman of the delegation from Missouri; was the Republican candidate

for Lieutenant-Governor of Missouri in 1880, and received the highest
vote cast for any candidate on the State ticket; was appointed Postmaster

at SedaHa, Mo., by President Arthur, and confirmed by the Senate on the

27th day of January, 1882. He has been married twice. First in Michi-

gan in 1853, to Emilv Foster. Two daughters are the fruits of the first

marriage, both of whom are married. The eldest, Millie Frances, is the

wife of John F. Hemrichs, of Jefferson City, Mo., and the youngest,
Claudia E., the wife of E. D. Crawford, of Denver, Col. Mr. Blair has

long been a man of active business; for many years an editor, and has ever

been a staunch advocate of the Republican principles which have given
him the well-deserved position he now holds.

DAVID BLOCHER.

Dealer in agricultural implements. Mr. Blocher was born in 1838, in

Wayne County, O. His father, Daniel, was a native of Pennsylvania.
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His mother, Elizabeth Millen, was also a native of Pennsylvania. David
was reared and educated in Indiana, where he followed farming until 1S67,
when he came to Sedalia and engaged in the grocery and stock business,
until ISTO, when he engaged in the implement business, to which he has

ever since given his time and attention, dealing in all kinds of machinery
and farm implements. Since residing here he has served as Mayor of the

city, and for several years past as President of the School Board. He
was married in ISTO to Miss Lucy E. Ward. They have two children,

Anna P. and Mabel.

CHARLES F. BOATRIGHT.

Merchant, East Third Street. Mr. Boatright was born in lS81,June
26, in West Virginia. His father, C. H., was a native of East Virginia.
His mother a native of West Virginia. Charles F., the subject of this

sketch, was raised by his grandmother, Stark, and came to Cooper
County, Mo., in 1840. In his early life he learned the carpenters' trade,

which, together with cabinet-making, he followed for a number of years.
In 1S62 he engaged in mercantile business in Otterville, Mo., which he

continued until 1875, when he came to Sedalia, -where he has ever since

been in the same hne of business. Mr. Boatright and his wife are mem-
bers of the Cumberland Presbyterian Church, of which he has been an

active member, being the foremost one in the building of their church

here. His first wife died in 1861:, leaving one child. By his second wife

he has four children, two sons and two daughters.

WINFIELD S. BOERSTLER.

Winfield S. Boerstler, lumber merchant, of the firm of A. S. Fernald

& Co. Mr. Boerstler was born in Nov. 1852, in Ohio. His father, Simon,
was a native of Pennsylvania, now residing on the old homestead in Ohio,
where his father before him lived. His mother, Eliza, iice Raver, was also a

native of Penns3'lvania. Still living. W. S., the subject of this sketch,

was reared and educated in Ohio, taking a course in commercial college at

Grand Rapids, Mich. In 1872 he began the lumber business in Michigan,
which he continued there and in Wisconsin until 1876, when he came to

Sedalia with Mr. Fernald, with whom he has ever since been. In 1882 he

was admitted as a partner in the business, and has now, by his own efforts,

taken his place among the leading business men of the city. He was

married in Dec, Ls7H, to Miss Sallie Fost, of Sedalia, a daughter of

E. Fost, of Caldwell Co., Mo. They had one child, Walter Scott,

who died at the age of fourteen months.

JOSEPH S. BOSSERMAN.

Superintendent Sedalia Woolen Mills. Mr. Bosserman was born in
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Clark Co., O., in 1837. His father, John, was a native of Pennsylvania.

His mother ,CatharinaStayman, was also a native of Pennsylvania. J. S.,

the subject of this sketch, learned the wool and cloth makinsj business in

his boyhood. From 1858 until 1870 he spent his time in Iowa and Mis-

souri. In 1870 he went to Denver, Colorado. He came to Seda-

lia, and has ever since been connected with the woolen factory of this city.

Mr. Bosserman was married in 1865 to Battle Pervines, by whom he

has two children, John L. and Maud. He is a member of the K. P. and

A. O. U. W. At the spring election of the cit}^
of Sedaha in 1882, he

was chosen a member of the City Council.

JAMES E. BOULDIN.

Postoffice, Sedalia. Was born in Virginia, Sept. 5, 1831. His father

was of the same name, and bore the title of "major," and was an exten-

sive tobacconist, having put up the first tobacco factory west of St. Louis.

He came to Missouri in 1832, when James was quite young, and settled in

Lewis Countv, and subsequently in Howard County. James attended

one year of school at the Missouri State University, besides the Kemper
school of Boonville and oJ;her schools. In 1849 he crossed the plains and

spent two years in the west. His mother's maiden name was Miss

Malinda L. Saunders, daughter of Col. David Saunders, a commissioned

officer in the war of 1812. The subject of this sketch was married to

Miss Minnie Thomson, daughter of Mentor Thomson, president of the

Sedalia Savings Bank. Mr. Bouldin improved his handsome residence in

187-1. Mr. and Mrs. Bouldin have seen this county develop from a wild

prairie of howhng wolves to its present state of cultivation. Mrs. Bouldin

remembers seeing the dogs and wolves fighting around the dwelling of

her father. Mr. Bouldin owns upwards of one thousand acres of land,

and is an extensive farmer and stock dealer.

DR. WM. F. BOYER.

Was born in 1810, in Forsythe County, N. C. His parental ancesters

were also natives of North Carolina. His father, Henry, is now a resi-

dent of Sedaha, and his mother, who^e maiden name was Margaret Water-

son, died in 1816. In 1850, Wm. F.Boyer with his father's family moved

to Jacksonville, 111., where he remained until 1855, when he came to Craw-

ford County, Mo. In 1860 he began the study of medicine, and in 1861'

he graduated from the Eclectic Medical Institute, of Cincinnati, Ohio. In

April, 1861, he came to Sedaha, Mo., as contract surgeon in the United

States Army, and settled upon the property where he now resides the

evening of President Lincoln's Assassination. Dr. Boyer is the pioneer

physician of Sedaha, having been here constantly since 1864, he has had

ample time to note the rise and growth of the Queen City of the prairies.
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The lots where he now lives were purchased by him for $275, and their

present worth is $4,000. He was married in 1S72 to Mar}- H. Wharton,

dauf^hter of Jno. R. Wharton, one of the earlv merchants of Sedalia. Dr.

Boyer, although a public spirited man, is not a politician, but notwith-

standing this fact he has rerved the public commendably as citv alderman

twice. He has one son named Wm. F., who was born in 1ST4.

LUCIUS L. BRIDGES.

Attoney-at-law, Sedalia. Was born in the town of Massena, N. Y.,

April 3, 1839, and received a collegiate education at Schenectady, that

State, at Union College, graduating in the class of 1861. He entered the

army as a private in the Sixteenth New York Cavalry, and was pro-
moted to Commissary, with rank as Captain, in the summer of 1861:, in

which capacity he served until the close of the war. He was present at

the surrender of Lee at Appomattox, and was brevetted Major for meri-

torious conduct, and was mustered out in August, 1865. Mr. Bridges
was admitted to the bar at Canton, N. Y., in 1862, and after the war, in

March, 1866, he came to Sedalia and commenced the practice of his pro-

fession, and has resided here ever since. He was a candidate on the Repub-
lican ticket in 1876 for Presidential Elector for the Seventh Congressional

District, and was elected City Attorney of Sedalia, in 1881, on the Green-

back ticket, but resigned, December 1st, of that year. He was nominated

in the Greenback conv^ention for Congress, in 1880, but declined, and

placed in nomination Hon. T. M. Rice, the oresent incumbent. Mr.

Bridges is of English-Scotch descent, his father being Wilson Bridges, a

native of Massachusetts, and of English extraction; his mother, Maria

Hall Bridges, being of Scotch lineage. He was married in Ogdensburg,
N. Y., to Miss Maggie L. Webster, a cousin to Senator Preston King,
of New York, whose home from childhood had been with Mrs. Webster.

By this union they have two children: Fannie S., aged thirteen, and

Harry W., aged ten. Mrs. Bridges died in 1871. Mr. Bridges ranks

high as an attorney.. He possesses a mind naturall}' clear and compre-
hensive, capable of grasping truths as they are presented, with great
exactness. Pleasant in intercourse with his fellow-men, he has the good
fortune to make many friends and few enemies.

DR. IRA T. BRONSON. •

Was born in Watertown, Jederson Co., N. Y., in 1810. His father,

who is now a resident of his native State, was born in New Hampshire,
and his mother, Lucinda, nee Countryman, was a native of New York, of

German descent, who died in 1858. Dr. Bronson was educated at New-

bury, Vt. He received his medical course at the University of Vermont,
situated at Burlington, and Dartmouth College, at Hanover, N. H.,
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Sfraduating from Dartmouth in 1869. He practiced his profession at

Newbury, Vt., until the year 1873, when he came to Sedalia, Mo., where

he has practiced ever since. In the spring of 1880, he and Mr. R. F.

Pierce bought the drug store known as the Palace Drug Store, and in the

spring of 1881 transferred it to the corner of Ohio and Fourth streets,

continuing their business in that place up to the present time. He is

also a member of the Masonic Fraternity and Knights of Pythias. He
was married in 1869 to Miss Orpha Gleason, of Barnet, Vt., daughter of

Samuel Gleason, now a resident of Sedalia, Mo. They Jiave three chil-

dren livinir: Harl Howard, Blanche Emma and G. Maud. Dr.Bronson had

one child, which died in 1879, named Gailord T., aged twenty-two months.

In 1861 he entered the Federal army, in the Fifth New Hampshire Vol-

unteer Infantry, Compan}' I, and served until the close of the war. He

was through the McClellan and Grant campaigns, taking part in all the

battles of the Army of the Potomac. He was slightly wounded three

times, but not so severely as to disable him for any great length of time.

In ]s63 he was promoted to Quartermaster, with rank as First Lieuten-

ant. Since residing in Sedalia he has been appointed on the board of pen-

sion examiners. Dr. Bronson and estimable wife are members of the

Ohio street M. E. Church, and he is Superintendent of the S. S.

REV. EDWIN T. BROWN, {deceased^;

Edwin T. Brown was born in Columbia, Lancaster County, Penn.,

March 22, 1818. He was the son of Daniel and Emma Brown, nee

Vaughn. His maternai grandfather. Rev. Joshua Vaughn, v/as a pioneer

Baptist clerg3-man of great eminence. The subject of this sketch was

converted and baptized by Dr. Elliott, of Pittsburg, at the age of twelve

years, and July 4, 1841, he preached his first sermon. It was from Matt.

6:24, "Ye cannot serve God and Mammon." His school advantages

were not numerous, though he took a two 3'ears' course at Fayette College

in Pennsylvania, and subsequently two years at Rector College in Vir-

ginia, and such was his labor in his school duties that" his health became

much impaired by his efforts. He felt that the Lord had a particular

work for him in the ministry, and before his school days were fully

ended his friends persuaded him to begin preaching. In May, 1842, he

was ordained in the .full work of the ministry, and became pastor of the

Baptist Church at Connellsville, Pennsylvania. He removed to Ohio in

1844, and was pastor of the churches successively at Mt. Vernon, Wooster

and Warren, being among the largest churches in Northeastern Ohio.

His churches were blessed with large revivals, and many were added to

the Redeemer's Kingdom. During a portion of the war he was chaplain

of the Second Ohio Cavalry, where he won the love and respect of officers

and men. After he resigned his commission in the army, April 21, 1864^
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he resumed his pastorate at Warren, Ohio, and continued till his stay
amounted to nine 3'ears and three months. As a missionary of the Bap-
tist Home Mission Society, he removed to Missouri in 1865, settling in

Sedalia where he spent the residue of his Hfe. Here he bought a consid-

erable tract of land where East Sedalia now stands, where he built a

commodious house. Immediately after his arrival he applied at once his

energies to the building up of the First Baptist Church; the edifice con-

structed principally by money which he collected for that purpose from

his former charges in Ohio, and from private Christian friends in St. Louis,

John Hall, and others in Sedalia, and one thousand dollars loaned by the

Home Mission Society. After the First Baptist Church of this city had
been put on a firm basis with a good house of worship, Mr. Brown

resigned, and soon commenced building up a strong society of Baptists in

Clinton, and erected there one of the finest churches in Central Western

Missouri, The church cost $20,000, and he introduced his successor to

one hundred members, and a salary of $1,500, and upon his resignation
the members of the church passed resolutions highly complimentary to

the labors he had bestowed upon them. Under his leadership a number
of churches were re-organized, which had been scattered during the war,
and he assisted in formmg them into a new association bearing the name
of Central Missouri, of which he was first moderator. That he might
secure religious advantages to the families of railroad men, he erected,
almost at his ow-n expense, a commodious church in East Sedalia, and

bestowed gratuitously on this field five years' labor, which resulted in the

conversion of many railroad men. He died at his own residence, of

apoplexy, after a brief illness of only half an hour, at 10 o'clock p. m.,

June 9, 1879. By his unswerving allegiance to what he regarded right,
Elder Brown made some bitter enemies, but his benevolence and warm
heart won a host of devoted friends. His ministry was a faithful one.

The word of God was his text book. He baptized nearly 1,900 during
his thirty-eight years' ministry, was pastor of seven churches, built three

church edifices, and accomplished untold good in the cause in other direc-

tions. He was married to Miss Eliza J. Br3'son, May 10, 1841, at Union-

town, Penn. She is a cultivated and highly esteemed lady, possessed of

superior social qualities. She was born, July 7, 1823; daughter of William

Bryson, who was for a long time deacon in the Baptist Church at Union-

town, Penn. She is the eldest of a large famil}-. Her father was a

native of Ireland, Scotch-Irish descent, and died about eight years ago.
Her mother, whose maiden name was Anna Ayers, died about twelve

years since. Rev. Brown has two surviving children. Bryson Brown,
the eldest, with his wife, nee Rhoda De La Vergne, and two children,

Lillian L. and De La Vergne, now live in the former homestead. Emma
27
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A. Brown, their first daughter, died Jan. 2S, 1861, aged sixteen vears.

Mattie, their younger daughter, was married, April 4, 1882, to Rev. J. M.

Plannett, pastor of the East Sedalia Baptist Church. Mrs. Brown has a

fine residence in East Scdaha, where she Uves with her son-in-law and

wife, and enjo3's the income from a large estate left by her husband, who
was a good business man, accumulating much wealth by the increased

value of building sites.

DR. WILLIAM BROCKSCHMIDT.
Was born in 1827, in Langelage, Amts Wittlage, Province of Hanover,

Europe. The Doctor graduated from Gottingen Medical College in 1848.

In 1852, he came to America and located in New Orleans for a short

time, after which he came to St. Louis, where he practiced medicine two

years. He now went to Jefferson City, where he married C. Mayer,

by whom he has two children, Mary Ann, and John F. In 1862, the

Doctor came to Sedalia, where he has since made his home. He enjoys
a large practice, making a specialty of palsy, dropsy, cancers, and all diffi-

cult diseases, in all of which he is eminently successful.

JOHN D. BROWN.

Proprietor of the Western Telegraph Institute, Sedalia. Mr. Brown'

was born in Howard Count}-, Ind., in 1848. His father, James Brown,
came to Sedalia in 1865, and in 1870, John D. went to St. Louis, where

he learned telegraphing in the Metropolitan Telegraph Institute. In after

3^ear8 he operated on various lines of railroad. In 1874 he established

the Institute of which he has ever since been proprietor and manager.
Over one hundred young men each year are here fitted to fill positions in

telegraph offices. The school is supplied with about twenty-five sets of

telegraph instruments. Mr. Brown is a member of the I. O. O. F.

He was married in 1874 to Lida McClung; they have one child. Earnest

M.

DR. J. A. C. BROWN.
One of Pettis County's influential business men, and Sedalia's most

honored citizens, is the subject of this sketch. He is tiie son of Haley
Brown, of Randolph County, N. C. The subject of this sketch was born

in Davidson County, N. C, March 31, 1834, and is the oldest child in a

family of nine children. He received his education from Trinity College,

North Carolina, and the Emory and Henry College, Virginia. He grad-
uated at the University of North Carolina in the collegiate year of 1857-8,

in a class of ninety-six. The Doctor read medicine with Dr. S. G. Coffin,

of Jamestown, N. C, and graduated at the Jefferson Medical College at

Philadelphia. After completing his medical education the Doctor went to
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Texas, where he remained until the fall of 1860, when he returned to his

home in North Carolina. After remaining at home a short time he

enlisted in the Confc derate army, under Col. Pettiorrew, who afterwards

became General. The Doctor was with Stonewall Jackson in his cele-

brated campaign in Virginia. Dr. Brown participated in all of the hard-

fought battles of Stonewall's campaign. He was wounded at the seven

days' fight at Richmond, and afterwards received a second wound at

Shepherdstown. When peace had been declared in 1865, Dr. Brown
moved to Missouri, settling at Dresden, in Pettis County; here he resided

and practiced his profession until the summer of 1877, when he received

the appointment of Collector of Pettis County, .vhich office he acceptably
filled until the spring of ISSl. Since that time he has been engaged in

agriculture and the stock business. The Doctor and his step-son own
one of the finest farms in Dresden Township, containing 6iG acres well

improved. He also owns a line residence on Ohio street, south of

Broadway, where he and family reside. In business Dr. Brown is hon-

orable and just, and is highly esteemed and respected by his many
friends.

ANDREW G. BROWN.
One of the popular conductors of the Missouri Pacific, is the subject of

this sketch. He is the son of Green Brown, a native of England, but who

emigrated to the United States in an. early day, settling in New York, but

afterwards in 1849 moved to California and is supposed to have been

killed by the Indians. The subject of this sketch was born Aug 25, ISIO,

in Paw Paw, Mich. He received his education from the schools of his

native State. After quitting school he engaged in farming for a few

years, then he learned the blacksmith trade, working at his trade for

three years. Then he accepted a position as brakeman on the St. Louis

& San Francisco R. R. Of Mr. Brown's railroad history we copy the fol-

lowing complimentary notice from T/ie Railroader^ oi Novembe'r, ISSl:
" Mr. A. G. Brown, the retiring Grand Island Sentinel, is with the Missouri

Pacific, and at present the Secretary of the Queen City Division, No. GO,

Sedalia, Mo. Mr. Brown is young, energetic and active, \'ery popular
with a wide circle of acquaintances, and is decidedly one of the most val-

uable members of the order. '^ * " "' * '••

Mr. Brown has filled nearly every office in the Division, and all trusts con-

fided to him have been faithfully executed. Though still young he has

been railroading for twelve years, his first service having been performed
on the St. Louis & San Francisco. At a later period he changed to the

Missouri Pacific, and is at present in charge of a passenger between

Sedalia and Hannibal." He was married, March 26, 1874, to Miss Amelia

Craft, a nanve of New York, but her residence was in Michigan at the
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time of her marriage. From this union there are two children, viz: Ada
and Leah.

CHRIS. BRUNCKHORST.
Runs saw-mill and deals in walnut lumber. Mr. Brunckhorst was born in

184:6 in Germany, where his parents lived and died. In November, 1866,

he came to America, locating in Morgan County, Mo., where he taught a

German school, and worked at various kinds of employmt-nt, but for the

past few years has been in the saw-milling business. In 1881 he built the

mill in East Sedalia, where he is now engaged, which has a capacity of

over 1,000,000 feet per annum. Mr. Brunckhorst is a member of the I.

O. O. F. He was married in 1872 to Friderika Slimbrink, of Benton

County, Mo. They have four children, Katie, John, William, Frederick,
and one deceased.

CHARLES W. BULLEN.
Assistant Cashier of Citizens National Bank, Sedalia. Is the son of

Samuel H. Bullen, a native of Louisville, Ky., in which cit}- the father

lived until his death, which occurred July, 1870. The subject of this

sketch was born in Louisville, Ky, Feb. 7, 18.53, and received his edu-

cation in the schools of his native city. In the winter of 1S69, Mr. Bullen

moved to Missouri, settling in the city of Sedalia, Vv'here he has since

resided. He has been engaged in the banking business since his residence

here. First he was connected with the Sedalia Savings Bank; but in

May, 1872, the Citizens National Bank was organized and Mr. Bullen was

elected its teller, and since has been promoted to assistant cashier, which

Dosition he still holds. Charles Bullen, for whom these few lines are

intended, is a young man highly respected, possessing all of the qualities of

a good bank officer. It can be truthfully said, that it is not age that

makes men generous and valuable factors in social and business circles,

nor indeed is it wealth and the miserly hoarding of money, nor is it the

fact of being reared in the community that makes an officer of a bank

most efficient and trustworthy.

E. V. BUCHANAN.
Assistant Postmaster, Sedalia, Mo. Mr. Buchanan was born, July 19,

1853, in Greenville, 111. His father was a native of Kentucky. His

mother, a native of Illinois. E. V., the subject of this sketch, was reared

and educated in Greenville, 111. In 1869 he engaged in mercantile

business where he remained until 1873. From this time until 1875, he

was doing busineso at Hillsborough, 111. In 1S75 he went to Keokuk, la.,

where he remained until 1877. In 1878 he went to Clinton, ?vIo., where

he was Assistant Postmaster one year, after which he returned to Green-
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ville, 111., and sold goods until 1882, when he received the appointment of

Assistant Postmaster of Sedalia, which position he now holds. Mr.

Buchanan was married in 1879 to Alice V. Vest, of Greenville, 111. They
have one child, Georgia L. Mr. and Mrs. Buchanan are members of

the M. E. Church.

JOHN BURKHART.
Manufacturer and dealer in boots and shoes. Was born in December,

1846, in Switzerland. Nicholas, his father, emigrated to America with his

family in 1853, locating in Ohio. He afterward came to Sedalia in 1866,

and after working on the bench for fifty-five years died here in July, 1881.

John, the subject of this sketch, was principally reared in Ohio, and in

1862, when but sixteen years of age, he enlisted in the Federal army in

Company I, Seventy-Sixth Ohio Veteran Volunteers, and served until

the close of the war. He was in the battles of Vicksburg, Shiloh, Pea

Ridge, Milliken's Bend, Lookout Mountain, Mission Ridge, Ringgold,
Kennesaw Mountain, Atlanta, with Sherman on his march to the sea, and

many other campaigns and battles during the war. He was wounded
once or twice, but not seriously. After the close of the war he and his

father's family moved to Sedalia, where he has ever since been engaged
in the boot and shoe business. When a small bo}', and again after the war, he

wofted on the bench until 1869, when he opened his store and began

handling eastern goods. As his business increased he turned his whole

attention to his store, and has, by strict attention and honorable deahngs,
accumulated until his stock of goods, in quantity and quality, is second

to none in Sedalia. Mr. Burkhart keeps several workmen constantly

employed in the manufacture of boots and shoes, for which he finds read}'

sale. Mr. Burkhart was married in 1869 to Mary Hulland, of Sedaha, a

daughter of Richard Hulland, one of the first settlers of the citv, now
deceased. In April, 1881, their oldest son Willie, was run over b}- a span
of horses attatched to a carriage in the streets of Sedaha and instantl}^

killed. They have three children now living, Alice, Richard and an infant

born Christmas, 1881.

JAMES MADISON BYLER.

Born, June 2, 1833, in Boon ville, Cooper Co., Mo., eldest son of David

C. Bvler, a native of North Carolina, who, at the age of seven years, with

his father, Joseph Byler, came to Cooper County, Mo., in 1818. His

mother was a native of Kentucky, who emigrated with her father, David

Lilly, to said county in 1826, and settled near Boonville. His grand-
fathers were among the pioneers of Missouri. In his early life especially,

was much afflicted with sickness, having had six attacks of disease, more

or less serious in their final effects, and has been the subject of ten acci-
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dents, leaving permanent effects in the shape of dislocations, fractures and

partial paralysis, principall}'- in the extremities, so that now he has neither

perfect hand nor foot; but otherwise in good health. Received primary
education in select and public schools, finishing in the Kemper Family
School at Boonville, Mo., where he was a member as pupil, tutor and

assistant teacher from 1848 to 1855. Having been educated for a teacher,

he taught in Cooper County until 1857, when he went to Clinton, Henry
County, Mo., where he established the first High School ever taught in

that place, continuing until 1860, when, his health failing, he determined

upon a more active fife, and having at intervals before engaged in travel-

ing agency and soliciting business, he located in September, 1860, in War-

rensburg, Johnson County, Mo., soon after engaging in mercantile busi-

ness in connection with several agencies. Was married, Dec. 24-, 1858, at

Chnton, Mo., b}'^
Rev. L. C. Marvin, to Miss Emma Shumway, late from

New Hampshire, and a daughter of Royal Shumway, an old and highly
esteemed citizen and merchant of Langdon, N. H. Her mother was

Betsy Willard, a teacher, and also a native of New Hampshire. His wife

was educated principally at the Merriden Institute in Vermont, and in

music b}' Prof. Wyman, the well known musical author. By this mar-

riage there have been born to them three sons and one daughter, all

at home, and they are an honor to their anxious parents. The
first year of the Rebellion, caused his financial ruin in Warrensmirg,
hence he retired to the schoolroom again, and in 1862 removed to Boon-

ville, Mo., taught a select school for first year, and in 1863, together with

the Rev. Buckner, founded and incorporated the Cooper Institute, a

fem.ale college at that place. He occupied the chair of mathematics and

natural sciences, as his special duty, otherwise co-assistant; Rev. Buckner,

President, with the chair of English literature as his special duty, &c. At
the close of the rebellion Mr. B\-ler retired from the Institute in poor

health, telling his friends and patrons that he had determined to locate

in the future great city of Central Missouri. Like many others he was

considered over sanguine, but time has proven greater progress than was

even then anticipated. He moved to Sedalia in May, 1865, and was

employed for several months as bookkeeper and accountant by Laup-
heimer & Bloess, wholesale and retail merchants, and for about one year

taught an evening commercial school. In 1865 he formed a partnership

with Dr. Logan Clark, in the real estate agency business, in which they
were quite prosperous during the two years existence of their partner-

ship, the Doctor then retiring to his farm. In 1866 Mr. Byler established

the first real estate paper, and discontinued it in 1870. In 1867 he com-

menced the compilation of a set of title abstract books for Pettis County,

Mo., the first that was completed. He still continued in the real estate

business, and in 1872, connecting with it, as a special feature, real estate



HISTORY OF SEDALIA. 627

loans, having made arrangements for an almost unlimited supply of

eastern capital through brokers, for whom he invested several hundred

thousands of dollars. Since engaging in real estate business he has

sold millions of dollars worth of real estate, loaned hundreds of thousands

of dollars, made thousands of abstracts of title, and perfected over 300

defective titles. Owing to general financial revolutions, Mr. Byler's

leniency, generosity, free use of his name as sm-ety, and through sickness

and disabling accidents combined, his financial success has been much

varied, and yet he lives to labor.

PROF. ANDREW S. CALDWELL.

Book-keeper with J. G. Allen. Mr. Caldwell was born, Sept. 15, 1853,

in Hopkinsville, Ky. His father, Isaac, was a native of Kentucky, now a

resident of Carlinville, 111. His mother, Eva Stiles, was a native of Ken-

tucky. Andrew was reared in Louisville, Ky., where he was educated.

Graduating in 186S from the High School, after which he graduated from

the State Normal University, in 1S76. He spent some years in teaching,
and in 1S79 came to Sedalia, and accepted the position of principal of

Washington School for two years; was again elected, but resigned to

take the position of book-keeper with the house of J. G. Allen, where he

still remains. Mr Caldwell is a member of the Christian Church, also of

the I. O. O. F.

DR. R. WILSON CARR.
Dr. Carr was born in Anne Arundel County, Md., March 3, 1831.

His father, John Carr, was a descendant of the early settlers of Maryland,
his ancestors having emigrated to this country with Leonard Calvert,

brother of Lord Baltimore, in 1633. His grand uncle was a soldier in the

Revolutionary war, and his father a soldier in the war of 1812, and was

at the battle of North Point, which saved the city of Baltimore from the

English. His family are now in the possession of landed property in

Lower Maryland, which was granted to them at the settlement of the

Territory, on which there now stands a house built over two hundred

years ago, in which were born his ancestors down to the present genera-
tion. The subject of our sketch was educated at Dickinson College,

Carlisle, Pa., after which he immediately commenced the study of medi-

cine, and graduated at'the University of Maryland, March 8, 1852. Before

graduating in medicine he entered the Bayview Hospital, as resident

physician, and remained there until the spring of 1853, when he emigrated
to California, where he remained practicing his profession until the fall of

1S5G, when he went to Nicaragua and served as Surgeon with Gen.

Walker, until the whole party were driven out of the country b}^ the com-

bined forces of Nicaragua, Costa Rica, and San Salvador. He then
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returned to Baltimore, and in 1860 was appointed Chief Surgeon of Mary-
land Militia, by Gov. Hicks, which he resic^ned in 1861, on account of his

sympathy with the South when the civil war broke out. He remained in

Baltimore during the war, declining several offers to take a position in the

United States Army, but on several occasions, as at Antietam and Gettys-

burg, he served as volunteer surgeon, and at the latter place was surgeon
in charge of the Confederates wounded, numbering some 2,500, for which

he received some very complimentary notices from United States authori-

ties for services rendered. In 1868-69-70-71, he was chief coroner for

Baltimore City. Finall}-, Dr. Carr became dissatisfied with the old prac-

tice of medicine, and adopted the homoeopathic; but, having been educated

in both schools of medicine and liberal in his views, believes there is good
in each so-called system, and that there is error in each. He came to

Sedalia in Ma}^, 1877, and now enjoys one of the best practices in the citv.

He makes a specialty of electro-therapeutics, and has made some brilliant

cures in that branch of medicine. He belongs to the Protestant Episcopal

Church, and is a vestryman in that church at this time. He is also a

member of the Board of Health of the city of Sedalia. He is a Mason of

high standing, having taken all the degrees in that Ancient Order many
years ago. He is also a member and examining physician of the Orders

of Knights of Pythias, Knights of Honor, and Knights and Ladies of

Honor, in this city. He was married in 1857 to Miss Sue E. Johnson, of

Baltimore, a descendant of the Johnsons of Frederick County, Md., a

family of distinction in that State from its early settlement. The subject

of this sketch enjoys a large and lucrative practice, wliich his long and

successful experience, and his thorough knowledge of the profession so

eminenth' merit.

ELISHA A. CARPENTER.
Grocer. Mr. Carpenter was born in 1846, in Windom County, Conn.

His father, Lucius Carpenter, was also a native of Connecticut, as was

also his father before him. His mother, Camelia, nee Day, was a native of the

same place. E. x^., the subject of this sketch, came to Michigan in 1868,

where he engaged in merchandising about seven years, after which he

railroaded about three years. In 1878 he came to Sedalia, and was on

the M., K. & T. Railroad until 1880, when he took charge of the circula-

tion of the Sedalia Democrat^ which he still continues. In 1881 he started

the store on East Fifth street, where he is now in business. Mr. Carpen-
ter is a member of the I. O. O. F. He was married in 1S75 lo Miss Lulu

McDonald, of Grand Rapids, Mich. They have three children, John G.,

Edith and Albert.
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WILLIAM VV. CECIL.

Groceries and provisions. Mr. Cecil was born in 1S15 in Montgomery
County,Va. His father, Philip Cecil, and his mother, Mary A., nee Wygal,
were natives of Virginia. William, the subject of this sketch, with his parents,
came to Saline County, Mo., in 1831. When about twelve years of age
he had white swelling in his left leg, which has caused him to use a

crutch ever since. During the war he lost his property, and in I860 came
to Sedalia a poor man; opened a small grocery here, which has steadily

grown until he now ranks among the very foremost business men of Seda-

lia, In 1881 he built the elegant two-story brick, which he now uses for

his store, situated on East Main street. He was married in 18-18 to Eliza-

beth A. Foster.

CICERO M. A. CHANEY.
Cashier Pettis County Bank. Was born. May 14, 1833, m Virginia. His

father, Parks J. Chaney, also a native of Virginia, emigrated to Callaway
Count}', Mo., in the year 1838, where he lived until 1854; then moved to

Pettis County, and died here in June, 1871. His mother was also born in

Virginia, and died in 1868. Cicero, the subject of this sketch, was reared

on a farm, but notwithstanding the fact that he was employed most of his

time there, he learned a trade. In 1867 he gave up the farm and devoted

his time entirely to contracting and building, having moved to Sedalia.

In 1870 he became a stockholder and director in the Central Missouri

Banking and Savings Association, and has ever since been connected

with the banking business. In 1872 he was one of those w^ho orcranized

the Citizens National Bank at Sedalia, and was a member of the first

board of directors. He retained this position until 1875, when he and

others organized the Pettis County Bank, at which time he was chosen

cashier, and has retained that position up to the present time. Mr.

Chaney is a man of liberal means and is a member of the A. O.

U. W. In 1853 Mr. Chaney was married to Miss Elizabeth F. Ballew, a

native of Kentucky, and daughter of Wm. Ballew, who located in Boone

County at an earh' day, and died there in May, 1880. Mr. Chaney has

five children living, David F., now a clothing merchant of Sedalia, Mar}-

E., wife of L. L. Routan, of Holden, Roxanna L., Alice and John.

D. A. CLARKE.

Dealer in carpets, window shades, awnings, etc. Was born in Canada
in 1851. His father, D. R. Clarke, was a native of Scotland, and died in

1879. D. A. Clarke, the subject of this sketch, was reared and educated

in Canada, and learned the upholstering business in his bo3'hood. He
followed this business in Canada until 1876 when he came to Sedalia,

where he was employed in a carriage shop for a short time, when he took



630 HISTORY OF SEDALIA.

up his trade of upholstering. He continued this business until June,

1881, when he opened the large carpet store on Third street which he

now occupies. This is the first and only house in Sedalia which carries

this line of goods exclusively. His building is a handsome two-story

brick, exclusively for his business, conveniently arranged, and is an orna-

ment to the city. Mr. Clarke has a large stock of choice goods, embrac-

ing, all kinds of carpeting in both foreign and home designs, and has a

large and growing trade. He is a member of the I. O. O. F., Knights of

Pythias; also the Encampment. He was married in 1879 to Miss Carrie

Zullins, of Nevada, and they have two children, Don M. and Callie.

DR. LOGAN CLARK.

Dr. Clark was born Sept. 4, 1S20, in Christian County, Ky. His father,

John Clark, was a native of North Carolina, who settled in Kentucky at

an early day, and was Clerk of the Court of Christian County, Ky., for

many years. He died in Missouri in l8ol. His mother, Betsey, nee

Chrick, was a native of Kentucky. Dr. Logan Clark came with his

parents to Callaway County, Mo., in 1821:. He studied medicine in Lex-

ington, [Ky., in 1814-45, after which he practiced medicine for fifteen

years. At one time he was chosen to represent Johnson County, Mo., in

the LeLHslature. In 18H1 he came to Sedalia and entered the Federal

Army as Surgeon of the Tw^ent3^-seventh Missouri Regiment, serving one

year. After the war he engaged in real estate business in Sedalia, in

which he was verv successful. In 1877 he was elected Mayor of Sedalia.

Dr. Clark is a member of the Masonic Fraternity. He and his wife are

members of the Christian Church. He was married in 1846 to Harriet

E. Kid. They had one son, John C, now deceased.

THOMAS W. CLONEY.

Cashier Sedalia Savings Bank. Was born June, 1836, in Baltimore,

Md. His father was Thomas Cloney, a native of Ireland, and a grand-
son of Gen. Cloney, of Irish fame, who died a number of 3-ears ago. Mr.

Clone}^ the subject of this sketch, came to Jeflterson City, Mo., when but

a child, and was there raised and educated. In 1855, in connection with

a Mr. Crawford and Gen. Thos. L. Price, he engaged in the mercantile

business, under the firm name of Cloney, Crawford & Co. They were

extensively engaged in both the wdiolesale and retail, having their prin-

cipal house in Jefferson City, and branch houses in Tipton, Syracuse,

Otterville and Sedalia. They built a house on the first lot sold in Sedalia,

where W. M. Moore's wholesale liquor house now stands. They con-

tinued in business here until 1865, when the firm dissolved. Mr. Cloney
was not actively engaged in business again until 1871, when he entered

the Central Missouri Banking & Savings Association. Mr. Cloney is a
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member of the Chapter, Lodoe A. F. & A. M., in Sedalia. He has been

married twice. First, to Miss Crawford, of Jefferson City, by whom he

had two children, both now dead. His first wife died in 1857. In 18T5

he married Mrs. Mary Hughes, eldest daughter of Maj. Wm. Gentry, of

Pettis Count3\

JAMES M. CLUTE.

Was born in Picton, Canada, in 1S46. His father, John S. Clute, was
a native of Canada, of which place he is still a resident, and actively

engaged in business as collector of customs. His mother, Mariah Wood,
a cousin of Fernando Wood, died in 18S1. James, the subject of this

sketch, was brought up to mercantile pursuits, and in 1866, when but

twenty years of age, embarked in business at his old home, on his own

account, which he has ver}^ successfully followed ever since. He con-

tinued in business here until 1869, when he went to Mt. Vernon, Ills., and

engaged in business for about one year, in connection with a Mr. Ungent,
now of St. Louis. Early in 1871, he sought a home farther west, and

althoug-h Sedalia was then but a villafje, the wisdom of his choice is now
manifest. Here he, in connection with Mr. T. Kehoe, under the firm

name of James M. Clute & Co., engaged in the dry goods trade at their

present stand, corner of Ohio and 4th streets, where they have one of the

largest and most attractive store rooms in the city. They have a very

large and well selected stock of goods, including everything usually

found in such a house, with a large corps of polite and obliging assistants,

and are doing a business second to none in their line in the city. Mr.

Clute is a member of the Chapter Lodge of Masons. He was married

in 1873 to Ella Saunders, of Cleveland, Ohio, a daughter of William

Saunders, of that city. They have two children, both living, Mabel E.,

and Florence M. A cut of Mr. Clute's store appears on page 431.

MOSES S. CONNER.
Sheriff' of Pettis County. Among the public spirited men of Pettis

County, Moses S. Conner is a standard bearer. His father, James Con-

ner, was a native of Kentucky, who died in Iowa in the year 1872. Moses

S., the subject of this sketch, was born in Clark County, Kentuckv, in

1825, and received the advantages of a good common school education.

After he left school he followed the milling business for many years. In

1857 he moved to Missouri and located in Cooper County, where he

resumed h's trade until 1873, when he moved to Sedalia, and

was emploN'ed in the M., . K. & T. round house for a time. In

the spring of 1876 he was elected Constable of Sedalia township,
which otFice he held until the fall of 1880, w^hen he was elected

Sheriff' of Pettis Count}-, which position he now holds. Moses S.
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Conner has filled the office of Sheriff with credit to himself

and satisfaction to the people in general. He is a member of the

Oriental Order,
" Palm and Shell," and has received quite a number of

collections of specimens from the "
Holy Land," which are furnished to

all members of that order. Mr. Conner and his wife are members of the

M. E. Church South, in high standing. He was married in the year 1848

to Margaret F. Conkwright, of Clark County, Ky., and has five children^

Jno. W., James S., Allen H., Frederick P. and Jeff D.

JOHN W. CONNER.
Recorder of Deeds. Was born in 1849, in Clark County, K}-. He is a

son of M. S. Conner, Sheriff of Pettis Count}-, whose biograph}" appears
in this work. John was educated in Cooper County, Mo. He learned

civil engineering and was for several years connected with the M., K. &
T. R. R., after which he was in the abstract business until 1878, when
he was appointed Deputy .Recorder, under Captain Ritchey. During the

feeble condition of Capt. R., the office has been entirely under the charge
of Mr. Conner for several years. In the spring of 1882, Capt. R. resigned
and Mr. Conner was appointed to till the vacancy. Mr. Conner is a

young man of more than ordinary abilit}^, and makes an official of which

Pettis County may well feel proud. Mr. Conner is a member of the

Masonic Fraternity. He was married in 1S71 to Mary E. Koontz, of

Boonville, Mo., a daughter of Col. Joseph C. Koontz, one of the early

settlers of that county. They have three children,^ Lillie M., Leonard R.

and Ida F.

REYNOLDS & CONNER.
General book and job printers. Mr. Reynolds is a native of Tennessee.

His father, W. K. Reynolds, being a native of the same State. .Mr.

Reynolds was educated in Sedalia. In 1876 he began the printing busi-

ness, and in January, 1882, he and Mr. Fred P. Conner opened the job

printing house, where the}^ are now rapidh' building a large and profitable

business. Mr. Fred P. Conner is a son of M.S. Conner, whose biography

appears in this work. Mr. Fred P. was born in Cooper County, Mo.

He followed the printing business until 1881, when he was appointed

Deputy Sheriff of this county, which position he retained until January,

188^, when he became associated with his present partner in the printing

business,

EDWARD G. COGLEY.
•

He is the son of Thomas Cogley, a native of Ohio, who died at Cleve-

land in the fall of 1866. Edward G. Cogley was born in Cleveland, O.,

March 3, 1851, and received his education in the schools of his native
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city. When sixteen years of age he commenced raih-oading on the C. &
T. Railroad, in which employ he remained six years, first as fireman and

then being promoted to engineer. In January, 1873, he came to Sedalia,

where he accepted a position as engineer with the Missouri Pacific Rail-

road, and has retained it till the present time, July, 1882, with satisfac-

tion to the company and great credit to himself. He has never met with

an accident nor been suspended during his nine years of railroading here.

He was married, Sept. 9, 1869, to Miss Nora Hayes, a native of Cleve-

land, O., and by this union there were six children, only two of whom are

living, James C. and Stella M. His faithfulness is appreciated by the

company, and his social nature attracts many friends.

WM. P. C0US1.EY.

Contractor and builder. Was born in 1840 in County Derry, Ireland.

Robert Cousley, his father, died in Ireland, his native home, in 1818, and

his mother emigrated to America in 1850 with her family, and is still

living in Alton, 111. She is seventy-two years of age, and retains the

activity of youth to a remarkable extent. She located in Alton when she

first came to America, and has never changed her place of abode since.

Wm. P. was principall}- reared in Alton, and at the age of sev^enteen

years he began the carpentering business, serving an apprenticeship of

three years. When the war broke out he entered the Federal Army in

April, 1861, in Company I, Fourth Missouri Regiment, and served three

months, after which he entered Compan}^ D, Tenth Illinois Volunteers,

serving until the close of the war in 1865. During his career as a soldier

he met with many narrow escapes, as he participated in all the battles of

the regiment, and on many occasions had his clothing pierced with balls

from the guns in the enemy's hands. After the war he returned to Alton,

111., where he remained until the year 1869, at which time he came to

Sedalia and engaged in contracting and building. Mr. Cousley is one of

the oldest contractors in the city, and has been connected with her growth
and prosperity almost since the first. A great many of the elegant
structures which line her streets were built under his supervision. He
was married in 1871 to Miss Mattie McNeal, of Alton, and by her has

four children living, named respectively, Eunice C, Esther C, Robert

Grant and William Sherman. They have one child deceased. Mr.

Cousley is a member of the Sedalia Lodge, No. 27 K. P., and he and his

wife are also members of the Presbyterian Church.

ORESTES A. CRANDALL.

Attorney at law. Mr. Crandall was born on Feb. 25th, 1833, at Syra-
cuse, New York. His father, Beman Crandall, and his mother, Pollie, nee

Tuttle, were natives of Connecticut. O. A. Crandall, the subject of this
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sketch, came with his parents, in 1835, and settled at Crystal Lake, in what
is now known as McHenry Count}-, 111., but at that time a vast wilderness.

His earliest memory is of Indians and wild beasis. .There was no settle-

ment nearer than forty miles. It was several years before a sufficient

number of settlers came in to establish a school. After a school was
established he attended regularly about six months in a year until he was
thirteen years of age. This is all the education he ever received at

school except a part of a term at Gleason's Normal School in Chicago.

Being thrown on his own resourses at the age of thirteen, and unable to

.attend school, he followed such pursuits as atlbrded him the greatest time

for reading and study. He pursued his studies during his leisure hours,

and obtained his education without a school, teacher or discipline. In

1858 he went to California, overland, walking the last five hundred miles,

carrying his bundle on his back, where he spent eight years in mining.
On his return, early in JSBl, he settled in Saline County, Mo. On the

breaking out of the civil war, he took sides with the Union, and went to

his old home in Illinois and aided in raising tw^o regiments of Union

soldiers. His business interests again calling him to Missouri, he was in

the battle of Marshall, in 1863, and in November, of that year, he perma-

nently located in Sedalia. Was in the battle of Sedalia, Oct. 15th, 1861:,

and was taken prisoner by the Rebels when Sedalia fell. Having given
considerable time to the study of law, in May, 1861-, he applied to the

Circuit Court of Pettis Count}?- for admission to the bar. He was publicly
examined as to his proficiency, and granted a license by Hon. J. A. S.

Tutt, Judge of that court. He was afterward examined by Hon. Arnold

Krekel, Judge of the U. S, District Court, and admitted to practice in that

court, and was afterward enrolled by Judge Dillon a member of the bar

of the U, S. Circuit Court. He has always taken great interest in the

growth and prosperity of Sedalia and Pettis County. In 1877 he was
retained by the county court to defend suits brought against the county op

bonds issued to various railroads. By his skillful management of these

cases, the holders of the bonds were forced to compromise, which saved to

the county over $IU0,00U. At the same time, the city of Sedalia being

largely in debt and unable to pay its- interest, he volunteered his services,

and went to Boston, and called a meeting of the holders of Sedalia

bonds and effected a compromise by which the interest on the whole debt

was reduced from ten per cent to five per cent, thereby saying the tax

payers of Sedalia over $20(),0U0 in interest alone. In 1875 he organized
the Pettis County Bank, and was elected its president, which position he

held for five years. On disconnecting himself from that institution he

organized the Missouri Trust Company, and was elected president, which

position he now holds. Mr. Crandall has always taken an interest in

politics, but has never sought office. In 1868 he was run by the Demo-
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cratic party for State Senator, from the district composed of Lafayette,
Saline and Pettis Counties, but with the balance of the ticket was deieated,

though he ran ahead of his ticket. From 186S to 1S72, he was a member
of the Democratic .State Executive Committee, and was the first to suggest
what afterwards became known as the " Possum Polic}'," which proved
successful in 1ST", and took the State out of the hands of the Republicans.
In 1864, Mr. Crandall married at Sedalia, Mo., Miss Kate A. Kidd, by
whom he has had four children, three of whom, Emma K., Arthur Lee,
Stella May, are now living.

COL. JNO. D. CRAWFOP.D.

Col. Crawford was born in Pettis County, Mo., March 1, 1838, and

during his boyhood attended the common schools. He afterwards attended

William Jewell College, at Liberty, Mo. When the war of the rebellion

RESIDENCE OP COL. J. D. CRAWFORD, SEDALIA. MO.

broke out he espoused the Union cause, and on Aug. 18, 1862, was com-
missioned Captain of Company C, Fortieth Regiment Enrolled Missouri

Militia, and June 13, 1864, was commissioned Colonel of the same. Dur-

ing a portion of 1862-63 he served as Provost Marshal at Warrensburg,
Mo., and as Captain of Company K, Fifth Provisional Regiment, in South-

western Missouri during the latter part of 1863. His military career as

Commander of the Fort at Sedalia, and as an efficient officer in many
other fields of operation, won for him the lasting gratitude of the Com-



636 HISTORY OF SEDALIA.

monwealth and approbation of his fellow-citizens. He vvas married, June

21, 1865, to Miss Annie E. Parberry, dauf^hter of N. N. Parberry and

Elizabeth H., nee Joplin, formerly of Virginia. In November, 1870, he

was elected as a Republican to the office of Recorder of Deeds for Pettis

County, and before his first term of office expired in Nov., 1871:, was re-

elected for another term of four years. He is now (July, 1882,) engaged
with A. P. Morev, in the real estate, abstract and loan business on Ohio

street, Sedalia, Mo., and his success as a business man is a source of grati-

fication to himself and friends. Being well and favorably known through-

out the county he commands the largest patronage of any similar firm

in Central Missouri. He is of Scotch-Irish descent, son of Col. John E.

Crawford and Sarilda Jane Crawford, «£-£? Donnohue, both from Kentucky.
His father is still living, though at the advanced age of eighty years.

Mr. Crawford is a prominent member of the Baptist Church in Sedaha.

His generous impulses and enterprising spirit place him before the public

as one of Sedalia's most valuable citizens. A cut of his elegant residence

on West Sixteenth street is represented on the preceding page.

FRANK CRAYCROFT.
Was born, Sept. 16, 181:1, in ^Montgomery County, Maryland. His

father, Aaron Craycroft, and his mother, Harriet G., nee Harris, were

both natives of Maryland. Frank, the subject of this sketch, came to

Missouri with his father's family in 1865, locating in Cooper County,

where he eniraped in farming until 1869, when he went to Chillicothe,

Mo., and took the general agency for McCormick's Reapers, Mowers,

Binders, etc., and has ever since had charge of their business in this part

of ^Missouri. In 1874 he removed to Sedalia, where he has since made

his headquarters. In 1881 he was elected Mayor of Sedalia, and under

his able administration the atfairs of the city were conducted in such a

manner as to reflect great credit upon him. Mr. Craycroft was married

in 1870 to Emilie Hufl'. They have three children, Grace, Emilie H.

and Frank.

FREDERICK G. CROWLEY.
Of the firm of F. G. Crowley & Co., wholesale and retail carriage

factory. Mr. Crowley was born, March 20, 1828, in Baltimore, Md.

His father, Frederick, was a native of Germany. His mother, Margaret, «^e

Dinges, was also a native of Germany. F. G., the subject of this sketch,

learned the carriage business in his boyhood in Baltimore. In 1848 he

moved to Columbus, Ohio, where he worked at his trade until 1851, when

he opened a shop in Cleveland, Ohio, which he operated about eighteen

months. In the fall of 1851 he married Susan Schriber, of Cleveland, a

native of New York State. In 1853 he removed to Burlington, Iowa,
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where he engaged extensively in the manufacture of buggies and car-

riages until 1873, when he was burned out. In 1879 he came to Sedalia

and started the factory where he is now engaged. They have six

children, James I., Jacob, Carrie, Emma, Frank, Lee, and four deceased.

PROF. DAVID R. CULLY.

The popular Superintendent of the public schools of this city is the

subject of this sketch, David R. Cully. He is the son of Joseph Cully, a

native of Maryland, and a grandson of George Cully, a soldier in the

Revolutionary War. His father, in common with many others, sought

to better his condition by "going west," and finally settled in Wayne
County, Ohio, then the far west, where, by his energy and industr}-, he

succeeded in accumulating a handsome competence for his family. Prof.

Cully was born, January 17th, 1837; attended the common schools

until he was twelve 3'ears old, when he was sent to Vermillion Institute at

Hayesville, Ohio, then a popular and well known school, presided over by
the Rev. Sanders Diefendorf, D. D. He graduated at this institute in

September, 1856, and was valedictorian of his class. He then was sent

to Jefferson College, now Washington and Jefferson, in Pennsylvania,

where he graduated in August, 1858. After completing his education he

moved to Missouri, settling in Cooper County, where he engaged in teach-

ing and had charge of an academy for seventeen 3'ears, excepting the

years 1864 to 1867, when he was principal of the Missouri Female Col-

lege, at Boonville.
.
In the years 1877-78 he had charge of the public

schools at Mexico, Mo., but resigned to accept the superintendency of Seda-

lia public schools, which position he has filled to the great satisfaction of the

people since the fall of 1878. To Prof Cully's industry, tact and superior

qualities as a teacher are due, in a great measure, the high standing

which the schools of this city have taken. Sedalia may well feel fortunate

in retaining the services of such an educator and organizer. He was

married in October, 1864, to Miss Sue Chilton, a native of Cooper County,
and the daughter of Charles Chilton, a young lawyer of eminence, who
died at Boonville in the year 1848. Her mother, Mrs. Mary E. Chilton,

a sister ofJudge V. T. Chikon, of Pettis County, and her onl}- other child.

Miss Elvisa Chilton, still reside at the homestead in Cooper County. The
names of Mr. Cully's children are: Mamie L., Maggie, Charles L.,

Walter B. and Bessie E.

WILLIAM CURRAN.

Was born in Prince Edward's County, Ontario, Canada, in 1850. His

father, William Curran, was a native of Ireland, and is now living in

Ontario. His mother, Elizabeth, nee Donahoe, was also born in Ireland

28
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and died in 1876. William Curran, Jr., was reared in Canada, and after

he left school learned the cloth manufactuririij trade. In 1871 he came
to Troy, Mo., where he joined his brother, who was a contractor on the

St. Louis, Keokuk & Northern Railroad. He remained with his brother

about one year. In May, 1872, he accepted a position with J. M. Clute,

of Sedalia, and was retained in the services of this house seven years. In

1879 he engaged in the dry goods business with T. J. Fry. Here they
continued in business until November, 1881, at which time Mr. Curran

bought Mr. Fr3-'s interest, and has since conducted it alone. He has an

elegant store-room, which is filled with a large and well-assorted stock of

dry goods, and is doing a good business. Mr. Curran is a member of the

Catholic Church. He was married in 1880 to Miss Maggie H. Barrett,

of Sedaha, daughter of E. S. Barrett, now deceased.

COL. BENJAMIN D. DEAN.

Merchant. Col. Dean was born, Oct. 7, 1828, in Greenville, Darke

County, O. His father, Aaron Dean, was a native of New Jersey, who

emigrated to Ohio at an early day. He was an officer in the war of 1812.

Col. Dean, the subject of this sketch, was educated at Greenville, O. He
afterward studied dental-surger}--, which profession he followed for several

years, after which he engaged in merchandising with marked success.

In 1857 he came to Missouri and settled on a farm. In 1861 he raised a

company for the Twenty-Sixth Regiment, Missouri Volunteer Infantry,

and was commissioned its captain. He was wounded three times at the

battle of luka. Miss. He was highly comphmented by his Colonel, who

said,
"
By your bravery and skill 3'ou have made the reputation of this

regiment." On the 28th of May, 1863, he was commissioned Colonel by
Gov. Gamble, for gallant conduct at Champion Hill and Vicksburg, Miss.

He was the first of the three thousand men who crossed the Tennessee

River, at midnight, Nov. 23, 1863, and routed the rebels at Mission Ridge.
He took part in many other hotly-contested battles during the war,

alwa3's acquitting himself as a brave soldier and gallant officer. On the

9th of January, 1865, he was mustered out of the service with his regi-

ment, and returned to his home in Missouri. In 1872 he was elected

Treasurer of Franklin Countv, and was re-elected in 1874. He was on

the Republican ticket, as Presidential Elector, for the Fifth Congressional
District. He was made a Mason in 1856. He married Sarah S. Harlan,

daughter of a w^orthy resident of Warren County, O. They have three

children, two sons and one daughter. In the spring of 1877 Col. Dean
removed to Sedalia, where he has since been engaged in merchandising.
Since coming here Col. Dean has served the city as Chairman of the City
Council.
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JOHN N. DALBY.
Wholesale grocer, Sedalia. Was born in 1837 in Edwards Count}^, 111.

His father, Samuel N., was a native of Eni^land, who came to America

about 1821, and settled in the countv before mentioned, where he still

resides. His mother, Elizabeth, nee Brisenden, was also a native of Eng-
land, but died in 184:4:. John N., the subject of this sketch, was brought

up to the nierchant tailoring business. In 180:i he went to Cincinnati, O.,

where he was employed in the wholesale grocery house of Bishop Bros,

for eleven years. Here he began without a dollar, but during the succeed-

ing years helped his father and brothers to the extent of several thous-

and dollars. In 1874 he came to Sedalia, and together with J. H. Hogue
built the house and opened the wholesale grocery business, where he has

RESIDE^X'E OF .JOliX N. DALBY, SEDALlxV, MO.

ever since been encrao-ed. In March, 1882, Mr. Hogue sold his interest

in the business to Mr. Dalby, who associated with himself T. J. Porter.

The firm is now Dalby & Porter, wholesale grocers. Mr. Dalby was

married in 1871 to Lucv A. Waller, of Cincmnati, O., a native of Lafay-
ette Countv, Mo. The}- have two children living, George L. and John

Leroy. Two deceased. Nelson W., killed b}- an engine in 1879, aged five

years, and Lucy E., died in 1881, aged two years. He has been a Mason

since 1859, and has taken thirtv degrees in that order. He and his wife

are members of the Christian Church, of which he is a deacon and teacher

of the infant class, in the Sunday School, numbering 130 scholars. Mr.

and Mrs. Dalby have an elegant home on the corner of Fifth street and

Washington avenue, a view of which appears in this vohmie, beautifully
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furnished, with all the comforts as well as luxuries of life, including Brus-

sels carpets, lace curtains, a Decker Bros' Upright Piano, a choice

library, and fine oil paintings, among the most attractive of which is

" A Kentucky Mountain Scene," from the brush of Prof. Young. Flis

house is also furnished with all the modern conveniences of water attach-

ments and gas throughout.

CAPTAIN HARRY C. DEMUTH.
Of the firm of Easton & Demuth, books and stationery. Mr. Demuth

was born in 1S50, in Ohio. His father, Christopher Demuth, was a native

of Ohio, now of St. Louis. His mother, Mary, nee McDonald, was also a

native of Ohio. Capt. Harry C. Demuth was educated in St. Louis, and

came to Pettis Countv in 1865. In 1S70 he was appointed Assistant

Postmaster of Sedalia, wdiich position he occupied constantly until 1882,

filling it in a manner which reflects great credit on himself, and gave him

a name and reputation second to no man in the county. In February

Capt. Demuth and his partner, Mr. Easton, bought the large book and

stationery store of Brown Bros., where they are now engaged in business.

Capt. Demuth is a member of the I. O. O. F. He was married, Oct. 21,

1880, to Miss Dora Lamy, of Sedalia, a daughter of E. Lamy, of this

city, whose biography appears in this work. Capt. Demuth is a self-

made man, having started out in life .vithout a dollar, but by his own
efforts has now taken his place in the front rank of Sedalia business men.

DR. HEZEKIAH E. DEPP.

Dental surgeon. Dr. Depp was born in 1829, in Barron County, Ky.
His father, John Depp, was a native of Kentucky, w^ho emigrated to

Jefferson City, Mo., in 1836, who was also the discoverer of the Depp Lead

Mines, in Moniteau County, Mo., and operated them several years. His

mother, Mary, nee Ellis, was a native of Kentucky. Dr. Depp began the

studv of dentistry in his boyhood, taking a course in St. Louis, under the

celebrated Dr. H. E. Pubels, where he continued to practice until 1865,

when he came to Sedalia, where he has ever since practised his profession.

Dr. Depp assisted in the organization of the Western Dental Society, in

1867, being one of its original members, and was one of the first Vice-

Presidents. Out of this has since grown the Missouri Dental Society and

the Missouri Dental College. Dr. Depp was married, in 1853, to Eliza-

beth Sweeney. His wife died, in 1859, leaving three children, Olivia M.,

Leon and John H. .He was married the second time, in 1870, to Margaret
M. Stephens. He is the inventor of motive power for street railroad cars,

which is considered a great revolution in this department of passenger

transportation.
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CHARLES A. DEXTER.

Was born in New York city; is the son of Norman Dexter, who, for

man}' years, was a ship-owner, controlling the South American trade.

Charles A.'s childhood was spent in New York; fitted for college at Hart-

ford, Conn.; then studied civil engineering; was engaged on the New
York & Erie and Panama Railroads; afterward filled a State appointment
on the New York & Erie Canal; had charge ot the transit in running a

line for a railroad the entire length of Indiana, from the Ohio River to

Lake Michio-an, which is now known as the Louisville, New Albany &
Chicago Railroad. Owing to ill health he was obliged to quit the profes-

sion and went to South America, thence to New York, but finding the

climate too severe in winter, went to Texas in the interest of several mer-

cantile houses having claims in that then considered risky State, where he

remained two years, and then returned to New York. This was the time

the whole country was flooded with what was then known as " Wild-Cat "

money. He was engaged by New York bankers in making exchanges
and collections in the West, and was connected with, and the correspond-

ent of, the first mercantile agency established in New York, b}- the Tap-

pans, with headquarters at Cincinnati. During the cholera epidemic, which

proved so terribly fatal in the West, he went to the Cumberland Mountains,

in Middle Tennessee, and bought a tract of land, where the Nashville &

Chattanooga Railroad tunnelled the mountain, and after la3ung out a town,

erected a steam saw and grist mill, store, blacksmith shop, shoe store, har-

ness shop, grocer}' store, smoke house and pork-packing house, and was

engaged in general merchandising, buying and selhng grain, cotton,

tobacco and all plantation products, his office being the general exchange
for the planters in that section, and also headquarters of the Chattanooga
Division of the Nashville & Chattanooga Railroad. Matters were pro-

gressing to the utmost extent when the war broke out. Then Mr. Dexter

was politically opposed to Isham G. Harris, at that time Governor of

Tennessee, and felt his contemptible malicious power when he refused a

commission in the Confederate army by being banished from the State.

Through the influence of an intimate friend he joined the Fourteenth Regi-

ment Iowa Volunteer Infantry. His intimate knowledge of the South

made him a very valuable acquisition, and therefore was immediately

detailed for special service. This was at the commencement of the war,

and Missouri was the source of considerable uneasiness. He was ordered

to report to Gen. McClellan, commanding at St. Louis, and was by him sent

on a quick topographical survey of the country between Sedalia and Kan-

sas City, after which he was sent to Springfield, then ordered back to

Sedalia, where he remained till orders came to examine the sur-

roundings of Island Number Ten. After making tliis report he

was attached to the Provost Marshal's Department, and his services
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were acknowledged by the appointment of Captain and Chief of

the U. S. Secret Service, Department of Illinois. At the close of the war
he was ordered on the Plains in the capacity of Captain and military store

keeper. Army life, at a military post in time of peace, becoming irksome,
he resigned, and came to Kansas City, Mo., receiving an appointment in

the Internal Revenue Service, organizing the levying and collecting of the

revenue tax, with headquarters at Versailles, California, Tipton and Seda-

lia, changing as the geographical boundaries of his district changed, and

while thus engaged advanced capital to a friend in the book, news and

stationery business, and finally took charge of the business in person,

enlarging his business until he now has two extensive stores in successful

operation, carrying large stocks of miscellaneous books, papers, w^ail-

papers and notions. He is the oldest merchant in his line in the city, and

is thoroughly identified with the prosperity of the city and county. He
has made many expensive and valuable improvements, and invests every
dollar he can command in the county. His knowledge and experience in

the West is extensive, and he firmly believes that Sedalia is destined to

become an important and large commercial center. Mr. Dexter married,
in Cincinnati, O., the daughter of John B. Clark, a merchant of that city,

and has one son, Charles Stanley.

EDWARD J. DILLON.

Of the firm of Tucker & Co., grocers and provision dealers. Mr. Dillon

was born in Cooper County, Mo., in 1836. His father, Edward P. Dillon,

was a native of Ireland, who came to America in 182S, and soon after

located in Cooper County, Mo., where he was a merchant until his death,
in 1863. His mother, Margaret M., ncc Hardy, was also a native of Ire-

land, a sister of John R. Hardy, the first beef and pork packer of St. Louis.

She died in 18Su, aged 8<> years. Edward J., the subject of this sketch,

was brought up to mercantile pursuits, under his father, and for a number
of years superintended his father's business. In the early part of the war
he entered the Confederate Army as 1st Lieutenant, and served until the

close of the w^ar. He was wounded three times. In 1865, he came to

Sedalia, and married Miss Luvinia Heard, a daughter of George Heard,
of this county, settled near Dresden, and engaged in farming for two

years. He farmed in other parts of the county until 1870, when he

engaged in business in Brownsville. In 1875, returned to Sedalia and

dealt in real estate for several years. January 1, 1882, he engaged in the

grocery business, in company with Mr. Tucker, where we now find him.

Mr. and Mrs. Dillon have two children, Rosa C. and Clyde H.

GEORGE E. DUGAN.

House, sign, and ornamental painter. Mr. Dugan was born in 1845,



HISTORY OF SEDALIA. 643

in Beaver, Pa. His father, Talbot T., was also a native of Pennsylvania,
as was his mother, Elizabeth, nee McLean. George began the painting

business at the age of twelve years, under his father, who was a painter.

In 1872 he came to Sedalia, where he has ever since done an extensive

business, working twelve to twenty-five men. He was married in July,

1872, to Anna Stephens, of Sedalia, who, as a writer, is well and favorably
known here. They have two children, Ernest and LaPette. One died.

JUDGE ROBERT G. DURHAM.
Was born in 1821, in Northumberland County, Pa. His father, James

Durham, was a native of Pennsylvania, as was also his grandfather, and

the house built by his great grandfather before the Revolutionary war, is

still owned by the family. His mother's maiden name \vas Charlotte

Garton. His grandmother, McClintic, was scalped by the Indians, during
the Revolutionary war. Judge Durham received a Collegiate education,

after which he studied law, which he practiced in Centre Co., Pa., until

coming to Sedalia, in 1^66. In 1807 he was appointed by Gov. Fletcher

Judge of the Court of Common Pleas, which office he filled two years.
Smce which time he has practiced at the bar. Judge Durham has been a

Mason since 1860. He was married in 1865 to Harriet Ritchey. They
have three children, Thomas, Clara and Harry R.

DR. EDWIN C. EVANS.

Was born in Washington, D. C, October 29th, 1828. His father, Dr.

Thomas Evans, was also a native of Washington and was one of the early

physicians of Missouri, having located in the eastern part of Pettis

County in 1832, where he practiced his profession until his death in 1874,

at the age of 70. Edwin C. received a fair education, and at the age of

twenty he commenced the study of medicine. He graduated from the

St. Louis Medical College in the spring of 18.54, and on the 6th day of June
of the same year he was married to Miss Elizabeth Joplin. He began
practicing in Otterville soon afterward, making a specialty of diseases of

the eye and ear. Of these diseases he has had a wide experience, hav-

ing taken a special course of lectures in this stud}' at Jefierson Medical

College, Philadelphia, Pa., in 1857-58 and receiving the ad etindem de-

gree. In addition to this Dr. Evans graduated in 1865 at the Ophthalmic
College, New York, taking a wide course of study and having some val-

uable experience in the hospitals. In 1873 he formed a partnership
with his brother, W. H. Evans, and moved to Sedalia that he miirht have
a broader field for his practice as an oculist, and to-day his reputation
extends outside the limits of Missouri, as his success in many cases of the

most delicate operation known in opthalmic surgery has given him the

endorsement and respect of the profession and made him popular at
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large. In 1880 Dr. Evans was elected Mayor of Sedalia on the Demo-
cratic ticket. He at first respectfully declined, and afterward positively
refused to accept the nomination, but it was forced upon him, and he was

elected by a large majorit}'-, although the Republicans had held the office

for two 3^ears previous. He served the people well in that capacity.

DR. WM. H. EVANS.

Was born in Cooper County, Mo., in 1840. His father was Dr.

Thomas Evans, who is spoken of in another part of this work. Dr. Wm.
H. came with his father to Pettis Count}^ when but a child, where he has

ever since remained. He was educated in this county, and early com-

menced the study of medicine. In the course of his medical study he

attended the St. Louis Medical College, but graduated from the Bellevue

Hospital Medical College, New York, in 1867. During the late rebellion

Dr. Evans figured as Assistant Surgeon, in the Eighth Missouri State

Militia and Thirteenth Missouri Cavalry, a veteran regiment, serving until

the close of the war. After the war he returned to Pettis County, and

began practicing medicine, in and around Sedalia. In 1873, he in con-

nection with his brother. Dr. E. C. Evans, began practicing together, and

have ever since been identified with Sedalia. They are both sons of one

of Pettis County's pioneer settlers and physicians, and having been reared

in this county, it is not strange that they are recognized as favorites

among the people of Sedalia, or that thty stand high as practitioners of

medicine. Dr. Wm. H. Evans has served the county as Coronor, several

terms. He was married in 1869 to Miss Ella Stone, of Pettis County,

daughter of Clark Stone, deceased. They have two children. Lulu and

Wm. C. Mr. and Mrs. Evans are consistent members of the O. S.. Pres-

byterian Church.

ALANSON FARNHAM.
Of Farnham & Oilman, liverymen. Was born in the month of April,

1842, in Oenesee County, N. Y. His father, S. H. Farnham, was a native

of New York, and is now a resident of Floyd County, la. His mother?

Deborah A. Farnham, is still living in St. Clair County, Mo., aged 86

years. Alanson was but nine years of age when his parents moved to

Winnebago County, 111., and soon arfter moved to Iowa. In the fall' of

1861 he enlisted in the Federal Army, Co. K, First Illinois Cavalry, and

served until December, 1862, when he was mustered out. Early in the

spring of 1865 he entered as 1st Lieutenant of Co. G, One Hundred and

Fifty-third Illinois Infantry, and served until the close of the war. In the

fall of 1865 he returned to Illinois and bought a farm, and in December of

the same year married Lucy E. Oilman, of that State, daughter of Dr.

Jno. P. Oilman, of Winnebago County, now of Kearney Count}', Neb.
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In 18C)9 he moved to St. Clair County, Mo., where he en^-a<red in farming.
After the M., K. & T. R. R. was built through there, he erected the

first lively stable in Appleton Cit}^ In 1873 he came to Sedalia, and

bought the stable of Wesley Kipp, on West Main street, where he
remained until the summer of 1876, at which time he built the large brick

stable on the corner of Osage and Third streets, which he now occupies.
Mr. Farnham has quite a number of fine horses, with a complete stock of

fine buggies and carriages, and does a large business. For about three

years he owned the only hearse in the city. Mr. Farnham's partner in

business, Mr. Oilman, spends much of his time in training and developing
fine horses. Mr. Farnham is a member of the Christian Church, also of

the Masonic and K. P. Lodges. He has three children, Lena A., Lizzie

E., Leslie S., and two deceased. Their second daughter, Lonie May,
died April 13, 1881, aged twelve years; Leon J. died when about three

weeks of age.

GEORGE L. FAULHABER.
Pacific 'Express Agent, SedaHa. Was born at Kirchbromback, Hesse

Darmstadt, Germany, April 6, 1838. His father, John, died in German}^
In the year of 1851 he came to America, locating in Pittsburg, Pa., and
was engaged in the furniture establishment of his brother, E. A. Faulhaber,

(who had preceded him to America,) until 1857. About this time he

went South, but in September of the same year he came to Jefterson City,

Mo., and was engaged by the U. S. Express Company as Agent at that

place. He retained this position until 186-1, when he came to Sedalia, and

continued as agent in the same company. In 1867, Mr. Faulhaber

started a private express line throughout the southwest, by stage, which
he continued until the railroads began to overrun the ground, and at the

same time holding his position as agent of the U. S. Express Co., making
headquarters at Sedalia. 0.i account ofthe competing Hues he let his pri-
vate enterprises in the business cea-ie. During Mr. Faulhaber's career in

Sedalia he has not escaped the toils of public office, being elected Mayor
in 1879, serving in that capacity creditably to himself and his constitu-

ents until the election of Frank Craycroft. He is prominently connected

with many of the lodges of Sedalia, being made a Mason in 1865. He has

done much for that fraternity in Sedarlia. In 1881, when the U. S. Express
Co. left the Gould lines, Mr. Faulhaber was appointed agent of the

Pacific Express Co., at Sedalia, a position which he has filled with emi-

nent satisfaction ever since. He is now one of the senior express agents
in Missouri, probably only one or two having been acting in that capacity
so long as he. He was married Jan. 2, 1861, to Lillie Grimshavv, of

Jefierson City, daughter of Jonathan Grimshaw, express agent of that

cit}'. The}' have five children living, named respectively: Catharine E.,
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Gertrude, Earnest A., Eda M., and Blanch L., and one deceased. Mr.

Faulhaber is one of the early settlers of Sedalia who is universally

respected and esteemed both as a Mason, citizen and otiicial.

WILLIAM L. FELIX, {deceased).

He was born in Scotland Count}^ Mo., March 15th, 1S46. His father,

Wm. L. Felix, Sr., was a native of Kentucky, and came to Missouri at an

early day, about 1S3S-40. He died in the year 1875. The mother of our

subject, whose family name was Susanna Carry, formerly resided in

Jefterson County, Ky. She is still living at Pierce City, Mo. Wm. L.

Felix, Jr., was educated at Abingdon, 111., and Lexington, Ky. In 1S69

he commenced reading law, in Sedalia, with John Montgomery, Jr., and

was admitted to the bar in 1872, and for a time remained in the office as

partner. In 1873 he was appointed city attorney, since which time he

has twice been elected to the same office. Mr. Felix was chairman of the

judicial convention which nominated Judge John P. Strother, of this cir-

cuit. In February, 1881, he became associated in the law business with

Geo. \V. Barnett. He was a member of the Knights of Pythias and

Knights of Honor, having been the representative of both these lodges to

the Grand Lodges for several years. He was married, Nov. 4, 1869, to

Miss Anna A. Fetterling, a daughter ot John Fetterling, (deceased), of

Johnson County, Mo. Three children cheer the household, though
recenth' made sad by the death of their father. The names of the children

are Eldon L., John W. and Clara A. William L. Felix departed this life

May 3, 1882. He died in Texas, having gone there for the purpose of

regaining his health. His remains were buried in the Sedalia cemetery,

May 6, 1882, and his funeral services were conducted under the auspices
of the Christian Church and of orders of which he was a member, and

attended by the members of the Sedalia Bar, and an immense concourse

of sympathizing friends and relatives. He was a member of the Christian

Church, where he took an active part in all religious duties. Resolutions

of the deepest respect and sympathy were offered by the bar and various

lodges of the city to which he belonged. The following resolutions

were passed by the bar:

Whereas, W. L. Felix, in the earh- manhood of his existence, has been
taken from our midst by death.

Our deceased friend and brother, in the profession of the law, grew up
from boyhood in this county, loved, esteemed and honored by all our
citizens.

When one who has borne the reputation of an able and upright lawyer,
honest and respected citizen, true to his church and country, is taken by
the inscrutable hand of Providence, it is proper that we, who have been

closely connected with the deceased in the practice of our profession,
should express our s^'mpathy and condolence with the familv of our
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deceased friend, and bear our tribute to his many virtues and noble

character in all the walks of life:

Resolved, That, in the death of Wni. L. Felix, the Pettis County Bar
has lost an industrious, talented and able lawyer; our citv and county a

true, upri((ht and honorable citizen; the church a consci;:^ntious member;
his wife a loving husband, and his children a kind and indulgent father.

Resolved, That our deceased brother in his life time was ever genial,

courteous and gentlemanly in his intercourse with the members of our

profession, and that we, the members of the Pettis County Bar, deeply

deplore his untimely death, and condole and sympathize wdth his afflicted

family, and will attend in a bod}^ the funeral of deceased.

Resolved, That a cop}' of these resolutions be spread upon the records

of all the courts of Pettis County, and published in our city papers, and
that a cop3' thereof be presented to the family of our deceased friend.

John Montgomery, Jr., \

H. C. SiNNETT, Committee.
R. G. Durham, )

WILFRED D. FELLOWS.

Was born in Salisbury, New Hampshire, in 1852. His father, James

Fellows, was a native of New Hampshire, where he still resides. His

mother, Jane, nee Stephens, was a native of Salisbury
— still living. W.

D., the subject of this sketch, was educated at Henniker, N. H,, after

which he engaged in mercantile business for some years at his old home.

In 1876 he went to Massachusetts, and remained until the fail of 1877,

when he came to Sedalia, and engaged with H. H. Marine, as salesman,

until 1879, when he began with the wholesale house of Browm Bros.,

wdth whom he has ever since remained. Mr. Fellows was married, April

20, 1880, to Emma V. Anderson, of Sedalia. The}^ are both members of

the First Presbyterian Church of Sedalia. He is leader of the choir, and

Superintendent of the Sunday School.

A. S. FERNALD.

Of the firm of A. S. Fernald & Co., lumber dealers. Mr. Fernald is a

native of New York State. His father, Joseph S., is a native of Maine;

now living in New York State. In 1872 A. S. Fernald, the subject of this

sketch, went to Muskegon, Mich., where he spent five 3'ears in the lumber

business, as inspector. In 1 877 he came to Sedalia and engaged in the lum-

ber business, which he still continues. Mr. Fernald has served as a member

of the city council since residing here, and is held in high esteem by all

who know him.

CHARLES P. FERRELL.

Dealer in groceries and provisions. Mr. Ferrell is a native of Kentucky,
and a son of Steward Ferrell. He w^as educated at Eminence College,

Ky,, and at Poughkeepsie, New York. Graduating from the latter in
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1872, after which he engaged as traveling salesman for a New York

wholesale house, where he remained three years, after which he traveled

for a Louisville leather house, until 1880, when he returned to Kentucky,
and married Miss Lucy Smith. He now went to Lebanon, Mo., where

he did a large grocer}^ business for one year. In 1881 he came to

Sedalia, where he and his partner, Mr. W. L. Smith, opened the store on

Ohio street near Fourth, where they are in business.

GEORGE FERRELL.

Travelincr salesman for Hall & Beiler. Was born in West Virginia,

Garld C. Ferrell, his father, and his mother, Carolina, nee Sexton, natives

of Virginia, have been dead for several years. George, the subjet of this

sketch, was reared on a farm, where he spent his boyhood. In 1875, he

came to Sedalia, and was engaged as salesman for Brown Bros., dealers

in books, stationery, etc. After remaining two years in the store, he

went on the road as traveling salesman for this firm, and continued until

April, 1881, when, in partnership with W. J. Bugby, opened a grocer}'

and provision store on Osage street. Here he remained until January,

1882, when he sold out his prosperous business to his partner, and accepted

a position as traveling salesman with Hall & Beiler, wholesale grocers of

SedaHa,and is now on the road again. He is a member of the Knights of

Pythias, of Sedalia, and is secretary of the same. Mr. Ferrell, although

a voung man, is possessed of untiring energy, and has already taken his

place among the worthy business men of the city.

JOHN D. FESLER.

One of the guardians of the cit}^ peace is the subject of this sketch,

John D. Fesler. He is the son of Daniel Fesler, a native of Pennsylvania,

but who moved to Illinois in the year 1853, settling at Paris, in Edgar

County, of that State. He died in Scott County, 111., July 6, 1869. The

subject of this sketch was born in Cumberland County, Penn., Oct. 26,

1814, and is the third child in a family of eight children. He was

educated principally in the schools of Illinois. In June, 1869, Mr. Fesler

moved to Kansas, settling in Craword County, where he remained until

the year 1879, when he moved to Missouri, settling at Sedalia, where he

has been engaged until recently in farming. In August, 1862, Mr. Fesler

enlisted as a soldier in the United States service under Col. Fad, of the

First Regiment of Engineers of Missouri Volunteers. He served until

the close of the war, and was mustered out of service at the time of the

grand review at the City of Washington, 1865. He was with Sherman

on his march to the sea, was in the siege of Vicksburg. Mr. Fesler has

principally been engaged in farming, though he has acted as assistant

surveyor under Capt. Miller, Chief of Survey, made on the proposed
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route of the Sedalia Northern. He also acted in the capacity of bridge

carpenter for a short time. In April, 1882, he received the appointment of

city police, under Mayor Messerly, and confirmed by city council, May
16, 1882, which position he holds at the present time. Mr. F. is a young
man of good standing, sociable and courteous, and will make the city an

efficient and popular officer.

JUDGE CURTIS FIELD.

President of the Pettis County Bank. He was born near Richmond,
Madison County, Kentucky, on the 3d of November, 1822. His father,

Curtis Field, son of John and Dianna Field, was born in Culpepper

County, Va., on the 8th of March, 1781. His mother, Rosanna, nee Har-

din, daughter of the distinguished Col. John Hardin of the U. S. Army,
(who was killed in his country's service by hostile Indians on the soil of

Ohio in 1792,) was born in Washington County, Ky., on the 8th day of

January, 1791. His parents were married near Richmond, Ky., on the

20th day of March, 1810. The subject of this notice received his early-

educational training at the Madison Male Academy of Richmond, Ky.
In 1838 he entered Augusta College and remained a student at that in-

stitution for three years under the instruction of a faculty composed of

President Joseph Tomlinson, with H. B. Bascom, B. B. McCowen, J.

Trimble and J. D. Kemp, Professors. He afterwards entered the

Dane Law School, of Harvard University, at Cambridge, Massa-

chusetts, and graduating there, he received the degree of A. B., in the

class of 184-4. His diploma is signed by Josiah Quincy, President of

Harvard University, and b}^ those eminent law writers, Hon. Joseph

5tory and Simon Greenleaf. On his return to Kentucky he passed an

examination before Hon. Humphrey Marshall, of the Louisville Circuit

Court, and Hon. Mason Brown, of the Franklin Circuit Court, (two of

the most eminent jurists Kentucky has ever produced,) who being satisfied

with his qualifications, signed his license to practice in the courts of Ken-

tucky. He was sworn in as attorney-at-law in the Madison Circuit Court

at Richmond, Ky., in December, 1844, and practiced in the Supreme and

Circuit Courts of the State, until his removal to Missouri in the year
1868. He was married in Harrodsburg, Ky., on the 25th day of March,

1845, to Miss Martha Richardson, a native of Mississippi. Her father,

Col. Frank R. Richardson, was a graduate under President Holly, of

Transylvania University, and a distinguished planter and politician of

Mississippi, and her mother, Sarah, nee Magoffin, was a native of Kentucky,
and a sister of Hon. B. Magoffin, Governor of Kentucky at the commence-

ment of the late civil war. She died in Richmond, K}-., March 13, 1860,

leaving seven childi-en, all of whom came to Missouri with their father

and are now citizens of this State. The names of the children are, Sallie,
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the wife of LB. McClure, Rosa Hardin, wife of C. W. Courtney, M. D.,

Curtis D., Frank Richardson, Martha Richardson, Charles R., assistant

cashier of the Pettis County Bank, all of Pettis County, and John Hardin,

of Audrain County, Mo In the year lSi7, the Legislature of Kentucky
established a Pohce Court for the city of Richmond, and Gov. Owsley
commissioned Field as Judge of that Court, which office he held for about

three 3'ears, and then' resigned. In 185S, he was elected a member of the

Kentucky Legislature, from Madison County, after the most exciting and

stronglv contested political battle that ever occurred in that State. He
made a good member, and was highly complimented for his ability by
the press of the State. In 1859, he took control as editor and manager
of the Kentuck}' Messenger^ a newspaper published at Richmond, and

at the time the only newspaper published in the Sixth Congressional Dis-

trict of Kentucky. He conducted the paper for something more than a

year, with marked success, but could not be induced to continue for a

longer term in the arduous and responsible duties incident to such a posi-

tion. Soon after his removal to Missouri he settled at Knobnoster,

Johnson County, and i-xpended $15,000 in building a handsome residence,

store rooms, opera hall, etc., for the improvement and adornment of that

place. He soon became a large stockholder in the Sedalia Savings Bank,

and was elected and served as one of its directors. In 1869, he organ-

ized the Savings Bank of Knobnoster, with a paid up capital of $50,000;

which afterwards he converted into the First National Bank of Knobnos-

ter. He was President of these banks from their organization to the time of

his resignation and removal from the county in 1876, and each of them

proved under his management, not only a public benefit, but a financial

success. From the spring of 1876, to the fall of 1879, he was a resident

of Audrain County, and expended large sums of money there in building,

fencing, and otherwise improving his lands. His example was followed

by others and wonderfully increased the value of real estate in that

county. Removing to Pettis County in September, 1879, he settled upon
one of his farms in the vicinit}- of Sedalia; bought stock in the Pettis

County Bank, was elected its President July 1, 1880, and continues in

the office to the present time. His bank experience, commencing- in early

manhood, as director and attorne}^ of the Northern Bank of Kentucky,
has always been pleasant and remunerative to him, and to those associated

with him. When he came to Missouri to make it the permanent home of

himself and children, he was the owner of about 12,000 acres of land,

located in the counties of Sullivan, Linn, Cass, Callaway, Boone, Audrain,

Johnson and Pettis; he has been selling and buying lands since that time,

and now owns large farms in Johnson, Audrain and Pettis counties; but

his talent and taste is rather in banking than in farming, or in attorney-

ship, and he will probably pursue the former to the end. Such an enter-
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prising man is Mr. Field, that being possessed of unusual tact and busi-

ness integrity, he has become an important factor in the growth and

development of this county and State.

HENRY Y. FIELD,

County Clerk of Pettis County. Was born June 21, 1S37, in Louisville,

Ky. Col. W. H. Field, his father, was a native of Virginia, and was killed

at his home during the war, in 1802. His mother, Mary, 7iee Young, was
a native of Kentucky, and died in Louisville, in 1880. Henry Y. Field, the

subject of this sketch, was reared and educated in Louisville; and in 1853

he came to Pettis County, and engaged in farming, which he has never

entirely given up. In the fall of 1878, Mr. Field was elected Clerk of

Pettis County on the Democratic ticket, and is now serving his county in

that capacity to the general satisfaction of his constituents. He still

resides on his farm on Heath's Creek, the garden spot of Pettis County.
His farm contains four hundred acres, well improved with excellent barn

and out buildings, which he still superintends in person. He was married

in 1858 to Miss Mary Baker, of Garrard County, K}-. The}' have six

children living, five daughters and one son, Lucretia, John R., Nellie,

Allie, Edmonia and Zanie. Mr. Field and his wife are members of the

Old School Presbyterian Church. As a public officer Mr. Field has

given perfect satisfaction, and being an old resident of Pettis County,
it is accorded that he is an excellent man in an excellent place.

DR. THOMAS FIELD.

Was born in Louisville, Kentucky, in 18-15. His father, Wm. H. Field,

was a native of Virginia, and was killed in Pettis County during the war.

His mother, Mary, ncc Young, was born in Kentucky, and died in Novem-
ber, 1880. Dr. Field graduated from the Kentucky School of Medicine,
at Louisville, in 1868, and at once came to Lafayette County, Mo., where
he began the practice of his profession, and also farming. In 1879, when
the C. & A. R. R. was built through there, he moved into Alma, and

erected the first house; rented his farm and engaged in the drug business,

in connection with his practice. Here he remained until June, 1881, when
he came to Sedalia, and engaged in the practice of medicine. Dr. Field

is the owner of a fine farm of three hundred acres in Pettis County, of

well improved land, where he is raising and feeding stock. He was

married in September, 1872, to Viola Catron, of Waverly, Mo., daughter
of Christopher Catron, one of the early settlers of Lafa3^ette County.

They are members of the O. S. Presbyterian Church, and have three

daughters, named respectively, Nannie, Edmonia and Ida L.
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ADAM FISHER.

Is the son of John Fisher, a native of Germany. The subject of this

sketch was born in Germany, Feb. 6, 1847. He received his education

in the schools of his native country. In the spring of 1867 Mr. Fisher

emigrated to the United States, settHng first in St. Louis, where he resided

only one year. Then in the spring of 1868 he moved to Sedalia, where he

has since resided. Mr. Fisher was married Sept. 28, 1871, to Miss Vic-

toria Landman, a native of Sedalia; from this union there are three

children, viz: Augusta S., Peter M. and Julia. Mr. Fisher is one of

those genial, whole-souled men of whom evervbody'speaks in the highest

praise. He has been engaged in business in this city since 1868, and im

business has been very successful.

ROBERT M. FRAKER.

City Recorder. Was born in Clay County, Mo., July 8, 1842. His

father, John M. Fraker, who was a native of Pennsylvania, died in Osage
County, Mo., in the 3'ear 1853. His mother, whose maiden name was

Nancy D. Kimzey, was born in Missouri, and died in 1851. Robert M,
received his early education at Herman, Mo., having removed there at

the age of four 3'ears. Here he received a fair education, after which he

engaged in farming and teaching school for several years. In March,

1862, he entered the Federal army as a private, in the Sixth Missouri

Cavalry, Co. E. He was afterward promoted to Orderly Sergeant, First

and Second Lieutenant and finally to Captaincy of his company. He served

as Captain until Sept., 1865, having taken part in the battles of Jackson,

Miss., Champion Hills, Big Black and Siege of Vicksburg, and was so

fortunate as to come out without a scratch and was never taken prisoner.

After the war he located in Stoddard County, Mo., and in 1866 he was
elected Circuit Clerk and Recorder of that county. Here he served four

years, after which he was elected Sherift'of the county, in which capacity
he served two years, gi^'ing satisfaction to all parties concerned. Dur-

ing Mr. Fraker's administration as County Clerk and Recorder he had,

during his leisure time, begun reading law^, and serving in a position which

afforded him golden opportunities for the same, he was admitted to the

bar. During his term of office, after serving the county two years as

Sheriff', he took up his profession and practiced for a period of about four

years. In 1876 he came to Sedalia and engaged in book-keeping. In

1880 he was elected Cit}^ Recorder and re-elected in 1881 and 1882, which

office he still holds. In July, 1881, Mr. Fraker, in connection with Mr.

W. H. Moore, instituted a Business College under the firm name of

Moore & Fraker. This institution bids fair to become one of the perma-
nent institutions of learning of the city and Central Missouri. Mr. Moore
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gives his personal attention to the college, and being a cultured gentleman,
a finished scholar, and being so ably assisted as he is b}^ Captain R. M.

Fraker, the success of their enterprise is a certainty. Captain Fraker

was married, in 1807, to Susan M. T^'son, of Warrensburg, Mo.,

daughter of Jacob S. Tyson, now of Sedalia. They have four children

Emory T., Letta J., Robert A. and Lee Edmonds. He is a member of

the Masonic, A. O. U. W. and I. O. G. T. fraternities, and highl}- re-

spected as citizen and officer.

FRANK FREDRICK.

Of the firm of Kruse & Fredrick, butchers. Mr. Fredrick was born,
in 1852, in Frankfort County, Pa. His father, Joseph, was a native of

German\% Mr. Fredrick was reared in Pennsvlvania. In 1870 he came
to Sedalia and engaged in the butchering business. In October, 1877, he

formed a partnership with Mr. C. Kruse, with whom he has ever since

been associated. In 1881 they built the elegant two-story brick, on the

corner of Seventh and Ohio streets, where they have their market, a

view of which appears in this volume. Mr. Fredrick was married

in August, 1880, to Miss Rose Christine, of Sedalia. Messrs. Kruse
& Fredrick, have a large butchering house with a capacity of fifty

head per day. Over their store they have one of the finest halls in the

State.

REV. J. B. FULLER.
Rev. J. B. Fuller, the only son of WiUiam and Elizabeth Fuller, was

born April 15,18-13, on the bleak shore of the German Ocean, in the town
of Arbroath, Forfarshire, Scotland. While he was yet a mere infant, his

parents removed to the north of England. Surrounded by the beautiful

scenery and romantic traditions of the County Palatine of Durham, Mr.
Fuller passed those early 3-ears which have so much to do in giving tone

and color to after life. Quiet, sensitive and studious, his associations were

chiefly with books and nature. The remo\al of the family to the United

States breaking up his few cherished friendships, tended to deepen at once

his passion for study and a painful shirking from society, which all his

subsequent experience of public life has not fully conquered. In finishing
his collegiate studies his health was so seriously impaired that change of

air and surroundings was advised. Mo\'ing once more westward, the

family settled in Missouri. Though naturally of a devout disposition, Mr.

Fuller had paid little attention to any of the religious societies, least of all

the Baptists, but in 1858, during a meeting conducted by Rev. Smith

Thomas, of Kentucky, he was converted, and became, from thorough

conviction, a member of the Baptist Church in Lagrange. The ciiurch

29
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immediately insisted on his undertaking the work of the ministry. And
after due and prayerful preparation, he was ordained, Nov. 25, 1860, and

by the unanimous vote of the members, became pastor of the Lagrange
Church. Since then he has officiated successfully as pastor of the Bap-
tist Churches in Louisiana and Kansas City, Mo., and Burlington, Iowa,
and since March, JS80, in this city. Though retiring and reserved

in manner, he thoroughly enjoys society. Conservative in theological

opinion, holding firmly to the scriptural basis of belief, he at the same

time gives candid consideration to the shifting phases of progressive the-

ology, and takes a deep interest in all investigations and developments of

natural science, feeling assured that all scientific truth, when fully manifest,

will be found in perfect accord with revelation. The history and the lit-

erature of the nations delight him most—and the study of these has given
a certain breadth to his religious view as well as humanitarian grace and

sympathy to his presentation of theological dogmas. In Burlington, his

former field, he was warmly appreciated as a minister by the cultured of

all denominations, and their esteem for his literary character was shown

by his continuous appointment during the whole term of his residence,

twelve years, as Secretary and Superintendent of the Public Library.

GEORGE W. GALBREATH.
Is the son of W. T. Galbreath, of Ripley, Ohio, who is one of the leading

business men of that city, he being largely identified as a capitalist and

property owner. He is also President of the First National Bank of Rip-

ley, and a heavy stockholder in that institution. George, as he is famil-

iarly called, is perhaps the youngest business man in this city. He was

born in Riplev, O., July 31, 1860, and is the fourth child in a family of six

children. He received his primary education in the public schools of his

native cit}', completing his literar}- education at Cincinnati. Then, in May,
1879, Mr. Galbreath emigrated to Missouri, settling in Sedalia, where he

has since resided. He first went into the boot and shoe business with R. L.

Lampton, which partnership continued urftil April, 1882, when Mr. Gal-

breath bought out the interest, and has since continued the business in his

own name. Mr. G. is a single man, and has before him a brilliant future

as a business man. No stranger ever came to the Queen City and estab-

lished himself in business and won more personal friends than the subject

of this sketch.

JOHN B. GALLIE.

Lumber merchant. Mr. Gallic was born Feb. 10, 1838, in Scotland.

His father, Roderick Gallie, came to America, locating in Cleveland, O.,

in 1851. His mother, Betsy, nee Robic, is still living in Ohio. John B.

remained in Ohio until 1864, when he came to Sedalia, where he assisted
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his brother, Rod. Gallic, in his store until the sprincr of 1866, when hj was

elected Marshal and Collector, servincr two terms. In 1873 he served as

Citv Marshal a^ain, for two terms, also as Assessor. He afterwards

took charo^e of the Fire Department, remaining in that six years. In 1877,

he boujjht the lumber yard of Mr. Bloess, and has been constantly in the

lumber business since. Mr. Gallic is a Mason; has been Master of the

Blue Lodge, and High Priest of the Chapter. He was married, Feb. 22,

1862, to Miss Julia E. Schotlter, a daughter of Charles Schotlter, who
started with Napoleon Bonaparte, a drummer-boy, and came back

from Waterloo a Colonel, and still preserves his sword and uniform. Mr.

and ]Mrs. Gallie have one child, Lena C, now at Wesleyan College, Cin-

cinnati, O. Mr. Gallie's lumber yard is convenient to the railroad, just

north of the depot.

ROD GALLIE.

Grocer and provision dealer. Mr. Gallie was born in Scotland, in 1831,

His father, Roderick GaUie, emigrated to Northfield, Ohio, in 1851. Rod
Gallie came to Sedalia in 1859, where he has ever since resided. During
his first years here he was engaged in freighting to the west. During
the war he engaged in butchering very extensively, and afterwards went

into the provision business, which he has ever since continued. He is the

owner of several pieces of valuable property in the city. Mr. Gallie is a

Knight Templar. He has served as a member of the City Council

several years. Was married in 1876 to Ellen Stirlin, They have two

children: Rod and Ethel.

CHARLES H. GAUSS.

Lumber merchant, Sedalia. Was born in St. Charles, Mo., in August,
1845. Eugene Gauss, his father, was a native of Hanover, Germany,
who came to America in 1832, and is now a resident of St. Charles, Mo.

His mother was a native ot \"irginia, and is still living in St. Charles.

Charles H. was reared in his native town and finished his education at

Yale College, in 1866, in the Sheffield Scientific School. After he finished

his education he spent some time engineering on what is known as the St

Louis, Wabash and Pacific R. R., and afterward he was with his father

in the lumber business in St. Charles about five 3'ears. In 1872, he came

to Sedalia, and here turned his attention to that branch of trade and now
commands one of -the largest lumber trades in Sedalia.

RICHx\RD T. GENTRY.

Was born September 11, 1851, in Pettis County, Mo. He is a son of

Major Wm. Gentry, whose biography appears on another page of this

work. Mr. Gentry's boyhood was spent on the farm where his father
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Still lives, about two miles northwest of Sedalia. He received his educa-

tion at Washing-ton University, St. Louis, from which place he graduated
in 1871. Upon returning to Sedalia from college, Mr. Gentrv was ten-

dered a position as book-keeper in the Central Missouri Banking and Sav-

ings Association, now the Stdalia Savings Bank. Filling this position in a

manner becoming a fine accountant and good business man, the Board of

Directors of the Bank afterward offered him the position of teller as a

reward for his faithful services. Mr. Gentry was all the time, by close

attention to business, and on account of his polite manner as an officer of

the bank, winning a host of friends. He soon after was made assistant

cashier of the same bank, which position he now holds. Although a

young man, he is widely known, and very popular. In 1878, at the ear-

nest solicitation of the influential Democrats of Pettis County, he permit-
ted his name to be presented to the Democratic County Convention as a

candidate for Treasurer of Pettis County. He received the nomination,

and the same fall Mr. Gentry was elected by a large majority. In 1880

he was a candidate for the same office, was nominated without opposition

by the Democratic Convention, and elected by a very handsome majority.
He is still filling out his second term. Mr. G. is also engaged in the

insurance business with Mr. G. D. Carpenter, the latter gentleman attend-

ing to the routine of the business. Mr. Gentry is a member of the Masonic

Fraternity. He was married under very happy auspices in 1878 to

Miss Mattie C. Prewitt, a daughter of Mr. and Mrs. W. C. Prewitt, of

Clarksville, Mo. The young couple commenced house -keeping in Sedalia,

shortly after their marriage, but their happiness was to last for only a

short time. Mrs, Gentry was stricken by the hand of the fell destroyer.
She lingered for some time. She traveled through Texas and Colorado,

seeking to regain her lost health. In this she was unsuccessful, and in

the fall of 1881, she returned to the home of her father in Clarksville.

She died on the 22d day of September, 1881. She was a most beauti-

ful and accomplished lad}^ and was admired and esteemed by a large cir-

cle of friends. She was a graduate of Christian College, at Columbia,

Mo., and was a devout member of the Christian Church.

SAMUEL C. GOLD.

Lumber merchant. Was born in Tarlton, Pickaway County, O., in

1840. His father, Wm. Gold, was a native of New Orleans, but was

reared in Ohio, and is now living in Sedalia. His mother, Hannah

Smith, was a native of Pennsylvania, who was reared in Ohio, and died

in 1855. Samuel C. entered the Federal Army, Co. C, 13th Ohio Regi-
ment Infantry V^olunteers, in 1861, where he remained until the battle of

Stone River, at which time he was wounded in the left hip, and was dis-

abled to that extent that he was placed in the detached service until 1868,
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when he was discharf^ed. He was serving as a Lieutenant at the time

he was wounded, and was promoted on the day following to a captaincy.
When his regiment was mustered out, he was appointed in the regular

army, with a commission signed by Abraham Lincoln, one of the last

documents to which his signature was affixed before his death. This

commission was a reward for special service and bravery. In 1868 he

returned home, and in a short time thereafter came to Sedalia, where he

engaged in the lumber business, in connection with Col. Ritter. In 1871

he bought out his partner and continued the business alone for one year.

About this time he bought the lots on the corner of Third and Lamine

streets, where he opened the lumber yard, which he now runs, Mr. Gold

keeps a large assortment of all kinds of building material, such as doors,

windows, sash, blinds, etc., etc. He was married in 1867 to Miss Emma
E. Lowell, daughter of Dr. Lowell, of Albany, Ohio. They have five

children living, Olive T., Laura L., Florence H., Mabel C, and Fred. S.

Mr. Gold is very fond of the chase, spending some of his spare time with

his dog- and ""un.&

EMMETT A. GOULD.

One ot the most popular young men in the Missouri Pacific offices of

this citv is the subject of this sketch. He is the son of Sylvester Gould,
of Osgood, Ind., and was born in Ohio County, Ind., Nov. 23, 1852, and

is the oldest child in a family of seven children. He received his education

from the schools of his native State, and after completing his education,

Mr. Gould learned telegraphing, and in the spring of 1870, he received an

appointment in East St. Louis; here he remained until June, 1871, when he

accepted a position in the telegraph offices at Vincennes, Ind.; remaining at

Vincennes until the fall of 1871, when he was transferred back to St. Louis,

where he remained until March, 1872, and returned to Vincennes, remaining
until March, 1873, when he received the appointment of ticket agent
at East St. Louis. He resigned that position in June, 1873, and accepted a

position with the Western Union Compan}' in St. Louis. Here he remained

until the 1st of August, 1873, when he resigned that position to accept a

position as telegraph operator in the superintendent's office of the Missouri

Pacific R. R. Company at Sedalia. He held that position until April,

1876, when he was promoted to train dispatcher, and from that was pro-

moted, in February, 1879, to chief train dispatcher, which position he

still holds. He was married June 11, 1881, to Miss Josephine A. Carver,

of Crawfordsville, Ind., a most estimable lady. Mr. Gould is not only a

whole-souled courteous gentleman, but understands thoroughl}^ the position

he so acceptably fills, and is justly popular among his friends and the rail-

road men.
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DENNIS GOLDEN.

Alderman Second Ward. Mr. Golden was born in 1833, in County-

Kerry, Ireland. His father, Patrick Golden, still lives in the old country,

aged eighty-seven years. His mother, Julia, nee Murphy, is still living,

aged seventy-five years. Dennis, the subject of this sketch, came to

America in 1860, locatinij in Warren Countv, O. In 1865 he came to'Try ^ '

Sedalia, where he worked at the mason's trade. He took an active part

in the early building of Sedalia. Since 1870, he has been in the saloon

business. In the fall of 1881, he was elected Alderman from the Second

Ward. He was married in 1860 to Mary Sullivan, of Sedalia. They
have five children living, Josie, Julia A., Dennis, Nora, Charles. One

deceased.

ALFRED L. GOODWIN.

Livery stable. Mr. Goodwin was born in Clermont, County, Ohio,

in 1844. His father, Samuel O., was a native of Maine. His mother,

Margaret W., ncc Day, was a native of Ohio. In 1867 Mr Goodwin came

to Sedalia with his father's family. In 1871 he engaged in the restaurant

business, which he continued until 1875. In the spring of "1878, he

engaged in livery business. In 1880 he built the Eclipse stables, now
owned by R. O. Harris. During the same year he sold out and built the

barn on East Main street where he is now in business. He is also exten-

sively engaged in dealing in stock. Mr. Goodwin was married Dec. 20,

1871, to Susan L. McVey, a daughter of Absalom McVey. They have

four children: Blanche L., Samuel M., Albert, Willie C.

J. WEST GOODWIN.

J. West Goodwin was born in the town of Brownville, Jefferson Count}',

New York, Oct. 3, 1836. He was named by his parents who were very
ardent Methodists, John Wesley, but during his boyhood days he was

always known as West Goodwin, hence when he reached manhood he

wrote his name as above. The advantages for education of the subject

of this sketch were very limited, and when less than fourteen years of age,

April 21, 1850, he entered the printing office of the Democratic Union, pub-
lished by Jno. A. Haddock, at Watertown, New York, and commenced to

learn the printing business. Four months later Mr. Haddock sold his

printing establishment, and young Goodwin returned to the farm where

he was raised. In the autumn of 1850, Aaron Goodwdn, his father,

removed to Canton, St. Lawrence County, New York, where he engaged
in the dairy business. In June, 1851, his son,. John Wesley, was stricken

with rheumatism, which made him an invalid for a number of years. In

November, 1854, he again entered a printing office; this time at the vil-

lage of Governeur, St. Lawrence County, N. Y. A few months later the
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establishment was moved to Potsdam, in the same county, when it was
consolidated with a paper called the Courier^ and published by Capt.

Harry C. Fay. Young Goodwin here completed his trade and became a

journeyman printer. In 1857 the subject of this sketch left for the West and

stopped at Lafayette, Indiana, where he worked on the yournal, first as

pressman and subsequently as a compositor. His health failed him.

He ceased work at the case and engaged in carrying papers, soliciting,

etc.—something that would give him more out-door work than directly at

his trade. In 1858, during the exciting Douglass campaign, Goodwin went to

Frankfort, Clinton County, Ind., and conducted a paper in the interest of

the Douglass Democracy. After the election he returned to Lafayette
and resumed work on the yournal and subsequently on the Argiis^ a

weekly paper of which R. Spicer was editor. In 1859 he went to Mem-

phis, Tennessee, and held cases on the Enquirer, a daily paper, and since

dead. He remained there only a short time and returned to the North,

going to Liberty, Indiana, in the spring of 1860, where he assisted J. D.

Mondy to establish a Democratic paper. Three months later he bought
out Mr. Mondy and became sole editor and proprietor of the paper, which

he conduct'ed through that campaign in the interest of the Democracy
and Stephen A. Douglass, who was defeated by A. Lincoln. In 1861,

when the war against the North by the South broke upon the people,
Goodwin closed his office and enlisted in the loth Indiana Regiment.
He was refused, owing to health and physical inability. Subsequently he

enlisted in the 16th Ind. Regiment and was refused for the same reason as

before by the examining surgeon. He then went to Western Virginia
and joined McClellan's army in the quartermaster's department and

served in different capacities until 1864, when he enlisted in the 62d

Ohio Regiment, having then regained in full his health. He served in

the Army of the Potomac until the surrender of Lee, part of the time do-

ing duty with his company and subsequently on detached service in North

and South Carolina. The war being over he was mustered out of ser-

vice at Richmond, Va., on Nov. 1, 1865, and returned to Indiana. He
was married Dec. 20, 1865, to Miss Martha Torrence Hunt, near Rising

Sun, Indiana. In 1866 he went to Spnngfield, Mo., and started the

Press, issuing the first number on June 1 of that year. The Press was
the first Democratic paper printed south of the Osage River after the

war. He published it a few months and disposed of it to Messrs. Wad-
dell & Kneeland. In November, 1867, he called Sedalia his home and de-

termined to establish a printing office there. In May, 1868, he com-

menced with one small press and a few type to work on Main Street in

Sedalia, cilHng his office the Artemus Ward Job Printing House. On

June 1, 1869, he issued the first number of an independent Democratic

weekly paper named Bazoo. On Sept. 20, the same year, he issued a
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small daily Bazoo, which has rapidly grown since. The Sunday Morning
Bazoo was first issued Mar. 23, ]873.

JOEL A. GOSSAGE.

One of the old, efficient police officers of the city of Sedalia is the sub-

ject of this sketch, Joel A. Gossage. He is the son of Joseph Gossage, a

native of Tennessee, but who moved to Missouri in the fall of 1869, and

settled in the city of Sedalia. The subject of this sketch was born in

Campbell Count\% Tenn., Feb. 16, 1851. He received his education in his

native State. He came to Missouri with his father's family in 1869, and

was first engaged in the transfer business, which business he followed

until the spring of 1878, when he received the appointment of city police,

under Mayor George Faulhaber, serving two years under him, and on

the election of Dr. Evans, he was reappointed to the same position, and

on the election of ex-Mayor Frank Craycroft, was reappointed, and served

until the coming in of the present administration, when he was for the

fifth time reappointed. Mr. Gossage was married Sept. 8, 18T2, to Miss

Mary J. Tuttle, a native of Tennessee. From this union there are four

children, viz.: James, Joseph, Thomas and Mary J. It can be truthfully

said of Mr. Gossage that he has been one of the most faithful and efficient

officers this cit}^ has ever had.

DR. JOSEPH P. GRAY.

Dental surofeon. Dr. Gray was born in Pettis County, Mo., in 1855.

His father, Sidney C Gray, was also a native of Howard County,

Mo., where his father settled, and established the first ferry. Dr.

Gray took up the study of dentistry in 1872, in Nevada, Mo., under Dr.

L. O. Ellis, and afterwards took a course in the Missouri Dental College
at St. Louis He began practice at Clinton, Mo., where he remained until

1880, when he came to Sedalia, where he has ever since enjoyed a large

and lucrative practice. Dr. Gray is a member of the Masonic fraternity.

He and his wife are members of the Cumberland Presbyterian Church.

He was married in 1880 to Miss Cora Gath. They have one child.

CHARLES O. GREEN.

Of the firm of Norton & Green, grocers and provision dealers. Mr.

Green w^as born in 1851, in Marietta County, O. His father, Charles W.,
was a native of the same place. His mother, Susan, nee Park, was a

native of New York. Charles O. lived in Ohio until 1871, when he

came to Sedalia. In 1873, he began clerking for the Sedalia Co-operative

Store, where he continued until 1878, when he and his partner, Mr. Nor-

ton, bought the store, and since that time has been constantly in 'business

at the old stand. He was married, Dec. 21, 1881, to Emma E. Bray,
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daughter of Judcre Wm. Bra^-, of this cit^^ He and his wife are mem-
bers of the M. E. Church.

WILLIAM HAIN.

Grocer, of the firm of E. L. Phipps & Co. Mr. Hain was born in

Cooper County, Mo., in 1S44. His father, George Hain, was a native of

Switzerland, who settled in Cooper County in 1832, and died in 1S77.

William Hain was raised and educated in Cooper County. In 1S61 he

enlisted in Compan}' A, Fifth Missouri State Malitia, and served until the

close of the war. He took part in the battles of Boonville, Springfield
and Pea Ridge, where he was slightly wounded. In 1865, he went to

Colorado, where he was Chief Clerk in the Quartermaster's Department
for one year, after which he spent one year in Montana. Later, he settled

in Nebraska, and sold goods until the fall of 1876, when he returned to

Boonville and sold goods until the fall of 1881, when he came to Sedalia,

and bought an interest in the house where he is now in business. He is a

member of the Masonic fraternit}-, also of the A. O. U. W. He was

married in 1871, to Sophia R. Vallrath, ot Boonville, a daughter of

George \^allrath, one of the earlv settlers of that place. They have two

children, William F. and Rose E.

'

JOSEPH W. HAINES.

He is a native of New Hampshire, born in Rockingham County, N.

H., Dec. 10, 1825, son of Daniel Haines. He received his education in

the schools of his native State, beginning his apprenticeship in the machine

shops at the age of seventeen, working in the Amoskeg locomotive

works, in New Hampshire. After completing his apprenticeship, he

worked in the shops at Lowell and Boston. In the fall of 1855, Mr.

Haines moved to Chicago, and accepted a position in the Chicago and

Alton shops, as a mechanic, where he remained three years. He then

accepted a position in the Chicago and Northwestern Railroad shops,

where he worked as mechanic and as foreman for sixteen years. In

September, 1875, he removed to Sedalia, and accepted a position as fore-

man in the shops of the M., K. & T. R. R., which position he held till the

M. P. R. R. Co. leased the M., K. & T. R. R., then he was promoted to

master mechanic, which position he still holds. Mr. Haines was married

Nov. 5, 1853, to Miss Phoebe A. Rowell, of New Hampshire, and from

this union they have five cliildren, all of whom are now living, Emma,
Ralph W., Nellie J., Hettie H. and Josie D. Mr. Haines is a workman of

acknowledged abilit\', faithful to his trusts, and popular with those whom
he superintends.
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DR. ROSCOE L. HALE.

Was born in 1830, in Brandon, Vermont. Dr. Luke Hale, his father,

was one of the first settlers and physicians in Northern Illinois, who prac-

ticed medicine about fifty-five years, and died in 1864, in Morris, 111. His

mother, Sarah A., nee Clitibrd, was born in Vermont, and died in Illinois,

in 1873. Dr. R. L. Hale was principally reared in Illinois, and was

educated at the schools of Morris, 111., and Oberlin, Ohio. He afterward

took up the study of medicine, graduating from Rush Medical College, at

Chicago, in 1853. He began the practice of medicine in Morris, 111., and

continued until 1872, doing most of the surgery there. In 1872 he

came to Sedalia, and bought an interest in the drug store of J. H. IMertz,

where he has since been in business, having retired from active practice.

He is also interested to a considerable extent in real estate, in and around

Sedalia, having recently bought forty-four acres in East SedaHa, which

will be known as Hale & Tegler's Addition. Dr. Hale was married in

May, 1856, to Sarah C. Cliflbrd, of Chicago, a daughter of Samuel Clif-

ford, of that city. They have two children, Anna Cora, wife of Frank

Trumbull, of St. Louis, and Florence M., at home. Dr. Hale manu-

factures all kinds of perfumeries, which are regarded as the very best in

the west, and are in great demand.

JOHN L. HALL.

Of the firm of Hall & Beiler, wholesale grocers. Among the prominent
wholesale grocers of Sedalia, stands Jno. L. Hall. He was born in Knox-

ville, Tenn., in 1827. His paternal ancestors were natives of the same

State; his father, Hugh Hall, was born in Knoxville, now deceased, and

his mother's maiden name was Looney. She was born in 1807. Jno. L.,

the subject of this sketch, came to St. Clair County, Mo., with his father's

family, in 1810, where he spent his boyhood, and after attaining manhood

he engaged in the mercantile business in various places. In 1863 he

came to Sedalia, having been interested in a business house here for two

years previous to that time. After hw came to this cit}' he engaged in

general merchandizing, and for several years continued in this line with

the house of Cloney, Crawford & Co. In 1868 he went into the grocery

business with Mr. Beiler, his present partner, and has continued in that

line ever since. Alter a few years they turned their exclusive attention

to the jobbing trade, and b}' perseverance have built up a trade which

will compare with houses in much more pretentious cities. Mr. Hall was

married in 1-851 to Miss Kittie Wells, of Polk County, Mo., a native of

Kentucky. They have five children Hving, Etta, now the wife of J.J.

Fry, superintendent of Iron Mountain Railroad; Christopher C, of Kroft,

Holmes & Co., wholesale grocers, St. Louis; Belle, McCord and Ella.
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Mr. Hall's wife died, Dec. 27, 1871, and in October, 1873, he married

Julia C. Chappelier, of Platte County, Mo. They have one child, Jno. C.

ROBERT O. HARRIS.

Livery and sales stables. Mr. Harris was born in 181:3, in Mississippi.

His father was Overton Harris. His mother was a Miss Cole. Robert

O. was reared in his native State, where he resided until comin^y west in

1878'. In his early life he was engaged in merchandising. In 1878 he

went to Atchison, Kan., where he dealt in real estate until 1881, when he

came to Sedalia and bought the livery and feed stable which he now owns.

He has a large and complete stock of horses and carriages, which are

among the finest in Central Missouri. He was married, Aug. 12, 1868, to

Miss Mary B. Crawford. They have two children, Ida R. and

Overton C.

OVERTON M. HARRIS.

Retired farmer. Mr. Harris was born in Boone County, Mo., in 1829.

His father, Overton Harris, was a native of Kentucky, who located in

Boone County, Mo., in 1817, and was the first Sherifl'of that county, and

then Judge of the County Court until his death in 1844. His mother,

Mary, nee Woods, was also a native of Kentucky. O. M., the subject of

this sketch, has been a farmer all his life, although he has, at times, been

in the mercantile busines'. also. He deals extensively in stock, which he

feeds on his farm, west of Sedalia. This is one of the very finest farms

in Central Missouri, containing over 800 acres in high state of cultivation.

During the late w^ar he was a Government contractor, and furnished large
numbers of mules to the Government. He was married-, in 1803, to Manda

Wood, a daughter of Clifton Wood, one of the early settlers of the county.

They have nine children, all living.

MORRIS HARTER.
A miller. Mr. Harter was born, in 1842, in Darke County, O. His

father, John M. Harter, was a native of Ohio, as was also his mother,

Sarah, nee Eakins. Morris, the subject of this sketch, went to Indiana at

the age of fourteen years, where he lived on a farm until 1861, when he

enlisted in the Federal Army, in Compan}- H., Third Indiana Cavalry, and

served three years, taking part in many of the prominent battles of the

war, being once severely wounded in the thigh, from which he has ever

since suffered. After the war he went to Clay County, 111., where he was
in the saw mill business until 1867, when he came to Benton County, Mo.,
and was again in the lumber business. In 1868 he built a flouring mill in

Henry County, where he remained until 1876, \\-hen he came to Sedalia

and bought an interest in the " Farmers' Mills," of this city, where we
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now find him. Mr. Harter has served on the City Board of Aldermen.

He was married, in 1872, to Miss Emma Bass. They have two children,

Mariam and Arthur C.

ALFORD W. HAWKS.
Grain and feed dealer, No. 12 Third street, Sedalia, Mo. Mr. Hawks

was born in 1840, in North Bennington, Vt. His father, William E., was
one of the oldest merchants and most exemplary men in all that country,
where he still resides. Mr. Hawks is a grandson of Major Hawks, of

Revolutionary War fame. His mother, Eliza H., nee Colvin, is still liv-

ing. A. W. Hawks, the subject of this sketch, was educated at Burr

Seminar}^ Manchester, Vt. In 1862, he went to Adrian, Mich., where

ihe was in the hardware business about two years. In 1870, he located in

Sedalia, and was in the employ of the M., K. «fe T. R. R., about four

years. Mr. Hawks was one of the first agents on the road, selling the

first tickets from Parsons, Kan., to New York and Boston; was on the

first stock train out of the Indian Nation, and opened the first car account-

ants' books. In 187-4, he returned to his old home, and was in business

there until 1878, when he returned to Sedalia and engaged in the grain
and feed business, which he still continues. He is a member of the I. O.

O. F. He and his wife are members of the First Baptist Church, of this

city. His wife was Mary A, Huntington, of Troy, N. Y. They have

(One child, Susie E. Mr. Hawks is a genial, social gentleman, a promi-
nent member of the church, and a valuable factor in societ}-.

GEORGE HEARD.
This respected and esteemed pioneer citizen of Pettis County, now of

.Sedalia, was born near Lancaster, Garrard County, Ky., June 22, 1800.

His father, John Heard, died when George was quite a small boy, leaving
a wife and seven children to cope with the stern realities of the world.

Mrs. John Heard, nee Miss Jane Stevenson, was of the noted pioneer fam-

ilies of Kentucky. She had previously been married to Mr. Wolfskill,

and left a widow with one child, Wm. J. Wolfskill, who resided in Saline

County till his death. George Heard came to Missouri in 1817, with his

mother, and settled first in Saline County, and after two years removed

to a place near Fayette, Floward Count}', where he grew to manhood,
and was licensed to practice law, after which he went to Paris, Monroe

County, where, through the influence of Gov. Revnolds, he was induced

to go south of the Missouri River, settling at Pin Hook, .in the summer
and following autumn of 1835; built the first house in Georgetown, Pettis

County, where iie was lon<»- identified with the interests of her citizens,

who had great confidence in him as a crentleman and a Christian. Here
he taught the first school of the count}-, and manv of the citizens yet live
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to point with pride to the pioneer teacher of Pettis County. His first

partner in law was Hon. John F. Philips, who has since been a member
of Congress. In 1S57, Mr. Heard retired to his farm, one mile north of

Sedalia, riding to his law office, a distance of about five miles, till in lS«i5,

when the county seat was moved from Georgetown to Sedalia, where he

located. Here he took Judge Foster P. Wright in his office as law part-
ner. When he retired from the practice, his sons, John T. and George C,
took charge of the office, and are two prospering attorneys. Mr. George
Heard was married to his first wife, whose maiden name was Amanda

Gray, in September, 1830. She w^as the daughter of Mr. John Gray.
From this union seven children, two girls and five boys, grew to maturity.

Sarah E. J. married John W. Houx; Louvenia B. married E. J. Dillon.

The boys are, Jesse F., Alcibiades, John T., Newton S., and George C,

John T. w^as elected to represent the county in the 27th Missouri Assem-

bly, and is now State Senator from his district, and stands high as a gen-
tleman of honor and integrity among his constituents. Mr. Heard, the

subject, lost his wife February, 1872, after w^hich he married Miss Mollie

Gilpin, in 1874. an intelligent and respectable lady of Maysville, K}-., \vho

has served in the honorable capacit}^ of teacher for nearly twelve years.
Mr. Heard was at one time public administrator of his county; besides

this he has filled no office of note, and has had no desire tor office, believ-

ing that his chosen profession, the law, well followed, was worthy of his

entire time and attention. Mr. George Heard and his estimable lady live

near Sedalia. Having a complete and elegant library, they read

and keep up with the times, enjoying life in its most happy conjugal
and intellectual requirements. They are both members of the Christian

Church and are among its liberal contributors.

GEORGE C. HEARD.

Attorney at law. Was born, Nov. 23, 1848, in Pettis County, Mo., and

is the son of George Heard, one of the early settlers of this county, whose

biography precedes this. George C, the subject of this sketch, was
educated at Westminister College, at Fulton, Mo., and at Ann Arbor,

Michigan. He attended law school at Lebanon, Tenn. In 1873, he was
admitted to the bar, and has ever since been engaged in the practice of

his profession. He has served as City Attorney of Sedalia. In 1880 he

was elected Prosecuting Attorney, for Pettis County, which office he now
holds. He was married in 1874 to Miss Anna Leet, daughter of Judge
Leet, now of Denver, Colorado. They have two children, Florence M.
and Anna C. Mr. and Mrs, Heard are members of the Old School Pres-

byterian Church. Mr. Heard, although a young man, is regarded as

being one of the foremost men in his profession in the city. He is an easy
and fluent speaker, and his words are always to the point. He is a close
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Student, and his papers show not only tine legal training," but hav^e the

scholarly and classic finish that results only from a wide range of reading,
and an intimate acquaintance with the masters of English composition.
But aside from his acquired accomplishments, he is a man of force and

originality of character, and yv'ith a presence and manner of mingled
suayity that bespeak always and under all circumstances the natural and

accomplished gentleman.

DR. ASA. H. HEATON.
Was born in Indianapolis, Indiana. His parental ancestors were also

natiyes of that State, and are now Hying in Sedalia. Dr. Heaton was

42ducated in Indianapolis, and in 1876 he began the study of medicine,

taking a course of lectures at Chicago, Cincinnati and Indianapolis,

graduating from the latter in 1881. In the latter part of the same year he

came to Sedalia, where he has begun his practice. Dr. Heaton is a close

student and a young man of abilit\-, and we bespeak for him a fair share

of the patronage of the public in general.

C. H. HEYNEN.

Of Clay & Heynen, Sedalia Marble Works. Was born in Allegheny

Count}^, Pa., in 1853. His father, John Heynen, was a natiye of Prussia,

-who came to America in 1843, and died in Johnson County, INIo., in 1880.

His mother, whose maiden name vyas Jane Daily, was born in Dublin

Ireland, and is still a resident of Johnson County. C. H., the subject of

this sketch, was principally reared in Brooklyn, N. Y., and in 1870 came

west, locating in Kansas City, Mo., where he was employed in a marble

establishment of that city, and where he learned the trade. He remained

in Kansas City about three years, and afterward trayeled over the greater

part of the State looking for a location, and finally settled in Sedalia, in

1876 in the emplo}' of C. C. Clay, at that time sole proprietor of the

Sedalia Marble Works. Mr. Heynen remained in this oosition until 1881,

.at which time he took a partnership interest in the business. This house

is the most extensive marble house in Central Missouri, and having a large

supply of American and foreign marble and granite, they are

prepared to do work that will compare favorably with any establishment

in Missouri. Mr. Heynen was married in 1878 to Miss Lola Cahill,

daughter of W. T. Cahill, of SedaHa. They have one child named Elbe,
and one deceased. He is a member of the A. O. U. W.

GILBERT HICKEY.

Grocer. Mr. Hickey was born in 1846, in western Canada. His father,

Edward, was a native of Ireland. His mother, Maria, «^6 Sharp, a native

of Canada. Gilbert, the subject of this sketch, went to California in 1870,
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where he engaj^ed in the carriage business until 1873, wlien he went to

Utah and remained one year; thence to Iowa, and back to Colorado. In

1878 he came to SedaHa and worked at his trade until 1882, when he

bought an interest in the grocer}^ store on East Fifth street, where he is

now in business. He is a member of the K. of P., No. 52. He was mar-

ried in 1880 to Minnie Myers, of Pettis County. They have one child,

Alnilda. Mr. Hickey now has charge of the circulation of the Daily

Bazoo, and is rapidly increasing its circulation.

SAMUEL L. HIGHLEYMAN.
The subject of this sketch was born in Belmont County, Ohio, June

20th, 1S41:. His father, James W. Highleyman, was bora near Harper's

Ferry. His mother's maiden name was Penelope Riley, a native of Ohio.

His father emigrrated to Ohio when about six vears old, and settled in Bel-

mont County, where Samuel L. received his primary education. He com-

pleted his education at the Allegheny College, in Meadville, Pa. In the

fall of 1865 he came to Sedalia, and accepted a deputy clerkship in the

County Clerk's otfice, where he remained until 1S7(»; then received the

appointment of Revenue Collector. In 1873 he accepted the position of

Tax Commissioner and Claim Agent of the M., K. & T. Railway, which

he retained until the consolidation of the Mo. Pacific and M., K. & T. Rail-

ways in 1880. He was then appointed Tax Commissioner of the consoli-

dated companies, which position he now occupies. On the 10th day of

November, 1868, Mr. Highleyman was married
to^

Miss Laura A. Hull,

daughter of Dr. A. Y. Hull, formerly editor of the Sedalia Democrat, Sup-
erintendent of Public Instruction of Pueblo, Col. By this union they have

two children, Lock T. and Wilbur D. Mr. Highleyman is a gentleman
of fine native ability, genial and kind in his intercourse with all. His do-

mestic relations are of the most happ}'- character; his wife is a lady of

refinement, adorning the home with a true womanhood, and presiding over

the household with that quiet dignity of manner which gives an indefin-

able charm to the home circle.

RICHARD R. HIGHLEYMAN.
Chief Clerk Sedalia Post Ofiice. Mr. Highleyman was born in Belmont

County, O. His father, James W., was a native of Virginia. His mother

Penelope, iice Riley, was a native of Ohio. Richard R. was educated

at Allegheny College, Pennsvlvania. In 1861 he was licensed to preach

the Gospel in the M. E. Church. Admitted to the West Virginia Con-

ference in 1867. In 1872 and until 1876 preached in the bounds of the

Pittsburg Conference. In 1877 came to SedaHa, and was engaged in the

M., K. & T. R. R. shops until the spring of 1882, when he was appointed

Chief Clerk of the SedaHa Post Office, which position he now fills. He is
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a member of Sedalia Lodge, A. F. & A. M. He was married in 1861 to

Margaret Brady. They have five children, Mary E., James W., Maggie
M., Richard R., Jr., Day D., and two deceased.

HENRY D. HILL.

Was born in 182+, in Fairfax County, Va. His father, Lawrence Hill,

and his mother, Jane, iiee Perry, were both natives of Virginia. Henry D.

first engaged in business in company with his father in the flouring busi-

ness. Afterwards was in business in Trov and Albany, N. Y. In 185.7

he came came to Georgetown, Pettis County, Mo., and engaged in busi-

ness until! 863. Since that time he has been engaged in book keeping.
At one time he owned valuable property in Sedalia. He was married in

1841 to Louise F. Johnson, by whom he had one child, now deceased.

His wife died in Brooklyn, N. Y., in 1849. He was was married in 1851

to Mary M. Bacon. She died October 1, 1867.

WILLIAM B. HIGGINS.

Is the son of Peter Higgins, a native of Kentucky, but who moved his

family to Missouri in the year 1835, and settled on a small creek, known
as Spring Fork, in the southern part of Pettis County. Here he lived

until his death, which occurred in the year 1864. Wm. B. was born in

Pettis County, Mo., May 20, 1837, and is the fourth child in a family of

seven children. He received his education from the schools of his native

county, attending the first school that was organized in this part of the

country. He was married Dec. 18, 1857, to Miss Malinda C. Warren, a

daughter of Erbin Warren, a native of Kentucky, but who moved to Pet-

tis County at an early day. From this marriage there were four chil-

dren, three of whom are now living, viz: Erbin P., Bettie A., and Wm.
I. Mrs. Higgins dying, he was again married August, 1877, to Mrs.

Sarah J. Schull. Since Mr. Higgins has been a man grown, he has been

engaged in farming, and the raising of stock. He owns a fine farm of

l!j5 acres, well improved, and under a high state of cultivation. As a

citizen Mr. Higgins is held in high respect. His demeanor is unassuming,
and in business relations he is above reproach.

CONRAD HILDEBRAND.
Was born in 1840 in Germany. In 1867 he emigrated to America,

locating in Portsmouth, Ohio, where he engaged in the butchering busi-

ness until 1877, when he came to Sedalia, where he at once opened a

shop, and has ever since followed the same occupation. He has now
three shops running, and butchers from 80 to 100 head of cattle per
month. He is a member of the D. O. H. He and his wife are members

of the German Lutheran Church. He was married in 1873 to Mary
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Emerick, of Pike County, Ohio. They have three children, John, Jacob
and Katie.

IRA HINSDALE.

The subject of this sketch was born in Syracuse, N. Y., June 18, lhi4, and

is the son of Ira, Sr., and Mary Hinsdale. Mr. Hinsdale came to Pettis

County in 1869, and first engajred in farming. He then came to Sedalia

and run the Missouri House, in 1870-71, until it burned. In the fall of

1871 he engaged in the transfer business, in which he is at present engaged,

having a larger number of men and teams employed than any firm in the

city, and also engages extensively in the ice business, being connected with

Henry Schafier in the latter. In 1880-81 he erected his fine residence on

Brcadway, between Missouri and Harrison avenues. He engages in the

anthracite coal and wood business, and is agent for the Consolidated

Tank Line Company's coal oil. He is also engaged with John W. Mene-

fee, in bu}/ing and shipping mules and horses to market, at which he and

his partner do an extensive business.

CHARLES HOFFMAN.
Of the firm of Charles Hoftinan & Bro., grocers. East Fifth street. Mr.

Hoffman was born in 18.50, in Gasconade County, Mo. His father. Rev.

Andrew Hoffman, was a native of Germany, now Pastor of the Baptist
Church in Gasconade County, Mo. His mother, Minnie, nee Holzkaem-

per, was also a native of Germany. Charles was educated at Central

Wesleyan College, at Warrenton, Mo., after which he engaged in school

teaching for ten years. He also served his county as Public Adminis-

trator, four years, and as Justice of the Peace, four years. In the spring
of 1881 he came to Sedalia, and, in connection with his brother, Lewis,
who is an attorney at law, at Hermon, Mo., opened the store where he is

now in business. In 1874, he married Miss Mary Miller, of Bay, Mo.,
a daughter of William Miller. They have two children living, and one

deceased.

JNO. H. HOGUE.

Vice-President Citizens National Bank. Was born in Mercer County,

Ky., in 1831. His father and mother, Samuel Hogue and Permelia, nee

Trower, being natives of the same State. Jno. H., the subject of this

sketch, learned the drug business in his early life, and in 1855, went to

St. Louis, and engaged in book-keeping. In 1860, he moved to Pettis

Count}^, locating in Georgetown, and engaged in the drug business. In

1863, on account of the war, he closed his business, and accepted a clerk-

ship in the interest of the Atlantic & Mississippi Steamship Company.
In 1867 he came to Sedalia, and again engaged in the drug business, which

30
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he continued for about five years. In 1S73 he sold out his drug store and

started in the wholesale grocery business, in which he has continued to the

present time. In 1ST7, when the Sedalia Democrat Company was organ-
ized, he was chosen President of the organization, which position he still

retains. In Jan., 1880, he was elected Vice-president of the Citizens

National Bank, a position he still occupies. Mr. Hogue has been identi-

fied with the business interests of Sedalia in no small degree, and enjoys
the confidence and respect of all with whom he comes in contact.

DAVID I. HOLCOMB.
Was born in Mercer County, Pa., Nov. 13, 1845. Webster Holcomb, his

father, was a native of Connecticut, and is now a resident of Trumbull

County, O. His mother, Harriet A., nee Deutcher, who is still living,

was born in Ohio. David I. was reared and educated in Trumbull

County, O., and in 1861 enlisted in Company A., Fort3^-First Ohio Regi-
ment Volunteer Infantry. He served until the close of the war in the

Western Department, and took part in all its battles and sieges, and

escaped w^ithout any severe injuries, although he received some slight

reminders. In 1866 he accepted a position as traveling salesman for a

queensware house in Cleveland O., where he remained until the fall of

1867, when he went to Mount Pleasant, Iowa, where he opened a store

and continued in business until 1879. From thence he came to Sedalia,

and opened one of the largest queensware houses in Central Missouri.

In May, 1881, he was elected Alderman of the First Ward in Sedalia. He
is a member of the Knights of Pythias. Mr. Holcomb was married, on

the 1st day of January, 1868, to Miss Almira B. Ingraham, of Trumbull

County O., daughter of Willis Ingraham, of that county. They have one

child, Fred. W. The establishment which Mr. Holcomb now owns is an

ornament not onl}^ to Sedalia, but is an enterprise of which any city in the

State might well feel proud. This house of merchandise was opened, in

1875, by John A. Mohlenkoff, of Cincinnati. In 1879 Mr. Holcomb pur-

chased the store, and has since continued the business alone. This is the

only store in Sedalia which deals exclusivel}^ in queensware, and is the

largest in the State outside of St. Louis and Kansas City. He does both

a wholesale and retail trade, and carries an enormous stock of goods in his

line. Mr. Holcomb imports his earthenware direct from England. He
has just completed a large three-story brick building, on Second street,

where he has one of the finest arranged rooms in the city, using the entire

building for his business. A cut of this house appears on page 533.

JOHN W. HOUX.
Of the firm of Bixby & Houx, hardware merchants. Mr. Houx was

born May 13, 1831, in Boonville, Mo. His father, Frederick Houx, was
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a native of Maryland. His mother, Margaret, nee Sears, was also a

native of Maryland. John W.,the subject hi this sketch, was reared and

educated in Boonville. He learned the tinning business in his 3'outh, and

in 1856, engaged in the business in company with Mr. Bixby, his present

partner, with whom he has been ever since. Their business career is

given in connection wuth Mr. Bixby's biography. Mr. Houx was mar-

ried in 1852, to Miss M. Anderson, of Boonville, Mo, She died in 1855.

He was married again in 1856, to Sarah Heard, ot Pettis County. They
have four children, Edward H., Frederick L., Nora, and Vest. Mr. Houx
has been for man}- years a member of the Masonic fraternity.

B. L. HULL.

Of the firm of B. L. Hull & Co., grocers. Was born in 1855, in Osage
County, Mo. His father, Jacob Hull, was a native of Missouri, now liv-

ing in Texas. His mother, Francis C, w^as also a native of Missouri. B.

L., the subject of this sketch, began the mercantile business at his old

home, but in 1882, came to Sedalia, w'hen he and his partner, F. E.

McKnight, opened the store in East Sedalia, where they are now in

business. F. E. McKnight w^as also born in Osage County, Mo. His

father was James G., a native of Illinois. His mother was Paulina,

nee Laughlin. F. E. was educated at Westminister College, Fulton. In

18T5, he engaged in general mercantile business, which he followed about

fotir years, afterwards dealing in grain for some time. In the spring of

1882 he came to Sedalia, and opened the store where they are now doing
a good business. In 1880, he married Mary R. Hull.

WM. F. ILGEXFRITZ.

Was born in York, Pa., in 1822. His father, Jacob, was a native of

Pennsylvania. His ancestors w^ere from German}-. In 1834, William,

with the family, moved to Ohio. He learned the harness and saddlery

business in his 3-outh, and was engaged in that calling about thirty

3'ears, at Wooster, Ohio. In 1850, he married Malinda Duffield, of

Wooster. They have three children living: William D., boot and shoe

merchant, Sedalia; Clarence E., hardware merchant, Sedalia; Lindel,

merchant, Denver, Col. In 1865, Mr. Ilgenfritz moved to Sedalia, Mo.,

bought property upon Ohio street, upon which he built, and which has

since become very valuable, being in the heart of the city, although at

that time it w^as wild prairie. He built the first hall erected in this city

for theatrical purposes. In 1870, he started the Ilgen House, w'hich he

operated several years. In the spring of 1879, he went to Colorado, and

has ever since been largely interested in mining, being President of sev-

eral mining companies. He has served as a member of the City Council,

and is held in high esteem by the citizens of Sedalia.
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CLARENCE E. ILGENFRITZ.

Hardware merchant. Mr. Ilgenfritz is a native of Missouri, and a son

of Wm. F. Ilf^enfritz, of whom we speak elsewhere. Clarence E. was
educated in Sedalia, and at Washington University, St. Louis, graduating
from the latter place in 1873, after which he entered the employ of the

Simons Hardware Company, remaining three years. From there he

went to Colorado, where he was in the hardware business until 1881,
when he returned to Sedalia, and took charge of his father's business,

and has also engaged in the hardware trade, having one of the largest
and most complete stocks of goods to be found in Sedalia, doing both a

retail and wholesale business.

WILLIAM D. ILGENFRITZ.

Dealer in boots, shoes, hats and caps, No. 205, Ohio St., Sedalia, Mo.
This enterprising young business man commenced at his present stand in

November, 1S81, and although recently established, his trade has become

large and is steadily increasing. Being well and favorably known in the

city from his long residence here, and having constantly on hand a stock

of first quality goods his future success is assured. He was born near

Wooster, Ohio, Jan. 19, 1851, in which State he resided for fourteen

years. His father, Wm. F. Ilgenfritz, is a native of Pennsylvania, having
removed to Ohio when a young man. The father of our subject was

engaged in the saddlery and harness business, and afterwards in farming till

1864. In the spring of 1865 the family removed to Sedalia, where they
have since resided, first conducting a bakery, then proprietor of the Ilgen

Hotel, which has enjoyed such popularity. W. D. obtained a good
education, attending the common schools, and also the State Universit}' at

Columbia. He was married in December, 1881, to Miss Belle McNair, of

St. Louis, daughter of C. A. McNair, at present connected with the

Missouri Furnace Co. At the i\pril election, in the-city of Sedalia, 1882,

Mr. Ilgenfritz was elected on the Republican ticket as Alderman of the

First Ward, and is now worthily serving in that capacity.

BENTON HOWARD INGRAM.

Circuit Clerk of Pettis Count}'. Was born in Green County, Mo.,
Nov. 24, 1838, and is the son of Martin and Anna A. Ingram. Martin

was a native of North Carolina, born in August, 1803, and is the son of

Archibald Ingram, of English descent, who died in North Carolina, in

1858. Martin died in Green Count}^, Mo., June 1, 1881. Anna A. Ingram
was born in November, 1804, in North Carolina, and is now living with

her youngest son, Martin V., in Green County, Mo. Benton H. is the

sixth child of a family of eight, all of whom are yet living. They are Mrs.
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Mary J. McCracken, Archibald F., now Treasurer of Green County, Mo.,

Sidney N., John B., Thomas J., Benton H., Martin V. and \"irginia A.,

now wife of John L. McCraw, of Green County, Mo. Benton H. received

a common school education. He commenced business in 1S62, opening a

drug store with Dr. E. T. Robberson, in Springfield, Mo., but sold out

in eighteen months, and soon thereafter came to Sedalia, and in 1864

opened a general country store with S. S. Vinton, and continued in this

business until 1871, when he lost his entire stock by tire. He then

engaged in the fire and life insurance business. In the fall of 1872 he was

elected Collector of Pettis County, and held the otiice one term. In 1879

he was appointed Circuit Clerk of Pettis County, b}' Governor John S.

Phelps, and at the expiration of the term was elected by the people to the

office. He is now, July, 1882, renominated for the same office for the

coming term, by the Democratic part}-. Sept. 12, 1865, he w^is married

to Maria Grimshaw', daughter of Jonathan and Eliza M. Grimshaw, at

Jefterson City. His wife, Maria, was born in the cit\' of Leeds, England,

Jan. 25, 1847. Her father was born in Yeaden, near Leeds, Jan. 24, 1818,

and her mother in the city of Leeds, May 2, 1818. They came to

America in 1851, and located in Jefierson City, where Mr. Grimshaw

resides at present. Mrs. Maria Ingram has two brothers and four sisters

living, viz: Elizabeth, wife of Ex-Mayor Geo. L. Faulhaber, of this city;

Emma, wife of Lewis Miller, of Peoria, 111.; Arthur P., Jefierson City,

Mo.; Fannie, wife of Charles N. Seipe, of Kansas; Jonathan T., of Lead-

ville, Colorado, and Sallie N., wife of Herman J. Rodman, of Atchison,

Kansas. Mr. Ingram and w'lie have five children, Nellie A., Martin G.,

Charles H., Juliette B, and Bessie H. He is a prominent member of the

Masonic fraternity, at present holding the office of District Deputy
Grand Master. He has alwa3's had the interests of Sedalia in mind, and

was one of the members of the committee which was appointed to consult

in regard to the feasibility of construction of the Water Works. In his offi-

cial capacity he has discharged his duties to the entire satisfaction of his

constituents. Politicallv, he is a firm and consistant Democrat. His

present position in society and in the confidence of the people is due to his

own energy and perseverance, and among the young men of the great

West who have carved a name by their own industry, he stands in the

front rank.

ADAM ITTEL.

Cashier Citizens National Bank, Sedalia. Was born in Erie County,

N. Y., January, 1840. Ai the age of nineteen he went to Memphis,

Tenn., where he was employed as book-keeper and clerk for a mercan-

tile firm of that city. He remained in Memphis about two years, after

w^hich he served in the Confvederate army for about one year. After the
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surrender of Memphis he came to Sedalia, in July, 1S62; where he has

since remained. He began in Sedalia as clerk and served in that capacity
and as book-keeper in various houses until 1868, when the Central Mis-

souri Banking and Savings Association was organized, and now known as

Sedalia Savings Bank, at which time he was chosen book-keeper and

teller. In 1870 he vv^as chosen cashier; where he remained until 1872,

when the Citizens National Bank was organized with Adam Ittel cash-

ier, where he has since remained. Mr. Ittel has been married twice.

His first wife, Ella M. Haskins, of Cleveland, Ohio, and b}^ whom he had-

three children, named respectively, Daisy H., Charlie, and one deceased,
was a lady of rare accomplishments. She died in 187.5 at Cleveland,

Ohio, and is buried at Lake View. He was again married in 1878 to

Miss Glorvina Beaty, of Boonville, Cooper Count}-, Mo., and by her he

has one child, Willie. Mr. Ittel began life a poor bo}^, but being pos-
sessed of a "will" he sought the "wa}-" and found the old adage true.

Holding one of tiie highest positions in Pettis County, respected for his

sterling worth and business qualities, he well deserves the honor which
has been bestowed upon him. During his career in Pettis County Mr.

Ittel has not escaped the toils of public office. In 1872 he w^as called

upon to officiate as County Treasurer, being elected to that office by a

large majority of the votes polled at that election, and was re-elected in

1874. He was the first I. O. O. F. initiated in Sedalia who is now a resi-

dent of this county. He is also a devout member of the Old School Pres-

byterian Church of Sedalia.

CLIFFORD L.JACKSON.

Attorney at law, Sedalia. Was born Nov. 25, 1857, and is a native of

Louisiana. His father's name was George, a native of England, born in

1817. He came to this country in 1826 and stopped a few years in Penn-

sylvania, but seeing a better prospect for a young man further South em-

igrated to Thibodeaux, Louisiana, where he remained until 186-9, amass-

ing a fortune, but lost a considerable portion of it in the war. Clifford's

mother was a native of Pennsylvania, born in Harrisburgh in 1828. His

parents were married in 1846. In 1869 he came with his parents to Pet-

tis County, Mo., and settled on the farm where they now reside. In

1876 he left the farm and attended private a school for two yeais, after

which he entered the law office of his brother, Geo. P. B. Jackson, in Se-

dalia, and commenced the study of law. In September, 1879, he was ap-

pointed Deputy Circuit Clerk of Pettis County, and on Sept. 7, 1880, was

admitted to the bar by Judge William T. Wood. Jan. 1st, 1881, he was

re-appointed Deputy Circuit Clerk, and after serving one year he resigned
and began the practice of his profession. Mr. Jackson is a young man of

quick perception, a ready speaker and a rapid thinker. Though but
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twenty-five years of acre he already stands high in his profession. A close

student, attending faithfully to his clients' business intrusted to his care, he

still finds time to pursue a literary line of reading, keeping fully abreast with

this rapid age of thinkers. Brought up in the Episcopal Church he leans

slightly to that denomination, but is not connected with it. Belonging to

no particular denomination, his views are broad and liberal, devoid of

prejudice characteristic of those who zealously advocate special dogmas.
His temperament is genial and social; his conversation spirited and enter-

taining; his address pleasant and attractive. Still young, he has already
achieved a large measure of success and is destined, if spared to

the future, to stand second to none in his influence on the society in which

he moves.

GEORGE P. B. JACKSON.

Attorney at law. Mr. Jackson was born Nov. 28, 1846. In 1868 he

came to Pettis Count}^, Mo.; he was educated in Ohio; he attended law

school at the State University of Michigan, Ann Arbor. He was
admitted to the bar in 1866, in New Orleans, and practiced at Thibodeaux,

Louisiana, until 1868, when he came to Pettis County, Mo. His health

being poor, he remained on a farm until 1873, when he again took up the

practice of law. In 1876 he vv'as elected Prosecuting Attorney of this

county. He was re-elected in 1878. In 1879 he formed a partnership
with Col. Philips and has since been associated with him. Mr. Jackson
was married in 1877 to Miss MoUie Vest, daughter of Hon. G. G. Vest,

of Sedalia. They have one child, George V.

COL. A. D. JAYNES.
Was born in Lawrence County, O., Nov. 26, 1829. His ancestors were

from Virginia, and participated in many of the important affairs of that

State. His father removed to Ohio, where he became largely interested

in the iron business, and the youthful Jaynes, though enjoying but limited

opportunities for an education, improved rapidly, and became an elegant

penman, and expert in arithmetic and accounts. From the age of fourteen

to that of twenty-one he received a most careful business training with

his father, and then became interested in the mercantile business with C.

& W. H. Kelley. In 1853 he became connected with the Vinton Iron

Furnace, "Vinton County, O., and continued with this corporation until

1864, having an interest in the management a considerable portion of that

time. To more effectually complete the military organization of the State,

in 1861, the Governor of Ohio requested A. D. Jaynes to raise and equip
an independent regiment, which he did, and was commissioned Colonel.

Near the close of the war the regiment was mustered into the United

States service, as the 141st Regiment Ohio Volunteers. This was one of
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the finest regiments that did service for the Union during the great civil

war. Its officers were: A. D. Jaynes, Colonel; T. W. Hampton, Lieuten-

ant-Colonel; A. D. Brown, Major; Dr. C. L. Wilson, Surgeon, and Rev.

C. C. Baker, Chaplain. The command did valuable service in forwarding

supplies and recruits to the army, and protecting the State during the

raids of Lightburn and Morgan. Subsequently Col. Jaynes was ordered,

with his command, to report to Gen. George Crook, at Charleston, where

he assumed the management of the whole department of West Virginia.

His regiment was mustered out of service in 1864 by reason of expiration

of time. His duties were performed to the entire satisfaction of both

civil and mihtary authorities. After the war closed Col. Jaynes, to -find a

wider field of enterprise and operation, in company with Cyrus Newkirk,

came to the great undeveloped West, and settled in SedaHa, Mo., then

only a small village. These two gentlemen, after viewing well the sur-

roundings, decided that this point was destined to become a railroad

center and of commercial importance, thereupon they organized the First

National Bank, in March, 1866, with a capital stock of $100,000. This

bank, with Col. Jaynes as cashier the first eight 3'ears, and then until July,

1880, as its President, has ever exercised a wide influence over the mate-

rial growth of Central Missouri, and thenceforth he has been identified

with all the most important enterprises of Sedalia and Pettis County. He
took a prominent part in the organization of the Lexington & St. Louis

Railroad, and acted as agent of the county in subscribing the stock. He
was efficient in 1867-8 in building the Tebo & Neosho Railroad, which

afterward became the Missouri, Kansas & Texas Railroad, of which he

was, much of the time. General Agent. In 1874, when the road passed

into the hands of a Receiver, Col. Jaynes was appointed Treasurer and

Agent of the Receiver and General Manager, Mr. Bond, who resided in

New York. Probably to him, more than any other person, the credit of

forwarding this great railroad enterprise through Pettis Count}- is due.

Col. Jaynes has been interested in a number of financial institutions out-

side of Sedalia. He assisted in the organization of the First National

Bank of Fort Scott, being one of the incorporators and a member of the

first Board of Directors. In 1869 he organized the First National Bank

of Parsons, Kan., and was its President and largest stockholder three

years. He organized the First I^ational Bank of Denison, Tex., in 1872,

and was, for some time, its President. He was one of the inc6rporators

and Vice-President of the Vallev National Bank of St. Louis; was one of

the original incorporators and directors of the Life Association of America,

and also one of the incorporators of the Missouri Stock and Bond Board

of St. Louis. He suggested and advocated the introduction of the Holly

Water Works now in use in Sedalia, and being intrusted with the negotia-

tion of the bonds, for building the works, turned them over to the city
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complete, a^a cost of $110,000, which was $50,000 cheaper than any 53^8-

tem ci^ like capacity used in this countr}-. He is an ardent advocate of

education, warmly in favor of the improvement of our common school

system, a pronounced temperance man, honorable in his intercourse with

all men, a friend of the poor and oppressed. He is universally esteemed

and _^ives moral tone to the business community. Though often solicited

to accept positions, both State and National, he has decHned, believing his

career la}^ in another direction. His great ambition is to make the country
rich in material improvements, and to do those things which most contrib-

ute to the peace, the prosperit}^ and the happiness of the community. Col.

Jaynes was married, July 20, 1858, to Miss Mary Jane Brown, daughter of

John Brown, Esq., of Athens County, O. Their family consists of five

refined and exceptionall}^ well reared children, two sons and three daugh-
ters, William V., a graduate in class of 1881, Washington Universitv, St.

Louis; John Brown, a graduate ofChickering Institute, Cincinnati; Hattie

Ellen, attending the Wesleyan College, Cincinnati; Flora May and Jennie

Susan, attending the Public School of Sedalia. The sons and daughters
are artists in music, painting and drawing. The Ja3mes mansion, one of

the finest in the Union, is situated on the corner of Broadway and Ohio
street. He and his accomplished wife have drawn discreetl}^ upon the

best treasures of modern decorative art for the embellishment of their

model home. Tapestry from the first looms of Britain, frescoing by gen-
uine artists in the most elegant French designs, mantels, statuettes and

vases, delicatel}' wrought in unique styles from the rarest marbles, uphol-

stering of chaste and beautiful patterns, landscapes and figures of rare

finish and beaut}^ sketched and painted by the fair and deft hands of the

daughters, and original draughts and sketches wrought b}- the skilled hands

of the household; one of the finest libraries in the West; rare China table

service from the land of the celestials; complete telegraphic and telephonic
connection with all portions of the city, worked by the sons, who are

accomplished electricians and phonographers, with many another gem of

beaut}' and utility, gathered and grouped with exquisite taste in this

charming home, which Col. Jaynes and his accomplished family have the

appreciation to thoroughly enjo}^, and within whose elegant and ample

apartments they are wont to dispense a gracious and refined hospitalit}-.

This elegant home is adorned with the most ample lawns, beautiful shade

trees that the gardner's art could devise, and is enclosed by a superb iron

fence. A dozen life-size figures, representing Flora, Hebe, Mercury, the

Amazon, the Seasons, with a noble pair of lions, mounted by winged

musicians, with harp and lute, happily symbolizing the power of music

over the savage nature. The figures are all of pure bronze and life-size

Roman and Persian casts, after models bv masters in the noblest of arts.

Bronze vases and seats, unique and costly; thousands of square feet of cut
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Stone walks, broadly laid in great slabs; a bronze fountain finc^Jy set in an

ample stone basin. The architecture of this beautiful home, both e'ii'Lerna]

and internal, is without blemish, and abounds in fine effects from every

possible point of view. Fine contrasts of form and color are everywhere

visible, and in all the plans and elegant furnishing, the architect, and the

master and mistress of the mansion, have achieved the happiest effects

from cellar to attic. Colonel Jaynes is most emphatically a self-made

man, individual and positive in his character. By his bravery, energ}',

persistence and executive gifts, he has led his neighbors into new schemes

for the building of a new city, and what Sedalia is to-day, commercially,

educationally, morally and progressively, is, in a great degree, the result of

his enterprise. His strict integrity and disposition to oblige are among his

chief characteristics. Col. Jaynes has never made the mistake common
to little men. If he possesses any vanity it does not appear in his inter-

course with men. He regards talent and enterprise as a full equivalent

for money, and never loses sight of the fact that a brilliant, daring and

restless man, although poor, ma}- exercise an influence that wealth can

never aspire to. His royal hospitalit}- has been extended to many of the

nation's distinguished representatives, as well as fellow citizens in humbler

walks. President Rutherford B. Hayes, wife and son, Burchard Hayes,
Gen. W. T. Sherman and other distinguished guests, while on a tour

through the West, came to Sedalia, Sept. 24, 1879, and breakfasted with

Col. Javnes and lady. President Grant, at one time during his Presidential

terra, made a tour of the Indian Territory with Col. Jaynes, and such

strong attachments existed between them, that when the Colonel was a

delegate to the National Republican Convention, at Chicago, in June,

1880, with the " immortal 306," he voted thirty-six times for the nomination

of the gallant General for President.

HENRY P. JEFFERSON.
Of the lirm of R. M. Olmsted & Jefferson, livery and sale stable. Mr.

Jefferson was born in ] 851 in Denmark, where his father still resides. In

1871 Henry P. came to this country, locating in Kansas; afterward went to

Texas, and in 1877 came to Sedalia, where he has ever since resided. In

1882 he, in connection with his partner, built the stable on Hancock street,

East Sedalia, where he is now in business. He is a member of the I. O.

O. F. He was first married to Eliza Hill, who died in 1877, leaving one

child, Alice. His second wiie was Minnie Buningarten, of Sedalia. They
have one child, named Lee.

SAMUEL P. JOHNS.
Was born in Preble County, O., in 1835. His father, Stephen M.,was

a native of Pennsylvania, who died in 1870. His mother, Sarah, nee Parks,
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was a native of Ohio, now living in Pana, 111. Samuel was raised on a

farm in Ohio; educated at Waveland Collegiate Institute, Montgomery
County, Ind., after which he engaged in the lumber business at Terre

Haute, Ind., as salesman. In ]861 removed to Litchfield, 111., and opened
a lumber 3'ardon his own account until 1865, when he moved to Pana, 111.,

and opened a lumber yard. In 1879 he sold out, and in 1880 located in

Sedalia, Mo., but opened a lumber yard at Warsaw, Mo. Mr.

Johns continues to reside in Sedalia, while conducting a prosperous
business in Warsaw. He has been eno-ao-ed in the lumber business

about twenty-five 3^ears, and has accumulated a handsome prop-

erty. He is a man of integrity, enjoying the entire confidence of

a large circle of friends and acquaintances. He and his wife are

members of the Presbvterian Church, of which he has been a

Ruling Elder since 1867.. He was married in 1859 to Margaret A.

White, a native of Perry County, Ind., daughter of William White, now a

resident of Pana, 111. They have four children living, William M., Samuel

P., Jr., Robert M., Margaret A. Their eldest child, Laura A., died Sept.

19, 1881, aged nineteen years and four months; buried in Sedalia cemetry.
She was a member of the Presb^'terian Church, and fell asleep in Jesus.

She was the pride of the famil}^, loved and respected by all her acquaint-

ances, both here and at her old home at Pana, 111.

DR. JACOB B. JONES.

Sedalia, Mo. Was born in the State of North Carolina, Davidson

County, May 23, 1841. His father, Rev. Thomas Jones, and mother, Lucy,
nee Brunnell, were also natives of North Carolina. His mother's death

occurred in 1848, and his father's in 1856. Dr. Jones was educated at

Trinity College, North Carolina. In 1861 he entered the Confederate

army in the Twenty-second North Carolina Regiment, serving as a private

during the war. His regiment was a part of Stonewall Jackson's cele-

brated corps. He was in most of the battles fought by the Army of

Northern Virginia, being wounded at the battle of the Wilderness. At

the close of the war he prosecuted his studies in medicine by attending the

Jefferson Medical College, Philadelphia, and at the St. Louis Medical Col-

lege, where he took his degree in the spring of 1868. Since that time he

has lived in Pettis County. He was married in 1875, and has one child,

Paul Jones. Dr. Jones is a member of the Pettis Count}' Medical Society,

and of the State Medical Association; has been President of the former,

and a Vice President of the latter. He was Coroner of Pettis County for

two years, and is the present Democratic nominee for that office.

GEORGE KAHRS.

Grocer and provision dealer. Mr. Kahrs was born in 1850 in Pettis
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County, Mo. His father, Herman Kahrs, was a native of Germany, who
came to Pettis County in 1840, where he still resides. His mother, Mar-

garet, iiee Cordes, was also a native of Germany, still living. George, the

subject of this sketch, was raised on his father's farm. In 187.5 he came

to Sedalia, and engaged in the Grocer}^ busmess on Second street, which

he still continues, although in the fall of the same year he moved to his

own building on Third street, where he has ever since been located. He
has a large and complete stock of everything usually found in such a store.

He is a member of the K. of P.; also of the German M. E. Church, as is

also his wife. He was married in 1874 to Anna Cordes. They have

three children living, Charles J. H., Katie M. and Arthur L.

JOHN KAISER.

Restaurant. Mr. Kaiser was born in 1841 in Prussia, and in 1856 came

to America, locating in St. Louis, Mo., where he learned the confection-

ery business. In 1861 he enlisted in the Federal army in Compan}' A,
Third Missouri Volunteers; was soon after promoted to Orderly Sergeant;
He served three and a half years, taking part in many of the battles of

Missouri; also siege of Vicksburg, Lookout -Mountain, Missionary

Ridge, Sherman's Georgia campaign, and the capture of Atlanta, besides

many others. For the last six months he was in command of the com-

pany. After the war he returned to St. Louis, and in August, 1866, he

came to Sedalia, where he engaged in the bakery business. In ]V(arch,

1879, he bought a baker\' and restaurant, to which he has ever since given
his time and attention. Mr. Kaiser started here without a dollar, but by

industry and econom}- has accumulated a handsome property. He now

furnishes meals for from 250 to 400 persons daily at his restaurant. Mr.

Kaiser was married in 1865 to Miss Maggie Hilseweck. They have five

children, Anna, Lizzie, Josie, John, Oscar; three dead.

PHILIP KELLY.

The oldest official of the cit}' of Sedalia by a number of years is the

subject of this sketch. He was born in Monaghan County, Ireland, in

May, 1831, and was educated in the schools of his native country. In the

fall of 1855, he emigrated to the United States, settling in New York,

where he remained for about five years; then he moved to Ohio, settling-

near Dayton; here he remained for several years. Then, in the spring of

1868, he moved to Missouri, settling at Sedalia, where he has since resided.

In the spring of 1872, Mr. Kellv received his first appointment as police-

man, under Mavor George Cummings, and was reappointed each suc-

ceeding year, until the spring of 1877, when he was elected City Marshal.

He held this position one year, when he was reappointed by Mayor Geo.
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L. Faulhaber, to his old position, that of city policeman. He has been

reappointed each succeeding- sprint since. Mr. Kelly has been on the

police force of this city since the spring of 1872. He is not only the oldest

official of the city, but one of the most efficient officers the city has ever

had. He is deservedly popular with all classes, and when Philip Kelly
stands at the post, the peace of the city is well guaranteed. He was mar-

ried, Nov. 29, 1858, to Miss Rose Campbell, a native of Ireland. From
this union there were six children, only three of whom are now living,
viz.: John, Michael R. and Maggie. Mr. Kelly has given his children

an excellent business education, and the sons are each holding honorable

positions of trust.

JAMES W. KENNEDY.
Was born in Morgan Count}-, 111. His father, William Kennedy, was a

native of Kentucky. His mother Sarah, nee Wright, a native of Tennes-

see. James W. Kennedy entered the Federal army, 1861, Company I, Four-
teenth Illinois Infantiy, being the first man to enlist from Morgan County.
He took part in the battles of Shiloh, Corinth, siege of Vicksburg, besides

many others. He served three years. After returning he w^as in a gen-
eral merchandising business at Murrayville, III, until 1877, when he came
to Sedalia, and engaged with W. S. Mackey,as traveling salesman, where
he has ever since continued. Mr. Kennedy was married in 1866 to

Emma H. Strong, of Morgan Count}^ O. They have three children liv-

ing, Mattie B., J. Frank and Elizabeth. Mr. Kennedy is a member of the

Masonic fraternity.

T. F. KIDWELl..

Is the son of Thomas N. Kidwell, of Washington, D. C. The subject
of this sketch was born in Washington City, June Z, 1850, and is the old-

est child in a family of twelve children. He received his primary educa-

tion from thti schools of his native city, completing his education at Christian

Brothers College, at St. Louis. After quitting school, he took a trip to

California and Old Mexico, remaining about three years, when he returned

to Missouri, stopping at Hannibal, and engaging in the railroad business.

Here he remained five years, then returned to California, and remained

three years, engaging in the same business, that of railroading. In Oct.,

1871, Mr Kidwell returned to Missouri again, and located at his old home,
at Hannibal, engaging at the same business, but onh^ remained a short

time, when he took a trip to Texas. He remained in the Lone Star State

two years, when he went to New Orleans, where he remained about a

year and a half, engaging all the while in the railroad business. In the

spring of 1873, he returned again to Missouri, and accepted the position

of conductor and yard master with the Missouri, Kansas & Texas Rail-
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road Company, at Sedalia. He holds the position at the present time.

Mr. Kidwell is popular with railroad men, and a thorough, competent
man in his business. He was married June 12, 1"^S1, to Miss Lucy L.

Edwards, a native of this county.

WILLIS P. KING, M. D.

There are few men of the present da}' whom the world acknowledges
as successful, more worthy of honorable mention, or whose liie history

alibrds a better example of what may be accomplished by steady per-

severance, energy and industry, than the subject of this sketch. His great

grandparents emigrated to Kentucky, from Virginia, at an early day,

and were among the hardv pioneers when Daniel Boone and Simon

Kenton were the people's idols. They came to Missouri in 1816, or 1817,

his parents both being children at that time. The families—both named

King—came together and settled in Howard County, near where the

town of Old Franklin once stood. When the country became more

thickly settled and the Indians were driven out, they removed to a farm

between Roanoke and Glasgow. Here his parents grew up, and were

married in 1S35. They afterwards moved to Macon County, and located

about twelve miles west of Macon City, near the Chariton River, where

the subject of this sketch was born, the third in a family of ten children.

Dr. King's parents were poor; in fact, almost everybody was poor in that

county in those days. There were no school houses, no churches, nothing
whatever to educate the mind or elevate the morals of the vouth of the

country. His first recollections are of the early works and sports partici-

pated in at that time. The first schooling received was in a scalped log

school house, with a wooden chimney, the roof made of clap-boards and

held on with poles, and a portion of one log sawed and blocked out to

admit light to the wri-ting bench. At the first session only half the floor

was laid. The girls occupied some benches made of "slabs" on the part

where the floor was laid, and the boys sat on the sleepers or sills in the

part where the floor was not laid. School books were not so plentiful

then as now. Each pupil brought such books as he or she had. The
Testament was frequently used for a reader, alternated with Bunyan's

Pilgrim's Progress. He attended four or five sessions of this school.

After attaining the age of twelve or thirteen years he worked about the

neighborhood, often at ten cents a davs, and bought such books as were

needed at school and others that suited his taste to read at home. Thirsting
for a better opportunity for an education, at the age of fourteen, young
Willis ran away from home, and cast his little boat upon the stormy sea

of life with none but himself to guide. He worked and went to school

alternately, until the line of the Hannibal & St. Joseph Railroad was

begun, when he went to work on that and helped to cut away the timber
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and brush for the track. When work commenced on the road bed he

drove the horses to carts in the "pit" for one year. During all this time

the one thought that was ever uppermost in his mind was that he would,
at all hazards, obtain an education, and be something, and somebodv in

the world. During thedarkest hours of his life, when on a bed of sickness

with death staring him in the face and waiting to gather him in the early

harvest, he never for a single moment dropped that one grand idea, and

time has shown how grandly it has been fulfilled. Having saved some

money he went to Howard County and attended an academy for two

sessions, often months each, and this was the extent of his regular school

education. In glowing terms, Dr. King speaks of his benefactors, those

who encouraged and cheered him on, in the end making him what he is.

He kept up his studies for several years, teaching in Howard, Macon,

Saline, and Pettis Counties. He was married to Miss Albina Hoss, June
13, 1861. Four sons and two daughters have been born to them. Soon

after marrying he began the study of medicine, without any preceptor,
and afterwards attended the St. Louis Medical College, where he gradu-
ated in the spring of 1866, and immediately commenced practicing in the

western part of Vernon County, and remained there until the fall of 1S6S,

when he removed to Nevada, the count}- seat, and continued the practice

of his profession until the fall of 1870. He then went to New York and

attended Bellevue Medical College, and received the degree ad eimdiim

in the spring of 1871, then returned and resumed his professional practice

at Nevada. In the autumn of 1874, desiring a broader field for his work,
he removed to Sedalia, where he now has a large and lucrative practice.

In order to show the great regard the people of Vernon County had for

him, it is only necessar^^ to state that he was a member of the School Board

of Nevada, for six years, and Public Administrator for four years. Dr.

King says of himself: "I have not succeeded in accumulating much

propert}'. Indeed, such a thing would not be expected of me by those

who know me. I have but two mottoes, with regard to money making and

saving, and they are: What a man gets out of this world he gets as he

goes along, and 'shrouds have no pockets.' I do a great deal of work
and make plenty of money, and spend it or give it away to those who
need it more than I do." An}^ words concerning himself would be incom-

plete without a proper tribute to the two persons who have influenced his

life more than all others, and alwa^'S for good, his mother and his wife.

Of his mother he says: "She was a woman of rare intelligence, for her

chances and her time. She read and retained everything that came in

her way, and she had a wonderful gift of imparting her knowledge to

others. She loved her children and greatly desired to see me attain the

object of m}' ambition. She Hved to see me a man, grown and respected,

and I had ample opportunity to atone in some degree for the sorrow I gave
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her in leaving home so young." Of Mrs. King, we may justly sav that

whatever success the doctor has achieved, to her belongs to a large portion
of the credit. Married when only sixteen years of age, she was utterly

inexperienced in domestic duties. She has nobly stood by her husband in

fortune and misfortune, and ever held up before him that bright star of

hope, by which he was enabled to toil on, work on, at those inspiring
toils by which man masters men. He has spent three winters away
from her since their marriage, when she has taken upon herself the direc-

tion of all his affairs in addition to her own. She has done this without

a murmur, always acquiescing in whatever was necessary to promote
the well-being of themselves and those dependent on them, no matter what
the sacrifice might be. In 1880 he was elected Coroner of Pettis County,
and at the meeting of the Missouri State Medical Association in 1881, he

was elected President of that body without opposition. He also occupies
the chair of " Diseases of Women," in the Medical Department of the

State University, at Columbia, where he delivers a full course of lectures

on that subject, each year. He does a general practice and is considered

one of the most successful surgeons in the State.

HENRY A. KNAPP.

Insurance, of the firm of Knapp & Espenchied. Mr. Knapp was born

in Crawford County, Pa., in 1836. His father, Timothy Knapp, was a

native of New Hampshire. His mother, Clara C. Towry, was a native

of Massachusetts. Henry A. Knapp came to Pettis County, Mo., in

1858, where he taught school for several years. In 1862 he enlisted in

Company B., 7th M. S. M. Cavalry, and served three years. After the

war, he engaged in school teaching for one year, after which, on account

of ill health, he again left the school room. In 1874 he opened an insur-

ance office in Sedalia, and has ever since continued in the business, repre-

senting the best companies in both this and foreign countries. Mr. Knapp
is a member of the I. O. O. F. He was married in 1860 to Miss Carrie

W. Ward, a daughter of Wm. R. Ward, one of the early settlers of this

county, now a resident of Sedalia. Thev have four children living.

CHARLES KOOCK.
Of D. T. Chaney & Co., merchant tailoring and clothing. Was born

in Hanover, Germany, in 1842. His father, Charles, died in Germany,
in 1844, and in 1849 his mother moved with the family to America, and

located in New Orleans, where she remained until 1852, when she moved
to St. Louis, Mo. She died in 1853. When Charles, was eleven years
of age, he was taken as an apprentice in a tailoring establishment, where

he learned his trade, working until 1861, at which time he entered the

Federal army, under Gratz Brown. In September, 1862, he enlisted
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again in the Thirtieth Missouri Volunteer Infantr3^ For three 3'ears he

was in the Department of the Mississippi, and took an active part in all

her battles and campaigns, serving until the close of the war. He entered

as a private, but was promoted from time to time, until the close of the

war, when he was serving as First Lieutenant, Company D, Thirtieth

Missouri Battalion. After the close of the war he returned to St. Louis,
and engaged in the merchant tailoring business, which he continued until

1859, when he came to Sedalia, and for some time was in the tailoring
business with C. E. Smith. In 1877, he began work as cutter for J. W.
Burress, where he remamed until March, 1881, when he and his present

partner, D. T. Chaney, bought out the business, and are still engaged in

it and having a prosperous trade. Being industrious and energetic busi-

ness men, we bespeak for them a bright future. He was married in May,
1870, to Amanda Berryman, of St. Louis, daughter of Arthur Berry-

man, of that city. They have three children, Charles J., Arthur and

Wilhelmina. They also had two others, deceased: Lillie May, died

March, 1875, aged three years; Mortimer, died November, 1S81, aged
three years and ten months. Mr. Koock belongs to the I. O. O. F., and

A. O. U. W. fraternities.

CORD KRUSE.

The subject of this sketch is a native Missourian, born in Morgan
County, Feb. 4, 1846; son of John D. and Annie Kruse. At the age of

sixteen he went to St. Louis and engaged in the butcher business two

years; then worked in a rolling mill three years; and finally moved to

Smithton, and lived there and in the vicinity until 1870, when he came to

Sedalia, and has been engaged in the butcher business ever since. In the

fall of 1877, he entered into a co-partnership with Frank K. Fredrick.

In 1881, he and his partner built the large brick building on Seventh and

Ohio streets, of which an eclectrotype view appears elsewhere in this

volume. They have their meat market in the lower rooms. The hall,

on the second floor, is used by the Amity Lodge, A. O. U. W., of which

the subject of this sketch is a member. On July 2, 1868, Mr. Kruse
married Miss Margaret Kahrs, of Pettis County, and b}^ this union they
have four children. «

LOUIS KUMM.
Watchmaker and jeweler. Mr. Kumm was born in 1841 in St. Louis,

Mo. His father, Jacob Kumm, was a native of Germany, who came to

St. Louis in 184<). Mr. Kumm was reared in St. Louis, where he learned

the watch-making business in his youth. In 1861 he came to Sedalia,

where he was the first jeweler in the city. He continued in the jewelry
business until 1871, when he began the manufacture of soap, in which he

31



686 HISTORY OF SEDALIA.

was engaged until 1879, when he again engaged in the jewehy business,
which he still continues. Mr. Kumm is a Knight Templar, and was among
the first Masons in the city. He and his wife are members of the

.
O. S. Presbyterian Church. He was married in 1865 to Miss Rose Brent.

They have six children, Clara, Louis, Charlie, Rosa, Philip, Henry; one

dead.

JOHN A. LACY.

Judge of the Probate Court of Pettis County. Was born in the year
1849 in Frederick County, Va. His mother's death occurred while he

was yet an infant, and he was reared by his grand-mother, Mrs. John
Alexander, of Lexington, Va. John A. Lacy received a thorough course

at the Washington and Lee University of Lexington, graduating in the

year 1869. Afterward he was sent to the University of Virginia, where

he graduated in the Law Department of that institution, 1871. In the

same year (1871) he came to Missouri, locating in Sedalia, Pettis County,
where he commenced the practice of law^ in the office of Phifips & Vest.

Although comparative^ a young man, his career as an eloquent and able

lawyer is well known throughout Central Missouri. His father, Rev. B. F.

Lacy, D. D., about this time also removed from Virginia to Pettis County,
and for some time was identified with the Presbyterian Church of Seda-

lia, Mo., and is well and favorably known in Central Missouri as an able

and devout expounder of the Gospel. John A. Lacy, as a lawyer, fought
his battles single handed, until the second year of his removal from his

native State, Virginia. He married Miss Elizabeth P. Myers, also of

Lexington, March 12, 1873, daughter of John H. Myers, a broker of that

city, and by her has three children, Susan M., John McD. A. and Henry
Blain. After his marriage he continued the practice of his profession,

making many friends b}^ his genial disposition and rare social qualities.

Never swerving from the path into which his moral instincts led him,

he became popular as a member of the bar, and in 1876 was elected Judge
of the Probate Court of Pettis County, which office he still holds, being

re-elected in 1880. Judge Lacy's success has been marked from the

beginning, and that his administration as Probate Judge has been charac-

terized by much forethought and discretion is accorded by the fact of his

•re-election in 1880. He is a member of the Knights of Pythias and also

Past Grand Chancellor, and at present one of the representatives from

Missouri to the Supreme Lodge of the world. Altogether he has, in every

capacity in which he has been called upon to officiate, proved himself

equal to the emergency, winning a host of worthy friends, and well may the

people of Pettis County be proud of a man who has served them so well.
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ERNEST LAMY.
Was born in the city of Nancy, France, March 10, 1816. His father,

C^sar Augustus Lamy, has been dead a number of years. When, in

1828, Ernest Lamy emigrated to America, he located at Gallipolis, O.,

and served as apprentice in the tailoring business. Ten j^ears later' he

went to West Virginia, where he remained about three years, then came
to Missouri, first locating in Osceola, St. Clair County, where he followed

tailoring about six years. In 1846 he removed his business to Boonville,

and for twenty years carried on merchant tailoring there. After the war,
when Sedalia was beginning to assume the character of a business center,

Mr. Lamy removed to this city, and since that time, 1867, has made it his

home and headquarters in business. The tirm, J. A. Lamy & Co., with

which he is connected, is doing a large business. Their place of business,

located on Main street, is large and convenient, constantlv filled with one

of the largest stocks of merchant tailoring and gents' furnishing goods and

ready-made clothing in this portion of the State. They find employment
for eight men in the cutting and manufacturing department, besides clerks

and employes in other lines. He was married in 185-i, to Miss Lucy C.

Parsons, one of the early settlers of Cooper County, Mo. They have

had seven children, five of whom are still living, James A., now in busi-

ness with his father, whose name appears in the firm, Medora, now wife

of Captain Harry C. Demuth, of this city, Ella L., now wife of C. P.

Brown, of St. Louis, Ernest W. and Florence. Mr. Lamy and family are

among the enterprising and highly respected constituents of Sedalia busi-

ness and social circles. He has served the people in the capacity of Cit}'

Alderman, City Treasurer, and member of the Board of Education. He
is a representative man ^in his line of business, and his life, fortune and

present position are striking illustrations of what great results may be

accomplished by intelligence, industry and business application.

MITCHELL M. LAMPTON.
Was born Nov. 24, 1819, in Columbia, Ky. His father and mother

were both born in that State. His father, Louis Lampton, died in 1823,

after which his mother moved to Richmond, Ky., and afterward to Hop-
kinsviile, where the subject of our sketch was reared. After Mr. Lamp-
ton attained manhood, he was married to Miss Elizabeth S. Rolland,

daughter of Reuben Rolland, cashier of Hopkinsville Bank. In the

year of 1856 he moved to Pettis Count}-, and engaged in farming, and in

1859 he sold out and moved to Windsor, in Henry County. Here he

sold goods until early in the spring of 1861, when he went into the Con-

federate army, and served until the close of the war. Lampton's life as a

soldier commenced as First Lieutenant, but he was promoted to Major.
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He figured in several battles, but not once during the Rebellion was he

wounded. In 1865 he came with his family to Sedalia, and engaged in

the mercantile business until 1878, when he was elected City Assessor.

Mr. Lampton has been connected with the insurance business, and also

real estate business. He was one of the early settlers of Pettis County,
and has been identified with her prosperity and growth almost from

the beginning. He is a member of the Masonic fraternity, and has been

through all its degress, having been a Mason since 1844. He is a charter

member of the Granite Lodge, of this city, also charter member of the

Chapter, also of the Council, and St. Omar Commandery. Himself and

wife are members of the Old School Presbyterian Church. They have

seven children, named respectively: Augusta R., Reuben L., James J.,

Lizzie, William M., Mary M., Mitchell M., and two deceased.

HENRY LAMM.

Attorney at law. Mr. Lamm was born Dec. 3, 1846, in Wayne Co.,

Ohio. His father, Wm. Lamm, was a native of Pennsylvania. Henry,
the subject of this sketch, graduated from Michigan University, Ann

Arbor, in 1869, after which he came to Sedalia and studied law, and

was admitted to the bar in 1870. He served two and a-half years as

Circuit Clerk, and with this exception, he has been constantly engaged
in the practice of his profession since his admission to the bar. Mr.

Lamm is a member of the Board of Education, and has taken a great
interest in the Sedalia schools. He. is a member of Granite Lodge, A.

F. & A. M., also of the L O. O. F. He was married in 1874, to Miss

Grace A. Rose, of East Saginaw, Mich. They have two children, Nettie

R. and Philip F.

JOHN LANDES.

Watches, clocks and jewelry. Mr. Landes was born September 22,

1846, in Mifflin County, Pa. His father, George Landes, was also a native

of Pennsylvania, as was his mother, Paulina Landes, nee Polick. John,

the subject of this sketch, began the watch, clock and jewelry business in

1868, and in 1870 opened his store in Sedalia, on Main street. No. 111.

Moved to his present storeroom in the Bazoo building in the summer of

1868, which is one of the best in the city. In the spring of 1882 he was

elected Alderman of the Fourth Ward. As a business man and as a citi-

zen, he is held in high esteem by all who know him. Pie is a member

of the Knights of Honor, of which he is Financial Reporter, also of the

Knights of Pythias. He and his wife are members of the M. E. Church.

He was married in 1871, to Minnie May Kullmer, of Sedalia. They
have three children living, Carl, Jessie and Howard.



HISTORY OF SEDALIA. 689

WILLIAM LATOUR.

Photographer. Prominent among the names of the distinguished pho-

tographers of Missouri appears the name of Wm. Latour. He was born

in the village of Eslingen, Kingdom of Wurtemburg, Germany, Oct. 4,

1845. Came to America with his parents in the year 1851, and settled in

St. Louis, Mo. In 1856 he commenced learning the art of daguerreotyp-

ing, ambrotyping and photographing, under Aug. Plitt, one of the leading
artists of St. Louis. After having become proficient in the art, he was

engaged in some of the leading galleries of St. Louis until the close of

the civil war, when he embarked in the theatrical profession. He made
his first engagement with G. D. Chaplin, who was then the lessee of the

Leavenworth, Kan., Theatre. It w^as during his first theatrical career, in

a vacation, May 27, 1866, he came to Sedalia. Here he worked at his

profession with H. C. Lesher, until the opening of the season of 1867,
'

when he rejoined his former company, and played the following season, in

what was then termed the Western Circuit. On the thirteenth day of

April, 1868, he returned to Sedalia, having made up his mind to give up
the stage as a profession, he again resumed photograph3\ He first worked
for J. C. Downing, and then for Richard Penny, w^hom he bought out in

1869, and has followed the business ever since, and has established a rep-

utation second to no photographer in the State. The best evidence of his

success as an artist is the large brick building,
" Latour's Block," on the

corner of Ohio and Fourth streets, which he erected in 1879, with money
earned in his business, in Sedalia. In the upper rooms of the " Latour

Block," he has one of the finest furnished photograph galleries in the West.

Mr. Latour was married to Miss Josephine Lyons, Oct. 25, 1869. They
have three children, Blanch, Ira and Lionel.

FRANK LAUBER.

Is the oon ofJohn Lauber, a native of Germany, but who came to the

United States in the year 1844:, and settled in Randolph County, III, where

he lived until his death, which occurred in the year 1863. The subject of

this sketch was born in Germany, Aug. 4, 1843. He received a part of

his education in the schools of Randolph County, 111., completing the same

in Moniteau County, Mo. When he was yet a youth he began work for

a construction train on the M. P. R. R. Afterwards, in 1860, he worked

in the shops of the Missouri Pacific R. R. at St. Louis. He first took an

engine on the Missouri Pacific in the spring of 1863, and continued in that

position until 1868, when he accepted a position as engineer on the Union

Pacific, where he remained about one year. Then he went to California

and accepted a position as engineer and conductor on a construction train.

In the year 1869 he returned to Kansas City, and accepted a position as
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engineeer on the Kansas Pacific. In the summer of 1870, he returned to

the Missouri Pacific, and accepted a position he has held ever since. He
has never met with any accidents worthy of mention. He is popular in

railroad circles, and a courteous, intelligent and agreeable gentleman.

JAMES P. LEAKE.

Was born in Virginia, in the year 1817. His father, Robert S., now

deceased, was a native of Virginia, as was also his mother. In 1828, in

company with his father's family, he emigrated to Greenfield, Ohio. James
P. learned the mercantile business, and in 1839 opened a store in Peters-

burg, a short distance from Greenfield, where he remained for about ten

years, at which time he returned to Greenfield, where he again engaged
in mercantile pursuits until the war in 1861. He then went on a farm

and remained until 1866, when he emigrated west and located in Sedalia,

and again engaged in the mercantile business. Mr. Leake built the first

business block in Sedalia on Ohio street, located on the southwest corner

of Ohio and Second streets. While they were making preparations for

the construction of his building and were engaged in unloading lumber to

be used in the building, a stranger remarked: "What fool is gomg to

build out there on the prairie?" But the wusdom of his choice was soon

manifest, as in a short time it was deemed about the best location in the

city. In 1S73 he built on the same lot the three-story brick block which

he sold to Dr. H. W. Wood in January, 1880, and for which he reaHzed

the sum of twenty-seven thousand dollars. In 1875 Mr. Leake retired

from active business, but being the owner of some very fine farming
lands in this county, "and considerable real estate in Sedalia, has to

some extent turned his attention to the supervision of his estates. Mr.

Leake was married to jNIary J. Rogers, daughter of Col. Thos. Rogers,
of Greenfield, Ohio, in 1810, and has four children living, named

respectively, Nannie E., now the wife of O. J. Baldwin, of Green-

field, Ohio, a merchant of that city ; Julia A., now the wife of

Henry C. Sinnet, of Sedalia; Alletus W., with Maltby & Co.,

of Sedalia; Emma A., wife of W. J. Maltby, of Sedalia. His wife died in

January, 1878, after which he was married to Matilda A. Love, of Green-

field, Ohio, May 16, 1880, and by her has one child, James P. Mr.

Leake is a member of the Baptist Church, of Sedalia; and through his

influence both as a christian and business man, the church and moral

standing of the city is being advanced wherever he devotes his energies.

GEORGE F. LONGAN.

Attorney at law. Is a native of Pettis County, Mo. His father, J. B.

Longan, is a native of Cooper County, Mo., and his mother, whose

maiden name was Reaves, is also a native of Cooper County. George
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F., the subject of this sketch, was educated at the State Normal School at

Warrensburg and graduated at the State University, in 1S78, after which

he studied law and was admitted to the bar in 1880. During the year of

1881 he served the cit}^ of Sedalia as City Attorney, in which position he

gave general satisfaction. i\lthough young in years he is recognized as

a ready debator, concise in language, and vigorous in thought, a keen

logician, with the power of pressing his arguments strongly and rapidly.

He chooses his positions only after he is himself assured of their strength

and he then proves himself an antagonist not to be baffled, or a powerful

ally. With these quaHties the career before him is a brilliant one
; yet, as a

professional man, and as a citizen, among his associates and in social life,

his record is no less one deserving of preservation from its amenity, and

the kindly feeling and respect which he inspires.

JAMES H. LOONEY.

Real estate and insurance. Mr. Looney was born, in 1828, in Haw-
kins County, Tenn. His father, John Looney, was also a native of Ten-

nessee. His mother, EHzabeth, nee Johnson, was a native of the same

place. James H. came to Polk County, Mo., in 1854, and after clerking

for a few years, opened a store and sold goods until the breaking out of

the war. During the war he was Quartermaster of Col. Mitchell's

Regiment M. S. M. In 1865 he came to Sedalia, where he was engaged
in various kinds of business for some years, but finally engaged in real

estate, insurance and money loaning, which he has followed ever since.

He owns a beautiful farm just outside the city limits, where he resides.

Mr. Looney has been a Mason since 1856. He and his wife are members

of the Christian Church. He was married in 1859 to a Miss McLain, of

Fayetteville, Ark. They have five children living. Perry J., Belle, Mary
v., James H., Mack D. Their eldest son, Ralph M., died in May, 1880,

aged 19 years.

WM. S. MACKEY.

Wholesale dealer in boots and shoes, hats, caps, etc. Was born in

1830, in Warren County, Ohio. His father, William Macke}^ a native of

Virginia, died in California in 1858. His mother, Mar}-, nee Sinnard,

was a native of Pennsylvania, and died in 1834. Wm., the subject of this

sketch, went to Galena, lUinois, with his father, when but fourteen years of

acre, and remained until 1849, when he went overland to California, where

he engaged in the mercantile business, remaining until 1857. About

this time he returned to the States, remaining but a short time, however,

as he returned to California in 1858. In the month of October of the

same year he returned, and engaged in the flouring business at Peru, Ind.

Mr. Mackey soon after sold his mill and commenced business as a dry
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goods merchant in the same town. In 1867, he acrain sold out, and in the

month of June of the same year came to Sedalia, Mo,, and opened a boot

and shoe store, which he has ever since continued. About the first of

January, 1ST2, he began a jobbing trade, which has been constantly

increasing until he now has a jobbing trade almost equal to any house in

Missouri. Mr. Mackey was married January 23, 1862, to Sarah

McLaughlin, of St. Mary's, Ohio, daughter of G. W. McLaughlin, of

that city. They have four children: Wm. B., now at school at Cincin-

nati, Ohio, George K., Mar}- G. and Flora S.

DR. T. T. MAJOR.
Dental surgeon. Dr. Major was born in Franklin County, Ky., March

4, 1829. His father, Oline T., was a native of Virginia. His mother,

Nancy T., nee Gunnell, was a*native of Kentucky. In 1848, the family
removed to Saline County, Mo., where Dr. Major was reared. In 1852,

he took up the study of dentistry under his brother, A. C. Major, of

Brownsville. In 1863 he located at Glasgow, Howard County, Mo.,
where he began the practice of his profession. He afterwards practiced
at Waverl}' and Lexington. In 1868 he located in Sedalia, where he has

ever since practiced his profession. He was married in 1850 to- Miss

Rachel Levi, by whom he has three children living: Maggie, Lizzie and

Nannie. His wife died in 1857. In 1864 he married Miss Mattie Buckner,
and by her has three children: Sallie, George and Anna M. He and his

wife are members of the Christian Church. He is also a member of the

I. O.O. F.

HENRY H. MARFAN.
The subject of this sketch was born January 7, 1844, in Van Buren,

Arkansas; son of Joseph P. and Abb'ie Marean, both natives of Massachu-

setts. His father emigrated to Arkansas about 1836, and opened a gen-
eral merchandise business near the mouth of the White River, at a trad-

ing post known as Montgomer3-'s point, and remained there six years, then

removed to Van Buren, on the Arkansas River, and engaged in the mer-

cantile business until the commencement of the civil war, then closed out

his business, and with his wife, returned to his native State and settled in

Boston, where he and his wife are living at present. Mr. H. H. Marean

joined the Third Regiment, Arkansas Volunteers of the Confederate

army at the beginning of the war, and served until it was over, then went

to Little Rock and remained a short time; from there he went to New
Orleans and engaged in mercantile business for about two years, and then

went to Boston and accepted a situation of traveling salesman for the firm

of Bliss, Whitney & Co., manufacturers and dealers in clothing, and

eniiaged in that business until 1872; then resigned his situation and came
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to Sedalia and opened a dry goods store on the corner of Main and Ken-

tucky streets, where he remained until 1876, when, owing to the increase

of his business, it becoming necessary for him to have a larger store room,
he removed his stock of goods to the large and commodious build-

ing he now occupies on the corner of Main and Ohio streets. Mr. Marean
married Miss Anna Bouldin on October 30, 1881, daughter of Clark

Bouldin, one of the pioneer settlers of Pettis County.

HENRY G. MASONHALL.
Policeman. Mr. Masonhall was born in Allegheny Count}', Pa., in

1846. His father, John P., was a native of Germany, who came to Amer-
ica in 1821, and is now a resident of Sedalia, aged eighty years. His

mother is also living, aged sixty-five years. H. G. moved to Mattoon,

111., in 1868 or 1869, and engaged in railroa'ding until 1S78, when he came
to Sedalia and was conductor on the M., K. & T., until ISSl, when he

joined the police force of Sedalia, where he still remains. He is a mem-
ber of the I. O. O. F., and also of the K. of P. He v/as married, in ISSO, to

Miss Maggie Milligan, of Sedalia, a daughter of Benjamin Milligan, of

this city.

JOHN W. MASON.
Grocer and provision dealer. Mr. Mason was born, in 1857, in St.

Louis County, Mo. His father, T. J. Mason, was a native of Missouri,

now a resident of Lamonte, tliis Count}'. His mother, Sarah A., nee Cor-

dell, was a native of Missouri. John W. was raised on a farm. In 1868,
he began railroading, which he followed till 1875. He then followed farming
until 1881, when he came to Sedalia, and engaged in the grocery business,

which he still follows. His father came to Pettis County in 1854, where
he has ever since resided. He is a member of the Masonic fraternity,
and he and his wife are members of the Presbyterian Church. He was

married, in 1879, to Lillie Swanson, of this County. They have two chil-

dren, Cornelia and Charles E.

EDWIN E. McCLELLAN.
Book and stationery dealer. Was born in Peoria County, 111., in May,

1850, where he was reared. His father, S. R. McClellan, was a native

of Maysville, Ky., but was principally reared in Dayton, O., and died in

Sedalia, May 16, 1876. His mother, Charlotte, nee Osborn, was a native

of Ohio, now a resident of Sedalia. Edwin McClellan was educated in

Oneida and Sedalia. He began business in Sedalia as deputy postmaster,

serving in that capacity for a period of six years. In 1878, he left the

postoffice and began business for himself, as a dealer in books, stationery,

etc. Mr. McClellan has an elegant storeroom on Second street, where he
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is engaged in business, and commands a large share of the patronage of

the people of Sedalia and Pettis County. Possibly no man in Sedalia is

better calculated to build up a lucrative business than Mr. McClellan,

serving, as he did, a long term in the postoffice of this city, and being a

popular official, he acquired a large acquaintance in the County, and his

popularity has followed him in his business. He is a self-made man.

Beginning life a poor boy, he has, by close attention to business and hon-

esty of purpose, accumulated quite a nice property. He is the owner of

an elegant residence on Broadway, in addition to his mercantile establish-

ment. He was married in November, 1880, to Miss Sadie F. Castle, of

Sedaha, a daughter of J. C. Castle, a prominent farmer of Pettis

Count3%

JEROME B. McCLURE.

Farmer, section twelve, Sedalia Township, Mr. McClure was born

in 1885 in Missouri. His father. Dr. William H. McClure, was a native

of Kentucky, who located in Lincoln County, Mo., in 1828. His mother,

Fannie, nee Bond, was a native of Kentucky also. J. B., the subject

of this sketch, was reared principally in Boone Count3^ In 1859 he came

to Pettis County and engaged in farming very extensively, and has ever

since been one of the prominent farmers of the county. In 1872 he was

married to Miss Sallie F. Field, a daughter of Curtis Field, whose

biography appears in this work. They have two children living, John F.

and Lillian, and two deceased.

JOHN c. McLaughlin.

Was born in Auglaize County, O., in 1851. His father, George

McLaughlin, was a native of Maryland. His mother, Mary, nee Hart,

was a native of Connecticut. John C, the subject of this sketch, came to

Sedalia in the spring of 1869, w^hen he entered the house of W. S. Mackey
as salesman, where he still continues, having been interested in the busi-

ness for the past three years. He was married, in 1876, to Flora I. Fer-

guson. They have two children, Mary E. and John C, Jr. Mr. and Mrs.

McLaughlin are members of the M. E. Church.

GEORGE c. McLaughlin.

Furniture dealer. Mr. McLaughlin was born in 1846, in St. Mary's, O.

His father, George W., was a native of Baltimore. His mother, Mary, nee

Hart, was a native of Connecticut—a descendant of the Hart family who
founded Hartford, Conn. She now lives in Sedalia. George C, the sub-

ject of this sketch, was educated at St. Marys, O., after which he was

engaged in book-keeping until 1874, when he came to Sedalia. After

keeping the station ledger of the Missouri, Kansas & Texas Railroad for
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a time, he entered the office of Col. A. D. Jaynes (who was at that time

Treasurer of the M., K. & T. Railroad), as book-keeper, where he remained

four years. In 18S0 he engaged in the furniture business, in which he

still continues, having the largest and most complete stock in the city.

He was married, in 1881, to Nellie Butterheld, of Piqua, O. He and his

wife are members of the M. E. Church.

WILLIAM A. McNEES.

Grain merchant, Sedalia, Mo. He was born, April '8, 1842, in Grant

County, Ky. His father, P. F. McNees, and mother, Artemissa, nee

Dejarnette, were natives of Kentucky. W. A., the subject of this sketch,

entered the Confederate army, in 1862, in Kirby Smith's command, but

soon afterward joined John Morgan's command, in which he remained

until Morgan's death. After the war he engaged in the saddlery and har-

ness business for a short time. In 1866 he came to Williamstown, Lewis

Count}^ Mo., where he continued in the harness business until 1867. He
then came to Sedalia, where he pursued his trade until 1872, then spent
about two years in the grocery business in Scotland County, this state.

Returning to Sedalia, he engaged in the grocery business, and afterward

in the grain trade, which he still continues. In 1878 he built the elevator

on East Main street, the first and only grain elevator in Sedalia. Mr.

McNees was married, in 1867, to Miss Mary H., daughter of Ninian

Nichols, a native of Kentucky. Five children were born to this pair, two
of whom are living, the eldest and youngest, Edgar F. and Mary H.

Three died in infancy, Walter Lee, Joseph William and Carl Roy. Their

mother died in 1878, and in 1881 Mr. McNees was united in marriage to

Miss Esther Adelia Thompson. Both are worthy members of the baptist

Church, and enioy the confidence and respect of a large circle of friends

and acquaintances.

ABSALOM McVEY.

Was born in Oct., 1802, in Maryland. His' father, Benjamin, was also

a native of Maryland, as was his mother, Ann, nee Kilpatrick. Absalom,
the subject of this sketch, was raised on a farm, but learned the carpen-
ter's trade. In the spring of 1838, he came to Pettis County, and located

in Georgetown, where he worked at his trade until 1 856, when he located

on the farm where he now resides, on the eastern border of Sedalia. Here

he entered 1,100 acres of land, on a part of which Sedalia now stands

During the war he remained at home. Was once taken prisoner by the

Confederates, being a strong Union man. About this time his father-in-

law, Thomas Allison, was shot by bushwhackers. Mr. McVey is a man

universally loved and respected by all. He and his wife are members of

the Christian Church. He was married, in 1824, to Mary Edminson, by
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whom he had eight children, three of whom are living, Benjamin, John,
Thomas. His wife died in 1^38. In 1839, he married Hannah C. Burns, by
whom he had eight children, five of whom are living. His wife died in

1855, and the same year he married Lucinda Allison, by whom he had

eight children, six living; Charles, Levi, Rebecca, George, Schuyler and

Hortense.

JOHN W. McVEY.

Is the son of Absalom McVey, who was a native of Mar3-land, but

removed to Missouri in the fall of 1833, and settled in Georgetown, then

the county seat of Pettis County. The subject of this sketch was born

in Cecil County, Md., May 24, 1833. He received his education at the

private schools of Georgetown, and after completing his education he

learned the builder's trade, and built the second house erected in Sedalia.

It was a school house. He was a contractor and builder for a number of

years, and now has a good position in the Missouri, Kansas & Texas

shops. He was married in 1854, to Miss Martha Gent, a native of Vir-

ginia, and this union has blessed them with a bright famil}' of children,

four of whom are living. Ada, Gen, Trail and Maude. His first wife

dying, he married Miss Nellie Watts, in 1866, a native of Wisconsin.

From this union there were three children, one of whom is livino-.
• Mrs.

McVey is a lady of refinement and literary taste, having written consid-

erable for the public press, a history of Eureka Springs, and many other

highly prized productions, and is now writing for several eastern periodi-
cals and papers.

WILLIAM H. McQUITTY.

Projfinetor of Lindell Hotel. The subject of this sketch is a native

Missourian, born in Boone Count}^, Sept. 15, 1837; is the son of Daniel

and Susan McQuitty, both natives of Kentucky, who came to Missouri

in an early da3^ William H. is the eldest of a family of six children. His

brothers and sisters are, Wm. H., Harriett, wife of Dr. G. W, Elliott;

Nancy, wife of James M. McKee; Armilda, wife of Robert Baker, and

Daniel W., living, and Mary F., deceased. Mr. McQuitty remained on the

farm with his father until 1862, then went to Cooper Count}-. October 1,

1863, he married Miss Josephine Scruggs, by whom he has a family of

five children, Wm. D., Ada, George, Hortense and Nancy. In 1875 he

sold his property in Cooper County and moved to Pettis County, and

purchased property in Longwood, where he lived until 1879, then sold his

property and purchased a farm in Longwood township, and engaged in

farming until the spring of 1882, then rented his farm and moved to Seda-

lia, and took charge of the Lindell Hotel, and remodeled and furnished

it with the modern hotel conveniences, and is novv^ doing a good business,

and has a good class of boarders.
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THOMAS B. MEMMINGER, M. D.

Was born in Charleston, S. C, in 1837. His father, Christopher G.,
was a native of Germany; is now a resident of Charleston, and was during
the late war Secretary of the Treasury of the Confederate States. His
mother's maiden name was Miss Mary Wilkerson, a native of New Jersey.
The subject of this sketch graduated at the South Carolina College, in

186G. Three years later he graduated from Charleston Medical College,
after which he entered Bellevue Hospital, where he completed the surgical
course. He then went to Europe, where he spent two years in Paris,

attending lectures and visiting hospitals, and returned home in the spring
of 1861, and in April of that year, went to Montgomery, Alabama, and
was there appointed, by Jefferson Davis, Surgeon of the Confederate

Army, and ordered to report to General Beauregard, at Charleston, and

on his arrival the General appointed him Surgeon of his Staff. The doctor

was present when the first gun was fired on Fort Sumter, and accom-

panied his staff to the fort after its surrender. Subsequently he was
ordered to Richmond to take charge of Camp Lee Hospital. After

Camp Lee he was appointed Surgeon of the Fifth Division, at Winder

Hospital, m Richmond, and was shortly transferred to Danville, Va., and

placed in charge of the General Hospital at that place. From this

position he was ordered to Charleston, S. C, and appointed President of

the Examining Board for retirement, furloughs and discharges, for that

department. He was then ordered to report to Major General Patten,

Anderson's Division of Joseph E. Johnson's Army, and appointed

Surgeon of his Division, and in this capacity continued until April 28,

1865. At the close of the war he returned to Charleston, S. C, and

commenced the practice of his profession. In 1869 he came to Kansas

City, and about 1872 went to St. Louis, where he built up a large practice.

He came to SedaHa,in 1881, where he is building up a profitable practice.

The doctor was married in 1871 to Miss Maggie Millison, of Decatur, 111.,

daughter of Dr. J. H. Millison, of that place. They have two children,

Thomas M. and Jessie. Dr. Memminger's social endowments are of the

highest order. In stature he is medium, in appearance commanding, edu-

cated in the finest schools of this country and Europe, he is prepared to

discuss any topic that may arise. His recognized abilities placed him at

the head of his profession in the army. A native born Southerner, he

carries the honor of that proud birth with proverbial dignity. Such is the

brief outline of the life of one whose true merit and genuine worth entitles

him to prominence and esteem.

JAMES K. MERRIFIELD.

The subject of this sketch was born in Scranton, Penn., Aug. 20, 1844,

and is the elder of a family of two children. He received a liberal educa-
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tion from the schools of his native State. In the spring of 1862 he moved

to Illinois, where he remained until the fall of '62, when he enlisted in

the 8Sth Illinois
" Board of Trade Regiment," United States Volunteers,

of Chicago, under Colonel Frank Sherman and Captain Geo. A. Sheridan,

who afterwards held the office of Recorder of Deeds, at Washington, D.

C, under the administration of President Hayes. Mr. Merrifield was with

the Army of the Cumberland and Tennessee, and participated in all the

principal battles fought by those armies and was actively engaged from

the battle of Perryville to the close of the war. After peace had been

declared he returned to his old home in Pennsylvania, where he remained

until the year 1870, when he engaged in the railroad business. In the

spring of that year Mr. M. moved to Missouri, setthng in Sedaha, where

he has since resided, and been engaged with the Missouri Pacific as con-

ductor. In November, 1881, he was transferred from the Lexington
branch to a passenger run from Sedalia to St. Louis, which position he

still fills. He was married May 18, 1866, to Miss R. T. Crandall, a

native of Great Bend, Penn.; from this union there is one child, Walter, a

bright boy of fifteen years. Mr. M.'s father, John Merrifield, is a native

of Pennsylvania, and stil resides at Great Bend. Of Mr. Merrifield it can

be truthfully said, that he is one of the most popular conductors that run

upon the road. In his long railroad experience he has had but few acci-

dents, and none of them connected with disastrous results. Much of this

good fortune is due directly to Mr. Merrifield's good judgment and care-

fulness. The most unfortunate one in which he was a party was that of

the Houstonia cyclone in 1875, in which his train was badly wrecked,

several of the cars being literally torn into kindling wood. Mr. Merrifield

saw the storm coming and had his passengers all get out ot the coaches

and he was standing upon the ground near the depot and was taken up

by the tornado and carried about a hundred yards across the prairie wath

lightning express time. Strange to say no one was severely hurt, he

receiving only a few slight bruises. From this incident he received his

sobriquet,
" Tornado Jim," b\- which he is known from one end of the line

. to the other. He immediately took his locomotive and run to Browns-

ville for medical assistance and returning did all in his power to alleviate the

suffering of the wounded. In person Mr. Merrifield is tall, straight and

spare. He has a pleasant face, keen sparkling eyes, full of intelligence,

eagerness and vivacity, an agreeable address and courteous, dignified man-

ners, and is a favorite with his friends, and has the full confidence of his

employers.

JOHN H. MERTZ.

Of Mertz & Hale, druggists. Among the enterprising men of Sedalia,

John H. Mertz takes a high rank. He was born in Frankfort, Germany,
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Sept. 2S, 1846. His father, Heniy Mertz, came with his family to Amer-
ica, in 1852, locating at Beardstown, III, where he died in 1875. Here

John H. Mertz was reared and educated. In the winter of 1863-4, he
enlisted in the Federal arm}- in Company G, of the 145th Illinois Infantry,
and was stationed most of the time in Missouri, and it was at this time
that he became favorably impressed with the State. After the war he
took a course at Jones Commercial College, St. Louis, clerking in a drug
store at the same time. On March 15, 1865, he came to Sedalia, and
clerked for W. E. Bard until July, 1866, at which time he purchased the

drug store of Dr. J. G. Beck, and has ever since been identified with the

drug business of Sedalia. In 1872, Dr. R. L. Hale became associated

with him in the drug business, and together they built the three-story
brick block on Ohio street, which they now occupy, and which was at that

time one of the finest in Sedalia. They do a large business, having a large job-

bing trade, and the enterprising character of Mr. Mertz is well known

throughout Central Missouri . A great deal is due his untiring labors in behalf

of our growing city. He is President of the Fourth Building Associa-

tion, of Sedalia, and director of four others, and for the past five years
a member of the School Board. He is one of the original members of

the Congregational Church of this city. He was married to Miss Nettie

P. Lamm, of Sedalia, April 16, 1868, a native of Wayne County, Ohio,
and daughter of Wm. Lamm, of that county. They have six children,

all living: Ella L., Anna L., Nettie F., Alice B., Henry L. and Mary L.

The last two are twins.

CHAS. E. MESSERLY.

Mayor of Sedaha, Mo. Mr. JVIesserl}- is a native of Ohio. His father,

Lewis F. Messerl}-, and mother, Elizabeth Messerh', nee Eberhardt, were
both born in Switzerland, and came to America in 1842. They are now

living in California, Mo. Charles was reared and educated in Ohio, grad-

uating at New Philadelphia High School, in 1869. He immediately came
to Sedalia, and engaged as salesman with Major Wm. Beck, one of the

first dr\^ goods firms in the city. He remained in the same capacity until

1876, and then became a partner. At this time the new business house

on the corner of Second and Osage streets was opened for their use.

The firm of Beck & Messerly is one of the best established general
stores in this portion of the State, and through their thorough business

qualities and long experience, they secure a large and valuable trade.

Mr. Messerly is a young man of bright promise. He came to Sedalia

with naught but his personal energy and integrity, and by close attention

to business, has taken a high station among the enterprising men of this

growing city. His popularit}^ may be inferred from the fact that he was

elected Mayor of Sedalia, April 4, 1SS2, by a handsome Republican
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majority, when the cit\' had for two years been under the rule of the

other party. As a social, genial gentleman, Mr. Messerly has rare quali-

ties, and an exemplary influence upon those with whom he mingles. Mr.

Messerly is a member of the Granite Lodge, A. F. and A. M., of this

city; also of the Sedalia Rifles, holding the "office of Sergeant of the

same.

ABRAHAM MEYER.

Lumber merchant, Sedalia. Was born in Prussia in 1S29. His father,

Peter A. Meyer, came to America in 1830, locating in St. Louis, Mo.,

where he engaged in operating a foundry until the time of his death, in

1851. Abraham was reared and educated in St. Louis, with the excep-
tion of one year in the State University, at Columbia. In 1850, he went

to California, where he remained two years, when he returned to St.

Louis and engaged in the leather business until 1850. During the early

part of the war he was appointed Assistant Assessor for the United States,

for Henry, Benton, St. Clair, Polk, Dallas, Laclede and Hickory
Counties. In the year of 1863, he came to Sedalia, and went into the

hide, leather and saddlery business, which he followed until 1872, when
he engaged in the real estate business, which he followed only for a short

time. During the succeeding year he organized the First Building and

Loan Association of Sedalia. In 1873, he engaged in the lumber busi-

ness, which he has continued successfully to the present time. Mr. Meyer
is the owner of considerable real estate in Sedalia, and his many transac-

tions in that line of business net him a fine profit. He made one addition

to the city, known as Meyer & Kahr's Addition, Mr. Meyer is a mem-
ber of the Masonic fraternity, and also an original member of the First

Presb3'terian Church. He was married in 1852, to Miss Adaline Lumley,
of St. Louis, and a native of Louisville, Ky. In 1878, he and his wife

visited the old country, attending the Paris Exposition, and visiting

England, Scotland, Ireland, France, Belgium, Holland, Prussia and Swit-

zerland, which is now a source of great satisfaction to him, as his com-

panion was called fi^om him soon thereafter. The death of his wife

occurred June 16, 1881. He was an honorary delegate to the Paris Expo-
sition.

PETER R. MEYERS.

Of the firm of Vitt & Meyers, dry goods. Mr. Meyers is a native of

Cole County, Mo. His father, Peter S., was a native of Germany, now a

resident of Sedalia. His mother was also a native of Germany.
Peter R., the subject of this sketch, was educated in Cole County, Mo.,

where he learned the printing business in his youth. In 1871 he entered

the First National Bank, of Sedalia, as bookkeeper, where he remained one
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year, when he entered the dr}^ goods house as salesman where we now
find him. After the first year he bought an interest in the business, since

which time he has been an active partner in the house. Mr. Meyers was
married in 1874 to Miss Bianka Frish. They have two children, Ida A.,

Leo C, one deceased. Mr. Meyers is a member of the Catholic Knights.

DR. ROBERT TEVIS MILLER.

Oldest merchant in Sedalia, was born in Richmond, Ky., Nov. 19, 1831.

His parents, James E. and Harriet F. Miller, were born and reared in

Madison County, Ky., where they resided until ISl-l, when they removed

to Missouri and located on a farm near where Tipton now stands, in Moni-

teau Count}^ The subject of this sketch received his academical educa-

tion at the State University of Missouri, where he prosecuted his studies

four years under the able administration of James T. Thanon. He after-

wards took the degree of Doctor of Medicine at the St. Louis Medical

College, spring of 1860, and attended a third course of lectures at the same

college in 1863. Was united in marriage to Miss Nellie M. Hutchin, of

Detroit, Mich., May 28, 1861. He had the misfortune to lose his wife

October 2, 1880, leaving four girls, Jeannie T., Julia K., Hattie and Katie

B. After graduating he engaged in the practice of medicine at Tipton,

Mo., where he had a drug store and near by a farm, which he cultivated

by slave labor under the management of an overseer. During the fall of

1860, business becoming very dull at Tipton, he concluded to look out

another location for the sale of drugs and practice of medicine, and came

to Sedalia prospecting. He was well pleased with its location, &c., and was

induced by Gen. Geo. R. Smith, with whom he boarded, to purchase a

lot, which he did at once, and bought the lot now occupied by Bixby &
Houx, of Mr. Wm. Nichol, now cashier of Commercial Bank of St. Louis,

for two hundred dollars, and at once commenced the erection of his drug

store, a story and half building. He bought a small stock of drugs of

John A. Read, who was in the commission and forwarding business, and

rented one side of his store room until he could build, which enabled him

at once to commence the sale of drugs and practice of medicine. After

having opened out in his new house his stock of drugs, which was about

the 1st of March, 1861, Mr. W. E. Bard, his present partner, applied to

him for a situation as clerk in the drug store
;
he was accordingly employed

at a salary of fifteen dollars per month and board. After the expiration of

one year he was taken in as a full partner in the drug business, and the

partnership has continued from that day to this, now over twenty years.

The doctor was the first physician, as well as druggist, to locate in Sedalia.

The war breaking out, and his overseer on the farm near Tipton, having

abandoned his situation, the doctor was compelled to return to his old

32
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home and take charge of the farm and negroes in person and leave the

drug store in the hands of his partner until the close of the war, when he

again resumed the drug business at Sedalia. In 1873 he entered the

political arena and was elected Mayor of Sedalia over his competitor,

Major Wm. Beck, by a large majority. During the same year he was

elected a member of the Board of Incorporators of the Female Orphan
School at Camden Point, Mo. October, 1879, he was elected the first

President of the State Pharmaceutical Association, and was re-elected the

following year. Was chosen Vice-President of Pettis County Bank, 1880;

was married the second time to Miss Margaret T, Henderson, daughter of

the Rev. J. T. A. Henderson, May 23, 1882, at Sedalia, Mo.

C. MITCHUM.

Was born in Woodford County, Ky., in 1841. His father, John

Mitchum, was a native of Kentuck}^ also. His mother, Julia, nee Davis,

was a native of Maryland. C. Mitchum, the subject of this sketch, came to

Lexington, Mo., in 1842, with his parents. He was raised principally in

Andrew County, Mo. In 1861 he entered the Confederate army in Gen.

Morgan's command and served four years, except nineteen months, when

he was a prisoner. During his soldier life he w^as twice wounded. After

the war he remained in Kentucky until 1866, w^hen he returned to Sedalia.

Since which time he has spent a good portion of his time in farming and

dealing in stock. He was married in 1870 to Miss M. A. Wood, a

daughter of Watson Wood, one of the early settlers of this county. They
have six children, John A., Eva, Ada, Dovey, Mary E. and Virginia.

THOMAS J. MONTGOMERY, {deceased.)

One of the remarkable men of his age, th» latter part of whose life

was closely identified with the history of SedaHa, was Dr. T. J.

Montgomery. His strong character and remarkable individuality has

left indelible impressions upon the city, whose growth he had seen from

its infancy, and whose society he had done so much to elevate and adorn.

Possessed of a mind of rare cultivation and stored with the richest gems
of knowledge. Dr. Montgomery was at once conspicuous for his social

virtues and his Christian graces. A steadfast friend, a tender husband,

a consistent, earnest Christian, and a devoted father, he filled his sphere

in life in a way which ennobled himself while benefitting mankind. Few
men of his age and country have passed through a more chequered

career, or one which involved the elements of a nobler manhood. In the

years of his long residence in this county, his strong character and pre-

vailing sense of dut}^ has done much to fashion the social and moral

opinions of the community, and wherever the imprint has been felt it has

been alike effective for good, and happy in its influence. Dr. Montgom-
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ery was born in Danville, Ky., on the 9th day of August, 1812. In 1814

his father started to move from Danville to St. Louis, but owing to the

distracted state of the country, from the war then waging between the

United States and Great Britain, concluded to stop in Springfield until the

war was over, where he remained until he died in 1826. About the time

of his father's death Dr. Montgomei-y met with an accident, which ever

afterward had a marked effect upon his life. We give it in his own lan-

guage, from a hastily written sketch of his life, prepared by him at the

importunity of his son: "When I was in my fourteenth year I was sent ,

to school some five miles from town, in the country, boarding out five

days in the week and returning on Friday evening. Being very fond of

fishing, I frequently spent part of the night on the creek. One night, late

in the fall, I and another boy went out fishing, and the night being cold,

we built quite a large fire. I soon tired of fishing, and the other boy not

being willing to go home so soon, I laid down by the fire, with my back

near it, and fell asleep. I slept an hour or two, when I awoke and found

that it had been raining, a drizzling, cold rain. I was very cold, except

my back, which, being near the fire, was intensely hot, while my feet were

cold and numb, but, boy-like, I thought nothing of it, and went to my
boarding house. In a few days I was taken with a pain in my back,

which gradually developed into curved spine. For three 3^ears I never

knew what it was to be free from pain, day or night. Between the disease

and the doctor, my life was a torture. At the end of three years my
pains left me, but I was a deformed cripple for life. No one can tell the

mental anguish I now suffered. During my confinement of nearly three

years I had been alrnost a constant reader, devouring everything I could

get hold of in the form of a book. My mind was well stored with general

information, but my prospects for future success very gloomy. Mother

was verv poor, a large family to sustain, but some how or other, under

the Providence of God and the occasional assistance of friends, I managed
to pick up a prettv good education, and at the age of eighteen commenced

the study of medicine with Dr. E. B. Gaither, of Springfield, Ky. I

remained in his oflfice, except when at home assisting my mother, until the

fall of 1833. nearly three years." Years afterward, when he had grown
to be a middle-aged man, and his fortunes in life were made, in speaking

to a young friend—himself deformed—ot that great misfortune of his

youth, he said, in his quaint, expressive way: "It was for twenty years

the horror of my life, but I have outgrown it now, as you will yours in

time. It is a great deal better to be lame in the back or feet than in the

head." But the encouraging words were accented with a touch of pity or

regret, and it is doubtful if the shadow of that youthful affliction was ever

completely banished from his life. No one upon whom the finger of

Providence has fallen will ever escape its memory. But it stimulated him
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to exertions that wrested from the jaws of affliction the triumphs of a well-

spent life. Others might have given up and fallen by the wayside
— it

has been the fate of many—but it had no power to swerve his evenly bal-

anced character from the path of duty, or to curb the activity of a mind

bent upon achieving its appointed work. An important auxiliary in this

result was his early and happy marriage. No influence upon man's des-

tiny is so effectual for good, as that of a pure and noble woman's love.

Of this event, his manuscript says:

In 1836, I met Miss Emily Flournoy, daughter of Mathew Flournoy,
deceased, at a party, and fell over head and ears in love with her. She
was then in her 18th year. I paid her very close attention, and in 1S37

proposed and was accepted by her. She told me, however, that her
mother would oppose the match on account of my poverty, and being
burdened, as she expressed it, with another family

—my mother's. I was

very much in love, and told her that if she would stick to me we would

marry anyhow. She promised, and I redoubled my exertions in business.

In the fall of that 3'ear I went to Louisville and attended a course of

medical lectures at the Louisville University, and having practiced suc-

cessfully four vears, was allowed by the rules of the school to be a candi-

date for graduation. I graduated without any difficult}^, in 1838. I must,
in passing, say to my own credit, although it may look like self-praise,
that in my graduating thesis, I took a position in the treatment of the

disease on which I wrote, twenty 3ears in advance of the day, and was

regarded as a medical heretic. I believed, however, that I was right, and
to my great satisfaction, twenty years after, it became the approved treat-

ment, and so continues to this day. I got no credit, hov%^ever, for it, as my
essay slumbered in the archives of the medical institute, and somebody
else made the same discovery that I had made, published his treatment
and took the honors, and even he is now forgotten.

In the spring of 1838 he married Miss Emily Flournoy, and in the years
that followed he learned to treasure his pure and noble wife as his greatest

earthly possession. From that time on his course was but a repetition of

the vicissitudes which fall to the lot of struggling humanity all the world

over. It had its crosses and trials—^its successes too; for what life is so

severe that it has no sweets. At the time of his marriage he was prac-

ticing his profession in Maxwell, a small town in Washington County, Ky.,

but about a year afterwards, moved back to Springfield, where he con-

tinued in the practice until he moved to this State in the fall of 1857. He
first settled on a farm on Heath's Creek, about fifteen miles north of Sedalia,

but soon tiring of this, he in 1859 moved to Georgetown. He here

opened a drug store, and practiced medicine until the spring of 1853. In

1862 he suffered his next and greatest bereavement in the death of his

wife, but with a large famil}' of young children he continued to reside in

Georgetown until in the spring of 1863, when his daughter, Georgiana,
who had kept house for him and cared for his children, sickened and died.

The whole county was then torn in pieces by the civil war. From the
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very beginning, Dr. Montgomery was firm and outspoken in his feelings
and opinions, and believing the time had come when even he should do his

share in the common cause, he moved his children to St. Louis, and

accepted the position of Surgeon in Col. Philips Seventh Regiment, M. S.

M. He served with the regiment until the close of the war, being the

Medical Director of the District of Central Missouri. While stationed at

Warrensburg, he met there Mrs. Amanda Smith, to whom he was married

on the 26th day of April, ISB-t. In 1865 he was mustered out of the

service and moved to Sedalia. He at once entered upon a large and
lucrative practice, and before many years ranked with the ablest and best

men of his profession in the State. In 1872 his health began to fail him,
and before long his complaint developed with Bright's disease of the

kidneys, and on the 18th day of May, 1878, he died—honored and loved

by all who knew him and calmly confident of the well-earned plaudit
—

*' well done, good and faithful servant." In politics Dr. Montgomery was
an Old Line Whig until the dissolution of that grand old party compelled
him to seek other affiliations, when he allied himself with the Democrats.

But he was never a partisan. His conservative cast of character always
led him to oppose the extremists of both sections, and fired with that spirit

of conciliation and compromise which was so dear to the followers of Clay,
the true solution of our sectional troubles. In 1866 Dr. Montgomery was
elected an Alderman of Sedalia and was re-elected in 1869, and in 1871

was nominated and elected by the Democratic party to the Mayoralty.
These were perhaps the only public offices that he ever filled. Yet his

wise and inflexible administration of the laws, and his high sense of duty,
made him a very popular magistrate. Recurring to this period of his

career, he says in his autobiography:

The office of Mayor was a vexatious and troublesome affair, and always
will be to a man who wishes to honestly discharge its duties. I found it

to bring many more kicks than coppers, and the only pleasant memory I

have of it is that at the close of my term the officers of the cit}^ with the
Board of Aldermen, presented me with a beautiful gold watch as a token,

they said, of my fearless and honest discharge of the duties of my office.

Dr. Montgomery joined the Presbyterian Church under the ministra-

tion of his brother, Rev. Dr. Montgomery, in the early part of 1840, and

was an active and zealous member of that church, as long as he lived,

having served as an elder for some twenty years. Dr. Montgomery left,

surviving him, his widow, Mrs. Amanda J. Montgomery, and three sons

and four daughters, all of whom reside in Sedalia, except the wife of

Anthony Haynes, Esq., who lives in Boonville.

JOHN MONTGOMERY, Jr.

Was born August, 184-1:, in Springfield, Ky. His father, Dr. T. J.
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Montgomery, was born in Kentucky, as was his mother, whose maiden

name was Emily Flournoy, and who died in 1862. His father came to

Pettis County in 1857, and died in Sedaha in May, 1878. John, the sub-

ject of this sketch, was reared and educated in Georgetown, this county,
and in 1865 he took up the study of law with Col. John F. Philips, of

Sedalia. In June, 1868, he was admitted to the bar, and began the prac-

tice of his profession. In 1873, he was appointed attorney for the M., K.

& T. Railway Company, and served in that capacity until their consolida-

tion with the Missouri Pacific. In 1880, he, in connection with J, C.

Thompson, bought out the Sedalia Gas Light Company, and have since

been the sole owners and operators of that enterprise. Mr. Montgomery
is also largely interested in real estate in the county. He belongs to the

different lodges of the Masonic order, and has just been elected Master

of the Granite Lodge, Sedalia. He was married in November, 1868, to

Maggie M. Sneed, daughter of John M. Sneed, an old settler and promi-
nent resident of Pettis County. As a lawyer, Mr. Montgomery occu-

pies a leading position. Patient and thorough in investigation, ever vigi-

lant, earnest and persuasive before court and jury, he is generall}?- success-

ful in his causes. Standing as he does in the prime of hfe in vigorous

health, his ability as a lawyer established, with a lucrative practice which

has already yielded him a life competence, we predict for him an honor-

able, useful and brilliant future. He has two children living, Lee and

George, and two deceased.

GEN. BACON MONTGOMERY.
Is the oldest member of the press of Pettis County, though still a man

in the prime of mental and physical vigor, still in the harness after twenty-

five years of newspaper work. iJuring the war he was a Union soldier;

made a splendid record, and attained the positions of Major of Volunteers

and finally of Brigadier General of State militia. He started and ran the

first paper in the county, in 1860, the Gcorgetozun Independetit, He is a

practical printer. He had onl}' a common school education, but his vig-

orous common sense, his courage, his pride and enthusiasm in his profes-

sion, his readiness and his ability to work, have made him one of the clear-

est and most forcible writers of good English in Central Missouri, and as

good a reporter for a daily paper as there is in the West. In a town like

Sedalia, where the editors and reporters are all known as individuals, the

character and abilities of the man lend character and tone to the paper.

Gen. Montgomery has given life, tone and character to the Weekly Times,

the Daily Bazoo and the Daily Democrat, while in the position of local

editor. The writer has worked with him, shoulder to shoulder, and has

been filled with pride in his profession when he saw Gen. Montgomery

always bold on the side of right, and always ready for any task in the line
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of duty, no matter how hard, no matter what the hour, the weather or the

difficulties of the task. At two o'clock in the morning, after eighteen
hours of hard work, he will put on his rubber coat, buckle on a brace of

navy revolvers, ride ten miles into the country at the head of a sheriff's

posse in search of a murderer; help to capture* the criminal; ride back

home, and have the paper out by six o'clock in the morning, with a col-

umn account of the deed, which he wrote and in some cases assisted in

setting up. He knows everybody; he sees everything; he knows how
to tell what he sees; and he is never afraid to tell what he ought. Of the

tasks that the editor and reporter must do, he can do them all well. He
has gone through an amount of labor, physical and mental, that would
kill ten "ordinary" men

;
but at forty-five years of age he has not a gray

hair; he weighs 175 pounds; has an eye as clear as crystal and a com-

plexion like a school girl. He is married and has several children, and

was raised in Pettis County. He is good yet for lifteen years of work.

He has been local editor of the Daily Democrat at intervals for the past
seven years. During his retirement I. MacD. Demuth and Wm. H.

Mugford were local editors.

PROF. WILLIAM H. MOOPv.E, A. M.

The subject of this sketch is manager of the Sedalia Business College.
He was born in Green County, Illinois, March 17, 1851. His father, Amos
Moore, was a native of New Jerse}^, and now is a resident of Jersey

County, 111., and was one of the leading architects of that State and built

the first house in Sacramento, Cal. The mother of Wm. H. Moore was
a native of Ohio, whose ancestors dated back to Richard Lyman of Eng-
land, who came to Plymouth in the Mayflower in the winter of 1620.

Her maiden name was Clarisa Lyman, She died in the year 1875 at the

age of seventy years. Wm. H. Moore entered the army as drummer

boy when twelve years of age and served through the war. He was
educated at the Illinois College, of Jackson. After he graduated in 1869 he

came West and engaged in the wholesale grocer}' business in Neosho

County, Kas., which he continued about two years. In 1874 he was em-

ployed by the Missouri, Kansas and Texas Railroad Company as Secre-

tary of their law department, with office at Parsons, Kas. After remain-

ing here some time he resigned his position and went to Salt Lake City,
where he took charge of the books for one of the largest mining and

smelting companies in the country. Here he remained till 1876, when he

came to Sedalia and took charge of the Missouri, Kansas and Texas

Railroad Company's general ledger. In 1879 he went to Leadville, Col.,

and was engaged as paymaster and general manager of the Georgetown
and Leadville stage line. Mr. Moore has had a large experience in com-
mercial business circles all his life. In 1880 he returned to Sedalia and in
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company with R. M. Fraker opened a freneral accountant's office, which

proved to be a successful business. From this has grown the Sedalia

Business College, which is elaborately noticed elsewhere. Mr. Moore
was united in marriage Dec. 11, 1870, with Miss Josie Eller, of Indianapo-

lis, Ind., daughter of Heilr}'^ Eller of that city. They have one child—-

Nettie. Mr. Moore is of the best families of this countr}'
—the Beechers

and Lymans. He is a gentleman of good business tact, who makes his

calling a success.

REUBEN H. MOSES.

County collector of Pettis County. Was born in Cuba, New York, in

the year 1838. He remained in his native State until 1853, when he

removed with his parents to Rockford, 111. Here he engaged in contract-

ing and building, which he followed until 1862, at which time he enlisted

in the Federal arm}'. First Illinois Cavalry, and served for two years,

being one of an escort for Gen. Steele, a portion of the time. At the

battle of Lexington, Mo., the regiment was captured, with the exception
of Company K, and was mustered out b}' special order. He again
entered the service as 1st Lieutenant of Co. C, 146 Illinois Infantry, and

served until the close of the war in 1865. During the same year, (1865),

he married Francis De La Mater, a native of Ohio, and by her has five

children, of whom three are living: Sadie, Charles F. and Reuben H.

In the winter of 1865-66, he came to Sedalia, where he resumed his occu-

pation as contractor and builder, and in November, 1870, he was elected

clerk of the court of Pettis County, serving two terms of four years each.

January 1, 1879, he opened the boot and shoe house of Moses & Van

Wagner, in which he is still interested. In November, 1880, he was

again called to serve as a public officer, being elected to the office of

County Collector of Pettis County. Reuben H. Moses has proved faithful

to every trust; and as a public officer he has served the people well. His

father, A. G. Moses, now deceased, was a native of New York State

He is a member of the I. O. O. F., and also a member of the Congrega-
tional Church of Sedalia.

CHARLES F. NEESON.

Proprietor of the cit}^ mills. Mr. Neeson was born in Belfast, Ireland*

in 1846. His father, Robert Neeson, still resides in the Old Country,

aged SO years. His mother, Susan, nee Gray, still lives. Chai-les Neeson
came to America in 1870, locating in Cass County, 111., and engaged in

milling one year, after which he came to Cooper County, Mo., where he

again engaged in milling until 1875, when he came to Sedalia and bought
an interest in the Farmers Mill, where he has since been in business. Mr.

Neeson was married in June, 1881, to Jane Franklin, of SedaHa. Mr.

Neeson is a member of the I. O. O. F,
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CYRUS NEWKIRK.
President of the First National Bank, Sedalia, Mo. Mr. Newkirk was

born in Brown County, Ohio, March 12, 1821. His father, Henry New-
kirk, was also a native of Ohio, who died when the subject of this sketch

was a boy. When he became a young man he engaged as clerk in an iron

smelting works at Hanging Rock, Ohio. He continued in this business

about eighteen years, soon having become a partner in the firm. During
this time he superintended two of the largest iron manufactories in that

district. He first met Col. A. D. Jaynes, who also became a partner with

him in the Vinton furnace, in Vinton, which they sold in 1861. From
18()1 to 1865, he was engaged in the mercantile business at his old

home in Brown County, Ohio. In the summer of 1865, he came
to Missouri and spent between three and four weeks looking
for a location with a view ol locating upon a site which was
destined to become a great railroad center, and although Sedalia at this

time was a small settlement, the wisdom of his choice in investing here

and bending his energies to the accomplishment of his favorite project
is well attested. Soon after coming here Mr. Newkirk and Col. Jaynes
established the First National Bank, of which Mr. Newkirk has been

either president or cashier ever since. They immediately secured the

old charter of the road known as the Tebo and Neosho Railroad, and

organized a compan^^ which began building at Sedalia, in the direction of

Ft. Scott. This is now the M., K. & T. R. R. These gentlemen were
the prime movers in the enterprises which have resulted in making
Sedalia the flourishing city and railroad center which it now is. He was
married Dec. 19, 1849, to Rebecca Isaminger, a native of Ohio. They
have six children, all living; Mary, the wife of S. S. Woodard, of Brook-

field, Mo. ; Emma, the wife of E. A. Philips, of Sedalia; Ida B., at Wellesly

College, Mass.; Lucy, x\lice and Albert. Mr. Newkirk has ever been

identified with enterprises calculated to build up the city and county; a

man held in high esteem by his neighbors and fellow citizens. Although
well up in years, he is still actively engaged in business, devoting the

most of his time to the bank of which he is president. He has amassed a

handsome fortune, and were it not for his habits of industry formed in his

younger years, could well afford to retire from an active business life.

He owns an elegant residence property, on the corner of Ohio street and

Broadway, which is among the finest in the city, and one which would

do credit to a much larp-er place. In 1847, Col. Jaynes became treasurer

of the Missouri, Kansas and Texas Railroad, which demanded so much of

his time that Mr. Newkirk now took the position of cashier, and Col.

Jaynes that of president. They each retained these positions until the

19th of July, 1880, when Col. Jaynes ceased to be actively engaged in the
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bank, (althouirh still interested in
it,) and Mr. Newkirk was again

chosen president, which position he has ever since retained.

GEO. B. NORTON.
Of the firm of Norton & Green, grocers and provision dealers. Was

born in 1839, in Medina County, Ohio, and is the son of Birdse}^ B. Nor-

ton, a native of Connecticut, who is still living at the old homestead in

Medina County, having settled there in 1821, where George B., the sub-

ject of this sketch, was born. His mother, whose maiden name was

Emily M. Ward, was born in Canada, and died in the year of 1854. He
was reared on a farm, receiving his early education in the district schools

of that locality. He afterward attended Berea University, Ohio, after

which he engaged in teaching school for some time. Young Norton

completed his college course in 1859, and went to Wisconsin, where he

engaged in the manufacture and sale of force pumps, which business he

followed for three years. In the spring of 1872, he returned to his home
in Ohio, and soon afterward enlisted in Company K, 103d Ohio Regiment

Infantry. He was in active service until the close of the w^ar, serving as

Sergeant and Second Lieutenant, having been appointed about the close

of the first year. He was soon after commissioned First Lieutenant,
which he held till the close of the war, being most of the time in com-
mand of the company. During his career as a soldier, Mr. Norton

served under Generals Burnside and Sherman, taking part in the battle

of Armstrong Hill, and also one at Greenville, Tenn., with the former,
after which he was transferred to Gen. Sherman's command, and was
with him during his campaign in Georgia. During his service in the war
he escaped being taken prisoner, or severe bodily injury, although on

many occasions his clothing was pierced by bullets, and at one time he

lost the rim of his hat by a bullet passing through it and carrying it

away. On Oct. 29, 1865, he was married to Miss Sarah R. Lamm, of

Wayne County, O., and daughter of Phillip Lamm, of that place, and in

November of the same year, accompanied by his wife, he came to Seda-

lia. After a short residence here, Mr. Norton purchased a farm about four

miles from Sedalia, where he was engaged in farming and school teach-

ing until 1873, when he rented his farm and came to Sedalia, and for some
time was engaged in selling family medicines and notions, traveling the

greater part of Jiis time through Southwest Missouri. In 1876, he entered

the Co-operative Store as salesman, where he remained until 1879, when
he and Mr. Chas. O. Green, his present partner, bought the store, and

have ever since been identified as the leading retail grocers of Sedalia.

Their store is situated on Ohio street, between Second and Third streets,

and the stock of goods which they carry is not only one of the largest
and most complete, but for quality and freshness their goods cannot be



HISTORY OF SEDALIA. 711

excelled by any house in Sedalia. Mr. Norton belongs to the prominent

lodges of the city, and he and his wife are members of the Congrega-
tional Church. Mrs. Norton conducts a large millinery establishment on

Ohio street, between Main and Second streets, where she has a large

assortment of milliner}^ and fancy goods. They have two children,

Willis C. and Lilian c'

JAMES M. OFFIELD.

Of J. M. Offield & Co., hardware merchants. Mr. Offield was born in

1842, in Polk County, Missouri. His father, Lewis D., a native of Vir-

ginia, located in Polk County, Missouri, in 1837. His mother, Martha,

nee Spicer, was a native of Tennessee. Mr. Offield's ancestry are of

English descent. J. M. Offield was educated at Bolivar, Mo. He after-

wards served as a salesman for some years. In 1805, he came to Sedalia,

where he was ticket agent for the Missouri, Kansas & Texas Railroad

two years. In 1S67 he entered the grocery house of Messrs. Hall &
Beiler, where he remained until 1873, when he went to Sherman, Texas,

where he engaged in the wholesale grocery trade, until 1879, when he

returned to Sedalia, and engaged in hardware trade, which he still con-

tinues. In 1880 he built the large brick block at the corner of Second

and Osage streets, which is one of the very finest in the city, where he

has a very extensive stock of hardware. In 1881 Mr. R. T. Gentry

became a partner with him in this house. Mr. Oflield was married in

1866 to Allie B. Gentry, daughter of Major Wm. Gentry, of this county.

They have two children. Gentry, James M.,Jr. Mr. Offield is a mem-

ber of the Masonic fraternity, and Knights of Pythias. Mr. Offield is a

prominent business man of this city, and his large trade is evidence of his

enterprise. A cut of his elegant business block on the northwest corner

of Osage and Second streets is found on page 423 of this volume.

RICHARD M OLMSTED.

Of the firm of Olmsted & Jefferson, livery and feed stable. Mr. Olm-

sted was born in 1849, in Jersey County, 111. His father, Richard, was a

native of New York State. His mother, Louisa, nee Crabb, a native of

Tennessee. Richard M. began railroading when but a boy, and followed

it for several years. In 1874, he came to Sedalia, and engaged in trans-

fer business until the spring of 1882, when he, with his partner, built the

large livery and sale stable, where they are now in business. He is a

member of the I. O. O. F. He was married in 1876 to Mattie Bowlin,

of Versailles, Mo. They have two children, Wilson H. and Bessie P.

DR. J.
M. OVERSTREET.

Was born Feb. 4, ISy'^^t, in Mercer County, Kentucky. His father,
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Robert Overstreet, died at his old home in 1855. His mother, Jane, nee

Lowrey, was a native of the same State, and died in 1879, at the

advanced age of eio^hty-two years. His father served in the war of 1812,

under General Harrison, and was a personal friend of the General. Dr.

J. M. was educated in the schools of the County where he was born, and

in 1850 began the study of medicine. He graduated from the University
of Louisville, Ky., in 1854. He afterward emigrated to Missouri, locating

in the neighborhood of Smithton, Pettis County, and engaged in the prac-

tice of his profession. Here he remained but a short time, when he went

to Monmouth, 111., where he practiced medicine until the fall of 1860, when
he returned to Smithton, where he remained until 1879, when he came to

Sedalia, and here he has ever since remained. Dr. Overstreet was mar-

ried in 1859 to Martha L. Philips, daughter of Rev. J. R. Philips, of

Warren County, 111. His wife died Sept. 9, 1880. She was a very worthy
member of the Presbvterian Church in Warren County, 111. She was

buried in the Kirkwood Cemetery, Warren County, 111. He has three

children living, named respectively: Harry, now with Myres Bros., druggists,

of Kansas City; Robert R., Carrie, deceased, and Lena B. Dr. Over-

street is a member of the Presbyterian Church, in high standing.

COL. JOHN F. PHILIPS.

Was born, Dec. 31, 1834, in Boone County, Mo., on the homestead

founded by his father in 1817. His father was John G. Philips, who was

a native of Virginia. He was a soldier in the war of 1812, and partici-

pated in the battles of Tippecanoe and the Thames. After the war he

settled in Kentuck}'-, and married Mary Copeland in Mercer County, Y^y.

In 1817 they moved to Boone County, Mo., where he lived until his death

in 1867. He was a mechanic and farmer, successful in business and

respected and honored by all. The subject of this sketch was his young-
est child. He was reared upon the farm, and attended the usual district

schools. He was also a student at the State University at Columbia,
Mo. From there he went to Centre College, Ky., where he graduated
in 1855. Returning home he read law under Gen. John B. Clark, Sr., of

Fayette, Mo. In 1856-7 he located at Georgetown, Pettis County, then

the county seat, where he practiced law until the outbreak of the war. In

1857 he was married to Miss Fleecie Batterton, of Danville, Ky., of which

marriage there were born two children, Emmet and Hortense. Emmet

graduated at the ahna mater of his father, under whom he read law and

attended the Columbia Law School in the city of New York. He is now

practicing his profession in Sedalia. Miss Hortense is now attending Mrs.

Cuthbert's Seminary in St. Louis. The State Legislature of 1860-1

called a Convention of Delegates from the Senatorial Districts " to con-

sider the relation of the State to the Federal Union." Mr. Philips was
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elected a member of that Convention, and although one of its youngest

members he took rank in its deliberations as a debator and wise legisla-

tor. In the war he warmly espoused the cause of the Union. He raised

a regiment of cavalry and served through the war, commanding a brigade,

part of the time, under Gens. Schofield and Pleasanton. In 1864, for gal-

lant services in battle, he was appointed Brigadier General by Gov. Wil-

lard P. Hall, and by Gen. Rosecrans placed in command of the District

of Central Missouri, which position he held until mustered out in 1865.

At the close of the war the Colonel resumed the practice of law at Sedalia,

where he has ever since resided. In 1866 he and Judge Russell Hicks

formed a partnership, and shortly afterward George H. Vest joined the

firm, and he and Col. Philips continued together until lately, when Mr.

Vest was elected to the Senate of the United States. As advocates they

achieved a wide reputation and commanded all the practice they could do.

In politics Col. Philips is a Democrat, and few men in Missouri have done

more to lift high his party's standard than he. He opposed the Drake

Constitution in 1865, canvassed with Gen. Blair in 1866; led the forlorn

hope of the Democracy in his district for Congress in 1868, and through
the disfranchisement of thousands of voters he was beaten, but his burning

words of patriotism and invectives kindled a spirit that renewed the fight

for this gallant leader, until in 1874 he was again nominated and triumph-

antly elected to the Forty-Fourth Congress, in which he served with rare

distinction. Many of his speeches show that he is a thoughtful scholar,

of varied literary and practical information. Mr. P. was also a member of

the Forty-Sixth Congress, and added much to his already large fame.

Could he have been continued there he would have held such rank as to

have reflected honor on his native State. He is one of the most attractive

campaign speaker? in his party, and his services are always in demand

over the State. His literary attainments are rare. He has delivered sev-

eral addresses before the colleges of Missouri and Masonic bodies that

left pleasing and enduring impressions. In religion Col. P. is a Presby-

terian. In 1877 he was a delegate from the United States to the Pan

Presbyterian Convention at Edinburgh, Scotland. He then made a tour

of the British Isles and the Continent of Europe, visiting their historic ruins

and cities, courts and legislative bodies. He is now engaged in his pro-

fession, and enjoys a practice second to few men in the State, and his re-

peated successes at the bar indicate that he has a sdll brighter future.

EMMET E. PHILIPS.

Attorney at law. Is another of Sedalia's young and interprising attor-

ne3^s. He was born in Georgetown, Pettis County, Mo., March 2d, 1858,

and is the son of Col. John F. Philips, whose biography appears on

another page of this work. He was educated at the State University of
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Missouri, and Centre College of Danville, Kentuck}^ graduating from the

latter in 1877. i\fter he received his degree from this institution he com-

menced the study of law in his father's office. He afterward attended

Columbia Law School in New York and graduated from that institution

in 1880. That young Philips is "a chip ofi'the old block," is shown by
his perseverance and rapid progress in his chosen profession. Being a

close student, temperate, and endowed with a quick perception, he has

already taken a stand among the practitioners of law, which may well

command the respect of that fraternity. He was married Jan. 31st, 1881,

to Miss Jennie Sheldon of Sedalia, a native of Chicago, 111., and a daughter
of L. F. Sheldon of the Mutual Telegraph Company,

EUGENE L. PHIPPS.

The subject of this sketch was born Dec. 17, 1834, in Framingham,
Mass. His father, Joseph Phipps, and mother were natives of the same

town, as was also his grandfather. E. L. Phipps was reared and edu-

cated in his native town, and at the age of seventeen years he went to

Boston and was employed as salesman in a wholesale dry goods establish-

ment of that citv. He remained in that position about three years, after

which he spent about four years in the west . He then went to New
York City and was in the house of H. B. Claflin & Co., as salesman for

fourteen years, and in 1871 he came to Sedalia and bought an interest in

the wholesale boot and shoe store of W. S. Mackey. Here he remained

until 1876, when he engaged in the grocery business, which he has con-

tinued until the present time. Mr. Phipps is a member of the Knights of

Pythias. The house of E. L. Phipps & Co. was opened in the spring of

1877. They purchased the large brick block on the corner of Ohio and

Fourth streets, where they have ever since been engaged in business.

The firm of E. L. Phipps & Co. keep a general provision and grocery

store, and in connection with it a large and well assorted stock of queens-

ware, and do a large and lucrative business.

DR. WILL H. PIETY.

Surgeon dentist. Dr. Piety is a native of Terre Haute, Indiana. His

father, Aus. H. Piety, was a native of France, who came to America in

1840, and settled in Terre Haute, Ind., where he still resides. His mother .

was a Ramsey, of French descent; but she was a native of Terre Haute,

Ind. Dr. Piety was educated in his native town. In 1877, he took up
the study of dentistry, under Dr. Preston A. Ames, of Baltimore, Md.

After graduating he practiced in Terre Haute until March, 1881, when he

came to Sedalia, where he has since been engaged in the practice of his

profession.
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JOHN W. POHL.

Brick manufacturer. Mr. Pohl was born Oct. 19, 1851, in St. Louis,

Mo. His father, B. B. Pohl, was a native of Germany. His mother,

Margaret, 7iee Helling, was a native of Prussia. John W. Pohl was reared

in St. Louis, where he was brought up to the brick making and contract-

ing business. In 18(37, his father removed to Jet^'erson City, where he and

John engaged in contracting and brick making until 1875, when John
W. came to Sedalia, where he has followed the same business since. He
manufactures over one and a half millions of brick per annum. Mr. Pohl

is a member of the Catholic Knights of America. He and his wife are

members of the Catholic Church. He was married in 1878 to Jennie

Burt, of Sedalia, a native of Cincinnati, Ohio, a daughter of John Burt,

now of Sedalia. They have one child, Harry B.

THOMAS J. PORTER.

Of the firm of Dalby & Porter, wholesale grocers. Mr. Porter was

born in 1835, in Fleming County, Kentucky. His father, John S. Porter,

was a native of Kentucky, now a resident of Sedalia, in his seventieth

year, and has all his life been an active business man until within the past

few months. His mother, Elvira, nee VanCamp, is still living. She was

a native of Kentucky, also. Thomas J. Porter was reared and educated

in Lexington, Mo, graduating from Masonic College, Lexington; in 1853.

He was for a time in the drug business in Lexington. Steamboated on

the Missouri River, and was in various other kinds of employment until

1876, when he engaged as traveling salesman for J. M. Anderson & Co.,

wholesale grocers of St. Louis, where he remained until March, 1882,

when he engaged in the wholesale grocery house of Dalby & Porter. Mr.

Porter and his wife are members of the Christian Church. He is also a

member of the A. O. U. W. He was married in 1859 to Miss Sallie

Garoy, of Howard County, Mo. They have two children, Ella and

Sallie.

W. L. PORTER.
Is a native of Boston. His father, Edward F. Porter, is a native of

Boston, of which he is still a resident. It was he who built the Porter

Block, corner of Main and Ohio streets, Sedalia. W. L. was raised and

educated in Boston. In 1868 he came to Sedalia and engaged in the boot

and shoe business, and having great confidence in the future of Sedalia,

encouraged his father to make investments in real estate here, which

have proved to be good investments. In 1879 he sold out his store and

has since given his entire time to real estate business. Mr. Porter was

married in 1874 to Miss Nettie Rose of Boston. They have one child,

Damon L. Mr. and Mrs. Porter are members of the M. E. Church.
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JAMES RAMSEY.
Restaurant and confectionery. Mr. Ramsey was born in 1846 in Ire-

land. In 1851 he came to America, locating at Boonville, Mo. In 1861 he

was in Pennsylvania, and enlisted in the Federal Army in the 112th Penn-

sylvania Regiment, and served three years. Was once taken prisoner,

but never wounded, although he saw hard service under his commander,
Ben Butler. In 1864 he came to Pettis County and farmed until 1877

when he came to Sedalia, and has been engaged in the auction and com-
mission business, until the fall of 1881, when he opened the restaurant and

confectionery store where he is now in business. Mr. Ramsey is a

member of the A. O. U. W., for which order he has been receiver for

the past two years. Mr. Ramsey is in command of the Queen City

Guards, of which he is a charter member. He was married in September,
1870, to Mar}'^ Clark, of Cooper County. Thev have five children,

Leonard, Florence, James H., Joseph B.. Nellie, and one deceased.

DAVID RAMSEY.
Was born, July 18, 1852, in Boonville, Mo. His father, Andrew

Ramsey, was a native of Ireland, who came to Boonville in 1849. Now a

resident of St. Paul, Minn. His mother, Sarah, nee Harley, was also a

native of Ireland. David Ramsey was reared principally in Pettis Count}?-

and educated at Boonville. After arriving at manhood he engaged in

farming for a number of years. In the spring of 1875 he engaged in

merchandising at CHfton, Mo. In Ma}^, 1877, he removed to Tipton,
where he sold goods about one year, after which he came to Sedalia and

engaged in grocery business for a time, after which he was in various

kinds of business until 1880, when he was appointed clerk for the city of

Sedalia, which position he held until the office was changed to that of

Water Commissioner, in 1881, at which time he was appointed to that

office and filled it until the spring of 1882. Mr. Ramsey was married

Nov. 5, 1872, to Miss Sadie McCarty of Boonville, Mo., a daughter of

William McCarty, one of the early settlers and prominent merchants of

that city. They have two children, Maud and May.

JULIUS RANTENSTRAUCH.
Queen City Trunk Factory. Mr. R. was born March 27, 1849, in St.

Louis, Mo. His father, Henry, was a native of German}'. Julius was

reared in St. Louis, where he learned the trunk manufacturing business

in his boyhood, beginning at theageof fourteen years. In 1871 he engaged
in business for himself in St. Louis, where he remained until 1878, when

he came to Sedalia and opened the factory and store where he has ever

since been engaged, on Ohio street, near Third. Here he manufactures
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all kinds of trunks, valises, and everything in his line. His work took the

first premium ever taken at the Sedalia fair. Mr. R. is a member of the

the I. O. O. F. He was married in 1872 to Anna Nichter, of St. Louis;

they have three children, Alfred, Irwin and Walter.

. JOHN W. RAYNOR.
One of the most popular freight conductors of the Missouri Pacific, is

the subject of this sketch, John W. Raynor. He is the son of Thomas

Raynor, a native of England, but who emigrated to the United States in

the fall of 1838. He first settled in Addison County, Vermont. He after-

wards moved to Ohio, where he died in the year 1864. The subject of

this sketch was born in Cornwall, Adison County, Vermont, Oct. 6, 1840.

He received his education in the schools of V^ermont and Ohio. After com-

pleting his education he learned the carriage painter's trade. He followed

his trade for four years, when he accepted a position as brakeman on the

Chicago & Alton Railroad, where he remained about six years; then, in

the fall of 1872, he accepted a position as conductor on the St. Louis &
Southeastern Railroad, remaining about eighteen months, when he went

to the Wabash and accepted a position as conductor. In the spring ot

1875 he invented a car mover. At this time he was "engaged for about

one year in selling the right to his patent. He also invented a street car

starter, and engaged for a few months in selling interests in the same. Mr.

R. has also invented other patents. In the spring of 1878, he accepted a

position with the Missouri Pacific, as conductor, which position he still

holds. He was married April 28, 1868, to Miss Mary A.Gorman. From
this union there were eight children, six of whom are now living, viz. :

Helena, Frances, Geo. E., Ralph H., Mary G. and Robert.

PROF. GEORGE W. READY.

Born in Fulton County, Pa., Aug. 12, 1836. Son of Alexander Ready, who
died at the age of forty, and Susan, nee Miller, still living in Fulton County,
Pa. Prepared in a private Academy to enter the Sophomore class of Alle-

ghany College, Meadville, Pa., and graduated from that institution in 1858.

The same year he became Principal of Linwood Academy, near Lebanon,

Tennessee, a large and flourishing institute; held this position till the out-

break of the war. Studied law in St. Louis one year, and entered Michi-

gan University, and graduated in the law department in 1865. Located

in Nashville, Tenn,, and practiced law successfully two years. Came to

Missouri in the summer of 1867, stopped in Sedalia, and in connection

with his brother, opened an office, and continued practicing law till the

organization of the public schools of Sedalia, in which event he partici-

pated, entering upon his work then, which continued ten years. Under

33
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his superintendency the schools of the city became equal to the best in the

State. Retiring from this position, he purchased property and opened
what was known as the Queen City Seminar}', northeast corner of Fifth

and Lafayette streets. The year was a successful one, closing with sev-

enty-five students. At the end of this year he enlarged his school build-

ing, and united his school with the Collegiate Institute, under Prof. J. B.

Van Petten, giving to the combined schools the name of Sedalia Seminary,
which Institute has been in successful operation three years. In Masonic

bodies he has been especially honored, having held the position of Master,

High Priest, Thrice Illustrious Grand Master, and Eminent Commander.
In church, he is a member and elder in the First Presbyterian Church of

this city. Married to Miss Addie M. Dixon, of Meadville, Pa., daughter
of Joseph Dixon, who was a soldier of the War of 1812, still living, hale

and hearty, at the age of ninety-three years. They have one child, eight

years of age, Addie May. Mrs. Ready is also a member of the Presby-
terian Church. On account of Prof. Van Petten retiring. Prof. Ready
assumes the entire control of the Sedalia Seminary.

B. S. REMBAUGH.

Proprietor Enterprise Mills. Mr. Rembaugh was born in Chester

County, Pa., in 1848. His father, George D., was a native of the same

place. His mother, Elizabeth McCutcheon, was a native of England.
Mr. Rembaugh served in the Quartermaster's Department for a short

time during the war. In 1869 came to Sedalia and engaged in the dairy
business. In 1875 he went to California, where he was in the dairy busi-

ness one year, after which he returned and was in the same business here

until 1879, when he engaged in milling. In 1881 he built the mill known
as "The Enterprise," where he is now employed. He was married in

1879 to Miss L. E. Maxon. They have four children —Alonzo E., Flor-

ence, Carrie and Harvey.

JUDGE CHARLES RICHARDSON.
Insurance Agent. Judge Richardson was born Feb. 16, 1822, in Col-

umbiana County, Ohio. His father, Joseph R., was a native of Pennsyl-
vania. His mother, Lydia Meyers, was a native of Pennsylvania also.

Judge Richardson was reared in Ohio. Graduated from Washington

College, Pa., in 1846, where he was a classmate of James G.Blaine. In

1845 he was admitted to the bar as a practicing attorney, practicing at

Hamilton, Ohio, for some years. In 1853 he built a paper mill at Middle-

ton, Ohio; in 1856 was Mayor of the city; from 1857 until 1861 he lived

in St. Louis, Mo., after which he moved on a farm near St. Louis, where

he remained until 1865, when he came to Sedalia. In 1866 he boutjht a

farm near Sedalia, where he lived until 1873, when he returned to the
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city, having been elected Judge of County Court in 1872. Since this time

Judge Richardson has lived in the city, practicing law, dealing in grocer-

ies and engaging in insurance business. Judge Richardson is at present a

member of the School Board. He was married in 1851 to Hannah B.

Graham, a native of Cincinnati, by whom he has six children living: Wm.
G., now of San Francisco; Benjamin F. S., with Citizens Nati(>nal Bank,

Sedalia; James G., Mary Belle, Charles, Anna S., and one deceased.
'

JOHN B. RICKMAN.

Butcher. Alderman of the Third Ward. Mr. Rickman was born

in 1810, in England. His father, Edwin, came to America in 1817 and

located in Monroe County, N. Y., where John B. was raised and educated.

He went to California in 1860 and spent five years mining in California,

Australia and New Zealand, after which he returned to Shawneetown,

111., and engaged in shipping stock for one year. In 1866 he came to Se-

dalia and engaged in butchering and dealing in stock. He has gained

largely in flesh since coming here and now weighs 340 pounds. He is a

member of the Knights of Honor, also Knights of Pythias. In 1879 he

was elected Alderman from the Third Ward and again in 1881. He was

married in 1869 to Annie L. Hill, of Sedalia. They have one child living,

Mary N.

PETER B. RIFFE.

Was born in 18t»7, in Casey County, Ky. His father, Christopher

Rifie, was born in Maryland, and was a Colonel in the battle of the

Thames. He was afterward promoted to General, which title he retained

until his death. His mother's maiden name was Ehzabeth Casey, a native

of Virginia. Peter B., the subject of this sketch, was reared in Kentucky,
where he lived the greater part of his life on a farm, and after he had

attained his manhood he followed it for many years. After Mr. Rifte

left the farm he began the hotel business, in Danville, Ky., where he

remained some time. He has filled creditably to himself and his constit-

uents, every otfice which his count}- could bestow upon him, (with the

exception of County Judge,) which fact will show the reader the character

of Peter B. Rifte. In 1876 he went to Butler County, Kansas. Here he

invested in lands and served two years as Magistrate, after which he came

to Sedalia, and now makes his home with his children here. He was

married to Julia A. Watkins, a native of Taylor County, Ky., in 1833, and

they have four children living, named respectively: Bettie A., the wife of

W. T. Cahill, of SedaHa; Roe A., the wife of C. H. Tucker of Sedalia;

Jno. W., now of Augusta, Kansas; Doca E., the wife of Jno. W. Garner,

of Louisville, Ky., and six deceased. Peter B. Rifte and wife were early

members of the Baptist Church.
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COL. RICHARD RITTER.

The subject of this sketch, Col. Richard Ritter, was born near Peters-

burg, Sangamon (now Menard) County, 111., Feb. 4, 1832. His father,

John Ritter, was a native of Kentucky, where he resided until 1828, when
he removed to Illinois and continued to reside there until his death, which
occurred in 1852. His mother, Malinda, nee Watkins, was born and

reared in the State of Illinois, and died in 1845. John Ritter was a farmer,
and young Richard grew up strong of limb, muscular, full of ambition,
nerve and courage; hard working, industrious and intelligent. On attain-

ing his majority, he engaged in mercantile pursuits in Havana, 111., and

continued in that business until 1856, when he was married to Miss Jane
Rule, daughter of Samuel Rule, of Mason County, 111., and of this mar-

riage there have been born three children, of whom two are still living:

Alice M. and Richard H., one having died in infancy. In the same year

(1856), he was elected Clerk of the Circuit .Court, of Mason County, 111.,

and during four years discharged the duties of that office with integrity
and ability. In 1861 he raised a company of volunteers, of which he was
elected Captain, marched them to Camp Butler, Illinois, arriving there

August 2d, being the first company that rendezvoused in that camp. His

company was eventually assigned to the 28th Regiment Illinois Infantry

Volunteers, designated
"
Company A," and ordered south October 28th,

1861. February 6th, 1862, Capt. Ritter, in command of his company and

accompanying his regiment, participated in the capture of Foits Henry
and Heiman, displaying considerable tact, skill and courage in the manage-
ment of his men in action, and seven days later, (Feb. 18th), while in com-
mand of a detachment of 48 men, he met and engaged a squadron of

Confederate Cavahy, under Col. Miller, at Little Bethel Church, Tenn.,

and, after a stubborn contest, defeated the enemy, inflicting serious loss.

In the battle of Shiloh, Tenn., April 6th and 7th, 1862, the 28th Illinois

Infantry was conspicuously engaged, occupying the peach orchard, and

for hours holding the ground against fearful odds. Captain Ritter was in

command of his company and lost twenty-one men, killed and wounded.

Lieut-Colonel Kilpatrick, of the 2Sth, was killed in the first day's

fight, and immediately after the battle Col. Johnson called together the

commissioned officers of the reijiment to elect a Lieut-Colonel. Dur-

ing the terrible ordeal through which the regiment had passed in that san-

guinary battle, Captain Ritter had acquitted himself with great gallantry
and discretion and was by far the most popular officer in the command.
The result was that Captain Ritter was nominated for Lieut-Colonel

and received all the votes except two, notwithstanding the Major of the

regiment was a candidate for promotion. Captain Ritter's bravery in

front of the enemy had been so conspicuous that he was known through-
out the entire brigade, and the news soon reached the Governor of Illinois,
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who, when the commission for Lieut-Colonel was brought to him
for his signature, caused to be inscribed across its face: "Promoted for

meritorious conduct at the battle of Shiloh, April 6th and Tth, 1862."

October 5th, 1862, he was engaged in the battle of Hatchie River, Tenn.,
where he again did gallant service by leading his command in a charge
across a bridge swept by the enemy's fire of grape shot from howitzers at

short range. The result was a glorious victory for the Union forces, the

capture of the enenw's position and 400 prisoners. But the loss to the gal-
lant 28th was something painful to contemplate. Within thirty minutes

ninety-eight men were wounded or killed, and among the wounded was
Lieut. Col. Ritter. His horse was shot three times during the action,

and the Colonel received a wound during the charge, from which at times

he still suffers great inconvenience and pain. He was in Grant's celebrated

march from Bolivar, Tenn., to Holly Springs and Waterford, Miss., in

November and December, 1862; he was engaged in the siege of Vicks-

burg from June 11th to July 4th, 1863, and July 12th, engaged in a charge

against Breckenridge's division at Jackson, Miss., losing out of a conniand

numbering only 128 ranh and Jile, 7? men killed and zvottnded. Sept. 1,

1863, participated in the capture ot Fort Beauregard at Harrisonville, La.,

and August 4th, commanded an expedition to Black Bayou, doing valu-

able service. March 27, 1865, he commanded his regiment in the

advance on Spanish Fort, Alabama, occupying the extreme right of the

division and corps, and during the entire siege of fourteen days held that

position, losing fourteen men killed and wounded, including two Captains.

April 12, 1865, engaged in a skirmish at Whistler Station, Ala,, which

was the last fight in which the regiment participated. On the 10th day
of May, 1865, Gov. Oglesby ordered four new companies to join the regi-

ment, thus filling it up to the maximum, and Lieut. Col. Ritter was com-

missioned Colonel. And now we come to the close of his military career;

he had been continually in active service in the field from Oct. 28, 1861, a

period of nearly four years, during which he endured privations and hard-

shios that would have wrecked a less robust constitution. The war was

over, and Col. Ritter, in August, 1865, resigned his commission and

returned to his home in Illinois, and in December following visited Sedalia,

and removed his family there in 1866. In that year he was appointed
road commissioner by the Pettis County Court, and located all the roads in

Pettis County leading to Sedalia. The town was fenced in on all sides

with scarcely a thoroughfare in any direction, and as the old settlers were

strenuously opposed to the location of roads along the section lines, it

required the exercise of considerable tact and much good humor and

patience in deahng with them. From 1867 to 1870 he was a member
of the Sedalia Board of Education, chairman of the committee on buildings,

and superintended the construction of Broadway and Franklin school
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buildings. When he first came to Sedalia he made extensive purchases of

real estate and has since invested a large sum of money in building up
the city, and at present has large real estate interests in Sedaha and Pettis

County. In 1868 he engaged in the lumber business, corner of Third and

Osage streets, and, with the exception of one year, has continued in the

business at the same place up to the present time. Col. Ritter is a shrewd,^

enterprising business man, and has applied the methods of military science

to his business atiairs, and the result is the most perfect order and system
in every department. His home life is beautiful. Surrounded by every

comfort and convenience, and with abundant means to meet every require-

ment, he there finds relief and rest from the cares and vexations which

inevitably follow in the train of active business pursuits, and enjoys the

companionship so dear to the heart of every true man. In all his w^orks

and ways he is honorable, truthful and just, a kind husband and father, a

consistent and faithful friend, a useful citizen, and an honest man.

WILLIAM H. ROSS.

Real estate. Mr. Ross was born April 5, 1838, in Summerset County,
Pa. His father, Mark Ross, was a native of Pennsylvania. His mother,

Hattie A. Ross, nee Snyder, was also a native of Pennsylvania. Wil-

liam H., the subject of this sketch, was reared in Illinois and educated at

Bloomington, 111., where he engaged in merchandising until 1872, when he

went to Carbondale, 111. In 1875 he came to Sedalia, where he has since

been engaged in the real estate business. He was married in 1864 to

Mary C. Toms, of Bloomington, 111. They are both members of the Chris-

tian Church. They have five children, George C, Charles T., Edmond,

Gilbert, Nellie. During the war Mr. Ross served in the United States

army one and a half years.

GEORGE C. ROSS.

Of the firm of F. E. Hoflman & Co. Insurance. Mr. Ross was born

in 1828 in Bedford County, Pa. His father, Mark Ross, was a native of

the same place, as was also his mother, Hester A. Ross, nee Snyder. In

1850 Mr. Ross, together with the family, removed to Bloomington, 111. In

1852 he went to California, where he was engaged in stock business and

mining until 1866, when he returned to Bloomington and engaged in in-

surance until 1875, when he came to Sedalia, where he has since been en-

gaged in insurance. Mr. Ross was married in 1859 to Mary Flanary.

Thev have four children living, William E., Emma G., Annie P., Frank

C, and three dead.

SIMON P. ROWLETT.
Simon P. Rowlett, son of John Rowlett, a native of Kentucky, was
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born April 8, 1824, in Henr}^ County, Ky., lived with his father until 1845,

learning his trade and working at the business of manufacturing and lay-

ing brick. When he became of age he commenced the busines in all of

its branches on his own account. During his boyhood his father moved
to Putnam County, Ind., followed brick-laying until 1842, when he re-

turned to his former residence in Kentucky, the name of the county being

changed to Trimble. Here he continued the business in Trimble and ad-

joining counties until May, 1852, when he moved to Louisville, Ky. On
Nov. 8, 1850, he was mari-ied to Lucy A., daughter of Monarch and

Ann Murph}^ of Trimble County, Ky. On the 16th day of November,
1851, his first son, Alonzo B., was born (six months before moving to

Louisville). At the latter place his son George W. was born, Feb. 22,

1854. In December, 1854, moved to Pettis County, Mo.; settled near

Longwood, purchased a farm and followed farming and brick-laying un-

til the commencement of the war. In 1862 he was appointed Postmaster

of Longwood, which office he held until he moved his family to Mattoon,

111., in 1863. At this place he followed his trade—brick-laying
—exclu-

sively until 1866, when he went to Lebanon, St. Clair County, 111. Here
he built several public buildings— M. E. Church, Gymnasium for the Mc-
Kendree College; also a fine residence. In 1867 he returned to Missouri
—to Moniteau County—where he built the court house for that county.
In 1868 he returned to Pettis County, manufactured the brick for and

erected the residence of A. D. Jaynes, C. Newkirk, A. Parker and Charles

Lesher, all of which are on Broadway, Sedalia. Mr. Rowlett has built

several fine buildings in Pettis and adjoining counties, viz: Charles Leon-

ard's residence, Latour's Block and D. H. Smith's business house. The
names of Mr. Rowlett's children who were born in Pettis Count}- are

John M., born May 12, 1857; Wm. A., born Aug. 27, 1859; Mary F.,

born Feb. 21, 1862. Frank H. was born Feb. 19, 1865, in Cole County,

111.; Anna May, Aug. 17, 1868; Lucy, Sept. 10, 1871, in Pettis County,
Mo. Anna May died Dec. 25, 1869, and was buried at Knobnoster.

Lucy A., mother of the above named children, died May 29, 1872, at

Brownsville, Saline County, the family being there temporarily while Mr.

Rowlett was engaged on several buildings. July 16, 1874, Mr. S. Row-
lett was married to Mrs. Elizabeth Collins, who had two children whose

names were Estella and James. Estella was born Dec. 5, 1858, and James
was born Jan. 31, 1861. Alonzo B. Rowlett was married to Estella,

daughter of Mrs. Elizabeth C. Rowlett, Nov. 16, 1878. Alonzo B. suc-

ceeds his father in contracting and brick-laying. Mr. S. P. Rowlett now

gives his attention to gardening and fruit-raising in the suburbs of Sedalia.

Ye m;»sons that, work in stone, mortar and brick,

And lay your foundation deep, solid and thick,

Though hard be jMJur labor yet lasting your fame;

Both Egypt and China your wonders proclaim.
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FRANCIS A. SAMPSON.

Attorney at law, Sedalia. Was born February 6, 1842, in Harrison

County, Ohio. His father, Francis Sampson, was a native of Ireland*

and came to America in 1823, and died in 1867. His mother was born in

Wales, and is still living in Ohio. Mr. Sampson, the subject of our sketch,

was educated at the College of the City of New York, graduating in 1865,

with the degree of A. B., and three years later the degree of A.M. was

conferred upon him. He afterwards read law two years in the office of

Lewton & Shepherd, in Cadiz, Ohio, at the expiration of which time he

was admitted to the bar. Mr. Sampson was a zealous student, attending

the law school of the University of New York, one year after his admit-

tance to the practice of law, and graduating in 1868, at which time he was

chosen valedictorian of his class, an honor of which he may well be proud-

He then came to Sedalia, Mo., and engaged in the practice of his profes-

sion with his brother, A. J. Sampson, who had preceded him to Missouri,

but who is now in Denver, Colorado, and who was the first Attorney-

General of that State. After his brother left Sedalia, Mr. Sampson con-

tinued his practice alone. He is a prominent member of the Masonic fra-

ternity, has served two years as High Priest in Sedalia, Chapter No. eigh-

teen. At present is Worshipful Master of Sedalia Lodge No. 236. He
was married July 19, 1869, to Harriet T. Lacey, nee Maiden, of Wolver-

hampton, England, widow of Wm. B. Lace}^ deceased, of the wholesale

dry goods house of Chambers, Stevens & Co., Cincinnati, Ohio. She has

three children living by her first husband, William B., Walter M. and

Harr}' II. Mr. Sampson has by her two children, one living, Belle;

Leroy Vernon died suddenh' at Sweet Springs, June 28, 1879, aged
nine years. He is the possessor of one of the largest private collections

of rare and valuable curiosities in Missouri. It consists of specimens from

almost everv kingdom from the mineral up. This he prizes highly, and to

the lover of the studies of nature it affords a field for hours of careful

thought. His studies and researches in paleontology and conchology
have been recognized by several species having been named for him.

K\dxvdiS\\<^—Polygyrasamfsoni
—by Prof. Wetherby, of the University

of Cincinnati; A Cretaceous fossil— Ostrea samfsoni
—

b}^ Dr. White, of

the Smithsonian Institution, and a Pentrimite by Dr. Hamback, of the

Washington University. He is a valuable contributor to the Kansas City

Review of Science and Industry^ and his articles are extensively read.

Mr. Sampson is a man who is recognized as a leader of his profession.

Possessed of a remarkable memory, his mind has become a store-house of

legal and classic lore. It can be truthfully said of him, that he is a finished

scholar, a profound jurist, able edvocate, polite and cultivated gentleman.

In all the relations of. life, as citizen, husband, father and friend he is true

to his duties and obligations, and esteemed and honored by all with
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whom he associates. Earnest and zealous as an advocate, he is, neverthe-

less, courteous and respectful to his brother lawyers and younger mem-
bers of his profession.

GEORGE H. SANFORD.

Of the firm of Ritter & Co., lumber dealers. Was born in Baltimore,

Md., in 1824. His father, William Sanford, was a native of Maryland, and

his mother a native of Pennsylvania. George H. was reared and edu-

cated in Washington City, and at the age of sixteen years he went to Se-

dalia with his uncle, John L. Sanford. He remained away from home six

years. After he returned home he came West, and was for some time en-

gaged in steamboating on the Mississippi River. In 1848 he came to Pike

County, 111., and engaged in grain speculation until 1873, at which time he

removed to Havana, 111., and was proprietor of a hotel for some time. In

1879 he came to Sedalia and bought the Ja}' Gould House, which he occu-

pied until 1880, when he sold out the hotel and engaged in the grain busi-

ness with the Hon. John T. Heard, of Sedalia. In the year 1881 Mr. San-

ford bought an interest in the lumber 3^ard owned b}^ Col. R. Ritter, and

in this business he is still engaged. He is a member of the Commandery,
K. T. He was married in 1846 to Catherine A. Stallings, who died in

1863. By his first wife he has five children living, Mary E., Elizabeth V.,

William H., Maggie V., and Ida.; two deceased. He was again married

in 1864 to Susan M. Hayes, of Pike County, 111., a native of Massachu-

setts, and they have three children, Eddie, now with Bullen, Carpenter &
Co., Carrie, and Herbert. Mr. and Mrs. Sanford are prominent and highly

respected members of the Congregational Church.

HERMAN SCHMITT.

The subject of our sketch was born in Prussia, September 5, 1841. He
is the son of Mathias J. and Agnes Schmitt, who, with their family, Fred-

rick, August and Herman, came over from Prussia in 1853, and settled

in St. Louis, Mo. His father died in about one 3'ear after he arrived at St.

Louis; his mother died in 1862. His sister married Rudolph Lungstras
in St. Louis, where they now reside. His brother, August, lives at Cat

Spring, Texas. Mr. Schmitt learned the saddlery trade in St. Louis, and

worked at it until 1869; he then canie to Sedalia and opened the Wine

Hall on Main and Osage streets, where he remained until 1879, then sold

his business and stock. In 1880 he opened his fine and commodious

saloon, No. 104 Main street, near Ohio, where he keeps a good and orderly

house, and has a lucrative business. He married Miss Lizzie Stickler, of

St. Louis, Mo., by whom he has four children living, viz.: Ernest, born

August 9, 1865; Selma, born September 3, 1870; Alexander, born March

29, 1873; Minnie, born November 14, 1875.
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ANDREW J. SCOW.

Is the son of Peter Scow, a native of Denmark. The subject of this

sketch was born in Denmark, March 2, 1852, and is the third child in a

family of seven children. He was educated in the schools of his native

country. In the spring of 18T2 Mr. Scow emigrated to America, settling

at Jefferson City, Mo., where he engaged in railroading, first working with

the work train; afterwards was given a position as brakeman on the Mis-

souri Pacific Railroad. In this capacity he served the company for about

four and a half years, when he was again promoted, this time to the posi-

tion of conductor, which position he has faithfully filled for three and a half

years, and still holds. He was married September 28, 1878, to Miss Bertha

Fitschen, a native of Ohio. From this union there were two children, only
one of whom is now living, viz.: Adolph C. Mr. Scow is but a young
man, but his faithfulness to his duties has made him popular with the

higher officers of the road.

BENJAMIN F. SETTLES.

Mr. Settles was born in Bourbon County, Ky., in 1831. His father,

John T., was a native of Kentucky also. His mother, Mary, nee Shrader,

was a native of Kentucky also—a niece of Daniel Boone. B. F., the sub-

ject of this sketch, came to Pettis County in 1865, and engaged in farming
until 1882, when he bought an interest in the store of Clopton Bros., where

he is now in business. He and his wife are members of the Christian

Church. He was married in 1865 to Fannie L. Clopton, a native of Mis-

souri, a daughter of Abner Clopton, one of the early settlers of this county.

VICTOR E. SHAW.

Attorney at law. Mr. Shaw is a native of Pettis County, Mo., and a

son of B. J. Shaw, who settled in Pettis County in 1852. Victor was
educated at Willamette University, Salem, Oregon, graduating in 1878,

after which he entered law school at Ann Arbor, Mich., graduating in

1880. He immediately came to Sedalia and engaged in the practice of

law. In May, 1880, he was appointed Notary Public. He is a young
man of great promise and we predict for him a bright future.

DR. GEORGE L. SHEPARD.
Was born in July, 1842, in Westfield, Mass. His father, Lyman Shep-

ard, was also born in the same town, where he now resides. His mother,

Emily Shepard, ncc Hubbard, was born in Weathersfield, Conn. Dr.

Shepard is a great grandson of Gen. Shepard, of the Revolutionary War.
He was reared and educated at Westfield, Mass., where he spent his

bo\'hood days. He was among the "boys in blue" during the long and

bloody war, and was a participant in many of its battles and skirmishes,
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incidental to the four years of strife which followed the year 1861.

After the war he attended the Ohio Dental College, where he graduated
in the spring of 1866. For some time he practiced his profession in Indi-

ana, afterward coming to Tipton, Mo., where for nine years he was

engaged in the dental business, dividing his practice between Tipton and

California, Mo. In 1876, Dr. Shepard came to Sedalia, where he has

a large and increasing practice, and is esteemed very highly, both as a

gentleman and a practitioner. He was married March 6, 1868, to Miss

Louisa Livings, of Indiana, and daughter of Everson Livings. They are

consistent members of the Congregational Church, the doctor being a

deacon. The}' have five children living.

JUDGE WILLIAM S. SHIRK.

Attorney at law. Mr. Shirk was born in 1843, in Franklin County, Pa.

His father, Jacob Shirk, and his mother were natives of Pennsylvania.
William S. Shirk, the subject of this sketch, was educated in Illinois. In

1863 he began the study of law, attending law school at Albany, New
York, graduating in 186.5, after which he came to Warsaw, Mo., and began
the practice of law. In 1878 he came to Sedalia, where he has ever since

resided. From 1874 until 1877 Mr. Shirk was Judge of the Circuit Court

of the Seventh Judicial District. He was also Prosecuting Attor-

ney of that circuit for several years. Judge Shirk held various other,

positions of trust, while a resident of Warsaw. He is a member of the

I. O. O. F., also a Mason. He was married in St. Louis in 1868, to Miss

Frances Hastain, of Henry County, Mo. They have three children, Bes-

sie S., Maudie F. and William S.

BEDFORD SHOBE.

Grocer and provisions. Mr. Shobe was born in 1846, in Barren County,

Ky. His father, Abel Shobe, came with the family to Pettis County, in

1848; died here in 1860. His mother, Martha, nee Anderson, is still living

in this county. Here Bedford Shobe was reared on a farm. In 1876, he

came to Sedalia and opened a grocery store, in which he has ever since

been engaged. Mr. Shobe is a member of the Masonic fraternity. He
was married in 1868 to Susan Warren, a daughter of James Warren, one

of the early settler of this county. They have one child living, James M.,

born Feb. 12, 1870; one deceased, Ida, died in March, 1877, aged four

years.

ULYSSES F. SHORT.

Attorney at law. Mr. Short was born in Tennessee, in 1847. His

father, Monroe Short, was a native of Ireland. His mother, Lucinda, nee

Harrison, was a native of Tennessee. U. F. was educated at Oxford,
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Miss., and attended law school at Lebanon, Tenn., graduating in 1869.

Previous to this he had served throughout the late war, under General

Forrest, of the Confederate army. In 1869 he came to Sedalia, where he

engaged in the practice of law. In 1876 he formed a partnership with

Col. Snoddy. Mr. Short owns one of the finest and best improved farms

in the county; having a residence which cost over $15,000. Mr. Short

was married in 1871, to Miss Emma Major, of Pettis County, daughter
of B. R. Major, one of the early settlers of this county. They have one

child living, Franklin; one deceased. Mr. Short is a member of the A.

O. U. W.

ROBERT J. SHY.

City Marshal of Sedalia. Was born in Marion County, Mo., in 1841.

D. J. Shy, his father, was a native of Kentucky, and is now living in Pet-

tis Countv. His mother, Marv Ann, nee Overstreet, was also a native of

that State. Robert J., the subject of this sketch, was principally reared

in Pettis County. He attended school when the ground was the floor,

and split logs were used for seats. His early life was spent on a farm, but

in 1876 he sold his farm and came to Sedalia, and served as Deputy Sher-

iff' under Lemuel Murray for four years and nine months, at the expiration

of which time he was elected City Marshal of Sedalia, and is still acting
in that capacitv, and is pronounced by all an efficient officer and conscien-

tious gentleman. Mr. Shy was married June 2, 1864, to Theresa Reed,
of Pettis Count}^ daughter of William Reed, now of Cooper County,
Mo. They have four children, all girls, named respectively: Cora Lee,

Eva Augusta, Lenora M., Daisy and one deceased, a son five months old.

JOSEPH D. SICHER.

One of Sedalia's most prosperous business men is the subject of this

sketch, Joseph D. Sicher, of Austria. Joseph D. was born in Austria, March

21, 1842. When he was about ten years of age his tather emigrated to

America, landing at St. Louis; here the father located, and resided until

his death. In the fall of 1862, the son, Joseph D., moved to Alton, 111.,

where he remained for about ten years. Then in the spring of 1872 he

moved to Sedalia, where he has since resided. Mr. Sicher first embarked
in the hotel and confectionery business, in which business he is still

engaged. His hotel building is situated on the corner of Ohio and Third

streets, and is a large three-story building. No house in Central Missouri

has a better reputation with the traveling public than the Sicher Hotel.

Mr. Sicher has been prominently connected with many of the public enter-

prises that have made Sedalia what she is to-da3\ He was the originator

and one of the first men to take hold of the project of building a street rail-

road, said road extending the whole length of Third street from the Mis-
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souri Pacific shops and offices in the east, to the park on the west. The
line is in daily operation with a number of finely furnished cars. The
Sicher Brothers own about two-thirds of the stock of said road. Another

public enterprise with Mr. Sicher the prime-mover, was the establishment

of the beautiful park in the western part of the city. The Brothers first

bought fifty acres of land owned by Newkirk and Jaynes; this pasture

(for that is about what it was) has been converted into one of the most

beautiful resorts in the State. These ample grounds have been laid ofi'in

walks and drives; the whole grounds have been beautifully ornamented

with maple and other forest trees. Mr. Sicher has built a fine large Park

Hotel, which building he has furnished elegantly, and is used for parties,

dancing, etc. Mr. Sicher has leased to the Fair Association these grounds,
for a number of years, to be used by the Association a certain number of

days in each year. The reader will find a complete description of these

beautiful grounds in the city history, page 508. Mr. Sicher was married.

May 11, 1875, to Miss Leyser, of Alton, 111.; from this union there are two

children, viz: Harry D. and Camille. In business affairs Mr. Sicher,

though a young man, is looked upon as having no superior in the city.

He is generous, and is highly esteemed by his many friends.

COMMODORE G. B. SIMONDS.

Mr. Simonds vms born at Bristol, New Hampshire, August 12, 1819.

His father, John T. Simonds, was also a native of New Hampshire, and

resided in Bristol up to the time of his death, which occurred about the

year 1818. Young G. B. Simonds received his education from the schools

of his native State, and at the age of thirteen commenced to learn the

machinist and engineer trade in the Lowell machine shops. He was made

foreman, at the age of eighteen, and on leaving this position he accepted
that of engineer on the Columbia and Philadelphia Railroad. After

leaving this road he accepted a position as master mechanic on the Hudson
and Berkshire Railroad, then became superintendent of motive power
machinery on the New York and New Haven Railroad, with residence at

New Haven. In the summer of 1858, Mr. Simonds removed to Spring-
field, 111., and became s j;")v^rintendent of motive machinery of the Great

Western Railroad of Illinois. Mr. Simonds entered the United States

military service under Gen Frt-mont in the summer of 18G1, as Assistant

Supervisor of Railways of the Western Department. In February, 1802,

he was transferred to the Mississippi flotilla and accepted a position in the

command of a squadron of mortar boats under Commodore Foote. He
was engaged at the siege of Island No. 10, Fort Pillow and the capture of

Memphis, but after his fleet was moved to Vicksburg, he was ordered

back and was assigned the command of the Navy Yard, Memphis, Tenn.,

having command of the fort when no ranking officer's vessel was in port.
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In 1864 he resigned his command and returned to his family in New York.

Coming west he estabHshed an Iron Rolling Mill, at Indianapolis, Ind. In

Feb., 1871, he accepted a position as master mechanic on the Missouri

Pacific Railway, and in April, 1873, removed his family to Sedalia, and

built a fine residence on the southeast corner of Sixth street, and Wash-

ington Avenue, now owned by Mr. x'Vdam Ittel. He accepted and served

as superintendent of motive machinery on the following roads: Hannibal

and St. Joe, Cairo and St. Louis, Atlantic and Pacific. In the fall ot 1881

he returned to his familv in Sedalia, where he has since resided. October

15, 1845, he was married to Miss Rachel V. C. Clark, a native of Albany,
N. Y. Their family consists of Sarah A., the eldest, and Mary E., now
wife of A. H. Taylor, of Pike Count}-, Ind. Mr. Simonds now resides on

the corner of Osage street and Broadway. He is a man of superior native

ability and force of character, and obstacles that would have crushed

others only served to strengthen his purpose, and lead him to success.

His principle of sterling integrity is well known, and he is highly respected

by all.

CHAS. W. SIMONS.

Dealer in furniture, and undertaker. Is a native of Clermont County,

Ohio, where he was born in 1852. James Simons, his father, was also

born in Ohio, and came with his family to Sedalia
\x\^

1871 and is still a

resident of this place. Chas. W. began the furniture business in Sedalia,

but afterward went to Cincinnati, Ohio, and served an apprenticeship in

that business. After he had served his term as apprentice he came again
to SedaHa and in 1878 he opened a shop here. His store is situated on

Ohio, between Fifth and Sixth streets, where he keeps a very select stock

of furniture, coffins, etc. He makes undertaking a speciality. He was

married in June, 1881, to Katie Breden, of Sedalia, daughter of Thomas

Breden, of Pettis County. Mr. Simons is a member of the Knights of

Pythias.

ELISHA W. SINCLAIR.

Alderman of the Fourth Ward. Was born in Chautauqua County, N.

Y., in 1833. His father, Samuel Sinclair, was also a native of New York.

His mother, Martha, nee Bucklen, was a native ofVermont. E. W., the sub-

ject of this sketch, left his home at the age of sixteen and went to New
York City, where he worked on the New York Tribune constantly for

twenty-three years. During the war he spent two years in the South as

agent for the Tribune. In the fall of 1873 he came to Pettis County and

bought a large farm and spent six years in farming. In 1879 he came to

Sedalia, where he has invested largely in real estate. In April, 1881, he

was elected Alderman of the Fourth Ward. He was married in 1872 to

Martha Gairy, of New Jersey. They have one child, Linnie. He and
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his wife are members of the Congregational Church, of which he is also

an officer.

HENRY C. SINNETT.

Attorney at law, SedaUa. Was born in Granville, Lickmg County, Ohio.

His father, Allen Sinnett, settled in that State in 1805 and died in 1851.

Mr. Sinnett's ancestors on both sides were French Huguenots driven

from France and seeking libert}' and life in a free land. Allen's father,

James Sinnett, first settled in Ireland, and then emigrated to America,

settling in Massachusetts. He was a soldier in the Revolutionary War
and also in the War of 1812. The mother of the subject of our sketch

was a native of Massachusetts, whose maiden name was Nancy Blanch-

ard. Her father and mother were also driven from France by persecu-
tion for their reHgious proclivities. Her father's name v^'as Joseph Blanch-

ard, who also was a Revolutionary soldier. In the War of 1812 he was

largely interested in shipping and had six ships at sea, which were

destroyed by the British. During this war his wife and family, who were

living on an island off the coast of Mame, were compelled to flee from
their home by the approach of the British, and escaped in an open boat to

Belfast, nearly 500 miles distant by the route they were forced to take.

Of the number thus escaping Nancy Blanchard was one. Henry C. was
reared and educated in his native county, attending Granville Academy
in his native town and also Denison University in Licking County, grad-

uating from the former. He read law wath Judge Buckingham and also

Henry Stanburg, after which he attended Cincinnati Law School, gradu-

ating from it with the class of 1861. He was admitted to practice the

same year and located in Newark, Ohio, where he remained until 1865, in

which year he came to Sedalia. Mr. Sinnett has met fine success as a

practitioner. He has been practicing longer in Pettis Count}^ than any

attorney in it with the exception of two, George Heard and O. A. Cran-

dall. Mr. Sinnett was married in 1869 to Julia Leak, of Sedalia, but a

native of Ohio. They have one child living, Harry B., aged eight years.

JUDGE JOHN GRAND-GIRARD SLOANE.
Was born on the 10th day of April, 1849, in the village of Mowrystown

in Highland County, Ohio. Moved with his parents when but a year
old to Winnebago County, 111., vvhere he spent the next fifteen years of his

life on a farm. Although but fourteen years of age when the war began,
too young to enter the service as a regular soldier, he accompanied his

father, who was a captain in the Seventy-Fourth Illinois Volunteers, and

bravely endured all the hardships and dangers of the march, camp and

battle-field. Was in the Perryville and Stone River battles, and other

engagements and campaigns. On his return from the w^ar, he removed
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to Blackhawk County, Iowa, where he was engaged with his father in

farming, until the autumn of 1867, when he came to Missouri, and soon

after began the study of law. In the year 1869, he returned to Rockford,

111., where he completed his studies and was admitted to the bar by the

Supreme Court of that State in June, 1870. He immediately returned to

Missouri and opened an office at Windsor, Henry County, and was mar-

ried in the autumn of the same year, to Miss Arthusa Whitney, daughter
of Dr. Whitney, who resided near Windsor. Their children are Minnie,

and an infant. In the spring of 1872, he removed to Sedalia

and opened an office for the practice of his profession. In the autumn of

the same year he was' nominated by the Republican party as City Justice

and elected when only twenty-two years of age. He occupied the posi-

tion until the spring of 1876, when he was elected County Judge, which

office he held until the expiration of his term. Judge Sloane gave the

highest satisfaction as a judicial officer in both positions. After his term

as County Judge had expired, he formed a co-partnership with Capt. L.

L. Bridges, in the practice of law, which he continued until July, 1881,

when in connection with his brother, W. A. Sloane, he bought out the

Sedalia Times, which afterwards consolidated with the Sedalia Eagle,
under the name of Eagle-Times, and of which paper he is now the editor

and business manager. Judge Sloane obtained his education in the com-

mon district schools of the countr}^, and the high schools of Rockford, 111.,

and Cedar Falls, Iowa. He is what is known as a self-made man, and

for one of his years has been signally honored by the community in which,

he lives. He is a staunch Republican. As an editor he is considered a

thorough success, a faithful worker and judicious in all his writings, which

show literary ability and a thorough insight of human nature and public

ANDREW V. SMALL, M. D.

Is a native of Lorraine, France, and in that place was reared and edu-

cated. He commenced the study of medicine in the University of Piris,

where he graduated in 1839. He afterward entered the French armv as

surgeon, serving seven years, a portion of the time in the African war.

Upon leaving the French army in 1S48, he emigrated to America, locai-

ing in New Orleans. Here he remained until 185.H, when he came to

Jefferson City, Mo. Atjeflerson City Dr. Small was recognized is a

surgeon and physician of no small merit, and remained in that place with

alarge and growing practice until 1858, at which time he went to Spri ig-

field. Mo. At the beginning of the rebellion in 1861, he entered the Con-

federate army as Chief Surgeon of Gen. McBride's division: He ser\ed

in this capacity until 1863, when he was appointed Medical Inspector (jf

Gen. Bragg's command at Corinth, Miss., and was assigned President of

the Examining Board of the District of Texas, with headquarters at Sm
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Antonio, where he remained until the close of the war. After the rebel-

lion, Dr. Small left Texas and came to Lexington, Mo., and engaged in

the practice of his profession until 1878, when he came to Sedalia.

Although many other physicians and surgeons had established reputa-

tions of long standing. Dr. Small's skill soon won for him a large practice,

which has never deserted him, but has assumed such magnitude that it

requires all his energy and will power to keep pace with his calls. It

needs but a glance at the facts to see that Dr. Small has had opportunities

to skill himself in his profession not often afforded American physicians,

and it is not strange that he stands at the head of his profession. He has

twice been married, having married in Europe and lost his wife in New
Orleans. In 1855 he married Miss M. Parberry, of Jefferson City, Mo.

By this union they have three children: Earnest J., now a stock raiser of

New Mexico, Eddie N., graduate of Bellevue Medical College, N. Y.,

now^ practicing with his father, and Mary S,

DAVID H. SMITH.

Wholesale hardware, corner Main and Ohio streets. A business house

was opened in 1866, by D. H. Smith and his brother, H. C. Smith. In

1869 H. C. Smith withdrew, and since that time Mr. D. H, Smith has con-

tinued his business alone. In 1877 he built the three^story brick on the

corner of Main and Ohio streets, which he has occupied since its comple-
tion. This house commands a large wholesale trade, keeping two men on

the road constantly, having the largest trade of any hardware house in the

city. David H. Smith was born in October, 1835, in Clark County, O.

His father, D. J. Smith, was born in Scotland, and died in Ohio in 1879, at

the age of eighty-four years. His mother, Sarah, nee Cory, was a native

of Ohio, but of English descent, and is still living on the old homestead,
in the seventy-fourth year of her age. Mr. Smith was reared on a farm,

but in 1858 he engaged in the fruit tree business. In 1862 he entered the

Federal army, in the Commissary Department, where he remained for three

years. In 1866 he came to Sedalia, and engaged in the hardware busi-

ness, which he has followed ever since. David H. Smith began life with-

out a dollar, and by honesty and industry he has won for himself the

laurels which only such men deserve. Not onh- has he accumulated a

fortune, but has taken his place among the foremost of Missouri's business

men. He is now doing a business of $150,00 per annum. He is a mem-
ber of the Masonic fraternity. Mr. Smith was married to Miss Laura

Potter, of Greenville, O., in 1862, and by her has four children: Gertrude,

who is at present attending school in Boston, Mass.; Jessie, Harry B. and

George G. February 16, 1880, Mr. Smith was bereft of his wife. She

was a devout member of the Presbyterian Church.

34
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EZRA J. SMITH.

Attorney at law. Was born in Bujtler County, Pa., on the 21st day of

March, 1842. His father, Robert L. Smith, was also a native of that

State, as was his mother. Ezra J. Smith was educated at the schools of De
Witt, Iowa, and at Cornell College, Mount Vernon, Iowa. He began the

study of law at De Witt, which he continued until the beginning of the

rebellion of 1861, when he entered the Federal army in Company B, First

Iowa Cavalry. He served in this regiment for about three years and six

months, and during his service in that regiment was wounded in the right
shoulder at the battle of Bayou Metoe, near Little Rock, Ark. This

occurred on the 27th da^^of August, 1863. During Mr. Smith's career as

a soldier, he served the greater part of his time in Arkansas and Missouri.

In February, 1865, he received a commission, appointing him First Lieu-

tenant, and remained until November of the same year, doing garri-

son duty at Nelson, Ky. After the war he came to Osceola, Mo., and

again took up the study of law under S. S. Burdette. He was admitted

to the bar in October, 1866, and began the practice of his profession with

S. S. Burdette, at Osceola. Here he remained, making rapid progress as

a law3'er, until 1874, when he came to Sedalia, and was at once recog-
nized as a cultured gentleman, and a young lawyer of great promise. He
continued his practice successfully. Mr. Smith is a member of the M. E.

Church. He was married December 19, 1869, to Mary J. Landes, of

Osceola, Mo., a native of Mifflin County, Pa., and by this union have four

children, named respectively: George R., Naomi C, Nelson C, and

Edwin J.

ROBERT C. SNEED.

Attorney at law. Was born February 26, 1853, in Boyle County, Ky.
His father, John M. Sneed, was also a native of Kentucky, and came to

Pettis County in 1852, and is now a resident of this county. Robert was
reared in Pettis County, educated at Westminster College, graduating
with the class of 1872. He immediately took up the study of law on his

return from college, reading in the office of Philips & Vest. In June, 1873,

he was admitted to the bar, and has since been practicing in Sedalia. Mr.

Sneed, although quite a young man, has a very lucrative practice. In con-

nection with his law practice, Mr. Sneed has a complete set of abstract

books in his office, and deals extensively in real estate. He was married

October 19, 1881, to Miss Maggie Montgomery, daughter of Dr. T. J.

Montgomery, now deceased, for many years a resident of this county.

JOHN B. SNEED.

Grain dealer. Was born in Pettis County, Mo. His father, John M.

Sneed, being one of the early settlers of Pettis, having located here in
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1852, is still living about three miles from Sedalia. His mother, Mary
J., nee Stewart, was a native of Kentucky, and is still living. John B. was
reared and educated here, and at the age of seventeen years he entered

the First National Bank, of this city, where he remained five years. He
afterward engaged in the grain trade at Clinton, Henry County, and other

points on the M., K. &T. R. R. He continued in this business until Sep-
tember, 1881, when he opened an office and feed store in Sedalia, where
he has since been engaged. Mr. Sneed has been a successful business

man, and although still a young man is rapidly taking his place among
the leading business men of the county.

COL. WILLIAM WALLACE S. SNODDY.

Every life has a history of its own; and although in appearance it may
seem to possess little to distinguish it from others, yet there are marks and

characteristics which give distinct individuality. An earnest activity has

marked the life of Col. W. W. S. Snoddy, and the fact that he has gained
for himself a wide and honorable reputation in the legal profession, is evi-

dence of his character and worth. He is of Scotch-Irish descent, his

maternal grandfather being a Scotchman, and his paternal grandparents
natives of the county of Antrim, Ireland. On account of family opposi-

tion, his paternal grandfather eloped with his wife, and on the day of their

marriage sailed for America, arriving in Lycoming County, Pennsylvania,
in 178b, where they purchased a small piece of ground and lived to be

very aged people, each being over one hundred years old at their death.

The subject of this sketch was born in Lycoming County, Penn., Jan. 25,

1838. When a boy he had a great desire to get an education, and availed

himself of everv opportunity afforded him to acquire knowledge. So

earnest was he in his efforts in this direction that he labored on a farm

during the dav and studied at night. Inspired by the examples of many
illustrious men, he struggled on with the thought ever in his mind that he

would accomplish what they had. He early evinced a decided taste for

the legal profession. But his friends and advisers opposed him, and

urged him to remain upon the farm, yet he was not to be turned from his

course, and was fully determined to battle with opposition and surmount

every obstacle that barred the way. At the age of seventeen he com-

menced teaching and was successful both in public and private schools.

At the same time he devoted his spare time to his studies, and advanced

as rapidly as most college students. In this way he completed the

mathematical course, the higher English branches, the elements of Latin,

and began the study of law, using the books of T. T. Abrams, a leading

lawyer of Lock Haven, Pennsylvania. When ready to be admitted to

the bar the war broke out and he responded to the first call

of the Governor for troops. He volunteered and enlisted in the 137th
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Pennsylvania Volunteers, served in the ranks eight months, and then, for

meritorious conduct, he was commissioned Second Lieutenant. He
received the most flattering testimonials from Generals Kidder, Cox and

other general officers under whom he served. In June, 1863, at the

expiration of his term of enlistment, he returned to Lock Haven, Penn.,

and was appointed, by Governor Curtin, Superintendent of the schools in

Clinton County. He gave entire satisfaction in this office, the duties of

which were onerous. He had under his supervision two hundred and ten

schools which he had to visit as well as pass judgment on the teachers.

The pressure of events and his military reputation and experience forced

him into the army again, and at Harrisburg, in 1864, he was elected

Lieutenant Colonel of the 20Tth Pennsylvania Volunteers. He was with

his regiment in some of the noted engagements, and amid the last throes

of the "Lost Cause." On his return home with his regiment he was

received at the Capital of the State with an ovation fit for a patriot and

hero. He was married on the 11th of June, 1864, to Miss Mary M. Long,
a lady of culture and good family, residing at Selin's Grove, Penn. This

union was blessed with seven children : Blanche E., Claude L., Cora L.,

Erskine, Cook, Edna May and Raymond. Blanche E., Cora L. and

Raymond are dead. In December, 186.5, he was admitted to the bar.

During that winter, with $300 in his pocket, he started to Missouri with

his wife and baby. He paused on his way to visit the Island of Blenner-

hasset, made illustrious by the eloquence of William Wirt, and linked to

immortality with the ill-starred Aaron Burr, and there his heart was sad-

dened by the death of his only child. The remains of the little one were

brought to St. Louis and laid in the Calvary Cemetery. He arrived in

Sedalia on the 8th of April, 1866, with only $60 left from the expenses of

his journey. Without money, without books, without friends, and with-

out experience as a lawyer, he resolved to cast in his fortunes with the

young
" Queen of the Prairies." He rented an otfice and entered upon the

practice of law. It was a month before he had his first case, but he

gained it, and since that time he has had a good and increasing practice.

A few months after he formed a partnership with R. G. Durham, a well-

read lawyer of twenty years' experience. In 1868 his partner was

appointed Judge of Common Pleas Court. Then for eight years he was

one of the popular and well established firm of Snoddy & Bridges. The
Colonel is a prominent and influential member of the Ancient Older of

United Workmen, Amity Lodge No. 69, also is a member of the Grand

Lodge, and at present is District Deputy Grand Master Workman of the

38th District of Missouri, composed of the counties of Pettis, Cooper and

Moniteau. Col. Snoddy is six feet two inches in height, large in person,

with a powerful physique and regular features. All of his qualities are

strong and decided, none negative. Time, nor political rivalries can
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estranf:^e him from his friends. Nor can the lapse of a generation remove

prejudices which he once entertains against men. He devotes all of his

time to his profession.

JOHN G. SPRAGUE.

Of Sprague & Clark, Sedalia. Was born in 1817, in Washington Co.,
Ohio. His father Joshua, who died in 1831, was also a native of Ohio,

being born in the same county. His mother, Phoebe G., nee Brown, was
a native of Massachussetts. She died in Illinois in 1873. John G. was
reared and educated in the county and State of his birth and when old

enough was taught to work on the farm where he remained until 1846,

when he went to Iowa. John G. Sprague, after remaining in Iowa until

1852, concluded to go to California, whither he went in the same year.
Here he remained mining for four years after which he returned to Ohio
and engaged in farming. He again moved to Bond County, 111., in 1858,

remaining until 1868, when he again sought wider tields. He removed to

Washington County, 111., where he engaged in the grain business, and in

the fall of 1875 he came to Sedalia where he resumed his business as

grain dealer, also dealing in wood, coal etc. Mr. Sprague is a member of

the M. E. Church, to which denomination his wife also belongs, he being
a steward of the same. He was married in 1838 to Miss Eliza Beach, of

Ohio They have seven children living, Dudly D., of California, Mo.,
Charles D., of Sedalia, Mo., Pearly J., Agent at Higbee, Mo., for the rail-

road, Ezra B., of Sedalia, Cynthia M., wife of E. M. Clark of Sedalia,

Frank M. and John W.

G. R. STANTON.
Chief operator of the Missouri Pacific General Office in Sedalia. The

subject of this sketch was born in Collins, Ohio, July 26, 1849. He received

his education from the schools of his native Stale. After finishing his edu-

cation, Mr. Stanton learned telegraphing at Chillicothe in 1865. He first

took an instrument at Athens, Ohio, remaining in the office one year,

when he returned to Chillicothe. He then accepted a position in the office

at Hillsborough, then was promoted to a position at Cincinnati, and

afterwards accepted a similar position in the the offices at Chicago. He
was in the offices of the latter city, when the great strike occurred

in which about 5,000 operatives were engaged. After the strike he

accepted a position in the offices of the C, B. & Q. R. R. Co. After

being in the employment of said company for quite a while he resigned
his position and took a trip south, visiting Columbus, Miss., Huntsville,

Ala., New Orleans, Selma, and other points. At Selma, Mr. Stanton

was engaged in taking press i^eports for about two years. He afterwards

wsited the principal cities of California and Nevada, then returned to
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Cincinnati, where he remained about two years, at which time he was

appointed superintendent of telegraph of the Springfield & Southeastern,

now a part of the Ohio & Mississippi. After that he accepted a similar

position with the Wabash Road, the offices being located at Decatur. He

^was also assistant superintendent in the offices at Toledo. Then in October,

1880, he went to St. Louis and accepted a position with the American

Union, which position he held until the consolidation with the Western

Union, when he received the position of chief operator in the offices of

Missouri Pacific at Sedalia, which position he still holds. Mr. Stanton is

courteous, generous and a popular young man.

JOHxN STARK. .

Dealer in organs, pianos, etc. Mr. Stark was born in Spencer County,

Ky., in 1841. His father, Adam Stark, was a native of Kentucky, as was

his mother, Elener, nee Stillwell. John, the subject of this sketch, was

raised on a farm in Kentucky, and engaged in farming for many years.

In 1861, he enlisted in Co. B, Twenty-first Regiment Indiana Infantry,

and served one year in the ranks, taking part in many prominent battles.

After the first year he was made a musician and served in that capacity
until the close of the war. In 1872, he came to Missouri, and engaged in

farming until 1874, when he went into the music business at Cameron,

Mo., for the Mason and Hamlin Organ Company, and has ever since been

with this well known compan}'. From 1880 until 1882, he was located at

Chillicothe, Mo. In the spring of 1882, he came to Sedalia, where he

is doing an extensive business at No. 219 Ohio street. Mr. Stark was

married in 1864 to Miss Sarah Casey. They have three children living.

JAMES STORY.

Is the son of Thomas Story, a native of Scotland, but who emigrated
to Canada in the year 1820, where he lived until his death, which occurred

April 15, 1866. The subject of this sketch, James Story, was born at

Smith's Falls, in the Dominion of Canada, April 21, 1846, and is the

youngest child in a iamily of four children. He received his primary
education in the schools of his native country, completing the same at

Belleville, N. Y. After he had completed his education he returned to

his home in Canada, where he remained until the fall of 1871, when he

emigrated to Missouri, settling at Green Ridge, in the southern part of

Pettis County. During his residence here he was engaged in the general
mercantile business, where he remained until the spring of 1875, when he

nnoved to Sedalia, where he has since resided, engaged in the grocery
business. Mr. Story was married Feb. 11, 1873, to Miss Carrie Walker,
a native of Indiana, and a most estimable and refined lady. From this

union there was one child, viz: Clara Mabel, who died while an infant}
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Mr. Story owns the fine three-story block opposite the public square on

Ohio street, known as Story's Central, a view of which appears elsewhere .

Mr. Story is one of the popular business men of this citv, courteous in

manners, generous in disposition, and a favorite among his friends. He
is at present traveling salesman for Jarratt, Gilliland & Roberts, importers
and jobbers of coffee and wholesale groceries, Nos. 401 and 403 North

Second street, corner Locust, St. Louis, Mo.

HENRY D. STRINGER.

Real estate. Mr. Stringer was born July 10, 1845, in Lincoln Countv,

Kentucky. His father, Thomas M. Stringer, was also a native of Ken-

tucky, now living in Carthage, Mo. His mother, Nancy, nee Watkins,
was a native of North Carolina. Henry D. enlisted in Companv B, Fif-

ty-fourth Indiana Regiment, Volunteers, in 1862, under Col. Mansfield,
and served until the close of the war. He was twice wounded. Once in

the right arm, and once in the head, the ball running down ini;o his shoulder,

where it still remains. He took part in all the battles of the Mississippi,
irom Island No. Ten down, and in the Red River expedition. In 18()5,

after his return, he married Miss Louisa Cunningham, near Louisville,

Ky. In 1868 he went to Putnam County, Ind., and was engaged in livery

business until 1874, when he removed to Jasper County, Mo., and sold drv

goods until 1879, when he came to Sedalia, and has since been engaged in

the real estate business.

CHARLES G. TAYLOR.
Mr. Taylor was born in Philadelphia, Pa., in 1828. His father, Wilson

Taylor, was a native of Delaware. His mother, Mary E., nee Fenamore,
was a native of New Jersey. Charles G. Taylor was educated in Philadel-

phia, and early in life learned the jewelry business. He first embarked in

business for himself at Richmond, Va., in 1851, where he continued until

1865, when he came to Sedalia, and has been constantly in the jewelry
business since. He has a large and elegant stock of goods, and does an

extensive business. He has served several terms as a City Councilman.

Was a member of the committee who built the Sedalia Water Works.

He is a member of the Masonic fraternity. He and his wife are members
of the M. E. Church. He was married in 1849 to Miss Rosanna Bush.

They have two children, Mary V. and Charles L. In 1878-79 Mr. Tay-
lor served as County Judge of Pettis County. Mr. Taylor and Rod Gallie

own the sewerage of Sedalia. He has always been actively identified

with the interests of this city.

DR. J. P. THATCHER.
Was born in Jacksborough, Tenn., in 1830. While he was yet an infant.
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his father, who was a physician, moved his family to Kentucky, where he

died, leaving the subject of this sketch, at the age of fifteen, the oldest of

four children. His limited education was obtained under very embar-

rassing circumstances. Before he was eighteen, he enlisted as a private

in the Third Regiment of Kentucky Volunteers Infantry, with M. V.

Thompson and Maj. John C. Breckenridge, and served in the Mexican

war. He was promoted to a Lieutenancy, and was during much of his

service in command of his company. When peace was restored he

returned to Kentucky, and resumed his study of medicine, and graduated
at the Jefierson Medical College, Philadelphia, In 1849 he went to Cali-

fornia, where he met and married Miss Rebecca Perkins, a native of

Missouri. He returned from California in 1854, and settled in Pettis

County, then comparatively new. Dr. Thatcher took no active part in

politics previous to the war. He opposed secession, but when the war

came he did all in his power as a physician and citizen to ameliorate the

sufferings consequent to the war. During the "Third Party" movement
in 1874, he was elected by a large majority as a Democratic candidate to

represent Pettis County in the General Assembly. His services were so

appreciated that he was re-elected in 1876. In the session of 1877 he

took an active part as a member of the committee appointed to examine

the means used to secure the passage of the Hannibal and St. Joseph
Renewal Bond Bill. Dr. Thatcher was an industrious and honorable

man, a useful citizen, and a careful, painstaking legislator, doing all in his

power to discharge the trust confided to him by his constituents. His life

was one of untiring industry and activity, and though by nature endued

with strength and iron will, his health at length gave way under the severe

tax of mind and bod}'-, and at his residence three miles south of Sedalia, on

the 8 th day ofJuly, 1880, his active and useful Ufe was brought to a close.

He leaves a widow and a 'family of six children, viz: Laura E., Robley
D., John P., Lizzie P., Emmet M. and Flavia M. The heirs have in the

home farm two hundred acres of well improved land, and there are other

lands amounting to about two hundred acres.

ALBERT H. THIELE.

Feed store. Mr. Thiele was born in 1839, in Germany. His father,

Charles Thiele, came to America, in 1851, and died about 1872. Albert

was brought up on a farm, which occupation he has followed most of his

life. In 1881 he came to Sedalia, and opened the feed store on East Fifth

street, where he is now in business. In 1877 he married Elizabeth Oben-

haus, of St. Louis. They have one child living, Frank. Their eldest,

Edward, died, Feb. 6, 1882, aged three years. Mr. Thiele enlisted in the

Federal army in 1861, serving in a cavalry regiment, and three years in

an infantry regiment.
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WILLIAM R. THOMAS.
Of the firm of Thomas & Haden, hardware merchants. Mr. Thomas

was born in 1848, in Kentucky. His father, John H. Thomas, was a

native of Kentucky, still living at their old home in Harrodsburg. W. R.,

the subject of this sketch, was reared and educated at his home in Ken-

tucky. In 1867 he came to Lexington, Mo., where he was engaged as

salesman one year, after which, he came to SedaHa, was salesman for D.

H. Smith about two years, after which he went to Seneca, Mo., and

engaged in business for himself. In about two years returned to Sedalia,

and engaged in hardware trade where he still continues. Mr. Thomas
was married in 1870 to Miss Mollie A. Smith. They have two children

living, Harry A. and Montgomery. Mr. Thomas is member of the

Masonic fraternity, and is also a member of the City Council.

MENTOR THOMSON.
President Sedalia Savings Bank. Was born in Scott County, Ken.,

March 9, 1811. His father, David Thompson, was a native of Virginia,

who settled in Scott County, Kentucky. Mentor, the subject of this

sketch, came to Pettis County, April 11, 1S31-, on his present farm, and

engaged in farming. When the Sedalia Savings Bank was organized, in

1868, he was chosen President, and some years afterward left his farm

and came to Sedalia. Mr. Thomson has, during the time he has lived in

Sedalia, given his entire attention to the banking business, and, although

now over seventy years of age, still attends to the duties of his position

with the energy and ability of a man much younger. He was married

Oct. 24, 1833, to Miss Cora V. Wooldridge, of Christian County, Ky. They
intend celebrating their golden wedding in one year from this time, if they
should live that long. They have three children Hving, David W., farmer

of Pettis County; Minnie, now the wife of James E. Bouldin, of Pettis

County, and Bettie, now wife of J. S. Hopkins, of Pettis County. Mr.

Thomson was County Surveyor for about thirty years. Mr. and Mrs.

Thomson are prominent and influential members of the Christian Church

of Sedalia. The youngest child, Melcena, died. Menter Thomson is the

fifth of a family of ten children, five living. His father was a farmer

and merchant, and also had a paper mill, the first paper mill in that part

of the countr}'.

CAPT. A. H. THOMPSON.

Was born May 24, 1822, in Warrenton, Va., son of Richard Thomp-
son, a native of the same State. His mother, Sallie Thompson, nee Yeat-

man, was also a native of Virginia. Young Thompson came to Boon-

ville. Mo., in 1836, and there engaged in clerking for several years. In

1847, he engaged in business for himself, and lor many years was identi-
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fied as one of the leading merchants of that city, at the same time com-

manding both a large wholesale and retail trade. He continued his busi-

ness till the war broke out, in 1861, and then answered the first call for

enrolled militia. He was elected Captain and served with distinction

until he was appointed Commissary of Exemptions, for Cooper County.
In this capacity he served about two years, with rank as Captain. When
Price made his last raid through Missouri, Capt. Thompson and his com-

pany were captured, but soon released on the hasty retreat of the Con-

federates. Since the close of the war Capt. Thompson has accepted sev-

eral important positions under the general government. Much of his

property was lost during the war, and soon after its close he came to

Sedalia and set about retrieving his lost fortune. Among the honors

shown him in this city, was that of appointing him Recorder for three

terms. He was also Secretary of the Board of Trade and Fair Associa-

tion. He was married May 7, 1844, to Lucy Collins, of Boonville, Mo.

They have seven children: Sallie Y., now the wife of Capt. Samuel

Ovenshine, of the Fifth Infantry, U. S. A.; James C, cashier of the First

National Bank
; Mary Cameron, Flora T., now the wife of Rev. Abiel

Leonard, rector of the Episcopal Church in x\tchison, Kan.; Harry,
Edwin and Lucy Y. Mrs. Thompson died July 31, 1879.

GEORGE W. TOWNSLEY.

Jeweler and watchmaker. Was born in 1848 in Cooper County, Mo.

His father, Channel P., was a native of Massachusetts, and was one of the

early settlers of Cooper County, Mo. He died while on his way
home from China, whither he had gone in 1852. His mother was a

native of Baltimore, Md., and was born in 1808. George W. Townsley was

principall}^ reared in Pettis County, having come here when he was four

years of age. He was educated in Sedalia, and after he finished his edu-

cation he taught school for two years, after which he learned the jewelry

business, serving an apprenticeship of four years. In 1874 he opened a

store on Main street, and began business for himself. In 1877 he moved

his stock of goods to Ohio street, and occupied part of the store-room of

Brown Bros., remaining until 1879, when he removed to his present loca-

tion, 117 Ohio street, where he still remains. Mr. Townsley carries one

of the most complete stock of goods, in his line, of any house in Central

Missouri. . He was married in August, 1873, to Hattie ]S[. Van Wagner,
of Sedalia, a native of New York, and daughter of Rev. J. M. Van Wag-
ner, for several years pastor of the Congregational Church, Sedalia, now of

Lowell, Mich. They have four daughters: Bertha, Mabel, Elsie and

Mattie.
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JAMES C. THOMPSON.
Was born April 29, 1847, in Boonville, Mo. His father, A. H. Thomp-

son, was a native of Virf^inia, and emigrated to Boonville, Mo., in 1836,

and is now a resident of Sedalia. James, the subject of this sketch, was

reared and educated in Boonville. In January, lS6i, he accepted a posi-

tion in the office of Gen. Wm. Myers, chief Quartermaster of the Depart-
ment of Missouri, with headquarters at St. Louis. Youni^ Thompson
remained in this position till May, 18r)6, and then came to Sedalia and

commenced his career here as book-keeper for the firm of Stewart &
Jenkins, at that time one of the leading houses in the growing town. In

March, 1869, he accepted the position as book-keeper in the First National

RESIDENCE OF J. C. THOMPSON.

Bank of Sedalia, in February, 1871, was chosen assistant cashier, and july

19, 1880, was elected cashier. In the fall of 1876, Mr. Thompson, after a

spirited contest, was elected Treasurer of Pettis County. Mr. Thompson
is a thorough business man, enjoying the confidence of all with whom he

associates. He is a vestryman in the Episcopal Church of this city; also

a member of the Masonic fraternity. He was married October 21, 1874.

to Miss Sallie C. Sneed, daughter of Capt. John M. Sneed, a native 'of

Kentucky. Their family consists of James C, Jr., Phillip M., and one

child deceased. Mr. Thompson is largely interested in property and

public enterprises in this city, and his influence and public spirit, combined

with his social nature, render him at once one of Sedalia's most valuable

citizens. A view of his residence appears on this page.
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Dr. JOHN W. TRADER.
Was born in Xenia, O., March 6, 1837. His father, Rev. Moses Trader,

and his mother, Rebecca R. Trader, nee Wells, moved to Missouri in lS4o

or 1841, and settled near Brunswii k, Chariton County, and in 1844 moved
to Linn County, Mo. In 18.^)4 Dr. Trader began the study of medicine

with Dr. Alex. S. Hughes, of Lindley, Grundy County. He afterwards

attended the Missouri Medical College, graduating from that institution in

1859, after which he practiced medicine until the breaking out of the late

war. In the early part of the war he commanded a company in the State

Militia, but in 1862 joined the Federal forces at Laclede, Mo., and was
commissioned Assistant Surgeon by Gov. Gamble, and mustered into the

First Cavalr}^ 1st battalion, M. S. M. In 18(33 he was commissioned

Surgeon, and mustered into the same regiment at Jefferson City. In 1S64,

by special order, he was made Brigade Surgeon of the First Brigade, of

Pleasanton's Cavalry Corps. In April, 186.5, he was mustered out of the

volunteer service, and immediatelv took service in the U. S. Medical

Corps as A. A. Surgeon, and assigned to duty at Jefferson Barracks. From
there he was ordered to New Orleans, with Medical Director on the

steamer Baltic. They proceeded as far as Vicksburg, where they took on

300 Andersonville prisoners, and returned to Jefferson Barracks. He re-

signed his commission in May, 1865, having served almost throughout the

entire war. Dr. Trader was a gallant officer in the field, and in his pro-

fessional capacit}^ ^vas called to fill some of the highest and most respon-
sible positions in the State. As a surgeon, he has taken his place among
the foremost men of the State, as is attested by the positions of honor and

trust that he is from time to time beincr called to fill. After the war he

located in Lexington, Mo., and engaged in the practice of medicine until

1865, when he came to Sedalia, where he has ever since made his home,
and practiced his profession, enjoying a large and lucrative practice. In

1867 he visited Europe, holding an honorary commission from the Gov-

ernor of his State to the Paris Exposition, and spent some time in the study
of specialties in his pi ofession, as superior advantages were there afforded

him. In 1876 he was elected President of the Medical Association, of the

State of Missouri, which position he occupied during 1876 and 1877. In

1877 he was appointed a delegate to the American Medical Association,

which met in Ciiicago, and attended the same. During the same 3'ear he

was appointed Surgeon for the M., K. & T. Railway, which position he

retained for three years. In 1878 he was appointed by the Curator of the

State University on the Examining Board of the Medical Department,
State University, and is still holding said position. He was married, first

to Miss Lucy A. W. Wyatt, daughter of Capt. John W3^att, of Chil-

licothe, Mo. His first wife died, leaving no children. He was married the

second time, in 1867, to Miss Tillie B. Batterton, of Danville, Ky. They
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have seven children living: Hattie Belle Trader, 1868; Charles Bell Trader,

1870; Arthur Montgomery Trader, 1872; John William Trader, 1875;

George Henry Trader, 1877; Clara Matilda Hope Trader, 1879; infant,

1882. The Doctor has been an active member of the M. E. Church since

1854, and is at the present time President of the Pettis County American
Bible Society. He is also a member of the I. O. O. F. His principal

pastime is with his dog and gun, in which he takes great delight during
his leisure hours, and his reputation as a marksman is second to none in

the cit3^ Dr. Trader has devoted considerable time to literary pursuits.

JACOB W. TRUXEL.
Dealer in rrusic and musical instruments. Mr. Truxel was born in

1843 in Virginia. His father, Daniel B. Truxel, was a native of Virginia,
as was also his mother, Mary, nee Reed. J. W., the subject of this sketch,

was reared and educated in Ohio. In 1861 he enlisted in the Federal

Army, in what was first known as "Birge's Sharp Shooters," organized
at St. Louis as an independent rifle regiment, afterwards known as the

Sixty-Sixth Illinois, under Col, Pat. E. Burke, of St. Louis. Mr. Truxel

served until September, 1864. This regiment took part in many of the

hardest fought battles of the war, among which were Ft. Donelson

Pittsburg Landing, Shiloh, Siege of Corinth, and throughout the Atlanta

campaign. After returning home Mr. Truxel spent some years in trav-

eling for a large New York manufacturing house. \x\ 1869 they located

him at Pittsburg as manager of their business there. He continued in

their employ until 1877, when on account of his health he came to Sedalia,

Mo., where he engaged in the music business, which he still continues.

Mr. Truxel is the largest dealer in Central Missouri and is conducting a

business which will compare favorably with houses of much larger cities.

His music house is located on Ohio street. No. 216. A view of it appears
on page 495 in this volume. He was married in 1873 to Miss Sadie Asdale,

of Pittsburg, a native of that city.

L. M. TRUMBULL.

Attorne}^ at law. Mr. Trumbull was born in Oswego County, N. Y.,

in 1834. His father, Smith Trumbull, was a native of Vermont. His

mother, Cintha Lilley, was a native of New Jersey. L. M., the subject

of this sketch, was educated in New York State, and in 1859 came to

Macon County, Mo., where he practiced law until 18T<>, when he removed

to Cass Countv. In 1879, he came to Sedalia, where he has since

engaged in the practice of his profession. He has also been engaged in

real estate to a considerable extent. He was married in October, 1864,

to Sarah L. Henderson, of Macon County, a graduate of Ohio Female
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College. They have two children, Ruboy H. and Lulu M. Mr. Trum-
bull and his wife are members of the Cumberland Presbyterian Church.

WILLIAM T. TUCKER.
Of the firm of Tucker & Co., grocers and provision dealers. Mr.

Tucker was born, May 26, ]84T, in Kentucky. His father, William G.

Tucker, was a native of Kentucky; also now a wholesale grocer merchant

of Kansas City. Since 18.58, Wm., the subject of this sketch, has resided

in Missouri. In ISTu he engaged in the saddlery and harness business, in

Brownsville, Mo., where he remained two years, after which he spent two

years in the Indian Nation, in the cattle business. In 1875 he went to Sher-

man, Texas, where he was in the saddlery and harness business one year.
He was in various kinds of business in Texas, until 1880, when he left the

State, and after traveling over a large part of the west he came to Sedalia,

July, 1881, and engaged in the grocery trade at the store on the corner of

Ohio and Third streets, where we now find him, Mr. Tucker is a Mason,
also belongs to the K. P. He and his wife are members of the Christian

Church. He was married, Sept. 3, 1872, to Jennie O'Brien, of Boonville,

Mo. They have two children, Jennie W. and Mamie G.

GEN. RALPH VAN BRUNT.
One of the oldest and most experienced men connected with the M., K.

T. office at this city, is the subject of this sketch, Ralph Van Brunt. He
is the son of Abert Van Brunt, a native of Brooklyn, N. Y. The subject of

this sketch was born at Schenectady, N. Y., Sept. 13, 1834. He received

his primary education in the schools of his native county, afterwards com-

pleted the same and graduated at Union College. This College has been

a noted institution in the east, and some of our finest scholars and states-

men have graduated from this institution. Notably among her alumni are

such men as President Arthur and Wm. H. Seward and others. Proctor

Nott was President of the College while Mr. Van Brunt was a pupil.

After he had completed his collegiate course he went to Wisconsin and

engaged in teaching school until the breaking out of the late rebeUion.

He enlisted in the United States service under Col. Thomas Ruger, now
Colonel of the Eighteenth United States Infantry, and late Superintendent
of the United States Military Academy, at West Point. Mr. Van Brunt was

Adjutant under Col. Ruger. He served until the close of the war, and

was mustered out of service, Sept., 1865. Mr. Van Brunt was Brevet

Major of United States Volunteers, and Adjutant General of the Second

Brigade, First Division of the Twentieth Army Corps. After the close of

the war he returned to his home in New York, where he remained three

3'^ears. In 1870 he moved to Kansas, and accepted a position on the K.

P. R. R., and in Nov., 1875, he moved to Sedalia, and accepted a position
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as Chief Clerk in the Master Mechanic's office of the M., K. & T., which

position he still holds. He was married, Aug., 1807, to Miss Mariah

Barhydt, a native of New York. From this union there were two

children, only one of whom is now living.

REV. JAMES M. VAN WAGNER.
He was born at Pleasant Valley, Dutchess County, ^^ Y., July 8, 1818.

While he was a babe his father lost a large property, and soon after

deceased, leaving the mother to support herself and eight children as best

she could. The boy's life was a trying one. He began work in the fac-

tory when but eight years old. Two or three years of his life were spent
in hard labor on a farm. He then learned the blacksmith trade in Pough-
keepsie, N. Y., under h?s brother, and became a well known and expert
horse-shoer. At nineteen he determined to have an education, and went
to Oberlin, Ohio, and there studied nine years in succession. He had no

help, but paid his own way by manual labor at first, and then by lecturing
and preaching. He also supported a sister, who pursued her studies at

the same institution. Mr. Van Wagner's life in the ministry has been a

successful one. He has held five positions, always drawn large audiences,

and greatly built up the churches to which he has ministered. He is still

in the height of his power physically and intellectually. He is noted for

his boldness, originality and earnestness. For four years he was the pas-
tor of the Congregational Church of Sedalia, and was very popular with

all classes. His church was alwa3's crowded, and his resignation was

greatly regretted by the church and city. He is now pastor of a church

in Michigan. Three of his sons and one daughter reside in Sedalia.

Rev. Allen J. Van Wagner, pastor of the Congregational Church; W. H.

and C. C. Van Wagner, of the boot and shoe firm of Moses & Van Wag-
ner Bros.

;
and Harriet N, wife of Geo. W. Townsley, jeweler. Rev.

James M. Van Wagner was married in 1845 to Miss Harriet N. Johnson,

daughter of Allen and Betsy Johnson, of Peru, Ohio. Her father was a

man well known in all that region, and held many important offices. Ten
children have been born to them, eight living, viz: Allen J., Mary L.,

wife of J. R. Loomis, of Atchison, Kansas; W. H., C. C, Harriet N.,

Carrie, wife of J. M. Everett, of Holden, Mo.; Libbie and Fannie; the two

last residing with their parents.

WM. H. VAN WAGNER.
Of Moses & Van Wagner Bros., boots and shoes. Was born July 4,

1851, in Clinton, Michigan. He is a son of Rev. J. M. Van Wagner,
whose name is mentioned elsewhere. Wm. H. was educated in Illinois

and New York. In 1869, he was employed as salesman in a book store

in Atchison, Kansas, where he remained until 1871, when he came to
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Sedalia. Here he entered the general office of the M., K. & T. R. R., as

clerk, where he remained until Sept., 1873, at which time he was

appointed Deputy County Clerk of Pettis County, under R. H. Moses.

He held this position until the expiration of his term, when he was re-ap-

pointed by his successor, Henry Y. Field, and served under him until

January 1, 1881, when he went into the boot and shoe business, in connec-

tion with R. H. rvToses and his brother. Of this house and its business

we speak elsewhere. Mr. Van Wagner was married April 18, 1877, to

Miss Nettie Freeland, of Tiogo County, N. Y., a daughter of L3'man
Freeland. They are members of the Congregational Church. He is

also a member of the A. O. U. W. They have one child, Ernest.

REV. ALLEN J. VAN WARNER.
Pastor of the First Congregational Church of Sedalia. Son of Rev.

James M. Van Wagner, born in Peru, O., Sept. 11, 1847. His early life

was spent in Michigan, Ohio and New York, where his father held pas-
torates. When fifteen years of age, his father accepted a call to the pas-

torate at Kewanee, 111., and here the subject of this sketch prepared for

college. He was educated at Knox College, Galesburg, 111., and the

Theological Seminary at Chicago, graduating from the latter in 1873. In

April of that year he accepted the pastorate of the Congregational Church
of Elmwood, 111., which position he held with satisfaction to the people
and great credit to himself for six and one-half years. In October, 1879,

as may be seen in the Sedalia City History, he accepted a call to his pres-

ent position. His labors in Sedalia have met with universal favor and

his influence is wide and deep. Other churches have diligently sought
his services, but he has persistently refused to leave the people to which

he has become so much attached. In Oct., 1881, he received a unani-

mous call from the Congregational Church of Sandusk}-, Ohio, with a

large salary, and in January, 1882, received an urgent and unanimous call

from the Congregational Church at Marshalltown, Iowa, but refused both

from a sense of duty to the field here. In Oct., 1881, he was elected Sec-

retary and Treasurer of the General Association of Congregational
Churches of Missouri, and in the same year was elected Chaplain of the

Veteran Club of Sedalia, composed of veteran soldiers from both armies

of the late war. Mr. Van Wagner, as a pulpit orator, though a young
man, is taking a foremost position ;

his sermons are forcible, eloquent, and

entertaining, and his audiences are always large, frequently, at evening

service, the church is too small for the congregations. He was married

in June, 1870, to Miss Fannie E. Doty, a most estimable lady of refine-

ment, daughter of Milo and Catherine Doty of Kewanee, 111. Possessed

of those social and Christian graces that produce sunshine wherever they

go, this worthy pair are beloved by a large circle of warm friends.
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LON. VAN WAGNER.
Of Moses & Van Wagner Bros., boots and shoes. Was born in 1853,

in Ohio. Rev. J. M. Van Wagner, his father, was a native of New York,
now pastor of the Congregational Church, at Lowell, Mich. His mother,

Harriett, //e<? Johnson, was born in Connecticut. Lon., the subject of this

sketch, was reared and educated in Illinois. After completing his educa-

tion he spent some time clerking in the grocery business. In 18TB he

came to Sedalia, Mo., where he engaged in the boot and shoe business,

which he has followed ever since, with the exception of about one year,

which he spent in the First National Bank of this city. Since the open-

ing of the house with which he is now connected, he has dealt exclusively
in boots, shoes, hats and caps. Mr. Van Wagner and his partner, Mr.
R. H. Moses, are gentlemen who are justly entitled to the patronage
which they receive. Mr. Van Wagner is a member of the Knights of

Pythias. He was married in April, 18TT, to Gertrude Gleason of Sedalia,

daughter of Samuel Gleason, of this city. He and his wife are members
of the Congregational Church, and by their union have one child, Edna.

J. HENRY VITT.

Of Vitt & Meyers, dry goods merchants. Mr. Vitt was born April

26, 1838, in Prussia. His father, John P. Vitt, and his mother, Mary C,
nee Lirsch, are natives of Prussia. J. H., the subject of this sketch, received

his education in the old country, graduating there at the age ot fourteen

years. In 1852 he came to America, locating in Pennsylvania for a short

time, after which he came to Jefierson City, Mo., where he engaged as

salesman in a dry goods store. After a few years he went to St. Louis.

In 1859 he was admitted to the lirm of Charles F. Lahman & Co. as a

partner at Syracuse, Mo., at that time the terminus of the Missouri Paci-

fic Railroad. As the road progressed they followed it along from place
to place, reaching Sedalia in 1861, since which time Mr. Vitt has been

constantly identified with the business interests of Sedalia. In 1872 he

and his present partner, Mr. Meyers, opened their large store on the

corner of Main and Osage streets where they have ever since done a

large and prosperous business. They have gone through the " hard

times" of 1873 to 1875, keeping their " heads above water,
"
while many

others have gone down, and have always paid 100 cents on the dollar,

and now have an unlimited credit. Mr. Vitt and his wife are members of

the Catholic Church. He is also a member of the Catholic Knights of

America. He was married in 1863 to Philomena M. Meyers, of Jefier-

son City, a native of Ohio. They have five children, Mary C, AUie L.,

Clara, WilHs P. F., Henry E. Mr. Vitt has served as a member of the

City Council.

35
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JAMES W. WALKER.

County Assessor. Mr. Walker was born in 1829, in Casey County,

Ky. His father, James T. Walker, was a native of North Carolina. His

mother was a Carter, a native of Virginia. James W., the subject of this

sketch, came with his parents to Pettis County, Mo., in 1843, where he

has ever since made his home. In the spring- of 1850 he went to Cali-

fornia, returning in 1856, after which he engaged in farming, owning a

beautiful farm five miles northwest of Sedalia, where be continued until

1880, when he moved to Sedalia on account of educating his children. In

1880 he was elected to the office of County Assessor, which office he now
fills. He was married Aug. 3, 1858, to Miss Sarah J. Powell. They
have three children, Frank T., Henry A. and Sarah E.

JOHN WALMSLEY.
Merchant tailoring, carpets and house furnishing goods. Was born in

England in 1816. His father, Thomas, emigrated to Canada in 1851.

John, the subject of this sketch, was reared in Canada and was taught
mercantile pursuits when quite young. In March, 1871, he came to

Sedalia and was employed as salesman for Clute Bros. When the firm

was changed to Clute & Co., Mr. Walmsley took an interest in the firm

and continued in the firm until 1870, when he commenced business for

himself. He carries a large stock of gents' furnishing goods, together
with a stock of carpets. He is also engaged extensively in merchant tail-

oring. His store room Is situated on Ohio Street in the old Times build-

ing, between Second and Third streets, where he occupies the first and

second floors. His carpet hall, up stairs, is large and elegant and is sup-

plied with an extensive stock of house furnishing goods. Mr. Walmsley
was married in 1876 to Miss Maggie Fletcher, of Sedalia. They have

two children, John Fletcher and Alice Scott.

GEORGE W. WALSHE.
Son of William Walshe, a native of Ireland, who emigrated to America

at an early day and settled in New York State. Geo. \V. Walshe was

born Feb. 22, 1831, in Schenectady, N. Y., and received his education

from the schools of his native State, and after completing the same he was

apprenticed to learn the trade of a machinist and engineer, after which he

worked at his trade oh the Mohawk & Hudson R. R., now the New
York Central R. R. After leaving the N. Y. C. R. R. he went to Bos-

ton, where he was engaged for about four years as machinist and engineer
for the Boston & Maine R. R., then accepted a position with the New
York & Erie R. R., where he was made foreman in 1852 of Dunkirk

shops. He remained in that capacity for a short time and then went to

Joliet, 111., and took charge of the construction of the C. & A. R. R. be-
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tween that city and Bloomington, as master mechanic. This was in 1853.

A similar position was tendered him by the Ohio & Mississippi R. R.

Co., which he accepted, retaining the same about four years. He then

purchased a farm in Washington County, Mo., where he engaged in

farming and stock-raising till the breaking out of the late civil war. Dur-

ing the war he was appomted Assistant General of United States railroads

at Nashville, Tenn., where he remained till the close of the war. After

peace had been declared he returned to his farm in Washington County,

Mo., and built a barytes factory, in the manufacture of which he continued

about three years. Then, about 1S70, he accepted a position with the St.

Louis & San Francisco R. R. Co., which was then under construction.

After resigning his position here he accepted the position of foreman of

the Missouri Pacific shops at Sedalia; then in 1877 he was promoted to

master mechanic, which position he still holds. Mr. Walshe is a man of

superior business ability and mechanical genius, warm-hearted and gener-

ous, winning a large circle of friends.

MAJOR JONATHAN R. WEBBER.

Major Webber was born in 1815, at Hanover, N. Y. His father, Jona-

than, was born in 1771; in Massachusetts, and died in 1834. His mother,

Roxanna, nee Stebins', was a native of Massachusetts, died in 1840. Maj.

Webber was reared on a farm, also learned the mason's trade in his

youth, which he followed for about seventeen years. In 1840 he removed

to Niles, Mich., after which he bought a farm and engaged in farming

for several years. He served while here several years as Deputy United

States Marshal. In 1856 he moved to Morris, 111., where he was in busi-

ness until' 1859, when he served as Sheriff". During the war he was

Assistant Provost Marshal of the Sixth Congressional District of Illinois.

In 1864 he went into the army as Captain, coming out at the close of the

war as Major. After the war he dealt extensively in gram for several

years. In 1871 he came to Sedalia, where he has dealt in grain and real

estate, and served as justice of the peace. Major Webber was married

in 1837 to Eliza Abeel, of Washington County, N. Y. They have one

child living, Elida, now the wife of J. C Parmlee. They have two

deceased. Julias C, Colonel of the Eighteenth Illinois Regiment, died at

Vicksburg, in 1872. Was Mayor of that city. William W., Captain

Third United States Cavalry, died in 1871, of wounds received in the war,

being shot three times.

JOSEPH G. WHITE.

Was born Oct. 6, 1841, in Cumberland County, Pa. His father, Wm.

White, being a native of that State, is now residing in Pana, 111. Jos. G.

White was educated at Waveland Collegiate Institute, Ind. After
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attaining manhood he went to Illinois and taught school one year. After-

wards he was employed as clerk in a drug store, where he remained about

four years. About this time Mr. White accepted a position as traveling

salesman for a Chicago drug house, and was very successful in that capac-

ity. During his travels Mr. White chanced to stop over in Sedalia, and

admiring the location, push, thrift and enterprise of the little city, and

with all the general prospects of the olace he decided to locate here, and

in Feb., 1867, he joined his brother, W. T.White, here, who was engaged
in the lumber business. They formed a co-partnership in that business,

which they successfully followed until 1880. During Mr. White, business

career he, by successful enterprise, has accumulated quite a large

property, owning considerable real estate in the city, and in addition to

which he has about one thousand acres of good farming lands in the

county. Mr. White is jointly dividing his time in improving his city and

farming property. He was married, Jan. 31, 1871, to Miss Mary B.

Barker, of Wooster, Ohio, daughter of Chas. Barker, a native of New
York, who died in 1872. Mr White and his wife are members of the

Presbyterian Church in high standing.

STEPHEN N. WHITE.

Of S. N. White & Co., agricultural implements. Was born in Kane

County, lUinois, in 1848. His father, Wm. White, was a native of New
York, who died in 1854; Catherine, nee Ravlin, his mother, was also born in

the State of New York and is still living in Illinois. Stephen N. was

reared and educated in Illinois on a farm. In 1870 he began as salesman

for an implement house in De Kalb, 111., where he remained three years.

In 1873 he went to Colorado and engaged in the auction and commission

business at Denver and continued in that business for three years, and in

1876 he went to Del Norte, Col., and followed the same business until

1878, when he came to Sedalia, Mo., and began as salesman with J. R.

Stuart. In October, 1881, he took a partnership interest in the business,

and started a branch house on West Main street. This is the oldest

implement house in the city. Mr. Stuart having begun here about seveen-

teen years ago. They handle all kinds of farming implements, including

reapers, mowers, plows, wagons, &c., &c. Mr. White is a member of the

Masonic fraternity. He was married in 1876 to Laura A. Fox, of De

Kalb, 111., daughter of P. L. and Laura Fox, of that city. They have

two children, Laura and Charles S.

DR. M. E. WHITE.

Grocer and provision dealer. Dr. White was born in 1831, in Anderson

County, Ky. His father, John B. White, was a native of Virginia. His

mother, Jane Clark, was a 'native of Kentucky. Dr. M. E. Clark wa.>
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educated at Cincinnati, Ohio
;
studied dentistry at Hannibal, Mo., and in

1857 be^an practice at Alton, 111. In 1859 he went to Memphis, Tenn.,
where he practiced until 1870, when he returned to Kentucky, where he

practiced dentistry and farmed until 1882, when he came to Sedalia and

opened a ^rocer}^ and provision store on Second street. Dr. White was
married in 1856 to Ellen Chambers, of Frankfort, Ky. They have three

children, Evilla, Stonewall Jackson and Fannie. His wife died in 1870.

His second wife was Mary E. McCoun, a native of Kentucky, b}^ whom
he has two children, Lottie L. and Joe. The Dr. is a member of the

Masonic fraternity, also of K. P.

W. F. WHITE.

Of the Queen City Manufacturing Company, is a native of Pettis

County, Mo. He was educated in Sedalia. In 1872 he became interested

in the drug business in connection with his brother, C. N., now of Apple-
ton, and with whom W. F. is now a partner. In 1882 he bought an

interest in the Queen City Manufacturing Company, in connection with

Dr. A. H. Thurston, of Pilot Grove, and' to this Sedalia enterprise Mr.

White now gives his entire time and energies. They are manufacturing-
all kinds of flavoring extracts, perfumes, ground spices, bluing, baking

powders, &c., &c. Their store is located at No. 217 Main street. They
keep several men constantly on the road, and their prospects are very

flattering indeed.

JAMES C. WHEELER.
United States Revenue Collector. Was born in Michigan, in 1843.

His father, Solomon H. Wheeler, a native of the State of New York, who
settled in Michigan m 1835, and died there about the year 1858. His

mother was also born in New York, and died about the year 1847. J. C.

was educated at Kalamazoo College. After the breaking out of the war
he left college and entered the Federal army, in Company I, Eighteenth

Michigan Infantry. He served three years, being mustered out in July,

1865. He was in the Army of the Cumberland, taking part in all the

battles. He escaped being wounded or taken prisoner. Mr. Wheeler's

brothers, three in number, were all in the arm}^ throughout the war and

came through safely, and are all living to-day. At the close of the war

Mr. Wheeler was in the employ of the Government, in the construction of

National Cemeteries, supervising the construction of the cemetery at Chat-

tanooga, Tenn., and several others in the South. He was engaged in

this business until 1872, when he was appointed Revenue Collector for

the United States, with headquarters at Washington, D. C. His especial

duty is traveling, and during the time which he has been in the employ of

the Government, he has been over every State and Territory in the
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Union. He was married in 1869 to Miss Nellie G. Cook, of Fort Donel-

son. Her mother and grandmother were natives of London, England.
Her father, George Cook, was a soldier of the Mexican War, and died

soon after. They have five children: Frederick, Eddie, Julia E., Ollie E.

and Hattie D.

HARVEY R. WHEELER.

Was born in Tecumseh, Lenawee County, Mich., April 5, 1839. His

father, Solomon H. Wheeler, was a resident of Michigan, and his mother,

Orpha A. Wheeler, nee Sweeney, was a native of New York. She died

many years ago. Harvey was educated at Tecumseh and Kalamazoo,
Mich. He enlisted as a volunteer in the Eighteenth Michigan Infantry,

in August, 1862, serving as a private about eighteen months, when he

was promoted to First Lieutenant, in which position he served until mus-

tered out in May, 1866, making a military service of three years and eight
months. He was appointed Deputy Collector of the Fifth District of Mis-

souri, Sept. 16, 1878, by D. H. Budlong, of Carthage, Mo., under whom
he served until Aug. 1, 1881, and then was re-appoined to the same posi-

tion by B. H. Langston, of Springfield. He located in Sedalia in January,

1869, and engaged in the grocery business, with A. B. Codding. He now
owns considerable property in Sedalia. In August, 1862, he married

Catharine L. Tindall, of Tecumseh, Mich., daugnter of Noah H. Tindali.

They have two children, one son and one daughter, Heardy and Gertie.

JAMES B. WILCOX.

Fruit and produce broker. Mr. Wilcox was born in Kendall County,

111., in 1844. His father, H. S. Wilcox, was a native of New York. His

mother, Jeannette, 7iee McEwen, was a native of New Jersey. J. B,, the

subject of this sketch, came to Sedalia in 1867, and engaged in the gro-

cery and provision trade, until 1873, when he sold out and began the

commission business, making a specialty of fruit and country produce. In

this business he has ever since been very successful. He has been twice

married; his first wife died, after which he married Phcebe Bottsford, of

Wisconsin, in 1872. They have one child, Harlow G. Mr. Wilcox and

his wife are members of the Congregational Church, and have both been

members of its choir since 1877. To Mr. Wilcox belongs the praise for

making this choir the best in the city, or in Central Missouri.

BURWELL G. WILKERSON.

Attorney at law. Was born in 1836, in Warren County, Ohio. His

father was Charles N. Wilkerson, also of the same county and State, who
died in Sept., 1881. His mother, whose maiden name was Martha

A. Goode, was a native of Ohio, and died there in Jan., 1877. B. G.
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Wilkerson, the subject of this sketch, was educated in Miami University
at Oxford, Ohio, after which he took up the study of law, at Wilmington,
Ohio. He was admitted to the bar by the Supreme Court of the State

of Ohio, at Columbus, in March, 1862. He practiced law at Wilmington
until 1867, when he came to Sedalia, Mo., where he has since remained.

He was married in 1870 to Sarah E. Doolittle, Painsville, O., a daughter of

John T. Doolittle, and by this union they have two children, Frederick D. and

George R., also one deceased. Mr. Wilkerson has been eminently suc-

cessful in his practice, especially in the settling of claims of real .estate,

among which is the estate of General George R. Smith. As a lawyer
he is not only a success, but deserves success, and stands without dispute

among the very few who are in the foremost rank of the profession.

THOMAS WOOD.
He is the son of Samuel Wood, a native of England, who emigrated to

the United States in the year 1842, and settled near Richmond, Virginia,
but afterwards went to Ohio, then in 1860 to Pennsylvania, where he now
resides, at the age of seventy-one. The mother of Mr. Wood is also liv-

ing. Thomas Wood was born in Stat^brdshire, England, Sept. 12, 1840,

the second in a family of eighteen children. His school days were spent in the

subscription schools of Virginia. When about nineteen years of age he

began firing on the Terre Haute, Alton & St. Louis Railroad, where he

continued about one year, then accepted a position as brakeman on

the Marietta & Cincinnati Railroad. He then came to Missouri and

engaged in the employ of the Missouri Pacific Railroad at St. Louis,

as fireman, in the year 1861. Here he remained till 1864, when he was

promoted to engineer. He filled this position till the great strike of 1868,

when, with many others, he struck, and then returned to the Marietta &
Cincinnati Railroad, where he remained about five months. Next he

went to Omaha, and worked with the Union Pacific Railroad. After

remainino- here for some time he returned to the Marietta & Cincinnati

Railroad, where, after about nine months' service, he took a position with

the Milwaukee & St. Paul Railroad. He then came to Sedalia and

accepted a position as engineer on the Missouri Pacific Railroad, which

he has held since Oct., 1872. He was married Dec. 14, 1865, to Miss

Mary E. Allen, of Warrensburg, Mo. Their family consisted of five chil-

dren, two of whom are hving, Edgar W. and J. Herbert. He is a care-

ful and reliable engineer. During his service on the Missouri Pacific Rail-

road of ten years he has met with no accident worthy of mention, and he

is considered one of the best in the employ of the corporation.

SILAS A. WRIGHT.

Was born in Jersey County, 111., in 1850. His father, Silas W., was a
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native of New York, now living in Oregon. His mother, Mary, nee

Redmond, was a native of Ohio, still living. Silas A., the subject of this

sketch, was reared in Wisconsin. In 1868 he came to Springfield, Mo.,
where he engaged in the sewing machine business, operating at various

points in that section of the countr}-. He was given the general agency
of the American Sewing Machine in this State. In 1877 he removed to

Sedalia, where he has since made his headquarters, and where he has a

large store. He keeps a full stock of machines, besides all kinds of repairs.

He keeps one or two men constantly on the road, wholesaling all kinds

of sewing machines, and is perhaps the largest dealer in Central Missouri.

Mr. Wright is a member of the Masonic fraternity, also Knights of Honor
and K. P. In 1874 he was married to Miss Hackendom of Webster

County, Mo. They have one child living, Una. One deceased.

JOHN J. YEATER.
President of the Citizens National Bank. Is another who be<ran at the

first round of the ladder and who by energy and pluck has established

himself among the foremost. John J. Yeater was born in Lincoln County,
Mo., in 1831. His father Charles H., a native of Kentucky, came to St.

Charles County, Mo., in 1808. Later he.moved to Osceola, in southwest

Missouri, where John J., the subject of our sketch, was reared. In 1857

he was married to Miss Sarah J. Ellis of Connecticut. In 1861 he was
burned out by Jim Lane's forces, losing two large store houses with their

contents. He then entered the Confederate army and served four years
as Quartermaster. In 1865 he came to Sedalia and engaged in the grocery

business, and being a very shrewd and successful business man he has

taken his place among the foremost business men of Sedalia and Central

Missouri. At the organization of the Citizens National Bank in 1872, he

was chosen vice-president, and served until the death of Clifton Wood in

1877, when he was chosen to till the vacancy, which position he now

occupies. Mr. Yeater is also extensively engaged in the grocery business,

running both a wholesale and retail establishment. Mr. Yeater is also

engaged in stock feeding, having on hand over six hundred head. He
has four children living, Charles E., attorney at law, Sedalia, Laura, at

Columbia Christian College, Merritt West and Stella W.

MATTHIAS ZENER.

General insurance agent. Mr. Zener was born in 1835 in Vermillion

County, Ind. His father, x\dam Zener, was a native of Kentucky. His

mother, Mary, nee Hopkins, was a native of Pennsylvania. Matthias, the

subject of this sketch, enlisted in the Eighteenth Regiment Indiana Vol-

unteers, Co. C, in July, 1861, and served one and a half years in the army.
Afterwards he taught school for a time, and in 1864 went to Iowa, where
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he engaged in insurance business. In 1S65 he came to Chnton, Mo.,
where he sold drugs 'and engaged in insurance; was also superintendent of

schools here from 1866 until 1870. In 1S71 he gave up his other busi-

ness and has ever since given all his time to insurance business. In 1873

he came to Sedalia where he now resides. He is a member of the Masonic

fraternity. He was married in 1870. They have three children, Helen

M., Mary L., Alice G. Mrs. Zener has one child by her first husband,
Anna A.

CHAPTER XII.—HOUSTONIA TOWNSHIP.

Introduction—Name—Organization—Configuration—Physical Features—Some Interest-

ing History
—Col. Houston's Celebrated Preceptor—Marshal Ney—The Colonel's

Riograph}^
—His Statement Regarding the Marshal— Description of the Man—His

Admiration for Napoleon Bonaparte—Death of Napoleon's Son—The Marshal

Destroys His Private Papers—Corroborative Statements—Houstonia Village
—Its

Business Interests—Churches—Schools—Railroad—The Great Cyclone of 1875—
Biographical.

In the northern part of Pettis County is situated the beautiful scope of

country comprising Houstonia Township, and running diagonally across

the township is the branch line of the Missouri Pacific Railway, connect-

ing this township with the enterprising city of Sedalia, giving it every
connection for transportation, which, with its natural facilities and resources,

gives its inhabitants every advantage that could be wished for by the

agriculturist, the stock raiser and the capitalist. A few years ago the

present site of Houstonia and the village of Hughesville was a wild, uncul-

tivated waste of rolling prairie belonging to the Government. This was

sold by the Government at 12^ cents to $1.25 per acre when opened for

settlement, and the fortunate purchasers of large tracts have reaped rich

rewards in the investment of their savings, at an early day, in the rich

upland land of this township. The township, as a whole, is unsurpassed

by any in the county. While this township is by no means so rough and

broken as the others, it has the advantage of having an abundant supply
of timbered land along its borders, and with every means of comfort near

at hand its people are indeed fortunate and happy.
Name.—Houstonia Township derives its name from the principal town

situated wdthin its borders, that of Houstonia. Hon. Thomas F. Houston

laid out the town, and it was named in his honor. From his grandfather
the town of Houstonville, Iredell County, N. C, is also named. Col.

Houston having been for many years prominently identified with the inter-

ests of Pettis County, it is appropriate that we give him a short notice in

connection herewith, and it is also not inappropriate that we give some

history of his illustrious preceptor, the great. Frenchman, Marshal Ney.
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Some Interesting History.—In connection with the history of Hous-

tonia Township, it may not be inappropriate to ^ive- the following sketch

of the illustrious preceptor of Col. Thomas F. Houston, in whose honor

the village and township of Houstonia takes its name. From the St. Louis

Republican, of July 8, 1877, we copy the following: "In February, 1876,

in response to an inquiry. Col. Thomas F. Houston, of Pettis Count}^ made

public in the Sedalia Democrat a statement, giving his reasons for contro-

verting the historical facts concerning Marshal Ney's execution. For the

purpose of giving it an enlarged publicity and enlisting others in the work,

a copy of all the facts bearing on this question has been obtained, thor-

oughly revised, and thus presented through the Republican. Col. Houston's

character and unquestionable veracity are too well known in Central Mis-

souri to need an introduction, but for the benefit of all others a short bio-

graphical sketch is appended. Thomas F. Houston was born July 30,

1818, at Houstonville—named in honor of his grandfather
—Iredell County,

N. C; received a collegiate education under the instruction of Marshal

Ney; adopted the profession of law; admitted to the bar June, 1840, and

located at Statesville, in his native county. In 1845 he married Miss Mary
M. Hampton, a relative of the Hampton families of Virginia and South

Carolina. .He emigrated from Alabama to near the present site of Bunce-

ton. Cooper County, Mo., in 1846, and since that time has devoted his

whole energies to agricultural pursuits and stock raising. In 1851 he

removed to the northern portion of Pettis County, Mo., near where he

subsequently located the town of Houstonia, named in his honor. He is

one of the largest farmers in Central Missouri, having raised over 2,500

acres of corn in 1875, and sold in one contract in St. Louis 50,000 bushels.

He filled the office of President of the first Pettis County Fair; subscribed

liberally to the capital stock of the Lexington and St. Louis Railroad (now
the Lexington branch of the Mo. P.); held the position of president and

director for many years, and to him much credit is due for a change in its

starting point from Lamonte to Sedalia. He was selected as the historian

and orator at the Centennial celebration at Sedalia on the Fourth of Jul}^

1876, and gave a v^ery interesting
" Historical Sketch of Pettis County,"

from the first knowledge of this region by the whites up to that date.

His address was copied from the Sedalia papers into the St. Louis Repub-

lican, and endorsed bv some of the " oldest inhabitants
"

as correct as to

facts stated in relation to the earliest exploration and settlement of Central

Missouri; and the facts contained therein will furnish items for all future

histories of Pettis County and Central Missouri. He now lives in the

enjoyment of good health on his magnificent estate near Houstonia, an

industrious, enterprising, intelligent Christian gentleman.
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COL. Houston's statement.

Sixty years have elapsed since the reported execution of Marshal Ney,
and history records it as a fact. Nevertheless, at the risk of being con-

sidered credulous and easily deceived, I will give you a brief account of

the life of a man who was known for over thirty years in South Carolina,
North Carolina and Virginia, as P. S. Ney (Peter Stuart Ney), and with

whom I was intimately acquainted and associated for a good many years,
and I do not hesitate to say, in my opinion, was the veritable Marshal

Ney. I will here state that I can refer to many persons still living who
knew him, and know that there was a general belief among those who
knew him best that he was Marshal Ney.

If my information is correct. Marshal Ney landed in America, in Jan.,

1816, but I knew nothing personally of him until ten years thereafter.

About 1826 (fifty-one years ago,) my uncle. Col. Francis Young, of Iredell

County, North Carolina, employed this old man, Mr. P. S. Nev, to teach

the languages to his sons, at Oak Hill Academy, and my first recollection

of him was seeing him come to the postofRce, at Houstonville, for his mail

matter. I was too young at that time to attend school, but in January,
1830,1 became his pupil and continued so most of the time, until 1838.

Part of the time he boarded in my father's family, and as I grew up to

manhood a warm friendship existed between us, at least, on my part
towards him.

He was a man a little under six feet in height, not much fleshv, but

muscular, and weighed about two hundred pounds. He showed his mil-

itary training in his style and bearing. He was probably sixty years of

age when I became his pupil. His head was quite bald, and showed a

scar on one side, which he said was a sword cut in battle. He was
marked with small-pox. He was a good teacher and scholar, possessing
the peculiar faculty of imparting instruction, and taught more for the

pleasure and employment which it afforded him than for the profit, as he

onl}^ asked his board and $200 per annum.

He spent his leisure hours in reading and writing; read the newspapers

attentively, and occasionally wrote tor the N'ational Intelliocncer^ at

Washington City, and the Carolina WalchnuDi, published at Salisbury,

N. C. It was his custom to setup very late at night, only sleeping from

four to six hours in twenty-four. He said that was a habit contracted in

camp, while in the army. It was evident he was not an ordinary soldier,

but a man of rank and genius.

He was a great admirer of Napoleon Bonaparte, always spoke of him

in terms of the highest admiration, and up to the time of the death of

Bonaparte's son, he often expressed his determination of returning to

France. This was probably about the years 1834 or 1835. He was

greatly distressed by that event; destroyed man}' private papers in his
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possession, and fears were entertained that his reason might be dethroned,

and that he might commit suicide. Although previous to that time he

often spoke of his intention to return to France, yet never after that event

did I know him to express such intention. He had often spoken of it to

me; had solicited me to go with him, and I promised to do so. He was

always reticent when with strangers, and rarely if ever spoke of himself

and his connection with the French army, even to his intimate friends,

unless the hinges of his tongue were loosened by an extra glass of wine or

brandy, and his characteristic reserve thrown off. Then he never mani-

fested auy boastful disposition, but sometimes spoke of his connection with

the army and the part he had borne in its campaigns.
He has narrated to me his famous retreat from Moscow, amid the snows

and across the rivers upon ice; how the ice bridge gave away under his

army and drowned many of them
;
how they perished from hunger and cold

;

how the Cossacks hung upon his rear and flanks, cutting ofl his men, and

slaughtering those who from cold and exhaustion straggled and la}^ down
in the snow to die; how he marched on foot with his men, and finally

brought up the rear guard of a few hundred men, and how Napoleon
embraced him and called him "the bravest of the brave." I once saw

him taken up from the road in a stupor after an ineffectual attempt to

arouse him, and laid across a horse to be removed by some negro
men. This aroused him, and his tirst involuntary expression was, ,

*' What ! put the Duke of Elchingen on a horse, like a sack ! Let me
down!" In answer to the question whether he could ride, he answered,
"
Yes, I can ride into battle," and he quietly rode to my father's house.

He has related to me the circumstances of his supposed execution. He
said that " historv said he was executed, but that it was not true.

" He
said it was true that he was sentenced and was taken out to be executed,

and that the soldiers who were detailed to execute him had been soldiers

of his command; that as he walked by the file of soldiers he whispered to

them to
" aim high.

" He said his old command was to " aim low at the

heart." He refused to have his eyes bandaged, and took his position in

front of the platoon, and gave the command, "fire.
" That they fired and

he fell, and was pronounced dead, and his body given to friends for inter-

ment. He was conveyed secretly to Bordeaux, where he shipped to

America, and landed at Charleston, S. C I have meditated upon and

weighed these statements for forty years and upward, but did not sup-

pose there could be a witness living at this day, who could testify to the

truth of the statements as given by the old Marshal himself. But there is

living now, (if he has not died lately,) an old Frenchman, who once

belonged to Marshal Ney's command. He stated that after the capture
of Napoleon and Ney, he deserted from the French army and shipped as

a seaman in December, 1815, from Bordeaux, France, landing in America,
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at Charleston, January, 1816. He sa3'S he noticed, after sailing, a man
whose appearance struck him very forcibly as some one he ought to know.
He tried for several days to remember who he could be, and at last it

flashed across his mind that it was his old commander. Marshal Ney^
He sought the first opportunity to satisfy himself, and the next time the

mysterious personage came on deck he approached him and told him he

thought he knew him, to which the reply was, "Whom do you think I

am?" He said, "My old commander, Marshal Ney." He responded,
"Marshal Ney was executed two weeks ago, in Paris," and turning

around, walked directly into his cabin and was not seen by hm again dur-

ing the voyage, although they were thirty-five days reaching Charleston.

The old Frenchman's name is Philip Petrie, and he is, or was recently, an

inmate of the Soldiers' Home at Milwaukee or Detroit, having been a

a soldier in the late war.

This corroborative statement I read in the St. Louis Times, copied
from the Davton, Ohio, yournal, in the fall of 1874-, if I am not mistaken

as to date.

I have in my possession his old Latin grammar, published in 1818, and

in it there are many autographs of M. Ney, (my old preceptor), which

bv comparison with Marshal Ney's autograph as given under his engrav-

ings in the life of "Napoleon and his Marshals," can very readily be

recognized. To substantiate my statements I can refer to Dr. John M.

Young, Water Valley", Miss.; Lucius Q. Butler, County Line post-office,

Davie County. N. C; also Mrs. Mary C. Dalton, Eagle Mills, Iredell

County, N. C.;and Gen. John A. Young, Charlotte, N. C, and scores of

others yet living. The two first named gentlemen were his pupils in 1826.

That Ney, while in the United States, corresponded with foreigners, I find

conclusive evidence in the following, which I quote from a paper before

me in my own hand writing:
" Oblivion is the common lot

Of common men—they die forgot;

He who would live in memory warm,
Must do much good or do much harm ;

Fame lifts her voice alone on high

For those who fill the public eye;

Down iu the brief ephemeral tide,

Sinlis every man a kin beside.
"

Immediately after the foregoing quotations, written in stenography,

(except the proper name and date of month and year) is the following

note made by him, viz: "As was written in a letter to J. E. Poellintz, 8th

of May, 1828, from Abbyville, Va."

If time and space permitted, 1 could relate the visits of strangers and

foreigners, and their recognition of each other; once, at the retirement of

M, Ney and the stranger, and their remaining out together the greater
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part of the night. Ney died in Rowan County, N. C, in the tall of 184:6.

Mr. O. G. Ford was his administrator.

He left a large book of strenographic manuscript, which I have seen

many times, which was supposed to be a biography of himself, and which

I understood was given up by Mr. Ford to some man who promised to

translate it.

The following original poem was written by M. Ney, in my sister's

album, after the death of Napoleon's son, and after Ney had abandoned

all hope of being able to return to France, or of seeing the Bonaparte

family restored to the throne:

GONE WITH THE GLORIES, GONE.

Though I of the chosen, the choicest,

To fame gave her loftiest tone.

Though I 'moug the brave was the bravest,

My plume and my baton are gone!

My eagle that mounted to conquest,

Hath stooped from its altitude high.

A prey to a vulture the foulest.

No more to revisit the sky.

One sigh to the hopes that have perished,

One tear to the wrecks of the past.

One look upon all I have cherished.

One lingerigg look—'tis the last.

•

And now from remembrance I banish,

The glories which shone in my train,

Oh, vanish, fond memories, vanish,

Return not to sting me again.

May 26, 1835. —P. S. Ney.

Now, assuming the writer to be Marshal Ney, how could he have given

expression to the disappointment and anguish of his heart in more forci-

ble and pointed language!
If he was Marshal Ney, and had escaped execution in the manner here-

tofore related, his escape was by the connivance of soldiers detailed for

his execution, and the surgeons and officers superintending the same.
' A

knowledge of the fact that he was still living would most assuredly have

caused death to those who falsely reported he had been executed. Again,

if his intention was to return to France when the proper time should come,

(and I know that to be true), would it not be much easier for him to

escape detection and get back, if it was not known that he was living.
'^

And what could have been a greater surprise to the whole world, or

struck such terror into the hearts of those who were opposing the return

of the Napoleonic dynasty to the throne, or produced such enthusiasm

among the French people as a military proclamation from Marshal Ney,
at the head of the army of Napoleon, the Second, long after he was sup-
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posed to be slumbering in the graver His advent to such position would

probably have been regarded as a resurrection from the dead by the

miraculous interposition of Providence, and have drawn to his standard

the entire French nation.

A LATER LETTER FROM COL. HOUSTON.

In addition to the foregoing statement Col. Houston writes as follows

to a correspondent of the Republican :

HousTONiA, Pettis Co., Mo., June 28, 1877.
* * I am fully aware of the difficulty (perhaps improbability) of con-

troverting an historical account of so important event as the execution of

Marshal Ney, after its acceptance by the world as true for over sixty

years. The opinion and facts as given in my statement have not been so

profound a secret as the world might suppose. Mv most intimate friends

have known for the past thirty years and more that I was fully convinced

that the old French teacher of the Carolinas and Virginia, from 1816 to

the time of his death in 181:6, was no other than the distinguished Marshal

Nev- I would be glad if the Republican or some one would investigate
this' matter and assist in the vindication of the truth, or (in this instance)
the untruth of history. The enclosed letter from Gen. John Gibbon will

explain itself. I answered him but retained no copy. I was unable to

assure him, however, that his old preceptor was the person referred to in

his letter, as the last time I ever saw him was while teaching in the place
referred to, in the year of of 1842 or 1843.

Yours truly,
Thomas F. Houston.

GEN. gibbon's letter.

Ft. Shaw, Montana, June 7, 1877.

Dear Sir:—My attention has been called to a newspaper article relat-

ing to Marshal Ney, in which you are said to be authority for the state-

ment. I feel an interest in knowing if they are authentic, for, in addition

to the historical interest which attaches to them, I am curious to ascertain

whether or not the statements refer to the same old gentleman to whom I

went to school in the spring of 1842, when preparing to go to the Military

Academy. The description of the personal appearance of the supposed
Marshalcoincides perfectly with that of my old school master, who at

that time kept a little country school near a place called Catawba

Springs, Gaston County, N. C. The large bald head, with the great
scar across it, I distinctly remember, and the old man had been nick-

named "Marshal Ney" by the country people.

Respectfully yours,

John Gibbon.

statement from w. o. she;rrill.

Newton, N. C, March 4, 1876.

Editors Southern Home:—^In a late issue of your paper there

appeared a verv interesting account of P. S. Ney, by Col. Houston, of

Missouri. Being aware that O. G. Ford (now a citizen of this place) and



764 HISTORY OF HOUSTONIA TOWNSHIP.

D. B. Gaither were pupils of Mr. Ney, I called Mr. Ford's attention to

the communication, and he says that in the main the statements of Col.

Houston are correct, and that he (Ford) is satisiied that P. S. Ney zuas

none other than the great Marshal JVey of France. Mr. Ney died at O.
G. Ford's house, November, 184(5, and O. G. Ford was his administrator.

Letters of administration were issued by Rowan County Court. The
manuscript referred to was turned over by the administrator to Mr. Pin-

ney Miles, a member of the Historical Society of New York, in 1847,
with the understanding that he was to solve the mystery as to whether P.

S. Ney was Marshal Ney. Mi-. F, received two or three letters from
Mr. Miles, the last one from Europe, in which he thought there could be
but little difficulty in establishing the fact for which the manuscript was

placed in his hands. Mr. Ford says that when Ney received news of the

death of Napoleon's son, he threw a great many papers in the fire, threw
his watch on the floor, dismissed school, and he believes would have com-"
mitted suicide if not restrained. While Ney was on his death bed he
would exclaim: Oh, my countr}'! If I could only die in France!

Marshal Ney Again.—From the Southern Home, Charlotte, N. C.
Dr. Robert Dalton, formerly of Rockingham County, N. C, now of Los

Angeles, Cal., writes that he knew Mr. Ney in 18:27. In that year Mr.

Ney visited Raleigh at the Governor's invitation and Judge Murphy, and
was employed by them to write a history of the State. In consequence
of a disagreement between the Governor and the Judge the contract was
broken off, and Mr. Ney returned to Virginia. On the way he spent a

week with him, most of the time in his office. Dr. Dalton considered him
the strongest minded man he ever knew, and was convinced of his being
the veritable Marshal of the Emfire.

Dr. J. R. B. Adams, Oak Forest, Iredell County, N. C, says:
—I

have been entirely satisfied in my own mind [since 1842, that P. S. Ney,
who taught school two years within seventy-five yards of my residence,
and is now buried in Third Creek graveyard, was the distinguished Mar-
shal JVey.

Organization.—Houstonia is one of the later townships organized in the

county. It was originally the eastern half of Blackwater township and

remained thus until 1844, when it became in the new arrangement part of

Blackwater, Mt. Sterling and Elk Fork. It remained parts of these three

townships until 1873, when in the new organization Houstonia was organ-
ized out of parts of these three townships. As it is now organized it is

situated in the northern part of the county, and is bounded on the north

by Saline county, on the east by Longwood township, on the south by
Dresden township, and on the west by Blackwater township. It is divided

into voting precincts of Houstonia, in the northern, and Hughesville, in

the southern portion of the township. The latter includes parts of Long-
wood and Houstonia townships. In the election of 1880 there were cast

in Houstonia, ninety-three votes for Hancock, Democratic candidate for

President, and sixty-nine for Garfield, Republican candidate. Hughes-
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ville, being the voting precinct for parts of two townships, the exact

number of votes cast Irom this township in that precinct cannot be given.

Configuration.—The- township has no striking physical features

peculiar to itself. Its land consists mostly of beautiful, rolling prairie,

as fertile as any in the county, as beautiful as anv in the world. Its

streams of water are Heath's Creek, which rises in the southern central

portion of the county and finds its way in a northeasterly direction through
the township; Buffalo Creek and another small branch or two rise in the

township and flow north into the Blackwater, and a few small branches

rise in the western part of the township and flow west into the south fork

of Blackwater. These are generally timbered with a supply sufficient for

home consumption. The slope of the land is ever3^where sufficient to

afford excellent drainage. On every hand beautiful and well tilled farms

are seen, with stately residences and complete out-buildings, and sur-

rounded with well-trimmed orchards, bearing in their season abundant

fruits. Beautiful blue grass pastures, with cattle and sheep roaming at

liberty over them, are seen on every hand. In tespect to pastures this

section of Pettis County ranks second to none in America. The famous

blue grass pastures .of Kentucky are equalled in luxuriance of their natural

products, and only surpass those of Pettis County in the quality of stock

grazed on them, and in this it will be but a few years until Central

Missouri must step to the front in this matter also.

Early Settlers.—As the early history of this township is so inter-

woven with that of its neighbors, it is almost impossible to give an accu-

rate list of those who first settled within its borders. As near as we were

able, we obtained a correct list of those who paved the way of opening the

now populous township. Henry Guier settled here about 1834. He came
from North Carolina, and has children now residing in the township.
Bartlett Williams came in 1840. More than forty years ago he passed to

his final rest. John L. Scott came about 1837, from Tennessee. He
entered the land where Col. Houston's farm is now located, and lived

there until his death. Daniel A. Gardner and Mrs. Paulina Coats both

came at an earl^^ date. Mrs. Coats still lives in Houstonia, and Mr. Gard-

ner resides in Lamonte. John Beatty came at an early day, and his widow
still resides in Heath's Creek Township. A. N. Redd was another early

settler, but has been dead a number of years. Cable Edmondson was an

early settler. He came to the township from Mar34and, and gave his

attention to farming and stock-raising. He had one of the first, if not the

first herd of fine blooded stock in the county. A. H. Wilkinson settled

at the head-waters of Heath's Creek as early as 1840. He came from

the Old Dominion, and lived in the township until his death. But few

36
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who saw these prairies in their wild and uncultivated state now remain to

tell the story. Could those who opened the gates of civihzation of this

county view these well kept farms they would never recognize their old,

favorite grounds for the chase. But such is progress. In a few years those

who are now familiar with these scenes will have passed away, and other

hands will direct the business of the community.

Churches.—The churches of the township are three in number; two

located at Houstonia and one at Hughesville. These all occupy commo-
dious buildings, and their services are attended by large congregations.
A number of the people of the township hold their membership with the

churches nearest them, and in several cases these are situated in the bounds

of other townships.
The Christian Church of Houstonia numbers perhaps the largest con-

gregation in the township, and was organized in 1870 by Elder Samuel

McDaniel. Its history, in brief, as given by Mr. J. A. J. Downs, is sub-

stantially as follows. We quote him throughout:
"

I assure you that for me to write a history of the church at Housto-

nia would be embarrassing in the extreme, for in so doing I should have

to write my own history for the last twelve years, without which no such

history would be complete, and I have no desire to see my name, or the sac-

rifices and efforts I have made, appear in public print. I have concluded

to write some facts which may not be improper to appear in the History of

Pettis County. I believe I was the first one to conceive the idea of build-

ing a church at Houstonia. About the year 1870 there were a few per-

sons in the neighborhood who belonged to different congregations, and

many of them lived at considerable distance from their places of worship,

and being far enough remote from other congregations, we detei'mined to

make an eflort to build up a church that would be more convenient. After

canvassing the matter with Brothers Longan, Houston, Guier and others,

it was resolved to call a meeting at Prairie Grove school house, and invite

Bro. Samuel McDaniel to be present with us, and organize what has

since been known as Houstonia Congregation. We met in the spring of

1871, and proceeded to organize by selecting F. L. Longan and myself
as elders, and Brothers Jack Longan and J.J. Guier as deacons; thirty-

four members covenanting with us, mostly females. We immediately
commenced holding public services at school houses and private residences.

Brother McDaniel preached for us, assisted in his labors by Brother Price,

who has long since departed to his final reward. Also that good old vet-

eran, Bird Smith, sometimes supplied the pulpit.

"As soon as the church was organized, we set about building a house of

worship, and this was quite an undertaking, as there were only six or eight

members that could be relied upon in furnishing material, and I doubt
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whether there was ever a more sacrificing spirit manifested b}' so few,

having so little of this world's goods. But we went to work, determined

to succeed, and by the blessing of our Heavenly Father, we did succeed.

We built our house, costing over $2,200, and paid for it. Immediatelv,
the church began to prosper. We called Bro. Joseph B. Wright to preach
for us, and large congregations attended his ministrations. Joy and glad-
ness filled the hearts of the members, numbers were converted, and manv
additions were made to the church. Brother Wright preached for us tor

three years, then Bro. Chas. Shouse filled the pulpit for one year. In

the meanwhile, the church had grown to 125 members, and Bro. George

Plattenburg followed Brother Shouse's ministration, preaching two

years; then Bro. Samuel McDaniel preached one year. He was followed

by Bro. E. M. Berry, who preached a part of last year.

"During the ministration of Bro. Shouse, Bro. M. M. Davis, now of

Nevada, held one of the grandest meetings that was ever held for us, and

it resulted in twenty-five additions to the membership. We have had the

labors of many prominent preachers, of whom I cannot fail to mention

that of the grand old veteran of the cross, G. W. Longan."
The congregation worship in the beautiful house situated in the west-

ern part of the village on high, rolling ground, and it is one of the first

objects that is seen on coming in sight of the town. It is plainly, but

comfortably furnished, and was dedicated in August, 1871, by J. B.

Wright. Its members now number eighty-four, and they support a good

Sunda}^ School, with an average attendance of forty. C. W. Goodrich is

superintendent, and G. W. Card, secretary.

The names of the original members are J. A. J. Downs, CaroHne

Downs, Ann H. Haines, Mary E. Vanhook, Sallie P. Downs, Andrew
T. Dorsey, Emma Dorsey, Wm. H. Johnson, Thos. F. Houston, Mary
L. Houston, J.

M. C. Weathers, Elizabeth Weathers, Jonathan Janney,

Jane Janney, J. W. Rice, J. J. Guier, Susan C. Guier, J. B. Longan, Judith

A. Longan, Gaines Berry, Elizabeth P. Berry, C. H. Hanes, F. L. Lon-

gan, Mary D. Longan, Mary E. Alexander, David E. Longan, Katie

Black, Isaac Shipley and Emily E. Longan.
The M. E. Church South, of Houstonia, was organized by Rev. W. B.

McFarland in February, 1869. Their first house of worship was built in

1870 by Rev. Joseph M. Kelley, a frame building, costing $1,700, and

was dedicated by Elder M. M. Pugh, in December of the same year.

The style of architecture is Gothic. It has a belfry and fine bell. The

following have served the Church as pastors: Revs. W. B. McFarland, J.

M. Kelley, A. M. Rader, W. S. Woodard, W. M. Bewley, M. Duran, J.

B. H. Wooldrige and J. J. Hill, the present pastor. The names of the

orginal members are as follows: J. Harter, W. R. Brown, G. Vanatta,

John Sebring, George Williams, R. V. Westbrook, A. H. Nicholas, J. M.
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Clodfelter, Tessie Clodfelter, Christina Brown, Susan Harter, Martha

Westbrook and Louisa Vanatta. Their present membership is about one

hundred. The Sabbath School has an average attendance of about thirty-

five, with Burel Porter, Superintendent, and A. H. Nicholas, Secretary.
This Church has had steady growth from its organization. Many ha^•e

been converted at her altars, and some removed to various parts of the

country with letters, and again others relapsed into sin. During the

pastoral service of Brother Bewley an unusual religious awakening took

place in September, 1879; about sixty conversions and fifty additions to this

church were made. Since organization this church has lost the following

members by death: Lucinda Wallace, J. M. Wilboug, Tessie Clodfelter,

Louis R. Jones, Mrs. Sarah C. Nicholas, Fannie Black, W. F. McClure,
Alferetta Gresham and Mrs. Ayres. These all died in faith and full hope
of a blissful immortality beyond the grave. Of this membership the fol-

lowing have served the church as Stewards, Sunday School Superin-

tendents, &c.: Stewards, A. H. Nicholas, J. M. Clodfelter, J. M. Wilfoug,

J. Harter, David Jenkins and A. Smith. A. H. Nicholas has served

as Steward and leader for about eleven years, and filled the office of Sun-

day School Superintendent for ten years.

As to the pastors they have been men of age and ability, and marked

for their Godly piety. This church was first organized by Brother

McFarland, at a place two miles north of Houstonia, where an acci-

dental appointment was made for preaching by Brother McFarland, who,
at the request of A. H. Nicholas, was induced to preach there on a fifth

Sabbath. The Methodists having no organization in the neighborhood,
and no Methodists except R. V. Westbrook and wife and A. H. Nicholas

and wife, who had just moved to Houstonia. At this first appointment
the preacher intended to preach and go home, but the Lord ordered

otherwise; the word was blessed and the result was visible. The preacher

again preached at night and continued the meeting through the week
until twelve heads of families were converted and added to the church.

That meeting gave rise to the present church and edifice in Houstonia.

Schools.—There are at present eight schools in the township. Those
of Houstonia and Hughesville will receive notices appropriate to them in

connection with the villages. The others are all good frame buildings, and

have from four to eight months school. The teachers are paid from $35
to $50 per month.

Agricultural Interests.—In no part of the State is to be found

more advantageously situated farming land than that of this township.
On its rolling prairies, when the writer drove over them in the spring of

1882, were broad acreages of wheat and fine fields of corn, and abundant

pastures, on which were feeding large herds of cattle and sheep. Some
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of the finest herds to be found in the count}' are in this township, and the

yearly shipments from the village of Houstonia will reach or surpass that

of any other station of its size in the county. Among the largest and

finest farms of the tow^nship is that of Col. Houston, in the northern part.

It consists of 1,800 acre, all under- fence, and in cultivation and pasture.
On this magnificent homestead the Colonel has a flock of 275 fine South-

down sheep, and a herd of 75 full blood Durham cattle. Wm. Lowery,
near Hughesville, has 1,00(» acres, and a fine herd of full blood Durham
cattle, and a fine flock of Merino sheep. Mrs. Mary E. Alexander has

an 820 acre farm, with 100 fine Southdow'n sheep, and a large lot of cattle.

The Messrs. Gentry also own large tracts of land, and have each of their

farms finely stocked. Messrs. Higgins & Boyles are large buyers and

shippers of mules. Many others are engaged in a greater or less extent

in raising and shipping stock, and it will be but a few years until the grade
of stock of all kinds in this section will equal that of any in the State.

HOUSTONIA VILLAGE.

In the center of a broad expanse of beautiful table land, extending back

as far as the eye can reach in any direction, is situated the enterprising

town of Houstonia. It was named in honor of Col. Thos. F. Houston,
whose residence is near its corporation. To give a vivid description of

the surrounding country, with its many elegant and commodious farm

residences, which dot the prairie in a promiscuous display, and the beau-

tiful streams, along whose banks are here and there skirts of timber, and

the many herds of fine stock roaming over broad fields and rich pastures,

would tax the powers of a Victor Hugo. It is not the purpose of the

writer to attempt to give a detailed or exhaustive description of this

locality, as it must be seen to be appreciated. Suffice it to say, that

here is a section of country that is seldom equalled, and never surpassed,
in point of beautv or productiveness, by any county id' the State. It can

be truthfully said that here may be found the beauty of the famous Valley
of the Nile, and its agricultural wealth. The tow^n is, as may be inferred,

the most important shipping point of the county. During the year ISSl,

its shipments of live stock aggregated upwards of 165 cars, as well as

230 cars of grain, which, in view of the general failure of crops through-

out the county, are facts that indicate its general prosperity. The town

suffered a severe calamity on the 23d of February, 1875, by the long-to-

be-remembered cyclone, of that date, an account of which is given in con-

nection with this chapter. Since then it has built up rapidly, and now

contains a number of beautiful and comfortable residences, and several

business houses of more than ordinary pretensions. It has a commodious

and comfortable school building, with a capacity to accommodate one

hundred children, and in which Miss Lucy Hopkins is conducting a
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school at present, which is well attended. The town has also two com-
fortable church buildings, those of the Methodist Episcopal, South, and

Christian denominations. Its business interests are represented by a num-
ber of live, energetic business men, who are fast becoming widely and

favorably known throughout the surrounding country.

The present population of the town is about 280, and in consequence of

its close proximity to the famous McAllister Springs, is destined in the

near future to become a popular resort and an important distributing

pomt. It is now the point of departure for persons visiting the Springs
from the south and east, and as they are distant but about four miles, it is

bound to become the residence of many people who are desirous of mak-

ing their home within easy reach of them. The history of the place is

easily written, as it only dates back a few years since the first store was
erected.

The following are the business men of Houstonia at the present
time:

Fred Wilson, postmaster and dealer in dry goods and groceries;
Locket & Vantuyl, dealers in groceries and hardware; A. F. Dorsey, gen-
eral merchandise; Philip Washington, general merchandise; J. F. Steph-

ens, druggist; Higgins & Boyles, livery and sale stable; J. H. Porter-

field, livery and sale stable; Wm. Pettit, saloon; Mrs. Jennie McConnell,

proprietress hotel; Smith & Calhoun, blacksmiths; Thos. A. Smith, phy-
sician and surgeon; W. C. Riley, physician and surgeon; C. W. Good-

rich, physician and surgeon; A. H. Nicholas, notary public; J. C. Young,
agent Missouri Pacific R. R.; J. G. Gregg, grain and stock dealer; J. W.
McClure, grain and stock; F. Wilson, grain and stock; Longan & Bros.,

grain and stock.

THE HOUSTONIA CYCLONE.

From the Sedalia Democrat, of February 25, 1875, we copy as fol-

lows:

At 4:40 p. m., Tuesday, the following dispatch was received at this

office, relating briefly the terrible calamity which is given below-

About the same time other dispatches were received, and the new^s cir-

culated upon the streets, creating the wildest excitement and sympathy
for the unfortunate people of Houstonia:

Houstonia, Mo., February 23, 1875.

Dr, A. Y. Hull:— A tornado has torn down the railroad depot and

every store and business house in town, and many residences—twenty
houses in all—and wounded many citizens, some mortally. Of the latter,,

W. H. Porter and Dr. L. H. Williams; badly hurt, F. J. McClure, Jas.
Sewell and George Scott.

Thos. F. Houston.

In a short time Supt. Cummings, with his characteristic energy, had a
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special train at the depot.^^ ^^ Cummings also summoned medical aid,
and several

physicians.^'^^^^^^p^^j^^ him-Drs. Trader, Evans, Conk-
wnght, Scott, J. B.

Jci-^gg^ J g McClure, E. Hughes, and others, whose
names we forget. J^^ company with about fifty others, a reporter of this

paper proceeded^^qv^ Houstonia. An hour's ride brought us to the storm-
stricken

town^J- ^yhi^h presented a scene that baffles description.
^

^^[hess portion of the town was in ruins, and the smouldering fires
mar e ,s iYiq gj^gg of what a few hours before had been the largest stores
in

oiiT^^-j^^ rpj^^ country people had rallied in large numbers, and teams

^*^.re busily engaged in transporting to places of safety what had been
'

.i^ved fi-om the wind and fire.

The depot was almost an entire wreck. The southern portion or

ticket and telegraph office alone standing. The northern part was torn

wide open, the walls .vere down, and the goods covered with the debris

of the roof. To the right of this, an entire train ot cars, some twelve in

number, were blown from the track, and lay piled up in every conceivable

shape. One car was blown seventy feet. Two cars were literally torn

into kindling wood by the force of the hurricane.

Where an ice house had stood, a short distance to the left of the depot,

nothing remained but the ice piled up in regular blocks, just as it Wcis put
in. A livery stable was a pile of hay and boards, with dead horses in

front, and wounded ones attempting to rise from amid the wreck. Little

knots of people were gathered together, talking in low tones over the

disaster, while others were so excited they could give no coherent account

of the affair.

As it w'as nearly dark, and the confusion and excitement were great, we
found it exceedingly difficult to get any connected account of the disaster;

for different persons were differently situated, and the experience of one

was different from the other. We give to our readers the following as

the most lucid account concerning the approach of the tornado:

Mr. Sellman, a farmer living on the edge of Houstonia, sa3^s about 3

p. M. he saw^ a small white mass of fog or cloud approaching from the

direction of Knobnoster. It seemed very small at first, but grew rapidly

in size, and appeared to shoot out long columns from its sides, which

seemed to lick up everything within reach.

It moved with lightning speed, passing between the houses of J. C.

Higgins and Clay Gibson, missing both, but taking up Higgins' school

house and scattering it like chaff' in the air. It also struck Gibson's ice

house and completely demolished it. Further in its course it took up the

smoke house of Mr. Jenkins, slightly grazing the corner of his dwelling,

but doins" no damage. It then pursued a northeast course and moved intoo i

the direction of Houstonia.

The people were all engaged in their usual avocations, the stores were
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all open, men working in shops, and in the vanous dwelling houses the

inmates were pursuing their domestic duties unmindful of the terrible

calamity which was coming down upon them with the lightning speed of

the storm king's blast.

The whistling of the dense mass w^as the first notice af its approach,

which was observed but by few. A flock of geese was cauj^-fht up in the

vortex, and whirled around until stripped bare of their feathtf,rs. This

rotary motion was kept up until the tornado burst like a thunderbo.H upon

the business part of the town, and in an instant it was leveled to^i the

ground, and the air was filled with the flying fragments of buildingf^^

merchandise, etc. A most appalling scene presented itself to the sight. Tht^'-

hurricane struck the town, happy in its apparent securit}', like a demon of

destruction, and in the twinkling of an eye it was gone, leaving wreck,
ruin and disaster in its path. One brief instant and the houses crushed

like egg-shells, the air was filled with a horrible blackness and a roar that

seemed to rend the earth. When the shock was over, a fearful scene

presented itself. There prone upon the ground lay the business portion of

the town. Men were crying beneath the ruins, which were piled on top

of them, for help; fathers, sisters and brothers were running hither and

thither*, seeking for their relatives, and the whole face of the town had

altered in an instant. To add to the excitement, a store (or rather the

wreck of it) caught fire, and the flames speedilv consumed the debris and

the stock it covered. Fred. Wilson's store, adjoining, was blown against

Porter's, and it, too, was consumed with all its contents.

Mr. W. H. Porter was found under the debris of W. A. Porter's store.

Those in the store heard the storm coming, and they tried to get out of it

before the blast came. Mr. W. H. Porter ran out of the frontdoor and

turned the corner of the store; but just as he did so the building fell upon
him and buried him beneath its ruins. When he was extricated it was

found that his back was broken, as was also his leg, and he was

otherwise badlv hurt. He was removed to the house of Squire

Nicholas, when medical assistance was summoned. His wife was also

there. Everything was done for him that medical skill could devise, but

his injuries are mortal and he cannot recover. He has a wife and four

children.

Dr. Williams, who resides about two miles west of Houstonia, was in

town and was also injured. He received a fracture of two ribs and his

lungs were also hurt. His condition is dangerous. George Scott had

his leg fractured below the knee. Harris McClure had two ribs broken;

but his wounds are not considered dancrerous. Mr. Emerson was hurt in

the lower part of the spine and otherwise bruised, not considered dan-

gerous. He w^as caught in a blacksmith shop. Mrs. Carter, wife of

John Carter, had both collar bones broken, a large incised wound of the



HISTORY OF HOUSTONIA TOWNSHIP, 778

scalp, and her lips bruised. Mrs. Lachle\^ and Mrs. Coates and her two

daughters received slight injuries. Mr. Sanctuary had his leg broken
below the knee. Mr. Bewrel was in the act of drawing coal oil when the

storm struck the building he was in. He had his head badly cut and his

arm bruised. John Gregg was hurt in the back of tlie neck. Dr. Idol

was also slightl}- hurt.

Nmeteen houses, including stores, shops and dwellings, were utterly

demolished. We give below the losses as near as we could ascertain

them:

Fred Wilson, general merchandise, lost his entire stock and building,
valued at about $4,000. Mr. Boyles, of the firm of McClure & Boyles,
had his dwelling entirely demolished. His family escaped with some

shght bruises. Loss on dwelling, about $600. The firm of McClure &
Boyles, grocery and dry goods merchants, lost their entire stock and

building. Total loss, about $5,000. W. A. Porter lost his entire stock

of groceries; the storm blowing his store over, and it catching fire was

entirely consumed. Total loss, $1,500; insured. P. H. Washington,
residing in Texas, was the owner of the building which Mr. Porter occu-

pied. Mr. McGill lost his dwelling and stable. Loss, $1,000. The
hotel, a two-story frame building, was destroyed. This property was
owned by Joseph McDonnan. Loss, $1,200. Mr. Wiles, a lumber mer-

chant, lost a grain house, the lower part of which was used as a carpen-
ter shop. Loss, about $600. Mr. Sanctuar}- lost his shoe shop. Loss,
about $200. Jas. Shelly lost his blacksmith shop and wood shop, with

contents. Loss, $700. Sules & Son lost a store building. Loss, $1,200.

This building was occupied by W. H. Emerson & Co. with dry goods on

the one side, and on the other side by Williams & Idol, with drugs.
Others in the village lost as follows: PI. J. Hall, of Lamonte, lost the

building occupied by McClure & Boyles as a grocer}'; the township
office with its contents was destroyed; W. A. Williams lost his saddlery

shop; A. Houston lost a small house situated near town; L. Luchley lost

house; several small buildings used as meat shops and blacksmith shops
were destroyed. ^

We were unable to ascertain the amount of loss the railroad companv
sustained by inquiry at the depot building. We should roughly estimate

the entire loss at from $30,000 to $40,000.

The tornado was one hundred yards in width. It came from the south-

west and passed to the northeast, spending its full force on the business

part of the town. It continued its course in the country, demolishing

fences, stacks, etc. Five miles distant from Houstonia the tornado

passed over a dwelling, then descended and carried away an out-house.

It twisted large elm trees oft' like saplings, and its pranks were ^s erratic

as they were terrible in effect.



774 HISTORY OF HOUSTONIA TOWNSHIP.

This terrible visitation was a sad blow to this prosperous little town,
and our citizens feel an earnest sympathy for their misfortune. We hope
soon to see the town rebuilt, and its citizens achieve that prosperity their

industry and intelligence so well merit.

Conductor James K. Merrifield had just arrived at the depot with his

train, as the tornado burst upon the town. The first thing "Jim" knew he

was making lightning express time over the prairie, while his train was

tumbling around on dry land, loose. As soon as it was over he look the

locomotive and run to Brownsville for needed assistance, with which he

returned.

A young man who was standing on the depot platform suddenly found

himself against a fence, about one hundred yards distant.

Mr. Wiles was sitting in his grain warehouse next to the depot. The
tornado took his building across the railroad track. He was thrown

down, the stove fell upon him, and his coat was on fire when he extricated

himself.

A lady was crossing a street, when the hurricane threw her down in

the mud with such force that she could not get out without help.

Mr. Black was in Porter's store trving on a pair of boots. He was
thrown down and a desk thrown on top of him. This probably saved

him from greater injury.

Mrs. Coates and her t>vo daughters were at work in the two-story

hotel. The tornado tore the house to atoms, lifted all three of them in

the air, and carried them fully one hundred feet.

A man led his saddle horse into a blacksmith shop. The smith hap-

pened to see the storm coming, and threw himself on the ground beside

the anvil. When the tornado had passed, the shop was gone, leaving
him and the horse, the latter having the saddle blown from off him.

The only building left in the town, where the storm struck, was the

saloon. A blacksmith shop joined on the south and a meat market on

the north; both the latter were swept away, but the saloon still stood

unmolested.

A man who saw the hurricane coming upon him, threw himself on the

ground in the street, and was uninjured.

Portions of the town were scattered for miles, and the fur}' of the wind,

compressed into the small space it occupied, was incredible.

BIXBY's excursion to HOUSTONIA.

About half-past one o'clock on Sunday evening, the Sedalia brass band

began to pipe soul stirring music from the Ives House platform, which

caused the people to begin at once to gather at the place, the occasion

being the excursion to Houstonia, to give our people a chance to gaze on

the ruins of that once flourishing town.
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By two o'clock the depot rooms were full, and the platform was
crowded.

The train, composed of three large passenger coaches and a caboose,
was filled full before it had scarcely time to come to a halt, leaving
one-half of the people standing on the platform unprovided for. Deter-

mined to take the crowd along, Mr. Bixby procured two cars from the

M., K. & T. Compan}', which were also filled to their utmost capacity,
and at least one hundred persons were compelled to remain for lack of

room.

The brass band occupied the caboose, and all the standing room they
could spare was taken up at first-class rates.

Crowds of people were collected at the stopping places along the road,
who took up the little remaining standing room.

At Houstonia the crowd alighted, and proceeded to interview the fear-

ful and terrific work of the fierce tornado.

The sight was such as we have already pictured to the readers of the

Democrat. The debris of the nineteen destroyed buildings had been piled
in heaps, at least what little of them had not been torn into shreds and

scattered,over the prairie like so much kindling wood.

A blacksmith shop and Porter Bros.' store are the only buildings now

being rebuilt.

Fred Wilson will purchase lumber this week, and at once proceed to

rebuild his store.

The depot looks just as it came from the hands of the " storm king."
Mr. Reinhart, the pluck}- agent, has improvised a box shanty—8x10,

where he now transacts his business. Shipments to and from that port

are likely to be light for the present.

Dr. W. H. Evans visited the wounded. Mr. Porter still remains at

the house of Esq. Nicholas, and reports his condition as no better. He
thinks that Mr. Porter may live for several days possibly, as this is a case

where the patient's life must gradually wear away, but that there is no

possible hope for recovery; the lower part of his body is paralyzed from

the wound in his back. He eats a little, and drinks a great deal of water.
'

Mrs. Coates, who kept the hotel, and was removed to the country to be

cared for, was reported worse Sunday, and a doctor was sent out to see

her.

Mrs. Canter, who was reported dead, is recovering.

All other parties that we were able to hear from are rapidly recovering.

The saloon dispensed drinks at the usual price, and was well patron-

ized.

The train returned at five o'clock, not a single accident or unpleasant

occurrence having marred the enjoyment of the trip.
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Mr. Ed Bixb}' deserves considerable praise for the undertaking. He is

a first-class railroadist, and acquitted himself with honor. •

The proceeds of the excursion, after paying expenses, will go to the

Houstonia sufferers, of which there are several families in great need.

RELIEF FOR THE HURRICANE SUFFERERS.

Word was brought by the Lexington train Thursday morning that a

number of sufferers by the tornado in Houstonia on Tuesday were with-

out food, and that they had called on Brownsville for aid. Our citizens at

once took active measures to raise sufficient funds to alleviate their distress,

and in two hours raised about $130 in money and provisions to send up by
the noon train.

Messrs. Ira E. Barnes and E. W. Bixby were appointed a committee to

accompany the relief, and see it properly distributed.

Supt. Cummings, of the Missouri Pacific, kindly offered the committee

free transportation for themselves and the provisions and goods donated.

In the liberality displa3'ed by our citizens we cannot overlook that man-

ifested by Messrs. Brown & Pratt, of the Ives House, who sent up a large
lot of cooked provisions.

We learn that Mr. Cummings will send any donation of food, etc., free,

until the emergency is passed.

N. T. ALLISON.

Is in fact a man who has spent the greater part of his. life in the upbuild-

ing of a civilization, which is now the admiration of the Republic. He was
born in the Territory of Illinois, near the present town of Edwardsville,

Madison County, on the 9th day of December, 1817. In 1821 his parents
crossed the Mississippi River at St. Louis en route to Cooper County,
where they made a settlement. Here the youthful days of our subject
were spent, assisting his parents wath the duties of the farm and in mak-

ing salt, which occupations occupied his labors for many years. During
the Mormon troubles in Clay County in 1833, he joined a company of vol-

unteers that went from his neighborhood to remove them from Far West,
which was accomplished without any collision of arms. In February,^

1843, he was married in Pettis County to Miss Elizabeth Tussey, and the

same year made a settlement on Heath's Creek of this county, where he

purchased and improved a farm. He was among the early settlers of this

locality, and in company with his young and loving consort succeeded in

improving and establishing a home in the then thinly settled region.

Churches, schools, markets, mills and neighbors were few and far

between in those early years of the county's growth. By industry and

perseverance he succeeded^ in developing a business of large pi-oportions

and accumulating a comfortable home. Politically Mr. Allison has been
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a strong Union man, and during the civil war was for a time actively

engaged in its defence; was on scouting duty for the State Militia several

months. During the times of the Shelby and Price raids, he w-as in the

engagements at Lime Creek and Blackwater. Mr. Allison is now retired

from active life, having been rendered an invalid by a severe attack of

rheumatism in the autumn of 1S81. He is the parent of seven children,

all of whom have received a liberal education; Jonathan, a resident of this

county; Monroe, now in Colorado; John, Emil}', a school teacher of this

locality; A. Thompson, William, and Rose, a student of the Christian

College of Columbia. Mr. Allison and sons are now conducting a farm

of 750 acres and are doing an extensive business. Thus we have traced

the ups and downs of one more of the pioneers of Pettis county, a man

who has long since past the meridian of life, whose entire career has

been full of usefulness and thrilling experience and is still laboring on for

the advancement of the cause of civilization.

J. H. CARD.

Post-office, Houstonia, one of the prosperous farmers. Was born in

Cooper County, Mo., on the 9th day of December, 1858. His father, J. D.

Card, was one of the early settlers and a native of that county. His

paternal grandfather, Josiah H. Card, was also a pioneer there, and was

a native of Kentucky. Our subject, Mr. J. H. Card, came to this county,

in March, 1880, and engaged in farming. He was married in August, 1881,

to Miss Sally A.- Howe of Cooper County, a lady of refinement. Mr.

Card is now largely engaged in farming. He and his father and brother

are conducting a farm of -100 acres and are doing a good business.

GEORGE W. CRAWFORD.
Stock raiser and farmer, post-office, Hughesville. Prominent among

the many enterprising and energetic business farmers of this township

should be mentioned the name of George W. Crawford, who is a native

of Northampton County, Penn. Was born on the 8th of Ma}', 1838.

When he attained the age of twenty years he took up the trade of a car-

penter and joiner and served a regular apprenticeship. At the breaking

out of the war Mr. C. was an earnest sympathizer in the Union cause,

and in the autum of 1861 he enlisted in Company B, 51st Pennsylvania

Infantry Volunteers. He was engaged in many severe and bloody battles,

and Nov. 14, 1863, was captured by the Confederates and conveyed to

Libby prison. In March, 1864, he was removed to Andersonville prison,

where'he experienced all the horrors and privations of that execrable prison,

for many months. From there he was conveyed to Florence, South

Carolina, where he was kept until March, 1865, when he was exchanged,

having served a term of more than fifteen months as a prisioner of war.
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He was, at the time of his return, a physical wreck, having endured the

pangs of hunger, and experienced the wasting influences of disease. Dur-

ing his prison life Mr. C. was actively engaged in trading in provisions
and other articles with his fellow prisoners, and it is to his active, stirring

disposition and pursuits that he to-day owes his life. Soon after his

release Mr. Crawford returned to his home, and on the yth ot" Nov.,

1865, was married in Pennsylvania, to Miss Mary Bosserd, who is

also a native of that State. In March, 1868, he came west with his

family, locating on his present farm. Since his arrival in Pettis County
Mr. C. has accomplished much, as he came here with limited means, and

through his energy and judicious management has succeeded in surround-

ing himself with many comforts of life. He owns a well improved farm,
" Crawford Lawn," which consists of 160 acres, and also one adjoining it

of 360 acres, as well as 30 acres of valuable timber. He is largely

engaged in stock raising and is now directing his best efforts to that busi-

ness. His home place is a model farm in every respect, adorned with a

handsome and commodious dwelling, beautifully situated on a gentle

eminence, adorned with a large orchard and ornamental trees, and pre-

sents an appearance which is pleasing to the eye. As a citizen and busi-

ness man Mr. Crawford is highly appreciated. He is a man of general
culture and liberal education, and rates men entirely from point of charac-

ter and intelligence. His hospitality is also worthy of special mention, as

his doors are alwa3's open for the entertainment of worthy people, and

the writer is under many obligations for kind and generous treatment

.received from himself and family.

R. P. CRUME.

Residence, Hughesville. Knowing the strong desire that pervades the

human heart for knowledge concerning the origin or beginning of all things,

we are of the opinion that a brief sketch of the life of a man who was

among the first business men of the place and among the zealous workers

for the upbuilding of Christianity, will not fail to interest in connection with

the history of Hughesville. We trust that when this century will have

been buried in the dim memory of the past, that then will be visible and

appreciated the fruits of his labors, manifested in the morality and christ-

ian spirit of the people. Mr. Crume is a native of Kentucky. Was born

in Nelson County, May 2, 18-14:. His youthful days were spent in assisting

his parents in the duties of a farm and in acquiring an education, until

he attained his twenty-second year; he formed habits of honesty and

industry which have since become deep seated constituents of his charac-

ter. In October, 1856, he came west, remaining about seven months in

Edgar County, 111., when he came to Pettis Count}^ Mo. In Januar}',

1871, he was united in marriage to Miss Lizzie Meng, a lady of christian
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spirit and liberal culture. She is a native of Missouri . Soon after mar-

riaofe Mr. Crume become associated with the Christian Church, and has

since been an active and zealous worker as has also his wife. They were

among the original members and founders of the High Point and Hughes-
ville orofanizationsof that denomination, and he was one of the first deacons,

which office he has filled with credit to the present time. He has long

been identified with Sabbath School work in this section, and w^e trust his

good works in this direction will be remembered long after this volume

becomes impaired with age. As a citizen and business man Mr. C. is

highly esteemed; he has been engaged in stock shipping and dealing for

the past few years. But is now giving his entire attention to the walnut

lumber trade, which business calls him over a broad expanse of territory.

He is now enjoying the comforts of a neat and well appointed home, and

is still laboring on in the cause of Christianity and the good of his fellow

beings.

JAMES A.J. DOWNS.
Stock raiser and farmer. Post-office, Houstonia. Prominent among

the early settlers of this locality appears the name of the subject of this

brief sketch, who is a native of Clarke County, Indiana; was born on the

fifth day of March, 1826. His father, James Downs, was a native of

Maryland, and died when our subject was about four weeks old. In 1831

his mother moved to Louisville, Ky., where he remained until he attained

his fifteenth year. His early youth was devoted to attending school dur-

ing the winter seasons and assisting his mother in various duties the bal-

ance of each year. He has been closely identified with the interests of

the county, as well as having aided largely in its development. Politically

he has always been a Democrat and a zealous advocate of the principles

of that party. During the civil war he remained a non-combatant, and

what is remarkable, was never molested or insulted by any of either party.

His earnest sympathies were with the Southern cause, although he was

a zealous advocate for the Union and a decided opponent of secession. In

the campaign of 1880 he allowed his name to go into the convention as a

candidate for Representative, and received thirty-six votes, a very compli-

mentary expression. He has filled the office of Peace Magistrate for a term

of twelve years. During his early youth Mr. Downs was presented with

a silver medal by President Jackson, in whose honor he was named, as a

token of regard. Mr. Downs and wife have been active members of the

Christian Church, and among its most liberal contributors for forty-one

years. They have raised a family of seven children, M. Robert, an attor-

ney of Kansas City; Jeff H., James, Ann M., wife of C. Haynes; Mary

E., now Mrs. R. Van Hook; Sally P., wife of W. S. Robertson, and

Matilda, who resides with them. They lost five children. He yet retains a
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valuable, well improved farm of 320 acres. He has given all his children a

liberal education, at a great expense. In 18J:1 he came west with an elder

brother, and located on a farm near Marshall, in Saline County, this State

On I Jec. 8, 1844, he was married in that county to Miss Caroline Sandridge,
a lady of culture, who is a native of Albemarle County, Va. In the

autumn of 1849, he moved to Pettis County, locating in Blackwater

Township, where he purchased and entered a tract of 400 acres of land,

most of which he subsequently improved. In January, 1858, he moved
to his present location, and has since made extensive and substantial

improvements. Mr. Downs has taken an active interest in public aflairs.

J.S. DOWNS.
Farmer. Post-office, Houstonia. He is a son of Jas. A. J. Downs. Was

born in Pettis County, on the ninth day of March, 1859. He received

a liberal education, which was finished at Kirksville Normal Institute in

the spring of 1881. On the twelfth of July of that year he was united in

marriage to Miss J. Hoye, a native of Adair County, Mo. In the spring
of 1881 Mr. Downs started out in business for himself, and is now in pos-
session of a good farm of 120 acres, which is well improved. He is an

energetic, enterprising young business farmer.

J.N.FERGUSON.

Phj^sician and surgeon, Hughesville. Among the many medical prac-

titioners of Pettis County, no man has done more for the alleviation of

suftering humanity than has Dr. J. M. Ferguson, who is a native of

Kentucky; was born near Bloomfield, on the twent3^-eighth of Aug., 1840.

When he attained his nineteenth year he commenced the study of medi-

cine, under the tuition of Dr. C. D. Case, an eminent physician of Wash-

ington, Ky., with whom he continued about six months. He next studied

under the direction of Drs. Stone and Bascom, who were his preceptors.

He entered the medical department of the State University at Louisville,

in the winter of 1860, from which institution he graduated with honor.

In 1861 he was united in marriage to Miss A. E. Jones, a lad}^ of

liberal culture, who is a native of Kentucky. In the spring of 1874

the doctor came to Pettis County, locating on a farm adjoining Hughes-
ville, where he now enjoys the possession of a beautiful and lux-

urious home. He has applied himself closely to the pursuits of his pro-

fession since he acquired a sufficient knowledge of the "
healing art," and

has won a reputation for skill and honesty which he justl}^ merits. He
has a large and desirable practice, and has unbounded success in his treat-

ment of patients. He has done much to alleviate the sufferings of all

classes; in fact, is always ready to assist the needy as well as the more for-

tunate, and many of the poor of the locality have reason to be grateful for
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kind and generous treatment received at his hands. The doctor and wife

are consistent members of the M. E. Church, South, and have been

among its most Hberal contributors in this settlement. He is now enjoy-

ing the comforts of a fine and tastefully appointed home, situated on a

beautifully located farm of 160 acers, which forms one of the most desira-

ble homesteads in this party of the county.

WILLIAM FOWLER.
Farmer and blacksmith, Hughesville. An energetic business man,

comfortably situated on a nice farm of eighty acres of well cultivated

land, and is also proprietor of the Hughesville blacksmith shop. He is a

native of Scotland, where he was raised, and on the 7th day of April, 1869,
he left the home of his childhood, and on the 9th of the same month took

steamer from the city of Glasgow, arriving in New York City on the

29th of that month. In the spring of 1880 he came to Hughesville, where
he erected the first blacksmith shop of the place. He learned the trade

in his early youth, serving a regular apprenticeship under a competent
blacksmith. He is now doing a good business in this line, and is also

doing a profitable business in farming and stock raising. In the summer
of 1879 he built his present residence, which in point of neatness of design,

elegance of finish and convenience of arrangement, will compare favora-

bl}- with any in this locality. In September, 1873, he was married to

Miss Elsie Price, who is also a native of Scotland. This union has

brought them five children: Catherine E., Margaret, Elizabeth, William

Price and John. Mr. Fowler and wife are closely associated with the Pres-

byterian Church and are warm supporters of the cause of Christianity. In

the autumn of 1881, Mr. F. was appointed to the office of Peace Magistrate,
and is now discharging the duties of that office.

C. W. GOODRICH.

Physician, Houstonia. He was born in Athens County, Ohio, the 11th

day of September, 1811. His childhood and tender years were devoted

to attending school and assisting his father with the duties of the farm.

At the breaking out of the war he deteimined to assist in defence of the

Union, and on the 31st da}' of July, 1862, he enlisted in Company A,

Ninety-second Ohio Volunteer Infantry. He participated in many hard

fought battles, among which were the battles of Stone River, Hooser Gap,

Chickamauga, Missionary Ridge, and all engagements on the Atlanta

Campaign. He was twice wounded during his service, and was promoted
to First Lieutenant for gallant service. In 1865 he was mustered out,

and soon returned to his home. On Jan. 7, 1866, he was married in his

native county to Miss N. J. Clark, who is a native of that county. When
37
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about twenty-seven years of age he began the study of medicine under

Dr. E. M. Bean, who was his preceptor about two years. He then

entered the Physio Medical Institute of Cincinnati, and attended during
its sessions of 1869-70 and 1873-4, graduating with honor in the spring of

1874. In the autumn of 1875 he came to Moniteau County, Mo., where
he was engaged in practice until the autumn of 1876, when he came to Hous-

tonia. The Doctor is of the Physio Medical System persuasion, and has

been very successful in his practice, and now enjoys a liberal patronage
from the people. In July, 1875, his first wife died, and in July, 1876, he

was again married to Miss Hattie B. Martin, of Athens County, Ohio.

He has four children living: Ida C. and Abbie E. from first union, and

Bingham G. and Lottie B. from his second wife. The Doctor and wife

are active members of the Christian Church. In 1878 he was elected to

the office of Peace Magistrate, and still holds the office.

M. McGRUDER.

Proprietor Hughesville boot and shoe shop. One of the most enter-

prising and energetic business men of the place. Is a native of Frederick

County, Va. Was born on the 29th day of September, 1846. His father

was a shoemaker, and the early youth of our subject was spent in

acquiring an education and gaining a knowledge of his father's trade. He
served a regular apprenticeship under the careful instruction of his father

and continued in its pursuits until the breaking out of the civil war.

Although but a mere lad of sixteen years he determined to aid in defense

of their homes and property, and in 1861, enlisted in Company K, Fifth

Volunteer Infantry, Confederate service. During his term as a soldier

Mr. McG. experienced an eventful and chequered lite. He was engaged
with his company in many of the severest and most bloody battles of the

war and received three wounds, and was afterwards taken prisoner. He

participated in the battles of Winchester, Manassas, Bull Run, seven

days fight of the Wilderness, Spottsylvania, Middle River, and in all

engagements of the campaign of the Valley of Virginia. He was

wounded at the battle of Middle River, and also at Spottsylvania, and

received a severe bullet wound in the collar bone at Spottsylvania. He
was captured by the Federals at Newtown, Va., conveyed to Camp
Chase, Ohio, where he was kept as a prisoner of war, until the spring of

1865. He soon afterwards located at Black Lick, Franklin County, O.,

where /he was married to Miss Louisa Schafiar, daughter of Jacob

Schaflar, an eminent physician of that locality. She was a native

of that State, and died in 1874, leaving one bright child. In the

spring of 1877 Mr. M. moved to Texas, locating at Austin, where

he was enofacred in stock business. In November, 1878, he came

to Pettis County, and in the autumn of 1879 erected his present
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shop at Hughesville. Since his comingj to Hughesville, Mr. M. has built

up an extensive and satisfactory business in his Hne. He has established a

reputation for honest and reliable work, which insures for him a large and

satisfactory trade. He is a man who is master of his trade and can accom-

plish anything in his line; his work will compare favorably with any done
in our large cities in point of

reliability, and beauty of finish. He is

enjoying the comforts of a beautiful homestead, which consists of fifteen

acres adjoining the town. Has an interesting and intelligent family. His

present wife he married in Ohio, in 1875. She is a native of Licking

County; her maiden name was Amy Harris, daughter of John Harris.

Thus we have observed the ups and downs of a man who has scarce past
the meridian of life, whose entire life has been full of usefulness and

thrilling experience, a man who has faced the dangers of many bloody
fields and endured the hardship of prison life, and is now pursuing the

peaceful pursuits of legitmate trade.

J. J. GUIER.

Farmer and stock raiser. Residence, section twenty; post-office,

Houstonia. Prominent among the enterprising business farmers of this

township should be mentioned the name of J. J. Guier. He is a son of the

late Henry Guier, who was an old settler of this locality, and a native of

North Carolina, and moved to Kentucky when about thirteen years of

age. Locating in Trigg County, where our subject, Mr. J. J. Guier, was
born on the 1st day of Oct., 1830. In 1838 he came with his parents to

Missouri; they made a short stay of about two years in Howard County,
when they moved to Pettis County, locating on a farm a few miles north-

west of Houstonia. They were among the first settlers in this locality,

and in consequence endured many privations and inconveniences which are

inevitable in the first settlement of a country. On the 2d day of Sept.,

1869, Mr. Henry Guier was called to God, and has left a name which is

specially dear to many of the early settlers and friends, who had been

neighbors during the early 3^ears of the count3^'s growth. Mr. J. J. Guier

is a man who has done much for the improvement of the county, and has

been closely identified with its growth. He has given his attention to

farming since his early youth, and has succeeded well in his calling. In

1855 he was united in marriage to Miss Eliza J. Buck, who is a native of

Pulaski Countv^ Ky-? and came to Missouri in 1838; this union has brought
them five children, all of whom are living. Mr. Guier and wife are active

members of the Christian Church, and were among the founders of the

Houstonia organization of that denomination. They have done much for

the upbuilding of the church and Christianity in this locality. Their home

has been frequently used as a place of divine worship before the county
was provided with churches. They have given liberally of their time and
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means to the upbuilding of the cause, and are still laboring zealously to

that end. Mr. Guier is now carrying on an extensive business in farming
and stock raising, and is in possession of a valuable farm of nearly six

hundred acres. His farm is well improved, with a large and handsome

dwelling, beautifully situated, and adorned with shade, ornamental and

fruit trees, comfortable barns and outbuildings, and in fact everything
about his place bespeaks the man of enterprise and industry. He has

taken a great interest in giving his family the advantage of a liberal edu-

cation, and is now enjoying the comforts of a peaceful and quiet home,
surrounded by wife and children.

WILLIAM HAMM, Ueceased.

Was one of the early settlers of this county; was a native of

Augusta County, Va.; was born on the 14th day of April, 1794. He
was a soldier in the war of 1812, having been promoted to the rank of

First Lieutenant. In 1823 he was married in his native county to Miss

Jane Clifton, of that county. In the autumn of 1844 he came to Pettis

County with his familv, locating on the farm now occupied, by his son,

Geo. T. Hamm. In 1865 he was deprived of his loving consort by the

grim messenger of death, and was himself finally called to that home
above in 1879. During his days on earth Mr. Hamm accomplished much
for the good of his fellow beings, and had seen many changes occur in

America. For several years previous to his death he was remunerated

by a pension for his services in the war of 1812. He was the father of

seven children: John H., Geo. T., Elizabeth J., James E., Clemenza B.,

William C, and a son, B. Hamm. Geo. T. Hamm was born in Augusta

County, Va., Jan. 16, 1835; made his home with his parents until the

breaking out of the War of the Rebellion, and on Sept. 4, 1861, he

enlisted in the Twenty-seventh Missouri Infantry, and served a term of six

months, and in April, 1862, he re-enlisted, was assigned to the Seventh

Missouri Cavalry, Company D, State Militia, and was with his com-

mand in all its engagements until April, 1865, when he was honorably

discharged. He was promoted to Second Lieutenant and Regimental

Adjutant during his service, and participated in many hard fought engage-
ments. Soon after his return home he engaged in teaching school, which

he followed for several years. He was married Dec. 27, 1867, to Miss

Kate Neal, of Pettis County. Six children have been born to them:

Thos. F., William C, Ailcy J., John N., Martha A. and Mollie J. Mr.

HanftfH is now in possession of a good farm of 120 acres.

W. L. HAWKINS.

Merchant. No sketch of Hughesville would be complete without here

making mention of this enterprising young business man, who is a native



HISTORY OF HOUSTONIA TOWNSHIP. 785

of the "Lone Star" State; was born near San Antonio, Texas, Jan. 3,

1857. In January, 1881, he came to Hughesville and embarked in mer-
cantile life. He is doing a large and profitable business and commands
the confidence and esteem of the people of this locaHtv as an honest and

upright business man. He occupies a handsome store building with a

frontage of twenty feet and a depth of forty feet, to which is attached an

addition of sixteen feet, and the entire building is completel}^ filled with a

selected stock of dry goods, groceries, boots, shoes, hardware, medicines,

oils, flour, etc. He is also a liberal dealer in countrj' produce, and it can

be truthfully said that no merchant in the history of the town has done a

more satisfactory business than has the subject of this sketch. Although
a young man Mr. Hawkins is well versed in mercantile trade, and fully

understands the management of a general merchandise business. He has

been continually extending his trade until now it covers a broad expanse
of territory, and as the people are attracted to his establishment their

patronage is secured. He is a man w^ho is closely identified with the

social and business interests of this locality, and has thus far won for him-

self a favorable reputation.

CLAUS HEINS.

No history of Hughesville would be complete without here making
mention of this enterprising citizen, who has been so closely identified

with the business interests of the town. He is a native of Hanover, Ger-

many; was born in October, 1818. In 1866 he came to America and

made his first settlement near Concordia, Lafayette County, Mo., where he

was engaged in farming until 1873, when he came to Pettis County and

followed agricultural pursuits about one year, when he embarked in mer-

cantile trade at Hughesville. He erected the present store building of

the place and continued to do an extensive trade in that line until about

two years ago. In 1877 he engaged in dealing and shipping grain and

live stock, and has since built up a business in that line of extensive pro-

portions. He now commands the trade of a large scope of country, and

has built up a reputation for a liberal and honest dealer, and commands
the confidence of the people as a business man. In 1871 he was appointed

postmaster and has since filled the duties of the office to the satisfaction of

the department and public. In February, 1879, he was appointed station

and express agent for the railroad company and has given general satis-

faction in that position. He is a man who has done much for the business

and social interests of the town, and is now numbered among the substan-

tial business men of the county. He is in possession of a neat and com-

fortable home and is enjoying many of the comforts of life, surrounded by
an interesting' familv.
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H. CLAY HIGGINS.

Stock raiser and farmer, postoffice, Houstonia; one of the energetic,

prosperous farmers of this township. Is a native of Pettis County, and

was born in 1853. When about twenty-two years of age. he commenced

the study of medicine under Dr. W, R. Parsons, and in the autumn of

1876, he entered the medical department of the State University, where

he pursued his studies until the close of that session, and in the autumn of

1877, entered the Missouri Medical College at St. Louis, where he studied

one term. In the spring of 1880, he was married to Miss B. E. Wallace,

a lady of refinement and hberal culture, and in the spring of that year
he moved to his present farm, and embarked in business for himself. He
is now in possession of a farm which is among the most productive and

valuable in this township. It contains 280 acres, well cultivated and

fenced, with good buildings, and man}^ natural advantages as a stock and

grain farm. Mr. Higgins is a man who has gained the esteem of all

good citizens for his many sterling qualities. They are the happy parents

of one bright son, Price.

COL. THOS. F. HOUSTON.

"Man liveth not to himself alone." The truth of which text millions of

human beings have testified in all ages of the christian world, and the

truth of the assertion is forcibly portrayed in the example and life of Col.

Thos. F. Houston. He is a man who has done more for the development
of society in this locality, than any citizen in this part of the county. He
is a native of Iredell County, N. C, is a son of Placebo Houston, and

grandson of Christopher Houston, an eminent soldier and officer of the

Revolutionary War, who settled in Rowan County, (now Iredell) before

the commencement of that struggle for independence. His grandfather,

Christopher Houston, improved a farm, and established a post-office at

Houstonville, and was postmaster for many years, as was also Placebo

Houston, the father of Thomas F., the subject of our sketch. Col. Thos.

F. Houston was born July 30, 1818. His early youth was spent in

acquiring an education, and assisting his father in the duties of the

plantation. When about twenty years of age he began the study of law,

under the tuition of Gen. James Cook, of Mocksville, and afterwards

with Hon. R. M. Pearson, late Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of

North Carolina, and was licensed to practice by the Supreme Court of

that State in June, 1840. In 1845, he located at Leighton, Ala., where he

was married that year to Miss Mary M. Hampton, a lady of culture and

refinement. She is a native of North Carolina, but was raised in Ala-

bama. In the autumn of 1846, he came west, locating where now

stands the village of Bunceton, Cooper County, Mo. Here he continued
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farming until.the spring of 1851, when he came to Pettis County, locating

on his present farm. His original purchase was 920 acres, to which he

subsequently added until he was in possession of a body of near 5,000

acres. Since his coming to this county Colonel H. has changed the

appearance of this locality to a great extent, and in a few years the fruits

of his industry were plainly visible. Broad fields of wheat and corn, to

the extent of 3,000 acres, large herds of cattle, sheep and swine, could be

seen where but a few 3'ears previous was barrenness and waste. His

improvements were of a substantial as well as an extensive character.

At the breaking out of the war. Col. Houston was a strong Union man,
but on account of the policy adopted by the Federals, be became an

earnest sympathizer with the Southern cause, and early in 1861, joined

the Confederate corps under Capt. Robinson. Earh^ in 1862, he was

commissioned Lieut.-Colonel, to organize and drill a regiment, which he

succeeded in doing, and was captured by the Federals when about ready

to depart for the front. He was kept a prisoner, and was indicted by the

United States Court, and kept under parole until 1865. When he returned

home he again took up the peaceful pursuits of his business. That he

has'been identified with the development of the county, as well as the

organization of society, are facts too widely known to admit of question.

He was one of the founders of the Agricultural Society, and was chosen

president and director, which offices he filled efficiently for many years.

He, in fact, gave liberally of his time and means to its support. He

organized and established the first school in this section, and has been an

active worker for educational interests since. He was also one of the founa-

ers of the Houstonia Christian Church, and has been a liberal contribu-

tor since its organization. During the agitation of the railroad project

the Colonel was elected a director of the Lexington & St. Louis R. R.

Company. He was then elected vice-president, and later, president;

which office he held until the road was transferred to the Missouri Pacific

Railway Company, and it is to him that credit is due for the present loca-

tion of the line, as it was decided by the board of directors to make

Lamonte the junction with the other line, but the persistent and untir-

ing efforts of the Colonel resulted in obtaining a reconsideration which

resulted in favor of the present location of the road. This act alone

should secure for him the lasting gratitude of the people of this locality.

In the autumn of 1880, he was unanimously chosen by the Democratic

Convention as a candidate for Representative to the Legislature, and was

elected by a large majority, although he persistently refused the office.

He has made an efficient and honorable Representative, and identified

himself with measures which resulted to the advantage of his constituents.

He has raised a family of five children: Frank, an attorney of Sedalia;

Augustus Y., also a business man of Sedalia; Mary, wife of Jas. S. Napton;
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Elizabeth, who died in 1875, the wife of John Napton; and Emma, who
resides with her parents.

C. C. HUGHES.

Farmer, and old settler of this county. Is a whole-souled and generous

spirited citizen. He was born in Cooper County, Mo., on the 20th day
of November, 1830. His father, Richard Hughes, was among the pioneers
of that county, locating there in 1826, where he lived until 1850, when he

died, leaving a large family of children. Our subject's days were spent in

the duties of the farm, until his father's death, when he joined a wagon
train enroute for the gold fields of California. He remained but about ten

months in that State when he started for his home. In 1853 he located

in Pettis County and was for several years engaged in the milling busi-

ness. In 1870 he moved to Johnson County, where he was engaged in

farming until 1877, when he again located in Pettis County, and has since

continued to make it his home. In 1867 he was married to Miss N. J.

Howe, who is also a native of Cooper County, her parents having been

among its early settlers. She is an estimable lady of liberal education.

Their family consists of four children: Maggie L., Robert J., Nannie E. and

a son C. C. They lost one son J. M. Mr. Hughes is in possession of a

nice farm of 80 acres of fertile land.

THOS. J. HUGHES.

Farmer and stock raiser, post-office, Hughes ville. No history of the

State of Missouri would be complete without making mention of the

Hughes family, who were among the founders of civilization in Cooper

County. Samuel Hughes, one of the first settlers of that county, was a

native of Tennessee, and located in Cooper County in 1824, an early date

in its settlement. He located near Pilot Grove, where he made his home
until the breaking out of the war. Here the subject of this sketch was

born into the world on the 23d day of January, 1829. His youthful

days were spent in agricultural pursuits and obtaining an education. His

tender years were spent amid the toilsome ever changing scenes of pioneer
life ofthe west, which has given to the world many men of sterling worth.

In 1853 he was married in his native county to Miss Sally C. Taylor, who
was also a native of that county. She died in 1866, leaving a family of four

children, who are still living, Newton, William, Susan and Lucy. In 1876

Mr. Hughes came to Pettis County, and has since made it his home. He
has remained a widower since his wife died, and is now comfortably
situated on a farm near Hughesville. He is at present conducting a farm

of 160 acres and fully understands the duties of farm life. Mr. Hughes is

a man who has seen many changes come to Missouri; he has in fact wit-

nessed nearly its entire growth, and has always been deeply interested in
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its welfare. His ancestors were among the founders of a county which
has since attained such eminence, and it is but just that the historian should

seek to perpetuate the memory of those who braved the perils and endured

the hardships of a primitive life to establish the civilization that we now

enjoy.

MRS. M. LOTTIE HUTCHISON.

Post-office, Hughesville. A widow lady of liberal, means, located on a

nice farm of 160 acres near Hughesville. She was reared in St. Louis,

receiving a liberal education. Her maiden name was McDonald and is a

daughter of the late Isaac McDonald. When a mere child her mother

died and she was taken into the family of the Hon. Secretary Edwin M.

Stanton, the revered Secretary of War of President Lincoln's administra-

tion. During the late civil war Mrs. Hutchison was amid the exciting

scenes, and although alone much of the time she always showed a marked

courage. She has been closely identified with the social and other inter-

ests of the county, and was held in high esteem by officials of high rank

for her marked ability and genial fortitude during the civil war. She
is of an old and wealthy family.

JONATHAN JANNEY.
Stock-raiser and farmer. Prominent among the many enterprising

business men of this township should be mentioned the name of J. Janney,
one of the self-made, self-educated business farmers. He is one of the

old settlers of the county, and a native of Cecil County, Md.; was born in

1814. He was raised to manhood in his native county; when about

eighteen years of age he apprenticed himself to a carpenter and served a

regular apprenticeship at that trade. He followed its pursuits in eastern

cities until the spring of 1837. Being possessed of an energetic, pushing

disposition, he became impressed with the idea that Missouri offered

superior inducements to men of industry and honesty; he came to Pettis

County in the spring of the last named year, locating at Georgetown,
where he pursued his trade for many years. In the spring of 1848 he

joined a wagon train en route for Santa Fe, and was engaged in freight-

ing until the autumn of 1849, when he returned home to Georgetown.
In May, 1850, he started on a trip across the plains to California, arriving

in Salt Lake City in August; removed in March, 1852, and pursued his

journey to Sacramento Valley, where he was engaged in stock trading

until the spring of 1853. He embarked for the States and came by water

route, crossino- the Isthmus of Panama and arrived in New York Citv,

from whence he visited his old home in Marvland for a few davs and

again came to Pettis County. In 1855 he purchased a part of his present

farm, to which he has since added until now it is one of the most valuable
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and desirable farms in this locality- It consists of 360 acres, well im-

proved, watered and drained. It is divided into many fields, pastures and

lots by good substantial fences and hedges, adorned with a large and

comfortable dwelling, commodious barns and outbuildings, and in fact all

its appointments are indicative of the man of enterprise and sound busi-

ness judgment. He is largely engaged in the raising of fine sheep, cat-

tle, swine, etc. In 1854 he was married in this county to Miss Jane

Beaty, who is a native of this county. This union has brought them eight

children, seven of whom are now living. Mr. Janney is a man who has

done more for the upbuilding of the county than any man in this locality.

He has succeeded in building up a comfortable home and valuable busi-

ness, and it is to his industry, careful management, and honest and up-

right dealings that he owes his prosperity.

J. M. LEWIS.

Stock-raiser and farmer. One of the prosperous, enterprising early
settlers of Pettis County. Was born in White County, Tenn., on the 5th

ofJanuary, 1837. His parents were natives of that State and were engaged
in agricultural pursuits, to which duties his youthful days were devoted.

In October, 1857, he came West, locating in Butler, Bates County, Mo.
In the spring of 1860 he came to Pettis County, locating near Rowletta.

At the breaking out of the war he became an earnest sympathizer with

the Union cause, and on March 2, 1862, enlisted in Company B, Seventh

Missouri Cavalry (State Militia). He participated in nearly all the engage-
ments in which his command w^as engaged. He received a severe flesh

wound from a shot at the engagement of Pineville, which rendered him

unfit for service about two months, when he again joined his command.
He was promoted to Sergeant for brave military conduct, and was honor-

ably discharged in the spring of 1865, and again returned to this county.
In 1868 he was married in this county to Miss E. Weathers, daughter of

Enoch G. Weathers, one ot the first settlers of this locality. The

family consists of: Annie Stella, x\lbert G., John Monroe, Sally

Ida, Mansfield (died in childhood), and a son, J. A. Mr. Lewis is

in possession of 239 acres of valuable land, 203 of which are in cultivation.

His home is pleasantly situated and consists of a handsome structure of

commodious proportions.

D. E. LONGAN.
Dealer in live stock and grain, Houstonia. One of the prominent ship-

pers of the county. He is a native of Missouri; was born in Cooper
County on the 23d day of April, 1851. When he was about ten years of

age his parents brought him to this county, locating about two miles

northwest of Houstonia. Here our subject spent his early youth and
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received his education. In 1876 he started in business for himself and

purchased a farm near Hughesville, remaining there about one year.

Disposing of his farm he engaged in the drug business in Houstonia, in

which Hne he continued until the autumn of 1881. In 1880 he engaged
in the shipping of live stock and grain, and is now giving it his entire

attention. He is now doing an extensive business in this line. He is now
numbered among the leading shippers of this locali1;\'.

J. B. LONGAN.

Post-office, Houstonia. A prominent business farmer of this township,
who settled near his present location in 1856. He is a native of Missouri.

Was born in Coles County, in 1828, and during his childhood his parents
moved to Cooper County, where he was' raised in agricultural pursuits.

In 185.'-'., he was married in that county to Miss Judith Reavis. Since his

settling in the county, Mr. Longan has done much for the improvement
of this locality. He is now in possession of a verv desirable farm of 320

acres of well improved land, which is adorned with a beautiful and commo-
dious dwelling ornamented with pleasant surroundings. His farm is well

adapted to stock raising, and as a beautiful and quiet home is indeed invit-

ing. He has been a consistent member of the Christian Church for sev-

eral years, and among its active supporters. He has given his family the

benefits of a liberal education, and in fact has done much for the organiza-
tion of society in his neighborhood.

WESLEY McCLURE.

Stock raiser and farmer. Post-office, Hughesville. A prominent, ener-

getic business man, a native of Kentucky. Was born in Knox County, in

1827. In February, 1851, he came to Pettis County, locating at George-

town, where he was engaged in merchandising for a few years. In 1858

he was elected Sherift'of Pettis County, and discharged the duties of that

office with much credit to himself four years. During his terms of

office Mr. McC. performed many hazardous duties with nerve and precise-

ness, which won for him the admiration of all peace loving citizens. Soon

after the expiration of his second term of office, he moved to Dresden, and

erected the second store building of that place, where he was engaged in

mercantile pursuits about two years. In the spring of 1868, he moved to

his present farm, which he has since continued to improve until now it is

among the most desirable in his neighborhood ;
it consists of 222 acres.

He was married in 1861, in Pettis County, »o Miss Mollie Banks. She

died in 1868, leaving one son, who is now living, Emmett B. Mr.

McClure is now £rivin<r his entire attention to the pursuits and duties of

his farm and stock business, and is considered among the successful busi-

ness men of the county.
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MRS. JENNIE McCONNELL.

Proprietress of the McConnell House, Houstonia. Born near Sedalia,

this County, July 29, 1845. Daughter of John and Catharine Porter.

Both father and mother were natives of Virginia, where they were mar-

ried. Her mother's maiden name was Burks. Her father died when she

was about three years of age, but her mother still survives and is now liv-

ing with a sister of the subject of this sketch, Mrs. Fred. Wilson. Mrs.

McConnell was tirst married April 7, 1869, to Joseph L. Williams, and

the names of their children are: Nora Williams and Freddie Williams.

Mr. Williams died March 7, 1875, and his widow married Frank McCon-

nell, June 9, 1878. The names of their children are: Eva McConnell

and Porter McConnell. Mr. McConnell, after a protracted illness, about

six months of which he was entirely helpless, died Jan. 8, 1881, since

which time Mrs. McConnell has conducted the hotel. She has shown

great courage and fidelity in rearing her family; the two eldest of whom
are attending the public school in the village. This is the only hotel in

Houstonia, and it sustains a good name and popularity, which it deserves.

JOHN McCURDY.
Stock raiser and farmer. Post-office, Lamonte. One of the prominent

old settlers of the township. He is a native of Ireland, was born in 1821.

When a mere lad he came to America in company with an aunt and

located in Bourbon County, Ky. He was there raised to manhood in

farm duties; when he was twenty-three years of age he engaged in deal-

ing and trading in stock, and pursued it several years throughout the

Southern States. In the spring of 1857 he was married in Bourbon

Countv to Miss Elizabeth Miller, a member of the Miller family who were

the founders of Millersburg. She was born in Kentucky. In the autumn

of that year he came west, locating on his present home farm. His first

purchase in this county was a tract of 240 acres. Since then Mr. M. has

accomplished much and progressed continually in all his undertakings.
He owns two valuable farms, one of 400 acres in township number three,

which is well cultivated and improv^ed, and his home place, which is a

model farm in many respects, t onsisting of 371 acres, with fine dwellings,

well watered, divided into six fields by well kept hedges and fences. He
is largely engaged in stock raising and in fact is a leading business man.

He has raised ten children and has given them all a liberal education. He
has taken an active part to» the educational interest of his neighborhood
and has done much for the county.

J. D. MITCHELL.

Fruit raiser and farmer. Post-ofiice, Lamonte. He is a native of

Cooper County, Mo. Was born in 1835, His father, Fleming H. Mitchell,
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was a soldier in the war of 1812, and was one of the first se'ttlers of Boon-

ville, Missouri. The youthful days of our subject were spent in farm

duties. In 1858 he was married in his native county to Miss Mary K.

Ellis, and in 1865 he located on his present farm, which consists of 290

acres. In 1870 he turned his attention to fruit raising; he has now a pro-
ductive orchard of twenty-one acres, which presents a fine appearance.
His farm is well adapted to stock raising as well as fruit and grain, and

is underlaid with an abundance of coal. Mr. Mitchell has raised a

family of seven children and has given them all a liberal education. He
is a man of stirring disposition and enterprise.

A. H. NICHOLAS.

Notary public. Knowing the strong desire that pervades the human
heart for knowledge concerning the origin of all things, or the many causes

that have produced the different results, we are of the opinion that a brief

sketch of the life of one of the first settlers of Houstonia will not come
amiss or fail to interest future historians, if not the public, in connection

with the history of the town. It can be truthfully said that it is to the

character and eftbrts of the first settlers, that the town is indebted for the

healthy, moral tone of its society. Mr. Nicholas is a man who has labored

zealously for the advancement of Christianity and morals, and has accom-

plished much for the cause. He is a native of Virginia, was born in the

year 1838 in Highland County, where he was educated and raised to

manhood. He was married on the 13th day of February, 1857, to Miss

S. C. Re'xroad. She was also a native of that county. Soon after his

marriage, he became impressed with a strong desire to seek for himself a

home in the west, and in December, 1858, arrived in Pettis County. He
first settled in Blackwater Township, where he was engaged in farming
until the spring of 1868. Having been among the early settlers of that

township he was closely identified with its development. In the spring of

1868, he moved to his present location, where he was among the first set-

tlers of that town. He was engaged in farming about five years, when
he embarked in mercantile trade, in which line he continued until Septem-
ber, 1881. Aug. 24, 1877, his wife was called to that home above, and in

her death a sad loss was sustained by her husband as well as the community.
She left one child who is now living, a son, A. F. Nicholas. He was

again married on Sept. 18, 1878, to Miss Mary Jackman, a lady of culture

and christian principles. She is a native of Missouri. Mr. Nicholas is

now devoting his entire attention to the transaction of a general convey-

ancing and collection business, is a duly commissioned notary public, and

has been engaged in that line since the autumn of 1876, He is a gentle-

man of strict entegrity and pays the closest attention to any business

intrusted in his care. He has been closely associated with the Methodist
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Episcopal Church, South, and was among the active workers for the

organization and erection of the present church in thi-i locality. He has

devoted his best efforts to the upbuilding of a christian spirit in his town

and neighborhood, as has also his present wife. Their lives have been

blest with one child, Maud, who is a bright, lovable child.

T. W. PHILLIPS.

Farmer and stock raiser. One of the prosperous, energetic farmers of

this township, comfortably situated, on a fine and well improved farm of

ninety acres, which is well cultivated and utilized. He is a son of James
H. Phillips, one of the first settlers of Saline County, who died in Feb.,

1851, in California. Our subject, Mr. T. W. Phillips, is a native of Ken-

tucky; was born in Green County, Aug. 31, 1832. In 1839 his parents
moved to Saline County, Mo., where the family remained for many years.

Mr. T. W. Phillips being the oldest, after his father's death, was chosen

the manager of the farm and affairs of the bereaved family. He applied

himself unceasingly to the duties and pursuits of the farm until the break-

ing out of the war, when he determined to use his best efforts in defense

of the Union. In March, 1862, he enlisted in Company D, Seventh Mis-

souri Cavalry (State Militia), and was in active service until 1865. Dur-

ing his service in defence of the old flag, Mr. Phillips participated in many
spirited contests and hard fought engagements, among which might be

mentioned the battles of Boonville, Jonesburg, Marshall, Springfield, Big
Blue, and in all other engagements in which his company participated,

(see sketch of Seventh Missouri Cavalry), and during this time distin-

guished himself as a good soldier and efficient oflicer. In November,

1864, he was promoted to rank of First Lieutenant, and discharged its

duties with credit until he was honorably discharged, in the summer of

1865, having served his country faithfully and well for upwards of three

years. He once more took up the peaceful pursuits of his business, and

soon purchased a farm in Heath's Creek Township, of Pike County. In

1878 he moved to his present location. He has been twice married. Fiist

in Saline County, Jan. 4, 1851, to Miss Susan Howard. She was a native

of Kentucky, and died March 27, 1870, leaving four children, who are

now living: John S
, Mary F., Thomas H. and Elizabeth A., and one

deceased, John. Jan., 1872, he was again married in Pettis County to Miss

Mary Powell, who is a native of this State, and an estimable lady. Mr.

Phillips is a man who has been closel}' identified with the interests and

welfare of Pettis County. He has filled many positions of public trust,

and always to the entire satisfaction of the people. He was elected

to the office of County Supervisor in 1868, and filled that position until

the system was abolished in 1872. He also filled the offlce of Justice of

the Peace for four years, and has been closely associated with the educa-
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tional interests of this locality; in fact has been a zealous worker for edu-

cation and Christianity. He has been, a consistent member of the M. E.

Church, South, since 1871, and has been a liberal contributor and worker
for the cause. Mr. Phillips is now giving his entire attention to the farm,
and is in possession of a neat and well appointed home, and keenly appre-
ciates the joys and comforts of life.

W. C. RILEY, M. D.

Houstonia. Among the many members of the medical profession no

man has done more to alleviate the sufferings of the people than has Dr.

W. C. Riley. He was born about fifteen miles southeast of Paris, Ky.,
on the 18th of June, 1817. His father, Samuel Riley, was a native of

Westmoreland, Penn., and moved to Kentuck}^ in 1800. Our subject's

early youth was spent on a farm. When he was about twenty-five years
of age he entered the Transylvania Medical College of Lexington, Ky.,
and afterwards graduated in the Medical University of St. Louis during
its session of 1842-1:3. In 1826 his father moved to Callaway County,
Mo. He soon began practice in Cooper County, among the early physi-
cians of that county. He was then married in 184.5, to Miss Eliza D.

McArthur, daughter of the late Captain Chas. McArthur. In 1846 he

returned to Callaway County, purchased a farm, and in 1854 he came to

Pettis County, and was located on a farm about seven miles southwest of

Houstonia. Here he practiced his profession. His field was a large one.

He served all alike, and many are the early settlers who have cause to

remember his generosity. At the breaking out of the war the doctor was

in possession of a large farm, and in consequence of the disturbed state of

affairs, he removed from the county in Feb., 1862, to avoid the danger

consequent to himself and family. He returned to Callaway County and

practiced his profession there in connection with farming until 1875, when
he moved to Mexico, and remained there until 1879. He was there con-

ducting a large drug store and practice. In the spring of 1879 he returned

to Houstonia, and once more took up his old business. The Doctor is a

man who has done much for the good of his fellowbeings, and has a fam-

ily of five children, all of whom are living. He has given them all the

benefits of a liberal education and culture; Dr. Chas. A. Riley, a gradu-
ate of Missouri University, now practicing in Rockville, and is an eminent

physician; Dr. Samuel M. Riley, an eminent dentist of Paris, Monroe, Co.,

Dr. Benjamin S., of Houstonia, a prominent dentist; Lulu, J. Riley,

a graduate of Hardin College, of Mexico; John M., who remains with

him. The doctor is a Mason of high standing, and is closels' allied with

their interests. He has devoted his attention to the pursuit of his profes-

sion, and has built up a reputation for skill and honesty, which is a credit

to his home.
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JOSIAH SCOTT.

Farmer and stock raiser; post-office, Houstonia. He is a native of

Ohio, born in Jefferson County, Nov. 20, 1835. In the autumn of 1859 he

came west and stopped a little time in Jersey County, 111. In February,

1860, he arrived in Pettis County, locating on his present farm, which he

continued to improve till the breaking out of the civil war. He enlisted

in the Federal army, Compan}^ B, Seventh Missouri Cavalry, March 8,

1862, and served until 1865. During his military service he engaged on

many hotly contested fields. Soon after his enlistment he was prostrated
with typhoid fever and remained in the hospital about ninety days, then

again joined his command. Since his discharge from the armv he has

given his whole attention to the pursuits of the farm, and is now in pos-

session of one of the most desirable stock and grain farms in Pettis County.
It consists of 360 acres, beautifully located, unsurpassed for fertility and

productiveness, provided with good buildings, and elegant and commodi-

ous dwelling, built in 1878 at a cost of about $2,000, a view of which is

given in this book. His farm is well watered, drained and under a high
state of cultivation. This year (1882) he has a fine crop of one hundred

acres of wheat, large crop of corn and fifty acres of oats. His father,

Andrew Scott, was born near Belfast, Ireland, dying in Ohio in 1848. His

mother, Alice Scott, nee Thompson, was also a native of Ireland, dying in

Ohio when Josiah was a child. Mr. Scott was married in January, 1865,

to Miss Mary A. Jones, daughter of Lewis Jones, one of the early settlers

of this county. She was born in Virginia, Feb. 23, 1840, being next the

youngest of a family of four sons and three daughters, five of whom are

now living in this county. They have two bright and intelligent sons,

Wesley Sherman, born November, 1865, and Thomas Lewis, born June

10, 1870. Mr. and Mrs. Scott are highly respected for their many admir-

able qualities.

J. J. SCOTT.

Stock raiser and farmer. A son of Joseph Scott, who was one of the

first settlers of this county. Our subject, J. J. Scott, was born in Pettis

County, Mo., 1835. His bovhood was spent amid the pioneer scenes of

the county's primitive days. Agricultural pursuits and kindred duties

formed his occupations until he was about eighteen years of age, when he

made a visit to Texas, remaining about five months on the frontier of that

State, and then returned to his home. In the winter of 1865 he moved to

Iowa, locating in Fremont ^County, and after one season spent there in

farming, he returned to this county. In 1867 he purchased land in Bates

County, Mo., and was there engaged in farming until 1872, when he once

more came to Pettis, and in 1874 settled on his present farm, which con-

sists of a well improved tract, 182^ acres, with good commodious buildings.
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He owns another valuable farm about three miles distant, consisting of

250 acres. He is largely engaged in stock raising and is considered very
successful. He was married in Pettis County, Jan. 28, 1858, to Miss

Henrietta}. Weathers. She is a native of Kentucky, a daughter of Wm.
Weathers, one of the pioneer settlers. This union has brought them nine

children, eight of whom are now living: Allie M. J., wife of R. F. Keels;

Eveline J., Mrs. T. J. Mcllvane, Rush M., Louetta C, Susan I., Harmon

Y., Nancy E. and Martha A. and Winfred, deceased. Mr. Scott is a a self-

made man in every respect, and has accumulated his possessions by his

own industry and perseverance.

M. D. SCOTT.

Farmer; post-office, Hughesville. A prosperous and energetic farmer.

He is a son of the late Adam Scott, and a grandson of Joseph Scott,

one of the pioneers of the county. Our subject was born in Pettis County,

June 12, 1843. He has made farming his vocation since his youth, and

has now a valuable farm of eighty acres, nearly all under cultivation. He

enjoys the comforts of a neat comfortable dwelling. He was married in

Pettis County in 1876 to Miss R. C. Ramey, a native of Pettis, and a

daughter of John Ramey, one of the early settlers. This union has

brought them two bright children, Adam and John.

HARRISON SICKLER.

Proprietor of the Peacock Coal Mine, section 28; post-office, Hughes-
ville. This enterprising citizen is a native of Pennsylvania, and was born

on the 11th day of October, 1825. His early youth was spent in learning

the blacksmith trade, and when he was the at age of twent}' he engaged in

mining coal, and has since made it a study, and it can be truthfully said

that no man in Pettis Countv has a better knowledge of that business

than Mr. Sickler. In the autumn of 1877 he came to this county and soon

Durchased a farm of 160 acres, which he has brought under a high state

of cultivation. It is among the most productive iarms of this township,
as \vell as being underlaid with an incalculable wealth of coal. In the

spring of 1881 he opened his present mine,
" The Peacock," which is now

yielding large quantities of what is said by many to be the best coal in

Pettis County. Mr. Sickler is fast gaining a large trade in this line as

the superior quality of the product of his mine is being recognized by a

large number of the citizens of the surrounding country. In fact he has

now gained a business that brings him in a liberal revenue. He was the

first to prospect for coal in this locality, and may be considered the

pioneer miner of a district that a few years hence will equal the famous

mines of his native State. The quality and price of the product of the

38
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Peacock mine Is drawing the patronage of people from a great distance

in all directions, and it is but a question of a short time when Mr. Sickler

will find himself in possession of a handsome fortune should he continue

to operate in the future as he has in the past.

METCALF SMITH.

Farmer and stock raiser. Residence, section thirty-five. Postoffice,

Houstonia. A prominent enterprising farmer, is a native of Highland

County, Ohio, was born on the 12th day of August, 1836. In his thir-

teenth year his parents moved to Illinois, locating in Pike County. Here

our subject spent his days in agricultural pursuits until 1868. He received

a liberal education in the common schools of that county. In 1868 he

came west, locating on his present farm, which he has since improved, and

it can be truthfully said that it now ranks among the most desirable in

the county. It consists of one hundred and ninety acres, all under a high
state of cultivation, adorned with a beautiful and commodious dwelling.

Situated on a high enimence overlooking a broad expanse of country in

all directions, embellished with shade and ornamental trees, as well as a

thrifty young orchard. His farm is well watered and drained, has a well

sixty-five feet in depth, which gives a never failing supply of cold, crystal-

like water. It is well fenced into four fields by neat well kept hedges,
and is so arranged that it adds much to the utility of the farm. Mr. Smith

is giving his entire attention to the duties of the farm and stock raising,

and should be classed among the leading business farmers of his township.
He was married in Pike County, Ills., in June, I860, to Miss Catharine

Kelly. She is also a native of Ohio, and moved to Illinois when very

young. This union has brought them six children, five of whom are now

living, Margaret, Cynthia, who died in Sept. 1879; Francis H., Mary,
Oliver D. and George M. Mr. Smith is a man who has done much for

the development of this part of the county, and has been closely identified

with its interests. He has given his family the benefits of a liberal educa-

tion and is raising them up in a commendable manner. As a citizen, Mr.

Smith is highly esteemed, and as a business man his industry and prudent

management are manifest in his surroundings.

HENRY C. SMITH.

Huirhesville. He is a native of Ohio. Was born in New Carlisle,

Clark County, on September 18, 1833. His youthful days were spent

in farming, and acquiring an education, until he attained his majority. In

October, 1862, he engaged in merchandising as a sutler with the One

Hundred and Tenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry, in which duty he continued

until the 14th day of June, 1863, when he was captured by the Confed-

erate forces at Winchester, Va., losing his entire stock and train. He was
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conveyed to Libby prison, where he was kept until the 3d day of July, of

that year, when he was paroled. His experience in prison life was like

that of many others, receiving the usual harsh and inhuman treatment

which characterized the discipline of Confederate prisons. Soon after

his deliverance from the loathsome place he set about to endeavor to once
more retrieve his losses. He immediately began the organization and

equipment of another train, and in a few weeks was again launched in mer-
cantile life with a large and fully equipped train. He joined his command
on the 9th of Sept., 1863, and again took up his former duties, in which he
continued until the close of the war, in July, 1865. He then returned to his

home in Ohio, and in February, 1866, came to Pettis County, locating in

Sedalia, where he was engaged in mercantile pursuits until, in 1868, he
moved to where is now the station of Hughesville. In December, 1867,
he was married to Miss Mattie E. Mockbee, who was a native of Mis-

souri. She died on the 7th day of February, 1877, and Mr. Smith has

since remained a widower. He is the father of two bricrht lovable

children, by this union, whom he is educating with care, David C.

and Harrison. Mr. Smith is now engaged in farming, owns a valuable

farm of one hundred and eighty-eight acres of well improved land;
he is a man of liberal education, and a diversity of knowledge; has

seen many of the ups and down of life, has travelled extensively amid war
and pestilence, as well as peace and prosperity. Has tasted the bitter of

army prisons, and is yet scarcely past the meridian of life, although he

has experienced many of its vicissitudes.

THOMAS A. SMITH.

Physician and surgeon, Houstonia. Doctor Smith stands at the head

of his profession as a skillful and competent practitioner. He is a native of

Mercer County, Ky., was born on the 13th day of March, 1852. His

early youth was spent in attending school and assisting his father in a

mercantile business. His father, J. D. Smith, came to Pettis Countv in

1873, locating with his family near Georgetown, on a farm which he

purchased soon after his arrival in the county. Our subject, Dr. T. A.

Smith, having had in view the medical profession from his youth, here com-

menced the study of "the healing art
" under the tuition of Dr. James

Allen of that place. He applied himself studiously to the teachings and

study laid out by his preceptor until the autumn of 1878, when he entered

the Hospital Medical College of Louisville Ky., and was a continuous

student, until in the spring of 1881 he graduated with high honors. Dur-

ing his attendance at that institution the doctor was a close student, missmg
but two days' attendance during his entire course. While there he enjoyed
a large and instructive practice among the inmate? of the hospital as well

,as the poor throughout the city, where he obtained a knowledge of the
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various diseases and the most successful methods of treatment, besides the

gratification of knowing that he was laboring to alleviate the sufferings of

his fellow beings. Soon after the completion of his studies, the Doctor

located in Houstonia, where he is now enjoying a large and successful

practice, and is fast building up a reputation for skill and honesty, which

insures lor him the confidence and patronage of the people of this locality.

WILLIAM WEATHERS.

Post-office, Lamonte. Among the many pioneers of this county no

man has been more closely associated with the social and religious inter-

ests of this locality than the subject of this brief sketch, who is a native

of Lewis County, Ky. He was born on the 22d day of May, 1807. His

father, John Weathers, was a native of Virginia and moved to Kentucky at

an earh' day, and was there married to Miss Henrietta Carrington, who
was born Feb. 15, 1785, and lived until October 27, 1864. When our sub-

ject, Mr. Wm. Weathers, was about 14 years of age, he engaged in the

shoe-making trade and followed its pursuits in connection with farm duties

until a few years ago. He was married in Caldwell County, Ky., in 1826,

to Miss Sally Storms. She was a native of Indiana. She died in 1839,

and in the same year he was again married; this time to Miss Susan

Goodwin, a native of Kentucky, who was born m what was then Chris-

tian County. In the spring of 1842 Mr. Weathers started west with his

family and arrived in Pettis County on the first day of May of that 5^ear.

His first settlement was made near the old Pin Hook Mill, where he raised

a crop of nine acres of corn. The next year was spent on the old Reese

farm, and in the spring of 1844 he moved to his present location. A few

years were spent in a small log cabin which formed his mansion until he

erected his present residence, which is comfortable. Since his coming to

this county Mr. W. has done much for the upbuilding of religion, educa-

tion and morality. He was among the early workers and organizers of

the Regular Baptist Society, with which organization Mr. W. has been

closely associated until the present time. He has been a member of that

denomination since 1830. He has raised a large family of children and

has given them all an education and a start in life. He yet retains a nice

farm of 304 acres of desirable land.

FREDERICK WILSON.

Postmaster. Among the many enterprising citizens of Houstonia, no

one has been more closely identified with the interests of the town than

has Mr. Frederick Wilson. He is a native of Wetterburg, Waldeck

Province, Germany, and was born on the 28th day of April, 1845. When
• he was about fifteen years of age he apprenticed himself to a wagon
maker, and served about two years at that trade. His early youth, pre-
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vious to this, was spent in attending school and acquiring an education.

On the 5th day of December, 1862, he took passage on board a ship, in

company with his father, and in February, 1863, arrived in Sedalia. Soon

after this he engaged in mercantile business at Lamonte, in partnership
with Mr. Busch, and continued in trade at that point for about one year,
when Mr. Wilson disposed of his interests there and came to this place,

where he soon erected the first store building in the town. The great
storm of February 23, 1875, an account of which will be found in

another part of this work, destroyed his stock, building, etc., and left him
to begin anew his efforts to build a town. The loss was severely felt by
Mr. Wilson, but he was again started in a few^ weeks, in his present build-

ing, which he erected, and since then has done a large and profitable

business. He is now having a good business in grain, as well as general
merchandise. He occupies a commodious frame building, with a twenty
feet front, and seventy-two feet in depth, which is completely filled with

a selected stock of general merchandise; and is also doing an insurance

business for the old time-tried company, the German, of Freeport, 111.

Soon after his coming to Houstonia, Mr. Wilson was appointed assistant

post-master, and on April 1, 1875, was appointed post-master, and has

since filled the office to the entire satisfaction of the Department and pub-
lic. Since his first connection with the office, Mr. Wilson has constantl}'

added to its popularity and convenience, and has raised its income from a

business that paid but twelve dollars per year, to a business that now pays
him $300 per annum. Mr. Wilson is a man who has done much for the

up-building of the town and its institutions. He was married here in

February, 1874, to Miss Martha Elizabeth Porter, sister of Mr. Wm. H.

Porter, who was killed in the tornado. Since his coming to the place,

Mr. Wilson has seen many changes come to this part of the county, and

has witnessed the growth of a community, of which he was among the

founders. He is now comfortably situated in a neat home, and is num-

bered among the substantial business men of the county.

CHAPTER XIII.—BLACKWATER TOWNSHIP.

Introduction—Name.—Organization
—Order of Court—Boundaries in 1883, 1844 and 1873.

Configuration—Pliysical Features—Soils, Woodland, Elm and Bottom Lauds—Ancient

Mining—Who Were the People that Made the Excavations V—Early Settlers—Agricul-

tural Interests — Stock Raising— Prominent Farmers —Fine Farms— Churches—
Schools—Political—Incidents— Biographical.

Many years ago the hardy and ambitious sons and daughters, who
first came to this township, left their parental roofs and sought homes in

the untamed wilderness of what was then the West. They were not the

effeminate sons and languid daughters of wealthy parents, who had been
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reared in the lap of luxury, for such never dare the perils of a frontier

life. They had from their infancy been tau£fht, by precept and example,
that industr}-- and economy which had enabled their fathers to thrive

among the rocks and hills of Kentucky. Some of them started alone,

with knapsacks on their backs, rifles on their shoulders and axes in their

hands. Thus accoutered they bade adieu tor a time to loved ones at home,
and turned their faces westward to seek their future homes and fortunes

in the wilderness.

For a time they followed the trail of previous emigration, but soon

they left the borders of civiHzation, and struck out into the forest of the

New World. Having made their selection of suitable locations, and

secured titles, if the latter were needed, they began preparations for the

future. Temporary shelters were constructed, and clearing was begun,
if in the timber, and if on the prairie, a small plot of ground was broken.

While this work was in progress, these solitary laborers procured what

scanty supplies they needed from Boonville or Lexington. Their near-

est neighbors were sometimes a score of miles away, and with these they

occasionally exchanged visits and planned for the future. B}^ night they

lay in their rude shelters on beds of grass, or even upon boards hewn
from the logs they had felled, to dream of the homes they had left, or

those their fancy pictured; or in their intervals of wakefulness, listened

to the distant howling of the wolf, or were startled by the nearer hooting
of the owl. Day after day they toiled on, sustained solely by the hopes
and plans for the future.

The work of the adventurer completed, he turned his face homeward,
and with light heart came again to the scenes of his childhood. Here
were parents, brothers and sisters, to welcome him warmly, and listen to

the recital of his experience in the western wilds. He received a still

more hearty welcome from another, who, during his long absence, had

not ceased to think of him by day, and to dream of him by night. She
listened to the story of his doings with a deeper interest, for to her and

him they were matters of equal importance.
A wedding soon occurred, and the last winter of the pair in their native

State was a season of busy preparation for removal to their western home,

interspersed with social gatherings and merry-makings among the scenes

and companions of their childhood. They sat down to their last Thanks-

giving dinner, attended their last Christmas and New Year's festivals with

former playmates and school-fellows, and on the approach of spring bid

adieu to all their old friends and scenes, and deoarted for their new home.

At length the last settlement was reached. Then they entered at once

upon the realities of pioneer life, for now there were no roads to guide
them

;
behind were the last vestages of civilization

;
ahead was a strange

land and deep privation. The stopping place of the summer before is at
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length reached, and the busy cares of a frontier life begun. They gener-

ally made these first settlements on the borders of the woods, for the early
settlers always avoided the open prairie. The sound of the husband's axe

echoed through the forest by day, and '

the wife plied her evening care in

the cheerful glow of the blazing hearth at night. Their simple fare and

active exercise insured them robust health, and though their surroundings
were quite different from those in the midst of which they had been reared,

this was the home which they had made for themselves, and they were

happy in the enjoyment of it. During the summer other settlers had

come in, some singly, others with their families, and neighbors were less

distant, and the monotony of their life was buried by an occasional visit

from or among them. This social intercourse among the pioneers had

none of the bad features which characterizes that of later times. There

were among them no conventionalities, no unmeaning expressions of

civility, no rivalries, no jealousies, and no hypocritical manifestations of

each other's welfare. Each rejoiced in his neighbor's prosperity, or sym-

pathized with him in his adversity. These visits were anticipated with

pleasure, and remembered without regret.

Another summer and winter passed, and changes indicative of increasing

prosperity were visible. The clearings had become enlarged and fenced,

glass had replaced the greased papi-r in the window of the cabin, a pianic

door swing on wooden hinges where formerly had hung a blanket, and

some flowering shrubbery was growing beside it. The solitude of the wife

was enlivened by the prattle of her first-born. Immigrants had continued

to come, and what was a pioneer residence had become part of a pioneer

settlement. Faster and faster they came flocking in, taking possession of

the lands, or pushing into still unbroken tracts brought new farms into

cultivation.

Now pioneer life was lived on a larger scale. The settlers' log cabins

dotted more thickly the wilderness, and the little farms about them

encroached more rapidly on the surrounding prairie and forest. Every-
where was heard the busy hum of life. A variety of work went on in

doors, as well as out, which long ago ceased to be done in private homes.

Households in those days were widely different from the comfortable and

roomy mansion of to-day. Every good mother (and there were none

others) taught her daughters a broad range of domestic duties, from

washing dishes and log cabin floors, to weaving and making up fine linen,

for the house was also the factory and to none of the multifarious duties

did her industrious spirit and proper ambition incline here more strongly

than to the making from flax and wool of the fabrics which she and hers

might need.

An interval of two decades passes; 1882 is at hand. An elegant man-

sion stands on the site of the old log cabin, and all its surroundings show
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that it is the abode of wealth and refinement. Spacious fields and farm

houses are seen upon every landscape. A gray haired man is busy with

the cattle in the farm yard; a portly woman sits by the stove—which has

superceded the fire place
—

busy with her knitting, while some of the

grand children are playing on the floor, and others engaged in various

kinds of work. Another of their children has been added to the group in

the cemetery, another has settled in an adjoining town, and two have gone
to seek their fortunes in the mountains. Thrice honored, thrice exalted

family. The toils of years have brought a rich harvest; the consciousness

of a well spent-life brings peace to your whitened locks; and the memory
of the trials of other days, adds zest to the enjoyment of the present.

In wealth and improvement, Blackw^ater Township ranks second to

none in the county. In productiveness it takes front rank. Its soil is its

"chief stock in trade" in the permanent work of production. In Pettis

County and in Blackwater Township, as in nearly everywhere in North

and Central Missouri, the soils are the marvel of all critical and practical

visitors from east and north. Here in Pettis County the prairie soils of

the surface are generally friable alluvial, with here and there a district of

grayish alluvial, are from fifteen to forty inches deep, and yield heavy

crops of grain, grass and vegetables.

The woodland soils are a shade lighter in color, have a liberal admix-

ture of red and chocolate colored clay, and are among the most valuable

and productive wheat, tobacco, fruit, clover and blue grass soils in the

country; especially is this true of the oak and hickory lands of this town-

ship. The elm lands whose surface soil is deep, rich, flexible and
*' mulatto

"
colored are found in good sized districts throughout the town-

ship, and for wide range of production, fertility and availability under all

conditions, are equal to any lands in the world.

The bottom lands which embrace several thousand acres, are generally
a black alluvial, from four to ten feet deep, enormously rich in the best

elements of fertility, grow heavy crops of wheat, corn, grass and vegeta-

bles, and are practicably inexhaustible.

The sub-soils of the township, whose rich treasures have scarcely been

disturbed by the loose cultivation of the past and present, will prove a

mine of wealth to the more thorough cultivators of the future. The sub-

soils of the entire county are well mixed with strong silicious clays and

marls, rich in all those materials which contribute to the wealth of all

soils.

Name.—Blackwater township derives its name from the principal

stream running through its borders, the Blackwater River. Wh}- it is

thus called cannot be ascertained. It is supposed that it was given to the

river by the Indians from some tradition, but what that tradition is none
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now living can tell. It has had this name as far back as the memory of

"the oldest inhabitant" goes, and with it they were satisfied and with it

we shall be.

Orgainzation.—Blackwater township is one of the early organizations
of the county. It occupies as now organized the northwestern portion of

Pettis County, and has for its boundary on the north Saline County, on

the east Houstonia township, on the south Lamonte township, and on

the west Johnson and Lafayette Counties. It embraces as now organized

fifty-four sections of land, being one of the four largest townships in

Pettis County.
When the county was organized in 1833, Blackwater was one of the

original five townships laid out. It occupied not onl}' its own present

territory but also that of Houstonia and parts of Lamonte and Dresden

each. East of it was Bowling Green, south Elk Fork, and west and

north the counties above spoken of. In this organization it continued

until 1844, when its boundaries were changed and Washington township
was added to the southern party of the county, and Elk Fork was given a

position further north, and embracing the townships of Elk Fork, Prairie,

Lamonte and Dresden, and Blackwater was given the territory now occu-

pied by Houstonia and itself. In this shape it continued until 1873, when
the county adopted township organization, and it was given its present

territory, (see maps of township lines of 1844 and 1873), and its boundaries

were defined as follows: To include all that portion of township 48, range

23, that belongs to Pettis County, and all of township 47, range 23,

bounded as follows:

Commencing at the northeast corner of sectioh 24, township 48, range

23; running thence west on the county line to the northwest corner of Pettis

County; running thence south on the county line to the southwest corner

of section 31, township 47, range 23; running thence east on the township

line, to the southeast corner of section 36, township 47, range 23; running
thence north on the range line to place of beginning.

Such then is the township of which we have to write. With an area

of 34,560 acres, containing some of the most magnificent homesteads in

not only the county, but in the State. Of these homes we shall have

occasion to refer further on in this chapter.

Configuration.—The eastern part of the township is more or less

broken, while the western and central parts present as lovely a view of

high rolling prairie land as is ever seen in any part of the country.

In shape Blackwater is a parallelogram, being nine miles north and

south by six east and west. Its surface is drained by several streams and

creeks, the largest of which is Blackwater River. This enters the town-

ship at section 30 and flows across the northwest corner of the township,
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through sections 30, 19, 20 and 21. The south fork of Blackwater finds

its headwaters in Lamonte township. Following these two streams in

size come Elk Fork Creek, Beaver Dam Creek, Wolf Creek, and numei-

ous other small branches, each of which has its local name and importance.

Along all of these water courses a line growth of timber exists, and in the

driest season the springs along their banks afford a never failing supply of

water for stock.

The physical features of the township are perhaps more diversified

than those of any other part of the county. Nowhere in such close prox-

imity is to be found the rough and woody hills bordering at once on the

beautiful rolling prairie, as are seen in this section. But little, or at least

a comparatively small amount of the land is so broken that it would not

be susceptible of cultivation. Since the prairie fires were subdued, the

timber of the township has increased and orchards and hedges have been

cultivated, until now it is said that there are many more acres of timbered

lands than there were when the township was settled.

Indian Mounds.—-This township was one of the favorite resorts of the

red men prior to the time of its being taken possession of by the whites.

Everything was favorable for their pursuits. It was near the great "salt

lick" and salt springs, from which places the trails of buflalo and other

game that came to them every few weeks radiated hke the rays of the

rising sun. It was a country supplied with abundance of all kinds of

game in which the lovers of the chase delighted to pursue. It was a

country adapted in every way for their primitive modes of agriculture,

where they had but to stir the ground, plant their meagre fields of corn

and their labors were sure to be rewarded. It is no wonder then that

here they found a resting place for their dead. These places of burial

were plainly marked a few years ago, but now they are in many places

nearly obliterated. A few have been explored and in them were found

such remains as are common to the last resting places of the Indians,

stone implements of agriculture and of the chase. None of the more

ancient have been explored, so it is not known if they were of the pre-

historic mound builders, or just of the red men within the limits of our

own histor}'.

Ancient Mining.—There are in the township numerous holes supposed
to have been made by the earliest white men, who passed through this

country,
—the Spaniards. Excited by their great thirst for precious metals

these rapacious men sought in every country where there was the most

remote possibility of a discover}^ of valuable metal. From the mouth of

the Mississippi to the headwaters of the Missouri, the adventurers searched

in every conceivable nook for the treasures hidden from them, but which

they were determined to find. How well their search was rewarded we
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shall never know, but we are left to infer that it was but meagre in the

extreme. They left the more plentiful treasures of coal, iron, etc., to

search for the valuable, but less abundant gold and silver mines, which, in

their vivid imagination were awaiting their magic touch to open untold

treasures to their avaricious eyes.

In this township there are a number of ancient excavations called by
the present population "mineral holes." By whom they were worked, or

what their products consisted in, is not known, and probably never will be

unless they are explored. Did these Spaniards in their first eager search

for gold excavate openings in the earth here, hoping to find the precious

metal, or did the old inhabitants—the Mound Builders, ages before them

work these same mines for the metal they contained? If the latter is the

true theory, then what were the uses to which they put the products.'^

What was their manner ot working the mines and the products? It may
be that from them some of the raw material of which their copper utensils

were made, was produced. One thing is certainly known at the present

day, and that is this: In the vicinity of these holes a surveyor's compass
will not work, and they have a great attraction for electricity. In the

immediate neighborhood of one of them a number of head of stock has

been known to have been killed by lightening in a single year, and it is a

very common occurrence for a large tree to be struck by that subtle ele-

ment.

On the farm of Capt. Samuel Shanks is a peculiar kind of shale

tilled with large shells. This peculiar formation is found in large quanti-

ties on the top of a high knoll about ten feet below the surface overlying a

strata of coal.

Early Settlers.—Previous to any settlements having been made in

Pettis County, excursions were made into it by parties from adjacent set-

tlements in search of game and honey, and in search of more desirable

homes, where they, if they did not, like the Israelites of old, find a land

flowing with milk and honey, they at any rate found one over-flowing

with abundance of meat and honey; for buffalo, elk, and deer were as

numerous upon the luxuriant grass of the rich and beautiful prairies as

are cattle, sheep and horses at the present day upon our pastures and

meadows. Such was the condition of this township when the brave and

hardy few first made their resting place within its limits.

Among the earliest settlers of the township was Isaiah Prigmore, who

came to this township in 1829, from Kentucky. He remained in the

township until 1849, when he, with a number of others, caught the Cali-

fornia gold fever, and crossed the plains. Peter Fisher came to the town-

ship in 1832, from Kentucky, and lived here a number of years, and died

in Texas. Benjamin Snelling settled in the township in 1833, and lived

many years. He now lies at rest, buried in one of the township ceme-
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teries.. Samuel Fisher came to the township in 1834, from Kentucky,
and is, perhaps, the oldest of the early settlers of the township now living.

He still resides on his original homestead, where he and his energetic lady
settled when the country was but a wilderness, and when neighbors were

yet from fifteen to twenty-five miles apart.. They have seen the country

grow up around them with ample estates, and while the frosts of many
winters have been whitening their locks, they look with contentment and

pleasure on the work of improvement which they were among the first

to open. B. F. Prigmore was born in the township in 1838, and still

resides in the township. George Miller came to the township in 1836,

from Cooper County, lived here a number of years, and died in the south-

ern part of the State. John Loper and Hiram Taylor, attracted by the

productiveness of this section, came here in 1837, from Illinois, and lived

here many years. Both are now dead. John Rice came to the township
in 1840, from Cooper County. He was prominently identified witji the

interests of the township for many years, but is now dead. Elijah Rob-
erts came in 1840, from Cooper County. He lived a number of years in

the township, but finally went to Texas, and there died. James Scott

came in Jb38, from Cooper County, and lived a number of years in the

township. His wife died in the township on the original homestead, at the

advanced age of ninety years. David S. Ramsey came to the township
in 1840, from near the vicinity of Georgetown, this county. He lived

here a number of years, but died before the war.

Thus, one by one they pass away, until now but one or two are left to

tell the story ©f their hardships.

Agricultural and Stock-raising Interests.—x\mong the repre-
sentative farmers of the county, none stand higher than those of this

township. There is no railroad through the section, but it is so near the

lines of the Missouri Pacific that it has almost as much advantage as if it

were divided by one of the great trunk lines. All the farms below noted

lie in rich and exceedingly attractive portions of the township, and both in

soil and landscape would rank as premium farms in any of the Eastern

States. Twenty miles from Sedalia, in the western central portion of the

township, and in one of the loveliest farm districts of Missouri is
" Avon-

dale," the splendid home and 800 acre stock farm of Thomas B. Price.

His residence, which cost $15,000, a model of architectural beauty and

elegant finish, is with a single exception the finest farm iiouse in the State.

The grounds, barns, carriage and other out-buildings, are in keeping with

the home. So, too, is the farm, with its clean forty and eighty acre lots,

eight miles of hedge, water-courses, springs and ponds, admirable timber

shelter along the creeks, and the perfect order of the whole estate. Mr.

Price grows 140 acres of corn, getting from sixty to eighty bushels per
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acre, and sixty acres of wheat, which frequently averages him as high as

twenty-eight bushels per acre. He has 620 acres of blue grass that would

open the eyes of a Bourbon County farmer; feeds about 140 steers, and

250 pigs, and has a herd of thirty-four Short-horns of the Favorite, Rose
of Sharon and Monarch families, all solid red, and finely bred. Mr.

Price sells the offspring of his herd When yearlings. Grazes and feeds

about 300 mules for market. Mr. Price is one of the heaviest stock deal-

ers in the State; owns magnificent landed estates in Missouri, Kansas and

Texas; is a native of Jefferson City, and a clearsighted, manly man of

the world. Adjoining
" Avondale "

is "Glenwood," a spfendid 500 acre

farm, with a fine two-story dwelling, out-buildings, lawns and fences to

match it. It is the home of F. H. Bradford, a Kentuckian and a graduate
of the State University. Mr. Bradford gets an average of fifty bushels

of corn per acre, and twenty-five bushels of wheat; keeps about 300 acres

in meadow and blue grass.

Capt. Samuel Shanks has another of these model farms,
" Prairie

Home," of six hundred and twenty acres. It joins
" Avondale "

on the

west. Like the other farms it is well watered, has a handsome $6,000
residence and complete out-buildings, fences, etc. The Captain cultivates

two hundred and eighty acres; the remainder is in meadow and blue

grass pasture. His farm is well stocked with fine horses, cattle, swine

and sheep. He is a thorough stock man, and is President of the Browns-
ville District Fair.

" Pleasant Grove "
is the name of the beautiful $S,000 house, and one

thousand and four hundred acre farm of J. C. Higgins, four miles west of

Houstonia, and in the eastern central part of the township, and is finely

watered by creeks and ponds. Mr. Higgins grows two hundred and

fifty acres of corn, and two hundred acres of wheat, and has the balance

of his farm in beautiful blue grass pastures. He keeps two hundred fine

Cotswolds and Downs sheep, and raises Denmark and Ned Forrest horses;
he feeds one hundred and fifty steers, and handles as high as one thousand

mules in a single year'. Mr. Higgins is a Virginian of great energy, liberal

means, capital business sense, and is one of the foremost business men in

the countv.

Adjoining the farm of Mr. Higgins is the magnificent estate of Mrs.

Judge W. C. Gibson, consisting of twenty-three hundred acres, principally

prairie land, well watered and improved, with a $6,000 home, elegant

lawns, fine fences, good barns, etc. On it have been grown thirty thousand

bushels of corn from six hundred acres, and twelve thousand and five

hundred bushels of wheat fi"om five hundred acres. It has eleven hundred

acres in blue grass and feeds six hundred to eight hundred and fifty steers,

and one thousand prime pigs and four hundred sheep. Mr. J. G. Gregg
has been associated with Judge Gibson for years. Most of this land has
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been improved from wild prairie, and now ranks as one of the finest farms

in the county. Two miles southeast of " Prairie Home," (the residence of

Samuel Shanks,) situated on a high mound, commanding a view of beau-

tiful country for miles, is
"
Highland,", the house of John S. Senior. He

has a four hundred and twenty acre farm, all in fine cultivation, and feeds

annually a large number of stock ca'ttle. A view of his residence is seen

in another part of the work. In the western central part of the township
is the fine three hundred and eighty acre farm of B. Y. Chipman. He
also owns a farm of tour hundred and six acres, near Houstonia. Both

farms are well improved, and the home place in this township is well

stocked. Mr. Chipman settled in the county in 1845, and has since resided

here and built up this splendid home he now owns.

Samuel Fisher owns a fine three hundred acre farm in the western j>art

of the township, on which he settled in 1832. He owns a fine flock of

sheep, and gives his attention to general farming. J. H. Mills, John P.

Higgins, J. R. Spurgin, J. E. Whitfield and Wm. Winston are among
the large and representative farmers of the section.

Churches.—At an early date the scattering settlers of the township
and surrounding country would gather at the residence of some pious

neighbor to listen to the word of God as it was delivered by some good
old laborer in the early vineyard. It mattered not what his denomina-

tional proclivities might be, be he Methodist, Baptist, Christian or Presby-

terian, he was listented to each time he held services by an audience of

attentive hearers, and the seeds sown on good ground have been blessed

by bearing the fruit of an upright, honorable community. The first

preaching in the township was at Mr. Prigmore's, by Duke Young, from

near Tebo. He was of the Christian denomination. The first church

was organized at James Roberts' and was of the Old Iron Side Baptists,

and was organized by Martellus Embry. This was on South Fork.

They built a small log house of worship, with hewed benches, and in this

they continued to worship for a number of years.
The next organization was that of the M. E. denomination. The class

was organized at John Rice's, and they still keep up their church, having
a house of worship on the southeast quarter of the southeast quarter of the

northwest quarter of section 5, township 47, range 23, known as the Black-

water Chapel. They have preaching twice" a month.

South Fork Baptist Church is located three miles south of Brownsville,

and was organized in 1855, by Elder G. W. Sands. The house of worship
was built in 1856 by the congregation, assisted by the neighborhood, and

was dedicated the same year by Elder W. P. C. Caldwell. It is a frame

structure, and cost $300; is 24x36 with a ten-foot ceiling. The original

members of the church were, Wm. A. Williams, William N. Berry, D. M.
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Payne, A. Williams, Sarah Williams, B. F. Pitts, Phoeb eA. Pitts, L. H.

Williams, Elizabeth Williams, Phoebe Ferguson, and others. The

pastors of the congregation have been, G. W. Sands, T. Rocker, A. Horn,
E. H. Burchfield, for fifteen years; Isaiah Spurgin, L. W. Whipple, J.

Gott, J. T. Cowin and S. W. Scott.

This congregation was a colony from County Line Church, eight miles

distant. It prospered for many years under its various pastors and

exerted much influence'for good, but since the civil war other churches have

sprung up and the membership of this congregationj'once strong, has been

depleted. It is one of the few churches in Pettis County that kept up
their regular services during the war. Elder Burchfield never missing an

appointment for his monthly service. Its members kave al\va3's been

active in missionary work. Its present membership is thirty-six. It has a

Sunday School, of which S. Spurgin is Superintendent, and A. Roper,

Secretary.
Salem Presbyterian Church was organized in October, 1880, and is

located five miles northwest of Lamonte. The church building is in pro-
cess of erection at the writing, and will probably be finished in June, 1882.

It is 36x40 feet in size, with a spire seventy feet high, and will cost when

completed $1,800. T. H. Maddox is the builder. The furniture will be

supplied from Richmond, Indiana. The number of present membership
is twenty-seven. T. H. Allen was the first pastor, and at present the

church is without one, but the pulpit will be supplied as soon after the

house is finished as possible.

Wake Forest Baptist Church is located three miles west of Houstonia,
and was organized Nov. 14, 1866, by Revs. A. P. Williams and W. M.
Bell. The church house was built in 1870, at a cost of $1,600, and is a

frame structure 80x48 feet, located on a beautiful knoll and surrounded by
a lovely grove. It was erected principally by the Baptist denomination,

although the people of the neighborhood contributed to its building. The

original members of the congregation were Absalom Williamson, Benj. F.

Pitts, Rodney D. Fisher and Phoebe Pitts, in the organization, and Dr. L. H.
Williams and Sarah Williams joined the day of organization. The number
of the present membership is thirty-five. They have no Sunday School con-

nected. The pastors who have occupied the pulpit are, W. R. Green, A.

J. Emerson, J. P. Payne, J. L. Tichenor, J. R. Godby.

Schools.—The first school taught in the township was a subscription
one by a Mr. Jones, near the place where Blackwater Chapel now stands.

The first public school was taught in the building now known as school

house No. 1, near the residence of Joseph C. Higgins. This house was

destroyed by the cyclone of 1875, and another has been built about 100

yards from the former site.
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There are at present six schools in the township. All the buildtn^js are

good, substantial frame ones, well furnished with modern seats, charts,

etc. The teachers as a class are live, active workers in their profession.

The patrons of the school take great interest in the education of the youth,
and as a consequence the schools are well attended. There are two pri-

vate schools now, (May, 1882,) in session in the township, one at the New-
ell school house, taught by Miss Mar}- Hawker, the other at Cedar Ridge
school house, taught by Miss Effie Williams. Wages vary from $40 to

$55 per month.

Political.—Political parties in early days were the Democrats and

Whigs, but the interests of the township were always first in the minds of

its people, and while they lacked none of that true patriotic spirit which

everywhere characterizes the true American citizen, yet their home and

county interests were looked after first. In early days small political

meetings gathered at the Higgins school house and at the spring in the

grove on Mr. S. Fisher's place, and at these peace and harmony generally

reigned and neighbors decided what course was in their minds right, and

took that stand. Of late years each person cleaves to his respective party,

and, of course, votes for the man who represents his views.

Post-offices.—There are two in the township, one at Rowletta, a mere

countr}'^ office, and the other at Sigel. Sigel is situated about twenty-four

miles northwest from Sedalia on the line of Pettis and Johnson counties.

It is the site of a lew store houses and shops, and has a fine flouring mill.

Population, about 100. The town was laid out by Dr. B. F. Dunkley,
and a post-office established there before any town was built, and was

named in honor of the Doctor. Rowletta is near the center of the town-

ship. Geo. Lee is postmaster. Mail three times a week.

Incidents.—During the war there were several crimes committed in

the township. In 1863 John and Terrie Randall and Reuben Haregrave
were taken from their homes by a band of marauders and carried about

twenty miles south of the township, and all three murdered. They were

all Republicans.
The Indians were plentiful in early days, and hunted the game over the

prairies, frequently stopping at the cabins of the settlers. When

game became scarce they would occasionally kill a hog or calf, but out-

side of this they never did any damage.

Frequently when the early settlers started out across the prairie paths

of a cloudy day they became lost, and on such occasions had to depend
on the instinct of their faithful horse to bring them home.
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FULTON HUME BRADFORD.

The subject of this sketch is a descendant of an old Scotch family.

The first representative of this family who came to America, was John
Bradford. He came from Scotland in 1694, and settled in Culpepper

County, Va., afterwards moving to Fauquier County, in that State. He
had five children : Benjamin, Alexander, Daniel, Joseph and Andrew.

Of these, Benjamin settled in North Carolina, and left a long line of

descendants, who live in various sections of that State. Daniel and Alex-

ander reared families in Fauquier County, and Joseph and Andrew had no

descendants. Alexander was the grandfather of Austin Bradford, of

this county. The name of the latter's father was Austin, who had a

large number of children, viz: Susan, Ira, Thornton and Harvey. They
had no children. James, who moved to Springfield, III, reared a large

family; Mrs. Narcissa Burbridge, wife of Thos. Burbridge, of Scott

County, Ky., and Thomas and Austin, of Boone County, Mo. The latter

was married to Miss Lavinia Hume, daughter of George Hume, of Scott

County, Ky., in 1829, where they resided until about 1838, then emigrated
to Missouri, and settled on a farm in Boone County. They have eight

children : Geo. A., Alexander, Mrs. Slater E. Lenior, Miss Narcissa C, of

Boone County; Mrs. Gen. Edwin Price, of Chariton; Mrs. P. S. Wilkes,

of Stockton, Cal.
;
Mrs. R.J. Bouchelle, of Bastrop, La.; and Fulton H.

Bradford, the subject of this sketch, who was born in Scott County, Ky.,

April 13, 1838, When a boy he attended the district school, and after-

wards the State University, at Columbia, Mo., where he graduated when
but nineteen years of age. After he returned from school he engaged in

farming, in Boone County, until the fall of 1865; then came to Pettis

County and purchased his present homestead—"Glenwood," a descrip-

tion of which appears in the history, of Blackwater Township. On the

21rth day of November, 1863, he married Miss Annie Tutt, daughter ot

Joseph E. and Elizabeth Tutt. By this union they have four children:

Percy, Katie, Felecia H. and Lizzie. Mr. Bradford is a man of great

promise, a warm friend and a good neighbor. In politics he is a Demo-

crat, and at present is the nominee of his party, for the western district of

Pettis County, to represent them in the Legislature.

K. E. BRIGHT.

Post-office, Brownsville; a farmer by occupation. Is the son of William

Blight, a native of Virginia, but who was taken when quite young to

Kentucky, remaining there until he was a man grown, emigrating to

Missouri about fifty years ago. The subject of this sketch, K. E. Bright,
was born in Lafayette County, Mo., Aug. 20, 1843. His advantages for

an education were what the times afforded. In the spring of 1864, Mr.

39
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Bright moved his family to Pettis County, locating in Blackwater Town-

ship, where he has since resided. Mr. Bright was married March IT,

1863, to Miss Sarah A. Spurgin, a daughter of Solomon Spurgin, an old

resident of Pettis County. From this union there are four children living,

viz: Artie, Solomon C, George R. and Katie. Since Mr. Bright's resi-

dence is Pettis County, he has been engaged in farming. He owns a

beautiful little farm of 103 acres, well improved, and under a high state

of cultivation. In politics Mr. B. is a Republican, and in religion a

Baptist.

H. C. BROWN.
Post-office, Houstonia. Among the representative young men of Pettis

County, we find none more worthy of mention than the subject of this

sketch, H. C. Brown. He is the son of Haley Brown, a native of North

Carolina, being born in Davidson County, N. C, April 9, 1854, and is the

youngest child in a family of nine children. He was educated in the

common schools of his native State. In the spring of ISTi, Mr. Brown
moved to Missouri, settling in Pettis County, near where he now resides.

Dec. 16, 1877, Mr. Brown was married to Mrs. Nannie Williams, a

daughter of Rev. Tyre Berry, a native of Missouri. The}^ have one

child, Mary Dempsey. Since Mr. Brown's residence in Missouri, he has

been engaged in farming and the feeding of stock, in partnership with

his brother, D. S. Brown. These young men own a fine farm of 700

acres. The home is well improved with good dwelling house, barns and

other buildings. These young men are spoken of by their neighbors in

the highest terms. In business they are honorable and straighttbrward,

:enjoying the confidence of all.

B. Y. CHIPMAN.

Post-office, Sigel. Is the son of O. H. Chipman, who was a native of

North Carolina. The subject of this sketch was born in Guilford County,
N. C, Dec. 27, 1818, and was the second child in a family of four children.

He received his education from the common subscription schools of that

earl}^ day. In the fall of 1845 Mr. Chipman moved his family to Missouri,

settling in Pettis County, where he now resides. Sept. 20, 1845, Mr. Chip-
man was married to Marv E. Winston, daughter of Jessie Winston, a

native of North Carolina. From this union there w^ere seven children, only

two of whom are now living, viz: Lucy A. and Bettie E. Mrs. Chip-
man dying, he was again married July 20, 1875, to Bettie Bear, of Vir-

ginia. From this union there are two children, both of whom are living,

viz: Bartlett Y. and Mary S. Since Mr. C.'s residence in Pettis Count}^
he has been engaged in farming and stock-raising. He owns a beautiful

farm where he resides, of 380 acres, well improved and under a high state
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of cultivation. He also owns near Houstonia, in this county, a fine farm

of 406 acres. Mr. Chipman is a man of business integrity, and is highly
esteemed by his neighbors.

ALEX. DANIEL.

Post-office, Brownsville. Is the son of William Daniel, who was a

native of North Carolina. The subject of this sketch, Alex. Daniel, was

born Dec. 14, 1823, in Davidson County, N. C, and was the oldest child

in a family of nine children, all of whom are living at the present time in

Missouri, having resided here since the year 1849. Mr. D.'s advantages
for an early education were very limited, there being but few schools, and

they being what was termed subscription schools. Oct. 13, 1849, Mr.

Deniel emigrated to Missouri and settled in Pettis County, where he

engaged for many years in working at his trade, that of carpentering. In

the spring of 1865 Mr. Daniel took a trip to Iowa, but only remained a

few months, when he returned to Pettis County and engaged again at

his trade, working in Pettis, Johnson and Saline Counties. Since the war

Mr. D. has located permanently in the northwestern part of Pettis County,
and engaged in farming. He was married Feb. 1, 1859, to Miss Lucinda

Welch, daughter of Elijah Welch, a native of North Carolina. From
this union there are four children, all of whom are now living, viz: H.

Minerva, John A., George L. and Carrie. Mr. Daniel owns one of the

prettiest farms in this section, has a fine house, out-buildings, and other

improvements. The farm is one especially adapted to the purposes for

which it is used.

J. C. DILLON.

Post-office, Brownsville. A farmer; is the son of John Dillon, who
was a native of North Carolina. The grandfather, Benjamin Dillon, was
a soldier in the Revolutionary War. The subject of this sketch was born

in Guilford County, North Carolina, April 2, 1822, and was the fifth child

in a family of nine children. His advantages for an education were very

limited, there being but few schools at that early day. In the fall of 1853

Mr. Dillon emigrated to Missouri, settling in the northwestern part of Pet-

tis County, buying a farm of 100 acres for $450; then he entered 900 acres

under the graduation act. On this farm he now lives, having improved
it with fine buildings and other conveniences. Mr. Dillon was married

April 2, 1857, to Miss Mary F. Merritt, a daughter of Richard Merritt, a

native of Kentucky. From this union there was but one, child. Mrs. Dil-

lon dying, Mr. D. was again married Dec. 10, 1857, to Miss Luc\- J.

Able, a daughter of Uriah Able. From this union there were six chil-

dren, all of whom are now living, viz: Richard, Ida M., John W., William

A., Alice J., and Ella A. Since Mr. Dillon's residence in Pettis County
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he has been engaged in farming. He owns a farm of 338 acres, well

improved, and under a good state of cultivation. These lands are the

product of Mr. D.'s industry and economy. Financially, he is well fixed

to pass the remainder of his days in ease and retirement, should he see fit

to do so.

SAMUEL FISHER.

Post-office, Rowletta. Of the first settlers of Pettis County, but few

remain to tell the story of their early struggles and privations, much less to

see the county of their adoption arise to so eminent a position among the

sister counties of this great State. But among the few, who like the lone

forest tree that has endured and survived the storms of time, is Samuel

Fisher, who was one of the first persons to set the tent stakes in the wild
'

brush along the south fork of Blackwater. He is the son of John Fisher,

and was born in Tennessee, Feb. 2, 1800. When he was but nine years old

his father moved his family to Green County, Ky., where they remained

seven years. His advantages for an education were very limited, there

being no country schools at that early day, and what education he has,

he has attained since he became a man grown. In the fall of 1816, Mr.

Fisher's father moved his family to Illinois, where they remained three years;

then in the spring of 1820, while Missouri was yet a Territory, the family

located in Cooper Countv, where they remained until 1829, when they

moved to Pettis County, settling on the south fork of Blackwater, where

Samuel Fisher has ever since resided. Mr. Fisher's family was the fourth

family that settled in Blackwater township, the other families coming
about the same time as Mr. F.'s. The countr}' at that time (sa^-s Mr.

Fisher) was nothing but a wild hunting ground, filled with Indians, buf-

falo, elk, bear and other wild animals; this was long before Georgetown
or Sedalia was thought of, and, strange as it may seem, the first field that

was cultivated by Mr. Fisher is now a thickly grown forest, with large

oak, elm and other forest trees. Mr. Fisher was married, March -i, 182!^,

to Miss Sarah Hampton, a native of Saline County, Mo. From this union

there were eight children, seven of whom are yet living, viz.: Francis M.

Rodney D., Rodes C, John H., Mary Belle, Hampton G., and Annie E.,

all of whom are living near their father. When Mr. Fisher settled in Pettis

County, he entered between eight and nine hundred acres of land, which

lands he has divided up among his children, retaining the home farm, con-

sisting of three hundred acres, where Mr. Fisher expects to pass away
the remainder of the few days that may be allotted to him. To give one-

half of the history of this eventful life, would require a volume in itself,

and to do justice to such a subject would overstep the limits of time and

space intended in this work. However, we cannot refrain from recording

the fact that the wife and companion of his early manhood still lives to
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cheer and gladden his declining years, and they seem to be traveling

quietl}^ and peacefully down the stream of time to that land from whence
no traveler returns. R. D. Fisher is the son of Samuel Fisher and was
born in Cooper County, Mo., Sept. 27, 1832, and when he was quite

young, as stated above, the father moved to Pettis County. Mr. Fisher

was married on Sept. 27, 1862, to Miss Kate C. Pliggins, a daughter of

Dr. B. Higgins. From this union there are three children, viz.: James D.,

Copsie H, and Robert E. Since Mr. Fisher has been man grown, he

has been engaged in farming. He owns a fine little farm of 154 acres.

JUDGE W. C. GIBSON.

One of the most prominent business men and popular citizens who have

ever resided in Pettis County was the late Judge W. C. Gibson. He
was a native of Fauquier County, Va., but moved to Missouri in the sum-

mer of 1860, locating in the north-western part of the county, engaging in

business with Joseph G. Gregg. No name in Pettis County to-day is

held in more sacred reverence by all classes of society, than that of the

subject of this sketch. We trace his history from the summer of 1860 until

the day of his death, and in it we find nothing but what bears the stamp
of true manhood. His life was one of untiring industry and activity, and

while many who began life with far brighter prospects fell by the way-side,

Judge Gibson cherished the hope that he might rise to an honorable posi-

tion among his fellow men, and certainly no one ever realized the fulfill-

ment of an honorable ambitious hope more fully than he. Of his valor

there is no occasion to speak. Let his works be the silent monuments; they

speak louder than my words. Some men become famous by continuall}^

waging war against others; he, by bearing the olive branch, binding up
the wounds and winning the heart. Some men become wealthy by haz-

ardous speculations; he, by untiring industry and frugality. Some men
seek happiness by going abroad; to him the happy precincts of home was

the retreat from the business cares of the world. In the politics of Pettis

County Mr. Gibson held a prominent position. He was elected County

Judge in the fall of 1876, and was re-elected in the fall of 1879 as presiding

Judge, having held the office five years, when he was removed by death.

Mr. Gibson was married to Miss Mollie H. Gregg, a daughter of Jos. G.

Gregg, Feb. 29, 1864. From this union there are two children, viz.: Eugene
C, and Mary Grace. At the time of Mr. Gibson's death he was a full

partner with his father-in-law, Jos. G. Gregg, in business. The firm dealt

extensively in buying and selling of live stock. Mr. Gibson owned a half

interest in the magnificent estate, known as the " Gibson-Glenn Farm."

This estate is beautifully located on the rolling prairies of the northwest-

ern part of Pettis County, and consists of 2,580 acres, well watered,

improved with a fine house and elegant lawns. In the death of Mr. Gib-
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son Pettis County lost one of her most worthy citizens, and his family a

true, kind husband, and an affectionate father.

JOSEPH G. GREGG.

Post-office, Houstonia. One of the prominent farmers and stock-men

of Blackwater Township is the subject of this sketch, Joseph G. Gres^j]^.

He is the son of John Gregg, who was born in Loudoun County Va., x\pril,

1821. He received a liberal education from the schools of his native

State. In the fall of 1857, Mr. Gregg emigrated to Missouri, settling in

the northwestern part of Pettis Count}^ where he has ever since resided.

April 9, 1816, Mr. Gregg married Miss M. A. Shepherd, a daughter of

Umphry Shepherd, who also was a native oi Virginia, but emigrated
to Missouri in the year 1855, settling in Pettis County, where he resided

until his death. Mr. and Mrs. G. had born to them seven children, six

of whom are now living, viz: Mollie H., John H., George W., Katie,

Joseph J. and Oscar G. Since Mr. G.'s residence in Pettis County, he

has been engaged in farming and stock raising. He has also engaged

extensively in the buying and selling of live stock. Mr. Gregg in partner-

ship with his son-in-law, the late Judge William C. Gibson, owned what is

known as the "Gibson-Glen Farm," a beautiful estate of 2,580 acres, well

watered and improved, with a $6,000 home, elegant lawns, good barns,

and fine fences. Mr. Gregg grows 30,000 bushels of corn from 600 acres
;

12,500 bushels of wheat from 500 acres; and keeps about 1,200 acres

in blue grass and meadows. Mr. Gregg and son-in-law kept from 600

to 1,000 head of cattle, and fed in one season as man}' as 2,100 head

of hogs, and they had upon this farm, other stock in proportion. In the

life of Mr. Gregg we have another instance of what industry and honesty

will accomplish: when Mr. G. had landed in Pettis County and settled

his family in a log cabin, in the winter of 1S5T, he had but seventy-five

cents in money to begin life with in the new State.

B. GWINN.

Post-office, Brownsville. A farmer and stock man; is the son ofWm.
A. Gwinn, who was a native of Virginia. The grandfather, B. Gwinn,

was a soldier in the war of 1812. The subject of this sketch was born in

Saline County, Mo., Feb. 15, 1832, and is the second child in a family of

nine children. Mr. Gwinn's education is as good as the schools of that

day afforded. In the fall of 1860, Mr. G. moved his family from Saline

County to Johnson, where he resided about four years, then moved to

Brownsville, where he resided about fifteen months. Then moved :o

Pettis County, locating in the northwest part, where he has since resided.

Mr. Gwinn was married March 1, 1860, to Miss Margaret Carmach, a

daughter of Joseph Carmach, a native of Virginia. From this union there
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are four children, all of whom are yet living, viz: Sarah A., Russell,

Beltie and James R. Since Mr. G.'s residence in Pettis Count\', he has

been engaged in farming and stock raising. He owns a fine farm of 381

acres where he resides, and a farm of 165 acres in Saline County. These

lands are well improved.

JOSEPH C. HIGGINS.

Was born in Hampshire County, Va., Feb. 27, 1819. His father, James

Higgins, was a native of Bath County, Va. In IS'JO the family removed

to Union County, Ky., where the mother died in 1826. Soon after the

"PLEASANT GHOVE," RESIDENCE OF .JOSEPH C. HIGGINS.

death of his wife the father returned to Virginia, where he resided till

18i2, then emigrated to Missouri and located near Jefferson City, Cole

County. In the spring of 1850 J. C. Higgins started on a trip to Califor-

nia and was taken sick at Sacramento City, where he remained till March,

1851, then embarked for New Orleans. The vessel was driven oft the

coast of South America; finally, however, he arrived at the Crescent City

via Havana, having experienced a long and eventful voyage. He then

returned b}- Mississippi to St. Louis, thence to Cole County. In 1851 he

came to Pettis County and purchased a large tract of land, which is now
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a portion of his farm, and began improvements thereon. His first pur-
chase was 200 acres, which has been increased to 3,000, and a portion

subsequently given to his children. Most of his home farm lies east of

his residence, and comprises as good land as can be found anywhere.
The vineyard and garden are just west of the residence, beyond which is

the creek and abundance of good timber, Mr. Higgins has been twice

married: First, in 1839, to Miss Mary Parker, a native of Virginia. She

died in 1845, leaving three children: John P., now a farmer with a family
in Houstonia Township; James M., now a farmer with a family in Hous-

tonia Township, and Joseph P., now a farmer with a family in Blackwater

Township. In 1847 Mr. Higgins was married to Miss Ellen Dellinger,

daughter of Henry Dellinger, a native of Maryland. She died in May^

1863, leaving four children: Samuel D., still at home; H. Clay, a farmer

with a famil}^ in Houstonia Township; Sallie E., now wife of Chas. Buck-

ner, attorney, Brownsville, Saline County; and Wm. Copsey, still at home.

Mr. Higgins still retains more than 1,000 acres of land and has one of the

finest and most agreeablv arranged residences in Pettis County, a view of

which appears on the preceding page. His farm residence,
" Pleas-

ant Grove," is surrounded by a grassy lawn, growing large forest trees,

oak, w^alnut and locust. The mansion was planned by Mr. Higgins him-

self and built by Thos. Maddox, of Knobnoster, and cost about $10,000.

It contains twelve rooms, with ample hallway, facilitating the entering of

each room without passing through another. It is finished and furnished

in elegant style. In his herd he has a fine white steer weighing 2,400

pounds. His stock and other farm work is overseen by himself and his

sons, though "Joe," a deaf and dumb negro man, who has not slept ofi'

the farm since 1S52, is considered by Mr. Higgins and family one of the

best farm servants in the State. Though he can not read or write, hence

does not know his own name, yet he can perform any kind of work at a

mere suggestion by gestures. Mr. Higgins is doing an extensive stock

business, dealing in all kinds of stock, principally at present in mules.

During the month of January, 1882, $18,000 worth of mules; February.

$17,000; March, $14,000; April, $7,(00, and May about $7,000.

Undoubtedly he is the largest mule dealer between St. Louis and Kansas

City. Mr. Higgins has been a man of great energ}- and enterprise since

early youth, and to-dav is one of the most active, enterprising and leading
business men of Pettis Countv.

D. W. HAINLINE.

Post-ofiice, Lamonte. A fanner, and is the son of Jessie HMnline,
who was a native of Kentuckv, and a soldier in the war of 1812. The

subject of this sketch was born in Montgomery County, Ky., Oct. 2,

1828, and is the ninth child in a family of thirteen children. His advan-
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tages for an education were very poor. In the fall of 1867, Mr. Hainline

emigrated to Missouri, settling in the northwestern part of Pettis County,
where he has since resided. In the spring of 1867, he married Miss L.

B. Orear, a daughter of Wesley Orear, who was also a native of Ken-

tucky. From this union there were four children, three of whom are now

living, viz: Brown, Lulu and Ross. Since Mr. Hainline's residence in

Pettis County, he has been engaged in farming. He owns a fine little

farm of 105 acres, with a fine dwelling and other out-buildings. He also

has a small tract of land in Johnson County. Mr. H. in politics is a

Democrat, and in reliirion, Mr. H. and his estimable ladv are members of

the Methodist Church South.

JOSEPH P. HIGGINS.

Post-office, Houstonia. One of the representative young men of Black-

water township is Joseph P. Higgins. He is the son of J. C. Higgins,

and was born in Cole County, Mo., Feb. 17th, 1847, and is the third child

in a family of seven children. He received a good practical education

from the common schools of Pettis County. In the spring of 1854, Mr.

Hiiro-ins' father moved his familv from Cole Countv to Pettis where

3'oung Higgins has resided ever since. Mr. Higgins was married. Sept.

2, 1875, to Miss Alice Mercer, a daughter of John Mercer, a native of

Tennessee. From this union there are two children, both of whom are

living, viz: John P. and Estella. Since Mr. H. has been a man grown he

has been engaged in farming and stock raising. He lives on one of his

father's extensive farms in tlje northeast part of Blackwater township.
Mr. H. is a young man of superior business qualifications, and has a host

of friends who speak of him in the highest praise.

R. C. KELLY.

Post-office, Brownsville. One of the representative young men of

Blackwater township is the subject of this sketch, R. C. Kelly. He is

the son of Hugh Kelly, who was born in Lincoln County, Ky., in 1808,

and emigrated to Missouri about the year 1840, locating in the northwest-

ern part of Pettis County, where he resided until his death, which

occurred Jan. 21, 1877. When Mr. Kelh' come to Missouri he entered

the farm upon which he lived for over thirty-five years. The subject of

this sketch, R. C. Kelly, is a native of Pettis County, and was born Nov .

19, 1856, he being the onl_y child. He received a limited education from

the common schools of his native county. Mr. Kelly was married April

30, 1874, to Miss Vassie Hieronymus, a daughter of Charles R. Hierony-
mus. From this union there were three children, onlv one of whom is now

livino;, viz: Elizabeth C. Since Mr. Kellv has been doingr business for

himself, he has been engaged in farming, raising and the feeding of live
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Stock. He owns a fine farm of 440 acres, well improved and under a

high state of cultivation. On this farm Mr. K. raises from 100 to 150

acres of corn each year, and as much as 100 acres of wheat. He also

feeds from two to three car loads of cattle during the winter season.

W. T. MORRIS.

Post-office, Lamonte, A son of Rev. W. H. Morris, who is a native of

Howard County, Mo. The subject of this sketch was born in Howard

County, Mo., Sept. 15, 1860, and was the fifth child in a family of six

children. Mr. Morris was well educated from the common schools of his

native county. Attending three terms at Roanoke, and completing his

education at the William Jewell College, near Kansas City. He began

teaching school when he was in his seventeenth year, and followed this

business until he was married, which event took place Nov. 11, 1879, he

marrying Miss Ella Whitfield, the youngest daughter of J. E. Whitfield.

From this union there is one child, viz: Edna. Since Mr. Morris' mar-

riage he has been engaged in farming. He has a fine farm of 180 acres,

a present from his father-in-law. Mr. M. is a young man of intelligence
and industry, and bids fair to become one of the representative men of

western Pettis County.

D. H. NORRIS.

Stock raiser and farmer; post-office, Lamonte. Among the many
energetic, enterprising business farmers of this township should be men-
tioned the name of D. H. Norris, a whole-souled gentleman of liberal

education and sterling character. He is comfortably situated on a farm of

2S0 acres, surrounded by many of the comforts of life. He is a native of

Baltimore County, Maryland; was born in 1843. He moved to Wood-
ford County, 111., during his youth, and was there married Sept. 10, 1868,
to Miss Carrie Stevenson, a lady of refined taste and culture. This union

has brought two children: Thomas Stanton and Albert Gordon, both

bright, promising boys. Mr. and Mrs. Norris are consistent members of

the Presbyterian Church and are highly esteemed for their many genial
traits of character. Mr. N. has been an active worker for the cause of

education, and has been a warm and hearty supporter of all enterprises
that would enhance the welfare of the county.

THOMAS B. PRICE.

Is the son of Hon. Thomas L. Price, of Jefferson City, Mo., who was
a native of Virginia. His ancestors were English, and settled in Virginia
in the sixteenth century; and being possessed of means, engaged in the

culture of tobacco and general traffic, and were esteemed among the

most influential families of the colonial epoch. In the year 1832, the
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father emigrated to Missouri, settling at St. Louis, but a short time after-

wards, located at Jefferson Cit}', where he embarked in mercantile pur-

suits, in which business, by his untiring energy and close attention, he

became one of the most wealth}^ and influential citizens of Central Mis-

souri. In 1839, Gen. Price was elected the first Mayor of Jefferson City.

In 1845, he was defeated for the State Senate. In 1S4T, he was appointed

Brevet Maj.-General of the Sixth Division, Missouri Militia. In 1819, he

was elected Lieut.-Governor. In the year 186 J, he was elected to repre-

sent Cole County in the State Legislature, and in 1861, he was commis-

sioned Brig.-General by President Lincoln. In 1862, he was elected to

Congress. His life w^as one of untiring industry and activity, and though
endowed by nature with extraordinar_v health and an iron constitution,

his strength at length gave way under the severe tax of mind and body,

exacted by his varied pursuits, and at his residence in Jetierson City, on

the 16th day of July, 1870, his active and us,eful life was brought to a

close. The subject of this sketch was born in Jefferson City, May 10,

1819. He received a primary education in his native city, completing his

literary education at Litiz, Lancaster, Co., Penn., and St. Louis University.

He was married to Miss A. C. Bear, of Rockingham, Va., daughter of

Col. A. C. Bear. From this union there are two children, viz: Lawson

.C. and Celestia. Mr. Price resides on his splendid estate in the north-

;.western part of Pettis County, devoting his energies to stock breeding

fand the management of his extensive patrimony. "Avondale" is the

,name of this beautiful home with its 800 acres. The residence, which cost

)15,000, and is a model of architectural beauty and elegant finish, is with

me exception, the finest farm house in the State, (see p. 190). The grounds,

)arns, carriage and other out-houses are in keeping with the house. So,

too, is the farm, with its forty and eighty acre lots, eight miles of hedge,

[water courses, springs and ponds, admirable timber shelter along the

[creeks, and the perfect order of the whole estate. Mr. Price grows 120

icres of corn, and from sixty to one hundred acres of wheat; he has 620

[acres in blue grass, feeds about 110 steers, and has a herd of thirty-five

[herd-book Short Horns, of the favorite Rose of Sharon and Monarch

[families,
all solid red and finely bred. Mr. P. grazes and feeds about 300

Imules for the market. He has a lot of brood mares, and raises the best

[harness and saddle stock from his stallion, Avondale. Mr. Price is one

)f the heaviest stock dealers in the State, owning magnificent landed

[estates in Kansas and Texas.

B. F. PRIGMORE.

Post-office, Brownsville. Another of Blackwater Township's enter-

[prising and worthy citizens is the subject of this sketch, B. F. Prigmore.

He is the son of Isaiah Prigmore, a native of Kentucky, but who came to
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Missouri when he was quite young, and located in the northwestern part
of Pettis County, where he lived until the year 1849, when he went to

California, dying on his return home. In th6 early history of this county
Mr. Prigmore held a very prominent position as a citizen. The subject
of this sketch was born in Pettis County, Oct. 23, 1838. His advantages
for an early education were as good as the county atl^brded at that day^
Mr. Prigmore was married on June 8, 1858, to Miss Angeline Berry, a

daughter of Mrs. Jane Berry, and was a native of Saline County, Mo.
From this union there was one child, which died when young. Mrs.

Prigmore also dying, Mr. Prigmore was married again, Jan. 9, 1860, to

Miss Mattie J. Warren, a daughter of Mr. Thos. Warren, of Johnson

County. From this union there are two children, both of whom are now

living, viz: William T. and Robert W. Since Mr, Prigmore has been a

man grown, he has been engaged in farming and the raising of stock.

He owns a beautiful farm cf 32(,) acres, finely improved, with a handsome

residence, barns, and other out-buildings. Mr. Prigmore is a man of

honor and integrity, and is highly esteemed by his neighbors.

WILLIAM T. ROBERTS.

Stock raiser and farmer; post-office, Lamonte. He is a prominent old

settler of this county, and was born in Cooper County, Mo., on the 18th

day of August, 1818. His father, Edward Roberts, was a native of Ken-

tucky, and came to Cooper County at an early date in its history. In 1838,

Wm. T. Roberts came to Pettis County, locating in what is now town-

ship No. four, about six miles northeast of his present farm, where he

remained about two years. His father soon afterwards came to this

county, and died here, Oct. 7, 1846. In 1840, Mr. Roberts made a trip

to Texas, remaining one winter in Collin County, and in the spring of

1841, returned to Pettis County, locating on a farm now owned by Mr.

J. C. Higgins, and after a lapse of a few years he again went to Texas,

remaining one winter, and once more came back to Pettis County.
Soon after this he purchased his present farm, and in the autumn of 1858

he disposed of it and again sought the wild prairies of the Lone Star

State, where he purchased a farm in Denton County, on which he

remained one year; then returned to this county, and has since made it

his home. He bought back his original farm and has since extended it

until now it consists of 220 acres. It is well improved, with a handsome
and commodious dwelling, comfortable barn, grand old orchard, and in

fact his entire surroundings are suggestive of the man of enterprise and

industry. He was married Feb. 7, 1839, to Miss Minerva Edwards, a

daughter of Samuel Edwards, one of the pioneer settlers. Slie was born

in North Carolina, and is a lady of estimable character. Mr. and Mrs.

Roberts have long been associated with the Regular Baptist Church, and
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were among its pioneer workers. They have reared a famil}^ of

eight children, and lost three. Mr. Roberts is now giving his attention to

ihe duties of a large stock raising business and the management of his

farm, and although advanced in years, is still engaged in active business

life.

ZACHARIAH ROBERTS.

Farmer. Post-ofRce, Lamonte. A native of Blackwater Township,
Pettis County. Was born in IS-il, and is a son of WilHam T. Roberts, one of

the pioneers of the countv. He was twice married: first in September,

1803, to Miss Minerva Coats, who died in 1869; and in 1873 he was again

married, this time to Miss Julia E. Ramey. This last union has brought
them three children who are still living, Estella, Millie and Daisy. Mr.

Roberts owns a nice farm in Blackwater, which he has recently purchased.

He has seen nearly the entire growth of Pettis County. Is a member of

the Regular Baptist Church.

WM. H. RISSLER.

Post-office, Lamonte, Lamonte Township. Among the worthy

3^oung bachelors of Blackwater Township, none stand higher in the esti-

mation of the citizens as a worthy, straight forward business young man,

than the subject of this sketch. Wm. H. Rissler is the son of J. G.

Rissler, who was a native of Jefierson County, Va., but who emigrated to

Missouri in an early day. Wm. H. was born in Cooper County, Mo.,

July IT, 1853, and is the fifth child in a family of ten children. He
received a good practical education from the schools of his native county.

Since Mr. Rissler has been a man grown he has been engaged in farming

and stock raising. He owns a fine farm of 290 acres, situated on the

beautiful rolling prairie of the northwestern part of Pettis County; and for

productiveness of soil, this farm is not excelled by any in the county.

FIRMIN SEBRING.

Post-office, Rowletta, Blackwater Tp. Where there are so many good
citizens and worthy men as this township contains, it would be hardly

probable in our brief sketches that full justice would be done, but we

should feel our task was not complete without mc^mion of this quiet and

retired citizen, Firmin Sebring. He is the son of Jacob Sebring of New

Jersey, and was born in Sussex County, N. J., Aug. 28, 1811, and was the

fifth child in a family of seVen children. When Mr. Sebring was about

four years old, his father moved his family to Ohio, settling at Cincinnali^

where he remained a short time; then he moved to Butler County,

Ohio, from Butler County to Darke County, where he died, July

9, 1858. In the summer of 1800, Mr. Sebring moved his family
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from Ohio to Missouri, settling in the northwestern part of Pettis

County, where he has since resided. He was married Nov. 24^

1831, to Miss Sarah A. Lourimore, a daughter of Hugh Lourimore, a

native of Pennsylvania. From this union there are seven children living,

viz: Martha, Hugh, John B., Isaac W., Mary E., Christopher C. and

Catharine. Mrs. Sebring dying, he was again married, Aug. 22, 1860, to

Mrs. E. Martin. From this marriage there are no children. Since Mr.

Sebring's residence in Pettis County he has been engaged in farming and

raising stock. He owns a nice little farm of 160 acres well improved.

JOHN GRADISON SENIOR.

Post-office, Knobnoster. Of the worthy and well-to-do citizens of

Blackwater township, there is none more worthy of mention than J. G.

RESIDENCE OF J. G. SENIOR.

Senior. He is the son of Samuel Senior, who was a native of Virginia,

but who emigrated to Boone County, Mo., in the spring of 181T, remain-

ing in Boone County until the spring of 1831, when he moved to Johnson

County, settUng near the Pettis County line. Here he remained until his

death, which occurred May 15, I860. The subject of this sketch was

born in Johnson County, June 4, 1840. He was educated in the common
schools of his native county. Mr. Senior was a soldier in the Confed-

erate army for almost four vears, and participated in some of the hard

fought battl(is of the late war. He was engaged in the battles of Pea

Ridge, Corinth, Champion Hill, siege of Vicksburg, Alexandria, Salem

Rivtjr.and a number of smaller engagements. He received a slight wound

at the battle of Corinth. After peace had been declared Mr. S. returned

to his father's old homestead in Johnson County, having not only lost his
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four years' time, but also his earnings. Here he had to begin Hfe anew,
and it was at this time he laid that firm foundation upon which he has, by
his industry and economy, built up so handsome a fortune. In the spring
of 1869 Mr. Senior moved to northwestern Pettis County, where he has

since resided. He was married Feb. 22, 1870, to Miss Josie Honey, a

step-daughter of the Rev. A. F. Scruggs, she being a native of Kentucky.
From this union there were six children, four of whom are now living,

viz: Minnie L., Lizzie, AUie D. and Franklin L. Since Mr. Senior's resi-

dence in Pettis County, he has been engaged in farming, raising and feed-

ing of live stock. He owns a fine farm,
"
Highland," of 420 acres, with

a handsome dwelling and other out-buildings. A view of the residence

appears on the preceding page. He raises on this farm 140 to 170 acres

of wheat, and from 100 to 120 acres of corn. In politics, Mr. S. is a

Democrat, and in religion a member of the Christian Church. He is a

man of fine business qualifications, highly esteemed and honored bv all

who know him.

J. L. SHEPHERD.

Post-office, Lamonte. Among the self-made young men of Black-

water township is J. L. Shepherd. He is the son of Umphrey Shepherd,
who was a native of Virginia, but emigrated to Missouri about the year

1828, and settled close to Old Franklin, in Howard County, where he

remained two years, then returned to Virginia. Then, in Nov., 1855, the

father again moved his family to Missouri, settling this time in Pettis

County, on what is known as Heath's Creek, where he remained until his

death, which occurred Jan. 18, 1874. The subject of this sketch was

born in Loudoun County, Va., July 4, 1848, and is the youngest child in a

family of fourteen children, all of whom lived to be men and women

grown, excepting one. Mr. S. received a primary education in the com-

mon schools of this county. He was married Jan. 12, 1871, to Miss Millie

H. Benton, of Lafayette County, Mo., a daughter of Levi T. Benton, who

emigrated to Missouri from Harrison County, Ky., in 1854; from this

union there were five children, four of whom are now living, viz: Annie

C, Rosa M., Hattie D. and Josie I. Since Nr. L. has been a man grown
he has been engaged in farming. He owns a fine little farm of 100 acres,

which, to his credit, it can be said, is the product of his own industry and

economy.

SAMUEL SHANKS.

Post-office, Brownsville. One of Pettis County's most honored citizens

is the subject of this sketch. He is what may be strictly termed a

,self-made man. His father, Jacob Shanks, was a native of Virginia,

.but died in a few years after emigrating to Missouri. Samuel was the
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fourth child in a family of eight children. He received a practical educa-

tion from the common suhscription schools of this State. When he was

thirteen years old he was taken with his father's family to Osage County,
where he remained until the year 1846, when he enlisted as a soldier in the

Mexican War, remaining until its close. He then returned to his home in

Missouri. In 1849, Mr. S., like man}' others of that day, caught the gold

fever, which took him to California, but he only remained in the golden

State about eighteen months, when he returned to his native State, and in

the spring of 1850 he moved to Pettis Count}-, locating in the northwest-

ern part of the county, where he has since resided. Mr. Shanks was

married March, 1852, to Miss Bobbitt, a daughter of John Bobbitt, of

"PRAIRIE home;' residence OF SAMUEL SHANKS.

Johnson County. From this union there were four children, three of

whom are now living, viz: Emma, now the wife of Will D. Carpenter;

Florence, now wife of Dr. Seaton Tyler, and David, at home. Mrs.

Shanks dying, he was again married to Miss Lucy B. Tate, of Texas.

From this union there were four children, three of whom are now living,

viz: Fox, Wilford and Daisy. Mr. Sharks owns one of those model

farms,
" the Prairie Home," for which the northwestern part of the county

is noted, 640 acres in extent, and like the other farms of this section, it is

well watered, has a handsome residence and fine out-buildings, fences, etc.,

a fine view of which produced on this page. Mr. Shank farms exten-
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sively, thoucrh keeping many acres of his farm in meadow and blue grass,

upon which he has a choice herd of twenty-five Short-horns, representing
the Young Mary and Rose of Sharon famihes, led by the Second Duke
of the Roses, an animal of great merit. He also has in his barns a fine

selection of brood mares, among them one sired by old St. Lewis Den-

mark, that has carried off many prizes. Mr. Shanks is a thorough stock

man, and has been for years President of the Brownsville District Fair.

He is a man of influence and character, one of whom his county can

justly feel proud.

SOLOMON SPURGIN.

Post-office, Sigel. One of the early settlers of Black water township
is Solomon Spurgin, a son of the Rev. I. Spurgin, who was a native of

North Carolina, and a preacher for many years. Solomon was the oldest

child in a family of seven children, and was born in Davidson County, N.

C, Oct. 10, 1822. In the fall of 1843 Mr. Spurgin, with his father, moved
to Missouri, settling first in Henry County, near Calhoun, where the family
remained one year. Then the father moved to Pettis County, where he

died Aug, 4, 1877. Mr. Spurgin remained on the farm he entered in the

winter of 1849, excepting the time he was in the United States service

during the late rebellion. Mr. Spurgin was married July 7, 1842, to Miss

Eliza M. Haines, a daughter of George Haines, and a native of Davidson

County, N. C. From this union there were ten children, only five of

whom are now living, viz: Sarah A., Mary J., Phoebe L., Mary A. and

Carrie. Mr. Spurgin has been very unfortunate, losing two of his daugh-
ters, viz: Nannie H. and Clara E., who had just grown to womanhood—
kind and affectionate, beloved by all. The children living are all married

excepting Carrie, the youngest. Mr. Spurgin owns a beautiful farm of

160 acres.

J. R. SPURGIN.

Post-office, Houstonia. One among the most successful farmers of

Blackwater tow'nship is J. R. Spurgin, a son of William Spurgin and a

native of North Carolina. Mr. Spurgin is also a native of North Carolina,

he being born in Davidson County of that State on Nov. 14, 1825. He
received his education from the common subscription schools of his native

State. In the fall of 1848, Mr. S. with a brother and two sisters emigra-
ted to Missouri, settling in the northwestern part of Pettis County, upon
the farm where he now resides, he bu3'ing about 120 acres, and entering

some, about the same time. Mr. Spurgin was married Oct. 22, 1852, to

Miss Mary A. Clinard, a daughter of Henry Clinard, also a native of

North Carolina. From this union there are four children, all of whom are

living, viz.: Larkin H. S., Jennie, EmmaE,, and Samuel J. Jennie is married

40
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to the Rev. W. T. Campbell of Kansas City. iVIr. S. has just met with

the sad misfortune of losing his estimable wife, who died March 8, 1882;
she was a kind wife, a loving and an affectionate mother. Since Mr. Spur-

gin's residence in Pettis County, he has been engaged in farming and the

raising of stock. He owns a line farm situated on the beautiful rolling prai-

rie of this section. His home farm consists of 490 acres, with fine sub-

stantial improvements under a high state of cultivation. On this farm

there are 8 miles of hedge fence, and there has been raised in one season

over 5000 bushels of wheat, and there is in wheat at the present time 320

acres.

T. M. TRIPLETT.

Son of William Triplett,' who was a native of Loudoun County, Va. The

subject of this sketch was born in Fauquier County, Va., May 18, 1828,

and was the fourth child in a family of five children. He received a lib-

eral education from the common subscription schools of his native county.
Mr. Triplett, in the fall of 1868, emigrated with his family to Missouri,

settling in the north-western part of Pettis County, where he has since

resided. He was married in the spring of 1852 to Miss V. R. Silcott, a

daughter of Jacob Silcott, who was also a native of Fauquier County, Va.

From this union there were nine children, eight of whom are now living,

viz.: Henry F., John T., William A., Ida M., Jacob, Thomas M., Howard
L. and Mollie E. Since Mr. Triplett's residence in Pettis County he has

been engaged in farming, raising and the feeding of live stock. He owns

a fine farm of 385 acres, situated on the bt^autiful rolling prairie in the

northwestern part of the county. This farm is finely improved, having
a large dwelling house, barn and other out-buildings. Mr. T. is spoken
of by his neighbors as an upright and straight-forward man and a

worthy citizen.

MILTON W. TYLER, Jr.

Post-oflice,' Sigel. Among the representative young men of Pettis

County there are none who stand higher with the people than M. W.

Tyler, of Blackwater Township. He is the son of M'. W. Tyler, Sr., who was

a native of Jefferson County, Ky. The subject of this sketch was born

in Jetierson County, Ky., March 2, 1850, and was the sixth child in a fam-

ily of seven children. When he was about two 3'ears old his father moved
his family from Kent\;cky to Johnson County, Ind., where he remained

eighteen years; here he received the rudiments of his education. In the

fall of 1869 his father moved to Missouri, settling in Johnson County,
where he still lives. In the winter of 1876 Mr. Tyler moved to Pettis

Count}', settling in the northwestern part of the county, where he still

resides. Mr. Tyler was married Nov. 9, 1875, to Miss Kate Hall, a



HISTORY OF BLACKWATER TOWNSHIP. 831

dauofhter of Sylvester Hall, a native of Bourbon County, Ky., who was
born in the year 1811 and moved to Cooper County, Mo., in the year

1819; then in the year 1824 he moved to what is now Pettis County,
before it was organized. Mr. Hall was one of the gold seekers of 1849

who went to California, and since that time he has crossed the plains ten

times. Mr. Hall was married to Miss Nancy E. Gallagher in 1853, and

from this marriage there were four children, viz.: Kate, Victoria, George
and Charles, three of whom are living

—Victoria having died in the year
1873. Mr. Hall moved to Johnson County in 1865, then back to Pettis

County, February, 1882, w^here he resides at the present time. He owns
fine tracts of land in Johnson and Pettis counties to the amount of 1,600

acres, and a salmon fishery on the Columbia River, W. T. From the

marriage of Mr. Tyler and Miss Hall there are three children, all of whom
are now living, viz.: Victoria J., Seaton and Viola E. Since Mr. Tyler's
residence in Pettis County he has been engaged in farming, raising and

feeding of stock. Mr. Tyler owns a fine farm of 333 acres, well im-

proved. In business matters Mr. Tyler is honorable and just, command-

ing the respect of all who know him.

J. E. WHITFIELD.

Post-office, Lamonte. The world furnishes men of every type and

character. Some have breadth and liberality of mind; others never per-
ceive that which is beyond their own narrow sphere of operations, and

they never go beyond the neighborhood in which they were born. To
the mind that never experiences the educating influences of new and

strange surroundings, a great part of life's joy and satisfaction is lost.

Few men, indeed, among the quiet farmers of our rural districts have had

the varied experiences, the success and adversity which have fallen to the

lot of J. E. Whitfield. He is the'son of Wm. Whitfield, who was a native

of North Carolina, and served as a soldier in the War of 1812. The

grandfather, John Whitfield, was a soldier in the Revolutionary War,
and the musket the old grandsire carried in that struggle is now in the

possession of the grandson, J. E. The subject of this sketch w^as born in

Granville County, N. C, Aug. 9, 1817, and emigrated to Missouri in

the spring of 1849, settling in Blackwater Township, where he has since

resided, except the time he was in the south during the late war. Mr.

Whitfield was married June 12, 1844, to Miss H. H. Winston, a daughter
of Jesse Winston, of Franklin County, N. C. From this union there

were seven children, only three of whom are now living, viz.: Lucy F.,

Wm. H. and J. Ella. Lucv is married to Mr. B. .Delap. William is

also married and living near the father, and Ella is the wife of W. T
Morris. For man}^ years Mr. Whitfield has been engaged in farming,

feeding, and the raising of stock. He owned before dividing with his
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children, 1,040 acres of land. These lands are situated on the beautiful

rolling prairie of western Pettis County. The home farm where Mr.

Whitfield resides is finely improved with dwelling, barns and other out

buildings. Mr. Whitfield has near his residence a family burying ground,
in which are buried his father, who died in the spring of 1861, and his chil-

dren. This little burial place is beautifully enclosed with a solid wall of

masonry 50x50 feet, and is seven feet high from foundation, and the wall

is furnished with a cap projecting two inches.

W. H. WHITFIELD.

Post-office, Lamonte. Among the young men of Blackwater Town-

ship, we find none more highly esteemed than W. H. Whitfield. He is the

son of J. E. Whitfield, and was born, March 9, 1849, in Franklin County,
N. C. When he was quite young his father emigrated to Missouri, set-

tling in Pettis County, near where he resides at the present time; here he

has ever since lived. Mr. W. received a liberal education from the com-

mon schools of this county. He was married, Feb. 16, 1871, to Miss

Nancy E. Scott, a daughter of Adam Scott, who was a native of Missouri,

but has been dead about twenty-three years, from this union there are

three children, all of whom are yet living, viz: James E., Delia and

Arthur. Since Mr. Whitfield has been doing business for himself he has

been engaged in farming. He owns a beatitiful farm of two hundred and

forty acres, finely improved and under a high state of cultiviUion.

CHARLES T. WIDNEY, M. D.

Post-ofiice, Rowletta. Dr. Charles T. Widney is the son of James H.

Widney, who was a native of Pennsylvania. The Dr. was born in Muhlen-

burg Countv, Ky., Dec. 2, 1841, and was the youngest child in a family of

four children. He was educated partly at Hart's Seminary, Owensboro^

Ky., and completing his literary education at Franklin College, Lancaster,

Penn. Dr. Widney attended a course of lectures at the Kentucky School

of Medicine, and graduated at the University of Louisville. After

receiving his diploma he practiced his profession a few months in Ken-

tucky. There, joining Olcorn's Brigade, where he was made a Surgeon
of a battalion, which afterwards became the Eighth Kentucky. Then he

was made Surgeon of the Cumberland Artillery, three companies that

were formed on the Cumberland River. He was taken prisoner at the

battle of Fort Donelson, Feb. 10, 1862, and was impri-soned at Camp
Chase for five months, when he was exchanged. He was then assigned

to Gen. Albert G. Jenkins' staff of Lee's Army of Virginia. Here he

served nine months; then he was elected Major of a calvary battalion,

which was almost destroyed at the battle of Gettysburg. He was then

appointed Surgeon of the Fourteenth V^irginia Cavalry, serving here until
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nearly the close of the war. The Dr. was wounded in the foot. Near
the close of the war he was assigned to Gov. Milton's stati' of Florida.

After the close of the war he returned to his Kentucky home where he

was for a short time a member of the Kentucky Conference. Owing to

ill-health he abandoned his ministerial labors, and accepted a position in

the female department of the Louisville City Hospital. From here he

went to Shelbyville, where he continued in the practice of his profession

for three years. Then he moved to St. Louis, and after engaging in his

profession for sometime he was made physician of the St. Louis Sanita-

rium, a hospital for diseases of the brain and nervous system, and for six

years he acted in the capacity of one of the experts on insanity in the

courts of St. Louis, continuing at the same time the practice of his profes-
sion. In March. 1881, he was made Medical Superintendent at the Sweet

Springs. In Feb., 1882, the Dr. moved his family to Pettis County, where
he is at present engaged in the practice of his profession. The Dr. was

married, June 20, 1869, to Miss Alice C. Wise. From this union there are

live children. The Dr. owns a fine farm of one hundred and sixty acres,

well improved and under a high state of cultivation.

L. H. WILLIAMS.

Post-office, Houstonia. Is the son of Absalom Williams, a native of

North Carolina, but who emigrated to Missouri in the fall of 1845, and

settled in Blackwater Township, where he remained until his death, which

occurred in April, 1867. The subject of our sketch was born in Davidson

County, N. C, Nov. 14, 1830. And in the fall of 1846 he came to Missouri,

and located with his father in Pettis County. Ilis advantages for an early
education were very poor, he having to go from three to four miles to

school, and the school term only being from two to three months in the

year. In the spring of 1850 Mr. Williams, like many other young men of

his day, took the California fever, to which State he made a trip, hoping to

increase his wordly possessions in the shape of glittering gold; however,
he remained only one year, when he returned to his home in Pettis County,
where he remained until the war. Mr. Williams was married, Oct. 5,

1854, to Miss Elizabeth Daniel, a daughter of Wm. Daniel, who was a

native of North Carolina. From this union there were six children, four

of whom are now living, viz: Effie A., Jane B., Wm. P. and Joseph A.

Since Mr. W. has been a resident of Pettis County he has been engaged
in farming and stock raising; he has also engaged extensively in stock

feeding and shipping. He owns a fine farm of one hundred and sixty-five

acres, situated on the rolling prairie of Blackwater Township. The farpi

is finely improved, with dwelling and other out-buildings.



834 HISTORY OF BLACKWATER TOWNSHIP.

WILLIAM WINSTON.

Post-office, Rowletta. Is the youngest child in a large family of

children. His father, Jesse Winston, was a native of North Carolina.

William was born in Franklin County, N. C, Feb. 18, 1833. He received

a limited education from the common subscription schools of his native

State. His father dying when he was about fourteen years old, he went

to Tennessee, and made his home with one of his brothers, where he

remained about six years; then he moved to Missouri, settling in the north-

western part of Pettis County, where he has since resided. Mr. Winston

was married Oct. 16, 1856, to Miss Eliza J. Siceloff, a daughter ofAndrew
D. Siceloff of this county. From this union there were eight children, six

of whom are yet living, viz: Sarah F., Verbena, Agnes, Charley,Josie and

George. Mrs. Winston dying, Mr. W. was again married April 1-5,

1873, to Miss Maggie E. Wade. From this union there are four children,

all of whom are living, viz: Stella, May, Ernest and Forrest. Since Mr.

Winston's residence in Pettis County, he has been engaged in farming and

stock raising. He owns a fine farm of 316 acres. Its improvements are in

keeping with that of the neighborhood. A tine dwelling, a barn, out-

buildings and other improvements. Mr. Winston also owns a line farm in

the southern part of the county, consisting of 116 acres.

EDWARD WOOD.

He is an older brother of Albion Wood; was born in Pettis Count}-,

Mo., in the month of October, 1842. Received a common school educa-

tion. When about twenty years of age he embarked in the mercantile

business for himself in Monroe County, this State, and afterwards run a

store at Jonesborough, Saline County, which he continued for some years.

In 1868 he returned to Pettis Count}' and settled on his present farm, con-

taining 320 acres of first class land, upon which he has erected a new and

substantial residence of the latest design. In 1868 he was united in mar-

riage with Miss Lonza Fisher, daughter of Mrs. Mary E. Fisher of Saline

County. They have seven children, O. H., E. H., F. H., J. C, Clifton

W., Watson and Edward Wood. Mr. Wood, since moving on his farm,

has been engaged in agricultural pursuits, and at the same time has dealt

largely in cattle and hogs, and is well kno\vn throughout this county as

one of its most substantial citizens. One ot his favorite amusements is

the gun, and to-day he enjoys a chase with the dogs. He and his brother,

Albion, are of the generous whole-hearted men who have enjoyed life on

the frontier.
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CHAPTER XIV.—LONGWOOD TOWNSHIP.

Introduction—Name—The English Estate of Longwood—Organization
—The First Voting

Place—Pin Hook Mills—The First Court in the County—Physical Features—Churches
—Schools—Potter Lodge, A. F. & A. M.—Longwood Lodge, I. O. O. F.—Incidents—
Murder of Mr. Majors—Col. Fields Killed—Murder of Mrs. Raines—Murderer

Burned by a Mob—Village of Longwood—Biographical.

The surface of this township presents, perhaps, as diversitied an appear-
ance as any township in the county. Hill and dale succeed one another

n marvelous profusion in whatsoever direction one may go. Prairie and

forest add each its share to beautify the landscape, and the numerous

small streams cut and carve the entire surface in a manner most charming,
if not always convenient. There is but little history that can be given of

this township distinctly separate from its neighbors. The reader is there-

fore referred to all the northern townships whose histories are so closely

interwoven with each other as to be impossible to give a detailed one of

each. It may be remarked, however, that the settlement of the township

proceeded slowly. There seemed to be a most marked predilection in

favor of more heavily wooded sections, or indeed of bottom lands. True

it is that the settlers coming from the older States brought with them the

manners and customs of the sections where they had matured. To
shake oft' the old habits, the old likes and dislikes, was a task to which

the early settler had a special dislike, and he therefore allowed the old

time habits to guide his judgment in the selection of' a new homestead.

Accustomed to hilly and woody regions, his choice leaned in that direc-

tion in his new home, and his location was accordingly selected on hill-

side or in valley. It was years before the prairie began to be viewed as

a desirable home, and then only when the influx of population made such

a choice a matter of necessity. To-day a great portion of its surface is

under cultivation, and it no longer lies on the outskirts of civilization, but

is the scene of marvelous activity.

Name.—Longwood derives its name from the town situated on its east-

ern edge. Of this place it ma};- be said it derives its name from truly

aristocratic lineage. In England one of those grand old estates which we

delighted to read about in our childhood days, is and has been called

for centuries, Longwood, and in this far western county is repeated after

the lapse of years, a name that is loved and honored in "that far-oft-house

across the sea." The town was first called Hermantown and the post-

office Oak Grove. This was about one mile north of the present town of

Longwood, and when the petition for the change was made known to the -

town, it was granted on condition that it should be called Longwood,
there being another Oak Grove in the State.

Organization.—Longwood township, although one of the earliest
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settled in the county, is one of the latest in organization. It was originally

part of Bowling Green, and then part of Heath's Creek and Mt. Sterling.

In the organization of 1873 it was given the f'» lowing boundaries:

To include all that portion of township forty-eight, range twenty-one,

that belongs to Pettis Count}-, and all of township forty-seven, range

twenty-one, bounded as follows: commencing at the northeast corner of

section twenty-four, township forty-eight, range twenty-one, running

thence west on the county line to the northwest corner of section nine-

teen, township forty-eight, range twenty-one; running thence south on the

range-line to the southwest corner of section thirty-one, township forty-

seven, range twenty-one, running thence east on the township-line to the

southeast corner of thirty-six township forty-seven, range twenty-one,

running thence north on the range-hne to place of- beginning. It contains

fitty-four sections of land, equalling .S4,640 acres, and of this the greater

part is valuable land.

In the southwestern part of the township is a little obscure place called

in early years Pin Hook. Of this, little remains but the ruins, yet to the

student of the history of Pettis County those ruins are as full of interest in

connection with the early da^s of Pettis County, as are the ruins of Baby-
lon and Nineveh to the student of Ancient History. Here first the voters

of the county, then in its infancy, laid the foundation w^hich has built the

now famous county of Pettis. Here was exercised for the first time within

the borders of our present noble county that inalienable right of every
free American citizen, the right of a free and unrestricted ballot for the

man of their choice to represent them in the General Assembly of rep-

resentative men of the State. Before Georgetown was laid out, and years

before the city of Sedalia had been conceived in the mind of even the

wildest dreamer of the future greatness of not only the county, but the

State, this little obscure place was the head of business in this county. It

was the "business Mecca" to which the eyes of all the early settlers turned,

and here they came to do their trading, have their milling done and dis-

cuss the political situation of the day ;
but it has now decayed until but

little is left to tell the story of its former importance outside of the minds

of the oldest citizens. These cherish the memories of those happy days

when they met here to discuss the best methods of procedure in organiza-

tion and election of officers. The first court ever held in the county was

at this point and the docket of that term was meagre in the extreme, but

one or two cases being on trial. In the chapter on "Courts and Bar" this

subject is treated at length. (See p. 275.)

The first postmaster of the town was Thomas Wasson, and the first

merchants of the place were Marmaduke & Sappington, the latter a rela-

tive of Dr. Sappington of Saline County, and Watson and Clifton Woods
also did business here. When Georgetown was laid out they moved
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to the new town. The first lawyers in Pin Hook were Geo. Heard,

Washington Adams and Heydon.
After the county adopted township organization in 1873 the following

officers were elected: James Roberts and Geo. F. S. Sprinkle, trustees;

Wm. Hofiinan, township clerk; W. C. Cheatau, assessor; Lewis Lower,
collector.

Configuration.—In shape Longwood township is a parallelogram,

being six miles east and west by nine north and south. It has perhaps as

diversified physical features as any township in the county, being com-

posed of beautiful prairie land interspersed with timbered belts along its

streams, of which there are several in or passing through the township.
Its timber is an old, natural growth, and afibrds for fuel and fencing pur-

poses an adequate supply, not only for home consumption, but also for the

neighboring townships that have little for theii own use. A reckless waste

of timber has been followed in this as in other townships for years; that of

cutting down and using for fencing fine walnut logs, that, if shipped to

market, would bring a handsome price, and even piling up valuable walnut,

oak, cherry and ash logs and burning them to clear the cheap, hilly

land, or sold for fuel on the market in competition with the cheap coals.

While the whole country is appalled at the nearness of a timber famjne,
and Pettis County farmers are paying three prices for furniture manu-
factured in Indianapolis, Chicago, or other eastern cities, it looks very like

sacrilege to the thoughtful eastern farmer. However, this is being
remedied to some extent, and more care is being taken of this valuable

product. Fine hedge fences are superseding the old fashioned rails, and

the surplus of logs is being worked up by home mills or shipped to near

markets and bring remunerative prices.

Early Settlers.—Of these there are only a few remaining to tell

the story of how the country looked, how they lived, how thev farmed

and how they prospered. The township being until 1873 a part of others

its early settlers are so interwoven with those of other townships that it is

almost impossible to give them separately. However we present a list as

nearly accurate as it was possible to obtain.

James Scott came to Missouri and settled in Cooper County, in 1819.

In 1830 he moved to this county and settled in the present township
bounds. He has been dead for a number of years. Hiram Scott came in

1828 or '29, also from Cooper County. Wm. 'Head settled near Long-
wood in 1827, coming from Howard County. Both of these are now
dead. John Ellis came in 1828 from Cooper County, and is still living in

the county. W. H. Chaney came in 1838 from Clarke County, Ky., and

is still living in the township. P. T. Parsons came in 1840, from Green

County, Ky., and is still living in the township. His father was born • in
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1748 and lived to the advanced age of 103 years, d3nng in 1851. He was
a soldier under General Washington in the Revolutionary War. Wm.
Johnson came in 1834, and is now in Iowa. John, Peter and Anthony
Fisher came in 1830 from lUinois. They all settled in the northern part of

the -county and are all dead. Bethel Allen came in 1831 from Callaway

County, and died in the Platte Purchase, in the northwestern part of the

State. Thomas and Jesse Joplin came to the county in 1829, and settled

in the borders of the township. They were from Tennessee. The
former is now dead and the latter resides with his son in the western part
of Heath's Creek township. Thomas Kemp came in 1831 from Callaway

County. He was formerly from Virginia. He died in the township.

Riley Kemp came near the same year, and was elected second Sheriff of

the county. In 1850 he went to California and died there.

Churches.—Among the early churches organized in the county were

those in Bowling Green Township, or as it is now called Heath's Creek
and Longwood. Of these as complete a history as could be obtained is

given in Heath's Creek Township, and in this township we shall treat onl}^

of the present churches and their congregations.
The Longwood Methodist Episcopal Church is situated in the town of

Longwood, and was organized some years before the war. The Con-

gregation worship in a frame building erected conjointly by them and

the Presbyterian denomination at a cost of $1,200. (For the history of

this Presbyterian Church, see general church historv of the Presbyterian

Church.) The house was dedicated by Rev. Wm. M. Prottsman when
it was completed, in 1871. It was built under the supervision of Judge D.

H. Orear, and the carpenter work was done by Mathew Bridgwater.
The building is well furnished with seats, carpets, organ, etc. The pastors
who have occupied the pulpit are: W. B. McFarland, J. L. D. Blevins, A.

M. Rader, Josiah Godby, M. Duran, G. P. Smith, L. M. PhilHps, and the

present incumbent is E. G. Frazier. The Congregation support a good

Sunday School of forty-hve scholars, of which A. W. Ryan is Superin-
tendent. The original members of the church were Reuben Creel and

wife, J. C. Hemphill and wife, James I. Belwoodand familv, Wilson Jones
and famil}-, William Ricks, Col. Buford and family, Mrs. Horton, James
Estes, and one or two families of the Kemps. Up to about 1875 there

was a very large congregation of members in this church, but when Hope-
well Church was erected south of the town, the church at John's school

house organized southwest, and Horton Chapel east, it drew a large

portion of the former congregation away from this church to worship in

their own neighborhood. It is still a strong congregation in healthy

condition, but at one time it numbered over one hundred members on its

class book.

Prairie Grove Baptist Church was organized in February, 1880, by
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Rev. S, W. Whipple. They are situated in the northeastern part of the

township, but have not as yet erected a church building. There have

been two pastors for the congregation: Rev. S. W. Whipple, the first,

and Rev. B. T. Thomas, the present. The original members of the con-

gregation were W. R. Scott, Sarah M. Scott, R. H. Morris, L. Morris, D-

Taylor, Millard Taylor, Thomas Davis, C. Davis, C. Landon, R. Morris,
L. Hartwell, and Mrs. McClellen. The number of present membership
is fifteen. It has no Sunday School at present.

Schools. —In the township of Longwood there are six schools. Per-

haps the most important one is that of Green Lawn Seminar}', built for a

private school and located about five miles south of Longwood. It was

organized by Rev. Gordon Turner, as a Cumberland Presbyterian school,

but since the year 1S7S it has been conducted as a public school.

The Longwood School enrolls seventy pupils. The school house that

had been used up to this year (1882) was a brick, but it became too dilapi-

dated for further use and a neat frame one is being erected, and will be

completed in time for the fall term, at a cost of $800. It has been under

the supervision of Mr. A. W. Ryan, and is in a prosperous condition.

Judge Washburn has been teaching in the township for a number of

years, and stands high in the profession. The wages paid are from forty

to fifty-five dollars per month.

Societies.—Potter Lodge, No. 84, A. F. & A. M., of Longwood, was

instituted April 23, 1854, and the charter was granted May 25, the same

year. The lodge was organized by Oscar F. Potter, D. D. G. M. The

organization was at Oak Grove, now called Longwood. After the initia-

tion of the candidates for admission, the subordinate lodge was organized

by electing A. A. Glasscock, W. M.; Thomas E. Staples, S. W.
;
N. T.

Allison, J. W.; Samuel B. Scott, Treasurer; John F. Scott, Secretary;

John S.Jones, S. D.; Charles Jones, Tyler. Besides those elected to the

foregoing offices there were present at this meeting. Brothers Charles

Glasscock, John Nuble, E. Landon, Thos. L. Williams, J. M. Gentry,
Daniel L. Griffiths, Clay Thompson and James Roberts.

For twenty-eight years the lodge has continued to hold its regular

meetings. They occupy the hall that was built by them a short time after

organization. The officers of the lodge for the year 1882 are: S. P.

Hunt, W. M.; S. G. Hanley, S. W.; A. B. Cayton, J. W.; H. C. Speers,

Treasurer; D. M. Gray, Secretary; James Roberts, S. D.; C. Estes, J.

D.; and A. Hill, Tyler.

Longwood Lodge, Independent Order of Odd Fellows, No. 202, was

organized in March, 'ISQU, by Elias Bixby, District Deputy. They occupy
the Masonic Hall, and have a membership of thirty. The first officers

were A. H. Hanly, N. G.; Isaac Oppenheimer, Secretary. A full list
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of the present officers is as follows: D. M. Gray, N. G.; S. R. Hierony-
mus, V. G.; D. H. Orear, Secretary; and A. H. Hannly, Treasurer.

lNt:iDENTS.—During the war there were one or two blood}" detds com-
mitted in the township. Wm. Majors was murdered in the year 1862,

by a drunken rowdy on his farm near Longwood. He was a highly

respected gentleman, and had a very interesting family. By this sad

blow the family was entirely broken up.

Col. W. H. Fields, father of the present County Clerk, came from

Louisville, Ky., and settled southwest of Longwood. He erected the

finest biick house that up to its time had been built in the county. It was

destroyed by lire about a year ago. During the dark days of the war,
Mr. Fields met his death at the hands of one of the gangs of marauders

that then infested these parts. He was highly respected, and his untimely
death was greatly lamented.

Perhaps the most foul deed ever perpetrated in the township was the

murder of Mrs. Henry Raines, in 18.52, by a negro man belonging to a

Mr. France. At the same time he also attempted, and nearly succeeded

in killing her two children, severely wounding both. One, a boy of some
nine years of age, recovered sufficientl}-, told the storv of the terrible

crime and identified the perpetrator. The negro first attacked her and the

children in the house, and she escaping from the house fled towards the

wood pile, it was supposed, to procure an axe to defend herself and family
there. The negro followed, and overpowering her left her dead among the

wood piled up for summer's use. On the evidence of the boy the negro
was arrested and taken to Georgetown jail; but a number of brave neigh-
bors determined he should have justice given him at once, and proceeded
to Georgetown, took him from jail, tied him to a small tree, and then

piled brush and logs around him until a sufficient amount had been

arranged to insure his certain death, and then fired it. He was burned to

ashes, and paid the penalt}' of his awful crime in a manner fully justifiable

under the circumstances.

VILLAGE OF LONGWOOD.

Situated in the northwestern part of the township is the pleasant little

village of Longwood, with 125 inhabitants. From this place the town-

ship takes its name. It has several stores, shops, one church building and a

good school house in course of erection. Mail is received daily from

Sedalia. The town has no railroad, but had it one giving rapid communi-

cation with its neighboring towns, it would be one of the most pleasant
little places in which to make a home, that it has been the writer's privi-

lege to visit. It is just at the edge of a splendid stretch of timber, and on

high, rolling ground, and everything in the way of pleasant scenery
around it to make it attractive. Its business men are: James Roberts,
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postmaster, and general merchandise. Mr. Roberts has been postmaster

ontinuously tor the past twenty years. Sale & Hoffman, dry goods, (S^

B. Sale the senior partner is a senior member of a St. Louis firm.) Dan-

iel E. Wilcox, dry goods, groceries and drugs; A. B. Caton, dry goods,

groceries and drugs; John Sinchaugh, saddler; S. G. Hanley, blacksmith;

A. C. Chaney, blacksmith; Jacob Eappel, shoemaker; J. A. Rawlette,

bricklayer; E. G. Frazier, M. E. Minisler, R. Slomer, carpenters; Judge
I). E. Ore ar, notary public; John Morris, carpenter; Henry Barnhoft', car-

penter.

LUCRETIUS BAKER.

Was born in Clay County, Ky., in the year 1809. His parents were

natives of Virginia, both of whom died in the State of Kentucky, his

father aged eighty-six and his mother forty-five years. Mr. Baker was
married in 1835, to Miss Nancy Rout, who onl}^ lived ten years. In the

year 1846, he was again married to Miss Lydia Montgomery, of Ken-

tucky, her father being a native of Maryland, and her mother of Eng-
land. He is the father of six children, one son and five daughters, all of

whom are married except two, and residing in the county. One of his

daughters is the wife of Henry Y. Fields, County Clerk of Pettis County,
Missouri. Mr. B. came to Pettis County in 18.55, and purchased a mag-
nificent farm of 400 acres, lying fifteen miles north of the city ot Sedalia,

near what is known as the Independence and Boonville trail. This farm

was formerly owned bv Dr. Ferris, and it was at this place that the first

post-office was established, bearing the name of Longwood. He has

disposed of a part of his land, but has retained 264 acres, 220 acres of

which is in a high state of cultivation, well improved with good fences, a

large and commodious dwelling, in the center of a magnificent lawn, and

surrounded by a growth of magnificent shade trees. The lawn, garden,

vinevard and orchard indicate the presence and care of a master in fruit

and garden culture, and landscaping. He has forty acres of fine timber,,

quite a portion of which is black walnut. His farm consists of what is

termed mulatto soil, high rolling prairie, and divided into oblong fields of

a convenient size for farming and grazing purposes. He grows from

fifty to one hundred acres of com, and from thirty to fifty acres of wheat,

averaging from sixteen to twenty-five bushels to the acre. The place is

watered by good wells and ponds. Mr. B. is a popular and influential

man, characterized by sterling sense, unimpeachable integrity, and com-

mands a high appreciation by all who know him.

ALBERT CAPEN.

Was born in Stoughton, Mass., Feb. 16, 1811. His father and mother

were natives of the same State, both dying in the State of Maine—his
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father at the age of ninety-five, and his mother at the age of sixty-five

years. Mr. C. was married in Massachusetts, in ISoS, to Mary J. Nichols,

which union gave them three children, one son and two daughters. His

wife died in Massachusetts, in 1844, and in the year 1849, he emigrated

to Longwood Township. He was engaged for quite a while in freight-

ing from Fort Leavenworth, Kan., to different places in the Far West.

He was the first township assessor of this towmship, and is now acting as

deputy assessor, having in his charge four townships in the northern part

of the county, which position he has held for quite a number of years,

faithfully discharging his duties, and has gained the good will and respect

of all, by his close application to business and his fair and impartial deal-

ings with his fellow-men.

W. H. CHANEY.

The subject of this sketch was born in Clarke County, Ky., Dec. 25,

1813. His father and mother were natives of that State. His father

served as a soldier in the war of 1812. His grandparents came to the

State of Missouri in 1822. His grandmother died at the ripe old age of

105 3^ears, and is buried in Clay County, of this State. She was living

in the State of INIaryland during the war of the Revolution. She and her

husband were among the first settlers of Kentucky, as well as of Mis-

souri. Mr. Chaney came to Cooper County, Mo., in 1823. After his

parents' death he was bound out as an apprentice to the hatter's trade, to

Petter B. Harris, of Howard County, Mo., at which trade he served nine

years. He was married in the year 1838 to Miss Eliza Hieronymus, of

Howard County, whose parents were natives of Simpson County, Ky.
He has seven sons and two daughters living; four sons and tw^o daugh-

ters married. He settled in Pettis County in 1838, and entered eighty

acres of land at one dollar and a-quarter per acre, forty acres of w^hich is

under cultivation, well improved, with good fences and buildings, good
water and well stocked. At the time of his coming to Missouri there

were only eight houses in the city of Boonville. A great number of

Indians were still in the country, and he w-as well acquainted with young
Daniel Boone, who had located in Boone and Howard Counties at a very

•early date. He is an old gentleman of intelligence, a popular man in his

community, and his long experience here gives him a very high apprecia-

tion for the country and people.

DR. A. A. DAVIS.

Residence at Green Lawn Academy; post-office, Longwood. He is

one of the pioneer doctors of Pettis County, and was born in Virginia, on

April 11, 1827. His father was a prominent man in Virginia. He moved

to Saline County, Mo., in 1839, and there owned a large farm. ^The sub-



HISTORY OF LONGWOOD TOWNSHIP. 843

ject of this sketch came with his father to Missouri, and has since lived

in the State. His grandfather was an officer in the Revolutionary War;
was also in the war of" 1812. In 1855-6 he was in Louisville, Ky. He
graduated in the spring of 1856 at the Medical College at Louisville, Ky.
He then went to Illinois, where he practiced his profession for a few

years; then returned to Missouri and practiced in the northeast part of

the State, retiring in 1858 to the old homestead in Saline County. About
the year 1860 he moved to Longwood, where he practiced during the

war, his field of labor being from the Lamine to Houstonia, and some five or

ten miles around. He has changed locations a few times, but has been all

the time in the county. He was married in 1851 to Miss Mary K. Ward.

By this union they have been blessed with five children, three of whom
are dead. The two Hving are: James S., who is now studying medicine,

and Minnie L.

WILLIAM T. DONE.

Lives about ten miles north of Sedalia, owns a splendid farm of 180

acres, formerly owned by J. S. Ritenour, all under a good and substantial

rail fence, 140 acres in cultivation, and forty acres of good timber. He
has a fine forty-acre field of wheat which promises a rich yield. He has

a fine flock of 170 head of sheep, as well as a good line of cattle and

horses. Mr. D. is from Indiana, although his parents were natives of

Kentucky. He served as a soldier in the late war, having enlisted in the

year 1864, at the age of fifteen years, in the Seventieth Indiana Volun-

teer Infantry, commanded b}' Col. Merrell, and assigned to Company D,

Capt. Tansy, commanding. Was with Sherman's arm}- on its march to

the Sea, passing through Atlanta down to Savannah, Columbia, S. C,

through Virginia, and continued with his regiment until mustered out.

He was married in the ^'ear 1878, and has one child, Georgiana,
born July 30, 1880. His wife is the daughter of Mrs. Emih' A. Smith,

who was born in the State of New York in 1830. Mrs. Smith's parents
were natives of the same State. Her father died at the age of fifty years,

and her mother at the age of seventv-seven. Mrs. S. removed to the State

of Illinois in 1855, and was married the following year to Mr. J. B. Smith,

and is mother of four daughters, all of whom are dead except Mrs. Done,
with whom she now resides. They emigrated to Kansas in the year 1859,

and her husband died May 15, ]868. She is a lady of high culture, of

genial temperament, and a lad}' of much taste and refinement.

DAVID DULY.

Farmer. Post-office, Hughesville. The subject of this sketch is a

native of the Banner State, Ohio, and was born in 1845, and when he was

about six years of age ,
moved with his parents to Allen County, Ind.,
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where he was developed to manhood. He was married in 1870, to Miss

Rebecca Stirlen, daughter of W, C. Stirlen, a prominent farmer of this

county, who died Jan. 14, 1882. This union has been blessed with two

children, one boy and one girl, 'Elizabeth and David. In 1872 he emigra-
ted to Missouri, locating in St. Charles county, where he remained one

year, then moved to his present location, where he owns a fine farm of

185 acres of fine land, and good improvements on the same. He is a

much honored and esteemed citizen.

NATHAN V. GORRELL.
Farmer and stock dealer. Post-office, Thornleigh. He is one of Pettis

County's noble citizens, and was born in Todd Count}', Kentucky, in 1848,

and when he was about four years of age he moved with his parents to

Pettis County, Mo., where he has since lived. He was married Novem-
ber 28, 1872. This union has blessed them with one child. His sister

has one child, named Van Sterling, born March 26, 1880. In 187^

he nioved to his present location where he owns a fine farm of 120

acres, and has one of the deepest wells in the county, which is 243

feet deep. The subject of this sketch is a son of Captain J. B. Gorrell,

who was one of the leading citizens of Pettis County in his day, and

who was born Feb. 14, 1815, in Todd County, Kentucky. He was

there educated and developed to manhood. He was married in his

native countv in 1837 to Miss Mary H. Tebb. She was a native of Vir-

ginia. This union was blessed with eleven children, two now dead, Ben-

jamin and Jennie. The nine living are as follows: William, James T.,

Nancy E., John B., Nathan V., Abraham H., Jacob H., Joseph B. and

Susan F. In 1852 Mr. Gorrell came to Pettis County, Mo., and in 1855

moved to the old homestead, where he and his faithful wife spent their

days. He then bought 350 acres of fine land, all of which he left in a

good state of cultivation. When our country was involved in war he

offered his service, and was elected Captain of Militia, and in which

capacity he did good service. His wife was called to her long home

April 20, 1880, and soon after he was called to his long home, Sept. 13,

1881.

T. T. GORRELL.
Farmer and stock dealer; post-office, Thornleigh. One of the enter-

prising business men of Pettis County is Mr. Gorrell, who was born

Feb. 15, 1818, in Todd County, Kentucky. He was there educated and

grew^ to manhood. He was married in his native county in 1837 to Miss

Sarah E. Miller, and this union has blessed them with ten children: Clay

R., William, Renenom, Charles, Taylor, Annie Nancy, Mary F., George
A., Mandy B. and Pernal H. In 1852 he came to Pettis County, Mo.,
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and settled on what was, at that time, wild prairie, with quite limited

means, but through his good habits and continued industry, he has

become one of Pettis County's honored citizens. He now owns a fine

farm of 640 acres, as fine land as there is in Pettis County and in first

class trim. He is a worthy member of the M. E. Church, and is one

of its liberal contributors and supporters.

DANIEL M. GRAY.
Was born in Middlesex County, Ontario, Jan. 27, 1838. His father, John

Gray, was a native of Scotland, born near Inverness, and who moved to

Canada in 181*J, and is still living in Middlesex County, at the advanced

age of eighty-seven years. His mother, whose maiden name was Jeannette

McCall, was also a native of Scotland, born in 1796, at Inverness; she died

in 1879. Daniel remained in his native county until he was fourteen

years of age, when he started out in the world to make a home for him-

self, coming to Port Huron, Michigan, where he learned the blacksmith

trade. In the fall of 1855 he came to Iowa, settling in Decorah, Winne-

shiek County, where he worked at his trade for three years, when he

came to Missouri, stopping in La Plata, Macon County, until the spring
of 1859, when he made an extended tour of the State, finally stopping at

Longwood, where he worked at his trade until 1863. He has since made
it his home, with the exception of a few months spent in Illinois, and a

3'ear or two in Texas, where he traded extensively in cattle. He engaged
in manufacturing and shipping tobacco at Longwood, sending it to Texas

and other parts of the country, realizing handsome profits. He was mar-

ried April 27, 1864, to Miss F. M. Martin, of Pettis County, Mo., a

daughter of Hon. Thompson G. Martin, of Virginia. They have five

children, viz: Addie J., born Feb. 22, 1865; Sidney T., born Jan. 18, 1867;

John W., born Feb. 27, 1869; Martin Porter, born April 30, 1872, and

Mary, born March 27, 1875. Mr. Gray is a member^of the A. F. & A. M.

order, and also of the I. O. O. F. He is at present Secretary of the former,

and N. G. of the latter. He is an enterprising, progressive farmer, and as

pleasant and agreeable a gentleman as one would wish to meet.

B. L. GREER.

Farmer, section 25. Among the many pioneers of Pettis County, none

is deserving of more special notice than the subject of this brief sketch,

who was born May 4, 1822, in Franklin County, Virginia, and when he

was about sixteen years ot age he emigrated with his brother to Pettis

County, Mo., 1838, where the subject of this sketch remained until 1841;

he then returned to Franklin County, Va., and returned to Missouri in

1842, and was married in St. Charles County, Mo., April 15, 1842, to

1



846 HISTORY OF LONGWOOD TOWNSHIP.

Miss Lucy Pasley. She is a native of Franklin County, Va., and a lady
who devotes her time to make home happy. This union has blessed them
with eight children, all of whom are now living, and whose names are as

follows: J. R., Betsy B., now Mrs. R. J. Bradley; John T., now in

Sedalia; Berry, Daniel G., now in Mexico; Lucy M., now Mrs. C.

Goodsby; Rodes D. and William, now at home. Mr. Greer entered part
of his land, 280 acres, in IS-l-i, and has lived on it since 1861. Mr. Greer
has seen many changes come and go to Pettis County, but he has always

kept pace with its progress. He is a member of the Baptist Church, and

has been for some years among its liberal contributors and supporters.

JOHX W. GREER.

The subject of this sketch was born in 1830 in Franklin County, Va.",

of which State his parents were natives. His father died at the age
of eighty-five years, and his mother at the age of eighty-three years.
Mr. Greer was married in March, 1869, to Miss E. M. Head, whose
father was a native of Virginia and mother a native of Missouri. She
has one sister living in Pettis County. They have one son and five

daughters, viz.: Ida J., born April 29, 1870; Claude, born Sept. 4, 1871;
Pearl Lelia, born Sept. 12, 1872; Katie, born Sept. 22, 187-1; Oliver, born

Feb. 1, 1878, and Jane born March 13, 1880. He owns a iine farm twelve

miles north of Sedalia, consisting of 136 acres, admirably improved, with

good fences, buildings, and well watered, grows from forty to fifty acres

of corn, as well as wheat, oats and rye. Feeds from 200 to 300 sheep,
150 head of cattle, and from forty to fifty head of hogs, and is continually

buying and selling stock of all kinds; has a good line of horses and mules,
led by the famous Jack,

"
Joe Marshall." He is a discreet and successful

farmer and stock dealer, and is rendering invaluable service to the live

stock industry of the community, and a gentleman of good business sense,

liberal views and an influential man.

A. J. HARVEY.

Post-office, Thornleigh. Farmer and stock dealer and one of the enter-

prising business men of Pettis Countv. Was born in the year 1835, in

Saline County, Mo., and when he was about eighteen years of age he

came to Pettis County, where he has since lived. He then located on his

present farm, which consists of 240 acres of fine land with first class

buildings. He is a member of the Methodist Church, South, and is a

faithful member. He was married in April, 1863, to Miss Nancy J.

Gorrell. This union was blessed with four children, all of whom are now

living, viz.: Mary J. F., Sylvester E., Arthur W., Seluda V. It may be

said of Mr. Harvey, that he is one of the leading men of his township.
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WILLIAM HOFFMAN.
The subject of this sketch was born in the State of Tennessee, and

emigrated to Pettis County, Mo., in the year of 1858. His father is a

native of Virginia, and his mother of Tennessee, both of whom are still

living, although quite aged, his father being seventy-eight and his mother

seventv-four. Mr. H. on arriving in the State identified himself with the

teachers of the county, and zealously engaged in that profession in Heath's

Creek Township, meriting the highest praise and commendations of his

patrons. He continued teaching until the war came on, when he donned

the suit of gray, and was regularly mustered into the service as a fully

equipped Confederate soldier, and faithfully discharged the duties of such,

with a consciousness of the justness of the cause, until the close of the war.

After his return, he again engaged in teaching until the year 1875, when

he entered upon the duties of clerk in the mercantile establishment of S.

B. Sale of Longwood, Pettis County, Mo., in which capacity he continued

until Jan. 1, 1883, when he was accorded an interest in the busmess under

the present firm name of Sale & Hoffman, the senior member of which,

Mr. Isaac Sale, is now a resident of St. Louis. They have a first class

custom and a large stock of goods, consisting of dry goods, groceries,

clothing, boots and shoes, hats and caps, hardware, queensware, tin-

ware, clocks, saddlery, notions, &c., all of which are caretully arranged in

the very best of order, and present a neat and tidy appearance in every

respect. Mr. H. was married in 1869 to Miss Sallie L. Martin, who is a

native of Virginia ;
her mother, aged about seventy years, residmg with her.

Mr. H. is a man of high culture and first class business capacity, ener-

getic and ambitious, of unbounded generosity, one of the leading influential

men of the community, standing high in the respect and esteem of all who

know him.

CHARLES O. JONES.

The subject of this sketch was born in Henry County, Ky., March 9,

1814. His parents were natives of Virginia. His father died at an early

age; but his mother lived to the ripe old age of seventy years. He was

married in Kentucky in the year 1839 to Sarah Bacon, whose parents

were both natives of Virginia. He has two sons and one daughter, all

grown and living in Pettis County. He emigrated to this county in

18-1:5 and settled on the farm owned by Nathan Nubles, consisting of 144

acres, well improved, with good hedge and rail fences, good building, well

watered by
" Green's Branch" running through it, and in a good state of

cultivation, grows wheat, corn and oats, and handles a good line of cattle,

hogs, horses and mules. Mr. J. is a consistent member of the Christian

Church, with which church he has been connected for a number of years

as a leading and useful member of great popularity ;
is a gentleman of gen-
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erous culture, large heart, boundless public spirit, and a social nature tbat

has always and everywhere made him "a prince among men."

J. R. KEMP.

Born Oct. 13, 1839, on the farm which his father entered in Longwood
Township, Pettis County, Mo., about the year 1834, ten miles north of

Sedalia, on the Sedalia and Arrow Rock road. His father and mother

were natives of Franklin County, Ky. His mother died Dec. 20, 1858,

aged fifty-nine, and his father died Aug. 13, 1868, aged seventy-four

years. They were both buried in the family graveyard on the old place.

Mr. Kemp was married in July, 1863, to Miss Susan Phillips, whose par-
ents resided in Saline County, Mo. Her parents w^ere natives of Green

County, Ky. Mr. and Mrs. Kemp have four children, two sons and two

daughters: Mary Lee, born May 24, 1864; Austin M., born Sept. 19,

1866; Laura A., born Sept. 1, 1870; and Pearly E., born Aug. 16, 1876.

He has a fine farm of 130 acres, 120 acres under fence, in a good state of

cultivation, and fine pasture; ten acres of good timber; well improved
with fences and buildings, with fine, thrifty young orchard of apple and

peach trees; grows from thirty to forty acres of corn, twenty to thirty

acres of wheat, and keeps a good supply of stock continually on hands.

He is a man of close application, liberal intelligence and first-class manag-
ing ability.

WILLIAM LOWRY.
Stock-raiser and farmer. Prominent among many enterprising citizens

of this county should be mentioned the name of the subject of this brief

sketch, who is a native of Virginia; was born in Prince William County,
on the 3d of November, 1814. His father, Joseph Lowry, was also a

native of that State. His paternal grandfather, George Lowry, was born

in Castle Lowry, Ireland, and was a member of one of the old feudal fam-

ilies of that age. In 1818 Mr. Joseph Lowry, the father of our subject,

moved to the southern part of Kentucky, where he made his home many
years. When our subject attained his fifteenth vear, he engaged in river life

on t'he Mississippi, and was for many years captain, actively engaged in trad-

ing in Western products in Southern cities and towns. In 1852 he located

at Louisville, Ky., and engaged in the manufacture of tobacco, and

soon became the largest manufacturer of that staple in the Southwest.

During five years in that business he accumulated a profit amounting to

$100,000, when his factory was destroyed by fire in 1858. He then con-

ceived an idea of coming to Missouri to retrieve his losses, and in 1858

he came to Pettis Count}', bringing with him a family of forty slaves and

$45,000 in money. He purchased a large tract of land and continued to

make extensive improvements until 1863, when, owing to the disturbed
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State of business, he conceived the idea of an extensive trade in produce
and freighting in the Rocky Mountains, in which he was engaged about

four years. Since then Mr. Lowry has given his entire attention to the

pursuits of an extensive stock and farming business, and has built up an

immense industry in this Hne. He has been closely identified with the

development of the county, and has done much in supporting all enter-

prises that would enhance the welfare of its people. He was one of the

active workers in securing railroad facilities to the people of this district,

and was among the first and most persistent workers for the roads. He
always took an active part in encouraging emigration, and has been the

means of bringing many good citizens to the county. Politically he is a

Greenbacker, and an able advocate of its true principles, frequently nomi-

nated by that party for high offices. He was married in 1838, in Coving-
ton, Ky., to Miss E. Hardin, a native of that State. She is the daughter
of Jacob Hardin, one of the founders of Covington. They have raised

eight children: John J.; Elizabeth H., now Mrs. W. S. Deardofi', of this

count}' ; William; Jeanette, wife of J. B. Mockabee; Anna Belle; Clayton
F.

; Allie, wife of Dr. O. A. Jones, and Jefterson D. They lost two in

infancy. Mr. Lowry and sons are now conducting a large stock business.

Their farm consists of upwards of 1,000 acres, and is well improved, with

large comfortable dwelling, commodious barns and sheds, six wells of

never failing water, two windmills, steam engine, and in fact everything

bespeaks the man of enterprise and industry. For a detailed description
of his business operations and farm, see sketch in Chapter XII, page 366.

Mr. Lowry is a man virtuall}' self-made and self-educated, a man of great
financial ability, strong intellect, a deep and profound thinker, and an

extraordinary business capacity. The whole course of his life has been

turned in one channel—the pursuits of legitimate and honorable trade.

He has accomplished much, and it can be truthfully said that no man in

Pettis County is held in higher esteem by honorable people than the sub-

ject of this sketch. .

J. W. MARSHALL.

Post-office, Hughesville. Farmer and stock raiser. The subject of

this sketch is a native of Nelson County, Ky. He was there educated

and raised to majority. His father, Joseph B., was a native of Kentucky,
and a prominent farmer in that State. The subject of this sketch came to

Pettis County, Mo., in 1869, and in 1871 he bought his present farm of

120 acres of first-class land. In 1881 he gave two acres of land to

build the M. E. Church, which was erected in the same year. He is a

devoted member of the same. He now deals in cattle and sheep mostly.

He goes southwest and purchases stock and brings them to the county
and sells them to men who feed stock.
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WINSTON McCLURE.

Stock dealer and feeder. Hughesville. Prominent among the manv

enterprising citizens of Pettis County who have won a reputation for

integrity of character and business capacity' should be mentioned the name
of W. McClure and sons, who are among the largest and most exten-

sive stock feeders and dealers in the county. The subject of this sketch,

"W. McClure, is a native of Rockbridge County, Va.; was born near Lex-

ington, on the 16th day of June, 1818. There his early days were spent
until he attained his 17th year, when he went to Ross County, Ohio,

locating near Chillicothe. From there he went to New Orleans, La., and

thence to Oldham County, Ky., where he was married in 1840 to Miss

Lucinda Bohanan, a daughter of Rev. Abraham Bohanan, an eminent

minister of that county. In 1841 he came to Missouri, locating in St.

Louis County with his 3^oung wife, where he remained a few years, when
he moved to Montgomery County, and was there largely engaged in

farming and stock trading for several years. He was at that time the

leading stock dealer in Northern Missouri. During the late civil war he

suffered the loss of a large amount of property and means. Since then

has been doing business in Cooper and Saline Counties, and in 1876 he

came to Pettis County. Since coming to the county Mr. McClure has

brought about a great change in the stock interests here. He has done a

business of great magnitude which ranked among the most extensive

stock trades in Western Missouri. During those seasons he has fed from

five hundred to seven hundred head of beef cattle, as well as dealing exten-

sively in mules and horses. During the past year he has employed about

one thousand acres of corn and blue grass pasture, a good portion of

which has been cultivated by himself and sons. Their sales for the

present season will aggregate upwards of $55,000, which is in striking

contrast with the stock business of this locality at the commencement of

the past decade. He is associated with his three enterprising sons, John,
D. W. and Ben F., all of whom inherit their father's sound business judg-
ment and stirring disposition. Although quite advanced in years, Mr.

McClure is still actively engaged in the duties of his business. And it can

be truthfully said that no citizen of Pettis County is held in higher estima-

tion as a business man and citizen for his many sterling qualities. He is

closely identified with the interests of the county, and has done much for

the advancement of its business interests. He is now located on a farm

adjoining the town of Hughesville, where can be seen a. part of his large

herds. His home is well appointed, and is among the most comfortable

in his locality. Surrounded by commodious barns, extensive feed lots and

pastures; and in fact, everything about his place is indicative of the man
of enterprise and industry.
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ROBERT B. Mccormick.
Was born in Warren County, 111., in the year 1S53, his parents being

natives of Pennsylvania. His father is still living in
t^ie

State of Illinois,

and is about sixty-eight years of age. His mother died Feb. 21, 1882, at

the age of sixty-two years. His father's family consisted of six children,

four sons and two daughters, one of the sons living in Towa, and the rest

in Illinois, except the subject of this sketch, who was married, Oct. 1, 1878,

in Logan County, Ohio, to Miss Mary J. Bower, whose mother was born,

Dec. 13, 1822, and is still living in Ohio. He has one daughter, Maida

M. L., born, July 8, 1879. He settled in Pettis County, Mo., during the

year of 1881, ten miles north ofSedalia, on a fine farm of eighty-two acres,

all of which is under fence, sixty acres in cultivation and twenty acres of

good timber. Good fences and good buildings, first class out buildings and

a magnificent cellar, which he has made there since his coming to the

place, has a fine orchard, and is one of our most enterprising young men
of the county, a man of candor, manliness, strong sense and high mental

gifts, and is in the best sense an acquisition to the county, of which he

speaks in the highest praise. He is a devout member of the Baptist

Church, and his wife is an exemplary member of the Christian Church,
both being highly esteemed for their piety and unlimited charity.

REV. JOHN MONTGOMERY.
Was born in Danville, Boyle County, Kentucky, in the year 1810. His

father was a native of Maryland, and his mother of England. His father

died at the age of forty-five, and his mother, at the age of sixty-six years.
In the family there were three sons and four daughters, all of whom are

dead, except the subject of this sketch. Mr. M. was married at Frank-

fort, Ky., in the year 181:4, to Miss Kate Rennick, w^ho was the daughter
of Col. Alex. Rennick. Her grandmother was the first white child that

was born in the State of Kentucky, at Harrod's Station, where the first

settlement was made; her name being McAfee, and was the wife of

Willis A. Lee, of Virginia, Mr. and Mrs. M. have a family of nine

children, four sons and five daughters, all of whom are now grown, one

being married. He emigrated to Pettis County, Mo., in the year 1857,

and located thirteen miles north of Sedalia, on a farm formerly owned by
Mr. L. Baker, near what is known as the Independence and Boonville trail.

He owns tw^o hundred and thirty acres of fine land, one hundred and

ninety of which is under fence and in cultivation, forty acres of timber,

well watered by a magnificent spring, two good wells, and Heath's Creek

running through the northern part. Has a good orchard of apple, peach,

pear and plum trees, the pear trees bearing a crop for twenty-five years
in succession. He grows from seventy to eightv acres of corn, the balance

of his farm devoted to small grain, timothy and clover. His farm is well
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fenced with rails, and is 'divided into fields of twenty acres. He handles

quite a number of cattle and ho^s. He disposes of thirty to forty head of

cattle every year, all of his own raising, having brought a good line of

breeding cows with*him from the State of Kentucky. Mr. M. was edu-

cated at Center College, in Danville, Ky., and pursued the study oftheology,
at Princeton, New Jersey. He entered upon his pastoral work at Har-

rodsburg, Ky., where he remained for twenty years, when he was called

to Missouri. He was the first Old School Presbyterian minister in the

county, and organized every church in the county belonging to that

denomination . During the war he was President of Westminster Col-

lege, located at Fulton, in Callaway County, Mo. He has been an active,

working minister, of generous culture and fine ability, and although he

has retired from active duties, 3'et continues to preach, as occasion

demands. He is a live, progressive man, has a well stored mind, broad

views, genial nature and alw^ays and everj'where is a polished and aftable

gentleman.

GEORGE S. PRIEST.

Farmer; post-office, Thornleigh. He is one of the old settlers of Pet-

tis County, coming here in 1838, and locating where he now resides. He
was born June 25, 1803, in Bourbon County, Ky., and when quite small

he moved to Logan County, Ky., where he was educated and grew to

manhood. He was married in 1823 to Miss Elizabeth Rush. By this

union they have ten children, nine of whom are now living. When Mr.

Priest came to Pettis Count}- he was a poor man, but by his industry and

good management, he now owns a fine farm of 1,000 acres of as good
land as there is in the county.

WILLIAM RICKS.

Farmer and stock raiser; post-office, Thornleigh. He is one of the

successful farmers of Pettis County, and a native of Nelson County, Kv.

Was born October, 1828. His father's name was William, and his

mother's Susan. His lather died when he w^as quite young, and in

1841, the subject of this sketch, in company with his mother, came to

Pettis County, Mo. In 1848 Mr. Ricks went to Mexico, returning the

same year; then went to California, where he was engaged in mining
until 1854, at which time he returned to Pettis County and purchased a

piece of land, on which he now resides. His mother has lived with him

since his return, until her death. She was a worthy member of the M.

E. Church, South. Mr. Ricks was married in 1855, to Miss Mary J.

Harvey. Bv this union they have been blessed with fourteen children.

Two are dead: Susan B., aged about sixteen years, and Herbert, aged
nine months. The jiames of the twelve living are as follows: Marion T.,
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Dewitt M., James L. M., Henry M., Lulu, Selinda E., William H.,

Emmet Lee, John V., Joseph C, May and Clara. Mr. Ricks now owns
a fine farm of 250 acres of prairie land, well improved, and he is one of

the successful farmers of this township. He is a n»ember of the M. E.

Church, South.

REINHART SLCEMER.

Was born in Germany, July 31, 1832. Came to Pettis County, Mo., in

the year 1858, and is now residing in the town of Longwood. He is a *

thorough mechanic, and a first-class workman in wood, being one of the

foremost builders in this region. His jobbing operations cover some of

the finest structures in the town and country. He keeps constantl}' on

hand a good stock of undertaker's goods, which are the products of his

own skill and manufacture. He also does fine work in the line of furni-

ture, and is steadily, but surely, building up a substantial and self-sus-

taining trade. He has an extensive supply of tools adapted to all kinds

of the finest work of mechanism, and is kept constantly busy by the man}-
calls for work from the people of the community. He was married in

Louisville, Ky., and has a family of six children, two sons and four

daughters. Mr. S. is a useful man, and highly respected by all who
know him.

B. F. THORNTON.

Farmer; post-office, Thornleigh. One of Pettis County's noble sons,

and has been from 1868 on the present farm where he now lives. His father

was one of the pioneers of this county, and was a much honored and

esteemed citizen. The subject of tiiis sketch has seen many changes
come and go to this county, but he has always kept pace with its prog-

ress, and now as his reward he owns a fine farm of sixt3^-five acres.

He is a much honored and esteemed citizen. He was married Oct. 5,

1870, to Miss N. Talbert; she was the daughter of a pioneer preacher
of this county. This union has blessed them with four children, Florence

M., James M., Susie F., Hiram M.

CAP. GEORGE LOWER.
Farmer and stock raiser; post-office, Longwood. One of the enter-

prising business men of Pettis County, and no one is deserving of more

special notice than the subject of this brief and incomplete sketch. He is

a native of Germany, and was born April 10, 1810. He was there edu-

cated and grew, to manhood. His father was a much honored citizen

and very w^ealthy. Mr. Lower conducted a large manufactory in Ger-

many, but when the people rebelled against the Government, he was a

rebel and a spy, and for that reason he was compelled to come to America.

He was married in 1833, to Miss Mary Augustus, and from this union they
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had two children in Germany, Henry and Charles; he emigrated to

America in 1837, landing at New York City; he went from there to Ken-

tucky where he lived about seventeen years ;
Katharine and Nancy were

born after he came to Kentucky. His wife died about the year 1840, and

he was again married in 1842, to Miss Margaret Host. This union has

blessed them with eight children, seven boys and one girl, George, Jacob,

Charles, Nathan, Lewis, William, Jesse and Mary. When Mr. Lower
landed in Kentucty he did not have a dollar, as he was robbed on the boat,

but in all this trouble he rose, step by step, and in 1854 he emigrated to

Pettis County, Mo., locating where he now lives; he then purchased 700

acres, and as he got able he bought more land until he owned a farm of

2,000 acres. Then his children began to do for themselves, and he gave
them all a good home. He has given his children on an average
about 200 acres each. His second wife was called to her long home in

the winter of 1865. He was again married in December, 1866, to Miss

Mary Deis, and this union was blessed with one child, Lewis. When
our country ,vas involved in war Mr. Lower espoused the cause of the

Union and was appointed Captian of militia, but after he did his duty, he

resigned his commission and returned to work on the farm. He is a man
who always takes pride in doing good for his fellow men.

SAMUEL STIRLEN.

Farmer and stock-raiser. Post-office, Hughesville. One of the enter-

prising, moving men of Longwood township, and who is a son of W. C.

Stirlen, and was a native of Westmoreland County, Penn., and was born

in 1824, and died at his home in Pettis County, Mo., January 14, 1882.

When he was about six years of age he moved with his parents to

Ohio, where he was educated and grew to manhood. He was a mem-
ber of the Masonic fraternity, and a worthy member. He was mar-

ried in 1845 to Miss Martha Sparman. She is a lady of fine taste and

a kind mother and devoted wife. This union was made happy by twelve

children, and all are a credit to their parents. He moved to Allen County,

Ind., in 1851
;
there he remained until 1872, then he moved to Pettis County,

Missouri, where he bought a fine farm of 400 acres, on which he lived

until his death. The subject of this sketch is now the one who takes

care of the old home, with the assistance of three brothers.

HIRAM SWOPE.

Post-office, Thornleigh. Born Aug. 14, 1819, in Kentucky. His father,

Jesse Swope, came to Missouri in 1819, when Hiram was quite small, and

settled in Howard County, subsequently moving to present neighborhood,
in Pettis County, in 1822, when the section was called Sahne County,

dving at his home at a good old age, in 1874. Hiram was brought up



HISTORY OF L0:NGW00D TOWNSHIP. 855

when schools were poor and very few; however, he learned some, and
writes a fair hand. He married Miss Elizabeth Greer, daughter of Ben-

jamin Greer, a farmer. The fruits of this union were seven children, two
of whom are dead. Three are married. During the rebellion Mr. Svvope
served in the State Militia. In his time he was a great hunter, and killed on an

average two deer a day. His father usuall}-- put up 500 pounds of bear

bacon each 3^ear. His father, Jesse, killed eleven panthers the tirst year
he settled in Pettis County. In those days the people went to Boonville

to mill. At that time there were but five families between Mr. Swope's
residence and Boonville. Marlins, Jenkins, Bowles and N. A. Newbill

were early settlers. The last named taught school in 1829, in a log hut.

Elections were held at the residence of Jesse Swope for several years.
Hiram had five boys, Jesse, James, John W., Hiram, M. K. The subject
of this sketch was one of eleven children, viz: Sarah, Orpha, Christina,

Poll}', Rebecca, Meridith, Hiram, Joseph, Milton and Mai. K. Five are

lining. Milton resides on Blackwater, Grover township, Johnson County,
Mo. The subject of this sketch is a farmer who has long been identified

with Pettis County.

PHILIP H. WHEELER.
" Cedar Avenue," is a superb and magnificent estate of 242 acres

owned by Philip H. Wheeler, who was born April 29, 1829, in the State

of North Carolina, whose parents were also natives of that State. His

father died in the year 1875, aged sixty-nine years, and his mother in 1877,

aged seventy-one years. Mr. W. was married in the State of Illinois in

the year 1853, to Frances Johnson, whose parents were natives of Ohio.

They have five sons and one daughter, all grown and living in Pettis

County. Mr. W. came to Pettis County in the year 1855, and settled in

Blackwater township, and remained there until a few 3^ears since, when

he sold out and removed to the above named farm. This fine farm is situ-

ated about ten miles north of the city of Sedalia, in the midst of a beau-

tiful rolling prairie district, admirably improved, with wells, ponds, hedge
and rail fences, good orchards of apple, peach and pear trees, with quite

a quantity of small fruits, and grows 100 acres of corn, 110 acres of wheat

and thirty acres of oats; has a good line of horses, mules, cattle, and

hogs. This farm, with its forty-acre timber lot is one of the most fertile

and productive in this region, and one of the most attractive' and valuable

estates in this township. Mr. Wheeler is gradualh^ improving and beau-

tifying his farm, and is one of the most popular and influential men in his

community; is a thriving, earnest, successful farmer, of liberal culture,

sound sense, genial temperament, and is a strong, clear-sighted, influential

man, highly esteemed by all.
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CHAPTER XV.—HEATH'S CREEK TOWNSHIP.

Introduction—N"ame—John and Robert Heath—Salt Works—Indian Raid—Missing

Negro—The First Constitutional Convention in the State—John Heath a Delegate
From Franklin County—Organization—Pin Hook—St. Helena—Physical Features—
Early Settlers—Churches—Schools—Data—Biographical

Here tirst those brave and sturdy men,
Found nature's welcome awaiting their acceptance.

Situated, where by its geographical position, it received the first influx of

civilization within the borders of Pettis county on its ample stretches of

prairie and within its welcoming arms of timber belts, is Heath's Creek Town-

ship. Here first the foot of the present race of settlers pressed the virgin

soil, and the gates of the county were opened to the adventerous settlers,

and the foundation laid for the present great and prosperous county. Here,

sixty-five years ago, the brave and hardy pioneer found a resting place

after liis weaiT journey from the prosperous settlements further ecfct,

where he had known comfort and plenty. They came here to brave the

wilds of unsubdued nature, and they opened to those that followed the

doors of one of the now most prosperous and populous counties in the

great State of Missouri. Did they in their wildest flights of imagina-
tion ever dream that the country then surrounding them on every side, a

wilderness, should in half a century be subdued by the advance of civiliza-

tion, and made to pay its tribute to the wants of man? Did they conceive

in their highest hopes for their adopted home, that one day it should stand

in the front rank of the great commonwealth then only in its infancy, and

now but little out of the first bright halcyon of youth ?

Only a few of those that were here w^hen the foundation stone of the

county was laid, are left to tell the story. There were no imposing cere-

monies, there were no processions, bands of music, or grand orations

delivered, but simple in the extreme were the rites then enacted, and the

result IS a building as lasting as time, one which no storms can overthrow

and no shock of war demolish; one which will stand a lasting monument

to the architects who drew the rough plan, but did not survive to see the

fulfillinent of their toils.

In giving a sketch of this township we shall aim to touch upon the

most interesting facts accessible. All but one of the oldest settlers have

passed away,- and he alone remains to tell the story of the early hardships,

trials and sacrifices of the winters and summers following the settlement of

1817. There may be some events which have not come into the writer's

possession, hence will be left for the historian of another generation.

When St Louis was yet the only city of any importance west of the

Mississippi, and almost four years before Missouri had been admitted as

a State, in Heaths' Creek township the first families that ever made their
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home in Pettis County settled. Could they have seen the results of this

opening wedge, as the only remaining one of those pioneers now sees it,

or could they be permitted to return and view the scenes of their former

years, would they recognize the places where they were wont to chase

the wild game which then abounded, in the now well tilled and well fenced

farms, with their beautiful residences, well furnished with the luxuries of

life? Would they recognize in the 1,273 inhabitants of the township at pres-

ent, many of the faces that they knew in the days when this was a

wilderness? A change has come over the scene and the work which they

conceived, that of building up a great and populous county, has had a

glorious conception.

The growth of our western country has been so rapid and so marvel-

ous in many respects that little in the histories ot other countries has been

found to surpass it. What it has taken other nations a thousand years to

accomplish, ours has accomplished here in a hundred. Where other

nations' cities have been centuries in building, ours has cities that surpass
them in wealth and population, that have had their growth in two or three

generations; and to-day we behold the grandest nation on earth, the work
of a little more than one century. Wild, uncultivated prairies have been

converted into beautiful cities within the space of a single decade, and in

the growth of this grand State that rears her head aloft with pride and

bids fair in a few years to be the rival of any State in the Union. The

people of the county of Pettis need never be ashamed of the part they
have taken to make this State what it is destined to become, but on the

other hand they must always be aminated with personal pride, and be

ever ready to recount to their children and their children's children, the

arduous toils and the severe trials which they underwent when building up
and developing the resources of this favored spot. All who enjoy the

civil and social advantages, and the many blessings of an enlightened and

refined community should evei* cherish the most profound and sincere

gratitude toward those noble pioneers who bore all the toil and braved all

the danger that others might reap the fruits. While the earl}^ settlers of

this township have never been wanting in their efforts to build up the

township, so that it might be an ornament to the county, it is compli-

mentary to their judgment that they made themselves homes which are

an ornament to any section.

Name.—The township of Heath's Creek derives its name from the

principal stream of water flowing through its bounds, that of Heath's

Creek. This creek derives its name from the brothers, Robert and John

Heath, who in 1809 erected rude salt works at the mouth of the creek,

where it empties into the Lamine River in Cooper County. John Heath

was a member of the first Constitutional Convention of Missouri. He was

a delegate from Franklin County to the Convention which met in St»



858 HISTORY OF heath's CREEK TOWNSHIP.

Louis on June 12, 1820, and continued in session until July 19, when their

labors were concluded and the Constitution signed and adopted.

The creeks and their branches were all nanned by the earliest settlers.

Some were named from the settlers themselves, others again were named
from some incident that occurred at that time. Cedar Creek was thus

named from the large cedar tree which grew at its mouth, near Muddy
Creek. Panther Creek was thus named because the first panther killed

in this region was taken on that branch. Cold Neck derived its name

from the fact that one William Bryant, an early settler of this country,

while hunting a bear at this place became very cold and remarked to a

companion that it was a "cold neck." Muddy Creek is said to have

received its name from the following incident: Hiram Jenkins and John

Heath, while on a hunting expedition, camped near what is now known
as Farmer's City Ford, on a little island. During the night there came up
a heavy rain, and in the morning they found that their horses were gone.

They hung up their blankets and went in search of their horses, when

they returned they found the island submerged in water. The remark

was made that "this is muddy", and the creek has since and from that

incident retained the name Muddy.

Organization.— Heath's Creek Township is one of the oldest organi-
zations of townships in Pettis County. It originally embraced its own

present limits and also that of Longwood and part of Bowling Green, and

continued by this name until 184-1, when the townships were re-aranged,

and Bowling Green was cut down and Heath's Creek given the

northeastern part of • the county, which contained the northern part of

Longwood and its own township. In this shape it continued until 1873.

(See page 241: in county organization). In that year the county adopted
the township organization, and Heath's Creek still retained the northeast-

ern portion, but was separated from Longwood, and as it is now organized,

it is nine miles north and south by six east'and west, and contains there-

fore fifty-four sections of land or 34,560 acres of land. It is bounded on

the north bv Saline County, on the east by Cooper County, on the south

by Bowling Green township, and on the west by Longwood township.

It is one of the four largest townships in Pettis County, and a large part

of its surface is tillable, while large tracts of timber follow the water

courses.

Configuration.—The township surface is diversified with rolling

prairie and heavy timber. The township is more abundantly supplied

with water courses than any other in the county. Its largest stream is

the Muddy Creek, flowing through the southern portion; the Lamine

River touches its eastern border, and makes a detour into the township
in section one; Heath's Creek flows across the northern part of the town-
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ship, and each of these have their smaller creeks and branches flowing
into them from almost all directions. Still, with all of these creeks and

streams flowing through it, it has large tracts of as fine farming lands as

there is in the State. Nearly all of the branchi'S are fed by springs, and

many aftbrd enongh water to supply mills along their banks. There are two
salt springs in the township, one in the northeastern section, and the other

in the northern part of the township near the Saline County line, on

the northeast quarter of the northeast quarter of section twenty-one.
The township has no railroad. The wagon roads, except in the hills,

are good, and the streams are crossed by substantial iron bridges for

the larger ones, and good wooden bridges for the smaller ones. The

physical condition of the land makes it quite easy to keep good roads, and

these conditions are used to the best advantage. The fences of the town-

ship are all good. Rail and substantial board fences predominate. The

osage orange hedge plant does well, making a fence that will turn stock

in about three years, and this is being cultivated to a considerable extent.

Many of the farmers who are cultivating hedge, take great pride in keep-

ing it nicel}' trimmed, and when such is the case, it presents a beautiful

appearance. But timber being so plentiful, it is hardly probable that for

a number of years yet, the favorite old rail fence will be discarded. The

ring of the axe, with its accompanying "thud of the maul and wedge," are

sounds too pleasant to the ear of the thrifty farmer who has made his

home here for years, to be easily superseded.
The township has abundant quarries of excellent rock, but these are

worked only so tar as is needed for the foundations of buildings. Coal,

of an excellent quality, has been found in pockets scattered over the

township, and at the present time prospecting is being carried on by
some of the enterprising citizens, with a view of ascertaining the proba-
ble amounts of deposits, the depth, and the probable cost of opening up
and working the underlying vein.

In the early da3^s, the prairies of the township were annually swept
over wath the fires. The luxuriant vegetation of the township furnished

abundant feed tor the yearly fires that swept over its surface for centur-

ies before white men kindled their camp fires. Now, wherever the prairie

grass is* killed out the blue grass at once springs into existence and pro-

duces a beautiful velvety green sward most of the year.

Earby Settlers.—In the very early days this country was hunted

over by the lovers of the chase, and they were always amply rewarded

for their time and exertion. These men first called attention to the fine

soil, climate and advantages, and following in their footsteps, in 1817,

came the first permanent settlers of Heath's Creek Township and Pettis

County. To Hiram. Jenkins, John Bowdes and Thomas Marlin belongs
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the honor of being the first permanent settlers of this township and

count}'.

The adventurer came west "to grow up with the country," trust-

ing only to his strong arm and willing heart to work his way on in the

wilderness, and secure for himself and loving wife a home. Here, fifty

years ago, the pioneer hunter chased the deer, elk, and other game,
where now the broad and cultivated fields are tilled by their descendants.

Here, we may see the path worn by the Missourian, in his varied

experience in a land, which to him was a land of promise, far in

advance of that southern and eastern soil, upon which he had his tempo-

rary home ere his effort to adapt himself to new conditions. We may
see here the growth which came with knowledge, and the progress which

grew upon him with the advancement around him, and how his better

side developed. Some have been animated with the impulse to move on,

after making themselves a part of the community, and have sought the

extreme west, where the subduing hand of civilization had not pene-
trated.

Those who have noted the career of the descendants of those brave,

strong men in subduing the wilds, overcoming the obstacles and with-

standing the hardships of this county, in early times, can but admit that

they are worthy sons of illustrious sires.

All the experience of the early pioneers of this township and county go
to show that after all happiness is about evenly balanced in this world.

They had their privations and hardships, but they had also their own

particular joys. If they were poor, they were free from the burden of

pride and vanity, unless inherent in their nature; and exempt, also, from

the anxiety and care that always attend the possessions of wealth.

The earliest settlers, as we have said, of this township and Pettis County
were the three gentlemen previously named and their families. They
crossed the Missouri River in February, 1817, and located near the

mouth of Heath's Creek, March 1st, the same year.' Their place of stop-

ping was about three miles from the present Saline County line, and about

the same distance from the Cooper County line. Hiram Jenkins had

charge of the boat that brought up the metal fixtures belonging to John
and Robert Heath for their salt works, located near the mouth of *Heath's

Creek. The}' continued to manufacture salt in Cooper County until the

the war of' 1812, when the Indians made a raid on their works and one of

the two negro men there employed escaped to St. Louis and the other

was never heard from. The war of 1812 deterred Hiram Jenkins from

coming to this section. He had been over the ground two or three times

on hunting expeditions, and in that way had become familiar with the

beauties and advantages of this country. Hiram Jenkins started from

Murfreesborough, Tenn., in October, 181 6, and came overland, crossing the



HISTORY OP^ heath's CREEK TOWNSHIP. 861

Mississippi River a few miles above the mouth of the Missouri. He being
somewhat familiar with the countr}^ was the leader of the party. The
three families mentioned above all came from Tennessee, and Thomas
Marlin's family consisted of eleven persons, Mr. Jenkins' seven, and

Bowles' eight. Hiram Jenkins lived here for years and then went back to

Tennessee, where he died. Marlin and Bowles both died and are buried

in the township. Wm. Anderson came in 1829 from Louisiana. His son

Geo. Anderson, recently deceased, owned one of the largest and finest

farms in the township. Aaron Jenkins came in 1817 with his father

from Tennessee, and is now the oldest living person of the first settlers of

Pettis County. He was quite young when he came to Missouri, and a

residence of sixty-five years in the genial climate of Missouri has left the

old gentlemen at the age of seventy-four years, still hale and hearty, and
he is able to oversee his large farm in this township, giving it the benefit

of his long experience with the ever changing seasons. He knows per-

haps more of Pettis County's history than will ever be produced from the

pen of the ablest writer, as he has seen her in her infancy, in her youth,
and now, in his declining days, beholds her in the full glory of strong

development. Baldwin Jenkins, a brother of the former, came at the

same time as the family from Tennessee, but is now dead and buried in the

township. James Smily came in 1827 from Kentucky, but has been dead

many years. C. H. Hieronymus came to the county from Howard

County, in 1826. He is a native of Clark County, Ky., but came to

Missouri with his father's family in 1822. Mr. Hieronymus still resides

in the township a respected and honored citizen. Sylvester Hall came
to the township in 1828 from Kentucky, and has since died and is buried

in this township. Henry Raines came in 1828 from North Carolina and

resided in the township a number of years, and then removed to Iowa,
where he died several years ago. Jesse Swope came to the township in

1826 from Kentucky, lived here a number of years and now lies buried

in the township. From this date on the settlers began reaching further

west and south, and those who came the next few succeeding years settled

in what is now Longwood township, or Bowling Green, and of those but

comparatively few remain to tell the stor}- of their struggles and triumphs.

Agricultural Interesis.—The farming land of this township is

unsurpassed in fertilit}^ by an}- in the county. It is that belt of rich, black

loam which traverses Saline, Lafa3rette and the northern part of this

county, and from the standpoint of a farmer, cannot be surpassed in the

world. Every advantage is offered, soil, water, timber, drainage and

coal. And to say that they are each taken advantage of would be but

a slight tribute of praise to the thrifty class of farmers that inhabit this

region. A greater variety of timber grows within the bounds of this

42
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township than is found in any other of the county. Hickon^, white oak,

elm, and many other varieties are found in the forests. The orchards of

the township are given careful attention and yield an abundance of the

finest fruits. Numerous flocks of sheep dot the hills and valleys of the

township, and on the beautiful blue grass pastures are to be seen herds of

cattle, as fine as can be found in the county. When the writer drove over

the township in the spring of 1882, never was a more beautiful scene pre-

sented to his eyes. Great fields of waving wheat greeted the eye on every

hand, :ind broad acres of corn peeped through the ground and gave

promise of an abundant yield in the fall. The diversified industries of the

township are the source of an abundant income to the tillers of the soil. If

one crop is short there is enough and to spare of others. J. L. Cartwright
has a farm of between ToO and SOU acres of well improved land.

He has about 400 head of fine sheep; graded cattle, fine orchard and vine-

yard. Aaron Jenkins has 300 acres of well improved land. It is now worked

by his son. Peter Hay has 500 acres, mostly finely improved. He has

about 400 head of fine sheep. Mrs. George Anderson has 700 acres in a

tine farm, nearly all inclosed and well watered and finely improved. It is

considered one of the finest of not only the township, but also of Pettis

County. It is fully stocked with fine sheep and cattle. Thomas Gregory
has 600 acres. He cultivates 200 acres and the rest is principally grass
land. He raises a large number of sheep and other stock.

Churches.—The churches of the township are five in number. Proba-

bly the oldest organization in the township is that of the Cumberland Pres-

byterian Church, and this is said to be one of the first congregations

organized in the county. The church now goes by the name of Heath's

Creek Cumberland Presbyterian Church, and is situated on section thirty-

three, township forty-eight, range twenty. It was organized by the mem-
bers of the Cumberland Presbvterian denomination about 1831, and the

present church was built by John Ridde. Sometime after its erection, it

was dedicated by Rev. Peter Ray. It is a frame structure and was erected

at a cost of $900. It is forty by thirty-six feet, with thirteen foot ceiling.

The names of the pastors who have preached to the congregation are,

James Wear and L. Burns (organizers of the congregation), W. B. Wear,
Finis Witherspoon, Jonas Martin, John Jopling. Rev. Arnick, and for the

last three years James Martm. The only living one of the original mem-
bers is Aaron Jenkins. Among the early members were Baldwin Jenkins,

Thomas Marlin and wife, Thomas Marlin, Jr., and wife, Hiram Jenkins,

Mrs. Hall, Alfred Brock and wife. The congregation now has sixty mem-
bers. It has no Sunday School at present.

Wharton Chapel, M. E. Ciiurch, South, is located on the northeast

corner of the southeast quarter of the northwest quarter of section thirty-

six, township forty-eight, range twenty. The date of its organization is
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uncertain, but it is a very old organization. It was built in 1878, by John

Thompson, and was dedicated in the fall of 1878, by C. C. Woods. It is

a frame building, and was erected at a cost of $1,200, and is forty

by twenty-six feet, with eighteen feet ceiling. The pastors have been J.

L. D. Elevens, M. Duran, Josiah Godby, W. B. McFarland, L. M.

Phillips, A. M. Rader, G. P. Smith, and the present pastor is E. G.

Frazier. It was impossible for the compiler of the facts connected with

the early history of this church to obtain the names of the original mem-
bers of the congregation owing to the church books not dating back to the

time of its commencement. The present membership is thirty-four. It

has a good Sunday School with an average attendance of thirty-four under

the supervision of D. W. Burford. Before the present house of worship
was built, the denomination held services in the school house near at hand,

and occasionally in the Presbyterian Church.

The Christian Church (formerly the old Union Church), was organized

by four denominations, the M. E. Church, Cumberland Presbyterian,

Reformed and M. P. Churches, about thirty years ago. The building is

of brick and was erected under the supervision of Mr. C. R. Hieronymus

by these four denominations at a cost of about $1,000. The building is

forty by thirty in size, with twelve foot ceiling. Among the first pastors

of the church were Rev. Allen Wright and Rev. Wilkes. J. B. Wright,

Jiles Phillips, Rev. Chappie, R. W. Gentry, Samuel McDaniels have

occupied the pulpit of lateryears. The present membership is thirty, and

the congregation has no Sunda}- School connected. During the war there

was a large revival conducted by Elder Peter Donan, and one after the

war conducted by Elder Robinson. The present officers of the church

are T. H. Jenkins and T. E. Gregory, Deacons; and Oliver Elmore,

Clerk.

HoPEW^ELL Baptist Church.—The organization of the church was

effected Aug. 1, 1S67, by Elder E. H. Burchfield and E. T. Brown, and

the present house of worship is situated twelve miles northeast of Sedalia,

and was built in 1S68 by Z. J. Thomas. The building was dedicated in

1868 by Elder E. H. Burchtield, and it is a frame structure erected at a

cost of $800. The house is 30x50 feet, with twelve foot ceiling, and com-

fortably furnished. The names of the pastors so far occupying the pulpit

are: E. H. Burchfield, who occupied it for seven years; J. K. Godby, one

year; L. Whipple, one year; W. V. Parsons, one year; J. T. Corwin, two

years. The original members of the congregation, were: John Wasson,

Cjmtha Wasson, Eveline Lawhorn, Mary J. Beaman, Ezekiel Greer,

Rhoda Greer, Rachel L. Thomas, S. J. Robison, D. Beaman, Betsy B.

Bradle}-, Moses Greer, Susan Greer and several others.

In the proceedings of the Central Baptist Association we find the fol-

lowing:
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Being appointed by your bod\' at your last annual meeting, to write a

brief history of the Hopewell Baptist Church, located twelve miles north
and east from Sedalia, in Pettis County, Mo., submit the following;
This church was organized August 1, 1867, by Elder E. H. Burchfield,

then Missionary of the Am'erican Baptist Home Mission Society, assisted

by Elder E. T. Brown, of Sedalia, with eighteen members, fourteen of

whom were converts of a meeting that was being conducted by said breth-

ren, at the time of the organization. Elder E. H. Burchtield was her first

pastor, serving the church the remainder of the years 1867, '68, '69 and
'70. Elder J. K. Godby was her second pastor, serving the church one

year, 1871, after which Elder E. H. Burchtield served the church during
the years of 1872, '73 and '74. During his pastorate the Lord greatly
blessed his labors, this church having baptized 103 persons into fellowship
of the church. During the year 1875 the church had no pastor. Elder
L. W. Whipple was their pastor during the years 1876 and '77. Elder W.
V. Parsons is her present pastor.

This church has built a good house of worship, and has enjoyed the

blessings of God in vears that have passed. At present she seems to be
cold from some cause or other. Her records show that there has been
108 baptisms; total number enrolled on her church book, 148; present

membership, sixty-six. Brethren, pray for Hopewell, that the joys of the

salvation of God may be restored to them.
E. H. BURCHFIELD.

The church now numbers sixty members, and have a Sunday School of

over forty scholars, of which Robert McCormack is Superintendent, and

Jessie Pane is Secretary. During Elder Burchfield's ministrations there

were one hundred and three persons baptized by him, and during the pas-
torate of J. T. Corwin, there have been twenty. When the church was

built, it was aided by the Missionaries of the American Baptist Home
Mission Society of New York in connection with the Central Baptist

Association, now of Sedalia. This church was not a colony of any other,

but was instituted under the labors of Elders Burchfield and Brown, and

fourteen of its eigliteen members were baptized by Elder Burchfield, and

the four others uniting with them by letter.

Schools.—The schools of the township are all in good condition, and

considerable attention is given to the education of the youth by the patrons
of the schools. School No. 1 has a winter term of six months, and was

taught in 1881-82 by Miss .Minnie Parish. The wages paid was $35 per
month. It is a frame school house. School No. 2 has a four months'

term of school, and that of last winter was taught by Miss Ruth Set-

tles. District No. 3 has a seven months' school, and the teachers for the

present school year have been Miss Ruth Settles and Miss Addie Finley;

wages, $35. School District No. 1 has a winter term of six months, and

the last term was taught by Miss Liva Parish, of Cooper County; wages

paid is $40 per month. They do not support a summer school. School

District No. 2 has a four months' school at $35 per month, with Miss Lucy
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Noble as teacher. District No. 4 has a six months' term, with Miss Emma
Mose as teacher; they pay $42.50 per month. District No. 4 has seven

months' school, with Miss Parish as teacher, to whom is paid $30.

Data.—The first death in the township was that of Robert Ellison, a^ed

by his own account, 109 years. He was grandfather of Aaron Jenkins.
The first marriage in the count}- occurred in this township. It was

Nathanie Newball to Miss Sarah Swope, a daughter of Jesse Swope.
The first birth in the county was in the Bowles or Marlin families, it is

not certain which.

The first court held in the county was held at Judge James Ramey's,
and the second at Pin Hook, or as it was more flowingly termed, St.

Helena.

GEORGE ANDERSON, [^Deceased?)

Post-office, Longwood. Was the son of William Anderson, of Louisi-

ana. The son, George Anderson, was born in the State of Louisiana,

but when quite young he was brought with his father's family to Missouri,

settling in Pettis County, where he w^as reared to manhood, and lived

until his death. He received his education from the schools of Pettis

County, and after he was grown he engaged in farming, raising and

trading in stock, which business he followed until his death. Mr. Ander-

son was married to Miss Mar}^ J. Marr, Oct. 30, 1845, she being a native

of Saline Count}', Mo., and a daughter of Thomas Marr, a native of

Tennessee, but who also moved to Missouri at an early day, and settled in

Saline County, but afterwards moved to Lafayette County, Mo., where

he lived until his death. There w^ere born to Mr. Anderson and wife eight

children, as follows: Elizabeth, Thomas L., Mary }., Lena B., Lillie,

William, Samuel B., and George W. The children are all living at home
with the mother, excepting Mary J., who is married to Mr. Nicholas Scott,

and lives in the neighborhood. Mr. Anderson's life was one of untiring

industry and activity, and although endowed by nature with extraordinary
will and strength, his health at length gave way under the severe tax of

mind and body, exacted by his varied interests, and at his residence in the

northern part of Pettis County, on the sixteenth day of March, 1880, his

active and useful life was brought to a close. At his death he was owner

of large landed estates in what is known as Heath's Creek neighborhood.
The home farm is a magnificent estate of 740 acres, and without a single

exception is the finest improved farm in Heath's Creek township. The

dwelling is a fine, large frame, surrounded with a beautiful lawn, and neat

fields. There are barns and other outbuildings to correspond with the estate.

DR. JOSEPH L. CARTWRIGHT.

Post-office, Longwood. One of the most prosperous and influential
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citizens of northern Pettis County is the subject of this sketch, Joseph L.

Cartwright. He is a son of James A. Cartwright, who was a native of

Clay County, Ky., and a Major in the war of 1812. He was a lawyer by
profession, and for many years practiced at Winchester, Clark County,

Ky. He died in Caldwell Count}^ Ky., October, 1851. His grand-

father, Jesenion Cartwright, was an officer in the Revolutionary War, and

after peace had been declared between the Mother Country and the

colonies, he was appointed Surveyor General, which office he filled for

a number of years. An amusing incident the grandfather often told in

connection with his services as Survej'or, will bear repeating. For his

services as Surveyor he received public lands, and on one occasion, when
Gen. Jackson was to pa}' him a visit, the old gentleman made ready to

receive his distinguished guest by preparing a sumptuous feast; and, in

order to procure the necessaries for the table, the grandfather v/ent to

the nearest trading post, and in exchange for one-half barrel of dried

apples, one-half barrel of flour and one-half barrel of sugar, he gave 640

acres of his land. This land lies about three miles from Lexington, Ky.,
and is now known as the Robert Wicklifi'farm, one of the finest in Ken-

tucky. The subject of this sketch was born in Caldwell County, K.y.,

Oct. 24, 1825, the fifth child, and the oldest son in a family of thirteen

children. He received his education in the subscription schools of his

native county, completing his literary education at Eddyville, Ky. Dr.

Cartwright read medicine four vears, and then took a complete course of

lectures at Trans3'lvania University, Lexington, Ky., which institution

was then under the presidency of the celebrated Dr. Dudley, of Ken-

tucky, the eminent American surgeon. After Dr. Cartwright had com-

pleted his course of studv, he located for the practice of his profession in

Clark County, Ky., where he remained about six years. In the winter

of 1854 he emigrated to Missouri, stopping first in St. Louis County,
where he remained a few months; and then, in the spring of 1855, he

took a boat and sailed up the Missouri River, landing at Kansas City.

At that time there were but few houses on the present site of the city.

The Doctor stopped at the only tavern in the place. The proprietor

being a northern anti-slavery man, refused to keep him because he was

accompanied bv two slaves. A hospitable liveryman, however, gave him

quarters in his stable. Upon the dawn of the next day the doctor started

on a two mile and a-half journey to the McGee hotel, where he remained

for some days. He then went down to Independence, stopping with Sam

Ralston, a southern man; here he remained about two months, when he

and Mr. Ralston took an exploring expedition to Kansas, remaining in

that section some two or three months. While in Kansas they made a

location at the mouth of Ten Mile, on Bull Creek. Here they made some

little improvement, such as w^as required by law, to hold the land as their
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claim. They then returned to Independence, and Dr. Cartwricrht made a

visit to his old homestead in Kentucky. On his return to Kansas he was
denied his claim for the reason of his beincr a southern man. He then

engaged in the buying and selling of live stock; also shipped extensively.
In the spring of ISoS Dr. Cartwright, in partnership with John S. Jones,

freighted Government supplies across the plains. Their first train con-

sisted of 156 wagons. This freight was delivered at Camp Floyd, tbrty

miles beyond Salt Lake City. After making the proper distribution of

freight, they drove their cattle to California, where they disposed of them.

In the year 1859, when the gold excitement had swept over the States,

Dr. C. and his partner began freighting to Colorado. When they landed

RESLDENCE OF DR. JOSEPH L. CARTWRIGHT.

at Cherry Creek, the present site of Denver City, the offer was marie

them that if they would unload their goods and start a trading-house, the

citzens of the place would donate seventy-five town lots and five acres of

land. This proposition was accepted, and the five acres were used for

corraling their cattle. Dr. Cartwright and his partner built the first

brick business house in Denver. It was used for a freight and storeroom,

was IG-lxO-l feet, had an arch segment roof, and was considered fire-proof.

During the vears of 1859-60, the freight business had increased to such

proportions that it required 500 wagons to carry on the business. In the

spring of 1859 Dr. Cartwright and his partner went to Washnigton City,

and there organized the first overland stage companv that operated in the
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Western States. The route of this company extended from Leaven-

worth, Kan., to Salt Lake City. Gen. Monroe was sent on the first trip

with 1,000 men as an escort; and later, a line was established to Denver.

Along this entire line were stations, from ten to fifteen miles apart; each

station had a house or mn, and a stable. The coaches of the company were

drawn by four mules, and an express messenger and driver went with

each coach. The coaches were capable of seating nine persons. Along
this whole route of 1,200 miles, the coaches passed either way every
twelve hours. This line of coaches was run until the war; the freight

continuing the same. The whole business of the company was con-

ducted on negotiable paper, of from four to six months, and had become

of such mammoth proportions that when the war came on it met with a

general collapse. After the business had been suspended, Dr. C. returned

to Pettis County, where he remained during the war. In the spring of

1871 the doctor conceived the idea of starting a cattle ranch and dair}^ in

Montana Territory, and for this purpose he bought 800 head of one and

two year old heifers of high grade; also thirty head of full blood Ken-

tucky heifers, and twenty-one thoroughbred bulls. The fine cattle were

shipped to Ogden, forty miles beyond Salt Lake. The 800 head were

driven to Eagle Rock Bride, on Smoke River, in Wyoming Territory, a

distance of 1,800 miles. This enterprise was afterwards disposed of, and

Dr. C. returned to his farm in this county, where he has since engaged
in farming and the raising of stock. He was married April, 1861, to Miss

Laura Mitchum, a native of Kentucky. From this union there are five

children, viz: Joseph L., Endora, Lee, Clarence and June. The doctor

owns one of the finest improved farms in Pettis County, located about

thirteen miles north of Sedalia. This estate consists of 1,000 acres, finely

improved, having a fine brick residence surrounded wrth beautiful lawns,

and shaded with maple, oak, walnut and other forest trees. There are

ample barns and other out-buildings. There is on this farm about four

miles of board fence, principally made from walnut lumber. The other

fencing is in keeping with the estate. There is cultivated on this estate

about 300 acres of corn and about 150 acres of wheat; the remaining lands

being devoted to meadows and pastures. He has in his pastures about

fifty head of brood cows and about 150 head of cattle. He also has about

400 head of full blood South downs. On this estate there is an orchard

of fort}' acres and a vineyard of two acres. Dr. Cartwright is a man of

fine business quali.Scations, and no man in Pettis County occupies a higher

position for energy, enterprise, public spirit, integrity and business recti-

tude, than Dr. Joseph L. Cartwright. His home is the abode of hospi-

tality, a view of which appears herewith.
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ABNER CLOPTON.
Mr. Clopton is a native of New Kent, Va., son of Abner Clopton, Sr. He'

, was born July 4, 1808. Abner Clopton, Sr., removed to Kentuck}' in

1810, settling near Winchester, where he lived four years, and then he

removed to Madison, near Richmond, where he lived until the fall of

1834, when he emigrated to Missouri. He remained in Boone County
till the next spring, when he removed to Pettis County, settling in the

northeastern portion, where he died Aug. 1, 1863, at the advanced

age of eighty-five years. Abner Clopton, Jr., is the third child in a fam-

ily of six. His advantages for an education were those of pioneer days,

in a school house with puncheon floor, log seats and a log cut out for a

window. He came to Missouri in 1834, and with his father came to Pet-

tis County in the spring of 1835, where he has lived forty-seven ^^ears.

The father and son entered about 700 acres, which they fenced and

improved. The son afterwards purchased about 800 acres, whicfi he

mostly improved. He was married Dec. 22, 1836, to Miss Margaret
Fristoe, a native of Virginia, and daughter of Amos Fristoe, who removed

from Virginia in 1828, settling first in Howard County, Mo., where he

remained four years; then removed to Pettis County, where he lived till

his death. Mr. and Mrs. Clopton's family consisted of eighteen children,

seven of whom are now living: Geo. W., John R., Fannie L., Charles

E., Rolla M., Mildred A. and Willie. Since Mr. Clopton has been a res-

ident of Pettis County he has been engaged in farming and raising stock*

He has divided his extensive farm with his children, retaining his well

improved farm of 212 acres. His grandfather, Wm. Clopton, was a

native of Virginia, and a soldier of the American Revolution. He died

Jan. 1, 1781.

BENJAMIN F. DeWITT.

Is the son of Larkin DeWitt, who was a native of New York,
but who moved to Missouri in the year 1818, settling first at Boon-

ville, where he remained about eight years, when he moved to

Pettis County, settling in Bowling Green Township, where he remained

about three years; then he removed to Green County, where he remained

about two years, w^hen he removed to Cooper County, settling on the

west line between Cooper and Pettis. Here he lived for about sixteen

years, then moved to McDonald County, remaining there until the spring
of 1864, when he removed to Pettis County, settling in Heath's Creek

Township, where he remained until his death, which occurred Sept. 1, 1873.

The subject of this sketch was born in Pettis County, Oct. 2, 1830, and

is the fifth child in a family of eight children. His advantages for an edu-

cation were somewhat limited, there being but few schools in Pettis

County at that time. He remained at home with his father's family until
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his nineteenth year, when he went to California, and was engaged in the

mining business, which business he followed for more than five years,

when he returned to his Missouri home, settling in Pettis Count}^, where

he has since resided. He was married March 13, 1856, to Miss Permelia

A. Potter, a native of Cooper County, Mo., and a daughter of John Pot-

ter, of that county. From this marriage there were ten children, only

five of whom are now living, viz: Larkin T., Benjamin F., Calvin J.,

Joseph A. and Ceva A. Since Mr. DeWitt's return to Pettis he has

been engaged in farming and the raising of stock. He owns a fine farm

of 517 acres, extending to the fertile bottom lands of Muddy Creek.

OLIVER ELMORE.

Post-office, Longwood. Is another prominent citizen who has only

been identified with the interests of Pettis County for a few years. He is

the son of John Elmore who was a native of Virginia, but when he was

yet a youth his father moved his family to Kentucky, where the father

remained until his death, which occurred in the year 1862, he being

seventy-two years of age. The subject of this sketch was born in Owen

County, Kentucky, Dec. 3, 1825, and is the youngest child in a family of

five children, all of whom are yet living. He received his education from

the schools of his native county. After completing his education he

engaged in farming and afterwards in the trading of mules. Then in fne

winter of 1871, Mr. E. moved to Missouri, settling first in Safine County,

where he remained only a short time, when he removed to Pettis County,

setding in the northern part of the county, where he has since resided.

Mr. Elmore was married Feb. 2, 1858, to Miss Sallie Payne, a native of

Gallatin County, Ky., and a daughter of Newton and Susan Payne. From

this union there are eight children, all of whom are now living, viz: New-
ton P., Bettie, John, Emma, Frank, Oliver, Susan and Sallie. Of the

children only one, Bettie, is married, she is married to Mr. A. L. Hag-

gard of Sedalia, Mo. Since Mr. Elmore's residence in Pettis County he

has been engaged in farming and the raising of stock. He owns one of

the finest farms in this section of the county, consisting of 400 acres, well

improved, having a fine commodious residence, barns and other out-build-

ings. Mr. Elmore has not only the conveniences and comforts of life at

his home, but is beautifying the same with many luxuries. Within the

last few months he has made himself a large artificial pond, which he has

stocked with salmon and other fish.

THOMAS E. GREGORY.

Post-office, Longwood. Of the older citizens of Heath's Creek Town-

ship, none stands higher in the estimation of her citizens than the subject

of this sketch, Thomas E. Gregory. He is the son of Peter Gregory,
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who was a native of Virginia. The grandfather was a soldier in the war
of the Revolution and was killed at the battle of Trenton. The subject

of this sketch was born in Boone County, Ky., March 22, 1814, and was
the second child in a family of seven children. His advantages for an

education were limited, there being but few schools in his native county
when he was a boy. After Mr. Gregorv had become a man, he engaged
in trading, for a few years, along the Mississippi and Ohio Rivers. Then
in the winter of 1848, he emigrated to Missouri, settling in the northeast

part of Pettis County, where he has since resided. Mr. Gregor}' was

married Sept. 12, 1845, to Miss Angeline Pittman, a native of Ky., and a

daughter of Williamson Pittman. Mrs. Gregory dying, he was again
married June 15, 1849, to Miss Susan Major, of Saline County, a daughter
O. T. Major, a native of Franklin Count}-, Ky. From this marriage
there were eight children, five of whom are now living, viz: Martha L.,

Joseph E., Nannie S., Mary A. and Olivia M. Since Mr. Gregory has

been a residt^t of Pettis Count}-, he has been engaged in farrring and

the raising of stock. He owns a fine farm of 640 acres, well improved,
with a fine residence, ample lawns, barns and other out-buildings. In

politics Mr. Gregory is a Democrat, and in religion he and his estimable

lady are mem.bers of the Christian Church.

PETER HAY.

Post-office, Longwood. Is the son of Peter Hay, Sr., of Fairfield

County, Ohio, a native of Virginia, but who came to Ohio in the year
1802. He was a soldier in the war of 1812. The subject of this sketch

was'born in Franklin County, Ohio, Ang. 22, 1828, and is the fifth child

in a family of ten children. Mr. Hay received his education from the

schools of his native county. He remained at home with his father's

family, as long as the father and mother lived. In the spring of 18T0, Mr.

Hay moved to Missouri, settling in the northern part of Pettis County
where he has since resided. He was married Jan. 2.5, 186(», to Miss

Lucretia McCleery, a native of Ohio, and the daughter of James McCleery.

From this union there are eight children living, viz: Ida, James,

Josephine, Maudie, Peter, .Minnie, Harry and Harley. Since Mr. Hay
has been a resident of Pettis County, he has been engaged in farming and

raising of stock. He owns one of the finest farms of this section, situated

on the beautiful rolling prairie. This estate consists of 544 acres, well

watered with springs. The improvements are good, consisting of a large

house, barns and other buildings. Mr. Hay is a man of commendable

business, habits and stands well with his neighbors. Mr. Hay has on

his farm fifty head of cattle, twenty-seven head of horses and mules,

275 head of sheep, and other stock in proportion. In politics, Mr. Hay is

an Independent.
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EDWARD S. HARTE.

Postoffice, Lookout. One of the most enterprising yonng men of Pettis

County is the subject of this sketch, Edward S. Harte. He is the son of

Edward Harte, a native of New York, but who had lived in Washington
City for a number of 3^ears previous to his death, which occurred in the

year 1861. The subject of this sketch was born in Washington City,
Oct. 22, 18.58, and is the youngest child in a family of five children. He
received his primary education principally from the common schools of

Johnson County, Mo., completing his course of study at the State Normal,
at Warrensburg, Mo. Mr. Harte enjoys the untrammelled fetters of a

bachelor's life, though he is very popular among his friends, and the

society in which he moves. Mr. Harte is engaged in farming, and the

raising of stock. The home farm owned by himself and two sisters is a

fine homestead, consisting of three hundred and twenty acres, situated on

the eastern line^ of Heath's Creek Township. It is finely improved, having
a handsome large residence, beautifully located on a high* mound, with

ample woodland groves surrounding it. The brother and sisters have

other lands to the amount of one hundred and seventy acres. Mr. Harte

through his industry, integrity and business qualifications, bids fair to

become one of Pettis County's most prominent citizens.

DR. J. F. HEDGER.

Postoffice, Sedalia. The subject of this sketch is a native of Wood-
ford County, Ky., and was born, October, 1S3T. He studied medicine in

six different places. He graduated at Louisville, Kentuck}', Medical Col-

lege. In 1871 he came to Pettis County and began the practice o^ his

profession. He was married, March IS, 1876, to Miss Victor Priest, and

this union has been blessed with two children, James A. and George
Priest. In 1874 he moved to his present location, where he owns a fine

farm of forty acres with first class buildings.

JOHN H. HENDERSON.
Born in Buckingham County, Va., Jan. 9, 1805, and is the third in a

family of ten children. John Henderson, his father, was a native of Vir-

ginia, who removed to Allen County, Ky., in the year 1833, where he

lived till his death, which occurred in a few months after settling in that

State. The subject of this sketch received his early education from the

schools of his native State. In the fall of 1828 he moved to Kentucky,
where he lived about eleven years; then in the spring of 1839 he emigrated
to Missouri, settling in the northeastern part of Pettis County, in which

neighborhood he has since resided. He was married, June 24, 1832, to

Miss Mildred Faulconer, a daughter of James Faulconer, of Kentucky.
From this union there were five children, three of whom are living: Emily
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G., born Sept. 8, 1834; Wm. H., born Nov. 22, 1840; Julia A., born July

13, 1842. Since Mr. Henderson has been a resident of Pettis County he

has been engaged in farming and raising stock. He has held different

official positions, having been a magistrate of the peace for over fifteen

years. He has never aspired to political honors. He owns a fine farm of

one hundred and thirty-seven acres, well improved and adapted to the

purposes of farming. In politics he is a Whig from principle, but has

voted the Democratic ticket for several years. In religion, Mr. and Mrs.

Henderson are members of the Christian Church.

CHARLES R. HIERONYMUS.

Postoffice, Longwood. One of the few who first came to settle among
the wild Indians, and to prepare this garden spot of the west for those who
were to come after, is the subject of this sketch. Charles R. Hieronymus
is the son of John Hieronymus, who was a native of Virginia, but

who at an early day moved to Kentucky, and about the year 1822

or '23, he moved his family to Missouri, settling in Howard County,
where he remained until his death, which occurred about the year
1825. Afterwards, about the vear 1826, the mother moved her

family to Pettis, then a part of Saline Countv, which is now known as

Heath's Creek neighborhood, where she lived until her death, which

occurred, August, 1860. The subject of this sketch was horn in

Clark County, Ky., Oct. 25, 1810, and is the ninth child in a family of

twelve children, all of whom are now dead excepting a brother living near

Longwood, and a sister living in Iowa. Mr. Hieronymus' advantages for

an education were very poor; there being no schools in this part of the

country for years afier the family had settled here. On the present site

where Mr. H. now lives there was nothing but a wild and unbroken wil-

derness of forest and prairie when the mother with her famih' first settled

in this section, fifty-six years ago. The only persons who had up to that

time braved the frontier, and erected iheir cabins, were Hiram Jenkins,

SylvestA" Hall, Thos. Marlin, who had come with thejenkin's family from

Tennessee, and Ambrose Anderson. These are the first and hardy few

who first settled in this part < f tlie county. The Indian trail, which led to

their trailing posts at Boonville and Arrow Rock, came in a short distance

of the present residence of Mr. H., and on many occasions he remembers

of seeing them following in their trail to their trading posts. And fre-

quently he has stood in his door yard and shot the wild defer as he bounded

by, or loitered on the green hills near by his cabin. All kinds of wild

game were plentiful, such as wild deer, elk, bear, wild cats and turkey, etc.

Mr. Hieronymus, who is a mason by occupation, has on several occasions

taken trips south to Arkansas and Texas, to work at his trade and see the

country. He was married, April 22, 1841, to Miss Susan France, a
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daughter of Henry France, who is at the present time living in Bates

County, Missouri; from this marriage there are eight children, viz: John

H., MoUie, SaUie, Nancy, Vassie, Frank, Benoni and EHzabeth. Mrs.

Hieronymus dying, lie was again married to Miss Susan Kemp, a daughter

of Wm. Kemp, of this county; from this union there are seven children,

viz: Willie A., Charles, Susan, EHza, Hopie, Reuben and Kemp. Since

Mr. H. has been grown, he has been engaged at farming, and working
at his trade. Betbre the war he raised considerable of stock, such as

mules and cattle. His home farm consists of one hundred and seven acres,

and he owns other lands to the amount of two hundred acres, and also a

forty acre lot adjoining Longwood.

AARON JENKINS.
The oldest hving setder of Pettis County. He is the son of Hiram

Jenkins, who was a native of Pennsylvania, but at the first settling of Ten-

nessee the father, then nineteen years of age, settled in Tennessee, where

he remained until he was about forty-five years of age, when he emi-

grated to Missouri, crossing the Mississippi River, a little above the

mouth of the Missouri River. He then journeyed up to Arrow Rock,

where on account ot floating ice in the river he remamed in camp from

eight to fifteen days, at which time the river freezing, he crossed his

family on the ice. i\fter crossing at Arrow Rock, he made his way to the

mouth of Heath's Creek where he stopped until spring, then proceeded to

what is known as Marlin Branch of the above named cieek, and there

settled. Marlin Branch derived its name from Thomas Marlin, one of the

pioneers who came from Tennessee with Mr. Jenkins. These three

pioneers were Thomas Marlin, John Bolds and Hiram Jenkins. It is said

that these were the first settlers within the present bounds of Pettis

County. It was in the spring of IS 17, long before the county was organ-

ized or named. In the year 1808 or 1809, Fiiram Jenkins, who was one

of the noted "Nimrods" of his day, came to Missouri on a hunting and

trading expedition, landing at St. Louis. He bought a lot of salt kettles

and freighted them to the mouth of Heath's Creek. The kettles were for

John and Robert Heath, who were here engaged in making salt. The
Heaths remained here manufacturing salt until about 1811, the Indians

then becoming hostile and killed or captured two of their employees. The

Heath Bros, then abandoned the salt works and returned to St. Louis.

This was the first manufactory of salt in this whole region of the country.

The creek ever after retained the name of these brothers. After Hiram

Jenkins had settled on Marlin Branch, he remained till 1834, when he

returned to Tennessee. Aaron Jenkins, the subject of this sketch, was

born near Murfresborough, Tenn., July 0, 18u8, and was brought to

Missouri with his father's family in the winter of 1816, and the following
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spring came within the present bounds of Pettis County. The father,

Hiram Jenkins, lived here several years before the land was placed in

market, and then entered from the government a good farm. Aaron has

made his home on this land from that day to this. Many are the interest-

ing incidents and stories Mr. Jenkins relates of the early settlers, their

trials, hunting expeditions and toils in their efforts to subdue the frontier

and establish for themselves homes. This was at that time a wild and

unbroken forest and prairie, but is now a beautiful and well cultivated

domain of farms provided with all the advantages of modern civilization.

The Indians who had been removed by the government westward, often

returned on hunting expeditions, and while here invariably gave the set-

tlers great annoyance by pilfering and committing other small depreda-
tions. At one time when the Shawnees were in this neighborhood, Hiram

Jenkins gave their chief orders not to return; but contrary to instructions

the following fall they returned to the neighborhood, whereupon Pliram

Jenkins with his sons and a few neighbors went to the Indian camp and

treated the chief to a severe whipping with hickory rods. This had its

desired eflect. The Indians immediately departed and heeded well the

instructions of Father Jenkins. The first day of May was by long custom

called " Wolf Day," when the settlers collected and divided into two com-

panies for the purpose of hunting wolves, and the company which brought
home the greatest number of wolf scalps were treated to a supper

by the other. The reason they selected the first of May was, that at about

this time the old wolves rendezvoused with their young, when, at about

the break of day, they would howl as a signil for the younger ones to col-

lect and hide themselves in some thicket. After Aaron Jenkins had grown
to manhood he engaged in farming and raising stock. In the year 1832

he was appointed sheriff and held the oflice till the next regular election.

When this (Pettis) county was about to be set ofl' from those north, Mr.

Jenkins took an active part in forwarding the project and rode through

every settlement, advocating his views. Mr. Jenkins has held several

county and governmental positions. He was married Feb. 6, 1836, to Mary
J. Fristoe, a daughter of Amos Fristoe, the first clerk of Pettis County.
Nine children were reared by this worthy pair, seven of whom are now

living, viz.: Susan D., Lucy A., Thomas H., Lydia V., Kate, Richard H.

and Annie M. Mrs. J. having died, he was again married in September,

1859, to Mrs. Margaret Solomon, and one child, Sallie E., is still living.

Mr. Jenkins has a farm of 300 acres, where he now resides and has lived

since March 1, 1836.

JAMES S. JENKINS.

Post-office, Longwood. Is the son of Baldwin Jenkins, who was a

native of Tennessee, but an early settler of Pettis County, locatjng in that
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part of the county known as Heath's Creek township, but at that time it was
a part of Saline County. Here the father remained until his death, which

occurred about fifteen years after his locating in this county. The sub-

ject of this sketch was born in Pettis County, Feb. 14, 1S34, and is the

fourth child in a family of six children. He received his education from

the common schools of his native county. Mr. Jenkins was married in

April, 1858, to Miss Susan Kelley, a native of Kentucky, but who came to

Missouri with her father's family when quite young. From this union there

are ten children living, viz: Robert B., Rodney, James, Ida, George, Ellen,

Charles, William, Nimrod and the baby. Since Mr. Jenkins has been

doing business for himself he has been engaged in farming and the raising
of stock. He owns a fine farm of 200 acres, well improved, with dwell-

ing, a fine new barn and other buildings. He has recently bought a

mill which he will soon put in operation.

EMMANUEL R. KELLER.

Post-office, Lookout. A history of a county would be incomplete were
we to confine ourselves strictly to the early citizens and first settlers of the

county, for we find that among the influential and thorough business men
are those of more recent date. And such a one is the subject of this

sketch, Emmanuel R. Keller. He is the son of Daniel and Susanna Keller,

the}'^ being natives of Pennsylvania; but when young his father moved to

Fayette County, Ohio, where he resides at the present time, at the

advanced age of eight-five; his wife, the mother of Emmanuel, is living

with the father at the advanced age of eighty-one. They are living on

the old homestead farm the grandfather settled when he first emigrated
to Ohio. The subject of this sketch was born in Fairfield County, Ohio,

Jan. 4, 1829, and is the fourth child in a family of eleven children. He
received a good, liberal education from the schools of his native county,

attending iwo terms of college at the Otterville University of Westerville,

Ohio. After Mr. Keller had completed his education he engaged in

farming with his father in Ohio, where he remained until the year 1864,

when he moved to Kansas, settling at Ft. Riley, remaining there until the

spring of 1868, when he moved to Missouri, settling at first in Henry
County, where he remained until December of that year, when he

moved to Pettis County, settling in the northern part of the county, where

he has since resided. He was married Jan. 9, 1851, to Miss Elizabeth

Emmick, a native of Virginia. From this union there are nine children liv-

ing, viz: Sylvia A., Virgil E., Milton W., Clinton W., Alma E., Luella

C, Fannie F., Ollie M. and Lovina. Since Mr. Keller has been a resi

dent of Pettis County he has been engaged in farming and the raising of

stock. He owns a fine farm of 750 acres, well adapted to the purposes
of farming and grazing; these lands extend to the rich bottoms of Lamine
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River. In politics Mr. Keller is an Independent, and in religion is a mem-
ber of the Christian Church.

WM. L. POWELL.
William L. Powell is the son of Wm. C. Powell, and a first cousin

of the great poet Cowper. The grandfather, Wm. Powell, was a soldier

in the Revolutionary War, and received a wound in the battle of Bunker
Hill. The subject of this sketch was born in Wilson County, Tenn., Jan.

7, 1825, and is the fifth child in a family of six children. He received his

education in the common subscription schools of this county. When he

was but eleven years old, his father emigrated to Missouri, settling in the

northeastern part of the county, where he lived until his death, which
occurred August 25, 1843. Since the son has been a man |grown he has

been engaged in farming and the shipping of stock. He was married

Nov. 29, 1849, to Miss Mary J. Tussey, a native of Howard County, Mo.,
the daughter of Jonathan Tussey. From this union there are ten

children, all of whom are now living, viz: Nathaniel R., Richard M.,
Annie E., James A., Sallie C, Wm. L., John S,, Frank B., Ernest B. and

Rosie L. The farm on which Mr. Powell resides was settled by Mr.

Alfred Brock in the 3^ear 1833, and the first frame house built in this part
of the county was built on this farm. Mr. Powell has in his possession,
as a memento, a gun owned by his grandfather 140 years ago. Mr.

Powell owns a farm of 260 acres, well improved, and well adapted for the

purpose of farming and grazing.

DR. H. C. SPEARS.

Post-office, Longwood. Is the son of Geo. C. Spears, of Fayette

County, Ky. The grandfather, John Spears, was a soldier in the Revolu-

tionary War, and was at the surrender of Cornwallis. The subject of

this sketch was born in Fayette County, Ky., Feb. 14, 1828, and is the

fourth child in a family of six children. He received a primary education

fi"om the subscription schools of his native county, and after reading medi-

cine about two years he took a course of lectures at Transylvania Medi-

cal College, Lexington, Ky., it being the gieat medical college of the

southwest, presided over by that celebrated surgeon. Dr. Dudley, who
was a lecturer and instructor at the time young Spears was a pupil. After

graduating he located in Mercer County, Ky., where he practiced his

profession for three years. In the spring of 1854 the Doctor moved to

Missouri, settling in Cass County, where he remained until 1861, when he

enlisted in the cause of the South, serving under Gen. Forest and remain-

ing in the service about four 3'ears. When the war closed he moved his

family to Boyle County, Ky., where he practiced his profession for two

43
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years. Then in the spring of 1868 the Doctor moved his family to Pettis,

settling in the northeastern part of the county, where he has since resided,

engaged in the practice of his profession. He was married in May, 1850,

to Miss Susan M. Munda}-, a native of Woodford County, Ky. From
this union there.are five children, viz: Geo. E., Margaret A., Sarah J.,

Mary B. and John C. Mrs. Spears dying, he was again married,^August,

1877, to Mrs. Henrietta Aldredge, a native of Missouri. From this union

there are two children, viz: Hugh O. and Lee. The Doctor owns a fine

farm of 300 acres, well improved, and excellently adapted to the purposes
of agriculture and grazing. Dr. Spears is one of the leading physicians
in his part of the county. He keeps abreast with the progress of his pro-
fession and in his practice is universally popular and very successful. He
is a genial, hospitable gentleman.

FRANK S. TESCH.

Post-office, Lookout. If we were to confine our biographical sketches

strictl}^ to the young men of Pettis County, we could do no better than

beginn with the subject of this sketch, Frank S. Tesch. He is of

German descent, and the son of James G. Tesch, who is a native oi Ger-

many, but who came to America in the year 1836, and is now^ a resident

of Sedalia, where he has lived most of the time since he came to this

county. The subject of this sketch was born Feb. 24, 1261. He received

his education from the public schools of Sedalia. He is a single man, and

has been engaged in farming his father's farm, which is situated

in the northeastern part of Pettis County. This farm has a historical

connection, besides being one of the finest farms in Pettis County. At a

point on this farm, near the intersection of Pettis and Cooper counties, is

the place where it is supposed a large number of Spaniards were massa-

cred by the Indians. One thing is true: at a very early day there were

erected at this point fortifications, their works being plainly visible at this

time. And besides there is a large mound, which has been partly

exhumed and the bones of human persons found, other than those belong-

ing to the Indian race. To what race of people these belonged can only

be conjectured, for the mound and fortifications had all the marks of age
when the first hunter and settler came to this part of the country. There

might be many pages written describing these ancient landmarks, but we
must conclude by saying that the fortifications seem to be ingeniously con-

structed on a ridge of high, white sand stone, overlooking an extensive

valley along what is now known as Lamine River. Here is a field, wide

and extensive, for the historian and scientist, and, strange to say, there are

hundreds living on the entensive prairies and along the beautiful water
courses of this beautiful country who do not know that such a land-

mark exists. There is also on this farm one of the finest springs in Pettis
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County, to see which, and drink of its cool waters, is worth a day's ride

to anyone. Young Tesch was the first male child born in Sedalia, and we

believe the young Queen City of the Prairies can look upon her first born

with all the feelings of pride; for he possesses those traits of character

which go to make up the honorable, prosperous business man.

MRS. SARAH VV. WHARTON.

Post-office, Longwood. Is the relict of the Rev. W. Wharton, who was a

native of Guilford County, N. C, but who came to Missouri about the

year 1837 and settled in Green County, where he lived until the fall of

1S43, when he engaged in the ministry, he being connected with the

Methodist Church South, in which work he was engaged until his health

failed him. Mrs. Wharton is the daughter of Spencer Clark, of North

Carolina, but who moved to Missouri in 1834, and setded near Springfield,

in Greene County, where he lived until about the year 1847 or 1848, when

he moved to Texas, where he lived until his death which occurred about

the year 1870. Mrs. Wharton was educated in the schools of her native

county in North Carolina. She was brought to Missouri with her father's

family, and lived with them in Greene County until her marriage with the

Rev. Warren Wharton, which event took place May 5, 1840. She shared

the young minister's struggles through the first years of his ministerial

work, and rejoiced with him in the success which after years had brought.

And thus

"To love, to bliss, their blended souls were given,

And each, too happy, asked no brighter heaven."

The Rev. Wharton's life was one of untiring industry nnd activity in his

field of labor, and although nature had given to him strength an buoyancy
of life, his health at length gave way and he was forced to give up the

work he loved so well, and at Marshfield, in Webster County, on the

12th day of December, 1874, his active and useful life, after a long and

gradual decline, was brought to a close. After his death Mrs. Wharton

moved to Pettis County, and made her home for about two years with

her brother-in-law, D. W. Burford. She has since moved to her farm,

where she has made her home with her nephew. The homestead is a

fine one, consisting of 275 acres, finely improved, with a fine residence and

other buildings.
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CHAPTER XVI.—LAMONTE TOWNSHIP.

Introduction— Location— Pliysical Features— Creelts— Roads— Statistics—Population—
Old Settlers—Post-office—Churches—Old Ministers—Teachers—Present Schools—
Civic Societies—Cemeteries—Agriculture and Stock Raising

—
Biographical.

"
Here, too, dwells simple truth; plain innocence;
Unsullied beauty; sound, unbroken youth,
Patient of labor, with a little pleased ;

Health ever blooming; unambitious toil;

Calm contemplation and poetic ease. "

There is no place more delightful than the beautiful country home,
adorned as it often is with nature's lovely foliage and surrounded by fruits,

shade and flowers. Our longings in a city life are frequently for the quiet

home of our childhood; that home where, awav from the toil and care of

business, surrounded by every comfort that heart could wish, we were

wont in early days to spend many idle hours breathing the wholesome,

pure and fresh air known only to inhabitants of rural districts. The sky
had a brighter hue, the birds had a sweeter song, the cattle had a more

mellow low, and the watch-dog a more trusty bark in those halcyon

davs of yore than at the present time. Then, when our every wish was
for the whirlpool of business life, we knew not the happiness by which we
were surrounded, and had no conception of the step we were taking, to

enter the more active, more exciting and deceiving pleasures of city life.

As the pioneers of any settlement pass away, posterity begins to feel the

need of an accurate record of the early events of their' immediate locality.

What we shall attempt to relate in the following pages of Lamonte Town-

ship, may be fresh in the memory of the few remaining pioneers, but they
will in time pass away to swell the innumerable army of the dead, while

these pages remain to tell their story. It may be that much history of

the early settlers is already lost. This, then, we should cherish the more,

that other generations coriiing in our footsteps may profit by the laudable

results, and be better able to steer clear of the rocks on the sea of life.

In the location and physical features of the township, we shall confine

our readers mainly to the surface, soil and rocks, and general trend of the

ground. Prospecting for coal has been carried on to some extent in the

eastern part of the township, but the results did not afford sufficient

encouragement to justify a great outlay of capital, and only private con-

sumption was supplied. The rock is principally sandstone, and a stratum

underlies the surface at a distance of about fifteen feet. The soil is a rich

black loam, and this township being situated in that extremely fortunate

part of Missouri known as the richest belt in the State, the products
amount to astonishingly large figures. Water is abundant and of the

best quality. Living wells are obtained by going down from twenty-five
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to forty feet, and the township being drained by the Mudd}^, Walnut

Branch, Brushy Creek and South Fork, there is plenty of water for stock.

The land is gently undulating, and no place is it low and flat enough to

retain moisture for a sufficient length of time to be swampy. Timber is

not abundant, although on each side of the streams before mentioned

enough grows to supply the home consumption. The vegetable products
of the township are such as are common to this latitude of the State.

Fruit grows to perfection. Instead of visiting the timbers in the fall, as

the early settlers were wont to do in days past, and gathering the abund-

ance of wild fruit, now each homestead is surrounded by its own orchards

and vine3^ards, and the products far overbalance the home consumption.

Shipments of fruits of all kinds is an industry of this township that cannot

be overlooked in any accurately written review of the township.
L»amonte Township is bounded on the north by Blackwater Township,

on the east by Dresden Township, on the south by Elk Fork Township,
and on the west by Johnson County. It occupies the western central

portion of Pettis County.
The first settlement of the township was made in 1832, or about one

year before the organization of the county, by Mr. and Mrs. R. Craghead.
Mr. Craghead was from Bedford county, Ky,, and Mrs. C. from Frank-

lin County, the same State. Mr. C. came to Callaway County, Mo., in

1819 or 1820 and remained in that county until he was married in 1831,

when he emigrated to Pettis County and settled in the southeast corner of

Lamonte township, and erected the first house built in the township. This

w^as a primitive affair, having, as all early residences had, logs for the

walls and "clap boards" for shingles, and being destitute of the modern

innovation of carpets, or even a rough floor. Soon after this first settlement

people began coming into the township, and soon neighbors were numer-

ous enough to visit, the nearest being twelve or fifteen miles away. For

in those pleasant days visiting was indulged in and enjoyed as thoroughly
as it is at the present da}'.

The pioneer settlers of the township were Mr. and Mrs. Robert Crag-

head, who came in 1832 froin Callaway County, Mo. Mr. Craghead
died several years ago, and Mrs. C. still resides on the old homestead.

They had a family of five children, all of whom were born, raised and

married on the original home site. Judge Jesse Pemberton came to the

township a few years later, from Kentucky; Mason Pemberton, also from

Kentucky, James Kemp, Jefterson Moore, Dr. Thomas Pemberton, Geo.

Pemberton, Harrison James, Mr. Hughes, (his wife, Mrs. Jane Hughes, was

probably the oldest person living in Lamonte township, being ninety-

six years of age); Squire Sharpe, Dr. J. W. Snoddy, J. S. Fleming,
from Virginia; Reuben DeHaven, from Virginia; Solomon Sandridge,
Wm. Moore, Andrew Carroll, John H. Divers, Wm. Brown, now a mer-
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chant at Knobnoster, Johnson County, Missouri; Thomas McKeean,
father of the notorious Jack McKeean; John F. Yankee, John W. Allen.

James Kemp passed quietly from life at his home, near Lamonte, Pettis

County, Mo., on the 14th day of May, 1882, in the eightieth year of his

age.
He was attacked with paral3-sis on the loth day of December, 1878, from

which he only partially recovered. On the 11th day of February, 1882,

he became worse but revived some, until on the night of the Sith of March,
from which time he revived only at times, until death came.

He was born in Franklin County, Virginia, in 1803. He emigrated to

Pettis County, Missouri, in 1832. He made a visit to his native State in

1833, and returned with his brother William and family in 1834. He

spent eight years of his life as a public officer. In the year 1843, he was

appointed to fill a vacancy in the office of Constable, after which he was
elected to the same office. He was elected Sheriff in 1847 and again in

1849, serving two terms. He was married to Mrs. Sarah Kemp in 1850.

His wife and only son, Thos. W. R., survive him to mourn his loss.

He was a good husband and father in the truest sense. He was a father

to his step-children and step grandchildren. He was the true friend of

those in distress—the friend of the widow and orphan. Yet he never

boasted of his charity.

The community in which he lived has lost one of its best neighbors
—

the county one of its best citizens. He will be sadly missed by many
besides his family.

From the Sedalia Democrat of May 10, 1882, we clip the following
notice of Mrs. Hughes' death:

" Mrs. Jane Hughes, of Lamonte, died Monday afternoon at 4 o''clock.

She was ninety-six years old on the 14th of last February, and was the

oldest lady in Pettis County. She has over 60 grandchildren and was
the mother of fifteen children, the first wife of Mr. Vincent Terry being
one of her daughters. She leaves four children-living. Her husband died

in 1854."

The parties who first entered lands had greai difficulty in locating their

farm from the fact of imperfect surveys. It was not a pleasant experience
to erect a house and afterward find it was located ou another's land. This,

however, in course of time was remedied and farms began to take definite

proportions, improvements to spring up, and the red man and game, with

which the country abounded, were graduall}' forced back and finally dis-

appeared until now no traces that this was at one time, and that within the

memory of those yet living, a wilderness.

The first justice of the peace in the township was Jesse Pemberton.

The records of courts of those early days have been destroyed or lost, and

no doubt with them are also lost many very interesting historical facts*
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Since then a number of persons have occupied the position, and could our

more pretentious courts of similar character now view the simple and

perfect justice meted out in early times, it might hasten and simplify the

now too tiresome details.

The educational interests of the township were looked after at an early

date; when neighbors became near enough a suitable person was employed,
and schools were held at private houses. The first district school house in

the township was erected on the farm of Mr. R. Craghead, about two miles

southeast of the present town of Lamonte. A school building still stands

on the same site in which school is tauijht from six to nine months every

year. The name of the first teacher who occupied this pioneer structure,

which was erected in 1842, is Mr. Thomas Hill. The gentleman now
resides in Sedalia. After teaching in this house sometime, he married

one of his pupils, Miss Catherine J. Craghead. The schools of the town-

ship are now numerous, and under the supervision of instructors who take

a pride in their profession.

The first church erected in the township was built about 1837. Prior

to this meetings had been held in the private houses scattered over the

prairies. This first chapel was built about four miles south of the present
town of Lamonte, on Walnut Branch, by the Baptist denomination. The
first minister was the Rev. Martenis Embry. The next church building in

the township was erected in the present town of Lamonte. The present

churches of the township are situated in Lamonte. They are the Metho-

dist Episcopal, South, Baptist and Christian.

The M. E. Church, South, is now located in Lamonte, but the class was

organized in August, 1866, by L. P. Siceloft', the first year of his ministr}',

at Craghead school house. The original members were, Robert and

Nancv H. Craghead, John S. and E. L Fleming, Mr. and Mrs. Higgin-

bothan, Mrs. Elizabeth Moore, Mrs. Monroe Garton. In August, 1866,

Rev. L. P. Siceloft'held a protracted meeting in the grove, near Craghead
school house, lasting two or three weeks, and resulted in twenty addi-

tions to the class. The present church building was erected by Joseph
Bradfield and Robert and R. Brown, carpenters. It was completed in

1871, and was dedicated by Rev. Wm. M. Prottsman, Presiding Elder of

this district. The complete list of pastors up to date is: N. Talbot, J. R.

Bennett, P. E.; J. M. Kellev, A. M. Rader, W. S. Woodars, M. Adkin-

son, P. E.: W. M. Bewley, M. M. Pugh, P. E.; M. Dusun, J. B. H,

Wooldridge, who being aflHicted, resigned the charge, and J. J. Hill was

appointed by J. L. D. Blevens, P. E., for 1882. The number of the

present membership is one hundred and three. The church has a large

and prosperous Sunday School connected, with an average attendance of

seventy-five. Dr. J. P. Walker is Superintendent, and Mr. Joseph Brad-

field is Secretary. The church building is situated on the north side of
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town about one-fourth of a mile from the Missouri Pacific depot. It is a

frame structure, and was erected at a cost of $2,0(»0. It is thirty-two by-

fifty feet, eighteen feet to the ceiling, a gallery with good seats, two-story

belfry with good bell. It is carpeted and has a good organ.

In the Scdalia Bazoo of May 7, 1882, we find the following: "The
Methodist Episcopal Church at Lamonte was partially burned on Sunday,

March 26. It was supposed at the time that the loss would have to be

put up with, as there was no insurance. But the truth was that R. T.

Gentry, the insurance agent, and J. R. McConnell, the well-known farmer,

had gone to work some time before the fire and secured a thousand dollar

policy on the church property. This was kept a profound secret from

the congregation, and they made up their minds to pocket their loss by

the fire, and be done with the matter. Accordingly on the Saturday after

the fire, a collection was taken up at a church meeting, for the purpose of

defra\dng the expenses of repairs to the building. The people were lib-

eralh' disposed under the circumstances, and over sixty dollars

were subscribed. After this was done the adjuster of the insur-

ance company, G. D. Carpenter, of this city, came forward and

informed the deluded trustees that he was ready to pay the amount of

indemnity due from the company. He was as good as his word, and

passed over $69.90, so that the church, by this little scheme on the part

of Messrs. Gentry and McConnell, is richer by the amount of the some-

what unusuall}^ liberal contributions from the members of the church. It

was a good scheme, and something new in the way of replenishing the

depleted exchequer of a church."

The Church of Christ (Christian) at Lamonte was organized Decem-

ber 7, 1869, by James Randall, with nineteen members; W. D. Snoddy
and B. R. Taylor were elected elders of the congregation. The latter

resigned the position in 1874, and WilHam Duke was elected to fill his

place. The number of additions to the church since its organization by
confession and baptism has been 85; by commendation from other con-

gregations, 108; making 212 enrolled upon the church books. That

number has been materially diminished as follows: By death, 6; by

removal, 86; by withdrawal from fellowship, 29; making 121 who have,

gone out, and leaving 91 as the total number remaining in the organization

at this date. The church has met regularly every Lord's day since its

organization to worship. It has a Sunday School connected, with an

average attendance of seventy-five pupils. J. W. Snoddy is Superintendent,

and Maggie Price, Secretary. The following persons have preached for

the church in the order in which they are named: James Randall, two

years; O. Spencer, one year; C. A. Hedrick, one year; James

Morgan, one year; J. C. Crippin, one year; William Dorsey, one year;

G. Phillips, one year; S. K. Hallam, one year; E. M. Berry, one year;
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O. Spencer is preaching for the church again this 3'^ear. The church build-

ing is a frame, thirty-six by fift}^ feet, and was built in the the year 1870,

by James Randall, at a cost of about $1,200. The original membership
includes the names of W. D. Snoddy, E. A. Snoddy, Vincent Terry, Sallie

A. Terry, W. B. Shaw, Susan Shaw, John Schutt, Utica Schutt, John Bard,

Marv A. Bard, B. R. Taylor, Pollv A. Taylor, Thomas Terr}^, N. Terry,

George Duncan, Bettie Duncan, Lanora Hardy, Olive Shaw and Fannie

Bard. Total, nineteen. Since the church building was completed about

$150 have been expended in the way of repairs, carpets, and other

improvements: the principal part of which has been within the last year.
The congregation makes weekly contributions for contingent expenses,
and every three months makes liberal additions to the fund for missionary
work.

The Baptist Church of Lamonte township was organized, as before

stated, in 1837, and is one of the oldest churches in the county. The

present house of worship in the town of L,amonte was built by the Pres-

b3^terians, and the congregation of the town consisted of twenty members,
as follows: Rev. W. S. Webb, W. B. Webb, A.J,. Hall, Sarah H. Hall,

Kittie Fleming, Mrs. Frier, Maud Fleming, H. A. Webb, Priscilla Brown,

Margaret Watson, Zoda Webb, Sallie Fleming, E.J. Webb, Jennie Crag-
head, Mrs. Oberb}^, Cardv Oberby, Susan Strickle, E. S. Webb, G. F,

Bailey and M. L. Bailey. Total, twenty.
On August 29, 1874, Bethel Church, with a membership of thirty,

united with the congregation above mentioned, since which time they have

continued to grow and prosper. For three years the congregation wor-

shiped in the Presbyterian Church building, and for three more years
their services were held in the building belonging to the Methodists. The
former building was purchased in 1880, from the Presbyterian congrega-
tion. It was erected in 1871, and cost about $1,500. Rev. W. S. Webb
v.'as pastor for four years, and Rev. J. K. Godby has been pastor for the

last three years. The present membership is fift3'-four. The Sabbath

School was organized last April (1881), with A. J. Hall, Superintend-
ent. Present Superintendent, J. S. White; Secretary, A. Gresham;
Scholars on the roll, 100, and the average attendance is seventy-five; num-

ber of teachers, ten ; the library contains 130 volumes. The church has

a good bell and organ. Its aisles and rostrum are carpeted. The building

was dedicated by Revs. W. S. Webb and Godby in December, 1880. The

present membership is fifty-four. 'The property is worth about $2,000,

and out of debt. Preaching is held every fourth Sunday. The Church

Clerk, E. C. Baldwin, died recently, and the church is at present without

a clerk.

The population of Lamonte Township, including the village of Lamonte,
is 1,263. It contains 23,040 acres, nearly all tillable land, and its value.
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from the Assessor's books of 1881, is $187,390. From the assessment list

of property for 1882, based on- the ownership of property, June 1, 1881, it

is found that there are -160 horses in the township, valued at $16,150;

mules, 146, and valued at $6,010; cattle, 1,072, valued at $15,38.5; sheep,

1,734, valued at $2,515; hogs, 1,029, valued at $2,405. Total valuation

of real estate and live stock in the township is $229,855. The farm and

orchard products are greatly in excess of the hcnne consumption, and

large and valuable shipments of wheat, corn, flax, apples, peaches and

small fruits are annually forwarded to western markets; either Sedaha,

Kansas City or St. Louis being near at hand, and such shipments always

bring the best prices. Land has advanced in value from $12.50 per acre

in 1856, to $50 in 1882.

TOWN OF LAMONTE.

This beautiful litde village was laid out in 1866, by Col. Frank Hickox

and J. R. McConnell. The first house erected in the village was built by
a Mr. James. Mr. James was a resident of the township w^hen he moved

to the future village, and died only a short time since. In 1862 the grading
of the Missouri Pacific Railroad was commenced and the track was laid,

and cars commenced running through the town in 1864.

The village at that time was called Boomer, named in honor of Mr.

Geo. Boomer, a prominent bridge contractor of the railroad. It retained

this name for a member of years afterwards, and was the source of much

annoyance to travelers who wished to come to Lamonte. The reason

was that the post-office, which had been established for a number of years,

was called Lamonte, and after it was moved to Boomer, it still retained

the original name. How the name of Lamonte came to be given to this

little western town is one of the things lost with the demise of the earliest

settlers.

The town is pleasantly situated on both sides of the Missouri Pacific

Railroad, in the eastern part of the township, about twelve miles west of.

Sedalia; it contains between five hundred to six hundred inhabitants, and

has a good retail trade, and in the fall of 1880 there were larger shipments

of grain from it than from any town of its size between Kansas City and

Sedalia. Its business men are careful buyers and thoroughly understand

their trades, and as a consequence have never been cramped for capital

to operate on during the past two years of close times. From its founda-

tion to the present time, Lamonte has had a steady growth, and from a

village of one house and one store, it has grown to its present important

place in this county.
The first store house was built by Mr. Geo. H. Hardey. Mr. John

Harris was employed to manage the business of the concern. This was

in 1866 or '67. The building is a frame, and still stands, and is now occu-



HISTORY OF LAMONTE TOWNSHIP. 887

pied by Mr. J. S. White, with a large stock of hardware, implements, etc.

In the minutes of the proceedinors of the County Court, we find the act of

incorporation of the village of Lamonte, under date of December 6, 1880»

The first meeting of the board was held, Dec. 15, 18S0, and Mr. A. J.

Hall was elected President of the Town Board, and J. R. Wade, Clerk; P.

S. Zilhart was elected Marshal. The statement of the first year's business

from April 1, 18S1, to April 1, 1882, is as follows: Receipts: Taxes col-

lected on personal property, $156.60; taxes collected on real estate, $52.45;

fines, $17; saloon license, $100; other license, $o; total, $320.05. Expendi-
tures: Amount paid out on warrants drawn on the City Treasurer,

$236.68: leaving a balance in the City Treasury at the close of business

at the end of the fiscal year, on March 31, 1881, of $92.37. The present
officers of the village are: Dr. A. P. Snoddy, Mayor; Jule Busch, Clerk;

members of Town Board, J. R. Wade, Thomas Emerson and Wm. Emer-
son.. The number of votes cast at the recent election was sixty-five. The

judges of election were, B. B. Taylor, D. W. Reesman, and S. R. Davis;

T. J. Emerson, John Patton, Clerks.

The Lamonte postoffice was established at an early da}-, about one mile

south of the present site of town, and until it was moved to the village it

was on the Georgetown and Lexington stage road, and Mr. Thos. J.

Mason was postmaster. After the railroad was completed the postoffice

was moved into the village. Mr. James S. White is the present post-

master, and came here from Pennsylvania about six months ago.

The depot of the Missouri Pacific Railroad is located near the center of

the town. The first agent was H. C. Spaulding, who occupied the office

for two or three years, and was succeeded by J. R. Wade, now a pros-

perous merchant of the village. R. H. Wheeler is the present agent, and

has held the position for two years. The annual receipts of the office for

several years past have averaged $10,000 per year. The average ship-

ments in car-loads have been: Cattle, fifty; hogs, thirty; sheep, ten;

corn, one hundred and seventy; wheat, seventy-six; oats, ten; flour,

twenty; merchandise, ten; flax seed, twenty; total average car-load ship-

ments per year, three hundred and ninety-six.

The school building is located in the western part of the village, and

was erected in 1866. It has since been enlarged until it is capable ot

accommodating 150 to 175 pupils. It is at present in a flourishing con-

dition. Numbers of pupils from the country adjacent attend each session

on account of the superior facilities offered and higher branches taught.

At present it is in charge of Prof. H. F.Triplett. Mrs. Wood is his assist-

ant. There is an enrollment in the two departments of about one hun-

dred and thirty.

The secret societies of the village are the I. O. O. F. and I. O. G. T.

Lamonte Lodge, No. 296, Independent Order of Odd Fellows, was
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instituted May 1, 1873, by Elias Bixby, D. D. G. M., and a charter was

granted the organization on June 7, 1873. The charter members were:

John J. Bunton, J. D. Sherman, John B. Bmoks, Thomas Terry, Elder

White. The tirst officers were Thomas Terry, N. G.; Joseph J. Pen-

quite, V. G.; John B. Brooks, Secretary; John D. Sherman, Treasurer.

The present officers are R. E. Guthrie, N. G.; Dr. John P. Walker, V.

G.; H. L. McNeil, Recording Secretary; J. R. Wade, Permanent Secre-

tary; George H. Shepherd, Treasurer. The number of members at

present is thirty-one. There are no Grand Lodge officers numbered in

the membership. The hall is a commodious one, a two-story brick, ele-

gantly finished on the inside. It was erected in 1876 at a cost of $1,,500.

The Independent Order of Good Templars was organized in April,

1881, by B. Y. Nesbit, District Deputy. The officers of the lodge at

present are H. F. Triplett, W. C. T.;" Miss Susie Martin, W. V. T.;

George Hardy, Recording Secretary; Willie Taylor, Financial Secretary;
Mrs. P. Barkar, Treasurer; Joseph Bradfield, Lodge Deputy. The
Order has now a large and flourishing membership. They occupy a

large and commodious hall over Hardy & Company's dr}^ goods store,

and hold their meetings weekly. It has been the object to rid the town
ot drinking saloons, and they have met encouraging success on every
hand. The prosperous condition of the present Order speaks volumes

for the feelings of the people on this important subject.

Lamonte Cemetery was laid out shortly after the founding of the town.

It occupies a position in the northwest part of the village, and is on a beau-

tiful spot of ground. As yet, few attempts have been made to beautify it,

but where nature has such admirabh' adapted surroundings, art can do

little to make them more pleasant.

The streets of Lamonte are laid out at right angles to one another, and

in front of many gif the residences ornamental trees have been planted
which greatly add to the appearance of the streets.

A complete business directory of the town includes: James S. White,

postmaster and dealer in hardware, stoves, tinware and agricultural imple-

ments; Hardy & Co., dry goods and general merchandise; Jule Busch,

dry goods, clothing and general merchandise; R." S. McNees, dealer in

grain; Lutz & Fisher, furniture; Mrs. J. T. Craghead, milliner; Dr. A.

P. Snodd}-, druggist and physician; J. T. Craghead & Co., dry goods,

etc.; J. R. Wade, dry goods, boots and shoes, clothing and general mer-

chandise; James W. Overby, barber; H, T. McArtor, druggist; D. W.
Reesman, barber; T. S. Fisher, druggist; John Patton, restaurant; D.

L. Aulsbaugh, harness and saddlerv; W. L. Chiplev, tinner; W, C.

Wise, livery and sale stable; W. F. Hainline, blacksmith; S. J. Withers,

restaurant; J. J. Penquite & Co., lumber, implements, etc.; A. J. Hall,

grain dealer; R. H. Wheeler, agent Missouri Pacific Railroad; Drs. J. P.
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Walker and S. Conway, physicians and surgeons; B. B. Taylor, Justice

of the Peace; James H. Harrison, Justice of the Peace; Lamonte Mill Co.,

millers; John Fitzgerald, section boss Mo. P. R. R.; E. H. Bulow,

engineer; W. S. Files, proprietor Lamonte House; Guthrie & West, insur-

ance and real estate agents; C. C. Kemp, proprietor Southern Hotel;

John W. Baldwin, insurance agent; James B. Mekeal, contractor and

builder; R. J. Yocum, butcher; James Bradfield, carpenter; George H.

Shepherd, nurseryman.

W. H. AGEE.
Lamonte Township. The subject of this brief sketch was born in

Pettis County, in April, 1857. His father and mother were both natives of

Kentucky, and were among the first families who settled in this County.

Henry came to Missouri about the year 1832, and settled on Flat Creek.

Wm. Agee, the father, was a merchant for many years. W. H., who is

the oldest son, was educated in the town of Dresden. His early life was

spent in his father's store as clerk. While living at Dresden, he was

married, in May, 1878, to Miss Nannie U. Terry, daughter of Vincent

Terry. The result of this union has been two children, Harry E. and

Walter D. For the past five years he has been associated with his father

in mercantile business at Fayetteville, Ark. Disposing of this, he returned

to Pettis County, wh-ere he is at present living on a farm, and is one of the

promising and enterprising men of this Township. He and his worthy
wife are both acceptable members of the Christian Church.

JULE BUSCH.
Lamonte Township. Few men have been more enterprising or have con-

tributed more to the wealth and development of Lamonte than Mr. Busch.

He is a native of Missouri, born in St. Charles County, in July 1838. His

father and mother were both born in Prussia and emicrrated to the United

States in 1834, and came directly to Missouri, and settled in St. Charles

County, where he engaged in the mercantile business. Jule's mother

died in Sti Charles County, in 1852. Jule Busch was in part educated in

his native County. He attended the St. Louis University about three

years. In 1859.. during the Pike's Peak excitement, he crossed the plains

on his way out, meeting men in great numbers returning. He then deter-

mined to go through to California, and spent some time in traveling over

the territories. In 1869 he returned to Missouri, and in the following year
he came to Lamonte and soon after started a store, consisting of a general
stock. He has been very industrious in studying the wants of his custo-

mers, and has always done a large business. In 1870, Mr. Busch was

married to Miss M. V. McConnell, a lady of rare domestic habits. They
have three children, Laura, Levalle and May. Mr. Busch has a neat and

comfortable residence and large store house well stocked.
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I. L). CRAGHEAD.

Post-office, Lamonte. Farmer. Wag born in Pettis County, Missouri,

Feb. 10, 1847. He was raised and educated in this County. He was

married when quite young to Miss Virginia A. Williams in 1867, daughter
of Bartlett Williams, one of the pioneer settlers of this County. She was

born and raised in Pettis County. By this union they have six children:

Ella, Walter, Estella, Maud, Ernest and Gertrude. Mr. Craghead has

been quite extensively engaged in raising hogs, cattle and flax. In 1869

he moved to his present farm, which contains 140 acres, all in cultivation,

with a good house and barn. In 1878, he engaged in the growing of

broom corn, in which he has been quite successful, shipping his crop to

Jefferson City and St. Louis. Mr. Craghead can relate many interesting-

hunting incidents
;
and one of his special amusements is the gun and the

chase.

J. T. CRAGHEAD.

Merchant; post-office, Lamonte. Was born in Pettis County, Missouri,

April 12, 1849. His father, Robert Craghead, was a native of Virginia;

was born in 180o and emigrated to Missouri in 1818, and settled in

Callaway County. In 1832 he removed to Pettis County and settled on

a farm near Lamonte, where he continued to reside until his death in 1875.

His mother is also a native of Virginia, was born in 1812, and is still living

and enjoying moderate health. J. T. Craghead's grandmother, on his

mother side, is still living, and has attained the advanced age of ninety-six

years, and was originally from Virginia; James T., the subject of this

sketch, commenced business for himself in 1871, engaging in agricultural

pursuits, which he followed until June, 1881, when he retired from the

farm and embarked in the mercantile trade. He has a large store and well

stocked. His mild and gentlemanly ways secure to him a large and

prosperous business. He has been twice married, first to Miss L. F.

Matthews in 1870, a native of Virginia. She died in 1877, leaving two

children, Charles H. and William E. He married for his second wife

Miss M. E. Shoup, daughter of Thomas Shoup, Esq., a native of Ohio.

They have one son.

JOHN H. DIVERS.

Farmer. Prominent amonj^ the farmers and stock raisers stands the

name of John H. Divers. He was born in Franklin* County, Va., Nov.

22, 1828. He came to Missouri with his mother when about thirteen

years of age. His father having previously died. He and his mother

settled in Pettis County in about the year 1841, north of Sedalia, where

he continued to live until the death of his mother in 1846. She was a

native of Virginia and her maiden name was Elizabeth Harris, daughter
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of Frances Harris, Esq. Mr. Divers after the death of his mother took a

trip back to his native State; returning to Missouri he then went to Ore-

gon and California; returned in 1854, and engaged in farming. In 1856 he

was married to Miss Mary Brown, daughter of James Brown. In 1859

he moved to his present farm, which contains about 335 acres of choice

land. He has a fine, substantial two-story residence with a good barn.

He has been one of the enterprising farmers and stock raisers of his neigh-

borhood; he is a man ofgood taste and order, having ever3^thing in its right

place. In 1873 he lost his first wife. She at her death leaving eight

children, James F., Edward A., Mary A., Elizabeth, John W., William

R., Christopher D. and Amanda Lee. He married a second time in 1877,

Mrs. Margaret Carpenter, daughter of Adam Carpenter. B\' this

union they had one daughter, Lulu F. Mrs. Divers had live children

b}^ her former husband. Mr. Divers commenced life in very straightened

circumstances, but being a man of great energy, has succeeded well in

life, has set a good example, is a good neighbor, widely known and much

respected.

WM. DUKE.

Farmer; post-office, Lamonte. Prominent among the farmers of this

township who have contributed largely to its wealth and development,
stands the name ofWm. Duke. He was born in Sandusky Count}^ Ohio,

Dec. 12, 18-1:1. His father was from the north of Ireland, and his mother

from the State of Vermont. They were among the early settlers of San-

dusky County, Ohio. William's father died when was about thirteen

years of age, and his mother soon after. Being deprived earl}/ in life of

a father and mother he was thrown upon his own resources to fight the

battle of life for himself. He received a limited education from the com-

mon schools. In 1861 he enlisted in the Federal Army, joining Company
D, 72d Ohio, Three Years Men, and served until the summer of 1865, par-

ticipating in the following battles: Shiloh, Corinth, siege of Vicksburg,
and many others. On June 11, 1864, he was captured and imprisoned at

Andersonville, and was held until April, 1865, when he was paroled and

placed upon the ill-fated vessel whose boilers exploded near Memphis,
Tenn. Out of 1,600 only 600 escaped with their lives. Mr. Duke was

picked up, clinging to a board, in an unconscious condition,5havmg floated

some ten miles down the river from the scene of the accident. In 1865

Mr. Duke returned to his home in Ohio and engaged in farming, which he

followed until 1869, when he then came to Missouri and settled on his

present farm, which contains 160 acres of choice land. He has a neat

and comfortable residence and one of the best brick cellars in the township.

He has a good barn and out-houses. In 1867 he was married to Miss

Emeline Brim, daughter of Geo. Brim, who was a native of England, and
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born in Devonshire in 1807, and died in 1873. He was a gentleman

widely known and universally esteemed. Mrs. Duke's mother was a

native of New York and is still living; was born 1812. Mr. Duke's

family consists of three children, Estella C, Snella M. (twins), and Wm.
A. They lost three children, two aged respectively four and six years,

and one in infancy. Mr. and Mrs. Duke are worthy members of the

Church of Christ.

WM. H. EMERSON.

Among the successful merchants of Lamonte may be mentioned Mr.

Emerson, who was originally from North Carolina, born in Chatham

County, October 11, 184.5. He resided in his native County until he

attained his majority. He came with his two brothers to Houstonia, this

County, m 1871
,
where he remained until January, 1879, during which time

he was engaged in the mercantile trade. During the same year, (1879),

he came to Lamonte and accepted a position as salesman in the store of

G. H. Hardy, which position he held for two years. He then became a

partner with G. Hardy & Co., which firm still exists. The firm is doing a

large business, and Mr. Emerson is held in great esteem by his many cus-

tomers. He has served as Township Trustee. He is a member of the

Odd Fellows Lodge, also of the Good Templars.

W. S. FILES.

Proprietor of the Lamonte House. This popular hotel keeper is a

native of Maine, and was born near Belfast Bay, June 11, 1824. When
about eleven years of age he moved with his parents to Ohio, where he

was principally raised and educated. He spent a portion of his boyhood

days on a farm. In 1852 he was married to Miss Martha A. Ewers,

daughter of Robert Ewers, Esq. She is a lady possessed ofrare domestic

habits and is well fitted for the important position she so nobly fills. Mr.

Files continued to farm until he came to Missouri in 1866, when he settled

on a farm near Dresden, Pettis County, where he resided until 1876, when

he moved his family to this place and took charge of the Lamonte House,

which is the principal hotel in the town. He sets a good table, makes his

guests feel at home, and his clever and genial ways make his house partic-

ularly attractive. Mr. Files has a family of five children, four girls and

one son, viz: E. A., E. T., AHce B, Wm. E., and Anta B. Mr. Files'

parents were both natives of Maine, and emigrated to Ohio in an early

day, and lived to a ripe old age.

T. S. FISHER.

Druggist. Mr. Fisher is a native of Missouri, and was born in Saline

County, Sept. 16, 1850. His father, Jacob Fisher, was born in Pennsyl-
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vania, Sept. 15, 1812. His mother was born in Louisa County, Va., July

6, 1817. She moved with her parents to Chillicothe, Ohio, in 1834. She
was married in 1838, and moved with her husband to Missouri, Cooper

County, in 1839, thence to Saline Countv in 1843, in which place Jacob
Fisher died in 1853. T. S. Fisher, our subject, was educated at the com-
mon schools. He set out in life early. He accepted a clerkship in Mr. T.

C. Ramey's store, which position he held two years. Then he entered a

drug store as clerk, in Arrow Rock. From this place he went to St. Louis,

engaging in the commission business. Next to Sedalia, this county, and

accepted a situation in a drug store. In about one year after he came to

Lamonte and engaged in the drug trade, associating himself with Dr.

Conwa3^ This firm did business two years; disposing of his interest he

engaged in farming. In 1881 he again engaged in the drug trade, and

to-day is doing a neat business. In 1878 he was married to Miss Lucy I.

Wimer. She was born in Virginia. They have one daughter, Bertha

May.

JOHN S. FLEMING.

One amon<^ the most successful farmers and stock raisers of Lamonte

Township. Was born in Fauquier County, Va., in the town of Upper-
ville, Sept. 3, 1828. His early education was in the common schools of

that day, spending most of his youth on the farm. From this he went out

as traveling salesman for a large hardware and implement house, continu-

ing with them about seven years. In 1858, he came to Missouri, locating

near the present site of Lamonte. He soon commenced dealing extensively

in mules and cattle. He is now the owner of two large farms, one con-

taining 440 acres, lWO and a half miles northeast, and the other containing
310 acres joining the town of Lamonte, both under excellent cultivation.

On the latter named tract he built a fine substantial residence, surrounded

by a beautiful lawn adorned with evergreens, provided with granaries

and other buildings. Mr. Fleming has also given much attention to cul-

tivation of fruit, having on his farm a fine orchard of bearing trees. He
served as justice of the peace during the war. One year he worked with

his teams on the M. P. R. R. He has always given his influence on the

side of temperance and oi'der. On the fifteenth day of May, 1860, he was

united in marriage to Miss Eliza I. Routsong, daughter of P. Routsong, a

native of Maryland. They have been blessed with four children, two of

whom are still living, now attending college, James A. and Emma L. His

parents are dead; his father, a native of Pennsylvania, died in 1854, and

his mother, a native of Virginia, died in 1874, Mr. and Mrs. Fleming are

worthy members of the M. E. Church, South. Mr. Fleming is a good

neighbor, wiflelv know-n and much esteemed.

44
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MONROE H. GARTON.
Farmer and stock dealer. Prominent among the young men of this

township, may be mentioned the name of Mr. Garton. He was born in

Pettis County, Mo., Nov. 3, 1848. Receiving a common school educa-

tion, he set out early in life for liimself, engaging in farming, in which he

has been quite successful. In Oct. 1873, he was united in marriage with

Miss Lucinda B. Pemberton, daughter of Geo. M. Pemberton, Esq. She
is a native of Pettis County, and a lady of culture and refinement. By
this union they have one son, Wm. E. Garton. In 1873 Mr. Garton

moved to his present farm which at that time contained 160 acres, given
him by his father. He has been very active and industrious, and his

landed estate now numbers 1,290 acres, all under fence and cultivation.

He has been one among the successful cattle and hog dealers of Lamonte

township. He has always endeavored to feed all the corn on his premises.

Latterly he is turning his attention to the raising of wheat, his land being
first class for the growing of this product. Seven hundred acres of his

land lies in Vernon County, on which his herds of cattle graze. Mr. Gar-

ton is a man possessed of more than ordinary executive ability, and as a

financier he has few equals. He is a good neighbor, is widely known
and much respected. He is a prominent member of the M. E. Church.

P. J. HAGGARD.
Farmer. Among the successful young men we mention Mr. Haggard.

He is a native of Kentuck}-, and was born in Clark County, on Nov. 3,

1842, and continued to reside in his native county until 1869, when in the

same year he was married to Miss Mary D. Sneed, daughter of Wm. D.

Sneed, of Carroll County, Ky. He moved with his new bride to Missouri

and settled in Knobnoster, where he remained three years, living at differ-

ent points. In 1881 he moved to his present farm, containing ninety-six

acres of choice land, all in cultivation, with a comfortable dwelling house,

where he is engaged in farming. Mr. H. has been a member of the Mas-

onic fraternity for several years; he and his worthy wife are also accept-

able members of the Christian Church.

W. F. HAINLINE.

Wagon-maker and blacksmith. Was born in Montgomery County,

Ky., April 16, 1843, and lived in his native State until he attained his man-

hood, and in the fall of 1870 he came to Lamonte. His father, who is a

native of the same State, came to Missouri in 1872 and is still living. His

mother, who is still living, is also from Kentucky, and is the daughter of

David Rose, Esq., of Ky. W. F. Hainline, who is our subject, on first

coming to this place engaged in blacksmithing, at the same time carrying
on wagon-making, and has operated the principal shop in Lamonte, and
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owns a good farm containing 125 acres of land. He also runs the princi-

pal meat market of Lamonte. He devoted considerable time and atten-

tion to farming and feeding stock. He has been married twice; first to

Miss Jessie H. Johnson in 1866, daughter of Jeft'. Johnson, Esq. She died

in 1874, leaving three children, viz.: Alice, Rosa B. and James J.
In 1875

he was again married to Miss M.J.Johnson, a sister of his former wife.

Through this union they have two children, viz.: Laura E. and an

infant. Mr. H. has served as member of the City Council, and is a

prominent member ot the Odd Fellows Lodge, No. 296.

A. J. HALL.

Post-office, Lamonte. Farmer. In this sketch we have not a pioneer,

but a man who has been identified with almost every enterprise tending

to the public good. He is a native of Canada, and born Feb. 23, 1828.

When quite young he moved to the State of New York, where he

remained until 1862, then went to California, remaining there for several

3^ears, during which time he was engaged in the lumber trade. After this

he returned to his old home in Stephenson County, Ills. In 1869 he came

to Missouri, stopping a short time in St. Louis, and soon after came to

Lamonte, where he has been a resident ever since. He immediatelv

engaged in the lumber and grain business, and has been one of the largest

shippers between this point and Kansas City. He also has been a success-

ful cattle feeder. He also owned an interest in the Lamonte flouring

mills. At present he holds the office ofMayor, and has been a member of

the school board for the last ten years. In 1852 he was united in marriage

with Miss Sarah Holmes. The result of this union has been one son and

one daughter, viz.: Ollie E. and Judson H. Mr. Hall has been a member

of the Masonic fraternity for many years. He and his worthy wife are

both prominent members of the Baptist Church, and among its fiberal

contributors.

GEORGE H. HARDY.

Farmer. He is a native of Missouri, and was born in Boonville, Cooper

County, Feb. 9, 1813. His father, George H. Hardy, after whom the sub-

ject of this notice was named, is still living, and is now a resident of John-

son Count}^ this State. His mother was a native of New York, and died

in the year 1874. Geo. H., our subject, was principally raised in the city

of St. Louis, and was educated at the City University. In 1866 he came

to Dresden, this county, with his parents, and clerked in his father's store

until 1868, when he, in company with his parents, moved to Lamonte,

where he still continued to clerk for his father. On the twenty-eighth day
of Oct., 1868, he was married to Miss Laura Dawson, daughter of J. L.

Dawson, of Pettis County. In the fall of the same year Mr. Hardy
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moved to his present farm, which contains 120 acres of land, well improved,
with a comfortable dwelling. He belongs to the Good Templars Lodge,
and he and his worth}' wife are members of the Christian Church. They
have four children, Mary B., Alice D., E. F. and Virgil.

THOMAS G. INMAN.

The suject of this brief sketch is not a pioneer, but came to this county
in 1876, and for energy and genuine pluck he has few equals. He is a

gentleman who has been well raised, is possessed of fine feeHng and keen

sensibilities. He was born in Martin County, Indiana, in the year 1845.

He received a good English education in the schools of his State. He
served as Sheriff' of Martin County two years. At the age of twenty-
one he was elected township trustee, which office he held continuously for

a period of eight years. Mr. Inman was engaged in dealing in stock for

several years in Indiana. He came to Lamonte in the fall of 1879, and spent

the winter, when in the spring he engaged in farming and now is cultivat-

ing between 500 and 600 acres of land. Mr. Inman was married in 1865,

to a very worthy lady, b};-
whom he has two children.

THOMAS J. MASON.

Farmer. Squire Mason, as he is familiarly known, is one of the oldest

inhabitants of Lamonte'. He was born in the Territory of Missouri, Oct.

1, 1820. His father, Henry Mason, was a native of Pennsylvania, he hav-

ing moved wath his father to the Territory of Missouri, which is now St.

Louis County, in the year 1804, where he died about the year 1823.

Thomas J., our subject, when about thirteen years of age, entered a store

as clerk, and a portion of the time in business for himself, and followed

this until 1855, when he moved to Pettis County, and settled on his pres-

ent farm, containing 325 acres, near the town site of Lamonte. Mr. Mason

was married in St. Louis County, in 1847, to Miss Sarah A. Cordell,

daughter of x\rthur Cordell. She is a native of Missouri. In about the

year 1856 Mr. Mason was electeil to .the office of justice of the peace,

which he held continuouslv until 1863. He was the tirst postmaster of

Lamonte, receiving his appointment about 1857, and held the office for a

period of eleven years. After the close of the war he resigned, when he

again was elected to the office of justice of the peace, and served until

1877. He also held the office of township trustee. Mr. Mason's family

consists of five children, John W., Robert W., MaryL., Thomas R-. and

Joseph C. Mr. Mason's mother was a native of Kentuck3',and was mar-

ried in St. Louis County. She died Aug., 1823. Mr. Mason is a kmd

neighbor, is widely known and universally esteemed.
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JAMES R. McCONNELL.
There is perhaps no citizen who has contributed more for the buildinor

up of Lamonte than Mr. McConnell, he and Col. Hickox being the

founders of the town of Lamonte. Jas. R. McConnell was born in Dau-

phin County, Penn., Jan. 17, 1818. He received his education in a log
school house with two months of school during the year. He continued

to reside in his native county until 1S54. He engaged in farming. In

the year 1854 he moved to Lebanon County, where he remained a short

time, then moved to Dayton, C, in which place he lived two years. In

1859, removed to Missouri with the small sum of $412.00. He first set-

tled in California, this State. During the war, he and Mr. Hickox were

largely engaged in furnishing beef and forage to the government. In

1867, he moved to Lamonte with his worthy friend Hickox, and engaged
in the lumber trade. Mr. McConnell, Hickox and Busch develooed the

coal mines. Disposing of his interest in this, he turned his attention to

farming. In 1877 he purchased the Lamonte Mills. Soon after, these

mills were burned, but were rebuilt, the style of the firm being Hall, Con-

way & McConnell, commonly called the Lamonte Mill Co. These

gentlemen are among the most prominent in the place. Mr. McConnell
was married to Miss C. Whitman, of Reading, Penn., in 1845. They
have four children living: William T., John A., Roland S. and Linda C.

Mr. McConnell has a stately residence and one of the largest bank barns

in the county. His farm is the best of soil and is well improved. Mr.

McConnell is a good neighbor and public spirited, ever ready to assist in

any enterprise tending to the public good.

CHARLES E. McCONNELL.
Lamonte Township. Dealer in hardware, tin and stoves. He is a

a native of Missouri, and was born in St. Charles County, Jul}' 9, 1856.

His father and mother were both natives of Missouri and his grandfather
was originally from Kentucky. Charles E., who is the subject of this

notice, received a good common school education at the schools of this

State. When quite young, he accepted a clerkship in the store of Jule

Busch, which position he held for ten 3''ears, and afterwards was engaged
for a short term with Mr. E. A. Keaser, a grain merchant. In 1881 he

embarked in his present business. His long experience in mercantile life

and extensive acquaintance have well qualified him for his business. In

1879, he was married to Miss Susie Larkins, of Brownsville, Mo. They
had one son, Robert C.

*

JOHN T. MOORE.

Post-office, Lamonte. Farmer. Was born in Pettis County, Mo.,

March 30, 1850. His father, T. J. Moore, was a native of Kentucky,

I
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born April 10, 1814. His mother, whose maiden name was Elizabeth

Coates, was born in Kentucky, April 29, 1817. His father emigrated to

Missouri in 1835, and settled on Heath's Creek. In 1857 he moved on to

the farm now occupied by John T,, where he continued to reside until

his death in 1864. His mother is still living, health moderatel}' good, and

in the enjoyment of all her faculties. John T. was raised and educated

in this count}^ He has been actively engaged in the raising of mules

and other stock. He now owns the old homestead, containing 250 acres

of choice land, all in cultivation. He has been quite extensively engaged
in feeding cattle and hogs. Mr. Moore was married Sept. 14, 1879, to

Miss Susan F. Ireland. She is also a native of Missouri, and daughter of

W. Ireland, Esq. They have one daughter, Laura A.

J. D. PACE.

Farmer. The subject of this brief sketch was born in Edmonson

County, Ky., Oct. 26, 1832. He lived in his native count\^ until 1853,

when he came to Missouri. In 1857 he w^as married to Miss Eliza C.

Franklin, daucrhter of Martin Franklin. He came to Pettis Countv in the

fall of the same year, since which time he has been engaged in farming.

He commenced life in meagre circumstances, but by honesty and industry

he has succeeded in making whatever he undertook a success. He has

reared a famil}^ of seven children, viz.: Mary E., Geo. T., Benjamin F.,

Vinnetta H., Lucy J., Robert L. and Cora B. Mr. Pace owns a good
farm lying near the present town site of Lamonte, all in cultivation, with a

comfortable dwelling.

M. MORGAN PRICE.

The subject of this notice is the eldest son of Hugh and Ann E. Price,

and was born on the 11th day of November, 1860, in Wayne County, O.

His father was a native of Ohio and was born in Holmes County, Ma}'-

18th, 1820. His mother was also a native of Holmes County, and was

born May 24th, 1832. In the fall of 1865 Mr. Hugh Price moved his

family to Pettis County, Mo., and settled near the present site of Dresden,

where he remained until 1873, when he removed to Lamonte, and settled

on the old homestead, where the family now resides. He was one of the

most worth}^ and enterprising citizens of Pettis Count}-, and was the owner

of three farms, numbering in all nearly 700 acres. He built on the farm

near Lamonte, a fine two-story residence, with good out-buildings. On
account of failing health he went to the medical springs in Columbus,

Johnson County, Mo.' at which place he died. His mother died at Fayette-,

ville. Ark., in the year 1872. Morgan, our subject, was principally raised

and educated in this county. He attended Fayette College in Arkansas,

also several terms at Woodland College. At present he is engaged in
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farming, and is regarded as one of the enterprising as well as intelligent

young men of Lamonte.

CLARK P.EED.

Farmer. Owns a fine farm of 160 acres near the present town site of

Lamonte. Was born in Mahoning Count}^, O., Oct. 1st, 1818. His father,

who was a native of Virginia, was one of the early settlers of Mahoning
County, Ohio. His mother, whose maiden name was Mary Turner, was
born in the State of New Jersey. Mr. Reed's parents are both dead.

Clark was reared and educated in his native county. His occupation has

always been that of a farmer. He is one of the model farmers of Lamo"nte

township, and is perhaps one of the most successful of his neighborhood
as a wheat and flax raiser. He also has a good orchard, containing
chosen varieties. Mr. Reed came to Pettis Countv, Mo

,
in the fall of

1868. He was married to Miss Margaret Winnans in 1840, of Mahoning
County, Ohio. She is a very estimable lady and very refined in her habits.

They have four boys, viz.: James G., J. V., Wm. E. and Charles M. Mrs.

Reed is a worthy member of the Presbyterian Church.

W. M. RUTAN.
Farmer. Was born in Trumbull County, Ohio, in 1837. He lived in

his native county until his '21st year. He attended school at Warren,
Ohio, after which he taught school one term. He then engaged in agri-

cultural pursuits, which he followed successfully until 1869, w^hen he came
to Lamonte and engaged in the grocery and boot and shoe trade. Disposing
of this he went into the milling business, following this one year, after

which he engaged in farming and now owns a fine farm containing l*iO

acres of choice land, just outside of the town limits. His improvements
are good. In 1872 he was married to Miss Anna Helb, daughter of

Jacob Helb, Esq.

'JOHN SHARP.

Farmer. Among the pioneer settlers of Pettis County may be men-

tioned Mr. Sharp. He was born in Greene County, Tenn., Nov. 13, 1846.

When about eight years of age he came to Missouri with his parents.

His father, Wm. Sharp, was also a native ot Tennessee. His mother was
also born in Tennessee, and is still living. She came with her husband

to Missouri in 1856, and settled in Johnson County, where they remained for

a few years and then removed to Pettis County, where John's father died in

1866. His mother, who is still living, is a sprightly old lady, well remem-

bering the hardships and trials of a pioneer life. Her health is good.

John Sharp was reared and educated on a farm. He was married in 1869

to Miss Sarah J. Hughes, daughter of J. A. Hughes, who was originally
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from Kentucky, and one among the worthy Sfc;ttlers of this county. By
this union they had five children: John W., Emma E., Homer H,, Wm.
E. and James W. Mr. Sharp owns a fine farm of 120 acres, with a new
and neat residence. Besides being one of the enterprising farmers, he

deals considerably in stock, and is considered a good judge of cattle. Mr.

and Mrs. Sharp are acceptable members of the Church of Christ.

W. B. SHAW.
Farmer. Prominent among the farmers who have set a good example

by way of industry and energy stands the name of Mr. Shaw, who was
bor'n in Smith County, Tenn., Aug. IT, 1S12. His father, John L. Shaw,
was a native of Virginia. His mother was also from the same State, and

they emigrated to Tennessee in an early day. W. B. Shaw resided in his

native State until he attained his majority and received a common school

education. He was married in 1S31 to Miss Elizabeth Allen, daughter of

J. Allen. In 1833 he moved" to Kentucky, where he lost his wife, leaving
two children, John and Jourdon. Mr. Shaw then made a business trip to

Texas, and on his return to Kentucky was married to Miss Ruth Spur-
lock. In 1838 he removed his family to Missouri, and on arriving in the

State he had a small yoke of cattle, a cart and $25. He first stopped in

Miller County, thence to Cooper County, where he spent some five years,
and in the spring of 181:1: removed to Pettis County, and settled on Pleath's

Creek, where he remained until 1861, when he moved his family to his

present farm situated in Lamonte Township, and which contains 448

acres of choice land, nearly all in cultivation and under fence, with a neat

and substantial residence, with a large barn and numerous out houses.

Mr. Shaw has been one of the leading stock-raisers of his neighborhood.
He has been very successful in all his undertakings. Mr. Shaw lost his

second wife in 1852, she at her death leaving five children. In 1855 Mr.

Shaw was married to his present wife, Mrs. Susan Reed, a native of Ken-

tucky, and a most amiable lady, by whom he h^s had three children. 'Mr.

Shaw has raised a family of ten children, all living and doing well. He
and his wife and seven of the children are members of the Christian

Church. Mr. Shaw is a man well known throughout this county, and is

much respected.

GEORGE H. SHEPHERD.

Proprietor of the Lamonte Nurseiy. He is a native of the State of

Indiana, and when quite young moved with his parents to Iowa, where he

was principally raised and educated. He remained in that State until the

year 1860, when he came to Pettis County, Mo. He first commenced the

nursery business at Smithton, this county, where he continued until 1S70,

then came to Lamonte and established his present business, having one
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among the best nurseries in Pettis County. He has been awarded a num-
ber of first premiums on his trees at man}^ of the county fairs. At the

Brownsville fair he took nearly all the first premiums. He has one thou-

sand standard pear trees, perhaps the best in the State. For his enterprise
in this direction he is deserving of much credit. He owns 125 acres of

choice land in connection with his nursery. He is widely known, and

personally is a genial gentleman.

Dr. a. p. SNODDY.

Physician. Post-otiice, Lamonte. Among the early settlers who stand

prominently identified with the medical profession, may be mentioned Dr.

Snoddy, who was born in Franklin County, Mo., March 2-1, 184T. His

father was originally from Virginia, emigrating to Missouri in 1839, stop-

ping in St. Louis County several years. He moved to Pettis County in

184.5, where he is still living. He was many years one of the leading

physicians of this county. His mother, who is also living, is a native of

Missouri. Her maiden name was Elinor Brown. She raised a family
of eight children, all of whom are living. Dr. A. P. Snoddy commenced
the study of medicine in 1868, after which he entered the Eclectic Medical

Institute of Cincinnati, and graduated in 1870. In August, the following

year, he commenced the practice of his profession, opening an office in

Lamonte, where he has enjoyed a large and lucrative practice. His

brother conducts the principal drug store in Lamonte. He was married

in this county in 1868, to Miss Frankie Felix, daughter of Dr. W. S. Felix.

Dr. S. and his worthy wife are both prominent members of the Christian

Church.

Dr. W. D. snoddy.

Physician, Prominent among the medical profession in Pettis County
stands the name of Dr. W. D. Snoddy, who was born in Virginia, March

20, 1822. He came with his parents to Missouri in 1839. His father,

David Snoddy, by birth, was a Virginian. On corning to Missouri he first

settled in Franklin County, on a farm, on which he lived until his death, in

1847. His mother, who was also a native of Virginia, died in Franklin

County, in 1868. The Doctor was principally raised and educated in this

State. While living in Franklin County he commenced the study of medi-

cine, and took his first course of lectures at the Medical College of Ten-

nessee. He returned to Missouri and commenced practice in Jasper

County, this State, after which he took his second course of lectures at the

Eclectic Medical College«of Cincinnati, O., and graduated in the spring of

1850. He then returned to Missouri and located at Georgetown, where

he continued to practice until 1856, when he moved to his present farm.

It contains 400 acres. Here he has lived and conducted his practice until
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the present time. The Doctor has a fine two-story residence, a good barn

and other buildino^s. Together with an extensive practice he carried on

farminiT. He was married in Franklin County, to Miss Elinor Brown, in

1846. She is the daughter of Benjamin Brown, ot' the same county, who
came to Missouri in ISOt!. The family consists of eight children, all liv-

ing: x\dolph P., Nettie C, now Mrs. W. F. Jones, EHzabeth F., A. C, A.

H,, who is now at St. Louis attending medical lectures, J. W., Charles,

dying when two years old; Ella, now Mrs. H. C. Conwa}-, and Anna M.

The Doctor and his family are members of the Christian Church.

JOSEPH F. STAPLES.

Prominent among the farmers of Lamonte Township, who from a small

beginning have achieved almost unparalleled success, we present the

name of Mr. J. F. Staples. He was born in Orange County, Va., May 1>,

1846. His parents are both j-et Hving in his native State. J.
F. started

out in life with a limited education and scantv means, and about the first

work he did was in a machine shop; quitting this he then engaged in

borinof oil wells, in w^estern Virmnia. Hearingf of the beautiful State of

Missouri, possessed of vast and wealthy resources, he determined on

going w^est, and in the fall of 1866 he came to this State and hired out to

work on a farm by the month. After which he went to the State of

Kansas; not liking the country, he returned to Pettis County, rented a

farm and went to w^ork in earnest and has been very successful. In 1870

he married Miss Sarah L. Routsong, a native of Missouri, and a daughter
of C. Routsong, who is now making her home with her daughter, and

who is now eighty-two years of age, a native of Maryland, born in 1800.

Mr. Staples now owns a fine farm of 186 acres of very choice land, with a

good, comfortable house and a new barn, and a good young orchard. He
is one of the enterprising farmers and stock traders of his neighborhood.
He has a family of four children, is a prominent member of Odd Fellows

fraternity, and he and his worthy wife are acceptable members of the M.

E. Church, South.

M. K. SWOPE.

Farmer. Prominent among the pioneer settlers of Pettis County, may
be mentioned Mr. M. K. Swope, who was born in Pettis County, Mo.,

March 22, 1830. His father, Jesse Swope, was a native of Kentucky, and

was born in the vear 1814. He came to Missouri in a very early day and

settled in Howard County, near Boonville, where he remained two years

and then moved to Pettis County and settled on*Heath's Creek. At this

time, bears and panthers were numerous. His father continued to reside

here until his death, his mother dying soon after. M. K. Swope, the sub-

ject of this notice, was raised on a farm and educated in a log school house
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with a dirt floor and slab seats. On the '2-2d day of December, 1852, he
was married to Miss Elizabeth E. Handcock, daughter of John R. Hand-

cock, one of the rirst settlers of Saline Countv. In the sprincr of 1853,
Mr. Swope moved to his present farm, locating on the south fork of

Blackwater. His farm contains 1^64^ acres of good land, all in cultivation

except fifty acres of timber. Mr. Swope has always been a farmer, but

has given considerable attention to the raising of mules and other stock.

He has always been an earnest advocate of good schools and has served

many years as school director. He has raised a family of nine children,
all li\'ing, John M., J. R., Virginia M., Joseph T., William F., Francis H.,
Ella C, Adrain C. and Lulu E. Mr. Swope is a member of the M. E.

Church, and Mrs. Swope is a member of the Christian Church. Mr. S.

is kind and aflable in his nature, a kind cidzen and well respected.

'
. THOMAS TERRY.

Farmer and breeder of fine stock. Mr. Terry owns a choice farm of

two hundred and fifty-four acres of land in a high state of cultivation, with

a good two-story dwelling, with a good barn and out buildings. Mr.

Terry was born in Bourbon Countv, Ky., Aug., 12, 1836. His father,

Geo. S. Terry, was a also a native of the same State, born in 1812. Emi-

grated to Missouri, 1830, and settled in Callaway County, where he died

in 1843. His mother was from Kentucky-, and was born in 1816. She
is still living, and makes her home with her daughter. She raised a family

of four boys and one girl. Thomas, who is the subject of this sketch, was

principally raised in Callawav Countv. He learned the cabinet trade, at

which he worked about three years, after which he worked at the carpen-
ter's trade, which he followed fourteen years. In 1^61* he came to

Lamonte, and embarked in the dry goods business and continued about

eight years, during which time he served as Township Clerk. In 1878 he

moved on his present farm and is regarded as one of the successful farmers,

and is turning his attention to the breedinij and raisin^' of blooded

cattle. Mr. Terry was married in Callawav County, in 186", to Miss

Nancy J. Ewing, daughter of Wm. Ewing. They have five children,

Inez L., F. W., C. E., Xancy U. and Thomas L. Mr. Terry is one of the

charter members of Odd Fellows Lodge, No. 296.

ROBERT THOMPSON.
Farmer and stock raiser. He has a fine farm containing one hundred

and sixt}- acres of land in a high state of cultivation, with a good,^neat
substantial residence, and a barn and other out buildings, also an orchard

of choice trees. Mr. Thompson is a native of Butler County, Ohio. I3orn

in 1833. He resided in his native countv until 1861, when he moved to

Indiana and settled in Clinton Countv, where he engaged in farrrting*>
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In 1870 he moved his family to Pettis County, Mo., and settled on

his present farm. At this time there were but few improvements on

his place. Mr. Tliompson has proved himself one of the model farmers of

Lamonte Township. His course has shown what can be done by well

directed energy. Although he has been quite an extensive corn grower,
he has alvvavs managed to feed it on his farm. He has been verv sue-

cessful in the raising of hogs, always having the best. He takes the

best of care of his stock, and his success is largely attributed to this. He
was married to Sarah J. Lewis, of Butler County, Ohio, in 1860. She is

a lady of fine domestic habits. They have two children living, Elmer E.

and Anna M. Mr. Thompson's parents were originally from Pennsyl-

vania, emigrating to Ohio in an early day.

WILLIAM E. VAUGHAX.

Among the successful farmers and stock dealers of this township may
be mentioned Mr. Vaughan, who commenced life in meager circumstances,

and to-dav owns a good farm of eighty acres, and a surplus of capital;

although voung, yet he has employed his time well. He is a native of

North Carolina, and was born on the 22d day of June, 184.5: he spent his

youth on a farm, and when about fifteen 3'^ears of age entered the Con-

federate army and served three and one-half years, and participated in the

memorable battles of Bull Run, Gettysburg, and other important ones.

At the surrender of General Lee, he returned to his native State, (N. C.)

and in 1872 he came to Pettis County, Mo., and engaged to work on a

farm at $2.5 per month, which he continued for one year, when he was

married to Miss Susan Routsong, in 1873, He then rented a farm, and

in 1877 he moved to his present farm, since which time he has been

farming and dealing in stock. He has a family of six children, viz: Joseph

W., Eugene E., Mollie K,, Lula B., Delia S. and Edna. He and his wife

are prominent member of the M. E. Church, South.

J. R. WADE.
Merchant. Among the young and enterprising business men of

Lamonte none stand higher in the estimation of the citizens than Mr.

Wade, who is a native of Virginia, born January 17, 1852. He came to

Missouri with his parents in 1859. His father, Wm. C. Wade, was origin-

ally from Virginia. He emigrated to Missouri and first settled in Cooper
Countv, where he remained until the year 1865, when he removed to Pettis

County and settled on a farm near this place, where he continued to reside

until his death in 18S1, He was born in 1817. His mother was formerh'

a Miss Ruckman, and died in March, 1882, at the residence of her son

James, in Atchison County, this State. J. Reese Wade, the subject, was

principallv raised and educated in this State. He taught school for six
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months, after which he began the study of telegraphy ;
he completed this in

four months, and soon after was appointed agent of the M. P. R. R. Co.,

at this place, and continued in their employ fiom January 8, 1873, until

Sept. 1, 1880, when he retired and embarked in the mercantile business,

associating himself with J.J. Penquite. This partnership continued until

July 24, 1881, w^hen Mr. Penquite retired from the firm, since which time

Mr. Wade has been sole proprietor. His store consists of a general stock.

He is a fine salesman, and his popularity may be inferred bv the success

attending his cai-eer. He was married to Miss J. Price, of Lamonte.

They have two children. Homer H. and babe unnamed. Mr. Wade is

an Odd Fellow, and has held all of the offices in the subordinate lodge.

DAVID WEIKAL.

Among the prominent and successful farmers of Lamonte Township,
we mention the name of Mr. Weikal, who is a native of Pennsylvania,
and was born on the 9th day of November, 1843, and continued to reside

in his native State until 1865, when he went to Ohio and stopped in Ash-

land Count}', where he was married in 1867, to Miss' Mary E. Moore, a

native of Ohio. In the spring of 1870 he moved to Pettis Count}-, Mo.,
and purchased 126 acres of raw prairie land, and commenced to make a

farm, working a yoke of cattle the tirst vear. He has kept adding to his

farm until he now owns 360 acres of choice land, near the present town

of Lamonte, with a good comfortable residence, and has just completed a

fine large barn. He also has two large granaries. He is one of the most

extensive wheat growers of this township, and the most successful flax

raiser in the county. As an agriculturist he has few equals, as he now
cultivates and controls over one thousand acres of land. He is very care-

ful and systematical in his work, and has reduced his theories to actual

practice. His machinery used is of the best manufacture. He is shrewd

in his dealings, is possessed of great executive ability ;
is an lionorable gen-

tleman; is well known throughout this county, and is highly respected.

He has an interesting family of boys and girls.

JAMES S. WHITE.

Present postmaster at Lamonte; was born in Armstrong County, Penn.,

in 1833. Received a select school and college education. His parents

moved to New Castle, where he lived until 1862, when he moved to

Petroleum Center, where he was a resident for twelve years. In 185".> he

was married to Miss Sarah McCreary, of East Brook, Penn., a most esti-

mable and worthv lady. Mr. White spent about four years in the upper
oil region in the Bradford J^istrict, and served as postmaster at Red Rock

three years. He also served as Deputy Grand Master of the Ancient

Order of United Workmen, of McKean County, four years, and two
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3^ears in Venango County, having at the time ten lodges under his juris-

diction. In 1881 Mr. White moved his familv to Lamonte, Mo., arriving

in the month of July, and on December 5th, of the same year, assumed the

duties of postmaster, with his only daughter, Lulu, as assistant postmaster.
She is a quiet, unassuming young lady, well qualified for the position she

so noblv fills. Mr. and Mrs. White and f^ulu are acceptable members of

the M. E. Church. Mr. White has been an earnest worker in Church
matters and Sabbath Schools. He is now Superintendent of the principal

Sabbath School of this place. His long experience in Church and Sab-

bath Schools renders him an efficient teacher. Mr. White is also the pro-

prietor of a neat and well stocked hardware store.

ASHER F. WIMER.

Farmer. Was born in Highland Countv, Va., August 5, 1853. His

father, who was also a native of Virginia, and belonged to one of the first

families of that State, was born in the year 1819. His mother, who was

born and reared in the same State emi^^rated to Missouri with her husband

in 1858, and spent tlie winter in Pettis County; then moved to Johnson

County, where they remained until 1865. The\' then returned to Pettis

County and settled on the farm now occupied by the subject of this sketch,

and where he continued to reside until his death, which occurred July 7,

1876, in Sumner County, Kan., where he was on a visit. His mother is

still living and is making her home with her son, Asher F. He was

reared on a farm, and now is one of the successful farmers and stock

raisers of this County. He now owns a fine farm of 196 acres, all in cul-

tivation, with a fine two-story residence and a large and commodious barn.

Mr. Wimer is a man of superior judgment and is very successful in every-

thing he undertakes. He was married in 1875 to Miss Mary Craghead,
who is the daughter of Robert Craghead, one of the pioneer settlers of

this County. This union has been blessed by the birth of two children,

Pauline E. and Percy T. Mr. Wimer is a member of the Odd Fellows.

He and his worthy wife are members of the M. E. Church.

W. C. WISE.

He keeps the principal livery stable in Lamonte. Was born in Mus-

kingum County, O., October 25, 1835. He spent his boyhood days on

his father's farm, and was educated at the public school. He continued to

live in his native County until he attained his majority. When about

eighteen years of age he learned the potter'? trade, which business he fol-

lowed until he came to Missouri in 1866 and located on Muddy Creek,
where he worked at the pottery business for a number of years. In 1868

he embarked in the grocery trade. Disposing of this he engaged in farm-

ing. In a short time he opened a tin shop in Lamonte. In the fall of 1870
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he was appointed postmaster of Lamonte. Holding this office two years
he resigned. In 1880 he traded his farm for a Hvery stable and stock,
which business he is engaged in at the present time. Mr. Wise was mar-
ried in 1861 to Miss Nancy Jones. They have five children, Effie, Nettie,

Harry, Willie and Clark. Mrs. Wise is a member of the M. E. Church.

CHAPTER XVII.—DRESDEN TOWNSHIP.'

Introduction—Name—Organization—Configuration—Physical Features—Early iSettlers-

Agriculture—Stock Raising—Some of the Notable Stock Farms—The Village of

Dresden—Its Advantages—Incorporation—Law Suits—Schools—Churches—The

Depot—Manufacture of Stoneware—Biographical.

In the following few pages we shall briefly trace the historv of Dresden

Township, and though briel, it is not without interest and value. It may
be none of that tragic interest which centers in cities that have witnessed

the fall of dynasties, and the institution of republics, or which have them-

selves helped to shape the destinies of the world, but it is a phenomenal
one in that it marks the peculiar and distinctive features of Western

progress. Its rise is not of that character which bears upon its surface

none of the marks of permanency, but has taken place in obedience to

those laws which insure permanency, and are of themselves a sufficient

guarantee of future growth and prosperity. When business interests

and prosperity once become factors in the popular opinion, then there is

the promise and potency of substantial development. Such has charac-

terized the brief history of this township. Where twenty years ago was

unbroken prairie and the stillness that only broad acres may know, stands

a town of three hundred inhabitants, and a country teeming with life and

activity and the busv cares of an active life, and moving amidst the hum
of numerous industries. In no land except the great West could such a

wonder be.

Name—Dresden Township takes its name from the town situated near

its center. This probably was named from the beautiful
cit}'^

of Dresden

the capital of the Kingdom of Saxony, in the southern part of the Ger-

man Empire. How this name came to be selected for this little western

town is now hard to determine. The view that is obtained from its posi-

tion is certainly fine. Looking to the east the " Queen City of the

Prairies
"

is spread out in a splendid birds-eye view before one, and on

the west and north a magnificent view of elegant farms stretches away as

far as the eye can reach. Some one familiar with the brave little King-
dom of Saxony, and wishing to remind the traveler of its beautiful

capital, with its grand art galaries, the finest in all Europe, its great halls

filled with a collection of gems equalle'd only by the famous vaults men-
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tioned in the "Arabian Tales," and its magniricent churches and public

buildings, gave the name Dresden to this little Missouri town, and by such

it has since been known.

Organization.—Dresden Township is one of the organizations of 1873.

Until 1844 it had been part of Blackwater Township, but in that year when

the lines were changed its territory was divided between Elk Fork and

Mount Sterling. In the organization of 1873 it was laid out and given the

name of Dresden, and the following boundaries describe its limits, includ-

ing all of township forty-six, range twenty-two, bounded as follows: com-

mencing at the northeast corner of said township forty-six, range twenty-

two, running thence west on township line to the northwest corner of same

township; thence running south on range line to the southwest corner of

same township; running thence east on the township line to the southeast

corner of same township; running thence north on range line to the place

of beginning. Its area comprises an exact congressional township. It is

bounded on the north by Houstonia Township, on the east by Cedar and

Sedalia townships, on the south by Prairie Township, and on the west by
Lamonte township. It has 23,040 square acres, nearly all tillable land and

well improved.

Configuration of Land.—The town is situated principally on the

divide between the two creeks, Big and Little Muddy, flowing respect-

ively across its southern and northern portions. Along this divide is

situated some of the most beautiful farming country in the county. It is

high, rolling prairie, traversed nearly through its center by the Missouri

Pacific Railrorid, and contains some as desirable farms as there are to

be found in Central Missouri. The southern portion of the township is

crossed by the Muddy Creek and is, in consequence, more or less broken.

Along this creek grows some of the finest timber in the county and its

varietv is varied, giving an abundant supply for all demands and uses.

Also among the hills are valuable quarries of limestone and rock, which

are worked for building purposes, and also in one or two places for the

manufacture of lime. The Little Muddy finds its headwaters in the north-

vvestern part of the township and joins its larger branch in Cedar Town-

ship. These two streams aftbrd water sufficient for stock in the dryest

seasons, and gives good drainage to the land. In no place is it low or flat,

but evervwhere the prairie presents that beautiful rolling aspect, indicating

the choice land and desirable position so much sought after by the thrifty

farmer of to-day.

Early Settlers.—As the present township was one of the latest

formed in the county, and as it was part of three or four other townships
before its own bounds were given, it is almost impossible to arrive at a

correct list of its early settlers. Some of those given as settlers of Black-
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water, Cedar and Houstonia were in the borders of this township, and the

amalgamation which the townships went through from the year 1844 to

1873, render the obtaining of a detailed and correct list of the early set-

tlers impossible. However, as the early history of this is so closely con-

nected with its neighboring townships, its early history so closely identi-

fied, and its growth so nearly like theirs that this is reall}^ immaterial. A
few of its early settlers are, Mr. Benton Rees, who came to the township
in 1840, and is a native of Missouri and still lives in the township; James
H. Combs came from Kentucky in 1845; Jefferson Dejarnett is a native of

Missouri, and is perhaps the oldest settler in the township, coming to it

over fifty years ago; Peter Courtney came with his father in 1839 from

Kentucky, and is at present living in the town of Dresden, conducting his

farm near the town.

RESIDENCE OF JOSHUA GENTRY, DRESDEN, MO.

Agriculture and Stock-raising.—-For the pursuit of farming, few

parts of the State surpass the central. It has every advantage that could be

wished, and that is sought after by the enlightened husbandman of the

nineteenth century. In no part of the State can be found a more favor-

able spot than Pettis County, and in no part of the county is there better

advantages than in Dresden Township. Penetrated nearly through its

center by one of the finest lines of railroad in the west, its advantages for

shipping its surplus products are all that could be wished. Among the

prominent farmers and stock-raisers is Joshua Gentry, owning a splendid

farm just east of the town. On this farm he has a flock of 560 finely

graded Merino and Southdown sheep. G. W. Ewers, in the south vvest-

45
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ern part of the township, has 300 fine Merino sheep on his farm. Peter

Courtney keeps a flock of seventy-five of the finest blood Merinos, and there

are greater or less numbers of sheep kept by nearly all the farmers. Henry
Elliott has a splendid farm in the western part of the township; J. A. Per-

singer and Mentor Thomson and Joel B. Gentry, in the northern part,
each have splendid estates and fine stock. Mr. Gentry has on his farm

the celebrated Denmark saddle and harness horses, and Short-horn and

Rose of Sharon cattle. His stallions comprise Denmark Chief, Den-

mark, Jr., and Kennett Chief, a two-year-old. Denmark Chief is one

of the most celebrated horses in the State. He was formerly owned by
N. Longworth, of Cincinnati, Ohio, and was purchased at a cost of $5,000.
He is a dark bay, fifteen hands and three inches high. His pedigree runs

back to some of the finest strains of horses in the old world. He has been

exhibited in the rings of the States of Kentucky, Ohio, Indiana, Illinois and

Missouri, and has never left the ring without a ribbon. He was awarded
the first premium in 1874, at the St. Louis Exposition, in a ring open to the

world. Denmark, Jr., was sired by Denmark Chief, and is almost his

complete counterpart. His pedigree by his dam runs to Messenger, and

he is one of the fastest saddle horses in any gait in the State. He is seven

years old, and when two years old he took first premium at the St. Louis

Exposition, in a ring where there were thirty-two colts shown. Kennett

Chief is a two-year-old full brother to Denmark, Jr. The herd of twenty-five
full blood cattle kept on this farm is headed by Burnheart, a two-year-old

bull, of the Rose of Sharon breeds, purchased of the Messrs. Leonards, of

Saline County, at a cost of $500.

TOWN OF DRESDEN.

Dresden was laid out in the spring of 1863, by Agee and Thos. J. Les-

ter. It comprises an eight3--acre lot, and was evenly divided between the

two gentlemen, each taking forty acres. It is situated on the northeast

quarter of the southeast quarter of section twenty-one, and the northwest

quarter of the southwest quarter of section twenty-two, township number

forty-six, range twenty-two. Mr. Agee came from Kentucky and Mr.

Lester from Virginia. The former now lives in Fayetteville, Arkansas,

and the latter still resides in the village which he founded. The town is

situated on the main line of the Missouri Pacific Railroad, and has consid-

erable importance as a shipping and trading point. In the midst of a fertile

agricultural and stock-raising region, it has but one drawback, that of

being so near Sedalia, whose overshadowing business influence reaches

into the country that should be tributary to this village, and draws the

greater portion of the trade to herself. While Dresden was the terminus

of the railroad it was a business point of considerable importance, but

when the railroad was extended, its business push and enterprise went
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with it to a lar^e extent. The Missouri Pacific Railway was finished to

the town in 1863, and it remained the terminus for nearly a year. In its

young days it enjoyed the reputation of being one of the largest shipping

points on the road, but since it has been left behind by the larger towns

arQund it, it has lost its prestige, and now ranks only third or fourth in

point of shipping and trade in the county, and from a village of five hun-

dred inhabitants, it has dwindled to 300. But at this it steadily holds its

own. It is losing nothing, and as the country grows richer around it its

business cannot fail to improve. At the time of its best days, some of the

strongest firms that have done business in the county were interested here.

Among them were Nussburg, Clony & Crawford, Sanfelter, and others.

Bard & Miller also built a business house here, but did not move their

stock, displaying their good judgment in putting their trust in Sedalia.

The town was incorporated about 1866, and the first Board of Trustees

were Dr. T. P. McCluney, D. D. Armes, now of Sedalia, and Wm. Bar-

rett, also a resident of Sedalia at this time. The city government was

run about two years, when some parties resisted the taxes. A law -suit

was the result, and the town government was, in consequence, abandoned.

The following is a copy of a receipt for poll tax given under the govern-

ment as it was organized:

"Town of Dresden:
This is to certify that T. P. McCluney has paid in cash road-tax in the

town of Dresden, "'Mo., for the year 1868, and is entitled to a credit in poll

tax, $1.50, this day of February 11, 1868. D. D. Armes,
Town Supervisor."

Schools.—It is a proud feature of the village of Dresden that it has a

good school and able teachers. It can be made far more effective by an

enthusiastic working together of both Board of Education and teachers.

Either, without the co-operation of the other, will always be ineffective,

and to secure the best results neither labor nor money should be spared.

The first school building was a frame one, and was erected by John

and W. Agee, about 1860, before any town of Dresden had been located.

The same building is now used for school purposes, but it has been

enlarged to accommodate the increasing demands made upon it. William

Warren was an able teacher of the place, and he now resides at lona, in

this county. James M. Bigby, a Mr. Summers and wife were also among
the early teachers. The building now used is a one-story house with two

departments. Some of the recent teachers were Prof. A. A. Neal and wife.

Prof. Neal was formerly principal of the Georgetown Academy, and now

resides on his farm at Lincoln, Benton County. Also, of late years, there

have been employed Mr. Ross, Mrs. T. P. McCluney and Mrs. J. M.

Lee. The last year (1881-2) the school has been under the supervision

of Miss Olive Wharton, of Sedalia, and Mrs. J. H. Cook, of Dresden.
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There are in all five schools in the township, all in a flourishing condition,

paying from thirty-five to forty-five dollars per month wages, and holding

school from four to seven months in the year. The school houses are frame

and comfortably furnished.

Churches.—In the township there are six church organizations. Df

these, perhaps the oldest organized one is that of the Christian denomina-

tion, which has had a continuous organization for thirty-three years.

The Christian Church of Dresden was organized in 1849, by Elder

John De Jarnett, about three miles southeast of the place where Dresden

now stands. After the late war the church was moved to the town of

Dresden, and for a number of years the congregation held worship in the

school house. In 1880 they erected a commodious frame house of worship
on the corner of Agee and Third streets, at a cost of $1,000. In 1881 it

was dediacted by S. K. Hallam, of Windsor, Missouri. The building is

twenty-five by fort}'' feet, with fifteen foot ceiling, and has seats so

arranged as to comfortably contain about 400 persons. The aisles and

pulpit are carpeted. The pastors who have had charge of the congrega-
tion are. Elders John De Jarnett, George W. Longan, Thomas Handcock,
O. Spencer, J. B. Wright, Banjamin Stephens, W. J. Frost, S. K. Hallam,

E. M. Berry and George Plattenburg. The original members were, A.

Haggard and wife, A. Shobe and wife, J. C. Donahue and wife, H. P.

Gray and wife, A. J. Courtney and wife, Henry Anderson and wife, Thos.

Parks and wife, Mrs. Combs, Peter Courtney and wife, B. McVoy and

wife, Mrs. S. B. Hass, Wm. Agee and wife, Wm. Dodson and wife and

Mrs. Carringtoh. The present membership is seventy-five, and they sup-

port a flourishing Sunday School, of which Peter Courtney is Superin-

tendent and Miss Mollie B. Oppertt is Secretary. There have been large

additions to the church since it was first organized, many, however, going
into new organizations as the country settled up.

The Methodist Episcopal Church of Dresden was organized in January,

1866, by William R. McKee, and in 1869 the congregation had grown

sufficient!}^ strong to erect a house of worship in connection with the

Cumberland Presbyterian denomination. The building was dedicated by
L. M. Vernon. In this building the congregation continued to worship
until 1879, when it was partially destroyed by a storm, and was taken

down, the Presbyterians taking their share of the material and the Meth-

odists theirs, the latter purchasing the former's interest in the lot, and pro-

ceeded to erect thereon their present commodious church, which was

finished in 1879, and dedicated on November 9th of that year by Benjamin
St. James Fry, D. D., Editor of the Central (Jhristian Advocate., at St.

Louis. Rev. L. M. Vernon, who dedicated the first building, is now

Superintendent of Missions at Rome, Italy. The present house of worship
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is finished on the inside in Gothic style, is comfortably seated and lighted,
and has a good organ. The building was erected under the supervision
of Rev. J. K. Tuttle, and is a frame, costing $1,200. It is twenty-five by
forty-two feet, with seventeen-foot ceiling. The pastors who have filled

its pulpit are, Revs. Wm. R. McKee, W. W. Powell, Jas. K. Sassen, S.

Ing, A. P. Colton, J. H. Leese, J. F. Corrington, Wm. Stephens, Wm.
Demott, C.J. W.Jones, F. Oechsli, R. H. Hanson, and at present J. K.
Tuttle. The original members were John Shriver, Nancy Shriver, Libbie

Shriver, Wm. M. Shriver, James H. Conner and T. P. McCluney. The

present membership of the church is fifty, and in connection they have an

interesting Sunday School numbering over sixty scholars, under the super-
vision of T. P. McCheney, and of which J. H. Cook is Secretary. The
church is now' in a flourishing condition, and has had a steady grow^th
from the time of its organization, although at times the opposition seemed
about to succeed, yet they have never succumbed for a single Sabbath,
and the congregation is on a better footing now than it has been since it

was organized.
The Baptist Church of Dresden was organized by J. Letts, J. Q.

Bridges, D. P. Morris, S. Bradbury, E. H. Burchfield, John Kingston, }.

H. Denton, with the following original members : L. W. Whipple, John
M. Agee; R. E. Walker, M. F. Whipple, Mrs. Agee, Mrs. Thompson.
The congregation in 1871-72 erected a commodious frame house of wor-

ship, at a cost of $1,671.26, which was dedicated May 4, 1872, by Rev.

G. J. Johnson. The pastors who have occupied the pulpit have been,

Revs. L. W. Whipple, E. T. Brown, J. Gott, B. T. Thomas, Rev. Webb,
J. Box and J. K. Godby. The present membership numbers thirt3^-eight.

The church membership has fluctuated considerably, owing to the fact

that many members have not been permanently located in the vicinity.

They have had some very interesting revivals, and the ministers have

been men always zealous in the cause of Christ.

Prairie Chapel Church is located about four miles northwest of the

village of Dresden, and the congregaion was organized in 1876, by Rev.

W. W. Brawnin. In 1877 the present house of worship was erected at a

cost of $850.00, and was dedicated in 1878 by Rev. J. Longan. The
church is of the Cumberland Presbyterian denomination. The pastors
who have occupied the pulpit are Revs. James Longan and G. W. Mat-

thias. The original members of the church were E. E. and Louisa J.

Shacklett, Lucy J. Shacklett, Wm. A. Kells, Robert Kells, Ann J. Kells,

Julia Kells, James Winningar, Catharine Winningar, Robert Armstrong,

Nancy Armstrong and Lorenzo Starkey. The present membership is

thirty-two. In connection there is a live Sunday-School with forty-two
scholars. J. R. Shacklett is Superiniendent. The elders of the church

are J. R. Shacklett and M. F. Shacklett. Wm. A. Kells, Clerk.
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The Railroad Business.—Dresden derives its principal business

importance from it being the shipping point of a rich agricultural and

stock-raising region. Its average annual shipments by car loads are :

Cattle forty-five, hogs twenty-two, horses one, wheat twenty-five, oats

seven, corn forty-two, rye one, flax seed two, fence posts one, walnut logs

one. Total 147. Average receipts per year of freight in tons, fifty.

Cash receipts, $8,250.00. The agents who have been stationed here are,

Mr. Smith, W. Morrow, Mr. Levins, W. Longan, Thos. Mitchum, F.

Winters, E. Johnson, Mr. Barney, J. O. Jones, Geo. Imhoft', W. D.

Wade, R. A. S. Wade.

Potteries.—Of these there are two in the town and they are the most

important manufacturing industry of the village. Thomas Ebey estab-

lished the first one in 1866 and has run it continuously since. Cook &
Lane established about three years ago and by the quality of ware they

produce are building up a nice trade. They each produce about the same
amount ot stoneware, 20,000 gallons per annum, and ship it to Sedalia

and to the west. The clay is found on what is known as the Richmond

farm, three miles north of Dresden. It is first-class stoneware clay, and

the ware finds a ready sale. Mr. Ebey also manufactures a superior article

of drain tile which ranks in the market superior to the St. Louis article.

J. T. ARNOLD.
The subject of this sketch was born in Howard County, Mo., in 1836.

His grand-father. Price Arnold, came to Howard County, Mo., from Ken-

tucky in ISll. He had to cut his way through the wilderness from St.

Charles to where he laid his claim in the eastern part of Howard County.
He returned to Kentucky and brought his family out, and cleared eleven

acres that fall. His family consisted of his wife and three children. His

wife was Elizabeth Pipes, and the children John, Mark and Polly. He
died when about fifty-five years of age. Mr. Arnold, the subject of this

sketch, had an old family Bible, containing the record of the family, but

had the misfortune to lose his house by fire, and the Bible was destroyed.

Therefore, it is impossible to get the dates exactly. John, the father of

J. T. Arnold, was born in Kentucky, three miles from Danville, on Christ-

mas day, 1796, and came to Missouri with his family in the fall before he

was fifteen years old. In the suramer time the family had to live in the

fort on account of the Indians. They garrisoned at Fort Hemstead, and

they could only muster thirty men, and when they were gone the women
and the old men had to guard the fort. He lived on the farm where his

father settled until his death, which occurred January 30, 1870. He mar-

ried Katie Head, of Howard Count}^, daughter of John Head, who also

came from Kentucky. She died about 1840, leaving nine children, Mat-

thew, Mark, Milton, Wm., Finis S., John, Price, J. T. and Annie E. He
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was married in 1842 to Mrs. Marc^aret Head. They had one child, Jesse
H. Mr. Arnold's second wife is still alive, and is living with her son Jesse
in California. Four of the brothers are dead, Matthew, Milton, Wm.
and John. There was at one time in the Arnold family persons named
after the four writers of the Gospels, Matthew, Mark, Luke and John
Luke was the son of a colored woman, owned by the famil}'. J. T.

Arnold, the subject of this sketch, was the youngest of the boys by his

father's first wife. He went to Linn County in 185!) and lived about a

year. He then came to Pettis County, being at that time twenty-four

years of age. He was married on the 5th of January, 1861, to Miss Sarah

E. Donnohue, of Pettis County, daughter of J. C. and Ellen Donnohue.

She was born on Christmas day 1840, and died Dec. 27, 1880. There

are seven children, three boys and four girls, Mary Ella, Wm.
F., John H., Sarah Ada, Joseph D., Emma K. and Lulu Gertrude.

Mar\' Ella was married in Jan., 1881, to James L. Brown. The rest of

the children live at home, except Lulu Gertrude, who died in infancy.

Mr. Arnold has 185 acres of fine limestone land, 150 acres in cultivation,

lying south of Big Muddy, and six miles west of Sedalia. His post-office

is Dresden. Mr. Arnold is a member of the Christian Church, and his

wife was also a member of the same church.

DR. DAVID F. BROWN.
He was born in Davidson County, N. C, Oct. 22, 1845, and at the age of

fourteen left his native county, and with his parents lived in different parts

of the country. In 1865 he came to Missouri, and after one year's resi-

dence, returned to his native State, where he remained till 1870, when he

returned to Missouri and settled in the beautiful little town of Dresden,

and engaged in business with his brother. Dr. J. A. C. Brown, now of

Sedalia. The subject of this sketch attended medical lectures at St. Louis

and graduated in the spring of 1873, commencing the practice of his pro-

fession at Dresden, where he has since received a large partronage. He
was married in 1874 to Virginia E. Shultz, daughter of R. A. Shultz, Esq.

She is a native of North Carolina, though principally raised in this State.

The Doctor engaged in the mercantile business in 1874 with Jacob

Thomas, and continued till 1879, when Mr. Brown opened a general store

for himself. He also owns a farm of 320 acres, dealing quite extensively

in stock, and growing corn and wheat. Mr. and Mrs. Brown are worthy
members of the M. E. Church, South.

JAMES BROWN.
Was born in Clark County, Indiana, on the 26th day of December, 1823.

He was the son of John D. Brown and Eleanor Brown. His father was

born in New York, and his mother was a native of Kentucky'. When



916 HISTORY OF DRESDEN TOWNSHIP.

James was about sixteen years of ag^ehis parents moved to Howard County,

Indiana, where they lived until their death. His mother died at the age
of eiojhtv-three years. His father was killed many years before by a

team running away with him. James Brown was married on the 10th of

April, 185U, to Miss Phoebe Odell, of Carroll County, Indiana. She was

born, Nov. 26, 1826, and was the daughter of Wm. Odell and Mary Odell.

Mr. Odell was a native of North Carolina, and Mrs. Odell was born in

Virginia. In 1856 Mr. Brown moved to Minnesota and settled in that

State. He lived there until 1865, when he moved to Missouri and bought
a farm five miles west of Sedalia. He lived on this farm until his

death, which occurred on the 1st day of May, 1880. His widow sti 1

lives on the farm. Her youngest son, Milo H. Brown, is still at home,

and is managing the farm. He was born, March 19, 1856. The other

children, four in number, w^ere born as follows: John D., Dec. 25, 1846.

He is living in Sedalia. Richard, July 17, 1848. He Hves in Lyon

County, Kansas. Wm. Henry, Feb. 19, 1852. He died while the family

were moving to Minnesota. James L. Brown, June 11, 185-4. He lives

near Green Ridge, in this county. John D. and Richard are the children

of Mr. Brown's first wife, Mrs. Sarah Brown. All the children are mar-

ried. Milo, who lives on the old homestead was married on the 26th day

December, 1878, to Miss Mollie Quisenberry, of this county. They have

two children, Walter and Rav. Mr. Brown w-as a member of the

Christian Church for tw^enty years before his death. His widow is a mem-
ber of the same church.

PETER COURTNEY.

He was born in Shelby County, Ky., June 25, 1836, son of Peter Court-

ney, an early settler of that State. He married Miss Rhoda Quisenberry,

whose father emigrated to Missouri in the fall of 1839. In the spring of

1840 he moved near Independence, Jackson County. In the spring of

1849, he and two sons started for California, on which trip he contracted a

disease and died shortly after reaching California. A portion of the time

the subject of this sketch lived in Jackson County, making a trip to New
Mexico in 1854. In the fall of 1855 he was married to Miss Elizabeth

Bracht. In 1864 he took a trip to Oregon and Idaho. He assisted in

laying out the town of Dresden. Since that time he has been engaged in

farming, dealing in stock and grain. He has a fine farm of one hundred

and seventy-five acres, of which ninet}- acres are under cultivation. He
has a family of nine children living: J. W., now in business in Sedalia;

L. P., Thomas L., Carrie S., Mary C. (deceased), H. Hugh, Elizabeth

N., Ennis, H. C. and Katie, Mr. and Mrs. Courtney have been worthy
members of the Christian Church since 1855.
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JOHN M. ELLIOTT, M. D.

Was born Sept. 25, 1830, in Washington County, Penn., and is the son

of x\braham and Nancy E. Elliott. His mother's maiden name was Blake-

way. They were both natives of Pennsylvania. John M., the subject of

this sketch, was educated in his native county, attending Prosperity High
School for two years, and for two years more pursued his studies under

private tutors. In 1851 he engaged in teaching, which he continued to the

beginning of the war. x^t the call for men to defend the government he

enlisted in the Fifteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry, which was known through-
out the Army of the Cumberland as the " Anderson Cavalry," so called

from its Colonel, John William Anderson. He served until 1864 when
his health failed him, and he was discharged by reason of this disabilitv.

Before entering the army he had begun the study of medicine, and after

coming home he continued i-eading with Dr. D. W. Braden, of Wavnes-

burg, Greene County, Pa. He attended lectures at Cleveland Medical

College, Cleveland, O., and began practicing in 186G, in Marshall County,
West Virginia. He remained in this county six years, and then moved
back to his native county, where he continued in active practice until

Sept. 18, 1881. Leaving his large and lucrative practice in Pennsylvania
he came to Missouri and engaged in farming. Mr. Elliott has been twice

married, the tirst time on Dec. 1, 1864, to Rachel C. Braden, who died,

Oct. 1, 1869. B}^ this union they had three children, only one of whom is

living, Charles Norton, aged fourteen years. On March 4, 1871, Dr.

Elliott married his present wife. Her maiden name was Nancy E. Steele.

They have had three children, two of whom are living, Walter L., aged
ten, and John M., aged five years. Mr. Elliott is a member of the Inde-

pendent Order of Odd Fellows, and has held the office of N. G. and Past

Worthy Patriarch. He is at present a member of Hopewell Lodge, No.

504, of Claysville, Washington County, Pa. In September, 1881, Dr.

Elliott came to Pettis County, Mo., and in connection with his nephew, D.

W. Elliott, also a native of Pennsylvania, purchased the beautiful two

hundred and six acre farm just southwest of Dresden, where they now
reside. Mr. Elliott is a true type of the enterprising eastern farmer and

business man, and in his new home is fast winning friends among his

neighbors.

WILLIAM Y. EVANS.

He is a native of Tennessee, born in Sumner County, May 16, 1825.

His father, Wm. Evans, was a native of North Carolina, and was one of

the original proprietors of Leesburg. He removed to Tennesse and then

to Missouri in 1841, and settled in Hickor}' County, near Warsaw, where

he continued to reside till he came to his son's present farm. His

mother died Oct. 20, 185S. Youthful Wm. Y. spent his days on the farm-
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He was married to Miss Ellen S. Nance, of St. Clair County, Mo., daugh-
ter of Edmund Nance. She died Jan. 31, 1881. Their daughter, Mary
Ardella, born Nov. 21, 1852, married James M. Agee, 1868, and

died Feb. 6, 1876.

JOEL B. GENTRY.
The subject of this sketch was born in Pettis County, Mo., April 8,

1855. His father. Major Wm. Gentry, was a native of Howard County,

Mo., born April 14, 1818, and settled about five miles north of the present
site of Sedalia in 1824. In 1840 Major Gentry was married to Miss Anna
R. Major, daughter of Lewis R. Major, of Pettis County. In 1846 he

purchased and settled upon the farm where he now resides, two miles

northwest of Sedalia. By this union there were eight children, of which

Joel B. is the fifth. His early boyhood was spent upon his father's farm

and attending school, the principal time at Georgetown Academy, then

the leading school in the county. His education was finished at Prof.

Kemper's school at Boonville, where he graduated from the Scientific

Department in 1873, standing high in a class of forty. After leaving
school he returned to his father's farm, where he remained until 1875,

when he took charge of his present home, "Locust Grove Farm." This

consists of 1,143 acres, of which 1,000 acres is in splendid grass pasture.

When Mr. Gentry took charge of the property it was littte more than a

wild prairie, but under his careful management it has risen to one of the

finest estates in the county, with convenient and substantial barns and out-

buildings for the housing of fine stock raised on the farm
; pasture laid off

in eighty and one hundred acre lots and divided bv neat board fences and

growing hedges, and supplied by wells of living water and ponds fed b}^

living springs. On this farm he keeps one of the finest herds of cattle in

the county, consisting of twenty-five full-blood Short-horns and Rose of

Sharons, to which "Burnheart," a two year-old thoroughbred, was added

this season at a cost of $500; a stud of fine saddle and harness horses, of

which Denmark Chief stands at the head, and pure blood Berkshire hogs.
He annuall}^ feeds and ships from 300 to 400 head of stock cattle, leases

800 acres of land, on which he grows 500 acres of corn, 200 acres of

wheat, and fifty acres each of rye and oats. To farm this land he keeps
over forty head of work horses and mules, and men enough to run them.

Mr. Gentry unites with his natural adaptation to farming, his experience of

having been raised on the farm, his thorough education, his advanced

views and ideas, and these have enabled him to make the business not only

pleasant but profitable. He is associated in the stock business with his

father, Major William Gentry, and T. J. Wallace, under the firm name of

Joel B. Gentry & Co. Locust Grove Farm is located eight miles north-

west of Sedalia. Mr. Gentry is one of the most enterprising young men
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of the county. He is unmarried, but entertains his friends at his beautiful

home in a truly royal manner. A native of Missouri, he is proud of his

birth-place, and as the years roll on there is a grand field for future useful-

ness spread out before him.

JOSHUA GENTRY.

Farmer; post-office, Dresden, Mo. Was born in Marion County, Mo.,

May 21, 1830. He is the son of Joshua Gentry, Sr., and grandson of

Richard Gentry, of Madison County, Kentucky. His mother's maiden

name was Miss Adaline Henry, a native of North Carolina. Joshua

Gentry, Sr., died in February, 1863, aged sixty-seven years. He was a

man of indomitable will and great energy, and figured as one of the

leading men in building the Hannibal and St. Joe Railroad across the

State, being President of the Board of Directors of the company for a

number of years. Above all others, he was the instrument that pushed
the road through to its completion. When the line was graded a few

miles at each end the company failed, and Mr. Gentry recognizing the

vast value that it would be to the State, determined not to let the project

die out. In accordance with his plans, he made two or three trips to Bos-

ton, got eastern capitalists interested, was largely instrumental in securing-

aid from the State, and pushed the road through. For nearly twenty years
he represented his county in the General Assembly of the State. He
was the first Sheriff of Marion County, being appointed when the State

was admitted, by the Governor. A man of wonderful business foresight

and capacity, he built for himself a fortune. He resided from 1817, until

the time of his death, on his farm near Hannibal, where his wife still

resides. The subject of this sketch was educated in the schools of

Palmyra, Mo., principally at the Baptist College. When he left school he

came to Pettis County, Mo., in 1855, and purchased a small tract of land

just east and adjoining where Dresden now stands, and he has added to it

until he now has 600 acres, all enclosed and in cultivation and pastures.

He has been married twice, the first time in 1855 to Amanda Haggard,
who died in 1870. By this union they had six children: three boys and

three girls, named respectivel)^ Clay, Andrew, William, Anna, Bina

and Amanda. Clay and William are in Colorado, Anna married

Thomas Glasscock, and now lives in Ralls County, this State; Bina lives

with her grandmother in this county. Two are at home, Andrew and

Amanda. Aug. 1, 1871, he was again married to Miss Olive Shaw, of

Pettis County. This marriage has been blessed with one child, Richard,

a bright boy of eight years. Mr. Gentry served during the war in the

State Militia, and during a great part of the time was engaged on special

duty, rendering very important seryrice on several occasions. He takes

an active interest in the progress of farming in this county, keeps on his
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place 500 fine Merino sheep, and has an elegant home, surrounded with

all the comforts of life. A view of his elegant home appears on page 909

this volume.

JAMES L. HULL.

Post-office, Dresden. Mr. Hull was born in Franklin County, Mo., in

1851. He is the son of J. C. and Mahala Hull. Mr. Hull's parents
moved to Johnson County, Mo., when he was about five years old, and

settled near Columbus. After living there about twelve years they
moved to Morgan County, Mo., and are now living ten miles east of

Versailles. Mr. Hull was married on the 23d day of December, 1880, to

Mrs. Dotie Gentry of Pettis County, and has lived here since that time.

They have one child, Lillie Lee Hull. Mr. Hull is engaged in farming
and stock raising. He is a worthy member of Ionia Lodge, Morgan

County, Missouri. Mrs. Hull is the daughter of Andrew and Mary
A. Haggard. She was married on the 23d of August, 1866, to J. C.

Gentry. There were two children born to them, Charles C. and Mary
B. Mr. Gentry was born in Marion County, Mo., in 1843. He was the

son of Col. Joshua and Adaline Gentry. Col. Gentry was at one time

president of the Plannibal & St. Joe Railroad. J. C. Gentry came to

Pettis County in 1866, and settled five miles west of Sedalia. He spent
most of his time on the farm and raising stock. He was four years in the

army during the war. He was in Company E, 3d Missouri Volunteers.

His death occurred July Id, 1878.

JAMES M. LEE.

Farmer; one-half mile west of Dresden. Was born in Canada, Oct. 28,

1843. His parents were John and Mary A. Lee, both natives of Canada.

With his parents he came to Indiana and settled in La Porte County, in

1862. The subject of this sketch was principally educated in the com-

mon schools of Canada and Indiana. He came to Missouri in March,

1872, and purchased the place where he now resides, which contains

178 acres, nearly all in cultivation. Mr. Lee was married April 14, 1871,

to Miss Eunice M. Clark, of La Porte County, Ind. They have one child,

Kingsley C, aged six years. Mr. Lee is a member of Lamonte Lodge,
No. 296. He is an enterprising farmer and has one of the best arranged
and carefully managed farms in the county, and is a pleasant, sociable

gentleman.

STEPHEN T. LUPE.

Post-office, Lamonte. Mr. Lupe was born in Louisville, Ky., April 23,

1848, and is the son of James H. and Annie E. Lupe. They moved to

•St. Louis when the subject of thi^ sketch was about ten years of age,

where his father still lives. Mr. Lupe was married on Oct. 13, 1869, to
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Miss Mary S. Hood of St. Louis, a most estimable lady. Through this

union they have six children, viz.: Annie, James, Lizzie L., Maud, Mar-

garet and Cleo. Mr. Lupe came to Pettis County in March, 1870, and
has lived here since that time. He has a magnificent farm of seven hun-

dred and fifty-one acres of land, lying half way between Dresden and

Lamonte. It is one of the finest and best improved farms in Pettis County.
He is also an extensive stock-raiser and stock -dealer, and has a fine flock

of pure Merino sheep. He also has a large lot of sheep near Garnett,
Kansas. Among the illustrations in this work is a view of "'Fair View,"
Mr. Lupe's fine residence, which is a large two story frame building
situated on a level tract and surrounded by trees and shrubbery. Through
the center of the house there is a large hallway, with convenienth' arranged
rooms on either side. The square portion of the house was built by Rob-
ert Saterwhite in 1850. It was planned and framed in Louisville, Ky.,^

and brought to St. Louis by boat, then up the Missouri River to Arrow

Rock, also by boat, then by ox-team to this site. The eastern portion of

the house was built by Mr. Lupe in 1871. Mr. Lupe purchased his farm

of Wm. P. Paff in March, 187<>. Mr. Lupe is one of the most enterpris-

ing and successful farmers of the county. His warm heart and genial
social nature is a marked characteristic; not only to friends and neighbors
is his open-handed generosity extended, but also to strangers he exhibits

those qualities which raises man so high among his fellows. A view of

his residence appears on page 459.

DR. T. P. McCLUNEY.
The subject of this sketch was born in Wellsburg, Brooke County, West

Virginia, Jan. 25, 188(3. His father, John P. McCluney, is a native of

Pennsylvania, but went to Virginia when sixteen years of age. The Doc-

tor's mother was born and lived in Wellsburg. They emigrated to Mis-

souri in 1843, first settling in Hazel Hill township, Johnson County, where

his father resided till his death, which occurred in September, 1865. In

1878 the mother, who is still living, removed to this county. He studied

medicine, taking a course of lectures at St. Louis, where he graduated in

the spring of 18()<>. He then settled in Pettis County eight miles north of

Windsor, after which he came to the neighborhood of Dresden, and when
Dresden was laid out he moved to the town, where he has since been suc-

cessfully engaged in the practice of medicine. He was married to Miss

Mary M. McClung in ISOO. She died in 1873, leaving two children, viz.:

Mary L. and Maud E. In 1874 he married his present wife, Mrs. Mary
C. Smalley, daughter of Rev. J. K. Tuttle, a prominent minister of the M.

E. Church. Dr. McClune}^ is a man of literary and cultivated taste, tak-

ing a lively interest in social and religious circles.
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WM. H. MORRIS.

Merchant, Dresden. Was born in Philadelphia, Penn., August 30,

1831, and is the son of Andrew M. and Jane Morris, both natives of Lan-

cashire, England, who came to this county in 1829. Jane Morris' maiden

name was Hampson. When five years of age, the subject of this sketch

came with his parents to Ohio, and settled in Noble Count}^ where he

attended the public schools and assisted his father on the farm until his

twenty-first year, when he engaged in selling goods for his uncle, Wm.
Morris, a woolen goods manufacturer at Steubenville, Ohio, for six years.
After this he taught school in Noble County for a time. In 1859 he

engaged in mercantile business at Crooked Tree, Noble County, for four

years, and then moved to Crumtown, the same county, where he entered

into partnership with his brother John. They sold goods and purchased
tobacco for one year. They then sold their stock and engaged in saw-

milling and drilling oil mills in Washington County, Ohio. In 1866 Wm.
Morris moved to Missouri and settled in Pettis County, one and one-half

miles from Dresden, where he engaged in farming for four years. He
then sold his place and moved to this town, where he engaged in mercan-

tile business until 1876. During this time he purchased a flouring mill

and moved it to Boonville, where he went to attend to this business and

left his Dresden store in charge of a clerk. In the fall of 1881 Mr. Mor-
ris returned to Dresden, having rented his Boonville property, where he

now resides and carries on his business as merchant. Mr. Morris has

been twice married; the lirst time to Miss Hanna Lock of Steubenville,

Ohio, on Sept. 9, 18.56. Mrs. Morris died about fifteen months after their

marriage. They had one son, Edwin, who died in infancy. On May 8,

1859, Mr. Morris married Miss Martha J. Smithson of Washington

County, Ohio. This marriage has been blessed with nine children, seven

of whom are living, viz.: Mary E., born May 8, 1860; Sadie, born Aug. 26,

1861; Richard N., born Aug. 16, 1863; Carrie, born Feb. 12, 1868; Mat-

tie, born Aug. 29, 1870; Walter H. and Alice Gertrude, born June 21,

1877; John and William died in infancy. Mr. Morris was postmaster of

Dresden from 1870 until 1876, has also been Justice of the Peace and a

member of the school board for a number of 3^ears. He is a Master

Mason and has held tiie office of Secretary of this Lodge a number of

terms. In politics he has been a life-long Republican.

ELIAS J. PAYN.

Post-office, Dresden. Mr. Payn was born on the Island of Jersey,
where his famil}^ has lived continually' on the family farm, since the

Norman Conquest. He was born, June 24, 1840. His father, Elias Payn,
is still living in London, England. He i.s a contractor. His mother's

maiden name was Elizabeth Le Boutillier. She died in England, Decern-
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ber 9, 1860. Mr. Payn's grandfather, Philip Payn, died three years ago
on the Island of Jersey, in his eighty-eighth year. The family have held

all the different offices of the State from time immemorial. Mr. Payn,
the subject of this sketch, was married, December 26, 1871, to Miss

Asanath Bacheldor, the daughter of Samuel and T. Maria Bacheldor.

They were married at Junction City, Kansas. Mr. Bacheldor was born

in New York, and died at Leonidas, Michigan, in 1862. Mrs. Bacheldor,
whose maiden name was Osgood, was a native of Massachusetts. She
died at Leonidas, Michigan. Mr. Bacheldor was born in 181S, and Mrs.

Bacheldor in ISltt. They were married at Parma, Monroe Countv, New
York. Mr. Payn, the subject of this sketch, came to America in June,

1863, and has been in the United States ever since. He has been a super-
intendent and contractor all his life. He has been nearly all the time on

public buildings and railroads. The last contract he had was putting up
buildings and snowsheds on the Gunnison line of the Denver and Rio

Grande Railroad. Mr. Payn lived in Jersey until 1853. He then went

with his parents to the Island of Alderney, where his father was a con-

tractor on the British forts. In 1859, they moved to England.
*

Mr. Payn
bought the farm where he now resides in 1876. There are two hundred

acres, all under fence. It is half a mile south of the village of Dresden,
on the M. P.R. R. Mr. Payn intends to make this farm his home, and

to use it exclusively as a stock farm. It is well supplied with living springs,
and the land is tine mulatto soil, peculiarly adapted to blue grass. In

politics Mr. Payn is a Republican.

R. A. S. Wx\DE.

Agent and operator of the M. P. R. R. Co., at Dresden, is a native of

Virginia, born in Highland County, Jan. 8, 1848. He came with his par-

ents to Missouri in 1859, stopping in Cooper County until 1865, when

they came to Pettis County. He received his education principally in the

schools of Pettis County, and for fifteen months attended the State Univer-

sity at Columbia in 1873 and 1874, after which he returned to this county
and for seven years taught school in this and Johnson Counties. He
learned the art of telegraphy at Lamonte, in this county, under the instruc-

tion of his brother, J. R. Wade, at that time operator at that place. He
was then put in charge of the Company's office at Houstonia, and after-

wards transferred to Greenwood, then to Knob Noster, and from thence

to Dresden, which office he took charge of March 1st, 1881. Mr. Wade
is an accomplished gentleman in his business, a pleasant and affable

acquaintance, and a man who will make for himself friends, wherever he

goes.
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C. V. WITCHER.

Post-ofRce, Hughes ville. Mr. Witcher was born in Pettis County, Mo.^
in 1854. His father, W. A. Witcher, was a native of Virginia, being born

in Pittsylvania County. Mrs. Witcher, the mother of C. V. Witcher, was
born in Kentucky, near Lexington. W, A. Witcher came to Pettis

County in 1848, and located at Georgetown. He came all the way from

Virginia on horse-back. He is an attorne3^ At one time he edited a

paper at Liberty, Mo. He was married to Miss Major, the daughter
of R. and Elvira Major, of Pettis County, Mo. She is now the wife

of Major Gentry, of this county. C. V. Witcher was married on the

26th of May, 1880, to Miss Lillian M. Rucker, of Pettis County. She is

the daughter of J. G. and Z. B. Rucker. They have lost their only child.

They live seven miles northwest of Sedalia. Mr. Witcher has spent all

his life on a farm, except two years that he lived in Sedalia
;
a part of that

time he was in the general office of the M. K. & T. R. R.; the rest of the

time he was in the grocery business. He is an enterprising and exem-

plary farmer, taking pride and satisfaction in his chosen pursuit.

ALBION WOOD.
Farmer and stock dealer. He owns a farm of 338 acres of good land, all

in cultivation. His residence is a large two-story building, situated upon
a high and elevated spot, commanding a fine view of the surrounding

country. Mr. Wood is a native of Pettis County; born in July, 1844.

His father, Clifton Wood, was a native of Virginia. His mother was
from Kentucky. They emigrated to Missouri in a very early dav, and

settled at a point called Pin Hook Mills, where he was engaged in selling

goods, after which he moved to Georgetown, then the county seat of

Pettis County, where he remained for several years; then moved to Seda-

lia, and became the president of the Citizens National Bank, which posi-

tion he held at the time of his death in 1878. Mr. A. Wood's mother

died in this county in 1845. Albion, the subject of our sketch, was prin-

cipally reared and educated at Georgetown. He was engaged in selling

goods in Sedalia for several years. In 1868 Mr. Wood moved to his

present farm, situated in the corner of three townships, since which time

he has been actively engaged in farming and dealing largely in stock, and

is one of the successful stock men of his neighborhood. In 1868 he was

married to Miss M. B. Lightfoot, of Sedalia, and the daughter of Wm.
Lightfoot, Esq. The happy result of this union has been five children:

Mary, Alma, Hortense, Linn and Dora. Mrs. Wood is a member of the

Presbyterian Church.
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CHAPTER XVIIL—CEDAR TOWNSHIP.

Introduciion—Name—Orgauization—Physical Features — First Settlers — Early Land
Entries—Agricultural and Stock Interests— Churches— Schools— Statistics— Inci-

dents—Georgetown—Post-Office—Pin Hook—Early Marriages—First Justices—First

Lawyers—Early Ministers— First Teachers—Biographical.

There is a joj' in every spot,

Made known in days of old;

New to the feet, although each tale

A hundred times be told.

Cedar Township is one of the smallest of the county, but has a his-

tory interesting and worth recording. Histoiy is the grand master key
that opens to our view the past. In our sketch of Cedar Township will

be found the name with its associations, the organization, and subsequent

changes down to the present time, containing facts connected with the

several eras of its development from a wild section, with a few settlers, to

the present elegant and happy rural homes. The class of citizens within

the bounds of this township are benevolent, generous, and prosperous,

taking hold of every laudable enterprise that tends to elevate the moral

and social status of the fireside.

Name.—Objects and places become noted for their singular incidents

and peculiar attractions. The name Cedar was applied to this township
in the summer of LSI 7, probably, on account of the cedar shrubs which

grew abundantly on Cedar Bluft', near the junction of Cedar Creek and

Mudd}'. The cedar is an evergreen tree, cupressus, albies, and hirix^

remarkable for the durabilitv of its wood, which has a fragrant odor.

The Cedar of Lebanon, mentioned in the Bible, is the Jarix cedriis. The
white cedar is the cicpressus thyoidcs. The township honors no man's

name, but perpetuates the shrubs that once grew abundantly on the hill-

sides. At one time this territory was within the bounds of Mt. Sterlinjr

township.

Organization.—Cedar township contains thirty square miles, and lies

in town forty-six, range twenty-one, and is bounded on the north by
Longwood, on the east b}' Bowling Green, on the south by Sedalla, and

on the west by Dresden. Prior to 1872 this was included in Mt. Sterling

township, which has been lost in the formation of other townships.
The Legislature of Missouri, at its adjourned session, LS72, passed a

law which was approved March 18, 1872, allowing counties the right to

adopt township organizations, giving the County Court power to divide

the counties into townships.

Bv an order of court at the February- term, 1S73, "Township No. 7,"

Cedar, was created.

46



926 HISTORY OF CEDAR TOWNSHIP.

After the township law was repealed, in 1877, the County Court ordered

that the municipal townships remain as they were, and that they he named
instead of numbered, and on the seventeenth day of July, 1877, this town-

ship was named Cedar, and bears the name to the present time. The

voting precinct is at Georgetown.
Some of the early Justices of the Peace were W. W. Cross, Thomas

Wasson, Aaron Jenkins, James Ramey and Reuben E. Gentry. The last

named was the first justice. When the last named individual was justice

this was Saline County.

Configuration.—In respect to the physical features the land is some-

what rolling in every part of the township, but along the creeks it is very

hilly and undulating, and some of its hillsides contain an abundance of

limestone. Nearly the whole of the northern half is covered with a fine

growth of timber. The soil is of a red and black loam, and is productive
of good crops of fruits, corn and wheat.

The largest stream is the Muddy, which rises in the southwest part of

the township, making many turns in its course as it flows in a northeast-

erly direction. Smelser flows from the northwest and unites with the

Mudd}"- in the northern part of section four. This creek bears the name
of one of the pioneer settlers, whose daughters cleared a small farm in the

woods. Brushy is the name of a small stream in the southwestern part of

the township, which takes its name from the abundance of brush along

its course. Big Cedar is in the southeastern part of the township, and

flows northwest until it reaches a point north of the old village of George-

town, where it moves directly north until it unites wath the Muddy. The
little stream is quite shallow and contains some beautiful shoals. Little

Cedar rises near the northern limits of Sedalia and flows north, uniting

with Big Cedar just north of Georgetown. Reed's Branch rises near the

eastern part of the township and flows northwest and unites with the

Muddy in the southern part of section four.

This tpwnship has some excellent rock quarries. Mrs. J. W. Wool-

dridge has some limestone quarries which she has leased for the past few

years. Richard W. Gentry's land contains some excellent stone deposits.

Besides fine lime rock, he has a good quarry of brown and gray sandstone

which will, no doubt, prove to be of great value in the future.

On the farm of Maj. Wm. Gentry a living spring furnishes his large

pond with water, even in the driest seasons. The land of the township

is naturally well drained. The little creeks all flow in a northerly direc-

tion.

The woods contain oak, hickory, elm, sassafras and walnut.

The greater part of the township was at an earl}' day brush and tim-

ber. The timber land is very productive. Wheat and corn yields annu-

ally a good crop on this soil. The prairie land lies principally in the
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southern and eastern parts. The soil is generally of a black mulatto loam

and much heavier than the timbered soil. Blue grass grows abundantly
on both soils, and large flocks of sheep graze on this grass the greater

part of the year without an}- additional food. The greater part of the land

of Cedar Township is under fence.

First Settlers.—John Anderson settled here about 1823. He came
from North CaroHna. Married Amanda Proctor, and improved a small

place on the Muddy.
The following is a list of the early settlers who were here prior to the

organization of the county: Richard Hurt, W. W. Cross, George
McClure, Henry Rector, Capt. O. Kidd, Amos Fristoe, Col. Chas.

Cravens, Hiram Scott, John Ellis, Richard Bird, Bethel Allen, Thomas

Ferguson, J. W. Beaman, Thomas Beaman, Wm. O'Brien, James Ander-

son, John O'Bannon, Martin Sitton, Thomas Wasson, James Rame}-, W.
K. Ramey, Thomas Martin, Henry Rains and Reuben E. Gentry. The
last named gentleman came to this neighborhood prior to the formation of

Missouri as a State. The early settlers held the first courts and transacted

all their legal business at a place on Muddy, called "Pin Hook." It was

first called by this name b}^ an early adventurer from Tennessee, who
said it resembled a hard place in his native State by that name. Pin

Hook was the center of the first settlement of the countv and was for a

time the county seat. Here the first courts were held in an old building

joined to a log cabin which was used for a store. Whisky was sold in

this log part of the building. When men had leisure they spent consider-

able of their time in drunkenness and fist fighting. The whisky of the

pioneers did not make such cowards of its victims as to persuade them to

carry weapons. If a man attempted or threatened to use fire-arms, he

was scorned from the neighborhood as a coward. The first store was

kept here by Messrs. Marmaduke and Sappington, after which Clifton and

Watson Woods kept the store in the same house until thev moved their

goods to the village of Georgetown. In those days there was but little

demand for doctors. The first person who dared to practice the healing
art was a pretender by the name of Dr. Bidstrap, a Dane.

The first marriage of this old settlement was in the winter of 1S21,

Miss Malinda Ramey to Thomas Brock. The first death was that of

Thomas Brock in 1822.

Some of the first physicians of the township were Doctors Wilkins

Watkins, Thomas Steeples, Wm. J. Westefield, Montgomer}-, Bell and

Carter.

Some of the first lawyers: George Heard, John F. Philips, Geo. G.

Vest, Abijah Hughes, John Heard, all of whom are living and bear a

good record.

G. Heard was the first teacher in the township. He is a devoted member
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of the Christian Church and once engaged in the practice of law. Mil-

ton Thomson, who is also a member of the Christian Church, taught
the second school, in the house of Reuben E. Gentry. After this he taught
several terms in a log cabin. Mr. Thomson was educated at West Point

and many of the men and women of to-day feel grateful to him tor

moral and intellectual instruction. For several years good select schools

were supported by the citizens at Georgetown. At present there are

several public schools supported in the township. The first county fair

was held in Maj. Wm. Gentry's pasture in 1857; Col. Thos. Houston,

President, and John F, Philips, Secretary. This was the initiation of

county fairs.

Many of the early settlers may be known by their early land entries.

The following is a partial list of the original entries, giving the name of

the original owner, the situation of the land, and the present owner.

Reuben E. Gentry entered the northeast quarter of section eleven, and

now owned by N. H. Gentry; George R. Smith entered the northeast

quarter of section ten, and now owned by J. Rector, A. McVey, and J.

R. Dunlap; Warren Reavis entered the northeast quarter of section five,

now occupied by Mrs. C. W. C. Walker; David Thomson entered

the southwest quarter of section seven, now owned by Reese Hughes;

James Ramey entered the northeast quarter of section twenty, now occu-

pied by Mr. Fuller; Mentor Thomson entered the west half of the south-

east quarter of section twenty-nine, and still owns it; William Gentiy
entered the east half of the southeast quarter of section twentv-nine, and

still owns the same; Milton Thomson entered the northwest quarter of

section twenty-six, now owned by Mrs. Bettie H. Gentr}'; James
Brown entered the northeast quarter of section fourteen, now owned

by J. Byrne; Solomon Reed entered the east half of the southwest quar-
ter of section ten, now owned by R. J. Gentry and W. Wright. An
old grave 3'ard is in the western part ot this piece of land. Zadok Powell

entered the east half of the northwest quarter of section nineteen, now
owned b}^ J. W. Walker; George Heard entered the west half of the

southwest quarter of section twentv, now owned by Mrs. Bettie H. Gen-

try; James S. English entered the southeast quarter of section twenty-

eight, now owned and occupied by John S. Banks; Fielding Wolf
entered the southwest quarter of section fourteen, now owned b}' W. H-

Curran, B. Curran, and J. A. De]arnetl.

Churches.—Here the first churches of the county were organized.
These primitive Christian people were plain in their worship, meeting
often in dwellings or in the groves.
The first church organization eflected was Calvinistic Baptist in taith.

Elders Jacob Chism and Wm. Jennings were the pioneer ministers who

organized this church. The tbllowing is a partial list of the oi-iginal
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members: James Anderson, John O'Bannon, Solomon Reed, Thomas
Wasson, and Adam Scott. A one acre lot was purchased of Solomon

Reed, for six dollars, and upon this fjround a ioi^ cabin was erected, and

christened West Liberty Church. This church building was free for all

denoninations. Soon after the ortraniz ition of the Calvanistic Baptists,
Revs. Finis Ewing, Rooking, and McCorkle held successful meetings for

the Cumberland Presbyterians, The early camp-meetings drew hun-

dreds of people together annuall}' in the groves. These- meetings con-

tinued for several weeks.

The reformation introduced by Alexander Campbell was proclaimed to

the pioneers of Georgetown neighborhood by Elder Allen Wright, who
carried the Bible with him, and brought conviction to many hearts. Elder

Allen Wright was a pure-hearted plain man of great native ability, a min-

ister who was greatly respected bv his congregations. It was here he

sowed the seed from which the prosperous Christian Churches of the

county have sprung into existence. Elder Joseph Wright is a son of

Elder Allen Wright. The old organizantion of the Christian Church at

Georgetown has been moved to Sedalia, and will be treated under the

head of Sedalia Churches. The following is a brief sketch of the only
church organization of the township:
The M. E. Church of Georgetown was organized by Rev. Oech-

sli, in about 1866. The pastors of the congregation have been Revs. S.

Alexander, Oechsli, A. P. Salloway, Hanson and Hannum. The names
of the original members are: W. S. Deardofl', James Austin, Mrs. J. Aus-

tin, Susan Schreiber, C. H. Elliott, Lizzie Elliott, Mary Fairchild, Alex.

Dow, Louisa A. Dow and E. G. Ashwell. The present membership is

sixty. The average number attending Sunday School is about sixty

scholars. C. H. Elliott is Superintendent and Sarah Austin, Secretary.

During and since the organization of this church three important revivals

have been held. The influence of this little Sunday School and church

is tempering the morals of the young people for better citizenship.

Statistical.—The population, according to the census of 1880, showed

the village of Georgetown to contain 300 inhabitants, and the township,

including the village, 1,179. The following is the assessed valuation of

personal property for the year 1882: 275 horses valued at $9,7(t0; I) jacks
and jennets valued at $540; 224 mules valued at J|59,535; ]J44 neat cattle

valued at $21,180; 3,071 sheep valued at $6,140; 1129 hogs valued at

$2,620; bonds and notes valued at $13,665; value of other goods, $12,585;

98 dogs without any value.

The valuation as taken above is but a small estimate of the personal

property of this township. Only about one-third of the dogs have been

listed. This property generally belongs to the poorer classes. During
the past year there have been upwards of $1,000 dollars worth of sheep
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killed by the dogs of the township. More than fifty dogs have been

poisoned or shot, and yet the dog nuisance continues.

Enterprises and Industries.—The business of the township is prin-

cipally farming and stock-raising. The largest farmer and stock-raiser

is Major Wm. Gentry. He keeps about 3,000 acres in grass pasture and

equally that amount in cultivation. He has on hands 800 prime blooded

Merino and Cotswold sheep, 550 marketable mules, and fine Durham
cows. He owns the Baron of Richmond, by the celebrated imported
Duke of Richmond. Baron of Richmond took the first premium at the

fair when exhibited. Major Gentry finds sale for his fine cows, sheep
and horses as fast as he can raise them. He owns a fine Norman horse

and has some of the best draft horses in the State. A wind-mill supplies

his stock with water from a depth of upwards of eighty feet. The build-

ings, barns and well-arranged stock-yards cover several acres. There is

no shoddy work about the premises. The gates and buildings are all in

good repair. An orchard of about eight acres of choice apple trees has

proved to be a complete success. He sold one year $1,030 worth of

apples to one man, had eighty bushels made into eighty gallons of brandy,
besides giving to neighbors and friends a great amount and retaining

plenty for his own use. He said, "I think sheep the most profitable branch

of stock-raising. I fine ready sale for fine calves when a year old."

Major Gentry has been engaged in the cattle trade for upwards of forty

years, giving special attention to fine stock for about thirt3'-eight years,
and his experience is worth a great deal to one starting in the stock

business. The interest that he has taken in county and State fairs has

won for him a National reputation. He was Marshal of the first State

fair held at Boonville, and has been President of several fair associations,

though against his desire to hold public office. Owning stock and

exhibitintf the same has no doubt lessened his desire to fill an office in the

fair association. In fine. Major Gentry is always found ready to assist in

any enterprise that will facilitate activity, beautify home and improve the

breed of stock.

Mr. N. H. Gentry is taking great pride in breeding fine swine. He
has some good imported stock, perhaps the best in the State. R. W.

Gentrj^ is the principal grower of fine registered Merino sheep. He is

one of the most promising wool growers of the State, a man of intelli-

gence, and one whose reputation as a successful breeder of pure blooded

sheep is fast becoming among the foremost. Lime kilns and stone quarries
are enterprises of the township which 3'ield a fair profit. W. K. Taylor

successfully manages a greenhouse.

Incidents.—During the days of negro-slavery, Mrs. John Rains and

her two children were murdered in a most heinous and brutal manner by
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a negro man owned by Henry France, while John Rains was attending

church on Sunday. The atrocious deed was committed about two o'clock

in the afternoon. One child recovered sufficiently to relate how the black

fiend had dispatched his work. When Mr. Rains returned home from

church he found his wife and one child lying dead in his yard. Mrs.

Rains was a daughter of Shepherd Williams, a good family of Kentucky.
The negro was arrested and broughc to Georgetown for trial, before

Samuel A. Lowe, Hiram Thornton and W.W.Cross, magistrates. Geo.

G. Vest, a young attorney, who had lately arrived from Kentucky, was

employed as counsel in defense of the negro. While the trial was in pro-

gress a mob, headed by George Anderson, Chas. P. Farris, and others of

Heath's Creek, where the crime was committed, took the prisoner from

the officers of the law, and it was onlv bv the influence of the best citizens

that they were prevailed on to return him, but he did not remain in jail

longer than fifteen days before the same parties took him from the officers

of the law again, and carried him about one-half mile from town where

they tied him to a walnut sapling and built a circular heap of shavings,

wood, and other combustible materials around the victim, and then set it

on fire. It was not long till the villain was willing to confess his crime.

He was soon scorched to a cinder, after which the sheriff' buried the

remains on the spot. This mob had invited all the negroes of the sur-

rounding country to witness the death of their fellow companion. This

was the end of negro crime.

The following account of burning a negro is given by H. C. Levens,

of Sedalia, formerly a prominent resident of Cooper County, and author

of a history of the same:

A negro man was burned to death by a mob of about one hundred men,
at Georgetown, in July, 1853. I was then residing in Cooper County, and
while traveling around over the county, came to Otterville the evening
before, and hearing that such a tragedy was going to take place, I went
there with a number of other men to see what was going to be done.

When we arrived at Georgetown I found the town crowded with people,
and among them a large number of the colored race, their masters

wishing them to witness the execution in order to deter them from com-

mitting a like crime. As well as I can recollect his crime was committing
a rape upon the person of a white woman, and afterwards murdering her

and one or two of her little children. This negro was suspected of the

crime, arrested and put in jail, and afterwards made a full confession of

one of the worst crimes ever committed in the country. A short time

after I arrived, the mob rode up on horseback, took the negro from
the count}^ jail to the Court House. I recollect that General Smith, the

founder of Sedalia, made a speech, giving the history of the crime to the

public. But do not think that he gave any expression of his opinion as to

whether the negro should be killed b}' the mob; and perhaps it would
have been unsafe for any person to express themselves contrar}- to their

I

/
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designs. The only question put to the people was as to whether thev
would Imrti or hang the prisoner. And the vote for burning was, as far

as expressed, nearly unanimous, only two in favor of hanging. They then
took one end of the rope with which he was tied, and trotted him to the

place of execution alread}' prepared for him, about three hundred yards
north of Georgetown. The kindling wood was placed in a circle around
a hickory sapling, (the circle being about the size of a large wagon wheel,)
the prisoner was chained to the sapling, and the fire was started, which
soon enveloped him in the flames. He made considerable noise, begging
to be released, after he felt the torture of the flames. The chains around
his wrists soon cut through the flesh to the bones, and being 'no longer
able to stand, swung by the chains in a doubled up condition. There were
a great many people present at the burning, but many after the fire was
set turned and walked away, and I have afterwards regretted that I had
witnessed such a horrible sight, and never would again. No doubt the

prisoner deserved severe punishment and death, but I dislike to see any
human being or brute suffer, however much they may deserve it. This

prisoner could have been convicted and hung according to law b}' his own
confession, but many seemed to think that such punishment was not sufli-

ciently severe for his crime. I do not remember in what part of the

county this horrible crime was committed, but my impression is it was on
Heath's Creek. I cannot with certainty remember the name of his victim,
but tiiink it was a Mrs. Rains.

In the settlement of this country the Indians held to their hunting

grounds with great tenacity, and did not leave until crowded out by the

settlers. Game was here in abundance. We get the following stor}- from

Captain Ramey.
Ps. bet was made between Captain W. K. Ramey and a half-breed

Indian by the name of Tow Rogers, in which the former put a line horse

against two ponies of the latter, that the one who could bring in the

greater number of hides at the end of four months should have the horse

and ponies, and the loser should pay for the pasturage and care of the

animals while the contest was going on. The hides counted as follows:

Deer, one; wolf, one; wild cat, one; fox, one; elk, three; panther, three;

bear, three; result: The Indian brought in 364 hides, and the Captain,
442. The latter won the bet.

Georgetown.—This village, which was a flourishing trading place in

ante helhiin days, is in section sixteen, and was laid out in 1835, by David

Thomson, father of Martin Thomson. The name was given it by David

Thomson, who came here in 11S33 from Georgetown, Scott County, Ky.
David Thomson and his two brothers-in-law, Geo. R. Smith and Lewis

R. Major, were camped on the Lamine River, on the night of Nov. 12,

1833, and witnessed the meteoric showers, which produced great conster-

nation among the ignorant classes of those times. Mentor Thomson, son

of the founder of Georgetown, served twenty-years as county surveyor
of Pettis County.
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The land on which the town is built is high and rolling, and was a beautiful

place when the town was in its glory. The old brick court house stood

on the public square. The following streets appear on the plat:

Pin Oak, FHnt, Boonville, Post Oak, Franklin, Walnut, Saline and

Cedar. The additions were known as Ramey and Wasson's, David

Thomson's, Geo. R. Smith and Hughes.
The first lawyers of this village v/ere Wm. H. Field, Reese Hughes,

John F. Philips, Geo. G. Vest, Alda A. Glasscock, Wm. Ford, Curtis

Field and Chas. A. Hardin.

No building was ever erected here for church purposes exclusively.
The citizens contributed sutlicient however of their monev to own the

second story of the school building for church purposes. The third story
of this brick school building was used by the A. F. & A. M. W. W.
Cross was Justice of the Peace in this town for twenty-tw'o years. In

politics he was a Democrat till the rebellion, since which time he has' been

a Republican.
The post-office was established here co-existent with the town. For

several years the mails were weekly and monthly. In those days there

was but little correspondence, and the great power of the press did not

weigh upon the people then as now.

The following is the list of the postmasters: Albin Robinson, Amos
Fristoe, Samuel A. Lowe, James P. Walker, Wm. W. Cross, Thomas

Hill, M. Hunt, James Austin, John E. Rector, Charles W. Barrick.

For several years Georgetown was the center of trade for many
miles around, but when the line of the Missouri Pacific Railroad was laid

its death knell was sounded. Now, only two small stores are kept in the

place: One bv J. E. Rector and another by Charles W. Barrick. W. K.

Taylor keeps a green-house. The public school is small, and is taught

by two girls, who receive a very meager salary.

JAMES ALLIN, M. D.

Dr. Allin, who resides on a farm north of Sedalia, was born in Har-

rodsburg, Ky., March 9, 1826, and is the son of Thomas Allin, one of the

noted pioneers of that State. It is said that Thomas Allin built the first

clerk's office in Mercer County, Ky., and held the office for fifty years.

In politics he was a Henry Clay Whig, and in religion a member of the

Christian Church. The subject of this sketch is one of fourteen child-

ren. William Allin is a farmer in Kentuck}' ;
Thomas Allin is a lawyer,

who married a daughter of Dr. Price, a brother of Gen. Sterling Price ;

John Allin is a farmer in Kentucky- ; Henry Allin is a physician in Max-

ville, Ky. Dr. Allin, for whom these notes are written, is a graduate of

the Louisville Medical College, and has practiced the healing art for about

fourteen years. In 1847 he came to Brunswick, Mo., where he practiced
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for several years. He was united in marriage to Miss Lillie Burgess,

daughter of J. V. Burgess, in 1877. One child, Eulia, was born in 1879.

The Doctor is now a retired physician, and is engaged in farming and

stock trading. He owns three excellent farms in the township. His

wife is a member of the Christian Church.

CHARLES W. BARRICK.

The subject of this sketch is a young merchant, and postmaster of

Georgetown. He was born in the State of Illinois, June 17, 1854, and is a

son of William Barrick, a native of Maryland, who was a First Lieuten-

ant of the Illinois Volunteers, during the late war. Mr. Barrick is

a member of the M. E. Church and a worker in the Sunday School.

Charles W. Barrick came here with his parents in 1867, and was educated

in Sedalia. In April, 1881, he was appointed postmaster at Georgetown,
where he is engaged in selling goods. The subject of these notes is one

of fourteen children, four boys and ten girls, eight of whom are now

(1882) living. His father is a mechanic of Sedalia, and a devoted member
of the M. E. Church, of that city.

E. CLARK BOULDIN.

Post-office, Georgetown. Born Sept. 8, 1820, at Hopkinsville, Ky.

Migrated to Missouri in 1850. Was married in Davies County, Ky., to

Miss E. M. Glover, daughter of Walker Glover, a farmer, Nov. 26, 1846.

The father of the subject of this sketch was a merchant in Virginia. Came
to Missouri in 1836, and died in 1847. He was a Baptist. Mr. and Mrs.

Bouldin are members of the Cumberland Presbyterian Church, of Sedalia.

They had four boys and six girls, viz : Marian A., Sarah M., Eunice B.,

David W., Annie M., Emmet E., Edward C. and Joseph C. Four of the

children are married at the present (1882) date. He owns an excellent

farm of about 300 acres, and now lives in good circumstances, blessed

with health and a pleasant, happy family. He has long been identified

with the interests ot Pettis County, in building up schools and assisting in

public improvements. At home he is kind and hospitable.

JAMES C. CASTLE.

Mr. Castle was born in Virginia, April 18, 1820, and is the son of Wm.
Castle, a commissioned officer in the war of 1812. James C. Castle came

to Missouri in the year 1875, and is now engaged in farming, feeding and

shipping stock. August 25, 1842, he was united in marriage with Miss

Catherine Selsor, daughter of Larkin Selsor, a farmer. The union has

been blessed with the following children: John W., George, S. W., Har-

vey W., W. J., Leonard R., Sallie, James M., M. B. and Julia. All are

married but the last two named. One child, not named here, is dead.
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Mr, Castle has been for more than forty years a member of the M. E.

Church, South. He has served as Justice of the Peace, Sheriff, and was
a Captain in the Militia. Miss Sallie Castle is now the wife of Mr. Ed.

W. McClellan, stationer and bookseller, of wSedalia.

VALENTINE CONNOR.

Post-office, Georgetown. The subject of this sketch was born in Ire-

land on Sept. 20, 1827, and was a son of John Connor, a farmer of the old

country. Valentine came to America in 1850 and settled in Wisconsin;
thence came to Missouri in 1860, where he soon afterwards entered the

Missouri State Militia under Col. Spedden, and served two years. In

1857 he married Miss Ellen Foley, daughter of William Foley, a farmer

of Ireland. Two children were born, viz: Thomas and Mary Ann, both

of whom are dead. Mr. Connor settled on the neat little farm, wiiere he

now resides, in 1860, and has been eni^acred in farming and burning lime

kilns for the past fifteen years. In politics he is a Republican and in reli-

gion he is a Catholic.

JAMES CUMMING.

Post-office, Sedalia. James Gumming is a native of Scotland, born

March 17, 1803, (St. Patricks Day ) and is a son of Alexander Cumming.
James was united in marriage with Miss Eleanor Robertson, daughter of

Andrew Robertson, a seafaring adventurer. He came to America in 1831,

stopped at Stotsville, Pa., then at Plainville and Pittsburg, after which he

settled for some time in Washington County, subsequently locating at

Pomeroy, Ohio, where he remained awhile and then emigrated to Mis-

souri. The following children were born: William, John, Thomas and

Elizabeth, who married Wilson Robson. William lives with his father

and owns a neat little farm of 160 acres of land. In religion Mr. Cum-

ming is a Methodist and is a man who delights in books.

MRS. SARAH CUNNINGHAM.

Post-office, Sedalia. Was born in North Wales, July 12, 1835. Her

father, Richard Williams, came to America in 1840. She was married to

W. A. Cunningham in 1854, who was born in Delaware County, Ohio,

Oct. 10, 1832, and emigrated to Missouri in June, 1868. Mr. Cunningham
was a blacksmith, and died April 22, 1880. Eight children were born,

two of them are dead. Those living are: Sarah J., Margaret C, Alice

M., Esther M., George A. and Edith M. Miss Maggie has been engaged
in teaching for several years, x^s an evidence of her good success and

appreciation, she has been employed for three successive terms in the

same school. Mrs. Cunningham owns about llo acres of land. She has

a bright family of children. In religion she is a Presb\'terian.
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WILLIAM H. CURRAN.
The subject of this sketch was born in the Slate of New Jersey, Nov.

6th, 1831, and is the son of Barnard Curran. William was educated in

St. Louis at a Jesuit school. He was married in the city of St. Louis to

Miss Tersa King, daughter of Barnard and Alice King. Seven children

were born, four boys and three girls, viz: Elizabeth, Margaret, William

H., Barnard, Mar}-, James and Hugh C. Miss Elizabeth was educated

at the High School of Keokuk, la., and is a graduate of that school, and

is now among the successful teachers of Pettis County. Mr. Curran is a

public spirited man and has served as school director in the past, taking an

active part in the cause of education. He was for eleven years in the

Fire Department of St. Louis. In politics he is a Democrat. She belongs
to the Catholic Church. He is now engaged in farming.

BERNARD CURRAN.
The subject of this sketch was born in Ireland, May 22, 1807, and is a

son of William Curran. He came to America in 1831, landing at New
York on May 22d. He married Miss Margaret Coftard in 1829, and

five children are the result of this union. This wife died in St. Louis,

1840. He was again married to Miss Elizabeth McNamara in 1842, who
is a native of Ireland. Six children are the offspring of the latter union,

four of whom are yet living. In politics, Mr. Curran is a Democrat, and

in religion a Catholic.

J. W. DICKERSON.

The subject of this sketch was born in Jessamine County, Ky., Dec. 13,

1832, and is the son of Hiram Dickerson. J, W. came to Howard County,

Mo., prior to the war, and subsequently settled in Dunksburg, Johnson

Count}^; then tried farming in Blackwater Township, this county. After-

ward he came to Georgetown, where he purchased property near b}'.

Here he has an excellent vineyard of about two acres, ten acres in fine

peaches, besides some good varieties of apples. It is said that he has

some of the finest fruit brought to the Sedalia market. In January, 1869,

he married Miss Zeroda Carter, of Sedalia. Two children were born.

Archie died when sixteen months of age. Jennie, the household pet, is

yet living. Mrs. and Mr. Dickerson are members of the Methodist

Church.

JAMES M. FORBES.

The subject of this sketch is a farmer, who resides in the northwest

part of Cedar Township, and is a descendant oi. the best of families.

Samuel Forbes came to Missouri in 1815 and settled in Cooper County,
when Andrew was about six years of age. Andrew was married to Miss
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Nancy Steel, daughter ofJoseph Steel. She was the 3'oungest of ten children,

Andrew Forbes was the fourth son of a family of ten children. He was
married Feb. 23, 1831, in Cooper County, Mo., after which he soon moved
to Saline County, where he resided ihree years; then, in 1835, came to

Pettis County and purchased a large farm of Mr. Sam'l Durley. The

place was improved b}^ a Mr. Revis and has since passed through several

hands, and now the McAninch Bros, reside on the place. James M.
F(>rbes was the fifth of ten children. When Sam'l Forbes, his grand-

father, came to Cooper County there was but one house in Boonville. It

is said that he and Robert Wallace assisted in procuring the State Char-

ter in 1820. His son Andrew traded in mules and horses for about

twenty-eight years. He was among the early settlers of Cedar Town-

ship and was for a long time reckoned among the largest land-holders and

stock dealers in the county. He was elected by the Democrats and served

for eight years as County Judge of Pettis Count}'. In 1862 he was
elected Representative of Pettis County. He and his wife were members
of the Cumberland Presbyterian Church. James M. Forbes was born

May 16, 1838. On Jan. 30, 1863, he married Miss Sallie Taylor. Nine

children are living and two are dead. The children are: Edward, Willie,

Nannie, Robert, Benjamin, Eliza, James, Jesse and Bessie. Andrew died

when a few months old. Mrs. Forbes is a member of the Christian

Church.

RICHARD GENTRY, {Deceased).

The subject of this sketch was born in Madison County, Ky., Sept. 9,

I807, and died at his home in Pettis County, Mo., Jan. 17, 186.5. He was
the eldest son of Reuben E. Gentry, who emigrated to Missouri in the

year 1809. In youth, Richard was noted for his close application to study
and aptitude to learn, and he always possessed a vigorous mind and body

wholly in accord. Those who knew him in his boyhood say that he was

a very bright and good student, and on account of his proficiency and

adaptabilitv was chosen to teach in the pioneer schools, and at all elections

served as clerk. In the vear 1828, when quite 3'oung, he went to Fever

River, Wisconsin, and labored for nine months in the lead mines; tiien

returned to Missouri, and with the money earned by his toil purchased his

first eighty acres of land, the old homestead where Richard W. Gentry
now lives. After improving for a time this place he went to Kentuck}'
and lived five years with his uncle, Valentine M. White, who was in poor
health. Here he remained till the deatii of his uncle. In 1836, he was

married to Miss Alzira Miller, daughter of William Miller, Esq., a highly

respected farmer living near Richmond, Ky., who for a longtime was one

of the three magistrates of his county. After his marriage the subject of

our sketch returned to Missouri and commenced stocking his farm with
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the best breeds of sheep his means and opportunities would permit, and

bv his indomitable energv advanced rapidly till he became the leading
farmer and stock raiser of his time in the State. He possessed the pre-

mium farm of the State, being the largest, best fenced, arranged and

tilled of any in Missouri. His son, Richard W., who has recently com-

menced active operations on the same beautiful acres, will ere long place

it far in advance of its former fame. Richard Gentry's family by his first

wife consisted of Wm. M., Reuben J. (deceased), Henry C. (deceased)

and Laura (deceased). About 18.54 his first wife died and he married

Mrs. Jael W. Gentry, March 5, 18.55, widow of Joel W. Gentry, and

daughter of Col. Nicholas Hocker, who lived near Richmond, Ky. This

union was blessed with four children: Richard W., whose biographical
sketch appears elsewhere; Mary V., living with her mother in Sedalia,

Mattie (deceased) and Nannie E. also at home. Mr. Gentry was most

emphatically an enterprising man, possessed of broad views and generous

impulses. Though never a member of the church he gave of his means for

its support and brought up his family in the most careful observance of

moral and christian rectitude. His widow and her son and two daughters
are worthy members of the Christian Church of Sedalia. She and her

daughters now reside in their beautiful home on Broadway, Sedalia.

MAJOR WILLIAM GENTRY.
Prominent among the citizens of Missouri, noted for industry and inter-

est in stock-raising, is the gentleman whose name appears at the head of

this sketch. His post-office is Sedalia. Residence, section twenty, town-

ship forty-six, range twenty-one. Cedar Township. Born in Howard

County, Mo., April 14, 1818. His father, Reuben E. Gentry, was born

June 0, IT85, in Albemarle County, Va., and was a son of Richard Gentry,
who was also a native of the "Old Dominion." He, Richard, lived to be

about eighty-five years of age. The Gentrys are of the old Germanic

stock, and sprung from English families. Richard Gentry, the grand-
father of the subject of these notes, was a soldier in the Revolutionar}'

War, in defense of the American Colonies. Subsequentlv he moved to

Madison County, Ky. Reuben E. married Miss Elizabeth White and

emigrated to Missouri in 180Jt, locating at Boone's Lick, Howard County,

Mo., in 1811, and assisted in building Forts Hemstead and Kincaide, dur-

ing the War of 1812. Here he improved the "Model Farm," now owned

by the Harris Estate. In 1824 he removed from Howard County and

settled on a farm (now occupied by N. H. Gentry) about five miles

northeast of the city of Sedalia. Here William, the subject of this sketch,

spent his youth and earl}' manhood, working on his father's farm. The

family of Reuben E. consisted of four sons and one daughter, viz.: Rich-

ard, Joel W., Jane H., Reuben and William. Major Gentry, in 1840, mar-
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ried Miss Ann R. Major, daui^hter of Lewis R. Major, a prominent old

settler of Pettis County. In 1S4() he purchased and settled on the farm

where he now resides, two miles northwest of SedaHa. By this first union

eight children were born, three boys and five girls: Mary E., married T.

W. Cloney; Jane R., married Theo. Shelton; Allie B., married J. M.
Offield. The following are yet single: Richard T.; Joel B., Bettie S.,

John R. and Eva. In 1873 Mr. Gentry's first wife died, and he has since

married Mrs. Evelyn Witcher, who is a sister of his first wife. She had
two sons by her marriage with W. A. Witcher, Esq.: John T. and Vin-

cent. In 1858 Maj. Gentry was elected County Judge of Pettis County,
and held the office for eight years, performing its duties to the universal

satisfaction of the people. After the death of his brother Richard, he

resigned the office and administered on the estate; this business, together
with his own, requiring all his time and attention. In 1862 Mr. Gentry
was appointed Major of the Fortieth Regiment, Enrolled Militia, by Gov.

H. R. Gamble, and continued in this office till the regiment was mustered

out. He afterwards served as Major of the Fifth Regiment Provisional

Militia until the close of the war. He was the people's candidate for Gov-
ernor in 1874, receiving the vote of his county and good support from the

State, but was defeated by Hon. C. H. Hardin. In 1870 he was elected a

Director of the Lexington & St. Louis Railroad Company, and two years
later became President of the same. He has also been a Director of the

Missouri, Kansas & Texas Railroad Company, and was President of the

Sedalia, Warsaw & Southern Railroad. For several years he was agent
for Pettis County in railroad matters. He was for a long time President

of the "Fair Association," of SedaHa. In the winter of 1881-2 he was

appointed b}'^
Gov. Crittenden Presiding Judge of the Pettis County Court?

which office he now holds. He owns about 0,000 acres of choice land,

and is counted among the wealthiest and most enterprising farmers and

successful stock-breeders of Missouri. He is a temperate, social gentle-

man, and is highly respected by all who know him.

RICHARD W. GENTRY.

The subject of this sketch was born at the old homestead where he now

lives, Jan. 3, 1857. tlis father, Richard Gentry, was a native of Madison

County, Ky., and his mother, Mrs. J. W. Gentry, was a native of the same

State and county. Richard Gentry, the father of the subject of this

sketch, was the son of Reuben E. Gentry, who came from Kentucky at an

early day, stopping awhile in Howard County, Mo.; then settHng perma-

nently on land now known as the N. H. Gentry Farm, about six miles

north of Sedalia. Richard Gentry entered eighty acres where R. W.

Gentry now lives, and afterwards increased this farm till at his death,

which occurred Jan. 17, 1865, his estate amounted to 6,275 acres, nearly
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all in one body, then the premium farm of Missouri. Young^ R. W. Gen-

try received a primar}^ education at the private school in Georgetown and

then spent one year at Lexington, Ky. He completed his liter-

ary education in the State University at Columbia, Mo., graduating in an

academic class of eighteen, in June, 1 879. He received the first honors of

his class and delivered the valedictory oration, and also receiv^ed the

Stephens Gold Medal, which is annually awarded to the best orator in

the senior class. While a student he was noted for his faithful attention

to and proficency in his studies, which won for him not only the respect
of his fellow students, but the high approbation of his instructors. After

completing his collegiate course he returned to his farm near Sedalia,

where he remained until April, 1881. In the autumn of 1880 Mr. Gentry
was appointed a member of the State Board of Agriculture by the Gov-

ernor, which position he yet retains, with the office of Secretary of the

Board, having been elected to that position in December, 1881. In April,

1881, he received a call to the pastorate of the Christian Church of Colum-

bia, Mo., and at the end of one year, his services being so highly esteemed

and so universally approved, he received a second call, this time for an

indefinite period. But he resigned his charge and returned to his farm,

that his attention might be wholly devoted to his extensive business in

sheep husbandry. He has a fine farm of 1,075 acies, located six miles

north of Sedalia on the beautiful rolling prairie of this section, with large

and commodious residence, ample barns and other conveniences for the

most approved mode of farming and sheep husbandry. A view of his

fine house and lawn, "St. Cloud Stock Farm," is found in another place in

this volume. Sheep, of which he has a verv large flock of the best

Merinos, are his chief stock, though he keeps a few Short-horn cattle and

Berkshire hogs. He will hereafter give almost his entire attention to the

husbandry of registered Merino sheep. (See "Sheep Husbandrv," page
367.) Mr. Gentry was married on Christmas Day, 1877, to Miss Ella

M. Tusse}^, a most estimable lady, reared in the county. They have

three children: Laura, Mary and Clarence B. Mr. Gentry, though

young, is a thorough business man, and his kindlv and generous disposi-

tion together with rare Christian virtues place him in the highest rank

among his neighbors and acquaintances.

MRS. BETTIE H. GENTRY.
The estimable 1; -iy whose name appears at the head of this sketch, was

born in this county, Dec. 13, 1853, and is the daughter of Reese Hughes,

Esq., one of the earliest settlers of Pettis County. She married Reuben

Gentry in 1871, and has five children, two girls and three bo3'S, viz: Ruby,
Sallie B., Wm. H., Charles, Reuben J. One boy died in infancy. Mr.

Reuben Gentry was a son of Richard Gentry, who was one of the leading
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large farmers and stock raisers of Missouri. The present handsome brick

mansion was buih in 1879, at a cost of about $8,000. The excellent farm

contains upwards of. seventeen hundred acres of fine arable land. The
residence is in Cedar Township, about two and one-half miles from the

city of Sedalia. Mr. Reuben Gentry died on Oct. 5, 1881. He was con-

sidered one of the most successful traders and stock breeders of the

county, keeping only thorough-bred stock. His wife still lives on the

farm and successfully controls the large estate, but does not engage so

largely in the raising of stock.

FLEMING R. GREER.

Post-office, Georgetown. He was born, April 10, 1856. His father's

name was Moses. His father came to Missouri at an early date. The

subject of this sketch was one of fourteen children. In 1876 he was mar-

ried to Miss J. Wasson. The fruit of this union is one child, Louella.

Mr. Greer is a young, promising farmer, and has lived in Pettis County all

of his Hfe. At present he is engaged in farming.

JOSEPH C. xMARSH.

Post-office, Sedalia. Was born in Vermillion County, 111., June 13,

1828. His father was a native of South Carolina, and served in the war
of 1812; was for a long time Justice of the Peace. His mother's maiden
name was Catharine Starr. Her father's name was John. May 3, 1846,

Joseph C. Marsh was married to Miss Catharine Sherer, daughter of John
Sherer, a carpenter of Illinois. The following children were born:

Cyntha A., Rebecca J., John W., Esau, Mary E., Emma R., Jesse C,
James B. and Ida G. Joseph C. Marsh is a veteran soldier of the Mexi-
can war. He in company with six others volunteered. Three of the

number were lost in battle. They were in Company C, Third Regiment
Louisiana Infantry, under Col. Hitchcock and Maj. Jewell, and served till

the close of the war. He was in the following battles: (Vera Cruz, Mar.

12, 1847; Cerro Gordo, May loth; Churubusco, in August; Chapul-

tepec, in August; City of Mexico, Sept. 14th. Soon after this (before he

was discharged ),
Mr. Marsh's health failed, on account of fatigue and bad

water, from which he has not wholly recovered. For this service he

received a land warrant, and further for his services deserves a pension.
After the treaty of peace, July 4, 1848, Mr. M. was honorably discharged
and returned to private life. It is said he was the first white child born in

Vermillion County, 111. At present he owns a small farm two miles

north of Sedalia, where he also burns lime kilns. He sold fifteen hundred

bushels of lime last year at twenty-five cents a bushel. In religion this

familv are associated with the Christian Church.
"

47
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J. F. McANINCH.

Post-office, Georgetown. Was born in Kentucky, June 27, 1844. His

father, D. H. McAninch, was also a Kentuckian, and a faithful member of

the Christian Church. The subject of these notes was one of five children,

who came to Missouri in 1852. J. F. was brought up by Chas. W, C.

Walker, a respectable citizen, who is now dead. In 1863 J. F. took a

trip across the plains, and returned in Januar}^, 1864; then spent one year
in Illinois, after which he returned to Missouri, and again went to the

mountains in 1869, where he engaged in digging gold in Idaho, returning
to Missouri in 1870. From this date he engaged in farming and stock

dealing, which he has carried on with fair success, and is now full partner

with his brother in buying and selling stock. He is a bachelor of good
habits and straightforward in his business,

CAPT. W. K. RAMEY.

Post-office, Sedalia. He was born in Clark County, Ky., March 17,

1812. His father, James, also a native of that State, came to Howard

County, Mo., in 1820; after two years' residence there, he moved to this

county, (then Saline.) James Ramey was the judge of the county court

a great many years. Was a commissioned officer in the war of 1812.

He died in 1848, at the age of 53 years. The subject of this sketch was

the third of six children, one girl and five boys. He married Miss Elender

P. Wasson, daughter of Thos. and Polly Wasson, March 1, 1822. The

following children were born: Polly, Wm. R., J. D., Elizabeth, David S.,

Malin J., Martha E., Sarah E., Polly A., Isabelle, Lousetty, Mary F.

and John. Seven are now (1882) living, and all married. Capt. Ramey
received his title while serving in the 40th Regiment Missouri S. M.,

under Col. Weir. On March 1, 1882, they celebrated their Golden

Wedding, having led a marital life for half a century. The Captain's

father, James Ramey, took the first wagon to Mexico. On his way he

fired a cannon after the Indians, which produced such a consternation

among the savages that they did not molest the whites any more for sev-

eral months. At the celebration of the fiftieth anniversary of the mar-

riage of Capt. Wm. K. and Ellen P. Ramey, held at their residence, six

miles northeast of Sedalia, March 1, 1882, the following children, grand-

children and great-grandchildren were present: Wm. R. Ramey, Jas.

D. Ramey, David S. Ramey, Malinda J. Ramey, Martha E. Erwin, Sarah

E. Rumsey, John Ramey. Grandchildren: Elie Ramey, Ida Ramey,
Ellen Ramey, Lou Ramey, David Stout Ramey, Lether Ramey, David

S. Ramey, Judge C. Ramey, Emmett A. Ramey, Wm. F. Erwin, Sarah

E. Beaman, Emily J. Erwin, Mary E. Wasson, James R. Rumsey, John

R. Rumsey, Nicholas Rumsey, Francis M. Ramey, James H. Ramey,
Dovie Ramey, Geo. Ramey, Sarah I. Dirck, Elizabeth Grinstead,
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Amanda P. Rarney, Benj. F. Ramey, Thomas Rarney, Ella Ramey, John
W. Ramey, Nancy E. Ramey, Jas. R. Ramey, Mar}' E. Ramey, Almeda
B. Ramey, Emma Rumsey, Ida M. Rumsev- Great-grandchildren:
Ethel Ramey, Eliza E. Beaman.

J. D. RAMEY.

Post-office, Sedalia. Was born June 29, 1836, in Pettis County. Capt.
W. K. Ramey was his father. June 29, 1856, he married Miss Amanda
M. Reagan, daughter of William Reagan, an old settler, who came west

so early that he lost all trace of his lineage. The subject of this sketch

built a saw and grist mill in 1877, on Muddy Creek, section two, town-

ship forty -six, range twenty-one, where he is now engaged in milling.

Children born are: Sarah E., W. K., Mary E., Amanda P., Benjamin F.,

James T. and Eller. The old Pin Hook mill, which stood near the pres-

ent mill, was one of the first west of Brownsville. It was built by Thos.

Wasson, and at an earl}- day court was held here. The present mill is

supplied with water from a living spring in a creek close to Muddy. This

mill is doing a good business.

F. M. REAM.

Post-office, Georgetown. He was born in Pettis County, Mo., April

15, 1857. His father, Abraham, was an old settler. The subject of these

notes was one of seven children. In 1878, he married Miss F. E. Wasson.

They had one child, which is now dead. Mr. Ream is engaged in farm-

ing.

JOHN E. RECTOR.

The gentleman whose name appears at the head of this sketch is a mer-

chant of Georgetown, and was born in Pettis County, Mo., Dec. 5, 1838,

and educated in the common schools of the county. In April, 1872, he

was married to Miss Mary B. Edwards, whose father was a merchant.

Four children were born, three of whom art living. Mr. John E. Rector

is a leading member of the Cumberland Presbyterian Church. He com-

menced merchandising about 1868, in Georgetown, where he continues

the business. His father is one of the early pioneer settlers of George-
town. Henry Rector, the father of John E., was bornNov. 18, 1809, m
the State of Kentucky, and was the son of Enoch Rector, a native of

Virginia. Henry Rector came to Missouri in 1819, and settled in Howard

County, but finally moved to the spot, near where Georgetown now

stands, in 1833, before the town was laid oft', and it was then called Saline

County. He was married to Miss Lee Ann Allen, in 1824, and seven

children were the fruits of this union, viz: ChasJ., Nimrod, William,

Bethel E., Harriet A., Elizabeth and John. His first wife died March 15,
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1851, and he married the second time Miss Mary A. Reany, Nov. 11,

1851. She was born Sept, 29, 1823. The following children are the

offspring of the latter marriage: Martha J., Sarah M., George H., Ruth,

Jaily, Emma, William M. and Millai-d J. In religion, Mr. Henry Rector
is a member of the M. E. Church, South.

G. W. ROTHWELL, M. D.

Dr. Rothwell stands prominent among the pioneer disciples of Escula-

pius. He was born in Albemarle County, Va., May 17, 1812. His great-

grandfather came from England with the colonists. John Rothwell, his

father, was a Captian in the war of 1812, under Gen. Cook. Claibourne

Rothwell, grandfather of the Doctor, served in the Revolution with

his father. The Doctor was one of nine children, tour boys and five girls.

He was united in holy wedlock, in the State of Virginia, in 1839, with

Miss Ann Leonora Brown, daughter of John and Martha Brown, and

soon afterwards came to Saline County, Mo. The Doctor was educated

at the University of Virginia, and there received the degree of M. D. and

also graduated at the Medical College of Philadelphia. His father's farm

adjoined
"
Monticello,

"
the residence of President Jefferson. The Doctor

commenced practice at jonesburg, Saline County, Mo., in 1839, where
he remained ten years, and in 1850 he settled on Heaths Creek, Pettis

County, and improved
" Prairie Pond,

"
his excellent farm, near the old

Mexican trail. In 1862 when the clouds of war arose, he went to St. Louis

and remained till 1865, at St. Louis, Boonville and Philadelphia, when he

returned to " Prairie Pond," which he found considerably damaged, and

much of his fine collection of books carried from his librar3^ He only
remained here four years, then located at "Edge Hill," his present home, two
miles north of Sedalia. Here he has a beautiful little home with some
attractive improvements. He has upwards of 70<» young apple trees of

choice varieties. The Doctor has been engaged in practice for forty-two

3'ears, traveling mostly on horseback. His record of travel shows that he

has traveled in round numbers 72,000 miles, a distance of nearly three times

around the globe. Much of his early practice was in a radius of fifteen to

thirty miles. The Doctor is a classical scholar and a man of fine intel-

lectual reasoning. One of his tutors while at college was John P. Emmet,
nephew of Robert Emmet, the Irish patriot. In politics, the Doctor is a

Democrat, and in religion he is a Methodist. As a man he is sociable,

kind, yet dignified.

MRS. SARAH E. SMITH.

Mrs. Smith is a resident of Georfjetown. She was born in the State of

Indiana, Ma}- 2, 1833, daughter of Ellis Rinehart, a farmer of Virginian

nativity. Her mother's maiden name was Mariah Hollenback. John Z.
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Smith, her late husband, was a native of Ohio, born February 21, 1828,

and came to Missouri in 1865, and departed this life July 4, 1880. Miss

Sarah E. Rinehart was married to John Z. Smith November 3, 1854.

Twelve children were born, six of whom are livinj^, viz: Ellis, Anna
Belle, Byron, Carrietta, Amy D., Ella M., John, George, Monroe, Minnie

M., Myrtie P, and Manlove. In faith Mrs. Smith is a Baptist. She
owns a handsome little home and an excellent vineyard and orchard.

W. K. TAYLOR.

Among the enterprising florists of Missouri is the subject of this sketch,

who resides in Georgetow^n. He was born September 1, 1849, in Rich-

mond, Va., and is the son of A. W. Taylor, who is a descendant of pure

English stock. The subject of this sketch is a graduate of Hamden Syd-

ney College, of Prince Edward Co., Va. His father was a large tobacco-

nist, in Richmond. W. K. Taylor was the only child of the family. W.
K. Taylor entered the Confederate army under Stonewall Jackson, and

afterward under Wade Hampton. Was in the battles of Bull Run,

Manassas, Chancellorsville, Fredericksburg, Seven Days' fight around

Richmond, Gettysburg, and Appomattox Court House. Mr. W. K.

Taylor was united in marriage, Sept. 4, 1873, to Miss V^irginia E. Francis,

of St. Louis, daughter of James Francis, a merciiant of that city. Three

children are the result of this union: Beulah M., Walter R., and Hugh
F. Mr. Taylor is a Mason, K. P., I. O. R. M. He is a practical florist

and horticulturist, and has been engaged in the business for several years

past. He is a gentleman of good habits and pleasant colloquial powers.

JOHN WELSH.

The subject of this sketch, whose post-otfice is Sedalia, was born in Ire-

land, in the year 1829, and was the son of Patrick Welsh. John's father died

when the former was about six years of age. John came to America in 1848

when nineteen years of age. In 1852 he married Miss Margaret Lanen,

daughter of Micheal Lanen, a native of Ireland. Nine children were born,

five bovs and four girls: Bridget, Thomas, Michael, Mary, Jane, John,

William, Margaret and Elizabeth. Bridget married Joseph Kennedy, who
died Dec. 19, 1881, leaving three children: Daniel, John and Joseph.

JOHN S. WOODS.

John S. Woods, a distinguished fine wool-grower, residing a few miles

north of Sedalia, was born in Cumberland County, Penn., July 1st, 1819.

His father, Joseph Woods, was also a native of the "
Keystone State."

His grandfather was William Woods. His grandfather on his mother's

side was J. Crossen, an Irishman by birth, and a commissioned officer in

the Revolutionary War. The subject of this, sketch married Miss Sarah
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A. Bolls, daughter of Nathaniel Bolls, a blacksmith and machinist, x^pril

23, 18-ii. Mr. Bolls was born Aug. 19, 1794, and served as a soldier in

the War of 1S12. The following children constitute the family of John
S. Woods: Porter B., Hanford D., Harriet E., Sarah A., Caroline A.,

Maria, Martha E., John M. and Fred W. Five are married, viz.: Porter

B., to Miss Lizzie McKeller; Sarah, to Geo. H. Gaskill; Harriet, to Wil-

liam Griggs; Maria, to C. Duncan; Ella, to N. Norton. Porter B. was

a Union soldier during the late war, and is now engaged in a dairy, which he

has conducted successfully for seven years past. Mrs. Woods was born

Aug. 12, 1826; her maiden name was Rachel M. Forster, a native of

Pennsylvania. Mr. Woods may be counted among the enterprising far-

mers and fine wool-growers of Pettis County. He is taking some inter-

est in horticulture, having at the present a good vineyard and upward of

175 choice apple trees. He keeps constantly on hand pure blooded

Merino sheep for sale. So great has been the demand for his stock in the

past that he has sold upward of 3,000 sheep in the past three years. He
settled in Mansfield, Ohio, in May, 1828. The subject of this sketch was

the oldest of five children, two boys and three girls: Joseph P., Mary A.,

Eliza H. and Sarah J. In Ohio he owned an excellent house and

handsome place. April 22, 1865, Mr. Woods landed at Dubuque, Iowa,
where he invested $16,000 in farming lands with A. H. Gale, of Sandusky

City, Ohio, and subsequently moved to Missouri, near Sedalia, Nov. 28,

1867, bringing 800 fine-wooled sheep with him. He has been engaged
in buying and breeding fine sheep for more than thirty years, and is now

regarded as one of the best judges of fine sheep in the west. He now

keeps some very fine bucks for sale. Mr. Woods is a very social, enter-

prising farmer.

CHAPTER XIX—BOWLING GREEN TOWNSHIP.

Name—Location—Organizstion—Configuration—Early Settlers—Churches—First Minis-

ters—Early Teachers—Educational—Incidents and Reminiscences—Biographical.

Name.—Bowling Greens are quite numerous and popular names in the

country, and perhaps the most prominent is the one in Warren County,

Kentucky. Bowling Green is the county seat, and the count}' of Warren
is situated in the southwestern part of the State. There is also a Bowling
Green in Pike County, Mo., a station of some importance on the Chicago
& Alton Railroad. There are numerous other townships and counties of

the same name in the country. This township is supposed to have been

named by Mr. George W. Smiley, who came to the township in 1825

from Kentucky, and it is supposed that his love for his native State

and the beautiful town of Bowling Green in particular caused him to
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give or suggest the name. However this may be, it is a beautiful name
and a beautiful township that owns the name.

Organization.—The township was laid out when Pettis County was

organized, in the winter of 1832 or 1833. At that time Mr. Charles Cra-

vens was the member of the Letjislature from Sahne County, and to

his eflbrts is due the fact of the separation of the counties of Saline and

Pettis, and the giving of voting places, convenient for the voters. It for-

merly embraced the townships of Smithton, Heaths' Creek, and part
of Longwood, but was separated near the time the Missouri Pacific

Railroad came through, and each township was given separate voting

places. In the organization of the county into municipal townships, this

has retained the name of Bowling Green, while the others took their pres-
ent names. The township contains thirty-six square miles, or is exactly
a congressional township. Its northern boundary is Heath's Creek Town-

ship, east Cooper and Morgan Counties, south Smithton Township and

west vSedalia and Cedar Townships. Its position is nearly in the center

of the county from north to south, and lies on the eastern edge of the

county.

Configuration.—The physical features that characterize this town-

ship are much the same as those of the other townships. The land is

mostly gently rolling prairie, although in some places it is flat and along
the creeks timber abounds. The township is well watered by the Muddy
Creek, and its tributaries, the Elk Horn and Shavetail Creeks. Along
these branches is found an excellent growth of timber, and many fine rock

quarries produce limestone and a kind of stone called cottonwood rock,

which on exposure to the air wears away, but for foundations, and where

it is well covered from the action of the air and rains, it will last as long

as any other stone.

The system of drainage is ver}'- complete, and in no place is it necessary
to use artificial piping to carry off the surface water, but everywhere the

ground is rolHng enough to give good drainage. The soil is as the balance

of Pettis County, deep, dark and rich, and its productiveness is unsur-

passed. The quality of its staple productions, its fine fields of wheat, its

elegant blue grass pastures, and its large area of corn, producing from

fifty to seventy-five bushels per acre, all speak volumes for the

quality of the land on which those who are residents of the township
reside.

Early Settlers.—The early history of this township is so interwoven

with that of Smithton, which, at this early day, was a part of Bowling

Green, that the early settlers of the one are the early settlers of the other.

Honored and respected as they were, it is just that, without becoming

tiresome, we should give these brave men all the credit due them in open-
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ing up this new country, even if it is necessary to mention them three or

four times. They are worthy of all the praise the humble historian of

the present day can bestow upon them. Among the earliest, and perhaps
the earliest settler of the township was Joseph Scott, who came in 1815,

from Kentucky. Thus with him the opening wedge entered the virgin

territory, and from the States of Kentucky, Virginia, Alabama and Ten-

nessee came the heroes of the rough and sturdy material which was to

rise into the beautiful and substantial structures of the western empire.

Joseph Roberts and wife came in 1820, also from Kentucky; N. Steele

came the same year from the same State. John Potter came in 1825 from

the same State, and Robert Ross came two years later from the " blue

grass
"

regions. George Small came to the township in 1825, from Ken-

tucky, and also the same year and from the same State came George W.

Smiley, whom we have previously given the honor of naming the town-

ship. All these have years ago passed away. Mr. Smiley was a man of

great energy, a consistent member of the Methodist Episcopal Church,
and his house was always open to the preaching of the gospel, no matter

of what denomination the minister might be. On his land the first school

house built in the township was erected, and the ancient chimney still

stands as a mark of his enterprise in the days when the country was little

more than a wilderness. Daniel Wright came to the township in 1831,

from Alabama, and is now numbered with those who have passed to a bet-

ter world. Andrew M. Wright came from the same State, and in the

same year, and still resides in the township. A complete biographical
sketch is given of him elsewhere, and to say he has had much to do with

bringing the township up to its present standpoint would be but a slight

tribute to one w^ho has resided fifty-one years in the same section of coun-

try, watched it grow from infancy to youth, and from youth to manhood,
and now enjoying the fullness of the blessings the Creator has so bounti-

fully showered upon it. Clinton Young came to the township in 1830,

from Tennessee, and Clayborne Young four years later from the same

State. Both are now dead. Judge J. W. Beeman is another of the pio-

neers of the township, who is now living. He came from Alabama here in

1832, and has lived on the same homestead for fifty years; is one of the

few men who came in those early times determined to carve their wa}- to

a competency, who yet remain to tell the stor}- of their struggles and tri-

umphs.
CHURCHES.

I love to steal awhile away
From every cumbering care,

And spend the hour of setting day
In humble, grateful prayer.

There are four churches in the township, viz : Salem M. E., Provi-

dence Baptist, Beeman Chapel and the Church of the Disciples.
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The M, E. Church, of BovvHng Green Township, is known by the

name of Salem, and is situated in the southern part of the township, seven

miles east ot Sedalia. The first class was organized at Smiley's school

house in 184U, and the present organization of Salem Church was made
in 1860 by B. J. Porter, John Pollard, E. K. Porter, J. C. Porter and B. C.

Porter. The building was erected in 1859, at a cost of $5,000, by B. J.

Porter, W. B. Porter, E. M. Hausburger and J. N. Porter. It is a brick

building 40x50 feet, and was dedicated in 1859 by Dr. Parsons, of Louis-

ville, Ky. The pastors have been the Revs. Josiah Godbv, W. C.

Godby, Joseph McCasey, J. Woodspringer, Wassen Wharton, J. P. Smith,
R. E. Allen and J. T. Anthony. The original members were B. C. Por-

ter, B. J. Porter, J. W. Pollard, Mrs. F. R. Porter, S. W. Porter, P. Pol-

lard, Mr. and Mrs. H. Z. Elbert, E. M. Housberger and wife and E. K.

Porter and family. The present membership is forty-five, and the Sun-

day School has an average attendance of fifty. T. E. Porter is Superin-

tendent, and the Secretary is A. M. Mitchene. Before the organization of

Salem Church the different denominations met at Smilev's school house

and old Providence Baptist Church, where they would have great revi-

vals under the preaching of Revs. Springer, James Mitchell, Thomas
Wallace and J. W. Jamesen.
From the Sedalia Democrat we clip the following in regard to the

churches :

What is known as Salem Church, of the Southern Methodist denomi-

nation, four and a half miles east of town, two miles south of Beaman, and
in the Porter neighborhood, has been rebuilt. The old church was 40x50

feet, and the new one is 28x40 feet, and is really a handsome little church,
yet plenty large enough for all purposes. The old materials—such as the

brick, shingles, planking and furniture, were used in the new building.
The amount expended in the work was $800, which was raised by sub-

scription, a good deal of which was subscribed in Sedalia. The Rev. J.

M. Anthony is the pastor. The new church was dedicated last New
Year's day, by the Rev. E. R. Hendricks, President of the Central Col-

lege at Fayette. The membership is sixty, and altogether the church is

in a flourishing condition.

The following account of the Church of the Disciples is written bv Mr.

Bird P.Smith:

In 1859 when I removed to Missouri, there were two churches of Dis-

ciples in Pettis Count}'. One in the northern part of the county called

Union; this was a very strong and flourishing organization at that time;
made up of the most influential, intelligent citizens of that part of the

county. Among the members of that time were, Amos Fristoe, Abner

Clopton, Dr. Rothwell, John S. Jones, Dr. Cartwright, Col. Thos. F.

Houston, George Anderson, Ben. Major, Charles Jones, and many others

of influence. Amos Fristoe and Ben Major were the leading workers of

the church, always zealous and energetic in the cause of Christ. Amos
Fristoe was Elder, and I think Bro. Harrison. Elder Allen Weight
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preached for them, and he and Bro. L. B. Wilks held a very successful

protracted meeting for the church at Union, in 185S, and had over one
hundred additions; among them Col. T, F. Houston and wife. The
church at Union, so strong twenty years ago, is now the weakest in the

county. Georgetown was the county seat in 1860. There was a good
congregation of Disciples there, organized by Elder Allen Wright and
Elder John Dejarnett. The leading workers in this church were John
Dejarnett, P. Woolridge and Mr. Hunt. After the county seat was
removed to Sedalia, the congregation removed there also. I cannot close

this sketch without alluding to the work and life of Elder John Dejarnett.
He had a good English education, was an excellent business man, made
no great pretentions as a preacher, but at the same time was what I con-
sider a good preacher. His reasoning was stricth' logical. Few men
could analyze a passage of scripture more clearlv than he; alway under-
stood his subject well, and no one could fail to understand him, and the

reason he was not a popular speaker, his voice was sharp and bad.

Never too busy to work for the church (and he had a large business),

always ready to work for Christ. To his energy and zeal, the church in

Sedalia is indebted for the house the congregation now worship in. He
raised the money and superintended the building under many adverse
circumstances during the war. The brick had to be brought from Jeffer-
son City. Elder Dejarnett has been dead lor a number of years, and I am
not aware that his brethren have ever paid a proper tribute of love and

respect to the memory of so good and faithful a worker in the cause of
Christ.

Speaking of early times, Rev. Wm. Ferguson says: "It was thinly

settled, but plenty of wild deer and prairie chickens, and wolves were

on the prairie where Sedalia now stands. No railroads, no telegraph
wires thought of then, no fine churches, no fine school houses; had

to send our children to school in little houses, sixteen by eighteen feet,

made of logs and seats without backs to them. Had to preach in those

little houses, or in private family homes, or in the groves in warm
weather. But now we have fine school houses, and fine churches, well

seated, all over the county; and where the wolves and wild deer, and

the prairie chickens were, Sedalia now stands in her splendor, with

man}^ railroads and telegraph wires. Many large, fine farms well

improved, and in the place of the old fashioned sc3'thes and cradle to cut

our grass and other small grain, we have plenty of good machinery
that goes by horse-power to cut our grasses, wheat and oats, and the

thresher to thresh the same."

The first justice of the peace was Larkin Erwin, and the first school

was taught by James Chalmers. V. T. Chilton, Edward Clark, Wm.
Joplin, F. M. Butler and Mrs. Bryan, cousin of Maj. Wm. Gentry, were

also early teachers. The township officers of 1873 were B. F. Taylor and

W. C. Steelman, justices, and G. S. Erwin, assessor; T. P. Potter, collec-

tor: and Willis Franklin, clerk. The county schools are in a flourishing

condition.
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In the early da3's of land entry, frequently lar<re tracts were entered

at 12|^ cents per acre. Richard Gentry made a large entry of a tract

now occupied of Wm. Gentry as a sheep farm. Just as he came down
from the land office steps, Judc(e Beeman started up to enter the same

tract.
,

The post office of the township is at the little station of Beaman on the

Missouri, Kansas & Texas railroad.

JUDGE J. W. BEEMAN.
Farmer. The subject of this sketch is one of the pioneers and one of

the two oldest persons now living in the township, and is a native of North

Carolina. He was born in Rowan County on May 5, 1S13, and when he

was about sixteen years of age he moved to Albanv, where he remained

until 1832, then he moved to Pettis County, Missouri, and located where

he now lives. He entered forty acres in July, 1834, on which place his

house now stands. He has the honor of having the town of Beeman
named after him. He was married July 10, 1831, to Miss Elizabeth

Smiley, who is a native of Kentucky, and daughter of James Smiley.
This union has blessed them with three children. His wife was called to her

long home in March 30, 1878; she was a faithful member of the Methodist

Church, and died in that faith. Mr. Beeman is a man that has taken a

warm interest in the wellfare of the county court, and as his reward he was

appointed Judge of the county in 1805, and when his term expired he was
re-elected for the term of four years, and during this time he did his duly
and tilled the office to the letter of the law and satisfaction of the people.
He is a leading member of the Methodist Church. He has seen many
changes come and go to Pettis County, but has always kept pace with its

progress. He has improved a fine farm of 360 acres, and is now num-

bered among the successful pioneers of the county. He was married

Jan. 31, 1882, to Mrs. Armilda Igo, whose maiden name was Moore. Mr.

Beeman has a good home one-half mile west of Beeman station. Mr.

Beeman has been a citizen of this county more than fifty years, having
settled here in April, 1832, before Pettis County was organized, and has

always shown himself worthy and exemplary.

H. E. McCOY.

Post-office, Beaman. Owns a grist-mill and saw-mill combined on Sec-

tion fourteen, township forty-six, range twenty. This enterprising

citizen is a native of Cooper County, Mo., and was born in 1810, and from

the time he was seven years of age he has been in a mill. He

thoroughly understands milling and is now doing a large business and

with much satisfaction to the people. He has been engaged in milling in

Morgan County, and during the war he was in the employ ofthe Missouri



952 HISTORY OF BOWLING GREEN TOWNSHIP.

Pacific Railroad for about three years. He then went to Nebraska, where
he remained about two years. He then returned to Missouri, and in 1872

moved to his present place, since which time he has improved the mill, and

its capacity is now about 2(>0 barrels per day. He was married Jan. 2,

1867, to Miss A. J. Yancey, who is a native of Cooper County, Mo.
This union has blessed them with four children, viz: William E., Katie,

Henry A. and Lee.

JUDGE V. T. CHILTON.

The subject of this sketch was born in Fauquier County, Va., on the

first day of April, 1817, and moved with his father's family to Kanawha

County, now West Virginia, in the fall of 1834, where he attended the

common schools and worked on the farm. In 1837 he entered Bacon Col-

lege in Georgetown, Ky., and graduated in civil and topographical engi-

neering in August, 1839. He then came to Missouri in October, 183.5,

and taught school; then surveyed government lands and dealt in live stock

until 1852. He was married in March, 1853, in Alabama, to Susan E.

Hampton, a relative of the warrior and statesman, and in April of the same

year settled on the farm where he now lives, tour miles north of Smithton,

Pettis County. In August, 1875, he was appointed by Gov. Hardin, as

Justice at large, to fill the vacancy caused by the resignation of John M.

Sneed, which position lie continued to fill until the summer of 1878, at

which time, having received the nomination of the Democratic party for

the legislature, he resigned the position to which he had been twice

appointed and twice elected, and at the general election in 1878 he was

chosen to represent Pettis County in the Thirtieth General Assembly of the

State of Missouri.

WILLIAM L. EMBREE.

Post-office, Beaman. Farmer. One of the pioneers of Pettis County,
and was born Dec. 18, 1816, in Clark County, Ky., and when he was about

sixteen years of age he came to this county, where he has since lived. His

father was one of the pioneer preachers of this county. He was first

married March 11, 1838, to Miss Martha Caroline Beaman, and this union

was blessed with eleven children, William, Martha, Lucinda M., Marga-
ret A., Frederick, James C, John C, Noah W. and Doctor A. Mrs.

Embree died March, 1861, and he was again married Aug., 1861, to Miss

J. F. Beaman, and this union has been blessed with six children, Alice,

Olivia F., William W., Belle, Walter and Edgar. Mr. Embree owns a

fine farm of 175 acres, and he is numbered among the successful men of

the county.

REV. WILLIAM FERGUSON.

William Ferguson, son of Thomas and Hannah Ftiguson, was born in
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Barren County, Ky., on Oct. I'Jth, 1806, (bein^ of Scotch descent,") three

miles southeast of Prewet's Knob, and six miles northeast of Glasgow,
the county seat of the County of Barren, on a farm, in a grove known
as Walter's Grove. In the twelfth ^ear of his at>e his father sold his farm

in Barren County and moved to Warren County, two and a half miles

below the Dripping Springs, on the road leading from Lexington, Ky., to

Nashville, Tenn., and bought a farm in the grove known as Smith's Grove,
thirteen miles east of Bowling Green, the county seat of Warren County.
He (William) remained with his father, raised up between the plow-han-
dles until the age of twenty-two years, then married to Dorinda Wright,
the daughter of Jacob and Miriam Wright, on the twenty-eightii day of

Oct., 1828, by Elder Elijah Davidson. Mr. Wright lived on the road lead-

ing from Glasgow to Bowling Green. In the early part of the winter

both professed faith in Christ, and were baptized into the fellowship of the

United Baptist Church, called Smith's Grove Church, by the Pastor, Elder

Whitman. He remained there until the fall of 1841, when he moved to

Pettis County, Mo., and entered land four miles east of Georgetown,
made a farm on the prairie, and lived on it ten years. Shortly after com-

ing to the county they joined the regular Baptist Church, called the Muddy
Fork Church, near Georgetown, there being at that time no United Bap-
tist Churches in the county. They remained members of that church hve

or six years, until Providence Church was constructed, when, on

account of not agreeing in point of doctrine, left the old church, and

together with two of their children, a son and daughter, again joined the

United Baptist Church, he and his wife by letter, and their children by

experience and baptism. He felt very much impressed that it was his

duty to preach the Gospel. So great was this brought to bear on his

mind, that in a short time after joining the church at Providence, having
been exhorting to some extent before this, he was liceused to exhort, and

very soon, by the desire of the church, was ordained to the full work of

the Gospel Ministry on the fifteenth day of Dec, 1840, by Elders Elias

George and Jesse G. Berkley. He, his wife and family remained with the

Providence congregation until the twenty-eighth day of April, 1872, when

they assisted in organizing what is known as Olive Branch Church. The

membership numbered fourteen. It has now reached about ninety members.

This church is situated about seven miles northeast of Sedalia. He has raised

a family of seven children out of ten; two daughters and five sons, all

married and settled. Three of his children died in infancy. Five of those

living belong to the church. One of the deceased also was a consistent

member of the church. He has solemnized 125 marriages. His age at

this time (1882) is seventy-six years, and his wife is seventy-three.
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HON. JOHN C. FERGUSON. {Deceased:^

He died in the thirty-seventh 3'ear of his age. hx the age of eighteen

young Ferguson embraced faith in Christ, and was baptized in the fellow-

ship of Providence Baptist Church, in Pettis County, by Rev. R. H. Har-

ris. After leaving the public school of his neighborhood he attended col-

lege at Jacksonvnlle, 111., for about one year, and in the spring of 1864

crossed the plains, returning the following fall. Soon after his return he

commenced the study of law with Phillips & Vest, of Sedalia. He was

alwa3's a close student, and his progress was wonderful. In 1868 he

located in Osceola, Mo., and commenced the practice of law. He soon

became a man of mark. In 1870 he secured the appointment of County
Attorney, which position he filled with fidelity and credit. In 1873 he was
elected to represent his county in the State Legislature, which place he

filled with honor. In 1873 he was married to Miss Marv F. Anthwait, of

Osceola, who has proved herself to be a zealous Christian, a constant

companion, and a devoted mother. In 1876 he was chosen as the Presi-

dential Elector for this district, and again distinguished himself by the

brilliant canvass he made. As a man he was modest and retiring, self-for-

getful, and generous almost to a fault. A little more than a year prior to

his death he visited the principal health resorts of Missouri and Kansas,
but it was all of no avail. He returned to his home to die, surrounded bv

his family and friends. Chistian activity and spiritual zeal characterized

his entire life, and he died in the triumph of a living faith in Christ.

He leaves a wife and two interesting children, a little boy and girl. The
deceased was a son of Rev. William Ferguson, who now resides eight mile.s

northeast of Sedalia, Mo. He died at his home in Osceola, Mo., Nov. 15,

1881.

M. O. GREEN.

He was born in England, August 13, 1839. His lineage composed the

best families, ranking high in social and public life, and representing a vast

amount of wealth, of which his father possessed quite a liberal share. After

coming to America his father was the victim of misplaced confidence,

which almost made a wreck of him financially, having allowed his name
to be used as security for other parties for large sums of money, and

which he was compelled to pay; in consequence of this the subject of

our sketch, at the tender age of nine years, was forced to realize the

fact that he would have to adopt a course from which to gain a sup-

port for himself. With this stern reality deeply impressed upon his young
mind, he immediately sought and found employment, and with that energy
and ambition which lias characterized his whole life, continued for

eleven long years, fraught with man}- hardships and cares, as a common
laborer. The first earned money was that which he obtained in three
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years of steady work as a farm hand, at the very meai^er sum of twenty
dollars per year, and out of which he had to make an allowance for all his

wearing apparel. Of this sixty dollars, earned in these three years, he

saved some money, ten dollars of which he used in defraying the funeral

expenses of his sister, and in the fourth year he purchased three yearling

calves, paying eleven dollars per head for them. An incident of his life,

showing forth his unbounded generosity
—another prominent characteristic

of his life—and meriting the iiighest commendation of all, is that of relin-

quishing all his claim to that portion of his father's estate which he inher-

ited, consisting of ^TOO, and appl3-ing it to the education of a dearly loved

sister, thereby bestowing the highest gift within his power to give. With
an indomitable will, and an energy which surpasses all others, we find him

slowly, but surely, climbing the rough and rugged hills of life, and laying
the foundation upon vvhich he is now building a structure, exposed to

adverse winds, and tumultuous storms, which will continue to stand as a

living monument of his useful life, and a beacon light to those who may
follow after. Mr. Green was married March 1, 1860, to Miss Mary
Bane. This union has been blessed with four bright and intelligent chil-

dren, Martha J., George R., Mary E. and Frederick B., all of whom are

approaching maturity. At the time of his marriage, all he possessed was
two good teams, and some farming implements. He rented land for a

short time, and then bought 160 acres at twenty dollars per acre, it having
what was then called a " cut-throat

"
mortgage of $1,000 against it, to be

paid in July following. Although not having a cent of his own, he

assumed the burden, giving to Judge Purple fifty dollars to extend the

time of payment until September, paying twenty per cent interest.

Having engaged two assistants, he put out a large crop of barley, as well

as eighty acres of wheat, from which he realized $l,OttO. In the year
1860 he put out a large corn crop, of which he gathered and sold 2,700

bushels at thirteen cents per bushel. The next year he sold 2,000 bushels

at eleven cents per bushel. He had up to this time paid $1,600 on his

place, together with the interest, when he concluded to sell eighty

acres, which he did at twenty dollars per acre, and borrowed $6(>0, with

which he paid off the whole debt against his farm . He gave $700 to

assist in educating his sister, and when she returned Irom school, she and

another sister made their homes with him until they were married.

Although being in delicate health he continued to work, buying and sell-

ing, until he finally sold his farm, of 240 acres, in Illinois, for $9,000, and

eighty acres and stock, to the amount of $3,000, and removed to the State

of Missouri and purchased 400 acres of land, where he now lives, for

$10,000, cash. In 1863, before coming to Missouri, he again put out a

crop of corn, 500 bushels of which he sold and delivered at Wenona, 111.,

to Joseph Warren at nine cents per bushel. About this time, it seems that
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fortune began to favor him, for with the assistance of his sister, he gath-
ered and sold to a government contractor by the name of James Vansant,

2,700 bushels of corn, in the crib, at eighty cents per bushel. With
innumerable difficulties to overcome, and hardships to endure, he continued

to push bravely forward, until now we find him the owner of a superb
and magnificent estate of about 1,800 acres of land, seven miles east and

southeast of Sedalia, admirably improved, with good hedge, rail and wire

fences, a good substantial brick residence, and a large, commodious barn,
with a capacity of storing an immense quantity of the products of his

farm, besides affording shelter for a large amount of stock. He is grow-
ing 700 acres of corn, and has a thousand acres of blue grass pasture and

meadow. He feeds from 300 to 500 steers, 200 to 400 hogs, forty to

fifty mules, and keeps fifty good breeding cows, and a fine herd of high

grade sheep, selling from $10,000 to $20,000 worth of stock every year.
Mr. Green has here an estate and home, replete with cheerful and ele-

gant furnishings, and made doubly inviting by the presence of its refined

mistress and her two accomplished daughters, and from their ample halls

dispenses hospitality to all. Mr. Green is every inch a gentleman; brave,

generous, charitable and chivalrous to a fault, unsurpassed energy, lib-

eral means, capital business sense, a devout and consistent member of the

M. E. Church, and one of the foremost influential men of the County.

LEWIS GEBHARD.
Farmer and stock dealer. Post-office, Smithton. The subject of this

sketch is a native of Pennsylvania, and was born on the 25th day
of April, 1819, and when he was quite small his parents emigrated to

Mason County, Ky., where our subject grew to manhood. He was there

married Sept. 24, 1844, to Miss Mary Newdigate. She is a lady who
devotes her time to making home haopy. This union has blessed them

with two children: Annie, who now lives in Cooper County, and is mar-

ried to Charles McCarter, and Belle, who is married and living at home.

Mr. Gebhard owned and run a large plow and wagon manufactory, having
run the same for fifteen years in the State of Kentucky, and with a marked

degree of success. In 1856 he came to Pettis County, Mo., locating

where he now lives, where he owns a fine farm of 360 acres, 100 of which

lies in Cooper Count}^ and which he gave to his daughters. He is a

much honored and esteemed citizen. He is a devoted member of the

Christian Church and among its liberal supporters.

WILLIAM M. GENTRY.

Post-office, Sedalia. The subject of this sketch was born in Pettis

County, Mo., Sept. 19, 1837, and is the son of Richard Gentry, deceased,

whose biography and portrait appear in this volume. Mr. Gentry received
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his primary education in the district schools,* then attended Kemper's
School, at Boonville, Mo., and finished his education at Westminster Col-

lege, at Fulton, Mo. He has now in his charge his brother Reuben's

estate, besides looking after his own extensive business. His home and

farm is located about three miles northeast of Sedalia, and consists of

1,«)00 acres of well improved land, well watered and fenced. Part of the

farm is cultivated in wheat and corn, and the remainder is in pastures, on

which he has fine herds of Short-horn cattle. Merino and Southdown sheep,
and other stock such as first-class stock-men handle. He has a herd of

twelve deer in his park near his large and handsome residence, a view of

which appears on page 507 of this volume. Mr. Gentry is a congenial gen-

tleman, fond of hunting, and now has eight English fox hounds, which

he keeps for the chase.

JOB HARNED.
Farmer. Post-ofiice, Sedalia. One of the pioneers of Pettis County,

and was born in December, 1818, in Christian County, Ky. He was

there educated and grew to manhood. He was married in 1839 to Miss

Martha Rich. This union was blessed with eight children. One of

them, Alexander, is now living at home on the farm. The seven that are

now dead are as follows: Enos, Mable, John W., Benjamin, James M.,

Jane and an infant. He came to Georgetown, Pettis County, Mo., in

1841, where he followed teaming for a livelihood for about five years.

He drove a team over this county in early days, from Boonville to George-
town. In 1846 he came to his present location, where he has since lived.

He entered the eight}^ acres he now lives on, and since that time he has

bought until he now owns 290 acres of fine land, and he is a much loved

and honored citizen. He is a consistant member of the Christian Church,
and among its liberal supporters.

W. T. HUTCHINSON.

Was born Sept. ?>, 1828, in Fayette County, Ky. In 1845 he came to

Lexington and remained there until the year 1849, when he came to Pet-

tis County, Mo. He was married wSept. 20, 1849, to Martha E. Porter,

who was born Julv 28, 1827, in the State of Virginia, her father being one

of the pioneers of this countv- Mr. Hutchinson has had nine children, one

of whom is now dead: Robert W., born June 28, 1855, and died Sept.

15, 1875. Mr. Hutclfinson owns a magnificent 520-acre farm, made up of

rolling prairie, well watered and finely improved with good buildings,

fences and splendid blue-grass pastures. He grazes a fine lot of stock and

carries on farming quite extensively. Has taken quite an interest in the

cause of education, giving his own family quite a liberal share, both at

48
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home and abroad. Has been connected with the banks of SedaHa for a

number of years, and for the past eight years has been a member of the

directory of the Citizens National Bank of Sedalia. Mr. Hutchinson is

one of the leading, strong, clear-sighted and influential men of the county,

and an honored and highly esteemed citizen of his community.

A. LOVELACE.

Farmer. Post-office, Clifton City. One of the pioneers ot Pettis

County and Bowling Green Township, and a noble citizen, and one of the

charter members of the Providence Baptist Church. He is a zealous

worker in the cause of the same, was one of the leading members in its

organization, and among the cheerful givers to build the house. He is a

native of Iredell County, N. C, and was born March 28, 1806. He was

there educated and grew to manhood. He was married in 1827, to Miss

Nancy Holman. She was a native of North Carolina, and this union has

blessed them with ten children, all of whom are a credit to their parents,

and whose names are as follows: David, Thomas, Elam, Elizabeth,

James, Alfarth, Lucy, Lovie, William and Nannie nowfdead. The sub-

ject of this sketch came to Pettis County about the year 1831, and then

returned home to North Carolina, and moved to Pettis County, Mo., in

1888, locating where he has improved a fine farm of twenty-eight acres.

He is numbered among the successful pioneers of Pettis County ,Mo.

His wife was killed by a horse running away and throwing her from the

buggy, in 1867, and he was again married in 1868 to Miss Hannah

Wheeler, who died, July 26, 1880. Although Mr. Lovelace has had much

trouble and strife in this world, he is a stout and rugged man, and a

much honored and esteemed citizen.

A. MATTHEWS.
Farmer. Post-office, Smithton. xAmong the many enterprising busi-

ness men of Pettis Countv, no one is deserving of more special notice

than the subject of this brief sketch, who is a native of Virginia, and was

born Sept. 13, 1829. His parents moved to Muskingum County, Ohio

and were among the pioneers of that county. The subject of

this sketch was there educated and developed to manhood. He was

there married Aug. 21, 1849, to Miss Eliza Beams, and this union has

blessed them with five children: Lestie, Annie E., Ella, Ida and WiUiam,

In 1860 he came to Pettis County, Mo., where he Hved about six months,

then moved to Cooper County. When our country was involved in

war, he offered his services to the Union cause, and was promoted to

an office, and while away defending his country he was elected to the

Legislature to represent the west half of Cooper County in the years 1865

and 1866. He then went to St. Louis and resigned his office in the army,
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and filled the office he was elected to in the Legislature for two vears,

1865-66, with credit to himself and satisfaction to the people. He moved
to Pettis County in the fall of 1866, where he now owns a nice farm of

forty acres. He is a consistent member of the M. E. Church, South, and

among its liberal contributors.

S. MATTHEWS.
Post-office, Beaman. One of the enterprising men of Pettis Count}' is

Mr. Matthews. He was born September 13, 182-1, in Virginia, and when

quite young his parents moved to Muskingum County, Ohio, where he

grew to manhood. He was married in 1845 to Miss Mary A. Sperry,

daughter of Rev. Joseph Sperry. This union has blessed them with ten

children: Lee, Charles J., John F., H. L., S. G., Avilda, Auglin, Sarah,

Lillie and Elman. In 1866 he came to Pettis County, Mo., where he has

since lived. He now owns a fine farm of fifty acres, with good buildings,

and everything looks as though it were under the direction of a skillful

manager.

JAMES A. POLLARD. .

Post-office, Bey man. Farmer. Among the many pioneers of Pettis

County, is Mr. Pollard, who is one of Missouri's noble sons, and "who was

born in Madison County in 1833, and was there raised until 1815, when
his parents emigrated to Pettis County and located near Flat Creek,

where they lived for about one year, then they moved to section twenty-

one, township forty-six, range twenty, where the subject of this sketch

grew to manhood. He has spent nearly all his life in this State, exxept a

few years he was in Illinois. He w^as married Feb. 13, 1868, to Mrs.

Mattie E. Claggett. She is a lady of refined tastes. This union has

blessed them with one child, Nellie. Mr. Pollard and vvife are consistent

members of the M. E. Church, South, and always among its liberal con-

tributors and supporters. He now owns a fine farm of 100 acres, and is

numbered among the successful men of the township.

W. W. POLLARD.

Post-office, Beaman. Farmer. One of the pioneers of Pettis County,

Mo., and was born Julv 2, 1829, in Bedford County, Va., and when he

was about three years of age his parents emigrated to Madison County,

Mo., and lived there until 1845, when they moved to Pettis County, locat-

ing near Flat Creek, where the}^ lived for about one year; then moved to

Bowling Green Township, where his parents were called to their long home
and he grew to manhood. In 1850, he went to California and engaged in

mining, which he followed for sixteen years, and farmed one year. He kept
a hotel one year, and in 1866 he returned to Pettis County, Mo. He was

married December 25, 1849, to Miss Martha j. Wright, who died Sep-
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tember, 1850. He was again married Nov. 1, 1868, to Miss C. A. Walker,
and this union was blessed with five children: Rosie E., Viola Belle, Mary
v., Joseph N. and Jesse B., deceased. In 1870, he moved to his present

location, where he owns a farm of seventy-six acres. He is a member of

the M. E. Church, and a zealous worker for the cause. His father's

sketch will also be found in this work.

BENJAMIN PORTER.

Post-office, Beamen. Farmer. The subject of this sketch is a native

of Pettis County, born in 1846, and Vv'as here educated and grew to

manhood. He is now on the old home and carrying on the farm of 420

acres. It has some fine buildings on it. His father was one of the

pioneers of Pettis County. His name was B. J. Porter. He was born

March 4, 1801, in Madison County, Va., and moved to Bedford County
in the same State. He was there educated and attained his majority.

He was joined in the holy bonds of wedlock Nov. 9, 1824, to Miss L. R.

Joplin. She w^as born in 1804 and is now living at a good old age. This

union was blessed with nine children, whose names areas follows: Martha

G., William B., Thomas E., Benjamin, Annie E., Sarah F., Mary V.,

James J. and Jessie J. Mr. B. I. Porter left Virginia in 1832, and traveled

with team to Madison County, Mo., and from there to Pettis County, in

1883, locating where the subject of this sketch now lives. He was one

of the pioneers of this countv, and the hungry and needy always found

plenty at his table. He was a zealous worker for the advancement of

the cause of the M. E. Church, South, and his house was called the home
of the weary, and he gave liberally to all enterprises that he thought would

enhance the welfare of the people. He entered five hundred acres of

land and improved it. He was called to his long home, Jan. 7, 1877,

leaving man}" friends to mourn his loss.

REV. E. K. PORTER.

Post-office, Beaman. The subject of this sketch is a pioneer and much hon-

ored and esteemed citizen, who was born Jan. 24, 1814, in Bedford County,
Va. When he was about nineteen years of age, or in 1832, he emigrated
to Madison County, Mo., traveling all the way by land. He was joined

in wedlock in 1835, to Miss S. O. Collins; she was a native of Kentucky.
This union was blessed with two children, Martha E. and L. Marv.
His wife died August, 1846. He was again married October, 1847, to

Miss N. A. Bennett. This union has been blessed with eleven children

whose names are as follows: William E., Rosie Lee, Amanda E., James
P., Ellen J., Hannah P., Joseph, E. N., Ruth G., Cora B. and Samuel B.

In May, 1852, he came to Pettis County, Mo., locating where he now
lives on a fine farm of 238 acres. He is a zealous worker for the cause of
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humanity, and has been identified with the M. E. Church, South, since

quite small, and is much respected b}' those who know him.

• THOMAS P. POTTER.

Farmer; post-office, Clifton Cit}-. The subject of this sketch is one of

Missouri's noble sons, and was born Jan. 1, 182S, in Cooper County. His

father was one of the first settlers of this part of the county. John Potter,

father of our subject, was born 1783, in Bedford County, Va., and when

quite small he emigrated to Kentucky. He was married in 1811 to Miss

Edgar, a native of Kentucky, and this union was blessed with eleven

children, M. R., George, Mary, William, Jane, Samuel, Thomas P.,

Penola A., Martha A., Larkin D., Dolly P. His father came to Pettis

County, and located on the line of Pettis and Cooper Counties in 1822, and

was among the first settlers. He died in 1864, and the mother in 18B4.

The subject of this sketch .vent to California about the ypar 1850, and

remained there a few years; then returned to Pettis County, and was

married in 1869 to Miss Lucy M. Wear. This union was blessed with

three children, Mary, Robert A. and James M. When our country was

involved in war, he offered his services and was Captain of the home

militia, and also for a short time in the State service. He began business

for himself with quite limited capital, but through his good management,
he now owns a fine farm of 569 acres of good land. He is a consistent

member of the Baptist Church and among its liberal contributors and

supporters.

CAP. JOHN M. SNEED.

Farmer and stock raiser; post-office, Sedalia. One of Pettis County's
business men. He is a native of Kentucky, and was born in 1826. He was

there educated and fjrew to manhood. He was married in his native

State in 1844 to Miss Marv Stewart, a lady of fine taste and culture.

This union has blessed them with ten children, eight of whom are now

living, Margaret M., William S., Sallie, Robert C, John B., George V.,

Frank, Harry, Alexender and Clarence. Mr. Sneed became impressed

with the idea that Missouri offered great advantages to men of energy,

and accordingly came to Pettis County, in 1854, locating where he now

lives, when it then was all wild prairie for a great distance around. He
has improved a fine farm and has first class buildings, with a fine orchard.

The farm consists of 800 acres. When our country became involved in

war, he offered his services and was appointed Captain of Co. D. 40th E.

M. M., Oct. 15, 1862, and served until about lSt)4, when he was honorably

discharged and returned to his quiet home.
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BENJ. F. STEELMAN.

Post-office, Beaman. Farmer. One of the pioneers of Pettis County.
His father and mother were among the first settlers. He was born,

Auo-. 22, 1838, in Shelby County, Tenn., and he came to this county in

1855, and has since made this his home. He now owns a tine farm of

one hundred and sixty acres, and he is a successful business man of his

township. He was married to Miss L. Embree, and her father is one of

the old settlers of the county. This union has blessed them with six

children: Tolson C, Noah, Jefferson, Sophia M., William and Embrey
O. Mr. Steelman is a member of the Baptist Church.

DR. BENJ. E. VAN BURKLEO.

Post-office, Beaman. The subject of this sketch is a native of St.

Charles County, Mo. Born, Feb. 22, 1841. He was there developed to

manhood. He is a graduate of St. Louis Medical College, and he

stands high in his protession. He came to Pettis County, Mo., in 1873,

and first located at Beaman station, and in 1875 he moved to his present

location, one and one-half miles north of the Beaman station. He was
married to Miss Mary E. Smith, and this union has blessed them with six

children: Samuel E., Charles E., George G., Ethel B., Herbert S.

and Thurman Smith. The Dr. has a fine farm of one hundred and forty

acres, with a fine house on the same.

JUDGE A. M. WRIGHT.
Farmer. One of the oldest settlers now living in Pettis County, and

among its most worthy pioneers, deserving of more special mention than

the limits of this brief sketch will permit. He was born in Alabama in

1818, and his father, Daniel Wright, was born Aug. •!, 1784. He was
about to join the army in the war of 1812, when it closed; thus he got
the name "Col." He came to Pettis County in 1831, and died, Feb. 1874,

leaving many friends to mourn his loss. The subject of this sketch came
with his parents to this county in 1831. He has since made this his home.

In 1847-48 he made several trips to Mexico, engaged in the freighting
business. He was married in 1841 to Miss Hypasia Isabel, and this union

has blessed them with three children, two of whom are now living: Adeline

Eliza, (now Mrs. Porter,) and Margaret and William. In 1851 he

went to Iowa, where he lived for four years; he then returned to his

home in Pettis Count}'. When our country was involved in war Mr.

Wright offered his services, and enlisted in what is known as Ben Butler's

company. At the close of the war he was appointed Judge of the county

court, and after serving out his appointment he was elected to the office

for the term of six years, and filled it with credit to himself and satisfaction

to the people. The Judge says he is a true specimen of a back-woods-



HISTORY OF ELK FORK TOWNSHIP. 963

man, and that he is proud of it. He has given his children land, and has

now one hundred and ten acres. He is much honored and esteemed in

his neighborhood and county.

CHAPTER XX.—ELK FuRK TOWNSHIP.

Introduction — Name—Physical Features — Orgnnizatiou
— Early Settlers — Cliurches—

Agriculture—Roads—Advantages—Political—Biographical.

When we are about to tread upon unknown ground it is prudent that

we be careful where we set our feet. If the ground is known to be

sacred, a hallowed spot of old, then how appropriate that we rest here

a while. When the pioneers came to the wild forest, with an old flint-lock

rifle for defense, and an ax for a civilizer, they little thought of the results

for which they had commenced to hew the way.
The Bible, to them, was a lamp that guided them through all the dark

days of that time. In reference to God they could say: "My faith looks

up to thee." In those days existed truth, sociability, and Godly fear. Men
trusted God because of his unbounded love for them. Thev loved their

fellows because they had a common interest in them. They that are yet

living, with tearful eyes relate the story of their hardships, and continue to

call that day a happy time—far more enjoyable than the many luxuries,

that have crowded about them in their last vears.

In our brief discussion of the township we shall, no doubt, fail to do it

justice. From the time the settlers found an asylum in this beautiful

township they have prospered; even while the war was at its height this

little rural district, although it furnished numerous volunteers on both

sides, continued to prosper, and even during the close times of 1873-8

those farmers who had not involved themselves unnecessarily were not

embarrassed.

We shall attempt to give the old settlers a prominent part in this chap-

ter, a place they deserve. The name of the township will be very briefly

discussed in its various relations, that the reader may know something of

its origin. The location will be given, appropriately followed by a short

treatise on its physical features. It may be that we have failed to get all

the facts that are deserving of mention, but if this failure has occurred, it

is because they were not accessible at the time of compilation.

Name.—All our early settlers appear to have been fond ot drawing on

nature's laboratory for derivation of the local names of places, and those

names which now appear odd to the present generation were appropriate

in the day on. which they were given. Elk Fork Township derives its

name from the creek of that name, which flows through it and into the

Muddv. The creek was given its name by the early hunters, from the
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large numbers of elk and deer and other game, which were abundant

along its banks and among the prairies adjacent, making a favorite resort

for hunters, who frequented this section in large numbers as long as game
abounded.

Organization.—This has been a municipal township since the county
of Pettis was organized. Its population is 10.50. On the township being

re-organized in 1872, it was given its old name and its present size, viz:

thirty-six square miles, an exact congressional township. Its bound-

ar}' on the north is Lamonte Township, on the east Prairie Township,
on the south Green Ridge Township, and on the west Johnson County.
The physical features of the township are rolling prairie land, with

timber along the streams. It is drained by the creek from which it takes

its name. Crooked Creek, Long Branch, Walnut Branch and Muddv
Creek are tributaries to the Muddy. The products of the township are

such as are common to those of the county and the central part of Mis-

souri, and its easy access to shipping points is one of its advantages which

cannot be overlooked.

Early Settlers. —Among the first settlers of the township were Seth

Bott, Arthur Patrick, William Embry, Martellus Embry, Mason Pember-

ton, Jesse Pemberton, George Pemberton, Capt. George Glass, Reuben

Harrel, Fielding Wolf, Samuel Powell. These gentleman came between

the years, 1S30 and 1835, and this is as near an accurate list of the pioneers

as could be obtained. It was very difficult to determine just who was the

earliest settler, as there was so much changing among them at that early day.

Some came expecting to remain, but when they began to erect their log

cabins, help was so scarce that they were compelled to abandon the idea

and move to other settlements, where neighbors and assistance were nearer.

Churches.—The first church of which any record is found is the Wal-

nut Branch of the Baptist Church, it being one of the old style churches

in belief and practice. Of this Association, whose first meeting was held

forty-one years ago this church was organized, on the first Saturday in

June, 1834, by Rev. Fielding Wolf and Rev. Martellus Embrey, who was

invited to assist in the organization of the church. Athel Wolf was elected

clerk, and C. Kidd was made deacon at a regular meeting in Decem-

ber, 1848; a difference of opinion occurred on a doctrinal point and this

difference grew to a division of the society into two parties, each claiming
to be the regular church.

Walnut Branch Baptist Church.—Was organized in 1834. Rev.

Martellus Embree and Rev. Fielding Wolf were invited to organize a

church, who, after due examination of members, proceeded to organ-

ize, and Martellus Embree was accepted as pastor. Athel W^olfwas

elected clerk, and O. Kidd was chosen deacon. The church was pros-
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perous and crrew in numbers. It was served from time to time by Revs

J. Baker, J. D. Mercer, Daniel Raives, J, M. West and James Teague.
The doctrines of the church were zealously proclaimed by these spiritual

advisors, and in course of time a difference of opinion occurred on a doc-

trinal question. This dilTerence of opinion soon caused a division of the

the society, and at a meeting of the Lamine River Association the differ-

ence was reported to them, and after a patient investigation of the case

the association decided that the minority, as regards numbers, was hold-

ing the true doctrines of the church, and recognized them as the Walnut
Branch Church. The remaining numbers with the pastor, not being

recognized as members of that association, reorganized on the ffrst Satur-

da\^ in February, 1849, at which were present: Joseph Reed, Letta Reese,
Elizabeth Bott, Wm. Embree, Cornelia and Margaret Embree, Mr. Reed,
Freman Owen, Angeline Scotton, S. Sloan, Wm. Embree, Sr. Wm.
Embree, Sr., was elected clerk of this branch of the church, and held the

office for many years. In 1874 Mr. Joel C. Harris was elected clerk and

has held the office until the present time. Rev. M. Embree was pastor
for several years, and Rev James Teague served the church very faith-

fully for twenty-five years, donating his services to the church, it being
his personal creed to preach without pay, and the church enjoyed his

preaching as well as the practical part of his creed. He died leaving evi-

dence of his faith by a long practical life. The first section of the church

held the house and books, having the advantage of possession. The sec-

ond section of the church has built a house for themselves and is march-

ing on to the Kingdom.
Old Hickory Point Church House was built by the Baptist, Methodist

and Christian denominations about 1853. There was a cemetery attached,

which was the only one in this part of the township. This church was

used for union services until 1870. The house being in need of

repairs, it was found desirable to build another. Accordingly the Metho-

dist and Christian churches appointed committees to make the necessary

arrangements, and build a church house, which, in due time, was accom-

plished. The church was built on land formerly owned by Miss

Kendricks, on the northeast quarter of northwest quarter of section thirty-

one, on the west bank of Crooked Creek. The house was dedicated by
Rev. Wm. Brown, of the M. E. Chureh, and Rev. Randall, of the Chris-

tian Church. Each church held services b}' themselves, one occupying
the house in the forenoon and the other in the afternoon. A good state of

feeling continues, and both churches are prospering.

New Hickory Point Baptist Church congregation built for themselves

a church one-half mile distant, and have a new cemetery attached, in

which is buried an old citizen of Flat Creek Township, whose monument

is marked as one hundred years old: "Jamas Black, died Oct. 18, 1872,
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aged one hundred years." Quite a large number of aged persons are bur-

ied in this cemetery. The officers of this church reside in Johnson

County.
The first person buried in Old Hickory Church Cemetery was Haw-

kins Bard. He was the first post-master in this part of Elk Fork Town-

ship, before the post-office was moved to Green Ridge, and then moved
to the railroad.

Methodist Episcopal Church.—In the spring of 1870 Mrs. Mentzer,
A. P. Britt, Dr. Franklin, Mr. and Mrs. Magle}^ of Elk Fork township;
Mr. and Mrs. George Anderson, James Anderson, Mr. and Mrs. G. B.

Koyl of Green Ridge, met in an unfinished building in the village of Green

Ridge, and organized a society under the discipline of the M. E. Church,
assisted by the Rev. George McKee and W. W. Powell. This became
a part of the Windsor Circuit of the M. E. Church, holding meetings in

halls and school houses until 1878, when, the membership having increased

to thirty, they decided to build a church building, and through the efforts

of the members and friends of the church it was erected in the villatje of

Green Ridge in 1880, and was dedicated by Rev. J. N. Pierce, assisted by

J. H. Gilispie. The church has. been prosperous, the present membership

being over forty. Green Ridge being adjacent to Elk Fork Township, the

membership are quite well suited to have church in the village of Green

Ridge, and it is as much a church of Elk Fork as of Green Ridge, as

regards the membership. A very prosperous Sunday School is held, each

week, which averages sixty-five members. Officers are elected annually.
A large infant class, under the management of Mrs. J. H. Hathawa}', is

a noted feature of the Sunday School.

The first brick house built in this township was built by Dr. T.B.Pem-
berton about twenty years ago. The next brick residence was built by

by A. E, Mentzer, of brick made by himself on his own farm. The next

and last one, by Z. L. Johnson, who purchased the brick of Mr. Mentzer.

The last two mentioned, Mr. Mentzer's and Mr. Johnson's, are built in mod-

ern style.

ISAAC ARCHER.
Was born in Stark County, Ills., June 22, 1825, and when about four

3'ears of age removed with his parents to Portage County, Ohio, where

he was reared and educated. In March, 1862, he enlisted in Garfield's

Brigade, as Wagon-master, serving in that capacity about nine months;
then returned to Ohio and engaged in farming and sheep raising. In

1877 he came to Pettis County, where he has since resided, following

farming and sheep raising. His farm, located about one mile north of

Green Ridge, contains one hundred and twenty acres of well improved
land. His father, William Archer, was born in Lycoming County, Pa.,
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where he grew to manhood. He followed farming for an occupation up
to the time of his death. The mother of the subject of our sketch, Sarah,
was horn in the above named State, where she was reared and educated.

Mr. Archer is a good business man, in high repute among his neighbors.
He was married in Ohio, Mar. 25, 184S, to Miss Mary E. Palmer, who was
born March 23, 1832. By this union they had seven children : Charles

W., born Oct. 18, 1849; William W., born June 7, 1852; Carrie B., born

June 11, 1861; Nellie M., born May 24, 1865; Scott C, born April 12,

1S68; Sophia G., born April 12, 1868; Lillie B., born June 28, 1870.

Mrs. Archer dying, he married Mrs. Permelia Scott, daughter of

Cornelius and Sophia Atwood, and widow of Charles Scott. She was
born in Ohio, Feb. 14, 1834, and married in June, 1855, and the names of

her children by this marriage were: Annie, May 28, 1856; M. J., Feb.

20, 1858; Lizzie, Sept. 15, 1860, died Sept. 16, 1880; Wm. A., Oct. 23,

1861, died Oct. 27, 1863; Charles Scott, her husba.id, died Feb. 19, 1873;

H., July 26, 1864; Jessie, Sept. 2, 1867; Eliza E., Feb. 8, 1871, died Feb.

22, 1872.

ROBERT M. BARD.

Farmer and stock-raiser. Post-office, Green Ridge, Elk Fork town-

ship. He was born in Pennsylvania, Aug. 10, 1842, and when one year
of age his parents removed to Scott County, 111., where he was reared and

educated. In the spring of 1859 he went to Fort Scott, Kansas, and

remained about one year, when he came to Pettis County, Mo., where

he has since resided on a farm. He has a fine farm of 170 acree of well

improved land, with all conveniences readih' accessible. The location of

his residence commands a tine view of the surrounding country. Mr. Bard

is a man of good business qualitications, and stands high as a reliable and

worthy citizen. He was married Sept. 24, 1868, to Miss Isabella Rob-

ertson, a native of Pettis County. She was born Sept. 9, 1852. They
have two children, Maud I., born Aug. 27, 1878, and Mattie O., born Jul}^

2, 1881. In the fall of 1861 Mr. Bard enlisted in the Missouri State Mili-

tia, and served till the close of the war.

JOSEPH ROBERTSON.

Was born in Washington County, Ky., Feb. 29, 1813. Emigrated with

his mother and step-father to Howard County in 1816, where he followed

farming until 1839; from there emigrated to Pettis County, where he

lived until his death, Jan. 17, 1862. He came to his death by the hands

of a band of outlaws for refusing to give up his money. When he first

settled in said county he purchased 120 acres of land, but in a few years

came in possession of 1,000 acres. His religious faith was that of a Mis-

sionary Baptist, He was one of the original members of the Hickory
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Point Church, which was organized at his own house about l.S-tS. In

politics was Democratic, but opposed the late rebellion. He was married

to Margaret Thomas, his tirst cousin, in 1836. They had nine children, of

whom there are tive living: the eldest, Sophronia, was born 1885; B,

C. Robertson, 1839; Franklin A. Robertson, 1841, who was murdered on

account of politics, on Oct. 28, 1862, while in the South
; Elizabeth, born

March 28, 1S43; Fielding W., born Jan. 23, 1846; George W., April 5,

1850; Isabell, born Sept. \), 1852; Harvey, born May 27, 1855; Joseph A.,

born Aug. 23, 1857.

. ARTHUR J. BETTRIDGE.

Farmer and carpenter, Elk Fork township. Post-office, Green Ridge.
He was born in New Zealand, May 24, 1843. In the fall of 1860 he emi-

grated to America, landing at New Bedford, Mass. In the spring of

1861 he enlisted in Company I, Twelfth Massachusetts Volunteers, serv-

ing one year, when he was transferred to the navy, where he remained

till his discharge, which was in June, 1864. He then went to New
York, and took a position as mate on one of the merchant vessels bound
for South America. Following the sea for four years, he went to San
Francisco in Jan., 1868, then to the place of his birth, where he obtained

a position in the Revenue Service, remaining in said capacity till June,
1870. He then returned to the United States, landing at New Bedford,

Oct., 1870, then went to Brockton, Mass., where he followed the carpen-
ter trade till the spring of 1875, when he came to Pettis County, Mo.,

locating in this township, where he has since resided, following carpen-

tering and farming. He owns a well-improved farm of 108 acres, well

situated. Mr. Bettridge is a man of broad and varied experience, and his

integrity and moral standing in the community is excelled bv none. He
was married in Sedalia, Mo., April 3, 1876, to Mrs. Rebecca J. Harris,

and by this union they have one child, Edith W. By her first husband

she had two children, Elizabeth M. and Elbert W. Harris.

JOHN L. BOBBITT.

Farmer, Elk Fork Township. Post-office, Knobnoster. He was born

in Virginia, Oct. 12, 1817; there grew to manhood, and learned the cabinet

maker's trade. In the fall of 1849 he removed to Hancock County, III,

and remained there till 1856, when he removed to Clarke County, Mo.
Here he followed the carpenter's trade till 1878, when he came to Pettis

County and engaged in farming. He owns a fine farm of eighty acres,

well improved, with good residence. He was married in Virginia, Feb.

17, 1840, to Miss Mary Starr. By this union they have been blessed with

seven children, four of whom are still living, Missouri A., Virginia W.,
Tabitha C, Marv Etta L. The names of the children deceased are:
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Nannie A., George W. and Lewis L. His father, Robert L. Bobbitt, was

born in Virginia, Oct. 1'2, 1790, and followed blacksmithing for an occu-

pation up to his death, which occurred in Sept., 1865. His mother Dicy
nee Bullard, was born in North Carolina, Oct. S, 1794, and is still living

in Randolph County, Mo.

JOSEPH E. CARTER.

Joseph E. Carter, son of John Carter, a native of Maryland, was born

in Kentucky, Nov. 26, 1S4<I. Lived with his father until the latter died,

Jan. 10, 1865; was administrator of the estate. Mr. C. received his liter-

ary education at Frankfort, then entered the law office of James P. Met-

calf. Reporter of the Supreme Court of Kentucky; was in that office three

years, then went to the law school in Louisville, then under the charge of

Hon. James Guthrie, a noted Congressman of Kentucky; received his

diploma and was duly admitted to practice law in any of the courts of that

Commonwealth, under the certificate of the Presiding Judges of the Tenth

and Fifteenth Judicial Districts of Kentucky. He opened an office for the

practice of law in Nicholas County, and after one year came to Pettis Co.,

Mo.; purchased a farm in this township, commenced farming and stock

raising and dealing in real estate, and was employed in correcting and per-

fecting land-titles in this and adjoining States. Mr. J. E. Carter was

elected Treasurer of the township school fund in 1868, held that office five

years until the most of school houses were built in that township, was a

participant in the township election, was elected Assessor, held the office

several yeais, was also Deputy Clerk for John Gray during his term of

office. When Mr. Carter came to this township there were but three

houses between his home and Sedalia. Mr. C. shipped the first load of

wheat at the railroad station at Green Ridge. Mr. J. E.Carter married

Mattie, daughter of James S. and Hester L. Zink, Oct. 15, 1868. Mr.

Zink IS a resident of Johnson County, was a native of Pennsylvania. Her

maternal ancestors were of the Dickey family, of Pennsylvania. Mr.

Zink's maternal ancestors were of the Hannewunth family, natives of

Germany. Mrs. Mattie Z. Carter received her education at the Prince-

on High School, Bureau County, 111., under the management of Owen

Lovejoy. Mrs. C. has been a successful school teacher. The maternal

ancestor of John Carter, father of Joseph E., was Elizabeth Smith, cousin

of Hon. William Smith, Governor of Virginia, under the Confederate

Government, when Robert Lee surrendered April 9, 1865. Robt. Lee and

John Carter were cousins. The mother of Joseph E. was Elizabeth

Entrekin, a native of Ohio. Her father was Col. John Entrekin, Colonel of

Cavalry under Gen. Duncan McCarter in the war of 1812. His father,

John Entrekin, was a soldier in the Revolutionary war; was killed at the

battle of Bloody Run, in Pennsylvania, and was a native of Scotland.
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BENJAMIN D. CLARK.

Farmer and stock dealer. Section 29. Post-office, Owsley, Johnson

County. He was born in East Tennessee, Oct. S, 18-1:9, where he was

reared and principally educated. At about the a<ije of twenty-one he came

to Johnson County, Mo., where he remained till 1870, when he returned to

his native State and finished his education. In the fall of 1875 he returned

to Missouri, locating in Pettis County, where he has since resided, following

farming and stock dealing. His fine farm contains one hundred and

eighty acres of well-fenced and well-improved land, containing an orchard

of one hundred fruit trees, excellent facilities for water and other advantages
in reasonable accord. His father, Benjamin D. Clark, was born in Cocke

County, East Tennessee, Dec. 4, 1822, and pursued farming till his death,

which occurred Nov. 4, 181:9. His mother, Elizabeth Robinson, was born

in East Tennessee, Nov. o, 1826; and Dec. 28, 1852, married a second

husband, E. R. Kendrick, of Johnson Countv. The subject of this sketch

was married, Feb. 18, 1880, to Miss Ettie Williamson, daughter of Wm.
and Mary Williamson, of Johnson County. The}'' have one child, Wm. L.,

born Nov. 16, 1880.

ISAAC R. DORRANCE.
Was born in Monroe County, 111., Dec. 4, 1836. He received his educa-

tion in the schools of his native county. In the spring of 1852 he took a

trip across the plains to California, taking six months to make the trip.

When he arrived in California he commenced herding stock at $40 per

month, and continued at it for four 3'ears. At the end of which time he

purchased a farm and continued farming and stock raising for about six

years more. He then commenced gold mining, and after continuing for

about six months at this he returned to his native county, and remained

there until March, 1866, when he came to Pettis County, Mo., locating in

Elk Fork Township, where he has since resided, following farming and

stock raising. He has a farm of one hundred and fifty-eight acres of

choice land, with a fine residence and appropriate surroundings. He was

married in Calhoun County, 111., to Miss Mary J. Horn, a native of Mis-

souri. By this union there were five children, of whom two are living.

Mrs. Dorrance died May 12, 1875. Mr. D. was married a second time in

Pettis County, Nov. 4, 1875, to Elimeda Bradley, a native of Ohio, by
whom he has two children, Randolph and Gordon.

HIRAM DYER.

Post-office, Green Ridge. Section thirty-five. Elk Fork Township.
Farmer and stock raiser. He was born in Ohio, Oct. 12, 1833, and

when about six years of age went with his parents to Indiana, where he

was reared and educated. In 1854 he crossed the plains to California,
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and there engaged in sheep raising and farming till the fall of 1S6T, when
he returned to Ohio. In April, 1869, he came to Pettis Count}, where he

has since resided, following farming and stock raising. He has a fine

farm of one hundred and fifty acres, situated ahout one mile north of the

town of Green Ridge. Mr. Dyer enlisted in Company D, First California

Cavalry Volunteers, in the fall of 1861, and served three years, and then was

honorably discharged. While in the service he traveled through New
Alexico, Arizonia and Texas; also a portion of Old Mexico. He was
married in Wooster, Wayne County, Ohio, Nov. 12, 1867, to Miss Almira

M. Jones, a native of that State. She was born, Jan. 20, IS'Si^. Their

family consists of two children: Franklin E., born Feb. 18,1860, and

James M., born Feb. 3, 1871. Mr. Dyer has been a Free Mason since

1866, and his wife has been a member of the Presbyterian Church for

upwards of twenty years.

PETER GUIHEN.

Post-oflRce Knobnoster, Mo. A farmer. Was born in Ruscommon

County, Ireland, in Kilronin Parish, June 27, 1832, and continued to live

thereuntil he was sixteen years of age, when he emigrated to America and

stopped in the State of Ohio, about five years; then came to Illinois and

stayed there some two years, after which he spent one year in freighting

goods from Fort Leavenworth to Salt Lake City. He returned to Illinois,

spent another year there, and then went to Kansas and entered one-quarter
section of land, which he now owns. One year after he settled in Johnson

County, Mo. He was married to Miss Mary Donnelly, of Johnson

County, on the 15th day of March, 1860. Mr. Guihen turned his atten-

tion to farming, renting lands. In a short time was able to buy a pleasant

home, where he now resides. He was in the Missouri Militia a short

time. He went into the grocery business in Knobnoster, Johnson

County. Being very successful in that business he soon was able to

improve his farm in Pettis County. Mrs. Guihen was born in Dublin,

Ireland, on the 12th day of January, 1842; at the age of three her parents

emigrated to America, and settled in Troy, N. Y., where they remained

about three years, then came to St. Louis, Mo., living there twelve years,

after which they spent about two years in Scott County, 111., then moved

directly to Johnson County, where she lived until after she was married

and after the war. They have had eight daughters, six living and two

dead; named as follows: Mary E., Ellen, Rosalie, Lillie, Christian, Lulu,

Agnes and Anna. The parents of these interesting daughters are ver}-

happy in the thought that they are growing up to womanhood in that

lady-like manner, which will be recognized as an afiectionate sisterhood in

after life. Mr. and Mrs. Guihen are thoroughly imbued with the spirit

of education, hence their daughters are receiving every advantage that
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kind parents can bestow on them. They have a good home, a well culti-

vated farm, and a large orchard of four hundred and fifty trees of apples,

plums, peaches, etc. All the family are of the Catholic faith.

JOEL C. HAM.

Joel C. Ham, son of Jabez Ham, and a grandson of Stephen Ham, a

native of Kentucky, was born in Montgomery County, Mo., Nov. 23, 1818.

He lived with his father until of age; then commenced business for him-

self at wagon-making and other mechanical work. Also followed

farming. June 29, 1839, J. C. Ham married Mary, daughter of Joseph
and Elizabeth Count, a native of Pennsylvania. She was the daughter
of William Groom, of Kentucky. The names of their children are:

William E., born Aug. 11, 1840; Geo. B., May 23, 1842; Mary J., June

14, 1846; John S., Oct. 26, 1848; Margaret C, April 25, 1851; Laura C,
Sept. 17, 1853; Isaac S., Jan. 22, 1855; Marietta H., June 14, 1858; died

Sept. 8, 1865. The paternal ancestor of Mary C. Ham, mother of the

above named children, was Joseph Count, son ot Jacob Count, a native of

Germany. J. C. Ham's maternal ancestor was Hannah Todd of the

family of Peter Todd, a native of England. The names of the children of

the Count family were: Huldah, Rachel, William, Sallie, Nancy, Jacob,

Elizabeth, Mary, Susan, Joseph and Aaron. Of the Groom family were:

Abraham, Isaac, Jacob, Moses and Aaron, who were early settlers of

Montgomery County, Mo. Joseph Count had two brothers, Elijah and

Jacob; also two sisters, Sallie and Rachel. Joseph Ham, father of Joel,

was a minister of the Predestinarian Baptist Church, in Callaway County.
Had been in the ministry twenty years when he died, in 1865, aged forty-

five years. J. C. Ham's sons and daughters married as follows: William

E. married Susan Hawkins, Jan., 1865; George married Minerva

Nelson, Aug. 1870; Mary J. married Isaac Dorrence, July, 1865; John
S. married Nancy Scranton, Aug., 1867; Margaret married James Crum,

Nov., 1873; Laura married William Bogart, July, 1869; Isaac married

Sallie C. James, March, 1879. Mr. Joel C. Ham moved from Mont-

gomery County to Callaway County, in 1835; followed his business in that

county until he came to Pettis County, in 1872, and purchased land of J.

M.^Pemberton, who entered it at an early day. Mr. Ham is a member
of the Walnut Branch Baptist Church; is clerk of the church at the present

time. Has been Justice of the Peace for several years.

EDWARD JAMES.

Post-office, Green Ridge. Section 22, Elk Fork Township. He was

born in Ohio, Sept. 6, 1837, where he was reared and educated. Farming
has been his chief occupation, both in Ohio and here. In the spring of

1872 he left his native State and came to this State and county, where he
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has since resided, and followed his favorite calling. His tine residence and
well improved farm of 120 acres are well situated, and arranged in the best

manner for agricultural pursuits. He was married to Miss Eliza J. Remly,
of Ohio, daughter of Conrad and Delila Reml}', March 3, 1862. Eight
children were born to this worthy couple, six of whom are still living:

Adaline, Rodman, Lewis W., Frankie, Maud and Cliflbrd. Laura and

Clayton, deceased. Mr. James has been a worthy member of the M. E.

Church since twenty years of age, and for his many neighborly qualities
is highly respected by those who know him. His mother was born in

Ross County, Ohio, Dec. 10, 1816, and his father was born in the same

county, May 19, 1813, and died June 18, 1876.

JOHN KENDRICK.
Farmer and stock dealer, section twenty-six, Elk Fork Township; post-

office. Green Ridge. Mr. John Kendrick was born in Cooper County,
Missouri, Dec. 23, 1830, where he was reared and educated. His occu-

pation has been that of farming, and he now owns one of the best stock

farms in Pettis County. It contains 300 acres, is well improved, and has

four living wells, also ponds and cisterns. His farm is well fenced with

hedge. His handsome two-story residence is beautifully located, and

commands a tine view of the surrounding country. Fiom the top of his

house the cit}^ of Sedalia is plainly seen, also Green Ridge and other points
of interest. Mr. Kendrick has a tine flock of Cotswold sheep, and also

about seventy head of cattle, besides horses, hogs and other domestic ani-

mals. He was married in this county March 9, 1853, to Miss MarthaPow-

ell, daughter of S. A. Powell. Their family consists of Samuel A., born

March 7, 1860; William R., born June 20, 1866; Maud E., born Jan. 29,

1873; Virginia A., born May 1, 1862, and died May 13, 1879. Mr. Ken-
drick has been a member of the M. E. Church, South, since 18.54, and

still continues laboring zealously in the cause. By integrit}- and upright

dealing he has won the confidence of all.

JACOB MAGLEY.
He was born in Switzerland, Feb. 13, 1835, and remained in that coun-

try until he was twelve years of age, when, with his father, he emigrated
to America, landing in New York. From there they went to Ohio, and

remained in that State three years, and then they went to Indiana, where

he finished his education. After leaving school he learned the carpenters'

trade and followed it continuously until 1869, when he came to Pettis

County, Missouri, settling in Elk Fork Township, where he has since

resided, and engaged in farming and carpentering. He was married in

Indiana, June 22, 186i^, to Miss Matilda Summers, a native of Ohio, and

49
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daughter of Solomon and Phoebe Summers. This union has been blessed

with eight children, of whom six are living: Ida C, born April 18,

1863, died October 13, 1864; Emmet B., born in September, 1864; Laura

P., born August 6, 1866; Orpha D., born June 14, 1868; Phoebe J., born

April 14, 1872; Nellie E., born August 30, 1875, died July 9, 1877; Dora

E., born June 25, 1876, and Joseph M., born February 10, 1879. Mr.

Magly is an enterprising business man, owns a neat 100 acre farm, and

has a nice home, located on a commanding spot of ground, surrounded

by every comfort of life.

JAMES M. McCOLLOCH.

James M. McColloch was born in West Virginia, February 12, 1856,

where he was reared and educated. After tinishing his education he

engaged in school teaching and continued at it until 1877, in which year
he came to Pettis County, and w'here he continued to teach for a few

years, and then he engaged in farming. He now owns a nice farm of

118 acres, well improved and well fenced, and has a fine residence, beauti-

full}^ located, with complete out-buildings. Abraham McColloch, the

father of the subject of this sketch, was born in West Virginia, October

25, 1797, and followed the occupation of farming up to the time of his

death, which occurred February 17, 1882. His wife, Susan V., was also

a native of Virginia. They were married October 25, 1840. She died in

the fall of 1862. James M. McColloch was married in Johnson County,

Missouri, August 21, 1878, to Miss Mary A. Wharton, a native of West

Virginia, a daughter of Silas W. and EHzabeth E. Wharton. She was

born June 18, 1859. By this union there are two children, Olive P., born

August 28, 1879, and Ettie M., born August 7, 1881.

GEORGE V. S. McKINLEY.

George V. S. McKinley, son of Joseph McKinley and grand-son of

Peter McKinley, a native of Virginia. G. V. S. McKinley was born Jan.

25, 1834, in Rush County, Indiana, and lived with his father until his

majority. At the age of seventeen he took charge of his father's farm.

In the year 183(5 the family moved to Madison, Indiana, remaining there

until 1848, when they came to Pettis .County, Missouri. In 1854 they
went to Johnson County, and returned to Pettis County in 1860, and set-

tled on the old homestead where he now resides. Joseph McKinley's
familv consists of four members, viz: himself, wife and two sons, George
V. S. and John. Peter McKinley's children were, Willie, Peter, Joseph,

John, Patsey, Anna and Sallie. John died April 2, 1848. The mother of

the last named children was of the Henry family, of Virginia. Geo. V. S.

McKinley married Miss Matilda Stephens, daughter of Robert and Eliz-

abeth Stephens, February 17, 1859. Matilda Stephens McKinley was
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born April 28, 1S36. The maternal ancestors of G. V. S. McKinlev were
the Wells family, who were natives of England, and came to this country
at an early da}- and settled in Virginia. Andrew Wells, Sr., the ancestor

of this branch of the Wells family, was born May 16, 17.55. William, his

first son, was born in September, 1785; Jeremiah was born May 22, 1790;
Andrew J. was born Nov. 29, 1792; Coleman was born May 10, 1794;

Katie was born March 7, 1796, and Sallie was born Aug. 25, 1801, mak-

ing six children by the first marriage. Andrew Wells, father of the

above named children, married for his second wife Miss Eva Houx, a

nativ^e of Pennsylvania. Their children were Michael, born Nov. 14,

1807; Hannah and Nancy, twins, born in 1808; George, born Oct. 2,

1810; Rebecca, born Jan. 21, 1814; Malinda, Dec. 5, 1813; Levi, born

Oct. 30, 1815; Permelia, born Sept. 8, 1817; Thomas, born Sept. 9, 1819,

and John P., born Jan. 12, 1822. Eva H. Weils, mother of the above

named children, died Dec. 17, 1855, aged seventj'-four years. Andrew

Wells, Sr., died Feb. 16, 1834, aged seventy-nine years. Adam Houx,
brother of Mrs. Eva H. Wells, was administrator of the Wells estate.

Mrs. Matilda Stephens McKinley's grand-father, David Stephens, was a

native of New York State. Her maternal ancestor was Rebecca Mc-

Clanahan, a native of Tennessee, and who came to Cooper County, Mis-

souri, in an earlv d.iy. Mr. G. V. S. McKinley settled in 1860 on land

entered by the Wells family, and still has possession of the old homestead.

He remained on his farm during the war and suffered manv inconven-

iences incident to that time. The only child of G. V. S. McKinley is Ida,

born Nov. 25, 1867. Mr. G. V. S. McKinle\^ has been School Director

for several years. He supports all enterprises which are designed to im-

prove the moral sentiment of the community.

ALEXANDER E. MENTZER.

Alexander E. Mentzer, son of Samuel Mentzer, a native of Pennsylvania,

was born July 22, 1821; lived with his father until his majority, and, from

boyhood, until his marriage, he followed brickmaking with his father and

became master of the business. Mr. A. Mentzer married Catharine,

daughter of Samuel and Elizabeth Metzler, Sept. 10, 1848. In 1862 he

went to Polk, Ashland Co., Ohio, and commenced merchandising. Soon

after, the post-office of the town was brought to his business house, and

Mrs. Mentzer was appointed postmistress, and continued in that office for

six years, until the family came to Missouri. The names of their children

are: Samuel A., born Aug. 25, 1849; Thomas, born Sept. 18, 1851;

Abel E., born Sept. 2, 1853; Flora Belle, born Jan. 19, 1859. Thomas

died Sept. 4, 1852. Catharine, mother of the above named children, was

born Jan. 7, 1829. Her father, Samuel Metzler, was in the War of 1812.

Her maternal ancestors were of the Forbes familv, natives of England.
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Mrs. C. Mentzer's maternal grandfather was Robert Forbes, an only son

of Gen. Forbes, an officer in the English army, who owned a large tract

of land in New York City, under a colonial grant from the crown of Eng-
land. Samuel A. married Allie Goodrich, April 8, 1S7.4. Mrs. AUie G.

died Feb. 17, 1882. Flora Belle married Asa La Baw, Dec. 23, 1875.

They reside in this township. Mr. Mentzer has given his time princi-

pally to farming. After getting his farm under fair improvements, has

erected a good substantial brick residence, worth about $3,500. Soon
after coming to this township, tinding the church privileges very poor, and

the membership scattered over two or more townships, the members held

a preliminary meeting in an unfinished house at Green Ridge, and organ-
ized a church according to the form and discipline of the M. E. Church.

Mr. and Mrs. Mentzer are liberal supporters of the church and Sabbath-

school, and are energetic laborers in all enterprises which tend to main-

tain good moral and religious sentiment in the community. Mr. M. has

been a director of the public schools for several years,

ELDER JOHN DAVIS MERCER.

Post-ofiice, Lamonte. Born in Washington County, Tenn., May 25,

1814. His father, Mr. John .Mercer, died when John D. was but two
months old. He lived with his mother until he was sixteen years of age.
Her maiden name was Miss Eliza Wallace, a native of Virginia, and a

descendant of the family of Wallaces who emigrated from Scotland, and

settled in the Connecticut Colony in an early day. The subject of this

sketch left home to learn the carpenter's trade, which required three

years, then he continued to work at that trade for eight years. He had,
at the time of his apprenticeship, onl}^ a common school education. Dur-

ing the eight years he worked at his trade, he attended the Tusculum

College, in Green County, Tenn. He emigrated to Missouri in 1837, and

settled in Pettis County, where he turned his attention to farming and

stock-raising. He was married in 1838, to Miss Pemberton,the daughter
of Mr. George Pemberton, a native of South Carolina, who was of Scotch

descent. They commenced keeping house in a cabin situated on one hun-

dred and twenty acres of land, which formed a nucleus for the large
landed estate which they once owned, containing 1,000 acres, most of

which they have given to their children, or sold to actual settlers. The

present farm contains 18o acres. They are the parents of seven children,

as follows: America, the wife of Mr. John H. Barber, living in Cedar

County, Mo.; Marion D., who is also living in Cedar County; Alice W.,
the wife of Joseph P. Higgins, living in Pettis County. The rest of their

children are dead. The soil of his farm is clay mixed with loam, which
makes it a good wheat farm—worth $30 per acre. Of late the prosperitv
which has followed him so many years has been reversed, in the loss of a fine
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dwelling house by fire. Elder Mercer and wife are acceptable members
of the Old School Baptist Church, for which he has preached ever since

1848. His troubles during the war were ver}- light, except the loss of

money and horses, amounting to over $"2,(»00. He is nearly sixt3'^-eight

years of age. Having spent his life in usefulness, he is now looking forward
to that rest which is just over the River, where peace and joy forever

reigns.

HIRAM C. NELSON.
The subject of this sketch was born in Indiana, September, 30, 1856.

When about eight years of age he went with his parents to Kansas, where

they remained until the spring of 1866, when they came to Missouri and

settled in Elk Fork Township, Pettis County, where Mr. Nelson was
reared and educated. After leaving school he engaged in farming, and

in this occupation he is still engaged, owning a neat lOO acre farm of well

improved land. He has a handsome new residence, beautifully located,

commanding a fine view of the surrounding country, and it is in fact one

of the best small farms in the township. His father, Anderson Nelson,
was born in Alabama Jul}' 12, 1816, and while a boy moved to Indiana.

When a young man he followed the carpenter trade. His mother was
born in Kentucky, April +, 1821, and was married in Indiana to Anderson

Nelson October 10, 1844.

GEORGE M. PEMBERTON, {Deceased).

The subject of this sketch, who was the eldest son of Jesse B. and

Tabitha Pemberton, was born in Caldwell County, Ky., March 5, 1810.

He came to Missouri in company with his brother. Dr. Thomas B., in 1836,

and was married in 1839 to Miss Malissa M. Pemberton, daughter of

Judge Pemberton, by whom he raised a family of eight children. Mrs.

Pemberton died in 1859 with typhoid fever, and also near the same time

two of the eldest sons and one daughter died. The names of the

children were: Warren G., Mariam B., Lucinda B., George M., Brooks G.,

Thomas F., Jesse B., and Elizabeth T. The three latter died near the

time of their mother's death. In I860 Mr. Geo. M. Pemberton married

Miss Sarah E. Pemberton, a sister of his first wife, by whom he had four

children, viz: Matilda C, now Mrs. J. H. Tague; j. Lee, Dixie E. and

Thomas M. Mr. Pemberton was one of the leadino- stock dealers of his

township, and contributed largely to the development and prosperity of

the county. Was also at one time an extensive land owner, having owned

in connection with his brother, Dr. Thomas B., nearly 4,000 acres. He
died November 10, 1878. He had been a member of the Regular Bap-
tist Church for manv years, and was a good neighbor, widely known and

universally respected. His grandfather, Geo. Pemberton, served as a
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captain of a company of Virginia troops, under Col. Washington, in the

campaign with Braddock's army, and it was through their coolness and

bravery that the small remnant of that command was saved from com-

plete destruction. Capt. Pemberton was also a member of the Regular

Baptist Church for eighty years. He had a family of five children, one

died young, and the others reached the venerable ages of eighty, eight}--

seven, ninety and ninety-three years. He sold his farm in Virginia to the

brother of Gen. George Washington, Col. Samuel Washington. He died

on the 29th day of December, 1854, at the residence of the subject of this

sketch, at the ripe old age of 109 years.

DR. THOMAS B. PEMBERTON.
Prominent among the pioneers of this county may be mentioned Dr.

Pemberton, who was born in Caldwell County, Ky., April 23, 1812. His

father, Jesse B. Pemberton, was a native of Virginia, and was born in

May, 1770, in Frederick County. He went to South Carolina when a

boy, and here he married Miss Tabitha Brooks. In 1801 he moved
to Caldwell County, Ky. Geo. Pemberton, the grandfather of Thomas

B., was of English ancestry, and was among the first families of Virginia.

He moved to Kentucky with Jesse B. Pemberton, in which state he died

in the year 1854, at the advanced age of 109 years. Jesse B. Pemberton,
the father of Thomas B., came to Missouri in 1835, and lived with his

brother, George Pemberton, who had previouslv moved to Pettis County.
In 1836 Thomas B. and his brother, Geo. M. Pemberton, brought their

families through to this county and settled in Elk Fork Township, near

the waters of Muddy Creek. Here, on afarm, the father of the subject of

this sketch resided, until his death in 1854 in his eighty- fifth year,
Thomas B., our subject, was principally raised in his nativ^e State. He
studied medicine under Drs. Stewart and Pemberton and received his lec-

tures at the Transylvania Medical College of Lexington, Ky., in 1835. He

practiced one year in Kentucky; then moved to Pettis County, Mo.,
where he at once resumed his practice, which he followed until 1856,

when he retired. Since he retired, the Doctor has been dealing largely
in real estate, sometimes owning as high as two thousand acres. He has

at the same time been an extensive trader in stock. The Doctor owns

yet about 700 acres. He was married to Miss Lucinda Pemberton in

1847. She died March 20, 1879, leaving no children. In politics the

Doctor is a Democrat. He became a member of the Regular Baptist

Church in 1856. The Doctor is living in the brick house on the old home-

stead, known as the Locust Grove farm.

CHAS. H. POWELL.

Post-office, Green Ridge. Farmer and stock raiser, section twenty-two,
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Elk Fork Township. He was born in Pettis County, Mo., Jan. 29, 1854,
and was here raised and educated; then eno-aged in farminor and stock

raising. His farm of 260 acres occupies a favorable location for all pur-

poses of profit and beauty . He was married to Miss Katie Whitman,
Dec. 22, 1876, and they have two children: Samuel A., born Dec. J 2,

1877, and Charles L., born June 8, 1880.

WILLIAM O. POWELL.
William O. Powell, son of Samuel Powell, a native of Virginia, was

born in Franklin County, Va., Feb. 11, 1834, and lived with his father

until he reached his majorit}-. In 1836, Samuel Powell came to Callaway

County, Mo., and in the fall of the same year came to Pettis Count}^ and

settled on land near his present residence. The nearest neighbors were

George Pemberton, Rev. Martellus Embree and Seth Botts. Samuel A.

Powell entered several tracts of land in this township, which remained in

his possession and are now held by his children and grandchildren. He
died Feb. 14, 1859. While awr.y from home buying cattle, he was taken

ill and did not recover sufficiently to be taken home before his death.

William O. Powell married Marx- E., daughter of Willis and Jane Record,

May 15, 1858, and has followed farming and stock raising as his principal
business. The names of their children are: Edward, born Aug. 12, 1865;

Alice, born July 28, 1867. Mary E. Powell, mother of the above named

children, died July 14, 1878, of paralysis, after sufiering several months.

After the first attack, medical aid seemed unavailing, and a second attack

proved fatal. She was a member of the Hickory Point Baptist Church
of the Tebo Association. Her paternal ancestors were of the Record

famil}', natives of Boone County, Ky. Her maternal ancestors were of

the Wilson family, natives of Bourbon Count}', Ky. The paternal ances-

ors of Hope A. Powell, wafe of Samuel A. Powell, were the Dudleys,
of Franklin County, Va. Samuel A. Powell's family consisted of William

O., born in Virginia; Martha A., James T., Docia V., Charles H., born in

Pettis County. Hope A., mother of the above named children, died May
10, 1865. William O. Powell was one of the first school directors in his

district.

JEREMIAH D. RENFROW.

Post-office, Knobnoster. Farmer. Born Dec. 26, 1827, in Sevier

County, Tenn., where he lived with his parents until 1834, when they

emigrated to Missouri, and settled in Cole County, now Moniteau County,
when the county was new. His parents were born in East Lynn. His

father, Mr. John Renfrow, was a farmer and raised his famil}^ especially his

two sons, to be farmers. The father died in 1839, leaving the care of a

large family to J. D. Renfrow, the subject of this sketch, which remained
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together until he was twenty-six years of age, when he was married to

Miss Rachel, the daughter of Absalom Stevens, of the above named county,

where they continued to live until the spring of 1SH4, when they moved to

Johnson County, Mo. They remained one year there, when they moved to

their present farm m Pettis County, and have remained here until the present.

The farm contains 307 acres of high rolling prairie, well cultivated land.

Mr. J. D. Renfrow is the father of seven living children, and three who
died in infancy. Those living are named as follows: Mary S., Robert J., ,

Elizabeth, Jesse D., Franklin, Alexander and Rachel. All are healthy

and industrious children. Feeling the need of education, they are giving
their sons and daughters all the advantages in their power. The soil of

the farm is composed of clay mixed with loam, being well adapted to the

raising of wheat, corn and oats, and all kinds of grasses also grow well.

He has a fine orchard of apples, pears, plums, peaches, cherries and

smaller fruits, with a good two-story frame house and out buildings, which

make this one of the most desirable farms in this part of Pettis Countv.

Mr. and Mrs. Renfrow and oldest daughter are acceptable members of

the Christian Church.

JOHN xN. SPICKERT.

Post-office Green Ridge. Farmer and stock dealer, section twenty-

eight. Elk Fork Township. He was born near Louisville, Ky., Nov, .5,

1830. At about the age of eight he removed with his parents to Indiana,

where he grew to manhood. His father, Nicholas, and his mother, Mary
A. Spickert, came from France, and in an early day settled at Portland,

Ky. His father pursued farming and stock raising with great success

until his death, which occurred in April, 1875. His mother died in July,

1869. The subject of this sketch was engaged in agricultural pursuits

and mercantile business until 1852, when he engaged in steamboating and

followed it until 1859; then returned to Indiana and farmed until April,

1866. At this latter named date he came to Pettis Count}-, and has since

carried on farming axid stock raising. His large and well improved farm,

containing 906 acres, is situated about nine miles southwest of Sedalia

and is acknowledged to be one of the best in the county. His residence

is beautifully located, commanding a fine view of the surrounding countr}-.

Although a self-made man, Mr. Spickert is well educated and is master of

several different languages. He is also a finished accountant and book-

keeper, and has the broadest business experience and unflinching integrity.

He was married in Indiana, Nov. 14, 1858, to Miss Mary C. Quinces,

daughter of Peter and Mar}^ C. Quinces, and by this union they have

ten children: John C, born May 7, 1860; James W., born Feb. 15, 1862;

Amelia, born Jan. 28, 1864; Mary C, born Feb. 26, 1866; Louis T., born

Aug. 28, 1868: Ella, born Nov. 28, 1870; Ida, born Dec. 31, 1872; Annie,
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born June 14, 1 875; Edward, born Jan. 10, 1877; Eugene F., born Oct.

6, 1880. Mrs. Spickert's parents were born in France, and while children

came to America, and settled in Floyd County, Indiana, where they have

^ince resided, her father followini^ the cooper's trade, and also farmingf.

JOHN Q. TANNAHILL.

John Q. Tannahill, son of Charles Tannahill, grandson of Melzar, a

native of Maryland, was born in Richland Countv, Ohio. He came to

Missouri in August, 1853, and settled in Johnson Count}', Mo., in the

southern part on Big Creek. He built and run a saw mill for six years,

continuing it with farming and stock raising until the commencement of

the war, then went to Moniteau County in 1863; continued stock raising

-and farming until 1866, then came to Pettis County and purchased the

farm where he now resides. This farm was entered and partly improved

by M. M. Pemberton. Mr. Tannahill was elected judge of the county

-court, April 5, 1876, and was re-elected November 25, 1878. He held

that office till the expiration of the term, though not an aspirant to office.

He is an earnest advocate of improvements in township or county;

encourages educational and religious enterprises, and has been several

terms director of the school district in which he resides. John Q. Tanna-

hill married Louisa J., daughter of Solomon and Nancy Baker, Feb. 16,

1859. Solomon Baker's father was Thomas Baker, a native of Richmond,
V"a. Solomon Baker's wife was Nancy Elliott, a native of Kentucky.
Her maternal ancestor was Nancy A. Campbell. Charles Tannahill

married Mary, daughter of Allen OUiver, an early settler of Maryland.
The Olliver family were natives of Germany. Melzar Tannahill's pater-
nal ancestors were natives of Scotland. His wife was Elizabeth,

daughter of Elizabeth Lile, a native of Ireland. Mrs. Nancy Baker is

now a member of the J. Q. Tannahill family, a hale and hearty lady of

advanced years. George Elliott, a relative of the Elliott above mentioned,

was a member of the Kentucky State Legislature for four years; also

sheritl'of Adair Countv, Ky., for several years. The names of the chil-

dren of J. Q. Tannahill are: Nannie C, born Feb. 25, 1862; Mary E.,

born'Jan. 13, 1865; Lile B., born July 18, 1867; Charles C, born March

18, 1870; Maud E., born Sept. 11, 1872; Sarah Q. C, born x\ug. 6, 1876.

All of the above named are now living.

PATRICK A. THATCHER.
Patrick A. Thatcher, son of Jonathan Thatcher, a native of Ohio,

was born June 9, 1830, in Kentucky. He lived with his father until 1S43,

when his father died; he then had charge of the family until he married

Mary, daughter ofJohn and Mary Leathe, January, 1850. He remained

there until 1852, when he started with his family to California. The
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cholera being epidemic that year, many of the emigrants were afflicted

with it. Mrs. Mary Thatcher took the disease and died on the plains,

leaving Mr. Thatcher with a daughter eighteen months old. He contin-

ued with his daughter, and arrived in California after a long and tedious

journey. During the next year he sent his daughter back to Kentucky,
but remained himself in CaHfornia until 1860, when he returned lo Missouri.

His mother's family in the meantime had moved to Missouri, settling in

the northeastern part of Pettis County. During the war Mr. P. A.

Thatcher was lieutenant of a company of militia under the command of

Col. Spedden, serving until the close of the war. He then followed farming
and stock raising until 1869, when he purchased the farm where he now

resides, which was unimproved prairie, the nearest neighbors being
two miles away. Mr. Thatcher was born in what was then known as

the Pond settlement, near Louisville, Ky., but which is now part of Louis-

ville. He was named after Doctor Patrick Joyce, an intimate friend of

his father. He lived in this place until his father moved to Laurel Count}?-

in 1843. Here his father died during that year. Mr. Thatcher received

his political bias from an old gentleman acquaintance, during the political

campaign, when President Polk was elected. Like many others he was

hurrahing for Polk, having in his hand a long poke-stalk, swinging it as

the men did flags. His mother being an ardent Whig, made him stop;
but the old gentleman encouraged him to stick to his Polk, and gave him

a piece of mone}'' to get his stick and hurrah for Polk. He did so and

has always adhered to the old line Democracy since, in all political issues.

In 1846 the family moved to Knox County, to the residence of Wm. Van-

noy, the paternal ancestor of his mother. Mr. V. was at that time called

the wealthiest man in that county. Mr. Thatcher was again married

September 11, 1862, to Bettie, daughter of Mrs. Charlotte B. Stark. The
names of their children are: Addie B., born Aug. 17, 1863; M. E., born

Jan. 27, 1865; Talitha E., born May 2, 1867; Charlotte A., born July 26,

1869; Luella, born July 5, 1871; Fannie W., born June 16, 1873; Edward

L., born Sept. 5, 1875; Lotha E., born June 23, 1879; Jeannctte G., born

Dec. 4, 1877, died June 8, 1878. Addie was married to Marcus Skillman,

Jan. 30, 1880, and now resides in Vernon County, Mo. Mrs. Bettie S.

Thatcher's maternal ancestors were the Stark family, natives of Tennes-

see. Merica, only daughter of Mary Leathe Thatcher, was born Sept. 23,

1850.

JOHN G. WADDLE.
One of the representative farmers of the township is the subject of our

sketch. He was born in the noble State of Kentucky, Nov. 25, 1827, and

at the early age of four years, he with his parents moved to Illinois, where

he was reared and educated. His father, James H. Waddle, was born in
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Virginia, in the year 1800, and was raised in Mercer Count}-, Kentucky,
where he followed the business of milnufacturin"- boots and shoes. In

1846, he enlisted in Capt. Miller's Company, 2d Regiment Illinois

Volunteers, as private, and was elected Second Lieutenant of his company
over William Morrison by a large majority, and served until the close of

the war. He was at the battle of Buena Vista, Mexico, where his com-

pany fired eighty-four rounds. He married Elizabeth Mundy, in 182(».

She was a native of Mercer County, Kentuck}'. After Mr. Waddle left

school, he crossed the plains to California and engaged in farming, in

which he continued until 1865, when he returned to Illinois and remained

there until the spring of 1866, when he came to Pettis County, where he

has since resided. He was married in 1S59, in California, to Miss

Amanda Morrison, a native of Louisa County, Iowa. This union has

been blessed with nine children, viz: James M., born April 29, 1861;

Amie, bom Feb. 22, 1863; Perr}^ H., born Jul}^ 1, 1864. These were born

in California. Mary E., born Nov. 23, 1866; Ulysses G., born Jan. 2.5,

1869; Samuel, born Oct. 5, 1871: William, born June 16, 1874; France,
born Aug. 24, 1878; Bertha Ma\-, born Oct. 18, 1881. William died June

19, 1874. Mr. Waddle is a man who stands high with his neighbors, and

is universally esteemed.

CHRISTOPHER C. WOOD.
Farmer and stock raiser; post-office, Lamonte. Was born in Albemarle

County, Va., May 20, 1837, where he was reared and educated. After leav-

ing school, he learned the blacksmith trade and continued at it about seven

years, when he engaged in farming and continued at this until 1861, when

he enlisted in Company H, 57th Virginia Regiment, and served until the

close of the war. He was engaged with his command in the battles

around Richmond, at Gettysburg, Pennsylvania, and also several other

hard fought battles. He was wounded at Gettysburg and taken prisoner,

but paroled after being in prison about two months. He was captured

again at the battle of Five Forks and held prisoner until after the close of

the war. After being released he returned to Virginia, where he con-

tinued farming until the fall of 1876, when he came to Saline County,

Mo., remained there one year, and then moved to Pettis County, where

he has since resided, following farming. He owns a fine farm of 135

acres, all well improved. He is a man of thorough business qualifications

and an established reputation for honor and fair dealing, and in his com-

munity has man}' friends. He was married in Virginia, March 23, 185S,

to Miss Virginia Wright. This union has been blessed with only one

child, Adlach V., born Aug. 21, 1861. Mrs. Wood died May 23, 1S62.

Mr. Wood married a second time in Virginia, May 27, 1866, to Miss

Lizzie M. Austin. By this union they have three children, Minnie L.,
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born May 5, 1867; Willette F., born Jan. 16, 1869; Oscar L., born Jan. 25,

1871.

CHAPTER XXI—PRAIRIE TOWNSHIP.

Inlroduclion—>rame—Organization—Configuration
— Early Settlers — Resources— Pros-

pecting for Lead—Facilities for Shipping—Churches—Schools—Good Templars—
Incidents—A Farm House with Three Occupants Burned—A Noble Dog Killed,

in a Hunt—"
Cap's Head "—

Biographical.

Spontaneous joys, wliere nature has its play.

The soul adopts, and owns tlieir first-born sway.—Goldsmith.

Since the day on which this township was christiened, time has been at

work. The wheels of proi^ress have been turned westward, and by skill

and industry the intelligent sons of toil have developed the natural

resources, which the liberal hand of the Omnipotent has so freely distri-

buted amon^ them. Situated under a genial sky in a latitude where the

healthful climate makes living a luxury, where liberty, honesty of purpose
and high regard for the welfare of the community hold full sway, live

some of the best families of the countv. May not their children with

relevancy and due respect, honor the names of their respected sires? A
few biographical sketches of to-da}^ may appear meaningless and out of

place, but perhaps ere the sands of time have worn through a century

hence, these pages will have been venerated and baptized with tears from

S3'mpathizing friends, whose hearts almost melted in love and admiration,

mixed with sadness, for those who have retired to the city of the dead.

Many of those who were born and reared here can reflectingly call to

meinory,
" the house where I was born," the rural home, where the log

cabin, in its primitive grotesqueness, stood by the little woods that skirted

the stream. Soon after this followed the little log school house by the

road side, and the well remembered schoolmaster who, with rod in hand,

ruled the little school.

Progress and enterprise have brought wealth and affluence to many of

the early settlers. The circumstances of the war developed many unfor-

tunate occurrences in the loss of property, but this has been restored, and

in the lapse of nearly twenty years but little remains to tell the sad stor}^

that once this beautiful little rural spot witnessed the passage of armed

men, and neighbors' hands raised against each other.

Name.—It i^ quite common to notice the importance attached to a name.

Individuals, objects and places alike become conspicuous. The name of a

township, after years of tainiliarity, becomes a common household word.

We care not where the individual may roam, he will still tenderly recall

the name of his home township.
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Prairie Township derives its name from its most striking- physical feature,

that of its broad expanse of elegant prairie land; and could anything be

more appropriately or titly named? Its beautiful rolling prairies covered

with well-tilled farms give it in spring time the ap,;earance of a vast sea of

emerald green. It occupies the priaire divide between the Muddy and

Flat Creek, and is nearly wholly prairie land.

Organization.—The township was originally a part of Elk Fork, but

as the county was settled up and needs of a numcipal government became

greater, the townships were subdivided, and from the original Elk Fork

Township was made what is now Elk Fork, Washington, Green Ridge
and Prairie. It occupies townsliip forty-five, range twenty-two, and is

an exact square, being six miles each way. Its northern boundary touches

Dresden Township; its eastern, Sedalia and Flat Creek; its southern,

Washington, and its western. Elk Fork.

Configuration.—The land as we have said is principallv rolling prairie,

and is nearly all susceptible of cultivation. The streams that cross the

township are Camp Branch and Coon Creek. These two streams are

bordered bv some timber, but the greater part is merely brush, affording

shade for stock only.

Earlv Settlers.—^The early settlers of the township located in the

northwestern part of it, and among them were Daniel N. Botts, A. G.

Pemberton, J. C. Donnahue, J. H. Lewis, A. Shobe, Jackson Quisenberry,
W. P. Hawley, Athel Wolf. These were early parties who opened the

countv to settlement, and later came Robert Fowler, who has sons yet

living in the county. D. C. VVhitsett, M. F. P. Woodson, A. G. McClung,

T.J. Lester, G. W. Rayburn, D. H. Bagbv, Jos. and James W. Cole came

at a somewhat later day.

Resources.—As a farming community this has all the advantages that

could be sought. It has deep, rich soil, and its products are inferior to

none in the countv. In its borders are found no minerals of any account.

A few years ago in the southeastern part there was some prospecting for

lead, but it was not found in quantities sufficient to pay for working. The

shipping facilities are good, the township being crossed from northeast to

southwest by the M., K. & T. Railroad. It is near enough to Sedalia to

put it in easy connection with that excellent shipping point by its wagon

roads, and in the tall the roads are lined with loaded wagons, bearing to

market the products of its farms.

Churches.^Iu an early day the members of the Christian Church, by

the aid of some of the other denominations, built a church house near the

north line of this township, but the members were few and they soon

were scattered, and the house fell into decay and was torn down. An old
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cemeter}'^ still marks the place. Messrs. J. C. Donnahue, John Gray, A.

Shobe, Brice McVoy, Jackson Quisenberry and Ephraim H. Carrington
were the principal supporters of that church. The house was built for

church and school purposes. Ephraim H. Carrmgton was the first per-
son buried in the cemetery. Charles Lewis donated the land for the

church and cemetery.

Camp Branch Baptist Church was organized in February, 1877, by W.
H. Rodgers, assisted by Rev. E. H. Burchfield, of Brownsville, D. H.

Thompson, J. Letts and S. Keel. The original members were Zalman

Haight, Mrs. Haight, Samuel Arnett, Mrs. L. Arnett, Sarah Malcom,
and Mrs. N. Rayburn. Members of other Baptist churches assisted in

the organization as required by the Baptist Church rules. Their services

have been held at school houses and private dwellings. They have held

several stated meetings with success and the membership has increased to

twentv-five members. Recentlv the official members of the church have

secured ground, and are now collecting funds and material to erect a

church building. Plans and specifications are already adopted, and the

matter is in the hands of a building committee, to procure necessary
means for erecting the house. Messrs. G. W. Ravburn, J. W. Cole and

building committee, of which Mr. Rayburn is chairman, and knows no

such thing as fail in that sort of an enterprise. The house will be built.

This church belongs to the Missionary Baptist Association. Rev. W. H.

Rodgers has served this church since its organization, for small compen-
sation. He is a zealous minister, and is true to the land-marks of the

church of his choice.

McKee Chapel was organized by Rev. Geo. McKee, in 1866, the soci-

ety using a school house until 1878, when, by the aid of the members and

friends of the church, sufficient funds were secured to erect and enclose a

church building. Rev. J. N. Pierce, presiding elder at the time, took

charge of the matter, and in due time the building was completed. The
names of the original members are: John Q. R3'an, Freelove Ryan, Mr.

Marian, Mrs. Marian, Leander Robinson, Margarette Robinson, A. P.

Britt, Mrs. A. J. Haverly and Wm. Roley. There is a cemetery, which

is under the management of the trustees of the church, connected with

the church property. The following have been pastors of this church:

Geo. McKee, W. W. Powell, M. Warren, Revs. Kellogg, Smith, Loutz,

Oechsli, Gillispie, Hanson and A. P. Sallaway. The present number of

members is forty-five.

They have a Sunday School held every Sunday, with an average attend-

ance of forty. Henry Hill is Superintendent and R. D. Hancock, Secretary.

They do not adjourn the Sunday Scliool over winter, but continue through
bad as well as pleasant weather.



HISTORY OF PRAIRIE TOWNSHIP. 987

Schools.—School District No. 1 was organized March IS, 1867. Mr.

G. W. Rayburn, D. A. Bagby, A. P. Britt and William Kirkpatrick met,

after due notice had been given, and elected officers as required b}- law,

and had a school taught, and as soon as the necessary means could be

procured, built a school house and furnished it with apparatus such as

was needed for the time.

School District No. 2 was organized in 1870, a joint district, with a part

in Dresden Township. The school house was built in Dresden Town-

ship, it being more convenient for obtaining a site for school purposes.
The first Directors were Samuel B. Hoss, John G. McClung and David

C. Whitsel. The first teacher was John D. Brown. School has been

taught since, averaging about eight months each year.

School District No. 3 was organized September 14, 1871. At the first

meeting of which any record can be found, R. H. Delamater, J. W. Cole

and W. C. Quisenberry were elected Directors. The first teacher was

Alex. Dow. Professor Westlake taught a select school in this vicinity

some time before this; the date is not certain.

School District No. 4. In this district Messrs. J. Ryan, N. W. Par-

berry, J. Parberry and Benj. Helvin during the year 18.59 took steps to

organize a school district. They secured a building and had a school

taught. Mr. J. Ryan was clerk of this district for many years.

School District No. 5 was organized in 1868. A school house was

built in the spring following, and in September the first school was taught

by Charles Franklin. Mr. Wm. H. Vannatta was the first School Direc-

tor. They have about eight months school in the year. In early times

from four to six months was the rule. The public school interests are

improving and a better grade of schools are being estabhshed, and longer

terms are being taught.

School District No. 6 was organized about 1870, but the date of the first

school is thought to be April, 1872. The first officers then elected were

Sam. J. Knott, J. Glover and John Howard, with T.J. Close as the first

teacher. The first records of the school district were not to be found, the

first clerk having moved away. Any earlier dates could not be procured,

but the late reports of the school are very good. The terms of school are

about eight months in the year.

Good Templars.—The friends of temperance in School District No. 1

called a meeting of the citizens of that and adjoining school districts, and

organized a lodge of Good Templars, April 6, ]876, with fifteen charter

members. The officers were George W. Rayburn, W. C. T.; James

Lord, W. S., and Mrs. Nancy Rayburn, VV. T. This lodge has con-

tinued until the present time and the membership is now increased to

fifty members.

On November 27, 1881, Mr. J. Y. Nesbit organized a lodge of Good
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Templars in School District No. 3, with forty charter members. The
officers were Richard Harris, W. C. T., and Timothy Rhodes, W. S.

This lodge is increasing in numbers, and is maintaining a good temper-
ance sentiment in the community. J. D. Helman has held the office of

Lodge Deputy of the I. O. G. T. for several years, and who, together
with his wife and daughter, have kept themselves busy in the cause of

temperance.

Incidents.—Among the incidents of the early settlers were the

destructive fires on the prairies and high water in the creeks. The hre

raged with great destruction frequently to the early pioneers who had

neglected to plow around their little homesteads and burn the dead grass
for a few rods around them. Hunting and fishing were extensively

engaged in and the trophies of the chase were numerous. Some grand
old times were had by the early hunters that came here from older settled

parts of the State. When the raising of log cabins was in order, Mr.

Joseph Stewart,was elected by a unanimous vote as the boss of the com-

munity at cabin raising. He had a peculiar trait of getting more work
out of a given number of men, in a certain length of time, than any other

man in the neighborhood. In the early days of the chase in this township
a part}' of hunters from Cooper County had a fine dog with them on one

occasion whose name was Captain. During the hunt he had an encoun-

ter with some wild animals and was pretty badly hurt, so badly indeed

that they were compelled to leave him at their camping place and return

for a conveyance to take him to the nearest settlement. When they
returned the next morning the wolves had killed the noble animal, and

left nothing but his head at the place where they had left him. For many
years afterward this camping place was called ''Cap's Head."

Some sad experiences have been recorded in this section. On Novem-
ber 18, 1860, Charles Lewis was killed by a tree falling upon him, and the

next day Albert Shobe died at an adjoining farm. Thus were two fami-

lies of neighbors stricken with grief at nearly the same time; not a com-

mon thing for those comparatively early times. In 1873 Mr. Wm.
Keightly's house was destro3'ed by fire,* and himself, sister Addaile, and a

little boy, who made his home with them, were consumed in the tire.

Many other interesting incidents could be enumerated.

JAMES W. COLE.

James W. Cole, son of Samuel Cole, of Cooper Count}-, Mo., was born

in Cooper County, Oct. 14, 1832. He lived with his father's family, farm-

ing and herding stock until 1850. Early in this year he, with two other

young men, started for California. Other men with their teams joined

them, until the company numbered forty men, having eight teams. Then
the company organized, with Thomas Jackson as captain. The company
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continued together, and all reached their destination except two, who died

on the way. Mr. Cole returned in 1853, coming by way of the Gulf of

Mexico. He soon after collected a drove of cattle, and went to California

again. He was about five months on the way, and was successful in get-

ting through with his stock. He remained in California until 1S57, when
he returned, reaching home, in Cooper County, about Christmas. He

again collected a drove of cattle for another trip, but, owing to the warlike

attitude of the Mormons, concluded to wait until another season, herding
his stock on Flat Creek, Pettis County, until 1860. Having delayed
the trip to California, he decided to marry and settle down in Pettis

County. Feb. 4, 1858, he married Mary E., daughter of David and

Marian Darke, of Cooper County. Their first children were twin girls,

born the 24th day of February, 1859, whom they named Sallie E. and

Maggie E. In March, 1860, they came to this township, where they now
reside. Their other children are: Stonewall, born July 20, 1862; Minnie

M., born April 17, 1864; Parmenas, born April 10, 1866; Mary C, born

April 10, 1868; S. D., born Nov. 4, 1869. Two of the children died in

infancy. Sallie E. was married to Jacob Rhoades, Aug. 20, 1878. Mag-
gie was married to John Harris, Dec. 23, 1880. All of the above are resi-

dents of this township. Mr. Cole began to deal in thorough-bred stock in

1863, principally the imported Durhams recorded as the " Flora" in the

American Herd Book. His stock has been kept on record since the first,

in the Herd Book at Bufialo. He began to deal in Cotswold sheep in

1870, and has kept in that line until this time, frequently purchasing the

premium sheep at the Kansas City and St. Louis fairs, securing the best

representatives of that breed of sheep without regard to cost. Samuel

Cole, father of James W. Cole, had an eventful history, being one of the

first settlers of Missouri south of the Missouri River, their neighbors

being the Sac and Fox Indians. He was acquainted with Blackhawk, who
afterward became a noted warrior. Samuel Cole is now living, at the

age of eighty-two years, and is quite active. James W. Cole is an active

member and supporter of the Baptist Church, and is now assisting to raise

a fund to build a church house in this township.

WILLIAM H. DAVIDSON.

Was born in Ashland County, Ohio, Feb. 28, 1841, where he was

reared and educated. After leaving school he engaged in farming, con-

tinuing the same till 1861, when he enlisted in Co. H, 42d Ohio Infantry,

under Gen. Garfield, and served three years, participating in all the

engagements of Garfield's regiment. After his honorable discharge
from the army, he returned to Ohio and engaged in farming, which he

continued until coming here in 1871. He owns a fine farm near the town

50
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of Green Ridge, located in section thirty-one, Prairie Township, Pettis

County, Mo. He was married in Ohio, Dec. 23, 1867, to Miss Mary
De Arman, daughter of James and Annie De Arman. She was born Jan.

25, 18il. Their family consists of two children: Hugh R., born Oct., 16,

1869; and Clara, born March 16, ISTT.

CLAYTON T. DAVENPORT.

Clayton T. Davenport, son of Ephraim Davenport, and grandson of

John Davenport, and great-grandson of William Davenport, a native of

Great Britain, was born Feb. 11, 1824, in Casey County, Kentucky, on

what was called the South Fork of Green River. He lived with his father

until his death, which occurred April 28, 1842. Clayton then took charge
of the home farm until the 20th of March, 1849, when he married Maria

C, daughter of David H. and Nancy King. He continued on the farm

until November, 1849, when he moved his family to Pulaski County, and

lived there one year, and then returned to Casey County, and purchased
the old homestead of his grandfather, John Davenport. He remained

there until 1862, and then went to Morgan County, III., and commenced

trading in real estate, dealing in stock and farming in that and Logan

County, 111., until he came to Pettis, March, 1878. He lived here one

year, and then went to Johnson County, where he stayed two years, and

then returned to Pettis, where he now resides. The names of their chil-

dren are: David K., born April 17, 1850; John E., born Oct. 12, 1852;

Marion C, born Feb. 5, 1855; Wayne J., born March 14, 1857; Lorenzo

D., born Oct. 26, 1861; Lulu D., born March 27, 1866; Burleigh D., born

July 12, 1869. David, John, Marion and Wayne were born in Kentucky,
and Lulu, Maria and Burleigh were born in Illinois. John E. was married

to Millie A., daughter of Joseph and Jane Bowyer, of Morgan County

111., April 6, 1871; David K. married Lydia E., daughter of Joseph and

Mary Lombard, August 80, 1871; Marion C. married Ida, daughter of

Milton and Kate Wood, of Sangamon County, 111., June 4, 1878; Wayne
J. married Amelia J., daughter of

'

Charles and Amanda Scott, Nov. 8,

1880. The paternal ancestors of Mrs. Maria C, wife of Clayton T. Dav-

enport, were natives of Ireland, of the family of Robert King, who came

to Kentucky at an early day, settled in Lincoln County, and purchased

a large tract of land, a part of which, is known as King's Mountain,

through which is a long railway tunnel. Mr. Davenport has had large

experience in stock-dealing, also real estate, having dealt quite extensively

in Illinois and Kentucky. He has not sought office, but has been honored

with important offices at different times by his fellow citizens.

ANDREW LOCKE HAGGARD.

Farmer and stock-raiser, Prairie Township, section 15; P. O., Sedalia.
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He was born in this count}-, Aug. 4, 1849, where he was reared and edu-

cated, after which he engaged in farming and stock-dealing. He was
married Oct. 6, 1879, to Miss Bettie Elmore, a native of Kentucky. By
this union they have one son, L. Hampton, born Aug. 18, 1881. Mr.

Haggard is a thorough busines man, and enjoys the well deserved reputa-
tion of honesty and fair dealing among his neighbors. He has a fine farm
of 290 acres of well-improved land, being well fenced and watered. His

residence is fine and beautifully located, commanding a fine view of the

surrounding country. His stock averages about seventy-five head of cat-

tle, also sixteen head of fine young mules, four head of horses, and thirty
head of sheep. He has a fine young orchard of sixty trees, and also a

nursery and good hedge fences and other modern improvements and con-

veniences. About forty acres of thrifty young timber furnish other attrac-

tions to his ample domain.

ROSWELL D. HANCOCK.
The subject of this sketch, Roswell D. Hancock, is the son of Stephen

Hancock and grandson of John Hancock, and great-grandson of Stephen
Hancock, a native of Virginia. He was born in Warren County, Mo.

Jan. 18, 1841, and lived with his father's famil}' until 1859. He then went

to Franklin County Mo., and attended school until 1863. He then entered

Bowdoin College of Maine, and remained two years. Returning to Frank-

lin County, Mo., he purchased a farm and followed farming until 1866.

He married Mary C, daughter of Daniel M. and Juliette Leet, Nov. 1,

1866, and lived in FrankHn County until 1875, when he came to Pettis

County, to the farm where he now resides. The names of their children

are: Roswell L., born Sept. 24, 1867; Mabel J., born June 12, 1869; Anna

M., June 27, 1871; George M., July 7, 1873; John C, July 18,1876; Frank

E., Dec. 22, 1878, and Mary B., March 4, 1881. Mary Leet Hancock,
mother of the above named children, was born Dec. 25, 1848, and died

March 10, 1881. Her paternal ancestor was D. M. Leet, a native of Penn-

sylvania, and her maternal ancestors were of the Kelsey family, who are

natives of New York State. Mrs. Mary L. Hancock received her lit-

erary education at the Greenville Baptist College of Illinois. She was a

member of the O. S. Presbyterian Church until 1880, when she with her

husband joined the Methodist Church at McKee Chapel, there being no

Presbvterian Church in the neighborhood. Mr. R. D. Hancock has fol-

lowed farming generally, and occasionally has taught school. Stephen

Hancock, father of R. D., was born in St. Charles County, in 1815, and

his father, John, was born in Kentucky, and John's father, Stephen,

was born in Virginia. He settled in Kentucky at an early day and came

to St. Charles County in 1798. Afterward in company with two others

he came up the Missouri River and located a claim near the mouth of the
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Lamine River Feb. 4, 1804, and received his patent from the Spanish
Government. He remained on his homestead during- his life, having lived

under three different governments: Spanish, French and American. He
died in 1820. His son John died the same year. Stephen H., father of

R. D., remained on the homestead until his death, which occurred in 1845.

GEORGE D. HICKS.

The subjects of this sketch were natives of Massachusetts. Mr. George
D. Hicks was born March IS, 1808, in Amherst, Mass. Mrs. Abigail
Burnet Hicks was born Oct. 3, 1810, in South Hadley, Mass. They were

married Oct. 17, 1832, and lived in that vicinity until 1836; then came to

Brown County, 111., and remained there three years. Mr. Hicks being a

practical miner, went to Galena, Daviess County, 111., and followed mining
until 1850. He then went to California and remained two years, then

came back, visited his family and again went to California, remained two
more years, then returned and purchased a farm in Rockford, 111., and fol-

lowed farming until he came to Pettis County, in 1867. Here he pur-
chased another farm and continued farming while he lived. They have

eight children, viz: Maria A., born Oct. 25, 1833; George, born Feb. 8,

1835; Rodolphus, born Sept. 8, 1836; HoUis, born March 21, 1839; Isaac

N., born Aug. 6, 1841; Stephen B., born Aug. 11, 1844; Emma A. and

Anna A., twins, born April 11, 1849. Hollis died Sept. 17, 1840; Anna
A. died April 26, 1849; Emma A. died June 6, 1851; Stephen died Jan.

16, 1879. George D. tjicks, father of the above named children, died

Aug. 23, 1879. Maria A. married Thomas Oughton, Aug. 2, 1855;

Rodolphus married Mary Runhala, Nov. 16, 1864; Isaac N. married Jen-
nie E. Mandeville, Feb. 21, 1867; Stephen married Judith Hovey, Sept.

3, 1869. Maria A. began teaching at an early age, and while teaching in

Wisconsin was called to go to Jamaica, West Indies, to teach as a mis-

sionar}^ for the Baptist Church, and after a preliminary examination in

New York was appointed to the place designated, and soon after entered

upon the work. She remained there three vears, then returned home and

remained one year, after which she returned with her husband, Thomas

Oughton, an eminent attorney of Jamaica, where they now reside. Geo.

Hicks, when about the age of sixteen years, commenced his literary edu-

cation in Beloit College. He pursued his studies three years, after which

he commenced the study of law, with an attorney in Mt. Carroll,

111. He remained at this place until near the close of the war. At the last

call for soldiers he recruited a company of Volunteer Infantrv, which was
attached to the Ninety-sixth Regiment of Illinois Volunteer Infantry, and

was elected captain. His first engagement was at the battle of Lookout
Mountain. Capt. G. Hicks was in other engagements of less note until

the close of the war. He was promoted Lieutenant-Colonel of his Regi-
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ment durint^ his service in the army. After his return home he did not

pursue his studies, his health being poor. After several etlbrts to find a

suitable situation, he finality went to Jamaica, West Indies, and is now

engaged as Inspector ot Schools of that place. Isaac N. Hicks learned

printing earlv in life and has continued in that business. He is now a

resident of Kansas City. Rodolphus remamed at home until he was of

age. He then spent one year in Iowa, and then went to Bedford, Mass.

where he shipped as sailor on a whaling vessel, made one voyage and

returned to port. He then went to Arizona, married, and after two years
went to California, where he now resides. Stephen followed farming at

home until the beginning of the war, and at the age of sixteen years

joined the United States army as a drummer, and served three years. He
had a short furlough, then he re-=enlisted and continued through the war.

Returning home he commenced farming, but his health failed, and after a

long and painful sickness died in 1879. Mrs. Abigail Hick's paternal
ancestors were natives of Massachusetts. Her mother, Abagail Burnet,
lived to be eighty-six years old. Mrs. Abigail Hicks is now seventy-one

years old, and is very vigorous, retaining her strength remarkabh' well.

Mr. Geo. J^. Hicks and wife were members of the Congregational Church
in Green Ridge. They assisted in organizing the church and were earn-

est supporters of it, and all the religious sentiment in the communitv. Mrs.

Hicks is now the onW representative of the family in this countv. She

remains on the farm.

JOHN H. LEWIS.

John H. Lewis, son of Charles Lewis, a native of Richmond, Va., was

born in Boonsboro, K}-., Feb. 2, 181 L He followed the tanning business,

having learned it while young, until he came to this county, in 1838. His

father came to this county in 1837, and settled in this township. John H.

commenced to farm and raise stock. He entered some land and purchased
other tracts, until his farm contained l,20u acres. In Dec, 1810, he mar-

ried Saludia M. May, daughter of Mrs. Mary May, a native of Virginia,

and about this time he built the house that he now lives in. The names

of his children are: Charles H., born Oct. 1-1, 1841; Mary J., born March

22, 1843; John W., born Jan. 28, 1845; Barnet G., born Jan. 2, 1848;

Zachariah T., born June 2, 1849; Austin, born July 1.5, 1851; Albert R.,

July 15, 1853; Perr}-, born Feb. 2, 1856; Sarah A., born June 30, 1858.

Saludia, wife of J. H. Lewis, died March 27, 1877; Austin L. died Sept.

2, 1852. Charles H. Lewis was accidentally killed by the limb of a tree

which he was felling for making posts. The tree in falling broke a

laro-e limb, which caught him and crushed his head. A colored man

who was with him, ran for help. Mr. W. E. Middleton was the tirst

to help remove the limb oft' of the man. He was taken home, but died
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before surgical aid could be procured. The sons of Mr. J. H. Lewis are

unmarried. The daughters are both married. Mary J. was married to

James Mudd, July 10, 1878. They now reside in Johnson County, Mo.

Sarah A. was married to Newton F. Gaston Dec. ] 7, 1877. They reside

in this township. Mrs. Gaston is a native of Clay County, Mo. When
Mr. J. H. Lewis first came to this county there were no improvements
within twelve to eighteen miles to the south and west. The earh^ settlers

located on or near the creeks, not thinking the prairie land desirable, being
too far to haul rails, or too cold for a residence, therefore they took what

seemed to be like the old homestead in Virginia. The wild animals, insects,

big flies, and other things made a great deal of trouble. Horses had to

be blanketed at times, and sometimes fires were built to make a smoke to

keep ofl:' the green flies. The cattle soon learned to keep on the side of

the smoke for protection. Prairie fires at some seasons were very destruc-

tive. Mr. J. Lewis has given his entire attention to farming and stock-

raising; has taken but little part in politics; has never held office in the

county; has been but once a petit juror; has never had a suit in court.

The Lewis family usually have from seventy-five to two hundred head of

cattle, and about that number of Cotswold sheep, usually from J. W. Cole's

herd.

PATRICK H. LONGAN.
Patrick H. Longan, son of George Longan, grandson of Augustus K.

Longan, was born in Pisgah, Cooper County, Mo., April 17, 1846; lived

with his father while they remained in Cooper Count}-; went with the

family to Benton County, Mo.
;
remained there farming and in the nursery

business until 1865. The family then came to Pettis County. He con-

tinued with them until he married Angeline, daughter ofJoseph and Ellen

Donnahue, March 12, 1869. Remained in charge of the homestead until

1877, when he purchased a farm in the neighborhood and moved his fam-

ily to it, and continued there until 1881, when he returned to the farm first

taken in this township by his father, where he now lives. The names of

P. H. Longan's children are: George W., born Jan. 24, 1870; Rufus E.,

born Jan. 7, 1873; Joseph C, born Dec. 27, 1875. Hon. Augustus K.

Longan, grandfather of P. H., with his brother, Rev. John B. Longan,
were among the early settlers of Cooper County. J. B. Longan was a

Baptist Preacher, and preached several years in that locality. He was

Moderator of the first Baptist Association held Sept. 24, 1824. P. H.

Longan has in his library a copy of the minutes of that meeting. Augus-
tus K. Longan was elected to the State Legislature in 1822, and again in

1844 and 1852; served a full term each time. His son, George Longan, is

a distinguished Minister of the Christian Church; has been preaching
several years, and is now actively engaged in another county. P. H.

Longan was educated in a High School taught by his father in Warsaw,
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Benton County; also attended other schools after comincr to Pettis

County.

JACOB F. MILLER.

Jacob F. Miller, son of John L. Miller, a native of Wirtemberg, Ger-

man}', was born Dec, 1845, in Pike County, O., lived with his father until

his majority, then went to Sciota County and engaged with J. Baker to

superintend his stock farm; remained at this place until Sept., 1872, when
he came to Pettis County, and took charge of another farm and stock for

Mr. Baker, where he continued until 18 76, when he married Sophia,

daughter of Frederick and Anna B. Reichel, March 9, 1876. Mr. Miller's

ancestors were early settlers in Moniteau County, Mo. The names of

Mr. J. F. Miller's children are: Elizabeth B., born Jan. 11, 1877; John J.,

born Dec. 16, 1879; Catharine, born Nov. 26,1881. Mr. John Miller,

father of Jt F., has been for man}' years engaged in stock-raising and farm-

ing generally, and still follows the business at the advanced age of seventy-
seven years. Jacob F. commenced in that line of business early in life,

and has been very successful. The family of John L. Miller are: John,

Elizabeth, Catharine, Jacob, David, Milton and Barbara. The first three

named were born in Ohio. Mr. Jacob F. Miller is a member of the

Lutheran Church, as were all of his ancestors, as far as he can remember.

Mr. Miller's early business habits and superior faculty for observing the

different conditions of stock, and their management in large numbers, and

his experience in farming on a large scale render him a successful agricul-

turist.

COLUMBUS PARK.

Columbus Park, son of John Park, a native of Kentuck}^ was born in

Pettis County, Mo., Dec. 8, 1846, and lived in his father's famil}' until

1857, when they went, to Johnson County and remained until the fall of

1869. Jan. 14, 1869, he married Sarah A., daughter of Dennis and Jane

Donham, and he then commenced farming for himself, and soon after

moved to the farm where he now resides. Columbus and his father, as

did many of the citizens, joined the Home Guards of that localitv, in order

to protect themselves from the bushwhackers. Once, while on picket

duty, two of their number were shot, the bushwhackers being in ambus-

cade. This occurred on the line of Pettis and Johnson Counties, near

what is now Sigel post-office. Mr. John Park, father of Columbus, came

to Pettis County in 1836, and settled on Coon Creek. He was then

eighteen years old, and worked out on farms in that vicinity until he mar-

ried Sodosky, sister of John H. Lewis. He then settled on land now
owned by Mrs. Whetsel. Mr. John Park was an active member of the

Christian Church and assisted in supporting n society in that locality while
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he remained in this county. Columbus is the only living child of his

father's first family of children. His mother died some time ago. Mr.

John Park has since married, and now resides in Johnson County. The
nearest post-ofhce was Georgetown, but it was common for the settlers to

join together and go to Boonville to buy their supplies. Columbus P. is a

member of the Christian Church, and is assisting with money and labor to

build a church house in Green Ridge. The family record is as follows:

Columbus Park, born Dec. 8, 1846; Sarah A. D. Park, born Feb. 15,

1848; Sodosky M., born April 29, 1870; Charles E., born March 11, 1872;

Caleb S., born Aprir7, 1876; Frank, born July 31, 1881; Sodosky M.
died Oct. 12, 1873. Mr Park's health has not been very good for several

years. He has opened a prairie farm and built a good house and has a

library of the latest publications, to which he will soon add a History of

Pettis County.

GEORGE W. RAYBURN.

George W. Rayburn was born in New Marion, Ripley County, Ind.,

Sept. 26, 1826, and lived with his father until 1853, during which time he

gave his attention to various mechanical pursuits, and learned the carpen-
ter trade during his boyhood. He built and run a saw mill on a creek

known as Indian Kentuck. Was at that place six vears. Oct. 5, 1853 he

married Nancy, daughter of James and Mary Rayburn, of Madison

Count}^ Ind. In the spring of this year he commenced business with

Wm. Clough's car works and remained at that place until 1857, when he

moved to Roseville, Warren County, 111.; then followed farming until

he came to Pettis County and settled in this township, taking a

farm on the open prairie. The nearest farms were from one to two

miles away. The names of their children are: Edward L., born Aug.
24, 1854, in Madison, Ind.; Charles D., born Sept. 12, 1856, in New^ Mar-

ion, Ripley County, Ind., having moved his family to that place in the fall

of 1854. Mary E. was born May 1, 1859; Allie A., born Sept. 19, 1861;

John F., born Feb. 5, I860; Mary E. died Sept. 23, 1860; Halley M. was

born May 14, 1878, died Feb. 22, 1879. In 1857 he moved again to Rose-

ville, Warren County, 111., and at this latter place three of his children

were born, Mary E., Allie A. and John F. While the family remained

at Roseville, Mr. Ra3^burn traveled in different States to find a location,

and after visiting several counties in Illinois, Ohio, Kentucky and Missouri,

concluded that Missouri was the place, and in 1866 came to this county.
The general health of his family was good except Edward, w^ho had

frequent attacks of pneumonia from which he suffered greatly at times.

This difficulty finally culminated in consumption. He w^ent to San

Antonio, Texas, in the fall of 1880, and remained until he died, April 22,

1881. Allie A. was of slender form and not very vigorous constitution.
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She had several attacks of pneumonia and other diseases incident to the cli-

mate, and finally took consumption and died March 30, 1878. Charles D.

married L,ucy E., daughter of W. H. H. and iMary Flesher, Sept. 23,

1879. Mr. Rayburn with 'others of his neighbors made an effort to

organize a school district soon after coming into the county. After due

notice, a school district meeting- was held and directors elected, and soon

after a school house was built. He was one of the directors for several vears,

was also Township Clerk of public school, and has always endeavored to

discharge faithfully all the duties assigned him b}^ his fellow citizens. He
took a deep interest in educational, moral and religious enterprises in the

community, assisted in organizing a lodge of Good Templars in his dis-

trict, and is now earnestly engaged in building a church house for the Camp
Branch Baptist Church located near. He adopts and uses all modern
methods of farming that promise an improvement on the past.

JOSHUA W. S. RHOADES.

Joshua W. S. Rhoades, son of Abraham Rhoades, a native of Penn-

sylvania, was born in Pike County, O., Dec. 22,1825. Assisted his father

until his death, which occurred in 1840; then went into business for him-

self, continued farming in that county until he married Mary A., daughter
of Barnet and Sarah Reardon, Oct. 13, 1850. Remained there until March,

1876, when he came to Pettis County, Mo. The names of their children

are: John W., born July 24, 1851; Sarah E., Feb. 10, 18.53; Susan, born

May 23, 1855; Jacob, March 7,1857; William H. H.*, Jan. 24, 1859;

Timothy H., Feb. 20, 1861; James F., May 1, 1863; Mahlon E., Oct. 16,

1866; Margaret E., Nov. 23, 1869. Mrs. Mary A. R. Rhoades, mother

of the above named children was born Oct. 9, 1829; her paternal ancestor

was John Hixon, a native of Virginia. The Hixon family came to Ross

County, Ohio, at an early day and numerous families are scattered through
that and adjoining^counties. Mrs. Rhoades' maternal ancestors were of

the Park family, who came from Wales. Sarah E. married John Eisen-

hart, Oct. 17, 1872; she died Oct. 7, 1879. She was a member of the M.
E. Church. Jacob Rhoades married Sallie E., daughter of James and

Mary Cole, Aug. 21, 1878; they now reside in this township. During the

war Mr. J. W. Rhoades and his fellow citizens were called out to resist

John Morgan in his raid through Ohio. He was mustered into a com-

pany under the command of Capt. Fletcher Slain, who without resistance

surrendered his men to Morgan. It proved an inglorious act, as Morgan
was captured a few hours afterwards, and the citizens returned to their

liomes. J. W. Rhoades joined the M. E. Church in 1857, in Jackson,

Pike County, Ohio, at what was then known as the Davis school house,

and now called Sharonville. Mrs. Mary A. Rhoades, and daughters, Sarah

E. and Susan, were also members of that church. Mr. Rhoades contrib-
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uted to all churches and church enterprises that were designed to improve
the moral sentiment of the county in which he lived. After coming to this

county, Mr. Rhoades joined the M. E. Church at McKee Chapel, in this

township, giving his hearty support to all its enterprises. He is an earnest

advocate and supporter of public schools, and was a director many years.
He gave encouragement to the Temperance Reform. The family are

members of Good Templars in the neighborhood. Mr. Joshua W. S.

Rhoades died Jan. 26, 1882. Abraham Rhoades, father of Joshua, was

born, April 25, 1773; his mother, Margaret Rhoades, was born, June 10,

1786. The names of their children are: Rebecca, Sarah A., Susannah,

Henry H., Washington, Elizabeth, Rose, Abraham J., Margaret A.,

Joshua, Jacob, Mar}^ A. and Eliza A. The last named were twins, born

Sept. 3, 1830.

LEANDER ROBINSON.
Leander Robinson, son of Tyre Robinson, and grandson of Thqmas

Robinson, who was a native of Ireland, was born in Washington County,
Pa., Aug. 1, 1836; lived with his father until sixteen years of age, during
which time he followed farming. In 1842 the famil}^ moved to Morgan
County, O. He continued farming and raising stock until 1852. Leander

then commenced railroading in various ways, sometimes superintending
men—jobbing or handling timber for ties, until 1858, when he married

Margaret C, daughter of Thomas and Margaret Carlin; he again
commenced farming, but occasionally worked at railroading. During the

war Mr. Robinst)n joined a military company, which was organized in his

vicinity, the company being called out at the time of Morgan's raid. The

captain of his company, T. W. Moore, desired him to take charge of his

business. Mr. Robinson procured a substitute to fill his place in the ranks

and remained in charge of the business of the captain. Subsequently the

company was transferred to the regular army. Mr. R. remained in that

place until 1865, when he came to Pettis County, Mo. The names of his

children are: Henrietta C, born March 11, 18—
; Mary E., born Jul}- 10,

1867; Edgar H., born Feb. 9, 1869; Charles T., born Sept. 16, 1871;

Ellsworth, born July 10, 1867, died in infancy. Henrietta C. was married

to Henry Hill, in November, 1874. Tyre Robinson, father of Leander,
had seven children, four daughters and three sons; all except one

daughter and Leander are now residents of Ohio. Mrs. Margaret C.

Robinson's maternal ancestors were from England. Mr. L. Robinson

joined the M. E. Church, at Marietta, Ohio, under, the ministry of I. F.

King; has continued his membership until the present time, contributing to

the support of the church in all of its branches, holding some official rela-

tion continually; has been leader and exhorter, doing much to build up the

society cind maintain a good religious sentiment in the community in which

he lives.
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LOUIS STOCKMAN.
Was born in Belgium, Europe, Oct. 11, 1835, where he was reared and

educated. After leaving school he learned the baker's trade, and contin-

ued in the same till 1856, when he came to America. He landed at New
York, then proceeded to Milwaukee, following his trade here and in

Chicago until the fall of 1858, when he went to St. Louis, where he

remained until 1871. Mr. Stockman came to Pettis County in the spring
of 1871, and has since resided here, following stock dealincr and farminij.

He has eighty acres of well improved land, with a brick residence beauti-

fully located, commanding a grand view of the surrounding country. Mr.

Stockman has the broadest, experience and his many qualities as an

upright citizen has won him many friends.

ANTON TRACHEL.
Son of George' Trachel, was born in Weimar, Saxony, Germany, March

3, 1839. He came to this country in 1850, with his father's family, settling

in Washington Count}^, Ohio. He followed farming with his father until

March 15, 1868, when he married Ruhamia, daughter of Rebecca and

Daniel Kerns. Mr. Trachel remained in Washington County until he

came to Pettis County, Mo., in November, 1875, to this, township, where

he now resides. The names of Mr. Trachel's children are: William W.,
born Jan. 15, 1870; EHzabeth Z., born Feb. 22, 1871; Loretta, born April

9, 1872; Elfie, born Sept. 23, 1873; Bertha, born Nov. 30, 1874; Sadie,
born Feb. 25, 1876; Elsie, born March 16, 1879. Mr. Trachel has been

school director for several years, respondent to every call on a citizen con-

tributing to every demand, as the necessity of the case seemed right to

him. His father, George Trachel, was a stone-cutter in Germany, hav-

ing served an apprenticeship of four years. He was there employed on

public buildings as master of the business. He had charge of work in

Berlin and Leipsic and other cities of Germany. George Trachel died in

Washington County, Ohio, April 1, 1868, being about sixty-seven years
old. His wife, Elizabeth, died March, 1873, aged sixty-nine years. Mrs.

Ruhamia Trachel, mother of Rebecca Kerns, was a daughter of Reuben

Phillips, a native of Virginia.

WILLIAM H. VANNATTA.
The subject of this sketch, William H. Vannatta, son of John Vannatta,

and grandson of Aaron Vannatta,- who came to this country with Baron

Van Stuben, from Holland. Aaron Vannatta settled in New Jersey dur-

ing the Revolutionary war. His son, Joim Vannatta, was born Jan. 29,

1806. He married Mary, daughter of John Hunt, a revolutionary soldier.

Mary Hunt was born Sept. 4, 1794. William H. Vannatta was born April

14, 1828, in Butler County, Ohio. He lived with his father until he mar-
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ried Adelia M,, daughter of William and Elizabeth Olden, July 29,

1852. John Vannatta, father of W. H. Vannatta, came to Madison

County in 1832, and remained in this count}^ until 1863, when
he moved to Macoupin County, 111., where he remained until 1867,

when he came to Pettis County, Mo. Soon after he purchased the

farm where he now resides. Mr. Vannatta with some neighbors,
in 1869, organized a school district, No. live, and as soon as means could

be procured, built a school house and was the first director, and has

always advocated thorough education, and has endeavored to maintain a

high standard of qualification of teachers for public schools. The names
of their children are: Amanda, born April 17, 1853; Sylvester, born

Sept. 23, 1854; Ellen, born August, 1856; Allie H., born Aug. 1, 1858;

Celia, born Aug. 25, 1860; John W., born March 30,1862; Mary E., born

March 16, 1864; Frank W.,Jan. 19, 1866; Cuyler H., born Novl 16, 1867;
Eddie M., born Dec. 1, 1864; Oscar J., born June 24, 1871; NeUie I., born

Dec. 30, 1879. Sylvester died Sept. 22, 1861. Celia died Oct. 25, 1863.

Frank Webster died Aug. 6, 1875. Celia's death was caused by her

clothing taking fire, having been for a short time alone in the house. It

was not known how the fire was caused. She made an effort to get to

her father in the field near by, but died before help could reach her.

Amanda was married to Robert Ewers, Feb. 7, 1877. They are now
residents of Pettis County. Adelia Olden Vannatta's paternal ancestors

were natives of Canada. Her maternal ancestors were of the Parker family,

and natives of Canada, who were in possession of a large estate in the

vicinity of Montreal in an early day. Mr. W. H. Vannatta was a mem-
ber of the Christian Church. His daughters, Amanda and Allie, were

also members. He has always assisted in building churches and other

institutions for the maintenance of a high standard of morals in the com-

munity in which he lived. He was a stockholder in the Utica College in

Illinois. Amanda and Ellen were successful school teachers. Mr. Van-

natta had the misfortune to have his residence burned in 1878. It was a

serious loss, having no insurance; his policy having expired about three

months previous. He has another residence built on the same place, but

not so large as the former.

THOMAS WESTLAKE.
Farmer. Section sixteen, post-office, Sedalia. He was born in Ohio,

July 3, 1818, where he was reared and educated. In 1848 he moved to

Scott County, Iowa, and engaged in farming two years, then in 1850»

came to Pettis County, Mo., where he has since carried on farming and

stock raising. In the early days of Mr. Westlake's residence here, the

people went from thirt}- to forty miles to mill, and occupied three to four

days on the trip. He was married to Miss Nancy Garvin, Nov. 9, 1843.
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By this union they had three children, Cyrus, William and Darius. The
mother ot these children died in October, 1846, and July 2, 1857, he mar-

ried Mrs. Urcilla Steel, of this county, for his second wife. This union

has blessed them with five children, Maggie, Mary A., Melvina, Stella

and Thomas. Mr. and Mrs. Westlake are highly esteemed by their

neighbors and acquaintances, for their many approved qualities.

CHAPTER XXII.—SMITHTON TOWNSHIP.

Introductory—Situation—Name— Organization—Pliysical Features—Old Settlers—Agri-
culture —Horticulture—Stock Rai.-iug—Priceviile—Farmers City

—Smithton—Rail-
roads—Churches—Cemeteries—Early Ministers—Schools—Civic Societies—Incidents
—Biographical

Man, through all ages of revolving time

Unchanging man, intevery varying clime.

Deems liis^own land of every land the pride,

Beloved by heaven o'er all the world beside,

His home the spot of earth supremely blest,

A dearer, sweeter spot than all the rest.

Smithton Township, located in the eastern part of Pettis County, and

south of the central line that divides the county from east to west, and

being traversed its entire length by the splendid line of the Missouri,

Pacific Railroad, has all the advantages that could be asked for any town-

ship or town. Its situation is all that could be desired. Its climate such

as is productive of all that is best in the grand belt of country in which it

is situated, and its people, such as are found onh- in this favored part of

Missouri.

Although Smithton Township is apparently a small area in the country,

yet it has a histor}-, interesting and worth reading, for all those living

within its bounds, which in after years will be held in sacred iueirior\' by
generations yet to fill the places of their fathers, and to read and think as

they have done.

Without entering into controversies concerning the origin, cause and

bias of the various factions and difficulties pertaining to the people and

this locality, we proceed to give the facts and dates of prominent events

as gathered froin reliable sources, precluding from our narrative anything

tinged with political or religious bias or family preference. History is the

narration of past events as they have occurred. It is the grand master

that has unlocked the storehouse of past ages, and presents to our view

all the glories of those empires which have risen, flourished and fallen in

the ages past. Hence, so dear to us is the history of our country and

ourselves, that we should claim it as a birthright, to be vigilantly guarded,
lest through carelessness we forget our ancestors, our institutions and our-

selves.



1002 HISTORY OF SMITHTON TOWNSHIP.

Smithton Township, devoted as it is to agricultural pursuits, has every

advantage which should be sought after by the husbandman. Its soil is

deep, rich, and productive. Its drainage is excellent. Its timber is plen-

tiful. Wealth predominates, and nowhere do we see that sign of care-

less indifference that marks other spots, which in a dav's ride may come
under the observation of the traveler. Well tilled farms, well kept fences,

beautifully trained hedges and nicely trimmed orchards are on every hand.

All seem to take a pride in making homes that are attractive, and so far

their efforts have been crowned with abundant success. What has been

done at so comparatively an early day in this township, can be surpassed

by those who come into possession, after those who are now so perfectly

grading and paving the way before them. If we were permitted the

privilege to see the present improvements completed and those of the next

fifty succeeding years, would any of the famous, perfectly improved
estates of England, France or Germany surpass them? Would any of

chem equal? Certainly none would surpass them in beauty of scenery
that they may possess; undoubtedly none can surpass them now in amount

or value of their productions. A more inspiring scene cannot be witnessed

than that of a farm at the busy season.

It will be pleasant to those who are the offspring of the pioneer settlers

to peruse these pages, for we shall endeavor to make the most striking

features pertain principally to the old settlers and their surroundings. We
shall attempt to give the reader narratives of pioneer life, descriptions of

interesting localities and personal reminiscences. The staple products of

the locality, the quality of the soil, the course and size of the principal

streams, the educational advantages—all these items of interest, and many
others, will be dwelt upon. We will give, also, as full as our information

will allow, sketclies of the rise and progress, and the present condition of

the various religious denominations of the township. Also, short biogra-

phies of the leading men, living and dead, who have been prime factors in

buikhng up the township. The names will be briefly noticed as is most

relevant. The location and physical features of the township will be

given more in a general view, excluding technical points of minute and

secluded nooks. Roads, fences and creeks will have a more prominent

place in the descriptive geography of the township, in connection with the

physical features. The population of 1880, with such other statistics as

could be gathered before and after that date, will be produced.
The town of Smithton, with name and such incidents as will remind the

reader of its present and future prospects. We shall speak of the post-

offices, schools, cemeteries and other interests, as we have recourse

to historical facts. No historian, however well versed in antiquities, can

possibly give all the incidents relative to the many changes of a county or

township. Public records and documents are supposed to preserve cor-
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rectly the dates, but frequentl}^ these cannot be found, and if found, may not

contain just the desired facts in minute detail of the information wished to

be obtained. The memories of the pioneers have materially aided in giv-

ing events. If all the dates are not correct, or all the facts are not given
as prominently as they should be, it is because the sketchei- has failed to

procure the desired information. However, it is hoped that the history of

the township which we have compiled may be of interest to the popula-
tion of the section for which it is written.

The name most common is frequently chosen in commemoration of par-
ticular objects or persons. The ancients, and many persons of this age,
found in hills, valleys, mountains and forests, ideas for appropriate names.

From time immemorial it has been the custom for admirers of ffi'eat men
to call that which was near and dear to them by the name of those whom

they admired, who had been their benefactors, or had been largely inter-

ested in their welfare. Founders of cities, towns and villages, discoverers

of countries, lakes and rivers, were and are wont to designate those par-

ticular places by their own name, or those whom they delight to honor

and whose memory they wish to perpetuate. Thus we have America,

numerous Columbuses, Washington s and on down to local people and

places. This is but just. It is right that tribute should be paid to the

memory of one who, above all others, has been a benefactor to his

locality and its people.

Smithton Township takes its name from Gen. Geo. R. Smith, whose

name is so inseparably connected with Pettis County and all Central Mis-

ouri. A biographical sketch of the General is given in full in this volume

beginning on page 418.

Organization.—The township was organized in 1864. It was origin-

ally a part of Bowling Green Township, and its early history will have to

be given in connection with that township. It was separated from the '

former township in 1864, and the order of the court, as seen in connection

with records, will show that although separate voting places were established

at that time, the township was not organized until May 13, 1873.

Configuration.—The shape of the township is a square. It is bounded •

on the north by Bowling Green Township, on the east by Morgan

County, on the South by Lake Creek Township, and on the west by
Sedalia Township. It occupies the eastern and southern portion of Pettis

County: embraces in its boundaries thirty-six square miles, and has 23,-

040 acres. The greater portion of the land is tillable, and is gently undu-

lating prairie-land, except along the creeks, where it is more broken and

plentifully timbered. Farms of eighty. to 900 acres, beautifully improved,

the larger ones with elegant blue-grass pastures, are on every hand. The

railroad follows along the divide or watershed the entire distance through
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the township, and from this divide the scene is one of inspiring grandeur.

Standing on the depot platform at the station, a view of miles each way is

spread out before the attention of the lover of the beautiful in nature. To
the north can be seen the hills and vales of Elk Horn Valley, covered

with its well kept farms, and herds of cattle and sheep. To the east the

same scene presents itself to view. On the south the valley, drained by
Flat Creek, stretches away in a seemingly endless view ol lovely farms,

tended by thrifty and contented husbandmen. A more perfect watershed

cannot be found anywhere than that on which the railroad runs. The
rain falling on the north side runs away in Elk Horn Creek into the

Muddy and reaches the Missouri by way of the Lamine River, while that

falling on the south reaches the same outlet by way of Flat Creek, which

enters the township in section nineteen, flowing thence through sections

thirt}^, twenty-nine, twenty-eight, twenty-seven, twenty-six, twenty-five
and twenty-four. In section twenty-five it receives the water of Lake

Creek; on the southwest quarter of the northwest quarter of section

twenty-five, township nine. Wells of living water are obtained by going
down twent3-five to forty feet. Water for stock is plentiful, the never

failing wells and streams affording abundance for the dryest season.

Early Settlers.-—Those who came before and prepared the way for

these settlements of which we have been speaking, we call the brave

pioneers. Well may the old settlers say with the now lamented poet:

The course of my long life hath reached at last,

In fragile bark o'er a tempestuous sea,

The common harbor, where must rendered be

Account of all the actions of the past.

Very soon those living who have seen the countr}'^ change from the

wild nature to the high state of domestic beauty and enlightenment, will

have passed awa\'. The old settlers of this township were of that better

class who were neither too fond of romance nor did they settle down to

common place ideas. Their nature chose the "golden mean" in respect to

culture. Most of their time for the first few years was spent in opening

up homes, and hence they could not pay that regard to education due

from noble ancestry. They kept sacred the family blood of Old Virginia
and Kentucky. Let it be a transgression of laws, or otherwise, these

families were too proud of their stock and ancestry to see their posterity

become connected with inferior families. In many cases they erred, per-

haps, but, nevertheless, no better families ever lived than those of Smith-

ton Township.

Among the most prominent of the early settlers in the township (then

Bowling Green) are Joseph Scott and wife, who came from Kentucky in

1815. They have since passed away to that better land. James Roberts,
from Missouri, came to the township in 1820. He died some years
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since. N. Steel came from Kentucky in 1820 to this township, and has

been dead a number of years. John Porter, also from Kentucky, came
in 1825, but is now numbered with the dead. George Smiley, from the

"Blue Grass State," came to the township in 1825, and a few years since

passed to his final rest. R.obt. Ross came to the county and settled in

the township in 1S27. He also came from the "Blue Grass Re<j^ion." He
is now dead. Daniel Wright came to the State from Alabama in 1831^
and settled in Bowling Green Township, Pettis County. He is now dead.

William Smiley came to the township from North Carolina in lSo'2, and
still lives, an honored citizen of the township. George Small came in

1825 from Kentuck}^ and lived a number of years in the township, but is

now dead. Andrew M. Wright came to the township from Alabama in

1831. He still lives in the township an honored and respected citizen of

his community and of the county. The Judge has been largely connected

with the improvement of not onl}- his immediate community, but also of

the county at large. At the close of the war he was appointed to the

office of Judge of the County, and when his appointment expired he was
elected to the office for the term of six years, and filled it with credit to

himself and great satisfaction to his constituents. He claims to be a true

specimen of the early pioneers of the county, and is proud of it. He still

resides on the original farm (110 acres), but during the period intervening
between his coming to the township and the present time he has owned
and disposed of considerable tracts of land and has given his two married

daughters nice farms each. Clinton Young came to the township in 1830,

from Tennessee, and his brother, Clayburn Young, from the same State

in 1839. Both are now dead.

The first marriage in the township was that of Mr. Robert Ross to

Miss Mercy Potter in 1832. At that early day marriages were of some

consequence, and the whole country round-about were invited, and tiiey

came from all quarters. It was not anything like our latter-day dress-

suit and satin affairs, except in vows. All came to enjoy themselves,

and they most certainly did. From accurate descriptions we are le d to

believe far more happiness resulted in the majority of those early unions

than at the present da}', when may vows are taken for the purpose of

increasing worldly wealth.

The pioneer ministers were Revs. Wolf and E. More}^ both Old School

Baptists. They looked after the spiritual welfare of the early settlers in

1831. In 1837 Dr. Thomas Evans located in the township. The first

school was taught in a log cabin in 1832, by Wm. Miller. Mr. Miller was

afterwards elected County Judge. The school house occupied a piece of

ground in section twenty-three, township forty-six, range twenty. The

51
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first meeting was held at the residence of Joseph Scott. Thus, early were
the rehgious and educational interests of the township looked after.

Enterprises and Industries.—As before mentioned, the principal in-

dustries of the township are agriculture, stock raising and fruits. The
shipments of all these products are large and remunerative. It is a com-
mon average for wheat to produce from twenty-five to thirty bushels per
acre and corn from forty to seventy bushels per acre. These cannot be

overbooked by the immigrant who seeks a desirable location: First, a

fine climate; second, a soil of wonderful productiveness; third, timber in

abundance; fourth, water in abundance; fifth, good schools and churches;

sixth, good society. What more can be asked .'^ With land constantly

increasing in value it is plain to be seen that an investment in this town-

ship will yield an interest equal, if not superior, to any other in the country.
The township roads are good, the streams spanned by good and substan-

tial bridges, and the facilities for shipments over the railroads are unsur-

passed. The nearness to market allowing the highest price paid for pro-

duce, be it wheat, corn, flax, potatoes, cattle, sheep, hogs, or products
of the orchard, dairy or apiary.

Churches.—At an early day the churches of different denominations

held meetings in private houses. The first church building that was
erected in what is Smithton Township, was erected in 1844 by the

Methodist Episcopal denomination. It was, as all the early buildings,

built of logs, with rough benches for seats, and destitute of all modern
conveniences. Rev. Sebastian Bard was the officiating minister. Mr.

Bard was the circuit rider for this district in those early days, and his cir-

cuit extended from Jefferson City to St. Joe. Preaching was held at each

appointment once each month, and the minister frequentl}^ had to ride

forty miles in one day to meet his appointments. He preached every day
in the week. The next church erected in the township was built at Far-

mers City. This church was moved to Smithton shortly after that town

was started.

Methodist Episcopal Church.—The present Methodist Episcopal

Church, of Smithton, was organized Nov. 26, 1866, by Rev. J. B. Stout.

In the summer of 1868 a commodious frame house of worship was built,

at a cost of ip3,600, by Rev. Nathan Jewett. It was dedicated to the wor-

ship of God on Nov. 28, 1868, by Revs. T. H. Hagerty and W. R. Mar-

shall. The pastors to the present time have been Revs. J. B. Stout, G.

McRea, N. Jewett, S. Alexander, W. A. Boucher, E. P. F. Wells, A. H.

Heinlein, A. P. Sallaway, J. B. Daniel and W. G. Cowan. The original

members of the class were T. Ellison, E. Ellison, N. Ellison, J. Silken, Mrs.

Silken, Mr. and Mrs. J. M. Norton, Mr. and Mrs. W. D.Norton, Mr. and

Mrs. E. N. Norton, Mrs. Galbrath, C. Bohon, Susan Bohon, S. Martin,
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W. H. Mers, E. Mers, Lydia Heisme3'er, P. Martin and Lucy Wilkinson.

The class has increased until it now numbers one hundred and fifty mem-
bers. In connection it has a large and flourishing Sunday School of over

one hundred members, of which George Griffin is Superintendent and

James Ringen is Secretary. The church is, as we have said, a frame

building 38x56 feet, eighteen foot ceiling, with cupola and is comfortably
furnished. A good revival of the Lord's work followed the dedication of

the church, and fifty persons united with the church in December, 1868.

Also in 1871 and 1872, and in 1878 and 1881 there were held good revival

meetings. The aisles and pulpit are covered with carpet, the seats com-

fortable, chandeliers, and the house is heated with wood stoves.

German Methodist Episcopal Church.—The German Methodist

Episcopal Church of Smithton was organized by Rev. Charles Stneck-

mann, in the 3'ear 1866, and they erected a frame house of worship in 1868,

at a cost of $1,700. The building was dedicated by Rev. F. Stofiregen in

May, 1868. The class have the following named Ministers in charge:
Revs. C. Sha, J. A. Reitz, J. P. Miller, C. F. Fleiner, Charles Stneck-

mann and J. H. Asling. The records of the organization show the fol-

lowing names of original members: M. Monsees, Sen., G. Monsees, M.

Monsees, Jr., H. Monsees, H. Alkin, H. Demand, J. H. Kruse, M. W.

Wittlinger and F. Tangier. The present membership is sixty-five. A
Sunday School, under the superintendency of H. Demand, has over forty

regular attendants. J. A. Kruse is secretary. The minister first in charge

preached also in Lake Creek, but the congregation is now strong enough
to support its own pastor.

Church of Christ.—The Church of Christ was organized in Smith-

ton by Elder Allen Wright in 1860, and in the fall of the same year the

congregation had a commodious frame house of worship erected at a cost

of $2,100. The congregation has had six pastors up to the present time.

The first was Allen Wright, and then follow in the order named: Elder

Donan, J. B. Wright, G. W. Sewber, S. Philips and Gentry Dorsey. The

original members were Joseph Fowler and wife, John Fowler, H mnah

Fowler, F. B. Taylor and wife, Job Harned and wife, James Major, wife

and daughter, and B. P. Smith and wife. The present membership is fifty-

five. There is a Sunday School of about forty scholars, of which B. P.

Smith is Superintendent and Ida Wilson, Secretary. The house is com-

fortably furnished, and each Sunday an attentive congregation greets the

Elder."

Flat Creek Baptist Church.—The following history is from the

pen of Geo. W. Fletcher, Church Clerk: "The church is located south-

west of Smithton five miles, and was organized at Johnston's school house,

Sept. 23, 1816, by Elder J. G. Berkley and Elias George. The original
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members were Benijah Gentry and Mary, his wife; James Harvey and

Nancy, his wife; J. G. Berkley and Cornelia, his wife; Mary A, Berkley,

Nancy Berkley, I-'Ucy Johnston, Sarah Carpenter and Nancy Carpenter.

First officers, J. G. Berkley, Pastor and Moderator; J. E. Crawford, Dea-

con, and James Harvey, Clerk. The same year the church united with

the Saline Missionary Baptist Association, and remained a member of that

body until the year 1871. Elder Berkley served as Pastor and Moder-

ator until 1851; James Harvey served as Clerk until the year 185<), in

which year he visited California, and John E. Crawford was chosen Clerk.

During the year 1850 Elder Amos Home visited the church and held a*

protracted meeting, and preached some powerful sermons, and several

joined the church. The church at this time, by the accession of members,
had become strong, and in the year 1851, J. E. Crawford and wife, Nancy

Harvey, C. C. Crawford and others withdrew by letter, and organized the

church seven miles west of here, known as Bethlehem Baptist Church.

It is situated south of Sedalia about six miles. Elder Berkley ceased

to preach to the church in 1851. From that time until 1853 Elders

G. W. Landes, Thompson Estes and S. Driskell preached regularly to

the church as volunteers, but in the last mentioned vear the church called

Elder Samuel Drickell as regular Pastor every year until 1865. On the

resignation of J. E. Crawford, in 1851, D. J. Shy was chosen Clerk fro

tein, and in the same year A. N. Driskell, Clerk, and B. T. Thomas, Pas-

tor and Moderator. In the same year A. N. Driskell, Alva Goodnight
and John Adkins were ordained Deacons. A. N. Driskell still continued

to act as Clerk until 1869, at which time, at his own request, he was

relieved, and William B. Baugh chosen as Clerk, who served until 1878,

at which time he and John T. Miller were ordained Deacons; the church

having but one Deacon at that time, Jonathan Davis, who was transferred

from Florence Church; the other Deacons having died or moved awa}-.

Baugh, Davis and Miller are the present acting Deacons. After Elder

Thomas, Elders Samuel Driskell, J. K. Godby, W. V. Parsons, S. Adkins,

William H. Rodgers (who was ordained by the church in 1871) and L.

W. Whipple were pastors of the church at different times from 1866

to 1881. Elder David Home is the present Pastor. In 1871 the church

withdrew from the Saline Association and went into the Lamine, and in

1879, with others, formed a new association called the Pettis County Asso-

ciation, which, after two years, was remodeled and called Harmony
Baptist Association. From 1878 until 1881 P. R. Anderson and T. B.

Young served the church as clerks, when George W. Fletcher, the pres-

ent Clerk, was chosen. The first church house was built on the north

side of Flat Creek, about three miles southwest of the town of Smithton.

It was built of wood, and cost about $1:50. This was in 1858, moved to

Priceville, and in 1861 it was taken down by the Forty-second Illinois U.
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S. V'olunteers and moved to Smithton and made into barracks. The
church had no ref^ular place of meeting from that time until 1872, when
the members again built another house five miles southwest of Smithton,
on the south side of Flat Creek, costing about $800, all of wood, capable
of seating about 400 persons. The church has had many revivals, and a

great many accessions to her numbers. Some have moved to other parts,
but most of them have gone to meet their reward beyond the dark stream

of death. The present number is seventy-five, who are still keeping up
regular meetings on the second Sunday in each month, and church meet-

ing the Saturday preceding. Sunday School during the summer and

autumn months, with a fair attendance most of the time.

Cemeteries.—There are six cemeteries in the township. Some of

these are private burying places for the dead, while two or three are used

by the neighborhood, in which they are situated. The largest in the

township is that situated just south of the town of Smithton. It is incor-

porated and under the management of a board of directors, and is neatly

kept and has ornamental trees planted in a number of places.

Schools.—The schools of the township are five in number, outside of

the Smithton Academy. The early schools were primitive affairs, the

buildings and seats being made of hewn logs, and the teachers of that

stern old type who taught "readin," "riten" and "rithmetic," and ruled by
the use of the rod the few pupils that braved the winter weather to attend

the two or three months school each year. The buildings of the township
are mostly frame and five to seven months school is now taught. The

present school building in Smithton was built in 1870. It is a frame struc-

ture, two stories high. The contractor who erected the building was

James L. Moore of Illinois. It cost $5,000. The first teachers in the

building were Mr. and Mrs. E. M. Brundige. The teachers for the past

year have been. Prof. W. P. Kelley, principal; D. J. Shy, Jr., first assist-

ant; Mrs. E. G. Haire, primary department. The colored school is under

the supervision of W. J. Baucher. Prof. Kelley is a worthy and efficient

teacher, and his services are in constant demand. The school now gives
as crood a common school course as can be obtained anywhere.

Statistical.—The present population of Smithton Township is 1,237.

This includes the village. It has large and valuable real estate, and a

large amount of live stock, etc., and its land has advanced in price from

$1.25 per acre in 181:0 to from $40 to $50 per acre in 1882. Some tracts

are held even higher than this, and we have no doubt that in a few years

it will be a hard matter to purchase land for even $50 per ;icre.

Incidents and Reminiscences.—The experiences of the early set-

tlers of this township and of all others, were they given in detail would fill a

much larger space than is allotted to each township in a county history.
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As late as 1848 there was very little money in circulation, and the currency
used in trade was such articles and commodities as were used in every

day life. Taxes were light. Farmers received the pay for their produce
in "store goods." In the year mentioned before, a gentleman who is now
a prominent farmer in the township, took live hogs, averaging 220 pounds
to market at Boonville. He received the then highest market price, one

and one-quarter cents a pound for them. Of the amount they came to,

the purchasers would pay him but $1.50 in cash, and the rest must be in

trade. He returned home, and about the holidays paid his taxes, which

were ninety cents, on 160 acres of land and a number of head of stock-

The remaining sixty cents he was obliged to call his cash capital on hand

for the next six months. About the same time Judge Wm. Boeker, o.vn-

ing 120 acres of land, of which thirty-three were in cultivation, offered it

with sixteen head of cattle, seven horses, fifty hogs and twenty-five sheep
for $600.00. He could not sell at this extremely low figure. During the

war, the troops of both Federals and Confederates overran this township,
and men of both parties were frequently obliged to seek safety in hiding.

In 1860, Governor Stuart's expedition passed through the town going west

to fight the Kansas Jayhawkers. Gen. Frost came up with his command
on the railroad to Smithson in 1860 or '61, and camped for two nights on

Flat Creek, and then proceeded to Kansas City, but finding the Federals

were prepared to receive him, returned and sought shelter further south.

A number of Pettis county boys joined this expedition, and it cost the

State of Missouri in round figures, $80,000.00. The brave Col. Mulligan
came from St. Louis to Smithton by railroad, with his famous brigade,
and from this point marched on to Lexington, which he so gallantly

defended for five days against fearful odds. When Jeft. Thompson took

Sedalia, the company of home guards of this and neighboring townships
took to the brush. However, they kept pickets out, and it is related that

a squad of the home guards passed within fifty 3^ards of a line of these

pickets and neither knew the other was in the neighborhood. There were

a great many murders in those exciting times, a complete record of which

would be too lengthy for our space. In the early part of the war excite-

ment ran so high that elections could not be held.

The first May wheat brought into the township was imported from

Iowa in 1856. Geo. Holland and Judge Baker brought ten bushels, and

the Judge says that from three bushels sown on one piece of ground he

threshed eighty-seven bushels. This he threshed by the old way of tread-

ing out with horses, and at least one-third of the wheat remained in the

straw. In 1875, on account of the drouth, there was a failure of crops,

but in 1876 there was nearly a double crop.
In the north part of this township a creek called "

Shave-Tail," takes its

rise in section ten, and flows north into Muddy Creek. An amusing
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and interesting stor}- worthy of repetition here is related of the manner in

which this creek received its name. Sometime during the year 1840 a

marriage occurred near this little stream, and while the guests enjoyed the

festivities of the evening, Richard Johnson assembled a few of his youthful

companions, proceeded to the place where the horses were hitched and

closely shaved their tails. The creek on whose banks this amusin"- inci-

dent transpired was ever after called "Shave-Tail" Creek, Some 3'ears

after the creek was christened. Esquire Welch, of Lexington, was

employed in a case against Mr. Johnson, and during his remarks before

the court he said: "
Ceclops founded Athens, Dido founded Carthage,

Romulus founded Rome, Columbus discovered America, and last, though
not least, Dick Johnson founded " Shave-Tail."

Smithton.—This little village of three hundred and twenty-five persons
derives its name from the same source which the township does, viz: In

honor of Geo. R. Smith. It is located in the eastern part of the township,
and lies south of the Missouri Pacific Railroad. The first town in the

township was Priceville, and was laid out by David Kernudle. In some

way the purchasers of property were all swindled, and the village then fell

into decay. The farmers in the township then laid out Farmers' City.

The Missouri Pacific was then being built and the compan}- proposed to

get the road into Pettis Count}- that year (1859), if the county would give
them $30,000 more in addition to their already large donations. This

was raised and the road came that fall to the point that is now Smithton,

and the depot was built. Here it stopped for a while. Then the town of

Smithton was laid out by Wm. E. Combs, a.id half the lots were given to

the railroad company. Buildings began to spring up, and Farmers City

rapidly sunk into decay. The mill and merchants removed to Smithton.

The church had an internal disagreement, and it was moved to the future

town. Mr. Combs built the hotel, now the Blandin House. Major Wm.
Beck, now of Sedalia, put up the first store. Mr. Lambors was the first

postmaster, and Clony & Crawford, commission merchants, who moved

westward with the progress of the railroad, erected the first grain ware-

house. From the time the railroad reached it until it was extended on to

Sedalia, the town continued to grow, and it is still a shipping point of con-

siderable importance, as shown by the average monthly business of the

railroad for a few years past: Number of cars cattle shipped, 0; number

of cars hogs shipped, 11; number of cars sheep shipped, 1; number of

cars wheat shipped, 4; average monthly receipts, $42.5; Tonnage freight

forwarded, 684,000 pounds; freight received, 68,00(1 pounds. There is a

good flouring mill run by steam power, capable of turning out from twenty
to thirty barrels of flour every twenty-four hours. A saw mill near the

town works up native logs into lumber. The merchants keep a stock of

goods such as is needed for the country trade. The town is incorporated
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and has been for a number of years. Under date of March 4, 1869, we
find the act of incorporation.

Secret Societies.—Amity Lodge, No. 340, A. F. and A. M., of

Smithton, was organized Dec. 30, 1S69, by District Deputy Grand Master

Wayan. The charter members were: E.J.Russell, Morgan Lyman, A.
H. Heismeyer, F. L. Mintie, C. F. Watts, David Shy, H. M. Farner,
Wm. E. Combs, T. Y. Cox, C. F. Gaylord. The first officers were: E. J.

Russell, W. M.: Morgan Lyman, Sen. Warden; A. H. Heismeyer, Jun.

Warden; Wm. E. Combs, Treasurer; F. L. Mintie, Secretary; C. T.

Watts, Sen. Deacon; David Sly, Jun. Deacon; H. M. Farner, Tyler.
The Worshipful Masters have been E.J. Russell, M. Lyman, E.J. Rus-

sell, M. Lyman, M. L3'man, T. G. Cox, John V. Harris, N. H. Haire,

John V. Harris, T. G. Cox, David Smith. The present officers are,

David Smith, W. M.; David Sly, S. W.; Robt. Overstreet, J. W.; J

V. Harris, Sec; Daniel Palmer, Treas.; N. H. Haire, S. D.; T. G.

Cox, J. D.
;

H. M. Farner, T. The present membership is eighteen.
The lodge occupies a fine hall in the second story of a brick building
built at a cost of $4,000. It was the third Lodge organized in the county.

Smithton Lodge, No. 264, I. O. O. F., was instituted Sept. 28, 1871,

by Deputy Grand Master, Elias Bixley, assisted by Q. B. Codding, Grand

Warden; R. H.Moses, Grand Marshal; Wm. Inch, Grand Conductor;
D. M. McKinzie, Grand Treasurer; Wm. Campbell, Grand Guardian; T.

G. Taylor, Grand Secretary. J. H. Mellen, T. M. Seaton, J. T. Curd,
W. F. Stuart and J. V. Harris were presented by the Grand Marshal for

installation. The election of officers followed, and T. M. Seaton was
elected N. G.; J. H. Mellen, V. G.; W. F.Stuart, Sec; J. V. Harris,
Treas. The membership was up to twenty-four at one time, but the

Lodge does not now meet regularlv, but still liold their charter.

Smithton Lodge, No. 221, A. 6. U. VV., was organized July 16, 1881,

with the following officers: C. H. Baker, M. W.; R. S. Overstreet, P.

M. W.; A. B. Cook, Foreman; Fred. Gallup, Overseer; G. Rudy, Guide;

James Ringen, Recorder; N. H. Harris, Financier; J. C. Williams,

Receiver; R. E. Muller, I. W.; Hy. Kohrs, O. W.; Trustees: R. Taylor,

Joe. Kohrs, W. C. Overstreet, Jr. The Lodge is in a flourishing condition

and has a large and increasing membership.
The business directory of the town includes: J. A. Blandin, post-

master; J. M. Meek, physician; John V. Harris, justice of the peace;
Wm. D. Weiler, agent M. P. R. R.; W. A. Smith, agent Pacific Express
Co.; W. C. & W. C. Overstreet, physicians and druggists; J. A. Blandin,

proprietor Blandin House; Cook & Ringen, general merchants; Kullman

& Schupp, blacksmiths; R. Muller, wheelwright; VV. A. Smith, general

store; H. M. Farner, carpenter; Wm. Kruschen, wheelwright; Gehlken &
White, general merchandise; Prof. W. P. Kelley, principal of schools;
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N. H. Hair, grain and stock merchant; J. Warren, grain dealer; Albert

Taylor, stock dealer: C. H. Baker, grain merchant; A. W. Smith, den-

tist; Smithton Mill Co., millers.

J. A. BLANDIN.

Residence, Smithton. Proprietor of Blandin House, and Postmaster.

The subject of this sketch is a native of Windham County, Vt., and was
born May 26, 1S29. He there grew to manhood, or until he was

twenty years of age. He then moved to Marshall County, 111., in

18i9. He was there married in ls53 to Miss Martha Jane Jones; she was

a native of Illinois. This union has blessed with seven children, five

of whom are now living: Sarah, Walker, Mary, Lucy B. and Charles;

deceased, John and Elmo. In 1867 Mr. Blandin came to Pettis County,
Mo., locating in Smithton, and in 1868 he was one of the M. E. Church

building committee, and in January, 1880, he opened out the Blandin

Hotel. He was appointed postmaster at this place in January, 1880, and

is now the present postmaster. He and his family are consistent members
of the M. E. Church.

JUDGE WILLIAM BOiKER.

Residence, Smithton. Retired farmer. One of the pioneers of town-

ship forty-four, range twenty, was born Dec. 20, 1820, at Hanover, Ger-

many. His father, Frederick, died in 1828, and his mother, Lucinda, died

in 1831. The subject of this sketch was put in the care of a guardian, and

when he was fourteen years of age he was put out as apprentice under

Mr. Hecter, to learn the trade of wagon-making, and where he served for

three years. He then traveled for three years more, and in 1842 he emi-

grated to America, landed at New Orlearns, Nov. 13, 1842, on Sunday.
On Monday he began to search for a job, and found one the same da}-;

he worked out for two years, and then he run a shop of his own. He was

married in 1811 to Miss Tibke Mahnken, a native of German}-, and

this union has blessed them with -two children. His health failing him, he

was obliged to change his business, and in 1845 he came to Pettis County,

Mo., locating in townshio forty-four, range twenty, section twelve, where

he bought one hundred acres of land, which he improved. While living on

section twelve Mr. Becker experienced many things the pioneer had

to contend with in those early days, one of which he relates thus: He him-

self went out one day to drive up the horses to go to the quarterly meeting,

and on his return to the house he found his wife cr3-ing, and when he

inquired, he found out that the reason of her trouble was that they did not

have any mone}' to help pay the expenses at the meeting. So Mr. Becker

was about to abandon the idea of going to church, when one of his neighbors

rode up and asked him if he had any seed potatoes, and the answer was»
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"Yes," and when he measured out two bushels for him, the neighbor
asked Mr. Boeker what they were worth. As there was no market in

this part of the countr}', the neighbor asked him if fifty cents would

do, and Mr. Boeker said, "Yes." When he received the money he

went to the house and gave it to his wife, and she clapped her hands

with joy, and said, "now they could pay the minister." But Mr. B.

said they could get it changed and give half, and buy coffee with the

balance, which they finally did. He also tells the historian that in 1851 he

took some hogs to Boonville, and they averaged one hundred and

ninety-five pounds each, and he sold them for $1.25 per hundred, and

when he got a few things for himself and famil}^ he had $1.50 in money;
in a short time the Sheriff came to collect the tax on one hundred and

twenty acres and personal property, and it amounted to ninety cents,

leaving sixty cents after paying his taxes. Such were the trials of the

pioneers of Pettis County. In 1852 he moved to section one of the same

township, where he improved three hundred acres of fine land. In 1872

he moved to Smithton and erected a fine grist mill, in partnership with

Preuss & Co.; remained there until the year 1880. He then dissolved

and retired. He was elected County Judge May, 1873, and served four

years, and was re-elected. He has been a consistent member of the

German M. E. Church for upward of thirty-nine years. He was the first

Sunday School Superintendent in his township, and retained that position
for nine years, and bought books with his own money.

HENRY BOHLING.

Watch and clock-maker and farmer. The subject of this sketch is a

native of Morgan County, Mo., and was born in August, 1847. He was
there educated and developed to manhood. He came to Pettis County
in 1871, and was married, Sept. 1, 1871, to Miss Mary Ann Rogers.

By this union they have two children living, Emma and Anna. They
have lost two, Anna M. and Sopha. His wife died Feb. 22, 1879. He
was again married, June 2, 1879, to Miss Annie Neunger. By this union

they have one child, Cordelia M. Jan. 1, 1876, he began in the watch and
clock business, and since that time he has built up quite an extensive

trade, and is doing first-class work. His father and three brothers are watch
and clock-makers. He now owns a farm of 140 acres, and is in a well-

to-do way.

GARRETT BOHON.
Farmer. Post-ofiice, Smithton. One of the oldest settlers of this part

of the county is Mr. Bohon, who was born April 15, 1825, in Mercer

County, Ky. He remained there until 1838, when his parents emigrated
to Pettis County, Mo., where he has since lived. His father still survives.
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at the ripe old acje of ninety-two years. The county was a mere wil-

derness when Mr. Bohon came here, and he now tells many stories of the

pioneer life. He was married, in 1850, to Miss Lucy A. Higgans. She
was a native of Kentucky. This union has blessed them with three chil-

dren: George, William and Mary A., now Mrs. Cook. Mrs. Bohon
was called to her long home about 1855, leaving a young famih' and kind

husband to mourn her loss. But Mr. Bohon raised the family. He
owned 200 acres, but has given his children a portion of the land, and now
owns a farm of 100 acres.

J. J. BOHON.

Farmer. Post-office, Smithton, The subject of this sketch was born

Jan. 12, 1840, on the farm where he now lives. He is a son of W. R.

Bohon, who was born, March 10, 1790, in Mercer County, Ky. His

father, John Bohon, was a soldier in the Revolutionary War, under George
Washington, and served seven years. W. R. Bohon came to Pettis

County, Mo., Oct. 15, 1838, and located where he now lives. He was

married, in 1826, to Miss Martha Jane Jones. She was born, March

2, 1808, in Kentucky, and died Jan. 12, 1859, leaving many friends to

mourn her loss. Mr. Bohon is, at this date, able to go about and help

himself. He is the oldest settler now living in the township. He
owns a farm of 200 acres. The subject of this sketch was first married,

in 1867, to Miss Sarah E. J. Elliott. This union was blessed with one

child, Mary E., who died Aug. 5, 1872. Mrs. Bohon died June 5, 1872.

He was again married, March, 1878, to Miss Carrie Kastens. This union

has blessed them with two children, Albert and Addie. Mr. Bohon is a

man of perseverance and industry, and as his reward he owns a farm

of 100 acres of good land. His father, W. R. Bohon, is now living with

him.

•W. S. BOHON.

Farmer. Post-office, Smithton. The subject of this sketch is one of

Missouri's noble sons, and was born. May 1, 1849, in Pettis Count^^ Mo.»

and was here reared and educated. His occupation through life has been

that of a successful farmer. He is a son of W. R. Bohon, who

was one of the pioneers of Pettis County, Mo. Mr. Bohon has had

many trials to contend with, such as having his house destroyed by tire

several times. He was married, in 1872, to Miss Annie Meyer, a native

of Ohio. She is a lady of culture. This union has blessed them with the

following children: Minnie, Edwin and Samuel. Mr. Bohon has a fine farm

of eighty acres of fine land, with a good house. He is now numbered

among the successful business men in the township in which he lives.
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C. C. CHANEY.
Farmer and stock raiser; post-office, Smithton. The subject of this

sketch is a native of Virginia and was born in 1836. His father came to

this country at a very early date and died at a good old age, in Sedalia,

Mo. He was a much honored and esteemed gentleman. The subject of

this sketch was married Oct. 29, 1859, to Miss Catharine E Dickenson.

Her father, J. W. Dickenson, born March IT, 1791, came to this countr}-
in 1841, locating where the subject of this sketch now lives; he came from

Virginia. By this union they have one child, Mary F. Mr. Chaney was
in the war for live years, and was in some of the severest battles, but

"when peace was declared he laid his gun aside and returned to his home
in Pettis County. He now owns a farm of 620 acres of fine land, and he

is one of the true business men of his township. He is a consistent mem-
ber of the Baptist Church.

JAMES COOK.

Was born Oct. 10, 1821, in Scotland. His lineage composed the best

families, ranking high in social and public life, and representing quite an

amount of wealth, of which his father, David Cook, possessed a liberal

share. His father was an honored member, and an elder in the Presby-
terian Church. He died in the year 1825. The subject of this sketch

came to America in 1841, living with relatives. Being of an independent

spirit, and characterized by a good amount of energy and ambition, he

determined to make a start in life for himself. He came with his mother
to the State of New Jersey, in 1842, and bought a fine farm and remained

there until 1844. He then went to work at his trade, being a weaver and

spinner. In February, 1847, he was married to Miss Catharine Leeson,
and has a family of seven children living, three dead: A. B. Cook, now
a prominent merchant of Smithton; William W., James L. and David L.,

now among the leading merchants of Roc^kville, Bates County, Mo.;

Joseph M., Charles F. and Mary A., wife of James Ringen, the junior

partner of the mercantile firm of Cook & Ringen, Smithton, Mo. In the

year 1852, Mr. Cook concluded he would go to the State of California,

and went to New York City, for the purpose of joining a company
destined for that State, but owing to some difficulties arising, he and his

brother secured passports for Australia, at which place he' was engaged
in mining for about eighteen months, and then opened up a store and sold

goods for fourteen months. He then returned home to his family, b}' the

way of Panama. In a
ver}'- short time after this he removed to Lafayette

County, Wis., and remained there until 1857, when he went to Texas.

When the war came on, in 1861, he left his family and property and

made his way through the Confederate lines to his old home in Wisconsin,

encountering many hardships, staying for days and nights in the swamps.
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as well as being taken prisoner four times, but finally, after enduring
many hardships, he succeeded in reaching the Union Army, almost

completely exhausted. After recruiting his strength, he set about getting
his family through the lines, which he found to be a difficult matter,

having lost track of them during his stay in the north, but succeeded

finally, in April, 1865, in rejoining them, after passing through great hard-

ships and privations. He then removed to Smithton, Pettis County, Mo.,
where he has since made his home, with the exception of a short time

which he spent in Bates Count}-, Mo. He was postmaster of this place
for nine years, but finally resigned his position. He was among the first

to put forth an efibrt to erect a good substantial school building, and was
ever ready to engage in those things pertaining to the interest of the com-

munity. He has now retired from active life, enjoying the comforts and

happiness of a pleasant home secured by a life of industry. He is a lead-

ing, public-spirited gentleman, always willing to lend his influence to

public enterprise. A staunch Republican, at whose State Conventions

he has been in attendance for quite a number of years. He and his family
are devout and consistent members of the M. E. Church. He is a man of

liberal culture, sterling sense, unimpeachable integrity, clear comprehen-
sion, and an influential worker for his adopted State, and held in high
esteem by all who know him.

THOMAS ELLISON.

Post-office, Smithton. Farmer and stock-raiser. Was born May 25,

1824, in Larksher County, England. Here he was raised until 1S36,

when his parents e.migrated to the United States, and located in what

was known at that time as"Morgan County, afterwards changed to Noble

County, Ohio. His father, Edward EUi.on, was born March 8, 17'Jl, and

died in Noble County, Ohio, May 15, 1876. His mother's maiden name
was Mar}' Board; she was born Dec. 23, 1795, and died in Noble County,

Ohio, June 20, 1862. The subject of this sketch was educated and grew
to manhood in Noble County, Ohio. He was married in 184-7 to Miss

Elizabeth Cork. She was born Feb. 18, 1823, in Ohio. This union has

blessed them wath seven children, four of whom are now living, viz: Rich-

ard B., Ann S., John Edward, Willliam T. The three deceased are: Isabel

M., Mary E. and Minerva E., who died Oct. 22, 1878. In 1852, Mr.

Ellison located in Washington County, Ohio, where he was engaged in

farming until the spring of 1866, when he came to Pettis County, Mo.,

and located where he now lives. Here he bought a fine farm of 303 acres,

paving $2<> per acre for it. Mr. Ellison was one of the trustees and one of

the building committee of the M. E. Church at Smithton. He was the

first one to subscribe, putting his name down for $250, and before the

church was completed he gave $250 more, making in all $500, besides
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working all the time to obtain money to help in its erection. He is a man

highly esteemed in this community.

C. H. EVANS.

Post-office, Smithton. Merchant. The subject 'of this sketch is a son

of Dr. Thomas Evans, who came to Cooper County, Mo., in 1833, and

located near the line of the county. He was the first physician in this

part of the county, and during the pioneer days he was forced to make

many a hard trip. He was a first class physician, and was'highly honored

bv the community in which he lived. He was one of the members of the

M. E. Church, South, of this place. In 1870, he retired from business.

He was called to his long home in 1871:, leaving many friends to mourn
his loss. The subject of this sketch was born in 1835, in Cooper
County, Mo., and in about the year 1841, he came to Pettis County, where
he grew to manhood. Since that time he has been engaged in selling goods
and farming. He was married September, 1871, to Miss Sallie Ferguson.
She is a native of Pettis Count}-, Mo., and her parents are among the

pioneers of this section. This union has blessed them with one child,

Henry E; he died when he was about two years of age. In April, 1881,

he quit firming and began in the mercantile business in Smithton, but his

stock was destroyed by fire Feb. 8, 1882. Through this fire he lost about

$4,700, of which about $4,000 was covered by insurance. Since which

time he has not been actively engaged in business, but resumes merchan-

dising this fall (1882) and will also engage in bu^-ing and shipping grain.

DR. GEO. W. FLETCHER.
The subject of this sketch was born near Cincinnati, Ohio, Jan 3, 1832.

His father was one of the early emigrants to Ohio from Virginia, and his

mother was from New York. At the age of ten years his parents moved

sixty miles east, to the town of Hillsborough, where he received a liberal

English education in the public and select schools, and where he fitted him-

self for teaching. In 1851 he visited his brother in Iowa, but in the same

year returned to his old home and attended Professor Matthews' Select

School at Rainsborough. Being a great lover of reading, he turned his

attention to medical works, without any idea of ever turning it to account

by practicing. But on going into the army and being detailed to hospital

duty, found he was as successful as those who had received a college edu-

cation, and concluded to go into a general practice. At the close of the

war he emigrated to Missouri, and after traveling over southwest Mis-

souri and southern Kansas, settled in Newton County and commenced

practice. It proved a success financially. On the 19th of October, 1872,
he was married to Miss Lucinda Ulman of Miller County. Her father,

Joseph Ulman, moved from Virginia to Missouri in the year 1842; Miss
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Ulman being at that time a child of twelve years of age. In the vear 1875

he visited his wife's parents in Miller County, also the city of Sedalia in

Pettis County. He was so delighted with the place and countrv that the

next year he concluded to leave where he was and move to Pettis County,
which he did, and located five miles southwest of Smithton, where he

practiced until his failing health warned him to cease looking after the

health of others and care for his own, by keeping regular hours and

doing light work on his farm, which he is trying to make into a pleasant
home.

H. M. FARNER.

Post-office, Smithton. Carpenter, joiner and farmer. Among the manv

pioneers of Pettis Count}^ no one is deserving ot more special notice

than the subject of this brief sketch. He was born November 18, 1827,

in Greene County, Tenn. He was here educated and developed to man-

hood. He learned the trade of carpenter and joiner, which business he

has since followed. He was married in his native county Aug. 26, 1847,

to Miss Mary A. McKeehan. She was a native of the same place.

This union has blessed them with four children: James F., Eliza E., Pat-

rick A. and Jacob. In 1851 he emigrated to Pettis County, locating in

Elk Fork Township, where he remained until 1858. He then moved a

few miles west of Smithton, and in the spring of 1860 he moved to the

present town of Smithton. Here he built the first two houses that were

built in this place, after the town was laid out. Mr. Earner has been

president of the school board of this place for two years, and worked

zealously for the advancement of education. He was one of the original

members of the M. E. Church, South, and is among its Hberal supporters.

His father, Jacob, died in 1863, and his mother, Elizabeth, died about the

year 1850. His wife was also called to her long home. He was again

married April 4, 1858, to Miss M. A. Glass, and they have since lived in

this town. Through this last union they have one child, Carlton W.

JESSE FOWLER.
Was born Feb. 9, 1827, in Franklin County, Ind. When quite young

he came to Dallas County, Mo., and grew up to manhood. He enlisted

as a soldier in the year of 1862, and commanded the highest respect and

esteem of all the superior officers, as well as his fellow soldiers. He
served his country faithfully, meriting the highest praise of all. He is

now a resident of Smithton, Pettis County, Mo., and is continually engaged
in buying and shipping stock, from which he receives a liberal income.

He is a man of energy and rare business gifts, sterling sense, unimpeacha-

ble integrity, and is in the best sense an acquisition to the town and com-

munity of which he is a citizen.
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JOHN G. FOWLER.

Post-office, Sedalia. Farmer and stock raiser. Among the pioneers of

Pettis County, no one is deserving of more special notice than the subject

of this sketch. He was born December 6, 1821, in Caldwell County,

Ky. He there grew to manhood. His father, Joseph Fowler, was

born December, 1791, and came to Pettis County in 1840. His mother's

maiden name was Anna Johnson, and she was born in 1800, and was a

native of Madison County, Ky. She died July 9, 1879, and Mr. Joseph
Fowler died Oct. 18, 1859. The subject of this sketch came to this

county with his parents in 1840. He was married February 27,

1861, to Miss Jane L. Burton. She is a native of Ireland. This union

has blessed them with hfteen children, ten of whom are now living:

Bloomfield U., Joseph Johnson, Benjamin B.,John A., Thomas R., Annie

Jane, Belle and Richard, and two that are not yet named. The five

that are deceased are as follows: Samuel, Harry, Eliza, and two infants.

Mr. Fowler is a man who has seen many changes come and go to Pettis

County. He is a man of uncommon industry and careful management,^
and now as his reward, he owns upward of 1,000 acres of line land, and

is one of the leading business men of the township.

F. GALLUP.

Residence, Smithton. Stock dealer. This enterprising citizen is a

native of Winnebago County, Wisconsin, and was born Sept. 11, 1848.

His grandfather, Mr, Chester Gallup, and his father, S. A. Gallup, were

the first white settlers in that part of the country. When the subject of

this sketch was about fourteen years of age, his parents moved to Knox

County, 111., in 1862, and in 1864 they moved to another county of the

same State. Mr. Gallup had two brothers in the Union army, one of

whom joined at the age of fourteen years. In 1867 he moved to Pettis

County, Mo., where he farmed until 1869; then he went to the Plains and

engaged in the stock business, and traveled fi"om Texas to the Territory of

Dakota. He continued in this business until 1877, when he came to

Smithton, Mo., and has since been engaged in the stock business. He
was married in 1878 to Miss Mary Delany. She is a lady of fine taste,

and a native of Ohio. This union has blessed them with three children,

two of whom are now living, Lillie and Blanch. One deceased, Persie.

GEORGE L. WHITE.

George L. White was born in Madison County, Kentucky. His father,

John R. White, now resides in Boyle County, Kentucky. He is a minis-

ter in the Christian Church, of which he has been a leading and influential

member for a number of years. The subject of this sketch came to Pet-

tis County, Missouri, in 1871, and engaged in farming, at which he
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was very successful. He pursued this calling for ten years. On the 23d
dav of March, 1881, he was accorded a halt interest in the mercantile busi-

ness by purchasing Mr. Norton's interest, of the firm of Gehlken & Nor-

ton, of Smithton, Pettis County, Missouri, and is now doing a good busi-

ness. He is a gentleman of superior judgment, fine business gifts, cau-

tious, conservativ-e temper and habits, has strong sense of honor, and ranks

with the most popular, liberal spirited and influential men of this region,
and entertains a high opinion of the country and people.

RICHARD GEHLKEN.
Mr. Richard Gehlken is the senior member of the firm of Gehlken &

White, Smithton, Mo. He was born Aug. 21:, 1853, in Morgan Count}-,
Mo. His father was born in 1805, and came to Missouri in 1832, and set-

tled in Morgan County. His mother was born in 1817, and resides with

the subject of this sketch, his father having died in 1868. Mr. Gehlken

spent the early part of his life on a farm, during which he obtained a good

English, as well as a German education. He attended school until the

year 1875, when, for a short time, he took charge of a stationary engine
in a flouring mill, after which he took a clerkship in the mercantile estab-

lishment of Mr. N. H. Haire, of Smithton, and remained with him until

he closed out his business. He was then employed in the same capacity
in Mr. William Beck's establishment until Jan. 21, 1878, when he became

associated with A. B. Cook and commenced business for himself. He con-

tinued in business with Mr. Cook for seven months, when Mr. Cook
retired and Mr. Gehlken conducted the business himself until 1879, when
Mr. Norton took an interest in the business, and continued to do business

until March 23, 1881. Mr. Norton sold his interest to Mr. White, since

which time it has been known as the firm of Ghelken & White, and is one

of the representative firms of the town, carrying a fine stock of dr}- goods,

groceries, clothing, boots and shoes, hats and caps, queensware, tinware,

notions, &c. They have a large trade, and owing to their genial tempera-

ment, and fine business capacities, rank among the leading business men
of the town. Mr. Gehlken was married Oct. 24, 1880, to Miss Sallie

Masters, a lady of refined taste and manners. Mr. Gehlken is every inch

a gentleman, brave, generous, charitable and chivalrous to a fault, with a

soul as big as the world of human sympathy-, and commands the highest

respect of all who know him.

E. L. GOVER.

Mr. E. L. Gover was born in Hickory County, Mo., in 1855. His

parents are still living in Hickory County. His father is a native of Ala-

bama and his mother is a native of Tennessee. Mr. Gover was married

52
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to Mrs. Margaret Carpenter in 1880. She was born in Kentucky, and

came to Missouri in 1856. Mr. Gover has two sisters and one brother

still living in Hickory and Benton Counties, Missouri. Mr. Gover owns

eighty acres of first-class land about two and a half miles southwest of

Smithton. A part of his farm is fine bottom land. He is a farmer of the

first-class, honorable and upright in all his dealings. He is also a profes-

sional man, having been engaged in school teaching about six 3^ears. He
was educated at Warrensburg, Johnson County, Mo. He stands high in

the esteem of all in his community. His wife was the widow of Mr.

Carpenter, the son of one of the oldest settlers of Smithton Township, hav-

ing emigrated to Missouri from Kentuckv at an early date. Her two

children, Ollie, aged thirteen years, and Calvin aged eight years, were

both born in Pettis Count}'. The family is connected with the Baptist
Church.

J. V. HARRIS.

Harness-maker and Justice of the Peace. Born in August, 1831, and

is a native of South Wales. Came to the United States in the year 1852.

Settled in Pettis County, Mo., in the year 1859. Served in the Union

Army from June, 1861, to April, 1865. Was severely wounded in the

head by a piece of shell in October, 1864, in a fight near the Kan-

sas line, where the Confederate forces were commanded by Price, and the

Union forces by Pleasanton. He has a farm of 100 acres a quarter
of a mile from Smithton.

N. H. HAIRE.

Residence, Smithton. Stock dealer and farmer. The subject of this

sketch is a native of Cedar County, Mo., and was born February 11, 1847.

His father, S. H. Haire, is a native of South Carolina. After the Battle

of Wilson Creek, 1861, he went to Alton, 111., and in 1863 he came to

Smithton, Mo., and began in mercantile business; and the same year he

had $600 worth of goods taken fi-om him, but he continued in the business

till 1865, when he went to California, and died the following year. His

mother, Eliza Jane, makes her home in Smithton, but is now on a visit in

Texas. Their family consists of seven children: Nute H., Ophelia

Josephine, Robert D., Charles J. and Lizzie, now married to Dr. Hamil-

ton, of Indiana, and two deceased infants. The subject of this sketch

went to school and worked on a farm until he was about twenty years of

age. He then, in 1867, went to work in the capacity of clerk for Mr.

Lyman, a merchant of this place, and worked for him till 1872, when he

embarked in the mercantile business for himself, which business he fol-

lowed until 1877. Since that time he has farmed and dealt in stock. He
was married April 12, 1877, to Miss Ellen G. Combs, whose father

was one of the pioneers of this place. She is one of the teachers of Smith-
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ton School. Mr. Haire, when but a mere boy, in 1863, was tryincr to

save his uncle's house from the soldiers, and the horse was shot down
under him, but he was not hurt.

JOHN J. LAMM.
Post-office, Smithton. Among the many enterprising business men ot

Pettis County, Mo., is Mr. Lamm, who was born July 5, 1832, in the

State of Pennsylvania, and when he was quite young his parents moved
to Wayne Count}^ Ohio, where he grew to manhood. He was marritd
in 1857 to Miss Elizabeth O

,
and from that union they have one

child, Elizabeth O. Mr. Lamm moved to Linn County, Iowa, in 1857,
and when he had been there a short time his wife died. He went to

school at Hanover College in Michigan. After his wife died he went
back to Ohio and left his child with his relatives. He then joined the

Union Army in 1861, Company K, Sixteenth Ohio Infantry, and served

his country. In 1867 he came to Pettis County, Mo., locating where he is

now living, where he owns a fine tarm of 615 acres, with first-class build-

ings and a fine orchard, and he is a thorough business man. He is a lead-

ing member of the M. E. Church, and one of its liberal contributors and

supporters. He was again married Feb. 12, 1874, to Miss E. N. Elliott,

and this union has blessed them with five children: WiUiam E., L. M.,
Charles E., Patse}' I. and John J., Jr.

GEORGE B. LAMM.
Mr. George B. Lamm was born near Wooster, Wayne County, Ohio,

in the year 1851. He is of pure German parentage, and in both features

and manners has the characteristics of the German people. His edu-

cation, which was begun in the common schools, was completed in the

University of Wooster in the year 1877, at which time he graduated in a

classic course. He then chose Missouri for his future home, and located

on a farm adjoining Smithton, in Pettis County. In the spring of 1878 he

married Mrs. Mary Goudy, widow of Mr. James Goudy, of Wooster,
Ohio. His wife and her three children, Theresa, Elmer and Birdie, in the

following summer, joined him at their present home. Two children,

Alfred Newton Lamm and Katie Lamm, were born to them in the

years 1879 and 1882, respectively. The family is of a progressive dispo-

sition, and the farm, which was in a wild state in 1877, is now one of the
'

best improved farms in the county. In an educational, social and relig-

ious point of view, the family is especially valuable. Miss Theresa Goudy,

although only sixteen years of age, has taught instrumental music for two

years, and assists her father in his classes of vocal music. Mr. G. B.

Lamm has taught school for five consecutive years. He has been

teacher of Maplewood, principal of Smithton Graded School and Frank-
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lin School, Sedalia, with which he is now connected. The family, although

Presbyterians in Ohio, now belong to the M. E. Church in Smithton.

They occupy places of honor and trust in the church and in society. They
hav^e been the means of organizing five Sunday schools in their township,
and are universally loved and respected.

F. LUCKE.

Post-otfice, Smithton. Farmer. One of the pioneers of Pettis County,
and was born in 1818, in Germany, where he lived until he reached his

majority. He emigrated to the United States about 18'i2, and shortly after

that time came to Morgan County, Mo., and remained there a few years,

then came to Pettis county where he has since lived. He was married to

Miss C. Smith, and they have two children now living, William and

Alvina. In 1865, he moved to his present location, where he owns a fine

farm of 800 acres, with one of the best stone quarries in the State. He
is numbered as' one of the successful farmers of Smithton Township.

G. MONSEES.

Post-office, Smithton. Farmer. Among the many pioneers of Mis-

souri is the subiect of this sketch, who was born Feb. 18, 1836, in

Germany, and his parents emigrated to America when he was about

eight years of age, in 1844, locating in Morgan County, Mo., where the

subject of this sketch reached his majority. He was married April 15,

1859, to Miss Mary Kahrs. Her parents were pioneers of Pettis County.
This union has blessed them with nine children: Charles, John L., Mar-

tain P., Henry R., Mettie, Eddie O., Harry D., Frank S., and Mary
Ann. In 1859 he moved to his present location where he owns a fine

farm of 150 acres. He has run a steam sawmill for seven years, but has

now disposed of it. His buildings are first class and will compare with

any in the township.

HERMAN MONSEES.

Post-office, Smithton. Fruit-grower. The subject of this sketch

resides about one mile south of Smithton, and is engaged very extensively

in the fruit business. He is a native of Germany, and came to this coun-

tr}^ with his parents in 1844, locating in Morgan County, Mo. Here he

reached his majority. He moved to his present location in 1859, it then

being a mere wilderness. But through his good management he now
owns a farm of 348 acres, and on his different farms he has large orchards.

He has 4,000 pear trees, 1,500 peach trees, 8,000 apple trees, 400 plum

trees, 100 quince trees, one acre of grapes, six acres of strawberries, seven

acres of blackberries, six acres of raspberries, 500 cherr}^ trees and five

acres of a general nursery. He will soon be one of the foremost fruit growers
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of the county. He was married in 1859, to Miss Lucinda Momberg.
This union has blessed them with 11 children: Lewis, Catherine, Mar-

tin, Martha A., Benjamin O., George H., Annie R., William C, Alonzo
D. Flora S., Ira L. He is a member of the German M. E. Church, and

among its liberal supporters.

J. H. M. MONSEES.
The subject of this sketch is a native of German}- and was born Feb.

26, 1839, and when he was about four years old his parents emigrated to

the United States and located in Morgan County, Mo., where he grew to

manhood. When the war began he moved around somewhat and went
to Illinois, and worked at the carpenter trade. About 1863, he returned

to Pettis County, Mo., and was married Nov. 12, 1863, to Miss Maggie
Kahrs. She is a lady of culture and devotes her time to making home

happy. This union has blessed them with six childien: Eora, Lena

M., Lydia, Ida, Joseph and Albert. He moved to his present location in

1863, where he owns a fine farm of 110 acres, with first class buildings.

He is now one of the leading business men of his township.

JOHN McGEE.

Farmer. Post-office, Smithton. Among the many pioneers of Pettis

County no one is deserving of more special notice than the subject of

this brief sketch, who was born Nov. 11, 1817, in Cooper County, Mo.
His father, David McGee, came to Cooper County in 1811, and lived in

the fort for about two years. McGee Grove, in Cooper County, was

named for his father. His father died in 1836. The subject of this

sketch went to New Mexico in the employ of the Government in 1835,

in the capacity of teamster. He was among the first that ventured through
with goods. He was first married in August, 1838, to Miss Hannah Gisp.

This union blessed them with eleven children, all of whom are now dead.

She died in March, 1858. He came to this county about the year 1839,

and lived here until his wife died. He was again married Sept., 1859, to

Miss Driskell. This union has blessed them with seven children, six

of whom are now living: Jennie, David A., Catherine, John A., Sam-

uel ].; lost one, Bettie Belle. Mr. McGee came to his present location in

1865, where he now owns a fine farm of 160 acres, and is a consistent

member of the Baptist Church, and is one of the charter members.

JOHN H. MOMBERG.
Farmer. Post-office, Smithton. The subject of this sketch is a native

of Pettis County, Missouri, and was born May 21, 1845, in township fort}--

four, range twenty. His father, Lewis Momberg, came to this county in

1837, with his father-in-law, whose name was Mr. Goetze, and lived in
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Pettis County until 1877, when he and Mombertr went to Wyandotte, Kan.,
where Mr. Goetze died at the round old age of 100 years and three

months. Mr. Momberg still lives there. The subject of this sketch was
educated and grew to manhood in his native county. He was married

May 21, 1868, to Miss Emelia Sluckman,and this union has blessed them
with six childen, five of whom are now living: Charles, William, Ben,
Frank and Annie. Lost one, an infant. In 1868 he moved to his present

location, where he now owns a fine farm of 120 acres. He is a member
of the Baptist Church.

R. E. MUELLER.

Residence, Smithton. Wheelwiight and painter. The subject of this

sketch is a native of Berne, Switzerland, and was born Sept. 9, 1831:, and

when he was about fifteen years of age he came to America, and located

in Crawford County, O., where he attended school and learned the trade

of carriage-maker, and served as an apprentice for three years. After this

time he traveled and worked in several States until 1861, when he came
to and located in New Haven, Ind., where he lived until 1869. When the

World's Fair was at Paris he visited it, and then went to his native land, Swit-

zerland, to see his mother. She returned to America with him, where she

died June 3, 1878, at the round age of seventy-nine years, eight months
and twenty-six days. Mr. Mueller still has one sister in Switzerland. He
was married in 1862 to Miss Emitie Merrillit, and this union has blessed

them with ten children, six now living: Mary E., Flora E., Celia, John
A., Ida G. and Phoebe; lost four: William, Peter, Fred, and one infant. In

1869, he came to Smithton, Mo., where he has built up quite a large
and profitable trade. As a workman he is first-class in every respect. He
has won the confidence and esteem of the people of this community. He
is a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and always among the

liberal contributors.

ISAAC McNEIL NORTON.

Farmer; post-office, Sedalia. The subject of this sketch is a native of

Ohio, and was born in September, 1834. He remained in his native State

until 1857, when he rnoved to Michigan, where he and his brother bought
and run a saw-mill until 1866, when he came to Pettis County, Missouri,
and bought the farm on which he now resides. He owns a fine farm of

120 acres. He is an active charter member of the M. E. Church at

Smithton, Mo. He was married Oct. 8, 1857, to Miss Mariah Rogers.
This union has been blessed with one child, Edith Luella, a lady of fine

taste and culture. Mr. Norton's father was born in Litchfield, Conn.,
Nov. 26. 1799. During his boyhood he attended school with Harriet

Beecher Stowe. When he was about twenty-two years of age he moved
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to Ohio, where he reared a famil}- of eight children. He sold his farm in

Ohio in 1868, and came to Smithton Township where he has resided with

his children a portion of the time, and with his daughter in Morgan
County.

W.D. NORTON.

Farmer; post-office, Sedalia. The subject of this sketch is a native of

Madison County, Ohio, and was born in x\pril, 1830. He was there edu-

cated and reared to manhood. In 1857 he went to Michigan, and in 1866

he came to Pettis County, Mo., where he purchased 710 acres of fine land.

The following year he moved to his present location. He now owns a

farm of 330 acres with good improvements. He is a member of the M.
E. Church, and is 'a liberal contributor and supporter. He was married

in 1867 to Miss C. C. Hunt. She is a native of Michio;-an. This union

has been blessed with six children, Emma S., Martin D., Alida E., Effie

May, Charles W. and Cynthia C.

DR. W. C. OVERSTREET.

Physician and surgeon; Smithton, Mo. This gentleman was the first

practicing ph3^sician ot Smithton Township. He was born in Jessamine

County, Kentucky, Oct. 16, 1824. His father and mother were natives

ol Kentucky. When he was about four years old his parents moved to

Mercer County, Kentucky, where he remained until he was twenty-three

years of age. He was educated principally at a private select school,

taught by James Graves, who is now publishing a Baptist paper in Mem-

phis, Tenn. He attended Bacon's College, at Harrodsburg, for two years,

and in the year 1847 graduated at Lexington, Ky., at the Transylvania
Medical College. In the fall of the same year he attended lectures at

Louisville, Ky. He came to Pettis County, Mo., in December of the

same year, and began the practice of medicine. The following year he

rode on horseback to Knox County, 111. He was married December 11,

1848, to Miss Mary Seaton, of that county, and practiced medicine there

until 1850, when he removed to Warren County, 111., where he formed a

partnership with Dr. Webster of Monmouth, who had settled there from

Philadelphia, and which partnership existed ten years. In 1860 the part-

nership was mutuall}' dissolved, but Dr. Overstreet continued to practice

there until 1864, when he, with his family, moved to Missouri, and located

in Pettis County. In the year 1853 he came to this county and entered

320 acres of land at $1.25 per acre, since which time he has added 320

acres more, making a fine farm of 640 acres, well improved, with hedge,

plank and rail fences. Quite a quantity of it is devoted to pasturage.

His wife died April 14, 1880. She was a worthy member of the Baptist

Church. The Doctor has also been a leading member of that organiza-
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tion for about thirty-eight 3^ears, having been among the leading ones who

organized the church at this place. He has a family of six children,

five of whom are still living, viz: Robert W., who is now engaged in the

drug business at this place; Mary Jane, now in Johnson County; Walter

C, now located in the city of Sedalia, having graduated at the Missouri

Medical College in 1878, also at Bellevue College, in New York City;
David M., now in New Mexico, and Annie Clay, at home. Emma
Thompson Overstreet was born April 26, 1859, and died Nov. 21, 1876.

He was married to his present wife, Mrs. G. W. Overstreet, May 3, 1881.

He has filled the office of Township and District Clerk for several succes-

sive terms, and is a zealous worker for the cause of education, is a live

and successful business man, and takes quite an interest in the advance-

ment of the country.

MRS. JANE OVERSTREET.
The following obituary on the decease of Mrs. Jane Overstreet was

written by her cousin. Rev. J. D. Steele:
"
Passing through your beautiful city, bound to be the future seat of gov-

ernment of the great State of Missouri, I was shocked to hear of the death

of that venerable, beloved and sainted mother in Israel, Mrs. Jane Over-

street, of Mercer County, Ky. Being intimately acquainted with this

mother for the last fort3'-two 3'ears, I wish to make a statement of facts

that will interest many of your readers. Mrs. Overstreet, whose name was

Lowrey, was married to Robert D. Overstreet in 1815. He was a soldier

in Trotter's Regiment, of Lexington, Ky., in the war of 1812. For the

past twent3'-five v^ears she has been a widow. She was in her eight3'-

third 3'ear at her death. She was a woman possessed of an assemblage
of christian virtues seldom found, all meeting in one person. Her ances-

tors, paternal and maternal, were Presbyterians of the strictest t3'pe. She

was a ver3' worth3% devout, exemplar3' and consistent member of the same

church. Drs. Rankin, Bishop, Blythe, Clelland and Young, now among
the dead, were in their day among those she admired and heard. She

was for sixty- y^ears a devout Presb3^terian. Think of all it takes to

make up the loving, dutiful, and affectionate daughter, the devoted wife,

the tender-hearted mother, yearning over her rising household, pointing
them all by precept and by example, the path that leads to peace, to glory
and to God. I have no doubt that on the great day- of the Redeemer's

appearing, when He comes, and all His saints with Him, she will arise to

glory, honor and immortalit3-, and we have no doubt that on that great

day^ ver3^ many' will rise to call her blessed. A vast concourse of mourning
kindred and friends followed her mortal remains to the Providence Pres-

byterian Church to participate in the last solemn funeral services, thence

to the famil3^ bur3ang ground, and there the aged pall-bearers saw the
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casket, with its precious treasure placed beside that of her husband and

her deceased children and descendants to the third generation near the

Kentucky River, in Mercer County. Peace to her ashes and glorv to

her memory. May her mantle be the inheritance of her descendants to

the latest generation. She leaves behind her nine children, forty-seven

grandchildren, thirty-five great-grandchildren, living in Kentucky,
Illinois, Missouri, and other States; some in Sedalia, more in and near

Smithton. It is certainly a remarkable fact that of all the ninety odd
descendants of this venerable mother in Israel, there is not one " black

sheep." This is a rare fact. "Surely, the righteous shall be held in

everlasting remembrance."

W. H. PAGE.

Residence, Smithton. Farmer. The subject of this sketch is an eastern

gentleman. He was born April 29, 1827, in Chenango County, N.Y. His

father, K. Page, died when he was a mere infant, in 1831, and when he

was about fourteen years of age he emigrated to Connecticut and

attended the Berlin Academy for two terms. • He was there in

the State of Connecticut until grown to manhood. In the fall of 1849 he

located in Winnebago County, 111., where he lived until 185.5. He was
married November 10, 1850, to Miss A. Oties, a native of Madison County,
N. Y., who was born May 2, 1883. This union has blessed them with

three children, of whom two are living, William B., now in Michigan,
at Ann Arbor College studying medicine, and Star. Charles G.

died when he was about eleven years of age. In 1855 Mr. Page moved
to Lafayette County, Wis., where he farmed until 1861 when he embarked

in the drug business at Darlington, Wis., in partnership wath his father-in-

law, Mr. Oties. He continued in this business until 1868 with a marked

degree of success. He then took his family and returned to his native

State on a visit and returned to Wisconsin in 1869. Coming the same

year to Pettis County, Mo., he located near Smithton, and lived there

about two years, then came to this city, and has since made it his home.

His wife died Nov. 28, 1872. Mr. Page takes a warm interest in the

advancement of education
;
he has been one of the School Board for one

year and was elected president of the same, April, 1880, and is still serv-

ing in the same office. He now owns a fine farm of 320 acres. He was

again married to Miss S. E. Bohon, and this union has blessed them witli

three children, two now living, Cary C, George B.; lost one, Walter.

Mr. Page was one of the men who took an active part in getting the iron

bridge across Flat Creek.

D. F. PALMER.

Post-office, Smithton. The subject of this sketch is a native of Kentucky,
and was born Nov. 19, 1837. When he was about nine years of age he
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moved with his parents to Mills County, Mo., where they remained for

some time; they then moved to Benton Count}^, Mo., and in 1850 to Pettis

County, Missouri, in township 46, ran^e 20, where the subject of this

sketch grew to manhood. In 1857 he went to California, where he
remained for about two 3'ears. He then returned to Pettis county, and

took a trip to Texas, but remained there only two months, and then

returned home. He next went to Montana and mined for a short time.

He then began teaming on the U. P. Railroad, and several times during
the Avar came to Missouri to bu}" mules, and paid out $30,000 for them.

He remained in the freight business until the road was completed. He
then returned to Pettis County, Mo., in ]S70, and in ISTl he bought his

present farm of 500 acres, paying $15,000 for it. He has since sold some
of this farm, but now owns 1:10^ acres. He was married Feb. 25, 1872, to

Miss Emma M. Williams. This union has blessed them with four chil-

dren, William. T., Addie L., Frank Floyd and Nettie Belle.

JAMES RINGEN.

Was born Feb. 2, 1852, in Pettis County, Mo. At the age of nineteen

his father moved from his farm and came to the town of Smithton . He
attended school in St. Louis, and then engaged in the blacksmith business,

which occupation he continued to follow until the fall of 1879, at which

time he was accorded an interest in the mercantile establishment of A. B.

Cook, under the firm name of Cook & Ringen. They carry a well

assorted stock of dry goods, groceries, clothing, boots and shoes, hats and

caps, hardware, tinware, queensware, notions, etc. They are doing a

large and profitable business, which is continually increasing. Their ample
stock, careful, conservative methods and clear business insight, give
them decided and permanent strength. Mr. R. was married in 1875 to

Miss Mary Annie Cook, and has one child—a little girl about four years
old—Grace May. He and his wife are both worthy members of the M.
E. Church. He owns a good, substantial residence, in a pleasant location

of the town, replete with cheerful and elegant furnishings, the premises
around his residence being beautified with fruits, rare flowers and rich

shrubbery. His home is made doubly inviting by the presence of its

refined and accomplished mistress, who, together with her husband, dis-

pense hospitality to all of their many friends, as well as to the stranger.
Mr. R. is a man of liberal culture, sterling sense, conservative temper and

habits. He ranks with the most popular and liberal spirited men of the

community; his personal popularity with all parties and classes attesting
the high appreciation of this people for good men.

JOHN SELKEN
One mile east of the town of Smithton we find the beautiful residence
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and farm of Mr. Selken, ele(|^antly improved with good buildings, fenced

with hedge, plank and rail fences, well watered and fine fruit orchards.

Mr. S. was born in German}^ Feb. 16, 1816. He was married in the year
1832 to J. R. Bahrenburg, and in the year 1836 emigrated to the

United States, settling in Washington Count}^ Ohio, and engaged in the

occupation of farming. Becoming impressed with the idea that Missouri

ofiered greater advantages, he determined to remove to this count}-, which

he did in the year 1867, and located at the above mentioned place, and

commenced at once to improve his farm and put it in a good state of

cultivation, which he has succeeded in doing, placing around him such of

life's conveniences that conduce to the happiness and comfort of himself

and famil3^ In the month of April, 1869, the partner of his life was laid

away in her last resting place, leaving man}- mourning friends, in whose

affections she had secured a prominent place by her many deeds of kind-

ness, and her consistent christian walk. Mr. S. has been a member of

the M. E. Church for many years; he has been one of the trustees, and

was one of the buildincr committee of the M. E. Church of Smithton. lie

is a man of great influence, and highly respected by all.

T. J. SELLERS.

Post-office, Smithton. Farmer and sheep raiser. One of the enter-

prising men of Smithton Township. He was born June 9, 1847, in Green

County, Penn., and when he was about three years of age his parents

moved to Ohio, in 1850, where the subject ot" this sketch grew to

manhood, and in 1866 he moved with his mother to McDonald County,
111. He was married in 1869 to Miss Mary E. Kee, a native of Illinois;

this union has blessed them with two children: Ralph Raymond
and Minnie Lottie. The subject of this sketch went to California in 1870

and engaged in farming, where he remained until 1878, when he traded

his property in California for property in Jefferson City, Mo., and he

returned to his place in Jefferson City in 1878, where he remaine<i for a

few months. He then moved out on the farm near the city, where he

remained until 1881; he then moved to his present location, where he now
has two hundred and forty acres of land, besides eighty acres of land near

Jeffferson City, Mo. He is now turning his attention to the raising

of sheep, and now has on his farm about six hundred sheep. He
is a consistent member of the M. E. Church.

ANTON SCHUPP.

Residence, Smithton. Blacksmith. The subject of this sketch is a

native of Missouri, and was born in Morgan Countv in 1856, and he

there learned his trade and grew to manhood. His father, William

Schupp, was among the pioneers of that county, and he was a noble
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citizen and much honored by his neighbors. He was killed during the

war by outlaws, and his life was highly honored by all who knew him.

The subject of this sketch came to Smithton in 1881, and he is now doing
a good and profitable business. He was married March 27, 1880, to Miss

Mary Neti^er, and she is a much esteemed and honored lady.

D. J. SHY, Jr.

Post-office, Smithton. Teacher and farmer. The subject of this sketch

is a native of this State, and was born November 27, 1846, in Pettis

County, Mo., where he grew to manhood and received his educa-

tion. He began to teach school at the age of eighteen years. He was

married in 1867 to Miss S. H. Godby. She is a native of Kentucky, and

is a lady of fine taste, devoting her time to making her home happy. This

union has blessed them with six children, viz: Mary G., Lena M., Milton

P., Adia M., David E. and an infant. Mr. Shy has taught eight terms of

school, four of which were in the Smithton district. He has always taken

a warm interest in the advancement of education. He is a consistent

member of the Baptist Church, and always among its liberal contributors

and supporters. He is a man of great industry and good manage-
ment. He now owns a fine farm of 139 acres, with a good house on the

same. He is now numbered among the successful business men of his

township.

DR. A. W. SMITH.

The subject of this sketch was born Oct. 20, 1837, in Gibson County,

Indiana. His parents were poor, but honest, and before he was grown,

nothwithstanding the family numbered fourteen, they had by econom}^

and industry become prosperous and independent, though not what the

world call rich. His father, Jesse Smith, was born in the year 1794, and was

a soldier in the war of 1812. The subject of this sketch was five years

old when his parents moved to the wilds of Southern Illinois, Jefferson

County, where he labored on a small timber farm in summer and attended

the common district school three miles away in winter. When twenty

years of age he left home to make his fortune or to try to complete his

education. He attended Professor Hillman's High School at Mt. Vernon,

Illinois, until able to teach school. He then taught two schools in lUinois,

then attended Professor Bird's school at Princeton, Indiana. He then taught

another district school; then attended Prof. Gray's school, from which he

went to Greencastle University, under the instruction of Doctor, now

Bishop Bowman. He then taught a number of terms, and attended Prof.

Jeremiah Behm's Commercial College at Evansville. The day before

graduation he joined the Union army and left for IndianapoHs to be

equipped and drilled for war. He joined Rigby's Indiana Battery on the
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22d day of May, 1861. His battery was engaged in the following battles:

Alleghany Mountain, Va., McDowell Heights, Va., Cross Keys, near Port

Republic, Va., and was captured with 10,000 others at Harper Ferry, Va.,

after a siege of fifteen days, under the command of Col. Miles (the traitor),

who was killed by the last shot of the enemy's gun. Up to this date,

in seventeen months of marching and battling, not a man of his famous

battery was killed. Here his battery with the other 10,000 were paroled

by Stonewall Jackson, to disband and go to their homes and remain until

exchanged, which took place in a few months. They were then re-equipped
and marched again to the front; this time to engage in the battles of

Dalton Hill, Kentucky, and in the siege of twenty-two days at Knoxville,

Tenn., under Gen, Burnside, against Longstreet's army corps. Here his

three years of enlistment expired, and on the eleventh day of June, lSr>4,

he was honorably discharged. He then spent some time at the same post

as delegate of the United States Christian Commission, in taking care of

the sick and wounded soldiers and distributing Bibles and religious tracts

and papers, also holding meetings among the various camps and hospitals.

Then he visited his home again in Illinois. As a delegate, he helped to

close up the United States Christian Commission at Louisville, Ky., and at

Nashville, Tenn. He again attended Greencastle College, and taught a

number of classes in penmanship and phonography. He became acquainted
with and married Miss Mary Helen Mears, on the 15th day ofApril, 1806.

A short time after this, he entered the dental office of Dr. Arnold, and

mastered the chosen profession of his future life. In the year 1870 he

visited ten different towns and cities in Kansas and Missouri, looking up a

location for life; and this he found at Sedalia, Mo., where he spent five

years with great success in the practice of the dental profession. He
then broke up and w^ent back to his wife's old home at Washington,

Indiana, where he practiced with wonderful success his profession for

three years. Then returned to Sedalia and kept an office for one year.

He moved to Winfieid, Kans., whei-e his health failed with the close con-

finement to the office in one year. He then sold out and purchased a fine

mansion at Smithton, Mo., some distance west of St. Louis, where he

opened out a dental ofiice in one of the rooms of his residence. He did his

own chores and garden work and such dental work as chanced to

come to hand. Here his health increased together with his business until

he is well. He has been a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church

ever since the age of eighteen, in which he was often employed as super-

intendent of various Sabbath Schools at Shoals, Ind., Washington, Ind., and

Winfieid, Kans. He believes in a holy religion as a life and heart work,

and not a mere profession and a name to live while dead.
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SAMUEL SMITH.

Farmer. Post-office, Smithton. The subject of this sketch is a native

of New York State, and was born July 18, 1837, and he was there raised

and educated until he was about sixteen years of age, when he emigrated
to Warren County, 111., where he lived until 1865. He was married on the

29th day of August, 18-19, to Miss Cornelia Buck. She is a native of

Ohio, and their union has blessed them with thirteeen children, all of whom
are now living and whose names are as follows: Ryan R., Rollings A.,

Alice, Mindwill, Sidney, Seth, Cora, Charles L., Norman A., Warren,

Olive, L. C. and Ira. In 1865 Mr. Smith became impressed with the idea

that Missouri offered superior inducements to men of energy, and he came

to Pettis County, where he owns a fine farm of 220 acres of fine land. He
is a consistent member of the Christian Church.

W. A. SMITH.

Residence, Smithton. Merchant, Pacific Express Agent, and dealer in

dry goods, groceries, hardware, etc. The subject of this sketch was born

Sept. 3, 1842, in Saratoga County, N. Y., where he remained until 1>)47,

when his parents emigrated to Warren County, 111., where he grew to

manhood. When our country was involved in war Mr. Smith offered

his services and enlisted Sept. 26, 1861, in Company B, Fifty-ninth Illi-

nois Infantry, and he was in the Battle of Pea Ridge. He was discharged

on account of disability at Jackson, Tenn., Oct. 3, 1862. He returned

home, and when he regained his health he again enlisted. May 14, 1864,

in Company D, One Hundred and Thirty-ninth Illinois Infantry, for the

term of three months, when he was promoted to Third Sergeant. He

was honorably discharged Oct. 28, 1864, and he again enlisted Feb. 11,

1865, in Company F, One Hundred and Forty-eighth Illinois Infantry.

In this company he was Orderly Sergeant. He was discharged the

third time at Nashville, Tenn., Sept. 5, 1865. He then returned to Gales-

burg, 111., and in 1867 he came to Pettis County. His father died in

December, 1870, and his mother the following year. He was married in

1868 to Miss Mary Gallup, who is a lady of refined tastes. This union

has blessed them with three children: Alforth W., Ida May and Clarence

F. In the year 1871 Mr. Smith began in mercantile business, and since

that time has built up a large trade, and has won the esteem and confi-

dence of the people of this community, and he is a zealous worker for the

advancement of education.

DAVID SMITH.

Residence, Smithton. The subject of this sketch was born Sept. 15,

1823, in Warren County, Ky. His father, John Smith, was a native of

Kentucky, and also his mother. His parents moved to Warren County,
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111., in 1830. That county at that time was a mere wilderness. His father

died from a hurt he received while hauling logs. He nearlv recov-

ered from the injury, but being a member of the County Court of that

county he attended to its business before he was quite well and it proved
too severe and resulted in his death in 1836. The subject of this sketch

did all the mending, or cobbling, as it was called in those davs. He was
married April 7, 1843, to Miss Henrietta Ray, who is a native of Ken-

tucky, and this union has blessed them with six children, all now deceased

but one, John, who is now living in Warren County, 111., and who was a

soldier in the Rebellion and fought for the cause of the Union. The
names of the five children who are dead are as follows: Marshal C.

Zeldy Ann, Jane Garland, Sarah E. and William. In February, 1862, he

enlisted in Company G, First Illinois Cavalry. He entered as a private
and was discharged as wagon master, July, 1862. He then returned to

Illinois, and in 1865, he came to Smithton, Mo., where he has since made
his home. His wife died Dec. 23, 1876. He became a member of the

Masonic Order in 1846, at Monmouth, 111., Lodge 34, A. F. & A. M. He
is now master of the lodge at Smithton, Lodge No. 340, A. F. & A. M.,

organized Oct. 18, 1870. He is a member of the M. E. Church, and a

zealous worker for the cause of temperance.

ISRAEL WALKUP.

Post-uffice, Smithton. Farmer. Among the many pioneers of Pettis

County, no one is deserving of more special notice than the subject of this

sketch, who is a native of Mercer County, Ky., and was born in July,

1828. When he was about two years of age his parents moved to How-
ard County, Mo., where he grew to manhood. In 1850 he went to

California. He went through with ox teams. He returned in 1855, and

was married in 1856 to Miss Martha Padget. She died July 16, 1857.

He was again married in 1858 to Miss Hannah Padget. This union was

blessed with three children: Mattie J., Hannah -and Annie. Mrs. Hannah

Walkup died December 3, 1860. He came to this county in 1855, and

has remained here ever since, except a few years during the war when he

was in Howard Count}'. He was again married in February, 1862, to

Miss Mary E. Godfrey. She is a native of Pettis County, Mo. This

union has blessed them with five children, now living: John P., J. E.,

Ida M., Frank H., Lulu, and lost one, James L. Mr. Walkup now owms

a fine farm of 220 acres, with a good house on the same. He is a mem-
ber of the M. E. Church and always among its liberal (contributors and

supporters.

WILLIAM WILLL\MS.

Mr. Williams was born in Davidson County, N. C, and when about
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four years old his parents removed to Pike County, 111. He was educated

in that State and grew to manhood and was married to Miss E. F. Posey,
she being a native of Indiana. They have seven children in their fam-

ily: Emma M., now the wife of Mr. D. F. Parmer; John C, Samuel C,
Prairie Belle, Brady C, Sherman and Nellie L. Mr. W. removed to Pet-

tis County in 1860, and now owns a fine 500 acre farm, made up of exceed-

ingly fertile rolling prairie, well improved, with hedge, rail and plank

fences, a substantial barn and a magnificent residence, situated about four

miles east of Sedalia. Corn, wheat and oats are grown quite extensively

on his farm. He has fine pasture and meadow land, a large orchard and

an abundance of small fi-uits. Over this fine estate roam large herds of

cattle, hogs, horses and mules, from which he realizes quite a liberal

income. He is a model farmer, and is adding to this beautiful farm

unusually fine improvements. He is always named among the strong,

manl}^ liberal spirited and influential men of the communit}^ His per-

sonal influence and popularity with all parties and classes attest the

high appreciation of the people for good men.

CHAPTER XXIIL—GREEN RIDGE TOWNSHIP.

Introdiicliou—Name— Its Appropriateness—Organization—Physical Features—Mineral

Well—Early Settlers--Agronomy—Sheep and Cattle—Prices of Laud—Churches—
Congregational— Cumberland Presbyterian

—Methodist—Church of Clirist—Data—
Village of Green Ridge—Its advantages—Shipments—Incorporation

—First Board—
Independent Order of Good Templars—Biographical.

One of the smallest geographical divisions of this country is that of

Township. This word, as may readily be inferred, was originally

used to represent that portion of a country just adjacent to and under the

influence of a town. But this word, like many others in the English lan-

guage, has taken some departure from the original signification, and is

now applied to a division of a country next in size to a county, and is thus

named whether it contains a town or not. But in regard to the township
under consideration, it may be correctly such according to either interpreta-

tion of the term. In the brief sketch which we shall present of this

township, we will hardly be able to detail every incident that the old set-

tlers remember, but suffice it to sa}^ we shall present facts, such as we
have been able to gather from every available source. The statistical

reports are sufficient to lead the reader to a proper idea of what the

results have been in the development of this corner of the county. In

regard to value and demand for land in this section, we believe that at

present no other part of the country is more desirable for farming, stock-

raising, fruit-growing and horticultural interests generally. An industrious
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New Englander might here realize ten dollars for his assiduity in farming
and fruit-growing, where he gets one in his almost sterile home. Here
land ranges all the way from twelve to forty dollars per acre. The old

settlers, of whom we shall speak, have a distinction which we shall take

pleasure in recording in the pages of history, for their brave endurance of

hardship, and long tried hospitality. Their charitable deeds will never be

forgotten.

Name.—^The name Green Ridge, as applied to this township, is certainly

very appropriate. In it is the water shed between the waters of the tribu-

taries of the Missouri and the tributaries of the Osage River. It is a

ridge that is covered with beautiful green prairies, interspersed with tim-

ber along the few water courses that break the monoton\. of the phvsical

features of the township. The situation suggests the name at the first

glance, and to those who gave the name is the honor given of having tine

perception of the fitness of the appellation by which their portion of the

county was hereafter to be known.

Organization.—Green Ridge was formerha part of Elk Fork Town-

ship as the county was subdivided, up to 1844. The subdivision of the

county then made it a part of Washington Township, and it remained

thus until 187B, when in the township organization of that year it became

the southwestern township in the county, with the name of Green Ridge.
It at present contains over forty-eight square miles, and is situated in town-

ships forty-three and forty-four, and range twent3'-three. Its northern

extremity touches Elk Fork Township, its eastern, Washington, its south-

ern, Benton County, and its western, Johnson and Henr}' Counties. Its

present voting precinct is at the village of Green Ridge.

Physical Features.—The township has almost the same style of

configuration of land as that of the balance of Pettis County. The head-

waters of Flat Creek and Elk Fork Creek are within its bounds, and along
these streams grow enough of timber to give an abundant supply of fuel

to the residents, but none for shipping. It may seem absurd when it is

stated that from the prairie station of Green Ridge there is annually

shipped a number of fine walnut logs, but these are brought in from the

more dense timber along Flat Creek, in the neighboring townships.

Among the natural curiosities in the township are its mineral wells, some

two or three of which have been discovered in the township, but the larg-

est and most valuable was recently found right in the village of Green

Ridge, by J. S. Ream. From one of the county papers we clip the fol-

lowing account of its discovery and what is thought of it:

To-day, (May 4, 1882,) Mr. D. Rice of Green Ridge, was met

by a Bazoo reporter to whom he gave some information about a

53
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famous well recently dug at that town by J. S. Ream. The well is

120 feet deep, and the stream of water vigorous and copious. When
it was struck and tried it was found to possess strong mineral
flavor and tastes, and an examination of it was determined on. Mr.
Ream sent some of the water to the analytical chemist, Dr. Juan
H. Wright, of St. Louis, and after a careful analysis by that expert, it

was discovered to be strongly impregnated with magnesia, lime and iron

salts. The doctor also stated that he believed it would prove a valuable
medicinal water, and suggested a complete quantitative analysis. The sam-

ple analyzed also contained carbonic acid, silica, organic matter, sulphates
of magnesia, iron, potash, carbonates of lime, magnesia and iron. It is

believed that this water will prove the equal of that of Eldorado Springs,
and it is expected great healing blessings will flow from this well.

Early Settlers.—The early settlers must have a place in the history
of the county To them we owe more than we are willing to give. They
have stood the fiery test and passed through the ordeal of hardships and

a pioneer life that their oflspring might fondly remember. Many of

those sturdy old men have lived to see the vast prairie teeming with golden

grain, and instead of the elk, deer, and buftlilo, domestic animals roam-

ing at large upon a thousand hills, and many of these worthy old settlers

have realized, with the poet Campbell, in
" Pleasures of Hope:"

" 'Tis the sunset of life gives us in3'stical lore,

And coming events cast Iheir shadows before."

The early settlers of this and Washington Townships are the same, or

nearly so. Both these townships were a part of Elk Fork and before the

townships were divided the pioneers had opened up their homes and laid

out their claims for future farms. These were in times when township
lines were not laid down on the map, and when the surveyor had not yet

done his work so thoroughly as at present. In fact the organization

of the county had not taken place when the first family moved here,

and not until some years afterwards were these townships divided by the

County Court.

The earliest settler of the section of country now occupied by Green

Ridge Township, was Robert Means who came here in 1832. Mr.

Means came from Christian County, Kentucky, to Howard County,

Missouri, where a part of his family were born. He removed

with his family in November, 1832, to what is now Green Ridge

Township, Pettis County. He died in 1844 and is buried in the

southwest corner of the township. Squire Robert D. Means came

with his father from Howard County, Mo., to Pettis County in 1832, and

settled in the township where he now resides. He has lived in the county
the entire period, except a few years that he resided in Mexico City,

where he moved in order to give his children the benefit of the superior

educational facilities afforded by McGee College. John L. Hawkins came
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between 1835 and 1838, from Howard County, Mo., and after living- here

a number of years he returned to Howard County, where he died. In

1857, Washington Starke came to the township from Pike County, Mo.,
and still resides on his original farm. Daniel Ramey came to this town-

ship in 1842, from Georgetown, Mo. During the war he was killed by
guerrillas near Rose Hill, Johnson County, Mo. JohnS. Cole came between
1850 and 1855 from Illinois to this township, and is still a resident of the

county. W. H. Hammonds came in 1855 from Cooper Count}^ Mo.

During the civil war he espoused the cause of the South, and died in

defense of what he believed to be right at the battle of Little Rock, Ark.,
in 1862. William and Benjamin Hawkins came in 1856, from Cooper

County, Mo., and settled in this township. The former now resides in

Windsor and the latter resides near the same place. Thomas Owens
came from Georgia, and died at his home in this township in 1862. Hiram
Richardson came about 1844 from Tennessee, and after residing in this

township for twenty-two years died at his home in 1S66. Thomas

Richardson, the former's father, came in the same year from Tennessee

and resided in this county twenty years, but is now dead. Absalom

and John Elliott came with their father in 1836, and settled in what is now

Washington Township,|which was then a part of Elk Fork. x\bsalom died

a few years since but John still resides in Washington Township, and is a

large land owner and stock dealer. James C. Hatton came at an earh'

day and settled in this township, but died at his home in the spring of

1861. Nathaniel Parberry came from A'irginia at an early date and still

resides in Sedalia. Thomas N. Ireland came in 1858 from Illinois and

lived in this township but a short time. He died at his home in 1860.

John D. Majors came from Callaway County, Mo., in 1855, and still

resides on his home place. M. M. Lampton came from Christian County,

Ky., in 1855, and resides at present in the city of Sedalia. O. W. Withers

came in 1854 from the same county of Kentucky as Mr. Lampton. He
was killed while serving under Price, in the Confederate Army, at Iron

Mountain. Robert Humphrey came to Pettis County in 1854, and for a

number of years was a resident of this township, but died a few years ago
on Coal Camp Creek, in Benton County. James O. Ellis came to this

county in 1856 from Christian County, Ky. He lived here a few years

but finally sold out and went back to his old home. He died two or three

years ago in Hopkinsville in his native State. Thomas F. Parazetle came

in 1854 from Henry County, Mo. He was formerly from Virginia, and he

died in this township in 1881. George Bell came in 1854 from Paris,

Illinois and now lives near Los Angeles, Cal. Lapsley Bell came in 1854

from Paris, III, but died in the fall of 1875. Henry Woodard came in

1854 from Henry County, Mo., and still resides in this county.

Agronomy.—The farmers of the township are engaged in cultivating,



1040 HISTORY OF GREEN RIDGE TOWNSHIP.

to quite an extent, large fields of flax, broom corn and meadows, besides

their staple productions of wheat, corn and oats. Many of them have

large flocks of sheep, some finely graded, and this year's clip of wool has

been shipped, or at least a portion of it, direct to eastern markets, where

the best price is realized for this, the growing industry of Central Mis-

souri. The cattle industry also receives a large share of attention as the

shipments by rail show. There are few graded herds in the township,

but those that are shipped are mostly natives which have been grazed on

the ample pastures and fed on the large surplus of corn raised in the

township. The splendid line of the M., K. & T. Railroad running through
the township aftbrds excellent facilities for shipping all surplus that is pro-

duced. Land is low and can be purchased all the way from $20 to $40

per acre. As it is being improved it becomes more valuable, and land that

was entered at $1.25 per acre now brings the prices named, and in a few

years will be worth from $.50 to $«iO.

Churches.—The churches of the township, although few in number,

are well attended and cared for. To some extent religion belongs to

mankind by nature. The good of all ages have sought a better life, here

and in the world to come. With the poet Rowe, they have felt—
" Then to be good is to be happy; angels

Are happier than mankind, because they're better.

The recollections of the past grow dearer as age ripens upon them.

Memory, without the aid of written records, is not always to be

relied upon. The Hebrews were taught to keep their records on

stone, and to this da}-, specimens of their art are to be found in many
ancient ruins. But few among the early christians pretended to keep

records, but those that have come down to us are rich in facts with-

out dates. Dates are of great importance in every avenue of life. Strip

all our business documents of dates, and they become meaningless
and useless. The church, the society of the best on earth, carries

with it a nucleus of sacred history which will be read with intense interest

if not with tearful eyes. The early religious societies of this township

were composed of the best citizens, who, in coming to a wild country,

sought the communion of saints as one of the prime factors of their asso-

ciations for worthy citizenship. However rude the tenants, they spent

their Sabbaths in worship, and sought a "tabernacle not made with hands."

The Green Ridge Congregational Church was organized Jan. 1st, 1871,

by J. M. Bowers and J. B. Turner. The present house of worship was

erected at a cost of $1,100, in 187s, by the persons interested in church

building in the community of Green Ridge. It is a frame building, 28x44

feet, and was dedicated by Robert West on Jan. 1st, 1879. The pastors

who have served to the present time have numbered only two. They
are J. M. Bowers, first two years; one year unsupplied, and for the last
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eight years J. G. Baily has officiated in that position. The original mem-
bers of the church were Geo. D. Hicks, Abigail Hicks, J. H. Knapp,
Lydia S. Knapp, Harr}' C. Knapp, Thomas Ashton, Mrs. Thomas Ash-

ton, Charles Ashton, Nellie Ashton, Mrs. Sarah Fowler, Mr. Labavv,
Phil. Williams, Mrs. Phil. Williams, Miss Wilbur, Robert McCormick,
Miss Amelia McCormick. Total number of oriifinal members, seventeen;

number of present membership, fortv-nine. The congregation supports a

good Sunday school, which has an average attendance of seventj'-tive.

The present superintendent is Charles Kidd, and the secretary is A. B.

Fowler. The church is well seated and lighted, has a raised rostrum and

pulpit and a good organ.
The Cumberland Presbyterian Church, of Green Ridge, was organized

Jan. 9, 1876, by Rev. R. A. Cole, of Otterville, assisted by Rev. William

House. The place of worship of the congregation has always been in the

Methodist Church building. The incumbents of the pulpit have been C.

W. Weeden, Geo. W. Mathis, Rev. McBride. The pulpit at present
is vacant. In the organization on Jan. i^th, ISTH, the elders elected and

ordained were Dr. G. W. House, W. C. Wells and Benj. Melvin: deacons,

Elijah Phillips and Tipton Edwards. The minutes of the proceedings of

this meeting were signed by R. A. Cole, moderator, and C. W. Weeden,
clerk. The names of the original members are: Dr. G. W. House, Wm.
C. Wells, Benj. Melvin, Margaret House, Lizzie House, Ann Melvin,

Eliiah Phillips, Helen M. Morris, Jasper N. Morris, T. M. Edwards,
Sarah Nichols, Terrence Sheble, Mary E. Sweet, Helen Farr, M. Saund-

ers, Susan Saunders, Amanda A. Weeden, Ellen Wilkerson, M. E. John-

son, Geo. W. Allen, Catherine Kirkpatrick, Mary A. Burnett, C. Weeden,
Frank Saunders, Mary Davidson, John M. Moretield, Laura Morefield,

Mary N. Kulp, Marv Phillips, Ellen Ream, Geo. W. Clayton, Josephine
Harr. The congregation has received since its organization accessions

from Flat Creek Neighborhood, W. T. Bennett, Amanda Bennett, Lillie

Bennett; and have received accessions from other sources, Mrs. Agnes
.Parks, by experience; John T. Edwards and Emily E. Edwards by letter;

Kate Smith, Wm. H. Weeden, Warren B. Weeden, Ella Weeden, Lou

Ruble, D. I. Beck, J. A. Smith, James Price, Densa Price, Mary Price,

Henry Price and Minnie M. Weeden, at a protracted meeting held on Jan.

2d, lS79,and several days consecutively, by Rev. Geo. Mathis, in connec-

tion with the Methodists, who were represented by Rev. J. H. Gillispie.

The deaths in the congregation have been few. M. Saunders died on

Januaiy ;>lst., ISTfJ. His funeral was preached by Rev. C. W. Weeden. Dr.

G. W. House has also passed away and his funeral was preached by Rev.

Weeden. Dr. House was an excellent member of his church and a min-

ister of unblemished reputation. The important revival above men-

tioned resulted in a large number of professions of religion. Endeavors
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are being made to build a house of worship for themselves and secure a

preacher to fill their pulpit.

The Church of Christ of Green Ridge Township is situated in the vil-

lage of Green Ridge, and was organized by Elder S. K. Hallam, April

25, 1880. In the spring of 1882. a commodious frame house 28x48 was

erected at a cost of $1,000, and was dedicated in the same year b}^ Elder

S. K. Hallam, and he has been the regular minister until the present

time, and Elders Jesse Grisham, Nat. M. Ragland, John Rains and Wm.
Dunfee have occasionally occupied the pulpit. The original members
are: Thomas Close, Catharine Close, Sarah J. Martin, Nannie Martin,

R. D. Rains, Lou J. Rains, Cassie Edwards, Aaron Dunfee and wife, R.

H. Nelson, F. A. Logan, D. E. J. Logan, Melinda Rains, Wm. Dunfee

and wife, Lecta Dunfee, Mariah Dunfee, G. W. Womach, Phoebe

Womach, James Neal, John A. Logan, Mary Womach, Columbus Parks,

Eliza Neal, Alice Womach, Mattie Womach, Emily D. Womach. The

present membership of the church is forty-two. From the history of the

Church of- Christ by R. L. McHatton, Evangelist, in 1881, for Johnson
and Pettis Counties, we glean the following: "The Pettis County

Co-operation of the Church of Christ sent Robert L. McHatton, their

Evangelist, to this place to preach the gospel and try to organize the few

members here into a church. The evangelist introduces the following
brief history of the congregation: Two years ago the County Board sent

Elder Wm. Jarrott to Green Ridge. He labored acceptably for two

weeks. Several were baptized and some were gained for the denomina-

tion. Elder S. K. Hallam has labored for the church since its organiza-
tion at quite a sacrifice. In the fall of 1880, the board sent Elder J. W.
Monser to this point to hold a protracted meeting, but without any visa-

ble results owing to the inclement weather. The brethern met for a

while in the M. E. Church, but soon after accepted the invitation of the

Congregational Church to occupy their house. Elder Hallam com-

menced preaching Sunday, Sept. 2.5, 1881, but was so interrupted by rain

that ver}^ little was accomplished. The County Evangelist arrived on the

twenty-ninth. The weather was inclement but several were added

by confession, and thirteen by letter. On Monday, the 10th, the

church was organized, and the following officers were elected: R. D.

Rains and G. W. Womach, Elders; F. A. Logan, James Neal and

Thomas Close, Deacons; F. H. Logan, Clerk. It was a pleasant meeting,
and a subscription was started for a house of worship." In the Sedalia

Eagle-Times of May 31, 1882, we find the following:

The Christian Church was dedicated to-day. Services conducted by
Rev. S. K. Hallam. At the morninfj service it was stated that there was
about $100 lacking to pay for the church in full. In a very few minutes
there was $125 raised, and about i^lOO more was subscribed that will
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be paid in a few days. There was a very large congregation in attendance,
including man}^ strangers, also a full representation of our citizens.

A bountiful, sumptuous dinner was served in the Grange Hall. Dr. W.
T. Shivel, of the Christian Church of Windsor, presented this church with
a large and handsome Bible. Richard D. Rains responded to this in an

elegant and touching line of remarks. There was a resolution passed
thanking the Congregational Church of this place for their kindness in

allowing them the use of their church for the past many years.

The Methodist Episcopal Church of Green Ridge was organized in

1872 by the Rev. W. W. Powell, with George Anderson, James Ander-

son, Mary and Jane Anderson, S. Johnson and Mentzee, as members
of the class. Around this nucleus there has grown a church organi-
zation of fort3'-two members with an influence for moral good that

is felt all over the entire neighborhood. In 1878 the congrega-
tion erected a nice house of worship, at a cost of $700. It is a

frame structure, capable of seating 200 persons, and is neatly furn-

ished. The building was dedicated in 1880 by Rev. J. N. Pierce. The
Pastors that have been in charge are: Revs. W. W. Powell, James A.

Little, E. H. Smith, John S. Nelson, F. Oechsli, John Lutz, John H. Gillis-

pie and A. P. Salawa}-. The congregation keep up a Sunday School,

with an average attendance of seventy-five, with M. Anderson as Super-

intendent, and L. B. I^eam Secretary for this year. The congregation is

in a flourishing condition.

Data.—The first marriage in the township was Josiah Nelson, from

Lafayette County, to Miss Sarah Means, in the year 1840. Both are dead,

the former dying near Clinton and the other at her father's place.

The first birth was in the winter of 1832, and was a colored child, who
was named Julia Ann. Her mother belonged to Robert Means, Sr., and

she still lives in the cOunty north of Windsor. She has been married

twice and has children and grandchildren.

The first death was that of a colored man named Solomon Cofer, in the

family of Robert Means, Sr., in 1840.

The first Minister: For years there was no resident Minister. The first

circuit rider was Rev. Jackson Whitsett, of the Cumberland Presbyterian

denomination, and his first visit was in 1833, with Rev. Dr. R. D. Mor-

row of the same church, who held their meetings in the houses of neigh-

bors.

The first camp meeting was held on the farm of Robert Means in 1838.

It was continued yearly for four or five years, and has since been held

near Centerview, Johnson County. R. D. Morrow died at Columbus,

Johnson County, Mo.

The first physician was Dr. James Hogan, from Calhoun County.

He came prior to 1840, and now resides in Fort Scott, Kan.
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The first school taught in the township was in the present school dis-

trict, No. two, and the first teacher of the school was Emma Wells,

Few crimes have been committed in the township, and none whatever

were committed until the railroad was built.

In 1S55 a damaging fire swept over the prairie. It was set on fire by
Martin Biggs, and he was sued by Mr. B. Melvin, and paid damages to

the amout of $200.

There was little immigration until after the war, and what came in

came principally from Cooper County.
The early settlers' hardships were, that all the marketable stock and

grain had to be driven or hauled to the river points for shipment. These

points were Boonville, Lexington or St. Louis. There was but one main

road from Clinton to Boonville, and from Georgetown to Lexington. In

the drouth of 1854 the majority of farmers did not raise more than a hat-

ful of corn per acre, and the economy practiced that year was wonderful.

THE VILLAGE OF GREEN RIDGE.

A town of about 300 population: was started in 1870-71, when the M.,

K. & T. Railroad came through the county. It is located in the north-

eastern part of the township and is beautfully situated on the prairie in the

heart of a prosperous and fertile farming and stock raising region, has a

dozen places of business, three churches, a good school house, grange

hall, stock yards, warehouse for grain, etc., and is an active trading and

shipping point. The shipments by rail from the station for the year 1881

-82, were as follows as reported by the accommodating agent, Mr. E. C.

Havelv: Cattle, ninety-eight car loads; hogs, fort3'-five car loads; hay,

fifty-one car loads; walnut logs, nine car loads; oats, eight car loads;

broom-corn, eight car loads; flax seed, six car- loads; wheat, three car

loads: corn, three car loads; sheep, three car loads.

From May 1, 1881, to June, 1882, the receipts at the railroad office

have been as follows: June, $616.98; July, $895.30; August, $785.62;

September, $861.62; October, $882.90; November, $755.74; December,

$808.78; January, $1,038.37; February, $980.16; March, $8.37.38; April,

$640.65; May, $708.49. Total for year $9,812.00.

The business men of the town are: F. A. Logan, dealer in dr}- goods
and groceries; George A. Tompson, dealer in dry goods and groceries;

James S. Ream, druggist; William H. Owens, hardware; D. Rice, under-

taker: E. C. Havely, postmaster and agent M., K. & T. Railroad; M.

Shebel, saddler; Charles Nichols, blacksmith; E. M. PhiUips, proprietor

Phillips House; T. B. & N. Rice, carpenters; B. Melvin deput}^ postmas-

ter; James Vaughan, proprietor of Vaughan House: William Ralls, pain-

ter; W. H. Flesher, physician and surgeon; C. W. Leabo, physician and

surgeon; E. C. Havely, dealer in lumber.
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The town has been incorporated for over a year and is in a fine condi-

tion financially, having no debt and but little expense connected with its

management. The first Board of Trustees of the town were James Paton,
Dr. W. H. Flesher, Benjamin Melvin, James S. Ream and F. A. Logan;
John Ireland, marshal.

The Independent Order of Good Templars in the town was organized
in 1873. They however allowed their organization to go down, but were

reorganized last October, 1881, and now have 120 members in good stand-

ing. They occupy the old Grange Hall, but this is too small for their

accommodation and a new hall is necessitated. The officers for the pres-

ent quarter, May, 1882, are A. B. Fowler, W. C. T.; Carrie Buckner, W.
V. T.; L. Anderson, R. S.; J. A. Logan, F. S.; Mattie Ream, Treasurer;
M. Anderson, Chaplain; L. B. Ream, Marshal. Before their organiza-
tion in October, 1881, there were two saloons in town but the influence of

the Templars has succeeded in ridding the village of their presence and

now it is a temperance town in the fullest sense of the word.

JOHN H. BELL.

The subject of this sketch was born in Edgar County, Illinois, near

Paris, October 3, 1841, where he was raised on a farm until fifteen years
of age. His father, Robt. K. Bell, came with his family, consisting of his

wife and three children, to Pettis County, Mo., in 1856, and located on the

land now occupied by his sons, John H. and James W. He died in 1869,

and his ashes repose in the family burying ground, upon the farm, beside

those of his wife, who had departed from this life ten years before. John

H., his son, having received some education in Illinois, availed himself of

the advantages afforded here also. Since the death of the father, his large

farm has been divided among the children. In 1862 Mr. Bell enlisted in

the Confederate army, and was assigned to duty in Hineman's escort,

under Brigadier-General John S. Marmaduke; but towards the close of

the war he was transferred to Young's battalion. A minnie ball passed

through his right side in a small fight at a stockade between the mouth of

the Red River and a bayou that empties into the Mississippi River. He
shared all the fortunes and reverses of Young's battalion, and after leav-

ing Hineman, Mr. Bell surrendered with his comrades at Shreveport, La.

in June, 1865, to Gen. E. B. Canby, U. S. A., and was afforded transpor-

tation to St. Louis by steamer, and thence by rail to Sedalia, and from the

last named place went direct to his farm. He was married Jan. 7, 1870,

in Benton County, Mo., to Miss Mary H. McDaniels, who was born and

resided there, and they have been blessed with two children, viz: Francis

G. and Robt. M. Mr. Bell pays some attention to the culture of and

speculation in stock, principally cattle, horses, hogs and sheep, while his

farm shows many very striking recent improvements.
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ROBERT L. BELL.

The subject of this sketch, Mr. Bell, was born in Paris, Edj^ar County,
Ills., Sept. 4. 1835, where, until twenty years of age, he resided upon a

farm. At that age, in 1855, he came to Green Ridge Township, Pettis

County, Mo., and entered 320 acres of government land at $1.25 per acre.

He was married in Johnson County, Mo., in 1857, to Miss Nanc3^ J. Coats,
a native of Fulton, in this State. The result of this marriage is five child-

ren, viz: James O., John, Lillie, Robt. B. and Benjamin F. Mr. Bell died

Sept. 20, 1873, in the faith of the gospel, having been a member of the O.

S. Presbyterian church since his seventeenth year. John Coats, the father

of Mrs. Bell, was the first sheriff of Callaway County, upon whom the

duty of hanging a criminal devolved, and her mother, now living in John-
son County in her seventy-eighth year, rode on the first boat that came up
the Missouri River. Mrs. Bell and her children have charge of a large
and well improved farm.

JOHN W. CHRISTL\N.

The subject of this sketch, Mr. Christian, was born near Lexington,

Fayette County, Ky., in 1831. His father brought him, when but nine

years old, to Boone County, Mo., and settled on a farm near Ashland, and

the subject of our sketch became inured there to farm life and obtained

an excellent education at the neighborhood schools. In 1852 he was mar-

ried in that county to Miss Mary Black, and in 1854, with his small family,

he came to Green Ridge Township, Pettis County, where he bought and

improved his farm. But in 1861 his wife returned to Boone County, Mo.,
with her children, and died near Ashland in 1863, leaving four children,

viz: David M., Louamma A., Katie and William S. At the beginning of

the hostilities in 1861, Mr. Christian espoused the Confederate cause, and

joined Col. B. F. Gordon's regiment, in the brigade of Gen. J. O. Shelby,
so distinguished for raids and desperate fighting in concert with and inde-

pendent of Gen. Sterling Price. But Mr. Christian obtained a transfer to

Price's escort in the fall of 1863, with which he remained until the war
closed. He participated in all the principal battles fought by Gen. Price,

and surrendered with his comrades at Shreveport, La. He then returned

to Boone County, Mo., gathered up the surviving members of his family,
and in the fall of 1865 was again industriously laboring to repair his bro-

ken fortunes upon his farm in Pettis County, Mo. He was married the

second time Dec. 24, 1865, in Callaway County, this State, to Miss JuHa
A. Blythe, a native resident of said county. Through this union they
have eight children, viz: Churchill, Sallie, Samuel M., Thomas, John,
Charles R., Frank H. and Edmund F. Another child, Lee, died in Nov-

ember, 1871. Mr. Christian still suffers from a fever contracted while

following the hard life of a soldier in 1862. He was taken prisoner once
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during the war, near Huntsville, on the War Eagle River, in Arkansas,
but was released immediately afterwards and returned to his regiment.
He has been a member of the Baptist Church for thirty-one years; his wife

also has been a member for twenty odd years. He is an industrious

farmer and very popular in his neighborhood.

MICHAEL DOHERTY.
Mr. Doherty was born May 22, 1841, in Kilkenny County, Ireland,

where he lived until he was ten years old, attending the private schools.

May 4, 1854, having crossed the Atlantic Ocean, he located at Peoria, 111.,

and during the seven years of his residence there he attended school. He
then went to Livingston County, 111., where he rented a farm and followed

that vocation for seven years. During part of this time he was constable

of Pike Township, Livingston County. Mr. D. was married Oct. 1.5, 1865,

to Miss Elizabeth Murphy, a native of Columbus, O. They have five

children living, Edward W., Katie, Jno. T., Mar}- E. and Clarence J.,

and one dead, Nellie, who departed from this life in 1877. In November,

1868, he removed to Green Ridge Township, Pettis County, Mo., where

he purchased a farm of 160 acres of land. He now has 480. He also has

100 head of steers, six cows, ten head of horses and a house whose eleg-

ance is in keeping with the surroundings, proving that all who come across

the waters to America do not come here in vain.

WILLIAM EDE.

Mr. Ede was born in Surrey County, England, in the year 1832, and

enjoyed the splendid facilities there afforded for education and prepara-

tion for life's duties. When sixteen years of age his father brought his

family across the Atlantic and came directly to Missouri, locating on a

farm in Jefferson County. In 1854 Mr. Ede went to California and mined

extensively in Butte, Plumas and other counties in that State. He joined,

in 1865, the Indian scouts of the United States army, known as Company
A, First California Cavalry. He returned to Jefferson County, Mo., in

1866, and the same year married Miss Samira E. Parker, of said county,

who died at Miller's Landing, Franklin County, in 1875, leaving two

children, Margaret A. and Flora J. Mr. Ede went from there to St. Louis

County, where he resided several years, his several occupations being farm-

ing, building county roads and railroading; afterwards removed again to

Franklin County, where he was railroading on the Missouri Pacific. He
there was married to Miss Lucinda Null, a native ot said county. They
have five children, Mattie, Mary S., Ada, Dora and Cora. He moved

again, this time to Henry County, where he followed railroading until

January, 1880, when he located in Green Ridge, Pettis County, where he

has since been section foreman on the M., K. & T. R. R.
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T. M. EDWARDS.
The subject of this sketch was born near Smithton, Pettis County, Aug.

23, 1848. He received a good preparatory education in the same locality,

and was raised on a farm, which occupation he has followed all his life in

his native county. He was married Aug. 31, 1876, to Miss Cassie Mc-

Gee, a native of Hickory County, Mo., and they have one child living,

Lizzie L., and one dead, Augusta F. Mr, Edwards will continue his

agricultural life, it having now become to him a lucrative and pleasant

occupation.

W. H. FLESHER, M. D.

Dr. Flesher was born in the year 1829 in Jackson County, Va., where

he passed his childhood in acquiring a good preparatory education. His

thorough medical education was obtained at two of the most noted col-

leges in this country. He attended the Louisville Medical Seminary, now
the Louisville Medical College, first, graduating in 1850. He afterwards

received the benefit of lectures at the Cincinnati Eclectic Medical Col-

lege from 1854 to 1855. The eminent Dr. Jno. King, author'of the Ameri-

can Dispensatory, was then a professor in that excellent institution. Dr.

Flesher practiced medicine for several years both in Virginia and Ohio,

crossing the Ohio River to Great Bend. He was married March 2, 1852,

to Miss Mary Parr, a native of Marietta, Ohio, the marriage having taken

place in Meigs County, Ohio. Seven children are the offspring of this

union, one of whom, Irwin W., was born in Virginia; two, Rosa and Lucy
E., in Ohio; and four in Illinois, Minnie, Cora, Mamie and Nellie. The
Dr. practiced his profession several years in Meigs Count}^ O., returning

in 1860 to Worth's Bottom, Va., where he resided until the breaking out

of hostilities in 1861. He then entered the U. S. army as assistant sur-

geon in the Eleventh Virginia Volunteer Infantry, Col. D. Frost com-

manding. He was connected with it but a brief time, however, for he

was detached for recruiting service, and was rapidly promoted from the

rank of First Lieutenant to that of Captain, and from the latter to the

rank of Major, having recruited the battalion known as the Third Virginia

Cavalry, whose head-quarters were at Parkersburg, W. Va. Major
Flesher was next assigned to the Third Regiment of West Virginia Cav-

alry, which was annexed to Gen. Avery's command, and participated with

him in his operations in and around Harper's Ferr^^ Soon after this regi-

ment was reorganized, and attached to Gen. Geo. A. Custer's command.

He followed Sheridan, the dashing and brilliant cavalry officer, in all his

campaigns in the Valley of Virginia, and Maj. Flesher's command led the

charge at the battle of Cedar Run, one of the most brilliant on record. His

regiment was mustered out at Washington at the close of hostiHties.

Dr. Flesher went thence direct to Olney, 111., with his family, where he
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resumed the practice of his profession, doing quite a prosperous business

for thirteen years. In 1878 he came to Sedalia, and established a practice

in that city and the surrounding countr}-, which he held until April 10,

1879, when he located in the town of Green Ridge, where he now
has an extensive business and enjoys the confidence of all the good people
for miles around in his integrity and thorough medical skill.

ELMER L. FOWLER, ^JJcreased).

Mr. Fowler was born in April, 1828, in Rush County, Ind., where he

was raised until, in his sixth year, his parents removed near Wabash, the

county seat of Wabash County, on the Wabash River, being among the

pioneers of that region. Here the father was employed as first County

Surveyor, and his knowledge of the soil, etc., caused the settlers who
wished to enter land to apply to him for assistance. The elder Fowler

was born, raised and married in West Virginia. He died in Wabash

County, Ind., when his son, Elmer L., was but eight years of age, who con-

tinued to reside on the same farm until the year of his marriage. He was
united in matrimon}- in 1852 with Miss Mary E. Berget, also a native of

Indiana, who died in the town of Wabash the following year. She left a

son who lived but five months. Mr. Fowler was married again in

1854 to Miss Sarah Donaldson, a native of Decatur County, Ind., born in

1829, her parents having moved to Wabash County when she was six

years old. The next year the family went to the Indian Reservation, held

by half-breeds, in Minnesota, where they farmed about three years. In

June, 1857, Mr. Fowler sold his efl^ects in the reservation and returned to

Indiana, and resided for ten years continuously in Wabash County, run-

ning a saw-mill three-fourths of the time. Mr. Fowler was also a carpen-

ter, and possessed considerable genius and skill in several mechanical

employments. He worked at the carpenter's trade for several years.

Finally, in the fall of 1868, he removed to Pettis County, Mo., and pur-
chased the farm now occupied by his famil}'. Aug. 4, 1881, while cut-

ting bands at a threshing machine, his shirt sleeve became unbuttoned,

caught in the cylinder, drew his hand in after it, and it was so terribly

crushed and the subsequent weather was so intensely hot that amputation
became necessary. He lingered on, in much suffering, until Aug. 27,

1881, when he expired, with his weeping wife and children surrounding
his death-bed. He had been raised by pious Presbyterian parents. Those
of his family who survive him are his widow and six children: Wilbur E.,

Mary E., Arthur B., Marion L., Ella F. and Alice M. Another child,

Fmma L., is dead. Mr. Fowler was Justice of the Peace in Green Ridge

Township, Pettis County, Mo., at the time of his death, having been

elected to that office, though unsolicited by him, two years before. His

sons are the principal broom-corn raisers of the county, cultivating from
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100 to 125 acres, with an average yield of 500 pounds per acre. One of

the sons, Wilbur E., studied medicine under Dr. J. W. Trader, of Sedalia,

in 1881, and is now at Ann Arbor, Mich., pursuing his studies. Arthur B.

Fowler has charge of the farm, in the management of which he is assisted

by Marion L., his youngest brother.

EDWARD C. HAVELY.
Railroad agent, Green Ridge, Mo. Though Mr. Havely has not reached

the meridian of his life, it has been very active and replete with pleasing

episodes. He is a native of Pettis County, having been born in Green

Ridge, Dec. 28, 1858; received a home education, and was raised on a

farm. He commenced the study of telegraphy in Sedalia, at the excellent

school of A. W. Nohe, and completed his knowledge of that art in his

present position. Feb. 7, 1878, he was married to Miss Hattie Edwards,
a native of Peoria, 111. He was appointed agent at Green Ridge station on

the M., K. & T., Jan. 2<;, 1877, having managed the office for Mr. Keightly,
his predecessor, from September, JS7H. Since his appointment the sta-

tion has been managed in his name, iind with the exception ot a visit to

Colorado in 1879, he has himself been assiduously attending to its duties.

THOMAS HEMPHILL.

The subject of this biographical sketch was born in Ohio County, W.

Va., eight miles from Wheeling, in the year 1819, and raised on a farm.

He experienced the usual vicissitudes of a farmer boy's life until he attained

his maturity. In 1845 he was married to Miss Mary A. Austin, also a

native of Ohio County, W. Va., who died in 18H5, leaving ten children:

James P., Charles M., Geo. W., Benton A., William C, Thomas C,
Alonzo L., McClelland R., Mary L. and Margaret O. He was again
married in the same place March 4, 1869, to Miss Hannah E. Wallace,

whose native place was the same as his own, and this union has been

blessed with four children : Albert B., Martha M., Lottie L. and Alice

V. He had come that year to Pettis County, Mo., and returned to his

native State for the purpose of marrying, and located the same year four

miles west of Lamonte, where he farmed for eleven years. In 1880 he

purchased and improved his present fine farm in Green Ridge Township,
Pettis County, on which there is an orchard of 150 trees. Mr. Hemp-
hill and wife are members of the M. E. Church, South.

GEORGE HOLLENBECK.
Was born in Ohio, Nov. 27, 1850, and when about eight years of age,

came with his parents to Pettis County, Mo., where he was reared and

educated. After leaving school he engaged in farming and stock dealing,

and is still following the same occupation. He owns a farm of two
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hundred and thirty-four acres, well improved, with a fine residence. His

father, Alphonso, was born April 2, 1836, in Hudson, Ohio, where he

grew to manhood; emigrating to Missouri in the spring of 1859. He
died in California, June 26,1873. Amanda, the mother of our subject,

was born April l-l, 1829, and reared in Ohio. Alphonso, the father,

and Amanda, the mother, were married June 2, 1849, and in March, 1852,

he emigrated to California, where he continued in mining until 1857; then

returned to Ohio, thence to lUinois, where he remained until 1859, when
he came to Pettis County, Mo. In October, 1861, he went into the army
as wagon-master, serving in that capacity until 1863. After leaving the

army he returned to his farm, where he continued until 1870, when he

went to Nicaragua. In August, two years later, he went to California,

where he engaged in farming, and continued in that employment till the

time of his death, which occurred June 26, 1873. Mr. Hollenbeck was a

man highly respected by all who knew him, a kind father and an atlec-

tionate husband.

ROBERT P. HUSTON.
This old and much respected citizen was born in Fayette County, Ky.,

near Lexington, in 1811. He was raised there on a farm until his

twelfth year, when his father, Robert Huston, an inhabitant of Kentucky
at that early day when canebrakes and Indians were the most familiar

companion, and who served his country honorably in the war of 1812, in

expeditions against the Indians, being for some time wagon-master in the

army of Gen. Wm. H. Harrison, came to Boone County, Mo., where

he farmed till 1833. In Columbia Robt. P. Huston, Jr., learned the hat-

ters' trade with his brother, Wm. B. Huston, now residing in California,

under James and Seneca Sutton; the firm being known as Sutton Bros.

Both of whom are now dead. Mr. Huston and his brother bought them

out in 1832, and Robt. P. sold out his interest two years later to Mr.

Matthew Culbert. He was married in Boone Count}', Mo., in 1834, to

Miss Nancy G. Wiseman, who was reared in Kentuck}-, her father

having moved there when she was quite a child. They have seven

children living: Robt. T., married and living in Henry County, Mo.;

James H., married and living in Colorado City, Col.; Joseph W., married

and living in Henry Co., Mo.; Jeannette T., wife of Harden B. Bell,

residing near Stevensville, Montana; George B., married and living in

Henry County; John G., married and living with his father, and William

O., married and living in New Mexico. One child, Chas. D., died in

November, 1864, near Lincoln, 111. He was not in the army, however.

In 1837 Robt. P. Huston went to Illinois, where he farmed until 1846;

then returned to Boone County, Mo., and farmed there until 1866, when

he located permanently in Pettis County, Mo. Mr. H. joined the Presby-
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terian Church, (O. S.,) when he was twenty-three years old, but for the

past twenty-eight years has been a member of the M. E. Church, South,

to which all his family, with one exception, also belong. The aged father

has ceased farming. The care of his large and well improved farm

devolves upon his son, Jno. G. Huston.

JNO. W. IRELAND.

Proprietor of meat market, Green Ridge, Mo. The birth place of Mr.

Ireland was Fulton County, 111., and the date March 11, 1844. When two

years old his father and family removed to Hancock County, same State,

where our sketch finds him at the age of fourteen, having been raised on

a farm there, and receiving a good preparatory education. In 1858 he

was again journeying towards a " better country," and his father located

that year at Smithton, Pettis County; about two years later removed to

Green Ridge. His father, who had come here primarily for his health?

died at the latter place in 1860. After a varied and hard experience Jno.

W. Ireland joined the State Guards, called out
b}'^ Gov. Jackson, in the latter

part of 18t)l,and in the fall of 1862 he united his fortunes with the regular

Confederate army, under Gen. Price, being a sharp-shooter in the Ninth

Battalion of Infantry, under Maj. L. A. Pindle. He followed Price in all his

campaigns. In June, 1865, his battalion held the position of post guards
at Shreveport, La., until they were relieved b3^ the United States forces,

being the last body of Confederates that surrendered in good military order

in the west. He then returned to Pettis County, and engaged in farming
and threshing in Flat Creek Township. He was in the threshing business

for several years. A short time after his return he established his resi-

dence in Green Ridge. Mr. Ireland was married April 18, 1876, to Miss

Anna Melvin, daughter of Benjamin Melvin, and one child is the fruit of

this union, Nellie H. Since the incorporation of Green Ridge he has been

Town Marshal, and has won for himself both friends and honors by his

energetic and upright deportment, both as a business man and an officer.

JOHN LANEY.

Born in the town of Banwell, Somersetshire, England, in the year

1826. He passed his life on English soil with his father, Samuel Laney,
as a farmer boy, until 1845, when, seeing the superior advantages of the

laboring classes in the United States of America as compared with those

of his native country, he embarked for the new world and located in the

State of New York, working at the carpenter trade in Seneca Falls, Seneca

County, for some time. We see him at the carpenter's bench afterwards

in Syracuse, N. Y., Kingston, Canada West, Oswego, N. Y., and Buffalo,

N. Y., removing from the latter place in 1849, to Waterloo, N. Y., where

he also followed his trade. The same year, 1849, he returned to England
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on a visit to relatives, and while there was married to Miss Mary Price, a

native of Banwell, England, the ceremony taking place at St. Mary's

Rectory Church, in Bristol. The happy pair returned to America, and

were blessed with four children: Francis M., Georgia A., John P.

and Mary C. His wife died at Waterloo, N. Y., in September, 1858. Mr.

L. was again united in matrimony in 1859, with Miss L,ucinda Lawrence,
a native of Canada, having been born near Kingston. During the years
of 1866 and 1867, having left his famil}^ at Waterloo, Mr. Laney was

engaged in the oil refining business in Pennsylvania. In 1868, with his

family, he came to Missouri, locating on his present farm near Green

Ridge. It is one of the best improved farms in Pettis Count}', with ele-

gant and ample buildings, good fences and beautiful trees and shrubbery.
There are 240 acres in cultivation. His orchard contains twenty acres,

comprising 1,220 trees of the best varieties adapted to the climate. Most

of them are bearing, and fruit-buyers will find there the finest, largest and

most abundant fruit crop, perhaps, on an}' farm in the county. Mr. Laney
is justly proud ot his orchard, and devotes much time and skillful labor

to protect it from insects and drouth. He also pays some attention to

raising cattle, horses, sheep and hogs. In the yard which surrounds his

beautiful residence are a number of evergreens, also an English royal

oak, planted in 1877, and a number of white pines, brought from the

forests of Pennsylvania. Mr. Laney is a careful, prosperous farmer, and

a most amiable and much respected gentleman,

C. W. LEABO, M. D.

Green Ridge, Mo. After a short residence in Green Ridge, this skillful

young physician has secured a liberal and extensive practice. He was
born in Brazil, Clay County, Ind., in 1853, and received his preparatory
education there. He removed to Tipton, Moniteau County, in April,

1865, where he resided until 1875. The Doctor began the study of med-
icine with his father, Dr. I. S. Leabo, a graduate of the old Cincinnati

Medical College, and afterward attended the Missouri Medical College at

St. Louis in 1874, 1875 and 1876, graduating the last named year. He
also attended a course of lectures in St. Louis in 1880. His practice was

inaugurated at Cole Camp, Linn County, in 1876, where he continued

until August, 1877, when he removed to Green Ridge. He was married

Oct. 17, 1877, to Miss Sallie E. Heard, a native of Boonville, who died

in Boonville, June 29, 1880, leaving one child, Roy H., who is still living.

Charles Leon died in 1878.

THOMAS LLEWELLYN.
Mr. Llewellyn was born Dec. 15, 1830, in Switzerland County, Ind., and

54
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until he was fourteen years of age lived there upon a farm
;
then goin^

with his father to Carroll County, Ky., where he farmed until 1869. He
was married Oct. 18, 1851, in the latter county and State, to Miss Naomi

Jacobs, a native of Scott County, Ky., and two children have resulted

from this union : Winfield S., now living with his parents, and Jonathan

W., who died at the age of five years, ten months and fifteen da3's, in the

year 1858. He volunteered in 1864 to serve his country, and was put
under the command of Gen. Buckley, but on account of physical incapacity
was compelled to leave the army three weeks after. He had been drafted

before but was declared exempt from military duty by the examining phy-
sician. Mr. Llewellyn came to Missouri in 1869, and located in the same

neighborhood where he now resides. In addition to raising corn and

wheat, and constantly improving his fine farm, he buys and feeds cattle,

hogs and horses, being liberal both in his purchases and sales. Himself

and wife have long been devoted members of the Christian Church at

Windsor, and are universally respected for their christian character and

kind neighborly acts.

FRANCIS A. LOGAN.

General merchandizing. Green Ridge, Mo. The subject of this sketch

was born in Shelby County, Ky., Aug. 8, 1810. His education was

obtained in Trimble County, Ky., to which his family removed when Mr.

Logan was quite young, and followed the occupation of farming. He
went thence to Illinois in 1857, where he remained until 1871, merchan-

dizing. Mr. Logan was married in Shelby County, 111., June 7, 1866, to

Miss Linnie Gaddis, of said county. As the fruit of this marriage there

are six children living: Emma, James C, William F., N. May, Mary E.

and Rosa G., and one dead, Dora J., who died in this State. He came to

Pettis County in 1871, and bought and operated a farm, three miles south

of Green Ridge. Shortlv afterwards he w^ent into the mercantile

business in that village, and his business has steadily increased until it is

now in a very flattering and promising condition. Mr. Logan holds the

office of deacon, treasurer and clerk in the Christian Church at Green

Ridge, and has gained esteem from all for his honorable and upright life.

JAMES McCAMPBELL.
The subject of this sketch was born in Preble County, Ohio, near

Lewisburg, November 11, 1843, where he was raised until fourteen years
of age, attending school and working on a farm. At that age he went to

La Salle County, 111., near Ottawa, where he farmed from 1857 to Aug-
ust, 1861, with his father. At the latter date he enlisted in the Thirty-
Third Illinois Infantry, C(>1. C. E. Hovey, then principal of the Nor-

mal School near Bloomington, commanding. With this regiment, which
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was under Steel and Curtis in Missouri, McClernand in Mississippi, A. J.

Smith in Louisiana, C. C. Washburne in Texas, and under the immediate

command of Gen. Osterhaus, who had charge of the department of Vicks-

burg until December, 1865, Mr. McCampbell went in its long campaigns,

frequent marches, and terrible fighting, until it was mustered out of service

at Yazoo City, Mississippi, in 1S65. Returning to Illinois he resumed his

former quiet and happy farm life, and in March, 1807, was married to

Miss Maaura Wadleigh, a native of New Hampshire. Their home

receiving its complement of joy in the birth of three children: Harrison,

Randolph and Roy. In 1870 Mr. McCampbell removed with his family
to his present residence, where he has productive soil and good neighbors
all around him, in Green Ridge Township, Pettis County, and devotes his

energies to the cultivation of the soil and sheep culture.

ROBERT D. MEANS.
Mr. Means and his father were the earliest settlers in Green Rido-e

Township. He was born in Howard County, Mo., June 13, 1823, and

raised there until nine years of age. Nov. 4, 1832, he was brought by
his father, to his future home in Green Ridge Township, Pettis

County, Mo. It was in this home that he acquired an excel-

lent education by means of the very poor educational facilities and his

personal efforts. He carried the flag for the government surveyors in

sections forty-three and forty-four of his township when a boy. During
the Mexican war he volunteered for service twice, but the required num-
ber of troops reported at Independence, Mo., and he was left out. His

father commanded a company of minute men with a captain's commission,

during the war of 1812, and his maternal grandfather, Wm. McDonald,
was a lieutenant in the command of the celebrated Marion in the Revolu-

tionar}^ war. Mr. Means, the subject of our sketch, was married Aug.
31, 1843, in Johnson County, Mo., to Miss Juliet Cooper, daughter of

David Cooper, who was one of Johnson's first inhabitants, having settled

at an early day at the head of Muddy Creek. She died, May 20, 1847,

near Windsor, but in Pettis County, leaving two children: William H.,

who was killed on the Sahne River, in Arkansas, while in the Confederate

army, in 1864; and James W., who is married and residing at Los Angeles

City, California, being a minister of the M. E. Church, South. Her

remains were interred in Cooper cemetery, in Johnson County. Wm. M.

was again married July 5, 1848, to Miss Susan E. Tindall, a native of

Kentucky. The father and mother of his last wife both died at Trenton,

Grundy County, Mo. Both of his wives were acquainted with his father's

family in Kentucky, living in the same neighborhood. A brother of his

last wife, Col. J. T. Tindall, killed at the battle of Sliiloh, was a member

of the Missouri convention called by Gov. C. F. Jackson, in 1861, to dis-



1056 HISTORY OF GREEN RIDGE TOWNSHIP.

CUSS the propriety of seceding. He had formerly represented Grundy
County, in the State Senate; had enlisted as a private in the Mexican war,
and was soon promoted to the rank of major on Gilpin's stafl': and at the

time of his death was colonel of the 23d Missouri Regiment in the army
of General U. S. Grant. It was the brilliant dash of this Missouri regi-

ment, led by their daring colonel, that saved Grant from a disastrous

defeat at Shiloh, but at the dear sacrifice of the lives of Col. Tindall and

all his regiment except forty. A. monument has been erected to his mem-

ory at a cost of $10,000, the government having appropriated $5,000, and

the citizen? $5,000. Robt. D. Means, the subject of our sketch, took his

family in 1859 to the vicinity of Macon City, Mo., for the purpose of edu-

cating his children at McGee College. He then kept a boarding house

for females only. His children by his last wife were as follows: Eugenia
F., wife of M. E. Carpenter, of Windsor; Susan A. wife of Geo.

W. Tryon, cashier of the Savings Bank at Windsor, Mo.; Mary
E., wife of L. N. Craig, of Maryville, Nodaway County, Mo.;
Robt. L., married and living in Henry County, Mo., and Edward W.,
residing with his parents ;

he has been for sometime past the first E flat

player in the Windsor Cornet Band. There are three dead: Augusta
L., who was killed with laudanum by a negro nurse, when three years

old; Edward T., who died at the age of fourteen in 1864, of spinal menin-

getis; and Lola M., who died Aug. 12, 1870. Mr. Means returned from

the vicinit}^ of McGee College in 1861. He entered the Federal service

in the fall of 1863, and was connected with the Missouri State Militia, his

regiment being known at first as the Old Sixtieth, then as provisional,

and again as the Sixtieth. Col. Henry commanded the last Sixtieth.

Mr. M. was elected captain of company C, organized in his neighbor-

hood, but as originally organized it did not go into service. He again

joined the same company re-organized in 1862, with Judge Geo. Gallaher

as captain, which was stationed at Calhoun and Ft. Lyon principally. He
was in several skirmishes with the guerrillas, and was mustered out of

service at Ft. Lyon, in Benton Count}^, Mo., in 1865, and returned to his

farm. • Mr. Means has been justice of the peace with a few short intervals

for the past thirty years, and is known everyvvhere as "Squire Bob."

During the organization of the township, he was a member of the town-

ship board. He is a member of the Presbyterian Church, of which body
he has been an elder since he was twenty-four years of age. His wife is

also a member. Mr. M. is a prosperous farmer, and his decisions as justice

of the peace are an evidence of considerable legal learning and judicial

capacity.

BENJAMIN MELVIN.

No man in Green Ridge Township has been more conspicuous.since its
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early settlement, in business and social relations, than Mr. Benjamin Mel-

vin, and he deserves such mention as his probity and virtue plainly have
indicated and received from all his acquaintances. He was born in Jef-
ferson County, Va., Dec. 29, 1807, and was there raised and educated.

He bef^an life as a carpenter and cabinet maker, and afterwards enga(;red
in the mercantile business. He was married in Loudoun Count v, Va.,Jan.

16, 183-1, to Miss Isabella Cockrell, dautrhter of Joseph Cockrell, residing
in that locality. A large family, consisting of nine children, has resulted

from this union. Their names are: Thomas J., William H., Benjamin F.,

John D., Mary I., Ellen F., Virginia C, Ann E. and Phccbe A., and there

is one dead, Laura J. Mr. Melvin went to Ohio in the fall of 1885,
and engaged in farming. In 18.54 he started for Missouri, and the same

year rented land in Cooper Countv, but he finallv settled down in Pettis

County, in the town of Green Ridge. Until recently his occupation has been

clerking. He now has chargti of and owns a small confectioner}- store in

the post-office building, which he constructed, and is deputv postmaster,
under Mr. E. C. Havely.

JAMES F. MITCHELL.

He was born in Caldwell County, Ky., Jan. 5, 18ii7, where he grew
to maturity. He grew up on a farm, and in 1845, being a vigorous young
man of eighteen, he volunteered for service under General Winfield Scott,

in the Mexican War. He belonged to Company G., Captain Conn,
and his superior officers were, respectively: Major Ward, Lieutenant

Colonel Preston, Colonel Williams, and Brigadier General Marshall. The

Regiment was known as the Fourth Kentucky Infantry. Mr. Mitchell

went out in response to the last call for troops, and consequently saw no

active service in the field, the City of Mexico having capitulated, and

peace soon after following. He returned to Kentuck\- in 1848, and farmed

the following year with his father, Cader Mitchell, a soldier of 1812. In

1850 he came west, through Missouri and other States, looking at the

country, and the same year went to school in Hickory Countj^ this State,

for six months, which completed his education. Filled with the spirit of

adventure he went to New Mexico in 1851, where he remained a little

more than six months, teaming with six and seven yoke of cattle over

that rough country, at a salary of from $20 to $3o per month, and at the

end of that time returned to Kentucky. But the same old love of adven-

ture induced him, in 1852, to proceed to Springfield, Mo., which was then

in Green County; the county name now being Webster, where he obtained

an outfit for roughing it in California, to which State he slowly wended

his way. His occupation there was mining, and he searched long and

industriously in the shoal diggings, flats and rivers for gold, with very

satisfactory remuneration. He returned to Kentucky in June, 1858, with
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$7,700, having left behind him a large amount loaned out, and lost

by gambling and speculation about $4,000, He now regards the last

named as the greatest error of his life. Mr. Mitchell labored with his

father on the Kentucky farm until 1860, when, having in 18.50 entered

160 acres of land in Green Ridge Township, Pettis County, Mo., as the

bounty allowed by the Government to the Mexican soldiers in addition to

their small pay of eight dollars per month, he located upon the same, and

immediately began to improve it. Here he has lived since, following

peaceful agriculture through the long civil war. But at midnight of May
16, 1863, Mr. Mitchell was taken to the timber adjacent to his house by
four men in Federal uniforms, who requested him to tell where his horses

w^ere, and were told that they were out in his pasture grazing. Appar-
ently in doubt, at the suggestion of Mr. M., his negro boy was called for,

and made the same statement. They had been in still greater doubt about

his veracity before this, having tormented him for more than an hour by
means of a rope adjusted by a noose to his neck and drawn frequently
over the limb of a tree. Mr. M. was saved by the negro's testimony. He
has always lived in bachelor style; has served as road overseer for one

year, and has added to his California fortune since he occupied his present
farm by handling stock, chiefly. The varieties consisting of cattle, horses,

hogs and mules, which he buys, feeds and sells. Mr. Mitchell is much

respected in his neighborhood for his generosit}^ to the poor, who never

ask of him in vain, and he impresses every one favorably with his frank

and aflable manners.

ROBERT. A. MOFFETT.
The subject of this sketch was born in Shelby County, Mo., in 1837,

where he passed his childhood on a farm and received his education at the

schools of the neighborhood. He was married in August, 1859, to Miss

Mary E. King, a native of Trimble County, Ky., who died in the summer
of 1864, leaving two children, Lucy A. and Ernest K. He was again
married in 1865 to Miss Martha A. Taylor, a native of Carroll County,

Ky., by whom he has three children: Wm. W., Ivanilla and Walter S.

Mr. Moffett came to Henry County, Mo., in 1876, and farmed there two

years, removing in 1878 to his present residence in Green Ridge Town-

ship, Pettis County, Mo.

JAMES F. NICHOLS.

This gentleman was born three miles northwest of Green Ridge,
and received his education and farm training in the same locality. At the

breaking out of the civil strife he united with Gen. Sterling Price's army,
with which he fought in the battle of Pea Ridge. Afterwards, under

Beauregard, he participated in the first and second battles of Cornith, and
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was with Pemberton in the seige and surrender of Vicksburg. At Pea

Ridge he was wounded slightly in the left arm. Mr. Nichols states that

there are several inaccuracies in the history of the late war, and pointed
out the following as cases within his certain knowledge: Col. Reeves, of

the Third Missouri Regiment, C. S. A., was killed at Pea Ridge; Gen.

Jno. A. Bowen was killed at Port Gibson in May, 1863; which battle was

fought on the 10th, 20th and 23d. Martin Green and Little were killed at

luka. Mr. Nichols was captured May 10, 1863, at Big Black Bayou,
and confined in prison seven months; after which he was paroled one

month, then exchanged, and entered Slidell's command. He was again

captured at Fort Blakely, opposite Mobile, April 9, 1865, and detained as

a prisoner of war at Ship Island, in the Gulf of Mexico, until he obtained

his parole May 5, 1865. He then returned home. January 6, 1869, he

was married to Miss Sarah J. McGee, a native of Moniteau County, Mo.

They have three children: Viola B., Iva F. and Ernest J. Mr. Nichols

has been engaged in farming and stock culture for some time past, in

which lines he now enjoys the advantages of a large and varied experi-
ence.

CHARLES W. NICHOLS.

Blacksmithing and repairing. Green Ridge, Mo. The son of one of

the oldest settlers, Wilson Nichols, deceased. Was born May 9, 1854.

He received his education and has worked at the blacksmith trade for

eleven ye^^rs past in his native place, which speaks loudly in his favor.

He does all kinds of blacksmithing and repairing on liberal terms. Also

is very well acquainted with wood work, and has a large number of

patrons.

JAMES S. REAM.

Was born March 4, 1847, in Pettis County, near the present site of

Sedalia, and was raised and educated in his native county. He was mar-

ried in 1866, near Green Ridge, to Miss Ellen F. Melvin, who was born

April 6, 184T, daughter of Mr. Benj. Melvin, the present Deputy Postmaster

of the village of Green Ridge. They have three children living: James
E., aged sixteen; Maud A., aged eleven; Frederick E., aged eight; and

Minnie F., born March 12, 1869, died in infancy. Mr.Ream located in the

village of Green Ridge ten years ago, and engaged in the drug business,

and has, by industry and application to his chosen profession built up a

large and flourishing trade. By his affable and courteous manner he is a

man who will always make friends, and as a business man, whose sense

of honor is keen and whose judgment is far seeing, he has few superiors.

He engages in the grain and stock business extensively, and buys and

ships annually large amounts of wheat, corn, hay and hogs. He has

been Notar}^ Public for four years. In the spring of 1882, while having a
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well sunk on his premises, valuable mineral water was discovered, and

Mr. Ream is making every effort to have it fully developed, and make his

village one of the numerous pleasure and health resorts of the State. The

analysis of the water of the well by Juan H. Wright, of St. Louis, shows

that it contains: Carbonic acid, sulphated magnesia, iron, potassa,

chloride sodium, magnesia, carbonate lime, silica and organic matter.

HIAL B. REED.

Mr. Reed was born in Ontario Count}', N. Y., Oct. 1, 1816, where

he was .raised on a farm and Hved until 1868. He was married Jan.

20, 1846, to Miss Sarah McArthur, a native of Albany, N. Y., and this

union was blessed with four children: Helen, Frank B., Nathan B. and

Harriet. The oldest daughter is the wife of Wm. Manville, of Green

Ridge, and the youngest is the wife of Mr. Geo. N. Farr, a resident of

Green Ridge Township. Mr. Reed farmed in Ontario County, N. Y.,

until 1868, when he went to Knox County, 111., farming there about one

year; he then returned to Seneca County, N. Y., adjoining Ontario

County, where he farmed until his removal to Missouri in 1878, when he

located at his present residence. Physical disabihty prevents him from

personally attending to the affairs of the farm, and his two sons faithfully

discharge that duty.

DAVID N. RHOADS.

The subject of this sketch was born in Bartholomew County, Ind., in

1849, and was there raised and educated, and there served an apprentice-

ship to the plow business. He was married in 1873 to Miss Mary J.

Smith, a native of said county and State, and three children have resulted

from this union: Pink, Phillip W. and David C. Mr. Rhoads came to

Missouri, locating in Pettis County, in October, 1874, and Hved near

Lamonte. He moved to his present home in September, 1881. While in

Indiana he served as constable for the township in Bartholomew County,
in which he resided. Though young, he has a bright future.

J. FRANK TOMLIN.

Farmer and stock dealer. He was born Oct. 1, 1841, in Goshen, Cape
May County, N. J., where he was reared. He was educated at Union

College, at Shiloh, New Jersey. After leaving school he was engaged in

farming until the spring of 1862, when he enlisted in Company I, Twenty-
fifth New Jersey Volunteer Infantry, and was commissioned First Lieu-

tenant in August, 1862, serving with honor in said capacity till March 20,

1863, when he was promoted to Captain. He was mustered out of

service by expiration of term of service, June 6, 1863. After returning to

his home he raised a company, and Jan. 4, 1864, he went out as Second
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Lieutenant, Compan}' A, Third Regiment New Jersey Cavahy, and June
0th he was promoted to First Lieutenant, Company M, of the same regi-

ment, and May 6, 1S65, he was promoted to the Captaincy of Company
E, and served till August 8, 1865, when he was mustered out. He

participated in many engagements and campaigns during the war. He
was in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va., Dec. 13 and 14, 1862; on the

14th he was wounded by a peice of shell. He was also in the battle of

Suffolk, Va., May 3, 1863; the battle of the Wilderness, May 3, 1864;

United States Ford, May 19, 1864; Ashland Station, June 1, 1864; North

Anna, June 2, 1864, at which place he was put in command of Gen. A. E.

Burnside's escort; the battle of Hawes Shop, June 3, 1864; Bottom's

Bridge June 4, 1864; White Oak Swamp, June 13, 1864; Smith's Store,

June 15, 1864; Warwick Bridge, July 5, 1864; before Petersburg, July

25, 1864; Lee's Mill, July 27, 1864; Winchester, August 17, 1864; Sum-
mit Point, Sept. 21 and 22, 1864; Fisher's Hill, Sept. 22, 1864; Win-

chester, Sept. 24, 1864; Bridgewater, Oct. 12, 1864; Mount Jackson,
Nov. 22, 1864; Lacey Springs, Dec. 21, 1864; Morefield, Feb. 22, 1865;

Waynesborough, March 2, 1865; Dinwiddle C. H., March 3, 1S65; Five

Forks, April 1, 1865; Petersburg, April 2, 1865; Deep Creek, April 3,

1865; Sailors Creek, April 6, 1865, where he commanded the battalion of

Third New Jersey Cavalry, and while leading a charge on a Rebel Bat-

tery he received two sabre cuts fracturing his skull, for which he now
draws a pension. He was mustered out of service August 8, 1865, at

Trenton, N. J., and in the fall of the same year he went to Mason County,

111., where he engaged in stock feeding. In the spring of 1866 he came
to Pettis County, Mo., locating in Green Ridge Township, where he has

^ince resided, following farming and stock raising. He owns a farm of

three hundred and twenty-five acres, well watered and improved, fenced

with barb wire; he being the first to introduce this kind of fence in this

region. He has a handsome new brick residence, thirty-two by thirt}-

four, two stories and a basement, also a fine barn thirt3'-six by forty-tour,

twenty-two foot posts, together with all the modern improvements of the

day. Ke was married March 7, 1866, to Miss Lou Morell, in Penn's

Grove, Salem County, N.J. She was born in Philadelphia, Jan. 30, 1843,

drughter of Rev. James Fletcher Morell and Sophia C. Morell. She was

educated in Philadelphia and Pittsburg, finishing her education with a

three years course at the College of Bordentown, N.J. She taught seven

years in the public schools of New Jersey, and three years in those of

Missouri. This union has blessed them with five children, of whom four

are still living, viz: Edward, born April 20, 1867, and died May 28, 1875;

Emma, born Sept. 13, 1868; Morell, born Dec. 19,1870; John Francis,

born Nov. 17, 1875, and Harold, born Oct. 18, 1877. Mr. Tomlin's father,

John, was born in New Jersey, April 8, 1798, and there grew to manhood,
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following farming, marrying Judith Cresse in 1824, in Goshen, Cape May-

County, N. J. The Rev. James Fletcher Morell was born in Yorkshire^

England, April 1, 1817, and at the age of fourteen emigrated with his

parents to America, aud was educated in Philadelphia. Mr. Tomlin is a

thorough business man, an ardent advocate of free schools, public roads,

stock law, land and wire fences, very independent in the expression of his

opinions, thereby exciting the enmity of some opponents.

JOSEPH D. WADLEIGH.
The subject of this sketch, Joseph D. Wadleigh, was born in Rocking-

ham County, N. H., in Exeter, the county seat, May 10, 1818, and

lived in his native county for fifty years. He worked at the shoemaker's

trade for fifteen years. He was afterwards a dealer in lumber, and still

later making brick in Rockingham County, New Hampshire. He was
married May 24, 1843, to Miss Francis E. Prescott, a native of the same
town and State. They have had three children: Geo. H., Carrie R., who
died at Exeter, N. H., Aug. 13, 186H, and John B. who died at Point Burn-

sides, K3^, in 1864, from a congestive chill brought on by a wound in the

hand. He held the rank of sergeant in the Ninth Regiment New Hamp-
shire Volunteers, Burnside's command, and was wounded at Antietam.

He was present at the surrender of Vicksburg, June 2, 3868. Mr. Wad-

leigh came to Missouri and located on his present farm in Green Ridge

Township, Pettis County, Mo. His wife died Sept. 10, 1877. She was a

member of the Congregational Church, having previously united with the

Baptist Church, however, in the east. Mr. Wadleigh's farm comprises
160 acres, and has an orchard of 1,700 apple trees, 600 peach trees, and

several other varieties of fruit. He is a jolly, good humored, contented,

and much respected old gentleman.

CHAS. E. WADLEIGH.
This prominent farmer of Green Ridge Township was born in Ken-

sington, N. H., in 1843, where he also was raised to farming pursuits until

his 13th year. He then went to La Salle County, 111., where he lived

until the breaking out of the civil w^ar, when he enlisted in the United

States army under Gen. Curtis. He belonged to the Thirty-third Illinois

Infantry, Company B., which was organized at Bloomington, 111., Aug.
20, 1861. He participated in the campaign through the Hatchie River

country, in the engagements at the siege of Vicksburg, and below Vicks-

burg; was at Grand Gulf and Jackson, the principal battles fought in

Louisiana and during the opening of the coast of Texas, and in the last

engagements against Mobile at the close of the war. His company was

transferred to the Thirteenth Armv Corps in 1863, and to the Sixteenth

in 1864, and was mustered out Dec. 6, 1865, at Camp Butler, III. Mr.
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Wadleigh then returned to Illinois. In 1871 he came to Missouri, and

selected the farm on which he now lives, in Green Ridge Township, Pet-

tis County, for his future home. Shortly after he went back to Illmois,

and was married May 29, 1871, to Miss Hannah M. Brewster, a native of

Grundy County, Illinois, where the ceremony took place. Through this

marriage they have five children: David E., Walter L., Nettie F., Fred-

erick A. and Fannie L. Mr. Wadleigh has a large, well improved farm.

His horses are of the Morgan class, and he has one thoroughbred, Justine

Morgan.

CHAPTER XXIV.—WASHINGTON TOWNSHIP.

Introduction—Name—Organization—Configuration
—Early Settlers—Churches—Schools

past and present—Early Teachers—The First Voting Place—The First Post-office—
'

Incidents—Biographical.

Much of the historx^ of this township belongs to and has been given in

connection with the early history of the county and also the separate town-

ships, therefore it would be tiresome to the reader to repeat it in this chap-
ter. Its experience is that of other townships, and the laws in obedience

to which it has developed are the same as obtained elsewhere. The inter-

ests of the community have been carefully cared for all these years past,

and that care has shown itself in advancing the moral and educational

standing of the township.
The influx of population through the years from the time in which the

township was settled until the close of the war was ver}^ slow. It would

doubtless be a matter of extreme interest to trace the emotions and

thoughts of the early residents, were such a thing possible. They came

from the older and more populous east; left behind them all the advan-

tages of a high civilization, the comforts of pleasant homes, friends and

associations, made doubly dear by long and constant intercourse. They
came to hardships and toil, but for these they cared little. There were hopes
to be realized, plans to be developed, farms to make and homes to build.

Whatever of romance we may wish to attach to their lives, there was but

little in reality. Their coming, it must be remembered, was not always a

matter of election. They did not always come to a land, then a wilder-

ness, altogether from choice, but because stern necessity made it impera-

tive. They came, and opened the doors of a new world, and the print of

their footsteps is imbedded in the sands of time, too soon to be entirely cov-

ered by the ever-changing tide of life. They came and found that long

ages anterior to their occupation of the land, there had lived and thrived

another race—men who, in the far ofl' times, had left their marks all over

the face of our fair land. They found the red man in possession, but from
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whence came he? Suppose he was the lineal descendant of the mound
builder—what then? We have only moved the difficulty another step

back, and still man was. They have left their works in some parts of

this county
—none that we know of in this township

—^but tell us more
than habits and distribution, they do not.

Name.—Since the da}" in which this township was christened in honor

of the great patriot and statesman, the immortal George Washington, time

has been at work. The wheels of progress have turned westward, and

b}' skill and indvistrj^ the intelligent sons of toil have developed the natural

resources which the liberal hand of the Omnipotent has so freely distribu-

ted among them. The township, as we have said, derives its name from

the illustrious father of his country, and thus shows with what reverence

and respect the pioneers regarded the great man by whose heroic efforts

we are permitted to-da\' to enjo}^ the blessings of a free land, a free gov-

ernment, a free church and school. Could too much honor be given him?

Name towns, cities, townships, counties, State and children after him, and

then we shall fail to give him enough veneration. Honor to those loyal

citizens who, in their patriotism, gave the name they did to this town-

ship.

Organization.—This is among the townships organized at the second

arrangement of townships in 1844. Up to that year it was a part of Elk

Fork and Flat Creek Townships. In 1844, by a petition of the settlers

then in the southwestern part of the county, these two townships were

divided, and the township of Washington created, embracing what is now
Green Ridge and Washington Tov\nships. In this arrangement it stood

until 1873, when the county adopted township organization, and Wash-

ington Township was made the western half. As it now stands it is

bordered on. the north by Prairie Township, on the east by Flat Creek

Township and Benton County, and on the west by Green Ridge Town-

ship. Its bounds as described by the County Court are as follows: To
include all of congressional township forty-four, range twenty-two, and all

of that portion of township forty-three, range twenty-two, that belongs to

Pettis County, bound as follows: Commencing at the northeast corner of

township fortj^-four, range twent\^-two, running thence west on the town-

ship line to the northwest corner of same township, thence south on the

range line to the southwest corner of section seven, township fort3'-three,

range twenty-two, running thence east on the county line to the southeast

corner of section two, same township and range, thence north on the range
line to place of beginning. The population of the township as given in

1880 is 890, including the little village of Ionia.

Configuration.—The surface of the township is more broken than its

neighbors on the east or north. Flat Creek runs nearly diagonally across
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the township, and is the principal stream of water in its bounds. The
Other small streams all tributary to the one mentioned above are South

Fork and Basin Fork. The surface of the land is beautiful, rollin^T prai-

ries on the uplands and heavy timber alono the bottoms.* Some very
desirable agricultural lands lie in the divides between the streams, while

the bottom lands are rich and produce inmiense crops. The timber is of

that class common to the rest of the countv. Of its neighbor, Flat

Creek Township, on the east, there has been given an extended physical
review and the characteristics of this is much the same as that.

Early Settlers.— In early 3'ears from the time of the settlement of

the county, where the early settlers' history properly commences, until

the organization of the county, where it properly ends, we hnd little trace of

settlement in Washington Township. The few early men who ventured

here prior to 1830 found, as everywhere, an unbroken plain and forest,

inhabited only by the Indian, deer, elk, buffalo and wolf. These held

sway over the territory that under the hand of skilled labor is now yielding
an abundance of fruitage. Among the earliest settlers of the township
was I. Elliott, who came from Woodford County, Ky., in 1886. When
he settled in the township there was but one family between him and the

headwaters of Flat Creek, that of Wm. Miller. W. Anderson, of Flat

Creek Township, came at the same time as Mr. Elliott. Wm. Brown
came in 1834. There were also living in the surrounding country Wm.
Davis, who resides on Bason Fork; Pittman on Camp Branch, and one or

two others. John Elliott, who still resides in the township, came with his

father in 1836. When these families settled here the land was not subject

to entry, but was settled under what was known as the settlers' rights.

The earlv men laid out what farms they thought they could manage, and

these cost them from twelve and one-half cents to $1.25 per acre. Now,
in less than two decades, the values have increased to from $20 to $35 per

acre, and the wonderful change that has been^wrought makes those who
were here at an early day almost long for the free and joyous earl}' times

again. Among these early settlers are some who exerted a powerful influ-

ence in directing the course of events in the count}'. They were men

sterling and true, whose contact with men and things made them self

reliant and energetic. Nothing so much as pioneer life serves to develop
real manhood

; nothing so much leads to self-independence, nothing is so

effective for discipline.

First Voting Place.—The first place in the bounds of the township
where the voters exercised their right as American citizens w^as at the

house of Ira Durrell. Mr. Durrell died in 1852, and is buried in Flat

Creek Township. The voting place of the township is now at the little

town of Ionia.
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Churches.—There is but one church in the township, that ol the Flat

Creek Protestant Methodist denomination, situated in the southwest

part of the township, on section four, township fortv-three, range twenty-
two. It is aitVame structure, erected by the members of the congregation
in 1882, at a cost of $850.00. It was dedicated in the fall of 1882, by
Rev. J. T. Shepherd. The building is comfortably furnished, and is

twenty-four by thirty-six in size, and twelve foot ceiling. The pastors
who have been in charge of the congregation are T. J. Shepherd, J . W.
Baldwin, assisted by Mrs. Baldwin, D. T. Forduy, A. T. Johnson, M. W.
Wells and John D. Cruse. The original members of the congregation
were James M. Purcell, Lucinda J. Purcell, A. McNett, Lewis Tompkins,
and wife, Cyrus Furguson, John Martin and wife, and others. The pres-

ent membership is forty. The congregation keep up a Sunday-school of

fifty scholars, of which J. F. Howe is superintendent, and Mrs. M. J.

Leffler is secretary. The society from its organization has been very

prosperous, holding its prayermeetings once and twice a week and has

never had to hold church sociables or any other kind of entertainment in

order to support itself. Its growth has been healthy and it is now on a

firm foundation and is e.ich month increasing in strength and moral influ-

ence.

The first school in Washington Township was a subscription one, in

1852 or '53. The district school system was organized in 185i, and the

first one was taught by B. T. Matthews. He afterwards taught several

terms of school in the township. The first school building used was the

same that John Elliott Srst went to housekeeping in. There are at pres-

ent six school districts in the township, all have commodious houses and

all supplied with the best appurtenances. Nearly all support subscription

schools in the summer months. A Mr. Baker was one of the early

teachers in the township, but when the gold fever of Pike's Peak was at

its height he went to the "far west."

First Post-Office.—Spring Fork was the first post-oflice in the

township; it was discontinued and the ofhce at Ionia established.

Ionia.—This little villiage in the southern part of the township is the

only town within its borders. It has two stores, a blacksmith shop or two,

and the post-oflice, and this comprises its business. It was at an early

dav called Peel Tree.

Incidents.—John Godfray was taken out in the fall of 1861, when
excitement ran high, by the home guards, and shot. This is the only murder

that has been committed in the bounds of said township. In an early day,
after the settlement of the township had become quite extended, the Indians

frequently made hunting expeditions into the territory of the township, but

never did any damage to the settlers' stock.
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JOHN Q. ADAMS.

Post-office, Green Ridge. One of the worthy bachelors of Washington
is the subject of this sketch. He is the son of William M. Adams of

Cooper County, Mo. John Q. was born in Cooper County, I\lo., Dec.

10, 1839, and is the second child in a family of four children. He received

a liberal education from the schools of his native county. When he was
sixteen years of age he took an overland trip to California, and in the fall

of 1859 he returned to his home in Cooper County, remaining a sliort

time, when he took a business trip to Ohio, and bought a large number
of sheep, and brought them to Missouri to winter, and was here when the

war began. He was in the first battle that was fought in Missouri. This

battle was fought about five miles below Boonville. After this he took

his sheep to Texas, where he disposed of them. From Texas he went to

Arkansas; here he enlisted as a soldier in the Southern army and con-

tinued in its service until the close of tlie war. Mr. Adams participated
in some of the hard fought battles of tlie war. His regiment under Col-

McCullough was in the following battles: Corinth, Guntown, Baldwin,

Middleburg, Memphis and Ft. Pillow, and a number of smaller engage-
ments. Mr. Adams received one slight wound while in the service.

When peace was declared Mr. A. returned to his Missouri home, in

Cooper County, where he remained one year. He then moved to Pettis

County, bought himself a farm, and has been engaged in farming and the

raising of stock ever since. He feeds upon his farm from fifty to one

hundred and fifty head of cattle and about 150 head of sheep. He owns
a fine farm of 4:68 acres, well adapted to farming and grazing. Mr.

Adams is a man of considerable business capacity, and is held in high
esteem by his friends.

JOHN N. ANSPAUGH.

Post-office, Ionia City, merchant of this place. He is the son of John

Anspaugh, who was a native of Penns3dvania. The grandfather, George

Anspaugh, was a soldier in the Revolutionary War. The subject of this

sketch was born in Coshocton County, O., March 28, 1839, and is the

sixth child in a family of eleven children. He received his education from

the schools of his native county. In the spring of 1861 Mr. Anspaugh
moved to Missouri, settling in Benton County, where he lived until the

fall of 1879, when lie moved to Pettis County, locating at Ionia City,

where he has since resided. Mr. Anspaugh was married April 17, 1864,

to Miss Jane Houser, a native of Missouri. From this union there were

four children, only one of whom is now living, viz: Alfred L. Mrs.

Anspaugh dying, Mr. Anspaugh was again married in Ma}-, 1873, to Miss

Elizabeth Miller, a daughter of Thomas Miller, a native of Pittsburg,

Penn. From this marriage there are five children, viz: Nancy J., Lillie
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J., Hattie L., Nellie A. and Lewis. Since Mr. x\nspaugh has been a

resident of Pettis County, he has been engaged in the mercantile business

at Ionia Cit}'. He is the o\^ . ^i and proprietor of the principal store in

this village. He carries a large stock of dry goods, clothing, boots, shoes

etc. His business runs from $8,000 to 1^10,000 per year. Mr. Anspaugh
owns the store-building where he is located. It is a large and commodi-

ous building. He also owns a small tract of land near Sedalia.

JOHN BENNETT.

Post-office, Green Ridge. An old and respected citizen, and a man
who has been prominently represented in the business circles of southern^

Pettis Count}' is the subject of this sketch, John Bennett. He is the son

of William P nnett, who was a native of Kentucky, and a soldier in the

War of 1812^ The grandfather on the mother's side, John Ham, was a

soldier in the [olutionary War. The subject of this sketch was born in

Logan CouUi Ky., Nov. 14, 1822, and is the second child in a family of

eight children. i> His advantages for an education were somewhat limited,

there being but few schools at that early day. In the fall of 1843 Mr.

Bennett emign ted to Missouri, settling in Henry County, where he

remained about one year, when he moved to Benton County, where he

lived until the summer of 1856, when he moved to Bates County. Then
in the spring of 1861 he removed to Henry County, where he remained

until the spring of 1863, when he moved to Pettis County, settling in the

southern part of the county, where he has since resided. Mr. Bennett

was married Feb. 22, 1843, to Miss Martha M. Ham, a daughter of Wm.
Ham. From this union there were ten childrnn, all of whom are now liv-

mg, viz.: William T., Greenup L., James E., Susan C, John M., Martha

J., Lillie M., Harrison A., Walter L. and Edward A. Mr. Bennett has

always been a farmer and stock-raiser. He has dealt extensively in the

shipping of live stock. He owns a fine farm of 700 acres, well adapted
to farming and stock-raising.

CHARLES H. BOOTH.

Post-office, Ionia City. Is the son of the Rev. Henry A. Booth, of St.

Louis County, Mo. The grandfather on the mother's side, Ira Barbee.

was a soldier in the War of 1812. The subject of this sketch was born

in St. Louis County, Mo., Oct. 13, 18.53, and is the second child in a family
of six children. He was educated in the schools of his native county. In

the spring of 1879, Mr. Booth moved from St. Louis County, to Pettis

County, settling in the southern part of the county, where he has since

resided. Mr. Booth was married Dec. 19, 1880, to Miss Laura Ross, a

daughter of Washington Ross, a native of Kentucky. Miss Ross was a

native of St. Louis County, Mo. From this union there is one child, viz :
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Henry M. -Since Mr. Booth has lived in Pettis County, he has been

engaged in farming and the raising of stock. He keeps on his farm from

forty to
lift}' head of cattle, and other stoc^ih proportion. Mr. Booth,

though a young man 3'et, is the proud owner of 480 acres of excellent

land, situated on the beautiful rolling prairie of southern Pettis Count}'.

JOHN W. CANADAY.

Post-otiice, Ionia City. Farmer and stock man. Is the son of Emmanuel

Canaday, who was a native of South Carolina, but emigrated to Illinois at

an early day. Here he took a prominent position as a citizen, holding
(offices of honor and trust. At one time he was elected sherift' of Jackson

County. The subject of this sketch was born in Jackson County, 111.,

March 'M, 1836, and was the eldest child by his father's ''^^econd wife.

He received as good an education as the school of that dav -ftbrded. In

the spring of 1873 Mr. C. moved his family to JMissout ttling in the

southwestern part of Pettis County, where he has since sided. Mr.

Canaday was married Nov. 18, 1858, to Miss Nancy M.. Stround, a

most estimable ladv, the daughter of Isaac Stround, who ^vas a resident

of St. Clair County, 111. From this marriage there wer-^ five children,

four of whom are living and at home with the father, viz: Thomas I.,

Mary E., George W. and Joseph F. Since Mr. Canaday's residence in

Pettis County he has been engaged in farming and the raising of stock.

In the latter he has dealt extensively, and has had upon his land at one

time as many as 100 head of cattle. Mr. Canaday owns a beautiful farm

of 120 acres, well improved. He has under his control large tracts of land

owned by Eastern firms, which lands he uses for grazing purposes. Mr.

Canaday is a man of good t^usiness qualities, and for integrity and

honesty stands high among the business men of Pettis County.

CHARLES W. DENNY.

Post-office, Green Ridge. Is the son of Raphael Denny, vviio is a native

of Missouri. He was born in St. Charles County, Mo., about the year

1821, and received his education from the common subscription schools of

his native county. In the fall of 1856 he sold his farm and moved to the

city of St. Charles, where he lived two years, when, in the fall of

1868, he moved to Pettis County, settling in the southern part, where

he still resides. The subject of this sketch was born in St. Charles

County, Mo., Oct. 27, 1850, and is the eldest child in a family of

two children. He received his primary education from the com-

mon schools of his native county, completing his education at

the St. Charles College, and at a college in St. Louis. After

completing his education he returned to Pettis County, where the father

55
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then lived. In the summer of that year he was appointed Deputy Sur-

veyor, with W. H. Hewitt. This position he held until the fall of 1871.

Then, in the spring of 1872, Mr. Denn}^ embarked in the mercantile busi-

ness at Green Ridge, which business he followed until the fall of 1873,
when he sold out his stock of merchant's goods and engaged in farming
and surveying, in which business he is still engaged. Mr. Denny enjoys
the untrammeled fetters of a bachelor's life, and is held in high esteem by
his friends and associates for the many qualities of his generous spirit. He
makes his home on one of his father's farms, n'-ar the home place. The
father has in the home farm 400 acres, and other lands to the amount of

150 acres. Charles has held the official position of Township Clerk of

Green Ridge Township, he being the first elected under the townsihp
organization. In the spring of 1871: he was elected Township Clerk

of Washington Township, which position he held until the repealing of

the act providing for said organization.

J. M. DURRELL.

Post-office, Ionia City. Among the representative young men of south-

western Pettis County, we find J. M. Durrell. He is the son of Milton

Durrell. The son was born in Pettis Count}^, Nov. 9, 1815, and is the

fourth child in a family of ten children. He received a liberal education

from tiie schools of his native county. Mr. Durrell was married Sept. 16,

1869, to Miss Anna E. Ramey, a most estimable lady, the daughter of

Daniel Ramey, who was a native of Kentucky, but emigrated to Missouri

at an early day. Mrs. D. is also a native of Pettis Count3\ Through
this marriage they have three children, all of whom ai'e living, viz: AUie

B., Ruble M, and John C. Mr. Durrelt has been engaged in farm-

ing and raising stock. He has also engaged extensively in feeding,

buying and selling of live-stock. He owns a fine farm of 480 acres of well

improved land. His residence is one of the finest in Washington Town-

ship, with out-buildings, barns, &c. Mr. Durrell stands high among his

neighbors, as an honorable business man, respected and esteemed wher-

ever he is known.

JOHN ELLIOTT.

A successful farmer of Washington Township. He is the son of Isaac

Elliott, who was a native of Kentucky. The grandfather, John Elliott,

a native of Virginia, was one of the first settlers of Kentucky. The subject

of this sketch was born in Woodford County, Ky., Mar. 9, 1822, and is the

second child in a famil}-- of five children. Mr. Elliott emigrated to Mis-

souri in the fall of 1835, settling in Pettis County, on what h known as

Flat Creek, where he has since resided. He was married March 22,

1842, to Miss Malinda Mitchell, a worthy lady and daughter of Wm.
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Mitchell, a native of Kentuck\'. From this union there were four children,

three of whom are livincr, viz: Elender, Isaac H., William M. Mrs.

Elliott dying he wis again married Aug. 22, 1848, to Mrs, Sarah L.

Owens, a daughter of Daniel Ramey, a native of Kentucky. From this

union there are eight children, all of whom are living, viz: Jane, Eliza-

beth, James R., Daniel, Jaile, John, Gertrude and Sarah A. Since Mr.

Elliott has been a resident of Pettis County he has been engaged in

farming and stock raising. He owns a fine farm of four hundred acres,

located in section twenty; it extends to the rich fertile lands of Flat Creek.

His home farm is well improved; and should he so desire he possesses

enough of this world's goods to pass the remainder of his days in t?ase

and retirement.

E. H. HALL.

We could not write the biographical sketches of the prominent citi-

zens of Washington Township and do justice to her worthy men
without mentioning E. H. Hall. He is the son of Amos H. Hall, who
was a native of New York, and a soldier in the Mexican war. And the

grandfather was a soldier in the Revolutionary war, and was made
a prisoner b}'^ the Mother Countr}-. After peace had been declared

between the Mother Country and the Colonies the grandfather returned

to his home in New York, and was a practitioner of medicine for many
years. The subject of this sketch was born in Greene County, N. Y.,

Dec. 13, 1823. He received a good education from the schools of his

native State. In the spring of 1854 Mr. Hall'moved to Illinois. Here he

remained for about two years, then moved to Missouri, settling in the

southwestern part of Pettis County, where he has since resided. Mr.

Hall was married Jan. 17, 1861, to Miss Sallie A. Moore, a native of

Cooper County, Mo. From this union there were six children, only one of

whom is now living, viz: Willie. Since Mr. Hall's residence in Pettis

County he has principall}^ been engaged in farming, and the raising ot

stock. He is a man of perserverance and energy, and in business has

been very successful. Like many other good men, he has had some

reverses; one of his was the payment of a large security debt of a

worthless neighbor. Notwithstanding these reverses he is yet a man of

ample means, and owns a fine farm where he resides of three hundred

and twenty-six acres, and other lands to the amount of one hundred and

forty acres. His home farm is well improved, the dwelling is a large
substantial brick, one of the finest dwellings in the township. His barns

are also of the largest and best to be found in this part of the county.

HARVEY HAND, Sr.

Post-office, Ionia City. Is the son of Gideon Hand, a native of New
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York, but who moved to Ohio at an early day, settUng in Butler County,
where he lived until his death. The subject of this sketch was born in

Butler County, Ohio, Nov. 4, 1826, and is the fourth child in a family of

six children. He received his education in the schools of his native county.

In the fall of 1849 Mr. Hand moved to Missouri, settling in Benton County,
and the vear following he went to California, as many others did at that

time, in search of glittering gold. He remained in California about one

and a half years, when he returned to his former home in Benton Count}'^,

where he remained until the spring of 1879, when he moved his family

into the adjoining County—Pettis. He was married in the year 1848

to Miss Narcissus Berry, a native of Kentucky. From this union there

were ten children, six of whom are Hving, viz: Wm. E., Isabella, Asa,

Harvey, Joseph and Jennie. Mrs. Hand dying, he was again married

Sept. 3, 1865, to Miss Frances E. Cook, an accomplished and most esti-

mable lady, the daughter of Capt. A. H. W. Cook, who organized one of

the first companies of home guards that were formed in this part of the

State. Tnis company was stationed two miles east of Cole Camp, when

an assault was made upon them and between thirty and forty of their

nvmiber were wounded and slain, and the remainder dispersed. Then on

the 7th day of November, Capt. Cook was made a prisoner by a squad of

bushwhackers and killed, near Leesville, in Henry County. From this

marriage between Mr. Hand and Miss Cook there were eight children,

six of whom are now living, viz: Fredrick H., Edward A., Arthur J.

and Anson E. (twins), Robert L..and the baby. Since Mr. Hand's resi-

dence in Pettis County, he has been engaged in farming and stock-raising.

He owns a fine farm of 200 acres, well improved, with a fine residence

and other buildings. This farm is beautifully located on the southern

boundarv of Pettis Countv.

R. I. HATTON.

Post-office, Green Ridge. One of the most prosperous young men of

Southern Pettis County is the subject of this sketch, R. I. Hatton. He is

the son of J. C. Hatton, a native of Tennessee, but who moved to Mis-

souri in an early day. R. I. is a native of Pettis County, and was born

March 20, 1859, in the southern part of this county. He received a prac-

tical education from the schools of his native county. Mr. Hatton was

married Feb. 19, 1877, to Miss Rebecca Warren, a native of Kentucky.
From this union there is one child, Casper. Since Mr. Hatton has been a

man doing business for himself, he has been engaged in farming and the

raising of stock. He owns a fine farm of 330 acres, with a fine dwelling, a

large barn and other out-buildings. Mr. Hatton, by his straight-forward,

upright dealing, has many friends, who speak of him in the highest terms
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and we prophesy for him a high position among the leading men of

the county.

JESSE F. HOWE.

Post-office, Ionia Cit\'. Among the young men of this township none

are more worthy of mention than Jesse F. Howe. He is the son

of John Howe, a native of Kentucky. The grandfather was a soldier

in the war of 1812. The subject of this sketch was born in Shelby

County, Mo., Sept, 30, IS-tS, and is the oldest child in a family of eight

children. He received a primary education in the common schools of his

native count}-, completing his education in the High School of Shelbina,

Mo. In the spring of 1873, Mr. Howe moved his family from Shelby

County to Pettis County, locating in the southern part of the county
where he has since resided. He was married Sept. 24, 1872, to Miss

Mar}' Rogers, a daughter of Jonathan Rogers, a native of Pennsyl-
vania. From this union there are four children, viz: George W., Minta

E., Mary B. and Charles O. Since Mr. Howe has been grown, he has

been engaged principally during the winter seasons teaching in the

public schools of Shelby and Pettis Counties, and during the summer,
he is engaged on his farm. He owns a farm of 400 acres, and a finer

one is not found in southern Pettis County. It is well improved, with

residence, barn and other buildings. This farm is excellently adapted to

agriculture or grazing. Mr. H. has on his farm from lOO to 125 head

of cattle, and other stock in proportion. Mr. Howe is popular with his

fellow citizens, having tilled the office of justice for four years. In politics

Mr. Howe is a Democrat, and in religion he and his estimable ladv are

members of the Methodist Protestant Church.

ISAAC HECK.

Post-office, Green Ridge. Is the son of Jacob Hec k, who was a native

of Pennsylvania, and with his two brothers and father fought on the side

of the colonies during the Revolutionary war. The subject of this sketch

was born in Shelby County, Ind., Feb 7, 1832, and is the tenth child in a

family of eleven children, all of whom are living at the present time. He
received a liberal education from the common schools of his native State.

In the fall of 1869, Mr. Heck moved his family to White County, Ind.,

where he remained seven years; then in the fall of 1875 Mr. Heck emi-

grated to Missouri, settling in the southern part of Pettis Count}', where

he has since resided. Mr. Heck was married March 1, 1855, to Miss

Margaret Yoe, a daughter of John Yoe, a native of Pennsylvania. Mrs.

H. is a native of Ohio. From this union there were nine children, four of

whom are now living, viz: James A., Joseph H., Malinda and Nina C.

Since Mr. H.'s residence in Pettis County, he has been engaged in farm-
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in^ and the raising of stock. He owns a line farm of 276 acres, well

improved, with a fine large residence, barn and other out buildings. Mr.

Heck is a whole souled, liberal hearted man. In business he is strictly

honorable, enjoying the confidence of all.

F. H. LAUGING.

Post-office, Sedalia. No farmer of Washington Township is more

deserving a notice in this work than the subject of this sketch. He is the

son of Earnest H. Lauging, a native of Germany, but who emigrated to

the United States in the year ] 845, settling in St. Charles County, Mo.,

where he lived until his death which occurred in Oct., 1847. The subject

of this sketch was born in Hanover, Germany, iJec. 22, 1826. He
received his education in the schools of his native country. Mr. Lauging
came to the United States with his father's family in 1845, and with

them settled in St. Charles County. In the winter of 1854, Mr. L. moved
his family to Bates Count}', where he remained until the spring of 1862,

when he moved to Pettis County, settling near where he now resides.

He enlisted in the cause of the Union in the fall of 1861, but owing to

disabilities he only remained in the service about one year. Mr. Lauging
was married Jan. 10, 1852, to Miss Elizabeth Klostermeier, a native of

Germany. From this marriage there are three children, viz: John H.,

Caroline and Mary, all of whom are living at home with their father.

Since Mr. L. has been living in Pettis County, he has been engaged in

farming. He owns a large farm of 825 acres, under a high state of

cultivation. To Mr. Lauging's credit, it can be truthfully said that this

large farm is the fruit of his own industry and economy.

C. L. MORRIS.

Post-office, Green Ridge. One of the old settlers of Washington

Township is the subject of this sketch. He is the son of Chastine L.

Morris, who was a native of Tennessee, His grandfather, Thomas Mor-

ris, was a soldier in the Revolutionary war. The subject of this sketch

was born in Grainger County, Tenn., Feb. 24, 1818, and is the only child

of his father's family. His advantages for an education were limited,

there being but few schools at that early day. In December, 1841, Mr.

Morris emigrated to Missouri, settling in Vernon County, where he

remained until the spring of 1865, when he moved to Pettis County, set-

tling in the southwestern part of the county, where he has since resided.

Mr. Morris was married July 29, 1851, to Miss Jane Summers, a daughter
of Jesse Summers, a native of Kentucky. From this union there are seven

children, all of whom are living, viz: Helen M., William W., Newton J.,

Jasper N., Chastine L., Lucy L. and Jennie J. Since Mr. Morris' resi-

dence in Pettis County, he has been engaged in farming and stock-raising.
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He owns a fine farm of 36U acres, well improved, with a commodious

residence, barn and other out-bmldings. Mr. Morris, as a man, is highl}^

spoken of by his neighbors as being honorable and upright in all his

dealings.

T. A. NELSON.

Another of the township's old and worthy citizens is the subject of this

sketch, Mr. T. A. Nelson. He is the son of Thomas H. Nelson, a native

of Fauquier County, Va. T. A. was born in Fauquier County, Va., Dec.

32, 1835. He received a practical education in the schools of his native

county. In the fall of 1871, Mr. Nelson emigrated to Missouri, settling

in Pettis County, and in the spring of the next 3^ear he moved his family
to this township, where he has since resided. In the spring of 1862, Mr.

Nelson enlisted as a soldier in the cause of the Confederacy, serving until

the close of the war in the Sixth Virginia Cavalry, under Colonel Flournoy.
Mr. N. was in some of the hard fought battles of the war. He was
at the battle of Brandon Station, the second battle of Manassas, Gettys-

burg, and he was wounded in a saber fight at Fairfield, Penn. He was
taken prisoner on the 19th day of July, and was held for nineteen months,
when peace was declared. Mr. N. returned to his home in Virginia
where he remained until he came to Missouri. He was married Sept. 19,

1857, to Miss Fannie E. Frances, a daughter of R. H. Frances, of Fau-

quier County, Va. From this union there are eight children living, viz:

Henry H., Quincy M., Thomas J., Hugh R., Norman L., Julian F., Vir-

gin and Marmaduke. Since Mr. Nelson's residence in Pettis County, he

has been engaged in stock raising. He owns a beautiful little farm of 102

acres, with new dwelling, and other improvements.

JAMES M. PURCELL.

Post-office, Ionia City. Is the son of Andrew Purcell, who is a native

of Indiana. The grandfather on the mother's side was a soldier in the

War of 1812. The subject of this sketch was born in Marion County,
111., Oct. 26, 1842, and is the second child in a family of three children.

He re.ceived his education principally fi'om the schools of Iowa. In the

spring of 1817 Mr. Purcell's father moved his family to Ft. Madison, Iowa,

where they remained for about three years, when the father moved to

Benton County, Mo. Then, in the spring of 1878, the famil}- moved to

Pettis County, locating near Windsor, where the family has since resided.

The son moved to Washington Township in the spring of 1878, where he

has since resided. He was married Jan. 29, 1864, to Miss Lucinda Fer-

gurson, a daughter of Isaac Fergurson, a native of Missouri, and from

this union there are seven children, three of whom are now living, viz:

Mary M., Isaac S. and George. In the spring of J 862 he enlisted in the
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cause of the Union, under Col. Philips, remaining for about seven months.

He afterwards re-enlisted, in 1864, in the Forty-fifth Missouri, under Col.

Weer, of Boonville. He, with his regiment, participated in the battle at

Jefferson City. Since Mr. Purcell's residence in Pettis County he has

been engaged in farming and the raising of stock. He owns a fine farm

of 245 acres, well improved. He has upon his farm from fifty to sixty

head of cattle, and other stock in proportion. In politics Mr. Purcell is a

Republican, and in religion he and his wife are members of the Methodist

Protestant Church.

WILLIAM RIDENOUR,

Post-office, Green Ridge. Is the son of Daniel Ridenour, vvlio was a

native of Pennsylvania, but who was taken to Ohio when he was quite

young. Mr. Wm. Ridenour was born in Jefterson County, Ohio, March

32, 1822. His advantages for an education were limited. In those days
schools in Ohio were very sparsely located, and many of the children had

to trudge through mud and snow three and four milles to reach them.

Indeed Mr. Ridenour lived so remote from schools that he was about fif-

teen years old before he saw such a building, and when that pleasure was

granted him he only saw a log hut, which was in every respect in keeping
with the pioneer days of 1830. It was in the spring of 1843 that Mr.

Ridenour and wife, then young people, started on their journey west-

ward. They stopped in Indiana, where they remained until the summer
of 1869, when he moved to Missouri, settling in the southwestern part of

Pettis County, where he has since resided. Mr. Ridenour was married

Dec. 15, 1842, to Miss Elizabeth J. Murphy, a daughter of Phillip Mur-

phy, a native of Pennsj'lvania and a soldier of the War of 1812. Mrs.

Ridenour is also a native of Pennsylvania. From this union there were

nine children, seven of whom are now living, viz: Daniel M., Margaret

R., John P., David S., Elizabeth M., Joseph F. and Eliza E., all of whom
are now married, excepting the youngest son, Joseph, and living near the

father. Since Mr. Ridenour's residence in Pettis County he has been

engaged in farming and the raising of stock. He owns a fine farm of 148

acres, well improved and under a high state of cultivation. Mr. Ride-

nour is a man highly respected among his neighbors, and sustains an hon-

orable name.

ADOLPH RIECKE.

Post-office, Ionia City. One of the most prosperous business men of

southern Pettis County is Adolph Riecke, who is the son of Gottlieb

Riecke, a native of German}'. The subject of our present writing was

born in Germany, April 8, 1847, and is the seventh child in a family of ten

children. He received his education in the schools of his native country.
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In June, 1867, Mr. Riecke emifrrated to America, landing at New York,
but soon afterwards settling in Philadelphia, where he remained until the

spring of 1870, when he moved to Missouri, settling at Sedalia, where he

engaged in the meat business until the spring of 1880, when he moved to

the southern part of the county, where he bought a fine farm, engaging in

farming and the stock business. Mr. Riecke was married May 18, 187.">,

to Miss Charlotte Knaak, a daughter of August Knaak, a native of Ger-

many. Mrs. Riecke is also a native of Germany. From this union there

were four children, three of whom are yet living, viz: Amanda, Olga
and Ella. Mr. Riecke owns a beautiful farm of biO acres, well improved
and well adapted for the purposes of farming and grazing.

JOSEPH UPTON.

Among the worthy citizens of Washington Township we find the sub-

ject of this sketch, Joseph Upton, an Englisiiman by birth, and educated

in the schools of his native country. He was born December 1, 184-1, and

is the fourth child in a famih' of eight children, all of whom are living in

the United States. Mr. Upton emigrated to this country in April, 1872,

landing at New York, where he remained but a short time, then started

for the great west, where he expected to make his home. He settled in

Pettis County, buying land in the southwestern part of the county, where

he has since resided. Mr. Upton was married first in his native country
to Miss Sarah A. Upton. From this union there are four children, all of

whom are living, viz: William J., Joseph, Albert J. and Sarah A. Mrs.

Upton dying, he was again married Sept. 11, 1877, to Miss Margaret R.

Ridenour, daughter of William Ridenour, of Pettis County. From this

marriage there are no children. Since Mr. Upton's residence in Pettis

County he has been engaged in farming, and by his own industry and

frugality he is becoming wealthy. He is alread\- the owner of a fine farm

of two hundred and twenty-eight acres, on which farm Mr. Upton raises

as fine crops as there are in Pettis County.

WILLIAM WARREN.
Is the son of Thomas Warren, a native of Kentucky. The subject of

this sketch was born in Clark County, Ky., April 21, 1826, and is the

thn-d child in a family of seven children. He received a liberal education

from the schools of his native county. In the fall of 1856 Mr. Warren

emigrated to Missouri, settling in the southwestern part of Pettis County,

where he has since resided. He was married May 8, 1841>, to Miss

Malinda J. Tribble, daughter ofJohn Tribble, a native of Kentuck}-. Mrs.

Warren is also a native of Kentuck}-. From this union there were eight

children, seven of whom arenovv living, viz: James T., William F., John

C, Geo. W., Langdon, Almeta and Annie I). During the earlier years
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of Mr. Warren's residence in Pettis County he was engaged in teaching
in the public schools. After which he embarked in the mercantile busi-

ness, continuing in this until the spring of 1882. He has also been

engaged in farming. He owns a fine farm of two hundred acres, where
he resides; also a small tract of land in Benton County.

SAMUEL J. WILSON.

Is the son of Wm. Wilson, who was a native of Indiana. The grand-
father, James Wilson, was a soldier in the Revolutionary war, and also a

soldier in the war of 1812. Samuel was born in Hancock County, Ind.,

Sept. 19, 1839, and is the eldest child in a family of five children. His

advantages for an education were limited. In the fall of 1847 Mr. Wilson

moved to Illinois, settling in Bond County ot that State, where he remained

until 1867, when he moved to Missouri, settling in Pettis County, where
he has since resided. He was married first to Miss Rachel Boyd, a native

of Illinois, Dec. 4, 1856. From this union there were four children, only
two of whom are now living, viz: Ivorinda and Delia. Mrs. Wilson

dying, Mr. Wilson was again married Feb. 20, 1878, to Mrs. Martha

Wright, a native of Missouri. From this union there are two children, viz:

Minnie and Arthur. Since he has been a resident of Pettis County he

has been engaged in farming and the raising of stock. He owns a fine

farm of one hundred and eighty acres, well improved and under a good
state of cultivation. In religion, Mr. Wilson and his wife are members of

the Baptist Church.

CHAPTER XXV.—FLAT CREEK TOWNSHIP.

Introduction—Name—Celebrity of Name—Organization—Physical Features—Streams of

Water— Railroad — Early Settlers—Early Schools and Meetings—Agriculture—
Churches—Schools—Incidents—Biographical.

From the beauties and grandeurs of nature to the curiosities and won-
ders of art, we see everywhere that the tooth of time has torn away some

fragment of what some one has once admired. Many a splint from a

curious noted tree that stands no longer is preserved in some cabinet.

The wild grasses that once supplied the deer, buftalo, antelope and elk,

as the}' fed and wandered over nature's unmolested pasture have

changed, and perhaps never more take the form of its wild nature. The
animals that once grazed on these boundless prairies have given place to

those of a domestic nature. Where once the tall grass grew and the

fiery flatnes annually visited, now 'is the dense grove of beautiful slim

saplings whose bark shines like silver. The sturdy pioneers who first set

their tent stake here, silently sleep where their sons and daughters breathe
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above them a different atmosphere. A chanoje in politics, religion and

the government of the home circle now pervades their homes. Perhaps
there are but few who have lived half a century, but can note great

changes; and often the spirit of the age advances with the individual. To
keep pace with progress requires considerable diligence.

In the following sketch of this township we shall endeavor as best we can

to present facts rather than formulated theories. In the physical features

of the township we shall endeavor to present a fair synopsis of what nature

has here done. In statistics and population we will present such facts of

changes as we deem most important and interesting to the community
for which this sketch is more specially written. Under the head of "old

settlers" we shall give all that is accessible and pertinent, and justly due

those who have stood the trials and turmoils of a pioneer home. Those
who have made history deserve a name in this volume, that generations
hence may know who they were who first tilled the soil and opened up
the way for the}- prosperity they enjoy. Such historical events and dates

as are preserved, will be given on roads and post-offices, and an elaborate

notice of the churches and schools, from the pioneer days down to the

present. Agriculture, stock raising, and the future outlook of the town-

ship will be carefully noticed. In giving what we have diligently pro-

cured, to the public, we are aware that there are yet historic facts that are

not within our reach. Enough, however, is given to preserve in the

memory of those yet to live the noble founders of this township.

Name.—There are but few places that have no historic connection with

their names. Through a search of means at our disposal we have been

unable to find record of the person who gave the name to this township.
It perhaps derives its name from the principal stream flowing on its

northern borders and across the northwest corner through two sections.

How the creek from which it takes its name came to be called Flat Creek
is hard to tell, unless from its flat, gravely smooth bottom. There is

nothing more about it that would suggest the name of "flat." Its banks

are in many places high and mostly covered with a luxuriant growth of

timber and all along with brush.

Organization.—Flat Creek was organized into a municipal township^
with the rest of Pettis County, when the question of organization was

voted on in 1872. It has been increased from the congressional township
of thirty-six square miles, to something over fort3^-four, by the taking otV

of the southern part of Sedalia Township, and making the creek the

dividing line between the two townships. The first township board

was: J. C. Ilatton, W. M. Devole, and M. Parish. O. P. Hatton

was the first township trustee, and Jacob A. Yankee was clerk. The
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present voting precinct in the township is at Walnut school house, district

No. one, section eleven.

Configuration.—The form of the township is almost a parallelogram.
The northern end being bounded by the creek is irregular. The town-

ship contains forty-eight full sections, and a number of fractions, bringing
the whole up to nearly or quite fifty sections of land. In the west, south

and east part of the township the land is high rolling prairie. The north

is more broken, being near the creek and is well supplied with timber;
still the farming land is as beautiful as can be found anywhere in the

county.
The laud in the township is as we have said principally high rolling

prairie, and nearly every acre is elegant farming land. The streams are

all timbered along their banks, thus affording plenty of fuel. There are no

coal mines in the township, and but little rock is quarried, and that is of the

limestone and cottonwood varieties. Tlie principal streams of water run-

ning through the township are the one from which it takes its name,

through the northwestern corner, Spring Fork through the center, and

Walnut Branch in the east. The last two empty into Flat Creek, the for-

mer in the northern part of the township, and the latter in section thirty
of Lake Creek Township. These creeks are for the most part fed by
springs, and even during the dry seasons afford water sufficient for stock.

In their course they are each, as we have said, followed by belts of timber.

Early Settlers.—The early settlers of the township have mostly

passed away. But very few remain to tell the interesting story of

their early experiences to interested listeners. They were mostly from

Virginia, Kentucky and North Carolina, and the blood of some of the

best families of those States still courses through the veins of their lineal

descendants. They were always modest, pleasant in argument, noble and

wise in decision, strong in firmness, valorous in deeds of kindness, aftec-

tionate to wives and families, and mostl}' consistent and scrupulous chris-

tians.

The early times were famous for their grand hunts and whenever these

pioneers wished to lay in a stock of choice meat, all they had to do was
to shoulder their trust}' rifles and spend half a day in the unbroken wilds

and return laden with the choicest of venison. The want of mills and

other modern innovations were not felt severely then. When meal was

wanted, if it were impossible to get to mill, corn could be beaten in a

mortar, or the good old-fashioned lye hominy, made in a short time by the

frugal house wife. Some of the pioneers of this township were: George
Cathay who settled here in 1827. He came from North Carolina, and for

years made his home in this section. Joseph DeFord came from Ken-

tucky in 1829. John McFatrick, came in 1830 from Kentucky. All



HISTORY OF FLAT CREEK TOWNSHIP. 1081

three have long ago past to their final rest David Holmes came in 1833,

from South Carolina, and remained in the township a number of 3'ears,

but with the breaking out of the California fever he, like many others

thought he could better his condition by removing from Missouri to the

golden shores of the Pacific, and is now in Oregon. John Brow came in

in 1833 from the same State, as did also George Marshall in the same

year, and from the same State. They are now dead. Jolly Parish

moved to this township in 1833, from Kentuckv. Also in the same year
came Benjamin Randall, from the same vState, and in 1S35, Pemberton

Casin, and in 1839, Elias Hale. All of these were from Kentuckv, and

are now dead. In 1835, Jacob Yankee came to this township from tiie

" Blue Grass State," and still resides in this township. Col. John E.

Crawford came to this township in 1838, and still resides on section four,

township forty-four, range twenty-one. He is eight}' years old, and is

probably the oldest person living in the township. He came with his

family when there were only seven or eight houses in the township, and

those were on the south side of the creek, and were all made of logs with

sticks and clay chimneys. Mathias Ray came into the county and settled

in this township in the year of 1840, from Kentuck}-. He still resides in

this township, a respected citizen. Abram McCormick came in 1833

from Kentucky. James McCormick came from Kentucky in 1833.

William R. Anderson came to the township in 1833, from Virginia.

Thomas Gibbs came in 1830 from Kentuck}-. Joseph Deusman came in

1833 from Kentucky. William Mosbev settled in this township in 1833.

He came from Kentucky. Michael Goodnight came in 1835, and George

Mi.iy came in 1836, both from Kentuckv, and all the last named are now
dead.

Flat Creek Township was sectionized in 1832, the Government Sur-

veyor being Mr. Shields. The first school was taught by R. A. McFar-

land, on his own farm. The first marriage in the township was Henrv
Small to Nancy Mosby in the year 1830, and the first death was that of

Samuel Marshall in the year 1836. The first administrator's sale was in

the 3^ear 1836. The first minister was Rev. Millice, who held services at

Abram McCormick's and W. R. Anderson's houses. The first church

was erected at what is called Brown's Springs, and the first Sunday School

was held on Col. J. E. Crawford's farm. Judge Yankee was the super-

intendent. The first school house erected in the townsliip was on Col.

Crawford's farm; this was after school districts were organized. This

was a rude structure built of logs, and had the uncovered ground for a

floor. After a while another was erected and for years these were the

only two school houses in the township and were also used for church

worship. The first physician to locate in the township was Dr. Brown.

The first post-office was called Spring Fork, and J. E. Crawford was
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postmaster. In 1847 the township recorded its first suicide. In that

year a man named Calvin Hall hung himself, and since that date there

has been no other in the township.

Enterprises and Industries.—The leading and most profitable busi-

ness of the township is agriculture and stock raising. The deep limestone

soils are practicably inexhaustible. Wheat has nearl}^ always done well

here; there being but two failures of crop recorded. Even in dry seasons,

by stirring the ground, a sufficient amount of moisture is produced to raise

crops. Timothy and clover yield well. The average yield of wheat is

eighteen to twenty-five bushels per acre, and corn from forty-five to seventy.

Hemp, and large fields of flax are raised, and timothy hay averages three

tons per acre, in a fair year. There are fine blue grass pastures in the

township and many of them are those that have grown up without an

eftbrt on the part of owners. On these, horses, cattle and sheep can be

pastured at all seasons of the year without injury to the grasses. Vine-

yards do well wherever cultivated and proper care is taken of them.

There are some fine orchards in the township, but the worst enemy they
have to contend with is the insects which, in one or two instances have

injured old orchards, but each year a surplus is produced. Some farmers

are paying attention to small fruit, with marked success. Water in wells

is obtained by going down from twent\' to sixty-five feet, and when
reached is of the best quality. There are numerous large farms in the

township and many fine herds of cattle and sheep are owned by the sub-

stantial husbandmen. Among the leading herds of cattle in the township,

is that of John E. Ferguson and fath r. Since the narrow gauge railroad

came through it has opened up to the farmers conveniences in shipping by

placing them in close connection with Sedalia and other points south and

east. In the amount and value of its productions. Flat Creek ranks equal
to any in the county, and the area of tillable land is all fenced into farms

ranging from $25.00 to $50.00 per acre.

Churches.—There are in the township two churches, the M. E. South,

and the Bethlehem Baptist, both good congregations.
The M. E. Church, South, is situated seven miles south of Sedalia, and

was organized in 1840, the class leaders being George Marshall and wife,

Mrs. D. Anderson and others. They now occupy a commodious frame

building erected at a cost of $1,000, in -1878, by James C. Hatton, W. P.

Anderson, I. Elliott and W. H. Anderson, and it was dedicated in 1878 by
Rev. C. C. Woods. The building is a frame, thirty-six feet long and

twentj^-four feet wide. The original members of the class were Geo.

Marshall and wife, W. R. Ande-rson and wife, Jacob Yankee, W. H. and

W. P. Anderson and families, and Absalom Elliott and family. The pres-

ent membership of the church is sixty. The pastors who have occupied
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the pulpit up to the present time are Revs. Josiah Godby, Robert A.

Allen, A. C . Brio-gs, John N. Anthony, Preston Philips, presiding elder.

The church has connected with it a flourishing Sunday School, with an

average attendance of thirty, of which W. H. Anderson is Superintendent,
and James C. Hatton is Secretary. The church owns two acres of land

on which it stands, and part of this land is used for cemetery purposes.
Bethlehem Baptist Church is situated on section four, township forty-

four, range twenty-one, or in the northern part of the township. It was

organized June 7, 18.51, by Elder G. W. Sands and Deacon J. E. Craw-

ford. The first house of worship was erected in 1860, at a cost of $1,000,

by Henry Ebiling, and was dedicated on the 27th of May, the same year,

by Elder C. J. Teas, who preached from the second chapter of Ephesians
21st and 22d verses. The second house was erected in 1870 by Mr. Smith,
and cost when completed $1,800. It was dedicated the fourth Sunday
in November, 1870, by Elder R. H. Harris, whose dedicatory sermon was
from the text: "In the name of God we set up our banner." Both were

frame buildings and both comfortably furnished. The size is 30x48 feet,

and 14 foot ceiling. The original congregation consisted of Thomas
Richardson, Rhoda Richardson, M. Chaney, Margaret J. Chaney, Lucy
Johnson, Jno. E. Crawford, Sarilda J. Crawford, Chris. C. Crawford,

Nancy Harve}^, Elizabeth Warren, Lydia Warren, Mary Warren, and

Aunty Molly, a sister of color. The pastors who have filled the pulpits

are Revs. G. W. Sands, B.F. Goodwin, W. P. C. Caldwell, B. F. Thomas,
E. H. Burchfield, J. Gott, R. H. Harris, Jno. Letts, Wm. H. Rodgers,
William V. Parsons, J. K. Godby. There are at present about 100 con-

nected with the church, but in all about 300 names appear on the church

books. Of these, many have been removed by death, and sleep the last

quiet sleep in the church 3'^ard of their loved worshiping place. Many
more have gone to other parts of the country, scattering the seeds of kind-

ness that were here first implanted in "their souls, while yet a few others

have listened to the voice of the tempter and glided back into the rough
and tempestuous sea of life, and away from those who had been to them

like the good shepherd, watching and tending with care lest their feet

should strike the stones and rough places, and they should be turned away
from the way that leads to life eternal. At present there is no Sunday
School connected with the church, though during the summer and fall

months there is generally a good one. There have been some good revi-

vals of the work of religion since the church was organized. One closed

on the 8th of November, 1874, conducted by Revs. B. T. Thomas, Bap-
tist, and Joseph Godby, Methodist. After continuing seventeen days,
it resulted in the conversion of over sixty persons. Another in 1879

was conducted by Rev. Wm. V. Parsons, and lasted sixteen days, and

resulted in forty-six conversions and thirty-five additions to the church.
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The house erected in 1860 was destroyed by fire on Au^. 1, 1870. The
fire was incendiary in its origin. The second now stands in good repair
on the same spot occupied by the first one.

Schools.—There are at present five schools in the township. There is,

however, talk of establishing another private school at the little station of

Gailey, on the narrow gauge road. At this writing only two of the schools

are in session. The school houses are mostly substantial frame buildings,
surrounded with shade and ornamental trees. But two of them have
summer terms. Wages range from $30 to $3.5.

Incidents and Reminiscences.—The most severe wind storm that

has passed over this section was in the summer of 1880, and came from

the west. It leveled all fences running north and south, and many trees

were blown down and some few houses destroyed. Prairie fires were
common in early days, and every fall they would not only destrov the rank

vegetation of the prairie, but frequently the meager products of the farms.

Many times lightning has struck in the neighborhoods of the township,
once setting a school house on fire, and again striking Bethlehem Church
and knocking a hole through the roof, but not otherwise materially injur-

ing it. Shortly after the war Aikins Mackey was murdered bv parties

unknown. This was in the times when excitement ran very high.
An amusing incident is related of an Indian scare in the early days,

through not only this particular township but also clear down to Boonville.

It is this: Three men were out hunting in what is now Bates County,
while yet the Indians were pretty thick through these parts. One in the

party pretended to be very brave, and the other two made up their minds

to give him a scare and a lesson at the same time. They started out in

the morning ostensibly for a hunt, but going only a short distance, turned

round and dashed into camp with a war whoop that frightened their com-

panion so badly that he started on a- bee line for the thickly settled por-

tions, raising the alarm of Indians, wherever he passed. It is said he did

not stop running until he reached Boonville. They of course followed

after and quieted the alarm, but never after that was he heard to brag of

his gre.at courage.

The British Officer.—An interesting bit of history may be found

in the following: "In the year 1818, Joseph Stephens, who died in 1836,

Major Stephen Cole and William Ross, started west on a hunting and

exploring tour, and traveled as far as the psesent site of Knobnoster

Johnson County. At that time all the country west of the present boun-

dary line of Cooper County was a wilderness, but few persons living

in it. About six miles southeast of the present site of Sedalia, in Pettis

County, on the farm then owned by a man named Warner, near Flat

Creek, they discovered what appeared to be a large, high and peculiarl}''
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shaped Indian Mound. They examined it closely and found on one side

that the wolves had scratched an openin<j into it. After enlarging it so as

to admit them, they beheld a remarkable sight. They found themselves

in a room about eight feet square, with a ceiling of logs, just high enougli
to permit a tall man to stand erect. On the side opposite where they had

entered, sat an officer, dressed in full military uniform, with gold epaulettes

upon his shoulders, gold lace fringing every seam of his coat, cocked mili-

tary hat, knee breeches, lace stockings, and morocco slippers. As he sat

erect, upon a seat hewn out of a log, nothing but the ghastly hue and

leathery appearance of his skin would have suggested that he was not alive

B}^ his side stood a heavy gold-headed cane. His features were complete,
and his flesh free from decay, though dried to the consistency of leather.

The place in which the body was found was very peculiar. A place about

eight feet square and two feet deep had been dug in the earth. The sides

had been walled up with sod until it was high enough for the purpose,

reaching several feet above the surface of the ground. The top was then

covered with poles, which ran up to a point in the center, like the roof of

a house. Then the poles and surrounding walls were covered with sod

two or three feet deep, cut from the prairie near by, thus excluding entirely

the rain and air. When they left the place William Ross, being the old-

est man of the party, took the cane as a memento, but nothing else was
touched.

"Who this officer was, from whence he came, what he was doing in this

part of the country, what was the cause of his death and by whom he

was thus singularly entombed, has not, and perhaps never will be known.

But he was supposed by many to be a British officer, who, during the

war of 1812 passed round by the way of Canada, into the Indian country,
to incite the Indians against the whites. Yet this is only conjecture,

though those who discovered his body account for it in that way.
"Soon after this, Joseph Stephens, Sr., now living near Petersburg, on

the O. V. & S. K. Railroad, in company with James D. Campbell, went

into that part of the country bee-hunting, and visited the burial place of

this officer. They found that part of the roof had fallen in, and that the

wolves had eaten all the flesh off the body, so that nothing but the skele-

ton and clothes remained. Joseph Stephens took the epaulettes, as a

memento, but nothing else was disturbed. As his mother objected to his

keeping the epaulettes, he melted them into a large ball, which was worth

fifteen or twenty dollars, as it was solid gold. This description of the burial

place was obtained from the last mentioned, Joseph Stephens, and is cor-

rect^ although several different accounts have been published."

56
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J. P. CARLIN.

Was born in Washing-ton County, Ohio, in the year ISii. His parents
were natives of Westmoreland County, Penn. When the civil war broke
out he offered himself as a soldier and was accepted and mustered into

the 7Sth Ohio Vol. Infantry, which regiment was consolidated with

the 125th Regiment of Ohio Vol. Infantry, Col. Updyke commanding.
He was engaged in active service during his soldier life, going first to

Louisville, thence to Ft. Donelson, Nashville, Franklin, (at which place

they had three or four very hard battles) Spring Hill, Pelham, Hillsboro,

Murfreesboro, Chickamauga, (from which battles he carried several holes

in his clothing, as well as having his knapsack shot off his back) and at

Mission Ridge, where he received a severe gun-shot wound in the thigh

joint, completely disabling him, so that, after his recovering sufficiently', he

was mustered out and allowed to go home on the account of his disability.

He was an exemplary soldier and a brave man, commanding the highest

respect and esteem of all his superior officers. He was married Oct. 7,

1866, to Elizabeth Pumphrey of Licking County, Ohio, and emigrated to

the State of Missouri, in the year of 1868, and located twelve miles south-

west of Sedalia, in Flat Creek Township, on a beautiful rolling prairie

larm of 150 acres, all of which is under fence. He has a beautiful meadow
and pasture, consisting of forty acres. He cultivates about 100 acres

every year. He has a fine herd of forty cattle, led by ten or twelve

Short Horns of superior breeding. He breeds pure Berkshires, has a

good line of horses, led by a superb Norman stallion, seventeen hands

high, a dapple gra}', and weighs 1,700 pounds. Many of his colts have

taken the first premium at our county fairs. Also has a fine
" Maltese

Jack," four years old. He is a lover of fine stock, and one of the best far-

mers m the count}'. Mr. C. has four children living, and one dead: A. W.,
born Aug. 19, 1867; Leora M., October, 1869; Delia Pearl, April 18,

1873, and Cherry Sherman Elsworth, born Dec. 4, 1878. He lost his

wife June 3, 1879. She died of consumption. He married Feb. 15, 1881,

Ella C. Ham, daughter of Judge H. H. Ham, Sr., of Benton Count}'-, Mo.,
born April 15, 1860, she having five brothers and three sisters living. Mr.
and Mrs. Carlin are known far and wide for their generosity and hospi-

tahty, ever extending acts of kindness to those standing most in need.

WILLIAM O. CRAWFORD.

Born in Cooper County in the year 1832. Removed to Pettis County
about the year 1840. Is a son of Col. J. E. Crawford. Was married in

the year 1855 to Miss E. J. Harvey, whose father was a native of Pennsyl-

vania, and was educated in Cincinnati, Ohio. Her father married in 1835,

Nancy Allison, of Cooper County, Mo. There are three brothers and
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three sisters of her father's family living. Mr. Crawford has five chil-

dren—two sons and three daughters: Nannie J., born April 8, 1858; Rosa

A., Dec. 11, 1862; James E., Jan. 23, 1866; Judge C, Sept. 27, 1868, and

William J., Dec. 1, 1873. He grows thirty-five bushels of corn, twelve

bushels of wheat and forty bushels of oats to the acre, and is a man of

irrepressible public spirit and unimpeachable honor, and for generosity and

hospitality lias no superior in the county.

COL. JOHN E. CRAWFORD.
Was born Sept. 24, 1802, in Cumberland County, K3\ His parents,

John Crawford and Martha Crawford, formerl}- Martha Robinson, emi-

grated from Cumberland County, Penn., to Kentucky in 1790. Mr.

Crawford's father died when he was eleven years of age. He had two

brothers and seven sisters. In March, 1827, he rode on horseback to

Missouri, and in 1828 went to the lead mines at Galena and in Wisconsin,

returning to St. Louis in the summer of 1829 in a flat-boat. He has been

twice married, first to Miss Elvira McFarland, of !Cooper County, Mo.,

by whom he has two children: Christopher C. and William O. His wafe

died in Henr}' County, Mo., Sept. 8, 1834. His second marriage was to

Miss Darilda J. Donnohue, belonging to a family of the first settlers in St.

Genevieve Count}-, Mo. By this union they have six children living.

Mr. Crawford settled within three miles of Georgetown when Pin Hook
was the county seat, before Georgetown was made the county seat. On
March 15, 1840, he removed to Spring Fork, six miles south of Sedalia.

Politically, he was a Whig till 1861, then a Republican. He served in the

Missouri State Legislature of 1842-3, when Sterling Price was speaker
and Claiborne F. Jackson was also a member. He voted for Thomas H.

Benton for United States Senator, and took a lively interest in marny of

the exciting campaigns ol" those days. In 1830 he was Adjutant of a reg-

iment and commissioned Colonel of the Forty-fourth Regiment, Fifth

Division Missouri Militia, May 28, 1839. He served as Captain of a vol-

unteer company in an expedition against the Mormons at Far West. Of

this company Jeremiah Odell was First Lieutenant, Geo. Douglass, Sec-

ond Lieutenant, and Wm. Gentry, Orderly Sergeant. George R. Smith,

Wm. K. Ramey, Samuel A. Powell and Chas. Cravens were among the

members of the company. They were held as minute men until the sur-

render of Joe Smith, the Mormon leader. He was raised by Scotch Pres-

byserian parents, but became a member of the Missionary Baptist Church

subsequent to 1840, and since then has been instrumental in building sev-.

eral churches. For many years he has been Deacon of the Bethlehem

Church, which is near his residence in Flat Creek Township. This

worthy pioneer, exemplary Christian and faithful citizen still lives to enjoy
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the fruits of his labors and see his children occupy positions of honor and

usefulness.

JONAS F. COOPER.
A clear-sighted, influential Virginian, born in Loudoun County, July 10,

1825; son ot'John and Magdalena Cooper, who were natives of Virginia;
his mother was born in 1798 and his father in 1799. His father died Oct.

28, 1874, and his mother Dec. 26, 1858. Mr. Cooper was married in the

year 1851 to Margaret A. Perry, of Morgan County, Va., whose parents
were also natives of that old State. He has six children living: Mary
A., born Nov. 26, 1852; Eliza V., born Oct. 18, 1855; Marcellus, born

May 27, 1862; John W., born April 17, 1865; Charles M., born Jan. 20,

18—
,
and James O., born Oct. 28, 1871:. He emigrated to Pettis County,

Mo., in 1861, locating on a farm ten miles south of Sedalia, consisting of

85f acres, 6f acres of which are timber; 79 acres under fence and in cul-

tivation, and fifteen acres of beautiful pasture. His farm is fenced with

good hedge and rail fences, has a fine orchard of choice apple, peach, pear
and cherry trees, with fine blackberries, quinces, grafted raspberries,

strawberries, etc. Does mixed farming on a successful basis. Keeps a

good line of cattle, hogs, horses and sheep. Mr. Cooper is an open-

hearted, generous and liberal-minded man, of sound judgment, quick per-

ception and genial temperament, a driving, go-ahead, enterprising farmer,
and commands the highest respect and esteem of all who know him.

W. M. DEVOLL.
The subject of this sketch was born in Noble County, Ohio, in the year

1840. He was married April 7, 1867, in Athens County, Ohio, to Eve-

line M. Mingus. He has one child living, Henry B., born Oct. 29, 1877;
two died of small pox. He served as a soldier in the late war. Enlisted

in June 1863 in First Ohio Heavy Artiller}^, and assigned to Company I,

Captain Lewis commanding. Was in several heavy engagements. Was
detailed into the mustering department as clerk on the muster rolls. Emi-

grated to Pettis County, Mo., in 1877, has a fine farm of eighty acres, all

under fence and in good cultivation, high rolling prairie and well watered.

He has built a magnificent residence with all the modern improvements
and fixtures necessary to happiness and comfort. Is an educated man, of

good business sagacity, clear, quick perception, ripe judgment and most

genial t'^mperament. A few days before the robbery of the train at Otter-

ville. Mo., he was called upon to extend his hospitality to Cole Younger,
Clel Miller, Charley Pitts and Hobbs Casey, although he was not aware

of the fact that it was they, and was called, as a witness, to Boonville, on

the trial of Casey. Has served as Justice of the Peace for seventeen

years, been Township Clerk and Treasurer, which offices he has filled
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with great credit. He is a man of irrepressible public spirit and unim-

peachable honor, and amonj^ the leading and inspiring workers for the ad-

vancement of the interests of his community.

GEORGE DUMP.
The subject of this sketch came from Hocking County, Ohio, where he

was born in the year 184:2. His father died at the age of fort\'-seven

years. His mother still lives in the old State, and is seventy-nine years old.

He came to Pettis County in 1S73, and located twelve miles south of

Sedalia, on Spring Fork, has five brothers and one sister living. He
was married to Mar}- A. Crawford in 1875, whose parents are natives of

Ohio, but reside now in Pettis County, Mo. Has two children, one son

and one daughter: Minnie, born Dec. 16, 1876, and Boyd, born Oct. 1,

1880. He owns a fine farm of one hundred and nine acres, rolling prairie

and bottom land. All under fence and in crood cultivation. Sells on an

average, one thousand bushels of corn, fattens from twenty to thirty head

of hogs, feeds from thirty to forty head of cattle, besides having quite a

number of horses on hand. Can raise forty bushel of oats to the acre; has

raised as high as sixty bushels. Mr. D. is one of those ^thrifty, money-

making Buckeyes; a gentleman of culture, boundless public spirit and a

social nature that has always and everywhere made him " a prince

among men," and is doing all he can toward the advancement of all the

interests of his community.

PETER DUMP.

An earnest, successful farmer and stock dealer, who also comes from

Hocking County, Ohio, where he was born in 1839. Was married in

1865 to Sarah J. Immell, who also is a native of Ohio. Mr. D. came to

Pettis County in 1871, and has a superb farm of three hundred and sevent}'-

two acres, three hundred and thirty acres of which is in fine cultivation,

and forty acres of fine timber. His farm is all under fence, handsomely

improved, with good buildings, orchards and vine3'ards. Has a magnifi-
cent barn, which was built at a cost of $1,000. His fences consist of

rail, hedge and wire. He yearly feeds about one hundred head of

cattle, from fifty to seventy-five head of hogs, lifteen to twenty head

of horses and mules, is continually buying, selling and shipping stock,

handling about $8,000 worth every year. Has a fine young orchard of

sixty apple, one hundred peach and one hundred cherry trees. Has a tine

well, which is calculated to furnish an ample supply of water for all

the stock he keeps and for domestic purposes, besides five living springs,
and an abundant supply from Spring Fork stream, which passes

through his farm. Mr. D. is a careful cultivator, an ambitious, honorable

stock dealer, and is rendering invaluable service to the live stock industry
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in his community; is well known as a gentleman of liberal views, decided

public spirit, and a man of superior business qualities.

ALVIN FARRIS.

Born in Clinton County, Ky., March 17, 18-46. His parents were natives

of Kentucky. His father served as a soldier in the Mexican war, during
which time he died, in the twenty-second year of his age. His mother still

lives, and is fifty-four years old. He came to Missouri in the year 1856, and

settled in Cedar County. He was married Aug. 30, 1866, to Miss Mary
Condon, who is a native of Randolph County, Mo. Her parents are

both dead. They have three sons: James W., born July 14, 1867; John
W., born Aug. 22 1871, and Peter B., born Jan. 17, 1878. He owns a

fine farm of ninety-two acres, ten miles south of Sedalia, eighty acres in

cultivation and ten acres of good timber. It is well improved, with good
fences of hedge and rails, and most excellently watered by a stream that

never dries, as well as a living spring of the purest water. He car-

ries on mixed farming on a successful basis, has a fine herd of fifteen head

of cattle, six head of horses and a nice flock of sheep. He raises from

twenty to fifty acres of corn every year. He is a live, energetic, progres-
sive man, a good farmer, a gentleman of great public spirit, and one of

the foremost men of his community. He is connected with the Baptist

Church, being an exemplary member and a devoted christian.

JOHN E. FERGUSON.
The eldest son of J. J. Ferguson, of Flat Creek Township, Pettis

County, Mo. He is one of the finest young business men of the county*

being highly educated, and a young man of sterling qualities. Although
raised on a farm, yet he improved all the opportunities presented to store

his mind with those things which would prove beneficial to him in life,

and now stands among the leading educators of the community. He has

taught several terms, and has received the highest commendations of all

his patrons. He is also a practical farmer of most creditable standing in

the community. He is a successful stock dealer, his judgment being of

such excellence as to command the attention of noted stock men, who, in

many instances have secured his services to purchase stock for them,

relying wholly on his judgment in this matter. He is at present handling

quite a large number of cattle, as well as keeping on hand a good line

of other stock. In short, Mr. F. is a young man of large intelligence,

ready tact, good experience, and of unusual energy and public spirit.

JESSE J. HALE.

Was born in Mercer County, Ky., May 1, 1827. He is the son of

Elias and C3'nthia Hale, who were natives of Kentucky, born in the years
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1799 and 1S02. They emi (grated to Missouri in 1S37, stopping first in

Monroe and Randolph Counties, where thev remained for two years, and

then located in Pettis County in 1S39. In February, 1852, he married

Ellen May, dau^rhter of Rev. William May, of Mercer County, Ky. By
this union there were two children: Mary E., born Nov., 1852, and

William J., born in Ma}', 1855. His wife died Jan. 6th, 1856, at the age of

twenty-five years. He married his second wife in March, 1857. She was a

daughter of his uncle, Jesse Hale, of Mercer County, Ky. She only
lived seven months. She is buried in Pettis County. He is now mar-

ried to his third wife, Ellen Black, daughter of Daniel and Polly Black,
who reside in Mercer County, Ky. By this marriage they have eleven

children living, seven daughters and four sons: Marion C, born March

22, 1861; Ellen, born Sept. 6,1864; Arabella, born Feb. 15, 1866; Syl-

vania, born Oct. 3, 1867; Almilda, born March 23, 1869; Amanda, born

April 28, 1871; Viola, born Sept. 14, 1873; John T., born Oct. 3, 1875;

Henry Clay, born Oct. 17, 1877; Edward, born Oct. 17, 1879, and an

infant, born March 22, 1882. Mr. H. owns 100 acres of fine land, eighty
acres under fence and in good cultivation, and twenty acres of good tim-

ber. He devotes his time to mixed farming, on a successful basis. He
is one of the representative farmers of the community as well as a clear-

sighted gentleman of prime standing.

D. D. HAMMOND.
Born in the State of Ohio in the year 1850. His father died in Ohio at

the age of forty-five. His mother is still living in the State of Texas.

There are five brothers and one sister, all of whom are in Missouri except

two, one in Ohio and one in Texas. He located in Pettis County, in 1871.

He was married in 1879, to Dora Elliott, w^hose parents are both dead. Of
her father's family there were five brothers and two sisters. He; owns a

fine eight}' acre farm, all under fence and in a good state of cultivation.

He has worked hard, and put all the improvements on the place himself.

He has a fine residence and is getting everything about him in good shape.
He grows about forty bushels of corn to the acre and keeps a good sup-

ply of cattle, hogs and horses. Is a young man of high standing, a

thorough farmer and one held in high esteem by all who know him.

JAMES H. Mccormick.

Was born in Cooper County, Mo., in the year 1825. His parents emi-

grated to the State of Missouri in 1819. His father was a native of

Kentucky and his mother of North Carolina. His father assisted in

building the first house in the city of Boonville, Mo. His parents are

both dead. His mother died in the year 18* »0 and his father in 1861. He
came to Peitis County in 1831, and was married in 185'» to Armilda J.
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Bohon, who was born in the State of Kentucky in the 3'ear 1829. Six

children, have been born to them, four sons and two daughters, two of whom
are dead. William E. was born July 27, 1854; Martha A., born Feb. 13,

1851; Nettie, born May 5, 1852; Walter V., born Feb. 2, 1858; George H.,

born Sept. 22, 1860, and James E., born in x\ug.,1863. He owns 383 acres

of fine land, 100 acres of which is timber. 283 acres are under fence and

in good cultivation and fine pasture. He entered 120 acres, eighty acres

at $1.25, and forty acres at 12|^ cents per acre. His farm is admirably

watered, and grows about thirty bushels of corn, twelve bushels of wheat

and forty bushels of oats to the acre. He feeds about 100 head of cattle,

and has a good line of horses and other stock. He is a popular man, and

one of the representative farmers of the county.

J. S. McFADDEN.

Born in the State of Ohio, in the year 1845. Emigrated to Pettis

County in the year 1869. His father is quite aged, being sevent}^ years

old. His mother was sixty-four years old when she died. He was mar-

ried in 1873, to Eliza Funk, who was born in Boone County, Mo. Her

parents were natives of Virginia. She has three brothers and five sisters.

Mr. McFadden has a beautiful 160-acre farm, well improved, and all under

fence by beautiful hedges, and in a fine state of cultivation, everything
about him going to prove that he is a wide-awake farmer, and a progress-
ive man of the community. Is superintendent of the poor of Pettis County,
and from observation it would be said that the county had the right man for

the position, everything being in first-class order and in good shape. He has

been in charge since March 1, 1882, and the county officers are extremely
well pleased with his management. He is a thrifty, money-making farmer,

and takes a liberal interest in the advancement of the county. He has two

children-: James A., born Ma}' 11, 1S77, and William W., born July 6,

1881.

DIETRICH MAHNKEN.
Wag born in the Kingdom of Hanover, German\', in the year 1844.

Emigrated to America in 1853 with his grandparents, and settled in Ben-

ton Count}', Mo. In 1867 he was married to Catharine Yeagels, whose

parents live in Benton County. Of this union there are three children,

two sons and one daughter. Annie, born Sept. 26, 1868; John H., Sept.

17, 1874, and Henry, born Sept. 8, 1877. He i-emoved to Pettis County,
and has a fine 160-acre farm, all under fence, 130 acres in cultivation, and

thirty acres in pasture. He grows about forty bushels of corn and oats

to the acre, and has a good supply of stock on hand. Mr. M. enlisted as

a soldier in the three months' service, in the year 1861, after which he

joined the Twelfth Missouri Infantry, Colonel Waugling commanding;
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was assigned to Company C, commanded by Captain Meyer. Left Rolla,

Mo., in the year ]S62, for Springfield; followed Price to Bentonville,

Ark., thence to Pea Ridge. On the sixth of March, 1802, he was in the

engagement at Sugar Creek, then the battle at Pea Ridge, Helena, Ark.,

St. Genevieve, Ft. Pemberton, Yazoo Pass, Chickasaw Bayou, Arkansas

Post, Milliken's Bend, Grand Gulf, Jackson, Champion Hill, Vicksburg,

Memphis, Chattanooga, Lookout Mountain, Missionary Ridge, Ringgold,

Resaca, Altoona, Big Shanty, Kennesaw Mountain, Rossville, Decatur,
Izzard's Church, at which battle he was wounded. He w^as taken to the

hospital at Marietta, Georgia. After his recovery he joined his regiment
at Chattanooga, and was mustered out of the service at St. Louis in Dec,
1804, having served his country faithfully for three years.

JOLLY S. PARRISH.

Post-ofhce, Sedalia. One of the oldest settlers of Flat Creek Town-

ship is the subject of this sketch. Jolly S. Parish. His father bore the same

name as that of the son. The father was a native of Virginia, but at an

early day moved to Kentucky. The grandfather was a Captain in the

Revolutionary War. Jolly S. Parish was born in Mercer County, Ky.,

Sept. 8, 1821, and is the sixth child in a family of eight children. His

advantages for an education were somewhat limited. In the fall of 1833

there was a school house built in section thirty-four, township forty-five,

and range twenty-one. This was the first school house built in southern

Pettis County, and the first term of school was taught b}' Reuben McFar-
land. At this term of school young Parrish received about all the school

instruction he ever gained. The next term of school was a short term,'

for before it closed the house was burned, and with the house went for-

ever Mr. Parrish's advantages for school education. However, being

deprived as he was of school advantages, he, not discouraged, sought to

store his mind with practical knowledge, and became a student of men as

well as of books. In life Mr. Parrish has displayed that wise and judicial

judgment which only a practical knowledge of men and afiairs can give.

In the fall of 1832 Mr. P.'s father moved his family from Kentucky to

Missouri, settling at Boonville. Here they remained until the next spring,

when the father moved them to Pettis County, locating in the southern

part of the county, where he lived until his death, which occurred Oct. 8,

1852. Since then the son has lived in the same neighborhood. Mr. Parrish

was married Jan. 0,1853, to Miss Sallie C. McCormick,a daughter, ofJudge
McCormick, a native of Kentucky. From this marriage there is only one

child, Leander S., who is married and living with his father. Since Mr.

Parrish has been doing business for himself he has been engaged in farm-

ing and stock-raismg. He owns a fine farm, where he resides, of 200 acres,

well improved, with dwelling, barn and other out-buildings. He also
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owns Other lands to the amount of 210 acres, all improved. In business

affairs Mr. Parrish is honorable and upright, and as a citizen, he is held in

the highest esteem by his friends and neighbors.

W. H. RODGERS.
The subject of this sketch was born in Washington County, Tenn., in

the year 1832. Emigrated to Missouri in 1852, having first gone to New
Orleans and then back to Evansville, Indiana, where he was taken sick,

but came on to Missouri and landed at Boonville, in fall of 1852. After

his recovery he went to Osceola, at which place an uncle of his lived,

where he remained until the following March, 1853, when he returned to

Cooper County. In the year 1854 he returned to Tennessee and

brought his mother, brother and sisters, his mother being a widow. She

was forty-five years old at the time of coming. She died in the year 1856

and was buried in Cooper County. In his father's family there were

seven children, all of whom are dead, except one son and two daughters.
One daughter resides in the State of California, and the other in Pettis

County. Mr. R. married, in the year 1855, Adaline Stephens, of Cooper

County. Her father was a native of South Carolina and her mother of

Virginia. There were nine children in the family, eight of whom are still

living. Mrs. Rodgers was born in 1835, and was twenty years old at the

time of her marriage. Mr. and Mrs. Rodgers have had eleven children

born to them, five of whom are still living, three sons and two daughters,
their eldest son is a mute, and is at this time attending school in Fulton,

Callaway County, and wall finish his education this year. Thomas O. was

born Dec. 22, 1857; Louiza F., July 18, 1864; James A., Feb. 8,1866;

William W., April 17, 1868, and Laura A., Feb. 18, 1870. Mr. Rodgers
and family settled in Pettis County in the year 1859. He entered one

hundred and twenty acres of land in Flat Creek Township, at seventy-five

cents per acre. He owns at the present time three hundred and six acres,

two hundred and sixt}' of which are under fence, one hundred and sixty

acre's in cultivation, one hundred and ten acres in pasture, and thirty-five

acres in timber. He grows about forty bushels corn and oats, and ten to

fifteen bushels wheat to the acre. Keeps a good line of horses, but is

pa3ung considerable attention to sheep and cattle raising, having about

eighty head of sheep and twenty-five head of cattle on hand. His fencing

is good and his farm is well watered. He has a magnificent orchard,

which yields an abundance of standard fruit. Mr. R. has been connected

with the Baptist denomination for quite a number of years, and is now

pastor of four congregations. He was licensed as an exhorter in the year
1868 by the Flat Creek Church, and regularly ordained as a minister by
order of the same church in the year 1870, and has worked arduously as

a minister of the gospel ever since that time. He has solemnized sixty-
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eight marriages during his ministerial work. Although a farmer, and

having a great deal of hard labor to perform, 3^et he is ever found at

his post in the work of the Master. He is an ambitious and an honorable

man, much esteemed by all who know him.

MATTHIAS REED.

Was born July 4, 1829, one mile and a quarter northeast of where

Georgetown, Pettis County, now stands, on what is now known as the

widow Wright farm. This place was at that time in Saline County,
Pettis County not having been struck oft'. His parents came to Missouri

about the year ISll. They settled in what is now Cooper County, and

about the year 181-1 removed to the above named place. His father died

at the age of ninety and his mother sixty- five. They were buried near

Green Ridge, Pettis County. Mr. R. was married Nov. 4, 1852, to Mary
C. Yankee, daughter of Judge Jacob Yankee. She was born in the year
1831. By this marriage there are four children, three girls and one boy;
all in Pettis County, except a daughter, who resides in the State of

Kansas. In the year 1863 Mr. Reed lost his wife, and in the year 1864

married again, to Louise C. Phillips. By this marriage they have had

six children: Samuel H., born June 3, 1865; Jane, Feb. 23, 1867; Jacob

Truman, Feb. 28, 1869; Christopher H., Feb. 21,1871 ;
Marion E., Jan.

22, 1873; Ed. C, March 9, 1875. Mr. Reed owns a fine one hundred

and sixty acre farm in a good state of cultivation, and exceedingly well

watered. He has been connected with the Baptist Church since 1854,

and is a live, energetic worker in the church, as well as an honest, upright
and influential citizen in the community in which he lives.

JESSE REED.

. One of the representative and among the noteworthy farmers of the

county. Was born in Warwickshire, England, in the 3'ear 1828. Emi-

grated to America in 1855, and located in the city of Philadelphia, where

he remained two years, during which time he was married. He tiien

removed to Illinois, in which State he remained two years, thence to

Texas, and after a sojourn of eight years he returned to Pettis County,

jVIo., and now lives on a magnificent farm of two hundred and fifty acres,

two hundred and forty of which are under fence, and ten acres of good
timber. He cultivates one hundred and sixty acres, and has a fine pasture
of eighty acres. Has a fine orchard of peach and apple trees, in which

he grows fruit of the finest grade. Has a good line of stock consisting of

cattle, horses, mules and hogs. Has improved three farms in the count}-,

and is now living on the fourth. Has taken quite an interest in educa-

tion, and has been a school officer for quite a number of years. He has

seven children living, five sons and two daughters, one of whom is married.
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Jessie, born in the year 1860; Smith W., in 1862; Lewis, in lS6l;

Thomas, in 1867; Lethe, in 1869; John, in 1872, and Ezra, in 1875.

ROBERT WOOLERY.
The son of Joseph and EHza Woolery, and was born in the year 1855,

near Smithton, Pettis County. His parents were natives of Cooper
County, Mo. His father died in 1877 and his mother in 1875. Mr. Woolery
was married June 3, 1880, to Susan Epperson, who was born in Johnson

County, Dec. 28, 1860. Her father died during the war, but her mother
is still hving. In the father's family there were only two children, one

son and one daughter. Her brother died at the age of seventeen years.
Mr. Woolery has one child, Emmet W., born May 13, 1881. He owns
120 acres of land, all under fence; forty acres of good timber, eighty
acres in cultivation, admirably watered by Walnut Creek, and grows forty
bushels of corn and fifty bushels of oats to the acre. He is one of the sys-
tematic and successful farmers of his community.

WILLIS WARREN.
Born in Grundy County, Pennsylvania, Oct. 17, 1839. Was married in

Tennessee in Januar}-, 1865, to Rachel E. Burris, who was born in Ten-
nesse Jan 13, 1848. Her parents died when she was quite young. His

father died at the age of seventy-three and his mother at the age of sev-

ent3^ There are five brothers and five sisters living of his father's family,

three brothers and one sister in the State of Missouri. Mr. Warren has

these children: Mary E., born Nov. 19, 1861; Sarah V. A., Oct. 23,

1863; Eliza F., Sept. 15, 1869; Josie E., Oct. 23, 1871; Margaret L.,

Dec. 8, 1871; Linnie A., Dec. 7, 1877, and Julia B., April 2, 1880. Three
of his brothers served as soldiers in the late war, two of whom died, one

at Columbia, S. C, from a wound received in the Battle of Richmond,
and the other of disease contracted in the army. Mr. Warren came to

Pettis County in 1870; has not as yet purchased land, but thinks of doing
so soon. He has about twenty head of cattle and a good supply of horses,

is connected with the Baptist Church, and is a man highly esteemed by
all who know him.

JUDGE JACOB YANKEE.
The subject of this sketch was born in Boyle County (formerly Mercer

County), Ky., Oct. 1, 1812. Emigrated to Pettis County in 1835, and on the

11th day of March, of the same year, was married to Ruth Goodnight,
who was born in the same County as Mr. Yankee, on the 28th day of

October, 1814. Of his father's family there were twelve children, five

sons and seven daughters, four of whom are still living. His parents

were quite aged when they died, being eighty-two years old. Mr.
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Yankee raised a family of twelve children, nine sons and three daughters,

eight of whom are still living, six sons and two daughters. Mary C. was
born Dec. 23, 1835; John G., March 7, 1837; Benj. F., Nov. 14, 1838;
Wm. H., July 31, 1840; Sarah A., April 5, 1842; Frances A., Nov. 12

1843; Barbara A., Aug. 27, 1845; Jacob A., Nov. 1, 1847; Arminda C*
July 1, 1850; Michael, June 3, 1853; James W., March 8, 1855, and Thos.

M., April 22, 1859. Mr. Yankee entered 700 acres of land in Flat Creek

Township, part at $1.25 and the rest at 12^ cents per acre, which he

improved. He has now divided this magnificent estate among his chil-

dren, giving the old homestead to his son, Jacob A., with whom he makes
his home, his wife being dead, having died Nov. 6, 18S0, at the age of

sixty-six years. Mr. Yankee cast his first vote for Henry Cla}^ when a

candidate for the presidency against Andrew Jackson, and as long as the

Whig party was known he affiliated with it. He also belonged to what
was known as the Know-Nothing party, and is, at the present time, one

of the staunch Republicans of the county. He served as a Grand Juror
on the first Grand Jury that was called in the count}^ Judge Ryland, the

father of our present judge, officiating. They met at what was known as

"Pin Hook Mills." Amos Fristoe was the clerk, and carried his documents
in a basket. Mr. Yankee served as Justice of the Peace for sixteen years,
and was elected Judge of the County Court together with Maj. William

Gentry and Hampton P. Gray. These two gentlemen were superseded

byj. W. Beaman and Andrew Wright. He was also a member of the

State Legislature in 1869, and also of the adjourned session of 1870. He
was also appointed Superintendent of the Poor of Pettis County. He is a

consistent member of the M. E. Church, a gentleman of generous cul-

ture, fine executive gifts, large heart, boundless public spirit, and a social

nature that has always and everywhere made him a "prince among men,"
and from first to last he has been an inspiring worker for the advance-

ment of the county. He has now retired to private life, but from his

household is wont to disperse a gracious and refined hospitality.

CHAPTER XXVL—LAKE CREEK TOWNSHIP.

Introductory
—Name—Location—Physical Features—Pioneer Settlers—Creeks—Soils—

Drainage — Agriculture
— Stock Raising—Roads—Churches—Cemeteries—Schools—

Incidents—Biograpliical.

"Adieu, the city's ceaseless hum,
The haunts of sensual life, adieu,

Green fields and silent glens ! We come
To spend this bright spring day with 30U."

Introduction.—What is said of Lake Creek Township in a prospec-
tive view may be said of numerous others in the county. The history as
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a township embraces a very limited series of facts in their proper connec-

tion, but each of which, indeed, each individual person of the particular

portion written of is interested. The American of the present day wants

to know how his ancestors lived, what clothes they wore, how they looked,
on what they fed, what were their daily tasks and conversations, and how
life dealt with them. This is the most difficult history to reproduce

accurately, but after all it is that which gives us the clearest and most vivid

insight into the history of the past. This important element should never

be overlooked, for in no other manner can the growth of the population,
the amelioration of manners, the changes in habits and customs, the

increase of prosperity or the want of it, and the every-day life of the people
be understood and made to subserve the interests of the present. The
events that are recorded, are such as • occurred at our very doors, were

compassed by men whom we knew, and which affect our individual

interests for weal or for woe. It is only while these events are fresh in

the memory that one may form accurate estimates of their relative impor-

tance, and be impartial and candid in forming his judgments; he may also

from present circumstances, which have an original in remote times, and

which are historical in the largest, fullest and truest sense, freed from

conjecture and uncertain tradition, read the promise of the future.

Space forbids more than a brief mention of the accomplishments of the

agricultural interests of this township, from the period of its occupancy by
the red man to the present time. The early settlers who came to the town-

ship found the Indian, who, though not an agriculturist, because he

thought it beneath his dignity to cultivate the soil, did it as a matter of

necessity to secure a living, though mainly through the labor of women
and children. Agriculture in the early times was but little in advance of

that of the aboriginal period before them, though its improvements were

rapid, and are now up to the high state which one sees in a day's ride

over the inland portion of Missouri. The people who settled Lake Creek

Township were of that hard}- pioneer class such as are found all over the

western portion of the country. They were principally from the old Vir-

ginia and Kentucky stocks, than whom none better is to be found.

Name.—This township derived its name from the creek which flows in

a northeasterly direction through the southeastern portion of the town-

ship. It is supposed that the creek was named Lake Creek, for the rea-

son that it winds a sluggish course through the heavy soil, and forms

numerous bayous or small lakes, often densely populated with fish and

water fowls. When a flood comes down from its sources it overflows its

banks and spreads far out, covering thousands of acres of the bottom

lands, and sometimes for days and even weeks at a time presents the

appearance of a lake, filled with growing trees and underbrush whose

heads rise just above the surface.
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Organization of the township into a civil division of the county was

eftected under the township organization by order of the Pettis County

Court, Nov. 5, 1872. It occupies the southeastern corner of Pettis

County, and it is bounded on the north by Smithton Township, on the east

by Morgan County, on the south by Benton County and on the west by

Flat Creek Township. It contains thirty-six square miles or 23,040

acres, just a congressional township. The voting place of the township

is at the Catholic School House.

One of the early justices of the peace in this locality was Esq. Jacob

Seagraves, who came to this place in 1819. Levi DevoU, for a number of

years since the township organization has been justice of the peace for

Lake Creek.

Physical Features.—Land in this township is not much unlike

other portions of southern Pettis County. In the northeast a high rolling

prairie divide begins, and extends through the township to the southwest

corner, in width averaging about four miles. This is acknowledged to be

the best agricultural portion of the township, though good farms and

flattering inducements are offered the honest tiller of the soil in every

locality in southeastern Pettis county.

The principal stream of water is Lake Creek, from which the

township derives its name. Its sources are in Benton County, and it

enters this county and township in section thirty-three, flowing in a north-

easterly direction; it leaves the township and county from section one

emptying into Flat Creek and thence uniting with Lamine River, m Mor-

gan County. A branch of Lake Creek unites with the main stream from

the south in section fourteen. Mosbys Branch rises near the center of

the township and flowes north and west, at last finding its way into Flat

Creek in Smithton Township.

The prevailing physical feature is prairie, though somewhat broken

along the creeks, wheVe also we find abundant timber for home consump-

tion, fire-wood, rail timber and fence posts. The system of drainage is

good, no swamps or swamp land which may not be utilized for pasturage

or cultivation. Near the center of the township in section twenty-seven

may be found a rich deposit of lead, intermingled with silver. By a cer-

tificate, after a chemical examination, it is stated that these mines are the

richest in the State, being eighty-four per cent lead, and eight and three-

fourths ounces silver to the ton of lead. The vein is thirty-three inches

in thickness and twenty feet from the surface of the earth. These mines

belong to Mr. Henry Brauer, who lives in section twenty-eight and owns

the farm. Mr. Brauer first discovered these rich mines about five years

ago while digging a well.

Early Settlers.—The first settlers were among the most brave and
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intrepid characters who early came to this county. George Goetze, who

formerly lived in this township, died in the State of Kansas, about one

year ago, at the advanced age of 103 years. His daughter-in-law and

several grandchildren, among whom is George H. Goetze, whose bio-

graphical sketch appears in another place in this work, still reside in this

township. A few of the pioneers of the township are: Jacob Seagraves,
who came in 1819 trom Tennessee, but is now dead. Scott Gilmore came
in 1832 from Virginia, and is now dead. Thomas Jack settled in this

township in 1827, coming from South Carolina; he emigrated to Oregon
several 3'ears ago, where he now resides. Wm. A. Miller came from

Germany in 1819, and now rests in peace in one of the burial grounds of

the county. Judge Wm. Booker also from German}", came to the town-

ship in 1845, when the country was still very wild, and he still resides here

an honored and respected citizen of the county. Herman Kahrs came from

Germany in 1840, and lived in the township a number of years, and now

resides in Sedalia. John Kahrs also came in the same year from the same

place and is now dead. John G. Bruhl, who is mentioned further on in

this history, was one of the early settlers, and has long since passed to his

final rest and the reward which his long and useful life so richly deserved.

John A. Clausan came in 1843 from Germany. Henry Brauer came the

same year and from the same place, and still resides in the township. Mar-

shall Seagraves was born in the township in 1820, and was perhaps the

first white child born in the township. He is now dead. Henry Wey-
merth came in 1840, from Germany, and still lives in the township. John
Hook came here in 1825, from Virginia, but has, with most of the

pioneers, passed away. Herman Mahnken was married to Margaret

Ficken, on July 16, 1846, in the M. E. Church. Sebastian Bard was the

first minister of the M. E, denomination. Dr. Bradford was the first physi-

cian in the township. In 1832, John Hubbard taught the first school on

John Kahrs' land. The first church erected was the German M. E., on

land bought from Cord Miller.

The citizens in this township are principally German, though there are

about eight families English-American. The political affiliations are prin-

cipally Republican, though both parties have a fair representation.

Enterprises and Industries.—As with the other rural townships the

people here are engaged in farming and stock-raising. Some as fine

farms as there are in the county are here located, and the number of head

of stock annually driven to shipping points compares very favorably with

that of its neighbor townships.
Mr. Isaac Anderson is one of the prominent and enterprising farmers of

this locahty.

Thomas W. and W. H. Rhodes are worthy real estate owners, and

make farming a thorough success, raising, buying and selling stock. W.
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H. Rhodes has a fine flock of 600 sheep. More particular mention of

these men is given in the biographical department of this history. The
farms are of medium size, capable of producing all kinds of crops usually

grown in this latitude. They are well fenced, and within the past year

nearly all the fencing was done with the barbed wire. Their principal mar-

ket is Sedalia, though Smithton receives a limited share of trade.

Orchards are not extensive, though young trees are now being grown

quite extensively. The insects at times make such havoc with all kinds

of fruit trees that some horticulturists have become discouraged in their

endeavors to produce orchards. Small fruits, as in all other parts of Mis-

souri, have a line growth, and if proper attention is given to them they

produce in abundance.

Churches.—German Lutheran, German Catholic and German Meth-

odists are the religious organizations of this township. The adherents of

the Catholic faith are most numerous. Then, in point of numbers of those

who usually attend church, we mention the Lutherans and then the Meth-

odists.

The cemetery owned and used by the Catholics and Lutherans is located

near the two churches.

The St. John's Catholic Church is situated in the southeast corner of the

township, on the south half of the northwest quarter of the northeast

quarter of section thirty-five, township forty-four, range twenty. It was

organized in 1838, by John Gerlach Bruehl, and the building was erected

in 1848, by the original ten members, as below enumerated. John G.

Burehl settled in the township in 1834, and was one of the early settlers in

Pettis County. He came here with a company of 3'oung men from St.

Louis in search of minerals, and especially lead, as he came from a min-

ing country in Germany. He came under the auspices of an organized

company in St. Louis, who made it a business to search for minerals in

Missouri. Mr. Bruehl came from Herdorf, Rhine Province, German}^,
and made his permanent residence in this township. He was a very popu-
lar man, and for years was justice of the peace of the township, where he

settled all difficulties of the new settlers. The names of the original mem-
bers of the church were: John G. Bruehl, Edward Bruehl, Joseph Schwie-

gerath, Karl Dueher, P. N. Reush,!. H. Stein and Henry Imhauser. The

present membership is forty two. The pastors' names since 1846 are:

Revs. James Murphy, of Boonville; Joseph Meister, Gerge Juerk, Joseph

Blaarer, Francis Buesse, Henry Vander Sanden, (who is at present Chan-

cellor of the Arch Diocese of St. Louis,) H. V. Kalmer and Hilner

attended this place from Tipton from 1869 to 1877, H. A. Schmidt, (who
built the present parsonage,) and Andrew Giete, C. P. P. S., the present

incumbent. The church is furnished with all necessary vestments of the

57
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Catholic service; has an organ and gallery. The present house of wor-

ship is an old one, but will soon be supplemented by a new and graceful

edifice. During the war the organ was thrown down from the gallery

and other property was destroyed, but it has all been replaced. It has a

Sunday School connected, with thirty pupils attending, and also there is

a day school taught, with an average attendance of twenty-four.

St. Paul Church, Evangelical Lutheran, of Lake Creek Township, was

organized by Otto Kluechner, in 1869. The original members are, Fred.

Deterb, F. Mundhink, Christian Eicholz, Fred. Wilkens, Daniel Gcetze,

Mrs. Goetze, F. Goetze, Louis Schlosserman, Henry Brauer, John Yunker,
Chas. Zimmerschild. The pastors that have been in charge are Revs.

Otto Kluschner and Oscar Lumpe. The building is now being

remodeled. It is a frame structure and will cost when completed about

$1,200. The church has a Sunday School connected, with Fred Deterb,

superintendent, and C. Eichalz, secretary. The membership are sup-

porting a German school, with Rev. Oscar Lumpe as teacher, which has an

average attendance of fifteen. The congregation was orignally organized

in Benton County, and about three years ago they moved to Pettis. The

services are conducted in German. The present building when com-

pleted will be dedicated by Rev. Otto Kluechner, the organizer of the

congregation.

Schools were taught here in an early day; the first was taught by

John Hubbard on what is now John Kahrs' land. This the first school of

which any facts can be obtained was begun in 1832. Now there are five

district schools and two private schools. The German Catholic School is

taught in a house adjoining the church, and furnishes accommodations for

twent3'-five or thirty pupils. The German Lutheran School is taught by
Oscar Lumpe, and has an attendance of about twelve. The school is

situated about three hundred 3^ards east of the "Lutheran Church. The

school in district number one is taught by Miss Walkup. The school is

called Lone Star. The school buildings are frame.

A story is related that during the first settlement of this neighborhood,

a young German wishing to secure a wife decided to go to the Fatherland

and woo among his former associates. The ambitious youth went over

to Jacob Seagraves' house to procure necessary papers for the journey,

but as he came out of the house with the passes and papers, a maiden

washing near the door of the cabin inquired where he was going, and he

replied, "that he was about to sail for Germany in search of a wife." She

modestly replied, "that he could succeed near at hand," and arrange-

ments were soon completed and this couple were married.

ISAAC C. ANDERSON.

Was born in Halifax County, Virginia, about 150 miles west of the city
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of Richmond, on the 17th day of Aui^ust, 1822. He was married at the

age of twenty years, to Maiy A. Hodges, she being eighteen. He pur-
sued the occupation of farming in the State of Virginia, until the year

1858, when he emigrated to the State of Missouri and settled in Pettis

County. Not having the means to purchase, he rented ground for three

years, during which time success attended his eflbrts, and he found him-

self able to enter 160 acres of land, forty of which he paid $1.25 per acre,

and 120 at 50 cents per acre. About this time the war broke out, and

everything in the shape of personal effects was swept away, and the clos-

ing of the war found him without mone}' or stock. But, being a man of

great energy, knowing no such word as "fail," he commenced life again,
and by hard work has succeeded in making a fine farm of 200 acres,

admirably improved with wells, ponds, hedges, orchards and buildings,

He built the first house on the prairie on which he lives, in Lake Creek

Township. He has paid considerable attention to the raising of stock for

quite a number of years
—mules being a specialty, but is now turning his

attention somewhat to cattle, having about sixty-five head on hand. He

grows a fair amount of corn, wheat and oats. His farm is well adapted
to agriculture and stock raising. He has raised a family of six children, five

sons and one daughter. Five still living, one having died at the age of

sixteen years. All of his children were born in his native State except
one

;
he was born in Pettis County. His daughter and one son are mar-

ried
;
three boys at home. His son George served two years in the late

war, under Gen. Price. Mr. A. is now about sixty ^^ears old, and his

good wife about fifty-seven, and although somewhat aged, yet are full of

life and ambition, and are noted for their hospitality and generosity. He
has been one of the leading men in the educational interests of his com-

munity, and it was during his administration that a neat and comfortable

school building was erected; as a party man he has alwa^'s been

found in the ranks of the Democracy. By their honest and upright

walk, the family have procured the esteem and good will of all in the com-

munity, and we are proud to present them to our patrons as a family

worthy of the respect of all.

L. T. DIX.

The subject of this sketch was born in Pittsylvania County, Virginia, in

August, 1823. He came to Missouri with his parents in the year 1838,

and located in Cooper County. There were eight children in his father's

family, all of whom are dead except Mr. D. He was married in the year

1855, to Mary Scott, whose parents were old settlers of Missouri. Her
father is dead; her mother is still Hving. His wife was born Oct. 23, 1833.

He has been in Pettis County seven years. He has a fine farm of 160

acres, prairie, and ten acres of timber. The 160 acres are under fence
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and in a good state of cultivation. He grows about forty bushels corn,

forty-five bushels of oats, twelve bushels of wheat and ten bushels of flax

per acre. He has handsomely improved his farm with good fences, a

good barn and a magnificent cottage dwelling, finished off and furnished

in the very best of style. As a farmer he ranks as first class, and is a live,

successful business man, highly esteemed b}- all who know him.

GEORGE H. GOETZE.

A native of Benton county, Mo., and one of the strong, public spirited

men of the community in which he lives. He was born June 1, 1842.

His parents came to this country in 1842. His father died in 1865, but his

mother is still living at the advanced age of seventy-six years. Mr. G.

was married in the year 1868, to Jane Story, of Morgan County, Mo., at

the age of twenty-six years, his wife being eighteen, and in the year 1869

removed to the place on which he now lives. He has a family of six

children, viz: John W., born April 20, 1869; George F., born Jan. 24, 1871;

Pinkie and Ollie L., born Aug. 6, 1874; Mary C, born July 9, 1877, and

Albert F., born June 9, 1881. Mrs. Goetze's father now resides in the

State of California, and is seventy-five years of age. Mr. Goetze's grand-
father died in the State of Kansas at the ripe old age of 103 years. He
is established on his farm, which is in a good state of cultivation and which

he has improved from the wild prairie. He has a fine residence, barns

and out 'nouses, the work on which he did himself, being a fine mechanic

in both woodwork and iron. He also has a large and commodious build-

ing in which he carries on the manufacturing of all kinds of wood and

iron implements. He has a wide reputation as a mechanic,''and therefore

is continually crowded with work, and is obliged to keep from two to four

assistants all the time. He served as a soldier in the late war, enlisting in

1861, in the Thirteenth Regintnt of Missouri Cavalry, under Colonel

Sigel, but was changed into the Fifth after one year, in which he remained

until the close of the war. He is also a leader of the Lake Creek Brass

Band, and is held in high esteem by all who are acquainted with him.

He has also taken a prominent part in the educational interests of the

communitv, serving as a school officer for a number of vears.

JOHN C. KAHRS, Jr.

The son of Herman Kahrs, who is one of the oldest settlers of Lake
Creek Township, was born in Pettis County, March 3, 1847, on the large

and magnificent estate owned by his father, consisting of 500 or 600 acres

of fine land. Very little improvement had been made in this part of the

county when his father settled there, but now it is nearly all fenced and in

a good state of cultivation. He was married in 1870, at the age of twenty-
three years, to Miss Louisa Momburg, aged eighteen, whose father is
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Still living in Wyandotte, Kan., but whose mother has been dead about

five years. He has a family of four children, one boy and three girls:

Laura M., born May 23, Ibll; Mary M., born Aug. 29, 1S72; Minnie M.,

born March 10, 1875; William Herman Lewis, born April 14, 1880. Mr.

Kahrs raises forty bushels of corn, and about fifty bushels of oats to the

acre. He has a fine farm of 160 acres, forty of which is timber, the bal-

ance being high rolling prairie. He keeps about twenty-five head of

cattle, 100 head of sheep, and a good line of horses and hogs. When
first started in life, his farm was entirely unimproved, but by constant

labor he has succeeded in making it one of the most desirable farms of

any in his community. It is well watered, and produces abundantly. He
'

is one of the most noteworthy farmers of this region, being a careful cul-

tivator and a very successful business man.

PETER KAHRS, Sr.

Is the eldest son of Mr. Cord Kahrs, who now resides in Sedalia, but

was one of the early settlers of Lake Creek Township, having emigrated
from the Kingdom of Hanover, Germany, to Pettis County, Mo., in the

year 1840, and is now about sevent^'-five years of age. At the time of

his coming he entered a large tract of land and improved a considerable

amount of it. It was upon this farm, in January, 1843, that the subject of

this sketch was born and raised. He assisted on the farm until the year

1867, when he married Anna Bohling. She lived only a short time, and

in July, 1868, he was married to Margaret Schlosserman, whose parents
both lived in Morgan County, Mo. Mr. Kahrs has one brother and two

sisters living. Of his own family he has six children, three sons and three

daughters: Edward C, born March 30, 1868; Mary M., March, 1869;

Willie T., Sept. 8, 1872; Ellen J., January, 1875; Benj. F. and Frances

M., born March 18, 1879. He has a fine farm of 160 acres, 100 acres of

which are under fence and in a good state of cultivation, with good fences,

water and improvements. He keeps a good line of cattle, sheep, hogs
and horses. He has been connected with the educational interests of his

community in an official way for quite a while, and has held the office of

Justice of the Peace six or eight years, which shows him to be a man in

whom his friends confide.

HENRY MEYER.
The subject of this sketch was born in Bavaria, Germany, the 28th day

of February, 1843. They located in Cooper County about the year 1858.

There were ten children in the family, six of whom are still living, five

sons and one daughter, all of whom are in Cooper County except Mr. M.
Three brothers are not married. His parents are still living, although

getting quite aged, being about sixty-six years old. At the age of
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twenty-six Mr. Meyer was married to Matilda Geotze, she being eighteen

years of age. To them have been born seven children, five of whom are

living, four sons and one daughter: John, born Feb. 12, 1871; Louisa,
born Dec. 31, 1873; George and Henry, born Sept. 18, 1876; James and

Willie, born Sept. 25, 1879, and an infant, born March 10, 1882. He owns

eighty acres of fine prairie land, all under fence and in cultivation. He
served as a Union soldier in the late war, having enlisted in the Twenty-
ninth Missouri Infantr}^ in 1862. He was in the battles of Vicksburg,
Arkansas Post, Milliken's Bend, Atlanta, with Sherman on his march to

the sea, and was mustered out at Washington in 1865. Everything
around points to him as a thrifty money-making farmer of the first

class.

THOMAS W. RHODES.

The subject of this sketch was born in Hawkins Countv, Tennessee,

Aug. 11, 1817. At the age of two years, his parents moved to Callaway

County, Mo. From there to Marion, and thence to Scotland County, Mo.
He remained there until 1864-, during which time he became one of the

representative business men of the county, owning quite a large store,

and a large stock of fancy dry goods, clothing, ladies' and gents' furnish-

ing goods, etc., etc. He and his brother also owned a 1,000-acre farm,

over which roamed five herds of the very best of stock. But the cruel

war came on, with destructive force and swept everything away. In 1864

Mr. Rhodes removed to Illinois, where he again commenced dealing in

stock, which occupation he followed until the 3^ear 1837, when he again
removed to Missouri, and settled in Lake Creek Township, Pettis County.
He is now residing on a magnificent farm owned by his two sons, W. H.

and G. W. Rhodes, consisting of 1,400 acres, all of which is under fence,

560 acres in cultivation, eighty acres of choice timber, and the balance in

fine pasture. He was married in the year 1837, to Minerva Jones,
whose parents removed to California in 1868. At the time of marriage,
Mr. R. was twenty years of age and his v.'ife seventeen years old.

Mrs. R. was born in Louisville, Kentuck}^ in 1820. There was
born to them eleven children, four sons and seven daughters, three of

whom are dead, two sons and one daughter. Of those that are living five

are married, two sons and three daughters. He is a man of exceedingly

bright intellect, possesses superior business capabilities and has a high

standing throughout the community in which he lives, and is one of the

strongest Democrats in the township.

WILLIAM H. RHODES.
Son of Thomas W. Rhodes, was born in Scotland County, Mo., in the

year 1843. Was raised a farmer, and at the age of twenty years went to
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Illinois, where he remained until the year 1868, when he returned with

his father to Pettis Count}^, Mo. At the age of twenty-five was mar-

ried to Isabella Aiken, she being eighteen. Mrs. Rhodes was born in

the State of New Hampshire in the year of 1850. Her parents died in

the state of Wisconsin. Mr. Rhodes has a superb farm of 880 acres, all

under fence, 480 acres in cultivation, 320 acres in pasture and eighty
acres in timber and is among the more noteworth}^ and representative
farmers of this county. He grows on an average about forty bushels of

corn, fifteen bushels of wheat, twelve bushels of flax and fifty bushels of

oats to the acre. Grazes 600 head of sheep, sixty head of cattle, and quite
a goodty number of horses and mules. Improved this place with good
buildings, and it is well fenced with hedge, plank and rails; has a magni-
ficent well of water with a pump which operates by means of a windmill,

which cost him $150: also four running springs. He is a number one stock

man, and has an estate which a prince of husbandry might covet. By hard

work and close attention to business he has succeeded in placing around

him such of life's conveniences as are necessary to the happiness and com-
fort of himself and family.

CARL SCHWENSEN.
A young man of great ability and sterling worth in the community in

which he lives. Was born in Germany, Feb. 22, 1855. Landed in America

Dec, 1874, at the age of nineteen. Having stopped a short time in Chicago,
in the year 1875 he came to Pettis County, Mo. In 1877 he married

Metta Cordes, whose parents are still living in Benton County, and are

quite aged. They are natives of the Kingdom of Hanover. Mr. S. owns
360 acres of choice land; 120 acres in cultivation, 230 in pasture, and

twelve acres of timber. He raises forty bushels of corn, fifteen bushels

of wheat and fifty bushels of oats to the acre; has about ninety head of

cattle, quite a number of hogs, and quite a good line of horses. His farm

is nicely improved, having a nice cottage house of four rooms, and nicely

furnished, a good barn, hedges, and rail fences, etc., etc., all in good order.

Everything about him goes to prove him to be a farmer of the first class,

and is very industrious, and has as good a farm as there is in Lake Creek

Township. They have two children: Kantinka, aged four years, and

Markis, aged two years.

DANIEL R. VINSON.

Was born in Pickaway County, O., July 17, 1837. Emigrated to Illi-

nois in the year 1851, and remained with his parents on the farm until the

year 1862, when he enlisted as a soldier in the Seventy-seventh Illinois

Volunteer Infantry, commanded by Colonel D.P.Greer, and was assigned
to Company E. They went from Peoria, 111., to Covington, Ky., and
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immediately entered into active service. On the 23d day of Jan., 1862, he

participated in his first battle, at Yazoo City; from thence to Arkansas

Post, then Milliken's Bend, Grand Gulf, Magnolia, Ft. Gibson, Walnut

Station, Big Black River and Vicksburg. At the last mentioned place he

was taken sick, and sent to the hospital at St. Louis, where he remained for

three weeks, and in August joined his regiment at New Orleans; was

again taken sick, and after his recovery was transferred to the Veteran

Reserve Corps; was then taken to Washington City in 1864, thence to

Point Lookout, Md., and Wheeling, Va., at which place he remained until

he was mustered out of the service, and then returned to Illinois. In 1867

he was married to Mrs. Cone, whose former husband had been killed dur-

ing the war, at the second battle of Bull Run. About this time he moved
to Pettis county, and settled on a farm of eighty acres, which he has suc-

ceeded in fencing and putting in a state of good cultivation. He is a good
farmer and a man of whom every one speaks in terms of highest praise.

WILLIAM VINSON.

Is a native of Pickaway County, Ohio. Born April 11, 1810, his

parents having emigrated to that State from Mar34and, at an early date.

He was married to Sarah Bower, Dec. 17, 1835. He emigrated to Illinois

in 1852. In the year 1867 he settled in Lake Creek Township, Pettis

County, Mo. He has four children living, three sons and one daughter,
three of whom are married, his daughter and two of his sons. He has buried

five children, four sons and one daughter. Five of his sons served in the late

war as United States soldiers. His son Henry was killed at the battle of

Corinth, in 1862. Lewis died at Little Rock, Ark., and Ira L. died at

Murfreesboro. Daniel and Amos returned after an absence of three

years. Mr. V. owns ninety-one acres of choice land, eighty of which are

under fence and in a good state of cultivation, and eleven acres of good tim-

ber. He raises on an average about forty bushels of corn, fifteen bushels of

wheat, thirty-five bushels of oats and ten bushels of flax. Brought up as a

farmer, he takes great pride in keeping up with the times, and his neat

little farm shows a careful diligence in the care and improvement of it.

Although getting aged, yet they are full of life and activity, and are

esteemed by all who know^ them for their honesty, uprightness, generosity

and hospitality, i
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